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CHAPTEE I. 

1805. 

My functions at Hamburg — The King of Sweden at Stralsund — My bulle¬ 
tin describing the situation of the Russian armies — Duroc’s recall from 
Berlin — General Dumouriez — Recruiting of the English in Hanover — 
The daughter of M. de Marbeuf and Napoleon — Treachery of the King 
of Naples — The Sun of Austerlitz — Prince Dolgorouki — Rapp’s ac¬ 
count of the battle of Austerlitz — Gerard’s picture — Eugene’s marriage. 

I must now relate how, in conformity with, my instructions, 
I was employed in Hamburg in aiding the success of the 
French army. I had sent an agent to observe the Russian 
troops, which were advancing by forced marches on the banks 
of the Elbe. This agent transmitted to me from G-adbusch 
an account of the routes taken by the different columns. It 
was then supposed that they would march upon Holland by 
the way of Bremen and Oldenburg. On the receipt of this 
intelligence the Electorate of Hanover was evacuated by the 
Erench, and General Barbou, who had commanded there, con¬ 
centrated his forces in Hamelin. 

On the 2d of November, 1805, the King of Sweden arrived 
at Stralsund. I immediately intimated to our Government 
that this circumstance would probably give a new turn to the 
operations of the combined army, for hitherto the .uncertainty 

of its movements and the successive counter-orders afforded 

no possibility of ascertaining any determined plan. The in¬ 
tention seemed to be, that all the Swedo-Russian troops 
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should cross the Elbe at the same point, viz., Lauenburg, six 

miles from Hamburg. There was not on the oth of November 

a single Russian on the southern bank of the Elbe. 
The first column of the grand Russian army passed through 

Warsaw on the 1st of November, and on the 2d the Grand- 

Duke Constantine was expected with the Guards. 1 his col- 

umn, which amounted to 6000 men, was the first that passed 

through Prussian Poland. . 
4t this time we momentarily expected to see the Hanove¬ 

rian army landed on the banks of the Weser or the Elbe, aug¬ 
mented by some thousands of English. Their design appar¬ 

ently was either to attack Holland, or to attempt some 

operation on the rear of our Grand Army. 
The French Government was very anxious to receive 

accurate accounts of the march of the Swedo-Russian troops 

through Hanover, and of the Russian army through Poland. 

My agents at Warsaw and Stralsund, who were exceedingly 
active and intelligent, enabled me to send off a bulletin 
describing the state of Hanover, the movements of tire Rus¬ 

sians and Swedes, together with information of the arrival of 
English troops in the Elbe, and a statement of the force of 
the combined army in Hanover, which consisted of 1.4,000 

Russians, 8000 Swedes, and 12,000 English; making in all 

35,000 men. 
It was probably on account of this bulletin that Napoleon 

expressed to Duroc Ms satisfaction with my services. The 
Emperor on recalling Duroc from Berlin did not manifest the 

least apprehension respecting Prussia. Duroc wrote to me 

the following letter on the occasion of his recall: — 

My dear Bourrienye — The Emperor having thought my services 
necessary to the army has recalled me. I yesterday had a farewell audi¬ 
ence of the King and Queen, who treated me very graciously. His 
Majesty presented me with his portrait set in diamonds. 

The Emperor Alexander will probably depart to-morrow, and the Arch¬ 
duke Anthony very speedily. We cannot but hope that their presence 
here will facilitate a good understanding. (Signed) Duroc. 

Whenever foreign armies were opposing Prance the hopes 
of the emigrants revived. They falsely imagined that the 
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powers coalesced against Napoleon were laboring in tlieir 

cause; and many of them entered the Russian and Austrian 

armies. Of this number was General Dumouriez. I received 

information that he had landed at Stade on the 21st of No¬ 
vember ; but whither he intended to proceed was not known. 

A man named St. Martin, whose wife lived with Dumouriez, 

and who had accompanied the General from England to 
Stade, came to Hamburg, where he observed great precautions 

for concealment and bought two carriages, which were imme¬ 
diately forwarded to Stade. St. Martin himself immediately 
proceeded to the latter place. I was blamed for not having 
arrested this man; but he had a commission attesting that he 

was in the English service, and, as I have before mentioned, a 
foreign commission was a safeguard, and the only one which 

could not be violated in Hamburg. 
In December, 1805, the English recruiting in Hanover was 

kept up without interruption, and attended with extraordinary 

success. Sometimes a hundred men were raised in a day. 

The misery prevailing in Germany, which had been ravaged 
by the war, the hatred against the French, and the high 
bounty that was offered enabled the English to procure as 
many men as they wished. 

The King of Sweden, meditating on the stir he should make 

in Hanover, took with him a camp printing-press to publish 
the bulletins of the grand Swedish army. The first of these 

bulletins announced to Europe that his Swedish Majesty was 
about to leave Stralsund, and that his army would take up its 
position partly between Nelsen and Haarburg, and partly be¬ 
tween Domitz and the frontiers of Hamburg. 

Among the anecdotes of Napoleon connected with this cam¬ 
paign, I find in my notes the following, which was related to 

me by Rapp. Some days before his entrance into Vienna 

Napoleon, who was riding on horseback along the road, 

dressed in his usual uniform of the chasseurs of the Guard, 
met an open carriage, in which was seated a lady and priest. 
The lady was in tears, and Napoleon could not refrain from 

stopping to ask her what was the cause of her distress. “ Sir,” 
she replied, for she did not know the Emperor, “ I have been 
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pillaged at my estate, two leagues from hence, by a party of 
soldiers, who have murdered my gardener. I am going to seek 
your Emperor, who knows my family, to whom he was once 

under great obligations.” ' “ What is your name ? ” inquired 

Napoleon. — “ De Bunny,” replied the lady. “ I am the 
daughter of M. de Marbeuf, formerly Governor of Corsica.” 

— “ Madame,” exclaimed Napoleon, “ I am the Emperor. I 
am delighted to have the opportunity of serving you.” — 
“ You cannot conceive,” continued Bapp, “the attention which 

the Emperor showed Madame de Bunny. He consoled her, 

pitied her, almost apologized for the misfortune she had sus¬ 
tained. 6 Will you have the goodness, Madame/ said he, * to 

go and wait for me at my headquarters ? I will join you 
speedily; every member of M. de MarbeuPs family has a 
claim on my respect.’ The Emperor immediately gave her a 

picquet of chasseurs of his Guard to escort her. He saw her 
again during the day, when he loaded her with attentions, and 

liberally indemnified her for the losses she had sustained.” 1 
For some time previous to the battle of Austerlitz the differ¬ 

ent corps of the army intersected every part of Germany and 
Italy, all tending towards Vienna as a central point. At the 
beginning of November the corps commanded by Marshal 

Bernadotte arrived at Saltzburg at the moment when the 
Emperor had advanced his headquarters to Braunau, where 
there were numerous magazines of artillery and a vast quan¬ 
tity of provisions of every kind. The junction of the corps 
commanded by Bernadotte in Hanover with the Grand Army 
was a point of such high importance that Bonaparte had 
directed the Marshal to come up with him as speedily as 

1 This incident is related in the Memoirs of Rapp, p. 54, giving some 
color to the remark of Erreurs, tome i. p. 325, on a similar reference. The 
whole family of the Bonapartes certainly owed much to the Comte (Louis 
Charles Rene'), later the Marquis de Marbeuf, who had been Governor of 
Corsica, and who had obtained permission for Napoleon to enter the military 
school of Brienne, and generally acted as their protector. The Comte had 
stood as godfather to Louis Bonanarte. See lung’s Bonaparte, tome i. espe¬ 
cially p. 91. He died in 1786. When the young Napoleon, put in the cells 
at Brienne for some quarrel, makes a spirited appeal to M. de Marbeuf to 
withdraw him from Brienne, he then says, “ As for the kindnesses you 
shower on me, they shall always be present to my memory.” They were 
present, and Napoleon had full right to say to Madame Junot that all sove¬ 
reigns were not ungrateful (Junot, tome ii. p. 510). 
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possible, and to take the shortest road. This order obliged 
Bernadotte to pass through the territory of the two Margra- 
vates. 

At that time we were at peace with Naples. In September 

the Emperor had concluded with Ferdinand IV. a treaty of 

neutrality. This treaty enabled Carra St. Cyr, who occupied 

Naples, to evacuate that city and to join Massena in Upper 
Italy, both reached the Grand Army on the 28th of Novem¬ 

ber. But no sooner had the troops commanded by Carra St. 

Cyr quitted the Neapolitan territory than the King of Naples, 

influenced by his Ministers, and above all, by Queen Caroline, 

broke the treaty of neutrality, ordered hostile preparations 

against France, opened his ports to the enemies of the 

Emperor, and received into his States 12,000 Russians and 
8000 English.1 It was on the receipt of this news that Bona¬ 

parte, in one of his most violent bulletins, styled the Queen 

of Naples a second Fredegonda. The victory of Austerlitz 
having given powerful support to his threats, the fall of 

Naples was decided, and shortly after his brother Joseph 

was seated on the Neapolitan throne. 

At length came the grand day when, to use Napoleon’s 
expression, the Sun of Austerlitz rose. All our forces were 

concentrated on one point, at about 40 leagues beyond Vienna. 
There remained nothing but the wreck of the Austrian army, 

the corps of Prince Charles being by scientific manoeuvres 

kept at a distance from the line of operations; but the Rus¬ 
sians alone were superior to us in numbers, and their army 

was almost entirely composed of fresh troops. The most 
extraordinary illusion prevailed in the enemy’s camp. The 

north of Europe has its Gascons as well as the south of 
France, and the junior portion of the Russian army at this 
period assumed an absurd braggadocio tone. On the very 
eve of the battle the Emperor Alexander sent one of his aides 
de camp, Prince Dolgorouki, as a flag of truce to Napoleon. 
The Prince could not repress his self-sufficiency even in the 

i This has been called treachery on the part of King Ferdinand, but it 
should be remembered that it was only by a system of treachery and violence 
that the French had obtained a footing in the Kingdom of Naples and forced 
Ferdinand into a most disadvantageous treaty. — Editor o/1836 edition. 
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presence of the Emperor, and Eapp informed me that on dis¬ 

missing him the Emperor said, “ If you were on the heights 
of Montmartre,1 I would answer such impertinence only by 
cannon-balls.” This observation was very remarkable, inas¬ 

much as subsequent events rendered it a prophecy. 
As to the battle itself, I can describe it almost as well as if 

I had witnessed it, for some time after I had the pleasure of 
seeing my friend Eapp, who was sent on a mission to Prussia. 
He gave me the following account: — 

“When we arrived at Austerlitz the Eussians were not 
aware of the scientific plans which the Emperor had laid 
for drawing them upon the ground he had marked out; and 

seeing our advanced guards fall back before theirs they 
already considered themselves conquerors. They supposed 
that their Guard alone would secure an easy triumph. But 

the action commenced, and they experienced an energetic 

resistance on all points. At one o’clock the victory was yet 
uncertain, for they fought admirably. They wished to make 
a last effort by directing close masses against our centre. 

Their Imperial Guard deployed ; their artillery, cavalry, and 
infantry marched upon a bridge which they attacked, and 

this movement, which was concealed by the rising and falling 
of the ground, was not observed by Napoleon. I was at that 
moment near the Emperor, awaiting his orders. We heard a 

well-maintained firing of musketry. The Eussians were re¬ 
pulsing one of our brigades. The Emperor ordered me to 
take some of the Mamelukes, two squadrons of chasseurs, and 
one of grenadiers of the Guard, and to go and reconnoitre 
the state of things. I set off at full gallop, and soon discov¬ 
ered the disaster. The Russian cavalry had penetrated our 
squares, and was sabring our men. I perceived in the dis¬ 
tance some masses of cavalry and infantry, which formed the 

reserve of the Eussians. At that moment the enemy ad¬ 
vanced to meet us, bringing with him four pieces of artillery, 
and ranged himself in order of battle. I had the brave Mor- 
land on my left, and General D’Allemagne on my right. ‘Eor- 

1 Overlooking Paris, where, nine years later, the Russians stood as con¬ 
querors. — Editor of the 1836 edition. 
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ward, my lads!’ exclaimed I to my troop. ‘ See bow your 

brothers and friends are being cut to pieces. Avenge them! 
avenge our flag! Forward! ’ These few words roused my 
men. We advanced as swiftly as our horses could carry us 
upon the artillery, which was taken. The enemy’s cavalry, 

which awaited us firmly, was repulsed by the same shock, and 
fled in disorder, galloping as we did over the wrecks of our 

squares. The Russians rallied; but a squadron of horse 
grenadiers came up to re-enforce me, and thus enabled me 
to hold ground against the reserves of the Russian Guard. 

We charged again, and this charge was terrible. The brave 
Morland was killed by my side. It was downright butchery. 
We were opposed man to man, and were so> mingled together 
that the infantry of neither one nor the other side could ven¬ 
ture to fire for fear of killing its own men. At length the 

intrepidity of our troops overcame every obstacle, and the 
Russians fled in disorder, in sight of the two Emperors of 
Russia and Austria, who had stationed themselves on a height 
in order to witness the battle. They saw a desperate one,” 
said Rapp, “and I trust they were satisfied. For my part, 

my dear friend, I never spent so glorious a day. What a recep¬ 
tion the Emperor gave me when I returned to inform him that 

we had won the battle! My sword was broken, and a wound 
which I received on my head was bleeding copiously, so that 

I was covered with blood! He made me a General of Divis¬ 
ion. The Russians did not return to the charge; we had 
taken all their cannon and baggage, and Prince Repnin was 

among the prisoners.” 1 

1 There is something strange about the position and behavior of the Rus¬ 
sian army after Austerlitz. See Savary (tome ii. chap, xvii.), in which lie 
hints that the Russians only escaped worse defeat the day after the battle by 
bad faith. Jomini says nothing on the subject, but he owed much to Alex¬ 
ander when he wrote. On the battle itself Jomini puts the following in the 
mouth of Napoleon. “Such was the famous day of Austerlitz, —of all the 
pitched lights X have won that of which I am the proudest, as much on ac¬ 
count of the enemy over whom I triumphed as on account of the circum¬ 
stances which made all my combinations succeed as if I had commanded 
both armies and as if we had agreed upon the manoeuvres. Ulm, Marengo, 
Jena, Ratisbon, were as brilliant victories, but they were the result of stra¬ 
tegical manoeuvres and of a series of combats. The most remarkable tactical 
battles are Austerlitz, Rivoli, and Dresden” (Jomini, tome ii. p. 193). See 
Thiers’s vivid account, tome vi. livre xxiii Also Hamley’s Operations, pp. 
379 and 409. Jomini’s opinion must be that of every soldier, but be does not 
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Tlius it was that Rapp related to me this famous battle of 
which he was the hero, as Kellerman had been the hero of 
Marengo. What now remains of Austerlitz ? The recollec¬ 
tion, the glory, and the magnificent picture of Gerard, the 
idea of which was suggested to the Emperor by the sight of 

Rapp with the blood streaming from his wound. 
I cannot forbear relating here a few particulars which I 

learned from Rapp respecting his mission after the cure of 
his wound, and the marriage of Prince Eugene to the Princess 
Augusta of Bavaria. The friendship which Rapp cherished 
for me was of the most sincere kind. During my disgrace he 
did not even conceal it from Napoleon; and whoever knows 

anything of the Emperor’s Court will acknowledge that that 
was a greater mark of courage than the carrying of a redoubt 

or making the most brilliant charge of cavalry. Rapp pos¬ 

sessed courage of every kind, an excellent heart, and a down¬ 

right frankness, which for a time brought him into disgrace 
with Napoleon. The only thing for which Rapp could be 

reproached was his extreme prejudice against the nobility, 
which I am convinced was the sole reason why he was not 
created a Duke.1 The Emperor made him a count because he 
wished that all his aides de camp should have titles. 

“ He had been a fortnight at Schoenbrunn,” said Rapp to 
me, “ and I had not yet resumed my duties, when the Em¬ 
peror sent for me. He asked me whether I was able to 
travel, and on my replying in the affirmative, he said, ‘ Go, 

then, and give an account of the battle of Austerlitz to Mar- 
mont, and vex him for not having been at it.’ I set off, and 
in conformity with the instructions I had received from the 

Emperor I proceeded to Gratz, where I found Marmont, who 
was indeed deeply mortified at not having had a share in 

the great battle. I told him, as the Emperor had directed 
me, that the negotiations were commenced, but that nothing 
was yet concluded, and that therefore, at all events, he must 

do justice to the calculated daring by which Napoleon disregarded the Prus¬ 
sian advance and crushed the allies before Prussia could bring her power to 
bear. One undoubted result of Austerlitz was the death of the great English 
patriot, William Pitt, who is said to have been as much killed by it as if ac¬ 
tually shot on the field; See Alison, chap. xl. para. 167. 

1 Or vice versa ? — Reader. 
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hold himself in readiness. I ascertained the situation of his 
army in Styria, and the amount of the enemy’s force before 

him. The Emperor wished him to send a number of spies 
into Hungary, and to transmit to him a detailed report from 

their communications. I next proceeded to Layback, where 

I found Massena at the head of the eighth corps, and I 

informed him that the Emperor wished him to march in all 
haste upon Vienna, in case he should hear of the rupture of 

the negotiations. I continued the itinerary marked out fm 
me until I reached Venice, and thence till I met the troops 
of Carra St. Cyr,1 who had received orders to march back upon 

Naples as soon as the Emperor heard of the treachery of .the 
King of Naples and the landing of the English and Russians. 
Having fulfilled these different missions I proceeded to 

Klagenfurth, where I saw Marshal Ney, and I afterwards 

rejoined the Emperor at Munich. There I had the pleasure 
of finding our friends assembled, and among them Josephine, 

still as affable and amiable as ever. How delighted I was 
when, on my arrival, I learned that the Emperor had adopted 

Eugene. I was present at his marriage with the Princess 
Augusta of Bavaria. As to me, you know I am not very fond 
of fetes, and the Emperor might have dispensed with my per¬ 

forming the duties of Chamberlain; Eugene had no idea of 
what was going on when the Emperor sent to desire his pres¬ 
ence at Munich with all possible speed. He, too, remains 
unchanged; he is still our old comrade. At first he was not 
much pleased with the idea of political marriage; but when 
he saw his bride he was quite enchanted; and no wonder, for 
I assure you she is a very charming woman.” 

1 Gouvion, not Carra, St. Cyr (Erreurs, tome ii. p. 148). 



CHAPTER II. 

1805. 

Depreciation of the Bank paper — Ouvrard — His great discretion — Bona 
parte’s opinion of the rich — Ouvrard’s imprisonment — His partnership 
with the King of Spain — His connection with Wanlerberghe and 
Desprez — Bonaparte’s return to Paris after the campaign of Vienna — 
Hasty dismissal of M. Barbe Marbois. 

At the moment when the Emperor had reason to hope that 
the news of his extraordinary success would animate public 

spirit he was informed that considerable disquietude pre¬ 
vailed, and that the Bank of France was assailed by demands 
for the payment of its paper, which had fallen more than 5 

per cent. I was not ignorant of the cause of this decline. I 
had been made acquainted, through the commercial corre¬ 
spondence between Hamburg and Paris, with a great financial 
operation, planned by M. Ouvrard, in consequence of which 
he was to obtain piastres from Spanish America at a price 

much below the real value ; and I had learned that he was 
obliged to support this enterprise by the funds which he and 
his partners previously employed in victualling the forces. 
A fresh investment of capital was therefore necessary for this 
service, which, when on a large scale, requires extensive 
advances, and the tardy payment of the Treasury at that 
period was well known. 

I was well acquainted with M. Ouvrard, and in what I am 
about to say I do not think there will be found anything 
offensive or disagreeable to him. I observed the greater 
number of the facts to which I shall refer in their origin, 

and the rest I learned from M. Ouvrard himself, who, when 
he visited Hamburg in 1808, communicated to me a variety of 

details respecting his immense transactions with the King of 
Spain. Among other things I recollect he told me that before 

10 
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the 18th Brumaire he was possessed of 60,000,000, without 
owing a franc to any person. 

This celebrated financier has been the object of great pub¬ 
lic attention.1 The prodigious variations of fortune which he 
has experienced, the activity of his life, the immense com¬ 
mercial operations in which he has been engaged, the extent 
and the boldness of his enterprises, render it necessary, in 
forming a judgment of M. Ouvrard, to examine his conduct 
with due care and deliberation. The son of a stationer, who 
was able merely through his own resources to play so remark¬ 
able a part, could be no ordinary man. It may be said of 
M. Ouvrard what Beaumarchais said of himself, that his life 
was really a combat. I have known him long, and I saw much 
of him in his relations with Josephine. He always appeared 
to me to possess great knowledge of the world, accompanied 
by honorable principles, and a high degree of generosity, 
which added greatly to the value of his prudence and discre¬ 
tion. Ho human power, no consideration, not even the 
ingratitude of those whom he had obliged, could induce him 
to disclose any sacrifice which he had made at the time when, 
under the Directory, the public revenue may be said to have 
been always at the disposal of the highest bidder, and when 
no business could be brought to a conclusion except by him 
who set about it with his hands full of money. To this secu¬ 
rity, with which M. Ouvrard impressed all official persons 

1 Bourrienne goes at great length into the curious hut well-known Ou¬ 
vrard affair of which he could not have had much special knowledge at the 
time. The company of “Negociants robinis,” composed of Ouvrard, Des- 
prez, and Wanlerberghe, had undertaken enormous contracts for the French 
and Spanish Governments. The French Treasury became mixed up with 
their affairs, and the large advances which had to he made to the company 
shook the public credit. This matter hung like a cloud over Napoleon dur¬ 
ing the Austerlitz campaign: see his Correspondence with Joseph in 1805, 
tome i. On the return of the Emperor, after the peace of Presburg, he dis¬ 
missed M. Barbe Marbois, the Ministre tlu Tresor, but only for injudicious 
conduct, paying a compliment to his personal character at the time. The 
main wrath of the Emperor, who rightly or wrongly looked on himself as 
robbed, fell on Ouvrard, who was imprisoned for some years, and the fortune 
of himself and his associates appropriated to refunding the deficiency of the 
Treasury. Ouvrard afterwards pursued the same extraordinary and varied 
career: sometimes rich, and sometimes ruined. In 1823 he undertook the 
supply of the French army in Spain, and in 1830 was mixed up with the 
Spanish x>retenders. He died in 1847. See the account of this affair by 
Thiers, tome vi. livres xxii. and xxiii. 
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who rendered him services, I attribute the facility with which 
he obtained the direction of the numerous enterprises in 
which he engaged, and which produced so many changes in 
his fortune. The discretion of M. Ouvrard was not quite 
agreeable to the First Consul, who found it impossible to 
extract from him the information he wanted. He tried every 
method to obtain from him the names of persons to whom he 
had given those kind of subsidies which in vulgar language 

are called sops in the pan, and by ladies pin-money. Often 
have I seen Bonaparte resort to every possible contrivance to 
gain his object. He would sometimes endeavor to alarm 
M. Ouvrard by menaces, and at other times to flatter him by 

promises, but he was in no instance successful. 
While we were at the Luxembourg, on, as I recollect, the 

25th of January, 1800, Bonaparte said to me during breakfast, 
“Bourrienne, my resolution is taken. I shall have Ouvrard 

arrested.” — “ General, have you proofs against him ? ” — 
“ Proofs, indeed! He is a money-dealer, a monopolizer; we 
must make him disgorge. All the contractors, all the provis¬ 
ion agents, are rogues. Plow have they got their fortunes ? 
At the expense of the country, to be sure. I will not suffer 

such doings. They possess millions, they roll in an insolent 
luxury, while my soldiers have neither bread nor shoes ! I 
will have no more of that! I intend to speak on the business 

to-day in the Council, and we shall see what can be done.” 
I waited with impatience for his return from the Council to 

know what had passed. “Well, General?” said I. “The 
order is given.” On hearing this I became anxious about the 
fate of M. Ouvrard, who was thus to be treated more like a 
subject of the Grand Turk than a citizen of the Republic; but 
I soon learned that the order had not been executed because 
he could not be found. 

Next day I learned that a person, whom I shall not name, 
who was present at the Council, and who probably was under 
obligations to Ouvrard, wrote him a note in pencil to inform 

him of the vote for his arrest carried by the First Consul. 
This individual stepped out for a moment and despatched his 
servant with the note to Ouvrard. Having thus escaped the 
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writ of arrest, Ouvrard, after a few days had passed over, re¬ 
appeared, and surrendered himself prisoner. Bonaparte was 
at first furious on learning that he had got -out of the way; 
but on hearing that Ouvrard had surrendered himself he said 

to me, “ The fool! he does not know what is awaiting him ! 
He wishes to make the public believe that he has nothing to 

fear; that his hands are clean. But he is playing a bad game ; 

he will gain nothing in that way with me. All talking is 
nonsense. You may be sure, Bourrienne, that when a man has 
so much money he cannot have got it honestly, and then all 

those fellows are dangerous with their fortunes. In times of 

revolution no man ought to have more than 3,000,000 francs, 
and that is a great deal too much.” 

Before going to prison Ouvrard took care to secure against 

all the searches of the police any of his papers which might 
have committed persons with whom he had dealings; and I 

believe that there were individuals connected with the police 
itself who had good reason for not regretting the opportunity 
which M. Ouvrard had taken for exercising this precaution. 

Seals, however, were put upon his papers; but on examining 
them none of the information Bonaparte so much desired to 

obtain was found. Nevertheless on one point his curiosity 
was satisfied, for on looking over the documents he found from 

some of them that Madame Bonaparte had been borrowing 
from Ouvrard. 

As Ouvrard had a great number of friends they bestirred 
themselves to get some person of influence to speak to the 
First Consul in his favor. But this was a commission no one 
was willing to undertake; because, prejudiced as Bonaparte 

was, the least hint of the kind would have appeared to him to 
be dictated by private interest. Berthier was very earnestly 
urged to interfere, but he replied, “ That is impossible. He 

would say that it was underhand work to get money for 
Madame Visconti.” 

I do not recollect to what circumstance Ouvrard was in¬ 
debted for his liberty, but it is certain that his captivity did 

not last long. Some time after he had left his prison Bona- 

parte asked him for 12,000,000, which M. Ouvrard refused. 
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On his accession to the Consulate Bonaparte found M. 
Ouvrard contractor for supplying the Spanish fleet under the 

command of Admiral Massaredo. This business introduced 
him to a correspondence with the famous Godoy, Prince of 

the Peace. The contract lasted three years, and M. Ouvrard 
gained by it a net profit of 15,000,000. The money was pay¬ 
able in piastres, at the rate of 3 francs and some centimes 
each, though the piastre was really worth 5 francs 40 cen¬ 
times. But to recover it at this value it was necessary for M. 
Ouvrard to go and get the money in Mexico. This he was 

much inclined to do, but he apprehended some obstacle on the 

part of the First Consul, and, notwithstanding his habitual 

shrewdness, he became the victim of his over-precaution.. On 

his application M. de Talleyrand undertook to ask the First 
Consul for authority to give him a passport. I was in the 
cabinet at the time, and I think I still hear the dry and de¬ 

cided “No” which was all the answer M. de Talleyrand 
obtained. When we were alone the First Consul said to me, 

“ Do you not see, Bourrienne, this Ouvrard must have made a 
good thing of his business with the Prince of the Peace ? But 
the fool! Why did he get Talleyrand to ask me for a pass¬ 
port ? That is the very thing that raised my suspicion. 
Why did he not apply for a passport as every one else does ? 

Have I the giving of them ? He is an ass; so much the worse 
for him.” 

I was sorry for Ouvrard’s disappointment, and I own none 
the less so because he had intimated his willingness to give 

me a share in the business he was to transact in Spain; and 
which was likely to be very profitable. His brother went to 
Mexico in his stead. 

In 1802 a dreadful scarcity afflicted France. M. Ouvrard 
took upon himself, in concert with Wanlerberghe, the task of 
importing foreign grain to prevent the troubles which might 
otherwise have been expected. In payment of the grain the 
foreign houses who sent it drew upon Ouvrard and Wanler¬ 

berghe for 26,000,000 francs in Treasury bills, which, accord¬ 
ing to the agreement with the Government, were to be paid. 

But when the bills of the foreign houses became due there 
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was no money in the Treasury, and payment was refused. 
After six months had elapsed payment was offered, but on 

condition that the Government should retain half the profit of 
bhe commission! This Ouvrard and Wanlerberghe refused, 

upon which the Treasury thought it most economical to pay 
nothing, and the debt remained unsettled. Notwithstanding 

this transaction Ouvrard and Wanlerberghe engaged to victual 
the navy, which they supplied for six years and three months. 
After the completion of these different services the debt due 

to them amounted to 68,000,000. 
In consequence of the long delay of payment by the Treas¬ 

ury the disbursements for supplies of grain amounted at least 

to more than 40,000,000 ; and the difficulties which arose had 

a serious effect on the credit of the principal dealers with 
those persons who supplied them. The discredit spread and 
gradually reached the Treasury, the embarrassments of which 

augmented with the general alarm. Ouvrard, Wanlerberghe, 
and Seguin were the persons whose capital and credit ren¬ 

dered them most capable of relieving the Treasury, and they 
agreed to advance for that purpose 102,000,000 in return for 
which they were allowed bonds of the Keceivers-General to 

the amount of 150,000,000. M. Desprez undertook to be the 
medium through which the 102,000,000 were to be paid into 
the Treasury, and the three partners transferred the bonds to 

him. 
Spain had concluded a treaty with France, by which she 

was bound to pay a subsidy of 72,000,000 francs, and 32,000,- 

000 had become due without any payment being made. It 
was thought advisable that Ouvrard should be sent to Madrid 

to obtain a settlement, but he was afraid that his business in 
Paris would suffer during his absence, and especially the 
transaction in which he was engaged with Desprez. The 
Treasury satisfied him on this point by agreeing to sanction 

the bargain with Desprez, and Ouvrard proceeded to Madrid. 

It was on this occasion he entered into the immense specula¬ 
tion for trading with Spanish America. 

Spain wished to pay the 32,000,000 which were due to 

France as soon as possible, but her coffers were empty, and 
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good will does not insure ability; besides, in addition to the 
distress of the Government, there was a dreadful famine in 

Spain. In this state of things Ouvrard proposed to the 
Spanish Government to pay the debt due to France, to 

import a supply of corn, and to advance funds for the relief 
of the Spanish Treasury. For this he required two condi¬ 

tions. (1.) The exclusive right of trading with America. (2.) 

The right of bringing from America on his own account all 
the specie belonging to the Crown, with the power of making 

loans guaranteed and payable by the Spanish Treasuries. 

About the end of July, 1805, the embarrassment which 
some time before had begun to be felt in the finances of 
Europe was alarmingly augmented. Under these circum¬ 
stances it was obviously the interest of Ouvrard to procure 

payment as soon as possible of the 32,000,000 which he had 
advanced for Spain to the French Treasury. He therefore 

redoubled his efforts to bring his negotiations to a favorable 
issue, and at last succeeded in getting a deed of partnership 

between himself and Charles IV. which contained the follow¬ 
ing stipulation : — “ Ouvrard and Company are authorized to 
introduce into the ports of the New World every kind of mer¬ 

chandise and production necessary for the consumption of 
those countries, and to export from the Spanish Colonies, 

during the continuance of the war with England, all the 
productions and all specie derivable from them.” This treaty 
was only to be in force during the war with England, and it 

was stipulated that the profits arising from the transactions 
of the Company should be equally divided between Charles 
IV. and the rest of the Company; that is to say, one-half to 
the King and the other half to his partners. 

The consequences of this extraordinary partnership between 
a King and a private individual remain to be stated. On the 

signing of the deed Ouvrard received drafts from the Treas¬ 
ury of Madrid to the extent of 52,500,000 piastres; making 
262,500,000 francs : but the piastres were to be brought from 

America, while the terms of the treaty required that the 
urgent wants of the Spanish Government should be imme¬ 
diately supplied, and, above all, the progress of the famine 
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checked. To accomplish this object fresh advances to an 
enormous amount were necessary, for M. Ouvrard had to 
begin by furnishing 2,000,000 of quintals of grain at the rate 
of 26 francs the quintal. Besides all this, before he could 
realize a profit and be reimbursed for the advances he had 

made to the Treasury of Paris, he had to get the piastres con¬ 

veyed from America to Europe. After some difficulty the 
English Government consented to facilitate the execution of 
the transaction by furnishing four frigates for the conveyance 

of the piastres. 
Ouvrard had scarcely completed the outline of his extraor¬ 

dinary enterprise when the Emperor suddenly broke up his 
camp at Boulogne to march to Germany. It will readily be 

conceived that Ouvrard’s interests then imperatively required 
his presence at Madrid; but he was recalled to Paris by the 
Minister of the Treasury, who wished to adjust his accounts. 
The Emperor wanted money for the war on which he was 

entering, and to procure it for the Treasury Ouvrard was sent 

to Amsterdam to negotiate with the House of Hope. He suc¬ 

ceeded, and Mr. David Parish became the Company’s agent. 
Having concluded this business Ouvrard returned in all 

haste to Madrid; but in the midst of the most flattering 
hopes and most gigantic enterprises he suddenly found him¬ 
self threatened with a dreadful crisis. M. Desprez, as has 

been stated, had, with the concurrence of the Treasury, been, 

allowed to take upon himself all the risk of executing the 
treaty, by which 150,000,000 were to be advanced for the year 

1804, and 400,000,000 for the year 1805. Under the circum¬ 
stances which had arisen the Minister of the Treasury con¬ 
sidered himself entitled to call upon Ouvrard to place at his 

disposal 10,000,000 of the piastres which he had received from 
Spain. The Minister at the same time informed him that lie 

had made arrangements on the faith of this advance, which 
he thought could not be refused at so urgent a moment. 

The embarrassment of the Treasury, and the well-known 

integrity of the Minister, M. de Barbe Marbois, induced 
Ouvrard to remit the 10,000,000 piastres. But a few days 
after he hqd. forwarded the money a Commission of the Treas- 
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ury arrived at Madrid -with a ministerial despatch, in which 

Ouvrard was requested to deliver to the Commissioner all the 
assets he could command, and to return immediately to Paris. 

The Treasury was then in the greatest difficulty, and a 
general alarm prevailed. This serious financial distress was 

occasioned by the following circumstances. The Treasury 
had, by a circular, notified to the Eeceivers-General that 
Desprez was the holder of their bonds. They were also 

authorized to transmit to him all their disposable funds, to 
be placed to their credit in an account current. Perhaps the 

giving of this authority was a great error; but, be that as it 
may, Desprez, encouraged by the complaisance of the Treas¬ 
ury, desired the Eeceivers-General to transmit to him all the 

sums they could procure for payment of interest under 8 per 
cent, promising to allow them a higher rate of interest. As 

the credit of the house of Desprez stood high, it may be easily 

conceived that on such conditions the Eeceivers-General, who 
were besides secured by the authority of the Treasury, would 
enter eagerly into the proposed plan. In short, the Eeceivers- 
General soon transmitted very considerable sums. Chests of 
money arrived daily from every point of France. Intoxicated 

by this success, Desprez engaged in speculations which in 
his situation were extremely imprudent. He lent more than 

50,000,000 to the merchants of Paris, which left him no com¬ 
mand of specie. Being obliged to raise money, he deposited 

with the Bank the bonds of the Eeceivers-General which had 
been consigned to him, but which were already discharged by 
the sums transmitted to their credit in the account current. 

The Bank, wishing to be reimbursed for the money advanced 

to Desprez, applied to the Eeceivers-General whose bonds 
were held in security. This proceeding had become neces¬ 
sary on the. part of the Bank, as Desprez, instead of making 

his payments in specie, sent in his acceptances. The Direct¬ 
ors of the Bank, who conducted that establishment with 

great integrity and discretion, began to be alarmed, and 
required Desprez to explain the state of his affairs. The 
suspicions of the Directors became daily stronger, and were 
soon shared by the public. At last the Bank was obliged to 
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stop payment, and its notes were soon at a discount of 12 per 

cent. 
The Minister of the Treasury, dismayed, as well may be 

supposed, at such a state of things during the Emperor’s 
absence, convoked a Council, at which Joseph Bonaparte pre¬ 
sided, and to which Desprez and Wanlerberghe were sum¬ 
moned. Ouvrard being informed of this financial convulsion 

made all possible haste from Madrid, and on his arrival at 
Paris sought assistance from Amsterdam. Hope’s house 

offered to take 15,000,000 piastres at the rate of 3 francs 
75 centimes each. Ouvrard having engaged to pay the Span¬ 
ish Government only 3 francs, would very willingly have 
parted with them at that rate, but his hasty departure from 

Madrid, and the financial events at Paris, affected his rela¬ 
tions with the Spanish Treasury, and rendered it impossible 

for him to afford any support to the Treasury of Prance; 

thus the alarm continued, until the news of the battle of 
Austerlitz and the consequent hope of peace tranquillized the 
public mind. The bankruptcy of Desprez was dreadful; it 
was followed by the failure of many houses, the credit of 
which was previously undoubted. 

To temper the exultation which victory was calculated to 
excite, the news of the desperate situation of the Treasury 

and the Bank reached the Emperor on the day after the battle 
of Austerlitz. The alarming accounts which he received has¬ 

tened his return to France ; and on the very evening on which 

he arrived in Paris he pronounced, while ascending the stairs 
of the Tuileries, the dismissal of M. de Barb6 Marbois. This 
Minister had made numerous enemies by the strict discharge 

of his duty, and yet, notwithstanding his rigid probity, he 
sunk under the accusation of having endangered the safety 

of the State by weakness of character. At this period even 

Madame de Stael said, in a party where the firmness of M. 
Barb6 Marbois was the topic of conversation — “ What, he 
inflexible ? he is only a rped bronzed ! ” But whatever may 

be the opinion entertained of the character of this Minister, 
it is certain that PTapoleon’s rage against him was unbounded. 
Such was the financial catastrophe which occurred during the 
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campaign of Vienna; but all was not over with Ouvrard, and 

in so great a confusion of affairs it was not to be expected 
that the Imperial hand, which was not always the hand of 
justice, should not make itself somewhere felt. 

In the course of the month of February, 1806, the Emperor 
issued two decrees, in which he declared Ouvrard, Wanler- 

berghe, and Michel, contractors for the service of i804, and 

Desprez their agent, debtors to the amount of 87,000,000 which 
they had misapplied in private speculations, and in transac¬ 

tions with Spain “ for their personal interests.” Who would 
not suppose from this phrase that Napoleon had taken no 
part whatever in the great financial operation between Spain 
and South America ? He was, however, intimately acquainted 

with it, and was himself really and personally interested. 

But whenever any enterprise was unsuccessful he always 

wished to deny all connection with it. Possessed of title- 

deeds made up by himself — that is to say, his own decrees — 
the Emperor seized all the piastres and other property belong¬ 

ing to the Company, and derived from the transaction great 

pecuniary advantage, — though such advantage never could 
be regarded by a sovereign as any compensation for the dread¬ 
ful state into which public credit had been brought.1 

1 Bourrienne’s statement is of course an ex-parte one, and comes from an 
interested quarter; and the Editor has been unable to refer to the decrees in 
question, which probably would contain further details of the ground of this 
action. 
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1 have been somewhat diffuse, respecting the vast enterprises 
of M. Ouvrard, and on the disastrous state, of tin* finances 
during the campaign of Vienna-. Now, if I may so ex press 
myself, I shall return to the Minister Plenipotent,iary’s cabi¬ 
net, where several curious transactions occurred. The facts 
will not. always he given in a, connected series, because there 
was no more relation between the reports which 1 received on 
a great variety of subjects than there is in hi it* pleading of 
the barristers who succeed each other in a. court of justice. 

On the 2d of January, 1SO0, I learned that many houses in 
Hamburg had received by post packets, each containing four 
copies of a declaration of Louis XVIII. Ihtmouriez had his 
carriage filled with copies of this declaration when he passed 
through Brunswick ; and in that sma.ll town alone more than 
.‘1000 were distributed. The size of this declaration rendered 
its transmission hy post very easy, even in France. 

All my letters from the Minister recommended that. I 
should keep a strict watch over the motions of Dumouriez; 
but his name was now as seldom mentioned as if he had 
ceased to exist. The, part he acted seemed to be limited to 
disseminating pamphlets more or less insignificant. 

21 
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It is difficult to conceive the great courage and presence c 

mind sometimes found in men so degraded as an* the wretch* 

who fill the office of spies. I had an agent. amongst (h 

Swe do JRussi ans, named (Jhefneux, whom I had always bum 

extremely clever and correct. Having tor a. lon^ time n 

ceived no intelligence from him I became very anxious, a 

anxiety which was not without. Inundation. He had, in ia-* 

been arrested at Lunenburg, and conducted, bound, tied ban 
and foot, by some Cossacks to Iaineburg, There was hum 

on him a bulletin which he was about to transmit to me, an 

he only escaped certain death by having in his possession 

letter of recommendation from a. Hamburg merehant ue 

known to M. Alopoeus, the Russian Minister in that ein 

This precaution, whi(di I laid taken before he set out, save 

his life. J\I. Alopoeus replied to tin* merchant that, in eons* 
quenee of his m'.omiiicnilation the spy should be sent, bar 

safe and sound, but that another time mother the rerun 
mended nor the reeommender should escape so easily. No\ 

withstanding this, (Jhefneux would certainly have paid wit 
his head for the dangerous business in whieh he was embark**1 
but; for the ineoneeivable coolness he displayed under th 

most trying circumstances. Though tin* bulletin whieh wa 
found upon him was addressed to M. Sehramm, merchant 

they strongly suspected that it was intended for me. The, 

demanded of the prisoner whether In* knew me; to whieh h 

boldly replied that he had never seen me. They endeavored 

by every possible means, to extort a confession from him. 1m 

without success. His repeated denials, joined to the name o 

M. Sehramm, created doubts in the minds of his interrogators 

they hesitated lest they should eomiemn an innocent mar 
They, however, resolved to make a last effort to discover th 

truth, and (Jhefneux, condemned to In* shot, wan conducted p 

the plain of Luneburg. His eyes were bandaged, and h 

heard the command of preparation given to the platoon, whirl 

was to fire upon him ; at that moment a man approaching bin 

whispered in his ear, in a tone of friendship and compassion 

u They are going to fire ; hut 1 am your friend ; only arkimul 

edge that you know M. do Bonrrirunr and yon are safe/1. 
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“No/’ replied Chefneux in a firm tone ; “if I said so I should 
tell a falsehood.” Immediately the bandage was removed 
from his eyes, and he was set at liberty. It would be difficult 
to cite a more extraordinary instance of presence of mind. 

Much as I execrate the system of espionage I am neverthe¬ 
less compelled to admit that the Emperor was under the 

necessity of maintaining the most unremitting vigilance 

amidst the intrigues which were going forward in the neigh¬ 
borhood of Hamburg, especially when the English, Swedes, 

and Russians were in* arms, and there were the strongest 
grounds for suspecting the sincerity of Prussia. 

On the 5th of January, 1806, the King of Sweden arrived 

before the gates of Hamburg. The Senate of that city, sur¬ 
rounded on all sides by English, Swedish, and Russian troops, 

determined to send a deputation to congratulate the Swedish 
monarch, who, however, hesitated so long about receiving this 

homage that fears were entertained lest his refusal should be 

followed by some act of aggression. At length, however, the 
deputies were admitted, and they returned sufficiently well 
satisfied with their reception. 

The King of Sweden then officially declared, “ That all the 

arrangements entered into with relation to Hanover had no 

reference to him, as the Swedish army was under the immedi¬ 
ate command of its august sovereign.” 1 

The King with his 6000 men, seemed inclined to play the 
part of the restorer of Germany, and to make himself the Don 

Quixote of the treaty of Westphalia. He threatened the 
Senate of Hamburg with the whole weight of his anger, be¬ 

cause on my application the colors which used to be suspended 
over the door of the house for receiving Austrian recruits had 

been removed. The poor Senate of Hamburg was kept in 
constant alarm by so dangerous a Neighbor. 

The King of Sweden had his headquarters at Boetzenburg, 
on the northern bank of the Elbe. In order to amuse himself 

he sent for Dr. Gall, who was at Hamburg, where he delivered 
lectures on his system of phrenology, which was rejected in 

1 The cession of Hanover to the King of Prussia for the two Margravates 
is what he alluded to. — Bourrienne. 
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the beginning by false science and prejudice, and afterwards 
adopted in consequence of arguments, in my opinion, unan¬ 
swerable. I had the pleasure of living some time with Dr. 
Gall, and I owe to the intimacy which subsisted between us 

the honor he conferred on me by the dedication of one of his 
works. I said to him, when he departed for the headquarters 
of the King of Sweden, “ My dear doctor, you will certainly 

discover the bump of vanity.” The truth is, that had the doc¬ 
tor at that period been permitted to examine the heads of the 

sovereigns of Europe they would havn afforded very curious 
craniological studies. 

It was not the King of Sweden alone who gave uneasiness 

to Hamburg; the King of Prussia threatened to seize upon 

that city, and his Minister publicly declared that it would very 
soon belong to his master. The Hamburgers were deeply 
afflicted at this threat; in fact, next to the loss of their inde¬ 

pendence, their greatest misfortune would have been to fall 
under the dominion of Prussia, as the niggardly fiscal system 
of the Prussian Government at that time would have proved 
extremely detrimental to a commercial city. Hanover, being 

evacuated by the French troops, had become a kind of recruit¬ 
ing mart for the British army, where every man who presented 
himself was enrolled, to complete the Hanoverian legion which 

was then about to be embodied. The English scattered gold 

by handfuls. One hundred and fifty carriages, each with six 

horses, wrere employed in this service, which confirmed me in 
the belief I had previously entertained, that the English were 
to join with the Russians in an expedition against Holland. 
The aim of the Anglo-Russians was to make a diversion which 

might disconcert the movements of the French armies in Ger¬ 
many, the allies being at that time unacquainted with the 

peace concluded at Presburg. Hot a moment was therefore 
to be lost in uniting the whole of our disposable force for the 
defence of Holland; but it is not of this expedition that I 
mean to speak at present. I only mention it to afford some 

idea of our situation at Hamburg, surrounded, as we then 
were, by Swedish, English, and Russian troops. At this 

period the Russian Minister at Hamburg, M. Forshmann, 
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became completely insane; his conduct had been more inju¬ 
rious than advantageous to his Government. He was replaced 
by M. Alopoeus, the Eussian Minister at Berlin; and they 
could not have exchanged a fool for a more judicious and able 

diplomatist. 
I often received from the Minister of Marine letters and 

packets to transmit to the Isle of France,1 of which the Em¬ 
peror was extremely anxious to retain possession; and I had 
much trouble in finding any vessels prepared for that colony 

by which I could forward the Minister’s communications. 
The death of Pitt and the appointment of Fox as his suc¬ 

cessor had created a hope of peace. It was universally known 

that Mr. Fox, in succeeding to his office, did not inherit the 
furious hatred of the deceased Minister against France and 

her Emperor. There moreover existed between Napoleon and 
Mr. Fox a reciprocal esteem, and the latter had shown himself 

really disposed to treat. The possibility of concluding a peace 

had always been maintained by that statesman when he was 

in opposition to Mr. Pitt; and Bonaparte himself might have 
been induced, from the high esteem he felt for Mr. Fox, to 
make concessions from which he would before have recoiled. 

But there were two obstacles, I may say almost insurmount¬ 
able ones. The first was the conviction on the part of Eng¬ 
land that any peace which might be made would only be a 
truce, and that Bonaparte would never seriously relinquish his 

desire of universal dominion. On the other side, it was believed 
that Napoleon had formed the design of invading England. 
Had he been able to do so it would have been less with the 

view of striking a blow at her commerce and destroying her 
maritime power, than of annihilating the liberty of the press, 
which he had extinguished in his own dominions. The spec¬ 
tacle of a free people, separated only by six leagues of sea, 
was, according to him, a seductive example to the French, 
especially to those among them who bent unwillingly under 
his yoke. 

1 The lie <le France (or Mauritius), taken by the English in 1810, and 
retained in 1814 ; while the He Bourbon (or Reunion), taken at the same 
time, was restored to France. 
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*t an early period of Mr- ^ox's ministry a Frenchman 

maf]e the proposition to him of assassinating the Emperor, oi 
which information -was immediately transmitted to M. de 

Talleyrand- In this despatch, tire Minister said that, though 

the laws of England did not authorize the permanent deten¬ 

tion of any individual not convicted of a crime, he had on 
this occasion taken it on himself to secure the miscreant till 

such time as the Erench Government could be put on its 

guard against his attempts. Min- Fox said in his letter that 
he had at first done this individual “ the honor to take him 

for a spy,” a phrase which sufficiently indicated the disgust 

with which the British Minister viewed him. 
This information was the key which opened the door to now 

negotiations. M. de Talleyrand was ordered to express, in 

reply to the communication of JVfr. Fox, that the Emperor was 
sensibly affected at the index it afforded of the principles by 
which the British Cabinet was actuated. Napoleon did not. 

limit himself to this diplomatic courtesy; he deemed it a 
favorable occasion to create a belief that he was actuated l>y 

a sincere love of peace. He summoned to Paris Lord Yar¬ 
mouth, one of the most distinguished amongst the English 

who had been so unjustly detained prisonjm at Verdun on the 

rupture of the peace of Amiens. He his lordship in¬ 
structions to propose to the British Government a new form 
of negotiations, offering to guarantee to England the Capo of 

Good Hope and Malta. Some have been inclined from this 
loncession to praise the moderation of Bonaparte ; others to 

olame him for offering to resign these two places, as if tin* 

Dape and Malta could be put in competition with the title of 
Emperor, the foundation of the Kingdom of Italy, the aoqui- 
lition of Genoa and of all the Venetian States, the dethrono- 

nentof the King of Kaples and the gift of his kingdom to 

roseph, and finally, the new partition of Germany. These 

ransactions, of which Bonaparte said not a word, and from 
vhich he certainly had no intention of departing, were all 
ong after the treaty of Amiens. 

Every day brought with it fresh proofs of insatiable ambi- 
ion. In fact, NTapoleon longed to obtain possession of the 
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Hanse Towns. I was, however, in the first place, merely 

charged to make overtures to the Senates of each of these 
towns, and to point out the advantages they would derive 
from the protection of Napoleon in exchange for the small 

sacrifice of 6,000,000 francs in his favor. I had on this sub¬ 
ject numerous conferences with the magistrates : they thought 
the sum too great, representing to me that the city was not so 
rich as formerly, because their commerce had been much cur¬ 
tailed by the war; in short, the Senate declared that, with the 

utmost good will, their circumstances would not permit them 
to accept the “ generous proposal ” of the Emperor. 

I was myself, indeed, at a loss to conceive how the absurd¬ 
ity of employing me to make such a proposition was over¬ 
looked, for I had really no advantage to offer in return to the 
Hanse Towns. Against whom did Bonaparte propose to pro¬ 
tect them ? The truth is, Napoleon then wished to seize these 

towns by direct aggression, which, however, he was not able 
to accomplish until four years afterwards. 

During five years I witnessed the commercial importance of 
these cities, and especially at Hamburg. Its geographical 
situation, on a great river navigable by large vessels to the 
city, thirty leagues from the mouth of the Elbe; the com¬ 

plete independence it enjoyed; its municipal regulations and 
paternal government, were a few amongst the many causes 
which had raised Hamburg to its enviable height of prosper¬ 
ity.1 What, in fact, was the population of these remnants of 
the grand Hanseatic League of the Middle Ages ? The popu¬ 
lation of Hamburg when I was there amounted to 90,000, and 

that of its small surrounding territory to 25,000. Bremen had 
36,000 inhabitants, and 9000 in its territory; the city of 
Lubeck, which is smaller and its territory a little more exten¬ 
sive than that of Bremen, contained a population of 24,000 
souls within and 16,000 without the walls. Thus the total 

1 Amongst the wreck of so many States these three towns, the survivors 
of the great League, once consisting of eighty towns, still figure among the 
States of the German Empire with populations (in 1880) as follows: — Ham¬ 
burg, 458,869; Bremen, 15(5,728; Lubeck, 63,571; total, 674,163 (Almanack de 
Gotha. 1884, p. 395). At the present day, however, Antwerp bids fair to be¬ 
come the Hamburg of the Continent. 
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population of the Hanse Towns amounted to only 200,000 in* 
dividuals * and yet this handful of men carried on an extensive 
commerce, and their ships ploughed every sea, from the shores 

of India to the frozen regions of Greenland. 
The Emperor arrived at Paris towards the end of January, 

3806. Having created Kings in Germany he deemed the mo¬ 
ment favorable for surrounding his throne with new princes. 

It was at this period that he created Murat, Grand Duke of 

Cleves and Berg ; Bernadotte, Prince of Ponte-Corvo ; M. de 
Talleyrand, Duke of Benevento; and his two former col¬ 

leagues, Cambaceres and Lebrun, Dukes of Parma and Pia¬ 
cenza.1 He also gave to his sister Pauline, a short time after 

her second marriage with the Prince Borghese, the title of 

Duchess of Guastalla. Strange events ! who could then have 
foreseen that the duchy of Cambaceres would become the 

refuge of a Princess of Austria, the widowed wife of Napoleon 

Bonaparte ? 2 
In the midst of the prosperity of the Imperial family, when 

the eldest of the Emperor's brothers had ascended the throne 

1 For a list of the chief titles created by Napoleon see the Memoirs of 
Zfadame Junot, 1883, English edition, vol. iii. p. 512. mem.jus ij 

2 Maria Louisa, who has the limited sovereignty of Parma and Piacenza 
has, since 1815, principallyresided at Parma. Ponte-Corvo and Bene von to’ 
which gave titles to Bernadotte and Talleyrand, are two towns in tho inte¬ 
rior of the kingdom of Naples which previously to the Revolution belonged 
to the Pope, and were governed by his Cardinal-Legate. There is a slin of 
territory attached to each of them, that of Benevento being not inconsidera¬ 
ble The city of Benevento contains about 18,000 inhabitants, and is anoient 
and exceedingly interesting. There are the remains of a Roman amphithe¬ 
atre and a bridge, a granite obelisk of the time of Tamilian, and a magnifi¬ 
cent triumphal arch of the Emperor Trajan. This arch, which is one of the 
finest m existence, is of Parian marble, and very little injured by time or 
violence. The town is situated in the midst of a beautiful country! and two 
important rivers, the Calore and the Sebato, sweep by it. ft is clue to that 
remarkable personage to state that M. de Talleyrand was a kind and gen 
ous master, and that his regime was exceedingly popular at Benevento 
His subjects, or vassals, were exempted from the barbarous oonscrinticmiVLw 
M e were there in 1816, a short time after the State had b™ ^ 

MdeTalfeyr^d511 StU1 h°ldS * and We hoard all partioVs^ak'w«n'"r 

mague, Empero? of fht ^ °f <Jharil’- 
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of Naples, when Holland was on the eve of being offered to 
Louis, and Jerome had exchanged his legitimate wife for the 
illegitimate throne of Westphalia, the Imperial pillow was 
still far from being free from anxiety. Hostilities did not 
actually exist with the Continental powers; but this momen¬ 

tary state of repose lacked the tranquillity of peace. France 
was at war with Russia and England, and the aspect of the 

Continent presented great uncertainty, while the treaty of 
Vienna had only been executed in part. 

In the mean time Napoleon turned his eyes towards the 
East. General Sebastiani was sent to Constantinople. The 
measures he pursued and his judicious conduct justified the 
choice of the Emperor. He was adroit and conciliating, and 

peace with Turkey was the result of his mission. The nego¬ 

tiations with England did not terminate so happily, although, 
after the first overtures made to Lord Yarmouth, the Earl of 

Lauderdale had been sent to Paris by Mr. Eox. In fact, 

these negotiations wholly failed. 
The Emperor had drawn enormous sums from Austria, 

without counting the vases, statues, and pictures with which 

he decorated the Louvre, and the bronze with which he 
clothed the column of the Place Vendome,1 — in my opinion 

the finest monument of his reign and the most beautiful one 
in Paris. As Austria was exhausted all the contributions 

1 Other countries'were even more despoiled than Austria, and the French 
occupations and exactions in Italy gave rise to many bitter pasquinades, 
among them the following may be found in Mr. Story’s charming work, 
Roba di Roma: — 

“ I Franchesi son tutti ladri I “ The French are all thieves — 
Non tutti — ma Buona parte.” | Or at all events the best part of them.” 

A clever epigram was made on Canova’s statue of Italy, which was repre¬ 
sented as draped: — 

“ Quosta volta Oanova l’ha sbagliata I “ For once Oanova surely has tripped, 
lia PItalia vestita ed h spogliata.” | Italy is not draped, but stripped.” 

One also referring to the institution 
its wit: — 

“ In tempi men leggiadri e pih feroci 
S’appicavano i ladri in su le Croce. 
In tempi men feroci e piu leggiadri 
S’appicano le Croci in su i ladri.” 

the Legion of Honor is admirable in 

“In times less pleasant, more fierce of 
old, 

The thieves were hung upon the cross, 
we’re told. 

In times less fierce, more pleasant like 
to-day, 

Crosses are hung upon the thieves — 
they say.” 
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imposed on her could not be paid in cash, and they gave the 
Emperor bills in payment. I received one for about 7,000,000 

on Hamburg on account of the stipulations of the Treaty of 

Presburg.1 
The affairs of the Bourbon Princes became more and more 

unfavorable, and their finances, as well as their chances of 

success, were so much diminished that about this period it 
was notified to the emigrants in Brunswick that the pretender 

(Louis XVIII.) had no longer the means of continuing their 
pensions.2 This produced great consternation amongst those 
emigrants, many of whom had no other means of existence ; 

and notwithstanding their devotion to the cause of royalty 
they found a pension very useful in strengthening their zeal. 

Amongst those emigrants was one whose name will occupy 
a certain place in history; I mean Dumouriez, of whom I 
have already spoken, and who had for some time employed 

himself in distributing pamphlets. He was then at Stralsmid ; 

and it was believed that the King of Sweden would give him 
a command. The vagrant life of this general, who ran every¬ 

where begging employment from the enemies of his country 
without being able to obtain it, subjected him to general ridi¬ 
cule; in fact, he was everywhere despised. 

To determine the difficulties which had arisen with regard 
to Holland, which Dumouriez dreamed of conquering with 
an imaginary army, and being discontented besides with tin* 
Dutch for not rigorously excluding English vessels from 

their ports, the Emperor constituted the Batavian territory a 

kingdom under his brother Louis. When I notified to the 

1 Was this English money? See Savary> tome ii. p. 239: “ The Austri¬ 
ans for the first payment of the contributions were obliged to cede to \xn the* 
amount of the subsidies which they were to receive from England Thev 
expected them at this moment, and they gave orders at Hamburg that when 
tne sum was received it should be handed over to the French Minister 
1 his was M. de Bourrienne, who received the English subsidies destined for 
Austria, and sent them to Paris.” 

^uis XiV:?i retarned to France, and Fouclid was his Minister of 
Police, the King asked Fouche whether during his (the King’s) exile, lie had 
not set spies over him, and who they were. Fouche hesitated; to reply, hut 
th^Tn,?sl-mf1stllJg ht sald.i “If y°ur Majesty presses for an answer, it was 
the Due de Blacas to whom this matter was confided.”—“ And how much (lid 
you pay hm. said the King. “Deux cents mille liyres de rente, Sire.” — 

utlry aLmfS £iar£ “?&>. h® Played ^ We Wnt halve*" ~ 
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States of the circle of Lower Saxony the accession of Louis 

Bonaparte to the throne of' Holland, and the nomination of 
Cardinal Fesch as coadjutor and successor of the Arch-chan¬ 
cellor of the Germanic Empire, along with their official com¬ 
munications, the Duke of Mecklenburg-Schwerin was the only 
member of the circle who forbore to reply, and I understood 

he had applied to the Court of Russia to know “ whether ” 
and “ how ” he should reply. At the same time he made 
known to the Emperor the marriage of his daughter, the 

Princess Charlotte Frederica, with Prince Christian Frederick 

of Denmark. 
At this period it would have been difficult to foresee the 

way in which this union would terminate. The Prince was 
young and handsome, and of an amiable disposition, which 

seemed to indicate that he would prove a good husband. 

As for the Princess, she was as beautiful as love; but she 
was heedless and giddy; in fact, she was a spoiled child. 

She adored her husband, and during several years their union 
proved happy. I had the honor of knowing them at the 

period when the Duke of Mecklenburg, with his family, sought 
refuge at Altona. Before leaving that town the Duchess of 
Mecklenburg, a Princess of Saxony, paid a visit to Madame 

de Bourrienne and loaded her with civilities. This Princess 

was perfectly amiable, and was therefore generally regretted 
when, two years afterwards, death snatched her from her 
family. Before leaving Altona the Duke of Mecklenburg 

gave some parties by way of bidding adieu to Holstein, where 
he had been so kindly received; and I can never forget the 
distinguished reception and many kindnesses Madame de 
Bourrienne and myself received from that illustrious family. 

It consisted of the hereditary Prince, so distinguished by 
his talents and acquirements (he was at that time the wid¬ 
ower of a Grand Duchess of Russia, a sister of the Emperor 
Alexander), of Prince Gustavus, so amiable and graceful, and 

of Princess. Charlotte and her husband, the Prince Royal of 
Denmark. 

This happy couple were far from foreseeing that in two 
years they would be separated forever. The princess was at 
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this period in all the splendor of her beauty; several fetes 
were given on her account on the banks of the Elbe, at which 

the Prince always opened the ball with Madame de Bourrienne. 
Notwithstanding her amiability the Princess Charlotte was no 

favorite at the Danish Court. Intrigues were formed against 
her. I know not whether any foundation existed for the 

calumnies spread to her disadvantage, but the Court dames 
accused her of great levity of conduct, which, true or false, 
obliged her husband to separate from her; and at the com¬ 

mencement of 1809 he sent her to Altona, attended by a 
chamberlain and a maid of honor. On her arrival she was 
in despair; hers was not a silent grief, for she related her 
story to every one. This unfortunate woman really attracted 

pity, as she shed tears for her son, three years of age, whom 

she was doomed never again to behold. But her natural 

levity returned; she did not always maintain the reserve 

suitable to her rank, and some months afterwards was sent 

into Jutland, where I believe she still lives. 

The enemies of the French Government did not confine 

themselves to writing and publishing invectives against it. 

More than one wretch was ready to employ daggers against 
the Emperor. Among this number was a man named Louis 

Loizeau, recently arrived from London. He repaired to Al¬ 
tona, there to enjoy the singular privilege which that city 
afforded of sheltering all the ruffians, thieves, and bankrupts 

who fled from the justice of their own Governments. On the 
l-7th of July Loizeau presented himself to Comte de Gimel, 

who resided at Altona, as the agent of the Comte de Lille. 
He offered to repair to Paris and assassinate the Emperor. 
Comte de Gimel rejected the proposal with indignation; and 
replied, that if he had no other means of serving the Bourbons 
than cowardly assassination he might go elsewhere and find 

confederates. This fact, which was communicated to me by a 
friend of M. de Gimel, determined me to arrest Loizeau. Not 
being warranted, however, to take this step at Altona, I em¬ 
ployed a trusty agent to keep watch, and draw him into a 
quarrel the moment he should appear on the Hamburg side of 
a public walk which divides that city from Altona, and deliver 
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him up to the nearest Hamburg guaril-liouse. Loizeau fell 

into the snare; but finding that he was about to be conducted 
from the guard-house to the prison of Hamburg, and that it 

was at my request he had been arrested, he hastily unloosed 
his cravat, and tore with his teeth the papers it contained, 

part of which he swallowed. He also endeavored to tear 
some other papers which were concealed under his arm, but 
was prevented by the guard. Furious at this disappointment, 
he violently resisted the five soldiers who had him in custody, 
and was not secured until he had been slightly wounded. His 
first exclamation on entering prison was “I am undone!” 

Loizeau was removed to Paris, and, though I am ignorant 
of the ultimate fate of this wretch, I am pretty certain that 

Louche would take effectual means to prevent him from doing 

any further mischief.1 

1 Fouche, in all probability, bad the man murdered, — or suicided.— 
Editor of 1836 edition. 



CHAPTER IY. 

1806. 

Menaces of Prussia—Offer for restoring Hanover to England—Insolent 
ultimatum — Commencement of hostilities between France and Prussia % 

— Battle of Auerstadt—Death of the Duke of Brunswick — Bernadotte 

in Hamburg — Davoust and Bernadotte — The Swedes at Liibeck — Major 

Amiel — Service rendered to the English Minister at Hamburg — My 

appointment of Minister for the King of Naples — New regulation of the 

German post-offices—The Confederation of the North — Devices of the 

Hanse Towns — Occupation of Hamburg in the name of the Emperor — 

Decree of Berlin — The military governors of Hamburg—Brune, Michaud, 

and Bernadotte. 

The moment now approached when war was about to be 

renewed in Germany, and in proportion as the hopes of peace 
diminished Prussia redoubled her threats, which were inspired 
by the recollection of the deeds of the great Frederick. The 
idea of peace was hateful to Prussia. Her measures, which 

till now had been sufficiently moderate, suddenly assumed a 
menacing aspect on learning that the Minister of thS King of 

England had declared in Parliament that Prance had con¬ 
sented to the restitution of Hanover. The French Ministry 

intimated to the Prussian Government that this was a pre¬ 
liminary step towards a general peace, and that a large 
indemnity would be granted in return. But the King of 

Prussia, who was well informed, and convinced that the House 
of Hanover clung to this ancient domain, which gave to Eng¬ 

land a certain preponderance in Germany, considered himself 

trifled with, and determined on war. 
Under these circumstances Lord Lauderdale was recalled 

from Paris by his Government. War continued with Eng¬ 
land, and was about to commence with Prussia.1 The Cabinet 

1 The severity with which Bonaparte treated the press may be inferred 
from the case of Palm the publisher. In 1806 Johann Phillip Palm, of 
Nuremberg, was shot by Napoleon’s order for issuing a pamphlet against the 
rule of the French in Germany. 

Tf rather singular that Bourrienne should have omitted to mention the 

34 
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of Berlin sent an ultimatum which could scarcely be regarded 
in any other light than a defiance, and from the well-known 

character of Napoleon we may judge of his irritation at; this 

ultimatum. The Emperor, after a stay of eight months in 
Paris passed in abortive negotiations for peace, set out on the 

, 25th of September for the Bhine. 

Hostilities commenced on the 10th of October, 1806, between 
Prance and Prussia, and I demanded of the Senate that a stop 

t<N should be put to the Prussians recruiting. The news of a 

great victory gained by the Emperor over the Prussians on 
the 14th of October reached Hamburg on the 19th, brought 

by some fugitives, who gave such exaggerated accounts of the 
loss of the Prench army that it was not until the arrival of 
the official despatches on the 28th of October that we knew 
whether to mourn or to rejoice at the victory of Jena. 

The Duke of Brunswick, who was dangerously wounded at . 
the battle of Auerstadt, arrived on the 29th of October at 
Altona.1 His entrance into that city afforded a striking 
example of the vicissitudes of fortune. That Prince entered 
Altona on a wretched litter, borne by ten men, without 
officers, without domestics, followed by a troop of vagabonds 
and children, who were drawn together by curiosity. He was 
lodged in a wretched inn, and so much worn out by fatigue 

and the pain of his eyes that on the day after his arrival a 
report of his death very generally prevailed. Doctor Unzer 

was immediately sent for to attend the unfortunate Duke, 

who, during the few days that he survived his wounds, saw 

murder of Palm, which contributed so largely to exasperate the people 
against the French. This unfortunate man, who was not even a temporary 
subject by the always questionable right of conquest, had published in the 
free city of Nuremberg, where he resided, a pamphlet reflecting on the 
insatiable ambition of Bonaparte. The despot no sooner heard of this than 
he sent a party of French gendarmes across the frontier, and seized the 
unsuspecting bookseller, exactly as the Due d’Enghien had been arrested on 
the neutral territory of Ettingen, and Sir George Rumbold at Hamburg, the 
year before. Poor Palm, whose blood was terribly avenged by the implacable 
Prussians eight and nine years later, was tried at Braunauby a French court- 
martial for a libel against Napoleon, found guilty, condemned to death, and 
shot immediately, in pursuance of his sentence, bv French gendarmes. The 
story of Campbell making this act a reason for giving the health of Napoleon 
at a dinner of authors is well known. 

1 This Prince was in the seventy-second year of his age, and extremely 
infirm. 
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no one except his wife, who arrived on the 1st of November. 

Tie expired on the 10th of the same month.1 

At this juncture Hernadotte returned to Hamburg. I asked 

him how I was to account for his conduct while he was with 

I>avoust, who had left Nuremberg- to attack the Prussian 

army ; and whether it was true that he had refused to march 

with that general, and afterwards to aid him when he attacked 

blue Prussians on the Weimar road. “The letters I received,” 

observed I, “state that you took no part in the battle of 

A/uerstadt; that I did not believe, but I suppose you saw the 

bulletin which I received a little after the battle, and which 

stated that Bonaparte said at Nuremberg, in the presence of 

several officers, ‘Were I to bring him before a court-martial 

he would be shot. I shall say nothing to him about it, but I 

will take care he shall know what I think of his behavior. 

He has too keen a sense of honor not to be aware that he 

toted disgracefully/ ” — “I think him very likely,” rejoined 

Bernadotte, “ to have made these observations. He hates me, 

Decause he knows I do not like him ; hut let him speak to me 

Lird he shall have his answer. If I am a Gascon, he is a 

greater one. I might have felt piqued at receiving- something 

ik:e orders from Davoust, but I did my duty.” 2 

1 Charles William Ferdinand, Duke of Brunswick-Wolfenbiittel (1735- 
800), who had commanded the allies in their advance into France in 171>2, 
.iicl who died from wounds received at Auerstiidt. Jle was tin?, father of the 
)ixke William Frederick:, killed at Quatro-liras. For the mistimed but 
ctther pathetic belief of the old dying Duke in the courtesy with which ho 
/ncl his States would be treated by the French, see Bout/not, tome i. p. 307 : 
* X feel sure that there is a* courier of the XSmporor’s on tho road to know 
low I am.” 

2 This is a mistake. Bernadotte did not #o to Hamburg till much later 
see Erreurs, tome i. p. 9). The complaints of Bernadotto’s conduct on tho 
4th of October, 1806, when he gave no assistance to Davoust in repulsing the 
aain body of the Prussians at Auerstiidt, are well known. Jomini (tome ii. 
>. 290) says that Davoust proposed to Bernadotte to march with him, and 
von offered him the command of tho two corps. Bernadotte refused, and 
larclied away to Dorn burg, where he was of no use. Xliis obstinacy, 
illicult to explain, nearly compromised both I Davoust and tho success of tho 
attic.” See also Thiers (tome vii. p. 132), who attributes Bernadette’s eon- 
net to a profound aversion for Davoust conceived on the most frivolous 
rounds. Bernadotte had frequently given cause of complaint to Napoleon 
i t.ho two campaigns of 1805 and 1806. In tho movement on "Vienna Napo- 
"son considered he showed want of activity and of zeal. These complaints 
3em to have been made in good faith, for m a hitter to Bernadotte’s brother- 
i-I aw, Joseph, Napoleon suggests that health may have been the cause (Uu 

tome i. p. 322). Bernadotte was equally unfortunate in putting in his 
ppearance too late at Eylau (sec JJnc da Itovif/o's Memoirs, tome ii. p. 48), 
ncl also incurred the displeasure of Napoleon at Wagram (see later on). 
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In the beginning of November the Swedes entered Liibeck 
but on the 8th of that month the town was taken by assault, 
and the Swedes, as well as the rest of the corps which had 
escaped from Jena, were made prisoners. 

A troop of Prussians had advanced within four leagues of 
Hamburg, and that town had already prepared for a vigorous 
resistance, in case they should attempt an entrance, when 
Major Amiel attacked them at Zollenspiekor and made some 
prisoners. Hamburg was, however, threatened with another 
danger, for Major Amiel expressed his intention of entering 
with all his prisoners, notwithstanding the acknowledged 
neutrality of the town. Amiel was a partisan leader in the 
true sense of the word; he fought rather on his own account 
than with the intention of contributing to the success of the 
operations of the army. His troop did not consist of more 
than forty men, but that was more than sufficient to spread 
terror and devastation in the surrounding villages. He was a 
bold fellow, and when, with his handful of men, he threw him¬ 
self upon Hamburg, the worthy inhabitants thought he had 
20,000 troops with him. He had pillaged every place through 
which he passed, and brought with him 300 prisoners, and 
a great many horses he had taken on his road. It was night 
when he presented himself at the gates of the city, which he 
entered alone, having left his men and booty at the last vil¬ 
lage. He proceeded to the Prench Embassy. I was not there 
at the time, but I was sent for, and about seven o’clock in the 
evening I had my first interview with the Major. He was 
the very beau ideal of a bandit, and would have been an 
admirable model for a painter. I was not at all surprised to 
hear that on his arrival his wild appearance and huge mus¬ 
taches had excited some degree of terror among those who 
were in the salon. He described his exploits on the inarch, 
and did not disguise his intention of bringing his’ troops into 
Hamburg next day. He talked of the Bank and of pillage. 
I tried for some time to divert him from this idea, but with¬ 
out effect, and at length said to him, “ Sir, you know that this 
is not the way the Emperor wishes to be served. During the 
seven years that I have been about him I have invariably 
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me to execute a little private business for him, the success of 
which depended on the Emperor. I made the necessary com¬ 
munication to the Minister for Foreign Affairs, adding in my 
letter that Mr. Thornton’s conduct towards the French who 
had come in any way in contact with him had ever been just 

and liberal, and that I should receive great pleasure in being 
able to announce to him the success of his application. His 
request was granted. 

On another occasion Mr. Thornton applied to me for my 
services, and I had once more the pleasure of rendering them. 
He wished to procure some information respecting an Eng¬ 
lishman named Baker, who had gone to Terracina, in the 

Campagna di Boma, for the benefit of sea-bathing. He was 
there arrested, without any cause assigned, by order of the 
commandant of the French troops in Terracina. The family 
of Mr. Baker, not having heard from him for some months, 
became very uneasy respecting him, for they had not the least 

idea of his arrest. His relations applied to Mr. Thornton, 
and that gentleman, notwithstanding the circumstances which, 
as I have stated, prevented our frequent intercourse, hesitated 
not a moment in requesting me to furnish him with some in¬ 
formation respecting his countryman. I lost no time in writ¬ 
ing to M. Alquier, our Ambassador at Borne, and soon en¬ 

abled Mr. Thornton to ease the apprehension of Mr. Baker’s 

friends. 
I had every opportunity of knowing what was passing in 

Italy, for I had just been invested with a new dignity. As 

the new King of Naples, Joseph, had no Minister in Lower 

Saxony, he wished that I should discharge the function of 
Minister Plenipotentiary for Naples. His Ministers accord¬ 
ingly received orders to correspond with me upon all business 

connected with his government and his subjects. The rela¬ 
tions between Hamburg and Naples were nearly nil, and my 
new office made no great addition to my labors. 

I experienced, however, a little more difficulty in combining 
all the post-offices of Hamburg in the office of the Grand 
Duchy of Berg, thus detaching them from the offices of 

Latour and Taxis, so named after the German family who for 
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a length of time had had the possession of them, and whc 

were devoted to Austria. 
After some days of negotiation I obtained the suppression 

of these offices, and their union with the post-office of the 

Grand Due de Berg (Murat), who thus received letters froir 
Italy, Hungary, Germany, Poland, part of Bussia, and the 

letters from England for these countries. 
The affair of the post-offices gained for me the approbatior 

of Napoleon. He expressed his satisfaction through the 
medium of a letter I received from Duroc, who at the same 
time recommended me to continue informing the Emperor of a,I 
that was doing in Germany with relation to the plans of the 
Confederation of the North. I therefore despatched to the 
Minister for Foreign Affairs a detailed letter, announcing thal 

Baron Grote, the Prussian Minister at* Hamburg, had set off or 
a visit to Bremen and Ltibeck. Among those who accompanied 

him on this excursion was a person wholly devoted to me 
and I knew that Baron Grote’s object was to offer to these 
towns verbal propositions for their union with the Confedera¬ 

tion of the North, which the King of Prussia wished to form 
as a counterpoise to the Confederation of the Ehine, jusl 

created by Napoleon.1 Baron Grote observed the strictest 

1 In July, 1806, after Austerlitz, Napoleon had formed the “Confedera¬ 
tion du Rliin/’ to include the smaller States of Germany, who threw off al' 
connection with the German Empire, and formed a Confederation furnishing 
a considerable army. It eventually included the following States, with con¬ 
tingents as stated opposite each. The Princes against whom no figures are 
given furnished altogether 4000 men. 

Protector. — Napoleon, 200,000. 
President of the Diet and of the College of Kings. —The Prince Pri¬ 

mate, Karl von Dalberg, formerly Archbishop of Maycnce, then Arch¬ 
bishop of Regensburg, now Grand Duke of Frankfort (2800, as below) 

Kings, sitting in the College of Kings with the Grand Dukes. — Bavaria 
80,000; Saxony, 20,000; v/estplialia, 26,000; Wiirtemberg, 12,000. 

Grand Dukes,sitting in the College of Kings. — Baden, 8000: Berg cl 
Cloves, 5000; Frankfort, 2800; Ilesse-Darmstadt, 4000; Warsaw 
30,000; Wurzburg, 2000. 

Dukes, sitting in the College of Princes under the presidency of the Duk< 
of Nassau (Nassau-TJsingen). — Anhalt-Bernburg, Anhalt-Cothcn, An- 
halt-Dessau, 800; D’Arenberg, Mecklenburg-Schwcrin, contingent noi 
given; Mecklenburg-Strelitz, contingent not given; Nassau-Usingen 
Oldenburg; Saxe-Coburg, Saxe-Gotha, Saxe-Hildburghausen, Saxe- 
Meiningen, Saxe-Weimar, 2800. 

Princes, sitting in the College of Princes with the Dukes: Hohenzollem- 
Hechingen, Hohenzollern-Sigmaringen, Iseinburg-Birstein, Leycn 
Lichtenstein; Lippe-Detmold, Lippe-Schaumburg, 650; Nassau-Weil- 



creey in all his movements. He showed, in confidence, to 
ose to whom he addressed himself, a letter from M. Haug- 

tz, the Minister of the King of Prussia, who endeavored 

point out to the Hanse Towns how much the Confederation 
the ISTorth would turn to their advantage, it being the only 

cans of preserving their liberty, by establishing a formid- 

le power. However, to the first communication only an 

asive answer was returned. M. Van Sienen, the Syndic of 
amburg, was commissioned by the Senate to inform the 
:ussian Minister that the affair required the concurrence of 

e burghers, and that before he could submit it to them it 
mid be necessary to know its basis and conditions. Mean- 

hile the Syndic Doormann proceeded to Liibeck, where there 

as also a deputy from Bremen. The project of the Confed- 

ation, however, never came to anything. 

I scrupulously discharged the duties of my functions, but I 
mfess I often found it difficult to execute the orders I re¬ 
ived, and more than once I took it upon myself to modify 
Loir severity. I loved the frank and generous character of 

Le Hamburgers, and I could not help pitying the fate of the 
anse To'wns, heretofore so happy, and from which Bonaparte 
id exacted such immense sacrifices. 
On the principal gate of the Hanse Towns is inscribed the 
llowing motto, well expressing the pacific spirit of the 

iople: Da nobis pacem, Domine, in diebus nostris. The 
iternal and elected government, which did everything to 

cure the happiness of these towns, was led to believe that 
in sacrifices imposed on them would be recompensed by the 
reservation of their neutrality. No distrust was entertained, 

id hope was kept alive by the assurances given by Napoleon. 

burg, Beuss, Beuss-Ebersdorf, Beuss-Greiz, Beuss-Lobcnstein; Beuss- 
Schlciz, 450; Salm-Kyrburg, Salm-Salm, Schwarzburg-Budolstadt, 
Schwarzbnrg-Sondershausen, 650; Waldeck, 400. 

The Emperor of Germany, Francis II., had already in 1804, on Napoleon 
king the title of Emperor, declared himself Hereditary Emperor of Aus- 
ia. After the formation of the Bhenish Confederation and Napoleon’s ro- 
sal to acknowledge the German Empire any longer, lie released the States 
the Holy Boman Empire from their allegiance, declared the Empire dis- 
lved, and contented himself with the title of Emperor of Austria, as Fran- 
s I. 

The Confederation du Nord, as already stated, was to have been formed 
! Prussia, Saxony, Hesse, and the Hanse Towns. 
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He published in the Moniteur that the Hanse Towns 
not be included in any particular Confederation. H 

strangled in its birth the Confederation of the No 

which those feeble States would otherwise have been < 

to consent. When, in 1806, Napoleon marched against F 
he detached Marshal Mortier from the Grand Army w 

had passed the Ehine, and directed him to invade the ! 

rate of Hesse, and march on Hamburg. On the 1 
November the latter town was occupied by the Frencl 

in the name of the Emperor, amidst the utmost ore 
tranquillity. 

I must acknowledge that I was under much apprei 
as to this event. At the intelligence of the approach 

French army consternation was great and universal in 
burg, which was anxious to maintain its neutrality 

paired. At the urgent request of the magistrates of tl 
I assumed functions more than diplomatic, and beca 

some respects, the first magistrate of the town. I w 
meet Marshal Mortier to endeavor to dissuade hin 
entering. I thought I should by this means better sei 

interests of France than by favoring the occupatio] 
neutral town by our troops. But all my remonstrance 

useless. Marshal Mortier had received formal orders 

the Emperor. 
No preparations having been made at Hamburg f 

reception of Marshal Mortier, he quartered himself a 

whole staff upon me. The few troops he had with hii 
disposed of in my courtyard, so that the residence of : 
ister of peace was all at once converted into headqi 
This state of things continued until a house was got re* 

the Marshal. 
Marshal Mortier had to make very rigorous exactio 

my representations suspended for a while Napoleon’s 
for taking possession of the Bank of Hamburg. I a] 

bound to bear testimony to the Marshaks honorable pri 
and integrity of character. The representations which 
sent to Marshal Mortier were transmitted by the latter 
Emperor at Berlin; and Mortier stated that he had sus; 
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the execution of the orders until he should receive others. 
The Emperor approved of this. It was, indeed, a happy event 
for France and for Europe, even more so than for Hamburg. 
Those who suggested to the Emperor the idea of pillaging that 
fine establishment must have been profoundly ignorant of its 
importance. They thought only of the 90,000,000 of marks 
banco deposited in its cellars. 

By the famous decree of Berlin, dated 21st November, 1806, 
Mortier was compelled to order the seizure of all English 
merchandise in the Hanse Towns, but he enforced the decree 

only so far as to preserve the appearance of having obeyed 

his orders. 
Mortier, on leaving Hamburg for Mecklenburg, was suc¬ 

ceeded by General Michaud, who in his turn was succeeded 

by Marshal Brune in the beginning of 1807. I am very glad 
to take the present opportunity of correcting the misconcep¬ 
tions which arose through the execution of certain acts of 

Imperial tyranny. The truth is, Marshal Brune, during his 

government, constantly endeavored to moderate, as far as he 

could, the severity of the orders he received. Bernadotte be¬ 
came Governor of Hamburg when the battle of Jena rendered 
Napoleon master of Prussia and the north of Germany. 

The Prince of Ponte-Corvo lightened, as far as possible, the 
unjust burdens and vexations to which that unfortunate town 
was subject. He never refused his assistance to any measures 

which I adopted to oppose a system of ruin and persecution. 
He often protected Hamburg against exorbitant exactions, 

fihe Hanse Towns revived a little under his government, 
which continued longer than that of Mortier, Michaud, and 
Brune. The memory of Bernadotte will always be dear to the 
Hamburgers; and his name will never be pronounced without 
gratitude. His attention was especially directed to moderate 
:he rigor of the custom-houses ; and perhaps the effect which 
lis conduct produced on public opinion may be considered as 
laving, in some measure, led to the decision which, four years 
liter, made him Hereditary Prince of Sweden.1 

1 Marshal Brune was believed by the Hamburgers to have made money 
>ut of his command there, but Bernadotte was esteemed by them. See Puy- 
naigre, p. 135. 



CHAPTER Y. 

1806. 

(Jkasc of the Emperor of Russia — Duroc’s mission to Weimar — N 
views defeated — Triumphs of tlie French armies — Letters from 
False report respecting Murat — Resemblance between Morear 
Billaud — Generous conduct of Napoleon — His interview with 
Hatzfeld at Berlin — Letter from Bonaparte to Josephine — Blu 
prisoner — His character — His confidence in the future fate of < 
— Prince Paul of Wiirtemberg taken prisoner — His wish to e 

French service — Distinguished emigrants at Altona — Deputati 
Senate to the Emperor at Berlin — The German Princes at i 

Fauche-Borel and the Comte de Gimel. 

In September, 1806, it became very manifest that, as i 
war should break out between France and Prussia, 

would not be slow in forming an alliance with the 
power. Peace had, however, been re-established b 
Napoleon and Alexander by virtue of a treaty just si£ 

Paris. By that treaty Eussia was to evacuate the Bou< 
Cattaro,1 a condition with which she was in no hi 
comply. I received a number of the Court Gazette 
Petersburg, containing a ukase of the Emperor of Bu 

which Alexander pointed out the danger which again m 
Europe, showed the necessity of adopting precautions f 
eral tranquillity and the security of his own Empii 
declared his determination of not only completing bi 

menting his army. He therefore ordered a levy of foi 
out of every 500 inhabitants. 

1 The Bouehes du Cattaro, on the eastern coast of the Adriatic, hat 
part of the Dalmatian possessions of Venice. By the treaty of Campo 
17th October, 1797, and of Lunevillc, 9th February, 1801, they fell to 
who, however, had to cede them to France by the treaty of Presin 
December, 1805, after Austerlitz. The Russians, assisted by an 
fleet, with some complicity on the part of the Austrian garrison, tb 
pied them; and it was not till the 12th August, 1807, after the treat 
sit, concluded July, 1807, that they were handed over toMarmont (see 
tome iii. p. 57). In 1815 they fell to Austria, and they have only lat 
the subject of disputes between lier and the Turks in the last Mon 
affair. 

44 
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Before the commencement of hostilities Duroc was sent to 
the King of Prussia with the view of discovering whether 

there was any possibility of renewing negotiations; but affairs 
were already too much embarrassed. All Duroc’s endeavors 
were in vain, and perhaps it was no longer in the power of 

the King of Prussia to avoid war with Prance. Besides, he 
had just grounds of offence against the Emperor. Although 
the latter had given him Hanover in exchange for the two 

Margravates, he had, nevertheless, offered to England the res¬ 
toration of that province as one of the terms of the negotiations 
commenced with Mr. Pox. This underhand work was not un 

known to the Berlin Cabinet, and Napoleon’s duplicity rendered 
Duroc’s mission useless. At this time the King of Prussia was 

at Weimar. 

Victory everywhere favored the Prench arms. Prince 
Hohenlohe, who commanded a corps of the Prussian army, 

was forced to capitulate at Prentzlau. After this capitulation 
General Blucher took the command of the remains of the corps, 

to which he joined the troops whose absence from Prentzlau 
exempted them from the capitulation. These corps, added to 

those which Blucher had at Auerstadt, were then almost the 
only ramparts of the Prussian monarchy. Soult and Berna- 
dotte received orders from Murat to pursue Blucher, who 
was using all his efforts to draw from Berlin the forces of 
those two generals. Blucher marched in the direction of 

Ltibeck. 
General Murat pursued the wreck of the Prussian army 

which had escaped from Saxony by Magdeburg. Blucher was 

driven upon Ltibeck. It was very important to the army at 

Berlin that this numerous corps should be destroyed, com¬ 
manded as it was by a skilful and brave general, who drew 
from the centre of the military operations numerous troops, 
with which he might throw himself into Hanover, or Hesse, 
or even Holland, and by joining the English troops harass the 
rear of the Grand Army. The Grand Duke of Berg explained 

to me his plans and expectations, and soon after announced 

their fulfilment in several letters which contained, among 

other things, the particulars of the taking of Liibeck. 
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In two of these letters Murat, who was probably deceived 
by his agents, or by some intriguer, informed me that Genera] 
Moreau had passed through Paris on the 12th of October, and 
had arrived in Hamburg on the 28th of October. The proof 

which Murat possessed of this circumstance was a letter of 
Fauche-Borel, which he had intercepted. I recollect a curious 
circumstance which serves to show the necessity of mistrust¬ 
ing the vague intelligence furnished to persons in authority. 

A fortnight before I received Murat’s first letter a person in¬ 

formed me that General Moreau was in Hamburg. I gave 
no credit to the intelligence, yet I endeavored to ascertain 
whether it had any foundation, but without effect. Two days 

later I was assured that an individual had met General Moreau, 

that he had spoken to him, that he knew him well from hav¬ 
ing served under him,— together with various other circum¬ 

stances, the truth of which there appeared no reason to doubt. 
I immediately sent for the individual in question, who told me 

that he knew Moreau, that he had met him, that the general 
had inquired of him the way to the Jungfersteige (a prome¬ 
nade at Hamburg), that he had pointed it out to him, and then 
said, “ Have I not the honor to speak to General Moreau ? ” 
upon which the general answered, “Yes, but say nothing 
about having seen me; I am here incognito.” All this ap¬ 
peared to me so absurd that, pretending not to know Moreau, 

I asked the person to describe him to me. He described a 
person bearing little resemblance to Moreau, and added that 

he wore a braided French coat and the national cockade in 
his hat. I instantly perceived the whole was a mere scheme 
for getting a little money. I sent the fellow about his busi¬ 
ness. In a quarter of an hour after I had got rid of him M. 
la Chevardiere called on me, and introduced M. Billaud, the 

French Consul at Stettin. This gentleman wore a braided 
coat and the national cockade in his hat. He was the hero 
of the story I had heard from the informer. A slight personal 

resemblance between the Consul and the General had caused 

several persons to mistake them for each other. 
During the Prussian campaign nothing was talked of 

throughout Germany but Napoleon's generous conduct with 
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respect to Prince Hatzfeld. I was fortunate enough to obtain 
a copy of a letter which the Emperor wrote to Josephine on 
the subject, and which I shall presently lay before the reader. 
In conformity with the inquisitorial system which too fre¬ 
quently characterized the Emperor’s government, and which 

he extended to every country of which he had military pos¬ 

session, the first thing done on entering a town was to take 
possession ’ of the post-office, and then, Heaven knows how 
little respect was shown to the privacy of correspondence.1 

Among the letters thus seized at Berlin and delivered to 

Napoleon was one addressed to the King of Prussia by Prince 
Hatzfeld, who had imprudently remained in the Prussian cap¬ 

ital. In this letter the Prince gave his Sovereign an account 

of all that had occurred in Berlin since he had been compelled 

to quit it; and at the same time he informed him of the 
force and situation of the corps of the Erench army. The 

Emperor, after reading this letter, ordered that the Prince 

should be arrested, and tried by a court-martial on the charge 

of being a spy. 
The Court was summoned, and little doubt could be enter¬ 

tained as to its decision when Madame Hatzfeld repaired to 

Duroc, who on such occasions was always happy when he 
could facilitate communication with the Emperor. On that 
day Napoleon had been at a review. Duroc knew Madame 

Hatzfeld, whom he had several times seen on his visits to 
Berlin. When Napoleon returned from the review he was 

astonished to see Duroc at the palace at that hour, and 
inquired whether he had brought any news. Duroc answered 
in the affirmative, and followed the Emperor into his Cabinet, 
where he soon introduced Madame Hatzfeld. The remainder 
of the scene is described in Napoleon’s letter. It may easily 
be perceived that this letter is an answer to one from Joseph¬ 

ine reproaching him for the manner in which he spoke of 

1 The seizure of the enemy’s correspondence, private or public, is an 
undoubted and necessary right of war. It would, of course, have been 
absurd to neglect this means of obtaining information. Frequent and 
amusing instances of information obtained by seizing the telegraph wires 
were given in the late American War of Secession, and no one would have 
expected the Germans to respect the correspondence in the balloons sent 
from Paris. 
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women, and very probably of the beautiful and unfortun; 

Queen of Prussia, respecting whom he had expressed hims 
with too little respect in one of his bulletins. The follow! 
is Napoleon's letter : — 

I have received your letter, in which you seem to reproach me 
speaking ill of women. It is true that I dislike female intriguers ah' 
all things. I am used to kind, gentle, and conciliatory women. I b 
them, and if they have spoiled me it is not my fault, but yours. H< 
ever, you will see that I have done an act of kindness to one deserv 
woman. I allude to Madame de Hatzfeld. Wlieri I showed her 
husband’s letter she stood weeping, and in a tone of mingled grief * 
ingenuousness said, “It is indeed his writing!” Tliis went to my he* 
and I said, “Well, madame, throw the letter into the fire, and thei 
shall have no proof against your husband.” She Imrned the letter, a 
was restored to happiness. Her husband now is safe: two hours lat 
and he would have been lost. You see, therefore, tHat I like women w 
are simple, gentle, and amiable; because they alone resemble you.1 

November 6, 1806, 9 o’clock p.m. 

1 Rapp sustained a prominent partin the affair; and though his accoi 
of it, and that given by Bourrienne, be not precisely similar they nevert 
less correspond in all important particulars. 

“Prince Hhtzfeld had come to Potsdam as a deputy from the city of Berl 
and had been well received. He rendered an account of his mission, as w 
as I can recollect, to Count Hohenlohe, and reported to him the state of 1 
troops, artillery, and ammunition that were in the capital, or which he 1) 
met on the road. His letter was intercepted. Napoleon delivered it to n 
with orders immediately to arrest the Prince and send. Him to the headqu 
ters of Marshal Davoust, which were two leagues distant. Berthier, Dun 
Caulaincourt, and I vainly endeavored to appease the anger of Napole< 
He refused to listen to our representations. Prince Hatzfeld had trai 
mitted reports relative to military affairs which were quite unconnected wi 
his mission: he had evidently been acting the part of a spy. Savary, wl 
in his quality of commander of the military gendarmerie, usually took cog 
zance of affairs of this kind, was then on a mission. X was obliged to assiu 
his functions during his absence. I gave orders for the arrest of the Print 
but instead of having him conducted to the headquarters of Davoust, I phw 
him in the chamber of the officer commanding the palace-guard, whom 
directed to treat him with every mark of respect. 

“ Caulaincourt and Duroc withdrew from the Emperor’s apartmoi 
Napoleon was left alone with Berthier, and he directed him to sit do\ 
and. write the order by which M. de Hatzfeld was to He arraigned befon 
military commission. The major-general made some representations in 1 
favor. ‘ Your Majesty will not, for so trivial an offence, shoot a man who 
connected with the first families in Berlin. The thing is impossible, you w 
not think of it.’ The Emperor grew more angry. JSTexifchatel persisted 
his intercession; Napoleon lost all patience, and Berthier quitted the rooi 
I was called in. I had overheard the scene that, had just taken place, 
was afraid to hazard the least reflection: I was in a state of agony. Beshl 
the repugnance I felt in being instrumental to so Harsh a measure, it w 
necessary to write as rapidly as the Emperor spoke ; and I must confess 
never possessed that talent. He dictated to me the fol lowing order: — 
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When Marshal Ilernadotte had driven Hliudior into Liibre.k 

and made him prisoner, hn sent to inform me ol tlm circum¬ 

stance ; but I was far from expecting that, the prisoner would 
be confided to my charge. Sunk, howovnr, was the east1. 

After his capitulation he was sent to Hamburg, where he had 

the whole city for his prison. 
I was curious to become acquainted with this celebrated 

man, and I saw him very frequently. I found that he was 

an enthusiastic Prussian patriot — a brave man, enterprising 

(Wen to rashness, of limited education, and almost to an 
incredible degree devoted to pleasure, of which lie took an 

“ 4 Our cousin Marshal Davoust will appoint, a military commission, con¬ 
sisting of seven colonels of his corps, of winch he will bo the, president, to 
try Prince IIai/.fehi on a charge of treason and espionage. 'I he sentence 
must bo pronounced and executed before six o'clock in the evening.' 

“ It. was about noon. Napoleon directed uni to despatch the order im)ftn- 
diately, and to send with it Prince Hat/.feld’s letter. The latter part of the 
instruction I did not, however, obey. My mind was racked by the most pain¬ 
ful (‘motions. I trembled for the Prince, and I trembled for myself, sifeme, 
instead of sending him to DavousPs headquarters, 1 had lodged him iin the 
palace. 

“ Napoleon wished to have, his horse saddled, as he intended to ■ visit 
Prince and Princess Ferdinand. .\-s l was going out to give tin1 necessary 
orders I was informed that the Princess of Ilatzfeld had hunted $n the'uute- 
chamber, and that she had previously expressed a wish to speak to me, I 
went to her. I did nut conceal from her t In* displeasure of Napoleon, I told 
her that wo were going to ride out on horseback, and I directed her to >repulr 
to Prince Ferdinand, and to interest him in favor of her husband. I, know 
not whether she did ho; hut on our arrival at the palace we found her in one 
of the corridors, ami sin* threw herself, in tears, at the feet of the Fmperor, 
to whom I announeed law name. 

44 The Princess was cnee/nfc. Napoleon was moved by her sltuul hm, and 
diverted her to proceed to the chateau. He. at the same time desmu,! me hi 
writ*' to Davoust to order the trial to be suspended. He thought Prince 
Haty.feid had departed. ? 

44 Napoleon returned to the palms*, where Madame Hat/.feld was, waiting 
for him. He desired her to enter the xttfon : I was present. * Your Imshanu, 
mudame/ said he, * has brought himself into an unfortunate' sempr. Accord¬ 
ing to our laws he deserves to be sentenced to death. Honernl B app, give 
me his letter. Hero, madsuno, read this.' The lady trembled exceedingly. 
Napoleon immediately took tin* letter from her hand, tore it, ami threw the 
fragments into the tire. 41 have no other proof against Prince Ilaizfcld, 
nmdumc, therefore he is at liberty.* He ordered me immediately,to release 
him from Ids confinement at headquarters. 1 acknowledged that. I had not 
sent him there; hut he did not reproach me; he oven seemed f pleased at 
what I had done. , 

44 In this affair Bert bier, Dnroc, and (*aulaiuc<mrt behaved as they did on 
all occasions, that is to say, like gallant men: Berthier’s conduct was partie 
ularly praiseworthy. " ( 

44 No sooner had* Prince Hat'/fold returned to his family than ho was made 
acquainted with all that hud passed, lie wrote me a letter expressive of ids 
gratitude, and the emotions by which he was agitated ” (M’/wbex <*/ <h m ru/ 
liuppt P' 107; see also Sututry, tome ik p, liHg 



mous time at table, and, notwithstanding liis exclusive p* 

otism, he rendered full justice to the wines of XVarice. 
passion for women was unbounded, and one of his ixxost fa, 

ite sources of amusement was the gaming-table, a,t> which 

spent a considerable portion of his time. Blucher was oi 
extremely gay disposition; and considered merely as a e 

panion he was very agreeable. The original style 
conversation pleased me much. His confidence in tlx^ deli 
ance of Germany remained unshaken in spite of the disas 

of the Prussian army. He often said to me, “ X place g; 

reliance on the public spirit of Germany — on the eixthusi; 

which prevails in our universities. The events of war 
daily changing, and even defeats contribute to nourish i 

people sentiments of honor and national glory. You 2 

‘"""depend upon it that when a whole nation is determined 

shake off a humiliating yoke it will succeed. Tlxex-e is 

doubt but we shall end by having a landwehr very differ 
from any militia to which the subdued spirit of tlxe Ihv 
people could give birth. England will always lend us 

support of her navy and her subsidies, and we will rei 
alliances with Eussia and Austria. I can pledge myself 
the tiuth of a fact of which I have certain knowledge, 1 

you nay rely upon it; namely, that none of the allied x>aw 
engagd in the present war entertain views of territo 

aggrariizement. All they unanimously desire is to put 
end todie system of aggrandizement which your Emperor 
establihed and acts upon with such alarming rapidity, 

our firs war against France, at the commencement; of y 
Eevoluion, we fought for questions respecting the rights 
sovereigs, for which, I assure you, I care very little ; 

now th case is altered, the whole population of Prim 

makes cannon cause with its government. The people fij 

in defena of their homes, and reverses destroy onr arm 
without ranging the spirit of the nation. I rely eonfiden 
on the fuire because I foresee that fortune will not alwj 
favor yo> Emperor. It is impossible; but the time v 
come whe all Europe, humbled by his exactions, and im 



rr uJi J IIJ I'jIk, \ r , V * 

eiit of his depredations, will rise up against him. The more 

ii enslaves nations*, the more terrible, will be the re-action 

ben they break their chains. It cannot be denied that he 

tormented with an insatiable desire of acquiring new terri¬ 
fies. To the war of 1805 against Austria and Jtussia the 

resent war has almost immediately succeeded. We have 

dlen. Prussia is occupied; but .Russia still remains un¬ 

dented. 1 cannot loresee what will be the termination of 

ie war; but, admitting that the issue should be favorable to 
on, it will end only to break out again speedily. If we con- 

nue firm, France, exhausted by her conquests, must in the 

id fall. You may he certain of it. You wish for peace, 

erommend it ! By so doing you will give strong proofs of 
>ve for your country.’1 

In this strain Blucher constantly spoke to me; and as I 

ever thought it right to play the part of the public function- 
ry in the drawing-room I replied to him with the reserve 

eeessary in my situation. I could not tell him how much 

ty anticipations frequently coincided with his; hut I never 

esitaled to express to him how much I wished to see a 
‘asonable peare concluded.1 

Blueher’s arrival at Hamburg was preceded by that of 

hince Paul of Wiirtemberg, the second son of one of the two 

ings created by Napoleon, whose crowns were not yet a year 

Id. This young Prince, who was imbued with the ideas of 
berty and independence which then prevailed in Germany, 

ad taken a headlong step. He had quitted Stuttgart to 
»m» in the Prussian campaign without having asked his 

liber’s permission, which inconsiderate proceeding might 

ave drawn Napoleon's anger upon the King of Wurtcmberg. 

1 Uapp mentions tin* following particulars relative to Blueher after his 
ijiture. At that time* Kapp had hern appointed <Jovernor of Thorn, an<l ho 
tys : - 

“ I a an now the Prm idrnro of 1 he Prussian generals. They wrote to mo 
Creating my intercession in their behalf. Hlueher himself did not, disdain 
i solicit the t/i'tu'r of His Majesty* the Kmprror and King of Italy. Ho was 
' ilrst to have been conducted to IHjon; hut. In* lmd laid down* arms, and 
jerefore it signified little wind her lie was at I Hjon or elsewhere. lie wan 
emitted to retire to Hamburg; hut he soon gf(‘W tired of that city, and 
[»gged to he allowed to go to tlie neighborhood of Berlin. However, the 
linperor did not grant his request ** (Bapp‘s Mnnnirx, p. MO). 
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The King* of Prussia advanced Prince Paul to the rank of 

general, but lie was taken prisoner at tinmen eommenemuent 
of hostilities. Prince. Paul was ink as has hem imti>m*nu>ly 

stated, conducted to Stuttgart b\ a captain of gendarmerie. 

He came to Hamburg, where I received many \i>its Irma him 

He did not yet possess very definite ideas as to w hat ie* 

wished; for after he was made prisoner In* express! t*» m*- 

his strong desire to enter the Freneh service, ami often a.rimb 

me to solicit for him an interview with flu* Kmpemr. He 

obtained this interview, and remained for a long time in 
Paris, where 1 know lie has frequently resided since the 

.Restoration.1 
The individuals whom I had to observe in Hamburg gave 

me much less trouble than our neighbors at Altoiia. 'The 

number of tin* latter had eonsiderably augmented, since the 

events of the war had eompelled a great number of emigrants 

who had taken refuge at Munster to leave that town. 'They 

all proceeded to A1 tuna. Conquered countries became as dan 

gerous to them as the land which the\ laid forsaken. The 

most distinguished amongst the individuals assembled at 

Altona were Vieomte de Sesmaisons. the Baifly dMIatife- 
feuille, the Duchess of Luxembourg, t lie Man pi is de Pmuj 

nard, the I>ue d'Aumonf (then Hue de Villoqnier], the wife 
of .Marshal de Broglie and her daughter. Cardinal de Mont mo- 

rcney, Madame tie Cossc, her two daughters and her sou {and 

a priest), and the Bishop of Boulogne. 

Bonaparte staid long enough at Berlin to permit of the 
arrival of a deputation from the French Senate to congratulate 

him on his first triumphs. I learned that in this instance the 
Senatorial deputation, departing from its accustomed rom 

plaisanee, ventured not to confine itself to compliments and 
felicitations, hut went so far as to interfere with the Fan pc 

rows plan of the campaign, to speak of the danger that might 

he incurred in passing the Oder, and finally to express a 
desire to see peace concluded. Napoleon received this com* 

1 Rftpp (p. I HI) gives a different aermmt, and «;iy« that the Friars mmp 
to CuKtrixi and wished to Hen Napoleon, who refused the interview, and had 
him arrested and wait into his father’s Staten* where he wax d«t&Uted for 
several years. 
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munication with a very bad grace. He thought the Senators 
very bold to meddle with his affairs, treated the conscript 

fathers of France as if they had been inconsiderate youths, 
protested, according to custom, his sincere love of peace, and 
told the deputation that it was Prussia, backed by Russia, 
and not he, who wished for war! 

All the German Princes who had taken part against Napo¬ 
leon fled to Altona after the battle of Jena with as much 
precipitation as the emigrants themselves. The Hereditary 

Prince of Weimar, the Duchess of Holstein, Prince Belmonte- 
Pignatelli, and a multitude of other persons distinguished for 

rank and fortune, arrived there almost simultaneously. Among 
the persons who took > refuge in Altona were some intriguers, 

of whom Fauche-Borel was one. I remember receiving a re¬ 
port respecting a violent altercation which Fauche had the 

audacity to enter into with Comte de Gimel because he could 
not extort money from the Count in payment of his intrigues. 

Comte de Gimel had only funds for the payment of pensions, 

and, besides, he had too much sense to suppose there was any 
utility in the stupid pamphlets of Fauche-Borel, and therefore 
he dismissed him with a refusal. Fauche was insolent, which 

compelled Comte de Gimel to send him about his business as 
he deserved. The circumstance, which was first communi¬ 
cated to me in a report, has since been confirmed by a person 
who witnessed the scene. Fauche-Borel merely passed through 
Hamburg, and embarked for London on board the same ship 
which took Lord Morpeth back to England.1 

• 1 Louis Fauche-Borel (1762-1829), a Swiss who devoted himself to the 
cause of the Royalists. As Louis stepped on the shore of France in 1814 
Fauche-Borel was ready to assist him from the boat, and was met with the fracious remark that he was always at hand when a service was required, 

[is services were however left unrewarded! 



CHAPTEB VI. 

1806. 

Alarm of the city of Hamburg —The French at Bergdorff- Favorable 
orders issued by Bernadotte— Extortions in Prussia Balso indoise- 
ments — Exactions of the Dutch — Napoleon’s concern for his wounded 
troops — Duroc’s mission to the King of Prussia — Rejection of the Em¬ 
peror’s demands — My negotiations at Hamburg — Displeasure of the 
King of Sweden — M. Netzel and M. Wetterstedt. 

At this critical moment Hamburg was menaced on all sides ; 
the Erench even occupied a portion of its territory. The. 
French troops, fortunately for the country, were attached to 

the corps commanded by the Prince de Ponte-Corvo.1 This 

military occupation alarmed the town of Hamburg, to which, 

indeed, it proved very injurious. I wrote to Marshal Berna¬ 

dotte on the subject. The grounds on which the Senate 
appealed for the evacuation of their territory were such that 
Bernadotte could not but acknowledge their justice. The 
prolonged stay of the French troops in the bailiwick of 

Bergdorff, which had all the appearance of an occupation, 
might have led to the confiscation of all Hamburg property 
in England, to the laying an embargo on the vessels of the 

Eepublic, and consequently to the ruin of a great part of 
the trade of France and Holland, which was carried on under 
the flag of Hamburg. There was no longer any motive for 
occupying the bailiwick of Bergdorff when there were no 
Prussians in that quarter. It would have been an absurd 
misfortune that eighty men stationed in that bailiwick 
should, for the sake of a few louis and a few ells of English 
cloth, have occasioned the confiscation of Hamburg, French, 
and Dutch property to the amount of 80,000,000 francs. 

Marshal Bernadotte replied to me on the 16th of November, 
and said, <e I hasten to inform you that I have given orders for 

1 Bernadotte. 
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the evacuation of the bailiwick of Bergdorff and all the Ham. 

burg territory. If you could obtain from the Senate of 
Hamburg, by the 19th of this month, two or three thousand 

pairs of shoes, you would oblige me greatly. They shall be 
paid for in goods or in money.” 

I obtained what Bernadotte required from the Senate, who 
knew his integrity, while they were aware that that quality 

was not the characteristic of all who commanded the French 
armies ! What extortions took place during the occupation of 
Prussia! I will mention one of the means which, amongst 
others, was employed at Berlin to procure money. Bills of 

exchange were drawn, on which indorsements were forged, 
and these bills were presented to the bankers on whom they 
were purported to be drawn. One day some of these forged 
bills to a large amount were presented to Messrs Mathiesen and 
Silleine of Hamburg, who, knowing the indorsement to be 
forged, refused to cash them. The persons who presented the 
bills carried their impudence so far as to send for the gen¬ 
darmes, but the bankers persisted in their refusal. I was in¬ 
formed of this almost incredible scene, which had drawn 
together a great number of people. Indignant at such auda¬ 
cious robbery, I instantly proceeded to the spot and sent away 
the gendarmes, telling them it was not their duty to protect 
robbers, and that it was my business to listen to any just 

claims which might be advanced. Under Clarke’s government 
at Berlin the inhabitants were subjected to all kinds of op¬ 
pression and exaction. Amidst these exactions and infamous 

proceedings, which are not the indispensable consequences of 
war, the Dutch generals distinguished themselves by a degree 
of rapacity which brought to mind the period of the French 

Republican peculations in Italy. It certainly was not their 
new King who set the example of this conduct. His modera¬ 
tion was well known, and it was as much the result of his dis¬ 

position as of his honest principles. Louis Bonaparte, who 

was a King in spite of himself, afforded an example of all that 
a good man could suffer upon a usurped throne. 

When the King of Prussia found himself defeated at every 
point he bitterly repented having undertaken a war which had 
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slivered Ms States into Napoleon’s power in less time than 
lat in which Austria had fallen the preceding year. He 

rote to the Emperor, soliciting a suspension of hostilities. 
,app was present when Napoleon received the King of Prus- 
a’s letter. “It is too late,” said he; “but, no matter, I 
ish to stop the effusion of blood; I am ready to agree to 
lything which is not prejudicial to the honor or interests of 
le nation.” Then calling Duroc, he gave him orders to visit 
le wounded, and see that they wanted for nothing. He 
Ided, “Visit every man on my behalf; give them all the 
msolation of which they stand in need ; afterwards find the 
.ing of Prussia, and if he offers reasonable proposals let me 

now them.” 
Negotiations were commenced, but Napoleon’s conditions 

ere of a nature which was considered inadmissible. Prussia 
ill hoped for assistance from the Russian forces. Besides, 

le Emperor’s demands extended to England, who at that 
.oment had no reason to accede to the pretensions of France, 

he Emperor wished England to restore to France the colonies 
hich she had captured since the commencement of the war, 
lat Russia should restore to the Porte Moldavia and Walla- 
lia, which she then occupied; in short, he acted upon the 
Ivice which some tragedy-king gives to his ambassador: 
Demand everything, that you may obtain nothing.” The 

mperor’s demands were, in fact, so extravagant that it was 
iarcely possible he himself could entertain the hope of their 

3ing accepted. Negotiations, alternately resumed and aban- 
Dned, were carried on with coldness on both sides until the 
Loment when England prevailed on Russia to join Prussia 

gainst France; they then altogether ceased: and it was for 
le sake of appearing to wish for their renewal, on bases still 

tore favorable to France, that Napoleon sent Duroc to the 
Ing of Prussia. Duroc found the King at Osterode, on the 
;her side of the Vistula. The only answer he received from 
[is Majesty was, “The time is passed;” which was very 
mch like Napoleon’s observation, “ It is too late.” 

Whilst Duroc was on his mission to the King of Prussia I 

as myself negotiating at Hamburg. Bonaparte was very 
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anxious to detach Sweden from the coalition, and to terminate 

the war with her by a separate treaty. Sweden, indeed, was 

likely to be very useful to him if Prussia, Russia, and Eng¬ 

land should collect a considerable mass of troops in the north. 
Denmark was already with us, and by gaining over Sweden 

also the union of those two powers might create a diversion, 

and give serious alarm to the coalition, which would be 
obliged to concentrate its principal force to oppose the attack 

of the grand army in Poland. The opinions of M. Peyron, 
the Swedish Minister at Hamburg, were decidedly opposed to 
the war in which his sovereign was engaged with Prance. I 

was sorry that this gentleman left Hamburg upon leave of 
absence for a year just at the moment I received my instruc¬ 

tions from the Emperor upon this subject. M. Peyron was 
succeeded by M. Netzel, and I soon had the pleasure of per¬ 
ceiving that his opinions corresponded in every respect with 

those of his predecessor. 
As soon as he arrived M. Hetzel sought an interview to 

speak to me on the subject of the Swedes, who had been 
taken prisoners on the Drave. He entreated me to allow the 
officers to return to Sweden on their parole. I was anxious to 
get M. NetzePs demand acceded to, and availed myself of that 
opportunity to lead him gradually to the subject of my in¬ 
structions. I had good reason to be satisfied with the manner 
in which he. received my first overtures. I said nothing to 

him of the justice of which he was not previously convinced. 
I saw he understood that his sovereign would have everything 
to gain by a reconciliation with Prance, and he told me that 
all Sweden demanded peace. Thus encouraged, I told him 

frankly that I was instructed to treat with him. M. Netzel 
assured me that M. de Wetterstedt, the King of Sweden’s 
private secretary, with whom he was intimate, and from 

whom he showed me several letters, was of the same opinion 
on the subject as himself. He added, that he had permission 

to correspond with the King, and that he would write the 
same evening to his sovereign and M. de Wetterstedt, to ac¬ 
quaint them with our conversation. 

It will be perceived, from what I have stated, that no xiego- 
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tiation was ever commenced under more favorable auspices ; 
but who could foresee what turn the King of Sweden would 
take ? That unlucky Prince took M. Hetzel's letter in very 

ill part, and M. de Wetterstedt himself received peremptory 

orders to acquaint M. Xetzel with his sovereign's displeasure 
at his having presumed to visit a French Minister, and, above 

all, to enter into a political conversation with him, although 
it was nothing more than conversation. The King did not 

confine himself to reproaches; M. Netzel came in great dis¬ 
tress to inform me he had received orders to quit Hamburg 
immediately,, without even awaiting the arrival of his success¬ 

or. He regarded his disgrace as complete. I had the pleas¬ 
ure of seeing M. Xetzel again in 1809 at Hamburg, where he 
was on a mission from King Charles XIII. 



CHAPTEB VII. 

1806. 

The Continental system — General indignation excited by it — Sale of 

licenses by the French Government— Custom-house system at Hamburg 

— My letter to the Emperor — Cause of the rupture with Russia — 

Bernadotte’s visit to me — Trial by a court-martial for the purchase of a 

sugar-loaf — Davoust and the captain “rapporteur” — Influence of the 

Continental system on Napoleon’s fall. 

I have a few remarks to make on the famous Continental 
system, which was a subject of such engrossing interest. I 
had, perhaps, better opportunities than any other person of 
observing the fraud and estimating the fatal consequences of 
this system. It took its rise during the war in 1806, and was 
brought into existence by a decree, dated from Berlin. The 
project was conceived by weak counsellors, who, perceiving 
the Emperor’s just indignation at the duplicity of England, 
her repugnance to enter into negotiations with him, and her 
constant endeavors .to raise enemies against Prance, prevailed 
upon him to issue the decree, which I could only regard as an 
act of madness and tyranny. It was not a decree, but fleets, 
that were wanting. Without a navy it was ridiculous to de¬ 
clare the British Isles in a state of blockade, whilst the Eng- 
lish fleets were in fact blockading all the French ports. This 
declaration was, however, made in the Berlin Decree. This 
is what was called the Continental system ! which, in plain 
terms, was nothing but a system of fraud and pillage. 

One can now scarcely conceive how Europe could for a 
single day endure that fiscal tyranny which extorted exorbi¬ 
tant prices for articles which the habits of three centuries had 
rendered indispensable to the poor as well as to the rich. So 
little of truth is there in the pretence that this system had 
for its sole and exclusive object to prevent the sale of English 
goods, that licenses for their disposal were procured at a high 

59 



60 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 

price by whoever was rich enough to pay for them. The 

number and quality of the articles exported from France were 

extravagantly exaggerated. It was, indeed, necessary to take 
out some of those articles in compliance with the Emperor’s 

wishes, but they were only thrown into the sea. And yet no 
one had the honesty to tell the Emperor that England sold on 

the Continent, but bought scarcely anything. The speculation 
in licenses was carried to a scandalous extent only to enrich a 

few, and to satisfy the short-sighted views of the contrivers of 
the system. 

This system proves what is written in the annals of the 

human heart and mind, that the cupidity of the one is 
insatiable, and the errors of the other incorrigible. Of this I 

will cite an example, though it refers to a period posterior to 
the origin of the Continental system. At Hamburg, in 1811, 
under Davoust’s government, a poor man had well-nigh been 

shot for having introduced into the department of the Elbe a 

small loaf of sugar for the use of his family, while at the 

same moment Napoleon was perhaps signing a license for the 
importation of a million of sugar-loaves.1 

Smuggling on a small scale was punished with death, whilst 

the Government themselves carried it on extensively. Tlie 
same cause filled the Treasury with money, and the prisons 

with victims. 
The custom-house laws of this period, which waged open 

war against rhubarb, and armed the coasts of the Continent 

1 In this same year (1811) Murat,'as King of Naples, not only winked at the 
infringement of the Continental system, but almost openly broke the law 
himself. His troops in Calabria, and all round his immense line of sea-coast, 
carried on an active trade with Sicilian and English smugglers. This was 
so much the case that an officer never set out from Naples to join, without 
being requested by his wife, his relations or friends, to bring them some 
English muslins, some sugar and coffee, together with a few needles, pen¬ 
knives, and razors. Some of the Neapolitan officers embarked in really 
large commercial operations, going shares with the custom-house people 
who were there to enforce the law, and making their soldiers load and un¬ 
load the contraband vessels. 

The Comte de-, a French officer on Murat’s staff, was very noble, hut 
very poor, and excessively extravagant. After making several vain efforts 
to set him up in the world, the King told him one day he would give him 
the command of all the troops round the Grulf of Salerno; adding that the 
devil was in it if he could not make a fortune in such a capital smuggling 
district in a couple of years. The Count took the hint, and did make a 
fortune. — Editor of 1836 edition. 
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against the introduction of senna, did not save the Continental 
system from destruction.1 Ridicule attended the installation 

of the odious prevotal courts. The president of the Prevotal 
Court at Hamburg, who was a Frenchman, delivered an address, 
in which he endeavored to prove that in the time of the Ptol¬ 
emies there had existed extraordinary fiscal tribunals, and that 
it was to those Egypt owed her prosperity. Terror was thus 
introduced by the most absurd folly. The ordinary custom¬ 
house officers, formerly so much abhorred in Hamburg, declared 
with reason that they would soon be regretted, and that the 

difference between them and the prevotal courts would soon be 
felt. Bonaparte’s counsellors led him to commit the folly of 
requiring that a ship which had obtained a license should 

export merchandise equivalent to that of the colonial produce 

to be imported under the authority of the license. What was 
the consequence ? The speculators bought at a low price old 
stores of silks, which change of fashion had made completely 
unsalable, and as those articles were prohibited in England 
they were thrown into the sea without their loss being felt. 

The profits of the speculation made ample amends for the sac¬ 
rifice. The Continental system was worthy only of the ages 
of ignorance and barbarism, and had it been admissible in 
theory, was impracticable in application. It cannot be suffi¬ 
ciently stigmatized. They were not the friends of the Emperor 

wno recommended a system calculated to rouse the indignation 
of Europe, and which could not fail to create re-action. To 
tyrannize over the human species, and to exact uniform admi¬ 
ration and submission, is to require an impossibility. It would 
seem that fate, which had still some splendid triumphs in 

store for Bonaparte, intended to prepare beforehand the causes 
which were to deprive him of all his triumphs at once, and 
plunge him into reverses even greater than the good fortune 

which had favored his elevation. 
The prohibition of trade, the habitual severity in the execu¬ 

tion of this odious system, made it operate like a Continental 

1 Sydney Smith was struck with the ridiculous side of the war of tariffs: 
“ We are told that the Continent is to he reconquered by the want of rhubarb 
and plums ” {Essays of Sydney Smith, p. 533, edition of 1851). 
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impost. I will give a proof of this, and I state nothing but 
what-came under my own observation. The fiscal regulations 

were very rigidly enforced at Hamburg, and along the two 
lines of Cuxhaven and Travemunde. M. Eudel, the director 
of that department, performed his duty with zeal and disin¬ 
terestedness. I feel gratified in rendering him this tribute. 
Enormous quantities of English merchandise and colonial 
produce were accumulated at Holstein, where they almost all 

arrived by way of Kiel and Hudsum, and were smuggled over 
the line at the expense of a premium of 33 and 40 per cent. 

Convinced of this fact by a thousand proofs, and weary of the 
vexations of the preventive system, I took upon myself to lay 
my opinions on the subject before the Emperor. He had given 

me permission to write to him personally, without any interme¬ 
diate agency, upon everything that I might consider essential to 

his service. I sent an extraordinary courier to Fontainebleau, 

where he then was, and in my despatch I informed him that, 

notwithstanding his preventive guard, every prohibited article 
was smuggled in because the profits on the sale in Germany, 
Poland, Italy, and even Prance, into which the contraband 

goods found their way, were too considerable not to induce 
persons to incur all risks to obtain them. I advised him, at 
the very time he was about to unite the ■ Hanse Towns to the 
French Empire, to permit merchandise to be imported subject 
to a duty of 33 per cent, which was about equal to the amount 
of the premium for insurance. The Emperor adopted my 
advice without hesitation, and in 1811 the regulation produced 

a revenue of upwards of 60,000,000 francs in Hamburg alone. 
This system, however, embroiled us with Sweden and Rus¬ 

sia, who could not endure that Napoleon should exact a strict 
blockade from them, whilst he was himself distributing licenses 

in abundance. Bernadotte, on his way to Sweden, passed 

through Hamburg in October, 1810. He staid with me three 
days, during which time he scarcely saw any person but my¬ 
self. He asked my opinion as to what he should do in regard 

to the Continental system. I did not hesitate to declare to 
him, not as French Minister, but as a private individual to his 
friend, that in his place, at the head of a poor nation, which 
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could only subsist by the exchange of its territorial produc¬ 
tions with England, I would open my ports, and give the 

Swedes gratuitously that general license which Bonaparte sold 
in detail to intrigue and cupidity. 

The Berlin decree could not fail to cause a re-action against 

the Emperor’s fortune by raising up whole nations against 
him. The hurling of twenty kings from their thrones would 

have excited less hatred than this contempt for the wants 
of nations. This profound ignorance of the maxims of politi¬ 
cal economy caused general privation and misery, which in 
their turn occasioned general hostility. The system could 

only succeed in the impossible event of all the powers of 
Europe honestly endeavoring to carry it into effect. A single 
free port would have destroyed it. In order to insure its 

complete success it was necessary to conquer and occupy 
all countries, and never to evacuate them. As a means of 
ruining England it was contemptible. It was necessary that 

all Europe should be compelled by force of arms to join this 
absurd coalition, and that the same force should be con¬ 
stantly employed to maintain it. Was this possible ? The 
captain “ rapporteur ” of a court-martial allowed a poor peas¬ 

ant to escape the punishment due to the offence of having 
bought a loaf of sugar beyond the custom-house barrier. This 
officer was some time afterwards at a dinner given by Mar¬ 
shal Davoust; the latter said to him, “ You have a very scru¬ 
pulous conscience, sir; go to headquarters and you will find 
an order there for you.” This order sent him eighty leagues 
from Hamburg. It is necessary to have witnessed, as I have, 
the numberless vexations and miseries occasioned by the un¬ 

fortunate Continental system to understand the mischief its 
authors did in Europe, and how much that mischief contrib¬ 

uted to Napoleon’s fall.1 

1 The so-called Continental system was framed by Napoleon in revenge 
for the English very extended system of blockades, after Trafalgar had put it 
out of liis power to attempt to* keep the seas. The principal decrees were 
Berlin, 21st November, 180(5; Milan, 17th December, 1807; Paris, 11th Janu¬ 
ary, 1808; Antwerp, 25th July, 1810; Trianon, 5th August, 1810; Fontaine¬ 
bleau, 19th October, 1810. By these decrees all ports occupied by the French 
were closed to the English, and all English goods were to be destroyed wher¬ 
ever found in any country occupied by the French. All States under French 
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influence had to adopt this system. It must be remembered that Napoleon 
eventually held or enforced his system on all the coast-lines of Europe, ex¬ 
cept that of Spain and Turkey; but, as Bourrienne shows, the plan of giv¬ 
ing licenses to break his own system was too lucrative to be resisted by him, 
or^ still more, by his officers. For the working of the system in the occupied 
lands see Bear/not, tome ii. p. 42. Lafitte, the banker, told Savary it was a 
grand idea, but impracticable (Savary, tome v. p. 110). The Emperor 
Alexander is reported to have said, after visiting England in 1814, that he 
believed the system would have reduced England if it had lasted another 
year (Sanan/, tome iv. p. 845). The English, who claimed the right of block¬ 
ading any coast with but little regard to the effectiveness of the blockade, 
retaliated by orders in Council, the chief of which are dated 7th January, 
1807, and 11th November, 1807, by which no ships of any power were allowed 
to trade between any French ports or the ports of any country closed to Eng¬ 
land. Whatever the real merits of the system, and although it was the 
cause of war between the United States and England, its execution did most 
to damage France and Napoleon, and to band all Europe against it. It is 
curious that even in 1831 a treaty had to be made to settle the claims of the 
United States on France for unjust seizures under these decrees; see 
Guizot’s Memoirs, tome iii. p. 233. 



CHAPTER VIII. 

1806 —1807. 

New system of war—Winter quarters — The Emperor’s proclamation — 
Necessity of marching to meet the Russians — Distress in the Hanse 
Towns— Order for 50,000 cloaks — Seizure of Russian corn and timber — 
Murat’s entrance into Warsaw— Re-establishment of Poland — Duroc’s 
accident —M. de Talleyrand’s carriage stopped by the mud — Napoleon’s 
power of rousing the spirit of his troops — His mode of dictating — The 
Duke of Mecklenburg-Schwerin — His visits to Hamburg—The Duke of 
Weimar — His letter and present — Journey of the Hereditary Prince of 
Denmark to Paris — Butler, the English spy — Travelling clerks — Louis 
Bonaparte and the Berlin decree — Creation of the Kingdom of Saxony — 
Veneration of Germany for the King of Saxony —The Emperor’s uncer¬ 
tainty respecting Poland — Fetes and reviews at Warsaw—The French 
Government at the Emperor’s headquarters —Ministerial portfolios sent 
to Warsaw—Military preparations during the month of January — Dif¬ 
ference of our situation during the campaigns of Vienna and Prussia — 
News received and sent — Conduct of the Cabinet of Austria similar to 
that of the Cabinet of Berlin — Battle of Eylau — Unjust accusation 
against Bernadotte — Death of General d’Hautpoult — Te Deum chanted 
by the Russians — Gardanne’s mission to Persia. 

Bonaparte was not only beyond all comparison the greatest 

captain of modern times, but he may be said to have wrought 
a complete change in the art of war. Before his time the 
most able generals regulated the fighting season by the alma¬ 
nac. It was customary in Europe to brave the cannon’s 
mouth only from the first fine days of spring to the last fine 
days of autumn; and the months of rain, snow, and frost were 
passed in what were called winter quarters. Pichegru, in 
Holland, had set the example of indifference to temperature. 
At Austerlitz, too, Bonaparte had braved the severity of 

winter; this answered his purpose well, and he adopted the 
game course in 1806. His military genius and activity seemed 

to increase, and, proud of his troops, he determined to com¬ 
mence a winter campaign in a climate more rigorous than any 
in which he had yet fought. The men, chained to his des- 
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tiny, were now required to brave the northern blast, as they 
had formerly braved the vertical sun of Egypt.1 Napoleon, 
who, above all generals, was remarkable for the choice of his 
fields of battle, did not wish to wait tranquilly until the Rus¬ 
sian army, which was advancing towards Germany, should 

come to measure its strength with him in the plains of con¬ 

quered Prussia; he resolved to march to meet it, and to reach 
it before it should cross the Vistula; but before he left Ber¬ 

lin to explore, as a conqueror, Poland and the confines of 
Russia, he addressed a proclamation to his troops, in which he 

stated all that had hitherto been achieved by the Erench 

army, and at the same time announced his future intentions. 
It was especially advisable that he should march forward ; for, 

had he waited until the Russians had passed the Vistula, 
there could probably have been no winter campaign, and he 

would have been obliged either to take up miserable winter 

quarters between the Vistula and the Oder, or to recross the 
Oder to combat the enemy in Prussia. Napoleon’s military 
genius and indefatigable activity served him admirably on 
this occasion, and the proclamation just alluded to, which 
was dated from Berlin before his departure from Charlotten- 

1 A curious meteorological coincidence may be noted here. The passage 
of the Niemen by the French army, and its consequent entry on Russian ter¬ 
ritory, may be said to have been Napoleon’s first step towards liis ultimate 
defeat and ruin. A terrible thunderstorm occurred on this occasion, accord¬ 
ing to M. de Se'gur’s account of the Russian campaign. When Napoleon 
commenced the retreat by which he yielded all the country beyond the 
Elbe (and which may be therefore reckoned the second step towards his 
downfall), it was accompanied by a thunderstorm more remarkable from oc¬ 
curring at such a season. [Odelben says “ C’etait un phe'nomene bien extra¬ 
ordinaire dans une pareille saison et avec le froid qu’on venait d’eprouver,” 
etc. Campaign of 1813, vol. i. p. 289.] The first step towards his second 
downfall, or the third towards his final ruin, was his advance against the 
British force at Quatre-Rras on the 17th of June, 1815. This also was accom¬ 
panied by an awful thunderstorm, which (though gathering all the forenoon) 
commenced at the very moment he made his attack on the British rear¬ 
guard with Ney’s corps about 8 p.m., when the first gun fired was instantly 
responded to by a tremendous peal of thunder. Again at St. Helena, where 
thunderstorms are unknown, the last breath of Napoleon passed away in the 
midst of a furious tempest. 

Thunder to Wellington was the precursor of victory and triumph. Wit¬ 
ness the above-mentioned introduction to the crowning victory of Waterloo, 
the terrible thunder that scattered the horses of the dragoons on the eve of 
Salamanca, also the similar storm on the night preceding Sabugal; see Notes 
and Queries, 13th August, 1853. 
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burg, proves Unit lie did not act fortuitously, as lie frequently 

did, but that his calculations were well made.1 

A rapid and immense* impulse* given to great masses of 

men by the will of a single individual - may produce transient 

lustre and dazzle tin* eyes of the multitude ; but. when, at a, 

distance from the theatre of glory, we see only the melancholy 

1 Before leaving the capital of Prussia Puma parte stole From tin* monu¬ 
ment of Frederick tho <treat his sword and military orders. He also plun¬ 
dered the, galleries of Berlin and Potsdam of their best pictures and statues, 
thus continuing tin*, iniquitous system ho had begun in Italy. All these 
things ho sent to Paris as trophies of victory and glory. Editor <>/ th< 
3Sd() edition. 

- Napoleon had one great ad vantages over his adversaries of combining in 
his person the powers of the head of the State, and of aeommamler possessing 
the full eonlidence of tin* army. The Tzar Alexander, even when nominally 
in eommand of his own army, had to reckon with his generals, Metternieh 
remarking that lie did not believe the Hessian army would ha\ e ad vanned 
beyond tho Oder in hSl.'i if old Kutusow had been alive. Most generals are 
subject to have to work on plans not fully approved by them, and thus see 
even their own defeats with mixed foldings, as .lourdan, after Vif huda, emu- 
mcncod his supper with tho remark, “ Well, they wished to give battle, and 
they have lost, it” (Mi<>(, tome iii. p. U'JO). Wellington, after gaining the 
coniidenee of the < Joverumeiit in Spain, and thus obtaining a posit imi unique 
amongst, English commanders, made some \alcalde remarks on his and on 
Napoleon's position. “ Wellington said the other day that, he had great ad 
vantages now over every other general, fie could do w hat others dare not 
attempt, and lie got the confidence of the three allied poweiw so that what 
he said or ordered was, right or wrong, always thought right. And it is llm 
same,’" said he, “ with the troops. When I come m\sidl, the .soldiers think 
what, they have to do tho most important, since I am there, and all will <h 
pend on their exertions. < >f course these are increased in proportion, and 
they will do for me what, perhaps, no one else can make them do.” Ife said 
” he had several of the advantages possessed by Bonaparte in regard to hm 
freedom id' action and power of risking, without being constant I v called m 
account. Bonaparte was quite free from all inquiry, and that lie hmmelf w,e. 
in fact, very numb so. The other advantage which Napoleon possessed, and 
of which he made so much use,” Lord Wellington said, ** was his full lah 
tude of lying; that, if so disposed,1' he said, “ lie could not do n (EarpenlN 
.1 intnutf, j). 227). It is only fair to remember this last, remark when the false 
hoods contained in Napoleon’s bulletins are attacked. If be did lie, who ever 
had such great opportunities of lying, though perhaps some modern reports 
of Hint l e (fie monementx, might compete with his statements. Sit vary assumed 
the same! advantages for Napoleon when he ud\ ised the evacuation of Ma 
drid after Baylen, allowing that Napoleon would m»{ have withdrawn " 1 
well know,” said Savarv to Joseph, M that, if the Emperor were here he 
would not dream of retiring; hut wherever he himself is, every one obeys at 
once, and no one complains. Here we are In a \er\ dillVjvnf ease. If we 
were to ask that anything should be done, every one would be tired or hit k, 
while one glance of the Emperor would set all these idlers to work. No one 
can do what- the Emperor is able to do, and whoever would trv to imitate 
him won hi only ruin himself " (Nurury, tome tii. p. TA’t T.Ut. But it must 
be remembered that Napoleon assumed an independent position from the 
very beginning, and when a simple general in his first command In Italy 
would not submit to any of the usual cheeks, {{Is letter to i ‘nrnot on ref us 
ing to serve if Ids army were divided, and lib* determined opposition to the 
plans of tho Directory for marching into the smith of Ital>„ are well known. 
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results which have been produced, the genius of conquest can 
only be regarded as the genius of destruction. What a sad 
picture was often- presented to my eyes! I was continually 
doomed to hear complaints of the general distress, and to exe¬ 

cute orders which augmented the immense sacrifices already 
made by the city of Hamburg. Thus, for example, the Em¬ 
peror desired me to furnish him with 50,000 cloaks, which I 

immediately did. I felt the importance of such an order at 
the approach of winter, and in a climate the rigor of which 

our troops had not yet encountered. I also received orders to 
seize at Ltibeek (which town, as I have already stated, had 
been alternately taken and retaken by Blucher and Bernadotte) 

400,000 lasts of com1 and to send them to Magdeburg. This 

corn belonged to Russia. Marshal Mortier, too, had seized 

some timber for building, which also belonged to Russia, and 
which was estimated at 1,400,000 francs. 

Meanwhile our troops continued to advance with such 

rapidity that before the end of November Murat arrived at 
Warsaw, at the head of the advanced guard of the Grand 

Army, of which he had the command. The Emperor’s head¬ 

quarters were then at Posen, and he received deputations from 
all parts soliciting the re-establishment and independence of 
the Kingdom of Poland. Rapp informed me that after receiv¬ 
ing the deputation from Warsaw the Emperor said to him, 

“I love the Poles; their enthusiastic character pleases me ; I 
should like to make them independent, but that is a difficult 
matter. Austria, Russia, and Prussia have all had a slice of 

the cake; when the match is once kindled who knows where 
the conflagration may stop ? My first duty is towards France, 

which I must not sacrifice to Poland; we must refer this mat¬ 
ter to the sovereign of all things — Time; he will presently 
show us what we must do.” Had Sulkowsky lived Napoleon 

might have recollected what he had said to him in Egypt, and 
in all probability he would have raised up a power, the dis¬ 

memberment of which, towards the close of the last century, 
began to overturn the political equilibrium which had sub¬ 
sisted in Europe since the peace of Westphalia in 1648. 

1 A last weighs 2000 kilogrammes. 
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It was at the headquarters at Posen that Duroc rejoined 
the Emperor after his mission to the King of Prussia. His 

carriage overturned on the way, and he had the misfortune 

to break his collar-bone. All the letters I received were noth¬ 
ing but a succession of complaints on the bad state of the 
roads. Our troops were absolutely fighting in mud, and it 
was with extreme difficulty that the artillery and caissons of 
the army could be moved along. M. de Talleyrand had been 
summoned to headquarters by the Emperor, in the expectation 
of treating for peace, and I was informed that his carriage 

stuck in the mud and he was detained on his journey for 
twelve hours. A soldier having asked one of the persons in 
M. de Talleyrand’s suite who the traveller was, was informed 
that he was the Minister for Foreign Affairs. “ Ah ! bah ! ” 

said the soldier, “ why does he come with his diplomacy to 
such a devil of a country as this ? ” 

The Emperor entered Warsaw on the 1st of January, 1807. 
Most of the reports which he had received previous to his 
entrance had concurred in describing the dissatisfaction of the 

troops, who for some time had had to contend with bad roads, 
bad weather, and all sorts of privations.1 Bonaparte said to 
the generals who informed him that the enthusiasm of his 
troops had been succeeded by dejection and discontent, “Does 

i Rapp thus describes the entrance of the French into Warsaw, and adds 
a few anecdotes connected with that event: — 

“ At length we entered the Polish capital. The King of Naples had pre¬ 
ceded us, and had driven the Russians from the city. Napoleon was received 
with enthusiasm. The Poles thought that the moment of their regeneration 
had arrived, and that their wishes were fulfilled. It would be difficult to 
describe the joy thus evinced, and the respect with which they treated us. 
The French troops, however, were not quite so well pleased; they manifested 
the greatest repugnance to crossing the Vistula. The idea of want and bad 
weather had inspired them with the greatest aversion to Poland, and they 
were inexhaustible in their jokes on the country. 

“ The French used to say that the four following words constituted the 
whole language of the Poles: — Kleba? niema; vota? sara. (Some bread ? 
there is none; some water ? we will go and fetch it.) This was all that was 
to be heard in Poland. Napoleon one day passed by a column of infantry in 
the neighborhood of Nasielsk, where the troops were suffering the greatest 
privations on account of the mud, which prevented the arrival of provisions. 
£ Papa, kleba f’ exclaimed a soldier. 1 Niema,7 replied the Emperor. The 
whole column burst into a fit of laughter; they asked for nothing more. 

“ One evening at the theatre, when the curtain was very late in rising, a 
grenadier who was among the spectators became impatient at the delay. 
‘ Begin! ’ he called out from the farther end of the pit, ‘begin directly, or I 
will not cross the Vistula *” (Rapp’s Memoirs, 118-120). 
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their spirit fail them when they come in sight of the enemy ? ” 

— “ No, Sire.” — “I knew it; my troops are always the same.” 

Then turning to Rapp he said, “ I must rouse them; ” and he 
dictated the following proclamation : — 

Soldiers — It is a year this very hoar since you were on the field of 
Austerlitz, where the Russian battalions fled in disorder, or surrendered 
up their arms to their conquerors. Next day proposals of peace were 
talked of; but they were deceptive. No sooner had the Russians escaped 
by, perhaps, blamable generosity from the disasters of the third coalition 
than they contrived a fourth. But the ally on whose tactics they founded 
their principal hope was no more. His capital, his fortresses, his maga¬ 
zines, his arsenals, 280 flags, and 700 fieldpieces have fallen into our 
power. The Oder, the Wartha, the deserts of Poland, and the inclem¬ 
ency of the season have not for a moment retarded your progress. You 
have braved all; surmounted all; every obstacle has fled at your approach. 
The Russians have in vain endeavored to defend the capital of ancient 
and illustrious Poland. The French eagle hovers over the Vistula. The 
brave and unfortunate Poles, on beholding you, fancied they saw the 
legions of Sobieski returning from their memorable expedition. 

Soldiers, we will not lay down our arms until a general peace has 
secured the power of our allies and restored to us our colonies and our 
freedom of trade. We have gained on the Elbe and the Oder, Pondi¬ 
cherry, our Indian establishments, the Cape of Good Hope, and the Span¬ 
ish colonies. Why should the Russians have the right of opposing destiny 
and thwarting our just designs ? They and we are still the soldiers who 
fought at Austerlitz. 

When Bonaparte dictated his proclamations — and how 
many have I not written from his dictation ! — he was for the 
moment inspired, and he evinced all the excitement which 
distinguishes the Italian improvvisatorl To follow him it 

was necessary to write with inconceivable rapidity. When I 

have read over to him what he has dictated I have often 

known him to smile triumphantly at the effect which he 

expected any particular phrase would produce. In general 

his proclamations turned on three distinct points — (1) Prais¬ 
ing bis soldiers for what they had done; (2) pointing out to 

them what they had yet to do ; and (3) abusing his enemies. 

The proclamation to which I have just now alluded was circu¬ 
lated profusely through Germany, and it is impossible to con¬ 
ceive the effect it produced on the whole army. The corps 
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stationed in the rear burned to pass, by forced marches, the 
space which still separated them from headquarters; and 
those who were nearer the Emperor forgot their fatigues and 
privations and were only anxious to encounter the enemy. 
They frequently could not understand what Napoleon said in 

these proclamations ; but no matter for that, they would have 
followed him cheerfully barefooted and without provisions. 

Such was the enthusiasm, or rather the fanaticism, which 

Napoleon could inspire among his troops when he thought 

proper to rouse them, as he termed it. 
When, on a former occasion, I spoke of the Duke of 

Mecklenburg-Schwerin and his family, I forgot a circum¬ 

stance respecting my intercourse with him which now occurs 
to my memory. When, on his expulsion from his States, after 

the battle of Jena, he took refuge in Altona, he requested, 

through the medium of his Minister at Hamburg, Count von 

Plessen, that I would give him permission occasionally to 
visit that city. This permission I granted without hesitation; 

but the Duke observed no precaution in his visits, and I made 
some friendly observations to him on the subject. I knew the 
object of his visits. It was a secret connection in Hamburg; 

but in consequence of my observations he removed the lady to 
Altona, and assured me that he adopted that determination 
to avoid committing me. He afterwards came very seldom to 

Hamburg; but as we were on the best understanding with 
Denmark I frequently saw his daughter and son-in-law, who 

used to visit me at a house I had in Holstein, near Altona. 

There I likewise saw, almost every day, the Duke of 
Weimar, an excellent old man. I had the advantage of being 
on such terms of intimacy with him that my house was in 

some measure his. He also had lost his States. I was so 
happy as to contribute to their restitution, for my situation 

enabled me to exercise some influence on the political indul¬ 
gences or severities of the Government. .1 entertained a sin¬ 
cere regard for the Duke of Weimar, and I greatly regretted 
his departure. No sooner had he arrived in Berlin than he 
wrote me a letter of thanks, to which he added the present of 
a diamond, in token of his grateful remembrance of me. The 
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Duke of Mecklenburg was not so fortunate as the Duke of 

Weimar, in spite of bis alliance with the reigning family of 
/Denmark. He was obliged to remain at Altona until the 

July following, for his States were restored only by the 

Treaty of Tilsit. As soon as it was known that the Emperor 
had returned to Paris the Duke’s son, the Hereditary Prince, 

visited me in Hamburg, and asked me whether I thought he 
could present himself to the Emperor, for the purpose of ex¬ 

pressing his own and his father’s gratitude. He was a very 
well-educated young man. He set out, accompanied by M. 

Oertzen and Baron von Brandstaten. Some time afterwards I 
saw his name in the Moniteur, in one of the lists of presenta¬ 
tions to Napoleon, the collection of which, during the Empire, 
might be regarded as a general register of the nobility of 

Europe. 
It is commonly said that we may accustom ourselves to any¬ 

thing, but to me this remark is subject to an exception ; for, 
in spite of the necessity to which I was reduced of employing 

spies, I never could surmount the disgust I felt at them, espe¬ 
cially when I saw men destined to fill a respectable rank in 
society degrade themselves to that infamous profession. It 
is impossible to conceive the artifices to which these men 
resort to gain the confidence of those whom they wish to 

betray. Of this the following example just now occurs to my 
mind. 

One of those wretches, who are employed in certain circum¬ 
stances, and by all parties, came to offer his services to me. 
His name was Butler, and he had been sent from England to 
the Continent as a spy upon the French Government. He 
immediately came to me, complaining of pretended enemies 
and unjust treatment. He told me he had the greatest wish 

to serve the Emperor, and that he would make any sacrifice to 
prove his fidelity. The real motive of his change of party 
was, as it is with all such men, merely the hope of a higher 

reward. Most extraordinary were the schemes he adopted to 

prevent his old employers from suspecting that he was serv¬ 

ing new ones. To me he continually repeated how happy he 

was to be revenged on his enemies in London. He asked me 
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bo allow him to go to Paris to be examined by the Minister of 
Police. The better to keep up the deception he requested 
that on his arrival in Paris he might be confined in the 
Temple, and that there might be inserted in the French 
journals an announcement in the following terms: — “John 

Butler, commonly called Count Butler, has just been arrested 

and sent to Baris under a good escort by the French Minister at 

Hamburg.” At the expiration of a few weeks Butler, having 

received his instructions, set out for London, but by way of 
precaution he said it would be well to publish in the journals 

another announcement, which was as follows : “ John Butler, 
who has been arrested in Hamburg as an English agent, and 

conveyed to Baris, is ordered to quit France, and the territories 

occupied by the French armies and their allies, and not to appear 

there again until the general peace.” In England Butler en¬ 

joyed the honors of French persecution. He was regarded as 

a victim who deserved all the confidence of the enemies of 
France. He furnished Fouche with a considerable amount 
of information, and he was fortunate enough to escape being 
hanged. 

Notwithstanding the pretended necessity of employing 

secret agents, Bonaparte was unwilling that, even under that 
pretext, too many communications should be established 

between France and England. Fouche, nevertheless, actively 

directed the evolutions of his secret army. Ever ready to 
seize on anything that could give importance to the police and 

encourage the suspicions of the Emperor, Fouch6 wrote to me 
that the Government had received certain information that 
many Frenchmen, travelling for commercial houses in France, 
were at Manchester purchasing articles of English manufac¬ 
ture. This was true; but how was it to be prevented ? These 
travelling clerks passed through Holland, where they easily 

procured a passage to England. 
Louis Bonaparte, conceiving that the King of Holland 

ought not to sacrifice the interests of his new subjects to the 
wishes of his brother, was at first very lenient as to the disas¬ 
trous Continental system. But at this Napoleon soon mani¬ 

fested his displeasure, and about the end of the year 1806 
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Louis was reduced to the necessity of ordering the strict 
observance of the blockade. The facility with which the 

travellers of French commercial houses passed from Holland 
to England gave rise to other alarms on the part of the French 

Government. It was said that since Frenchmen could so 
easily pass from the Continent to Great Britain, the agents of 
the English Cabinet might, by the same means, find their way 

to the Continent. Accordingly the consuls were directed to 
keep a watchful eye, not only upon individuals who evidently 

came from England, but upon those who might by any possi¬ 
bility come from that country. This plan was all very well, 
but how was it to be put into execution ? . . . The Continent 

was, nevertheless, inundated with articles of English manu¬ 
facture, for this simple reason, that, however powerful may 

be the will of a sovereign, it is still less powerful and less 
lasting than the wants of a people. The Continental system 

reminded me of the law created by an ancient legislator, who, 

for a crime which he conceived could not possibly be com¬ 
mitted, condemned the person who should be guilty of it to 
throw a bull over Mount Taurus. 

It is not my present design to trace a picture of the state 
of Europe at the close of 1806. I will merely throw together 

a few facts which came to my knowledge at the time, and 
which I find in my correspondence. I have already mentioned 

that the Emperor arrived at Warsaw on the 1st of January. 
During his stay at Posen he' had, by virtue of a treaty con¬ 
cluded with the Elector of Saxony, founded a new kingdom, 

and consequently extended his power in Germany, by the 
annexation of the new Kingdom of Saxony to the Confedera¬ 
tion of the Rhine. By the terms of this treaty Saxony, so 
justly famed for her cavalry, was to furnish the Emperor with 
a contingent of 20,000 men and horses.1 

It was quite a new spectacle to the Princes of Germany, 

all accustomed to old habits of etiquette, to see an upstart 

1 The Duchy of Warsaw was formed under the Treaty of Tilsit, July, 1807, 
chiefly from the former Polish provinces of Prussia, which she had obtained 
after 1st January, 1772, about 400,000 souls. On the 17th of September, 1807, 
lfc*w?s 1JLanded oveF t0 the Kingpf Saxony as Grand Duke. It formed part 
of the Confederation of the Phine, and the contingent of Saxony, formerly 
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sovereign treat them as subjects, and even oblige them to con¬ 

sider themselves as such. Those famous Saxons, who had 

made Charlemagne tremble, threw themselves on the protec¬ 
tion of the Emperor; and the alliance of the head of the 

House of Saxony was not a matter of indifference to Napo- 
leon, for the new King was, on account of his age, his tastes, 
and his character, more revered than any other German 
Prince. 

Erom the moment of Napoleon’s arrival at Warsaw until the 
commencement of hostilities against the Eussians he was con¬ 
tinually solicited to re-establish the throne of Poland, and to 

restore its chivalrous independence to the ancient empire of 

the Jagellons. A person who was at that time in Warsaw 
told me that the Emperor was in the greatest uncertainty as 
to what he should do respecting Poland. He was entreated 
to re-establish that ancient and heroic kingdom; but he came 
to no decision, preferring, according to custom, to submit to 

events, that he might appear to command them. At Warsaw, 
indeed, the Emperor passed a great part of his time in fetes 

and reviews, which, however, did not prevent him from watch¬ 
ing, with his eagle eye, every department of the public service, 
both interior and exterior.1 Pie himself was in the capital of 

20,000 men, was now increased to 30,000. In February, 1813, the duchy was 
broken up, Posen was restored to Prussia, part of Galicia to Austria, Cracow 
was made independent, and the rest annexed to Russia, Alexander taking 
the title of King of Poland. Saxony had been raised from an electorate to 
a kingdom when it joined the Confederation of the Rhine, 11th December, 
1800; thus Bourrienne calls it the new kingdom. 

1 “ Our halt at Warsaw was delightful. With, the exception of theatres, 
the city presented all the gayeties of Paris. Twice a wreek the Emperor gave 
a concert: after which a court was held, which led again to numerous meet¬ 
ings in private parties. On these occasions the personal beauty and graceful 
manners of the Polish ladies were conspicuous. It may truly be said that they 
excited the jealousy of the most charming women of other nations. With 
the most polished elegance they combine a fund of information which is not 
usually found even among Frenchwomen; and they are very superior to the 
generality of women bred in cities, to whom habit renders company almost a 
necessary of life. The Polish ladies of rank always pass one-lialf of the year 
in the country, where probably they apply themselves to reading and the 
cultivation of their minds; and they return to spend the winter season in 
the capital, graced with those talents and accomplishments which render 
them so peculiarly*attractivc. . 

The Emperor and all the French officers paid their tribute of admiration 
to the charms of the fair Poles. There was one whose powerful fascinations 
made a deep impression on the Emperor’s heart. He conceived an ardent 
affection for her, which she cordially returned. She received with pride the 
homage of a conquest which was the consummation of her happiness. It is 
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Poland, but his vast influence was present everywhere. \ 
heard Duroc say, when we were conversing together about 
the campaign of Tilsit, that Napoleon’s activity and intelli¬ 

gence were never more conspicuously developed. 
One very remarkable feature of the imperial wars was, that, 

with the exception of the interior police, of which Fouche was 

the soul, the whole government of France was at the head¬ 
quarters of the Emperor. At Warsaw Napoleon’s attention 
was not only occupied with the affairs of his army, but he 

directed the whole machinery of the French Government just 
the same as if he had been in Paris. Daily estafettes, and 

frequently the useless auditors of the Council of State, brought 
him reports more or less correct, and curious disclosures which 

were frequently the invention of the police. The portfolios 
of the Ministers arrived every week, with the exception of 
those of the Minister for Foreign Affairs and the Minister of 

the War Department; the former had first stopped at Mayence 
with the Empress, but had been called on to Warsaw; and 
the latter, Clarke, was, for the misfortune of Berlin, governor 
of that city.1 This state of things lasted during the ten 

months of the Emperor’s absence from Paris. Louis XIV. 
said, “ I am myself the State.” Napoleon did not say this; 
but, in fact, under his reign the Government of France was 

always at his headquarters. This circumstance had well-nigh 
proved fatal to him, on the occasion of the extraordinary con¬ 

spiracy of Malet, with some points of which I alone, perhaps, 
am thoroughly acquainted. The Emperor employed the month 
of January in military preparations for the approaching attack 

of the Russians, but at the same time he did not neglect the 
business of the cabinet: with him nothing was suffered to 
linger in arrear. 

While Napoleon was at Warsaw a battle was not the only 
thing to be thought about j affairs were much more compli- 

needless to name her, when I observe that her attachment remained un¬ 
shaken amidst every danger, and that at the period of Napoleon’s reversec 
she continued his faithful friend ” (Memoirs of the Due de Rovigo, tome iii. 
p. 26). 

1 This is an error. Clarke was Governor of Berlin in 1806, and only suc¬ 
ceeded Berthier as War Minister 9th August, 1807, that is, after the peace of 
Tilsit. 
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cated than during the campaign of Vienna. It was necessary 
on the one hand, to observe Prussia, which was occupied; and 
on the other to anticipate the Russians, whose movements in¬ 
dicated that they were inclined to strike the first blow. In 

the preceding campaign Austria, before the taking of Vienna, 

was engaged alone. The case was different now Austria had 
had only soldiers; and Prussia, as Blucher declared to me, was 

beginning to have citizens.1 There was no difficulty in re¬ 
turning from Vienna, but a great deal in returning from 

Warsaw, in case of failure, notwithstanding the creation of the 
Kingdom of Saxony, and the provisional government given to 
Prussia, and to the other States of Germany which we had 

conquered. None of these considerations escaped the pene¬ 
tration of Napoleon : nothing was omitted in the notes, letters, 
and official correspondence which came to me from all quar¬ 
ters. Receiving, as I did, accurate information from my own 
correspondents of all that was passing in Germany, it often 
happened that I transmitted to the Government the same news 
which it transmitted to me, not supposing that I previously 
knew it. Thus, for example, I thought I was apprising the 
Government of the arming of Austria, of which I received 
information from headquarters a few days after. 

During the Prussian campaign Austria played precisely the 
same waiting game which Prussia had played during the cam¬ 
paign of Austria. As Prussia had, before the battle of Aus- 

terlitz, awaited the success or defeat of the Trench to decide 
whether she should remain neutral or declare herself against 
Trance, so Austria, doubtless supposing that Russia would be 
more fortunate as the ally of Prussia than she had been as her 
ally, assembled a corps of 40,000 men in Bohemia. That corps 
was called an army of observation; but the nature of these 

1 Speaking1 of the difference he remarked between the inhabitants of the 
provinces taken from Prussia to make up the Grand Duchy of Berg and of 
those taken for the other States, Beugnot (vol. i. p. 269) says, “ The Prus¬ 
sians . . . had a love of their country amounting to idolatry. They retained 
that love ... at the very time when Prussia was cut into fragments, which 
Napoleon was distributing to the right and left; and yet, when I took pos¬ 
session of the country of La Marck, I saw that all was not over with men 
who did not allow that they were conquered, and dreamed of victory even 
while their enemy had them under foot and was ready to give the finishing 
stroke.” 
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armies of observation is well known ; they belong to the class 
of armed neutralities, like the ingenious invention of sanitary 

cordons. The fact is, that the 40,000 men assembled in Bohe¬ 

mia were destined to aid and assist the Russians in case they 

should be successful (and who can blame the Austrian Gov¬ 
ernment for wishing to wash away the shame of the Treaty of 
Presburg ?). Napoleon had not a moment to lose, but his 

activity required no spur; he had hastened the battle of Aus- 
terlitz to anticipate Prussia, and he now found it necessary 

to anticipate Russia in order to keep Austria in a state of 
indecision. 

The Emperor, therefore, left Warsaw about the end of Jan¬ 

uary, and 'immediately gave orders for engaging the Russian 
army in the beginning of February ; but, in spite of his desire 
of commencing the attack, he was anticipated. On the 8th of 
February, at seven m the morning, he was attacked by the 
Russians, who advanced during a terrible storm of snow, 

which fell in large flakes. They approached Preussich-Eylau, 

where the Emperor was, and the Imperial Guard stopped the 
Russian column. Nearly the whole French army was engaged 
in that battle — one of the most sanguinary ever fought in 

Europe.1 The corps commanded by Bernadotte was not en¬ 
gaged in the contest; it had been stationed on the left at 
Mohrungen, whence it menaced Dantzic. The issues of the 

battle would have been very different had the four divisions 
of infantry and the two of cavalry composing Bernadotte’s 

corps arrived in time ; but unfortunately the officer instructed 
to convey orders to Bernadotte to march without delay on 
Preussich-Eylau was taken by a body of Cossacks; Berna¬ 
dotte, therefore, did not arrive. Bonaparte, who always liked 
to throw blame on some one if things did not turn out exactly 
as he wished, attributed the doubtful success of the day to the 
absence of Bernadotte : in this he was right; but to make his 
absence a reproach to that Marshal was a gross injustice:2 
Bernadotte was accused of not having been willing to march 

on Preussich-Eylau, though, as it was alleged, General d’Haut- 
poult had informed him of the necessity of his presence^ But 

1 Until Borodino. 2 See a previous foot note upon p. 36. 
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how can that fact be ascertained, since General d’Hautpoult 
was killed on that same day ? Who can assure us that that 
General had been able to communicate with the Marshal ? 

Those who knew Bonaparte, his cunning, and the artful 
advantage he would sometimes take of words which he at¬ 
tributed to the dead, will easily solve the enigma. The battle 
of Eylau was terrible. Night came on — Bernadotte’s corps 

was instantly, but in vain, expected; and after a great loss 
the French army had the melancholy honor of passing the 
night on the field of battle. Bernadotte at length arrived, 
but too late. He met the enemy, who were retreating with¬ 
out the fear of being molested towards Konigsberg, the only 
capital remaining to Prussia. The King of Prussia was then 

at Memel, a small port on the Baltic, thirty leagues from 
Konigsberg. 

After the battle of Eylau both sides remained stationary, 
and several days elapsed without anything remarkable taking 
place. The offers of peace made by the Emperor, with very 
little earnestness it is true, were disdainfully rejected, as if a 
victory disputed with Napoleon was to be regarded as a 
triumph. The battle of Eylau seemed to turn the heads of 
the Russians, who chanted Te Deum on the occasion. But 
while the Emperor was making preparations to advance, his 
diplomacy was taking effect in a distant quarter, and raising 

up against Russia an old and formidable enemy. Turkey 
declared war against her. This was a powerful diversion, and 
obliged Russia to strip her western frontiers to secure a line 

of defence on the south.1 

i On this occasion the diplomacy of England was notoriously at fault. A 
clever and determined ambassador at Constantinople might have kept the 
Turks quiet, but Mr. Arbuthnot, the resident Minister, was not the man, and 
lie was sick with a slow fever at the moment of crisis. The year before, when 
the Turks were on the point of going to war with Russia about Wallachia 
and Moldavia, they wore bullied into peace by a young English diplomatist, 
who has since then made himself notorious in very different ways. This was 
the Honorable William Long Wellesley Pole, who was then second secretary 
to our embassy. Knowing that the Divan were coming to a decision he left 
the ambassador’s bouse at Buyukdere, mounted bis horse, and galloped to 
Constantinople, through a torrent of rain. He never stopped till he reached 
the Porte, where he leaped out of his saddle and presented himself to the 
Divan of Ministers, with his whip in his hand and covered all over with 
miul. He stormed the Turks to their beards —he threatened them with 
annihilation, and drawing on his imagination for his facts, he swore to them 
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1807. 

Abuse of military power — Defence of diplomatic rights — Marshal Brune — 
Army supplies English cloth and leather— Arrest on a charge of libel 

Despatch from M. do Talleyrand— A page of Napoleon’s glory — In¬ 
terview between the two Emperors at Tilsit — Silesia restored to the 
Queen of Prussia — Unfortunate situation of Prussia — Impossibility of 
re-establishing Poland in 1807 —Foundation of the Kingdom of West¬ 
phalia— The Duchy of Warsaw and the King of Saxony. 

Me an while the internal affairs of the towns over which my 
diplomatic jurisdiction extended soon gave me more employ¬ 
ment than ever. The greatest misfortune of the Empire was, 
perhaps, the abuse of the right arrogated by the wearers of 
epaulets. My situation gave me an opportunity of observ¬ 
ing all the odious character of a military government. 
Another in my place could not have done all that I did. I 
say this confidently, for my situation was a distinct and 
independent one, as Bonaparte .had told me. Being author¬ 
ized to correspond directly with the Emperor, the military 
chiefs feared, if they did not yield to my just representations, 
that I would make private reports; this apprehension was 
wonderfully useful in enabling me to maintain the rights of 
the towns, which, had adopted me as their first citizen. 

A circumstance occurred in which I had to defend the 
rights of the diplomatic and commercial agents against the 
pretensions of military power. Marshal Brune during his 
government at Hamburg, went to Bremen to watch the strict 
execution of the illusive blockade against England. The 
Marshal, acting, no doubt, in conformity with the instructions 
of Clarke, then Minister of War and Governor of Berlin, 
wished to arrogate the right of deciding on the captures made 
by our cruisers. 

He attempted to prevent the Consul Lagau from selling 
81 
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the confiscated ships in order to sell them himself. Of this 

M. Lagau complained to me. The more I observed a dispo¬ 
sition to encroach on the part of the military authorities, the 
more I conceived it necessary to maintain the rights of the 
consuls, and to favor their influence, without which they 
would have lost their consideration. To the complaints of 

M. Lagau I replied, “That to him alone belonged the right 
of deciding, in the first instance, on the fate of the ships; 
that' he could not be deprived of that right without changing 
the law; that he was free to sell the confiscated Prussian 
ships; that Marshal Brune was at Bremen only for the 
execution of the decree respecting the blockade of England, 

and that he ought not to interfere in business unconnected 
with that decree.” Lagau showed this letter to Brune, who 
then allowed him to do as he wished; but it was an affair of 

profit, and the Marshal for a long time owed me a grudge. 
Bernadotte was exceedingly disinterested, but he loved to 

be talked about. The more the Emperor endeavored to 
throw accusations upon him, the more he was anxious to give 

publicity to all his actions. He sent to me an account of 
the brilliant affair of Braunsburg, in which a division of the 
first corps had been particularly distinguished. Along with 
this narrative he sent me a note in the following terms: — 
“ I send you, my dear Minister, an account of the affair of 

Braunsburg. You will, perhaps, think proper to publish it. 
In that case I shall be obliged by your getting it inserted in 

the Hamburg journals.” I did so. The injustice of the 
Emperor, and the bad way in which he spoke of Bernadotte, 
obliged the latter, for the sake of his own credit, to make the 
truth known to the world. 

I have already mentioned that I received an order from 
the Emperor to supply 50,000 cloaks for the army. With 

this order, which was not the only one I received of the same 
kind, some circumstances were connected which I may take 
the present opportunity of explaining. 

The Emperor gave me so many orders for army clothing 
that all that could be supplied by the cities of Hamburg, 
Bremen, and Liibeck would have been insufficient for execut- 
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mg the commissions. I entered into a treaty with a house in 
Hamburg, which I authorized, in spite of the Berlin decree, 
to bring cloth and leather from England. Thus I procured 

these articles in a sure and cheap way. Our troops might 

have perished of cold had the Continental system and the 

absurd mass of inexecutable decrees relative to English mer¬ 
chandise been observed. 

The Director of the Customs at Hamburg got angry, but I 
held firm : my cloths and my leather arrived; cloaks, coats, 
boots, all were promptly made, and our soldiers thus were 
sheltered from the severity of the season. To preserve peace 
with the Imperial Custom-house, I wrote to M. Collin, then 
Director-General, that M. Eudel having wished to put in exe¬ 

cution the law of the 10th Brumaire an V., complaints had 
been made on every side. Marshal Brune asked for my 

opinion on this matter, and I gave it to him. I declared to 
M. Collin that the full execution of the decree of 31st Octo¬ 

ber, 1796, was impracticable, injurious to France, and to the 

Hanseatic Towns, without doing harm to England. Indeed, 
what said article 5 of this law ? “ All goods imported from 
foreign countries, whatever may be their origin, are to be con¬ 
sidered as coining from English manufacturers.” According 
to this article France was a foreign country for the Hanseatic 

Towns, and none of the objects enumerated in this article 
ought to enter Hamburg! But the town received from France 
a large quantity of fine cloths, buttons, ironmongery, toys, 
china; and from France only clocks, bronzes, jewelry, rib¬ 
bons, bonnets, gauzes, and gloves. “Let,” said I to M. Eudel, 
“ the Paris Douane be asked what that town alone exports in 
matters of this sort, and it will be seen how important it is 
not to stop a trade all the more profitable to France, as the 
workmanship forms the greatest part of the price of the goods 
which make up this trade. What would happen if the impor¬ 
tation of these goods were absolutely prohibited in Hamburg ? 

The consignments would cease, and one of the most produc¬ 
tive sources of trade for France, and especially for Paris, would 

be cut off. 
At this time neither Hamburg nor its territory had any 
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manufacture of cloth. All woollen stuffs were prohibited, 

according to M. Eudel, and still my duty was to furnish, and 

I had furnished, 50,000 cloaks for the Grand Army. In com¬ 
pliance with a recent Imperial decree I had to have made 
without delay 16,000 coats, 37,000 waistcoats, and the 
Emperor required of me 200,000 pairs of boots, besides the 

40,000 pairs I had sent him. Yet M. Eudel said that tanned 
and worked leather ought not to enter Hamburg ! If such a 

ridiculous application of the law of 1796 had been made it 

would have turned the decree of 21st November, 1796, against 

France, without fulfilling its object. 
These reflections, to which I added other details, made the 

Government conclude that I was right, and I traded with 
England to the great advantage of the armies, which were 

well clothed and shod. What in the world can be more 
ridiculous than commercial laws carried out to one’s own 

detriment ? 
At the beginning of 1807 my occupations at Hamburg were 

divided between the furnishing of supplies for the army and 

the inspection of the emigrants, whom Fouche pretended to 
dread in order to give greater importance to his office. 

I never let slip an opportunity of mitigating the rigor of 

Fouche’s orders, which, indeed, were sometimes so absurd 

that I did not attempt to execute them. Of this an instance 
occurs to my recollection. A printer at Hamburg had been 

arrested on the charge of having printed a libel in the German 
language. The man was detained in prison because, very 

much to his honor, he would not disclose the name of the 
writer of the pamphlet. I sent for him and questioned him. 
He told me, with every appearance of sincerity, that he had 
never but once seen the man who had brought him the manu¬ 
script. I was convinced of the truth of what he said, and I 
gave an order for his liberation. To avoid irritating the sus ¬ 
ceptibility of the Minister of Police I wrote to him the follow¬ 
ing few lines : — “ The libel is the most miserable rhapsody 
imaginable. The author, probably with the view of selling 
his pamphlet in Holstein, predicts that Denmark will conquer 

every other nation and become the greatest kingdom in the 
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world. This alone will suffice to prove to you how little 
clanger there is in rubbish written in the style of the Apoca¬ 
lypse.” 

After the battle of Eylau I received a despatch from M. de 

Talleyrand, to which was added an account in French of that 
memorable battle, which was more fatal to the conqueror than 
to the other party, — I cannot say the conquered in speaking 
of the Russians, the more especially when I recollect the 
precautions which were then taken throughout Germany to 
make known the French before the Russian version. The 

Emperor was exceedingly anxious that every one should 

view that event as he himself viewed it. Other accounts 
than his might have produced an unfavorable impression in 
the north. I therefore had orders to publish that account. 

I caused 2000 copies of it to be issued, which were more than 
sufficient for circulation in the Hanse Towns and their territo¬ 

ries. 
The reader will perhaps complain that I have been almost 

silent with respect to the grand manoeuvres of the French 

army from the battle of Eylau to that of Friedland, where, 
at all events, our success was indisputable. There was no 
necessity for printing favorable versions of that event, and, 

besides, its immense results were soon felt throughout Europe. 
The interview at Tilsit is one of the culminating points of 

modern history, and the waters of the Niemen reflected the 

image of Napoleon at the height of his glory. The interview 
between the two Emperors at Tilsit, and the melancholy situ¬ 
ation of the King of Prussia, are generally known. I was 
made acquainted with but few secret details relative to those 
events, for Rapp had gone to Dantzic, and it was he who most 
readily communicated to me all that the Emperor said and did, 

and all that was passing around him.1 

1 Savary gives the following account of the interview between Napoleon 
and Alexander at Tilsit: — 

“ The Emperor Napoleon, whose courtesy was manifest in all his actions, 
ordered a large raft to be floated in the middle of the river, upon which was 
constructed a room well covered in and elegantly decorated, having two 
doors on opposite sides, each of which opened into an antechamber. The 
work could not have been better executed in Paris. The roof was sur¬ 
mounted by two weathercocks: one displaying the eagle of Russia, and the 
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I, however, learned one circumstance peculiarly worthy 

remark which occurred in the Emperor’s apartments at Tib 

the first time he received a visit from the King of Prussi 
That unfortunate monarch, who was accompanied by Que< 
Louisa, had taken refuge in a mill beyond the town. IT 

was his sole habitation, whilst the Emperors occupied the t\ 
portions of the town, which is divided by the Niemen. T 
fact I am about to relate reached me indirectly through t 
medium of an officer of the Imperial Guard, who was on du 
in Napoleon’s apartments and was an eyewitness of 
When the Emperor Alexander visited Napoleon they cc 

tinued for a long time in conversation on a balcony belo 
where an immense crowd hailed their meeting with enthu 

astic shouts. Napoleon commenced the conversation, as 
did the year preceding with the Emperor of Austria, by spei 
mg of the uncertain fate of war.1 Whilst they were conve 

other the eagle of France. The two outer doors were also surmounted 
the eagles of the two countries. 

“ The raft was precisely in the middle of the river, with the two door* 
the salon facing the two opposite banks. 

“ The two sovereigns appeared on the banks of the river, and embar 
at the same moment. But the Emperor Napoleon having a good b 
manned by marines of the Guard, arrived first on the raft, entered the ro 
and went to the opposite door, which he opened, and then stationed him 
on the edge of the raft to receive the Emperor Alexander, who had not 
arrived, not having such good rowers as the Emperor Napoleon. 

“ The two Emperors met in the most amicable way, at least to all app 
ance. They remained together for a considerable time, and then took lc 
of each other with as friendly an air as that with which they had met. 

“ Next day the Emperor of Russia established himself at Tilsit wil 
battalion of his Guard. Orders were given for evacuating that part of 
town where he and his battalion were to be quartered; and, though we 
very much pressed for robm, no encroachment on the space allotted to 
Russians was thought of. 

“ On the day the Emperor Alexander entered Tilsit the whole army 
under arms. The Imperial Guard was drawn out in two lines of three' < 
from the landing-place to the Emperor Napoleon’s quarters, and from tin 
to the quarters of the Emperor of Russia. A salute of 100 guns was fired 
moment Alexander stepped ashore on the spot where the Emperor Napo 
was waiting to receive him. The latter carried his attention to his visit< 
far as to send from his quarters the furniture for Alexander’s bedcharr 
Among the articles sent was a camp-bed belonging to the Emperor, wliic 
presented to Alexander, who appeared much pleased with the gift. 

“ This meeting, the first which history records of the same kind an 
equal importance, attracted visitors to Tilsit from 100 leagues round. IV 
Talleyrand arrived, and after the observance of the usual ceremonies 1 
ness began to be discussed ” (Memoirs of the Due de Movigo, tome iii. p. 

1 “ When,” said Napoleon, “ I was at Tilsit with the Emperor Alexa 
and the King of Prussia, I was the most ignorant of the three in mil: 
affairs. These two sovereigns, especially the King of Prussia, were < 
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ing the King of Prussia was announced. The King’s emotion 
was visible, and may easily be imagined; for as hostilities 

were suspended, and his territory in possession of the French, 
his only hope was in the generosity of the eon<]ueror. Napo¬ 

leon himself, it is said, appeared moved by his situation, and 
invited him, together with the Queen, to dinner. On sitting 

down to fable Napoleon with great gallantry told the beauti¬ 

ful Queen that ho would restore to her Silesia, a province 
which she earnestly wished should be retained in the new 

arrangements which were necessarily about to take place.1 

The treaty of peace concluded at Tilsit between France 
and Russia on the 7th of July, and ratified two days after, 

produced no less striking a change in the geographical divis¬ 

ion of Europe than had been effected the year preceding by 

the Treaty of Presburg. The treaty contained no stipulation 

dishonorable to Russia, whose territory was preserved invio¬ 

late1; but bow wus Prussia treated ? Home historians, for 

the vain pleasure of flattering by posthumous praises the 

pretended moderation of Napoleon, have almost reproached 

him for having suffered some remnants of the monarchy of 

jdetely an fait ns to the number of buttons there ought to bo in front of a 
jacket, how many behind, and the manner in which the skirts ought to 
no cut. Not a tailor in the army knew hotter than King Frederick bow 
many measures of clot h it took to make a jacket. In fact,’’continued ho laugh¬ 
ing, “ I was nobody in comparison with them. They continually tormented 
me about matters belonging to tailors, of which I was entirely ignorant, 
although, in order not to affront them, I answered just as gravely as if the 
fate of an army depended upon the out of a jacket. When I went to see the 
King of Prussia, instead of a library, I found that ho had a large room, like 
an arsenal, furnished with shelves and pegs, on which wore bung fifty or 
sixty jackets of different, patterns. Every day ho changed his fashion and 
put on a different one. lie attached more, imnorfcanoe to this than was ne¬ 
cessary for the salvation of a kingdom ” (O’Meara’s Napoleon, in Exile, vol. 
ii. n. 48). 

* Las Casas mentions that at the time of the treaty of Tilsit Napoleon 
wrote to the Empress .Josephineas follows: - 

“‘The Queen of Prussia is really a charming woman. She is fond of 
coquetting with me; but do not bo jealous: I am like oilcloth, along which 
everything of this sort slides without penetrating. It would cost me too 
dear to play the gallant.’ 

“ On this subject an anecdote was related in the salon of Josephine. It. 
was said that the Queen of Prussia one day had a beautiful rose in her hand, 
which tho Emperor asked her to give him*. The Queen hesitated fora hnv 
moments, and then presented it to him, saying, ‘ Why should I so readily 
grant what you request., while you remain deaf to all my entreaties ? ’ (She 
alluded to the fortress of Magdeburg, which she had earnestly solicited) “ 
(Memorial da St. IF lane). 
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the great Frederick to survive. There is, nevertheless, a 
point on which Napoleon has been wrongfully condemned, at 

least with reference to the campaign of 1807. It has been 
said that he should at that period have re-established the 
kingdom of Poland; “and certainly there is every reason to 

regret, for the interests of France and Europe, that it was not 

re-established. But when a desire, even founded on reason, 
is not carried into effect, should we conclude that the wished- 
for object ought to be achieved in defiance of all obstacles? 
At that time, that is to say, during the campaign of Tilsit, 

insurmountable obstacles existed.1 * 
If, however, by the Treaty of Tilsit, the throne of Poland 

was not restored to serve as a barrier between old Europe and 
the Empire of the Czars, Napoleon founded a Kingdom of 

Westphalia,2 which he gave to the young enseigne de vaisseau 
whom he had scolded as a schoolboy, and whom he now made 

a King, that he might have another crowned prefect under 
his control. The Kingdom of Westphalia was composed of 
the States of Hesse-Cassel, of a part of the provinces taken 
from Prussia by the moderation of thd Emperor, and of the 

States of Paderborn, Fulda, Brunswick, and a part of the 
Electorate of Hanover. Napoleon, at the same time, though 
he did not like to do things by halves, to avoid touching the 

Russian and Austrian provinces of old Poland, planted on the 
banks of the Vistula the Grand Duchy of Warsaw, which lie 

1 The re-establishment of the Kingdom of Poland would probably have 
been carried out by Napoleon if the war against Russia in 1812 had been suc¬ 
cessful. He could then have come to terms with the three powers concerned 
Russia and Prussia would have been crushed, at all events for the time. As 
for Austria, she would have been offered the Illyrian provinces instead of 
Galicia; indeed, the offer was actually made to Metternich in 1810, and it is 
evident from Metternich’s answer-that the bargain could have been effected. 
Indeed, Metternich seems to have considered Poland as practically restored. 
“ A kingdom of Poland is nothing more than the Duchy of Warsaw with 
another name, and with the new boundaries for which it has striven ever 
since it was made.” See Metternich, vol. i. pp. 136-140. 

2 The Kingdom of Westphalia, founded by the Treaty of Tilsit, July, 1807, 
was chiefly composed of Westphalia, etc., taken from Prussia: Brunswick- 
Wolfenbiittel, taken from its Duke; and of Hesse-Cassel, taken from its 
Elector. Hanover was added in 1810. It lost Osnabruck, etc., to France in 
1810. It formed part of the Confederation of the Riling to which it furnished 
a contingent of 25,000 and eventually of 2(5,000 men. Jerome Bonaparte was 
made its King, and was married to* the Princess Catherine of Wurtemborg. ^ 
He had to abandon it in 1813, and it was broken up in 1814, — its States-^ 
returning to their former possessors. 



ACQUIESCENCE OF ALEXANDER. 89 

gave to the King of Saxony, with the intention of increasing 

or destroying it afterwards as he might find convenient. 

Tlius he allowed the Toles to hope better things for the 

future, and insured to himself partisans in the north should 

the chances of fortune call him hither. Alexander, who was 
cajoled even more than his father had been by what 1 may 
call the political coquetry of Napoleon, consented to all these 

arrangements, acknowledged in globo all the kings crowned 
by the Emperor, and accepted some provinces which had 

belonged to his despoiled ally, the King of Prussia, doubtless 

by way of consolation for not having been able to get more 

restored to Prussia. The two Emperors parted the best 
friends in the world ; but the Continental system was still 

in existence. 
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1807. 

Effect produced at Altona by the Treaty of Tilsit —The Duke of Heckle 
burg-Schwerin’s departure from Hamburg — English squadron in tl 
Sound — Bombardment of Copenhagen — Perfidy of England — Remai 
of Bonaparte to M. Lemercier — Prussia erased from the map - Nap 
leonJs return to Paris — Suppression of the Tribunate — Confiscation 
English merchandise —Nine millions gained to France — M. Caulai 
court Ambassador to Russia —Repugnance of England to the interve. 
tion of Russia —Affairs of Portugal —Junot appointed to command tl 
army—The Prince Regent’s departure for the Brazils —The Code Nap 
leon — Introduction of French laws into Germany — Leniency of Hai 
burg juries — The stolen cloak and the Syndic Doormann. 

The Treaty of Tilsit, as soon as it was known at Alton; 
spread consternation amongst the emigrants. As to th 

German Princes, who were awaiting the issue of evonl 
either at Altona or Hamburg, when they learned that 
definitive treaty of peace had been signed between Pram 
and Russia, and that two days after the Treaty of Tilsit, tl. 
Prussian monarchy was placed at the mercy of Napoleoi 
every courier that arrived threw them into indeseribah 
agitation. It depended on the Emperor3s will whether the 
were to be or not to he. The Duke of Mechlenburg-Schweri 

had not succeeded in getting himself re-established in h 

states, by an exceptional decision, like the Duke of Weimai 
hut at length he obtained the restitution of his territory j 
the request of - the Emperor Alexander, and on the 28th < 
July he quitted Hamburg to return to his Duchy. 

The Danish charge d’affaires communicated to me aboi 

the same time an official report from his Government. Th 
report announced that on Monday, the 3d of August, a squa 
ron consisting of twelve ships of the line and twelve frigate 

commanded by Admiral Gambier, had passed the Sound. Tl 
rest of the squadron was seen in the Gategat. At the san 

time the English troops'which were in the island of Rug( 
90 
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had re-embarked. We could not then conceive what enter¬ 
prise this considerable force had been sent upon. But our 

uncertainty was soon at an end. M. Didelot, the French 
Ambassador at Copenhagen, arrived at Hamburg, at nine 
o’clock in the evening of the 12th of August. He had been 

fortunate enough to pass through the G-reat Belt, though in 

sight of the English, without being stopped. I forwarded his 
report to Paris by an extraordinary courier. 

The English had sent 20,000 men and twenty-seven vessels 

into the Baltic; Lord Cathcart commanded the troops. The 
coast of Zealand was blockaded by ninety vessels. Mr. Jack- 
son, who had been sent by England to negotiate with Den¬ 
mark, which she feared would be invaded by the French 

troops, supported the propositions he was charged to offer 
to Denmark by a reference to this powerful British force. 
Mr. Jackson’s proposals had for their object nothing less than 

to induce the King of Denmark to place in the custody of 
England the whole of his ships and naval stores. They were, 
it is true, to be kept in deposit, but the condition contained 
the words, “until the conclusion of a general peace,” which 
rendered the period of their restoration uncertain. They were 

to be detained until such precautions should be no longer 
necessary. A menace and its execution followed close upon 
this demand. After a noble but useless resistance, and a ter¬ 
rific bombardment, Copenhagen surrendered, and the Danish 
fleet was destroyed. It ;would be difficult to find in history a 

more infamous and revolting instance of the abuse of power 

against weakness. 
Some time after this event a pamphlet entitled “Germania” 

appeared, which I translated and sent to the Emperor. It was 
eloquently written, and expressed the indignation which the 

conduct of England had excited in the author as in every one 
else.1 

1 “ That expedition,” said Napoleon at St. Helena, “ showed great energy 
on the part of your Ministers: but setting aside the violation of the laws of 
nations which you committed — for in fact it was nothing but a robbery — I 
think that it was injurious to your interests, as it made the Danish nation 
irreconcilable enemies to you, and in fact shut you out of the north for three 
years. When I heard of it, I said, I am glad of it, as it will embroil England 
irrecoverably with the Northern Powers. The Danes being able to join me 
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I have stated wliat were the principal consequences of the 

Treaty of Tilsit; it is more than probable that if the bombard¬ 
ment of Copenhagen had preceded the treaty the Emperor 
would have used Prussia even worse than he did. He might 
have erased her from the list of n ations ; but he did not do so? 
out of regard to the Emperor Alexander. The destruction of 
Prussia was no new project with Bonaparte. I remember an 

observation of his to M. Lemercier upon that subject when 
we first went to reside at Malmaison. M. Lemercier had been 
reading to the Eirst Consul some poem in which Frederick the 

Great was spoken of. “ You seem to admire him greatly/5 said 

Bonaparte to M. Lemercier; “ what do you find in him so 
astonishing? He is not equal to Turenne.” — “General,” 
replied M. Lemercier, “ it is not merely the warrior that I 
esteem in Frederick; it is impossible to refrain from admir¬ 

ing a man who was a philosopher even on the throne.55 To 

this the First Consul replied, in a half ill-humored tone, 
“ Certainly, Lemercier; but Frederick’s philosophy shall not 

prevent me from erasing his kingdom from the map of 
Europe.55 The kingdom of Frederick the Great was not, how¬ 
ever, obliterated from the map, because the Emperor of Eussia 

would not basely abandon a faithful ally who had incurred 
with him the chances of fortune. Prussia then bitterly had 
to lament the tergiversations which had prevented her from 
declaring herself against France during the campaign of Aus- 

terlitz. 
Napoleon returned to Paris about the end of July after an 

absence of ten months, the longest he had yet made since he 
had been at the head of the French Government, whether as 
Consul or Emperor. The interview at Tilsit, the Emperor 
Alexander’s friendship, which was spoken of everywhere in 
terms of exaggeration, and the peace established on the Con¬ 

tinent, conferred on Napoleon a moral influence in public 
opinion which he had not possessed since his coronation. 

with sixteen sail of the line was of but little consequence. I had plenty 
of ships, and only wanted seamen, whom you did not take, and whom I 
obtained afterwards, while by the expedition your Ministers established their 
characters as faithless, and as persons with whom no engagements, no laws, 
were binding ” (Voice from St. Helena). 
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Constant in his hatred of deliberative assemblies, which he 

had often termed collections of babblers, ideologists, and 

phrasemongers, Napoleon, on his return to Paris, suppressed 
the Tribunate, which had been an annoyance to him ever since 

the first day of his elevation. The Emperor, who was skilful 
above all men in speculating on the favorable disposition of 

public opinion, availed himself at this conjuncture of the enthu¬ 
siasm produced by his interview on the Niemen. He therefore 

discarded from the fundamental institutions of the government 

that which still retained the shadow of a popular character. 
But it was necessary that he should possess a Senate merely 

to vote men; a mute Legislative Body to vote money ; that 
there should be no opposition in the one and no criticism in 

the other; no control over him of any description; the power 
of arbitrarily doing whatever he pleased; an enslaved press ; 

— this was what Napoleon wished, and this he obtained. But 

the month of March, 1814, resolved the question of absolute 
power! 

In the midst of these great affairs, and while Napoleon was 
dreaming of universal monarchy, I beheld in a less extensive 

sphere the inevitable consequences of the ambition of a single 
man. Pillage and robbery were carried on in all parts over 
which my diplomatic jurisdiction extended. Rapine seemed 
to be legally authorized, and was perpetrated with such fury, 
and at the same time with such ignorance, that the agents 

were frequently unacquainted with the value of the articles 
which they seized. Thus, for example, the Emperor ordered 
the seizure at Hamburg, Bremen, and Liibeck of all English 

merchandise, whatever might be its nature or origin. The 
Prince of Neufchatel (Berthier) wrote to me from the Emperor 
that I must procure 10,000,000 francs from the Hanse Towns. 
M. Daru, the Tntendant-General, whose business it was to 
collect this sort of levy, which Napoleon had learned to make 

in Egypt, wrote to urge me to obtain a prompt and favorable 

decision. The unfortunate towns which I was thus enjoined 
to oppress had already suffered sufficiently. I had obtained, 
by means of negotiation, more than was demanded for the 
ransom of the English merchandise, which had been seized 
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according to order. Before T received the leffers of M. f); 
and the Prince of Neufoliatel I had obtained from Hnmbi 

16,000,000 instead of 10,000,000, besides nearly dCHMUfou f>, 

Bremen and Ltibeck. Thus I furnished the Covernimmf w 

9,000,000 more than had been required, and \ et I had m» m 

'aged that those enormous sacrifices were not <>\er-oppivs.s 

to those who made them. I fixed the value of the Kngl 

merchandise because I knew that the high priee at whirh 

sold on the Continent would not. only cover the proposed r 

som but also leave a considerable profit. Surh was 1 

singular effect of the Continental system that when im*reh, 

dise was confiscated, and when afterwards the permission 

sell it freely was given, the priee fetched at the sale was 

large that the loss was covered, and even great advant: 

gained. 
Peace being concluded with Russia it was nor,;>arv tu mr 

choice of an Ambassador, not only to maintain tIn* new r< 

tions of amity between Napoleon and Alexander, but likmv 

to urge on the promised intervent ion of ibis da with f hrdai 
— to bring about reconciliation and peace bet wren fin* Cabin* 

of Paris and London. The Emperor confided thm ins-don 

(Jaulaincourt, with respect to whom there existed an \ 
founded prejudice relating to some riivumst am*e.; which p 

ceded the death^of the Due dThighbm. 'fids untniinm 

and unjust impression iiad preceded Caulaineourt in 
Petersburg, and it was feared that he would no! experiej 

the reception due to the French Ambassador and to his <v 

persona] qualities. I knew at the time, from positive inf 
mation, that after a short explanation with Alexander tl 

monarch retaim»d no suspicion unfavorable lu mir Amhasxad 

for whom he conceived and maintained great esteem and friei 
ship. 

Caulaincourt’s mission was not, in all resprefs. e;mv of f 

filment, for the invincible repugnance and reiterated r,qn, 

of England to ente.r into negotbilious wifh Kr.nnv tbrou 

the medium of Ivussia was one of the remarkable eircu 
stances of the period of which f am speaking, f knew jk, 
tively that England was detcrudned never to allow Napolc 
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to possess himself of the whole of the Continent, —a project 

which he indicated too undisguisedly to admit of any doubt re¬ 

specting it. For two years he had indeed advanced with rapid 
strides; but England was not discouraged. She was too well 
aware of the irritation of the sovereigns and the discontent of 

the people not to be certain that when she desired it, her lever 
of gold would again raise up and arm the Continent against 
the encroaching powei^ of Napoleon. He, on his part, perceiv¬ 

ing that all his attempts were fruitless, and that England 
would listen to no proposals, devised fresh plans for raising 
up new enemies against England. 

It probably is not forgotten that in 1801 France compelled 

Portugal to make common cause with her against England. 
In 1807 the Emperor did again what the First Consul had 

done. By an inexplicable fatality Junot obtained the com¬ 
mand of the troops which were marching against Portugal. 

I say against Portugal, for that was the fact, though France 

represented herself as a protector to deliver Portugal from the 

influence of England. Be that as it may, the choice which the 

Emperor made of a commander astonished everybody. Was 
Junot, a compound of vanity and mediocrity, the fit man to be 

intrusted with the command of an army in a distant country, 
and under circumstances in which great political and military 

talents were requisite ? For my own part, knowing Junot’s 

incapacity, I must acknowledge that his appointment as¬ 
tonished me. I remember one day, when I was speaking on 

the subject to Bernadotte, he showed me a letter he had 
received from Paris, in which it was said that the Emperor 

had sent Junot to Portugal only for the sake of depriving him 

of the government of Paris. Junot annoyed Napoleon by his 
bad conduct, his folly, and his incredible extravagance. He 
was alike devoid of dignity — either in feeling or conduct. 
Thus Portugal was twice the place of exile selected by Con¬ 

sular and Imperial caprice: first, when the First Consul 

wished to get rid of the familiarity of Lannes; and next, 
when the Emperor grew weary of the misconduct of a 

favorite. 
The invasion of Portugal presented no difficulty. It was an 
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armed promenade and not a war; but how many events were 
connected with the occupation of that country ! The Prince 

Regent of Portugal, unwilling to act dishonorably to England, 
to which he was allied by treaties, and unable to oppose the 
whole power of Napoleon, embarked for Brazil, declaring that 

all defence was useless. At the same time he recommended 

his subjects to receive the French troops in a friendly manner, 
and said that he consigned to Providence the consequences of 
an invasion which was without a motive. He was answered 

in the Emperor’s name that, .Portugal being the ally of Eng¬ 

land, we were only carrying on hostilities against the latter 
country by invading his dominions. 

It was in the month of November that the code of French 
jurisprudence, upon which the most learned legislators had 

indefatigably labored, was established as the law of the State, 
under the title of the Code Napoleon. Doubtless this legisla¬ 

tive monument will redound to Napoleon’s honor in history;1 

1 This great code of Civil Law was drawn up under Napoleon’s orders and 
personal superintendence. Much had been prepared under the Convention, 
and the chief merits of it were due to the labors of such men asTronchet, 
Portalis, Bigot de Preameneu, Malevillc, Cambaceres, etc. But it was 
debated under and by Napoleon, who took a lively interest in it. It was 
first called the “ Code Civil,” but in 1807 was named “ Code Napole'on,” or 
eventually “ Les Cinq Codes de Napoleon.” When completed in 1810 it in¬ 
cluded five Codes — the Code Civil, decreed March, 18011; Code de Procedure 
Civile, decreed April, 1806; Code de Commerce, decreed September, 1807; 
Code dTnstruction Criminelle, decreed November, 1808; and the Code Penal, 
decreed February, 1810. It had to be retained by the Bourbons, and its prin¬ 
ciples have worked and are slowly working their way into the law of every 
nation. Napoleon was justly proud of this work. See Thiers, livre xiii. 
tome iii. p. 298, and Lanfrey, tome ii. p. 409. The introduction of the Code 
into the conquered countries was, as Bourrienne says, made too quickly. 
Puymaigre, who was employed in the administration of Hamburg after 
Boiirrienne left, says, “ I shall always remember the astonishment of the 
Hamburgers when they were invaded by this cloud of French officials, who, 
under every form, made researches in their houses, and who came to apply 
the multiplied demands of the fiscal system. Like Proteus, the administra¬ 
tion could take any shape. To only speak of my department, which certainly 
was not the least odious one, for it was opposed to the habits of the Ham¬ 
burgers and annoyed all the industries, no idea can be formed of the despair 
of the inhabitants,-subjected to perpetual visits, and exposed to be charged 
with contraventions of the law, of which they knew nothing. 

“Remembering their former laws, they used to offer to meet a charge of 
fraud by the proof of their oath, and could not imagine that such a guaranty 
could be repulsed. When they were independent they paid almost nothing, 
and such was the national spirit, that in urgent cases when money was 
wanted the Senate taxed every citizen a certain proportion of his income, the 
tenth or twentieth. A Senator presided over the recovery of this tax, which 
was done in a very strange manner. A box, covered with a carpet, received 
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but was it to be supposed that the same laws would be equally 
applicable throughout so vast an extent as that comprised 
within the French Empire ? Impossible as this was, as soon 

as the Code Napoleon was promulgated I received orders to 

establish it in the Hanse Towns. The long and frequent con¬ 
versations I had on this subject with the Senators and the 
most able lawyers of the country soon convinced me of the 
immense difficulty I should have to encounter, and the danger 

of suddenly altering habits and customs which had been 

firmly established by time. 
The jury system gave tolerable satisfaction; but the severe 

punishments assigned to certain offences by the Code were 

disapproved of. Hence resulted the frequent and serious 
abuse of men being acquitted whose guilt was evident to the 

jury, who pronounced them not guilty rather than condemn 
them to a punishment which was thought too severe. Besides, 

their leniency had another ground, which was, that the people 
being ignorant of the new laws were not aware of the penal¬ 
ties attached to particular offences. I remember that a man 

who was accused of stealing a cloak at Hamburg justified him¬ 
self on the ground that he committed the offence in a fit of 
intoxication. M. Yon Einingen, one of the jury, insisted that 
the prisoner was not guilty, because, as he said, the Syndic 
Doonnaiin, when dining with him one day, having drunk more 

wine than usual, took away hi,s* cloak. This defence per 
Baccho was completely successful. An argument founded 

on the similarity between the conduct of the Syndic and the 
accused, could not but triumpti, otherwise the little debauch 
of the former would have been condemned in the person of 

the latter. This trial, which terminated so whimsically, 
nevertheless proves that the best and the gravest institutions 
may become objects of ridicule when suddenly introduced into 

a country whose habits are not prepared to receive them. 
The Romans very wisely reserved in the Capitol a place for 

the gods of the nations they conquered. They wished to 

the offeringof every citizen, without any person verifying the sum, and only 
on the simple moral guaranty of the honesty of the debtor, who himself 
judged the sum he ought to pay. When the receipt was finished the Senate 
always obtained more than it had calculated on ” (Puymaiyrc, pp. 131-lo2). 
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annex provinces and kingdoms to their Empire. Napoleon, 
on the contrary, wished to make his empire encroach upon 
other states, and to realize the impossible Utopia of ten dif¬ 

ferent nations, all having different customs and languages, 

united into a single State.1 Gould justice, that safeguard of 
human rights, be duly administered in the Ilanse Towns when 

those towns were converted into French departments ? In 
these new departments many judges had been appointed who 
did not understand a word of German, and who had no knowl¬ 

edge of law. The presidents of the tribunals of Lubeek, 

Staile, Bremerlehe, and Minden were so utterly ignorant of 

the German language that it was necessary to explain to them 

all the pleadings in tin1 council-chamber. Was it not absurd 

to establish such a judicial system, and above all, to appoint 

such men in a country so important to France as Hamburg 

and the Ilanse Towns V Add to this the impertinence of 

some favorites who were sent from Paris to serve, official and 

legal apprenticeships in the conquered provinces, and it may 

be easily conceived what was the attachment of the people to 

Napoleon the Great. 

1 See map at the end of vol. iii. 
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Disturbed state of Spain — Godoy, Prince of the Peace — Reciprocal accusa¬ 

tions between the Kin#of Spain and his son — False promise of Napoleon 

— Dissatisfaction occasioned by tin*, presence of the French troops —Abdi¬ 
cation of ('buries IV. -The Prince of the Peace made prisoner — Murat 

at Madrid - Important, news transmitted by a commercial letter — Mu¬ 

rat's ambition-- His protection of Godoy — Hilaries IV. denies liis volun¬ 

tary sibdication— The crown of Spain destined for Joseph — General dis¬ 

approbation of Napoleon’s conduct —The Bourbon cause apparently lost 

— Louis X V 111. after his departure from France — As Comte do Provence 

at. (’ohlentz - He seeks refuse in Turin and Verona— Death of Louis 

XVII. Louis XVIII. refused an asylum in Austria, Saxony, and Prus¬ 

sia * Mis residence at. Mittau and Warsaw — Alexander a,nd Louis XVIII 

— The Kind’s departure, from Milan and arrival at Yarmouth —- Determi¬ 

nation of the Kin# of Knglund — M. Lemoroier's prophecy to Bonaparte — 

Fouohe’s inquiries respecting Comte do Ucchteren — Note from Josephine 

~~ New demands on the Ilanso Towns — Order to raise ttOOO sailors in 

Hamburg. 

Thk disorders of Spain, which commenced about the close of 

the year 1807, in a, short time assumed a most complicated 
aspect. Though far from the. theatre of events 1 obtained an 
intimate knowledge of all the important facts connected with 

the extraordinary transactions in the Peninsula. However, as 
this point of history is one of the most generally, though 1 

cannot say the best, known, I shall omit in my notes and 
memoranda many things which would be but repetitions to 

the reading portion of tin* public. It is a remarkable fact 
that Bonaparte, who by turns east his eyes on all the States 
of Europe, never directed his attention to Spain as long as his 

greatness was confined to more projects. Whenever he spoke 

of his future destiny he alluded to Italy, Germany, the East, 
and the destruction of the, English power; but never to Spain. 

Consequently, when he heard of the first symptoms of disorder 

in the Peninsula he paid but little attention to the business, 
99 
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;nul some time elapsed before he took any part in events 

which subsequently had so great an iidluence on liis fate.1 

Godoy reigned in Spain under the name of the imbecile 

Charles IV.” He was an object of execration to all who were 

not his ereat arcs; and even those whose fate depended upon 

him viewed him with the most profound contempt. The 

hatred of a, people is almost always the just reward of favor¬ 

ites. What sentiments, therefore, must have, been inspired by 

a man who, to the knowledge of all Spain, owed tin1 favor of 

the king only to the favors of flu1 queen ! (iodoy’s ascendency 

over the royal family was boundless; his power was absolute : 

the treasures of America were at his command, and he made 

the most infamous use of them. In short., he had made, the, 

Court of ^Madrid one of those, places to which tint indignant 

muse of Juvenal conducts the mother of P,ritannicus. There, 

is no doubt that Codoy was one of the principal causes of all 

tin* misfortunes which have overwhelmed Spain under so many 

various forms. 

The hatred of the Spaniards against tin* Prince of the Peace 

was general. This hat red was shared by the Prince of the, 

Asturias, who openly declared himself the enemy of Codoy. 

The latter allied himself with France, from which In1 hoped 

to obtain powerful protect ion against, his enemies. This 

alliance gave rise to great dissat isfaet ion in Spain, and 

caused France to be regarded with an unfavorable, eye. Tin*. 

1 Metternieh (tome ii. p. ‘JUu5 puts much of the blame of the Spanish 
affair on the shoulders of Napoleon’s ad\ isers: ■ '* < Juided by his oun in¬ 
satiable ambition, encouraged by the perfidious ad vire of Murat, who aimed 
at nothing less than tilling the throne of Spam and of the Indies, all bin 
measures were direeted to one end. Misguided b\ the agents of the Prince 
of tin* Peaee, In* believed the o\ptiNion of the P.onrbons easyIn consider¬ 
ing this reference to Mural, Metternh'lPs intimate relation with Caroline 
Homqtarle, the wife of Murat, must he remembered. To Metternieh him¬ 
self Napoleon in August. 1stts, explained his conduct as directed solely by a 
wish for security. After alluding to the increase of the Spanish army Napo¬ 
leon went on : '* And then the throne was occupied h%\ llowrbons; they are 
my personal enemies. They and I cannot oectipx thrones at the same time 
m Europe. ... I mtsi ha\e «>n the throne of Spain a Prince who would 
lone no anxiety on m\ account. ami who on his side gives me none; the 
interests of Spain, even of Vmeriea, demand it M {Mrttn'ni* h, tome ii. pp. 
A *11 'A»«U. 

- Manuel Codoy, originally a private in the guards, became the naramour 
of Charles I V/h i/ueen; then* a grandee; and then the supreme ruler of tho 
State. — Editor of lHUti t Ultima. 
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Prince of the Asturias1 was encouraged and supported by the 
complaints of the Spaniards, who wished to see the overthrow 
of G-odoy’s power. Charles IV., on his part, regarded all 

opposition to the Prince of the Peace as directed against him¬ 
self, and in November, 1807, he accused his son of wishing to 

dethrone him.2 
The King of Spain did not confine himself to verbal com¬ 

plaints. He, or rather the Prince of the Peace, acting in his 
name, arrested the warmest partisans of the Prince of the 
Asturias. The latter, understanding the sentiments of his 
father, wrote to Napoleon, soliciting his support. Thus, the 
father and son, at open war, were appealing one against 

another for the support of him who wished only to get rid of 
them both, and to put one of his brothers in their place, that 
he might have one junior more in the college of European 
kings: but, as I have already mentioned, this new ambition 
was not premeditated ; and if he gave the throne of Spain to 
his brother Joseph it was only on the refusal of his brother 
Louis (King of Holland) to accept it. 

The Emperor had promised to support Charles IV. against 
his son; and, not wishing to take part in these family quar¬ 

rels, be bad not answered the first letters of the Prince of the 
Asturias. But finding that the intrigues of Madrid were 
taking a serious turn, he commenced provisionally, by sending 

1 Afterwards Ferdinand VII. 
2 This accusation is said to have been conveyed to Napoleon in the follow- 

ing letter, addressed to him by Charles IV.: — 
“Sire, my BroTHER— At the moment when I was occupied with the 

means of co-operating for the destruction of our common enemy, when I 
believed that all the plots of the late Queen of Naples had been buried with 
her daughter, I perceive, with a horror that makes me tremble, that the 
most dreadful spirit of intrigue lias penetrated even into the heart of my 
palace. Alas! my heart bleeds at reciting so dreadful an outrage. My 
eldest son, the heir-presumptive to my throne, entered into a horrible plot 
to dethrone me; he even went to the extreme of attempting the life of his 
mother. So dreadful a crime ought to ho punished with the most exemplary 
rigor of the laws. The law which calls him to the succession ouyht to be re¬ 
voked; one of his brothers will be more worthy to occupy his place', both in my 
heart and on the throne. I am at this moment in search of his accomplices, 
in order to sift thoroughly this plan of most atrocious wickedness; and 1 
would not lose a moment in informing your imperial and royal Majesty of it, 
and beseeching you to assist me with your knowledge and counsel. 

“ For which I pray, etc. 

“ San Lorenzo, November 29,1807.” 
“Charles. 
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troops to Spain.1 This gave offence to the people, who wen 

averse to the interference of France. In the province 
through which the French troops passed it was asked wha 

was the object of the invasion. Some attributed it to tin 

Prince of the Peace, others to the Prince of the Asturias 
but it excited general indignation, and troubles broke out a- 

Madrid accompanied by all the violence peculiar to the Span 

ish character. 
In these fearful circumstances Godoy proposed that Charles 

IV. should remove to Seville, where he would be the bette] 

enabled to visit the factious with punishment. A proposi¬ 
tion from Godoy to his master was, in fact, a command, and 
Charles TV. accordingly resolved to depart. The people now 

looked upon Godoy as a traitor. An insurrection broke out. 

the palace was surrounded, and the Prince of the Peace was* 
on the point of being massacred in an upper apartment, where 

he had taken refuge. One of the mob had the presence ol 
mind to invoke in his favor the name of the Prince of the 

Asturias : this saved his life.2 

1 French troops had appeared in Spain some months before, on their way 
to Portugal, the conquest of which country by Junot was to bo aided by 
Godoy and a Spanish force of 27,000 men, according lo a treaty (more, dis¬ 
graceful to the Court of Spain than to Bonaparte) which had been ratified at 
Fontainebleau on the 28th of October, 1807. Charles IV. was little better 
than an idiot, and Godoy and the French made him believe that Bonaparte 
would give part, or the whole of Portugal, to Spain. At the time of Junot'n 
march on Lisbon a reserve of 40,000 French troops was assembled at 
Bayonne — a pretty clear indication, though the factious infatuated Court 
of Madrid would not see it, that Bonaparte intended to seize the whole of 
the Peninsula.— Editor of 1836 edition. 

2 The Prince of the Peace himself pretended to be alarmed, and perhaps 
was really so, when he saw the advance of our troops, of whom part had 
arrived at Burgos, and part entered Barcelona, lie declared that the royal 
family had no alternative but to retire to Seville, and call the Spanish 
nation to arms. It was said to have been arranged that he should act this 
part to induce the King and the royal family to depart for Seville*, and that 
he was to escape from them clandestinely at Seville, to go and enjoy the 
advantages insured to him by the Treaty of Fontainebleau. Such is the 
story I have heard; but I saw nothing that warranted me in believing it, at 
least as to the design entertained by the Prince of the Peace taking posses¬ 
sion of the territories he had secured to himself in Portugal. Far from this, 
the Prince knew the decree of Milan, by which Junot was made Governor of 
Portugal, and authorized to exercise his functions in the name of the Empe¬ 
ror. The principality of the Algarves was now no longer talked of, and no 
doubt the Prince had ceased to flatter himself with any thought of that do¬ 
minion. He assembled the Kings Council at the palace of Aranjuez, and, 
after describing the misfortunes which threatened the monarchy, he suc¬ 
ceeded in prevailing on the Council to adopt his advice, and decree the 
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Charles IV. did not preserve his crown; he was easily 
intimidated, and advantage was taken of a moment of alarm 
to demand that abdication which he had not spirit to refuse. 
He surrendered up his rights to his son, and thus was over¬ 
thrown the insolent power of the Prince of the Peace; the 
favorite was made prisoner, and the Spaniards, who, like 
all ignorant people, are easily excited, manifested their joy 
on the occasion with barbarous enthusiasm. Meanwhile the 
unfortunate King, who had escaped from imaginary rather 
than real dangers, and who was at first, content with having 
exchanged the right of reigning for the right of living, no 
sooner found himself in safety than he changed his mind. 
He wrote to the Emperor protesting against his abdication, 
and appealed to him as the arbiter of his future fate. 

During these internal dissensions the French army was con¬ 
tinuing its march towards the Pyrenees. Those barriers were 
speedily crossed, and Murat entered Madrid in the beginning 
of April, 1808. Before I received any despatch from our 
Government I learned that Murat’s presence in Madrid, far 
from producing a good effect, had only increased the disorder. 
I obtained this information from a merchant of Lubeck who 
came to Plamburg on purpose to show me a letter he had re¬ 
ceived from his correspondent in Madrid. In this letter 
Spain was said to be a prey which Murat wished to appro¬ 
priate to himself; and all that afterwards came to my knowl¬ 
edge served only to prove the accuracy of the writer’s 
information. It was perfectly true that Murat wished to con¬ 
quer Spain for himself, and it is not astonishing that the 
inhabitants of Madrid should have understood his designs, for 
he carried his indiscretion so far as openly to express his 
wish to become King of Spain. The Emperor was informed 

removal of the royal family to Seville. On quitting this Council the Prince 
of the Asturias said to the guards, as he passed through the hall in which 
they were stationed, “The Prince of the Peace is a traitor: he wishes to 
send away my father. Prevent his departure.” 

This observation of the Prince of the Asturias was rapidly reported 
through the town. The populace repaired to the palace of the Prince of 
the Peace, ransacked it, and, after vigilant search, found the Prince con¬ 
cealed in a garret. lie would undoubtedly have fallen a victim to the fury 
of the mob' had not some of his attendants saved him by carrying him off 
to prison, protending that they did so by order of tbe Prince of the Asturias 
{Memoirs of the Duo de Rovi'yo, tome iii. p. 246). 
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of this, and gave him to understand, in very significant terms, 
that the throne of Spain was not destined for him, but that 
he should not be forgotten in the disposal of other crowns. 

However, Napoleon’s remonstrances were not sufficient to 
restrain the imprudence of Murat; and if he did not gain the 
crown of Spain for himself he powerfully contributed to make 

Charles TV. lose it. That monarch, whom old habits at¬ 
tached to the Prince of the Peace, solicited the Emperor to 

liberate his favorite, alleging that he and his family would be 
content to live in any place of security provided Godoy were 
with them. The unfortunate Charles seemed to be thoroughly 

disgusted with greatness. 
Both the King and Queen so earnestly implored Godoy’s 

liberation that Murat, whose vanity was flattered by these 

royal solicitations, took the Prince of the Peace under his 
protection; but he at the same time declared that, in spite of 

the abdication of Charles IV., he would acknowledge none 

but that Prince as King of Spain until he should receive con¬ 

trary orders from the Emperor. This declaration placed 

Murat in formal opposition to the Spanish people, who, 
through their hatred of Godoy, embraced the cause of the 
heir of the throne, in whose favor Charles IV. had abdicated. 

It has been remarked that Napoleon stood in a perplexing 

situation in this conflict between the King and his son. This 

is not correct. King Charles, though he afterwards said that 
his abdication had been forced from him by violence and 

threats, had nevertheless tendered it. By this act Eerdinand 
was King, but Charles declared it was done against his will, 
and he retracted. The Emperor’s recognition was wanting, 

and he could give or withhold it as he pleased. 
In this state of things Napoleon arrived at Bayonne. 

Thither Ferdinand was also invited to go, under pretence of 
arranging with the Emperor the differences between his 

father and himself. It was some time before he could form 
his determination, but at length his ill-advised friends pre¬ 
vailed on him to set off, and he was caught in the snare. 
What happened to him, as well as to his father, who repaired 
to Bayonne with his inseparable friend the Prince of the 
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Peace, is well known. Napoleon, who had undertaken to be 

arbiter between the father and son, thought the best way of 
settling the difference was to give the disputed throne to his 

brother Joseph, thus verifying the fable of the “ Two Law¬ 
yers and the Oyster.’' The insurrection in Madrid on the 2d 

of May accelerated the fate of Ferdinand, who was accused of 
being the author of it; at leftst this suspicion fell on Ms 
friends and adherents. 

Charles IV., it was said, would not return to Spain, and 

solicited an asylum in France. He signed a renunciation of 

his rights to the crown of Spain, which renunciation was also 
signed by the Infantas. 

Napoleon now issued a decree, appointing “his dearly 
beloved brother Joseph Napoleon, King of Naples and Sicily, 
to the crowns of Spain and the Indies.” By a subsequent 
decree, 15th of July, he appointed “ his dearly beloved cousin, 

Joachim Murat, Grand Duke of Berg, to the throne of Naples 
and Sicily, which remained vacant by the accession of Joseph 
Napoleon to the kingdoms of Spain and the Indies.” Both 
these documents are signed Napoleon, and countersigned by 
the Minister Secretary of State, Maret. 

The Prince 'Royal of Sweden, who was at Hamburg at this 
time, and the Ministers of all the European powers, loudly 
condemned the conduct of Napoleon with respect to Spain. 
I cannot say whether or not M. de Talleyrand advised the 

Emperor not to attempt the overthrow of a branch of the 

house of Bourbon; his good sense and elevated views might 
certainly have suggested that advice. But the general opin¬ 
ion was that, had he retained the portfolio of foreign affairs, 
the Spanish* revolution would have terminated with more 
decorum and good faith than was exhibited in the tragicom¬ 

edy acted at Madrid and Bayonne. 
After the Treaty of Tilsit and the bonds of friendship 

which seemed likely to produce a permanent union between 

the Emperors of France and Russia, the cause of the Bourbons 
must have been considered irretrievably lost. Indeed, their 

only hope consisted in the imprudence and folly of him who 
had usurped tlicir throne, and that hope they cherished. I 
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will here relate what I had the opportunity of lea,min; 
respecting the conduct of Louis X\ HI. after his departur 

from France ; this will naturally bring me to t lie end o 

November, 1807, at which tinu* 1 read in the Jhrilfr du Xon 

published on the 9th of the same month, that the (unite d 
Lille and the Due d’Angoulemo had set off for England. 

The Comte de Provem-e,1 as Louis' title then went, lef 

Paris on the 21st of June, 17UL He constantly ox presses 

his wish of keeping as near as possible to the frontiers o 

France. He at first took up his abode at Coblmitz, and 

knew from good authority that all flu* emigrants did no 

regard him with a favorable eye. They eould not, pardoi 

the wise principles he had professed at a period when then 
was yet time to prevent, by reasonable eoneession, the misfor 

tunes which imprudent irritation brought, upon F ranee. Whei 

the emigrants, after the campaign of 1792, passed the Rhine 

the Comte de Provence resided in the little town of Ham oi 

the Lippe, where he remained until he was persuaded tha 

the people of Toulon had ealied him to Provrnee. As hi 

could not, of course, pass through Franer, Monsieur repaired 

to the Court of his father-in-law, the King of Sardinia, hoping 

to emhark at Genoa, and from tlienee to reueh the eoast o 

Provence. But the evacuation of Toulon, where the nami 

of Bonaparte was for tin* first t inn* sounded by the breath o 

fame, having taken place before he was able to leave Turin 

Monsieur remained there four months, at the expiration oi 

which time his father-in-law intimated to him the impossibil 

ity of his remaining longer in the Sardinian States. He \v;u 
afterwards permitted to reside at Verona, where he heard oi 

Louis XVIds death. After remaining two years in that eity 

the Senate of Venice forbade his presence in tin* Venetian 
States. Thus forred to quit Italy the Comte repaired to flu 
army of Condi*. 

The (*.old and timid policy of the Austrian Cabinet afforded 
no asylum to tin* Comte de Prmvnee, ami he was obliged tc 

pass through Germany; yet, as Louis XVIII. repeated ovei 

and over again, ever sinee tin* Restoration, 11 He never in* 

* Afterwards L«mk XVIII. 
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ton(led to shed French blood in Germany for the sake of serv 

in# foreign interests.” Monsieur had, indeed, too much 
penetration not to see that his cause was a. mere pretext for 

the powers at war with France. They felt but little for the 

misfortunes of the Prince, and merely wished to veil their 
ambition and their hatred of France under the false pretence 
of zeal for the House ol‘ Bourbon. 

When the Dauphin died, Louis XVIII. took the title of 

King of France, and went to Prussia, where he obtained an 
asylum.1 But the pretender to the crown of France had not 

yet drained his cup of misfortune. After the 18th Fructidor 

the Directory required the King of Prussia to send away 
Louis XVIIL, and the Cabinet of Berlin, it must be granted, 

was not in a situation to oppose the desire of the French Gov¬ 

ernment, whose wishes were commands. In vain Louis XVIII. 
• 

1 Monovnl,* tome Hi. p. .‘>78, gives the wanderings of Louis XVIII. as fol¬ 
lows: — lie (‘migrated 21 st Juno, 1791, the same (lay that Louis XVI. fled to 
Varcnnos. Ho staid at Hoblentz during 1791 and 1792. I To followed the 
Prussian army into Champagne, and when it retired in 1792 ho went to Ham 
in Westphalia. After the death of his brother, 21st January, 1798, ho de¬ 
clared himself Regent, and went to Turin for four months, and then, Sar¬ 
dinia dreading the displeasure of the French, he applied to the < Jovcrnmont 
of Venice, who allowed him to reside in Verona, where, on the death of his 
nephew in the Temple, in 1795, he took tins title, of King as Louis XVIII., 
hut he was usually styled the, Fomte. do, Lille Quitting Verona, in 179(>, 
when Napoleon was conquering Italy, he wont to the headquarters of the 
army of Hondo, and from thereto Blankonlxmrg in the Duchy of Brunswick, 
from which he had to retire in 1797, when the Treaty of (lampo-Formio made 
(lermuuy at peace with France, to Mitlau in Russia t.ill forced to leave if in 
.January, 1801. Thence he went to Konigsberg fora,brief time, and then was 
permitted by Prussia to reside in Warsaw, which then belonged to her. In 
1801 he wont, to <Irodno in Russia, and then to Folmar in Sweden. Thence 
he soon removed to Mittau in Russia, his former abode*., which lie left after 
Tilsit in 1807, when he crossed to England. lie passed the time till 1810 at 
Gosiield Hall, a seat of the Duke of Buckingham’s, and then lived at. Hart¬ 
well till he returned to France in 18M. Louis XVIII. did not reside at 
Ilolyrood, which was occupied by his brother. The youngest of the three 
grandsons of Louis XV. (Louis XVI., Louis XVI11., Hilaries X.), the Rotate 
d*Artois, afterwards Hilaries X., emigrated in 1789, and went to Turin and 
Mantua for 1789 and 1790. In 1791 and 1792 ho lived at Hoblentz, Worms, 
Brussels, Vienna, and at. Turin. From 1792 to 1-812 ho lived at Ham on the 
Lippe at Westphalia, at London, and for most of the time at Ilolyrood, Ed¬ 
inburgh. During this time he visited Russia and Germany, and showed 
himself on the coast of Franco. In 1818 he went to Germany, and in 1814 
entered France in rear of the allies. In risking his person m the daring 
schemes of the followers who wore giving their lives for the cause of his fam¬ 
ily ho displayed a circumspection which was characterized by them with 
natural warmth. “Sire, the cowardice of your brother bus ruined all;” so 
(■burette is said to have written to Louis XVIIL, hut sec the whole matter 
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sought an asylum in the King of Saxony’s States. There only 
remained Russia that durst offer a last refuge to the descend¬ 

ant of Louis XIV. Paul I., who was always in extremes, and 
who at that time entertained a violent feeling of hatred towards 

France, earnestly offered Louis XVIII. a residence at Mittau. 
He treated him with the honors of a sovereign, and loaded him 

with marks of attention and respect. Three years had scarcely 

passed when Paul was seized with mad enthusiasm for the 
man, who, twelve years later, ravaged his ancient capital, and 

Louis XVIII. found himself expelled from that Prince’s terri¬ 
tory with a harshness equal to the kindness with which he had 

at first been received. 
It was during his three years* residence at Mittau that Louis 

XVIII., who was then known by the title of Comte de Lille, 
wrote to the First Consul those letters which have been re¬ 

ferred to in these Memoirs. Prussia, being again solicited, at 
length consented that Louis XVIII. should reside at Warsaw; 
but on the accession of Hapoleon to the Empire the Prince 

quitted that residence in order to consult respecting his new 
situation with the only sovereign who had not deserted him 

in his misfortune, viz. the King of Sweden. They met at Col¬ 
mar, and from that city was dated the protest which T have 

already noticed. Louis XVIII. did not stay long in the States 
of the King of Sweden. Russia was now on the point of join¬ 
ing her eagles with those of Austria to oppose the new eagles 
of imperial France. Alexander offered to the Comte de Lille, 
the asylum which Paul had granted to him and afterwards 

withdrawn. Louis XVIII. accepted the offer, but after the 
peace of Tilsit, fearing lest Alexander might imitate the sec¬ 
ond act of his father as well as the first, he plainly saw that 
he must give up all intention of residing on the Continent; 
and it was then that I read in the AheMle du Nord the. article 
before alluded to. There is, however, one fact upon which I 
must insist, because I know it to be true, viz. that it was of 
his own free will that Louis XVIII. quitted Mittau; and if lie 

was afraid that Alexander would imitate his father’s conduct 
that fear was without foundation. The truth is, that Alexan¬ 
der was ignorant even of the King’s intention to go away until 
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he heard from Baron von Driesen, Governor of Mittau, that he 
had actually departed. Having now stated the truth on this 

point I have to correct another error; if indeed it he only an 
error, into which some writers have fallen. It has been falsely 

alleged that the King left Mittau for the purpose of foment¬ 

ing fresh troubles in France. The friends of Louis XVIII., 
who advised him to leave Mittau, had great hopes from the 

last war. They cherished still greater hopes from the new 

wars which Bonaparte’s ambition could not fail to excite, but 
they were not so ill-informed respecting the internal condition 
of France as to expect that disturbances would arise there, or 

even to believe in the possibility of fomenting them. The 
pear was not yet ripe for Louis XVIII. 

On the 29th of November the contents of a letter which 
had arrived from London by way of Sweden were communi¬ 
cated to me. This letter was dated the 3d of November, and 

contained some particulars respecting the Comte de Lille’s 

arrival in England. That Prince had arrived at Yarmouth 
on the 31st of October, 1807, and it was stated that the King 
was obliged to wait some time in the port until certain diffi¬ 

culties respecting his landing and the continuance of his 
journey should be removed. It moreover appeared from this 

letter that the .King of England thought proper to refuse the 
Comte de Lille permission to go to London or its neighbor¬ 
hood. The palace of Holyrood in Edinburgh was assigned as 
his place of residence; and Mr. Boss, secretary to Mr. Can¬ 

ning, conveyed the determination of the King of England to 

Louis XVIII. at Yarmouth. 
The precaution of the English Ministry in not permitting 

the refugee King to go near London appeared to me remark¬ 
able, considering the relative position of the Governments of 
France and England, and I regarded it as a corroboration of 
what the Prince Wittgenstein had told me respecting Mr. 

Canning’s inclination for an amicable arrangement. But the 
moment was approaching when the affairs of Spain were 
to raise an invincible obstacle to peace, to complicate more 
than ever the interests of the powers of Europe, and open to 
Napoleon that vast career of ambition which proved his ruin. 
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He did not long allow the hopes of the emigrants to remaii 

chimerical, and the year 1814 witnessed the realization of tin 
prophetic remark made by M. Lemercier, in a conversatioi 

with Bonaparte a few days before the foundation of tin 

Empire: “ If you get into, the bed of the Bourbons, General 
you will not lie in it ten years.” Napoleon occupied it foj 

nine years and nine months. 
Fouche, the grand investigator of the secrets of Europe 

did not fail, on the first report of the agitations in Spain, tc 

address to me question on question respecting the Comte dt 
Eechteren, the Spanish Minister at Hamburg, who, however, 

had left that city, with the permission of his Court, fom 

months after I had entered on my functions. This was 

going back very far to seek information respecting the affairs 
of the day. At the very moment when I transmitted a reply 

to Fouche which was not calculated to please him, because it 

afforded no ground for suspicion as to the personal conduct of 

M. de Eechteren, I received from the amiable Josephine a 
new mark of her remembrance. She sent me the following 
note: — 

“ M. Milon, who is now in Hamburg, wishes me, my dear 
Bourrienne, to request that you will use your interest in his 
favor. I feel the more pleasure in making this request as it 

affords me an opportunity of renewing the assurance of my 
regard for you.” 

Josephine’s letter was dated from Fontainebleau, whither 
the Emperor used to make journeys in imitation of the old 

Court of France. During these excursions he sometimes par¬ 
took of the pleasures of the chase, but merely for the sake of 

reviving an old custom, for in that exercise he found as little 

amusement as Montaigne did in the game of chess. At 

Fontainebleau, as everywhere else, his mind was engaged with 
the means of augmenting his greatness, but, unfortunately, 
the exactions he imposed on distant countries were calculated 

to alienate the affections of the people. Thus, for example, 
I received an order emanating from him, and transmitted to 

me by M. Daru, the Intendant-General of the army, that the 

pay of all the French troops stationed in the Haase Towns 
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should be defrayed by these towns. I lamented the necessity 
of making such a communication to the Senates of Bremen, 

Ltibeck, and Hamburg; but my duty compelled me to do so, 

and I had long been accustomed to fulfil duties even more 
painful than this. I tried every possible means with the 
three States, not collectively but separately, to induce them 

to comply with the measure, in the hope that the assent of 
one would help me to obtain that of the two others. But, as 
if they had been all agreed, I only received evasive expres¬ 
sions of regret. 

Knowing as I did, and I may say better than any one else, 
the hopes and designs of Bonaparte respecting the north of 
Germany, it was not without pain, nor even without alarm, 

that I saw him doing everything calculated to convert into 

enemies the inhabitants of a country which would always 
have remained quiet had it only been permitted to preserve 

its neutrality. Among the orders I received were often many 
which could only have been the result of the profoundest 

ignorance. For example, I was one day directed to press 
3000 seamen in the Hanse Towns. Three thousand seamen 

out of a population of 200,000 ! It was as absurd as to think 
of raising 500,000 sailors in France. This project being 
impossible, it was of course not executed; but I had some 
difficulty in persuading the Emperor that a sixth of the 
number demanded was the utmost the Hanse Towns could 
supply. Five hundred seamen were accordingly furnished, 
but to make up that number it was necessary to include many 

men who were totally unfit for war service. 
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Departure of the Prince of Ponte-Oorvo Prediction and superstition— 

Stoppage of letters addressed to the Spanish troops— La Humana and 

Romanillos — Illegible notifications - Eagerness of tin* Herman Princes 

to join the Confederation of the Rhine Attack upon me on account of 

M. Hue — Rernadotte’s successor in Hamburg -Exactions and tyranni¬ 

cal conduct of General Dupas — I)ist urbane** in Hamburg — Plates broken 

in a fit of rage —My letter to Bernadotte — His reply — Bernudotte’s 

return to Hamburg, and departure of Dupas for Lubeek — Noble eonduet 

of the aide de eamjt Barral. 

In’ the spring of ISOS a circumstance occurred which gave me 

much uneasiness; it. was the depart arc of Bernadette, Prince 

of Ponte-Oorvo, who received orders to repair to ( openhagend 

He left Hamburg on the Sth of March, as he was to reach his 

destination on the I-lth of the same month. 'Ida* I>anish 

chanje. d'affaires also received orders to join the Prince, and 

discharge tin* functions of King's commissary. It was during 

Ids government at Hamburg and his stay in Jutland that 

Bernadotte unconsciously paved his way to the throne of 

Sweden. I recollect that, he had also his presages .and his 

predestinations. In short, he believed in astrology, and I 

shall never forget the serious tone in which he one day said 

to me, “ Would yon believe, my dear friend, that it, was pre¬ 

dicted at Paris that I should be a King, but that I must cross 

the sea to reach my throne ? " I could not help smiling w it h 

him at; this weakness of mind, from which Bonaparte was not 

far removed. It certainly was not any supernatural Inllueiie** 

which elevated Bernadotte to sovereign rank. Thai elevation 

was solely due to his excellent character. He had no other 

1 He was directed to take the command **f the French triwms whom the 
Emperor sent into Denmark after the tHinihurdtiieut of FopeUfiiigen by the 
English. — fionrrienne. Whether the Engl mb fuel i min barn let I < ‘openbtigen 
or not, Bernadette would have been sent into Denmark, find If we bad not 
secured the fleet, he would have seized it for bin than muster. - Ed doe of 

edition. 

m 
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talisman than the wisdom of his government, and the prompti¬ 

tude which he always showed to oppose unjust measures. 

This it was that united all opinions in his favor. 
The bad state of the roads in the north prolonged Berna- 

dotte’s journey one day. He set out on the 8th of March; he 
was expected to arrive at Copenhagan on the 14tli, but did 

not reach there till the 15th. He arrived precisely two hours 

before the death of Christian, King of Denmark, an event 
with which he made me acquainted by a letter written two 
days after his arrival. 

On the 6th of April following I received a second letter 
from Bernadotte, in which he desired me to order the Grand 
Ducal postmaster to keep back all letters addressed to the 

Spanish troops, who had been placed under his command, and 
of which the corps of Romana formed part. The postmaster 

was ordered to keep the letters until he received orders to 

forward them to their destinations. Bernadotte considered 
this step indispensable, to prevent the intrigues which he 
feared might be set on foot in order to shake the fidelity of 
the Spaniards he commanded. I saw from his despatch that 

he feared the plotting of Romanillos,1 who, however, was not 
a person to cause much apprehension. Romanillos was as 

commonplace a man as could well be conceived ; and his 
speeches, as well as his writings, were too innocent to create 
any influence on public opinion. 

In addition to the functions with which the Emperor at 
first invested me,' I had to discharge the duties of ‘.French 

Consul-General at Hamburg, and in that character I was 
obliged to present to the Minister for Foreign Affairs a very 

singular request, viz. that the judicial notifications, which as 

Consul-General I had to make known to the people of Ham¬ 
burg, might be written in a more legible hand. Many of 

these notifications had been disregarded on account of the 
impossibility of reading them. With respect to one of them 

it was declared that it was impossible to discover whether 
the writing was German, French, or Chinese. 

1 Romanillos was secretary of the Spanish Legation at Hambnrir. and 
d ajjairos from the Cabinet of Madrid after the departure of M. do 

Rechteren.—Bourrienne. 
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I shall not record all the acts of spoliation committed by 
second-rate ambitions aspirants who hoped to come in for 

their share in the division of the Continent. The Emperor’s 

lieutenants regarded Europe as a twelfth-cake/ but none of 
them ventured to dispute the best bit with Napoleon. Long 

would be the litany were I to enregister all the fraud and 
treachery which they committed, either to augment their 
fortunes or to win the favor of the chief who wished to have 

kings for his subjects. The fact is, that all the Princes of 

Germany displayed the greatest eagerness to range themselves 

under the protection of Napoleon by joining the Confedera¬ 
tion of the Rhine.2 I received from those Princes several 
letters which served to prove at once the influence of Napoleon 

in Germany and the facility with which men bend beneath 
the yoke of a new power. I must say that among the emi¬ 
grants who remained faithful to their cause there were some 
who evinced more firmness of character than the foreign 

Princes. I may mention, for example, M. Hue, the valet de 
chambre of Louis XVI. I do not intend to deny the high 
regard I entertained for that faithful servant of the martyred 

King; but the attentions which 1 congratulate myself on hav¬ 

ing shown to an excellent man should not have subjected me 
to false imputations. 

I have read the following statement in a publication: “ M. 
Hue retired to Hamburg, where lie passed nine months in 
perfect obscurity. He afterwards went to Holland, provided 

with a passport from Bourrienne, who was Napoleon’s Min¬ 
ister, though in disgrace, and who, foreseeing what was to 

happen, sought to ingratiate himself in the favor of the 
Bourbons.” 

The above passage contains a falsehood in almost every 
line. M. Hue wished to reside in Hamburg, but he did not 

1 The Emperor’s lieutenants regarded Europe as a twelfth-cake (vn 
gdteau des rois), but none of them ventured to dispute the bean (la few) 
with Napoleon. In French twelfth-cakes there is a bean concealed in the 
midstv and in the division of the cake the person to whose lot the bean falls 
is proclaimed king for the night. This stands in lieu of our custom of draw¬ 
ing for king and queen. — Editor of 18S0 edition. 

2 Many of these smaller German Princes had, it is said, to bribe Talley¬ 
rand heavily to buy their admission to the (Jonfederation of the Khino * see 
M. de Talleyrand, by Hainte-Beuve, p. (.K). * 
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wish to conceal himself. I invited him to visit me, and 
assured him that he might remain in Hamburg without appre¬ 
hension, provided he acted prudently. He wished to go to 

Holland, and I took upon myself to give him a passport. I 
left M. Hue in the free management of his business, the 
nature of which I knew very well, and which was very honor¬ 

able ; he was deputed to pay the pensions which Louis XVIII. 
granted to the emigrants. As for myself, I had tendered my 

resignation of private secretary to Bonaparte; and even ad¬ 
mitting I was in disgrace in that character, I was not so as 
Minister and Consul-General at Hamburg. My situation, 

which was of little consequence at the time I was appointed 
to it, was later on rendered exceedingly important by circum¬ 
stances. It was, in fact, a sort of watch-tower of the Govern¬ 

ment, whence all the movements of northern Germany were 
observed; and during my residence in the Hanse Towns I 

continually experienced the truth of what Bonaparte said to 

me at my farewell audience — “ Yours is a place independent 
and apart.” 

It is absurd to say that the kindness I showed to M. Hue 
was an attempt to ingratiate myself with the Bourbons. My 

attentions to him were dictated solely by humanity, unaccom¬ 

panied by any afterthought. Napoleon had given me his 
confidence, and by mitigating the severity of his orders I 
served him better than they who executed them in a way 
which could not fail to render the French Government odious. 
If I am accused of extending every possible indulgence to the 
unfortunate emigrants, I plead guilty ; and, far from wishing to 

defend myself against the charge, I consider it honorable to 
me. But I defy any one of them to say that I betrayed in 
their favor the interests with which I was intrusted. They 

who urged Bonaparte to usurp the crown of France served, 

though perhaps unconsciously, the cause of the Bourbons. I, 
on the contrary, used all my endeavors to dissuade him from 

that measure, which I clearly saw must, in the end, lead to 
the restoration, though I do not pretend that I was sufficiently 

clear-sighted to guess that Napoleon’s fall was so near at hand. 
The kindness I showed to M. Hue and his companions in mis- 
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fortune was prompted by humanity, and not by mean specula¬ 
tion. As weli might it be said that Bernadotte, who like 
myself, neglected no opportunity of softening the rigor of the 

orders he was deputed to execute, was by this means working 

his way to the throne of Sweden. 
Bernadotte had proceeded to Denmark to take the command 

of the Spanish and French troops who had been removed 
from the Hanse Towns to occupy that kingdom, which was 
then threatened by the English. His departure was a great 

loss to me, for we had always agreed respecting the measures 

to be adopted, and I felt his absence the more sensibly when 
1 was enabled to make a comparison between him and his suc¬ 

cessor. It is painful to me to detail the misconduct of those 
who injured the French name in Germany, but, in fulfilment 
of the task I have undertaken, I am bound to tell the 

truth. 
In April, 1808, General Dupas came to take the command 

of Hamburg, but only under the orders of Bernadotte, who 

retained the supreme command of the French troops in the 
Hanse Towns. By the appointment of General Dupas the 

Emperor cruelly thwarted the wishes and hopes of the in¬ 
habitants of Lower Saxony. That General said of the people 

of Hamburg, “As long as I see those . . . driving in their 

carriages I can get money from them.” It is, however, only 

just to add, that his dreadful exactions were not made on his 
own account, but for the benefit of another man to whom he 
owed his all, and to whom he had in some measure devoted 
his existence. 

I will state some particulars respecting the way in which 
the generals who commanded the French troops at Hamburg 
were maintained. The Senate of Hamburg granted to the 
Marshals thirty friederichs a day for the expenses of their 
table exclusive of the hotel in which they were lodged by 
the city. The generals of division had only twenty frieder¬ 
ichs. General Dupas wished to be provided for on the same 

footing as the Marshals. The Senate having, with reason, 

rejected this demand, Dupas required that he should be 
daily served with a breakfast and a dinner of thirty covers. 
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This was an inconceivable lmr<Um, and Dupas cost the. city 

more than any of his predecessors. 

I saw an account of his expenses, which during the twenty- 

one weeks he remained, at Hamburg amounted to 121i,0()0 

marks, or about IS,'>,000 franes. None but the, most exqui¬ 

site wines were drunk at the. table of .Dupas. Bven his ser¬ 

vants were treated with champagne, and the choicest fruits 
were brought from tin*, line hothouses of Berlin. Tin* inhab¬ 

itants were irritated at this extravagance, and Dupas accord¬ 

ingly experienced tin* resistance of the Semite. 
.Among other vexations there was one to which tint people 

could not readily submit. In Hamburg, whieh had formerly 

been a fortified town, tlu* custom was preserved of (dosing the 
gates at nightfall. On Sundays they were (dosed three-quar¬ 

ters of an hour later, to avoid interrupting the amusements of 

the people. 

Whiles Oeneral Dupas was Governor of Hamburg an event 
occurred whieh occasioned considerable irritation in the public, 

mind, and might have been attended by fatal consequences. 
From some* whim or other tlu* General ordered tin*, gates to lx* 

(dosed at seven in the evening, and eonsequently while-, it was 

broad daylight, for if was in tin* middle of spring; no excep¬ 

tion was made, in favor of Sunday, and on that day a great 
number of the. inhabitants who had been walking in the out¬ 

skirts of the city presented themselves at the gate of Altona 
for admittance. To their surprise, they found the gate (dosed, 

though if was a, greater thoroughfare, than any other gate 
in Hamburg. The number of persons requiring admittance 

increased, and a, considerable crowd soon collected. After 
useless entreaties had been addressed to the chief ollieer of 

the post the people were determined to send to flu*. Oommand- 
anf for flu* keys. The Commandant arrived, accompanied by 
the General. When they appeared it was supposed they had 

come for tlu* purpose of opening tlu*. gab's, and they were 

accordingly saluted with a general hurrah! which throughout 

almost all the north is the, usual cry for expressing popular 
satisfaction. General Dupas not understanding tlu* meaning 

of this hurrah! supposed it to be a signal for sedition, mid 
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instead, of ordering the gates to be opened In* eommanded the 

military to fire upon the peaceful citizens, who only wanted to 

return to their homes. Several persons were killed, and others 

more or less seriously wounded. Fortunately, after this first, 
discharge the fury of Dupas was appeased ; hut still ho per¬ 

sisted in keeping tin* gates elosed at. night. Next day an 

order was posted about the eity prohibiting the cry of hur¬ 

rah ! under pain of a severe punishment. It was also forbid¬ 
den that more than three persons should eolleet together in 

the streets. Thus it was that, certain persons imposed the 
Trench yoke upon towns and provinces which were previously 
happy. 

Dupas was as much execrated in the Ilanse Towns as (’larke 
had been in Berlin when In; was governor of that capital dur¬ 

ing the campaign of 1 <S(>7. < larke had burdened t he people 

of Berlin with every kind of op press i«m and exaction. lie, 

as well as many others, manifested a ready obedience in exe¬ 

cuting the Imperial orders, howe\ er tyrannical they might be; 
and I leaven knows what, epithets in\ ariably accompanied the 

name of Clarke when pronounced by the lips of a Prussian. 

-Dupas seemed to have taken Clarke as his model. An 

artillery officer, who was in Hamburg at the time of the dim 

turbanee I have just, mentioned, told nm that it \\;i , he who 

was directed to place two pieces of light artillery before the 

gate of Altona. Having cxeeuted this order, he went, to Cru- 

eral Dupas, whom la* found in a furious tit of passion, break¬ 

ing and destroying everything with in his reach. In the 
presence of the officer ha broke more than two do/eu plates 

which were on the table, before him: tlie.se plates, of* course, 

had cost him very little ! 

On the day after the (listurbanee which had so fatal a termi¬ 
nation I wrote to inform the Prince of Ponte-f *urvn (tf w Iiat 

had taken place ; and in my letter I solieited t he suppression 

of an extraordinary tribunal which had P-m created by Hen 
eral Dupas. He returned me an immediate answer, eouipl\ 
ing with my request. His letter was as follow ,; 

I have* received your letter, my dear Mntbfer: if fornfih the 

expression ot your right, feeling, which i evolts ug.utiHf of.pirv.mo, nrvrnly, 
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and the abuse of power. I entirely concur in your view of the subject, 
and I am distressed whenever I see such acts of injustice committed. On 
an examination of the events which took place on the 19th it is impossi¬ 
ble to deny that the officer who ordered the gates to be closed so soon was 
in the wrong; and next, it may be asked, why were not the gates opened 
instead of the military being ordered to fire on the people ? But, on the 
other hand, did not the people evince decided obstinacy and insubordina¬ 
tion ? were they not to blame in throwing stones at the guard, forcing the 
palisades, and even refusing to listen to the voice of the magistrates ? It 
is melancholy that they should have fallen into these excesses, from 
which, doubtless, they would have refrained had they listened to the civil 
chiefs, who ought to be their first directors. Finally, my dear Minister, 
the Senator who distributed money at the gate of Altona to appease the 
multitude would have done better had he advised them to wait patiently 
until the gates were opened; and he might, I think, have gone to the 
Commandant or the General to solicit that concession. 

Whenever an irritated mob resorts to violence there is no safety for 
any one. The protecting power must then exert its utmost authority to 
stop mischief. The Senate of ancient Rome, so jealous of its preroga¬ 
tives, assigned to a Dictator, in times of trouble, the power of life and 
death, and that magistrate knew no other code than his own will and the 

axe of his lictors. The ordinary laws did not resume their course until 
the people returned to submission. 

The event which took place in Hamburg produced a feeling of agita¬ 
tion of which evil-disposed persons might take advantage to stir up open 
insurrection. That feeling could only be repressed by a severe tribunal, 
which, however, is no longer necessary. General Dupas has, accordingly, 
received orders to dissolve it, and justice will resume her usual course. 

J. Bernadotte. 

Densel, Mh May, 1808. 

When Bernadotte returned to Plamburg he sent Dupas to 

Ltibeck. That city, which was poorer than Hamburg, suffered 
cruelly from the visitation of such a guest. Dupas levied all 
his exactions in kind, and indignantly spurned every offer of 

accepting money, the very idea of which, he said, shocked his 
delicacy of feeling. But his demands became so extravagant 
that the. city of Ltibeck was utterly unable to satisfy them. 

Besides his table, which was provided in the same style of pro¬ 
fusion as at Hamburg, he required to be furnished with plate, 
linen, wood, and candles; in short, with the most trivial arti¬ 

cles of household consumption. 
The Senate deputed to the incorruptible General Dupas M. 
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Xolting, a venerable old man, who mildly represented to him 

the abuses whi(*li were every where committed in his name, 

and entreated that he would vouchsafe to accept twenty louis 

a day to defray tin* expenses of his table alone. At. t his prop¬ 

osition (ieneral Dupas flew into a rage. To offer him money 

was an insult not to be endured ! He furiously drove the ter¬ 

rified Senator out of the house, and at once ordered his aidede 

cam]) l>arraltto imprison him. AI. de liarral, startled at this 

extraordinary order, ventured to remonstrate with the Gene¬ 

ral, but in vain ; and, though against his heart, he was obliged 

to obey. The aide de ramp accordingly waited upon the 

Senator Xolting, and overcome by that feeling of respect 

which gray hairs involuntarily inspire in youth, instead of 

arresting him, he besought tin* old man not to leave his house 

until lie should prevail on the* General to retract his orders. 

Tt was not till tin* following day t hat, M. de Ihirral succeeded 

in getting those orders revoked • —1hat is to say, he obtained 

Af. Nol ting's release from confinement; for Dupas would not, 

be satisfied until In* heard that the Senator had suffered at 

least the eommeneement. of the punishment to which his 

capricious fury hat! doomed him. 

In spite of his parade of disinterestedness General Dupas 

yielded so far as to accept the twenty louis a day for the 

expense of his table which M. Molting had offered him on the 

part of the Senate of Liiherk ; but it, was not without mur- 

murings, complaints, and menaces that he made this generous 

concession ; and he exclaimed more than once, “ These fellntrs 

have portioned out; my allowance for me.tT Liiherk was not 

released from the presence of General Dupas until the month 

of March, IK09, when lie was summoned to command a division 

in tin* Kmperor's new campaign against Austria. Strange* as 

it may appear, it is nevertheless the fact, that, oppressive as 

had been bis pressure at Ltibeck, the Hanse Towns soon had 

reason to regret him. 



CHAPTER XIII. 

1808. 

Promulgation of the Code of Commerce — Conquests by Mnatus-comnlte — 
Three events in one day — Recollections — Application of a line, of Vol¬ 

taire— Creation of the Imperial nobility — Restoration of the university 

— Aggrandizement of the Kingdom of Italy at the expense of Home— 

Cardinal Caprara’s departure from Paris — The interview at Erfurt. 

Tup year 1808 was fertile in remarkable events. Occupied 

as I was with my own duties, I yet employed my leisure, 

hours in observing the course, of those great acts by which 

Bonaparte seemed determined to mark every day of his life. 

At the commencement of 1808 1 received one of the first copies 
of the Code of Commerce, promulgated on the 1st of January 

by the. Emperor’s order. This code appeared to me an act of 
mockery ; at least it was extraordinary to publish a code 

respecting a subject which it was the effect of all the Imperial 
decrees to destroy. What trade could possibly exist under 

the Continental system, and the ruinous severity of the cus¬ 

toms ? The. line was already extended widely enough when, 
by a Sen at us-eon suite, it was still further widened. The Em¬ 

peror, to whom all the continent submitted, had recourse to no 

other formality for the purpose of annexing to the Em pin* tin*, 

towns of Kehl, Cassel near Mayenee, Wesel, and Flushing, 

with the territories depending on them.1 These conquests, 

1 A resolution of thin Senate, or a “ Senatus-comulte,” was the means in¬ 
vented by Napoleon for altering iho Imperial Constitutions, and even the 
extent, of the Empire. By one of these, dated 21st January, 1H08, the towns 
of Kohl, Cassel, and Wesel, with Flushing, already seized, wore definitely 
united to France. The loss of Wesel, which belonged to Murat's Crnnd 
I >uehy of Berg, was a very sore point with Murat, who talked of nothing less 
than that he would throw himself into the town of Wesel with his army and 
defend it. “ lie should see whether the Emperor would have the face to 
come and besiege him before the eyes of all Europe; and as for himself, ho 
should hold out to the last extremity. These words were all smoke, and 
ended in a lino treaty of exchange.” Hoe Be.ugnot (tome i. p. 27b), who goes 
on to say that ” this ridiculous little struggle of the Orand Duke (Murat) 
may have contributed somewhat to his discomfiture in the affairs of this 
country (Spain). Possibly the petty strife raised up by the Marshal for the 

121 
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gained by decrees and senatorial decisions, had at least, the 

advantage of being effected without bloodshed. All these 

things were carefully communicated to me, by the Ministers 

with whom I corresponded, for my situation at Hamburg ha 1 

acquired such importance that it was necessary I should know 
everything. 

At this period I observed among tin* news which I received 
from different places a singular coincidence of dates, worthy 
of being noted by the authors of ephcmerides. On the same 

day — namely the 1st of February — Paris, Lisbon, and Pome 

were the scenes of events of different kinds, but. as they all 

happened on one day, affording a, striking example of the 
rapidity of movement which marked Hie reign of Ponaparte. 

At Paris the niece of Josephine, Mademoiselle de Tasrluc,1 

whom Napoleon had lately exalted to the rank of Princess, 

was married to tin* reigning Prince of Ahremberg, while at 

the same time Jnnot. declared to Portugal that the house <A 

Braganza had reused in re it/nr and French troops wen*, under 

the command of General Miollis, occupying Pome. This oreie 

. pation was the commencement of prolonged struggles, during 

which Pius VTT. expiated the condescension he had shown in 
going to Paris to crown Napoleon. 

Looking over my notes, I see it, was the day after these 

three events occurred that Bonaparte gave- to his brother-in- 

law, Prince Borghese, the Governorship-General of the depart- 

town of Wesfd caused the Emperor to lay aside the idea of intrant ing to him 
a position of so much importance as Spain and the I ndies So he had to 
resign himself to the throne of the Two Sicilies, which he received ungra 
ciously enough. This is worth noting for the instruction of posterity ” 
(/fem/nrd, vol i, p. ‘277). 

1 Mademoiselle dWvrillion, when she first entered the sen ice «»f Joseph¬ 
ine, was placed about the person of Mademoiselle Taseh* » d«* la Pagerje , and 
in her Memoirs she draws rather an interesting character of the young and 
handsome creole, who was singularly attached to her aunt, then only Madame 
Bonaparte, wile of tin; First <'otiMtl. ** K\crybody," Hays the /* mmv </* rfutm 
br<>, ** was satislied with this marriage, except tin* bride herself, u hose ta-Je 
was the first that (Might to have been consulted. Mademoiselle de Tan* her 
assented to tho union with the greatest repugnance - she had a thomu d» 
antipathy for the Prince d\\hremberg, ami she never could overcome it, f*>u 
she nvvpr con Id hurt* tlttnvl to mst tin vuU unti ottniuio tni *»f Xu}n<lr*m .* The 

marriage was a wretched one: it ended in a di\orec, after which Madame 
<1 Ahreinhcrg married the (unite de (luitry. 

“j/HiiH wasa expression of Bonaparte's. In the same wav he said, in 
when he made Ins brother Joseph King of Naples, " the Bourl»onu «*I 

•Naples have ceased to reign.’’ 
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ment beyond the Alps which he had just founded, and of 

which he made the eighth Grand Dignitary of the Empire. 
General Menou, whom I had not seen since Egypt, was 
obliged by this appointment to leave Turin, where he had 

always remained. Bonaparte, not wishing to permit him to 
come to Paris, sent Menou to preside over the Junta of Tus¬ 

cany, of which he soon after made another General-Governor¬ 
ship, which he intrusted to the care of his sister Elisa.1 

My correspondence relative to what passed in the south of 

France and of Europe, presented to me, if I may so express 
myself, merely an anecdotal interest. Not so the news which 
came from the north. At Hamburg I was like the sentinel of 

an advanced post, always on the alert. I frequently informed 
the Government of what would take place before the event 
actually happened. I was one of the first to hear of the plans 
of Russia relative to Sweden. The courier whom I sent to 

Paris arrived there at the very moment when Russia made ' 

the declaration of war. About the end of February the Rus¬ 
sian troops entered Swedish Finland, and occupied also the 
capital of that province, which had at all times been coveted 
by the Russian Government. It has been said that at the 
interview at Erfurt Bonaparte consented to the usurpation of 
that province by Alexander in return for the complaisance of 
the latter in acknowledging Joseph as King of Spain and the 

Indies. 
The removal of Joseph from the throne of Naples to the 

throne of Madrid belongs, indeed, to that period respecting 

which I am now throwing together a few recollections. Murat 

1 Prince Canaille Philippe Louis Borghese (1775-1832), an Italian, had 
married, Oth November, 1803, Pauline Bonaparte, the sister of Napoleon, 
and the widow of General Ledcrc. He had been made Prince and Luke of 
Guastalla when that duchy was given to his wife, 30th March, 1800. He 
separated from his wile after a few years. Indeed Pauline was impossible 
as a wife if half of the stories about her are true. It was she who, finding 
that a lady was surprised at her having sat naked while a statue of her was 
being modelled for Canova, believed she had satisfactorily explained mat¬ 
ters by saying “ but there was a fire in the room.” 

Elisa Bonaparte had married Felix Bacciochi, and had been made Prin 
cesse de Piombino et de Luccques 1805. In March, 1809, she was mad 
Grande Ducliesse do Toscane, the dignity to which Bourrienne alludes, 
was on this occasion, as has already been stated, that 900 unopened lettr 
were found in Menou’s cabinet after he had left. See Marmont, tom- 
p. 411. 
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had succeeded Joseph at Naples, and this accession o£ tin 

brother-in-law of Napoleon to one of tin4 thrones of the House 

of Bourbon gave Bonaparte another junior in the college oi 

kings, of which he would have infallibly become the senior if 

he had gone on as he began. 
I will relate4 a little circumstance which now occurs to me 

respecting the kings manufactured by Napoleon. I recollect 

that during the King of Etruria’s stay in Baris the First Con¬ 
sul went with that Prince to the Comedie Fran9ai.se, where 

Voltaire’s (Edip us was performed. This piece, I may observe, 

Bonaparte liked better than anything Voltaire ever wrote. 
I was in the theatre, but not in the First Consul's box, and I 

observed, ns all present must have done, the* eagerness with 

which the audience applied to Napoleon and the King of 

Etruria the line in which Philoctetes says — 

“ »J’ai fait des souverains e.t. n’ai pas voulu IY*t.n*.n 1 

The application was so marked that it could not fail to 
become the subject of conversation between the First Consul 
and me. “ You remarked it, Bourrienne ? ” . . . “ Yes, Gen¬ 

eral.” . . . “ The fools! . . . They shall see ! They shall 

see ! ” We did indeed see. Not content with making kings, 
Bonaparte, when his brow was encircled by a double crown, 

after creating princes at length realized the object he had 
long contemplated, namely, to found a new nobility, endowed 
with hereditary rights. It was at the commencement of 

March, 1808, that he accomplished this project; and 1 saw in 
the Monitor r a long list of princes, dukes, counts, barons, and 

knights of the Empire; there were wanting only viscounts 
and marquises.2 

1 “ T have made sovereigns, hut have not wished to ho one myself.” 
‘2 For a list of th<* chief t itles granted hy Napoleon sue Mttdnwr Jtnmt, 

London, Bentley, IHS.'i, vol iii. p. 512. The barons and counts were legion. 
It will bo scon that all the territorial titles, if the phrase can ho used in tin: 
ease, wore placed in foreign countries. This was one of the characteristic 
precautions taken by Napoleon in creating a fresh nobility. The passions 
of the Revolutionary party would have been violently excited by a creation 
of French titles, — a measure which would also have displeased the old 
nobility. But when titles such as Due de (’astiglmne were given, it was dif¬ 
ficult for any Frenchman to object, to a dignity which recalled a French tri¬ 
umph and French ascemh ucy. Their inconvenience was afterwards show n 
in the ease of Marmont, whom the (hmrt of Vienna refused to receive after 
the fall of Napoleon unless his title of Ragusa was dropped. 
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At the same time that Bonaparte was founding a new 
nobility he determined to raise up the old edifice of the 
university, but on a new foundation. The education of youth 
had always been one of his ruling ideas, and I had an oppor¬ 
tunity of observing how he was changed by the exercise of 

sovereign power when I received at Hamburg the statutes of 

the new elder daughter of the Emperor of the Erench, and 
compared them with the ideas which Bonaparte, when General 
and Eirst Consul, had often expressed to me respecting the 

education which ought to be given youth. Though the sworn 
enemy of everything like liberty, Bonaparte had at first con¬ 

ceived a vast system of education, comprising above all the 

study of history, and those positive sciences, such as geology 
and astronomy, which give the utmost degree of development 
fco the human mind. The Sovereign, however, shrunk from 
fche first ideas of the man of genius, and his university, con¬ 
fided to the elegant suppleness of M. de Eontaines, was 

merely a school capable of producing educated subjects but 
not enlightened men. 

Before taking complete possession of Eome, and making it 

the second city of the Empire, the vaunted moderation of 
Bonaparte was confined to dismembering from it the legations 
of Ancona, Urbino, Macerata, and Camerino, which were 

divided into three departments, and added to the Kingdom of 
Italy. The patience of the Holy See could no longer hold 
out against this act of violence, and Cardinal Caprara, who 
had remained in Paris since the coronation, at last left that 

capital. Shortly afterwards the Grand Duchies of Parma and 
Piacenza were united to the Erench Empire, and annexed to 
the government of the departments beyond the Alps. These 
transactions were coincident with the events in Spain and 

Bayonne before mentioned. 
After the snare laid at Bayonne the Emperor entered Paris 

on the 14th of August, the eve of his birtliday. Scarcely had 
he arrived in the capital when he experienced fresh anxiety 
in consequence of the conduct of Bussia, which, as I have 
stated, had declared open war with Sweden, and did not con¬ 

ceal the intention of seizing Einland. But Bonaparte, desii*ous 
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of actively carrying on the war in Spain, felt the necessity 
of removing his troops from Prussia to the Pyrenees. He 
then hastened the interview at Erfurt, where the two Emperors 

of Prance and Russia had agreed to meet. He hoped that 
this interview would insure the tranquillity of the Continent, 
while he should complete the subjection of Spain to the 

sceptre of Joseph. That Prince had been proclaimed on the 
8th of June; and on the 21st of the same month he made 
his entry into Madrid, but having received, ten days after, 
information of the disaster at Baylen, he was obliged to leave 

the Spanish capital.1 
Bonaparte’s wishes must at this time have been limited to 

the tranquillity of the Continent, for the struggle between 
him and England was more desperate than ever. England 
had just sent troops to Portugal under the command of Sir 
Arthur Wellesley. There was no longer any hope of a recon¬ 

ciliation with Great Britain. The interview at Erfurt having 
been determined on, the Emperor, who had returned from 

Bayonne to Paris, again left the capital about the end of 
September, and arrived at Metz without stopping, except for 

the purpose of reviewing the regiments which were echelonned 
on his route, and which were on their march from the Grand 
Army to Spain.2 

I had heard some time previously of the interview which 
was about to take place, and which was so memorable in the 

1 The important battle of Baylen, where the French, under General 
Dupont, were beaten by the Spaniards, was fought on the 19th of July, 1808. 

2 Talleyrand talked a great deal after dinner about Napoleon at Erfurt, 
where he accompanied him as chamberlain. [He had given up the Foreign 
Office in August, 1807.] The cordiality amongst the sovereigns was more real 
at that time than at any other, and the adulation of Napoleon quite extraor¬ 
dinary. As an instance of this he told me that in all the theatrical pieces 
represented before the sovereigns any possible allusion to Napoleon’s history 
was seized upon and rapturously applauded by all the Kings and Hereditary 
Princes present (Leaves from Diary of Henry Greville, p. 7(5). 

#Talleyrand at the time seems to have dreaded Napoleon’s plans: thus he 
tried to induce the Emperor of Austria to attend, saying to Metternich, “ The 
Prince who is not there will have the appearance of being either a neutral or 
an enemy. The Emperor of Austria cannot be in the first case, for nothing 
can take place in Europe without his offering either a hindrance or a facility. 
For myself, I would desire that at the right moment the Emperor Francis 
should arrive as a hindrance” (Metternich, tome ii. p. 270). As to tlio 
result of the conferences Metternich (tome ii. p. 288) says, “ One truth very 
evident to me is that the result of the Erfurt conferences has not at all cor¬ 
responded with the ideas which were taken there.” 
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life of Napoleon. It excited so much interest in Germany 
that the roads were covered with the equipages of the Princes 
who were going to Erfurt to witness the meeting. The 
French Emperor arrived there before Alexander, and went 
forward three leagues to meet him.1 Napoleon was on horse¬ 

back, Alexander in a carriage. They embraced, it is said, in 
a manner expressive of the most cordial friendship. This 
interview was witnessed by most of the sovereign Princes of 

Germany. However, neither the King of Prussia nor the 
Emperor of Austria was present. The latter sovereign sent 

a letter to Napoleon, of which I obtained a copy. It was as 
follows: — 

Sire, my Brother — My Ambassador in Paris informs me that your 
Majesty is about to proceed to Erfurt to meet the Emperor Alexander. 
I eagerly seize the opportunity of your approach to my frontier to renew 
those testimonials of friendship and esteem which I have pledged to you; 
and I send my Lieutenant-General, Baron Vincent, to convey to you the 
assurance of my unalterable sentiments. If the false accounts that have 
been circulated respecting the internal institutions which I have estab¬ 
lished in my monarchy should for a moment have excited your Majesty’s 
doubts as to my intentions, I flatter myself that the explanations given 
on that subject by Count Metternicli to your Minister will have entirely 
removed them. Baron Vincent is enabled to confirm to your Majesty all 
that lias been said by Count Metternich on the subject, and to add any 
further explanations you may wish for. I beg that your Majesty will 
grant him the same gracious reception he experienced at Paris and at 
Warsaw. The renewed marks of favor you may bestow on him will be 
an unequivocal pledge of the reciprocity of your sentiments, and will seal 
that confidence which will render our satisfaction mutual. 

Deign to accept the assurance of the unalterable affection and respect 

i The whole of the month of September, 1808, was spent in settling the day 
for the departure of the respective sovereigns from St. Petersburg and Paris, 
so that each might regulate his journey so as to arrive neither too soon nor 
too late. 

The Emperor Napoleon appointed the guards, provided the quarters, and 
defrayed the expenses of the tables, etc., not only for the Emperor of Russia, 
but also for the other sovereigns who attended the interview. Accordingly 
a troop of cooks, stewards, and lackeys were sent from the department of 
the grand marshal. 

The company of the Theatre Fran^ais also proceeded to Erfurt for the 
purpose of performing our best tragedies and comedies. Finally, nothing, 
however trifling, was neglected that could contribute to the amusement of 
the sovereigns during their stay at Erfurt (Memoirs of the Due de Eovigo, 
tome iii. p. 452). 
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with which I am, Sire, my Brother, Your imperial and royal Majesty’s 
faithful brother and friend, (Signed) Francis. 

Presbcrg, S//i September, 1808. 

This letter appears to be a model of ambiguity, by which it 
is impossible Napoleon could have been imposed upon. How¬ 

ever, as yet he had no suspicion of the hostility of Austria, 

which speedily became manifest; his grand object then was 

the Spanish business, and, as 1 have before observed, one of 

the secrets of Napoleon’s genius was, that he did not apply 

himself to more than one thing at a time. 
At Erfurt Bonaparte attained the principal object he had 

promised himself by the meeting. Alexander recognized 

Joseph in his new character of King of Spain and tin* Indies. 

It has been said that as the price of this recognition Napoleon 

consented that Alexander should have Swedish Finland; but. 
for the truth of this I cannot vouch. However, I remember 
that when, after the interview at Erfurt, Alexander had given 

orders to his ambassador to (diaries LV. to continue his func¬ 
tions under King Joseph, the Swedish rlntr<je traffttires at 

Hamburg told me. that eonlidential letters received by him 

from Erfurt led him to fear that the Emperor Alexander had 

communicated to Napoleon his designs on Finland, and that 
• Napoleon had given his consent to the occupation. Be this 

a.s it may, as soon as the interview was over Napoleon re¬ 
turned to Baris, where he presided with much splendor at the 

opening of the Legislative Body, and set out in tint month of 
November for Spain. 
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The Spanish troops in Hamburg — Romana’s siesta — His departure for 
Funen — Celebration of Napoleon’s birthday — Romana’s defection — 
English agents and the Dutch troops — Facility of communication between 
England and the Continent — Delay of couriers from Russia — Alarm and 
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of the Grand Duke of Tuscany — Invitations at six months — Napoleon’s 
journey to Italy — Adoption of Eugene — Lucien’s daughter and the 
Prince of the Asturias— M. Auguste de S tael’s interview with Napoleon. 

Previous to the interview at Erfurt an event took place 
which created a strong interest in Hamburg and throughout 
Europe, an event which was planned and executed with in¬ 
conceivable secrecy. I allude to the defection of the Marquis 
de la Romana, which I have not hitherto noticed, in order that 
I might not separate the different facts which came to my 
knowledge respecting that defection and the circumstances 
which accompanied it. 

The Marquis de la Romana had come to the Hanse Towns 
at the head of an army corps of 18,000 men, which the 
Emperor in the preceding campaign claimed in virtue of 
treaties previously concluded with the Spanish Government. 
The Spanish troops at first met with a good reception in the 
Hanse Towns. The difference of language, indeed, occasion¬ 
ally caused discord, but when better acquainted the inhabitants 
and their visitors became good friends. The Marquis de la 
Romana was a little swarthy man, of unprepossessing and 
rather common appearance ; but he had a considerable share 
of talent and information. He had travelled in almost every 
part of Europe, and as he had been a close observer of all he 
saw his conversation was exceedingly agreeable and instructive. 

During his stay at Hamburg General Romana spent almost 
every evening at my house, and invariably fell asleep over a 
game at whist. Madame de Bourrienne was usually his part¬ 

ly 
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ner, and I recollect lie perpetually offered apologies for his 

involuntary breach of good manners. This, however, did not 
hinder him from being guilty of the same offence the next 

evening. I will presently explain the cause of this regular 

siesta. 
On the King of Spain’s birthday the Marquis de la Romana 

gave a magnificent entertainment. The decorations of the ball¬ 

room consisted of military emblems. The Marquis did the 

honors with infinite grace, and paid particular attention to 
the French generals. He always spoke of the Emperor in 
very respectful terms, without any appearance of affectation, 

so that it was impossible to suspect him of harboring disaffec¬ 
tion. He played his part to the last with the utmost address. 
At Hamburg we had already received intelligence of the fatal 

result of the battle of the Sierra Morena,1 and of the capitula¬ 
tion of Dupont, which disgraced him at the very moment 

when the whole army marked him out as the man most likely 

next to receive the baton of Marshal of France, 

Meanwhile the Marquis de la Romana departed for the 
Danish island of Funen, in compliance with the order which 

Marshal Bernadotte had transmitted to him. There, a.s at 
Hamburg, the Spaniards were well liked, for their general 

obliged them to observe the strictest discipline. Hreat prepa¬ 

rations were made in Hamburg on the*, approach of Saint 

Napoleon’s day, which was then celebrated with much solem¬ 

nity in every town in which France had representatives. 'The, 

Prince de Ponte-Corvo was at Travemunde, a small seaport 

near Liibeek, hut that did not prevent him from giving direc¬ 

tions for the festival of the 15th of August. Tin1. Marquis do 
la Romana, the better to deceive the Marshal, despatched a, 

courier, requesting permission to visit Hamburg on tin* day of 
the/etein order to join his prayers to those, of the, French, 
and to receive, on the day of thejefa, from the hands of the 

Prince, the grand order of the Legion of Honor, which he had 

solicited, and which Napoleon had granted him. Three days 
after Bernadotte received intelligence of tin4, defection of de la 
Romana. The Marquis had contrived to assemble a great 

1 The surrender of General Dupont at Baylen. 
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number of English vessels on the const., and t.o escape with all 

liis troops except a depot of bOO moil hd‘f at A Ifona. We 

afterwards heard that he. experienced no interruption on his 

passage, and that he, landed with his troops at. Corunna. ! 

now knew to what to attribute the. drowsiness which always 
overcame the Marquis de la Humana when lie sat down t.o ta.ke 

a hand at whist. The fact was, In*, sat up all night making 
preparations for the escape which he had long meditated, 

while to lull suspicion he showed himself everywhere during 

the day as usual.1 

On the defection of the Spanish troops I received letters 

from Government, requiring me. to augment my vigilance, a.nd 
to seek out those persons who might be supposed to have 

been in the. eontidence of the Marquis de la Komana. I was 

informed that Kurdish agents, dispersed through the Ilanse 

Towns, were endeavoring to foment discord a.nd dissatisfac¬ 

tion among the King of Holland’s troops. These manoeuvres 

were connected with tin* treason of the Spaniards and the. 

arrival of I kiniean in Denmark. I insubordination had already 

1 The Marquis of Londonderry’s Xnrnttivr o/thr l*< uuisitlur ILur contains 
the following; part icuiars relative to Komana’s defect ion: 

“ Whilst the naval and military commanders in the Mediterranean were 
exertin# themselves an effort, was made in the north, with eomplete success, 
to restore to the service of his country one of the ablest ollieers of which 
Spain could at that time boast. One of Bonaparte's first measures, when 
meditating the subjugation of {he Peninsula, was to demand from Spain a 
corps of KfUOO veteran troops, whom, under the Marquis de la Komana, he 
employed fora time upon the hanks of the Vistula, and afterwards removed 
to the shores of the dreat Belt. They were dist ributed at. different points in 
that district when the standard of independence was raised, and one of the. 
earliest measures of the supreme junta was to issue a proclamation calling 
upon them, in the name of their country, to ret urn to its defence. 'Plus w as 
necessarily consigned to the care of the Brilish cruisers ; and it was not veil 
to I hem in vain. A scheme for its delivery, as well an for the removal of the 
soldiers, should they, as it. was believed they would, desire to comply w 1 fh if* 
terms, was immediately devised in London; and the execution of it was com 
mitted to Vice-Admiral Keats, an olliecr well worthy of the trust. It sue. 
reeded to admiral ion ; and 7<HH) men, with Komana at their head, were t runs 
ferred from tin1 ranks of tlx* enemy at a moment of critical interest to those 
of the patriotic army.” Shut up at Kimcti in the Baltic the Spaniards for 
some time could obtain no information from their own distant country. The 
posl-olllces of Kurope were in the hands of Napoleon his spies were in the 
camp of Komana; hut nevertheless a hold and skilful agent, a Catholic 
priest of Scotch extraction named Koberfmu, succeeded in jpdtmg ashore at 
Kuneu in disguise, and in opening commuuie.it ions bet wren the Spanish pen 
era! and the British Admiral Keats. Tim combinations then resorted to by 
Komana to extricate his troops are entitled to much praise. bUiitm' <\f 1 Hfk* 
edition. 
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broken out, but it was promptly repressed. Two Dutch sol¬ 

diers were shot for striking their officers, but notwithstanding 

this severity desertion among the troops increased to an 

alarming degree. Indefatigable agents in the pay of the 

English Government labored incessantly to seduce the sol¬ 

diers of King Louis (of Holland) from their duty. Some of 

these agents being denounced to me were taken almost in the 

act, and positive proof being adduced of their guilt they were 
condemned to death. 

These indispensable examples of severity did not check the 
manoeuvres of England, though they served to rool the zeal of 

her agents. I used every endeavor to second the Prince of 
Ponte-Corvo in tracing out the persons employed by Kngland. 

It was chiefly from the small island of Heligoland that they 

found their way to the Continent. This communication was 
facilitated by the numerous vessels scattered about, the small 

islands which lie along that (‘.oast. Five or six pieces of gold 
defrayed the expense of the passage to or from Heligoland. 

Thus the Spanish news, which was printed and often fabri¬ 

cated at London, was profusely circulated in the north of 
Germany. I hiekeis of papers addressed to merchants and 

well-known persons in tin* German towns were put into the 

post-oilie.es of Embden, Knipphansen, Yard, Oldenburg, I>«•!- 

menhorst, and Bremen. Generally speaking, this part, of t he 

coast was not sufficiently well watched to prevent espionage 

and smuggling; with regard to smuggling, indeed, nn power 

could have entirely prevented it. The Continental system 

had made it a necessity, so that a great part of the population 
depended on it for subsistence. 

In the beginning of December, 1808, we remarked that the 

Russian courier, who passed through Kbnigsberg and Berlin, 
was regularly detained four, five, and even six hours on his 

way to Hamburg. Tin* trading portion of the population, 

always suspicious, became alarmed at this change in the 

courier's hours, into whieh they inquired and soon discov¬ 

ered the cause. It was aseertained that two agents had been 
stationed, by the. postmaster of tin* Grand Duchy of Berg 

at Hamburg, in a village called Ksehburg belonging to the 
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province of Lauenburg. There the (*ourit*r From Berlin was 
stopped, and his packets and letters opened. As soon as 

these facts wen* known in Hamburg then* was a, general con¬ 

sternation among the trading class — that is to sa.), the influ¬ 

ential population of the city. Important and well-grounded 

complaints were made. Some letters had been suppressed, 
enclosures had beam taken from out* letter and put into 

another, and several bills of exchange had gem* astray. Tin* 

I intelligence soon reached the. ears of tin*. Prince of Ponle- 

Corvo, and was confirmed by the official report of the commis¬ 
sioner for tin*. Imperial and Royal Post-ofliee, who complained 

o*. the delay of the courier, of the confusion of the packets, 

and of want of confidence in the Imperial Post-ofliee. ft was 
impolitic to place such agents in a village whore there was 

not oven a post-office, and where tlu* letters were opened in 

an inn without any supervision. This examination of tin* let¬ 

ters, sometimes, perhaps, neeessary, but often dangerous, and 

always extremely delieate, created additional alarm on account 
of the persons to whom the business was intrusted. If the 

Ihnperor wished to be made acquainted with tin* correspond¬ 
ence of certain persons in the north it would have been nat¬ 

ural to intrust the business to his agents and his commissioner 

at Hamburg, and not to two unknown individuals another 

inconvenience attending black cabin eta. A t my suggestion 
the Prince of Ponte-Corvo gave orders for putting a. stop to 
the. clandestine business at Ksehlmrg. The two agents were 

taken to Hamburg and their conduct inquired into. They 
were severely punished. They deserved this, however, less 
than those who had intrusted them with such an honorable 

mission ; but leaders never make much scruple about, aban¬ 
doning their accomplices in the lower ranks. 

But for the: pain of witnessing vexations of this sort., which 

I had not always power to prevent, especially after Berna- 
dotte’s removal, my residence at Hamburg would have been 

delight!ul. Those who have visited that town know the 

advantages it possesses from its charming situation on the 
Blbe, and above all, the delightful country which surrounds 
it like a garden, ami extends to the distance of more than a 
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league along the banks of the Eyder. The manners and cus¬ 

toms of the inhabitants bear the stamp of peculiarity ; they 

are fond of pursuing their occupations in the open air. The 

old men are often seen sitting round tables placed before their 

doors sipping tea, while the children play before them, and 

the young people are at their work. These groups have a 

very picturesque effect, and convey a gratifying idea of tin* 

happiness of the people. On seeing the worthy citizens of 

Hamburg assembled round their doors I could not help think-« 

ing of a beautiful remark of Montesquieu. When he went to 

Florence with a letter of recommendation to tin* Prime Minis¬ 

ter of the Grand Duke of Tuscany lit* found him sifting at tin* 

threshold of his door, inhaling the fresh air and conversing 

with some friends. aJ see/’ said Montesquieu, u that i am 

arrived among a happy people, since their Prime Minister can 
enjoy his leisure moments thus/’ 

A sort of patriarchal simplicity characterizes tin* manners 

of the inhabitants of Hamburg. They do not visit each other 

much, and only by invitation; but on such occasions they 

display groat luxury beneath their simple exterior. They an* 

methodical and punctual to an extraordinary degree, of this 
T recollect, a curious instance. I was very intimate with Banm 

Woght, a man of talent; and information, and exceedingly 

amiable manners. Oik* day he called to make us a. farewell 
visit as he intended to set out on the following day for Paris. 
On Madame de Bourricnne expressing a hope that, In* would 

not protract his absence beyond six months, the period lie had 

fixed upon, he replied, “ Be assured, niadame, nothing shall 

prevent me getting home on tin* day I have appointed, for I 
have invited a party of friends to dine with me on the day 

after my return.” The Baron returned at the appointed time, 

and none of his guests required to he reminded of his invita¬ 
tion at six months1 date.1 

1 Among the peculiarities of a former Lord f mild ford was a similar one- 
lie would invite friends to dine with liim at London six or ei-dit nnuitlm after 
the date of the invitation; he would then start for* the Ionian Islands where 
he was organizing a university for the Greeks stay there for months and 
then, getting over to < Hranto or Brindisi, he would travel bark through If th 
Switzerland, and Kramv* to meet, his dinner-part \ in London. Ho hmersllv 
so limed matters as to reach his home, only a lew’hours before the dinner w m 
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Napoleon ho well knew the effect which his presence pm- 

duceii that after a conquest lie loved to show himself to the 
people whose territories lit* added to the Empire. Du roc, who 

always accompanied him when he was not engaged on mis¬ 

sions, gave nit*, a curious account of Napoleon's journey in 
1807 to Venice and tint other Italian provinces, which, con¬ 

formably with the Treaty of Presburg, were annexed to the 

Kingdom of Italy. 

In this journey to the Kingdom of Italy Napoleon had 

several important objects in view. lie was planning great 

alliances ; and he loaded Eugene with favors for the purpose 

of sounding him and preparing him for his mother’s divorce. 

At the same time he intended to have an interview with his 

brother Lucien, because, wishing to dispose of the hand of his 
brother’s daughter, he. thought of making her marry tin* 

Prince of the Asturias (Ferdinand), who before the Spanish 

war, when the first dissensions between father and son had 

become manifest, had solicited an alliance with the Emperor 
in tin* hope of getting his support.1 'Phis was shortly after 

tin* eldest son of Louis had died in Holland of croup. 11 has 
been wrongly believed that Napoleon had an affection for this 

to b(* on table, fn all thin, no doubt, th<*r<* was considerable calculation, and 
some affect at ion, but it amused bis lordship, and did no harm to any one. 
He once refused an invitation to prolong bis stay for a day or two in the oily 
of Lecce, at, the extremity of the Italian peninsula, because lie bad a party 
fixed for such a day iu London, and must travel on in order to be punctual 
to the hour! This oddity certainly made the Italian gentry stare with aston¬ 
ishment. - Editor of \K'A\ vtlithm. 

1 For Lueimfs account, of the interview with bis brother at Mantua on 
the I tit h 1 >eee.mber, IK07, see lung’s /a/e/en, tome iii. pp. 82 lf>7. Napoleon 
offered Lucien everything if be. would divorce his second wife, Madame 
Joubertlmn, and spoke of his own divorce from .Josephine, He even hinted, 
says Lucien that be might. marry <’harlot|e, the daughter of Lucien. The 
brothers separated on fair terms, hut did not see one another again till 
In February, into, Lueien’s daughter <’harlot to was sent to the Imperial 
Hourt to be ready for a marriage with the Prince of the Asturias, later 
Ferdinand VII. of Spain, who bad prayed Napoleon to grant. him the honor 
of an alliance with an august princess Of ids family (/m (’hhhc, tome iv. p. 
*25P). Ermtrx (tome ii. p, 172) denies this, but Bourrionne is here right. 
Another possible claimant of her hand was the Archduke Ferdinand, < I rand 
I>uke of Wurzburg, broilter of (lie Mmperor Francis of Austria. Napoleon 
seems also to turn* 1 «• It his way in IK 10 for a marriage between her and the 
Austrian Prince Imperial (see Mott* rut*7i, tome ii. p, H72). 'fhe girl disliked 
tin* Court, and ridiculed its members and their manners in her letters to her 
parents. These letters were opened by Napoleon, and read by him to Ids 
indignant family, and tin* girl was sent hack to her father. Hhe married 
Prince Mario Uahrielli in 1HK>. 
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child beyond that of an uncle for a nephew. 1 have alroa 

said the truth about this. 
However this may be, it is certain that Napoleon n 

seriously contemplated a divorce from Josephine. I i tin 

had been no other proof of this I, who 1 rom long habit kn> 
howto read Napoleon’s thoughts by his nets, lotind a .Million 

one in the decree issued at Milan by which Napoleon adopt 

Eugene as his son and successor to the crown of Italy, 
default of male and legitimate children directly do.seend 

from him. Lucien went to Mantua on his brother's invii 

tion, and this was the last interview the}’ laid before the (V 

Jours. Lucien consented to give his daughter to the Prin 

of the Asturias, but this marriage did not take plaee. 

learned from Du roe to what a height the enmity ol burn 

towards the Beauharnais family, an enmity which I lue 

often had occasion to speak of, had been renewed on fit 

occasion. Lucien could not pardon Josephine for the relm 

of the counsels which he had given her, and whirh : he ha 
rejected with sueh proper indignation. bueien had beshh 

another special reason for giving his daughter to t he Pi me 
of the Asturias, lie particularly wished to pre\ent th. 
Prince marrying Mademoiselle de Tasrher, the niece < 

.Josephine, a marriage for whieh M. de Beuuhanmis, the 

Ambassador of France at Madrid, was working with all hi 

might. Lucien also, with his Republican sfoliditv, Mibmitfei 
without too much scruple to the idea of having a Bonrboi 

King as son-in Jaw. It was also during this journey o 
Napoleon that he annexed Tuscany to the Empire. 

Bonaparte returned to Paris on the 1st of January, !H<)S 

On his way he stopped for a short time at (’ha in be ry, where ; 

young man had been waiting for him several da\ s. libs \\a; 

Madame de, StaiiPs son, who was then not more than seven 

teen years of age. M. Auguste* de Staid lodged at tin- Iioiim 
of the postmaster of Ohambery, and as the Emperor wun¬ 

expected in the course of the night, In* gave orders that hr 
should be called up on the arrival of the first runner. 'The 
couriers, who lead been delayed on the n >ad, did not arrive 

until six in the morning, and were almost immediately fob 
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lowed by the Emperor himself, so that M. de Sta<il was 

awakened by the cries of Vine V Empereur ! lie liad just time 

to dress himself hastily, and Hy to meet Napoleon, to whom 

he delivered a letter, which he had prepared beforehand for 

the purpose of soliciting an audience. Lauriston, the aide de 

vamp on duty, took the letter, it being his business to receive 

all the letters and petitions which were presented to Napoleon 

on his way. lie fore breakfast the Emperor opened the letters 

which Lauriston had laid on the table; he merely looked at 

the signatures, and then laid them aside. On opening M. de 

Stacks letter he said, “ Ah ! ah ! what have we here ? a letter 

from M. de Stael! ... lie wishes to see me. . . . What can 
he want ? . . . Can there be anything in common between me 

and the refugees of Geneva?” — “ Sire,” observed Lauriston, 

“he is a very young man; and, as well as I could judge from 
the little L saw of him, there, is something very prepossessing 

in his appearance.” — “ A. very young man, say you ? . . . 

Oh, then I will see him. . . . Rustan, tell him to come in.” 

M. de Stael presented himself to Napoleon with modesty, but 

without any unbecoming timidity. When he had respectfully 
saluted the Emperor a conversation ensued between them, 

which Du roc described to mo in nearly the following manner. 

As M. de Stat'd advanced towards the Emperor the latter 
said, u Whence do you come “ From Geneva, Sire.” — 
“ Where is your mother ? ” — “She is either in Vienna or 

will soon be there.” — “ At Vienna! . . . Well, that is when4, 
she ought to be ; and I suppose she is happy. . . . She will 

now have a good opportunity of learning German.” — “ Sire, 

how can you imagine my mother is happy when she is absent 

from her country and her friends? If I wen4, permitted to 
lay before your Majesty my mother’s confidential letter you 

would see how unhappy she is in her exile.” — “Ah, bah! 

your mother unhappy, indeed ! . . . However, I do not mean 
to say she is altogether a bad woman. . . . She has talent — 

perhaps too much ; and hers is an unbridle,d talent. She was 

educated amidst the. chaos of the subverted monarchy and the 

Revolution ; and out; of these events she makes an amalgama¬ 
tion of her own ! All this might become very dangerous. 
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Her enthusiasm is likely t< > niakt* ]>r<>sel \ tes. 1 must k 
watch upon her. She does not, like me ; and tor the inter 

of those whom she would endanger I must prohibit her e 

ing to Paris.'” 
Young de Stael stated that, his object. in seeking the ir. 

view with the Emperor was t< > petition tor h is mothers ret 

to Paris. Napoleon having listened without impatience to 

reasons he urged in support of his request, said, " 1 hit sup 

ing I were to permit your mot her in return to Paris, 

months would not elapse before I should be obliged to s 
her to the Bieetre or to the Temple. This I should be s< 

to do, because the affair would make a noise, and injure 

in public opinion. Tell your mother that my determinal 

is formed, that my decision is irrevocable. She shall m 

set foot in Paris as long as I live." —Sire, I cannot Peli 

that you would arbitrarily imprison my mot her if .dm g 

you no reason for such severity." “ She would gin* m 

dozen ! ... I know her well." “ Sire, permit me to 

that I am certain my mother would live in Paris in a i 

that warn Id a,fiord no ground of reproach ; .she would 

retired, and would see only a \«* n few friends. In spit< 

your Majesty’s refusal I venture to entreat that you will « 

lier a. trial, were if. only fur ai\ w erks or a mom h. Per 

her, Sire, to pass that t inn ‘ in Pari,., and 1 conjure you 

come, to no iliml decision be forehand." 4* l >o y on think I 
to bo deceived by these fair promises ? . . . ! tell \nu it t 

not be. She would serve as a rally ing point for the Paid to 

St. Germain. She see nobody, indeed ! <’mild aim make { 

sacrifice? She would visit and receive company. She wo 

be guilty of a thousand follies. She would be sawing flu 

which she may consider as vary good jokes but which I ..lm 
fake* seriously. My governiinm! is no joke ; I wish thi . to 

well known by everybody." “Sire, will your Majmsfv per 

me f,o repent {.hat my mother lias no u Bh whatever to min 

in society ? She would routine hermit It* t he circle of a I 

friends, a list, of whom she \v«mid give to your Majesty V 

Sire, who love France so well, may form some idea of the n 

cry my mother suffers in her banishment. 1 conjure y. 
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Majesty to yield to my entreaties, and let us be included in 
the number of your faithful subjects.” — “You!” — “Yes, 
Sire; or if your Majesty persist in your refusal, permit a 

son to inquire what can have raised your displeasure against 

his mother. Some say that it was my grandfather’s last wcrk ; 

but I can assure your Majesty that my mother had nothing to 

do with that.” — “Yes, certainly,” added Napoleon, with more 
ill humor than he had hitherto manifested. “Yes, certainly, 
that work is very objectionable. Your grandfather was an 

ideologist, a fool, an old lunatic. At sixty years of age to 

think of forming plans to overthrow my constitution ! States 

would be well governed, truly, under such theorists, who judge 
of men from books and the world from the map.” — “Sire, 

since my grandfather’s plans are, in your Majesty’s eyes, noth¬ 

ing but vain theories, I cannot conceive why they should so 

highly excite your displeasure. There is no political econo¬ 

mist who has not traced out plans of constitutions.” — “ Oh ! 

as to political economists, they are mere visionaries, who are 
dreaming of plans of finance while they are unfit to fulfil the 

duties of a schoolmaster in the most insignificant village in 
the Empire. Your grandfather’s work is that of an obstinate 

old man who died abusing all governments.” — “ Sire, may 1 
presume to suppose, from the way in which you speak of it, 
that your Majesty judges from the report of malignant per¬ 

sons, and that you have not yourself read it ? ” — “ That is a 
mistake. I have read it myself from beginning to end.” — 
“Then your Majesty must have seen how my grandfather 

renders justice to your genius.” — “ Eine justice, truly ! . . . . 
He calls me the indispensable man, but, judging from his 
arguments, the best thing that could be done would be to cut 

my throat! Yes, I was indeed indispensable to repair the 
follies of your grandfather, and the mischief he did to France. 

It was he who overturned the monarchy and led Louis XVI". 
to the scaffold.” — “ Sire, you seem to forget that my grand¬ 

father’s property was confiscated because he defended the 
King.” — “Defended the King ! A fine defence, truly ! You 

might as well say that if I give a man poison and present 
him with an antidote when he is in the agonies of death I 
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wish to save him ! Yet that is the way your grandfat 

defended Louis XYI. ... As to the confiscation you sp 
of, what; does that prove ? Nothing. Why, the property 
Robespierre was confiscated! And let me tell you that Roi 

pierre himself, Marat, and Danton did much less mischief 
France than M. Necker. It was he who brought about 
Revolution. You, Monsieur de Stael, did not see this ; bi 

did. I witnessed all that passed in those days of terror ; 
public calamity. But as long as I live those days shall ne 
return. Your speculators trace their Utopian schemes uj 
paper; fools read and believe them. All are babbling ab 

general happiness, and presently the people have not bread 
eat; then comes a revolution. Such is usually the fruit of 

these fine theories ! Your grandfather was the cause of 

saturnalia which desolated France. He is responsible for 
the blood shed in the Revolution ! ” 

Duroc informed me that the Emperor uttered these 1 

words in a tone of fury which made all present tremble 
young De Stael. Fortunately the young man did not lose " 
self-possession in the conflict, while the agitated expressi 

of his countenance evidently showed what was passing in ' 
mind. He was sufficiently master of himself to reply to t 
Emperor in a calm though rather faltering voice : “ Sire, p 
mit me to hope that posterity will judge of my grandfat 1 
more favorably than your Majesty does. During his admin 
tration he was ranked by the side of Sully and Colbert; a 
let me repeat again that I trust posterity will render h: 

justice.”— “ Posterity will, probably, say little about him.” 
“ I venture to hope the contrary, Sire.” 

Then, added Duroc, the Emperor turning to us said witl 
smile, “ After all, gentlemen, it is not for me to say too mu 
against the Revolution since I have gained a throne by if 

Then again turning to M. de Stael he said, “The reign 
anarchy is at an end. I must have subordination. Respe 

the sovereign authority, since it comes from God.1 You a 

1 This belief in the Divine origin of power was dear to the mind of Naj 
leon. “ Napoleon was also much impressed with the idea of deriving t 
origin of supreme authority from the Divinily. Fro said to me one day 
Compiegne, shortly after his marriage with the Archduchess, ‘ I see that t 
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young, and well educated, therefore, follow a bettor course, 

and avoid those bad principles which endanger the welfare of 

society.’7 “ Sire, since your Majesty does me the honor to 

think me well educated, you ought not to condemn the princi¬ 

ples of my grandfather and my mother, for it is in those 

principles that I have been brought up.” — “ Well, I advise 
you to keep right in polities, for I will not pardon any 

offences of the Keeker kind. Every one should keep right in 
politics.” 

This conversation, Duroc informed me, had continued the 

whole time of breakfast, and the Emperor rose just as he 

pronounced these last words : “Everyone should keep right 

in polities.” At that moment young De Stael again renewed 

his solicitations for his mother’s recall from exile. Bonaparte 

then stepped up to him and pinched his ear with that air of 

familiarity which was customary to him when he was in good 
humor or wished to appear so. “You are young,” said he; 

“if you had my age and experience you would judge of things 
more correctly. I am far from being displeased with your 

frankness. I like to see a son plead his mother’s cause. 
Your mother has given you a difficult commission, and you 

have executed it cleverly. I am glad 1 have had this oppor¬ 

tunity of eon versing with you. 1 love to talk with young 
people when they are unassuming and not too fond of arguing. 

But in spite of that I will not hold out false hopes to you. 

Murat has already spoken to me on the subject, and 1 have 
told him, as l now tell you, that my will is irrevocable. If 

your mother were in prison I should not hesitate to liberate 

her, but nothing shall induce me to recall her from exile.” — 

“ But, Sire, is she not as unhappy in being banished from her 

country and her friends its if she were in prison ?” — “ Oh ! 
these are your mother’s romantic ideas. She is exceedingly 

Empress, in writing to her father, addresses her hater to 7/fa Sacred timl Im¬ 
perial Majvntt;. Is this title customary with you V ’ I told him that it was, 
from the'tradition of tin' old (ionium Empire, which boro the title of the 
Holy Empire, and beeatme it was also attached to the Apostolic crown of 
Hungary. Napoleon then replied in a grave tone, ‘ It is a line custom and a 
good expression. Power comes from (*od, and it is that alone which places 
it hryond the attack of mm. Hence l shall adopt the title some day' ” 
(Metieniiehi tome i. p. ‘2711). 
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unhappy9 and much to be pitied, no doubt! ... With the 

exception of Paris she has all Europe for her prison.” — “ But, 

Sire, her friends are in Paris.” — “ With her talents she may 
make friends anywhere. After all, I cannot understand why 

she should be so anxious to come to Paris. Why should she 
wish to place herself immediately within the reach of my 
tyranny ? Can she not go to Pome, to Berlin, to Vienna, to 
Milan, or to London ? Yes, let her go to London ; that is the 
place for her. There she may libel me as much as she pleases. 

In short, she has my full liberty to be anywhere but in Paris. 
You see. Monsieur de Stael, that is the place of my residence, 
and there I will have only those who are attached to me. I 
know from experience that if I were to allow your mother to 
come to Paris she would spoil everybody about me. She 
would finish the spoiling of Garat. It was she who ruined 
the Tribunate. I know she would promise wonders; but she 

cannot refrain from meddling with politics.”—“I can assure 
your Majesty that my mother does not now concern herself 
about politics. She devotes herself exclusively to the society 
of her friends and to literature.” — “ Ah, there it is! . . . 

Literature ! Do you think I am to be imposed upon by that 
word ? While discoursing on literature, morals, the fine arts, 

and such matters, it is easy to dabble in politics. Let women 
mind their knitting. If your mother were in Paris I should 
hear all sorts of reports about her. Things might, indeed, be 
falsely attributed to her: but, be that as it may, I will have 
nothing of the kind going on in the capital in which I reside. 

All things considered, advise your mother to go to London. 
That is the best place for her. As for your grandfather. I 
have not spoken too severely of him. M. Necker knew noth¬ 
ing of the art of government. I have learned something of 
the matter during the last twenty years.” — “All the world, 
Sire, renders justice to your Majesty’s genius, and there is no 

one but acknowledges that the finances of France are now 
more prosperous than ever they were before your reign. 

But permit me to observe that your Majesty must, doubtless, 
have seen some merit in the financial regulations of my 
grandfather, since you have adopted some of them in the 



STATE DEBTS ALWAYS SACRED. 143 

admirable system you have established.” — “That proves 
nothing; for two or three, good ideas do not constitute a good 
system. Be that as it may, I say again, I will never allow 
your mother to return to Paris.” — “But, Sire, if sacred inter¬ 
ests should absolutely require her presence there for a few 
days would not-” — “ How! Sacred interests ! What do 
you mean ? ” — “ Yes, Sire, if you do not allow her to return 

I shall be obliged to go there, unaided by her advice, in order 
to recover from your Majesty’s Government the payment of a 
sacred debt.” — “Ah! bah! Sacred! Are not all the debts 
of the State sacred ? ” — “ Doubtless, Sire ; but ours is atr 

tended with circumstances which give it a peculiar character.” 
— “A peculiar character ! Nonsense ! Does not every State 
creditor say the same of his debt ? Besides, I know nothing 
of your claim. It does not concern me, and I will not meddle 
with it. If you have the law on your side so much the better; 

but if you want favor I tell you I will not interfere. If I did, 

I should be rather against you than otherwise.” — “Sire, my 
brother and myself had intended to settle in France, but how 
can we live in a country where our mother cannot visit us ? ” 

— “ I do not care for that. I do not advise you to come here. 

Go to England. The English like wrangling politicians. Go 

there, for in France, I tell you candidly, that I should be 
rather against you than for you.” 

“After this conversation,” added Duroc, “the Emperor got 
into the carriage with me without stopping to look to the 
other petitions which had been presented to him. He pre¬ 
served unbroken silence until he got nearly opposite the cas¬ 
cade, on the left of the road, a few leagues from Chambery. 
He appeared to be absorbed in reflection. At length he said, 
‘ 1 fear I have been somewhat too harsh with this young man. 
. . . But no matter, it will prevent others from troubling me. 

These people calumniate everything I do. They do not un¬ 

derstand me, Duroc ; their place is not in France. How can 
Keeker’s family be for the Bourbons, whose first duty, if ever 

they returned to France, would be to hang them all ? ’ ” 1 

1 After all the outcry which has been raised about the tyrannical conduct 
of Napoleon towards Madame de Stael, there is some point in his question as 
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This conversation, related to me by Duroc, interested me £ 

much that I noted it down on paper immediately after m 

interview.2 

to why she was so anxious to place herself under his tyranny. Napolet 
knew her as a clever, meddling, ambitious woman, and he prevented h 
from stirring up political strife in Paris at a time when the land called f 
internal even more than for external peace. As Napoleon said to Mette 
nich, “ If Madame de Stael would be, or could be, either a Royalist or aR 
publican, I should have nothing to say against her: but she is a machine 
motion which will make a disturbance in the salons. It is only in Fram 
that such a woman is to be feared, and I will not agree to it (her return] 
(Metternich, tome i. p. 281). 

2 After the fall of Bonaparte Auguste de Stael became an orator and 
political writer of high reputation. See his (Euvres diverses, Paris, 1829. 



CHAPTER XV. 

1808. 

The Republic of Batavia — The crown of Holland offered to Louis — Offer 

and refusal of the crown of Spain —'Napoleon’s attempt to get possession 

of Brabant—Napoleon before and after Erfurt — A remarkable letter to 
Louis — Louis summoned to Paris — His honesty and courage — His bold 

language— Louis’ return to Holland, and his letter to Napoleon—Harsh 

letter from Napoleon to Louis — Affray at Amsterdam—Napoleon’s dis¬ 

pleasure and last letter to his brother — Louis’ abdication in favor of his 

son— Union of Holland to the French Empire — Protest of Louis against 

that measure — Letter from M. Otto to Louis. 

While Bonaparte was the chief of the French Republic he 

had no objection to the existence of a Batavian Republic in 

the north of France, and he equally tolerated the Cisalpine 

lie public in the south. But after the coronation all the Re¬ 

publics, which were grouped like satellites round the grand 

Republic, were converted into kingdoms subject to the Empire, 
if not avowedly, at least in fact. In this respect there was no 

difference between the Batavian and Cisalpine Republics.1 The 

1 It may bo interesting to detail the various Republics formed or renamed 
during the Revolutionary wars. Franco itself, declared a Republic on 21st 
September, 171)2, became an Empire in 1804. The Batavian Republic was 
formed of Holland in 1705; it became a kingdom under Louis Bonaparte in 
1800, and after being annexed to the French Empire in 1810 fell to the House 
of Orange in 1815. Switzerland became the Helvetian Republic in 1798, and 
the Swiss Confederation in 1808. The Valais, occupied by the French in 
1801, was made a separate Republic in 1802: it was annexed to the Empire 
in 1810, and restored to Switzerland in 1815. Another of the Swiss States, 
the Pays do Vaud, was named the Rdpublique Lemaniquo in 1798, and ended 
as a separate. Clanton. The Republic of the Seven Islands was formed of the 
Ionian Islands, taken from Venice and given to Franco in 1797 by the Treaty 
of Oampo-Eormio. Then, having been taken by the Russians and Turks, 
they we,re formed into the Rcpublique des Sept Isles in 1800, and were so rec¬ 
ognized by the Treaty of A miens in 1802. They were restored to France by Rus¬ 
sia undor’tho Treaty of Tilsit in 1807, but were taken by the English in 1809. 
From 1815 tin’s Republic remained under English protection till 1804, when 
the English withdrew, and the Republic joined Greece. The little Repub¬ 
lic of Ragusa was occupied by the French in 1805, and its government was 
broken up in 1808, after which it bee,aim*, part of the Illyrian provinces, 
eventually falling to Austria in 1815. The Italian Republics were many. 
The Transpadane Republic had been intended by Napoleon to be formed of 
Lombardy, but in 1797 it was joined to the Oispadane to form the Cisalpine 
Republic! The Oispadane Republic was lirst formed by Napoleon, in 1790, 

145 
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latter having been metamorphosed into the Kingdom of Italy, 

it was necessary to find some pretext for transforming tie* 

former into the Kingdom of Holland. The government of 

the Republic of Batavia had been for some time past m»*n*l\ 

the shadow of a government, but still it preserved, even in it:, 

submission to France, those internal forms of freedom u hieh 
console a nation for the loss of independence. The Emperor 

kept up such an extensive agency in Holland that he easily 

got up a deputation soliciting him to choose a king for the 

Batavian Republic. This submissive deputation came to Paris 

in 1806 to solicit the Emperor, as a favor, to place Prince 

Louis on the throne of Ilolland. The address of the deputa¬ 

tion, the answer of Napoleon, and the speech of Louis on 

being raised to the sovereign dignity , have all been published. 

Louis became King of Holland much against his ineliuut ion, 

for he opposed the proposition as much as he dared, alleging 

as an objection the state of his health, to which certainly the 

climate of Holland was not favorable ; but Bonaparte sternly 

replied to his remonstrance, 44 It is Letter to die a king than 

live a prince.” He was then obliged to aeeept the crown. He 

went to .Holland accompanied by Hurt cu.m*, who, however, did 

not stay long there. The new King wanted to make himself 

beloved by his subjects, and as they were an entirely commer¬ 

cial people the best way to win their affections was not to 

adopt Napoleon’s rigid laws against commercial intercourse 

with England. Hence the first coolness In*!ween the two 

brothers, which ended in the abdication of Louis, 

from the legations of Bologna and Ferrara, Modwiu, Haggle, He. In 17**7, 
the Oispadane and theTranspudane wore unit* *1 to form f hoi 1m itpinc Rcpub- 
lie, winch included Lombardy and the former Austrian and Venetian pm\ 
inces of Modena, Reggio, Brescia, Mantua, the three Legations of Bologna, 
Ferrara, and Romagna, and the Valtellhie, with a population »f about 
3,fHX),(XX). The Cisalpine became the Italian Republic in IHOi, and in IHU‘» 
was changed into the Kingdom of Italy, Napoleon Idmmdf memming the 
crown, which, however, was not to be again muted to that of France. The 
Ligurian Republic, was formed in 1797 of Ocihui ; in IHt$5 it was annexed to 
I1 ranee, and in 1815 it fell to Sardinia, much to its discontent. Tim Roman 
or 'I iberine Republic was formed in February, 17**8, when Berthier occupied 
the city, but it fell when Italy was reconquered from the Fn nob In 17b*1, 
again coming under the Pope. The Purthenopean Republic, formed of Niv 
pies, in January, 1709, only existed till July, I7t#9, when the HourUm* retook 
it. I no little Republic of Lucca, in 18**5, wan converted into a Principality 
for Llisa Bonaparte (Princess Baedoehi). R&h* wit# the Republic of U*ur»- 
sia from 1792 to 1793. 
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I know not whether Napoleon recollected the motive as¬ 
signed by Louis for at first refusing the crown of Holland, 
namely, the climate of the country, or whether he calculated 

upon greater submission in another of his brothers ; but this 
is certain, that Joseph was not called from the throne of 
Naples to the throne of Spain until after the refusal of Louis. 
I have in my possession a copy of a letter written to him by 

Napoleon on the subject. It is without date of time or place, 
but its contents prove it to have been written in March or 
April, 1808. It is as follows : — 

Brother— The King of Spain, Charles IV., has just abdicated. The 
Spanish people loudly appeal to me. Certain of obtaining no solid peace 
with England unless I cause a great movement on the Continent, I have 
determined to place a French King on the throne of Spain. The climate 
of Holland does not agree with you ; besides, Holland cannot rise from, 
her ruins. In the whirlwind of events, whether we have peace or not, 
there is no possibility of her maintaining herself. In this state of things 
I have thought of the throne of Spain for you. Give me your opinions 
categorically on this measure. If I were to name you King of Spain 
would you accept the offer ? May I count on you ? Answer me these 
two questions. Say, “ I have received your letter of such a day, I answer 
Yes,11 and then I shall count on your doing what I wish ; or say “ No ” 
if you decline my proposal. Let no one enter into your confidence, and 
mention to no one the object of this letter. The thing must be done be¬ 
fore we confess having thought about it.1 

(Signed) Napoleon: 

Before finally seizing Holland Napoleon formed the project 
of separating Brabant and Zealand from it in exchange for 
other provinces, the possession of which was doubtful, but 
Louis successfully resisted this first act of usurpation. Bona¬ 
parte was too intent on the great business in Spain to risk any 
commotion in, the north, where the declaration of Bussia 
against Sweden already sufficiently occupied him. He there¬ 
fore did not insist upon, and even affected indifference to, the 
proposed augmentation of the territory of the Empire. This 
at least may be collected from another letter, dated St. Cloud, 

1 Garden (tome xi. p. 200) alleges that the throne of Spain was first of¬ 
fered by Napoleon to Louis on 27th March, 1808. Du Casse (tome iv. p. 285) 
allows that this may be true, as the first hint given to Joseph of his being 
called to Spain is dated 18th April, 1808; see JJu Casse, tome iv. p. 227. 
Thiers (tome viii. p. 622) assumes that Joseph was the only choice. 
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17th August, written upon hearing from M. Alexandre d 

Rochefoucauld, his Ambassador in Holland, and from 

brother himself, the opposition of Louis to his project. 

The letter was as follows : — 

Brother — I have received your letter relating to that of the Sieu 

la Rochefoucauld. lie was only authorized to make the proposal- 

directly. Since the exchange does not please you let, us think non 

about it. It was useless to make a parade of principles, thouvh 1 n 

said that you ought not to consult the* nation. The well-informed pai 

the Dutch people had already acknowledged their indifference to the 

of Brabant, which is connected with France rather than with I loll; 

and interspersed with expensive fortresses ; it might have been ad' 

tageously exchanged for the northern provinces. But, once for all, s 

you do not like this arrangement, let no more he said about if. It 

useless even to mention it to me, for the ttieur de la Rochefoucauld 

instructed merely to hint the matter. 

Though ill humor hero evidently peeps out beneath aiTee 

condescension, yet the tone of this letter is singularly m 

erate, — I may even say kind, in comparison with other iHt 
which Napoleon addressed to Louis. This letter, it is ti 

was written previously to the interview at Krfurt, when Na 
Icon, to avoid alarming Russia, made his ambition appeal 

slumber. But when he got his brother Joseph recognized, ; 
when he laid himself sfruek an important blow in the IVr 

sula, ho began to change his tone to Louis. On tin* 2Bth 

December he wrote a very remarkable let,ter, whieh exhil 

the unreserved expression of that tyranny whieh he wished 
exoreise over all his family in order to make them th * bust 
meats of his despotism. He reproached Louis for not- f'nlh 

ing his system of policy, telling him that hi* had forgotten 

was a Frenchman, and that he wished to become a Outehm 
Among other things In* said : — 

Your Majesty has done more: you took advantage <>f the moment wl 

I was involved in the affairs of the ('eminent, to renew the relations 

tween Holland and Bngland - to violate the laws of tin- blockade, w h 

are the only means of effectually destroying the latter power. I espjvs 

my’dissatisfaction by forbidding yon to come to France, and I have m, 

you feel that even without the assistance of m> armies, f>\ merely clos 

the Rhine, the Weser, the Scheldt, and I he Meuse against Holland 

should have plaited her in a situation more critical than if I had deela 



NAPOLEON TO LOUIS. 149 

war against her. Your Majesty implored my generosity, appealed to my 
feelings as a brother, and promised to a,Iter your eonduct. I thought this 
warning would be sullieient. 1 raised my custom-house prohibitions, blit 
your Majesty has returned to your old system. . . . Your Majesty re¬ 
ceived all the American ships that presented themselves in the ports of 
Holland after having beam expelled from those of France. I have been 
obliged a second time to prohibit trade with Holland. In this state of 
things we may consider ourselves really at war. in my speech to the 
Legislative Body I manifested my displeasure; for I will not conceal from 
you that my intention is to unite Holland with France. This will be the 
most, severe blow L can aim against England, and will deliver me from the 
perpetual insults which the plotters of your Cabinet are constantly direct¬ 
ing against me. The mouths of the Rhine and of the Meuse ought, 
indeed, to belong to me. The principle that the Thalweg (towing-path) 
of the Rhine is the boundary of France is a fundamental principle. Your 
Majesty writes tome on the 17th that you are sure of being able to pre¬ 
vent all trade between Holland and England. I am of opinion that your 
Majesty promises more than you can fulfil. I shall, however, remove 
my custom-house prohibitions whenever the existing treaties may be exe¬ 
cuted. The following are my conditions: — First, The interdiction of all 
trade, and communication with England. Second, The supply of a fleet 
of fourteen sail of the line, seven frigates and seven brigs or corvettes, 
armed and maimed. Third, An army of 25,000 men. Fourth, The sup¬ 
pression of the. rank of marshals. Fifth, The abolition of all the privi¬ 
leges of nobility which arts contrary to the constitution which I have given 
and guaranteed. Your Majesty may negotiate on these bases with the 
Duo tie (’adore, through the medium of your Minister; but be assured 
that on the entrance of the first packet-boat into Holland 1 will restore 
my prohibitions, and that the first Dutch of leer •who may presume to in¬ 
sult mi/Jlag shall he seized and hanged at the mainyard. Your Majesty 
will find in me a brother if you prove yourself a Frenchman; but if you 
forget the sentiments which attach you to our common country you can¬ 
not think it extraordinary that l should lose sight of those which nature 
created between us. In short, the union of Holland and France will be, 
of all tilings, most useful to France, to Holland, and the whole Continent, 
because it will be most injurious to England. This union must be effected 
willingly or by force. Holland has given me sufficient reason to declare 
war against her. However, I shall not scruple to consent to an arrange¬ 
ment, which will secure to me the limit of the Rhine, and by which Hol¬ 
land will pledge herself to fulfil the conditions stipulated above.1 

i Much of the manner in which Napoleon treated occupied countries such 
as Holland is explained by the spirit of his answer when Bougnot complained 
to him or the harm done to the Grand Duchy of Berg by the monopoly of 
tobacco. “It is extraordinary that you should not have discovered the 
motive that makes mo persist, in the establishment of the monopoly of to¬ 
bacco in the Grand Duchy. The question is not about your Grand Duchy 
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Here the correspondence between the two brothers was sus¬ 

pended for a time; but Louis still continued exposed to new 

vexations on the part of Napoleon. About the. end of 1X09 
the Emperor summoned al] the sovereigns who might be 

called his vassals to Paris. Among the number was Louis, 

who, however, did not show himself very willing to (put his 

States. He called a council of his Ministers, who were of 

opinion that for the interest of Holland he ought to make 

this new sacrifice. He did so with resignation. Indeed, every 

day passed on the throne was a sacrifice made by Louis. 

He lived very quietly in Paris, and was closely watched by 

the police, for it was supposed that as he, had come against 

his will he would not p>rotract his stay so long as Napoleon 
wished. The system of espionage under which he found him¬ 

self placed, added to the other circumstances of his situation, 
inspired him with a degree of energy of which he was not 

believed to be capable ; and amidst the general silence of the 

servants of the Empire, and even of the Kings and I bailees 

assembled in the capital, he ventured to say, I have been 

deceived by promises which were never intended to be* kept. 

Holland is tired of being the sport of France/’ The* Emperor, 
who was unused to such language as this, was highly incensed 

at it. Louis had now no alternative* but to yield to the* inees- 
sant exactions of Napoleon or to see* Holland uniteel to France*. 

He chose the latter, though not before* he had i*x<*rtt*<i all his 

feeble power in behalf of the subjects whom Napoleon had 
consigned to him; but he would not be* the* accomplice* of 

the man who had resolved to make those* subjects the* victims 

of his hatred against England. Who, indeed, could be* so 
blind as not to see that the ruin of the Continent would be 
the triumph of British commerce ? 

but about Franco. T am very well aware that it is* not to your benefit, and 
that you very possibly lose by it, but what does that signify if it lm for the 
good of Franco? I tell you, them, that in every country where there In a 
monopoly of tobacco, but which is contiguous to one where the sale i§ free, a 
regular smuggling infiltration must be reckoned on, supplying the eonnump- 
tion for twenty or twenty-five miles into the country subject to the duly. 
That is what I intend to preserve France from. You must protect yourselves 
as well as you can from this infiltration. It is enough for me to drive It 
back more than twenty or twenty-five miles from my frontier ** (lieat/nut. 
vol. ii. p. 26). 
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Louis was, however, permitted to return to his States to 

contemplate the stagnating effect of the Continental blockade 
on every branch of trade and industry formerly so active in 

Holland. Distressed at witnessing evils to which he could 

apply no remedy, he endeavored by some prudent remon¬ 
strances to avert the utter ruin with which Holland was 

threatened. On the 23d of March, 1810, he wrote the follow¬ 
ing letter to Napoleon: — 

If you wish to consolidate the present state of France, to obtain mari¬ 
time peace, or to attack England with advantage, those objects are not to 
be obtained by measures like the blockading system, the destruction of a 
kingdom raised by yourself, or the enfeebling of your allies, and setting 
at defiance their most sacred rights and the first principles of the law of 
nations. You should, on the contrary, win their affections for France, 
and consolidate and re-enforce your allies, making them like your brothers, 
in whom you may place confidence. The destruction of Holland, far from 
being the. means of assailing England, will serve only to increase her 
strength, by all the industry and wealth which will fly to her for refuge. 
There are, in reality, only three ways of assailing England, namely, by 
detaching Ireland, getting possession of the East Indies, or by invasion. 
These, two latter modes, which would be the most effectual, cannot be 
executed without naval force. But I am astonished that tlie first should 
have, been so easily relinquished. That is a more secure mode of obtain¬ 
ing peace on good conditions than the system of injuring ourselves for 
the sake of committing a greater injury upon the enemy. 

(Signed) Louis. 

Written remonstrances were no more to Napoleon’s taste 

than verbal ones at ft time when, as I was informed by my 
friends whom fortune chained to his destiny, no one presumed 
to address a word to him except in answer to his questions. 

(Jambaecres, who alone had retained that privilege in public 
as his old colleague in the Consulate, lost it after Napo¬ 
leon’s marriage with the daughter of Imperial Austria. His 

brother's letter highly roused his displeasure. Two months 
after In* received it, being on a journey in the north, he replied 

from (intend by a letter which cannot bo read without a feel¬ 

ing of pain, since it serves to show how weak are the most 

sacred ties of blood in comparison with the interests of an 

insatiable policy. This letter was as follows: — 



152 MEMOIRS OE XA ROLEo.X IU >A\ l PA ETE. 

Broth eh—In the. situation in which uc an* placed it is bos! to speak 
candidly. I know your secret sent intent s, and all that you ran .as to tin* 
contrary can avail nothing. Holland is certainly in a melancholy m{ ua- 
tion. I believe you are anxious to extricate her from Iter ditheulth*s; it 
is you, and you alone, who can do this. \\ hen sou conduct yourself in 
such a way as to induce tint people of Holland to believe that \uii art 
underlay intluenee, that all your measures and all your sentiments an* 
conformable with mine, then you will be loved, you will be esteemed, ami 
you will acquire the power requisite for re-establishing Holland: when to 
be my friend, and the friend of France, shall become a title of favor at 
your court, Holland will be in her natural sit nation. Nince soar return 
from Paris you have done nothing to effect this object. What will 1m* the 
result of your conduct ? Your subjects, bandied about between France 
and England, will throw themselves into the at ms of France, and will 
demand to be united to her. You know my character, which is to pursue 
my object unimpeded by tiny eonsiderafion. What, tItereJore, do you 
expect me to do? I can dispense w it h Holland, hut Holland cannot 
dispense with my protect ion. If. under the dominion of one of my 
brothers, but looking to me alone for her welfare, she does not find in her 
sovereign my image, all confidence in your government is at an end; 
your sceptre is broken. Hove France. love my glory that is the only 
way to serve Holland: if you had acted as von ought to have done that 
country, having become a part of my Empire, would have been the more 
dear to me since I had given her a sovereign whom I almod regarded 
as my son. In placing you on the throne of Holland I thought I had 
placed a French citizen there. You have followed a course diametri¬ 
cally opposed to vvhat I expert ed, l have been forced to prohibit you 
from coming to France, and to take possession of a part of vottr teni 
tory. In proving yourself a bad Frenchman \oii are lev* to the Hutch 
than a Prince of Orang *, to whose family flow owe their rank as a 
nation, and a long succession of prosprjit\ and glorv. By your banish 
ment. from Fra net* the Hutch are convinced that they have lost what they 
would not have lost, under a Sehimmelpeiutiuck ora Prince of Orange, 
Prove yourself a Frenchman, and the brother of fhe Emperor, and he 
assured that thereby you will serve the interests of Holland. But you 
seem to be incorrigible, for you would drive away flu* few Frenchmen 
who remain with you. You nuts! he dealt with, not by a fleet innate 
ml vice, but by threats ami compulsion. What mean the prayers and 
mysterious fasts you have ordered ? Louis, yon will not reign long. 
\ our actions disclose better than vour confidential letters the sentiments of 
your mind. Jteturn to tin* right course. Be a Frenchman In heart, or your 
people will banish you, ami you will leave Holland tin object of ridiculed 

. 1 rt was, on the contrary, because Emm made himself a Bnfrlmmn that 
bis people did wd banish him, ami that le- # a ried awav with him the regret 
of all that portion of his Huhjeets who could tppreefate httt excellent qn ill 
ties ami possessed good sense enough to perceive that he w«t not to blame 
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States must be. governed by reason and policy, and not by the weak¬ 
ness produced by acrid and vitiated humors. 

(Signed) Napoleon. 

A few days after this letter was despatched to Louis, 
Napoleon heard of a paltry affray which had taken place at 
Amsterdam, and to which Comte de la Rochefoucauld gave a 
temporary diplomatic importance, being aware that he could 
not better please his master than by affording him an excuse 
for being angry. It appeared that the honor of the Count’s 
coachman had been pub in jeopardy by the insult of a citizen 
of Amsterdam, and a quarrel had ensued, which, but for the 
interference of the guard of the*, palace, might have terminated 
seriously since it assumed the character of a party affair be¬ 
tween tin* French and Dutch. M. de la Rochefoucauld imme¬ 
diately despatched to the Emperor, who was then at Lille, a 
full report of his coachman’s quarrel, in which he expressed 
himself with as much earnestness as the illustrious author of 
tin* u Maxims ” evinced when lie waged war against kings. 
The. consequence was that Napoleon instantly fulminated the 
following letter against his brother Louis: — 

Broth F.n —■ At. the very moment when you wore making the fairest 
protestations I learn that. the. servants of my Ambassador have boon ill- 
treated at Amsterdam. I insist, that, those who we.ro guilty of this out¬ 
rage be delivered up to me, in order that their punishment may serve, as an 
example to others. The Nieur Serrurior has informed me how you con¬ 
ducted yourself at the diplomatic audiences. I have, consequently, 
determined that the Dutch Ambassador shall not remain in Paris; and 
Admiral Verhuell has received orders to depart within twe.id.y-four hours. 
1 want no more, phrases and protestations. It is time I should know 
whether you intend to ruin Holland by your follies. I do not choose 
that, you should again send a Minister to Austria, or that, you should 
dismiss the French who are. in your service. I have recalled my Ambas¬ 
sador as 1 intend only to have a chartjfi d'affaires in Holland. The. Nieur 
Semirier, who remains there, in that capacity, will communicate my 
Intentions. My Ambassador shall no longer be exposed to your insults. 

for the evils that, weighed upon I Tolland. — Jtavrriennv. The conduct of 
Bonaparte to Murat, was almost, a counterpart to this. When Murat at¬ 
tempted to consult, the interests of Naples he was called a traitor to France. 
—Editor of edition. 
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Write to me no more of those set phrases which you have been repeating 
for the last three years, and the falsehood of which is proved every day. 

This is the last letter I will ever write to you as long as I live. 
(Signed) N apoleon. 

Thus reduced to the cruel alternative of crushing Holland 
with his own hands, or leaving that task to the Emperor, 
Louis did not hesitate to lay down, his sceptre. Having 

formed this resolution, he addressed a message to the Legisla¬ 

tive Body of the Kingdom of Holland explaining the motives 
of his abdication. The French troops entered Holland under 
the command of the Duke of Keggio, and that marshal, who 

was more a king than the King himself, threatened to occupy 
Amsterdam. Louis then descended from his throne, and four 
years after Napoleon was hurled from his. 

In his act of abdication Louis declared that he had been 
driven to that step by the unhappy state of his Kingdom, 

which he attributed to his brother’s unfavorable feelings 

towards him. He added that he had made every effort and 
sacrifice to put an end to that painful state of things, and 
that, finally, he regarded himself as the cause of the continual 
misunderstanding between the French Empire and Holland. 
It is curious that Louis thought he could abdicate the crown, 
of Holland in favor of his son, as Napoleon only four years 

after wished to abdicate his crown in favor of the King of 
Koine. 

Louis bade farewell to the people of Holland in a proclama¬ 
tion, after the publication of which he repaired to the waters 
at Toeplitz. There he was living in tranquil retirement when 

he learned that his brother had united Holland to the Empire. 
He then published a protest, of which I obtained a copy, 
though its circulation was strictly prohibited by the police. 
In this protest Louis said: — 

The constitution of the state guaranteed by the Emperor, my brother, 
gave me the right of abdicating in favor of my children. That abdica¬ 
tion was made in the form and terms prescribed by the constitution. The 
Emperor had no right to declare war against Holland, and he has not 
done so. 

There is no act, no dissent, no demand of the Dutch nation that can 
authorize the pretended union. 
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My abdication does not leave the throne vacant. I have abdicated 
only in favor of my children. 

As that abdication left Holland for twelve years under a regency, that 
is to say, under the direct influence of the Emperor, according to the 
terms of the constitution, there was no need of that union for executing 
every measure he might have in view against trade and against. England, 
since his will was supreme in Holland. 

But I ascended the throne without any other conditions except’those 
imposed upon me by my conscience, my duty, and the interest aii<Lwel- 
fare of my subjects. X therefore declare before God and the independent 
sovereigns to whom I address myself— . 

First, That the treaty of the 16tii of March, 1810, which occasioned 
the separation of the province of Zealand and Brabant from Holland, 
was accepted by compulsion, and ratified conditionally by .hie in Paris, 
where I was detained against'my will; and.that, moreover, the treaty 
was never executed by the Emperor my brother. Instead of 6000 French 
troops which I was to maintain, according to the terms of the treaty, 
that number has been more than doubled:; instead of'occupying only the 
mouths of the rivers and the coasts,: ihe French custom-houses have 
encroached into the interior of the country; instead of the interference 
of France being confined to the measures connected with the blockade of 
England, Dutch magazines have been seized and Dutch subjects arbi¬ 
trarily imprisoned; finally, none of the verbal promises have been kept 
which were made in the Emperor’s name by the Due de Cad ore to grant 
indemnities for the countries ceded by the said treaty and to mitigate its 
execution, if the King would refer entirely to the Emperor, etc. I 
declare, in my name, in the name of the nation and my son, the treaty 
of the 16th of March, 1810, to be null and void. 

Second, I declare that my abdication was forced by the Emperor, my 
brother, that it was made only as the last extremity, and on this one con¬ 
dition— that I should maintain the rights of Holland and my children. 
My abdication could only be made in their favor. 

Third, in my name, in the name of the King, my son,1 who is as yet a 

1 The eldest son of Louis, one of the fruits of his unhappy marriage with 
Hortense Beauharnais, the daughter of Josephine, the wife of his brother 
Napoleon, was little more than six years of age when his father abdicated the 
crown of Holland in his favor. In 1830-31 this imprudent young man joined 
the ill-combined mad insurrection in the States of the Pope. He was pres¬ 
ent in one or two petty skirmishes, and was, we believe, wounded; but it 
was a malaria fever caught in the unhealthy Campagna of Koine that carried 
him to the grave in the twenty-seventh year of his age. — Editor of 1836 edi¬ 
tion. The first child of Ijouis and of Hortense had died in 1807. The second 
son, Napoleon Louis (1804-1831) in whose favor he abdicated, had been created 
Grand Due de Berg et de Cloves by Napoleon in 1809. He married in 1825 
Charlotte, the daughter of Joseph Bonaparte, and died in 1831, while engaged 
in a revolutionary movement in Italy. On his death his younger brother, 
Charles Louis Napoleon, the future Napoleon III., first came forward as an 
aspirant. 
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minor, and in tlie name of the Dutch nation, I declare the pretended 
union of Holland to France, mentioned in the decree of the Emperor, my 
brother, dated the 9th of July last, to be null, void, illegal, unjust, and 
arbitrary in the eyes of God and man, and that the nation and the minor 
King will assert their just rights when circumstances permit them. 

(Signed) Louis. 
August 1, 1810. 

Thus there seemed to be an end of all intercourse between 

these two brothers, who were so opposite in character and 
disposition. But Napoleon, who was enraged that Louis 

should have presumed to protest, and that in energetic 

terms, against the union of his Kingdom with the Empire, 
ordered him to return to France, whither he was summoned 
in his character of Constable and French Prince. Louis, 
however, did not think proper to obey this summons, and 
Napoleon, mindful of his promise of never writing to him 
again, ordered the following letter to be addressed to him by 
M. Otto, who had been Ambassador from France to Vienna 
since the then recent marriage of the Emperor with Maria 

Louisa: — 

Sire — The Emperor directs me to write to your Majesty as follows : — 
“It is the duty of every French Prince, and every member of the 

Imperial family, to reside in France, whence they cannot absent them¬ 
selves without the permission of the Emperor. Before the union of Hol¬ 
land to the Empire the Emperor permitted the King to reside at Tceplitz, 
in Bohemia. His health appeared to require the use of the waters, but 
now the Emperor requires that Prince Louis shall return, at the latest 
by the 1st of December next, under pain of being considered as disobey¬ 
ing the constitution of the Empire and the head of his family, and being 
treated accordingly.” 

I fulfil, Sire, word for word the mission with which I have been in¬ 
trusted, and I send the chief secretary of the embassy to be assured that 
this letter is rightly delivered. I beg your Majesty to accept the homage 
of my respect, etc. (Signed) Otto. 

What a letter was this to be addressed by a subject to a 
prince and a sovereign! When I afterwards saw M. Otto in 
Paris, and conversed with him on the subject, he assured me 

how much he had been distressed at the necessity of writing 
such a letter to the brother of the Emperor. He had em- 
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ployed the expressions dictated by Napoleon in that irritation 
which he could never command when his will was opposed.1 

1 With regard to Louis and his conduct in Holland Napoleon thus spoke 
at St. Helena: — 

“ Louis is not devoid of intelligence, and has a good heart, but even with 
these qualifications a man may commit many errors, and do a great deal of 
mischief. Louis is naturally inclined to be capricious and fantastical, and 
the works of Jean Jacques Rousseau have contributed to increase this dispo¬ 
sition. Seeking to obtain a reputation for sensibility and beneficence, inca¬ 
pable by himself of enlarged views, and, at most, competent to local details, 
Louis acted like a prefect rather than a King. 

“No sooner had he arrived in Holland than, fancying that nothing could be 
finer than to have it said that he was thenceforth a true Dutchman, he attached 
himself entirely to the party favorable to the English, promoted smuggling, 
and thus connived with our enemies. It became necessary from that moment 
to watch over him, and even threaten to wage war against him. Louis then 
seeking a refuge against the weakness of his disposition in the most stubborn 
obstinacy, and mistaking a public scandal for an act of glory, fled from his 
throne, declaiming against me and against my insatiable ambition, my intol¬ 
erable tyranny, etc. What then remained for me to do? Was I to abandon 
Holland to our enemies ? Ought I to have given it another King ? But in that 
case could I have expected more from him than from my own brother? Did 
not all the Kings that I created act nearly in the same manner? I therefore 
united Holland to the Empire, and this act produced a most unfavorable 
impression in Europe, and contributed not a little to lay the foundation of 
our misfortunes ” (Memorial de Sainte Helene). 



CHAPTER XVI. 

1809. 

Demands for contingents from some of the small States of Germany — M. 
Metternich — Position of Russia with respect to France — Union of Austria 
and Russia —Return of the English to Spain — Soult King of Portugal, 
and Murat successor to the Emperor — First levy of the landwehre in 
Austria — Agents of the Hamburg Correspondant —Declaration of Prince 
Charles—Napoleon’s march to Germany—His proclamation — Berna- 
dotte’s departure for the army — Napoleon’s dislike of Bernadotte — 
Prince Charles’s plan of campaign — The English at Cuxhaven — Fruit¬ 
lessness of the plots of England — Napoleon wounded — Napoleon’s pre¬ 
diction realized — Major Scliill — Hamburg threatened and saved — 
Schill in Liibeck —His death, and destruction of his band —Schill imi¬ 
tated by the Duke of Brunswick-(Els — Departure of the English from 
Cuxhaven. 

Bonaparte, the foundations of whose Empire were his sword 

and his victories, and who was anxiously looking forward to 
the time when the sovereigns of Continental Europe should 
be his juniors, applied for contingents of troops from the 
States to which I was accredited.1 The Duchy of Mecklen- 
burg-Schwerin was to furnish a regiment of 1800 men, and 
the other little States, such as Oldenburg and Mecklenburg- 

Strelitz, were to furnish regiments of less amount. All 
Europe was required to rise in arms to second the gigantic 

projects of the new sovereign. This demand for contingents, 
and the positive way in which the Emperor insisted upon 

them, gave rise to an immense correspondence, which, how¬ 

ever, was unattended by any result. The notes and orders 
remained in the portfolios, and the contingents staid at 
home.2 

M. Metternich,8 whose talent has since been so conspicu- 

1 The contingents required were those the States of the Confederation of 
the Rhine were bound to furnish; see note on the Confederation, p. 40. 

2 On the contrary some served in Spain for several years, and others par¬ 
ticipated in the severities of the Russian campaign. 

3 Metternich arrived in Paris as Ambassador on 4th August, 1800, after 
Austria had been vanquished at Austerlitz. It does not seem probable, 
either from his views or his correspondence, that he advised the rash attempt 
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ously (lisj)liiyc(l, had been for upwards of a y<*ar Ambassador 

from Austria to Paris. Rven then la* excelled in the art o! 

guiding men’s minds, and of turning to the advantage of his 

policy Ills external graees and the favor he acquired in the 

drawing-room. .His fat Inn*, a clever man, brought up in the 

old diplomatic- school of Thugut and Kaunifz, had early accus¬ 

tomed him to the task of making other (U »vernments believe, 

by means of agents, what might, load them into error and tend 
to the advantage of his own (Jovernnient. His mameuvres 

tended to make Austria assume a discontented and haughty 
tone; and wishing, as she. said, to secure her independence, 

she publicly declared her intent,ion of protecting herself 

against any enterprise similar to those of which she had so 

often been the victim. This language, encouraged by the 

complete evacuation of Germany, a,ml the war in Spain, the 

unfortunate issue of which was generally foreseen, was used 

in time of peace between tin* two empires, and when Fra nee 

was not threatening war to Austria,. 
M. Metternieh, who had instructions from his Gourt, gave 

no satisfactory explanation of those circumstances to Nape 
Icon, who immediately raised a. conscription, and brought 

soldiers from Spain info Germany. 
It was necessary, also, to come to an understanding with 

Russia,, who, being engaged with her wars in Finland and 
Turkey, appeared desirous neither to enter into alliance with 

Austria nor to afford her support. What, in fuel, was the 
Fmperov Alexander’s situation with respeet to Fra nee ? He 

had signed a treaty of peace at Tilsit which he felt had been 

forced upon him, and he knew that time alone would render it 

of Austria to attack Napoleon by hewlf; compare Mi ttn'nich> torn** b p. (Pa, 
on the mistake of Prussia in 1K0."> and I MOP; sec also tome it, p, P'.'l, u To pro¬ 
voke a war with France would be madness ” 11 • t .1 uh ( lHUH) (hi the oti»*>r 
hand, tin4 torn4 of his correspondence in lSUM nh'iiis ealeulaf« d to make 
Austria believe that war was inevitable* ami that her foreos, “so inferior to 
those of France before the insurreotion in Spain, will at least be equal to 
them immediately after that innii ' Home ii. n. What In curious Is 
that Metteruich’s conduct toward N tpole m vs bile Ambassador had led even 
such men as Ihtko Palbcrg to bclir\e th.it lie was really so well disposed 
toward Napoleon as to serve his cause more than that oj* Austria; see 1/r» 
vtoint of VitrolFx, tome i. p. tip, where VitedPs, the first messenger sent 
from Paris to plead tin* eaune of the Jhmrhotw. in ad\ mod to apply to St ad ion, 
not Metternieh ; see also rpro/hui, tome L p. PL 
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possible for him to take part in a contest which it was evident 
would again be renewed either with Prussia or Austria. 

Every person of common sense must have perceived that 
Austria, in taking up arms, reckoned, if not on the assistance, 
at least on the neutrality of Eussia. Eussia was then engaged 
with two enemies, the Swedes and the Turks, over whom she 
hoped to triumph. She therefore rejoiced to see France again 

engage in a struggle with Austria, and there was no doubt 
that she would take advantage of any chances favorable to 

the latter power to join her in opposing the encroachments of 
France. I never could conceive how, under those circum¬ 
stances, Napoleon could be so blind as to expect assistance 

from Eussia in his quarrel with Austria. He must, indeed, 
have been greatly deceived as to the footing on which the 

two Courts stood with reference to each other — their friendly 

footing and their mutual agreement to oppose the overgrow¬ 
ing ambition of their common enemy. 

The English, who had been compelled to quit Spain, now 

returned there. They landed in Portugal, which might be 
almost regarded as their own colony, and marched against 
Marshal Soult, who left Spain to meet them. Any other man 
than Soult would perhaps have been embarrassed by the 
obstacles which he had to surmount. A great deal has been 

said about his wish to make himself King of Portugal. 
Bernadotte told me, when he passed through Hamburg, that 
the matter had been the subject of much conversation at head¬ 
quarters after the battle of Wagram. Bernadotte placed no 
faith in the report, and I am pretty sure that Napoleon also 

disbelieved it. However, this matter is still involved in the 
obscurity from which it will only be drawn when some person 

acquainted with the intrigue shall give a full explanation of 
it.1 

1 On the rather obscure and complicated subject of Soult’s conduct in this 
matter see Thiers, tome xi. p. 70, and Lanfrey, tome v. p. 93. Soult was 
dreaming of being made King of Portugal at the request of the Portuguese: 
some of his officers were watching his conduct, prepared to seize him if he 
showed any sign of defection, while others had entered into a treacherous 
correspondence with the English. But Soult’s own behavior is quite con¬ 
sistent with loyalty: the elevation of Murat to a throne had opened a wide 
range of ambition to the Marshals. Metternich (tome ii. p. 4(53) said to 
Napoleon in 1810, when the choice of Bernadotte for Sweden was in question: 
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Since I have, with reference to Soult, touched upon the 
subject of his supposed ambition, I will mention here what I 
know of Murat’s expectation of succeeding the Emperor. 
When Romanzow returned from his useless mission of media¬ 
tion to London the Emperor proceeded to Bayonne. Berna- 

dotte, who had an agent in Paris whom he paid highly, told 
me one day that he had received a despatch informing him 

that Murat entertained the idea of one day succeeding the 
Emperor. Sycophants, expecting to derive advantage from 

it, encouraged Murat in this chimerical hope. I know not 

whether Napoleon was acquainted with this circumstance, nor 
what he said of it, but Bernadotte spoke of it to me as a.cer¬ 
tain fact. It would, however, have been very wrong to attach 
great importance to an expression which, perhaps, escaped 

Murat in a moment of ardor, for his natural temperament 
sometimes betrayed him into acts of imprudence, the result 

of which, with a man like Napoleon, was always to be 
dreaded. 

It was in the midst of the operations of the Spanish war, 

which Napoleon directed in person, that he learned Austria 

had for the first time raised the landwehr. I obtained some 

“ Your Majesty will soon be obliged to have one of them (the Marshals) shot, 
in order to moderate the lofty ideas of the rest.” Napoleon treated the 
matter lightly, writing to Soiilt that lie “only remembered Austerlitz ” 
(Sanary, tome iv. p. 200), but the whole matter seems to show that there 
must have been some truth in the reports of the existence of Republican 
conspiracies in the French army. The plan of Argenton, the officer who 
communicated with Wellington, was to let Soult proclaim himself King; the 
army would then revolt, not only against him but against Napoleon. This 
example being followed by the whole army in Spain, “the old army of the 
Republic and of the Empire, remembering what it had been, would be seen 
to abandon the Peninsula and retire to the Pyrenees, proclaiming the deliver¬ 
ance of France and of Europe.” The plot of Malet in 1812 also points in 
the same direction. Mcneval (tome iii. p. 73), however, denies the account 
of these conspiracies given by Nodier (in his Histoire des SocRte's Secretes 
de I’Armee et des Conspirations Militaires contre Bonaparte: London, Long¬ 
man, 1815); indeed Nodier is too imaginative a writer to be much trusted; 
see Mcrlet, tome ii. pp. 72-94. Metternich (tome iii. p. 667), apparently not 
speaking specially of the army, says: “It was under the Empire, and as a 
consequence of the expurgations made by Bonaparte in the administrations, 
that the secret societies began to be reconstituted. Strong of will, Bonaparte 
calculated that instead of employing useless efforts to hinder their re-organ- 
ization it would be easier for him to restrain them by subjecting them to a 
severe control, and even making them subserve his designs. Hence, while 
covering them with ridicule he managed to establish an active police in the 
associations which seemed to him susceptible of being guided; towards all 
the others, on the contrary, he displayed an inflexible severity.” 



162 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 

very curious documents respecting the armaments of Austria 
from the editor of the Hamburg Correspond amt. This paper, 

the circulation of which amounted to not hiss than 60,000, 
paid considerable sums to persons in different parts of Europe 

who were able and willing to furnish the current news. The 

Correspondant paid 6000 francs a year to a clerk in tin* war- 

department at Vienna, and it was this clerk who supplied the 

intelligence that Austria was preparing for war, and that 

orders had been issued in all directions to collect and put in 

motion all the resources of that powerful monarchy. I com¬ 

municated these particulars to the French Government, and 

suggested the necessity of increased vigilance and measures 

of defence. Preceding aggressions, especially that of 1805, 

were not to be forgotten. Similar information probably 

reached the French Government from many quarters. He 

that as it may, the Emperor consigned the military operations 
in Spain to his generals, and departed for Paris, where he 

arrived at the end of January, 1801). He had been in Spain 
only since the beginning of November, 1808,1 and his presence 

there had again rendered our banners victorious. Hut though 

the insurgent troops were beaten the inhabitants showed 

themselves more and more unfavorable to Joseph's cause ; 

and it did not appear very probable, that he could ever seat 

himself tranquilly on the, throne of Madrid. 

1 The successes obtained by Napoleon during his stay of about three 
months in Spain were certainly very great, and mainly resulted from his 
own masterly genius and lightning-like rapidity. The Spanish armies, us 
yet unsupported by British troops, were defeated at Gomenal, Espinosa, 
Keynosa, Tudela, and at the pass of the Somosierra Mountains, ami at an 
early hour of the morning of the 4th December Madrid surrendered. (hi the 
20th of December Bonaparte marched with far superior forces against the 
unfortunate Sir John Moore, who had been sent to advance into Spain both 
by the wrong route and at a wrmitj time. On the 20th» from the heights of 
Ben even to, his eyes wore delighted by seeing the English In full retreat. 
But a blow struck him from another quarter, and leaving Soult to follow up 
Moore he took the road to Paris. 

On 16th January, 1809, was fought the battle of (’orunnu, the results of 
which were the defeat of Soult, the death of the gallant Moore, and the safe 
embarkation of the British troops. ** It excited universal surprise/" says 
Mr. Ijockhart, “ that the Emperor did not immediately return from Bene- 
vento to Madrid to complete and consolidate his Spanish conquest. He, 
however, proceeded, not towards Madrid, but Paris, and this with his utmost 
speed, riding with post-horses on one occasion, not less than 7S English miles 
in five hours and a half, or fourteen miles an hour. The cause of this sudden 
change of purpose and extraordinary haste was a sufficient one, and it ere 
long transpired/' Austria had armed, and was on the point of declaring 
that war which broke out three months later, — Editor of 1836 edition. 
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The Emperor Francis, notwithstanding his counsellors, hesi¬ 
tated about taking the first step *, but at length, yielding to 

the solicitations of England and the secret intrigues of Eussia, 
and, above all, seduced by the subsidies of Great Britain, 
Austria declared hostilities, not at first against France, but 
against her allies of the Confederation of the Ehine. On the 

9th of April Prince Charles, who was appointed commander- 
in-chief of the Austrian troops, addressed a note to the com- 
mander-in-chief of the French army in Bavaria, apprising him 
of the declaration of war. 

A courier carried the news of this declaration to Strasburg 
with the utmost expedition, from whence it was transmitted 
by telegraph to Paris.1 The Emperor, surprised but not dis¬ 
concerted by this intelligence, received it at St. Cloud on the 
11th of April, and two hours after he was on the road to 
Germany,2 The complexity of affairs in which he was then 

involved seemed to give a new impulse to his activity. When 
he reached the army neither his troops nor his Guard had 
been able to come up, and under those circumstances he placed 
himself at the head of the Bavarian troops, and, as it were, 
adopted the soldiers of Maximilian. Six days after his de¬ 

parture from Paris the army of Prince Charles, which had 
passed the Inn, was threatened. The Emperor's headquarters 
were at Donaiiwertli, and from thence he addressed to his 

soldiers one of those energetic and concise proclamations 

1 In one of De Quincey’s essays a curious incident in connection with the 
use of the semaphore telegraphs is described. A ship had arrived at Plym¬ 
outh or Portsmouth with despatches from Lord Wellington, and important 
news from the Peninsula. This was being transmitted in an epitomized form 
to London when a dense fog came on and interrupted, until the following 
morning, the transmission of the message. The words “ Wellington de¬ 
feated— ” had been telegraphed to London, and the temporary ending of 
the message at this point gave rise to the greatest excitement in the Metrop¬ 
olis until the completion of the sentence, “ the French at Salamant.a” 
arrived the next morning, when the fog had cleared off. 

2 Jomini (tome iii. p. 158), saying that Napoleon on 12th, not 11th, April 
received the news of the Austrians having crossed the Inn on 10th April, 
remarks on the wise foresight by which the Emperor had established a line 
of telegraph stations (signal-posts) throughout Germany. Thiers (tome x. 
p 121) takes the same date, 12th April. Metternich (tome ii. p. 351), who 
was then in Paris, says 3 a.m. 13th April. For the extraordinary folly of the 
Austrians in wasting, time in bringing their army on to the Inn, instead of 
debouching from Bohemia, thus tripling their march, see Jomini (tome iii. p. 
153), who attributes Napoleon’s safety to this error. 
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which made them perform so many prodigies, and which was 
soon circulated in every language by the public journals. 
This complication of events could not but be fatal to Europe 

and France, whatever might be its result, but it presented an 
opportunity favorable to the development of the Emperor's 
genius. Like his favorite poet Ossian, who loved best to 

touch his lyre midst the howlings of the tempest, Napoleon 
required political tempests for the display of his abilities.1 

During the campaign of 1809, and particularly at its com¬ 
mencement, Napoleon’s course was even more rapid than it 

had been in the campaign of 1805.2 Every courier who 

arrived at Hamburg brought us news, or rather prodigies. 
As soon as the Emperor was informed of the attack made 

by the Austrians upon Bavaria orders were despatched to all 

the generals having troops under their command to proceed 

with all speed to the theatre of the war. The Prince of Ponte- 
Corvo was summoned to join the Grand Army with the Saxon 

troops under his command and for the time he resigned the 

government of the Hanse Towns. Colonel Damas succeeded 
him at Hamburg during that period, but merely as command¬ 
ant of the fortress, and he never gave rise to any murmur or 
complaint. Bernadotte was not satisfied with his situation, 
and indeed the Emperor, who was never much disposed to 

bring him forward, because he could not forgive him for his 
opposition on the 18th Brumaire, always appointed him to 
posts in which but little glory was to be acquired, and placed 
as few troops as possible under his command. 

It required all the promptitude of the Emperor's march 

upon Vienna to defeat the plots which were brewing against 

1 Joseph Bonaparte denies that Ossian was the favorite poet of Napoleon, 
saying that he admired much more the great French and Italian poets, 
Homer, Virgil, Lucan, etc. (Erreurs, tome ii. p. 173). But perhaps the dif¬ 
ference between the two statements may be attributable to the fact that 
Bourrienne left Napoleon comparatively early in his career, and we know 
that Napoleon progressed in his literary, education. See Sainte-Beuve, tome 
i. p. 287, already quoted. 

2 The Archduke John defeated Eugene Beauharnais, then Viceroy of 
Italy, and took possession of Padua, Vicenza, and other cities, but, in conse¬ 
quence of Bonaparte’s victories in Germany, he was obliged to retrace his 
steps, and being followed up by the re-enforced Beauharnais into Hungary, 
he was defeated in a great battle near the town of Kaab. —Editor of 1836 
edition. 
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his government, for in the event of his arms being unsuccess¬ 

ful, the blow was ready to be struck.1 The English force in 
the north of Germany amounted to about 10,000 men. The 

Archduke Charles had formed the project of concentrating 

in the middle of Germany a large body of troops, consisting 

of the corps of General Am Eude, of General Eadizwowitz, 

and of the English, with whom were to be joined the people 

who were expected to revolt. The English would have 
wished the Austrian troops to advance a little farther. The 
English agent made some representations on this subject to 

M. Stadion, the Austrian Minister; but the Archduke pre¬ 
ferred making a diversion to committing the safety of the 

monarchy by departing from his present inactivity and risk¬ 

ing the passage of the Danube, in the face of an enemy who 

never suffered himself to be surprised, and who had calcu¬ 
lated every possible (went. In concerting his plan the Arch¬ 

duke expected that the Czar would either detach a strong 
force to assist his allies, or that he would abandon them to 

their own defence. In the iirst case the Archduke would 
have, had a great superiority, and in the second, all was pre¬ 
pared in Hesse and in Hanover to rise on the approach of the 

Austrian and English armies. 

At the commencement of July the English advanced upon 

Cuxhaven with a dozen small ships of war. They landed 400 
or r>0() sailors and about GO marines, and planted a standard 
on one of the outworks. The day after this landing at Cux- 

liave.n the* English, who were in Denmark, evacuated Copenha¬ 
gen, after destroying a battery which they had erected there. 

All the schemes of England were fruitless on the Continent, 
for with the IhnperoEs new system of war, which consisted 
in making a push on the capitals, he soon obtained negotia¬ 

tions for peace. He was master of Vienna before England 
had even organized the expedition to which I have just 

1 The French agents in Germany had an anxious timo, while the Grand 
Army was cooped up in the island of Lobau, bo tween the battle of Kssling 
and that of Wagram. u Kvery State, even Denmark, assumed a hostile 
attitude. . . . If at. this critical moment., between the battles of Kssling and 
Wagram, Russia had made one sign, no oiio can toll what would have hap¬ 
pened ” (Iiewjnot, voi. i. p. 302). 
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alluded. He left Paris on the 11th of April, was at Honail - 

wertli on the 17th, and on the 26(1 he was master of Uatishon. 
In the engagement which preceded his entrance into that town 

Napoleon received a slight wound in the heel.1 He never¬ 

theless remained on the field of battle. It was also between 

Donaiiwerth and E-atisbon that Da, vo ust, by a bold manauivre, 

gained and merited the title of Prince of Eckmiilil.2 
At this period fortune was not only bent on favoring Napo¬ 

leon’s arms, but she seemed to take pleasure in realizing even 

his boasting predictions; for the French troops entered 

Vienna within a month after a proclamation issued by Napo¬ 

leon at Ratisbon, in which he said he would be master of the 

Austrian capital in that time. 

1 There was a curious belief among tin* English in Napoleon’s time that 
he had never been wounded, and indeed tliat In* carefully, if not Cowardly, 
refrained from exposing himself. Of the incident referred toby liourrienne, 
Meneval (tome i. p. li>2) says, ** Tin1 Emperor was sitting in a place from 
whence he. could watch the attack on the town of Uatishon. lie was strik¬ 
ing the ground with his whip when a ball, believed to have come from a 
Tyrolean carbine, struck him on tin* big toe. The report of this wound 
spread rapidly from, rank to rank, and he was obliged to get on horseback to 
show himself to the. troops. Though his hoot was not penetrated the wound 
was very painful; still he put a good face on it. Nat tin*, however, claimed 
her rights. When afte.r this short ride he. entered a little house, some mus¬ 
ket-shots off the place where he had been wounded, Ids courage was ex¬ 
hausted, and he fainted right oil. This wound, happily, had not bad 
results.” As for his courage, Metternich (tome i. p. 27U) lias some very sen¬ 
sible remarks on the absence of any necessity for Ids exposing himself. “The 
history of his campaign sullires to prove tliat he was always at the place, 
dangerous or not, which was proper fur the head of a great army.” This 
place, however, was sometimes dangerous enough. At the battle of Wag- 
ram, says Savary (tome iv. p. 174), “ I do not know what was in the Kmpe- 
ror’s head, hut he remained a good hour in this angles, which was regularly 
swept by bullets. The soldiers wen* stationary, and became demoralized. 
The Emperor knew better than any one that this situation could not last 
long, and he did not wish to go away, as he could remedy disorders. At the 
moment of greatest danger he rode along the front of the line of troops on a 
horse white as snow. Tins horse was called Euphrates, and had been given 
to him by the Sophi of Persia. . . . I expected to see him fall at every 
moment.” Napoleon besides exposing himself freely when necessary to 
danger, as at Lodi or Areola, was also, for a man in his position, very indif¬ 
ferent, to precautions for his safety. On two occasions he was surrounded by 
Cossacks, and in imminent danger of his life, not being recognized by them, 
once at Malo Jaroslawitz in 1812, and once in France in 1811. See also foot¬ 
note to vol. ii. p. 244. 

After his death 11 the inspection of his body revealed several wounds, 
some very slight, and three very distinct. Of these three, tin* tirst was on 
the head, the second on the fourth linger of the left hand, the third on the 
loft thigh. This last one was very deep, ami was caused by a bayonet stab 
received at Toulon: it is the only one whose, origin run he historically fixed 
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Bui while he was thus marching from triumph to triumph 
the people of Hamburg and the neighboring countries had a 
neighbor who did not leave them altogether without inquie¬ 
tude. The famous Prussian partisan, Major Schill, after pur¬ 
suing his system of plunder in Westphalia came and threw 
himself into Mecklenburg, whence, I understood, it was his 
intention to surprise Hamburg. At the head of 600 well- 
mounted hussars and between 1500 and 2000 infantry badly 
armed, he took possession of the little fort of Domitz, in 
Mecklenburg, on the 15th of May, from whence he despatched 
parties who levied contributions on both banks of the Elbe. 
Schill inspired terror wherever he went. On the 19th of 
May a detachment of 30 men belonging to Schill’s corps 

entered Wismar. It was commanded by Count Moleke, who 
had formerly been in the Prussian service, and who had re¬ 

tired to his estate in Mecklenburg, where the Duke had 
kindly given him an appointment. Forgetting his duty to 

his benefactor, he sent to summon the Duke to surrender 

Stralsund. 
Alarmed at the progress of the partisan Schill, the Duke of 

Mecklenburg and his Court quitted Ludwigsburg, their regu¬ 
lar residence, and retired to Doberan, on the sea-coast. On 
quitting Mecklenburg Schill advanced to Bergdorf, four 

leagues from Hamburg. The alarm then increased in that 

city. A few of the inhabitants talked of making a compro¬ 
mise with Schill and sending him money to get him away. 

But the firmness of the majority imposed silence on this timid 
council. I consulted with the commandant of the town, and 
we determined to adopt measures of precaution. The custom¬ 

house chest, in which there was more than a million of gold, 
was sent to Holstein under a strong escort. At the same 
time I sent to Schill a clever spy, who gave him a most 
alarming account of the means of defence which Hamburg 

possessed. Schill accordingly gave up his designs on that 
city, and leaving it on his left, entered Ltibeck, which was 

undefended. 
Meanwhile Lieutenant-G-eneral Gratien, who had left Berlin 

by order of the Prince de Heufchatel, with 2500 Dutch and 
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3000 Swedish, troops, actively pursued Schill, and tranquillity 
was soon restored throughout all the neighboring country, 

which had been greatly agitated by his bold enterprise. 

Schill, after wandering for some days on the shores of the 
Baltic, was overtaken by General Gratien at Stralsund, 
whence he was about to embark for Sweden. He made a 
desperate defence, and was killed after a conflict of two hours. 

His band was destroyed.1 Three hundred of his hussars and 
200 infantry, who had effected their escape, asked leave to 
return to Prussia, and they were conducted to the Prussian 
general commanding a neighboring town. A war of plunder 
like that carried on by Schill could not be honorably acknowl¬ 

edged by a power having any claim to respect. Yet the Eng¬ 
lish Government sent Schill a colonel’s commission, and the 

full uniform of his new rank, with the assurance that all his 

troops should thenceforth be paid by England. 
Schill soon had an imitator of exalted rank. In August, 

1809, the Duke of Brunswick-CEls sought the dangerous honor 
of succeeding that famous partisan. At the bead of at most 

2000 men he for some days disturbed the left bank of the 
Elbe, and on the 5th entered Bremen. On his approach the 

French Vice-Consul retired to Osterhulz. One of the Duke’s 
officers presented himself at the house of the Vice-Consul and 
demanded 200 louis. The agent of the Vice-Consul, alarmed 
at the threat of the place being given up to pillage, capitulated 
with the officer, and with considerable difficulty got rid of him 

at the sacrifice of 80 louis, for which a receipt was presented 
to him in the name of the Duke. The Duke, who now went 
by the name of “the new Schill,” did not remain long in 
Bremen. Wishing to repair with all possible speed to Hol¬ 
land he left Bremen on the evening of the 6th, and proceeded 
to Delmenhorst, where his advanced guard had already 
arrived. The Westphalian troops, commanded by Beubell, 

1 The Baron Seruzier in liis Memoirs (Paris, Anselm), pp. 97-112, says 
that he was charged by General St. Hilaire to follow up Schill, whom lie 
caught in Stralsund, when, to use his own words, “ all the troop of Schill 
was then massacred — a half-hour of combat sufficed.” Schill himself was 
killed by one of Seruzier’s corporals, Beckmann, sent into the town before 
the attack in disguise. This last statement may explain the rumor men¬ 
tioned by Jomini (tome iii. p. 235), that Schill was killed by his own men. 
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entered Bremen on the 7th, and not finding the Duke of 
Brunswick, immediately marched in pursuit of him. The 
Danish troops, who occupied Cuxhaven, received orders to 

proceed to Bremerlehe, to favor the operations of the West¬ 
phalians and the Dutch. Meanwhile the English approached 
Cuxhaven, where they landed 3000 or 4000 men. The persons 

in charge of the custom-house establishment, and the few 
sailors who were in Cuxhaven, fell back upon Hamburg. The 

Duke of Brunswick, still pursued, crossed Germany from the 
frontiers of Bohemia to Elsfleth, a little port on the left bank 

of the Weser, where he arrived on the 7th, being one day in 
advance of his pursuers. He immediately took possession of 

all the transports at Elsfleth, and embarked for Heligoland. 
The landing which the English effected at Cuxhaven while 

the Danes, who garrisoned that port, were occupied in pursu¬ 
ing the Duke of Brunswick, was attended by no result. After 

the escape of the Duke the Danes returned to their post, 
which the English immediately evacuated. 
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The castle of Piemstein — Richard (lnuir do Lion and Marshal Laimas — 

The Emperor at the gates of Vienna — The Archduchess Maria LotiLa — 

Facility of correspondence with England — Smuggling in Hamburg-™- 
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Rapp, who during the campaign of Vienna had resumed his 

duties as aide de camp, related to me one of those observe! ions 

of Napoleon which, when his words are compared with the 

events that followed them, seem to indicate a. foresight, into 
his future destiny. When within some days' march of 

Vienna the Emperor procured a guide to explain to him 

every village and ruin which he observed on the road. The 
guide pointed to an eminence on whirls were a few decayed 

vestiges of an old fortified castle. 4iThose,” said the guide, 
“ are the ruins of the castle of IHernsiein.” Napoleon sud¬ 

denly stopped, and stood for some time silently contemplating 

the ruins, then turning to Lannes, who was with him, he said, 

“See! yonder is the prison of Richard (’tour do Lion, lie, 

like us, went to Syria and Palestine. But, my brave Lannes, 

the, Occur de Lion was not braver than you. He was more 

fortunate than I at St. dean d'Aere. A Duke of Austria sold 
him to an Emperor of Germany, who imprisoned him in that 

castle. Those were the days of barbarism. How different 
from the civilization of modern times! Europe has seen how 

I treated the Emperor of Austria, whom I might have made 

prisoner — and f would treat him so again. I claim no credit, 

for this. In the present,age, crowned heads must lie respected. 
A conqueror imprisoned ! ” 

m 
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A few days after the Emperor was at the gates of Vienna, 
but on this occasion his access to the Austrian capital was not 
so easy as it had been rendered in 1805 by the ingenuity and 
courage of Lannes and Murat. The Archduke Maximilian, 
who was shut up in the capital, wished to defend it, although 
the French army already occupied the principal suburbs. In 
vain were flags of truce sent one after the other to the Arch¬ 

duke. They were not only dismissed unheard, but were even 
ill-treated, and one of them was almost killed by the populace. 
The city was then bombarded, and would speedily have been 
destroyed but that the Emperor, being informed that one of 

the Archduchesses remained in Vienna on account of ill- 
health, ordered the firing to cease. By a singular caprice of 

Napoleon's destiny this Archduchess was no other than 

Maria Louisa. Vienna at length opened her gates to Napo¬ 
leon, who for some days took up his residence at Schoen- 
brunn. 

The Emperor was engaged in so many projects at once that 

they could not all succeed. Thus, while he was triumphant 

in the Hereditary States his Continental system was experi¬ 
encing severe checks. The trade with England on the coast 

of Oldenburg was carried on uninterruptedly as if in time of 
peace. English letters and newspapers arrived on the Conti¬ 
nent, and those of the Continent found their way into Great 

Britain, as if France and England had been united by ties of 
the firmest friendship. In short, things were just in the same 
state as if the decree for the blockade of the British Isles had 
not existed. When the custom-house officers succeeded in 
seizing contraband goods they were again taken from them by 

main force. On the 2d of July a serious contest took place 
at Brinskham between the custom-house officers and a party 
of peasantry, in which the latter remained masters of eighteen 

wagons laden with English goods : many were wounded on 

both sides. 
If, however, trade with England was carried on freely along 

a vast extent of coast, it was different in the city of Ham¬ 
burg, where English goods were introduced only by fraud; 
and I verily believe that the art of smuggling and the schemes 
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of smtillers were never before earned to such perfection 

Above GOOD persons of the lower orders went backwards and 

forwards, about twenty times a day, from AItona to Hamburg, 

and they carried on their contraband trade by many ingenious 

stratagems, two of which were so curious that they are worth 

mentioning here. 

On the left of the road leading from Hamburg to Altona 

there was a piece of ground where pits were dug for the pur- 

pose of procuring sand used for building and for laying down 

in the streets. At this time it was proposed to repair the 

great street of Hamburg leading to the gate of Altona. The 

smugglers overnight filled the sand-pit with brown sugar, and 

the little carts which usually conveyed the, sand info Ham¬ 

burg were filled with the sugar, (‘are being taken to cover it 

with a layer of sand about an inch thick. This t rick was 

carried on for a length of time, but no progress was made in 

repairing tin* street. I complained greatly of the delay, even 

before I was aware of its cause, for the street led to a coun¬ 

try-house I had near Altona, whither I went, daily. The offi¬ 

cers of the customs at length perceived that tin* work did not 

proceed, and one fine morning the sugar-carts wcit stopped 

and seized. Another expedient was then to be devised. 

Between Hamburg and Altona there was a little suburb 

situated on the right bank of the Kibe. This suburb was 

inhabited by sailors, laborers of the port, and landowners. 

The inhabitants were interred in tin*- cemetery of Hamburg. 

It was observed that, funeral processions passed this way 

more frequently than usual. Tin* custom-house officers, 

amazed at the sudden mortality of tin* worthy inhabitants of 

the little suburb, insisted on searching one of fin* vehicles, 

and on opening the hearse it was found to be filled with sugar, 

coffee, vanilla, indigo, etc. It was necessary to abandon this 

expedient, but others were soon discovered. 

Bonaparte was sensitive, in an exf raordinary degree, to all 

that was said and thought of him, and Heaven knows how 

many despatches I received from headquarters during tin* 

campaign of Vienna directing me not only to watch the vigi 

lant execution of the custom-house laws, but to lay an cm* 
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oargo on a tiling which alarmed him more Uian the introduc¬ 

tion of British merchandise, viz. the publication of nows. In 

conformity with those reiterated instructions I directed 

especial attention to the management of the (forn>sjtoud(uU. 

The importance of this journal, with its (>0,000 readers, may 

easily be perceived. 1 procured the insertion of every thing L 

thought desirable: all the bulletins, proclamations, at its of 

the French Government, notes of the Mon If cur, and tin; semi¬ 

official articles of the French journals: these, were all given 

in ea'tenso. On the other hand, I often suppressed adverse 

nows, which, though well known, would have, received addi¬ 

tional weight from its insertion in so widely circulated a 

paper. If by chance there crept in some, Austria,!) bulletin, 

extracted from the other German papers published in the 

States of the Confederation of flu* Rhine, then; was always 

given with it a suitable antidote to destroy, or a,t least to 

mitigate, its ill effect. But this was not all. The King of 

Wiirtemberg hawing reproached flu* ('nrrcsponduut, in a letter 

to the Minister for Foreign Affairs, with publishing whatever 

Austria wished should be made known, and being conducted 

in a spirit hostile to flu* <joml I answered these unjust 

reproaches by making the. Syndic, censor prohibit, the I lam- 

burg papers from inserting*///// Austrian order of the day, mnj 

Archduke’s bulletins, ant/ letter from Prague; in short any¬ 

thing which should lx* copied from the other German journals 

unless those articles had been inserted in the French journals. 

My recollections of the, year 1809 at Hamburg carry me 

back to the celebration of Napoleon’s fete, which was on flu* 

loth of August, for he had interpolated his patron saint in 

the Imperial calendar at flu; date of his birth. The coinci¬ 

dence of this festival with the Assumption gave rise to adu¬ 

latory rhodomontades of the most absurd description. Cer¬ 

tainly the Episcopal circulars under the Empire would form a 

curious collection.1 Could any thing be more revolting than 

1 It- will perhaps scarcely be believed that the following words were aelai- 
July delivered from tbe pulpit: “Hod in his merey has chosen Napoleon to 
be In’s representative on earth. The (gteen of Heaven has marked, by the 
most magnificent of presents, the anniversary of the day which witnessed bin 
glorious entrance into her domains. Heavenly Virgin! as a special test)- 
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the sycophancy of those Churchmen who declared that “ God 

chose Napoleon for his representative upon earth, and that 

G-od created Bonaparte, and then rested ; that he was more 

fortunate than Augustus, more virtuous than Trajan ; that he, 

deserved altars and temples to In* raised to him ! ” etc. 

Some time after the Festival of Saint Napoleon tin* King of 

Westphalia made a journey through his States. Of all Napo¬ 

leon’s brothers the King of Westphalia was the one with 

whom I was least acquainted, and he, it is pretty well known, 

was the most worthless of the family. His eorrespondence 
with me is limited to two letters, one of which he wrote while 

he commanded the fjperrier, and another seven years after, 

dated 6th September, 1809. In this latter he said, “ I shall be. 

in Hanover on the 10/7/. If nan van make It van ren lent to rame 

there and spend a day icith me U mill (jive me great pleasure. / 

shall then he able to smooth all obstacles to the loan / wish to 

contract in the llanse Towns. I fatter myself pan will do all 

in your power to forward that object, which at the present crisis 

is very important to my States. Mare than ample security is 

offered, but the money will be of no use to me if / cannot have it 

at least for two yearsR Jerome wanted to contract at Ham¬ 

burg a loan of 3,000,000 francs. However, the people did not 

seem to think like his Westphalian Majesty, that tin* contract 

presented more than ample security. No one was found will¬ 
ing to draw his purse-strings, and the loan was never rained. 

Though 1 would not, without the Emperor’s authority, 

exert the influence of my situation to further the success of 

Jerome’s negotiation, yet I did my best to assist him, I 

succeeded in prevailing on the Senate to advance one loan of 

100,000 francs to pay a portion of the arrears clue to his 
troops, and a second of 200,000 francs to provide do!lung for 

his army, etc. This scanty supply will cease to be wondered 

at when It is considered to what a state of desolation the 
whole* of Germany was reduced at the time, as much in the 

allied States as in those* of tin* enemies of France, I learnt 

mony of v/mr love for tic French, ami your all-powerful Influence with your 
Ron, you have connected the Or«f of your solemnities with the birth of tho 
great Napoleon. Heaven mdalned that tint hero should spring front your 
sepulchre.” — BourrUmm. 
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at the time that the King of Bavaria said to an oflieer of the 

Emperor’s household in whom ho had great eonlidenee, “ If 

this continues we shall have to give up, and put the key under 

the door.” These were his very words. 

As for Jerome, he returned to Oassel quite disheartened 

at the unsuccessful issue of his loan. Some days after his 

return to his capital I received from him a, snuff-box with his 

portrait set in diamonds, accompanied by a letter of thanks 

for the service I had rendered him. I never imagined that a 

token of remembrance from a crowned head could possibly be 

declined. Napoleon, however, thought otherwise. I had not, 

it is true, written to acquaint our Government with tin* King 

of Westphalia’s loan, but in a letter, which I addressed to the 

Minister for Foreign Affairs on the. !ilM of September, 1 men¬ 

tioned the present Jerome had sent me. Why Napoleon should 

have been offended at this I know not, but. 1 received orders 

to return Jerome's present immediately, and these orders were 

accompanied with bitter reproaches for my having accepted it. 

without the Emperor’s authority. I sent back the diamonds, 

but kept the portrait. Knowing Bonaparte’s distrustful dis¬ 

position, I thought he must have suspected that Jerome had 

employed threats, or at any rate, that he had used some illegal 

influence to facilitate the success of his loan. At last, after 

much correspondence, Napoleon saw clearly that, everything 

was perfectly regular; in a word, that, the business had been 

transacted as between two private persons. As to the .*100,000 

francs which the Senate*, had lent to Jerome, tin* fact; is, that, 

hut little scruple, was made about, it,, for this simple reason, 

that it was the means of removing from Hamburg the West¬ 

phalian division, whoso presence, occasioned a much greater 

expense than the. loan.1 

1 Joseph Bonaparte hero remarks that, this shows that Napoleon treated 
his brothers as independent sovereigns, mid that. Bourrienne ought to have 
known that, ho had no right, to areopt. Hindi a present without the permission 
of tiie Emperor (AV/v«ai, tome ii. p. 17f>). 
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States with the Empire — The battle of Tala\ era - Sir Arthur Wellesley 

— English expedition to Holland — Attempt to assassinate the Emperor 

at Schmnbruim — Staps interrogated by Napoleon. Pardon offered and 

rejected— Fanaticism and patriotism — Cor\ isart's examination of Slaps 
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the courts of Berlin and Weimar - Firmness and resignation of Staps - 

Bartieailars respecting hisdeath — Intluenee of the attempt of Staps on tlie 
Conehision of ]»eaee — M. tie (’hampa^ny. 

Napolkon went, to inspect, all the corps of It is army anti tin* 
held of Wagram, which a short time he ton* had heeu tin* scene 

of one of those threat h,at ties in u hieh victory was t he more 

glorious in proportion as it had been valiant ly contested.1 On 

that d*ay tin* type of French honor, Macdonald, who, after 

achieving a succession of prodigies, led the army of Italy into 

the heart of the Austrian States, was made a marshal on the 

hold of baffle. Napoleon said to him, “ With us it is for life 

and for death.” The general opinion was that the elevation of 

Macdonald added less to the marshalM military reputation 

than it redounded to the honor of the Kmperor. Five da vs a ffer 

the bombardment of Vienna, namely, on the I7fh of May, the 

Emperor had published a decree, by virtue of which the Papal 
States were united to the French Empire, .ami Pome was de¬ 

clared an Imperial city. I will itoi stop to impure u led her 

this was jjootl or had in point of policy, 1ml it was a mean 

usurpation on the part of Napoleon, for the time was passed 

when a dulius II. laid down the lows of St. Peter and took up 

flm sword ot Sf. Paul. If was. besides, an injustice, ami, eou- 

1 The "rent battle of Wujjram was fought <m the bin ,,f Jttlv, {Hop, The 
Austrians, who committed a mistake in over extendim: their line, lost '.>(),000 
men as prisoners, besides a lat^e number in killed ami wounded. There was 
no day, perhaps, on wbteh Napoleon show* d jo*»o* milifan mm ins «*r more 
personal murage. He was in the hottest of the tchf, and' for a lone time 
exposed to showers of ^rape-shot, Ktiifnr <*/ Is.Ui * ,/dmn. 

m 
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sidering the Pope’s condescension to Napoleon, a,n net of 

ingratitude. The decree of union did not deprive tin'. Pope of 

his residence, but lie was only tin1 First P>ishop of Christen¬ 

dom, with a revenue of 2,000,000. 
Napoleon while at Vienna hoard of the affair of Talavera do 

la Reyna. 1 was informed, by a letter from headquarters, that 
he was much affected at the news, and did not conceal his 

vexation. 1 verily believe that he was bent on the conquest 
of Spain, precisely on account of the dilliculties In*, had to sur¬ 

mount. At Talavera commenced the celebrity of a. man who, 
perhaps, would not have been without some glory even if 

pains had not been taken to build him up a great reputation. 

That battle commenced the career of Sir Arthur Wellesley, 

whose after-success, however, has been attended by such im¬ 

portant consequences.1 Whilst we experienced this cheek in 

Spain the English were attempting an expedition to Holland, 
where they had already made themselves masters of Wal- 

cheren. It is true they were obliged to evacuate it shortly 

after; but as at that time the French and Austrian armies 
were in a state of inaction, in consequence of the armistice 

concluded at Znaim, in Moravia, the. news unfavorable to 

Napoleon had the effect of raising the hopes of the Austrian 

negotiators, who paused in the expectation that fresh defeats 
would afford them better chances. 

It was during these negotiations, the termination of which 

seemed every day to be farther distant, that, Napoleon was 

exposed to a more veal danger than the wound he had re¬ 
ceived at Ratisbon. Herman y was suffering under a, degree 

of distress difficult to be described. Illuminism was making 

great progress, and laid filled some, youthful minds with an 

enthusiasm not less violent than the religious fanaticism to 

which Henry IV. fell a, victim. A young man formed the 

design of assassinating Napoleon in order to rid Uermauy of 
one. whom he considered her scourge. Rapp and Bert,bier 

wore with the Emperor when the assassin was arrested, and 

1 The. battle* of Talavera took place on the 28th of July, twenty-two days 
after the fatal defeat of the AutdrianH at Wiigram. 
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in relating what I heard from them I fee] assured that, I am 

giving the most faithful aerount of all the circumstances con¬ 

nected with the event. 

“ We were at Schumbrunn/1 said I Japp, a when the Km peror 

had just reviewed the troops. 1 observed a, young man at tin* 

extremity of one of the, columns just as the troops were about 

to defile. lie advanced towards tin* Kmperor, who was then 

between lierthier and me. Tilt* Prince de Netifchafel, f hink 

ing In* wanted to present a petition, went forward to tell him 

that I was tin*, person to receive if, as I was the aide de vamp 

for the day. Tilt* young man replied that In* wished to speak 

with Napoleon himself, and Peri,bier again fold him that In* 

must apply to me. He withdrew a, little, si,ill repeal ing that, 

he wanted to speak with Napoleon. He again advanced and 

came very near the Kmperor; I desired him to fall hack, fell¬ 

ing him in Herman to wait, till after the parade, when, if he 

had anything to say, if would be attended to. I suretyed him 

attentively, for I began to think his conduct, suspicions. 1 

observed that he kept his right, hand in the breast -pocket of 

his coat; out of which a piece of paper appeared. I know not 

how it was, but at, that, moment, my eyes met his, and I was 

struck with his peculiar look and air of fixed determination. 

Seeing an officer of gendarmerie on the spot., I desired him to 

seize the young man, but, without treating him with any 

severity, and to convey him to the castle until the parade was 

ended. All this passed in less time than I have taken to tel! it., 

and as every one’s attention was fixed on the parade the seem* 

passed nnnotieed. 1 was shortly afterwards fold that a, large 

carving-knife had been found on the \ oung man, win se name 

was Sfaps. I immediately went fo find I >uroe, and we pro¬ 

ceeded together Io the apartment to whieh Sfaps had been 

taken. We found him sitting on a bed, apparent.]} in deep 

thought,, but. betraying no symptoms of fear. He had beside 

him the portrait of a young female, his poekef hook, and purse 

containing only two pieces of gold. I asked him bis name, 

but, In* replied fbat.be would tell if to no one but Napoleon, 

1 Hum asked him what he intended to do with the knife which 

had been found upon him ? Hut In* answered again, * 1 shall 
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tell only Napoleon/—‘Did you mean to attempt Iris life ?5 

— ‘ Yes/ — ‘ Why ? ’ — ‘1 can tell none but Napoleon/ 
“ This appeared to me so strange that I thought right to in¬ 

form the Emperor of it. When I told him what had passed 

he appeared a little agitated, for you know how he was haunted 

with the idea of assassination. He desired that the young 
man should be taken into his cabinet, whither he was accord¬ 

ingly conducted by two gens (ramies. Notwithstanding his 

criminal intention there was something exceedingly prepos¬ 

sessing in his countenance. I wished that he would deny the 

attempt ; but how was it possible to save a man who was de¬ 

termined to sacrihce himself? The Emperor asked Staps 

whether he could speak French, and he answered that he 

could speak it very imperfectly, and as you know (continued 

Rapp) that next to you I am the best German scholar in Na¬ 

poleon’s (burl, I was appointed interpreter on this occasion. 

The Emperor put the following questions to Staps, which I 

translated, together with the answers : — 

“‘Where do you come from ?’—‘ From Narremburgh/ — 

‘What is your father?’ — ‘A. Protestant minister/ — ‘How 

old are you?’ — ‘ Eighteen/ — ‘ What did you intend to do 

with your knife?’ — ‘To kill you/ —/You arc mad, young 

man; you a re one of the illuminati?’— ‘I. am not mad; I 

know not what is meant by the illuminati!7 — ‘You are ill, 

then ? ’ — ‘I am not; I am very well/ — ‘ Why did you wish 
to kill me ?’ — ‘ Because you have ruined my country/ — 

‘Have I done you any harm ? ’— ‘Yes, you have harmed 
me as well as all Hermans/ -—‘By whom were you sent? 

Who urged you to this crime?’ —‘No one; I was urged to 

it by the sincere conviction that by killing you I should 
render the greatest service to my country/ — ‘Is this the 

first film*, you have seen me?’ — ‘ I saw you at Erfurt, at the 

time of your interview with the ’Emperor of Russia/ — ‘Did 

you intend to kill me then?’ — ‘No; I thought you. would 

not again wage war against Germany. I was one of your 
greatest admirers/ —‘ How long have you been in Vienna?’ 
— ‘ Ten days/ — ‘ Why did you wait so long before you 

attempted the execution of your project?’ — ‘I came to 
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Sehocnbrunn a week ago with the inf tail ion of’ killing you, 

but when I arrived the parade was just over; I therefore 

deferred the exeeution of my design fill to-day/ fc I tell 

you, young man, you are either mad or in bad health/ 

44 The Emperor here ordered Corvisart to be sent- for. 

St-aps asked who Corvisart was ? 1 told liim that lie was a 

physician. He then said, 11 have no need of him/ Nothing 

further was said until the arrival of the doctor, and during 

this interval Staps evinced the utmost indifference. When 
Corvisart arrived Napoleon directed him to feel the young 

man’s pulse, which he immediately did: and Slaps then very 

coolly said, ‘ Am 1 not well, sir?’ Corvisart told the Em¬ 

peror that nothing ailed him. ‘ 1 told you so,’ said Staps, 

pronouncing the words with an air of triumph. 

44 1 was really astonished at the coolness and apathy of 

Staps, and the Emperor seemed for a moment confounded by 

the young man’s behavior. After a few moments’ pause the 
Emperor resumed the interrogatory as follows : — 

444 Your brain is disordered. You will be the ruin of your 

family. I will grant you your life if you ask pardon for the 

crime you meditated, and for which you ought, to be sorry / — 

41 want no pardon. I only regret having failed in my at¬ 

tempt/—4 Indeed ! then a crime is nothing to you?’.*‘To 

kill you is no crime: it is a duty/ — 1 Whose port,rail is that 
which was found on you?’—-Mi is the portrait of a young 

lady to whom I am attached/ — 4 She will doubt,less be muck 
distressed at your adventure ? ’ — 4 Sin* will only be sorry that 

I have not succeeded. She* abhors you as much as I do/ — 

4 Hut if I were to pardon you would you be grateful for my 

mercy ? ’ —4 I would nevertheless kill you if I could/ 

44 I never,” continued Rapp, “ saw Napoleon look so con¬ 

founded. The replies of Staps and his immovable resulut ion 
perfectly astonished him. He ordered the prisoner to be re¬ 

moved ; and when he was gone Napoleon said, 4 This is the 
result of the secret societies which infest Hermany. This is 
the (dleet of tine principles and the light of reason. They 

make young men assassins. Rut. what can in* done against 

illuminism ? A sect cannot be destroyed by eannon-balla/ 
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“This event, though pains were taken to keep it secret, 

became the subject of conversation in the castle of Selncn- 

brunn. In the evening the Emperor sent for me and said, 

‘ Rapp, the affair of this morning is very extraordinary. I 

cannot believe that this young man of himself conceived the. 

design of assassinating me. There is something under it. I 

shall never be persuaded that the intriguers of Berlin and 
Weimar are strangers to the affair.'1 — ‘Sire, allow me to say 
that your suspicions appear unfounded. Staps has had no 

accomplice; his placid countenance, and even his fanaticism, 

are evident proofs of that/ — ‘I tell yon that he has been 

instigated by women: furies thirsting for revenge. Iff could 

only obtain proof of it I would have them seized in the midst 

of their Court/ — ‘Ah, Sire, it is impossible that either man 

or woman in the Courts of Berlin or Weimar could have con¬ 

ceived so atrocious a design/— ‘ 1 am not sure of that. Did 

not those women excite Schill against us while we were at 
peace with Prussia? but stay a little,; we shall see/ — 

‘ Sehill’s enterprise, Sire, bears ho resemblance to this 

attempt/ You know how the Emperor likes every one to 

yield to his opinion when helms adopted one which he does 

not choose to give up; so he said, rather changing his tom* of 

good-humored familiarity,‘All you say is in vain, Monsieur 
le General: I am not liked either at Berlin or Weimar/ — 

‘There is no doubt of that, Sire ; but because* you are not 

liked in these two Courts, is it to be inferred that; they would 
assassinate you ?7 — ‘ I know the fury of those women; but 

patience. Write to General Lauer: direct him to interrogate 
Staps. Tell him to bring him to a confession/ 

“I wrote conformably with tin*. Emperor’s orders, but no 
confession vvas obtained from Staps. In his examination by 

General Bauer he repeated nearly what he laid said in the 

presence of Napoleon. His resignation and firmness never 

forsook him lor a moment; and he persisted in saying that 

he was the sole author of the. attempt, and that no* one else 
was aware of it. Staps’s enterprise made a deep impression on 

the Emperor. On the day when we left Hchmnhrunn we 

happened to be alone, and he said to me, ‘I cannot get this 



182 MEMOIRS OF XAPOLlioX HuXAPA 11TE. 

unfortunate Staps out of my mind. Tin* more I think on the 

subject tin* more1 I am perplexed. 1 never ean bcl ieve that a 

young man of his age, a (human, one who has received a, good 

education, a Protestant too, rouhl have coneei \ e< 1 and at¬ 

tempted such a (*rime. Tin* Italians an* said to be a nation 

of assassins, but no Italian ever attempted my life. 'This 

affair is beyond my comprehension. Impure how Slaps died, 

and hit me know/ 

1 obtained from General Lauer the information which the 

Emperor desired. I learned that. Staps, whose attempt on 

tilt* Emperor's life was made on t he Z.‘>d of (let <her, was 

executed at seven o'clock in the morning of the /7th, having 

refused to take any sustenance since tlie /Ith. W hen any 

food was brought to him In* rejected it, saying, k I shall lx* 

strong enough to walk to the scaffold.' When he was told 

that peace was concluded he evinced ext feme sorrow, and 

was seized with trembling. On reaching the place of execu¬ 

tion ho exclaimed loudly, * Liberty forever! Germany for¬ 

ever ! Death to the tyrant!'" 

Such an* the notes which I committed to paper a Her con¬ 

versing with Rapp, as we were walking together in the garden 

of tin* former hotel of Montmorin, in which Rapp resided. 

I recollect his showing me t lie knife taken Irons Staps, 

which tin* Emperor had given him ; it was merely a common 

carviiig-kni f<*, such as is used in kit (‘hens. 'To these details 

may be added a. very remarkable circumstance, which I re¬ 

ceived from another lmt. not less authentic source. I have 

been assured that the attempt of flu* German Mutius Keaevula 

bad a marked iidhtenee on the concessions which I In* Emperor 

made, because he feared that Staps, like him who attempted 

tin* life of Porsenna, might, have imitators among the illumin- 

ati of Germany. 

If is well known that- after tin* battle of Wag ram confer¬ 

ences were opened at Raab. Although peace was almost, abso- 

1 ute 1 y necessary tor both powers, and the fwo Emperors 

appeared to desire it equally, it was not, how ever, concluded. 

It is worthy of remark that tin* delay was occasioned by 

Bonaparte. Negotiations were therefore suspended, and M. 
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de Clnunpagny hart (‘eased for v<ira,l days to see the Prince 

of Lichtenstein when the affair of Steps took place. Imme¬ 

diately after "Napoleon’s examination of the young fanatic he 

sent for M. de Champagny. “ iiow are the negotiations going 
on f ” he inquired. The Minister having informed him, the 

Emperor added, “ I wish them to be resumed immediately: 
i wish for peace ; do not hesitate about a few millions more 

or less in the indemnity demanded from Austria. Yield on 

that point. L wish to come to a conclusion : I refer it all to 

you.” The Minister lost no time in writing to the ITinee of 
Lichtenstein : on the same night the two negotiators met. at 

Raab, and the clauses of the treaty which had been suspended 

were discussed, agreed upon, and signed that very night. 

Next morning M. de Champagny attended the Emperor’s 

levee with the treaty of peace, as it had been agreed on. 
Napoleon, after hastily examining it, expressed his approba¬ 

tion of every particular, and highly complimented his Min¬ 

ister on the speed with which the treaty had been brought to 
a conclusion.1 

1 This definitive treaty of peace, which is sometimes called the Treaty of 
Vienna., Raab, or Kelnenbrunu, contained I ho following articles: - 

1. Austria coded in favor of tin* Confederation of the Rhine (these tell 
to Bavaria), Salzburg, Berchtolsgaden, and a part of Upper Austria. 

2. To France directly Austria coded her only seaport, Trieste, and all 
the countries of ('arniola, Friuli, the circle of Viliach, with parts of Croatia 
and Dalmatia. (By these cessions Austria was excluded from the Adriatic 
Sea, and cut off from all communication with the navy of (Ireal Britain.) 
A small lordship, an enclave in the territories of the <»risen League, was 
also given tip. 

To the constant ally of Nanohum, to the King of Saxony, in that 
character Austria ceded some Bohemian enclaves in Saxony and, in his 
capacity of (Jrand Duke of Warsaw, she added to his Polish dominions the 
ancient city of (Tacow, and all Western (lalicia. 

4. Russia., who had entered with hut a lukewarm zeal into the war as an 
ally of Franco, had a very moderate share of the spoils of Austria. A por¬ 
tion of Eastern (Jnlicia, with a population of 400,000 souls, was allotted to 
her, but in this allotment the trading town of Brody (almost the only thing 
worth having) was specially excepted. This last, circumstance gave no 
small degree of disgust to the Emperor Alexander, whose admiration of 
Napoleon was not destined to have a long duration.* Kditor of 183# edition. 
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Abort this time f had the, pleasure of again seeing the son 
of the reigning Duke of Meeklenburg-Sehwerin, whose arrival 
in the Hanse Towns was speedily followed by that of his 

sister, Princess Frederica < ’harlotte of Mecklenburg, married 

to the Prinee Koval of I Denmark, Christian Frederick. In 
November the Princess arrived at. Altona from (Copenhagen, 

the reports circulated respecting her having compelled Inn* 
husband to separate from her. The history of tins Princess, 

wlm, though perhaps blatnable, was nevertheless much pitied, 
was the general subject, of conversation in tin* north of (Jer- 

many at the time I was at. Hamburg. The King of Denmark, 
grieved at the puhlieity of the separation, wrote a letter on the 
suhjeet to tht* I hike of Mecklenburg. In this letter, whieh 1 

had an opportunity of seeing, the King expressed his regret at 

not having been able to prevent the scandal; for, on his return 
from a journey to Kiel, the affair had become ho notorious that 

all attempts at reeoneiliation were vain. In the mean time It; 
was settled that the Prineess was to remain at Altona until 

something should Pc decided resp<*eting her future eoudition. 

It was Karon Ph*sscn, I he Duke of Mecklenburg's Minister 
of Stab*, who favored me with a sight of the King of I Den¬ 

mark’s letters. M. Pless«*u told nog likewise, at the time that 
the Duke had formed tin* irrevoeahle determination of not 

receiving his daughter. A few days after her arrival the 
m 
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Princess visited Madame do Boumeime. She invited us to 

her parties, which were very brilliant, and several times did 

us the honor of being present at ours. Put, unfortunately, 

the extravagance of her Conduct, which was very unsuitable 

to her situation, soon became the subject of general animad¬ 

version. 
1 mentioned at the close of the last chapter how the prompt¬ 

itude of M. de Champagny brought about the conclusion of 

the treaty known by the name of the Treaty of Sclnenbrunn. 
Under this the ancient edifice of the German Empire was over¬ 

thrown,1 and Francis II. of Germany became Francis I., 
Emperor of Austria. He, however, could not say, like Ids 

namesake of France4., Tout ast perdu fora I'houncur ; for honor 

was somewhat committed, oven had nothing else been lost. 
Butthesacrific.es Austria was compelled to make were great. 

The territories ceded to France1, were immediately united 

into a new general government, under the collective denomi¬ 
nation of the Illyria.n Brovine.es. Napoleon thus became 

master of both sides of the Adriatic., by virtue of his twofold 

title of Emperor of France and King of Italy. Austria,, whoso 

external commerce thus received a cheek, had no longer any 
direct connnunication with the sea. The loss of Finnic, 

Trieste, and the sea-coast appeared so vast a sacrifice that it 

was impossible to look forward to the duration of a peace so 
dearly purchased. 

The affair of Staps, perhaps, made Napoleon anxious to 

hurry away from Sclmmbnmn, for lie setoff before lit4 had rati- 

1 Bourrionno hero nods. The Gorman Empire had boon broken m> on Ibo 
formation of the Confederation of tho Rhino in ISOS, when tho Emperor 
Francis II. of Germany, who had silready in IKOI taken the title of Heredi¬ 
tary Emprror of Austria, definitely abandoned tho Empire and declared it, 
dissolved. Sec Bryce's llohj Itmnan Kmjnn^ London, Maemillan, 1870, p. 
Si;r>. Francis could not. have done otherwise, as lie was then powerless. Prao- 
ticallv. all the States of tho German Empire hud joined the Gen federation of 
tho Rhine, e.xce.pt his own States ami Prussia, which was attempting a 
Northern Confederation of its own. The- provinces now reded by Austria, on 
the east of the Adriatic, were joined to the former Venetian provinces which 
Napoleon had obtained in 1805 after Austerlit.*/, and wore called the Illyrian 
Provinces. Uajjpisa, which Napoleon had occupied in IKOd, and whose Gov¬ 
ernment was overturned in 1808, was formally united to these provinces in 
1H10. Austria thus lost all she had gained from the partition of Venice, 
besides her own former possessions; but in 1815 she regained the whole of 
the Illyrian provinces. 
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tied the preliminaries of the peace, announcing that he wot 

ratify them at Munich. lit1 proceeded in great haste 

Nymphenburg, where he was expected on a visit to tin* (Jo 

of Bavaria. He next visited the King of \V Ur tent berg, wh 

he pronounced to be the cleverest sovereign in Europe*, and 

the end of October lie arrived at Fontainebleau. From thei 
he proceeded on horseback to Paris, and he rode so rapi< 

that only a single chasseur of his escort could keep up w 

him, and, attended by this one guard, he entered the court 

the Tuileries. While Napoleon was at Fontainebleau, bef 

his return to Paris, Josephine for the first time heard 1 

divorce mentioned ; 1 lie* idea had occurred to flic Em pen 

mind while he was at Seh<enbrunn,'i It was also while 

1 Josephine, as Bourrienne himself has recounted before, hail for y< 
feared a uivorce. u The Empr says Mene\ al (tome i, p. 22F*i, '* for 
years before emild not conceal Ir«»m herself that, so< ner < r later, she \v« 
pay by the lossof her rank for tie* misfortune of not having gl\« n Napol 
children. This was the habitual t< \t ot hio* conversations with me, from wl 
she might get information, or with any one to whorn she could sj enk in e« 
deuce.” For theextraordimny intei view with the wife of Meftiinu h on th 
of January, IKK), when Josephine and her children, HotfeiiM* and Eugene 
assured the astonished wife of tin* Minister that they wished the Emperc 
marry an Austrian Arehdurines, «< e Mt tUrtth h, \of ii. j». -’*7*. For the pi 
ful seem*, when the wretched J< w ptdue, knowing In r fate and dreading 
open triumph of tier enemies, had to appear in Mutt at the Hotel de Vllh 
the 2d of December, 1H0P, see Matin vh Jmwt, vol, hi. p. 22Tq rorrohorntdc 
Ment't'ttf, tome i. p. 22d. 

'■* This is confirmed hy the testimony of Havary, whosayti: — 
41 Napoleon often reflected on the tient mode of making thiseommunieal 

to the Empress; still he was reluctant to ajwnk to her, He was apprel 
siv<* of the consequences of her susceptibility of feeling; hh heart \\m m 
proof against the shedding of tears. He thought, however, that a fa vow 
opportunity fdTered for breaking the subject previously to his quitting ¥ 
taimddcau.* He hinted at It in a few words which he hud addressed to 
Empress, hut did not explain himself until the arrival of the \ iremy, wh 
he had ordered to join him. He wits the first js*mm who sjtoke openly to 
mother and obtained her consent for that hitter sacrifice, He acted t*n 
occasion like a kiml son am! a matt grateful to his Is nr factor and drvotr< 
his service, hy sparing him tin* necessity of unpleasant explanations town 
a partner whose removal was a sacrifice m painful to him as it was idTeeti 
The, Emperor, having arranged whatever related to the future conditio* 
the Empress, ujam whom he made it liheial wltleiiieuf, urged the momeit 
tin* dissolution of the marriage, no doubt because he felt grieved at the e 
ditson of the Km ureas haraolf, who dined every day and passed her event 
in tlm presence of persons who worn witnessing her descent front the thro 
Thorn existed Indwern him and the KtnpfttiM Jowpltitio no other Isutd fcl 
a civil art, according to the custom which prevailed at the fima of this hi 
riage. Now the law had forcisofin the dissolution of such marriage contra* 
A particular day having therefore been fixed uj»on» the Ettjfieror hrouj 
together into his apartments time© persons whose ministry was required 
this cane; amongst others, the Arch»('luinccllor and M. Ucgiuiutt de 
Jean d’Angdly. Th© Emperor then declared in a loud video his latent 
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Fontainebleau that Napoleon appointed M. de Montali vet to be 

Minister of the Interior. The letters which we received from 

Paris at this period brought intelligence of the brilliant state 

of the capital during the winter of 1809, and especially of the 
splendor of the Imperial Court, where the Emperor's levees 
were attended by the Kings of Saxony, Bavaria, and Wtirtem- 

berg, all eager to evince their gratitude to the hero who had 
raised them to the sovereign rank.1 

I was the first person in Hamburg who received intelli¬ 

gence of Napoleon's projected marriage with the Archduchess 

Maria Louisa. The news was brought to me from Vienna by 

two estafettea. It is impossible to describe the effect pro¬ 

duced by the anticipation of this event throughout the north 

of Germany. From all parts the merchants received orders 
to buy Austrian stock, in which an extraordinary rise imme¬ 

diately took place. Napoleon's marriage with Maria Louisa 

was hailed with enthusiastic and general joy.2 The event 

was regarded as the guaranty of a long peace, and it was 
hoped there would be a lasting cessation of the disasters 

created by the rivalry of France and Austria. The corre¬ 

spondence I received showed that these sentiments ’yere gen¬ 
eral in the interior of France, and in different countries of 

of annulling' the marriage lie had contracted with Josephine, who was pres¬ 
ent; the Empress also made the same declaration, which was interrupted by 
her repeated sobs. The Prince Arch-Chancellor having caused the article 
of the law to bo read, he applied it to the case before him, and declared the 
marriage to bo dissolved ” {Memoirs of the Duo de. Rooif/o). 

1 The Electorate of Bavaria had been raised to a Kingdom by, or rather 
in consequence of, the Treaty of Bresburg, 120th December, 1805, after Austor- 
litz. The Duchy of Wiirtemborg had been made an Electorate by the Recess 
of the Empire, 1808, on the re-settlement of Germany under the supervision 
of France and Russia. It was raised to a Kingdom at the same time as Bava¬ 
ria, both Kings issuing their proclamations 1st January, 1800. The Electorate 
of Saxony was declared a Kingdom 11th December, 1800, on joining the Con¬ 
federation of the Rhine. Tt is curious that these sovereigns all retainod these 
titles given them by Napoleon, while he at St. Helena was denied any higher 
rank than that of (Soneral. The allies considered that there was nothing ob¬ 
jectionable in any gifts received from Napoleon ; it was only his own gains 
which wore immoral. 

2 For the effect of the news of the marriage, see Metternich, tome ii. p. 
388. “ Few things have ever obtained a more universal assent on the part of 
the real body of the (Austrian) nation.” See also Beugnot (vol. i. pp. 820, 
827), who was then governing the Grand Duchy of Berg. “ A groat change 
was immediately perceptible in the disposition of the Grand Duchy. ... I 
observed the increase of those relations of confidence and of future connection 
which are only maintained with a Government of unquestioned stability.”. 
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Europe; and, in spite of the presentiments I had always 
had of the return of the Bourbons to France, I now began to 
think that event problematic, or at least very remote. 

About the beginning of the year 1810 commenced the differ¬ 
ences between Napoleon and his brother Louis, which, as I 

have already stated, ended in a complete rupture. Napoleon’s 
object was to make himself master of the navigation of the 
Scheldt, which Louis wished should remain free, and hence 
ensued the union of Holland with the French Empire. Hol¬ 

land was the first province of the Grand Empire which 
Napoleon took the new Empress to visit. This visit took 

place almost immediately after the marriage. Napoleon first 
proceeded to Compiegne, where he remained a week. He 
next set out for St. Quentin, and inspected the canal. The 

Empress Maria Louisa then joined him, and they both pro¬ 
ceeded to Belgium. At Antwerp the Emperor inspected all 

the works which he had ordered, and to the execution of 
which he attached great importance.1 He returned by way 
of Ostend, Lille, and Normandy to St. Cloud, where he arrived 

on the 1st of June, 1810. He there learned from my corre¬ 
spondence that the Hanse Towns refused to advance money 

for the pay of the French troops. The men were absolutely 
destitute. I declared that it was urgent to put an end to this 

state of things. The Hanse Towns had been reduced from 
opulence to misery by taxation and exactions, and were no 
longer able to provide the funds. 

During this year Napoleon, in a fit of madness, issued a 
decree which I cannot characterize by any other epithet than 

infernal. I allude to the decree for burning all the English 
merchandise in France, Holland, the Grand Duchy of Berg, 

the Hanse Towns ; in short, in all places subject to the dis- 

1 The Royalists naturally were ready to decry his labors. “Of all the 
monuments raised by Napoleon,” says Vitrolles (tome i. p. 21(5), “ there was 
not one to shelter a living being. It was not for them that he worked.” If 
the sneer has some truth, it omits such foundations as the school for the 
daughters of the officers of the Legion d'Honneur at St. Oyr, and other simi¬ 
lar foundations. Thus, if not exactly sheltered, Thiers was educated by one 
of the scholarships founded by Napoleon. M. Thiers, telling this anecdote 
in his clever and kindly manner, added, “ In granting me this favor Napo¬ 
leon no doubt did not foresee that he was forming his future historian ” 
(Meneval, tome iii. p. 10). 
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astrous dominion of Napoleon. In the interior of France no 
idea could possibly be formed of the desolation caused by this 

measure in countries which existed by commerce; and what a 

spectacle was it to the destitute inhabitants of those countries 
to witness the destruction of property which, had it been 
distributed, would have assuaged their misery! 

Among the emigrants whom I was ordered to watch was M. 

de Vergennes, who had always remained at or near Hamburg 

since April, 1808. I informed the Minister that M. de Ver- 

gennes had presented himself to me at this time. I even 

remember that M. de Vergennes gave me a letter from M. 

de Remusat, the First Chamberlain of the Emperor. M. de 

Remusat strongly recommended to me his connection, who 

was called by matters of importance to Hamburg. Residence 
in this town was, however, too expensive, and he decided to 
live at NeumtLhl, a little village on the Elbe, rather to the 

west of Altona. There he lived quietly in retirement with an 
opera dancer named Mademoiselle Ledoux, with whom he had 

become acquainted in Paris, and whom he had brought with 

him. He seemed much taken with her. His maimer of liv¬ 

ing did not denote large means.* 
One duty with which I was intrusted, and to which great 

importance was attached, was the application and execution 
of the disastrous Continental system in the north.1 2 In my 

correspondence I did not conceal the dissatisfaction which 

1 Madame do Remusat was one of the De Vergennes family, being the 
daughter of the Minister of Louis XIV. —Bonrrienne. The person hero 
referred to is not the Minister, who had died in 1787. M. de Rdmusat’s 
connection and correspondence with such dmi't/rtf# probably bad much to do 
with the distrust Napoleon seems to have entertained towards him. Hence 
M. do Remusat did not get the promotion and appointment as Minister ho 
considered his due, and to this we owe most of the bitter attack published 
by his clever wife when it was popular to abuse the man to whom M. de 
liemusat had given personal service as Chamberlain in the days of the 
HI m pi re. 

2 See Beugnot’s account of the proceedings of one of the agents especially 
intrusted with carrying out this absurd system. “ One fine morning ho 
pounced on all the raw cotton that was to he found in the Grand Duchy (of 
Borg), and seized the whole as English merchandise. A wicked enchanter, 
who had paralyzed the arms of 10,000 workmen with a wave of his wand, 
would have done just about, as good a thing." An appeal to the Emperor 
was fruitless, “ and this cruel measure, which X do not dare to call by its 
right name, was accomplished with all the remains of Imperial power** 
(Bangnot, vol. ii. pp. 42-44). 
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this ruinous measure excited, and the Emperor’s eyes wore 

length opened on the subject by the following eireumstanc 

In spite* of the* sincerity with whiedi tin* Danish Hovernme: 
]>rofosses] to enforce the Continental system, 11olstein eo 

tabled a great quantity of colonial produce; and, notwit 
standing tin* nieasun*s of severity, it was necessary that th 

merchandise should find a market somewhere. The; smuggle 

often succeeded in introducing if into Germany, and the who 
would probably soon have passed the* custom-house limits. A 
things considered, 1 thought it advisable* to make*, the be*st 
an evil that could not be* avoided. I therefore proposed th 

the* (‘edonial produce* them in Ilolstedn, and which hael bee 

importeel before the* elate* of the King’s edict for its prohil 

tion, should be allowe*d to e*nte*r Hamburg on the* payni(*nt 

40, and on some* articles 40, pen* ce*nt. This duty was te> 

e*olle*e*te*d at the* custom-house, and was to be* confined e*ntire 

to articles consumed in Germany. The colonial produce 

Altona, Ghiekstadt, Hnsum, and otlmr towns of Holstein, h; 
been estimated at about .40,000,000 francs, and the* eluty won 

amount, to 10,00(MH)0 or 12,000,000. The*, adopt.iem of t’ 

plan I propose*d would naturally put a. stop to smugglin 
for it e'onltl not lie* doubted that tin* merchants would give . 

or 44 pe*r cent for the right of carrying on a lawful trai 

rather than give 40 per cent to the smugglers, with t. 

chance of seizure. 

The Emperor immediately adopted my idea, for I trai 

milled my suggestions to the Minister for Foreign Affairs < 
the 18th of September, am! on the 4th of ()ct;ober a decree w 

issued conformable to the* plan I proposed. Within six wee 
after the decree* eanie into operation .the custom-house*. Direct 

received 1400 declarations from persons holding colonial pre 

nee in Holstein, ft now appeared that the duties won 

amount to 40,000,000 frames, that is to say, 28,000,000 

40,000,000 more than my estimate*. 
Bernadofte had just been nominated Prince Boyal 

Sweden. This nomination, with all the circumstances cc 
neeted with it, an well as Ifernadotteb residence in Hambui 
before he proceeded to Stockholm, will be particularly notic< 
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in the next chapter. I merely mention the circumstance here 
to explain some events which took place in the north, and 

which were, more or less, directly connected with it. For 

example, in the month of September the course of exchange 
on St. Petersburg suddenly fell. All the letters which arrived 
in Hamburg from the capital of Russia and from Riga, attrib¬ 

uted the fall to the election of the Prince of Ponte-Corvo as 
Prince Royal of Sweden. Of thirty letters which 1 received 
there was not one but described the consternation which the 

event had created in St. Petersburg. This consternation, how¬ 

ever, might have been excited less by the choice of Sweden 

than by the fear that that choice was influenced by the French 

Government.1 

{ANNEX TO THE PRECEDING CHAPTER.] 

THE MARRIAGE OF MARIA LOUISA. 

Cherishing for General Lauriston, formerly his aide de camp, a friend¬ 
ship of very long standing, Napoleon commissioned him to proceed to 
Vienna, and to accompany the Empress to Paris as the captain of her 
bodyguard. With the view of honoring the memory of Marshal Cannes, 
Duke of Montebello, he appointed his widow to lx* a lady of honor to 
the new Empress, finding it impossible to bestow upon her a more signal 
proof of his esteem, for she had not at that time any claim to entitle her 
to a situation which was to place her, all at once, at the head of the highest 
society. 

Tie sent his sister, the Queen of Naples, as far as Braunati, with four 
ladies of honor to meet the Empress. We had then in Braunau the corps 
of Marshal Davoust, who was completing measures for evacuating Aus¬ 
tria. This corps was placed under arms upon the arrival of the Empress, 
and gave her as brilliant a reception as the means of so small a town 
could afford. The Queen of Naples received the Empress at Braunau, 
where the ceremony took place of delivering up her Majesty by the 
officers whom her father had appointed to accompany her, as well as of 
the delivery of her effects; and, as soon as the Empress had clothed her¬ 
self in the garments brought in the wardrobe from Paris, she passed 

1 Bemad otto himself seems not to have believed in the merits of his eleva¬ 
tion, for, if reported rightly to Perthes, he is said, in arguing against the 
existence of a God, to have urged, “ IXow can you contend for the being of a 
God ? If there were one, should I. be here in Lubock ? ” (Memoirs o f Perthes, 
vol. i. p. 151). 
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over the frontier with the ladies of the Pala.ee who were in attendance, 
and gave audienee of leave to all those who had accompanied her from 
Vienna and were about to return. All this was accomplished within an 
hour from the time of her arrival at Braunau. She departed immediately 
for Munich, Augsburg, Stuttgart, ('arlsruhe, and St.ruslmrg, and was re¬ 
ceived with great splendor at all the. Foreign (hurts, and at Strasburg 
with great enthusiasm. So many hopes were interwoven with the mar¬ 
riage that her arrival was sincerely greeted by all. 

The Emperor had gone as far as (’ompiegne to receive her, the (hurt 
being then at that residence. He wrote to her every day by a page, who 
went off at full speed with his letters, and as quickly brought hack her 
replies. 1 recollect that the Emperor having dropped the envelope of the 
first letter, it was instantly picked up, and handed about the salon as a 
specimen of the handwriting of the Empress: the eagerness to see it was 
as great as if her portrait had been exhibited. Tin* pages who came from 
her were tormented with questions. We had, in short, been transformed 
at once into courtiers as assiduous as our ancestors in the days of Louis 
XIV., and would scarcely have been taken for the men who had laid so 
many nations prostrate at their feet. The Emperor was no less impa¬ 
tient than ourselves, and much more interested in knowing what more 
peculiarly concerned him; he. really appeared love-stricken. He had 
ordered that the route of the Empress should lx* by way of Nancy, 
Chalons, Klioimg, and Soissons, and could almost point out, at any hour 
of the day, the progress sin* had then made. 

On the day of her arrival tin* Emperor took his departure in a plain 
carriage, with no other attendant than the < fraud Marshal, after giving 
his instructions to Marshal Bessieres, who remained at < ’ompiegne. He 
travelled on the road of Soissoim ami Kheim* until he met the carriage 
of the Empress, which was suddenly stopped by his courier. The Empe¬ 
ror alighted, ran up to the door of the Em press's carriage, opened it him¬ 
self, and stepped in. On perceiving the astonishment of the Empress, 
who knew not the meaning of this abruptness in a stranger, the Queen of 
Naples said to her, u Madame, it is the Emperor.” lie returned to 
OompHigne in their company. 

Marshal Bessieres had ordered out all the cavalry quartered near the 
Palace, and advanced with it and with the general officers and the Empe¬ 
ror’s aides de ramp on the road to Soissons as far as a well-known stone 
bridge, the name of which I do not recollect; at the mime, bridge 
Louis XV. had met the Dauphineas, daughter of Marla Theresa, after¬ 
wards the unhappy Queen of France. 

The people of < ‘ompiegne had succeeded In making their way to the 
porch of the Palace, where they ranged themselves in a double line. The 
Empress on her arrival was received at the foot of the principal staircase 

by the mother and family of the Emperor, the whole Court, the Ministers, 
and seve.ral personages of the highest rank. It Is superfluous to name 
the person who attracted the attention of every one from the moment the 
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carriage door opened until the entrance into the apartments. No court 
was held that night, and all the company withdrew at an early hour. 

According to the etiquette observed at foreign Courts the Emperor was 
no doubt married to the Archduchess Maria Louisa ; not so, however, 
with reference to our civil code ; nevertheless, it is said that he followed 
the example of Henry IV. on his marriage with Marie de Medicis. I am 
only repeat ing here the illiberal remarks made the next morning because 
I am pledged to speak the truth Had it, however, been my case, 1 should 
have followed the precedent of Henry IV. on this occasion. It happened 
to be my turn to sleep that night in the apartment of the officers in attend¬ 
ance. The Emperor had left the Palace and retired to the Chancellor’s 
residence ; and if the report had been brought to me that all Paris was on 
fire I should not have attempted to disturb his repose, under the apprehen¬ 
sion that he might not be found at that residence. 

The next was a very fatiguing day for the young Empress, because pres¬ 
entations were made of persons wholly unknown to her, by individuals 
with whom she was.not much more acquainted. The Emperor himself 
presented to her his aides da camp, who felt highly gratified at this con¬ 
descending mark of his regard; the lady of honor presented the ladies of 
the palace and others who were to form her retinue. 

The Emperor proceeded with the Empress to St. Cloud on the day after 
the public presentation, the attendants of both households followed them 
in separate carriages. They did not pass through Paris, but took the road 
to St. Denis, the Hois de Boulogne, and St. Cloud : all the authorities of 
Paris had repaired to the boundary of the department of the Seine, in the 
direction of Compiegne, and were followed by a great part of the popula¬ 
tion, who gave themselves up to the joy and enthusiasm which the occa¬ 
sion naturally created. 

An immense crowd had collected at St. Cloud to greet her arrival: first, 
the Princesses of the Imperial family, amongst wdiom were the Vice- 
Queen of Italy, who was then making her first appearance in Paris, the 
Princess of Baden, the Dignitaries, the Marshals of France, the Senators, 
and the Councillors of State. It was broad daylight when the Imperial 
retinue reached St. Cloud. 

The ceremony of the civil marriage did not take place till two days 
afterwards, in the gallery of the Palace at St. Cloud. A platform was 
raised at the extremity of the gallery, with a table and arm-chairs upon it 
for the Imperial couple, as well as chairs and stools for the Princes and 
Princesses of Ids family : none were present at the ceremony except the 
persons attached to the respective Courts. When all the preliminary ar¬ 
rangements had been gone through the cortege moved forward from the 
apartments of the Empress, and crossing the grand apartments and the 
salon of Hercules, entered the gallery, where it was arranged on the plat¬ 
form in the order laid down by the rules of etiquette. The place of every 
one had been determined beforehand, so that in an instant the utmost 
order and silence pervaded the assembly. 
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The Arch-Chancellor stood near a table with a rirh velvet covering 
over it, upon which was a register held by Count Kegnault de St. .lean 
d’Angely, the Secretary of the Imperial family's household. After faking 
the Emperor’s orders the Prince Arch-Chancellor put the following ques¬ 
tion to him in a loud voice : k‘ Sire, is it your Majesty s intention to take 
for your lawful wife her Imperial Highness the. Archduchess Maria Louisa 
of Austria, here present ? ” — Yes, .sir,” was the Emperor's answer. 
The Arch-Chancellor then addressed tin; Empress : “ Madame,” he said, 
“ does your Imperial Highness, of your own fret* consent, take tin; 
Emperor Napoleon, here present, for your lawful husband “ Yes, 
sir,” she replied. The Arch-Chancellor proceeded then to declare, in tin* 
name of the law and of the institutions of the Empire, that his Majesty 
the Emperor Napoleon and her Imperial Highness tin* Archduchess Maria 
Louisa of Austria were duty united in marriage. Count Kegnatdt de Nt. 
Jean d’Angely presented the act for signature, first to the Emi>eror, after¬ 
wards to the Empress, and lastly to all the members of the family, as well 
as to the different personages whose official ranks entitled them to this 

honorable privilege. 
Next morning the Imperial couple left St. Cloud in a carriage drawn 

by eight cream-colored horses, preceded by an empty carriage drawn by 
eigjjt gray horses, which was intended for the Empress ; thirty other car¬ 
riages all one mass of gilding, and drawn by superb horses, completed the 
corteye; these were tilled with the ladies and otHeers of the household, 
and by those whose employments gave them the privilege of being ad¬ 
mitted to the Imperial presence. The. train left St. < 'loud between eight 
and nine o’clock in the morning, and was escorted by the whole of the 
cavalry ; it passed through the Hois de Boulogne, the Porte Maillot, 
the Champs Elysees, the. Place de la Be volution, to the garden of the 
Tuileries, when; all the carriages stopped, to enable the company to enter 
the Palace. 

From the iron railing of the court of the Palace of St. Cloud, both sides 
of the road were lined with so dense a mass of jwmple that the population 
of the adjacent country must have flocked to St, Cloud and Paris on the 
occasion. The crowd increased on approaching Paris ; from tin* harrier 
to the Palace of the Tuileries it baffled all calculation. Orchestras were 
placed at stated distances along the Champs Elysees, and played a variety 
of airs. France appeared to revel in a delight bordering ttjam frenzy. 
Many were the protestations of fidelity and attachment made to the Em¬ 
peror; and whosoever had ventured to predict at that time what has since 
come to pass would have been scouted as a madman. 

When all the carriages had arrived, the corirge resumed its order of 
etiquette in the gallery of Diana at the Tuileries, and proceeded through 
a passage expressly constructed for the occasion, and terminating at the 
gallery of the Museum, which It entered by the door near the Pavilion of 
Flora. 

Here began a new spectacle : both sides of that Immense gallery were 
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lined from one end to the other with a triple row of Parisian ladies of the 
middle class : nothing could be compared to the variegated scene pre¬ 
sented by that assemblage of ladies, whose youthful bloom shone forth 
more dazzling than their elegant attire. 

A balustrade extended along both sides of the gallery, in order to pre¬ 
vent any one from passing beyond a certain line, and the middle of this 
fine edifice was thus free and unobstructed, so as to admit of a passage 
for the cortege which moved along, and afforded a feast to the eyes as far 
as the very altar. The vast salon at the end of the gallery, where the ex¬ 
hibition of paintings generally took place, had been converted into a 
chapel. Its circuit was lined by a triple row of splendidly ornamented 
boxes, filled with the most elegant and distinguished ladies then in Paris. 
The Grand Master of the Ceremonies assigned to the persons composing 
the cortege their proper places as they arrived in the chapel. The 
strictest order was observed during the whole of this ceremony. Mass 
was performed by his Eminence Cardinal Fesch, after which the marriage 
ceremony took place. — Memoirs of the Rue de Rovigo, tome iv. p. 280.1 

1 For many interesting details, most admirably written, respecting Bona¬ 
parte’s divorce from Josephine, and the circumstances that immediately pre¬ 
ceded the divorce, see the Memoirs of the Duchesse d’Abrantes, vol. iii. 
chap. xvii. 



CHAPTER XX. 

1800 —1810. 

Bernadotto elected Prince Royal of Sweden — ('mint Wrede’s overtures to 
Rornadotte — Bernudotte’s three da>s* \ is it to Hamburg -- Particulars 
respeciinyc the battle of Warrant — Secret order of the day "Last inter¬ 
course of the Prince Koval of Sweden with Napoleon — My advice to Ber¬ 
nadette respecting the Continental System — Annex. 

1 now come to one of tin4 periods of my life to which I look 

back with most satisfaction, — the time when Bernadotte was 

with me in Hamburg. I will briefly relate the. series of events 

which led the opposer of the 18th Brumaire to the throne of 
Sweden. 

On tin4 13th of March, 1809, Gust.avus Adolphus was ar¬ 

rested, and his uncle, flu* Duke of Kudermania, provisionally 

took tin* reins of Government. A few days afterwards Gus¬ 
tav us published his act of abdication, which in the, state of 

Sweden it was impossible, for him to refuse. In May follow¬ 

ing, the Swedish Diet having been convoked at Stockholm, 
the. Duke of Sudermania was elected King. (Christian Augus¬ 

tus, the only son of that monarch, of course became. Prince, 

Royal on the accession of his father to tin* throne. He, how¬ 

ever, died suddenly at the end of May, 1810, and Count Person 1 

(the sann* who at tin* Court of Marie Antoinette was distin¬ 

guished by the appellation of It* fmm Fvrsrn), was massacred 

by the populace, who suspected, perhaps unjustly, that he had 

been accessory to the Prince’s death. On the 21st of August 

following Bernadotte was elected Prince Royal of Sweden. 

After tin1 death of tin* Prince Royal the Duke* of Sudermania’s 

son, Count Wrede, a Swede, made the* first overtures to Berna- 

dotte, ami announced to him the intention entertained at 

1 Count Fernon, alleged to have bean ona of lit# favored lovers of Marie 
Antoinette, and who wie certainly deep In her confidence, had arranged 
newt of the details of the .attempted flight to Vareimeif in 1701, and he him¬ 
self drove the Itoyal family their first, stage to the gates of Paris. Hoe 
Thiers’s Hemlutiori, vol. i. p.’ 172, and Cam pan, toms li, p. 169. 

im 
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Stockholm of offering him the throne of Sweden. Bernadette 
was at that time in Baris, and immediately after his first inter¬ 
view with Count Wrede he waited on the Emperor at St. 

Cloud; Napoleon coolly replied that he could be of no serviee 
to him; that events must take their course; that la? might 

accept or refuse the offer as he chose; that he (Bonaparte) 

would place no obstacles in his way, but that he could give him 
no advice. It was very evident that the choice of Sweden was 

not very agreeable to Bonaparte, and though he afterwards 
disavowed any opposition to it, he made overtures to Stock¬ 

holm, proposing that the crown of Sweden should be added to 
that of Denmark. 

Bernadette then went to the waters of Plombieres, and on 

his return to Baris he sent me a letter announcing his eleva¬ 
tion to the rank of Prince .Royal of Sweden. 

On the 11th of October he arrived in Hamburg, where he 

staid only three days. He passed nearly the whole of that 

time with me, and he communicated to me many curious facts 

connected with the secret history of the times, and among 
other things some particulars respecting the battle of Wa- 

gram. I was the first to mention to the new Prince Royal 

of Sweden the reports of the doubtful manner in which the 

troops under his command behaved. I reminded him of Bona¬ 

parte’s dissatisfaction at these troops; for there was no doubt 

of the Emperor being the author of the complaints contained 

in the bulletins, especially as he had withdrawn the troops 
from Bernadotte’s command. Bernadotte assured mo that 

Napoleon’s censure was xmjust; during the battle he had 
complained of the little spirit manifested by the soldiers, 
“lie refused to see me,” added Bernadette, “and I was told, 

as a reason for his refusal, that he was astonished and dis¬ 

pleased to find that, notwithstanding his complaints, of 

which 1 must have heard, I had boasted of having gained 
the battle, and had publicly complimented the Saxons whom 
I commanded.” 

Bernadotte then showed me the bulletin he drew up after 
the battle of Wagram. I remarked that I had never heard of 

a bulletin being made by any other than the General who was 
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Coiimamler-in-Chiof during a battle, and asked how the affa 
ended. He then handed to me a copy of the (>rder of the* Da 

whioh Napoleon said lie laid sent only to the Marshals coi 

manding the different corps. As this remarkable document 

but little known I may subjoin it here. 

©r&.er of fbc |)an. 

Imperial (’amp ok SeinKNimrNN, 9th July, I8(Hb 

Ilis Majesty expresses his displeasure at t Do Prince of Ponte-Corvo 
Order, dated Leopoldstadt, 7th July, and inserted on the same day , 
nearly all the newspapers, in the following terms:-— 

iL Saxons, on the 5th of July 7000 or H(KK) of you pierced the enemy 
centre, and marched on Dcutsch- Wag ram in spite of the efforts o/’40,(H 
men supported by 00 piece# of artillery. You fought till midniyht, an 
bivouacked in the midst <f the Austrian line#. On the i\th, at dayhreat 
you recommenced the battle with the name person ranee, and, in tl 
midst of the ravages of the ew my'# artillery, your column# stood firm i 
iron. The great Napoleon witnessed your courage, and reckons yt 
among his bravest troops. Saxons, the fortune of a soldier consists i 
fulfilling his duty ; you hare nobly fulfilled yours ! 

“ (Signed) Heunadottk.” 

Independently of Ids Majesty having commanded hH army In persoi 
it is for him alone to award the degree of glory eaeh has merited. H 
Majesty owes the microns of his arms to tl»e French troops, ami to i\ 
foreigners. The Prince of Pouted'orvots Onier of fin* Day has a tei 
deucy to Inspire false* pretensions in troops whose merit does not rtf 
above mediocrity: It Is at variance with truth, policy, and national hono 
The success of the 5th Is dm* to the Due de KIvoli and Marshal Omllno 
who penetrated the enemy’s centre at the same time that the Due d’Aue 
stadt’s corps ttirned his left. The village of DeutschAVugriun sum iu 
taken on the 5th, hut on the dth, hy the corps of Marshal (htdinot. Tli 
corps of the Prince of Ponied ’orvo did not stand mjirw an iron. It wn 
the first to retreat. Ills Majesty was obliged to order the corps of tli 
Vieeroy to be covered by the divisions of Hrousnler and bamnrque, cm* 

mamied by Marshal Macdonald, by the division of heavy cavalry, con 
mam led by General Nansouty, and by a |«rt of the cavalry of the Uuar< 
To Marshal Maedonald and his troops Is due the merit, which the Prine 
of Pouted'orvo takes to himself. Ills Majesty ho|*ei that this exprewlo 
of his displeasure will henceforth deter any Marshal from appropriate 
to himself the glory which belongs to others. His Majeaty, howevei 
desires that the present Order of the Day, which may imuslbly tie mortify 
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ing to the Saxon troops, though they must be aware that they are not 
entitled to the praises bestowed on them, shall remain private, and be 
sent only to the Marshals commanding the army corps. 

(Signed) NAPOLEON. 

Bernadotte’s bulletin was printed along with Bonaparte’s 
Order of the Day, a thing quite unparalleled.1 

Though I was much interested in this account of Bona¬ 
parte’s conduct after the battle of Wagram, yet I was more 
curious to hear the particulars of Bernadotte’s last communi¬ 
cation with the Emperor. The Prince informed me that on 
his return from Plombi&res he attended the levee, when the 
Emperor asked him, before every one present, whether he 
had received any recent news from Sweden. He replied in 

the affirmative. “ What is it ? ” inquired Napoleon. “ Sire, I 
am informed that your Majesty’s charge d’affaires at Stock¬ 

holm opposes my election. It is also reported to those who 
choose to believe it that your Majesty gives the preference to 

the King of Denmark.” “At these words,” continued Berna- 

dotte, “ the Emperor affected surprise, which you know he can 

do very artfully. He assured me it was impossible, and then 
turned the conversation to another subject. 

“I know not what to think of his conduct in this affair. I 
am aware he does not like me ; but the interests of his policy 
may render him favorable to Sweden. Considering the pres¬ 

ent greatness and power of France, I conceived it to be my 
duty to make every personal sacrifice. But I swear to 
Heaven that I will never commit the honor of Sweden. He, 
however, expressed himself in the best possible terms in speak¬ 

ing of Charles XIII. and me. He at first started no obstacle to 
my acceptance of the succession to the throne of Sweden, and 
he ordered the official announcement of my election to be 

immediately inserted in the Moniteur. Ten days elapsed 

without the Emperor’s saying a word to me about my depar¬ 
ture. As I was anxious to be off, and all my preparations 
were made, I determined to go and ask him for the letters- 

1 For Savary’s version of the difference which arose between Bonaparte 
and Bermuloltc at Wagram, together with some interesting anecdotes con¬ 
nected with the battle, the reader is referred to the conclusion of the present 
chapter. 
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patent to relieve me from my oath of fidelity, which I laid 

certainly kept faithfully in spite of all his ill-treatment of me. 
He at first appeared somewhat surprised at my request, and, 

after a little* hesitation, he said, 4 There is a preliminary con¬ 

dition to be fulfilled ; a question has been raised by one of 

the members of the Privy Council.7 — v What condition, Sire ? 7 

— £ You must pledge yourself not to bear arms against me.’ —- 

£ Does your Majesty suppose that I can bind myself by such an 

engagement ? My election by the Diet of Sweden, which has 

. met with your Majesty’s assent, has made me a Swedish sub¬ 

ject, and that character is incompatible with the pledge pro¬ 

posed by a member of the Couneil. I am sure it eouhl never 

have emanated from your Majesty, and must proreed from the. 

Areh-Chaneellor or the (ham! Judge, wh<'> eertainly eould not 

have been aware of the height to which the proposition would 

raise me.1 —4 What do you mean */’ —£ If, Sire, you prevent 

me accepting a crown unless I pledge myself not to bear 

arms against you, do you not really place me. on a level with 

you as a General ? 7 
When I declared positively that my election must make 

me consider myself a Swedish subject he frowned, and 
seemed embarrassed. When l had done speaking he said, 

in a low and faltering voice, * Well, go. Our destinies will 

soon be accomplished !1 These words were uttered so indis¬ 

tinctly that I was obliged to beg pardon for not having heard 
what he said, and he repealed, ‘do! our destinies will soon 
be accomplished !1 In the subsequent conversations which 

I had with the Emperor I tried all possible means to remove 

the unfavorable sentiments he cherished towards ‘me. I 
revived my recollection of history. I spoke to him of the 

great men who had excited the admiration of the world, of 

the diflienlties and obstacles which they had to surmount; 

and, above all, I dwelt upon that solid glory which is founded 

on the establishment and maintenance of public tranquillity 

and happiness. The Emperor listened to me attentively, 

and frequently concurred in my opinion as to the principles 

of the prosperity and stability of States. One day he took 

my hand and pressed it affectionately, as if to assure me of 
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his friendship and protection. Though I knew him to he 
an adept in the art of dissimulation, yet his affected kindness 
appeared so natural that I thought all his unfavorable feeling 
towards me was at an end. I spoke to persons by whom our 
two families were allied, requesting that they would assure 
the Emperor of the reciprocity of my sentiments, and tell 
him that I was ready to assist his great plans in any way not 
hostile to the interests of Sweden. 

“ Would you believe, my dear friend, that the persons to 
whom I made these candid protestations laughed at my 
credulity ? They told me that after the conversation in 
which the Emperor had so cordially pressed my hand I had 
scarcely taken leave of him when he was heard to say that I 
had made a great display of my learning to him, and that he 
had humored me like a child. He wished to inspire me with 
full confidence so as to put me off my guard; and I know for 
a certainty that he had the design of arresting me. 

“But,” pursued Bernadotte, “in spite of the feeling of ani¬ 
mosity which I know the Emperor has cherished against me 
since the 18th Brumaire, I do not think, when once I shall be 
in Sweden, that he will wish to have any differences with the 
Swedish Government. I must tell you also he has given me 
2,000,000 francs in exchange for my principality of Ponte- 
Corvo. Half the sum has been already paid, which will be 
very useful to me in defraying the expenses of my journey 
and installation.1 When I was about to step into my carriage 
to set off, an individual, whom you must excuse me naming, 
came to bid me farewell, and related to me a little conversa¬ 
tion which had just taken place at the Tuileries. Hapoleon 
said to the individual in question, * Well, does not the Prince 
regret leaving France?7 — ‘ Certainly, Sire.7 — ‘As to me, I 
should have been very glad if he had not accepted his elec¬ 
tion. But there is no help for it. . . . He does not like me.7 
— ‘ Sire, I must take the liberty of saying that your Majesty 
labors under a mistake. I know the differences which have 
existed between you and General Bernadotte for the last six 

1 The other million stipulated in exchange for the principality of Ponte- 
Corvo was never paid to Bernadotte. — Bourrienne. 
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years. I know how lie opposed the overthrow of the Direc¬ 

tory ; but I also know that the Prince has long been sincerely 
attached to you.1 —4 Well, I dare say you art* right. Hut we 

have not understood each other. It is now too late, lie has 
his interests and his polity, and I have mined 1 

“ Such,” added the Prince, u' were the Emperor's last obser¬ 

vations respecting me two hours Indore my departure. The 

individual to whom I have just alluded spoke truly, my dear 

Bourrienne. I am indeed sorry to leave France; and I never 

should have left it but for the injustice of Bonaparte. If ever 

1 ascend the throne of Sweden I shall owe my crown to his 

ill-treatment of me; for had In* not persecuted me by his 

animosity my condition would have sufficed for a soldier of 

fortune : but we must follow our fate.” 

During the*- three days the Prince* spent with me T had many 
other conversations with him. He wished me to give him my 

advice as to the course he*, should pursue with regard to tin*. 

Continental system. u I advise you,” said I, “to reject tin*, 
system without hesitation. If may be very line in theory, but 

it is utterly impossible to carry it into practice, and it will, in 

the end, give tin*, trade of the world to England. It excites 
tin* dissatisfaction of our allies, who, in spite of themselves, 

will again beeome our enemies. Hut no other country, except 

Russia, is in the situation of Sweden. You want a number of 
objects of tin*, first necessity, which nature has withheld from 

you. You can only obtain them by perfect freedom of navi¬ 
gation ; and you can only pay for them with those peculiar 

productions in which Sweden abounds. It would bo out of 

all reason to close your ports against a nation who rules the 

seas. It is your navy that would be blockaded, not hers. 
What can France do against you? She may invade you by 

1 See Mottomich (vol. iL pp. 4fWMf»5) for the account, already referred to, 
of his conversation with Napoleon on the choice of Bernadette. Napoleon 
seems to have not really wished for the selection of Iternadotte, seeing: the 
danger of the elevation of his officers. But, the choice made, ha was pleased 
to get rid of Bernadette, “ one of those old Jacobins with his head in the 
wrong place?’ and “ in any ease I could not refuse my consent, were it only 
that a French Marshal on the throne of Gustavos Adolphus is one of the best 
possible tricks that could he played on Kngland. See also the same volume, 
p, whom Met tern ioh expresses his belief that Napoleon had thought of 
one of his own family. 
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]and. But England and Russia will exert all their efforts to 
oppose*, her. By sea it is still more impossible that she should 

do anything. Then you have nothing to fear but Russia and 
England, and it will be easy for you to keep up friendly rela¬ 

tions with these two powers. Take my adviee : sell your iron, 
timber, leather, and pitch ; take in return salt, wines, brandy, 

and colonial produce. This is the way to make yourself pop¬ 

ular in Sweden. If, on the contrary, you follow the Conti¬ 

nental system, you will be obliged to adopt laws against 

smuggling, which will draw upon you the detestation of the 

people.57 
Such was the adviee which I gave to Bernadotte when he 

was about to commence his new and brilliant career. In spite 

of my situation as a French Minister I could not have recon¬ 

ciled it to my conscience to give him any other counsel, for 
if diplomacy has duties so also has friendship. Bernadotte 

adopted my adviee, and the King of Sweden had no reason to 

regret having done so. 

[ANNEX TO THE PRECEDING CHAPTER.] 

THE BATTLE OF WAG RAM. 

Early in the morning of the t)th, after despatching orders in various 
directions, Napoleon wan taken rather seriously ill, in consequence of his 
fatigue and exertion. This circumstance compelled him to indulge in a 
little rest whilst the troops wore advancing. 

Marshal Bernadotte came at that time to see the Emperor, who had 
left orders that no one should disturb him until he called; I therefore 
refused to introduce the. Marshal, the object of whose visit was wholly 
unknown to me. I had witnessed the lukewarmness which his troops 
had evinced in the battle,: ever since the opening of the, campaign he had 
been incessantly complaining of want of ardor in his troops, of their 
inexperience, and of their want of confidence in their leaders. I should 
therefore have exhausted every supposition before I could have imagined 
that,, contradicting on a sudden the unfavorable opinion he had given of 
their courage, he could ever dream that those troops had decided the vic¬ 
tory we had just obtained. 

The Emperor was soon made acquainted with that unaccountable 
Order of the Day: lie sent for the Marshal, and removed him from the 
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command of his troops. 'I’llis lesson was ineffectual; Hernudottr, who 
persisted in maintaining the. justice of the ridiculous congratulations he 
had addresse.d to the Saxons, caused them to he inserted in the public 
papers. The Emj>en>r was indignant at this conduct, being at all times 
inflexibly severe against every impropriety of conduct and every act of 
falsehood, though he was unwilling, at the same time, to wound the feel¬ 
ings of men who had exposed their lives in his service. The insult, how¬ 
ever, was such that he felt it imjiossible to pass it by. He issued an 
Order of the Day, which he directed the Major-General not to circulate, 
either amongst the army at large or the Saxon troops, of which he had 
given the command to General Kcynier. 

At oue period of the engagement the enemy’s right was taking up a 
position in a perpendicular line to our extreme left, and compelled us to 
give it the form of an angle for the purpose of returning the enemy’s fire. 
They had placed some pieces of artillery in such a manner as to tin* upon 
the angle or elbow, whilst they were cannonading us on both sides of the 
angle. I know not what was the Emperor’s object, but he remained a 
full hour at that angle, which was a jierfiwl stream of shot; and as there 
was no fire of musketry kept up the soldiers became discouraged. The 
Emperor was more sensible than any one else that such a situation could 
not last long, and he remained there for the purpose of remedying the 
disorder. In the height of the danger he rode hi front of the line upon 
a horse as white as snow fit was called Euphrates, and had been sent to 
him as a present from the Soph! of Persia). He proceeded from one 
extremity of the lint* to the other, and returned at a slow pace; it wilt 
easily he believed that shots were flying ak»ut him In every direction. I 

kept behind, with my eyes riveted upon him, exerting at every moment 
to see him drop from his horse, . . . 

The Emperor ordered that as soon as the opening whleh In* intended 
to make in tin* enemy’s centre should k* effected the whole cavalry 
should charge and wheel round ujkhi the troops that had flanked us on 
the left. He had given directions, in consequence, to Marshal Iiesslhres, 
and the latter had at that moment started to execute them, when he was 
knocked flown by the most extraordinary cannon-shot ever seen. It ran 
along his thigh, in a rdgxag direction, and the Marshal was so suddenly 
thrown off his horse that we fancied he was killed on the sjiob The same 
shot forced tin* barrel from his pistol, and carried away kith barrel and 
stock. The Emperor saw him fall, but not having recognised him, asked, 
as he usually did on similar occasions, “ Who is It Bimsibres, Hire,” 
was the reply. Ho Instantly turned his horse round, saying, “ Let us go, 
I have no time to weep. Let m avoid another scene.” He alluded to 
the distress he had suffered at. the death of Marshal La»m«. He sent me 
to &m whether Be«#res was still alive. He had barn carried off the. 
ground, and had recovered hk senses, having merely been struck on the 
thigh, which was completely fmmlyml, . . , 

The Inhabitants of Vienna hail ascended to the ramparts and the roofs 
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of the houses, from whence they witnessed the battle. In the morning 
the ladies of that city were flushed with the hope of our defeat. This 
hope was converted to general gloom towards two in the afternoon. They 
discerned the retreat of the Austrian army as plainly as it could be seen 
on the field of battle. . . . 

The Emperor was going over the field of battle the same evening when 
intelligence was brought him of the death of General Lasalle, who had 
just been killed by one of the last musket-sliots fired before the final 
retreat of the enemy. That General had had in the morning a strange 
presentiment of the fate that awaited him. The acquisition of glory had 
been an object of much greater solicitude to him than the advancement 
of his fortune ; but on the night previous to the battle he seems to have 
had the fate of his children strongly impressed upon his mind, and he 
awoke to draw up a petition to the Emperor in their behalf, which he 
placed in his sabre tasche. When the Emperor passed in the morning in 
front of his division General Lasalle did not address him, but he stopped 
M. Maret, who was a few paces behind, and told him that, never having 
asked any favor of the Emperor, he begged he would take charge of the 
petition which he then handed to him in case any misfortune should befall 
him : a few hours afterwards he was no more. . . . 

As Napoleon was going over the field of battle he stopped on the 
ground which had been occupied by Macdonald’s two divisions ; it 
exhibited the picture of a loss fully commensurate with the valor they 
had displayed. The Emperor recognized amongst the slain a colonel 
who had given him some cause for displeasure. That officer, who had 
made the campaign 'of Egypt, had misbehaved after the departure of 
General Bonaparte, and proved ungrateful towards his benefactor, in 
hopes, no doubt, of insinuating himself into the good graces of the gen¬ 
eral who had succeeded him. On the return of the army of Egypt to 
France the Emperor, who had shown him many marks of kindness during 
the war in Italy, gave no signs of resentment, but granted him none of 
those favors which he heaped upon all those who had been in Egypt. 
The Emperor now said, on seeing him stretched upon the field of battle, 
“ I regret not having been able to speak to him before the battle, in order 
to tell him that I had long since forgotten everything.” 

A few steps farther on he discovered a young quartermaster of the 
regiment of carabineers still alive, although a shot had gone through his 
head ; but the heat and dust had almost immediately congealed the 
blood, so that the brain could not be affected by the air. The Emperor 
dismounted, felt his pulse, and, with his handkerchief, endeavored to 
clear the nostrils, which were filled with earth. He then applied a little 
brandy to his lips ; whereupon the wounded man opened his eyes, though 
he appeared at first to be quite insensible to the act of humanity exercised 
towards him ; but having again opened them, and fixed them on the 
Emperor, whom he now recognizetl, they immediately filled with tears, 
and he would have sobbed had not his strength forsaken him. The 
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wretched man could not escape death, according to the. opinion of the. 
surgeons who were called to his assistance. 

After having gone over the ground where the army had fought the 
Emperor went to place himself in the midst of the troops, which were 
beginning to move for the purpose of following the retreating enemy. 
On passing by Macdonald he stopped and held out his ham! to him, say¬ 
ing, Shake hands, Macdonald! no more ill will between us; we must 
henceforward be friends; and, as a pledge of my sincerity, I will send 
you your Marshal’s staff, which you so gloriously earned in yesterday’s 
battle.” 1 Macdonald had been in a kind of disgrace for many years; it 
would be diflieult to assign any reason for it, except the intrigue and 
jealousy to which an elevated mind is always exposed. Malevolence had 
succeeded in inducing the Emperor to remove him from his presence, 
and the Marshal’s innate pride had withheld him from taking any step 
towards reconciliation with a sovereign who did not treat him with that 
kindness to which he felt he had a claim. — Memoim of the I)uc de 
Roriyo, tome iv. chaps, xiii. and xiv. 

1 Macdonald nobly kept this compact, in 1814, when Napoleon had fallen 
from power, and of all the Marshals then around the Emperor showed him¬ 
self the most, loyal in tin* hour of adversity. <hie of the last to give in his 
adherence to the Bourbons, he behaved with equal fidelity to them in 1815, 
withstanding all the temptations of the Hundred Days. 



CHAPTER XXI. 

1810. 

Bernadotte’s departure from Hamburg—The Duke of Holstein-Augusten- 
burg — Arrival of the Crown Prince in Sweden — Misunderstandings 
between him and Napoleon —Letter from Bernadotte to the Emperor — 
.Plot for kidnapping the Prince Royal of Sweden — Invasion of Swedish 
Pomerania—Forced alliance of Sweden with England and Russia — 
Napoleon's overtures to Sweden—Bernadotte’s letter of explanation to 
the Emperor — The Princess Royal of Sweden — My recall to Paris — 
Union of the Hanse Towns with France — Dissatisfaction of Russia — 
Extraordinary demand made upon me by Bonaparte — Fidelity of my old 
friends — Duroc and Rapp — Visit to Malmaison, and conversation with 
Josephine. 

While Bernadotte was preparing to fill the high station to 
which he had been called by the wishes of the people of 
Sweden Xapoleon was involved in his misunderstanding with 
the Pope,1 and in the affairs of Portugal, which were far from 

proceeding according to his wishes. Bernadotte had scarcely 
quitted Hamburg for Sweden when the Duke of Holstein- 

Augustenburg arrived. The Duke was the brother of the last 
Prince Royal of Sweden, whom Bernadotte was called to 

succeed, and he came to escort his sister from Altona to Den- 

1 It was about this time that, irritated at what he called the captive 
Pope’s unreasonable obstinacy, Bonaparte conceived, and somewhat openly 
expressed, his notion of making France a Protestant country, and changing 
the religion of 30,000,000 of people by an Imperial decree. One or two of the 
good sayings of the witty, accomplished, and chivalrous Comte Louis de 
Narbonne have already been given in the course of these volumes. The fol¬ 
lowing is another of them : — 

“ I toll you what I will do, Narbonne — I tell you how I will vent my 
spite on this old fool of a Pope, and the dotards who may succeed him,” said 
Napoleon one day at the Tuileries. “ I will make a schism as great as that 
of Luther — I wiil make France a Protestant country! ” 

“Sire,” replied the Count, “I see difficulties in the way of this project. 
In the south, in the Vendee, in nearly all the west, the French are bigoted 
Catholics, and even what little religion remains among us in our cities and 
great towns is of the Roman Church.” 

“ Never mind, Narbonne — never mind! I shall at least carry a large por¬ 
tion of the French people with me — I will make a division.” 

“ Sire,” replied Narbonne, “ T am afraid that there is not enough religion 
in all France to stand division! ” —Editor o/1836 edition. 

S207 
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mark. His journey had been retarded for some days on 

account of the presence of the Prince of Fonte-Oorvo in Ham¬ 
burg : the preference granted to Bernadotte had mortified his 

ambition, and he was unwilling to come in contact with his 

fortunate rival. The Duke was favc'-ed by the Emperor of 

Bussia. 
As soon as he arrived in’ Sweden Bernadotte directed his 

aide de camjp, General Gentil de St. Alphonse, to inform me 
of his safe passage. Shortly after I received a letter from 

Bernadotte himself, recommending one of his aides de earn#>, 

M. Villatte, who was the "bearer of it. This letter contained 
the same sentiments of friendship as those I used to receive 
from General Bernadotte, and formed a contrast with the 

correspondence of King Jerome, who when he wrote to me 
assumed the regal character, and prayed that God would have 
me in his holy keeping. However, the following is the Prince 

Boyahs letter: — 

My dear Bourriknne— I have directed M. "Villatte to see you on 
his way through Hamburg, and to bear my friendly remembrances to you. 
Gentil has addressed his letter to you, which I suppose you have already 
received. Adieu, care for me always, and believe in the unalterable 
attachment of yours, (Signed) Charles Joiiit. 

P.S. — I beg you will present my compliments to madame and all your 
family. Embrace my little cousin for me. 

The little cousin, so called by Bernadotte, was one of my 

daughters, then a child, whom Bernadotte used to be very 

fond of while he was at Hamburg. 
Departing from the order of date, I will anticipate the 

future, and relate all I know respecting the real causes of the 
misunderstanding which arose between Bernadotte and Napo¬ 

leon. Bonaparte viewed the choice of the Swedes with great 
displeasure, because he was well aware that Bernadotte had 

too much integrity and honor to serve him in the north as a 

political puppet set in motion by means of strings which he 

might pull at Paris or at his headquarters. His dissatisfac¬ 
tion upon this point occasioned an interesting correspondence, 
nart of which, consisting of letters from Bernadotte to the 
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Emperor, is in my possession. The Emperor had allowed 
Bernadotte to retain in his service, for a year at least, the 
Erench officers who were his aides de camp ; but that permis¬ 
sion was soon revoked, and the Prince Royal of Sweden wrote 
to Napoleon the following letter of remonstrance: — 

At the moment when I was about to address my thanks to your 
Majesty for your kindness in continuing, during another year, the permis¬ 
sion you granted to the French officers who accompanied me to Sweden, 
I learn that your Majesty has revoked that favor. This unexpected dis¬ 
appointment, and in fact everything that I learn from Paris, indicates 
that your Majesty is not well disposed towards me. What have I done 
that deserves this treatment ? I must look to calumny as the sole cause. 
In the new position in which fortune has placed me I am doubtless 
likely to be more than ever exposed to calumny if I do not find a defender 
in the heart of your Majesty. Whatever may be said to you, Sire, I beg 
of you to believe that I have nothing to reproach myself with, and that I 
am entirely devoted to your person, not only by the strength of old ties 
but by an unalterable affection. If the affairs of Sweden do not go on 
entirely as your Majesty wishes it is solely owing to the Constitution. It 
is not in the power of the King to control the Constitution, still less is it 
in mine. In this country there are many separate interests to be united 
into one great national interest; there are four orders of the State to be 
amalgamated into one; and it is only by the most prudent and circum¬ 
spect conduct that I can hope one day to ascend the throne of Sweden. 
As M. Gentil de St. Alphonse returns to France, in conformity with your 
Majesty’s orders, I commission him to deliver you this letter. Your 
Majesty may question him. He has seen everything, and he will be able 
to explain to your Majesty how difficult is my situation. He can assure 
your Majesty how anxious I am to please you, and that I am in a state 
of continual perplexity between my new duties and the fear of displeasing 
you. I am grieved that your Majesty should withdraw the officers whose 
services you granted me for a year, but in obedience to your commands I 
send them back to France. Perhaps your Majesty may be inclined to 
change your determination; in which case I beg that you will yourself fix 
the number of officers you may think proper to send me. I shall receive 
them with gratitude. If, on the contrary, your Majesty should retain 
them in France, I recommend them to your favor. They have always 
served me well, and they have had no share in the rewards which were 
distributed after the last campaign. 

Napoleon’s dissatisfaction with, the Prince Royal now 
changed.to decided resentment. He repented having acceded 
to his departure from France, and he made no secret of his 

sentiments, for he said before his courtiers, “ That he would 
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like to send Bernadotte to Vincennes to finish his study of 
the Swedish language.7’ Bernadotte was informed of this, 

but he could not believe that the Emperor had ever enter¬ 
tained such a design. However, a conspiracy was formed in 

Sweden against Bernadotte, whom a, party of foreign brigands 

were hired to kidnap in the neighborhood of JIaga ; but tin* 

plot was discovered, and the conspirators were compelled to 
embark without their prey.1 The Emperor having at the 

same time seized upon Swedish Pomerania, the Prince Koyal 
wrote him a second letter in these terms: — 

From the papers which have just arrived I learn that a division of the 
army, under the command of the Prince of Kckmiihl, invaded Swedish 
Pomerania on the night of the 2dth of January; that the division con¬ 
tinued to advance, entered the capital of the Duchy, and took possession 
of the island of Kugen. The King expects that your Majesty will explain 
the reasons which have induced you to act in a manner so contrary to 
the faith of existing treaties. My old connection with your Majesty 
warrants me in requesting you to declare your motives without delay, in 
order that I may give my advice to the King as to the conduct which 
Sweden ought hereafter to adopt. This gratuitous outrage against 
Sweden is felt deeply by the nation, and still more, Sire, by me, to whom 
is Intrusted the honor of defending it. Though l have contributed to 
the triumphs of France, though I have always desired to see her respected 
and happy; yet l can never think of sacrificing the interests, honor, and 
independence of the country which has adopted me. Your Majesty, who 
has so ready a perception of what is just, must admit the propriety of my 
resolution. Though I am not jealous of the glory and |>ower which 
'surrounds you, I cannot submit to the dishonor of being regarded as a 
vassal. Your Majesty governs the greatest part of Europe, but your 
dominion does not extend to the nation which I have been called to gov¬ 
ern; my ambition is limited to the defence of Sweden. The effect pro¬ 
duced upon the people by the invasion of which I complain may lead to 
consequences which it is Impossible to foresee; and although 1 am not a 
Ooriolanns, ami do not command the Voted, I have a sufficiently good 
opinion of the Swedes to assure you that they dare undertake anything to 
avenge insults which they have not provoked, and to preserve rights to 
which they are as much attached as to their Uvea. 

I was in Paris when the Emperor received Bernadette’s 

letter on the occupation of Swedish Pomerania. When 
Bonaparte read it I was informed that ha flew into a violent 

i A Swedish gentleman hm assured xm that those brigands war© In th# 
pay of Bonaparte. — Editor of IHSC edition. 
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rage, and even exclaimed, “ You shall submit to your degrada¬ 
tion, or die sword in hand ! ” But his rage was impotent. 

The unexpected occupation of Swedish Pomerania obliged the 
King of Sweden to come to a decided rupture with France, 
and to seek other allies, for Sweden was not strong enough in 
herself to maintain neutrality in the midst of the general con¬ 

flagration of Europe after the disastrous campaign of Moscow. 
The Prince Eoyal, therefore, declared to Bussia and England 
that in consequence of the unjust invasion of Pomerania 
Sweden was at war with France, and he despatched Comte de 
Lowenhjelm, the King’s aide de camp, with a letter explana¬ 
tory of his views. Napoleon sent many notes to Stockholm, 

where M. Alquier, his Ambassador, according to his instruc¬ 

tions, had maintained a haughty and even insulting tone 
towards Sweden. Napoleon’s overtures, after the manifesta¬ 
tions of his anger, and after the attempt to carry off the Prince 

Eoyal, which could be attributed only to him, were considered 
by the Prince Eoyal merely as a snare. But in the hope of 
reconciling the duties he owed to both his old and his new 
country he addressed to the Emperor the following firm and 
moderate letter: — 

I have received some notes, the contents of which induce me to come 
to a candid explanation with your Majesty. When by the wish of the 
Swedish people, I was called to the succession of the throne, I hoped, on 
quitting France, that I should always be able to reconcile my personal 
affections with the interests of my new country. My heart cherished the 
hope that I could identify myself with the affections of this people and 
at the same time preserve the recollection of my early connections, and 
never lose sight of the glory of France, nor of my sincere attachment to 
your Majesty, an attachment founded on our fraternity in arms, which 
was distinguished by so many great actions. Full of this hope I arrived 
in Sweden. I found a nation generally attached to France, but more 
jealous of their own liberty and laws; anxious for your friendship, Sire, 
but not wishing to purchase it at the expense of honor and independence. 
Your Majesty’s Ambassador thought proper to disregard this national 
feeling, and has ruined all by his arrogance. His communications bore 
no trace of the respect due from one crowned head to another. In ful¬ 
filling, according to the dictates of his own passions, your Majesty’s 
intentions, Baron Alquier spoke like a Roman Proconsul, forgetting that 
he did not address himself to slaves. This Ambassador was the cause of 
the distrust which Sweden began to entertain respecting your Majesty’s 
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intentions, and which subsequent events were calculated to confirm. I 
have already had the honor, Sire, in my letters of 19th November, and 
8th December, 1K10, to make your Majesty acquainted with the situation 
of Sweden, and her wish to find a protector in your Majesty. She could 
only attribute your Majesty’s silence to an unmerited indifference, and it 
became her duty to take precautions against the storm which was already 
to burst upon the Continent. Sire, mankind have already suffered too 
much; during twenty years the world has been deluged with blood, and 
all that is necessary to raise your Majesty’s glory to the highest pitch is 
to put a period to these disasters. If your Majesty wishes the King 
should give the Emperor Alexander to understand that there is a pos¬ 
sibility of reconciliation I have sufficient faith in the magnanimity of 
that monarch to venture to assure you that he will readily listen to over¬ 
tures which would be at once equitable for your Empire and for the 
North. If an event so unexpected, and so generally desired, should take 

place, what blessings would the people of the Continent invoke for your 
Majesty! Their gratitude would he increased in proportion to the fear 
now entertained of the return of a scourge which has already made such 
cruel ravages. One of the happiest moments I have known since I 
quitted France was that in which I was assured that your Majesty had 
not entirely forgotten me. You have truly divined my sentiments. You 
have perceived how deeply they would be wounded by the painful pros¬ 

pect of either seeing the interests of Sweden separated from those of 
France, or of finding myself compelled to sacrifice the. interests of a 
country by which I have been adopted with such unlimited confidence. 
Sire, although a Swede by the obligations of honor, duty, and religion, 
yet by feeling I am still identified with France, my native country, which 
I have always faithfully served from my boyhood. Every step I take in 
Sweden, and the homage, I receive here, revive those recollections of 
glory to which I chiefly owe my elevation, and I cannot disguise from 
myself the fact that Sweden, in choosing me, Intended to pay a tribute of 
esteem to the French people. 

This letter throws great light on the conduct of the 
Emperor with respect to Bemaclotte; for Napoleon was not 
the man whom any one whatever would have ventured to 
remind of facts, the accuracy of which was in the least 
degree questionable. Such then were the relations between 
Napoleon and the Prince Royal of Sweden. When 1 shall 
bring to light some curious secrets, which have hitherto been 
veiled beneath the mysteries of the Restoration, it will be 
seen by what means Napoleon, Indore his fall, again sought to 
wreak his vengeance upon Bernadotte. 

On the 4th of December 1 had the honor to see the Prim 
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cess Royal of Sweden, who arrived that day at Hamburg.1 
She merely passed through the city on her way to Stockholm 
to join her husband, but she remained but a short time in 
Sweden — two months, I believe, at most, not being able to 
reconcile herself to the ancient Scandinavia. As to the 

Prince Royal, he soon became inured to the climate, having 
been for many years employed in the north. 

After this my stay at Hamburg was not of long duration. 
Bonaparte’s passion for territorial aggrandizement knew no 

bounds, and the turn of the Hanse Towns now arrived. By 
taking possession of these towns and territories he merely 
accomplished a design formed long previously. I, however, 

was recalled with many compliments, and under the specious 
pretext that the Emperor wished to hear my opinions respect¬ 
ing the country in which I had been residing. At the begin- 

1 Madame Bernadotte, afterwards Queen of Sweden, was a Mademoiselle 
Clary, and younger sister to the wife of Joseph Bonaparte: hence the rela¬ 
tionship with Bonaparte of which Bernadotte speaks. Monsieur Clary, the 
father of these two Queens, was a very respectable merchant at Marseilles. 
The following anecdote we have had from a near connection of the family. 
At a humble stage of his fortunes Napoleon sought the hand of Madame 
Bernadotte, his brother Joseph having already married her elder sister. But 
Monsieur Clary would not hear of the match. “ Fas de tout— No, no,” said 
he, “one poor Bonaparte in my family is quite enough! ” Joseph, the to-be- 
hereafter King of Naples, and of Spain and the Indies, was then fagging in 
Clary’s counting-house at invoices and bills of sale! It was some years 
later that Bernadotte obtained the hand of the young lady, which had been 
refused to Napoleon. Madame Bernadotte (we speak from personal knowl¬ 
edge) was, even when she had become a Queen, a kind-hearted, amiable 
woman, with a few eccentricities of character and conduct. The reader may 
find a very interesting sketch of her Swedish Majesty in the Memoirs of the 
Duchesse d*Abrantes. 

In the operatic company of the theatre San Carlo, at Naples, there was a 
poor French dansevse, sufficiently pass€e and miserable, who in the vicissi¬ 
tudes of time and fortune, had almost sunk into the subordinate rank of a 
merq figurante. Some quarter of a century before the time when we first 
jknew her this woman had been the much-loved mistress of the King of 
Sweden — then Lieutenant Bernadotte of the French Republican Army. In 
the ardor of his affection Bernadotte proposed marriage, but the condition 
and prospects of the parties were considered by Mademoiselle as too unequal. 
“No, no,”said she, “ I am improving— I am getting on in my profession — 
I may make a fortune, and you, cher Bernadotte, though a good fellow 
enough, are only a pauvre soldat.” We have heard Mademoiselle say 
twenty times, “ Only see what is destiny! At this hour I might have been 
Queen of Sweden, instead of being obliged to kick my heels about here for 
fifteen ducats a month! ” (fifteen Neapolitan ducats, or about £2:10s. Eng¬ 
lish money). The story was universally known at Naples, and her compan¬ 
ions on the boards almost invariably called her, in jest, the Queen of Sweden, 
or Your Majesty. We left her Majesty at Naples in the year 1827. 

The whole story would have been an incident for Candide, or the best of 
Voltaire’s cynical novels. —Editor of 1836 edition. 
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ning of December I received a letter from M. de Champagny 

stating that the Emperor wished to see me in order to consult 
with me upon different things relating to Hamburg. In this 

note I was told “ that the information I had obtained respect¬ 
ing Hamburg and the north of Germany might be useful to 

the public interest, which must be the most gratifying reward 

of my labors.” The reception whicdi awaited me will pres¬ 

ently be seen. The conclusion of the letter spoke in very 

flattering terms of the manner in which I had discharged my 

duties. 1 received it on the, 8th of December, and the next 

day I set out for Paris. When I arrived at Mayenee I was 

enabled to form a correct idea of the line compliments which 

had been paid me, and of the Emperor’s anxiety to have 

my opinion respecting the Hanse Towns. In Mayenee I 

met the courier who was proceeding to announce the union 
of the Hanse Towns with the French Empire. 1 confess 

that, notwithstanding the experience I had acquired of 

Bonaparte's duplicity, or rather, of the infinite multiplicity 

of his artifices, he completely took me by surprise on that 

occasion. 

On my arrival in Paris I did not see the Emperor, but the 

first Monitmr 1 read contained the, formula of a Sfotatus-con- 
mlte,1 which united the, Hanse Towns, Lauenburg, etc,, to 

the French Empire by the right of the strongest. This new 
and important augmentation of territory could not fail to give 
uneasiness to Russia. Alexander manifested his dissatis¬ 
faction by prohibiting the importation of our agricultural 

produce and manufactures into Russia. Finally, as the Con¬ 
tinental system had destroyed all trade by the ports of the 

Baltic, Russia showed herself more favorable to the English, 
and gradually reciprocal complaints of bad faith led to that 

1 On th© 18th of December, 1810, a SOuitv^eonmlU annexed Holland,the 
Hanse Towns (Hamburg, Bremen, ami LUbcck), Lamttibtirg, Oldenburg, 
ami the north of Germany, &tw>v#i a line drawn eastward from the junction 
of the Rhine and the Llppe, etc*, to the Baltic. This, with previous annex¬ 
ations and conquests, gave Napoleon the whole const-line of the Continent, 
except Russia, Turkey, Portugal, and the jmrts of Spain not occupied by his 
troop*. It gave, however, deep and final offence to Russia, whose royal 
house was connected with that m Oldenburg. 
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war whose unfortunate issue was styled by M. de Talleyrand 
“ the beginning of the end.” ' 

I have now to make the reader acquainted with an extraor¬ 
dinary demand made upon me by the Emperor through the 
medium of M. de Champagny. In one of my first interviews 
with that Minister after my return to Paris he thus addressed 
me : “ The Emperor has intrusted me with a commission to 

you which I am obliged to execute. 4 When you see Bour- 
rienne/ said the Emperor, ‘tell him I wish him to pay 
6,000,000 into your chest to defray the expense of building 

the new Office for Foreign Affairs/ ” I was so astonished at 
this unfeeling and inconsiderate demand that I was utterly 
unable to make any reply. This then was my recompense 
for having obtained money and supplies during my residence 

at Hamburg to the extent of nearly 100,000,000, by which his 
treasury and army had profited in moments of difficulty ! 

M. de Champagny added that the Emperor did not wish to 
receive me. He asked what answer he should bear to his 
Majesty. I still remained silent, and the Minister again 
urged me to give an answer. “ Well, then,” said I, “tell him 
he may go to the devil.” The Minister naturally wished to 
obtain some variation from this laconic answer, but I would 
give no other; and I afterwards learned from Duroc that 
M. de Champagny was compelled to communicate it to Napo¬ 

leon. “Well,” asked the latter, “have you seen Bourri- 

enne ? ” — “ Yes, Sire.” — “ Did you tell him I wished him to 
pay 6,000,000 into your chest?” — “Yes, Sire.” — “And what 
did he say ? ” — “ Sire, I dare not inform your Ma¬ 
jesty. . . .” — “What did he say? I insist upon knowing.” 

— “ Since you insist on my telling you, Sire, M. de Bour- 
rienne said your Majesty might go to — the devil.” — “Ah ! 

ah! did he really say so ? ” The Emperor then retired to 
the recess of a window, where he remained alone for seven or 
eight minutes, biting his nails, in the fashion of Berthier, and 

doubtless giving free scope to his projects- of vengeance. He 
then turned to the Minister and spoke to him of quite another 

subject. Bonaparte had so nursed himself in the idea of 
making me pay the 6,000,000 that every time he passed the 
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Office for Foreign Affairs lie said to those who accompanied 
him, “ Bourrieime must pay for that after all.” 1 

Though I was not admitted to the honor of sharing the 

splendor of the Imperial Court, yet I had the satisfaction of 

finding that, in spite of my disgrace, those of my old friends 
who were worth anything evinced the same regard for me as 

heretofore. 1 often saw Du roc, who snatched some moments 
from his more serious occupations to come and chat with me 

respecting all that had occurred since my secession from 

Bonaparte’s cabinet. I shall not attempt to give a verbatim 
account of my conversations with Duroc, as I have only my 

memory to guide me ; but I believe I shall not depart from 

the truth in describing them as follows : — 

On his return from the last Austrian campaign Napoleon, 

as I have already stated, proceeded to Fontainebleau, where 
he was joined by Josephine. Then, for the first time, the 

communication which had always existed between the apart¬ 

ments of the husband and wife was closed. Josephine was 

fully alive to the fatal prognostics which were to be deduced 
from this conjugal separation. Duroc informed me that she 

sent for him, and on entering her chamber he found her 

bathed in tears. “ I am lost! ” she exclaimed in a tone of 
voice the remembrance of which seemed sensibly to affect 

Duroc even while relating the circumstance to me: 441 am 

* This demand of money from Bourrieime in explained in Errcnr* (tome 
ii. p. 225) by the won of Davoust. Bourrieime had neett HUKiKtcted by Napo¬ 
leon of making large sums at Hamburg by allowing breaches of the Conti¬ 
nental system. In one letter to Davoust Napoleon speaks of an ‘4 immense 
fortune/* and in another, that Bourrieime is reported to have gained seven 
or eight millions at Hamburg in giving licenses or making arbitrary seizures, 
Napoleon also asks for information about several millions said to have toon 
paid to some Frenchmen by the Senate of Hamburg. The replies given to 
these questions were so unsatisfactory that Bourrieime was recalled, and the 
inquiry into his conduct was continued for some time without positive 
result. That Napoleon claimed restitution is most probable, but Bourrieime, 
who did not venture upon any public familiarity in 1787, would not have 
dared to make the reply he reports in 1810. It is to the Emperors inquiries 
being directed to Davoust that is owing the attack made on the Marshal 
farther on. Bourrienne’s position was one of great temptation, hut an honest 
man should have had no difficulty In clearing himself* The correspondence 
is significant, as showing how far the Emperor was from permitting the 
Illegal requisitions too often made by his officers, and how difficult it was to 
stop or punish them. Part of the ill will of many officers in 1814 is attributed 
to the severity with which Napoleon was following up their robberies. 
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utterly lost! all is over now! You, Duroc, I know, have 

always been my friend, and so has Rapp. It is not you who 
have persuaded him to part from me. This is the work of my 
enemies Savary and Junot! But they are more his enemies 
than mine. And my poor Eugene ! how will he be distressed 
when he learns I am repudiated by an ungrateful man! . . . 
Yes, Duroc, I may truly call him ungrateful. . . . My God! 

my God! what will become of us ? ” . . . Josephine sobbed 
bitterly while she thus addressed Duroc. 

Before I was made acquainted with the singular demand 
which M. de Champagny was instructed to make to me I re¬ 
quested Duroc to inquire of the Emperor -his reason for not 

wishing to see me. The Grand Marshal faithfully executed 
my commission, but he received only the following answer. 
“ Do you think I have nothing better to do than to give Bour- 
rienne an audience ? that would indeed furnish gossip for 

Paris and Hamburg. He has always sided with the emigrants; 
he would be talking to me of past times ; he was for Joseph¬ 
ine ! My wife, Duroc, is near her confinement; I shall 
have a son, I am sure ! . . . Bourrienne is not a man of the 

day; I have made giant strides since he left France; in short, 
I do not want to see him. He is a grumbler by nature; and 
you know, my dear Duroc, I do not like men of that 
sort.” 

I had not been above a week in Paris when Duroc related 
this speech to me. Rapp was not in France at the time, to 
my great regret. Much against his inclination he had been 
appointed to some duties connected with the Imperial mar¬ 

riage ceremonies, but shortly after, having given offence to 
.Napoleon by some observation relating to the Faubourg St. 

Germain, he had received orders to repair to Dantzic, of which 

place he had already been Governor. 
The Emperor’s refusal to see me made my situation in Paris 

extremely delicate; and I was at first, in doubt whether I 
might seek an interview with Josephine. Duroc, however, 
having assured me that Napoleon would have no objection to 

it, I wrote requesting permission to wait upon her. I received 
an answer the. same day, and on the morrow I repaired to Mai- 
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maison. I was ushered into the tent drawing-room, where 1 

found Josephine and Hortense. When I entered Josephine 
stretched out her hand to me, saying, “ Ah! my friend! ” 

These words she pronounced with deep emotion, and tears 

prevented her from continuing. She threw herself on the otto¬ 

man on the left of the fireplace, and beckoned me to sit down 

beside her. Hortense stood by the fireplace, endeavoring to 

conceal her tears. Josephine took my hand, which she pressed 
in both her own ; and, after a struggle to overcome her feelings, 

she said, “ My dear Bourrienne, I have drained my cup of mis¬ 

ery. He has cast me off! forsaken me ! He conferred upon me 

the vain title of Empress only to render my fall the more 

marked. Ah ! we judged him rightly ! I knew the destiny that 

awaited me; for what would he not sacrifice to his ambition ! ” 

As she finished these words one of Queen Horteuse’s ladies en¬ 

tered with a message to her; Hortense staid a few moments, 

apparently to recover from the emotion under which she was 

laboring, and then withdrew, so that I was left alone with 

Josephine. She seemed to wish for the relief of disclosing 
her sorrows, which I was curious to hear from her own 

lips; women have such a striking way of telling their dis¬ 

tresses. 
Josephine confirmed what Duroe had told me respecting the 

two apartments at Fontainebleau; then, coming to the period 
when Bonaparte had declared to her the necessity of a separa¬ 

tion, she said, a My dear Bourrienne, during all the years you 
were with us you know I made you the confidant of my 

thoughts, and kept you acquainted with my sad forebodings. 
They are now cruelly fulfilled. I acted the part of a good 

wife to the very last. I have suffered all, and I am resigned 1 
. . . . What fortitude did it require latterly to endure my 

situation, when, though no longer his wife, I was obliged to 

seem so in the eyes of the world 1 With what eyes do cour¬ 

tiers look upon a repudiated wife ! I was in a state of vague 

uncertainty worse than death until the fatal day when he at 
length avowed to me what I had long before read in his looks! 
On the 30th of November, 1800, we were dining together as 

usual, I had not uttered a word during that sad dinner, and he 
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had broken silence only to ask one of the servants what o’clock 
it was. As soon as Bonaparte had taken his coffee he dis¬ 
missed all the attendants, and I remained alone with him. I 
saw in the expression of his countenance what was passing in 

his mind, and I knew that my hour was come. He stepped 
up to me—he was trembling, and I shuddered; he took my 
hand, pressed it to his heart, and after gazing at me for a few 
moments in silence he uttered these fatal words : ‘ Josephine! 
my dear Josephine ! You know how I have loved you ! . . . . 

To you, to you alone, I owe the only moments of happiness I 
have tasted in this world. But, Josephine, my destiny is not 
to be controlled by my will. My dearest affections must yield 

to the interests of France.’ — ‘ Say no more,’ I exclaimed, ‘ I 
understand you; I expected this, but the blow is not the less 
mortal.’ I could not say another word,” continued Josephine; 
“ I know not what happened after I seemed to lose my reason; 

I became insensible, and when I recovered I found myself in 
my chamber. Your friend Corvisart and my poor daughter 
were with me. Bonaparte came to see me in the evening; and 
oh! Bourrienne, how can I describe to you what I felt at the 

sight of him; even the interest he evinced for me seemed an 
additional cruelty. Alas ! I had good reason to fear ever 

becoming an Empress ! ” 
I knew not what consolation to offer to Josephine; and 

knowing as I did the natural lightness of her character, I 
should have been surprised to find her grief so acute, after 

the lapse, of a year, had I not been aware that there are 
certain chords which, when struck, do not speedily cease to 
vibrate in the heart of a woman. I sincerely pitied Joseph¬ 
ine, and among all the things I said to assuage her sorrow, 
the consolation to which she appeared most sensible was the 
reprobation which public opinion had pronounced on Bona¬ 

parte’s divorce, and on this subject I said nothing but the 

truth, for Josephine was generally beloved. I reminded her 
of a prediction I had made under happier circumstances, viz. 
on the day when she came to visit us in our little house at 
Euel. “My dear friend,” said she, “I have not forgotten it, 
and I have often thought of all you then said. For my part, 
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1 knew he was lost from the day lie made himself Emperor. 

Adieu! Bourrienne, come and see me soon again; come often, 
for we have a great deal to talk about; you know how hapny 

1 always am to see you.” Such was, to the best of my recol¬ 

lection, what passed at my first interview with Josephine 
after my return from Hamburg. 



CHAPTEK XXII. 

1811. 

Arrest of La Sahla — My visit to him — His confinement at Vincennes — 
Subsequent history of La Sahla —His second journey to France — Deto¬ 
nating powder — Plot hatched against me by the Prince of Eckmuhl — 
Friendly offices of the Due de Rovigo—Bugbears of the police— Savary, 
Minister of Police. 

I had been in Paris about two months when a young man of 
the name of La Sahla was arrested on the suspicion of having 
come from Saxony to attempt the life of the Emperor. La 

Sahla informed the Due de Kovigo, then Minister of the 
Police, that he wished to see me, assigning as a reason for 
this the reputation I had left behind me in Germany. The 
Emperor, I presume, had no objection to the interview, for I 

received an invitation to visit the prisoner. I accordingly 

repaired to the branch office of the Minister of the Police, in 
the Eue des St. Peres, where I was introduced to a young 
man between seventeen and eighteen years of age. 

My conversation with the young man, whose uncle was, I 
believe, Minister to the King of Saxony, interested me greatly 

in his behalf; I determined, if possible, to save La Sahla, and 
I succeeded. I proceeded immediately to the Due de Eovigo, 
and I convinced him that under the circumstances of the case 
it was important to make it be believed that the young man 

was insane. I observed that if he were brought before a 
court he would repeat all that he had stated to me, and 

probably enter into disclosures which might instigate fresh 
attempts at assassination. Perhaps an avenger of La Sahla 
might rise up amongst the students of Leipzig, at which uni¬ 
versity he had spent his youth. These reasons, together with 

others, had the success I hoped for. The Emperor afterwards 
acknowledged the prudent course which had been adopted 
respecting La Sahla; when speaking at St. Helena of the con- 

. 221 



OQO MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 

spiracies against Ms life he said, “ I carefully concealed alV 

that I could.7,1 
In conformity with my advice La Sahla was sent to Vin¬ 

cennes, where he remained until the end of March, 1814. He 

was then removed to the castle of Saumur, from which he was 

liberated at the beginning of April. I had heard nothing of 

him for three years, when one day, shortly after the Restora¬ 
tion, whilst sitting at breakfast with my family at my house 

in the Rue Hauteville, I heard an extraordinary noise in the 

antechamber, and before I had time to ascertain its cause I 

found myself in the arms of a young man, who embraced me 

with extraordinary ardor. It was La Sahla. He was in a 

transport of gratitude and joy at his liberation, and at the 

accomplishment of the events which he had wished to accel¬ 

erate by assassination. La Sahla returned to Saxony and I 

saw no more of him, but while I was in Hamburg in 1815, 

whither I was sent by Louis XVIIL, I learned that on the 
5th of June a violent explosion was heard in the Chamber of 

Representatives at Paris, which was at first supposed to be a 

clap of thunder, but was soon ascertained to have been occa¬ 

sioned by a young Saxon having fallen with a packet of 

detonating powder in his pocket. 
On receiving this intelligence l imagined, I know not why, 

that this young Saxon was La Sahla, and that he had probably 
intended to blow up Napoleon and even the Legislative Body; 

but 1 have since ascertained that I was under a mistake as to 
his intentions. My knowledge of La Sahla’s candor induces 
me to believe the truth of his declarations to the police; and 
if there be any inaccuracies in the report of these declarations 

I do not hesitate to attribute them to the police itself, of 
which Fouch6 was the head at the period in question. The 
following is the account of the event above mentioned, which 

1 This statement of Bonrrienne is worth remarking as an unconscious ref¬ 
utation of the wild stories of the secret executions of the Empire. We find a 
man well acquainted with all the movements of the administration taking it 
for granted that an intended assassin would be publicly tried as a matter of 
course if he himself did not suggest other treatment. The case is the more 
noteworthy as Napoleon was anxious to hush up such attempts. The non-dis¬ 
appearance of this man may well answer all the absurd calumnies about the 
death of Captain Wright, etc. 
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appears to be accurate, with the exception of the conclu 

sion: — 

During the sitting of the Chamber of Representatives, about half-past 
one o’clock, a violent explosion took place, which was at first supposed to 
be a clap of thunder. The following are the particulars connected with 
the circumstance: — A Saxon, about twenty-eight years of age, who is said 
to belong to a family of distinction, had in his coat-pocket about four 
ounces of detonating powder. He had come in a carriage to the Chamber 
of the Legislative Body. He entered the hall, but left it soon after, and 
at the corner of the Rue de Bourgogne his foot slipped, and he fell upon 
the packet of detonating powder. A violent explosion was the conse¬ 
quence; his coat and pantaloons were torn, and himself dreadfully muti¬ 
lated. None of the passers-by were hurt. He was conveyed in this state 
to the Prefecture of the Police, where he was interrogated. He described 
himself to be Baron La Sahla, and is, we are told, of a rich and distin¬ 
guished family. 

Some years since he came to France with the intention of assas¬ 
sinating or poisoning the Emperor. He was arrested and confined at 
first in the fortress of Vincennes, and afterwards removed to the castle of 
Saumur. Shortly after the entrance of the Allies into Paris he was liber¬ 
ated, and returned to his own country. The Emperor having re-ascended 
the throne, he determined to return to France. He does not deny having 
formerly entertained the design of killing the Emperor, whom he regarded 
as the oppressor of Germany; but that oppression having ceased, his 
feelings of hatred towards the author have also disappeared. The spoli¬ 
ations committed upon Saxony by the Congress, and particularly by the 
Prussians, exasperated him greatly against the latter, and when he heard 
of the Emperor’s landing, and the fortunate issue of his enterprise, lie 
beheld in him, henceforth, the liberator of his unfortunate country, and 
he wished to render him all the service in his power. 

He therefore determined to return to France. He requested an 
audience of M. Hardenberg, and having obtained it, he pretended to be 
more than ever bent on his former plan of assassinating Napoleon. M. 
Hardenberg, after praising his good intentions, referred him to Marshal 
Blucher, whom he requested to furnish him with the means of proceed¬ 
ing to France. Marshal Blucher’s headquarters were then at Namur, 
and the chief officer of his staff, who gave La Sahla a passport, advised 
him, with a view of facilitating his enterprise, to carry with him some de¬ 
tonating powder, and mentioned a shopkeeper at Namur of whom he could 
procure it. In order to avoid exciting suspicion La Sahla went himself 
to the dealer and purchased only four ounces of the fulminating powder. 
He then proceeded to France, and on his arrival in Paris he instantly 
communicated to the Government all the information he had acquired 
respecting the forces of the Allies, their plans, their resources, etc. , By 
endeavoring to serve France he believed that he was serving his own 
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country. The police was satisfied that M. de La Bahia had communicated 
to the Government some very valuable details, both political and military. 
He also informed the War Minister that he had brought with him a little 
packet of detonating powder, and offered, it is said, to give it up; but it 
seems that no one was inclined to receive the dangerous deposit. Being 
asked the reason why he carried the powder about him he replied that 
he did not wish to have it at the hotel where he lodged, for fear that any 
person should loueh it ami occasion some accident. He is further said to 
have given M. Metternich proofs that M. .Stein, the Prussian Minister, 
had urged him to poison M. de Mongelas, the Bavarian Minister, and that 
M. Metternich appeared indignant and horror-struck at M. Stem's con¬ 
duct. if these declarations be true it must be acknowledged that some 
members of the Prussian Cabinet then resorted to diplomatic measures of 
a very extraordinary nature. 

There is an evident error in the above report respecting 
the age of M. La Sahla, who in 181f> could not be more than 
twenty-three. It is the latter part of the report which 
induced me to observe above*, that if there were any inaccu¬ 
racies in the statement they were more* likely to proceed from 
Fouchd’s police than the false representations of young La 
Sahla. It is difficult to give emlit without proof to such 
accusations. However, I decide nothing; hut I consider it 
my duty to express doubts of the truth of these*, charges 
brought against the? two Prussian Ministers, of whom the 
Prince of Wittgenstein, a man of undoubted honor, 1ms 
always spoken to me in the best of terms. 

There is nothing to prove that La Sahla returned to France 
the second time with the same intentions as before. This 
project, however, is a mystery to me, and his detonating 
powder gives rise to many conjectures.1 

1 Tlds account of La Bahia produced a warm remonstrance from Baron 
Stein, which appeared first in the Prussian Stntr <ktzft.tr, and was afterwards 
copied into many other p&jierR. In the Baron’s reply he declares that he 
never saw La Sahla until that person visited him in Parts in 1814. The 
Baron was not then a Prussian Minister, having been dismissed by Napoleon 
in 1808 from that cabinet, of which he never afterwards was a member. He 
asks, what motive could he have for poisoning Count Mongelas, and what 
possible influence could such a crime have on the political question# which 
were agitated in the autumn of 1814 and the spring iif 1815. A complete copy 
of the Baron’s vindication wit# annexed to the Herman translation of Bour- 
rieime’s Memoirs. Baron (iago.ru applied to Prince Metternich for a declara¬ 
tion from him on the subject, and received in return the following letter: — 

** The passage in M. de Bourrietmo*# Memoir# which has attracted Baron 
Stein’s attention produced a similar effect on me. 1 never knew any indi- 
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I had scarcely left Hamburg when the Prince of Eekmiihl 

(Marshal Davoust) was appointed Governor-General of that 
place on the union of the Hanse Towns with the Empire. 
From that period I was constantly occupied in contending 

against the persecutions and denunciations which he racked 
his imagination to invent. I cannot help attributing to those 

persecutions the Emperor’s coolness towards me on my arrival 
in Paris. But as Davoust’s calumnies were devoid of proof, 

he resorted to a scheme by which a certain appearance of 
probability might supply the place of truth. When I arrived 
in Paris, at the commencement of 1811, I was informed by an 
excellent friend I had left at Hamburg, M. Bouvier, an emi¬ 

grant, and one of the hostages of Louis XVI., that in a few 
days I would receive a letter which would commit me, and 
likewise M. de Talleyrand and General Bapp. I had never 
had any connection on matters of business, with either of 
these individuals, for whom I entertained the most sincere 

attachment.. They, like myself, were not in the good graces 
of Marshal Davoust, who could not pardon the one for his 

incontestable superiority of talent, and the other for his blunt 
honesty. On the receipt of M. Bouvier’s letter I carried it 

to the Due de Bovigo, whose situation made him perfectly 
aware of the intrigues which had been carried on against me 
since I had left Hamburg by one whose ambition aspired to 
the Viceroyalty of Poland. On that, as on many other similar 
occasions, the Due de Bovigo advocated my cause with Napo¬ 
leon. We agreed that it would be best to await the arrival of 
the letter which. M. Bouvier had announced. Three weeks 
elapsed, and the letter did not appear. The Due de Bovigo, 

vidual called La Sahla, either personally or by name. Never, under any 
name whatever, did any person ever come to me and attribute to Baron 
Stein a purpose having the slightest relation to that stated in the passage in 
question. I honor the indignation which Baron Stein feels. An accusation 
which wounds honor may exist, and be considered true, while it remains 
uncontradicted, by the greater part of readers, who always have a predis¬ 
position to credulity. They ought to be undeceived; and the necessity for 
contradiction is the more pressing when an error appears in a work like M. 
de Bourrienne’s, which is stamped with a character entirely different from 
the multitude of wretched publications which daily appear.” 

Baron Gagem afterwards corresponded with Bourrienne, who stated that 
he could not make the desired correction until he published a third edition. 
This proposal, however, was not satisfactory to Baron Stein (.Erreurs, tome 
ii. p. 200). 



226 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 

therefore, told me that I must have been misinformed. How¬ 

ever, I was certain that M. Bouvier would not have sent me 

the information on slight grounds, and I therefore supposed 

that the project had only been delayed. I was not wrong in 
my conjecture, for at length the letter arrived. To what a 

depth of infamy men can descend! The. letter was from a 

man whom I had known at Hamburg, whom I had obliged, 
whom I had employed as a spy. His epistle was a miracle of 
impudence. After relating some extraordinary transactions 

which he said had taken place between us, and which all bore 

the stamp of falsehood, he requested me to send him by return 

of post the sum of 60,000 francs on account of what I had 

promised him for some business he executed in England by 

the direction of M. de Talleyrand, General Rapp, and myself. 

Such miserable wretches are often caught in the snares they 

spread for others. This was the case in the present instance, 

for the fellow had committed the blunder of fixing upon the 

year 1802 as the period of this pretended business jn England, 

that is to say, two years before my appointment as Minister- 

Plenipotentiary to the Hanse Towns. This anachronism was 

not the only one I discovered in the letter. 
I took a copy of the letter, and immediately carried the 

original to the Due de Rovigo, as had been agreed between us. 
When I waited on the Minister lie was just preparing to go 
to the Emperor. He took with him the letter which I 
brought, and also the letter which announced its arrival. As 
the Due de Rovigo entered the audience-chamber Napoleon 

advanced to meet him, and apostrophized him thus: u Well, I 
have learned fine things of your Bourrienne, whom you are 
always defending.” Tim fact was, the Emperor hid already 
received a copy of the letter, which had hmn opened at the Ham- 

bury post-office. The Due de Rovigo told the 'Emperor that he 

had long known what his Majesty had communicated to him. 

He then entered into a full explanation of the intrigue, of 
which it was wished to render me the victim, and proved to 

him the more easily the falsehood of my accusers by remind¬ 
ing him that in 1802 1 was not in Hamburg, but was still in 
Ms service at home. 
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It may be supposed that I was too much interested in 

knowing what had passed at the Tuileries not to return to the 
Due de Rovigo the same day. I learned from him the partic¬ 
ulars which I have already related. He added that he had 
observed to the Emperor that there was no connection be¬ 
tween Rapp and M. de Talleyrand which could warrant the 
suspicion of their being concerned in the affair in question. 
“When Napoleon saw the matter in its true light,” said 
Savary, “ when I proved to him the palpable existence of the 

odious machination, he could not find terms to express his 
indignation. ‘ What baseness, what horrible villany! ’ he 

exclaimed; and gave me orders to arrest and bring to 

Paris the infamous writer of the letter; and you may 
rely upon it his orders shall be promptly obeyed.” 

Savary, as he had said, instantly despatched orders for the 
arrest of the writer, whom he directed to be sent to France. 

On his arrival he was interrogated respecting the letter. Ho 

declared that he had written it at the instigation and under 
the dictation of Marshal Davoust,1 for doing which he re¬ 
ceived a small sum of money as a reward.2 He also confessed 
that when the letter was put into the post the Prince of 
Eckmuhl ordered the Director of the Post to open it, take a 
copy, then seal it again, and send it to its address — that is to 
say, to me — and the copy to the Emperor. The writer of 
the letter was banished to Marseilles, or to the Island of 
Hy&res, but the individual who dictated it continued a 
Marshal, a Prince, and a Governor-General, and still looked 

1 The explanation of these attacks on Davoust (more properly spelt 
Davout), has already been given in the note on the demand made on Bourri- 
enne on his return from Hamburg. The subject is treated at length by the 
Marshal’s son in Errevrs, tome ii. p. 225. Davoust was at Paris on leave, 
and had not even been to Hamburg when Napoleon first called on him for 
information about Bourrienne’s peculations, and the first reports against 
Bourrienne, made in reply to the Emperor’s questions, were furnished by 
the Marshal’s Chief of the Staff, and simply forwarded by him. The letters 
of Davoust seem to show no special ill will towards Bourrienne, and it would 
be difficult to find any reason for a man in Davoust’s high position intriguing 
against the ex-Secretary. The Comte Alexandre de Puymaigre (Souvenirs, 
p. 135), not very favorably disposed towards Davoust, speaks to the general 
and strong belief at Hamburg that Bourrienne had made large sums of 
money there improperly. 

2 It does not appear at all clear why credence should be given to the 
informer’s statement in the latter case any more than the former. 
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forward to the Viceroyalty of Poland! Such was the dis¬ 

criminating justice of the Empire; and Davoust continued 
his endeavors to revenge himself by other calumnies for my 
not having considered him a man of talent. I must do the 
Due de Povigo the justice to say that, though his fidelity to 

Napoleon was, as it always had been, boundless, yet whilst he 

executed the Emperor’s orders he endeavored to make him 

acquainted with the truth, as was proved by his conduct in 
the case I have just mentioned. He was much distressed by 

the sort of terror which his appointment had excited in the 
public, and he acknowledged to me that he intended to restore 

confidence by a more mild system than that of his predecessor. 
I had observed formerly that Savary did not coincide in the 

opinion I had always entertained of Fouche, but when once 

the Due de Rovigo endeavored to penetrate the labyrinth of 

police, counter-police, inspections and hierarchies of espionage, 

he found they were all bugbears which Fouche had (‘.rented to 
alarm the Emperor, as gardeners put up scarecrows among 
the fruit-trees to frighten away the sparrows. Thus, thanks 
to the artifices of Fouche, the eagle was frightened as easily 

as the sparrows, until the. period when the Emperor, con¬ 

vinced that Fouche was maintaining a correspondence with 
England through the agency of Ouvrard, dismissed him. 

I saw with pleasure that Savary, the Minister of Police, 
wished to simplify the working of his administration, and to 

gradually diminish whatever was annoying in it, but, what¬ 
ever might be his intentions, he was not always free to act. 
I acknowledge that when I read his Memoirs 1 saw with 

great impatience that in many matters he had voluntarily 

assumed responsibilities for acts which a word from him 
might have attributed to their real author. However this 
may be, what much pleased me in Savary was the wish he 

showed to learn the real truth in order to tell it to .Napoleon. 

He received from the Emperor more than one severe rebuff. 
This came from the fact that since the immense aggrandize¬ 

ment of the Empire the ostensible Ministers, instead of rising 
in credit, had seen their functions diminish by degrees. Thus 

proposals for appointments to the higher grades of the army 
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came from the cabinet of Berthier, and not from that of the 
Minister of War. Everything which concerned any part of 

the government of the Interior or of the Exterior, except for 
the administration of War and perhaps for that of Finance, 

had its centre in the cabinet of M. Maret, certainly an honest 

man, but whose facility in saying “All is right,” so much 

helped to make all wrong.1 
The home trade, manufactures, and particularly several of 

the Parisian firms were in a state of distress the more hurtful 

as it contrasted so singularly with the splendor of the Imperial 

Court since the marriage of Napoleon with Maria Louisa. In 

this state of affairs a chorus of complaints reached the ears of 

the Due de Rovigo every day. I must say that Savary was 

never kinder to me than since my disgrace; he nourished my 
hope of getting Napoleon to overcome the prejudices against 

me with which the spirit of vengeance had inspired him, and 
I know for certain that Savary returned to the charge more 

than once to manage this. The Emperor listened without 

anger, did not blame him for the closeness of our intimacy, 
and even said to him some obliging but insignificant words 

about me. This gave time for new machinations against me, 
and to fill him with fresh doubts when he had almost over¬ 
come his former ideas.2 

1 The evil to which Bourrionne here alludes, the loss of power by the 
Ministers, was one of the great causes of the disasters of the Empire. The 
Minister of War was little more than a clerk, the administration of the 
u materiel,** etc., being separated, and the higher appointments being given 
through Berthier without reference to him. See Toy, tome i. p. 74, 75. In 
the absences of the Emperor from Paris the despatches of the Ministers were 
presented to him by Maret, Due de Bassano, a man ready to undertake any 
responsibility'. If the Emperor objected to any name submitted from Paris 
for an appointment, Maret was at hand to suggest another person, and the 
nominally responsible Ministers lost power and credit. This was especially 
the case in the later years of the Empire {Savary, tome iii. p. 35). 

2 Savary, Duo do Itovigo, had become Minister of Police on the dis¬ 
grace of Fouohd in June, 1810, and in his owrn Memoirs he describes his re¬ 
forms in his administration to the same effect as Bourrienne does. He 
corroborates Bourrienno as to their continued intimacy, and his efforts to gef 
Bourrienne again employed, but his own character was not of a description 
to add much weight to his recommendation in this case. 
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M. CzernischefE — Dissimulation of Napoleon—Napoleon and Alexander — 
Josephine's foresight respecting the affair? of Spain —My visits to Mal- 
maison — Grief of Josephine — Tears and the toilet—Vast extent of the 
Empire — List of persons condemned to death and banishment in Pied¬ 
mont-Observation of Alfieri respecting the Spaniards—Success in 
Spain — Check of Massena in Portugal — Money lavished by the English 
— Bertrand sent to Illyria, and Marmont to Portugal — Situation of the 
French army—Assembling of the Cortfcs — Europe sacrificed to the Con¬ 
tinental system — Conversation with Murat in the Champs Elysees — 
New titles and old names — Napoleon's dislike of literary men —Odes, 
etc., on the marriage of Napoleon— Chateaubriand and Lemercier — 
Death of Chinier—Chateaubriand elected his successor —His discourse 
read by Napoleon — Bonaparte compared to Nero—Suppression of the 
Mereure — M. de Chateaubriand ordered to leave Paris — MM. Lemercier 
and Esmenard presented to the Emperor — Birth of the King of Borne — 
France in 1811. 

Slstce my return to France I had heard much of the intrigues 

of M. Czernischeff, an aide de camp of the Emperor of Russia, 
who, under the pretext of being frequently sent to compli¬ 
ment Napoleon on the part of the Emperor Alexander, per¬ 

formed, in fact, the office of a spy. The conduct of Napoleon 

with regard to M. Czernischeff at that period struck me as 
singular, especially after the intelligence which before my 

departure from Hamburg I had transmitted to him respecting 
the dissatisfaction of Russia and her hostile inclinations. It 

is therefore clear to me that Bonaparte was well aware of the 
real object of M. Czernischeff ?s mission, and that if he 
appeared to give credit to the increasing professions of his 

friendship it was only because he still wished, as he formerly 
did, that Russia might so far commit herself as to afford him 

a fair pretext for the commencement of hostilities in the north. 
M. Czernischeff first arrived in Paris shortly after the 

interview at Erfurt, and after that period was almost con¬ 

stantly on the road between Paris and St. Petersburg j it has 
230 
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been computed that in the space of less than four years he 
travelled more than 10,000 leagues. For a long time his fre¬ 
quent journeyings excited no surmises, hut while I was in 
Paris Savary began to entertain suspicions, the ‘ correctness of 
which it was not difficult to ascertain, so formidable was still 
the system of espionage, notwithstanding the precaution 

taken by Fouche to conceal from his successor the names of 

his most efficient spies. It was known that M. Czernischeff 
was looking out for a professor of mathematics, — doubtless 
to disguise the real motives for his stay in Paris by veiling 

them under the desire of studying the sciences. The con¬ 

fidant of Alexander had applied to a professor connected with 
a public office; and from that time all the steps of M. Czerni- 
sclieff were known to the police. It was discovered that he 
was less anxious to question his instructor respecting the 

equations of a degree, or the value of unknown quantities, 
than to gain all the information he could about the different 
branches of the administration, and particularly the depart¬ 

ment of war. It happened that the professor knew some 

individuals employed in the public offices, who furnished him 
with intelligence, which he in turn communicated to M. 
Czernischeff, but not without making a report of it to the 

police; according to custom, instead of putting an end to this 
intrigue at once it was suffered fully to develop itself. Napo¬ 

leon was informed of what was going on, and in this instance 

gave a new proof of his being an adept in the art of dissimu¬ 

lation, for, instead of testifying any displeasure against M. 
Czernischeff, he continued to receive him with the same marks 
of favor which he had shown to him during his former mis¬ 

sions to Paris. Being, nevertheless, desirous to get rid of 
him, without evincing a suspicion that his clandestine pro¬ 
ceedings had been discovered, he intrusted him with a friendly 

letter to his brother of Russia, but Alexander was in such 
haste to reply to the flattering missive of his brother of 
France that M. Czernischeff was hurried back to Paris, having 

scarcely been suffered to enter the gates of St. Petersburg. I 
believe I am correct in the idea that Napoleon was not really 
displeased at the intrigues of M. Czernischeff, from the sup- 
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position that they afforded an indication of the hostile inten¬ 

tions of liussia towards France; for whatever he might say 

on this subject to his confidants, what reliance can we place 

on the man who formed the camp of Boulogne without the 

most distant intention of attempting a descent upon England, 

and who had deceived the whole world respecting that impor¬ 

tant affair without taking any one into his own confidence ? 

During the period of my stay in Paris the war with Spain 

and Portugal occupied much of the public attention; and it 

proved in the end an enterprise upon which the intuition of 

Josephine had not deceived her. In general she intermeddled 
little with political affairs ; in the first place, because her doing 

so would have given offence to Napoleon; and next, because 

her natural frivolity led her to give a preference to lighter 

pursuits. But 1 may safely affirm that she was endowed with 

an instinct so perfect as seldom to be deceived respecting the 

good or evil tendency of any measure which Napoleon en¬ 

gaged in; and i remember she told me. that when informed of 

the intention of the Emperor to bestow the throne of Spain on 

Joseph, she was seized with a feeling of indescribable alarm. 
It would be difficult to define that instinctive feeling which 

leads us to foresee the future; but it is a fact that Josephine 

was endowed with this faculty in a more perfect degree! than 

any other person I have ever known, and to her it was a fatal 
gift, for she suffered at the same time under the weight of 

present and of future* misfortunes. 

I often visited her at Malmaison, as Du roe assured me that 

the Emperor had no ohjeetion to my doing ho ; yet he must 
have been fully aware that when Josephine and 1 were in con¬ 

fidential conversation he would not always he mentioned in 

terms of unqualified eulogy; and in truth, his first friend and 
his first wife might well be excused for sometimes commin¬ 
gling their complaints. 

Though more, than a twelvemonth had elapsed since the 
divorce grief still preyed cm the. heart of Josephine. u You 
cannot conceive, my friend,” she often said to me, “all the 
torments that I have suffered sinee that fatal day! I cannot 
imagine how 1 survived it. You cannot figure to yourself the 
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pain I endure on seeing descriptions of his fetes everywhere. 
And the first time he came to visit me after his marriage, what 
a meeting was that! How many tears I shed! The days on 
which he comes are to me days of misery, for he spares me 
not. How cruel to speak of his expected heir. Bourrienne, 

you cannot conceive how heartrending all this is to me ! Bet¬ 
ter, far better to be exiled a thousand leagues from hence ! 
However,” added Josephine, ee a few friends still remain faith¬ 

ful in my changed fortune, and that is now the only thing 
which affords me even temporary consolation.” The truth is 

that she was extremely unhappy, and the most acceptable con¬ 

solation her friends could offer her was to weep with her. Yet 
such was still Josephine’s passion for dress, that after having 
wept for a quarter of an hour she would dry her tears to give 
audience to milliners and jewellers. The sight of a new hat 
would call forth all Josephine’s feminine love of finery.1 One 
day I remember that, taking advantage of the momentary 
serenity occasioned by an ample display of sparkling gew¬ 

gaws, I congratulated her upon the happy influence they 
exercised over her spirits, when she said, “My dear friend, I 
ought, indeed, to be indifferent to all this ; but it is a habit.” 

Josephine might have added that it was also an occupation, 
for it would be no exaggeration to say that if the time she 
wasted in tears and at her toilet had been subtracted from her 
life its duration would have been considerably shortened. 

The vast extent of the French Empire now presented a 
spectacle which resembled rather the dominion of the Romans 
and the conquests of Charlemagne than the usual form and 
political changes of modem Europe.2 In fact, for nearly two 

1 The amusing./erarae de chambre Mademoiselle Avrillion informs us that 
Josephine, after her divorce, amused her solitude with embroidering, and 
other little works of the kind. She says she was also very fond of reading, 
or of having books read out to her; but mademoiselle admits on fifty occa¬ 
sions that the principal occupation of the ex-Empress was the toilet, and 
that her taste for finery and expensive nick-nacks continued undiminished 
by time and many sorrows. Shortly after the divorce Josephine made a 
Journey to the waters of Aix, in Savoy, and then a short tour in Switzerland. 
When she was at Coppet, .where Madame de Stael was residing, she declined 
receiving the visit of that celebrated woman, as she feared that by so doing 
she would offend her former husband, the great Napoleon, who was in a state 
of open warfare with the author of Corivne. 

2 The so-called u French ” armies of the time, drawn from all parts of the 
Empire and from the dependent States, represented the extraordinary fusion 
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centuries, until the period of the Revolution, and particularly 

until the elevation of Napoleon, no remarkable chunks had 
taken place in the boundaries of European States, if we 

except the partition of Poland, when two of the co-pax-titioners 
committed the error of turning the tide of Russia towards 
the west! Under Napoleon everything was overturned with 

astonishing rapidity: customs, manners, laws, were superseded 
by new customs, new manners, and new laws, imposed by 

force, and forming a heterogeneous whole, which could not 
fail to dissolve, as soon as the influence of the power which 

had created it should cease to operate. Such was the state of 
Italy that I have been informed by an individual worthy of 

credit that if the army of Prince Eugene, instead of being 

victorious, had been beaten on the Piava, a deeply organized 

revolution would have broken out in Piedmont, and even in 
the Kingdom of Italy, where, nevertheless, the majority of 

the people fully appreciated the excellent qualities of Eugene. 

I have been also credibly informed that lists were in readi¬ 
ness designating those of the French who were to be put. to 

death, as well as those by whom the severe orders of the 
Imperial Government had been mitigated, and who were only 

to be banished. In fact, revolt was as natural to the Italians 

as submission to the Germans, and as the fury of despair to 

the Spanish nation. On this subject I may cite an observa¬ 
tion contained in one of the works of Alfieri, published fifteen 

years before the Spanish war. Taking a cursory view of the 
different European nations he regarded the Spaniards as the 

only people possessed of "sufficient energy to struggle against 
foreign usurpation.” Had I still been near the person of 

attempted by Napoleon. Thus, at the battle of Oeana there were at least 
troops of the following States, viz. Warsaw, Holland, Baden, Nassau, flense- 
Darmstadt, Frankfort, besides the Spaniards in Joseph’s service. A Spanish 
division went to Denmark, the regiment from Isembourg was sent to Naples, 
while the Neapolitans crossed to Spain. Even the little Valais had to fur¬ 
nish a battalion. Blacks from San Domingo served in Naples, while six¬ 
teen nations, like so many chained dogs, advanced into Russia. Bitch troops 
could not have the spirit of a homogeneous army. 

Already, in 1808, Mettemich (vol. ii. p. 292) had written from Paris to his 
Court, “It is no longer the nation that fights: the present war (Spain) Is 
Napoleon's war; it is not even that of his army.” But Napoleon himself 
was aware of the danger of the Empire from its own extent, fit the silence 
of his cabinet his secretary Meneval (tome hi. pp. 273, 274) sometimes heard 
him murmur, “//arc est traps lonff temps tenduA 
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JTapoleon I would most assuredly have resorted to an inno¬ 
cent artifice, which I had several times employed, and placed 
the work of Alfieri on his table open at the page I wished 
him to read. Alfieri’s opinion of the Spanish people was in 

the end fully verified; and I confess I cannot think without 
shuddering of the torrents of blood which inundated the 
Peninsula; and for what ? To make Joseph Bonaparte a King! 

The commencement of 1811 was sufficiently favorable to 
the Prench arms in Spain, but towards the beginning of 

March the aspect of affairs changed. The Duke of Belluno, 
notwithstanding the valor of his troops, was unsuccessful at 
Chiclanaji and from that day the French army could not 
make head against the combined forces of England and Portu¬ 
gal. Even Mass6na, notwithstanding the title of Prince of 
Eslingen (or Essling), which he had won under the walls of 

Vienna, was no longer “ the favorite child of victory ” as he 
had been at Zurich: 

Having mentioned Massena I may observe that he did not 
favor the change of the French Government on the founda¬ 
tion of the Empire. Massena loved two things, — glory and 
money; but as to what is termed honors, he only valued those 
which resulted from the command of an army; and his recol¬ 

lections all bound him to the Bepublic, because the Bepublic 
recalled to his mind the most brilliant and glorious events of 
his military career. He was, besides, among the number of 
the Marshals who wished to see a limit put to the ambition 
of Bonaparte; and he had assuredly done enough, since the 

commencement of the wars of the Bepublic, to be permitted 
to enjoy some repose, which his health at that period required. 
What could he achieve against the English in Portugal ? The 
combined forces of England and Portugal daily augmented, 
while ours diminished. Ko efforts were spared by England 
to gain a superiority in the great struggle in which she was 
engaged; as her money was lavished profusely, her troops 
paid well wherever they went, and were abundantly supplied 

with ammunition and provisions: the French army was com¬ 
pelled, though far from possessing such ample means, to pur- 

1 Barrosa. 



236 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON l ION A PA FT PL 

chase at the same high rate, in order to keep the natives from 
joining the English party. .But even this did not prevent 

numerous partial insurrections in different places, which rein 

dered all communication with Franco extremely ditlioult. 

Armed bands continually carried off our dispersed soldiers; 
and the presence of the British troops, supported by the 

money they spent in the country, excited the inhabitants 
against us ; for it is impossible to suppose that, unsupported 

by the English, Portugal could have, held out a single moment 

against Prance. But battles, bad weather, and even want, 

had so reduced the French force that it was absolutely neces¬ 
sary our troops should repose when their enterprises could 

lead to no results. In this state, of things Massena was 

recalled, because his health was so materially injured as to 

render it impossible for him to exert sufficient activity to 

restore the army to a respectable footing. 
Under these circumstances Bonaparte sent Bertrand into 

Illyria to take the place of Marmont, who was ordered in Ins 
turn to relieve Massena and take the command of the French 

army in Portugal. Marmont on assuming the command found 

the troops in a deplorable state. The. difficulty of procuring 

provisions was extreme, and the means he was compelled to 

employ for that purpose greatly heightened the evil; at the 

same time insubordination and want of discipline, prevailed to 

such an alarming degree that it would be as difficult as painful 

to depict-the situation of our army at this period. Marmont, 

by his steady conduct, fortunately succeeded in correcting the 

disorders which prevailed, and very soon found himself at the 

head of a well-organized army, amounting to 30,000 infantry, 

with forty pieces of artillery, hut lie had only a very small 
body of cavalry, and those ill-mounted. 

Affairs in Spain at the commencement of 1811 exhibited an 

aspect not very different from those of Portugal. At first we 

were uniformly successful, but our advantages were ho dearly 

purchased that the ultimate issue of this struggle might easily 

have been foreseen, because when a people fight for their 

homes and their liberties the invading army must gradually 
diminish, while at the same time the armed population, mu- 
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boldened by success, increases in a still more marked progres¬ 
sion. Insurrection was now regarded by the Spaniards as a 

lioly and sacred duty, to which the recent meetings of the 
Cort&s in the Isle of Leon had given, as it were, a legitimate 
character, since Spain found again, in the remembrance of her 

ancient privileges, at least the shadow of a Government—a 
centre around which the defenders of the soil of the Peninsula 
could rally.1 

The Continental system was the cause, if not of the eventual 
fall, at least of the rapid fall of Napoleon. This cannot be 
doubted if we consider for a moment the brilliant situation 
of the Empire in 1811, and the effect simultaneously produced 
throughout Europe by that system, which undermined the 

most powerful throne which ever existed. It was the Con¬ 

tinental system that Napoleon upheld in Spain, for he had 
persuaded himself that this system, rigorously enforced, 

would strike a death-blow to the commerce of England; and 
Duroc besides informed me of a circumstance which is of 
great weight in this question. Napoleon one day said to him, 
“I am no longer anxious that Joseph should be King of 

Spain; and he himself is indifferent about it. I would give 
the crown to the first comer who would shut his ports against 
the English.” 

Murat had come to Paris on the occasion of the Empress’s 

accouchement, and I saw him several times during his stay, 
for we had always been on the best terms; and I must do 
him the justice to say that he never assumed the King but 

■ 1 Lord Wellington gave Massdna a beating at Fuentes d’Onore on the 5th 
of May, 1811. ^ It was soon after this battle that Napoleon sent Marmont to 
succeed Massena. Advancing on the southern frontier of Portugal the skil¬ 
ful Soult contrived to take Badajoz from a wavering Spanish garrison. 
About this time, however, General Graham, with his British corps, sallied 
out of Cadiz, and beat tl|e French on the heights of Barrosa, which lie in 
front of Cadiz, which city the French were then besieging. Encouraged by 
the successes of our regular armies the Spanish Guerillas became more and 
more numerous and daring. By the end of 1811 Joseph Bonaparte found so 
many thorns in his usurped crown that he implored his brother to put it on 
some other head. Napoleon would not then listen to his prayer. In the 
course of 1811 a plan was laid for liberating Ferdinand from his prison in 
France and placing him a,t the head of affairs in Spain, but was detected by 

* the emissaries of Bonaparte’s police. Ferdinand’s sister, the ex-Queen of 
Etruria, had also planned an escape to England. Her agents were betrayed, 
tried bv a military commission, and shot— the Princess herself was con¬ 
demned to close confinement in a Roman convent. — Editor of 183ft edition. 
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to Ms courtiers, and those who had known him only as a 
monarch. Eight or ten days after the birth of the King of 

Rome, as I was one morning walking in the Champs Ely sees, 
I met Murat. He was alone, and dressed in a long blue 

overcoat. We * were exactly opposite the gardens of his 
sister-in-law, the Princess Borghese. .“Well, Bourrienne,” 

said Murat, after we had exchanged the usual courtesies, 
“ well, what are you about now ?v I informed him how I 
had been treated by Napoleon, who, that I might not be in 

Hamburg when the decree of union arrived there, had recalled 

me to Paris under a show of confidence. I think I still see 
the handsome and expressive countenance of Joachim when, 
having addressed him by the titles of Sire and Your Majesty, 
he said to me, “ Pshaw! Bourrienne, are we not old comrades ? 
The Emperor has treated you unjustly ; and to whom has he 

not been unjust ? His displeasure is preferable to his favor, 

which costs so dear! He says that he made us Kings ; but 
did we not make him an Emperor ? To you, my friend, whom 
I have known long and intimately, I can make my profession 

of faith. My sword, my blood, my life belong to the Empe¬ 

ror. When he calls me to the field to combat his enemies 

and the enemies of France I am no longer a King, I resume 
the rank of a Marshal of the Empire ; but let him require no 
more. At Naples I will be King of Naples, and I will not 

sacrifice to his false calculations the life, the well-being, and 
the interests of my subjects.1 Let him not imagine that he 
can treat me as he has treated Louis! For I am ready to 

defend, even against him, if it must be so, the rights of the 
people over whom he has appointed me to rule. Am I then 

1 If we add to the irksomeness of a foreign rule the severity of the irregu¬ 
lar courts-martial and military tribunals and the detested conscription law, 
which sent the young men of sunny Naples to perish by thousands in North¬ 
ern Germany or the wilds of Poland and Russia, it will be understood how 
unpopular must have been Napoleon, who ordered all these things. M. de 
Bourrienne, however, does not over-estimate the effects of the Continental 
system; it had reduced one-half of the Kingdom to beggary. In the rich 
oil country about Gallipoli, Taranto, and Bari, through a large portion of 
Apulia and Calabria, many people no longer pressed the olives that their 
rich groves furnished, as. owing to the exclusion of England, America, etc., 
from the market, the price of the oil scarcely paid the expenses of its prepa¬ 
ration. Murat, however, was always personally popular with a large portion 
of the Neapolitan nation. — Editor of 1836 edition. 
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an advance-guard King ? ”1 These last words appeared to 
me peculiarly appropriate in the mouth of Murat, who had 
always served in the advance-guard of our armies, and I 
thought expressed in a very happy manner the similarity of 
his situation as a king and a soldier. 

I walked with Murat about half an hour. In the course of 

our conversation he informed me that his greatest cause of 
complaint against the Emperor was his having first put him 

forward and then abandoned him. “ Before I arrived in 

Naples/’ continued he, “ it was intimated to me that there 
was a design of assassinating me. What did I do ? I en¬ 

tered that city alone, in full daylight, in an open carriage, for 
I would rather have been assassinated at once than have lived 
in the constant fear of being so. I afterwards made a descent 

on the Isle of Capri, which succeeded. I attempted one 
against Sicily, and am certain it would have also been suc¬ 

cessful had the Emperor fulfilled his promise of sending the 
Toulon fleet to second my operations; but he issued contrary 
orders: he enacted Mazarin, and wished me to play the part 
of the adventurous Duke of Guise. But I see through his 

designs. Now that he has a son, on whom he has bestowed 
the title of King of Koine, he merely wishes the crown of 
Naples to be considered as a deposit in my hands. He 
regards Naples as a future annexation to the Kingdom of 

Kome, to which I foresee it is his design to unite the whole 
of Italy. But let him not urge me too far, for I will oppose 
him, and conquer, or perish in the attempt, sword in hand.” 

I had the discretion not to inform Murat how correctly he 
had divined the plans of the Emperor and his projects as to 
Italy, but in regard to the Continental system, which, perhaps, 

the reader will be inclined to call my great stalking-horse, I 
spoke of it as I had done to the Prince of Sweden, and I per- 

1 The question here asked by Murat would have been answered by Napo¬ 
leon in the affirmative ; and indeed a great part of the difficulties of the 
Emperor and of the Kings set up by him was that these Sovereigns would 
not recognize that this was their real position. They were the leaders of the 
advanced guard, or wardens of the marches, of the Empire ; and their piti¬ 
ful, if natural and sometimes honorable, attempts to assume the status of 
independent monarclis, did much to ruin the Empire to which alone they 
owed their existence. If Spain, Holland, and Italy were to be independent 
it was not for Joseph, Louis, and Murat to head the struggle in these 
countries. 
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seived that lie was fully inclined to follow my advice, as ex« 
perience has sufficiently proved. It was in fact the Conti* 

nental system which separated the interests of Murat from 

those of the Emperor, and which compelled the new King of 
Naples to form alliances amongst the princes at war with 
France. Different opinions have been entertained on this sub¬ 
ject ; mine is, that the Marshal of the Empire was wrong, but 
the King of Naples right. 

The Princes and Dnkes of the Empire must pardon me for 

so often designating them by their Republican names. The 
Marshals set less value on their titles of nobility than the 

Dukes and . Counts selected from among the civilians. Of all 
the sons of the Republic Regnault de St. Jean d’Angffiy was the 

most gratified at being a Count, whilst, among the fathers of 
the Revolution no one could regard with greater disdain than 

Fouchd his title of Duke of Otranto;1 he congratulated him¬ 
self upon its possession only once, and that was after the fall 

of the Empire. 
I have expressed my dislike of Eouch6; and the reason of 

that feeling was, that I could not endure his system of making 

the police a government within a government. He had left 
Paris before my return thither, but I had frequent occasion to 
speak of that famous personage to Savary, whom, for the reason 

above assigned, I do not always term Due de Rovigo. Savary 
knew better than any one the fallacious measures of Fouchi;s 
administration, since he was his successor. Fouch6, under pre¬ 
tence of encouraging men of letters, though well aware that 
the Emperor was hostile to them, intended only to bring them 

into contempt by making them write verses at command. It 
was easily seen that Napoleon nourished a profound dislike 
of literary men,2 though we must not conclude that he wished 

the public to be aware of that dislike. Those, besides, who 

1 This is in opposition to the story that Fouchd took to his new dignity 
so kindly that, in recounting a conversation, he described Robespierre as ad-, 
dressing him as “ Due d’Otrante.” 

2 It would not be difficult to show that Napoleon had only a profound dis¬ 
like for those literary men who used their pens in bitter attacks on him, or in 
that party warfare which it was his great object to put an end to. If study¬ 
ing the works of the great authors, loving to converse with those who could 
pardon his elevation, and pensioning both those who praised and those Who 
attacked him,.is any proof of liking literary men, he certainly liked them. 
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devoted their pens to blazon his glory and his power were sure 
to be received by him with distinction. On the other hand, as 
Charlemagne and Louis XIV. owed a portion of the splendor of 
their reigns to the lustre reflected on them by literature, he 

wished to appear to patronize authors, provided that they 
never discussed questions relating to philosophy, the independ¬ 

ence of mankind, and civil and political rights. With regard 
to men of science it was wholly different j those he held in 
real estimation; but men of letters, properly so called, were 

considered by him merely as a sprig in his Imperial crown. 

The marriage of the Emperor with an Archduchess of 
Austria had set all the Court poets to work, and in this con¬ 
test of praise and flattery it must be confessed that the false 

gods were vanquished by the true God; for, in spite of their 

fulsome verses, not one of the disciples of Apollo could exceed 
the extravagance of the Bishops in their pastoral letters. At 

a time when so many were striving to force themselves into 
notice there still existed a feeling of esteem in the public 
mind for men of superior talent who remained independent 
amidst the general corruption; such was M. Lemereier, such 

was M. de Chateaubriand. I was in Paris in the spring of 
1811, at the period of Chenier’s death,1 when the numerous 
friends whom Chateaubriand possessed in the second class of 
the Institute looked to him as the successor of Chenier. This 

was more than a mere literary question, not only on account 
of the high literary reputation M. de Chateaubriand already 
possessed, but of the recollection of his noble conduct at the 
period of the Due d’Enghien's death, which was yet fresh in 

the memory of every one; and, besides, no person could be 

1 Marie Joseph de Chdnier died in 1811. He had been a fervid Repub¬ 
lican, while his brother Andrd had taken the opposite side and had been 
guillotined in 1794. As Joseph was not believed to have exerted himself to 
save his brother his opponents delighted to speak of him, bv an intentional 
mistake, as “ the brother of Abel Chdnier.” Savary, then Minister of Police, 
claims (tome v. p. 17) to have got Chateaubriand nominated to the Academy; 
see also Merlet (Literature Francaise, 1800-15, tome i. p. 245) to same effect. 
Chateaubriand required some pressing to join what he called a den of philo¬ 
sophers, but his permitting his name to be put forward is not quite consistent 
with his resignation of his post after the death of the Due d’Enghien, 
and with his furious attack in 1814 on the fallen Emperor. For a brief ac¬ 
count of the complimentary odes of the period see Merlet, tome i. p. 183, and 
Savaryt tome v. p. 12. 
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ignorant of the immeasurable difference of opinion between 

Ch6nier and M. de Chateaubriand. 
M. de Chateaubriand obtained a great majority of votes, 

and was elected a Member of the Institute. This opened a 
wide field for conjecture in Paris. Every one was anxious to 
see how the author of the Genie du Christianisme, the faithful 

defender of the Bourbons, would bend his eloquence to pro¬ 
nounce the eulogium of a regicide. The time for the admis¬ 

sion of the new Member of the Institute arrived, but in his 
discourse, copies of which were circulated in Paris, he had 
ventured to allude to the death of Louis XVI., and to raise 

his voice against the regicides. This did not displease Napo¬ 
leon ; but M. de Chateaubriand also made a profession of faith 
in favor of liberty, which, he said, found refuge amongst men 
of letters when banished from the politic body. This was 
great boldness for the time; for though Bonaparte was 

secretly gratified at seeing the judges of Louis XVI. scourged 
by an heroic pen, yet those men held the highest situations 
under the Government. Cambaceres filled the second place 
in the Empire, although at a great distance from the first; 
Merlin de Douai was also in power; and it is known how 

much liberty was stifled and hidden beneath the dazzling 
illusion of what is termed glory. A commission was named 
to examine the discourse of Chateaubriand. MM. Suard, de 
Segur, de Fontanes, and two or three other members of the 
same class of the Institute whose names I cannot recollect, 

were of opinion that the discourse should be read; but it was 
opposed by the majority. 

When Napoleon was informed of what had passed he de¬ 
manded a sight of the address, which was presented to him 

by M. Daru. After having perused it he exclaimed, “ Had 
this discourse been delivered I would have shut the gates of 

the Institute, and thrown M. de Chateaubriand into a dungeon 
for life.” The storm long raged ; at length means of conciliar 
tion were tried. The Emperor required M. de Chateaubriand 
to prepare another discourse, which the latter refused to do, 
in spite of every menace. Madame Gay applied to Madame 
Regnault de St. Jean d’Angdly, who interested her husband 
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in. favor of the author of the Genie du Christianisme. M. de 
Montalivet and Savary also acted on this occasion in the most 
praiseworthy manner, and succeeded in appeasing the first 

transports of the Emperor’s rage. But the name of Chateau • 

briand constantly called to mind the circumstances which had 
occasioned him to give in his resignation ; and, besides, Napo¬ 

leon had another complaint against him. He had published 
in the Mercure an article on a work of M. Alexandre de 
Laborde. In that article, which was eagerly read in Paris, 

and which caused the suppression of the Mercure, occurred the 

famous phrase which has been since so often repeated: “ In 

vain a Nero triumphs : Tacitus is already born in his Empire.” 
This quotation leads me to repeat an observation which, I' 
believe, I have already made, viz. that it is a manifest miscon¬ 
ception to compare Bonaparte to Nero. Napoleon’s ambition 

might blind his vision to political crimes, but in private life 
no man could evince less disposition to cruelty or bloodshed. 

A proof that he bore little resemblance to Nero is that his 
anger against the author of the article in question vented 
itself in mere words. “ What! ” exclaimed he, “ does Cha¬ 
teaubriand think I am a fool, and that I do not know what 

he means ? If he goes on this way I will have him sabred on 
the steps of the Tuileries.” 1 This language is quite charac¬ 
teristic of Bonaparte, but it was uttered in the first ebullition 
of his wrath. Napoleon merely threatened, but Nero would 

have made good his threat; and in such a case there is surely 

some difference between words and deeds. 

i The account of the anger of Napoleon is rather exaggerated, and Cha¬ 
teaubriand himself seems to have been the author of the phrase about sabring 
him on the steps of the Tuileries. It was Napoleon who had suggested the 
nomination of Chateaubriand to the Institute; and that the Emperor was not 
ill-advised in’objecting to the discourse presented to him for his inspection 
seems proved by the fact that Chateaubriand never published it among his 
works, nor gave any acknowledged text. Napoleon was, however, angry 
enough to give rise to an amusing scene. Daru, himself an author and a 
critic, brought the manuscript to the Emperor, who received him alone, and 
soon worked himself into a passion over the discourse. His furious apostro¬ 
phes of the absent Chateaubriand were overheard in the antechamber, and 
believed to be addressed to Dam. Thus, when Daru re-appeared, he found 
himself, to his surprise, shunned by all the men who on his entry had greeted 
him most warmly; each, however, on ascertaining the truth, assuring him 
that he had not been duped. See the description in Sainte-Beuve’s Cha¬ 
teaubriand et son Groups LitUraire, tome ii. pp. 99-110. 
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The discourse of M. de Chateaubriand revived Napoleon’s 
former enmity against him; he received an order to quit 

Paris. M. Daru returned to him the manuscript of his dis¬ 

course, which had been read by Bonaparte, who cancelled 
some passages with a pencil. We can be sure that the phrase 
about liberty was not one of those spared by the Imperial 
pencil. However that may be, written copies were circulated 
with the text altered and abbreviated; and I have even been 
told that a printed edition appeared, but I have never seen 
any copies; and as I do not find the discourse in the works 

of M. de Chateaubriand I have reason to believe that the 

author has not yet wished to publish it. 
Such were the principal circumstances attending the nom¬ 

ination of Chateaubriand to the Institute. I shall now relate 
some others which occurred on a previous occasion, viz., on 

the election of an old and worthy visitor at Malmaison, 
M. Lemercier, and which will serve to show one of those 
strange inconsistencies so frequent in the character of 

Napoleon. 
After the foundation of the Empire M. Lemercier ceased to 

present himself at the Tuileries, St. Cloud, or at Malmaison, 
though he was often seen in the salons of Madame Bonaparte 
while she yet hoped not to become a Queen. Two places 

were vacant at once in the second class of the Institute, which 
still contained a party favorable to liberty. This party, find¬ 

ing it impossible to influence the nomination of both members, 
contented itself with naming one, it being the mutual condi¬ 
tion, in return for favoring the Government candidate, that 

the Government party should not oppose the choice of the 
liberals. The liberal party selected M. Lemercier, but as they 

knew his former connection with Bonaparte had been broken 
off they wished first to ascertain that he would do nothing to 

commit their choice. Chenier was empowered to inquire 
whether M. Lemercier would refuse to accompany them to 
the Tuileries when they repaired thither in a body, and 
whether, on his election, he would comply with the usual 
ceremony of being presented to the Emperor. M. Lemercier 

replied that he would do nothing contrary to the customs and 
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usages of the body to which he might belong: he was accord¬ 
ingly elected. The Government candidate was M. Esmenard, 

who was also elected. The two new members were presented 
to the Emperor on the same day. On this occasion upwards 
of 400 persons were present in the salon, from one of whom I 
received these details. When the Emperor saw M. Lemercier, 
for whom he had long pretended great friendship, he said to 
him in a kind tone, “Well, Lemercier, you are now installed.” 
Lemercier respectfully bowed to the Emperor, but without 

uttering a word in reply. Napoleon was mortified at this 
silence, but without saying anything more to Lemercier he 

turned to Esmenard, the member who should have been most 
acceptable to him, and vented upon him the whole weight of 

his indignation in a manner equally unfeeling and unjust. 

“ Well, Esmdnard,” said he, “ do you still hold your place in 

the police ? ” 1 These words were spoken in so loud a tone as 

to be heard by all present; and it was doubtless this cruel and 
ambiguous speech which furnished the enemies of Esmdnard 
with arms to attack his reputation as a man of honor, and to 
give an appearance of disgrace to those functions which he 

exercised with so much zeal and ability. 
When, at the commencement of 1811, I left Paris, I had 

ceased to delude myself respecting the brilliant career which 
seemed opening before me during the Consulate. I clearly 

perceived that since Bonaparte, instead of receiving me as I 
expected, had refused to see me at all, the calumnies of my 
enemies were triumphant, and that I had nothing to hope for 
from an absolute ruler, whose past injustice rendered him the 
more unjust. He now possessed what he had so long and 

1 For the connection of Esmenard with the police as editor, etc., see 
Savary (tome v. p. 15), who praises him highly, and boasts that it was he 
who got him, and later Chateaubriand, into the Academy. Lemercier, who 
had been a favored friend of General Bonaparte, withdrew from the Court 
and sent back his cross of the Legion of Honor on the foundation of the 
Empire. His writings in the subsequent years were not very successful, 
even allowing for the restraints of the censorship. “ He sent/’ says Merlet 
(tome i. p. 263), “ his pieces to the censor as agenoral launches his soldiers to 
the assault. He thus had more than five great dramas killed under him.” 
Preserving his hostility during the time of Napoleon’s power Lemercier 
seems to have regretted the Bestoration, or at least he might have said with 
Hoffman when then asked why he did not write against Napoleon, “Be¬ 
cause I have never flattered him.” 
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ardently wished for, — a son of his own, an inheritor of hig 

name, his power, and his throne. ! must take this oppor¬ 

tunity of stating that the malevolent and infamous rumors 
spread abroad respecting the birth of the King of Home were 

wholly without foumhtion. My friend (-orvisurf, who did 

not for a single instant leave Maria Louisa during her long 

and painful labor, removed from my mind every doubt on the 

subject. It is as true that the young Prince, for whom the 

Emperor of Austria stood sponsor at the font, was the son of 

Napoleon and the Arcdiduehess Maria Louisa as if is false 

that Bonaparte was the father of the first child of I Iortense. 
The birth of the son of Napoleon was hailed with general en¬ 

thusiasm.1 The Emperor was at the height of his power 

from the period of the birth of his son until the reverse he 

experienced after the battle of the Moskowa. The Empire, 

including the States possessed by the Imperial family, contained 

nearly 57,000,000 of inhabitants; but the period was fast ap¬ 

proaching when this power, unparalleled in modern times, 

was to collapse under its own weight. 

* The reader will find some very interesting notices of this great event 
and the fetes which followed, in the og th* !hn'h* w vol. 
iii. p. ‘479. It appears from Mademoiselle A vriUhm's Memoirs that Napoleon 
was the first, to announce to Josephine the birth of his son. “ In such cir¬ 
cumstances/" said mademoiselle, ** all that pannes in the breast of a woman 
is inexplicable • the Empress tcstlfhd the greatest and the most sincere joy 
at an event which was considered by almoM all Frenchmen wan immense 
happiness for the Empire, . . . She showed me, with a sort of pride, the 
letter the Emperor had written her with his own hand, and in which he 
added, after having said, * My dear Josephine, j have a son/ these other 
words,41 am at the summit of my happiness.” 

14 ‘ Yes ! ’ said the Empress Josephine to me with visible emotion, though 
without any sign of jealousy or ill humor, 4 Yes! he must la* very happy!' 
and then, after drying some tears that escaped her, she continued, * and f 
also — I too ought to \m very happy at the happiness of the Emperor » happy 
to see the fulfilment of the wishes of all France — I now gather the fruits of 
my painful sacrifices, since they have secured the nroMperhy of France/ ” 

‘The little King of Home, Napoleon Frauds lionaparte, wan horn on the 
20th of March, 181 h Editor of IHfifi rditimu 



CHAPTER XXIV. 

1811. 

My return to Hamburg — Government Committee established there — 
Anecdote of the Comte de Cliaban— Napoleon’s misunderstanding with 
the Pope — Cardinal Fesch — Convention of a Council — Declaration 
required from the Bishops — Spain in 1811 — Certainty of war with 
Russia — Lauriston supersedes Caulaincourt at St. Petersburg —The war 
in Spain neglected — Troops of all nations at the disposal of Bonaparte — 
Levy of National Guard — Treaties with Prussia and Austria — Capitula¬ 
tion renewed with Switzerland — Intrigues with Czernischeff — Attacks 
of my enemies — Memorial to the Emperor — Ogier de la Saussaye and 
the mysterious box — Removal of the Pope to Fontainebleau — Anecdote 
of His Holiness and M. Denon — Departure of Napoleon and Maria Louisa 
for Dresden — Situation of Affairs in Spain and Portugal—Rapp’s account 
of the Emperor’s journey to Dantzic — Mutual wish for war on the part 
of Napoleon and Alexander—Sweden and Turkey—Napoleon’s vain 
attempt to detach Sweden from her alliance with Russia. 

As I took the most lively interest in all that concerned the 
Hanse Towns, my first care on returning to Hamburg was to 
collect information from the most respectable sources concern¬ 
ing the influential members of the new Government.1 Davoust 
was at its head. On his arrival he had established in the 
Duchy of Mecklenburg, in Swedish Pomerania, and in Stral- 
sund, the capital of that province, military posts and custom¬ 
houses, and that in a time of profound peace’with those coun¬ 
tries, and without any previous declaration. The omnipotence 
of Napoleon, and the terror inspired by the name of Davoust, 
overcame all obstacles which might have opposed those iniqui¬ 
tous usurpations. The weak were forced to yield to the 
strong. 

1 Bourrienne took an interest in Hamburg which it is difficult to explain 
unless he was, as his enemies asserted, engaged in Royalist plots and in under¬ 
hand business there. In 1813 Davoust complained to the Emperor of his 
intrigues, and Napoleon replied that Bourrienne had been ordered to cease 
all correspondence with Hamburg, and declared that he would arrest him if 
he still wrote there. Even then, 30th June, 1813, Napoleon urged Davoust 
to try to discover Bourrienne’s robberies in order that he might be made to 
disgorge (Errcurs, tome ii. p. 241). 

247 
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At Hamburg a Government Committee was formed, consist 

ing of the Prince of Eckmiihl as President, Comte de Chaban, 
Councillor of State, who superintended tin* departments of the 

Interior and Finance, and of M. Faure, Councillor ot State, 

who was appointed to form and regulate tins Courts of Law. 
I had sometimes met M. de Chaban at Malmaison. He was 

distantly related to Josephine, and had formerly been an 

officer in the French Guards. He was compelled to emi¬ 

grate, having been subjected to every species of persecution 

during the Revolution.1 2 
M. de Chaban was among the first of the emigrants who 

returned to France after the 18th Brumaire. He was at first 

made Sub-Prefect of Vendomc, but on the union of Tuscany 

with France Napoleon created him a member of the Junta 

appointed to regulate the affairs of Tuscany. He next became 

Prefect of Coblentz and Brussels, was made a Count by Bona¬ 

parte, and was afterwards chosen a member of the Govern¬ 

ment Committee at Hamburg. M. de Chaban was a man of 

upright principles, and he discharged his various functions in 

a way that commanded esteem and attachment.3 

The Hanseatic Towns, united to the Grand Empire pro¬ 

fessedly for their welfare, soon felt the blessings of the new 

organization of a regenerating Government. They were at 

once presented with the stamp-duty, registration, the lottery, 
the droits reuni$y the tax on cards, and the octroi This prodi¬ 

gality of presents caused, as we may be sure, the most lively 

1 I recollect an anecdote which but too well depict* those disastrous 
times. The Comte de Chaban,, being obliged to cross France during the 
Iteign of Terror, was compelled to assume a disguise. He accordingly pro¬ 
vided himself with a smock-frock, a cart and horses, and a load of corn. In 
this manner he journeyed from place to place till he reached the frontiers. 
He stopped at Rochambonu, in the Venddmals, where he was recognized by 
the Marshal de Rochamlmau, who, to guard against exciting any suspicion 
among his servants, treated him m If he had really \mmt a carman, aim said 
to him, “ You may dim* in the kitchen.".- Btwrriinm1* 

2 " If,” says the Comte Alexandre de Puymaigre (p, I2P), who was em¬ 
ployed under Chaban in 1811 at Hamburg, "any one could soften these dis¬ 
positions (of Marshal Havoust), not by ills very limited means, but by the 
influence given by a patriarchal and reproach lew life, true moderation, and 
undoubted honesty, it was the Comte de Chaban, Councillor of State, charged 
with the finances of the Northern I>«|»rt.iiieiit«t lately annexed. He was 
loved and esteemed at* Hamburg, where he often succeeded in r<*duoing the 
burdens and In rendering the position less painful/* Chaban died of typhus 
at Hamburg in 1812. 
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gratitude; a tax for military quarters and for warlike supplies 
was imposed, but this did not relieve any one from having not 
only officers and soldiers, but even all the chiefs of the admin¬ 
istration and their officials billeted on them. The refineries, 

breweries, and manufactures of all sorts were suppressed. 
The cash-chests of the Admiralty, of the charity houses, of 

the manufactures, of the savings banks, of the working classes, 
the funds of the prisons, the relief meant for the infirm, the 

chests of the refuges, orphanages, and of the hospitals, were 
all seized. 

More than 200,000 men, Italian, Dutch, and French soldiers, 
came in turn to stay there, but only to be clothed and shod; 
and then they left newly clothed from head to foot. To leave 
nothing to be wished for Davoust, from 1812, established mil¬ 

itary commissions in all the thirty-second military division, 
before he entered upon the Bussian campaign. . To complete 

these oppressive measures he established at the same time the 
High Prevotal Court of the Customs. It was at this time that 
M. Eudes, the director of the ordinary customs, a strict but 
just man, said that the rule of the ordinary customs would be 
regretted, ufor till now you have only been on roses.” The pro¬ 

fessed judgments of this court were executed without appeal 
and without delay. From what I have just said the situation 
and the misery of the north of Germany, and the consequent 
discontent, can be judged.1 

During my stay in Hamburg, which on this occasion was not 

very long, Hapoleon?s attention was particularly engaged by 

the campaign of Portugal, and his discussions with the Pope. 
At this period the thunderbolts of Borne were not very alarm¬ 

ing. Yet precautions were taken to keep secret the excom¬ 
munication which Pius VII. had pronounced against Hapoleon. 
The event, however, got reported about, and a party in favor 

1 In all this Davoust was only an instrument. He was then engaged in 
preparing the army for the Russian campaign, and the inevitable strain fell 
heavily on the unfortunate Hanse Towns. This is the other side of the de¬ 
scription of the enormous preparations which fill so much of Thiers and 
other historians. As for the seizure of all the cash, whatever might be its 
intended destination, this was certain to be done under the then great press¬ 
ure. The same act on the part of the Russians, when they entered the town 
as allies, is recorded a little farther on by Bourrienne without the sneers he 
employs against Davoust. 
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of the Pope speedily rose up amon^ the clergy, and more par¬ 

ticularly among the fanatics. Napoleon sent to Savona the 

Archbishops of Nantes, Bourges, Treves, and Tours, to en¬ 
deavor to bring about a reconciliation with His Holiness. But 

all their endeavors were unavailing, and after staying a month 

at Savona they returned to Paris without having done any¬ 

thing. But Napoleon was not discouraged by this first disap¬ 

pointment, and he shortly afterwards sent a second deputation, 
which experienced the same fate as tin* first. Cardinal Peseh, 

Napoleon’s uncle, took part with the Pope. For this fact I 
can vouch, though i cannot for an answer which hi* is said to 

have made to the Emperor. I have been informed that when 

Napoleon was one day speaking to his uncle about the Pope’s 

obstinacy the Cardinal made some observations to him on his 

(Bonaparte’s) conduct to the Holy Father, upon which Napo¬ 

leon Hew into a passion, and said that the Pope and he were 
two old fools. “ As for the Pope,'’ said hi*, “he is too obsti¬ 

nate to listen to anything. No, 1 am determined he shall 
never have Rome again. ... He will not remain at Savona, 

and when* does he wish I should send him ? ” ~~ “To Heaven, 

perhaps,” replied the Cardinal. 
The truth is, the Emperor was violently irritated against 

Pius VIL Observing with uneasiness the differences and 

difficulties to which all these dissensions gave rise, he was 

anxious to put a stop to them. As the Pope would not listen 

to any propositions that were made to him, Napoleon con¬ 
voked a Council, which assembled in Paris, and at which 

several Italian Bishops were present. The Pojh* insisted 

that the temporal and spiritual interests should he discussed 
together; and, however disjMmed a certain number of prelates, 

particularly the Italians, might be to separate these two points 

of discussion, yet the influence of tin* Church and well-con¬ 
trived intrigues gradually gave preponderance to the wishes 

of the Pope.. The Emperor, having discovered that a secret 
correspondence warn carried on by several of the Bishops and 

Archbishops who had seats in the Council, determined to get 
rid of some of them, and the Bishops of Ghent, Troyes, Tour- 

nay, and Toulouse were arrested and sent to Vincennes. They 
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were superseded by others. He wished to dissolve the Coun¬ 
cil, which he saw was making no advance towards the object 
he had in view, and, fearing that it might adopt some act at 
variance with his supreme wish, every member of the Council 
was individually required to make a declaration that the pro¬ 

posed changes were conformable to the laws of the Church. 
It was said at the time that they were unanimous in this indi¬ 
vidual declaration, though it is certain that in the sittings of 

the Council opinions were divided. I know not what Kis 
Holiness thought of these written opinions compared with 
the verbal opinions that had been delivered, but certain it is, 

though still a captive at Savona, he refused to adhere to the 
concessions granted in the secret declarations. 

The conflicts which took place in Spain during the year 

1811 were unattended by any decisive results. Some brilliant 

events, indeed, attested the courage of our troops and the 

skill of our generals. Such were the battle of Albufera and 

the taking of Tarragona, while Welling bon was obliged to 
raise the siege of Badajoz. These advantages, which were 
attended only by glory, encouraged Napoleon in the hope of 

triumphing in the Peninsula, and enabled him to enjoy the 
brilliant fetes which took place at Paris in celebration of the 
birth of the King of Borne. 

On his return from a tour in Holland at the end of October 

Napoleon clearly saw that a rupture with Bussia was inevi¬ 
table.1 In vain he sent Lauriston as Ambassador to St. Peters¬ 
burg to supersede Caulaincourt, who would no longer remain 
there: all the diplomatic skill in the world could effect noth¬ 
ing with a powerful Government which had already formed 
its determination. All the Cabinets in Europe were now 

1 It should be remarked that Napoleon was far from being anxious for the 
war with Russia. Mctternich (vol. ii. p. 492), writing on the 26th March, 
1811, says, “ Everything seems to indicate that the Emperor Napoleon is at 
present still far from desiring a war with Russia. But it is not less true that 
the Emperor Alexander has given himself over, nolens volens, to the war 
party, and that he will bring about war, because the time is approaching 
when he will no longer he able to resist the re-action of the party in the 
internal affairs of his Empire, or the temper of his- army. The contest 
between Count Romantfow and the party opposed to that Minister seems on 
the point of precipitating a war between Russia and France.” This, from 
Metternicli, is strong evidence. 
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unanimous in wishing for the overthrow of Napoleon’s power, 

and the people no less ardently wished for an order of things 
less fatal to their trade and industry. In the state to which 

Europe was reduced no one could counteract the wish of Rus¬ 

sia and her allies to go to war with France — Lauriston no 

more than Caulaincourt. 
The war for which Napoleon was now obliged to prepare 

forced him to neglect Spain, and to leave his interests in that 

country in a state of real danger. Indeed, his occupation of 

Spain and his well-known wish to maintain himself there were 

additional motives for inducing the powers of Europe to enter 

upon a war which would necessarily divide Napoleon’s forces. 
All at once the troops which were in Italy and the north of 

Germany moved towards the frontiers of the Russian Empire. 

From March, 1811, the Emperor had all the military forces of 

Europe at his disposal. It was curious to see this union of 

nations, distinguished by difference of manners, language, 

religion, and interests, all ready to fight for one man against 

a power who had done nothing to offend them. Prussia her¬ 

self, though she eould not pardon the injuries he had inflicted 
upon her, joined his alliance, but with the intention of break¬ 

ing it on the first opportunity. When the war with Russia 

was first spoken of Savary and I had frequent conversations 
on the subject. I communicated to him all the intelligence I 

received from abroad respecting that vast enterprise. The 

Due de Rovigo shared all my forebodings; and if he and 

those who thought like him had beam listened to, the war 

would probably have been avoided. Through him I learnt 

who were the individuals who urged the invasion. The eager 

ambition with which they looked forward to Viceroyalties, 

Duchies, and endowments blinded them to the possibility of 

seeing the Cossacks in Paris. 
The gigantic enterprise being determined on, vast prepara¬ 

tions were made for carrying it into effect. Before his depar¬ 

ture Napoleon, who was to take with him all the disposable 

troops, caused a tienatus-conmdtB to lm issued for levying the 

National Guards, who were divided into three corps. He also 

arranged his diplomatic affairs by concluding, in February, 
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1812, a treaty of alliance, offensive and defensive, with Prussia., 
by virtue of which the two contracting powers mutually guar¬ 

anteed the integrity of their own possessions, and the Euro¬ 
pean possessions of the Ottoman Porte, because that power 

was then at war with Russia. A similar treaty was concluded 
about the beginning of March with Austria, and about the 

end of the same month Napoleon renewed the capitulation of 
France and Switzerland. At length, in the month of April, 

there came to light an evident proof of the success which had 
attended M. Czernischeff’s intrigues in Paris. It was ascer¬ 

tained that a clerk in the War Office, named Michel, had 
communicated to him the situation of the French forces in 

Germany. Michel was condemned to death, for the time was 
gone by when Bonaparte, confident in his genius- and good 

fortune, could communicate his plans to the spy of General 
Melas. 

In March, 1812, when I saw that the approaching war would 
necessarily take Napoleon from France, weary of the persecu¬ 

tions and even threats by which I was (‘.very day assailed, 1 
addressed to the Emperor a memorial explaining my eonduct 
and showing the folly and wickedness of my accusers. Among 

them was a certain Ogier de la Saussayc, who had sent a 

report to the Emperor, in which the principal charge was, 
that I had carried off a box containing important papers 
belonging to the First Consul. The accusation of Ogier de 

la Saussaye terminated thus : “I arid to my report the interrog¬ 
atories of MM. Westphalen, Osy, Chapeau Rouge, Aukseher, 

Thierry, and Gumprecht-Mares. The evidence of the latter 

bears principally on a certain mysterious box, a secret upon 

which it is impossible to throw any light, but the reality of 

which we are bound to believe.” These are his words. The 

affair of the mysterious box has been already explained. I 

have already informed the reader that I put my papers into a 
box, which I buried lest it should bo stolen from me.1 But 

This burial of thei box has been mentioned by Itaurrionn© at the time of 
k1* tYace ln ,^bat possible right ©x-Soerotary had to keep mito- 
graph documents, and why he should be so anxious to conooal them if they 

aild obtained nothing that could bo used aguluHt 
him to substantiate the charges for which h© was disgraced are ooiiitu li<% 
does not allude to. His indignant denial of OgEft siXSt 
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for that precaution I should not have been able to lay bej 
the reader the autograph documents in my possession, 

which I imagine form the most essential part of these 

nines. In my memorial to the Emperor, I said, in allusioi 

the passage above quoted, “This, Sire, is the most atroci 
part of Ogier’s report. 

“ Gumprecht being questioned on this point replies t 

the accuser has probably, as well as himself, seen tin* eire; 

stance mentioned in an infamous pamphlet which appea 

seven or eight years ago. It was, I think, entitled 4 Le Se< 

du Cabinet des Tuileries,’ and was very likely at the tinn 

its appearance denounced by the police. In that libel ii 

stated, among a thousand other calumnies equally false ; 
absurd, that c U7ien I left the First Consul / carried awn 

box full of important papers, that / was in eonsetjuence sen\ 

the Temple, where pour brother Joseph eame to me and o ft 

me my liberation, and a million of frunes, if / would res 

the papers, which I refused to do," cte. Ogier, instead of h 
ing for this lihtd in Hamburg, where I read it, has the im 

deuce to give credit to the charge, the truth of which eo 

have been ascertained immediately * and lie adds, 4 This se 
we. are bound to beUereA Your Majesty knows whet Iter I 1 
ever in the Temple, and whether Joseph ever made such 
oiler to me.” I entreated that tin4 Emperor would do me 
favor to bring me to trial; for certainly I should have 
garded that as a favor rather than to remain as I was, expo 
to vague accusations; yet all my solicitations were in vi 

My letter to the Emperor remained unanswered; but thoi 

Bonaparte could not spare a few moments to reply to an 
friend, I learned through Du roe the contempt he cherished 

my accusers, Du roe advised me not to be uneasy, and thai 
all probability the Emperor's prejudices against me would 

speedily overcome; and 1 must miy that if they were not <e 
come it was neither the fault of Du roc nor Savary* who ki 

how to rightly estimate the miserable intrigues just allui 
to. 

Napoleon was at length determined to extend tin* limit! 
his Empire, or rather to avenge the injuries which Russia 1 
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committed against liis Continental system. Yet, before he 

departed for Germany, the resolute refusal of the Pope to 

submit to any arrangement urgently claimed his considera¬ 
tion. Savona did not appear to him a sufficiently secure resi¬ 

dence for such a prisoner. He feared that when all his 

strength should be removed towards the Niemen the English 

might carry off the Pope, or that the Italians, excited by the 

clergy, whose dissatisfaction was general in Italy, would stir 

up those religious dissensions which are always fatal and dif¬ 
ficult to quell. With the view, therefore, of keeping the Pope 

under his control he removed him to Fontainebleau, and even 
at one time thought of bringing him to Paris. 

The Emperor appointed 1VT. Denon to reside with the Pope 

at Fontainebleau; and to afford his illustrious prisoner the 

society of such a man was certainly a delicate mark of atten¬ 

tion on the part of .Napoleon. When speaking of his residence 
with Pius VII. M. Denon related to me the following anec¬ 

dote. “The Pope,” said he, “ was much attached to me. He 

always addressed me by the appellation ‘ unj son, and he loved 

to converse with me, especially on the subject of the Egyptian 

expedition. One day he asked me for my work on Egypt, 
which he said he- wished to read; and as you know it is not 

quite orthodox, and does not perfectly agree with the creation 

of the world according to Genesis, I at first hesitated; but the 
Pope insisted, and at length I complied with his wish. The 

Holy Father assured me that he had been much interested by 
the perusal of the book. I made some allusion to the delicate 

points; upon which he said, 1 No matter, no matter, my son; 
all that is exceedingly curious, and I must confess entirely 

new to me.’ I then,” continued M, Denon, “ told His Holi¬ 

ness why I hesitated to lend him the work, which, I observed, 

he had excommunicated, together with its author. ‘ Excom¬ 

municated you, my son ?3 resumed the Pope in a tone of affec¬ 

tionate concern. ‘ I am very sorry for it, and I assure you I 

was far from being aware of any such thing.3 33 
When M, Denon related to me this anecdote he told me how 

greatly he had admired the virtues and resignation of the 
Holy Father; but he added that it would nevertheless have 
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been, easier to make him a martyr than to induce him to yield 

on any point until he should be restored to the temporal sov¬ 

ereignty of Rome, of which he considered himself the deposi¬ 

tary, and which he would not endure the reproach of having 

willingly sacrificed. After settliug the place of the Pope’s 

residence Napoleon set off for Dresden, accompanied by Maria 

Louisa, who had expressed a wish to see her father.1 
The Russian enterprise, the most gigantic, perhaps, that the 

genius of man ever conceived since the conquest of India by 
Alexander, now absorbed universal attention, and defied the 

calculations of reason. The Manzanares was forgotten, and 

nothing was thought of but the Niemen, already so celebrated 

by the raft of Tilsit. Thither, as towards a common centre, 

were moving men, horses, provisions, and baggage of every 

i Come, you who would form a correct idea of the domination exercised 
by Napoleon over Europe, who desire to fathom the depth of terror into 
which the sovereigns of the Continent were plunged; come, transport your¬ 
selves with me to Dresden, and there contemplate that mighty Chief at the 
proudest period of his giorv — so near to that of his humiliation! 

The Emperor occupied the principal apartments of the Palace. He 
brought with him almost the whole of his household, and formed a regular 
establishment. The King of Saxony was nothing: it was constantly at Napo¬ 
leon’s apartments that the sovereigns and their families were assembled, by 
cards of invitation from the Grand Marshal of his Palace. Private indi¬ 
viduals were sometimes admitted ; I had myself that honor, on the day of 
my appointment to Poland. The Emperor held his levees as usual at nine. 
Then you should have seen in what numbers, with what submissive timidity, 
a crowd of potentates — mixed and confounded among the courtiers and often 
entirely overlooked by them — awaited in fearful expectation the moment of 
appearing before the new arbiter of their destinies! You should have heard 
the frivolous questions which the Emperor put to them, and the humble 
answers which they ventured to hazard! What Phaedra said of Hlppolytus 
may be justly applied to Napoleon’s residence at Dresden: 

“ Even at the altars where I seem’d to pray, 
This was the real god of all my vows.” 

Napoleon was, in fact, the god of Dresden, the only King among all the 
kings assembled there — the King of kings! — on him all eyes were turned; 
in his apartments, and around his person, were collected the august guests 
who filled the Palace of the King of Saxony. The throng of foreigners, of 
officers, of courtiers — the arrival and departure of couriers, crossing one an¬ 
other in every direction; the mass of people hurrying to the gates of the 
Palace at the least movement of the Emperor, crowding upon Ids steps, gaz¬ 
ing at him with an air of mingled admiration and astonishment — the expec¬ 
tation of the future strongly painted in every face, the confidence on one 
side, the anxiety on the other —all these together presented the vastest and 
most interesting picture, the most brilliant and dazzling monument ever yet 
raised to the jmwer of Napoleon! He had now certainly attained the zenith 
of his glory. He might hold his elevated station; but to surpass it seemed 
impossible ” {Histotre, dti VAmbrnmiU dam le Grand I)ucM m Varmvie, en 
1832, par M. do Prsdt, Archovdque do Malines, alors Ambassadeux k 
Varsovie). 
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kind, from all parts of Europe. The hopes of our generals 

and the fears of all prudent men were directed to Russia. 
The war in Spain, which was becoming more and more unfor¬ 

tunate, excited but a feeble interest; and our most distin¬ 

guished officers looked upon it as a disgrace to be sent to the 

Peninsula. In short, it was easy to foresee that the period 

was not far distant when the French would be obliged to 

recross the Pyrenees. Though the truth was concealed from 

the Emperor on many subjects, yet he was not deceived as to 

the situation of Spain in the spring of 1812. In February the 

Duke of Eagusa had frankly informed him that the armies of 

Spain and Portugal could not, without considerable re-enforce¬ 

ments of men and money, hope for any important advantages 

since Ciudad-Eodrigo and Badajoz had fallen into the hands 

of the English. 

Before he commenced his great operations on the Niemen 

and the Volga Napoleon made a journey to Dantzic, and Rap]), 

who was then Governor of that city, informed me of some 

curious particulars connected with the Imperial visit. The 

fact is, that if Rapp’s advice had been listened to, and had 

been supported by men higher in rank than himself, Bona¬ 

parte would not have braved the chances of the Russian war 

until those chances turned against him. Speaking to me of 

the Russians Rapp said, “ They will soon be as wise as we 

are ! Every time we go to war with them we teach them how 
to beat us.” I was struck with the originality and truth of 

this observation, which at the time I heard it was new, though 
it has been often repeated since. 

“On leaving Dresden,” said Rapp to me, “Napoleon came 

to Dantzic. I expected a dressing; for, to tell yon the truth, 
I had treated very cavalierly both his custom-house and its 

officers, who were raising up as many enemies to France as 

there were inhabitants in my Government. I had also warned 

him of all that has since happened in Russia, but T assure you 

I did not think myself quite so good a prophet. Tn the begin¬ 

ning of 1812 I thus wrote to him : * If your Majesty should 

experience reverses you may depend on it that both Russians 

and Germans will rise up in a mass to shake off the yoke. 



258 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 

There will be a crusade, and all your allies will abandon you. 

Even the King of Bavaria, on whom you rely so confidently, 

will join the coalition. 1 except only the King of Saxony. 

He, perhaps, might remain faithful to you; but his subjects 

will force him to make common cause with your enemies/ 

The King of Naples,” continued Rapp, u who had the com¬ 

mand of the cavalry, had been to Dantzie before the Emperor. 
He did not seem to take a more favorable view of the ap¬ 

proaching campaign than I did. Murat was dissatisfied that 

the Emperor would not consent to his rejoining him in 

Dresden; and he said that he would rather be a captain of 
grenadiers than a King such as he was.” 

Here I interrupted Rapp to tell him what had fallen from 

Murat when I met him in tin* Champs Ely sees. “Bah!” 

resumed Rapp, “Murat, brave as he was, was a craven in 

."Napoleon’s presence! On the Emperor's arrival in Dantzie 

the first thing of which he spoke to me was the alliance he 

had just then concluded with Prussia and Austria. J could 
not refrain from telling him that we did a. great deal of mis¬ 

chief as allies ; a fact of which I was assured from the reports 

daily transmitted to me respecting the conduct of our troops. 
Bonaparte tossed his head, as you know he was in the habit 

of doing when he was displeased. After a moment's silence, 

dropping the familiar thee and thou, In1 said, 4 Monsieur le 

General, this is a torrent which must be allowed to run itself 

out. It will not bust long. I must first ascertain whether 

Alexander decidedly wishes for war/ Then, suddenly chan¬ 

ging the subject of conversation, |ie said,4 Have you not lately 

observed something extraordinary in M.urat ? 1 think he is 
quite altered. Is lie ill ?9 — 4 Hire/ replied I, 4 Murat is not 

ill, but he is out of spirits/ — 4 Out of spirits ! but why ? Is 

he not satisfied with being a King ?? — 4 Sire, Murat says he 

is no King/ —4 That is his own fault. Why does he make 

himself a Neapolitan ? Why is he. not a Frenchman ? When 

he is in his Kingdom he commits all sorts of follies. He 

favors the trade of England; that I will not suffer/ 
41 When,” continued Rapp, 44 ho spoke of the favor ex¬ 

tended by Murat to the trade between Naples and England I 
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thought my turn would come next; but I was deceived, No 

more was said on the subject, and when I was about to take 
my leave the Emperor said to me, as when in his best of 
humors, ‘Rapp, you will sup with me this evening.5 I 
accordingly supped that evening with the Emperor, who had 

also invited the King of Naples and Berthier. Next day the 
Emperor visited the fortress, and afterwards returned to the 
Government Palace, where he received the civil and military 
authorities. He again invited Murat, Berthier, and me to 
supper. When we first sat down to table we were all very 
dull, for the Emperor was silent; and, as you well know, 

under such circumstances not even Murat himself dared to be 

the first to speak to him. At length Napoleon, addressing 

me, inquired how far it was from Cadiz to Dantzic. ‘ Too far, 
Sire,5 replied I. ‘ I understand you, Monsieur le G6n6ral, but in 
a few months the distance will be greater.5 — ‘ So much the 

worse, Sire!5 Here there was another pause. Neither 
Murat nor Berthier, on whom the Emperor fixed a scrutiniz¬ 

ing glance, uttered a word, and Napoleon again broke silence, 

but without addressing any one of us in particular: * Gentle¬ 

men,5 said he in a solemn and rather low tone of voice, ‘I see 
plainly that you are none of you inclined to fight again. The 

King of Naples does not wish to leave the fine climate of his 
dominions, Berthier wishes to enjoy the diversion of the 
chase' at his estate of Gros Bois, and Rapp is impatient to be 
back to his hotel in Paris.5 Would you believe it,55 pursued 
Rapp, “ that neither Murat nor Berthier said a word in reply ? 
and the ball again came to me. I told him frankly that what 
he said was perfectly true, and the King of Naples and the 
Prince of Neufchatel complimented me on my spirit, and ob¬ 
served that I was quite right in saying what I did. ‘Well,5 
said I, ‘ since it was so very right, why did you not follow my 
example, and why leave me to say all ?5 You cannot con¬ 
ceive,55 added Rapp, “ how confounded they both were; and 
especially Murat, though he was very differently situated from 
Berthier.55 

The negotiations which Bonaparte opened with Alexander, 
when he yet wished to seem averse to war, resembled those 
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oratorical paraphrases which do not prevent us from coming 
to the conclusion we wish. The two Emperors equally 

desired war; the one with the view of consolidating his 

power, and the other in the hope of freeing himself from a 

yoke which threatened to reduce him to a state of vassalage, 

for it was little short of this to require a power like Russia 

to close her ports against England for the mere purpose of 

favoring the interests of France. At that time only two 

European powers were not tied to Napoleon’s fate — Sweden 

and Turkey. Napoleon was anxious to gain the alliance of 

these two powers. With respect to Sweden his efforts were 

vain; and though, in fact, Turkey was then at war with 

Russia, yet the Grand Seignior was not now, as at the time of 

Sebastiani’s embassy, subject to the influence of France. 

The peace, which was soon concluded at Bucharest, between 

Russia,and Turkey increased Napoleon’s embarrassment. The 

left of the Russian army, secured by the neutrality of Turkey, 

was re-enforced by Bagration’s corps from Moldavia: it subse¬ 

quently occupied the right of the Beresina, and destroyed the 
last hope of saving the wreck of the French army. It is 

difficult to conceive how Turkey could have allowed the con¬ 

sideration of injuries she had received from France to induce 

her to terminate the war with Russia when France was attack¬ 

ing that power with immense forces. The Turks never had 

a fairer opportunity for taking revenge on Russia, and, unfor¬ 

tunately for Napoleon, they suffered it to escape.1 

Napoleon was not more successful when he sought the alli¬ 

ance of a Prince whose fortune he had made, and who was 

allied to his family, but with whom he had never been on 

1 This important treaty of peace between Russia and Turkey, through 
the mediation of Great Britain, was admirably conducted, and brought to a 
most successful issue by Lord Stratford, then Mr. 8. Canning, a young man 
and a very young diplomatist. Lord Stratford do Redclyffe, like his cousin 
George Canning, gained high literary honors as well as political ones. He 
was the author of a magnificent ode on the fall of Bonaparte, — a production 
with which Lord Byron was enchanted. It is curious that a few vears ago 
the Court of Russia should have positively refused to receive as British Am¬ 
bassador the distinguished individual who once did their country such signal 
service. Such, however, was the fact, and after long delays, and many heart¬ 
burnings, during which the Emperor Nicholas would state no motives for 
his almost unprecedented refusal, Lord Durham was appointed by the Cabi¬ 
net to supply Sir Stratford Canning’s place. — Editor of 1836 edition. 
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terms of good understanding. The Emperor Alexander had 

a considerable corps of troops in Finland destined to protect 
that country against the Swedes, Napoleon having consented 

to that occupation in order to gain the provisional consent of 
Alexander to the invasion of Spain. What was the course 

pursued by Napoleon when, being at war with Russia, he 

wished to detach Sweden from her alliance with Alexander ? 

He intimated to Bernadotte that he had a sure opportunity of 

retaking Finland, a conquest which would gratify his subjects 

and win their attachment to him. By this alliance Napoleon 

wished to force Alexander not to withdraw the troops who 

were in the north of his Empire, but rather to augment their 

numbers in order to cover Finland and St. Petersburg. It 

was thus that Napoleon endeavored to draw the Prince Royal 

into his coalition. It was of little consequence to Napoleon 

whether Bernadotte succeeded or not. The Emperor Alex¬ 

ander would nevertheless have been obliged to increase his 

force in Finland ; that was all that Napoleon wished. In the 

gigantic struggle upon which France and Russia were about 
to enter the most trivial alliance was not to be neglected. 

In January, 1812, Davoust invaded Swedish Pomerania with¬ 

out any declaration of war, and without any apparent motive. 
Was this inconceivable violation of territory likely to dispose 
the Prince Royal of Sweden to the proposed alliance, even 

had that alliance not been adverse to the interests of his 

country ? That was impossible*; and Bernadotte took the 

part which was expected of him. He rejected the offers of 
Napoleon, and prepared for coming events. 

The Emperor Alexander wished to withdraw his force from 
Finland for the purpose of more effectively opposing the 

immense army which threatened his Stales. Unwilling to 

expose Finland to an attach on the part of Sweden, he had 

an interview on the 28th of August, 1812, at Abo, with the 

Prince Royal, to come to an arrangement with him for unit¬ 
ing their interests. I know that the Emperor of Russia 

pledged himself, whatever might happen, to protect Berna¬ 
dette against the fate of the new dynasties, to guarantee the 

possession of his throne, and promised that he should have 
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Norway as a compensation for Finland. He oven went so far 
as to hint that Bernadotte might supersede Napoleon. Berna¬ 

dette adopted all the propositions of Alexander, and from 

that moment Sweden made common cause against Napoleon. 

The Prince Royal’s conduct has been much blamed, but the 

question resolved itself into one of mere political interest. 
Gould Bernadette, a Swede by adoption, prefer the alliance of 

an ambitious sovereign whose vengeance he had to fear, and 

who had sanctioned the seizure of Finland, to that of a power¬ 

ful monarch, his formidable neighbor, his protector in 

Sweden, and whose, hostility might effectually support the 

hereditary claims of young Gustav us ? Sweden, in joining 
France, would thereby have declared herself the enemy of 

England. Where, then, would have been her navy, her trade, 

and even Inn* existence ? 
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Changeableness of Bonaparte’s plans and opinions — Articles for the Mon- 
itevr dictated by the First Consul — The Protocol of the Congress of 
Chatillon — Conversations with Davoust at Hamburg —Promise of the 
Yiceroyalty of Poland — Hope and disappointment of the Poles — Influ¬ 
ence of illusion on Bonaparte — The French in Moscow — Disasters of the 
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resolved on — Wavering of the Pope — Useless negotiations with Vienna 
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It may now be asked whether Bonaparte, previous to entering 
upon the last campaign, had resolved on restoring Poland to 

independence. The fact is that Bonaparte, as Emperor, 
never entertained any positive wish to re-establish the old 

Kingdom of Poland, though at a previous period he was 
strongly inclined to that re-establishment, of which he felt 

the necessity. He may have said that he would re-establish 
the Kingdom of Poland, but I beg leave to say that that is 
no reason for believing that he entertained any such design. 

He had said, and even sworn, that he would never aggrandize 
the territory of the Empire! The changeableness of Bona¬ 

parte’s ideas, plans, and projects renders it difficult to master 
them; but they may be best understood when it is considered 

that all Hapoleon’k plans and conceptions varied with his 
fortunes. Thus, it is not unlikely that he might at one time 

have considered the re-establishment of Poland as essential 
to European policy, and afterwards have regarded it as 
adverse to the development of his ambition. Who can ven¬ 

ture to guess what passed in his mind when dazzled by his 
glory at Dresden, and whether in one of his dreams he might 
not have regarded the Empire of the Jagellons as another 
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gem in the Imperial diadem ? The truth is that Bonaparte, 

when General-in-Chief of the army of Egypt and First Con¬ 

sul, had deeply at heart the avenging the dismemberment of 
Poland, and I have often conversed with him on this most 
interesting subject, upon which we entirely concurred in 

opinion. But times and circumstances were changed since we 

walked together on the terrace of Cairo and mutually deplored 
the death of young Sulkowski. Had Sulkowski lived Napo¬ 

leon’s favorable intentions with respect to Poland might per¬ 

haps have been confirmed. A fact which explains to me the 

coolness, I may almost say the indifference, of Bonaparte to 
the resurrection of Poland is that the commencement of the 

Consulate was the period at which that measure particularly 
occupied his attention. How often did he converse on the 

subject with me and other persons who may yet recollect his 
sentiments ! It was the topic on which he most loved to con¬ 

verse, and on which he spoke with feeling and enthusiasm. 

In the Moniteur of the period here alluded to I could point 
out more than one article without signature or official character 

which Napoleon dictated to me, and the insertion of which in 

that journal, considering the energy of certain expressions, 

sufficiently proves that they could have emanated from none 

but Bonaparte. It was usually in the evening that he dictated 

to me these articles. Then, when the affairs of the day were 
over, he would launch into the future, and give free scope to 

his vast projects. Some of these articles were characterized 
by so little moderation that the First Consul would very often 

destroy them in the morning, smiling at the violent ebullitions 

of the preceding night. At other times I took the liberty of 

not sending them to the Moniteur on the night on which they 

were dictated, and though he might earnestly wish their 
insertion I adduced reasons good or bad, to account for the 

delay. He would then read over the article in question, and 

approve of my conduct; but he would sometimes add, u It is 

nevertheless true that with an independent Kingdom of 

Poland, and 150,000 disposable troops in the east of France, I 

should always be master of Russia, Prussia, and Austria.” — 

“General,” I would reply, “I am entirely of your opinion; 
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but wherefore awaken the suspicions of the interested parties ? 

Leave all to time and circumstances.” 
The reader may have to learn, and not, perhaps, without 

some surprise, that in the protocol of the sittings of the Con¬ 

gress of Chatillon Napoleon put forward the spoliation of 

Poland by the three principal powers allied against him as a 

claim to a more advantageous peace, and to territorial indem¬ 

nities for France. In policy he was right, but the report of 

foreign cannon was already loud enough to drown the best of 

arguments. 
After the ill-timed and useless union of the Hanse Towns to 

France I returned to Hamburg in the spring of 1811 to convey 

my family to France. I then had some conversation with 

Davoust. On one occasion I said to him that if his hopes 

were realized, and my sad predictions respecting the war with 

Russia overthrown, I hoped to see the restoration of the 

Kingdom of Poland. Davoust replied that that event was 

probable, since he had Napoleon’s promise of the Viceroyalty 

of that Kingdom, and as several of his comrades had been 
promised starosties. Davoust made no secret of this, and it 

was generally known throughout Hamburg and the north of 
Germany. But notwithstanding what Davoust said respecting 

Napoleon’s intentions I considered that these promises had 
been conditional rather than positive. 

On Napoleon’s arrival in Poland the Diet of Warsaw, as¬ 

sured, as there seemed reason to be, of the Emperor’s sen¬ 

timents, declared the Kingdom free and independent. The 

different treaties of dismemberment were pronounced to be 

null; and certainly the Diet had a right so to act, for it 
calculated upon his support. But the address of the Diet to 

Napoleon, in which these principles were declared, was ill 

received. His answer was full of doubt and indecision, the 
motive of which could not bo blamed. To secure the alliance 

of Austria against Russia he had just guaranteed to his father- 
in-law the integrity of his dominions. Napoleon therefore 

declared that he could take no part in any movement or reso¬ 

lution which might disturb Austria in the possession of the 

Polish provinces forming a part of her Empire. To mt other* 
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wise, he said, would be to separate himself from his alliance 

with Austria, and to throw her into the arms of Russia. But 
with regard to the Polish-Russian provinces, Napoleon declared 

he would see what he coidd do, should Providence favor the 

good cause. These vague and obscure expressions did not 

define what he intended to do for the Poles in the event of 

success crowning his vast enterprises. They excited the dis¬ 

trust of the Poles, and had no other result. On this subject, 

however, an observation occurs which is of some force as an 
apology for Napoleon. Poland was successively divided be¬ 

tween three powers, Russia, Austria, and Prussia, with each of 

which Napoleon had been at war, but never with all three at 

once. He had therefore never been able to take advantage of 

his victories to re-establish Poland without injuring the inter¬ 

ests of neutral powers or of his allies. Hence it may be con¬ 

cluded not only that he never had the positive will which 

would have triumphed over all obspieles, but also that there 

never was a possibility of realizing those dreams and projects 
of revenge in which lie had indulged on the banks of the Nile, 

as it were to console the departed spirit of Sulkowski. 

Bonaparte’s character presents many unaccountable incon¬ 

gruities. Although the most positive man that perhaps ever 

existed, yet there never was one who more readily yielded to 
the charm of illusion. In many circumstances the wish and 

the reality wen* to him one and the same thing, lie never 

indulged in greater illusions than at the beginning of the cam¬ 

paign of Moscow. Even before the approach of the disasters 

which accompanied the most fatal retreat recorded in history, 

all sensible persons coneurred in the opinion that the Emperor 

ought to have passed the winter of 1812-13 in Poland, and 

have resumed Ins vast enterprises in the spring. But his 

natural impatience impelled him forward as it were uncon¬ 
sciously, and he seemed to he under the influence of an invis¬ 

ible demon stronger than even his own strong will. This 
demon was ambition. He who knew so well the value of time, 

never sufficiently understood its power, and how much is 

sometimes gained by delay. Yet Caesar’s Commentaries, which 

were his favorite study, ought to have shown him that Caesar 
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did not conquer Gaul in one campaign. Another illusion by 
which Napoleon was misled during the campaign of Moscow, 
and perhaps past experience rendered it very excusable, was 
the belief that the Emperor Alexander would propose peace 
when he saw him at the head of his army on the Eussian ter¬ 
ritory. The prolonged stay of Bonaparte at Moscow can 
indeed be accounted for in no other way than by supposing 

that he expected the Eussian Cabinet would change its opin¬ 
ion and consent to treat for peace. However, whatever might 
have been the reason, after his long and useless stay in Mos¬ 
cow Napoleon left that city with the design of taking up his 

winter quarters in Poland ; but Pate now frowned upon Napo¬ 
leon, and in that dreadful retreat the elements seemed leagued 
with the Eussians to destroy the most formidable army ever 

commanded by one chief. To find a catastrophe in history 

comparable to that of the Beresina we must go back to the 
destruction of the legions of Varus. 

Notwithstanding the general dismay which prevailed in 
Paris that capital continued tranquil, when by a singular 
chance, on the very day on which Napoleon evacuated the 
burning city of Moscow, Mallet attempted his extraordinary 

enterprise. This General, who had always professed Eepub- 
lican principles, and was a man of bold decided character, 

after having been imprisoned for some time, obtained the 
permission of Government to live in Paris in a hospital house 
situated near the Barridre du Trone. Of Mallet’s conspiracy 

it is not necessary to say much after the excellent account 
given of it in the Memoirs of the Due de Eovigo. Mallet’s 
plan was to make it be believed that Bonaparte had been 
killed at Moscow, and that a new Government was established 
under the authority of the Senate. But what could Mallet 
do ? Absolutely nothing : and had his Government con¬ 

tinued three days he would have experienced a more favor¬ 
able chance than that which he ought reasonably to have 
expected. He asserted that the Emperor was dead, but an 
estafette from Eussia would reveal the truth, resuscitate 
Napoleon, and overwhelm with confusion Mallet and his 

proclamations. His enterprise was that of a madman. The 
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French were too weary of troubles to throw themselves into 

the arms of Mallet or his associate Lahorie, who had figured 
so disgracefully on the trial of Moreau. Yet, in spite of the 

evident impossibility of success, it must be confessed that 

considerable ingenuity and address marked the commence¬ 

ment of the conspiracy. On the 22d of October Ma-llet 
escaped from the hospital house and went to Colonel Soulier, 

who commanded the tenth cohort of the National Guard, 

whose barracks were situated exactly behind the hospital 

house. Mallet was loaded with a parcel of forged orders 

which he had himself prepared. He introduced himself to 

Soulier under the name of General La Motte, and said that he 

came from General Mallet.1 
Colonel Soulier on hearing of the Emperor's death was 

affected to tears. He immediately ordered the adjutant to 

assemble the cohort and obey the orders of General La Motte, 

to whom he expressed his regret for being himself too ill to 

leave his bed. It was then two o’clock in the morning, and 
the forged documents respecting the Emperor’s death and the 

1 General Mallet gave out that the Kmperor was killed tinder the walls of 
Moscow on the 8th of October; he could not take any other day without in¬ 
curring the risk of being contradicted by the arrival of the regular courier. 
The Emperor being dead, he concluded that the Senate ought to he invested 
with the supreme authority, and he therefore resolved to address himself in 
the name or that body to the nation and the army. In a proclamation to the 
soldiers ho deplored the death of the Kmperor; in another, after announcing 
the abolition of the Imperial system and the Restoration of the Republic, he 
indicated the manner in which the Govern merit was to he reconstructed, 
described the branches into which public authority was to Ims divided, and 
named the Directors. Attached to the different documents there appeared 
the signatures of several Senators whose names he recollected but with whom 
he had ceased to have any intercourse for a great number of years. These 
signatures were all written by Mallet, and he drew up a decree in the name 
of the Senate, and signed by the same Senators, appointing himself Governor 
of Paris, and commander of the troops of the first military division. He also 
drew up other decrees in the same form, which purported to promote to higher 
ranks all the military officers he intended to make instruments in the execu¬ 
tion of his enterprise. 

He ordered one regiment to close all the harriers of Paris, and to allow 
no person to pass through them This was done; so that in all the neighbor¬ 
ing towns from which assistance, in ease of need, might have been obtained, 
nothing was known of the transactions in Paris, lie sent the other regi¬ 
ments to occupy the Bank, the Treasury, and different Ministerial Offices. 
At the Treasury some resistance was made. The Minister of that Depart¬ 
ment was on the spot, and he employed the guard of his household in main¬ 
taining his authority. But in the whole of the two regiments of the Paris 
Guard not a single objection was started to the execution of Mallet’s orders 
(Memoirs of the Due de Itoviyo, tome vi. p SO). 
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new form of Government were read to the troops by lamp¬ 

light. Mallet then hastily set off with 11300 men to La Force, 
and liberated the Sieurs Guidal and Lahorie, who were con¬ 

fined there. Mallet informed them of the Emperor’s death 

and of the change of Government; gave them some orders, in 

obedience to which the Minister and Prefect of Police were 

arrested in their hotel. 
I was then at Courbevoie, and I went to Paris on that very 

morning to breakfast, as I frequently did, with the Minister 

of Police. My surprise may be imagined when I learned 

from the porter that the Due de Kovigo had been arrested 

and carried to the prison of La Force. 1 went into the house 

and was informed, to my great astonishment, that the ephem¬ 

eral Minister was being measured for his official suit, an act 

which so completely demoted the character of the conspirator 

that it gave me an insight into the business. 

Mallet repaired to General llulin, who had the command 

of Paris, lie informed him that he had been directed by the 

Minister of Police to arrest him and seal his papers. Gulin 
asked to see the order, and then entered his cabinet, where 

Mallet followed him, and just as Hulin was turning round to 

speak to him he fired a pistol in his face. Hulin fell: the 

ball entered liis chock, but the wound was not mortal. The 
most singular circumstance connected with the whole affair 

is, that the captain whom Mallet had directed to follow him, 
and who accompanied him to Ilulm’s, saw nothing extraor¬ 

dinary in all this, and did nothing to stop it. Mallet next 

proceeded, very composedly, to Adjutant-General Doueet’s. 
It happened that one of the inspectors of the police was there. 

He recognized General Mallet as being a man under his super¬ 

vision. He told him that he had no right to quit the hospital 

house without leave, and ordered him to bo arrested. Mallet, 

seeing that all was over, was in the act of drawing a pistol 

from his pocket, but being observed was seized and disarmed. 

Thus terminated this extraordinary conspiracy, for which 

fourteen lives paid the forfeit; but, with the exception of 

Mallet, Guidal, and Lahorie, all the others concerned in it 
were either machines or dupes. 
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This affair produced but little effect in Paris, for the 

enterprise and its result were made known simultaneously. 

But it was thought droll enough that the Minister and Prefect 

of Police should be imprisoned by the men who only the day 

before were their prisoners. Next day I went to see Savary, 

who had not yet recovered from the stupefaction caused by 

his extraordinary adventure. He was aware that his impris¬ 

onment, though it lasted only half an hour, was a subject of 

merriment to the Parisians.1 

The Emperor, as I have already mentioned, left Moscow on 

the day when Mallet made his bold attempt, that is to say, 

the 19th of October.2 He was at Smolensko when he heard 

the news. Rapp, who had been wounded before the entrance 

into Moscow, but who was sufficiently recovered to return 
home, was with Napoleon when the? latter received the de¬ 

spatches containing an account of what had happened in 

Paris. He informed me that Napoleon was much agitated on 

perusing them, and that lie launched into abuse of the ineffi¬ 

ciency of the police. Rapp added that In? did not confine 

himself to complaints against the agents of his authority. 

“ Is, then, my power so insecure,11 said he, “ that it may be 

put in peril by a single individual, and a prisoner ? It would 

appear that my crown is not fixed very firmly on my head if 

in my own capital the bold stroke? of three adventurers can 

shake it. Rapp, misfortune never comes alone; this is the 
complement of what is passing here. I cannot be every¬ 

where ; hut T must go back to Paris; my presence there is 

indispensable to re-animate public opinion. I must have men 

1 Bavary’s arrest was a rich subject for the wits of Paris. “ I will quote 
on tins occasion,” says Mademoiselle AvrilHon, “a ban-mot that wag re¬ 
peated from one end of the city to the other: as every one knows, it was in 
the middle of the night that the Duo do ltovigo was seized: the Iluehess, 
terrilied by the noise she heard, rushed out of her tod room en deshabille, 
whieh made the wags say that 1 La personne qui s’dtait le mieux montree, 
dans l’affaire do Mallot, o’dtnit la Duchosso do Rovigo.* ” Bee also the 
Memoirs of Rapp, t>. *251. 

'<* It whs not on the 19th of October hut on the night of the 22d of October 
that Mallet commenced his enterprise, which finished early on the 23d of 
October, 1812; see Thiers, tome xiv. p. 5211 Napoleon had left Moscow on 
the 19th, and on the 22d was approaching Malo-Jaroslawetz, of ill name for 
him, where on the 24th of October he was thrown off his intended line of 
retreat on to the same line as he had advanced by. 
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and money. Great successes and great victories will repair 
all. I must set off.” Such were the motives which induced 
the Emperor to leave his army. It is not without indignation 

that I have heard his precipitate departure attributed to per¬ 
sonal cowardice. He was a stranger to such feelings, and was 
never more happy than on the field of battle. I can readily 
conceive that he was much alarmed on hearing of Mallet’s 

enterprise. The remarks which he made to Rapp were those 
which he knew would be made by the public, and he well 

knew that the affair was calculated to banish those illusions 
of power and stability with which he endeavored to surround 

his government. 
On leaving Moscow Napoleon consigned the wrecks of his 

army to the care of his most distinguished generals : to Murat, 
who had so ably commanded the cavalry, but who abandoned 

the army to return to Naples; and to Ncy, the hero, rather 

than the Prince of the Moskowa, whose name will be immortal 

in the annals of glory, as his death will be eternal in the annals 
of party revenge. Amidst the general disorder Eugene, more 

than any other chief, maintained a sort of discipline among 
the Italians ; and it was remarked that the troops of the south 

engaged in the fatal campaign of Moscow had endured the rigor 
of the cold better than those troops who were natives of less 

genial climates.1 
Napoleon’s return from Moscow was not like his returns 

from the campaigns of Vienna and Tilsit, when he came back 

crowned with laurels, and bringing peace as the reward of his 
triumphs. It was remarked that Napoleon’s first great disaster 
followed the first enterprise he undertook after his marriage 
with Maria Louisa. This tended to confirm the popular belief 

that the presence of Josephine was favorable to his fortune; 
and superstitious as he sometimes was, I will not venture to 
affirm that he himself did not adopt this idea. He now threw 

1 On one occasion during his flight Napoleon owed his preservation from 
the Cossacks to a small body of Neapolitan cavalry that had contrived to 
keep itself mounted and in perfect order. The horses as well as the men 
from the southern extremity of Italy, from the hanks of the Gari^liano, the 
Volturno. and the Amato, resisted the inelemer cies of the Hubs‘an winter 
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off even the semblance of legality in the measures of his gov* 
ernment: he assumed arbitrary power, under the impression 
that the critical circumstances in which he was placed would 
excuse everything. But, however inexplicable were the means 
to which the Emperor resorted to procure resources, it is but 
just to acknowledge that they were the consequence of his 
system of government, and that he evinced inconceivable activ¬ 
ity in repairing his losses so as to place himself in a situation 
to resist his enemies, and restore the triumph of the French 
standard. 

But in spite of all Napoleon’s endeavors the disasters of the 
campaign of Russia were daily more and more sensibly felt. 
The King of Prussia had played a part which was an acknowl¬ 
edgment of his weakness in joining France, instead of openly 
declaring himself for the cause of Russia, which was also his. 
Then took place the defection of General York, who com¬ 
manded the Prussian contingent to Napoleon’s army. The 
King of Prussia, though no doubt secretly satisfied with the 
conduct of General York, had him tried and condemned; but 
shortly after that sovereign commanded in person the troops 
which had turned against ours. The, defection of the Prus¬ 
sians produced a very ill effect, and it was easy to perceive 
that other defections would follow. Napoleon, foreseeing the 
fatal chances which this event was likely to draw upon him, 
assembled a privy council, composed of the Ministers and 
some of the great officers of his household. MM. da Talley¬ 
rand and Cambaceres and the President of the Senate were 
present. Napoleon asked whether, in the complicated diffi¬ 
culties of our situation, it would be more advisable to nego¬ 
tiate for peace or to prepare for a new war. Gambaeeres and 
Talleyrand gave their opinion in favor of peace, which, how¬ 
ever, Napoleon would not hear of after a defeat; but the Due 
de Feltre,1 knowing how to touch the susceptible chord in 
the mind of Bonaparte, said that he would consider the 
Emperor dishonored if he consented to the abandonment of 
the smallest village which had been united to the Empire 

1 The Minister for the War Department, Clarke. 
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by a Senatus-consulte. This opinion was adopted, and the 
war continued. 

On Napoleon’s return to Paris the Pope, who was still at 
Fontainebleau, determined to accede to an arrangement, and to 

sign an act which the Emperor conceived would terminate the 
differences between them. But being influenced by some of 

the cardinals who had previously incurred the Emperor’s dis¬ 
pleasure Pius VII. disavowed the new Concordat which he had 
been weak enough to grant, and the Emperor, who then had 
more important affairs on his hands, dismissed the Holy 
“Father, and published the act to which he had assented. 
Bonaparte had no leisure to pay attention to the new difficul¬ 

ties started by Pius VII.; his thoughts were wholly directed 
to the other side of the Ehine. He was unfortunate, and the 
powers with whom he was most intimately allied separated 

from him, as he might have expected, and Austria was not the 
last to imitate the example set by Prussia. In these difficult 
circumstances the Emperor, who for some time past had ob¬ 

served the talent and address of the Comte Louis de Narbonne, 
sent him to Vienna, to supersede M. Otto; but the pacific prop¬ 
ositions of M. de Narbonne were not listened to. Austria 
would not let slip the fair opportunity of taking revenge with¬ 
out endangering herself. 

Napoleon now saw clearly that since Austria had abandoned 

him and refused her contingent he should soon have all 

Europe arrayed, against him. But this did not intimidate 

him. 
Some of the Princes of the Confederation of the Ehine still 

remained faithful to him; and his preparations being com¬ 
pleted, he proposed to resume in person the command of the 
army which had been so miraculously reproduced. But before 

his departure, Napoleon, alarmed at the recollection of Mallet’s 
attempt, and anxious to guard against any similar occurrence 

during his absence, did not, as on former occasions, consign 
the reins of the National G-overnment to a Council of Ministers, 

presided over by the Arch-Chancellor. Napoleon placed my 
successor with him, M. Meneval, near the Empress Eegent as 
Secretaire des Commandemens (Principal Secretary), and cer- 



274 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEOJST BONAPARTE. 

tainly lie could not have made a better choice.1 He made the 

Empress Maria Louisa Regent, and appointed a Council of 

Regency to assist her. 

1 Meneval, who had held the Post of Secretary to Napoleon from the time 
of Bourrienne’s disgrace in 1802, had been nearly killed by the hardships of 
the Russian campaign, and now received an honorable and responsible but 
less onerous post. He remained with the Empress till 7th May, 1815, when, 
finding that she would not return to her husband, he left her to rejoin his 
master. 



CHAPTER XXVI. 

1813. 

Riots in Hamburg and Liibeck — Attempted suicide of M. Konning—Evacu¬ 

ation of Hamburg — Dissatisfaction at the conduct of General St. Cyr— 

The Cabinets of Vienna and the Tuileries — First appearance of the Cos¬ 

sacks — Colonel Tettenborn invited to occupy Hamburg — Cordial recep¬ 

tion of the Russians — Depredations—Levies of troops—Testimonials 
of gratitude to Tettenborn — Napoleon's new army—Death of General 

Morand —Remarks of Napoleon on Van damme —Bonaparte and Gusta- 
vus Adolphus —Junction of the corps of Davoust and Vandamme — 

Re-occupation of Hamburg by the French — General Hogendorff ap¬ 

pointed Governor of Hamburg — Exactions and vexatious contributions 

levied upon Hamburg and Liibeck — Hostages. 

A considerable time before Napoleon left Paris to join the 
army, the bulk of which was in Saxony, partial insurrections 

occurred in many places. The interior of France proper was 

indeed still in a state of tranquillity, but it was not so in the 
provinces annexed by force to the extremities of the Empire, 
especially in the north, and in the unfortunate Hanse Towns, 

for which, since my residence at Hamburg, I have always felt 
the greatest interest.1 The intelligence I received was de¬ 
rived from such unquestionable sources that I can pledge 
myself for the truth of what I have to state respecting the 

events which occurred in those provinces at the commence¬ 
ment of 1813; and subsequently I obtained a confirmation of 

all the facts communicated by my correspondents, when I was 
sent to Hamburg by Louis XVIII. in 1815. 

1 The total destruction of the French ascendency was not looked on with 
entire satisfaction in Germany. Even Muffling, who says (p. 392) that the 
German armies advanced from Leipsic with the device, “ Let all sinners be 
forgiven, and let there be no more hell ” (sin being help to the French and 
hell their dominion?), allows that some Germans still adhered to Napoleon; 
and he points out (p. 393) that though the Princes hated Napoleon, there 
were great difficulties from their wish to retain the position they owed to him. 
Even as late as about 1825 a Prussian officer of high rank said to Niebuhr: 
“A war with France would be rather critical. The temper of the people on 
the Rhine has greatly improved no doubt, but it were well that many an 
inveterate old talker should die out before these provinces are made the seat 
of war ” (Perthes, tome ii. p. 319). 

275 
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M. Steuve, agent from the Court of .Russia, who lived at 

Alton a apparently as a private individual, proiited by the irri¬ 

tation produced by the measures adopted at Hamburg. His 

plans were so well arranged that he was promptly informed 
of the route of the Grand Army from Moscow, and the 

approach of the Allied troops. Aided by the knowledge and 

activity of Sieur Hanft of Hamburg, M. Steuve proiited by 

the discontent of a people so tyrannically governed, and 
seized the opportunity for producing an explosion. Between 

eight and nine o’clock on the morning of the 24th of February, 

1813, an occurrence in which the people were concerned was 
the signal for a revolt. An individual returning to Hamburg 

by the Altona gate would not submit to be searched by a 
iiscal agent, who in consequence maltreated him, and wounded 

him severely. The populace instantly rose, drove away the 

revenue guard, and set fire to the guard-house. The people 

also, excited by secret agents, attacked other French posts, 

where they committed the same excesses. Surprised at this 

unexpected movement the French authorities retired to the 

houses in which they resided. All the respectable inhabit¬ 

ants who were unconnected with the tumult likewise returned 

to their homes, and no person appeared out of doors. 

General Oarra St. Cyr1 had the command of Hamburg after 
the Prince of Eckmuhl’s departure for the Russian campaign. 

At the first news of the revolt he set about packing up his 
papers, and Comte de Chaban, M. Kenning, the Prefect of 

Hamburg, and M. Daubignosc, the Director of Police, fol¬ 

lowed his example. It was not till about four o’clock in the 
afternoon that a detachment of Danish hussars arrived at 

Hamburg, and the populace was then speedily dispersed. All 
the respectable citizens and men of property assembled the 

next morning and adopted means for securing internal tran¬ 

quillity, so that the Danish troops were enabled to return to 

Altona. Search was then made for the ringleaders of the 

disturbance. Many persons were arrested, and a military 

1 General Oarra St. Cyr is not to be confused with the Marshal Gouvion de 
St. Cyr; he fell into disgrace for his conduct at Hamburg at this time, and 
was not- again employed by Napoleon. Under the Restoration he became 
Governor of Frencli duiana. 
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commission, ad hoc, was appointed to try them. The com¬ 
mission, however, condemned only one individual, who, being 
convicted of being one of the most active rioters, was sentenced 
to be shot, and the sentence was carried into execution. 

On the 26th of February a similar commotion took place at 

Ltibeck. Attempts were made to attack the French author¬ 
ities. The respectable citizens instantly assembled, protected 
them against outrage, and escorted them in safety to Ham¬ 

burg, where they arrived on the 27th. The precipitate flight 

of these persons from Liibeck spread some alarm in Hamburg. 

The danger was supposed to be greater than it was because 
the fugitives were accompanied by a formidable body of 

troops. 
But these were not the only attempts to throw off the yoke 

of French domination, which had become insupportable. All 
the left bank of the Elbe was immediately in a state of in¬ 

surrection, and all the official persons took refuge in Ham¬ 
burg. During these partial insurrections everything was 

neglected. Indecision, weakness, and cupidity were mani¬ 
fested everywhere. Instead of endeavors to soothe the 
minds of the people, which had been long exasperated by 
intolerable tyranny, recourse was had to rigorous measures. 

The prisons were crowded with a host of persons declared to 
be suspected upon the mere representations of the agents pf 

the police. On the 3d of March a special military commis¬ 
sion condemned six householders of Hamburg and its neigh¬ 

borhood to be shot on the glacis for no other offence than 
having been led, either by chance or curiosity, to a part of 

the town which was the scene of one of the riots. These ex¬ 

ecutions excited equal horror and indignation, and General 
Carra St. Cyr was obliged to issue a proclamation for the dis¬ 
solution of the military commission by whom the men had 
been sentenced. 

The intelligence of the march of the Russian and Prussian 
troops, who were descending the Elbe, increased the prevail¬ 

ing agitation in Westphalia, Hanover, Mecklenburg, and 
Pomerania, and all the French troops cantoned between 
Berlin and Hamburg, including those who occupied the coast 
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of the Baltic, fell back upon Hamburg. General Carra St. 
Cyr and Baron Konning, the Prefect of Hamburg, used to go 
every evening to Altona.1 The latter, worn out by anxiety 

and his unsettled state of life, lost his reason, and on his way 
to Hamburg, on the 5th of May, he attempted to cut his 
throat with a razor. His valet de chambre .saved his life by 
rushing upon him- before he had time to execute his design. 
It was given out that he had broken a blood-vessel, and he 
was conveyed to Altona, where his wound was cured, and he 
subsequently recovered from his derangement. M. Konning, 
who was a native of Holland, was a worthy man, but pos¬ 

sessed no decision of character, and but little ability. 
At this juncture exaggerated reports were circulated re¬ 

specting the approach of the Bussian corps. A retreat was 

immediately ordered, and it was executed on the 12th of 
March. General Carra St. Cyr having no money for the 

troops, helped himself to 100,000 francs out of the municipal 
treasury. He left Hamburg at the head of the troops and the 

enrolled men of the custom-house service. He was escorted 

by the Burgher Guard, which protected him from the insults 
of the populace; and the good people of Hamburg never had 

any visitors of whom they were more happy to be rid. 
This sudden retreat excited Kapoleon’s indignation. Pie 

accused General St. Cyr of pusillanimity, in an article in¬ 
serted in the Moniteur, and afterwards copied by his order 

into all the journals. In fact, had General St. Cyr been 
better informed, or less easily alarmed, he might have kept 
Hamburg, and prevented its temporary occupation by the 
enemy, to dislodge whom it was necessary to besiege the city 
two months afterwards. St. Cyr had 3000 regular troops, and 
a considerable body of men in the custom-house service. 

1 The Prefect, Baron von Konning, had just before assured the Govern¬ 
ment that his department professed the greatest devotion for the Emperor. 
This practical commentary on his statement was too much for him. Puy- 
maigre (p. 148), who was on the spot, says that he attempted to hang himself, 
not to cut his throat, as Bourrienne says. “I was,” continued Puymaigre, 
“ surprised to see that later on he was one of the Ministers of Belgium. 
What is more surprising is that he retained his high functions for several 
years.” Puymaigre (p. 149) defends Carra St. Cyr, saying that having only 
1200 or 1500 men the General could not have maintained himself in a large 
town in a state of insurrection. 
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General Morand could have furnished him with 5000, men 
from Mecklenburg. He might, therefore, not only have kept 
possession of Hamburg two months longer, but even to the 
end of the war, as General Lemarrois retained possession of 

Magdeburg. Had not General St. Cyr so hastily evacuated 

the Elbe he would have been promptly aided by the corps 
which General Vandamme soon brought from the Wesel, and 

afterwards by the very corps with which Marshal Davoust re¬ 
captured Hamburg. 

The events just described occurred before Napoleon quitted 
Paris. In the month of August all negotiation was broken 
off with Austria, though that power, still adhering to her 

time-serving policy, continued to protest fidelity to the cause 
of the Emperor Napoleon until the moment when her prepa¬ 
rations were completed and her resolution formed. But if 

there was duplicity at Vienna was there not folly, nay, blind¬ 
ness, in the Cabinet of the Tuileries ? Could we reasonably 
rely upon Austria ? She had seen the Eussian army pass the 
Vistula and advance as far as the Saale without offering any 
remonstrance.’ At that moment a single movement of her 
troops, a word of declaration, would have prevented every¬ 
thing. As, therefore, she would not avert the evil when she 
might have done so with certainty and safety, there must 

have been singular folly and blindness in the Cabinet who 
saw this conduct and did not understand it. 

I now proceed to mention the further misfortunes which 

occurred in the north of Germany, and particularly at Ham¬ 
burg. At fifteen leagues east of Hamburg, but within its 
territory, is a village named Bergdorff. It was in that village 
that the Cossacks were first seen. Twelve or fifteen hundred 
of them arrived there under the command of Colonel Tetten- 
born. But for. the retreat of the French troops, amounting to 

3000, exclusive of men in the custom-house service, no attempt 
would have been made upon Hamburg; but the very name of 
the Cossacks inspired a* degree of terror which must be fresh 
in the recollection of every one. Alarm spread in Hamburg, 
which, being destitute of troops and artillery, and surrounded 
with dilapidated fortifications, could offer no defence. The 
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Senator Bartch and I>oefcor Know took upon thcniselve 

proceed to BergdorfT to solicit (’olonel IVtlcnborn to 

possession of Hamburg, observing that they felt sure of 

sent inn nits of moderation, and that they t rusted they w 

grant protection to a city which had immense coniine 

relations with Russia. Tettenlx>rn did not plaee relmne< 

these propositions because be eottld not suppose that t 

had been such a precipitate evacuation ; he thought 1 

were merely a snare to entrap him, and re tuned to acred 

them. But a Doctor Von Hess, a Swede, settled in Ham) 

some years, and known to Tctteiiborn as a derided part isa 

England and Russia, persuaded the Russian Gomnmndc 
comply with the wishes of the citizens of Hamburg. 1 

ever, Tettenborn consented only on tin4 following eondith 

— That the old Government should be instantly re-es 

lished ; that a deputation of Senators in llnir old cost! 

should invite* him to take jiosseHsion of Hamburg, whir] 

would enter only us a free and Imperial 11 an so Town ; ! 

if those conditions were not complied with hr would ref 

Hamburg as a French town, ami consequently hostile. ] 

withstanding the real satisfaction with which the Senator 

Hamburg received those propositions they were rrslrainei 

the fear of a reverse of fortune. They, however, drtermi 

to accept them, thinking that whatever might happen t 

could screen themselves by alleging that necessity had dri 

them to the step they took. They therefore declared t! 

compliance with the conditions* and that night and the 

lowing clay were occupied in urn? in tiling the Hcnate, wl 

had lieeti so long dissolved, anil in making the preparati 

which Tetteiikini required. 

At four o'clock in the afternoon of the 17th of Man 
picket of Cossacks, consisting of only forty men* look pox 

sion of a town recently flourishing, and conUmnug a pop 

laticm of hut mined and red need in #0,4100 inlui 
ants by the blessing of king iiniteit to the French Ktstp 

Outlie following day, the IKth, Colonel Tctteulmrn elite 

Hamburg at the head of 1000 regular and 2£00 irregtdar ( 

sacks. I have dtiscrilmil the military aituiititm of Ilantb 
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when it was evacuated on the 12th of March, and Napoleon’s 

displeasure may be easily conceived. Tettenborn was re¬ 
ceived with all the honors usually bestowed upon a con¬ 
queror. Enthusiasm was almost universal. Eor several 
nights the people devoted themselves to rejoicing. The 

Cossacks were gorged with provisions and drink, and were 
not a little astonished at the handsome reception they 
experienced. 

It was not until the expiration of three or four days that 
the people began to perceive the small number of the allied 

troops. Their amount gradually diminished. On the day 
after the arrival of the Cossacks a detachment was sent to 
Lubeck, where they were received with the same honors as 

at Hamburg. Other detachments were sent upon different 
places, and after four days’ occupation there remained in 
Hamburg only 70 out of the 1200 Cossacks who had entered 

on the 18th March. 

The first thing their commander did was to take possession 
of the post-office and the treasuries of the different public 

offices. All the movable effects of the French Government 
and its agents were seized and sold. The officers evinced a 
true Cossack disregard of the rights of private property. 

Counts Huhn, Bussenitz, and Venechtern, who had joined 
Tettenborn’s staff, rendered themselves conspicuous by plun¬ 
dering the property of M. Pyonnier, the Director of the Cus¬ 

toms, and M. Gonse, the Postmaster, and not a bottle of wine 
was left in their cellars. Tettenborn laid hands upon a sum 
of money, consisting of upwards of 4000 louis in gold, belong¬ 
ing to M. Gonse, which had been lodged with M. Schwartz, a 
respectable banker in Hamburg, who filled the office of Prus¬ 
sian Consul. M. Schwartz, with whom this money had been 
deposited for the sake of security, had also the care of some 
valuable jewels belonging to Mesdames Carra St. Cyr and 
Daubignosc; Tettenborn carried off these as well as the 
money. M. Schwartz remonstrated in his character of Prus¬ 

sian Consul, Prussia being the ally of Eussia, but he was 
considered merely as a banker, and could obtain no redress. 
Tettenborn, like most of the Cossack chiefs, was nothing but 
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a man for blows and pillage, but the agent of Russia was 
M. Steuve, whose name I have already mentioned. 

Orders were speedily given for a levy of troops, both in¬ 
fantry and cavalry, to be called Hanseatic volunteers. A man 
named Hanft, who had formerly been a butcher, raised at his 

own expense a company of foot and one of lancers, of which 
he took the command. This undertaking, which cost him 

130,000 francs, may afford some idea of the attachment of the 
people of Hamburg to the French Government! But money, 
as well as men, was wanting, and a heavy contribution was 

imposed to defray the expense of enrolling a number of work¬ 
men out of employment and idlers of various kinds. Volun¬ 

tary donations were solicited, and enthusiasm was so general 

that even servant-maids gave their rings. The sums thus 

collected were paid into the chest of Tettenborn's staff, and 
became a prey to dishonest appropriation. With respect to 

this money a Sieur Oswald was accused of not having acted 

with the scrupulous delicacy which Madame de Stael attrib¬ 

utes to his namesake in her romance of Corinne. 
Between 8000 and 10,000 men were levied in the Hanse 

Towns and their environs, the population of which had been 

so greatly reduced within two years. These undisciplined 
troops, who had been for the most part levied from the lowest 
classes of society, committed so many outrages that they soon 
obtained the surname of the Cossacks of the Elbe; and cer¬ 
tainly they well deserved it. 

Such was the hatred which the French Government had 

inspired in Hamburg that the occupation of Tettenborn was 
looked upon as a deliverance. On the colonel's departure the 
Senate, anxious to give him a testimonial of gratitude, pre¬ 

sented him with the freedom of the city, accompanied by 
5000 gold fredericks (105,000 francs), with which he was 
doubtless much more gratified than with the honor of the 
citizenship. 

The restored Senate of Hamburg did not long survive. The 

people of the Hanse Towns learned, with no small alarm, 
that the Emperor was making immense preparations to fall 
upon Germany, where his lieutenants could not fail to take 
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cruel revenge on those who had disavowed his authority. 

Before he quitted Paris on the 15th of April Napoleon had 

recalled under the banners of the army 180,000 men, exclusive 
of the guards of honor, and it was evident that with such a 

force he might venture on a great game and probably win it. 
Yet the month of April passed away without the occurrence 

of any event important to the Hanse Towns, the inhabitants 

of which vacillated between hope and fear. Attacks daily 
took place between parties of Russian and French troops on 

the territory between Lunenburg and Bremen. In one of 

these encounters General Morand was mortally wounded, and 
was conveyed to Lunenburg. His brother having been taken 

prisoner in the same engagement, Tettenborn, into whose 

hands he had fallen, gave him leave on parole to visit the Gen¬ 

eral ; but he arrived in Lunenburg only in time to see him 
die. 

The French having advanced as far as Tlaarburg took np 
their position on the plateau of Sehwartzenberg, which com¬ 

mands that little town and the considerable islands situated 

in that part of the river between llaarburg and Hamburg. 
Being masters of tins elevated point they began to threaten 

Hamburg and to attack Haarburg. These attacks were 

directed by Van dam mo, of all our generals the most redoubt¬ 

able in conquered countries. He was a native of OasseJ, in 

Flanders, and had acquired a high reputation for severity. 
At the very time when he was attacking Hamburg, Napoleon 

saitl of him at Dresden, “ If T wore to lose Vandammc I know 

not what 1 would give to have him back again ; but if I had 

two such generals 1 should be obliged to shoot one of them.?? 

It must be confessed that one was quite enough.1 

t Dominion** Vandamme, (lomto d’Unelmrg, distinguished himself in the 
wars of the RopubHe and of tit© Empire, and would have boon made a Mar¬ 
shal in ISIS, when his disaster at Kulm (perhaps partly produced by his 
knowledge' that, a great mteoess would bring him bis bftton) ruined his own 
career and Napoleon's host ©banco of suoeess. JIo had, as Bourrkmno says, 
the worst of characters, and when taken prisoner at Kulm was roughly 
treated by Alexander on account of his pillage. Intentionally or not, van- 
damme, forgetting the story of the death of Paul II., took a bitter revenge 
by complaining that Alexander could not have treated him worse if ho had 
assassinated hi# father. In 1814, IxmiH XVIII. was foolishly persuaded to 
have Vandmtitmo rudely repulseo when ho presented himself at. the 'I uileries 
with the other Chnomla of his rank. Tins was done at the time that the 
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As soon as he arrived Vandamme sent to inform Tettenborn 

that if he did not immediately liberate the brother and 
brother-in-law of Morand, both of whom were his prisoners, 
he would burn Hamburg. Tettenborn replied that if he 

resorted to that extremity he would hang them both on the 

top of St. Michael's Tower, where he might have a view of 
them. This energetic answer obliged Yandamme to restrain 
his fury, or at least to direct it to other objects. 

Meanwhile the French forces daily augmented at Haar- 
burg. Vandamme, profiting by the negligence of the new 

Hanseatic troops, who had the defence of the great islands 
of the Elbe, attacked them one night in the month of May. 
This happened to be the very night after the battle of Lutzen, 

where both sides claimed the victory, and Te Deum was sung 

in the two hostile camps.1 The advance of the French turned 
the balance of opinion in favor of Napoleon, who was in fact 

really the conqueror on a field of battle celebrated nearly two 

centuries before by the victory and death of Gustavus Adol¬ 
phus. The Cossacks of the Elbe could not sustain the shock 

of the French; Vandamme repulsed the troops who defended 
Wilhelmsburg, the largest of the two islands, and easily took 
possession of the smaller one, Fidden, of which the point 

nearest the right bank of the Elbe is not half a gunshot dis¬ 
tant from Hamburg. The 9th of May was a fatal day to the 
people of Hamburg; for it was then that Davoust, having 

formed his junction with Vandamme, appeared at the head of 
a corps of 40,000 men destined to re-enforce Napoleon's Grand 
Army. Hamburg could not hold out against the considerable 

French force now assembled in its neighborhood. Tettenborn 
had, it is true, received a re-enforcement of 800 Prussians and 
2000 Swedes, but still what resistance could he offer to 
Davoust’s 40,000 men ? Tettenborn did not deceive himself 
as to the weakness of the allies on this point, or the inutility 

King ennobled the family of Georges Cadoudal, the would-be assassin of Napo- 
leon (Thiers, tome xviii. p. 366). Vandamme naturally joined Napoleon 
during the Cent Jours. 

1 ^ , & ^fec\ buwever, of this battle, and of the forward movements of 
General Sebastiani and Marshal Davoust, was, that the allies were obliged 
to abandon the line of the Elbe; nor were their affairs fully retrieved until 
the decisive battle of Leipsic. — Editor of 1836 edition. 
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of attempting to defend the city. He yielded to the entreaties 

of the inhabitants, who represented to him that further 

resistance must be attended by certain ruin. Ite accordingly 

evacuated Hamburg on the 29th of May, taking with him 

his Hanseatic, legions, which had not held out an hour in the 

islands of the Kibe, and accompanied by the Swedish Doctor 

Von Hess, whose imprudent mi vice was the chief cause of all 

the disasters to which tin*, unfortunate city had been exposed. 

Davoust was at Haarburg, where he received the deputies 

from Hamburg with an appearance of moderation ; and by the 

conditions stipulated at this conference on the 30th of May a 

strong detachment of Danish troops occupied Hamburg in the 

name of tin*. Emperor. The French made their entrance the 

same evening, and occupied the posts as quietly as if they 
bad been merely (‘hanging guard. The inhabitants made not 

a shadow of resistance. Not a drop of blood was shed ; not a 

threat nor an insult was interchanged. This is the truth ; but 
the truth did not suit Napoleon. It was necessary to get up 

a pretext of revenge, and aceordingly recourse was had to a 

bulletin, which proclaimed to France and Europe that Ham¬ 

burg had bran taken by main /cm*, with a I cm of now e hundred 

men. Hut tor this imaginary resistance, otlicially announced, 

how would it have been possible to justify the spoliations and 

exactions which ensued ?1 

The I hitch General, HogendorfT, became Governor of Ham¬ 

burg in lieu of Carra Hi. Gyr, who had been confined at Osna- 

bruek since his precipitate retreat. General Mogendorff had 

been created one of the Kmperor\s aides ds camp, but he was 

neither a Rapp, a Lauriston, nor a Dnroc. The inhabitants 

were required to pay all the arrears of taxes due to the different 

public offices during the seventy days that the French had 

been absent; and likewise all the allowances that would have 

been paid to the troops of the garrison had they remained in 

1 There appear** to have brim some real resistance; sec Puynmtyre, page 
15*2, who ways that If the town had held out four days longer It would have 
been protected by the arm 1st lee of Pleiswlts',, and would never have been re- 
occupted by the French. Thin, however, might have been a great gain to 
Napoleon, who Buffered much In IHl.'l mid IK 14 from the loss of the garrisons 
in sueh places. Many of the inhabitants now left the town for fear of the 
revenge and exactions of the French. 
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Hamburg. Payment was also demanded of tbe arrears for the 

quartering of troops who were fifty leagues off. However, 

some of the heads of the government departments, who saw 
and understood the new situation of the French at Hamburg, 
did not enforce these unjust and vexatious measures. The 
duties on registrations were reduced. M. Pyonnier, Director 

of the Customs, aware of the peculiar difficulty of his situa¬ 
tion in a country where the customs were held in abhorrence, 
observed great caution and moderation in collecting the duties. 
Personal examination, which is so revolting and indecorous, 

especially with respect to females, was suppressed. But these 
modifications did not proceed from the highest quarter ; they 
were due to the good sense of the subordinate agents, who 
plainly saw that if the Empire was to fall it would not be ow¬ 
ing to little infractions in the laws of proscription against 

coffee and rhubarb. 

If the custom-house regulations became less vexatious to 
the inhabitants of Hamburg it was not the same with the busi¬ 

ness of the post-office. The old manoeuvres of that depart¬ 
ment were resumed more actively than ever. Letters were 
opened without the least reserve, and all the old post-office 
clerks who were initiated in these scandalous proceedings were 
recalled. With the exception of the registrations and the 
customs the inquisitorial system, which had so long oppressed 

the Hanse Towns, was renewed; and yet the delegates of the 
French Government were the first to cry out, “ The people of 
Hamburg are traitors to Napoleon: for, in spite of all the 
blessings he has conferred upon them they do not say with the 
Latin poet, Deus nobis hose otia fecit.” 

But all that passed was trifling in comparison with what 
was to come. On the 18th of June was published an Imperial 

decree, dated the 8th of the same month, by virtue of which 
were to be reaped the fruits of the official falsehood contained 

in the bulletin above mentioned. To expiate the crime of re¬ 
bellion Hamburg was required to pay an extraordinary contri¬ 
bution of 48,000,000 francs, and Ltibeck a contribution of 
6,000,000. The enormous sum levied on Hamburg was to be 
paid in the short space of a month, by six equal instalments, 
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either in money, or bills on respectable houses in Paris.1 In 
addition to this the new Prefect of Hamburg made a requisi¬ 

tion of grain and provisions of every kind, wines, sailcloth, 
masts, pitch, hemp, iron, copper, steel, in short, everything 
that could be useful for the supply of the army and navy. 

But while these exactions were made on property in Ham¬ 

burg, at Dresden the liberties of individuals and even lives 
were attacked. On the 15th of June Napoleon, doubtless 
blinded by the false reports that were laid before him, gave 
orders for making out a list of the inhabitants of Hamburg 

who were absent from the city. He allowed them only a 

fortnight to return home, an interval too short to enable some 
of them to come from the places where they had taken refuge. 

They consequently remained absent beyond the given time. 

Victims were indispensable : but assuredly it was not Bona¬ 

parte who conceived the idea of hostages to answer for the 

men whom prudence kept absent. Of this charge I can clear 

his memory. The hostages, were, however, taken, and were 

declared to be also responsible for the payment of the contri¬ 
bution of 48,000,000. In Hamburg they were selected from 

among the most respectable and wealthy men in the city, 
some of them far advanced in age. They were conveyed to 
the old castle of Haarburg on the left bank of the Elbe, and 

these men, who had been accustomed to all the comforts of 
life, were deprived even of necessaries, and had only straw to 
lie on. The hostages from Ltibeck were taken to Hamburg: 

they were placed between decks on board an old ship in the 
port: this was a worthy imitation of the prison hulks of Eng¬ 

land. On the 24th of July there was issued a decree which 
was published in the Hamburg Correspondant of the 27th. 
This decree consisted merely of a proscription list, on which 

were inscribed the names of some of the wealthiest men in 

the Hanse Towns, Hanover, and Westphalia. 

1 Puymaigre (p. 153), who ought to he a good authority, puts the contri¬ 
bution at 100,000,000. Alison (chap. Ixxix. para. 24, note) says 40,000,000 
francs (or £ 1,600,000). In chap. xcv. para. 21 Alison puts the whole exactions 
by Davoust from 1st June, 1813, to 23d April, 1814, as 2,800,000 odd francs, 
besides goods, etc., the whole amounting to some £140,000; but his figures 
are doubtful. In any case the exaction is acknowledged by Puymaigre to 
have been beyond the powers of the town. 



CHAPTER XXVII. 

1813. 
Napoleon’s second visit to Dresden — Battle of Bautzen — The Congress at 

Prague — Napoleon ill advised — Battle of Vittoria — General Moreau — 
Rupture of the conferences at Prague — Defection of Jomini — Battles of 
Dresden and Leipsic — Account of the death of Duroc — An interrupted 
conversation resumed a year after — Particulars respecting Poniatowski 
—His extraordinary courage and death — His monument at Leipsic and 
tomb in the cathedral of Warsaw. 

On the 2d of May Napoleon won the battle of Lutzen. A 
week after he was at Dresden, not as on his departure for the 
Russian campaign, like the Sovereign of the West surrounded 

by his mighty vassals : he was now in the capital of the only 

one of the monarchs of his creation who remained faithful to 
the French cause, and whose good faith eventually cost him 

half his dominions. The Emperor staid only ten days in 
Dresden, and then went in pursuit of the Russian army, 
which he came up with on the 19th, at Bautzen. This battle, 

which was followed on the two succeeding days by the battles 
of Wurtchen and Ochkirchen, may be said to have lasted 

three days — a sufficient proof that it was obstinately dis¬ 

puted. It ended in favor of Napoleon, but he and France paid 

dearly for it: while General Kirschner and Duroc were talk¬ 
ing together the former was killed by a cannon-ball, which 

mortally wounded the latter in the abdomen. 
The moment had now arrived for Austria to prove whether 

or not she intended entirely to desert the cause of Napoleon.1 

1 There is a running attack in Erreurs (tome ii. pp. 289-325) on all this 
part of the Memoirs, hut the best account of the negotiations between 
France, Austria, and the Allies will be found in Metternich, vol. i. pp. 171- 
245. Metternich, with good reason, prides himself on the skill with which 
he gained from Napoleon the exact time, twenty days, necessary for the con¬ 
centration of the Austrian armies ; see especially pp. 194, 195. Whether the 
negotiations were consistent with good faith on the part of Austria is another 
matter ; but one thing seems clear — the Austrian marriage ruined Napoleon. 
He found it impossible to believe that the' monarch who had given him his 

288 
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All her amicable demonntratioms were limited to an offer of 

her intervention in opening negotiations with Kussia. Ac¬ 

cordingly, on the 4th of June, an armistice was concluded at 

Pleiswiiz, which was to last till the 8th of July, and was 

finally prolonged to the 10th of August. 

The first overtures after the conclusion of the armistice 

of Weis wit*/ determined the assembling of a Congress at 

Prague. It was reported at the. time that the Allies de¬ 

manded the restoration of all they had lost since .1805; that 
is to say, since the. campaign of Ulm. In this demand Hol¬ 

land and tin* Haime Towns, which had become French prov¬ 

inces, were* comprehended. But we should still have retained 

the Rhine, Belgium, Piedmont, Nice, and Savoy. The battle 

of Vittoria,1 which placed the whole of Spain at the disposal 

of the English, the retreat of Suehet upon the Ebro, the fear 
of seeing the army of Spain annihilated, were enough to alter 

the opinions of those counsellors who still recommended war. 
Not withstanding Napoleon's opposition and his innate dis¬ 

position to acquire glory by his victories, probably lie would 
not have been inaccessible to the reiterated representations of 

sensible men who loved their country. Prance, therefore, has 

daughter would utrike the decisive blow against him. Without this belief 
there nil* he no doubt that he would have struck Austria before she could 
have <*olh*eti*d her forces, mid Metteniich seems to have dreaded the result. 
“ It wuh necessary, therefore, to prevent Napoleon from carrying out his 
usual system of leaving an army of observation before the Allied armies, 
and himself turning to Itohemia to deal a great blow at uh, the effect of 
which It would lie impossible to foresee III the present depressed state of the 
great majority of our men ” {Mvttvrmvh, vol. i. p. 177). With our knowl¬ 
edge of how ihifKileoti held his own against the three armies at Dresden we 
may safely assume that ho would have crushed Austria if she had not Joined 
him or disarmed. The conduct of Austria was natural and politic, nut it 
was only Hueoessful because Najioleon believed In the good faith of the 
Emperor Francis, his father-in-law. U Is hi be noted that Austria only suc¬ 
ceeded h* getting Alexander to negotiate on the implied condition that the 
negotiations were not to end In a peace with France. Bee Metternieh, vol. h 
p. iKl, where, in answer to the Cmr's question as to what would become of 
their cause if Napoleon accepted the Austrian mediation, he says Unit if 
Napoleon dee,lines Austria will join the Allies. If Napoleon accepts, “ the 
negotiations will most curtainly show Napoleon to be neither wise nor just, 
and then the result will be the same. In any case we shall have gained the 
nocesmiry time to bring our armies into such positions that we need not again 
fear a seiuirafe attack on any one of them, and/rewt which we may ourselves 
take (he otfVnsfee/' . 

t Tin* news of this decisive battle increased the difficulty of the French 
plenipotentiaries at Prague, and rained the demands of the Allies. It also 
shook ilm confidence of those who remained faithful to W* — Bourrkmuu 



290 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 

to reproach his advisers. At this juncture General Moreau 

arrived; it has been said that he came at the solicitation of 

Bernadotte. This is neither true nor probable. In the first 

place, there never was any intimacy between Bernadotte 

and Moreau; and, in the next, how can it be imagined 
that Bernadotte wished to see Moreau .Emperor! But this 

question is at once put at rest by the fact, that in the inter¬ 
view at Abo the Emperor of Russia hinted to Bernadotte the 
possibility of his succeeding Napoleon. It was generally 
reported at the time, and I have since learnt that it was true, 
that the Erench Princes of the House of Bourbon had made 
overtures to Moreau through the medium of General Willot, 
who had been proscribed on the 18th Fructidor; and I have 

since learned from an authentic source that General Moreau, 

who was then at Baltimore, refused to support the Bourbon 

cause. Moreau yielded only to his desire of being revenged 

on Napoleon; and he found death where he could not find 

glory.1 
At the end of July the proceedings of the Congress at 

Prague were no further advanced than at the time of its 
assembling. Ear from cheering the French with the prospect 

of a peace, the Emperor made a journey to Mayence ; the Em¬ 
press went there to see him, and returned to Paris immedi¬ 
ately after the Emperor’s departure. Napoleon went back to 
Dresden, and the armistice not being renewed, it died a nat¬ 

ural death on the 17th of August, the day appointed for its 

1 Having mentioned the name of Moreau I may take this opportunity of 
correcting an error into which I fell while speaking of General Lajolais in 
connection with the conspiracy of Georges, etc. Some papers have fallen 
into my hands, proving beyond a doubt that General Lajolais was not an ac¬ 
complice in the conspiracy. — Bourrienne, 

Napoleon seems to have believed that it was a shot from one of the re¬ 
doubts near Dresden, where he was present, which struck Moreau. Cath- 
cart (War in Rvssia and Germany, pp. 229-231), who was an eyewitness, says 
that the shot came from a field-battery about a quarter of a mile distant. 
Napoleon, according to Cathcart, was then about a mile off; thus Thiers 
(tome xvi. p. 315) is wrong in saying that Moreau was “ struck by a French 
bullet, fired, so to say, by Napoleon.” Moreau’s death put an end to an im¬ 
portant disagreement between Metternich and the Emperor Alexander, who 
wished to take the title of Generalissimo of the Allied armies, with Moreau, 
as his lieutenant, really in command. “ When,” says Metternich (vol. i. p. 
207), “ Alexander met me the next day he said to nie, * God has uttered His 
judgment: He was of your opinion.’ ” Headers of Metternich will remark 
how habitually Providence was of his opinion. 
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expiration. A fatal event immediately followed the rupture 
of the conferences;1 On the 17th of August Austria, wishing 

to gain by war as she had before gained by alliances, declared 
that she would unite her forces with those of the Allies. On 

the very opening of this disastrous campaign General Jomini 
went over to the enemy. Jomini belonged to the staff of the 
unfortunate Marshal Ney, who was beginning to execute, 
with his wonted ability, the orders he had received. There 

was much surprise at his eagerness to profit by a struggle, 

begun under such melancholy auspices, to seek a fresh for¬ 
tune, which promised better than what he had tried under 
our flag. Public opinion has pronounced judgment on Jomini.2 

The first actions were the battle of Dresden, which took 
place seven days after the rupture of the armistice, and the 

battle in which Vandamme was defeated, and which rendered 
the victory of Dresden unavailing. I have already mentioned 

that Moreau was killed at Dresden.8 Bavaria was no sooner 

1 It was on the lltli of August, not the 17th, that Metternich announced 
to Caulaincourt, Napoleon’s plenipotentiary at Prague, that Austria had 
joined the Allies and declared war with France; see Thiers, tome xvi. p. 225. 
At midnight on 10th August Metternich had despatched the passports for the 
Comte Louis de Narbonne, Napoleon’s Ambassador, and the war manifesto 
of the Emperor Francis; then he “ had the beacons lighted which had been 
prepared from Prague to the Silesian frontier, as a sign of the breach of the 
negotiations, and the right (i. e. power) of the Allied armies to cross the 
Silesian frontier ” (Metternich, vol. i. p. 199). 

2 Jomini had been cruelly treated by Berthier, the chief of the staff, who 
had been always indisposed towards him. At the very time that Jomini, then 
chief of the staff to Ney, was expecting some well-won reward for liis part in 
the battle of Bautzen, he received an order placing him in arrest for not hav¬ 
ing sent in a return delayed by the difficulty of getting the information from 
the divisions. Jomini, long discontented, now passed over to the Russians, 
and thenceforward acted as military adviser to Alexander. It is fair to re¬ 
member that he was Swiss, not French, and that, when going over, he first 
placed all Ney’s outposts in safety from a surprise. He defends himself in 
his own work (Vie de NapoUon, tome iv. p. 368, note), and says that even if 
he had been capable of revealing any plan of Napoleon he did not know it. 
See also Sainte-Beuve (le General Jomini), where the matter is treated at 
length. It would not be right to treat Jomini as a traitor, but'to act against 
any army with which he had served so long, and with whose triumphs he had 
been so connected, was a deplorable act in the life of that great writer. He 
was naturally looked on with great jealousy by his new comrades. He says 
Muffling (p. 82) proved himself that same day a sublime teacher indeed, but 
at the same time so unpractical on the field of battle that his advice was not 
asked again. 

8 The following is a contemporary account of the death of Moreau, whose 
military fame once rivalled that of Bonaparte. It is taken from a letter 
written by a British officer; and dated Toplitz, 4th September, 1813. 

“ General Moreau died yesterday. He was in the act of giving some 
opinion on military matters, while passing with the Emperor of Russia be- 
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rid of the Trench troops than she raised the mask and ranged 
herself among our enemies. In October the loss of the battle 
of Leipsic decided the fate of France. The Saxon army, 
which had long remained faithful to us, went over to the 
enemy during the battle.1 Prince Poniatowski perished at 

the battle of Leipsic in an attempt to pass the Elster. 

hind a Prussian battery to which two French batteries were answering, one 
in front and the other in flank, and Lord Cathcart and Sir R. Wilson were 
listening to him, when a ball struck his thigh and almost carried his leg off, 
passed through his horse, and shattered his other leg to pieces. He gave a 
deep groan at first, but immediately after the first agony of pain was over 
he spoke with the utmost tranquillity, and called for a cigar. They bore 
him off the field on a litter made of Cossacks’ pikes, and carried him to a cot¬ 
tage at a short distance, which, however, was so much exposed to the fire 
that they were obliged, after just binding up his wounds, to remove him 
farther off to the Emperor’s quarters, where one leg was amputated, he smok¬ 
ing the whole time. When the surgeon informed him that he must deprive 
him of the other leg he observed, without showing any pain or peevishness, 
but in the calmest manner, that had he known that before his other was cut 
off he should have preferred dying. The litter on which they had hitherto 
conveyed him was covered with nothing hut wet straw, and a cloak drenched 
through with rain, which continued in torrents the whole day. They now 
placed more cloaks over him, and laid him more comfortably in a good litter, 
in which he was carried to Dippoldeswalde; hut long before bis arrival there 
he was soaked through and through. He was brought, however, safely to 
Ijaun, where he seemed to be going on well, till a long conference which 
took place between him and three or four of the Allied generals, by which 
he was completely exhausted. Soon after this he became extremely ill, and 
hourly grew worse. Through the whole of his sufferings he bore his fate 
with heroism and grandeur of mind not to be surpassed, and appeared to 
those with whom he conversed to endure but little pain, so calm and so 
extremely composed was he. He died at six o’clock yesterday morning.” — 
Editor of 1836 edition. 

The following letter from General Moreau to his wife, after receiving his 
mortal wound, was communicated to the editor of the 1836 edition by Sir J. 
Philippart: — 

“ Ma chore amie—A la bataille de Dresde, il y a trois jours, fai eu les 
denxjambes emportees d’un boulet de canon. Ce coquin de Bonaparte eat 
toujours heureux. On m’a fait V amputation aussi bien que possible. Qnoiqve 
Varmee ait fait un mouvement retrograde, ce n'est nullement par revers, mais 
pour se rapprocher du General Blucher. Excuse mon grifonage; je Vaime 
et fembrasse de tout mon co&ur. Je charge Rapatel dejinir. — V. M." 

1 The battle of General Blucher, on the 16tli, was followed by a complete 
and signal victory on the 18th, by the combined forces, over Bonaparte, at 
the head of his army, in the neighborhood of Leipsic. The collective loss of 
above 100 pieces of cannon, 60,000 men, and an immense number of pris¬ 
oners ; the desertion of the Saxon army, and also of the Bavarian and Wiir- 
temberg troops still remaining in the French ranks, consisting of artillery, 
cavalry, and infantry; many generals killed, wounded, and taken prisoners, 
among whom were Reynier, Valberg (?), Brune, Bertrand, and Lauriston, 
were some of the first-fruits of the glorious day of the 18th of October. These 
were followed by the capture by assault of the town of Leipsic; the maga¬ 
zines, the artillery, stores of the place, with the King of Saxony, all his 
Court, the garrison, and the rear-guard of the French army; the whole of 
the enemy’s wounded, the number of whom exceeded 30,000, with the com¬ 
plete rout of the French army, it being entirely surrounded, and endeavoring 
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I will take this opportunity of relating what I know re¬ 

specting the death of two men who were both deeply and 

deservedly regretted — Duroc and Poniatowski.1 Napoleon 
lamented Duroc chiefly because he was very useful to him. 

He, however, wished to make a parade of sensibility, and 
after having made up a tragical scene of Duroc’s death, he 

ordered a picture to be painted, to transmit the recollection 

of the event to posterity; with this view a suitable story was 
drawn up for a bulletin. This bulletin contained a high-flown 

account of the loss the Emperor had sustained; and the fol¬ 

lowing set phrases were put into the mouth of the dying 

General: “ My life has been devoted to your service, and I 

regret its loss because it might yet be useful to you. Yes, 
Sire, we shall one day meet again, but it will be thirty years 

to escape in all directions: such were the x>rominent subjects of exultation. 
Bonaparte was fortunate enough to escape by rapid flight two hours before 
the entry into Leipsic of the Allied forces. . . . 

During the action twenty-two guns of Saxon artillery, with two West¬ 
phalian regiments of hussars, and two battalions of Saxons, joined us from 
the enemy: the former were instantly led again into the field, our artillery 
and ammunition not being all brought forward. . . . 

The losses sustained in the last four days’ combats could not with precision 
be stated; but they were averaged, on the part of the enemy, at 15,000 pris¬ 
oners, without reckoning 23,000 sick and wounded found in the hospitals at 
Leipsic, 250 pieces of cannon, and 900 tumbrels. Prince Poniatowski, Gen¬ 
erals Vial, Koch am beau, Dumoustier, Oompaiis, and Latour-Maubourg were 
killed, and Noy, Marmont, and Souliam wounded. Fifteen generals wore 
made prisoners. The loss of the Allies was equally serious. The Prussian 
corps of d’York lost 5000 men; the Austrians enumerated no less than sixty 
officers of distinction killed in this sanguinary contest (Marquis of London¬ 
derry’s Narrative of the War in Germany and France). 

1 Duroc, as has already been noted, was one of the earliest aides de camp 
and companions of Napoleon, and had accompanied him to Egypt, and 
indeed everywhere. He had been created Due de Frioul and Grand Mard- 
chal du Palais. Marmont (tome v. p. 109) says that a few moments before 
being hit Duroc showed a sort of despondency and dishoartenment, and said 
to him, u My friend, the Emperor is insatiable for battles. We shall all 
fall, it is our destiny.” The scene between Napoleon and him on his death¬ 
bed has been told differently. See Marmont, tome v. p. 110: Hdyur, tome 
vi. p. 115; and Thiers, tome xv. p. 584; and even doiynet, p. 352. Whatever 
may have been said to the contrary, there must liave been some strong affec¬ 
tion between them. See Napoleon’s letter to Madame de Montesquieu, 
when, perhaps with a remembrance of a famous Homan epitaph, he said, 
“ The death of the Due de Frioul has pained me. It is the only time in 
twenty years that he has not divined what would please me ” {Rtnrnmt, tome 
ii. p. 245 note). See also Dumas, a fair representative of the general opinion 
of the army, not of the tittle-tattle of the Court. “ The glorious death of the 
Grand Mardohal Duroc took from Napoleon his most trusty friend, whom he 
much liked: the man whose loyalty, noble independence, and enlightened 
counsels were so useful to him” {Dumas, tome hi. p. 500). His Duchy was 
giVbn to his daughter. 
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hence, when you will have triumphed over your enemies, and 
realized all the hopes of your country. I have lived like an 
honorable man, and have nothing to reproach myself with. 

I leave behind me a daughter; your Majesty will be a father 
to her.” 1 But there is not one word of truth in the bulletin 

account of Duroc's death. The words which he is said to 
have uttered in his last moments were invented, like those 

attributed to Desaix after the battle of Marengo. I suppose 
Napoleon borrowed from Homer the idea of making his 
heroes deliver speeches when at the point of death. The 
fact is, Duroc suffered the most excruciating agony, and 
under such circumstances a man is not likely to be very elo¬ 
quent, or, indeed, inclined to speak much. I remember read¬ 
ing at the time a letter which came by an estafette ; it was 
written by an individual who accompanied the Emperor, and 

was addressed to a Minister. The writer desires his friend 
not to place any reliance on the official account of Napoleon's 

visit to Duroc. He added that the latter, being at the mo¬ 

ment in great suffering, and finding that the Emperor pro¬ 

longed' his visit, turned impatiently on his left side, and said 
to the Emperor, motioning him with his right hand to with¬ 
draw, “ Ah, Sire, at least leave me to die quietly.” 

I will here mention a fact which occurred before Duroc's 
departure for the campaign of 1812. I used often to visit 

him at the Pavilion Marsan, in the Tuileries, where he lodged. 
One forenoon, when I had been waiting for him a few min¬ 

utes, he came from the Emperor's apartments, where he had 

been engaged in the usual business. He was in his court- 
dress. As soon as he entered he pulled off his coat and hat 

and laid them aside. “ I have just had a conversation with 
the Emperor about you,” said he. “ Say nothing to anybody. 

Have patience, and you will be-” He had no sooner 

uttered these words than a footman entered to inform him 
that the Emperor wished to see him immediately. “ Well,” 

said Duroc, u I must go.” No sooner was the servant gone 
than Duroc stamped violently on the floor, and exclaimed, 

1 The Emperor faithfully carried out this wish, making a handsome pro¬ 
vision for Mademoiselle Duroc. (See also the will of Napoleon.) 
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4 That .... never leaves me a moment’s rest. If he finds 
1 have five minutes to myself in the course of the morning lie 

is sure to send for me.” Lie then put on his coat and re¬ 

turned to the Emperor, saying, “ Another time you shall hear 
what I have to tell you.” 

From that time I did not see I)uroc until the month of 

January, IKL'i He was constantly absent from Paris, and 

did not, return until the end of 18.12. He was much affected 

at the result of the campaign, but his confidence in Napoleon’s 

genius kept up his spirits. I turned the conversation from 

this suhjeet and reminded him of his promise to tell me what 

had passed between the Emperor and himself relative to me. 

** You shall hear,” said lie. “ The Emperor and I had been 

playing at billiards, and, between ourselves, he plays very 
badly. He is nothing at a game that depends on skill. 

While negligently rolling his balls about lie muttered these 

words: ‘ Do you ever see. Bourrienne now ? ’ — ‘ Yes, Sire, he 
sometimes dines with me on diplomatic reception-days, and he 

looks so droll in his old-fashioned court-dress, of Lyons manu¬ 

facture, that you would laugh if you saw him.’ — ‘ What does 
he say respecting the, new regulation for the court-dresses?’ 

— * 1 eonfess he says it is very ridiculous; that it will have 

no other result than to enable the Lyons manufacturers to get 

rid of their old-fashioned goods; that forced innovations on 

the customs of a nation are never successful.’ — * Oh, that 

in always the way with Bourrienne; he is never pleased with 

anything.’ — * Certainly, Hire, he is apt to grumble; hut he 
says what he thinks.’ —* Do you know, Puroe, he served me 

very well at Hamburg. He raised a good deal of money for 
me. He is a man who understands business. 1 will not leave 
him unemployed. Time must hang heavily on his hands. 

I will see what I can do for him. He has many enemies.’ — 

‘And who has not, Hire?’—‘Many complaints against him 

were transmitted to me from Hamburg, but the letter which 

he wrote to me in his justification opened my eyes, and I 

begin to think that Havary had good motives for defending 

him. Endeavors are made to dissuade me from employing 

him, hut I shall nevertheless do so at last* I remember that 
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it was lie who first informed me of tin* near approach of tin 
war which we are now engaged in. I forget, all that, lias heci 

said against him for the last two years, and as soon as peace 

is concluded, and I am at leisure, I will think of him.' " 

After relating to me this eon versa! ion Du roe said, ** Voti 
must, of course, feel assured that I said all 1 think of you 

and T will take an opportunity of reminding him of yon. Hut 

we must be patient. Adieu, my dear friend ; we must sot oil 

speedily, and Heaven knows when we shall be bark again!" 

I wished him a successful campaign and a speedy return. 

Alas! 1 was doomed to see my excellent friend only once 

again. 
Next to the death of Dnroe the loss most sincerely regretted 

during the campaign of IXHI was that of Prince H*mi;i!mvski. 

Joseph Foniatowski, a nephew of Stanislas Augustus, King of 

Poland, was horn at Warsaw on tin* Tilt of May, 17«*»l. At nn 

early age he was remarkable for his patriotic* spirit ; hut his 

uncle’s influence gave* him an apparent invsolut bun niucli 

rendered him suspected by some of the part ion in Poland. 

After his uncle had acceded to the C !onfederal hut of Targn 

witz Foniatowski left the service accompanied h\ most *»t his 

principal officers. But when, in 171*4, tin* Pules cmlcavMted 

to repulse the Russians, he again repaired in tlit* Polish camp 

and entered the army as a volunteer. His noble conduct, 

obtained for hint the esteem of \ifa countrymen. Kosciusko 
gave hint the command of a division, with winch lie rendered 

useful services during the two sieges of Warsaw. luinieili* 

ately after the surrender of that capital Foniatowski went to 
Vienna. He refused the offers of Patberine am! Pa.nl to lienr 

arms in the service of Russia. 

Foniatowski retired to his estate near Warsaw*, where he 

lived like a private gentleman until the creation of flu* <Hand 

Duchy of Warsaw revived the hopes of the Polish patriots. 

He then became War Minister, The Archduke Ferdinand 

having come, in 1809, with Austrian frooj fo take |w«vio*<Mntt 

of the Duchy of Warsaw, Poitiatowski, who commanded the 

Polish troops, which were very inferior in iiiitnlw^rs to the 

Austrian fmmf obliged the hitter, rather by *li«t of skilful 



RETREAT OF NAPOLEON. 297 

inaiiuuivriitg than by fighting, to evacuate the Grand Duchy, 
lie pursued them into Galicia an far as Graeow. 

After this honorable campaign he (continued to exercise his 
functions as Minister until IS 12. The war against Russia 
again summoned him to the head of the Polish army. After 
taking part in all the, events of that war, which was attended 
by sueh various chances, Poniatowski was present at the 
battle of beipsie. That battle, which commenced on the 
Mth of October, the anniversary of the famous battles of 
Min and of Jena, lasted four days, and decided the fate of 
Europe. Five hundred thousand men fought on a surface of 
three square leagues. 

Uotreat having lieeome indispensable, Napoleon took leave 
at Leipsie of the King of Saxony and his family, whom he 
had brought with him from Dresden. The Emperor then 
exclaimed in a loud voice, “ Adieu, Saxons,” to the people 
who filled the market-place, when* the King of Saxony resided. 
With some difficulty, ami after passing through many turn¬ 
ings ami windings, he gained the suburb of Runstadt and left 
Leipsie by Hus outer gate of that suburb which leads to the 
bridge of flie EInter, and to Lindenau. The bridge was blown 
up shortly after he had passed if, and that event utterly pre¬ 
vented the ret reat of the part of the army which was on the 
left bank of the Elster, and which fell into the power of the 
enemy. Napoleon was at the time accused of having ordered 
the destruction of the bridge immediately after he had himself 
passed it in order to secure his own personal retreat, as he was 
threatened by the active pursuit of the enemy. The English 
journals were unanimous cm this point, and to counteract this 
opinion, which was very general, an article was inserted in the 
Mimitvnr, 

Before passing the bridge of the Elster Napoleon had 
directed Pniiiatowski, in concert with Marshal Macdonald, 
to cover and protect the retreat, and to defend that part of 
the suburb of faiipiie which is nearest to the Borna road. 
For the execution of these orders he had only 2000 Polish 
infantry, lie was in this desperate situation when he saw 
the French columns in full retreat, and the bridge so choked 
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up with their artillery and wagons that there was no possi¬ 
bility of passing it. Then drawing his sword, and turning to 
the officers who were near him, he said, “ Here we must fall 
with honor! ” At the head of a small party of cuirassiers 
and Polish officers he rushed on the columns of the Allies. 
In this action he received a ball in his left arm: he had 
already been wounded on the 14th and 16th. He neverthe¬ 

less advanced, but he found the suburb filled with Allied 
troops.1 He fought his way through them and received 

i The Allies were so numerous that they scarcely perceived the losses they 
sustained. Their masses pressed down upon us in every direction, and it was 
impossible that victory could fail to be with them. Their success, however, 
would have been less decisive had it not been for the defection of the Saxons. 
In the midst of the battle, these troops having moved towards the enemy, as 
if intending to make an attack, turned Suddenly round, and opened a heavy 
fire of artillery and musketry on the columns by the side of which they had 
a few moments before been fighting. I do not know in what page of history 
such a transaction is recorded. This event immediately produced a great 
difference in our affairs, which were before in a bad enough train. I ought 
here to mention that before the battle the Emperor dismissed a Bavarian 
division which still remained with him. He spoke to the officers in terms 
which will not soon be effaced from their memory. He told them, that, 
“ according to the laws of war, they were his prisoners, since their Govern¬ 
ment had taken part against him; but that he could not forget the services 
they had rendered him, and that they were therefore at liberty to return 
home.” These troops left the army, where they were much esteemed, and 
marched for Bavaria. 

The desertion of the Saxons to the enemy obliged the Emperor to order 
movements to which he would not otherwise have resorted, especially in so 
warm an action. These unexpected movements caused disorder, when that 
calmness and that cool determination by which so much may be done at the 
decisive moment of a battle were most wanting. It was now necessary to 
think of a retreat, which had, indeed, already begun, in consequence of the 
physical and moral exhaustion of the troops, which had maintained the con¬ 
test since the morning under marked disadvantages. 

After nearly the whole of the left and part of the centre had passed the 
Elster the Emperor himself crossed. He desired the artillery officer who 
had charge of the bridge, for the destruction of which preparation had been 
made, not to leave the spot, and not to put the match to the train until all 
the troops had passed over. 

At first the corps proceeded along the bridge without any disagreeable 
accident, but such was the disorder that no one could tell whether or not his 
column was the last which had to pass. The enemy’s sharpshooters were in 
advance; the pressure towards the bridge was great, and the confusion be¬ 
came extreme. 

The officer left in charge of the bridge, not knowing what was the state of 
things on the enemy’s side, ran towards a general officer to learn, if possible, 
from him how far the passage had been effected ; but he was carried away 
by the crowd, and could not return. The artillerymen who were under his 
command, seeing German troops and Cossacks pushing forward, blew up the 
bridge without waiting for orders; and thus the right of the army, which 
kept the enemy’s masses in check, was cut off. 

The report of this unfortunate event soon spread through the ranks. The 
right was in its turn thrown into disorder, and an escape was sought through 
fields and marshes. This completed the disaster : the troops were made 
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another wound. lit* then threw hims(*lf into tin* Pleisse, 
whii'li was tin* first rivt*r he came to. Aided by his oilmens, 

he epposife hank, leaving- his horse in the river. 

Though greatly exhausted he mounted another, and gained 

tin* Klster, by passing through M. Reichcnbaclfs garden, 
whieh was situated on tin* side of that river. In spite of 

the steepness of tin*, banks of the Mister at that part, the 

ITiitre plunged with his horn* into the river: both man 

and horse were drowned, and the same fate was shared by 
several ofiieern who followed Poniatowski’s example. Mar¬ 

shal Maedonald was, luekily, one of those who escaped. Five 

days after a fisherman drew the body of the Prince out of the 

water. On the 2<>th of October it was temporarily interred at 

Leipnie, with all the honors due to the illustrious deceased. 

A modest stone marks the spot where the body of the Prince 

was dragged from the river. The Poles expressed a wish to 

erect a monument to the memory of their countryman in the 

garden of M, Reichenhach, hut that gentleman declared he 
would do if at Ids own expense, which ho did. The monu¬ 

ment consists of a k*auftfui sarcophagus, surrounded by weep¬ 

ing willows. The body of the Prince, after being embalmed, 

was sent in fisc following year to Warsaw, and in 181(1 it was 

deposited in the cathedral, among the remains of the Kings 

and great men of Poland. The celebrated Thorwaldson was 

coin in btnoned to execute a monument for his tomb. Prince 

Poumlowski left no issue but a natural son, born in 1790. 

The royal race therefore, existed only in a collateral branch 

of King Htanislas, namely, Prince Btanislas, bom in 17l>4d 

frlsowers of war, will fletiemk Laurfston and Keynier were taken with them. 
>rlm*n thmvph }*<»fihit<»wMkl, recently made Marshal of Franco, had just at 

thin moment gained the hank* of the Plater. Though wounded, consulting 
uiily lifft CiiiifMCt lie {dunged on horsebnok into the river, where he unfor¬ 
tunately perished. It wa« IimjkxihIW«« to he more brave than was thin Prince: 
imfiofaiiutft, fiiftfciifitiltttoft** and always amiable, he was as much cHteemed by 
ttumi* iigiilfiit whom lie combated as regretted by the party whom he served. 

This terminated the fatal day of Tadpsic : the result of which to Prance 
was Hit* Um of a fine and numerous army and all her Allies (Memoirs of the, 
ihtfiir /fm*n/o, friitn* vi, i*. iTun 

* Prince doftefdi Pntiiafowskl bad only been made Marshal by Napoleon 
oil the lUfli Cleiotier. ISIS, three days before he was drowned. He was the 
fCm*i*I«m of roni»tow«Kl who followed Charles XTI. into Turkey, 
and %im tieifliew of HtaitiulM II. of Poland, the last King of Poland, 
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When the war resumed its course after the disaster of Leipsic 

I am certain that the Allied sovereigns determined to treat 

with Napoleon only in his own capital, as he, four years 
before, had refused to treat with the Emperor of Austria 

except at Vienna. The latter sovereign now completely 
raised the mask, and declared to the Emperor that he would 

make common cause with Russia and Prussia against him. 
In his declaration he made use of the singular pretext, that 
the more enemies there were against Napoleon there would 
be the greater chance of speedily obliging him to accede to 
conditions which would at length restore the tranquillity of 

which Europe stood so much in need. This declaration on 

the part of Austria was an affair of no little importance, for 
she had now raised an army of 250,000 men. An equal force 

was enrolled beneath the Russian banners, which were advan¬ 
cing towards the Rhine. Prussia had 200,000 men; the Con¬ 

federation of the Rhine 150,000: in short, including the 
Swedes and the Dutch, the English troops in Spain and in 
the Netherlands, the Danes, who had abandoned us, the Span¬ 

iards and Portuguese, whose courage and hopes were revived 
by our reverses, Napoleon had arrayed against him upward 
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of a million ot armed men. Among them, too, wen‘ the 
Neapolitans, with Mu nit at their head ! 

The month of November, 1818, wan fatal to the fortune of 

Napoleon. In all parts the French armies were repulsed and 

driven back upon the Rhine, while in every direction the 

Allied forces advanced towards that river. For a consider¬ 

able time I had eonfidently anticipated the fall of the 
Empire; not treatise the foreign sovereigns had vowed its 

dest ruction, but because. I saw the impossibility of Napoleon 

defending himself against all Europe, and because I knew 

that, however desperate might be his fortune, nothing would 

induce him to consent to conditions which he considered dis¬ 

graceful, At this time every day was marked by a new defec¬ 

tion. Even the Bavarians, the natural Allies of France, they 

whom the Emperor had led to victory at the commencement 

of the second campaign of Vienna, they whom he had, as it 

were, adopted on the field of battle, were now against us, and 

were tin* bitterest of our enemies. 

Even fwdbre the battle of heipsie, the consequences of 

which were so ruinous to Napoleon, he had felt the necessity 

of applying to France for a supply of troops; as if France 

had i*een inexhaustible. He directed the Empress Regent 

to make this demand; and accordingly Maria Louisa pro¬ 

ceeded to the Senate, for the first time, in great state: but 
the glories of the Empire were now on the decline. The 
Empress obtained a levy of 280,000 troops, but they were*, no 

sooner enrolled than they were sacrificed. The defection of 

the Bavarians considerably augmented the difficulties which 
assailed the wreck of the army that had escaped, from Leipsic. 

The Bavarians had got before us to Hamm, a town four 

leagues distant from Frankfort; there they established them¬ 

selves, with the view of cutting off our retreat; but French 

valor was roused, the little town was speedily carried, and 
the Bavarians were repulsed with considerable loss. The 

French army arrived at Mayenee; if, indeed, one may give 

the name of army to a few masses of men destitute, dis¬ 

pirited, ami exhausted by fatigue and privation. On the 

arrival of the troops at Mayenee no preparation had been 
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made for receiving them: there were no provisions, or sup¬ 
plies of any kind; and, as the climax of misfortune, infec¬ 
tious epidemics broke out amongst the men. All the accounts 
I received concurred in assuring me that their situation was 

dreadful. 
However, without counting the wreck which escaped from 

the disasters of Leipsic, and the ravages of disease; without 
including the 280,000 men which had been raised by a Senatus- 

consulte, on the application of Maria Louisa, the Emperor still 
possessed 120,000 good troops; but they were in the rear, 
scattered along the Elbe, shut up in fortresses such as Dant- 
zic, Hamburg, Torgau, and Spandau. Such was the horror of 
our situation that if, on the one hand, we could not resolve to 

abandon them, it was at the same time impossible to aid 

them. In France a universal cry was raised for peace, at 
whatever price it could be purchased. In this state of things 

it may be said that the year 1813 was more fatal to Napoleon 
than the year 1812. The disasters of Moscow were repaired 

by his activity and the sacrifices of France; but the disasters 

of Leipsic were irreparable! 
I shall shortly speak of some negotiations in which, if I 

had chosen, I might have taken a part. After the battle of 

Leipsic, in which France lost, for the second time, a formid¬ 
able army, all the powers allied against Napoleon declared 
at Frankfort, on the 9th of November, that they would never 

break the bonds which united them ; that henceforth it was 

not merely a Continental peace, but a general peace, that 

would be demanded; and that any r egotiation not having a 

general peace for its object would be rejected. The Allied 
powers declared that France was to be confined within her 

natural limits, — the Ehine, the Alps, and the Pyrenees. 
This was all that was to remain of the vast Empire founded 
by Napoleon; but still it must be allowed it was a great deal, 

after the many disasters France had experienced, and when 
she was menaced with invasion by numerous and victorious 
armies. But Napoleon could not accede to such proposals, 

for he was always ready to yield to illusion when the truth 
was not satisfactory to him. 
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According to the proposals of the Allies at Frankfort,1 Ger¬ 
many, Italy, and Spain were to be entirely withdrawn from 

the dominion of France. England recognized the freedom of 

trade and navigation, and there appeared no reason to doubt 
the sincerity of her professed willingness to make great sacri¬ 

fices to promote the object proposed by the Allies. But to 

these offers a fatal condition was added, namely, that the Con¬ 

gress should meet in a town, to be declared neutral, on the 
right bank of the Bhine, where the plenipotentiaries of all 
the belligerent powers were to assemble; but the course of the 
war was not to be impeded by these negotiations.2 

The Due de Bassano (Maret), who was still Minister for 
Foreign Affairs, replied, by order of Napoleon, to the over¬ 

tures made by the Allies for a general Congress; and stated 
that the Emperor acceded to them, and wished Mannheim to 
be chosen as the neutral town. M. Metternich replied in a 

note, dated Frankfort, the 25th of November, stating that the 

Allies felt no difficulty in acceding to Napoleon’s choice of 
Mannheim for the meeting of the Congress; but as M. de 
Bassano7s letter contained no mention of the general and 
summary bases I have just mentioned, and which had been 
communicated to M. de St. Aignan at Frankfort, M. Metter¬ 
nich stated that the Allies wished the Emperor Napoleon to 

1 The proceedings at Frankfort should be read in Metternich, vol. i. pp. 
212-220, where Metternich speaks of the difficulty in getting the Allies to act 
together. “ The Russian army remained quiet and thought its object gain ed. 
If Marshal Kutusow had been still living it would not have left the Oder.” 
So much is often said as to the bad faith of Napoleon in these negotiations 
that one of Metternich’s statements should be noted. “I proposed further 
to join with the idea of natural boundaries the offer of an immediate negotia¬ 
tion. As the Emperor Francis sanctioned my intention I laid it before their 
Majesties of Russia and Prussia. Both of them feared that Napoleon, trust¬ 
ing to the chances of the future, might by accepting the proposal with quick 
and energetic decision put an end to the affair” (Metternich, vol. i. p. 214). 
The “affair” means here the war. The whole of Metternich’s account is 
inconsistent with good faith in the Allies’ proposals, and shows that Napo¬ 
leon’s remark on the proclamation was correct. “No one but Metternich 
can have concocted this document; talking of the Rhine, the Alps, and the 
Pyrenees is a thorough piece of cunning. It could only enter into the head 
of a man who knows France as well as he does” (Metternich, vol. i. p. 215). 

2 This system of negotiating and advancing was a realization of Metter¬ 
nich’s idea of copying Napoleon’s own former procedure. “ Let us hold 
always the sword in one hand, and the olive branch in the other; always 
ready to negotiate, but only negotiating whilst advancing. Here is Napo¬ 
leon’s system: may he find enemies who will carry on war ... as he would 
carry it on himself” (Metternich to Stadion, April, 1809, Metternicht vol. ii. 
p. 346). 
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declare his determination respecting those bases, in order that 
insurmountable difficulties might not arrest the negotiations 

at their very outset. The Duke of Vicenza (Caulaincourt), 
who had just succeeded the Due de Bassano, received this 
letter. Trusting to the declaration of Frankfort he thought 
he would be justified in treating on those bases ; he confi¬ 

dently relied on the consent of Napoleon. But the Allies had 
now determined not to grant the limits accorded by that decla¬ 
ration. Caulaincourt was therefore obliged to apply for fresh 

powers, which being granted, he replied, on the 2d of Decem¬ 
ber, that Napoleon accepted the fundamental and summary 
bases which had been communicated by M. de St. Aignan. 
To this letter M. Metternich answered that the Emperors of 
Russia and Austria were gratified to find that the Emperor 
of France recognized the bases judged necessary by the Allies; 
that the two sovereigns would communicate without delay the 

official document to their Allies, and that they were convinced 

that immediately on receiving their reply the negotiations 
might be opened without any interruption of the war. 

We shall now see the reason why these first negotiations 
came to no result. In the month of October the Allies over¬ 
threw the colossal edifice denominated the French Empire. 

When led by victory to the banks of the Rhine they declared 
their wish to abstain from conquest, explained their inten¬ 

tions, and manifested an unalterable resolution to abide by 
them. This determination of the Allies induced the French 

Government to evince pacific intentions. Napoleon wished, 
by an apparent desire for peace, to justify, if I may so express 

myself, in the eyes of his subjects, the necessity of new sacri¬ 

fices ; which, according to his proclamations, he demanded 
only to enable him to obtain peace on as honorable conditions 

as possible. But the truth is, he was resolved not even to 
listen to the offers made at Frankfort. He always repre¬ 
sented the limits of the Rhine as merely a compensation for 

the dismemberment of Poland and the immense aggrandize¬ 

ment of the English possessions in Asia. But he wanted to 
gain time, and, if possible, to keep the Allied armies on the 
right bank of the Rhine. 
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The immense levies made in France, one after the other, 
had converted the conscription into a sort of press-gang. 

Men employed in agriculture and manufactures were dragged 
from their labors ; and the people began to express their dis¬ 

satisfaction at the measures of Government more loudly than 
they had hitherto ventured to do; yet all were willing to 

make another effort, if they could have persuaded themselves 
that the Emperor would henceforth confine his thoughts to 
France alone. Napoleon sent Caulaincourt to the headquarters 
of the Allies, but that was only for the sake of gaining time, 
and inducing a belief that he was favorably disposed to peace. 

The Allies having learned the immense levies of troops 
which Napoleon was making, and being well acquainted with 
the state of feeling in France, published the famous manifesto,1 
addressed to the French people, which was profusely circulated, 

and may be referred to as a warning to subjects who trust to 

the promises of Governments. 
The good faith with which the promises in the manifesto 

were kept may be judged of from the Treaty of Paris. In the 

mean time the manifesto did not a little contribute to alienate 
from Napoleon those who were yet faithful to his cause: for, 

by believing in the declarations of the Allies, they saw in him 
the sole obstacle to that peace which France so ardently de¬ 

sired. On this point, too, the Allies were not wrong, and I 
confess that I did not see without great surprise that the Due 
de Rovigo, in that part of his Memoirs where he mentions 

this manifesto, reproaches those who framed it for represent- 

1 This proclamation said that the Allied sovereigns wished France to be 
great, strong, and happy, and that they confirmed to the French Empire an 
extent of territory which France had never possessed under her Kings. It 
is often the custom to deride the French claims made by either of the Napo¬ 
leons or by the Republic of 1870, that France had been relatively weakened 
by the increases of territory gained by all the other powers of Europe by the 
partition of Poland, the resettlement of G-ermany, the increase of the English 
colonial dominions, etc. A glance at any ordinary historical atlas, or the re¬ 
membrance of the ease with which France was overthrown in 1870, would 
prove how true the statement was. As for the belief that if France could 
only be finally and permanently weakened a reign of peace would at last 
descend on Europe, it must be allowed that in the worst days under Napo¬ 
leon Europe was not the vast camp of armed nations counting each other’s 
strength, and ready for war in a week, which she has been under the German 
Continental supremacy. 
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ing the Emperor as a madman, who replied to overtures of 
peace only by conscription levies. After all, I do not intend 
to maintain that the declaration was entirely sincere; with 

respect to the future it certainly was not. Switzerland was 
already tampered with, and attempts were made to induce her 

to permit the Allied troops to enter France by the bridge of 

Bale. Things were going on no better in the south of France, 
where the Anglo-Spanish army threatened our frontiers by the 

Pyrenees, and already occupied Pampeluna; and at the same 

time the internal affairs of the country were no less critical 
than its external position. Tt was in vain to levy troops ; 
everything essential to an army was wanting. To meet the 

most pressing demands the Emperor drew out 30,000,000 from 
the immense treasure which he had accumulated in the cellars 

and galleries of the Pavilion Marsan at the Tuileries. These 

30,000,000 were speedily swallowed up. Nevertheless it was 
an act of generosity on the part of Napoleon, and I never 

could understand on what ground the Legislative Body com¬ 

plained of the outlay, because, as the funds did not proceed 
from the Budget, there needed no financial law to authorize 
their application. Besides, why did these rigid legislators, 
who, while fortune smiled on Bonaparte, dared not utter a 
word on the subject, demand, previously to the gratuitous gift 
just mentioned, that the 350,000,000 in the Emperor’s privy 
purse should be transferred to the Imperial treasury and car¬ 

ried to the public accounts ? Why did they wink at the accu¬ 
mulation in the Tuileries of the contributions and exactions 

levied in conquered countries ? The answer is plain: because 
there would have been danger in opposing it. 

Amidst the difficulties which assailed the Emperor he cast 
his eyes on M. de Talleyrand. But it being required, as a con¬ 
dition of his receiving the portfolio of Foreign Affairs, that he 

should resign his office of Vice-Grand-Elector, M. de Talley¬ 
rand preferred a permanent post to a portfolio, which the 
caprice of a moment might withdraw. I have been informed 

that, in a conversation with the Emperor, M. de Talleyrand 
gave him the extraordinary advice of working upon the ambi¬ 
tion of the English family of Wellesley, and to excite in the 
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mind of Wellington, the lustre of whose reputation was now 

dawning, ambitious projects which would have embarrassed 
the coalition. Napoleon, however, did not adopt this propo¬ 

sition, the issue of which he thought too uncertain, and, above 

all, too remote, in the urgent circumstances in which he stood. 
Caulaincourt was then made Minister for [Foreign Affairs, in 
lieu of M. Maret, who was appointed Secretary of State, an 

office much better suited to him. 

Meanwhile the Emperor was wholly intent on the means of 
repelling the attack which was preparing against him. The 
critical circumstances in which he was placed seemed to re¬ 
store the energy which time had in some measure robbed him 
of. He turned his eyes towards Spain, and resolved to bring 
the army from that country to oppose the Allies, whose 
movements indicated their intention of entering France by 

Switzerland. An event occurred connected with this subject 
calculated to have a decided influence on the affairs of the 
moment, namely, the renunciation by Joseph, King of Spain, 
of all right to the crown, to be followed by the return, as had 
been agreed on, of Ferdinand to his dominions. Joseph 
made this sacrifice at the instigation of his brother. The 
treaty was signed, but an inconceivable delay occurred in its 
execution, while the torrent, which was advancing upon 

France, rushed forward so rapidly that the treaty could not 
be carried into execution. Ferdinand, it is true, re-ascended 

his throne,, but from other causes. 
The Emperor was deeply interested in the march of the 

Allies. It was important to destroy the bridge of Bale, 
because the Bhine once crossed masses of the enemy would 
be thrown into France. At this time I had close relations 
with a foreign diplomat whom I am forbidden by discretion 
to name. He told me that the enemy was advancing towards 

the frontier, and that the bridge of B&le would not be de¬ 
stroyed, as it had been so agreed at Berne, where the Allies 
had gained the day. This astonished me, because I knew, on 
the other hand, from a person who ought to have been equally 

well informed, that it was hoped the bridge would be blown 
up. Being much interested in knowing the truth, I sent on 
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my own account, an agent to Bale who on his return told me 

that the bridge would remain.1 
On the 19th of December the Legislative Body was con¬ 

voked. It was on a Wednesday. M. Laine was Vice-Presi¬ 
dent under M. Begnier. A committee was appointed to 
examine and report on the communications of the Emperor. 

The report and conclusions of the committee were not satis¬ 

factory ; it was alleged that they betrayed a revolutionary 
tendency, of which M. Lain6 was absurdly accused of having 

been one of the promoters ; but all who knew him must have 
been convinced of the falsehood of the charge. The Emperor 
ordered the report to be seized, and then adjourned the Legisla¬ 
tive Body. Those who attentively observed the events of the 

time will recollect the stupor which prevailed in Paris on the 

intelligence of this seizure and of the adjournment of the 

Legislative Body. A thousand conjectures were started as to 

what new occurrences had taken place abroad, but nothing 

satisfactory was learned. 
I considered this a great mistake. Who can doubt that if 

the Legislative Body had taken the frank and noble step of 
declaring that France accepted the conditions of Frankfort 

they would not have been listened to by the Allies ? But the 

words, “You are dishonored if you cede a single village ac¬ 

quired by a Sinatus-consultealways resounded in Napoleon's 
ears : they flattered his secret thoughts, and every pacific pro¬ 

posal was rejected.2 
The members of the adjourned Legislative Body went as 

usual to take leave of the Emperor, who received them on a 
Sunday, and after delivering to them the speech, which is 

very well known, dismissed the rebels with great ill humor, re- 

1 We here get a glimpse of some treacherous intrigue, part of the proceed¬ 
ings for which Bourrienne was afterwards thanked by Louis XVIII. How 
Bourrienne, a simple private individual, could be concerned in knowing that 
the bridge would be preserved for the use of the Allies, he does not inform 
us. He could have no proper reason for sending a private agent. If he 
wanted the information for his friend Savary he need not have provided the 
man. As for the passage of the Rhine at Bale, see the note a few pages 
farther on. 

2 This unhappy sentiment must be compared with that of 1870, when the 
demands of Germany were met by the phrase, “ Not a stone of our fortresses, 
not an inch of our territory.” The Republic of 1870 yielded, Napoleon did 
not. 
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fusing to hear any explanation. “I have suppressed your 

address,” he began abruptly : “ it was incendiary. I called 
you round me to do good —you have done ill. Eleven- 

twelfths of you are well-intentioned, the others, and above all 
M. Laine, are factious intriguers, devoted to England, to all 
my enemies, and corresponding through the channel of the 
advocate Deseze with the Bourbons. Return to your Depart¬ 
ments, and feel that my eye will follow you; you have en¬ 

deavored to humble me, you may kill me, but you shall not 
dishonor me. You make remonstrances; is this a time, when 
the stranger invades our provinces, and 200,000 Cossacks are 
ready to overflow our country ? There may have been petty 
abuses ; I never connived at them. You, M. Raynouard, you 

said that Prince Mass6na robbed a man at Marseilles of his 
house. You lie! The General took possession of a vacant 
house, and my Minister shall indemnify the proprietor. Is it 

thus that you dare affront a Marshal of France who has bled 
for his country, and grown gray in victory ? Why did you 
not make your complaints in private to me ? I would have 
done you justice. We should wash our dirty linen at home, 
and not drag it out before the world. You call yourselves 
Representatives of the Nation. It is not true; you are only 
Deputies of the Departments ; a small portion of the State, 
inferior to the Senate, inferior even to the Council of State. 
The Representatives of the People ! I am alone the Repre¬ 
sentative of the People. Twice have 24,000,000 of French 
called me to the throne: which of you durst undertake such 
a burden ? It had already overwhelmed (Scrase) your Assem¬ 

blies, and your Conventions, your Yergniauds and your 
Guadets, your Jacobins and your Girondins. They are all 
dead! What, who are you ? nothing — all authority is in the 

Throne; and what is the Throne ? this wooden frame covered 

with velvet ? — no, I am the Throne ! You have added wrong 
to reproaches. You have talked of concessions — concessions 
that even my enemies dared not ask ! I suppose if they asked 

Champaigne you would have had me give them La Brie besides; 
but in four months I will conquer peace, or I shall be dead. 
You advise ! how dare you debate of such high matters (de si 
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The flag of tie* army of Italy and tin* eagles of .1813— Entrance of the Allies 
info Switzerland Summons to the Minister of Police — My refusal to 
accept a nir*hi«»n to Switzerland Interviews with M. do Talleyrand and 
the 1 htr de Yireure Offer of a I>ukedom ami the (Jrand Cordon of the 
Legion of Honor Definitive's refusal • The Due, de Vicence’fl message to 

me In IK 15 Commencement of the siege of Hamburg —A bridge two 
leagues long Executions at Lfibeek — Scarcity of provisions in Ham¬ 
burg Banishment of the inhabitants - Mon bastinadoed and women 
whipped Hospitality of the inhabitants of Altona. 

I am now arrived ad the most critical period in Napoleon's ca¬ 

reer. What reflections must he have maths if he. had had lei¬ 
sure to reflect, in eomparing the recollections of his rising glory 

with the him! picture of his falling fortune ? What a contrast 

presents itself when we eompare the, famous Hag of the army 

of Italy, which the youthful conqueror, Bonaparte, carried to 

flu* i>irectory, with those drooping eagles who had now to 

tie feud tin* eyrie whence they had ho of ttm taken flight to 

spread their triumphant, wings over Europe ! Here we sets 
the di He re nee Ind.ween liberty and absolute power! Napo¬ 

leon, the son of liberty, to whom he owed everything, had dis¬ 
owned his mother, and was now about to fall Those glorious 

triumphs were now over when the people of Italy consoled 

UiemHtdves for defeat and submitted to the magical power of 

that liberty which preceded the Republican armies. Now, on 

the contrary, it was to free themselves from a despotic yoke 

that the nations of Europe had in their turn taken up arms 

and were preparing to invade France, 

With the violation of the Swiss territory by the Allied 

lirmiesd after the consent of the (lanterns, is connected a fact 

* Thu violation of Hwhta neutrality by the Allies was carried out in cbi- 
fliincm of the strongly expressed wishes of the Cmt When informed by 
Metlentirf* that tie* Vustrhins bad crossed the lth lno and that they bad been 
joined by the Bwlw, Alexander replied, “ .Success crowns the undertaking, 

su 
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of great importance in my life, and which, if I had chosen, 
might have made a great difference in my destiny. On Tues¬ 
day, the 28th of December, I dined with my old friend, M. 

Pierlot, and on leaving home I was in the habit of saying 
where I might be found in case I should be wanted. At nine 
o’clock at night an express arrived from the Minister of Police 

desiring me to come immediately to his office. I confess, 
considering the circumstances of the times, and knowing the 

Emperor’s prejudices against me, such a request coming at 

such an hour made me feel some uneasiness, and I expected 
nothing less than a journey to Vincennes. The Due de Ro- 
vigo, by becoming responsible for me, had as yet warded off 
the blow, and the supervision to which the Emperor had sub¬ 

jected me—thanks to the good offices of Davoust — consisted 
in going three times a week to show myself to Savary. 

I accordingly, having first borrowed a night-cap, repaired 
to the hotel of the Minister of Police. I was ushered into a 

well-lighted room, and when I entered I found Savary waiting 
for me. He was in full costume, from which I concluded he 
had just come from the Emperor. Advancing towards me 
with an air which showed he had no bad news to communi- * 
cate, he thus addressed me: “ Bourrienne, I have just come 

from the Emperor, who asked me where you were ? I told 
him you were in Paris, and that I saw you often. ‘Well,’ 
continued the Emperor, ‘bid him come to me, I want to 
employ him. It is three years since he has had anything 

to do. I wish to send him as Minister to Switzerland, but he 

must set off directly. He must go to the Allies. He under¬ 
stands German well. The King of Prussia expressed by letter - 

satisfaction at his conduct towards the Prussians whom the 
war forced to retire to Hamburg. He knows Prince Wittgen¬ 
stein, who is the friend of the King of Prussia, and probably 

it remains for success to justify what you have done. As one of the Allied 
Monarclis I have nothing more to say to you, but as a man I declare to you 
that you have grieved me in a way that you can never repair.” The step 
was of course only justifiable on the then belief that all and anything was 
fair against Napoleon, yet, with a nearer approach to the feelings of his 
Allies, Alexander ended by asking as a favor that his Guard should be the 
first to cross the bridge at Bale. See the whole story in Metternich, vol. i. 
pp. 216-223. 
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is at Lorrach.1 He will see all the Germans who are there. 
I confidently rely on him, and believe his journey will have 

a good result. Caulaincourt will give him his instructions.7 77 
Notwithstanding my extreme surprise at this communica¬ 

tion I replied without hesitation that I could not accept the 
mission; that it was offered too late. “ It perhaps is hoped,” 
said I, “that the bridge of Bale will be destroyed, and that 

Switzerland will preserve her neutrality. But I do not be¬ 
lieve any such thing; nay, more, I know positively to the 

contrary. I can only repeat, the offer comes much too late.77 
— “I am very sorry for this resolution,77 observed Savary, 

“ but Caulaincourt will perhaps persuade you. The Emperor 

wishes you to go to the Due de Vicence to-morrow at one 
o’clock; he will acquaint you with all the particulars, and 
give you your instructions.77 — “ He may acquaint me with 

whatever he chooses, but I will not go to Lorrach.77 — “ You 
know the Emperor better than I do, he wishes you to go, and 
he will not pardon your refusal.77 — “ He may do as he 

pleases, but no consideration shall induce me to go to Swit¬ 

zerland.77 — “ You are wrong: but you will reflect on the 
matter between this and to-morrow morning. Night will 
bring good counsel. At any rate, do not fail to go to-morrow 

at one o’clock to Caulaincourt, he expects you, and directions 
will be given to admit you immediately.77 

Next morning the first thing I did was to call on M. de 
Talleyrand. I told him what had taken place, and as he was 
intimately acquainted with Caulaincourt, I begged him to 

speak to that Minister in favor of my resolution. M. de 
Talleyrand approved of my determination not to go to Swit¬ 

zerland, and at one o’clock precisely I proceeded to M. de 
Caulaineourt’s. He told me all he had been instructed to 
say. Erom the manner in which he made the communication 

I concluded that he himself considered the proposed mission 
a disagreeable one, and unlikely to be attended by any useful 
result. I observed that he must have heard^from Savary that 
I had already expressed my determination to decline the mis- 

1 Lorrach is a village two miles from B&le, the place fixed on for the start¬ 
ing-point of the Austro-Bussian army. — Boy.rrienne. 
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not now address myself to the Emperor’s Minister, bit to 
Oaulaineourt. You are a man of honor, and I can upon my 

heart to you frankly. Consider the embarrassing situation 

of France, which you know better than 1 do. 1 do not ask 

you for your secrets, but I myself know enough. I will tell 

you candidly that I am convinced the enemy will pass the 

Rhine in a tew days.1 The, Emperor has been deceived: I 

should not have, time to reach my destination, and I should be 

laughed at. My correspondents in Germany have, made me 
acquainted with every particular. Now, Oaulaincourt, tell 

me honestly, if you were in my place, and I in yours, and I 

should make this proposition to you, what determination 
would you adopt ? ” 

I observed from tin*, expression of Oaulaineourt’s counte¬ 

nance that my question had made an impression on him, and 

affect ionately pressing my hand he said, “ I would do as you 

do. Enough. I will arrange the business with the Emperor.” 

This reply seemed to remove a weight from my mind, and I 

left Cuulaineourt with feelings of gratitude. I felt fully 
assured that he would settle the business satisfactorily, and 

in this conjecture I was not deceived, for I heard no more of 

the matter. 

I must here go forward a year to relate another occurrence 

In which the* Hue de Vieenee and I were concerned. When, 

in March, 1815, the King appointed me Prefect of Police, M. 

de Caulaineourt sent to me a confidential person to inquire 

whether he ran any risk in remaining in Paris, or whether he 
had better remove. He had been told that his name was 

inscribed in a list of individuals whom I had received orders 
to arrest. Delighted at this proof of confidence, l returned 

the following answer by the Due de Vieenee’s messenger: 

“ Tell M. de Ganlaincourt that I do not know where he lives. 

He need be under no apprehension : l will answer for him.” 

During the campaign of 1818 the Allies, after driving the 

French out of Saxony and obliging them to retreat towards 

the Rhine, besiege,d Hamburg, where Davcmst was shut up 

1 f n|H»k« Oew f<if M iIp C’anlidwmirt on a Wednesday. On the following 
Friday lie* Allied truojM the HUImv - lUmrHvnnv* 
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The inhabitants were dreadfully oppressed, but all the cruel 

measures and precautions of the French were ineffectual, for 
the Allies advanced in great force and occupied Westphalia, 

which movement obliged the Governor of Hamburg to re¬ 
call to the town the different detachments scattered round 
Hamburg. 

At Liibeck the departure of the French troops was marked 
by blood. Before they evacuated the town, an old man, and 
a butcher named Prahl, were condemned to be shot. The 

butcher’s crime consisted in having said, in speaking of the 
French, “Der teufel liohle sie” (the devil take them). 

The old man fortunately escaped his threatened fate, but, 
notwithstanding the entreaties and tears of the inhabitants, 

the sentence upon Prahl was carried into execution. 

The garrison of Hamburg was composed of French, Italian, 

and Dutch troops. Their number at first amounted to 30,000, 
but sickness made great havoc among thorn. From sixty to 
eighty perished daily in the hospitals. When the garrison 
evacuated Hamburg in May, 1814, it was reduced to about 
15,000 men.1 In the month of December provisions began to 
diminish, and there was no possibility of renewing the supply. 
The poor were first of all made to leave the town, and after¬ 
wards all persons who were not usefully employed. It is no 
exaggeration to estimate at 50,000 the number of persons who 

were thus exiled. The colonel commanding the gendarmerie 
at Hamburg notified to the exiled inhabitants that those who 

Davoust was bound to carry out, —made his conduct be bitterly attacked at 
the time, especially in England, where such matters were happily unknown 
in absence of invasion. Puymaigre, disliking Davoust personally, vouches 
for the Marshal having only done his duty; see Fuym,aigre, pp. 155-157. 
The defence, equally with the attack, of a large town, involves inevitable 
misery to the population, but it is hard to understand why all the blame is 
to fall on the defender. Davoust was, however, it must be allowed, a severe 
man. “ As for me,” said he, “when I am carrying on war I am obliged to 
leave my philanthropy in my wife’s wardrobe ” (Diary of Henry Greville, 
Second Series, p. 121). 

1 To get more men Davoust impressed all the employes of the Govern¬ 
ment, etc., to their great disgust. He thus got some 1200 men, and drilled 
them to keep order inside the town. He could not, however, make them 
consider themselves soldiers. The Receiver-General, M. Garnie' des Champs, 
was put on duty at his own door, and then begged that a real sentry might 
be put there, as he had much cash in his house: “He,” said he, “could 
never pass for a real sentry.” “ Twelve Cossacks,” says Puymaigre, one of 
their captains, “ would have put my troop to flight; ” see Fuymaigrex p. 159. 
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did not leave ilit» town within tin* pivM-r.U'd tun*' w«mM i,« 

ceive fifty blows with a nnw and oils n\ .into to- drum util. 

But if penanee may be commuted with prato s su w m,i\ u ith 

gendarmes. Delinquents eon! med lo purehas** ! b«-ji e,M\‘tp«* 

from the bastinado by a sum ot in*. and I’Yem-h gallantry 

substituted with respect to females tin* bindi tor the rane, | 

saw an order directing all tenia!** servant *■=♦ to In* * \ am tued an 

to their health unless tiny could pruduee eejfitieutes j 1**10 

their masters. On the if nth of 1 h ermlwer the t bn * nmi 

granted twenty-tour hour* ton '* * to ja < * mb*. .*♦ u »,r 

dered to quit the town; and v\n d *y 11. 1 j top *mr 

an ordinance wan published <1* to nt’ ' to f tor< « to m 1 >*+si:«I 
return to the town alter once b r»u\ * a v,« 4* * » i,* if? sb 3rd 

as rebels and accomplices o? t he * m u , o«*f .». m « a *.,n 

demned to death by a pto*to b *» to i* * Do a.- m t 

enough. At the end of Dm mb# r * < * a , to »• f ■!» 1 :*»<*am 

of sex or age, were dragged touts 1 b« a o* 0, t * a * ml in? 

of the town on a void tughf, «to n * a* to .<» oc . 1 

between sixteen or eight* ej* dego « - -* * > * ‘ ftouto 

that several old men ptide d m to* >• * *. 1 f o * d»»i 

survived were left on tit* out **eje »a ?lt, \ 1 ><>i *u > \* 

Altona they all tound refuge ami ,4 1 4 , * 1 r,',r m ,, 

day 7(KK) of these unforhmato f*? .* * .« h^isoj 1 p * 1, 

house of M. UainviUe,1 tot*«» iU 00 o *,<. f< e- D,j<-. _ 

and who left France tog* tie r v* ab *1, a m m t 4 Hi »* , , 

which was at Holstein, mas it to did, to- m * a ' :b, Md 
entertainments, but it h;i,. »ujens d w * < tto to 0 * - m, « 

mourning, ami deaf In All jm* .ibm toi o¥r#* j < ^ , 
the unfortunate out laws; fait tom « ra* d f 4 a, ^ i b 4* 

worse, fli« inhabitanth of AJf^na * afb s !■ * t v o ,** 1 »( 

Many of the tinfurhiuaf* prf, *%*? ^ ^ s < f. ib* 

epidemic diseiwe nhed# ma 1 ooor; ,0 fbortoo » f!-( p 
in eoiisequeiii't* bn4«f Mi»f it \,o,<*,1 

All tiieiins of loon* *- ,ii It * ui ou: ^ * tb , ^ 

a mmm wim made *d tlo laud* ^ \ /* 

which yet contained limn ,1 v< n to ? vd , « ' ,,, ^ Ui ^, 

Wore tho»e who ordeied t)n* an ,e*u. o * 0 ? , v }/* 

1 Api^lWriiii) a V inf »li4! * 4| ** ft r-i | i A 
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an tin* Binds at soma of the citizens of Hamburg was an injury 

to all foreigners who had funds in the Bank?1 Such is a, 

brio! statement of tin* vexatious and cruelties which long1 

oppressed this unfortunate city. Napoleon accused Hamburg 

of Anglomania, and by mining her he thought to ruin Eng¬ 

land. Hamburg, feeble ami Ik* re ft of her sourc.es, could only 

complain, like Jerusalem when besieged by Titus: “Plorans, 
piUrn rif in unfit'." 

1 It in imimpMiMe to nee hew Davount could have acted differently in thin 
matter. “Tim pretended robbery/* nays l)e (Vonluvillr (voh ii. p. 149), 
“only took tdat e in order to furnish the means of paying the army and pro¬ 
viding lor fin* opow*. . . . Besides, thin operation was performed in the 
inoHt It‘gal manner, hy a commission composed of the superior servants of 
III** said Hank, eminent merchants of the city, and generals and oommis- 
narics belonging to tin* army.’f That a general in a besieged oitv should 
lea\e lus in* n and tin* contractors unpaid while money was idle in the Bank 
ttotihi In* atwutd. U a us for the French Government afterwards to replace 
!h** sum spent tn their nervine. The accusation made on such points against 
Iknomt, \\hi!e the <*m eminent of the Restoration left him undefended, 
alienated him, ami had their effect in the tV»/ Jour#; Bee 77Ucrs, tome xviii. 
Into h, p, U7H, Ihivoust hud similarly and necessarily seized all the wine 
tgood v\ me, says Ru\ maigret and tin* brandy to the amount of S,(XX).(KH) francs, 
the merchants recehlng hills afterwards paid hy lands XVIII. 
it, 1**1 g Ihivoiist is Idamed because he dm not surrender a town intrusted to 
mm and which he was aide to defend, and also because he did not let his 
garrison starve when he could not procure money from France. Hamburg 
wito not evacuated hy the French troops until May, 1814, being only surren¬ 
dered after the tn inclusion of jie&ee. 



CHAPTER XXX. 

1813 —1814. 

Prince Engine and the affairs of Italy —The Army of Italy on the frontiers 
of Austria — Eugene’s regret at the defection of the Bavarians — Murat’s 
dissimulation and perfidy — His treaty with Austria—Hostilities followed 
by a declaration of war —Murat abandoned by the French generals — 
Proclamation from Paris—Murat’s success—Gigantic scheme of Napo¬ 
leon— Napoleon advised to join the Jacobins—His refusal — Armament 
of the National Guard —The Emperor’s farewell to the officers —The 
Congress of Ch&tillon — Refusal of an armistice — Napoleon’s character 
displayed in his negotiations— Opening of the Congress — Discussions— 
Rupture of the conferences. 

I shall now proceed to notice tlie affairs of Italy and the 

principal events of the Viceroyalty of Eugene. In order to 

throw together all that I have to say about the Viceroy I 

must anticipate the order of time. 

After the campaign of 1812, when Eugene revisited Italy, 
he was promptly informed of the more than doubtful disposi¬ 

tions of Austria towards France. He then made preparations 
for raising an army capable of defending the country which 
the Emperor had committed to his safeguard. Xapoleon was 
fully aware how much advantage he would derive from the 
presence on the northern frontiers of Italy of an army suffi¬ 
ciently strong to harass Austria, in case she should draw aside 

the transparent veil which still covered her policy. Eugene 
did all that depended on him to meet the Emperor’s wishes ; 
but in spite of his efforts the army of Italy was, after all, only 

an imaginary army to those who could compare the number of 
men actually enrolled with the numbers stated in the lists. 
When, in July, 1813, the Viceroy was informed of the turn 

taken by the negotiations at the shadow of a Congress assem¬ 
bled at Prague, he had no longer any doubt of the renewal of 

hostilities; and foreseeing an attack on Italy he resolved as 

speedily as possible to approach the frontiers of Austria. He 
320 
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had succeeded in assembling an army composed of French and 
Italians, and amounting to 45,000 infantry and 5000 cavalry. 
On the renewal of hostilities the Viceroy’s headquarters were 

at Udine. Down to the month of April, 1814, he succeeded 

in maintaining a formidable attitude, and in defending the 
entrance of his kingdom by dint of that military talent which 
was to be expected in a man bred in the great school of Napo¬ 

leon, and whom the army looked up to as one of its most 

skilful generals. 

During the great and unfortunate events of 1813 all eyes 
had been fixed on Germany and the Bhine ; but the defection 

of Murat for a time diverted attention to Italy. That event 
did not so very much surprise me, for I had not forgotten my 

conversation with the King of Naples in the Champs Elysees, 
with which I have made the reader acquainted. At. first 

Murat’s defection was thought incredible by every one, and 

it highly excited Bonaparte’s indignation. Another defec¬ 

tion which occurred about the same period deeply distressed 
Eugene, for though raised to the rank of a prince, and almost 
a sovereign, he was still a man, and an excellent man. He 

was united to the Princess Amelia of Bavaria, who was as 
amiable and as much beloved as he, and he had the deep mor¬ 
tification to count the subjects of his father-in-law among the 
enemies whom he would probably have to combat. Fearing 

lest he should be harassed by the Bavarians on the side of 

the Tyrol, Eugene commenced his retrograde movement in 
the autumn of 1813. He at first fell back on the Tagliamento, 
and successively on the Adige. On reaching that river the 
army of Italy was considerably diminished, in spite of all 

Eugene’s care of his troops. About the end of November 
Eugene learned that a Neapolitan corps was advancing upon 
Upper Italy, part taking the direction of Borne, and part that 
of Ancona. The object of the King of Naples was to take 
advantage of the situation of Europe, and he was duped by 

the promises held out to him as the reward of his treason. 
Murat seemed to have adopted the artful policy of Austria; 
for not only had he determined to join the coalition, but he 
was even maintaining communications with England and 
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Austria, while at the same time he was making protestations 
of fidelity to his engagements with Napoleon.1 

When first informed of Murat’s treason by the Viceroy the 
Emperor refused to believe it. “ No/’ he exclaimed to those 
about him, “ it cannot be ! Murat, to whom I have given my 
sister! Murat, to whom I have given a throne ! Eugene 
must be misinformed. It is impossible that Murat has de¬ 
clared himself against me ! ” It was, however, not only pos- 
sible but true. Gradually throwing aside the dissimulation 
beneath which he had concealed his designs, Murat seemed 
inclined to renew the policy of Italy during the fifteenth and 
sixteenth centuries, when the art of deceiving was deemed by 
the Italian Governments the most sublime effort of genius. 
Without any declaration of war, Murat ordered the Neapoli¬ 
tan General who occupied Rome to assume the supreme com¬ 
mand in the Roman States, and to take possession of the 

1 Joachim was in treaty at the same time with England, France, Austria, 
and the Viceroy of Italy, thinking by such means the better to conceal from 
them his true designs, if indeed he really had any fixed designs. The pri¬ 
mary cause of all Joachim’s aberrations was the extraordinary conduct pur¬ 
sued by Napoleon towards him, who one day treated him as a King, and tho 
next scarcely showed him the respect due to his former aide de ramp. 
Joachim wrote to the Emperor that he had 30,000 men ready to support their 
common cause. Napoleon answered that the 30,000 men were to he sent to 
the hanks of the ro, where they were to await his further orders. This 
notification reached the King whilst he was visiting Pompeii with the 
Queen. Murat tore the letter in pieces, threw it on the ground, stamped 
upon it, then gathering up the fragments he returned in haste to Naples and 
assembled his Ministers, to whom he said, “ Gentlemen, the Emperor uses 
me in the most unwarrantable manner, and treats me with no more regard 
than if I were a Corporal.” If, instead of acting in this cavalier manner, 
the Emperor had excited the self-love of Joachim by his usual praise, and 
put him at the head of all the Italians as well as of the French, then 
commanded by the Viceroy, to whom he might have given some other 
charge, the heroic King of Naples would have startled Vienna with an army 
of 100,000 men! But such fortune was not in store either for Italy or for 
France, inordinate ambition having already damped the genius of Napo¬ 
leon. The year before the Emperor, in a remarkable order of the day, bad 
vaunted Prince Eugene to the skies at the expense of Joachim, and now lie 
left these two rivals in Italy, where their mutual jealousy paralyzed the 
power of almost 150,000 men obtained out of the whole Peninsula, and of 
about 80,000 Frenchmen stationed in Lombardy. The above-mentioned 
force under the command of an able general might have entirely changed the 
destiny of the Empire of France! (Memoirs of General Pepk, vol. i. p. 819: 
Bentlev, 1846). 

On learning the loss of the battle of Waterloo, Murat exclaimed to his 
principal equerry, the Duke of Koccaromana, “Had I led the cavalry the 
battle would have been won.” The same opinion was expressed by Napo¬ 
leon at St. Helena, and many years later at Paris I hoard General Flaxo 
assert a similar conviction (Ibid., vol. ii. p. 123). 
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country. General Miollis, who commanded the French troops 
in Rome, could only throw himself, with his handful of men, 

into the Castle of St. Angelo, the famous mole of Adrian, in 

which was long preserved the treasury of Sixtus Y. The 
French General soon found himself blockaded by the Neapoli¬ 

tan troops, who also blockaded Civita Yecchia and Ancona.1 
The treaty concluded between Murat and Austria was defi¬ 

nitively signed on the 11th of January, 1814.2 As soon as he 

1 The King put new blood into the public administration, not merely by 
the activity and firmness which he exerted but by his practical anxiety to 
give a proper direction to public affairs. The natural clemency of his char¬ 
acter, which even conciliated those who were least likely to be moved by it, 
facilitated the execution of his intentions. On the first visit that Joachim 
made to Paris after the events just recited Napoleon exclaimed, when he 
saw him enter the salon, “ Voila vn roi qui ne recule JamaisHad 
Joachim better known how to organize nis army and to maintain discipline 
between the French and the Neapolitan troops he would have succeeded in 
obtaining far better results. By nature generous, and by no means insensi¬ 
ble to flattery, Joachim was extremely averse to inflicting punishment, and 
was prone to recompense not merely those who merited it but to reward 
others whose conduct should have entitled them to very different treatment. 
This happened because he could never resist the supplications of the cour¬ 
tiers, still less the entreaties of the ladies about the Court, and, like all 
princes, he was extremely liberal to those whom he termed mes dtvouts, 
without reflecting that the less elevated a man is by nature the more devo¬ 
tion he affects to princes, and the more he flatters their power. The beauty 
of his person, the charm of his smile, the natural urbanity of his manner — 
to which, however, he was inclined to add more importance than was con¬ 
sistent with his proper dignity — and the richness of his dress, pleased the 
multitude and the army. The affability and gentleness of his manners, 
which were such as could not have been anticipated from a man of low 
birth, endeared him to the Court. In his youth, however, he had been 
placed at the College of Toulouse, and had availed himself to the utmost of 
the education bestowed upon him. I do not ever recollect having pre¬ 
sented myself before him on my return from executing any of his orders 
without his expressing his thanks to me in the most amiable manner. One 
day he was returning from the Campo di Morte, when a woman in tears, 
and holding a petition in her hand, came forward to present it to him. The 
King’s horse, frightened at the sight of the paper, began to kick and rear, 
and ended by throwing his Majesty some distance from the spot. After 
swearing roundly in the French fashion, Joachim took the paper and 
granted its petition, which was the life of the poor woman’s husband, who 
was to have been executed on the following day. 

People of all classes, and even officers in the army, were in the habit of 
presenting themselves to the King as he passed through the streets with a 
petition in one hand and an inkstand in the other. The good King Joachim 
granted those requests with too much facility, not considering that far from 
increasing his popularity by such conduct his too easy compliance was calcu¬ 
lated to awaken discontent and distrust of the efficiency of the laws 
{Memoir of General P€p€} vol. i. p. 263: Bentley, 1846). 

2 On the 11th of February, 1814, Austria by treaty guaranteed Naples to 
Murat, who was also to receive territory containing 400,000 souls from the 
Papal States. Murat on his part renounced his claims to Sicily, and furnished 
30,000 men against Napoleon (Martens, tome ix- p. 660). This was a strange 
step on the part of Austria, who soon began to yield to the requests of Louis 
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was informed of it the Viceroy, certain that he should soon 

have to engage with the Neapolitans, was obliged to renounce 
the preservation of the line of the Adige, the Neapolitan army 

being in the rear of his right wing. He accordingly ordered a 
retrograde movement to the other side of the Mincio, where 

his army was cantoned. In this position, Prince Eugene, on 
the 8th of February, had to engage with the Austrians, who 
had come up with him, and the victory of the Mincio arrested, 

for some time, the invasion of the Austrian army and its junc¬ 

tion with the Neapolitan troops. 
It was not until eight days after that Murat officially declared 

war against the Emperor; and immediately several general and 
superior officers, and many French troops who were in his ser¬ 

vice, abandoned him, and repaired to the headquarters of the 
Viceroy. Murat made endeavors to detain them ; they replied, 

that as he had declared war against France, no Frenchman who 
loved his country could remain in his service. “Do you 

think,” returned he, “that my heart is less French than 
yours ? On the contrary, I am much to be pitied. I hear 

of nothing but the disasters of the Grand Army. I have been 

obliged to enter into a treaty with the Austrians, and an 
arrangement with the English, commanded by Lord Bentinck, 
in order to save my kingdom from a threatened landing of the 

English and the Sicilians, which would infallibly have excited 

an insurrection.” 
There could not be a more ingenuous confession of the 

antipathy which Joachim knew the Neapolitans to entertain 
towards his person and government.1 His address to the 

French was ineffectual. It was easy to foresee what would 
ensue. The Viceroy soon received an official communica¬ 

tion from Napoleon’s War Minister, accompanied by an 

Imperial decree, recalling all the French who were in the 
service of Joachim, and declaring that all who were taken 

XVIII, that Murat should b© overthrown. Se© Talleyrand’s Correspondence, 
vol. ii. pp. 22, 36,46, 88, and 135, remembering always the old affection of 
Metfeemich for Caroline Bonaparte, wife of Murat. 

i This is not quite correct: the Neapolitans, as a mass, did not entertain 
an antipathy toward Murat. —• Editor of 1836 edition. 
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with arms in their hands should be tried by a court-martial as 

traitors to their country. Murat commenced by gaining ad¬ 
vantages which could not be disputed. His troops almost 
immediately took possession of Leghorn and the citadel of 
Ancona, and the French were obliged to evacuate Tuscany. 

The defection of Murat overthrew one of Bonaparte’s gigan¬ 

tic conceptions. He had planned that Murat and Eugene with 
their combined forces should march on the rear of the Allies, 
while he, disputing the soil of France with the invaders, should 
multiply obstacles to their advance; the King of Naples and 
the Viceroy of Italy were to march upon Vienna and make 
Austria tremble in the heart of her capital before the timid 
millions of her Allies, who measured their steps as they 

approached Paris, should desecrate by their presence the capi¬ 
tal of France. When informed of the vast project, which, 
however, was but the dream of a moment, I immediately 

recognized that eagle glance, that power of discovering 
great resources in great calamities, so peculiar to Bona¬ 

parte. 
Napoleon was yet Emperor of France; but he who had im¬ 

posed on all Europe treaties of peace no less disastrous than 
the wars which had preceded them, could not now obtain an 
armistice ; and Caulaincourt who was sent to treat for one at 

the camp of the Allies, spent twenty days at Luneville before 
he could even obtain permission to pass the advanced posts 
of the invading army. In vain did Caulaincourt entreat Napo¬ 

leon to sacrifice, or at least resign temporarily, a portion of 
that glory acquired in so many battles, and which nothing 

could efface in history. Napoleon replied, “I will sign what¬ 
ever you wish. To obtain peace I will exact no condition; 
but I will not dictate my own humiliation.” This concession, 
of course, amounted to a determination not to sign or to grant 

anything. 
In the first fortnight of January, 1814, one-third of France 

was invaded, and it was proposed to form a new Congress to 
be held at Chatillon-sur-Seine. The situation of Napoleon 
grew daily worse and worse. He was advised to seek extraor¬ 
dinary resources in the interior of the Empire, and was re- 
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minded of the fourteen armies which rose, as if by enchant¬ 
ment, to defend Trance at the commencement of the Revolu¬ 
tion. Finally, a reconciliation with the Jacobins, a party who 

had power to call up masses to aid him, was recommended. 
For a moment he was inclined to adopt this advice. He rode 
on horseback through the suburbs of St. Antoine and St. Mar- 

ceau, courted the populace, affectionately replied to their 
acclamations, and he thought he saw the possibility of turning 

to account the attachment which the people evinced for him. On 
his return to the Palace some prudent persons ventured to repre¬ 

sent to him that, instead of courting this absurd sort of popu¬ 
larity it would be more advisable to rely on the nobility and 

the higher classes of society. “ Gentlemen/' replied he, “ you 
may say what you please, but in the situation in which I stand 

my only nobility is the rabble of the faubourgs, and I know 
of no rabble but the nobility whom I have created." This 

was a strange compliment to all ranks, for it was only saying 

that they were all rabble together. 
At this time the Jacobins were disposed to exert every 

effort to serve him ; but they required to have their own way, 
and to be allowed freely to excite and foster revolutionary 

sentiments. The press, which groaned under the most odious 
and intolerable censorship, was to be wholly resigned to them. 

I do not state these facts from hearsay. I happened by chance 
to be present at two conferences in which were set forward 

projects infected with the odor of the clubs, and these projects 

were supported with the more assurance because their success 
was regarded as certain. Though I had not seen Napoleon 

since my departure for Hamburg, yet I was sufficiently assured 
of his feeling towards the Jacobins to be convinced that he 
would have nothing to do with them. I was not wrong. On 

hearing of the price they set on their services he said, “ This 
is too muchj I shall have a chance of deliverance in battle, 

but I shall have none with these furious blockheads. There 
can be nothing in common between the demagogic principles 
of '93 and the monarchy, between clubs of madmen and a reg¬ 
ular Ministry, between a Committee of Public Safety and an 
Emperor, between revolutionary tribunals and established laws. 
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If fall I must, I will not bequeath France to the Revolution 
from which I have delivered her.” 

These were golden words, and Napoleon thought of a more 
noble and truly national mode of parrying the danger which 
threatened him. He ordered the enrolment of the National 
Guard of Paris, which was placed under the command of 
Marshal Moncey. A better choice could not have been made, 

but the staff of the National Guard was a focus of hidden 
intrigues, in which the defence of Paris was less thought 

about than the means of taking advantage of Napoleon’s over¬ 
throw. I was made a captain in this Guard, and, like the 
rest of the officers, I was summoned to the Tuileries, on the 
23d of January, when the Emperor took leave of the National 

Guard previously to his departure from Paris to join the army. 
Napoleon entered with the Empress. He advanced with a 

dignified step, leading by the hand his son, who was not yet 

three years old. It was long since I had seen him. He had 
grown very corpulent, and I remarked on his pale counte¬ 
nance an expression of melancholy and irritability. The 
habitual movement of the muscles of his neck was more 
decided and more frequent than formerly. I shall not at¬ 
tempt to describe what were my feelings during this cere¬ 
mony, when I again saw, after a long separation, the friend 

of my youth, who had become master of Europe, and was now 
on the point of sinking beneath the efforts of his enemies. 

There was something melancholy in this solemn and impres¬ 
sive ceremony. I have rarely witnessed such profound silence 
in so numerous an assembly. At length Napoleon, in a voice 

as firm and sonorous as when he used to harangue his troops 
in Italy or in Egypt, but without that air of confidence which 
then beamed on his countenance, delivered to the assembled 
officers an address which was published in all the journals of 
the time. At the commencement of this address he said, “I 

set out this night to take the command of the army. On 

quitting the capital I confidently leave behind me my wife 

and my son, in whom so many hopes are centred.” I listened 
attentively to Napoleon’s address, and, though he delivered it 
firmly, he either felt or feigned emotion. Whether or not the 
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emotion was sincere on his part, it was shared by many pres¬ 

ent ; and for my own part I confess that my feelings were 
deeply moved when he uttered the words, “ I leave you my 

wife and my son.” At that moment my eyes were fixed on the 
young Prince, and the interest with which he inspired me was 
equally unconnected with the1 splendor which surrounded and 
the misfortunes which threatened him. I beheld in the inter¬ 
esting child not the King of Rome but the son of my old 

friend. All day long afterwards I could not help feeling de¬ 

pressed while comparing the farewell scene of the morning 
with the day on which we took possession of the Tuileries. 

How many centuries seemed the fourteen years which sepa¬ 

rated the two events ! 
It may be worth while to remind those who are curious in 

comparing dates that Napoleon, the successor of Louis XVI., 

and who had become the nephew of that monarch by his mar¬ 
riage with the niece of Marie Antoinette, took leave of the 

National Guard of Paris on the anniversary of the fatal 21st 

of January,1 after twenty-five years of successive terror, fear, 

hope, glory, and misfortune. 
Meanwhile, a Congress was opened at Chatillon-sur-Seine,2 

at which were assembled the Duke of Vicenza on the part of 
France, Lords Aberdeen and Cathcart and Sir Charles Stew¬ 
art 8 as the representatives of England, Count Razumowsky on 

the part of Russia, Count Stadion for Austria, and Count 

1 Bourrienne makes a mistake here. The King was executed on the 21st 
of January, 1793, and Napoleon, as indeed Bourrienne himself has just said, 
received the officers of the National Guard on the 23d of January, 1814, and 
set out on the 25th of January. See also Miot, tome iii. pp. 309 and 371. 
Napoleon, even at such a time, was not likely to allow such a coincidence to 
happen: see the care with which in 1800 he avoided going to an ordinary 
party on the anniversary of the 18th Brumaire (Junot, tome i. p. 420). 

2 It should be remembered that at the time of the Congress of Chatillon 
the Allies were already in communication with the Royalist agents from 
Paris; and while, with more or less good faith, they were offering peace to 
Napoleon, they were listening to the offers of the friends of the Bourbons. 
The proceedings of the Royalists may have been natural; they were cer¬ 
tainly unpatriotic, and the Allies were practically offered any terms if they 
upset the power of Napoleon. The Baron de Vitrolles (tome i. pp. 99 and 
101) tells us in his Memoirs how he impressed on Metternieh that the forces 
of Napoleon must be crushed if France were to pronounce for the Bourbons. 
In their eagerness as partisans they forgot that, the army once crushed, 
France lay at the feet of the Allies, who could then make their own terms. 

8 Afterwards the Marquis of Londonderry, who published an interesting 
account of the Congress. 
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Humboldt for Prussia, Before tin* opening of the Congress, 

the Duke of Yieeuza, in conformity with the Emperor's orders, 
demanded an armistice, which is almost invariably granted 

during negotiations for peats*; but it was now too late: the 

Allies had long since determined not to listen to any such 

demand. They therefore answered tin* Duke of Vicenza's 

applies*ion by requiring that the propositions for peace should 

he immediately signed. Hut these were not tin* propositions 

of Frankfort. The Allies established as their basis the limits 

of the old French monarchy. They eoneeived themselves au¬ 
thorized in so doing by their success and hy their situation. 

To estimate rightly Napoleon's eonduct during tin*, negotia¬ 

tions for peace which took place in the conferences at (Jhfttil- 

lon it is necessary to bear in mind tin* organization he had 

received from nature and the ideas with which that organiza¬ 

tion had imbued him at an early period of life. If the last 

negotiations of his expiring reign be examined with due atten¬ 

tion and impartiality it will appear evident that the eauses of 
his fall arose out of his character. I cannot range myself 

among those adulators who have accused the persons about 

him w till having dissuaded him from peace. Did he not say 

at St. Helena, in speaking of the negotiations at DluUillon, 
UA flutmlerlHili alone could have saved ns; to treat, to con¬ 

clude, was to yield foolishly to the enemy." These words 

foretbh portray Napoleon's (diameter. It must also be borne 

in mind how iinieli In* was captivated by the immortality of 

tie* great names whieh history has becjueatlied to our ad mint* 

lion, and whieh are perpetuated from generation to generation. 

Napoleon was resolved that his name should re-echo in ages 

to come, from the palace to the eoitage. To live without fame 

appeared to him an anticipated death. If, however, in this 

till rid for glory, not for notoriety, he conceived the wish to 

surpass Alexander and ihmut, he never desired the renown of 

Krost rains, mid 1 will say again what I have said before* that 
if he eommifted actions to be condemned, it was because ho 

considered them im steps which helped him to place himself 

cm the summit of immortality on whieh lie wished to place his 

name. Witiicftn wtnit he wrote to his brother u Ikit- 
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ter never to have lived than to live without glory: ” witness 
also what he wrote later to his brother Louis, “ It is better to 

die as a King than to live as a Prince ” How often in the days 
of my intimacy with Bonaparte has he not said to me, “ Who 
knows the names of those kings who have passed from the 
thrones on which chance or birth seated them ? They lived 
and died unnoticed. The learned, perhaps, may find them 

mentioned in old archives, and a medal or a coin dug from the 
earth may reveal to antiquarians the existence of a sovereign 

of whom they had never before heard. But, on the contrary, 
when we hear the names of Cyrus, Alexander, Caesar, Ma¬ 

homet, Charlemagne, t Henry IV., and Louis XIY., we are 

immediately among our intimate acquaintance.” I must add, 
that when Napoleon thus spoke to me in the gardens of Mal- 
maison he only repeated what had often fallen from him in 

his youth, for his character and his ideas never varied; the 

change was in the objects to which they were applied. 

From his boyhood Napoleon was fond of reading the history 

of the great men of antiquity; and what be chiefly sought to 
discover was the means by which those men had become great. 
He remarked that military glory secures more extended fame 
than the arts of peace and the noble efforts which contribute 
to the happiness of mankind. History informs us that great 
military talent and victory often give the power, which, in its 

turn, procures the means of gratifying ambition. Napoleon 
was always persuaded that that power was essential to him, in 

order to bend men to his will, and to stifle all discussions on 
his conduct. It was his established principle never to sign a 
disadvantageous peace. To him a tarnished crown was no 

longer a crown. He said one day to M. de Caulaincourt, who 
was pressing him to consent to sacrifices, “ Courage may defend 
a crown, but infamy never.” In all the last acts of Napoleon’s 
career I can retrace the impress of his character, as I had 

often recognized in the great actions of the Emperor the 

execution of a thought conceived by the General-in-chief of 

the Army of Italy. 

On the opening of the Congress the Duke of Vicenza, con¬ 
vinced that he could no longer count on the natural limits of 
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France promised at Frankfort by the Allies, demanded new 
powers. Those limits were doubtless the result of reasonable 
concessions, and they had been granted even after the battle 

of Leipsic; but it was now necessary that Napoleon’s Minis¬ 
ter should show himself ready to make further concessions if 

he wished to be allowed to negotiate. The Congress was 
opened on the 5th of February, and on the 7th the Plenipo¬ 

tentiaries of the Allied powers declared themselves categori¬ 
cally. They inserted in the protocol that after the successes 

which had favored their armies they insisted on France 
being restored to her old limits, such as they were during the 
monarchy before the Revolution; and that she should renounce 

all direct influence beyond her future limits. 

This proposition appeared so extraordinary to M. de Cau- 

laincourt that he requested the sitting might be suspended, 
since the conditions departed too far from his instructions to 

enable him to give an immediate answer. The Plenipoten¬ 

tiaries of the Allied powers acceded to his request, and the 
continuation of the sitting was postponed till eight in the 
evening. When it was resumed the Duke of Vicenza renewed 
his promise to make the greatest sacrifices for the attainment 

of peace. He added that the amount of the sacrifices necessa¬ 
rily depended on the amount of the compensations, and that 
he could not determine on any concession or compensation 
without being made acquainted with the whole. He wished 

to have a general plan of the views of the Allies, and he 
requested that their Plenipotentiaries would explain them¬ 
selves decidedly respecting the number and description of the 
sacrifices and compensations to be demanded. It must be 

acknowledged that the Duke of Vicenza perfectly fulfilled 
the views of the Emperor in thus protracting and gaining 
time by subtle subterfuges, for all that he suggested had 

already been done. 
On the day after this sitting some advantages gained by 

the Allies, who took Chatillon-sur-Marne and Troyes, induced 
Napoleon to direct Caulaincourt to declare to the Congress 
that if an armistice were immediately agreed on he was ready 
to consent to France being restored to her old limits. By 
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securing this armistice Napoleon hoped that happy chances 
might arise, and that intrigues might be set on foot ; but the 
Allies would not listen to any such proposition. 

At the sitting of the 10th of March the Duke of Vicenza 

inserted in the protocol that the last courier he had received 
had been arrested and detained a considerable time by several 
Russian general officers, who had obliged him to deliver up 

his despatches, which had not been returned to him till 
thirty-six hours after at Chaumont. Caulaincourt justly 

complained of this infraction of the law of nations and 
established usage, which, he said, was the sole cause of the 
delay in bringing the negotiations to a conclusion. After 

this complaint he communicated to the Congress the osten¬ 
sible instructions of Napoleon, in which he authorized his 

Minister to accede to the demands of the Allies. But in 
making this communication M. de Caulaincourt took care not 

to explain the private and secret instructions he had also 

received. The Allies rejected the armistice because it would 

have checked their victorious advance; but they consented to 

sign the definitive peace, which of all things was what the 
Emperor did not wish. 

Napoleon at length determined to make sacrifices, and the 
Duke of Vicenza submitted new propositions to the Congress. 
The Allies replied, in the same sitting, that these propositions 
contained no distinct and explicit declaration on the project 

presented by them on the 17th of February; that, having on 

the 28th of the same month demanded a decisive answer 
within the term of ten days, they were about to break up 
the negotiations. Caulaincourt then declared verbally : — 

1st. That the Emperor Napoleon was ready to renounce all pretension 
or influence whatever in countries beyond the boundaries of France. 

2d. To recognize the independence of Spain, Italy, Switzerland, Ger¬ 
many, and Holland, and that as to England, France would make such 
concessions as might be deemed necessary in consideration of a reason¬ 
able equivalent. 

Upon this the sitting was immediately broken up without 
a reply. It must be remarked that this singular declaration 
was verbal, and consequently not binding, and that the limits 
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of France were mentioned without being specified. It cannot 
be doubted that Napoleon meant the limits conceded at 

Frankfort, to which be was well convinced the Allies would 
not consent, for circumstances were now changed. Besides, 

what could be meant by the reasonable equivalent from Eng¬ 
land ? Is it astonishing that this obscurity and vagueness 

should have banished all confidence on the part of the Pleni¬ 

potentiaries of the Allied powers ? Three days after the 
sitting of the 10th of March they declared they could not 

even enter into a discussion of the verbal protocol of the 

French Minister. They requested that M. de Caulaincourt 

would declare whether he would accept or reject the project 

of a treaty presented by the Allied Sovereigns,1 or offer a 

counter-project. 
The Duke of Vicenza, who was still prohibited, by secret 

instructions from coming to any conclusion on the proposed 

basis, inserted in the protocol of the sitting of the 13th of 
March a very ambiguous note. The Plenipotentiaries of the 

Allies, in their reply, insisted upon receiving another declara¬ 
tion from the French Plenipotentiary, which should contain 

an acceptance or refusal of their project of a treaty presented 
in the conference of the 7th of February, or a counter-project. 
After much discussion Caulaincourt agreed to draw up a 

counter-project, which he presented on the 15th, under the 

following title: “Project of a definitive Treaty between 
France and the Allies.” In this extraordinary project, pre¬ 
sented after so much delay, M. Caulaincourt, to the great 

astonishment of the Allies, departed in no respect from the 
declarations of the 10th of March. He replied again to the 
ultimatum of the Allies, or what he wished to regard as such, 
by defending a multitude of petty interests, which were of no 
importance in so great a contest; but in general the condi¬ 
tions seemed rather those of a conqueror dictating to his 

enemies than of a man overwhelmed by misfortune. As may 
readily be imagined, they were, for the most part, received 

with derision by the Allies. 

1 The conditions of this treaty were the boundaries of France before the 
[Revolution. — Bourrienne. 
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Everything tends to prove that the French Plenipotentiary 

had received no positive instructions from the 5th of Febru¬ 

ary, and that, after all the delay which Napoleon constantly 

created, Caulaincourt never had it in his power to answer, 

categorically, the propositions of the Allies. Napoleon never 

intended to make peace at Chatillon on the terms proposed. 
He always hoped that some fortunate event would enable him 

to obtain more favorable conditions. 
On the 18th of March, that is to say, three days after the 

presentation of this project of a treaty, the Plenipotentiaries 

of the Allies recorded in the protocol their reasons for reject¬ 

ing the extraordinary project of the French Minister. For 

my part, I was convinced, for the reasons I have mentioned, 

that the Emperor would never agree to sign the conditions 

proposed in the ultimatum of the Allies, dated the 13th of 

March, and I remember having expressed that opinion to M. 

de Talleyrand. I saw him on the 14th, and found him en¬ 

gaged in perusing some intelligence he had just received from 

the Duke of Vicenza, announcing, as beyond all doubt, the 

early signature of peace. Caulaincourt had received orders 
to come to a conclusion. Napoleon, he said, had given him a 

carte blanche to save the capital, and avoid a battle, by which 
the last resources of the nation would be endangered. This 

seemed pretty positive, to be sure; but even this assurance 
did not, for a moment, alter my opinion. The better to con¬ 

vince me, M. de Talleyrand gave me Caulaincourt’s letter to 

read. After reading it I confidently said, “ He will never sign 

the conditions.” M. de Talleyrand could not help thinking 

me very obstinate in my opinion, for he judged of what the 
Emperor would do by his situation, while I judged by his 

character. I told M. de Talleyrand that Caulaincourt might 
have received written orders to sign, for the sake of showing 

them to the Plenipotentiaries of the Allies, but that I had no 

doubt he had been instructed to postpone coming to a conclu¬ 
sion, and to wait for final orders. I added, that I saw no 

reason to change my opinion, and that I continued to regard 

the breaking up of the Congress as nearer than appearances 

seemed to indicate. Accordingly, three days afterwards, the 
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Allien grew tired of the delay and the conferences were 

broken up. Thus Napoleon sacrificed everything rather than 

his glory. He fell from a great height, but he never, by his 

signature, eonseuted to any dismemberment of France. 

The Plenipotentiaries of the Allies, convinced that these 
renewed difficulties and demands had no other object but to 

gain time, stated that the Allied powers, faithful to their 

principles, and in eon fortuity with their previous declarations, 

regarded the negotiations at Chatillon as terminated by the 

French Government. This rupture of the conferences took 

place on the tilth of March, six days after the presentation of 

the ultimatum of the Allied powers.1 The issue of these long 

discussions was thus left to he decided by the chances of war, 

which were not very favorable to the. man who boldly con¬ 
tended against armed Europe. The successes of tin* Allies 

during the conferences at ChaUlltm had opened to their view 

the road to Paris,2 while Napoleon shrunk from the necessity 

of signing his own disgrace. In these circumstances was to lx* 

found the sole cause of his ruin, and he might have said, 

u T<mt mt prrdw, Jhr# in t/toirnN His glory is immortal. 

1 The mini vial ity nut! Imrmonv that reigned Imtween the Ministers made 
the muddy am! Intommrue at Chitilkm moat agreeable. The diplomatists 
dined ultimately w ith each other; M. de (-aulameourt liberally pawing for 
all the MinMern, through the French advanced pouts, convoys or all the good 
cheer in epicurean wines, etc., that Paris could afford; nor was female 
wailety wanting to complete the charm and banish rnnui from the OhfUiikm 
<%«wgre»N# which 1 am mire will he long recollected with nenmitionK of 
pleasure by all the Plenipotentiaries there engaged (Mtmolm e/ Lord Bur* 
fpa*r$k 1, 

*l The Etit|>eror Alexander (of Rumla) upon the fllightest reverse given 
orders to treat upon any terms, at th© ttrat alga of uucoetMi he will listen to 
nothing {hr VUmUmt tom© I. j>. S*i). 
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1814. 

Curious conversation between General Reynier and the Emperor Alexander 
— Napoleon repulses the Prussians—The Russians at Fontainebleau — 
Battle of Brienne — Sketch of the campaign of Franco — Supper after the 
battle of Champ Aubert—Intelligence of the arrival of the Due 
d’Angouleme and the Comte d’Artois in France — The battle of the 
ravens and the eagle—Battle of Craonne — Departure of the Pope and 
the Spanish Princes — Capture of a convoy — Macdonald at the Emperor’s 
headquarters — The inverted cipher — Annex. 

I was always persuaded, and everything I have since seen has 
confirmed my opinion, that the Allies entering France had no 

design of restoring the House of Bourbon, or of imposing any 

Government whatever on the French people.1 They came to 

destroy and not to found. That which they wished to destroy 
from the commencement of their success was Napoleon’s 

supremacy, in order to prevent the future invasions with 
which they believed Europe would still be constantly 

threatened. If, indeed, I had entertained any doubt on this 
subject it would have been banished by the account I heard of 

1 This statement is in complete agreement with the Memoirs of the Huron 
de Vitrolles (Paris, Charpentier, 1884), in which we read of the first com¬ 
munications of the Royalists in Paris with the Allies. Vitrolles saw Station, 
the Austrian Plenipotentiary at Ch&tillon, apparently on the 10th March, 
1814, and was told by him that if Napoleon acceded to conditions which gave 
the Allies sufficient guaranties, they only fought to obtain peace, and would 
seize it with eagerness. Metternich, a few days later, met him in the same 
way, remarking on the silence of France. “ We have traversed Franco, we 
have lived in it for more than two months, and nothing like this has been 
shown to us. ... We have found in the population with which wo have 
mixed nothing of what you announce, neither need of repose, remembrance 
of former days, nor even any general expression of discontent with the Em¬ 
peror.” Though the Comte d’Artois was close to the Allies’ headquarters 
they appeared not to know or to care anything about him or the other 
Princes. There is, however, some inconsistency between Vitrolles’s descrip¬ 
tion and Metternich’s own account of his conversation with Alexander, ap¬ 
parently in January, 1814. “ Napoleon’s power is broken and will not rise 
again. . . . When the overthrow of the Empire comes there will be only the 
Bourbons to take possession again of their undying rights ” (Metternich, vol. 
i. p. 228). Either Metternich dissembled very much with Vitrolles, or the 
silence of the occupied provinces had changed his ideas; see De Vitrolles, 

336 
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General Eeynier’s conversation with, the Emperor Alexander. 

That General, who was made prisoner at Leipsic, was ex¬ 

changed, and returned to France. In the beginning of Feb¬ 
ruary, 1814, he passed through Troyes, where the Emperor 
Alexander then was. Eeynier expressed a desire to be allowed 
to pay his respects to the Emperor, and to thank him for hav¬ 

ing restored him to liberty. He was received with that affa¬ 

bility of manner which was sometimes affected by the Eussian 
monarch. 

On his arrival at Paris General Eeynier called at the Due 
M Eovigo’s, where I had dined that day, and where he still 

was when I arrived. He related in my hearing the conversa¬ 

tion to which I have alluded, and stated that it had all the 
appearance of sincerity on the Emperor’s part. Having asked 
Alexander whether he had any instructions for Napoleon, as 
the latter, on learning that he had seen his Majesty would not 

fail to ask him many questions, he replied that he had noth¬ 
ing particular to communicate to him. Alexander added that 

he was Napoleon’s friend, but that he had, personally, much 
reason to complain of his conduct; that the Allies would have 
nothing more to do with him; that they had no intention of 
forcing any Sovereign upon France; but that they would no 
longer acknowledge Napoleon as Emperor of the French. 

“For my part,” said Alexander, “I can no longer place any 
confidence in him. He has deceived me too often.” In reply 
to this Eeynier made some remarks dictated by his attachment 
and fidelity to Bonaparte. He observed that Napoleon was 
acknowledged as Sovereign of France by every treaty. “ But,” 

added Eeynier, “ if you should persist in forcing him to re¬ 
sign the supreme power, whom will you put in his place ? ” — 

“ Did you not choose him; why thep can you not choose some 

tome i. pp. 76-112, and especially p. 312, where, when the Allies were iti 
Paris, Dalberg tells him of the hesitation of Alexander and of the King of 
Prussia. 

Writing long afterwards Metternich (vol. i. p. 244) says, “ The form of 
government which Napoleon had introduced was agreeable to all France, 
hut it was weary of wars, of which it could see no end.. The return of the 
Bourbons Was not longed for in the sense which the Royalists attributed to 
this feeling, and the Royalist party itself had much diminished during the 
course of five and twenty years. It was longed for by the friends of public 
order and political peace — that is, by the great majority of the nation.” 
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one else to govern you ? I repeat that we do not intend to 
force any one upon you: but we will have no more to do with 

Napoleon.” 
Several Generals were then named ; and after Reynier had 

explained the great difficulties which would oppose any such 
choice, Alexander interrupted him saying, “ But, General, 

there is Bernadotte.1 Has he not been voluntarily chosen 

Prince Royal of Sweden; may he not also be raised to the 

same rank in France ? He is your countryman; surely then 

you may choose him, since the Swedes took him, though a 
foreigner.” General Reynier, who was a man of firm charac¬ 

ter, started some objections, which I thought at the time well 

founded; and Alexander put an end to the conversation by 

saying, rather in a tone of dissatisfaction, “Well, General, the 

fate of arms will decide.” 
The campaign of France forced Napoleon to adopts kind of 

operations quite new to him. He had been accustomed to 

attack ; but he was now obliged to stand on his defence, so 

that, instead of having to execute a previously conceived plan, 

as when, in the Cabinet of the Tuileries, he traced out to me 

the field of Marengo, he had now to determine his movements 

according to those of his numerous enemies. When the 
Emperor arrived at Ch&lons-sur-Marne the Prussian army was 

advancing by the road of Lorraine. He drove it back beyond 
St. Dizier. Meanwhile the Grand Austro-Russian army passed 

the Seine and the Yonne at Montereau, and even sent forward 

a corps which advanced as far as Fontainebleau. Napoleon 

then made a movement to the right in order to drive back the 

troops which threatened to march on Paris, and by a curious 

1 Alexander said to the Baron de Vitrolles, on the 17th of March, 1814, at 
Troyes, “We have already carefully sought for what would suit France if 
Napoleon disappeared. Some time ago we thought of Bernadotte; his influ¬ 
ence over the army, the favor in which lie must be with the friends of the 
Revolution, had at one time fixed our views on him, but afterwards several 
motives have made us put him aside ” (Vitrolles, tome i. p. 119). Alexander 
did not state the reasons against Bernadotte. The speech must have been 
striking to Vitrolles (who had come to plead the cause of the Bourbons), 
who had when a boy been taught fencing by Bernadotte, then a sergeant of 
the regiment “ Royal Marine.” It is due to Bernadotte that he when Mar¬ 
shal and Prince never forgot the kind way he had been received when ser¬ 
geant by the family of Vitrolles, and it was to him that Vitrolles owed his 
removal from the list of em*grants.(P&rotf0Sys Introduction, p. xiii.). 
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chance he came up with the troops in the very jflace where he 
passed the boyish years in which he cherished what then 

seemed wild and fabulous dreams of his future fate. What 

thoughts and recollections must have crowded on his mind 
when he found himself an Emperor and a King, at the head 

of a yet powerful army, in the chateau of the Comte de 

Brienne, to whom he had so often paid his homage ! It was 
at Brienne that he had said to me, thirty-four years before, “ I 

will do these Frenchmen all the harm I can.” Since then he 
had certainly changed his mind; but it might be said that 

fate persisted in forcing the man to realize the design of the 

boy in spite of himself. USTo sooner had Napoleon revisited 
Brienne as a conqueror than he was repulsed and hurried to 
his fall, which became every moment more certain.1 

I shall not enter into any details of the campaign of 
France, because the description of battles forms no part of 

my plan. Still, I think it indispensable briefly to describe 
Napoleon’s miraculous activity from the time of his leaving 

Paris to the entrance of the Allies into the capital. Few 

successful campaigns have enabled our Generals and the 
French army to reap so much glory as they gained during 

this great reverse of fortune. For it is possible to triumph 
without honor, and to fall with glory. The chances of the 

war were not doubtful, but certainly the numerous hosts of 
the Allies could never have anticipated so long and brilliant a 

resistance. The theatre of the military operations soon 

approached so near to Paris that the general eagerness for 
news from the army was speedily satisfied, and when any 

advantage was gained by the Emperor his partisans saw the 
enemy already repulsed from the French territory. I was 
not for a moment deceived by these illusions, as I well knew 

the determination and the resources of the Allied sovereigns. 
Besides, events were so rapid and various in this war of 
extermination that the guns of the Invalides announcing a 
victory were sometimes immediately followed by the distant 

1 An engagement took place at Brienne, and Napoleon, with 15,000 men, 
kept 80,000 Bussians in check for twelve hours. — J&ourrienne. 
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rolling of artillery, denoting tin* eneniGs near appn<aeh to the 

capital. 
The Emperor left Paris on the 'doth of January, at which 

time the Emperors of Russia and Austria and the Kin.a of 

Prussia were assembled at Langres. Napoleon r*‘joined his 

Guard at Vitry-le-Fram;ais. On tin* .seeond da\ atfrr his 

departure he drove before him the4 Prussian army, which he 

had forced to evacuate St. Dizier. Two days after this the 

battle of Brienne was fought, and on the 1st of February 

between 70,000 and 80,000 French and A11 it**I troops stood 

face to face. On this occasion the eommamiers on both sides 

were exposed to personal (hunger, for Napoleon had a horse 

killed under him, and a Cossack fell dead by the side of Mar« 

shal Blueher. 
A few days after this baffle Napoleon entered Troyes, 

where he staid hut a short time, and f h»*n advanced to 

(‘ham pan herb. At the hitter place was fought the battle 

which hears its name. Tin* Russians were defeated, <tenoral 
AlsufiefT was made prisoner, and IflMMt men and *111 guns Irll 

into the hands of the French, Alter this battle tie* Emperor 

was under such a delusion as to his situation that while sup. 

ping with Berthier, Manumit. and Ids prisoner. General 

AlsufiefT, the Em}>eror said, “ Another stteh v let on as f his, 

gentlemen, and l shall he on tie* Vistula,” Finding that no 

one replied, and reading in the eounienauee.H of his Man feds 

that they did not share his hopes, 141 net* how it is,” In* added, 
a every one is growing tired of war; there h no more efitlm 

siasrn. The sacred lire is extinct/* Then rising from the 

table, and stepping up to General Grom it, with tin* marked 
intention of paying him a compliment which should at the 

sane* time convey a censure on the Marshal*, "Genera!,*’ 

said he, patting him on the shoulder, •* we only want u hum 
dred men like you, and we should succeed/* llnunil replied, 

with great presence of mind and modesty, Bather «uy u 

hundred thousand, Hire/* This anecdote mm riduleil t<i me 

by the two principal persons who were present mi the 
occasion. 

Napoleon soon liegan to have other «ttbjt?t?l« of 
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besides the fait* of la!ties. He wan aware that since the 

beginning of February the I hie d’Angouleme had arrived at 

St, Joan do Luz, who nee ho had addressed a proclamation to 

the French armies in the name of his uncle, Louis XVIII.; 

and In* speedily heard of tin* Comte d1 Artois’s arrival at 

Vesoul, <»n tin* 21 si of February, which place he did not 
leave until the Ifith of March following. 

Meanwhile hostilities were maintained with increased vigor 

over a, vast lint* of operations. How much useless glory did 
not our soldiers gain in these cotdiiets! In spite of prodigies 

of valor the enemy's masses advaneed, and gradually coneen- 

trated, so that this war might be compared to the battles of 
the ravens ami the eagle in the Alps. The eagle slays hun¬ 

dreds of his assailants — every blow of his beak is the death 

of an enemy* but still the vultures return to the charge, and 

press upon the eagle until they destroy him. 

As the month of February drew to its cl obi* the Allies were 

in retreat on several points, but their retreat was not a rout. 

After experiencing reverses they fell hack without disorder, 

and retired behind the Aube, where they rallied and obtained 

numerous re-enforeemenfs, which daily arrived, and which soon 
enabled them to resume the offensive. 

Still Napoleon continued astonishing Europe, leagued as it 

was against him. At Gramme, on the*- 7th of March, in* de¬ 
stroyed Blueher’s corps, in a severe action, but the victory 

was attended by great loss to the conqueror.1 Marshal 

Victor was seriously wounded, as wadi as Generals Grouchy 

and La EemAre. 
While Napoleon was resisting the numerous enemies as¬ 

sembled to destroy him it might said that he was also his 

own enemy, either from false calculation or from negligence 

with respect, to his illustrious prisoners, wdm, on his departure 

1 Illttefier, of rnmmK wiih not dent roy oil, though he suffered from the di«- 
j«*r*§a| of hh form**. ioiuttil (tome IM) sum# W|» the day thus; - 41 The 
victory was ours fN&}H»to<*u‘&h hut the tosses we suffered made It fatal to us. 
Ittith khtes had more than S000 mm horn d* mmhut; this wiw little for the 
Allies, hut wm ft$tifi!t for its/' In fact, the Allies were then playing the 
sama costly but. wire game m wm adopted by tleneml Ornnt against I#oe in 
Virginia. Tn th« contimml flthitug the uttmllor foree, however relatively 
smaller lt« hm, still was the greatest sufferer. 
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from Paris, had not yet been sent to their States. The Pope 
was then at Fontainebleau, and the Princes of Spain at 
Yalen^ay. The Pope, however, was the first to be allowed to 

depart. Surely Bonaparte could never have thought of the 
service which the Pope might have rendered him at Rome, 
into which Murat’s troops would never have dared to march 
had his Holiness been present there. With regard to the 

Spanish Princes Napoleon must have been greatly blinded by 
confidence in his fortune to have so long believed it possible 
to retain in France those useless trophies of defeated preten¬ 

sions. It was, besides, so easy to get rid of the exiles of 
ValeiiQay by sending them back to the place from whence 
they had been brought! It was so natural to recall with all 

speed the troops from the south when our armies in Germany 
began to be repulsed on the Rhine and even driven into 
France !1 With the aid of these veteran troops Napoleon and 

his genius might have again turned the scale of fortune. But 
Napoleon reckoned on the nation, and he was wrong, for the 

nation was tired of him. His cause had ceased to be the 

cause of France. 
The latter days of March were filled up by a series of 

calamities to Napoleon. On the 23d the tear-guard of the 
French army suffered considerable loss. To hear of attacks on 

his rear-guard must indeed have been mortifying to Napoleon, 
whose advanced guards had been so long accustomed to open 

the path of victory! Prince Schwartzenberg soon passed the 
Aube and marched upon Vitry and CMloiis. Napoleon, count¬ 
ing on the possibility of defending Paris, threw himself, with the 

velocity of the eagle, on Schwartzenberg’s rear by passing by 
Doulevant and Bar-sur-Aube. He pushed forward his ad¬ 

vanced guards to Chaumont, and there saw the Austrian army 
make a movement which he took to be a retreat; but it was 

1 Though Napoleon undoubtedly suffered much from the loss of men left 
in the garrisons in Germany, etc., it must not he assumed that these were all 
veterans', though probably Dantzic and the Polish fortresses were largely oc¬ 
cupied by men levied before the 1812 campaign; see, however, De Gonne- 
ville’s description of his cuirassiers, who soon formed part of the garrison of 
Hamburg. The men had not any notion of the way to set about saddling 
their horses, and when mounted the whole regiment was unhorsed or dis¬ 
persed through the fright of the horses when the men attempted to draw 
swords to return the compliment of a guard (Gomeville, vol. ii. pp. 99-101). 
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no such thing. The movement was directed on Paris, while 
Blucher, who had re-occupied Chalons-sur-Marne, marched to 

meet Prince Schwartzenberg, and Napoleon, thinking to cut 

off their retreat, was himself cut off from the possibility of 

returning to Paris. Everything then depended on the defence 
of Paris, or, to speak more correctly, it seemed possible, by 
sacrificing the capital, to prolong for a few days the existence 
of the phantom of the Empire which was rapidly vanishing. 

On the 26th was fought the battle of Fere Champenoise, 
where, valor yielding to numbers, Marshals Marmont and 

Mortier were obliged to retire upon Sezanne after sustaining 
considerable loss. 

It was on the 26th of March, and I beg the reader to bear 
this date in mind, that Napoleon suffered a loss which, in the 

circumstances in which he stood, was irreparable.1 At the 

battle of Fere Champenoise the Allies captured a convoy 
consisting of nearly all the remaining ammunition and stores 

of the army, a vast quantity of arms, caissons, and equipage 
of all kinds. The whole became the prey of the Allies, who 
published a bulletin announcing this important capture. A 
copy of this order of the day fell into the hands of Marshal 
Macdonald, who thought that such news ought immediately 
to be communicated to the Emperor. He therefore repaired 
himself to the headquarters of Napoleon, who was then pre¬ 

paring to recover Vitry-le-FranQais, which was occupied by 
the Prussians. The Marshal, with a view of dissuading the 

Emperor from what he considered a vain attempt, presented 
him with the bulletin. 

This was on the morning of the 27th : Napoleon would not 
believe the news. “No !” said he to the Marshal, “you are 
deceived, this cannot be true.” Then perusing the bulletin 

with more attention. “Here,” said he, “look yourself. This 
is the 27th, and the bulletin is dated the 29th. You see the 

1 The battle of La Fere Champenoise was fought on the 25th not the 26th 
March (see Thiers, tome xvii. p. 562), and was remarkable for two things. 
The artillery of the Allies fired on one another for some little time, ana a 
column of French National Guards, 5000 odd strong, who had only joined 
the army ten days before, made a desperate and honorable resistance to the 
enormously superior forces brought against them; see Muffling, Passages 
from my Life, pp. 502, 503, and Jomini, tome iv. pp. 581, 582. 
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thing is impossible. The bulletin is forged ! ” The Marshal, 
who had paid more attention to the news than to its date, was 
astounded. But having afterwards shown the bulletin to 
Drouot, that General said, “ Alas ! Marshal, the news is but 
too true. The error of the date is merely a misprint, the 9 is 

a 6 inverted ! ” On what trifles sometimes depend the most 
important events. An inverted cipher sufficed to flatter Bona¬ 
parte’s illusion, or at least the illusions which he wished to 
maintain among his most distinguished lieutenants, and to 

delay the moment when they should discover that the loss 
they deplored was too certain. On that very day the Empress 

left Paris. 

[ANNEX TO THE PRECEDING CHAPTER.] 

It is even more than usually difficult to fix the number of 

troops brought into the field in the campaign of 1814 as both 

sides received re-enforcements, and as a large part of the 
forces originally under Soult and Suchet were brought north¬ 

wards. The following figures seem to agree with, those given 
by the best authorities as the strength at the beginning of the 
year. The Army of Bohemia, or the Grand Army of the 

Allies, under Schwartzenberg, was about 116,000 strong, and 
the Army of Silesia, composed of Russian and Prussian corps, 

under Blucher, about 88,000 strong, were opposed by Napoleon 
with some 8700 men. Napoleon was re-enforced from time to 
time, but Schwartzenberg had a reserve of 6000 at Bale (Ham- 

ley, Operations of War, p. 278). Soult, with about 40,000 
men, faced Wellington, with 100,000, of whom some 28,000 

were employed at Bayonne. In Belgium Maison, with 12,000 
men, faced the Duke of Saxe-Weimar with 2500, and in Italy 
Eugene, with 36,000, opposed an Austrian army of 70,000, 
eventually joined by Murat. The French troops which held 

the various fortresses in Germany were blockaded by superior 

numbers of the Allies. In the interior of France large levies 
were being made, and Augereau was sent to Lyons to com¬ 

mand a force of young troops, increased by drafts from 
Suchet, to meet the Austrians under Bubna. 

In this defensive campaign of 1814 the genius of Bonaparte 
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displayed itself with wonderful brilliancy. According to the 
Marquis of Londonderry: — 

“ Napoleon, after the battles of Brienne and La Rothi&re, displayed, 
by his masterly movements with an inferior against two superior armies, 
and by braving his accumulated difficulties, that undoubted science in 
war which his bitterest enemies must accord to his genius. In propor¬ 
tion as his embarrassments increased he seemed to rise superior as an 
individual. During his adverse fortune on the Elbe he appeared fluctu¬ 
ating and irresolute, and his lengthened stay in tmtenable and disadvan¬ 
tageous positions was the cause of his fatal overthrow at Leipsic and of 
subsequent misfortunes. But now he appeared once more to have burst 
forth with all his talent and all his energies and mental resources.” 1 

At the battle of La Rothiere Napoleon exhibited great per¬ 
sonal courage, and Lord Londonderry remarks: — 

“Bonaparte was seen to encourage his troops and expose his person 
fearlessly during the combat, and Marshal Blucher’s movement of his 
cavalry, which he himself led on, was spoken of in the highest terms. 
Napoleon, who at this period scarcely acted in any instance on common 
military calculation, drew up his army on the 1st of February in two 
lines on the great plain before La Rothifere, occupying the villages, and 
neglecting much stronger ground in his rear about Brienne, evidently 
showing that he meant to play a desperate game. He lead on lajeune 
garde in person against Marshal Bluclier’s army, to wrest the village of 
La Rothibre from the gallant corps of Saclccn; hut three repeated efforts 
were ineffectual. All agreed that the enemy fought with great intrepidity. 
Bonaparte seemed to have set his political existence on a die, as he ex¬ 
posed himself everywhere: his horse was shot under him, and he had the 
mortification of witnessing the capture of a battery in charge of lajeune 
garde. Had Marshal Blucher not previously immortalized himself this 
day would have crowned him in the annals of fame, for whatever were 
the well-grounded apprehensions entertained by many for the result of 
the Prince of Wiirtemberg’s attack on the right, the Marshal dauntlessly 
effected those combinations upon which the result of the day depended. 
The Russian artillery were spoken of in the highest terms: the ground 
was covered with snow, and so deep that they were obliged to leave one- 
lialf of their guns in the rear. Yet by harnessing double teams to the 
other half they contrived to bring those forward and get a sufficient num¬ 
ber into action. The Allies brought about 70,000 or 80,000 men into this 
battle; the other corps of the army were not yet in line: the French 
were supposed to have about the same strength. The enemy’s last attack 
on. the village of La Rothi&re was at two o’clock on the morning of the 
2d, immediately after which they commenced their retreat. Passing the 
Aube river, they took up a very strong rear-guard position in the neigh¬ 
borhood of Lesmont.” 

1 See Narrative of the War in Germany and France in 1813 and 1814. 
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still remembered that there was once a country, a France, 
before they had helped to give it a master. To this class 
of men France was not confined to the narrow circle of the 
Imperial headquarters, but extended to the Rhine, the Alps, 
the Pyrenees, and the two oceans. 

On the other hand, numbers of ardent and adventurous 
young men, full of enthusiasm for Ponaparte, had passed 
from the school to the camp. They were entirely opposed to 
Napoleon's downfall, because with his power would vanish 
those dreams of glory and fortune which had captivated their 
imaginations. These young men, who belonged to the class 
which I have denominated children of the Empire, were pre¬ 
pared to risk and commit everything to prolong the political 
life of their Emperor. 

The distinction I have drawn between what may be called 
the men of France and the men of the Empire was not con¬ 
fined to the army, but was equally marked among the high 
civil functionaries of the State.1 The old Republicans could 
not possibly regard Napoleon with the same eyes as those 
whose elevation dated only from Napoleon; and the members 
of assemblies anterior to the 18th Brumaire could not enter¬ 
tain the same ideas as those whose notions of national 
franchises and public rights were derived from their seats as 
auditors in the Council of State. I know not whether this 
distinction between the men of two different periods has been 
before pointed out, but it serves to explain the conduct of 
many persons of elevated rank during the events of 1814. 
With regard to myself, convinced as I was of the certainty of 
Napoleon's fall, I conceived that the first duty of every citi¬ 
zen was claimed by his country; and although I may incur 
censure, I candidly avow that Napoleon's treatment of me 
during the last four years of his power was not without some 

1 For a good description of a specimen of this class of men see Beugnot 
(vol. ii. pp. 27-38), where he pictures one of the conventionalists, Jean Bon 
St. Andre', the Prdfet of Mayence, disliking the frippery and despotism of 
the Empire, not afraid in the very presence of the Emperor to dwell on the 
temptation to throw him into the Rhine, and prophesying that Napoleon 
would bring France to disaster, hut himself serving France faithfully, and 
dying from disease contracted in succoring the wounded, while others were 
dreaming of what they might gain from betraying their country. 
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influence on my prompt submission to the Government which 

succeeded his. I, however, declare that this consideration was 

not the sole nor the most powerful motive of my conduct. 
Only those who were in Paris at the period of the capitulation 
can form an idea of the violence of party feeling which pre¬ 

vailed there both for and against Napoleon, but without the 
name of the Bourbons ever being pronounced. They were 
almost unknown to the new generation, forgotten by many of 

the old, and feared by the conventionalists ; at that time they 

possessed only the frail support of the coteries of the Fau¬ 
bourg St. Germain, and some remains of the emigration. But 

as it is certain that the emigrants could offer only vain demon¬ 

strations and wishes in support of the old family of our Kings, 
they did little to assist the restoration of the Bourbons. An¬ 

other thing equally certain is, that they alone, by their follies 
and absurd pretensions, brought about the return of Bonaparte 

and the second exile of Louis XVIII. in the following year. 
On the 28th of March was convoked an extraordinary Coun¬ 

cil of Regency, at which Maria Louisa presided. The question 
discussed was, whether the Empress should remain in Paris or 
proceed to Blois. Joseph Bonaparte strongly urged her de¬ 

parture, because a letter from the Emperor had directed that 
in case of Paris being threatened the Empress-Regent and all 

the Council of Regency should retire to Blois. The Arch- 
Chancellor and the majority of the Council were of the same 
opinion, but one of the most influential members of the Coun¬ 

cil observed to Joseph that the letter referred to had been 
written under circumstances very different from those then 
existing, and that it was important the Empress should remain 

in Paris, where she would, of course, obtain from the Emperor 

her father and the Allied sovereigns, more advantageous con¬ 
ditions than if she were fifty leagues from Paris. The adoption 
of this opinion would only have retarded for a few days a 

change which had become inevitable j nevertheless it might 
have given rise to great difficulties. It must be admitted that 

for the interests of Napoleon it was the wisest counsel that 
could be suggested. However, it was overruled by Joseph's 
advice. 
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M. de Talleyrand, as a member of the Council of Regency, 
also received the order to quit Paris on the 30th of March. 
At this period I was at his house every day. When I went to 

him that day I was told he had started. However I went 
up, and remained some time in his hotel with several of his 
friends who had met there. We soon saw him return, and 
for my part I heard with satisfaction that they had not 
allowed him to pass the barriers. It was said then, and it 

has been repeated since, that M. de Talleyrand was not a 
stranger to the gentle violence used towards him. The same 
day of this visit to M. de Talleyrand I also went to see the 
Due de Rovigo (Savary), with the friendly object of getting 

him to remain, and to profit by his position to prevent dis¬ 

turbances. He refused without hesitating, as he only thought 
of the Emperor. I found him by his fireside, where there was 
a large fire, in which he was burning all the papers which 

might have compromised every one who liad served his min¬ 
istry (Police). I congratulated him sincerely on this loyal 
occupation: fire alone could purify the mass of filth and de¬ 

nunciations which encumbered the police archives.1 
On the departure of the Empress many persons expected a 

popular movement in favor of a change of Government; but 
the capital remained tranquil. Many of the inhabitants,' 
indeed, thought of defence, not for the sake of preserving 
Rapoleon’s government, but merely from that ardor of feeling 
which belongs to our national character. Strong indignation 

1 Talleyrand was most anxious not to leave Paris, and he applied to 
Savary to*obtain permission to remain. Savary refused, and told him that 
he ought to start, but unfortunately did not make sure that the Prince really 
did so. It is.said that it was M. d'eR^musat who carried out the little plot 
by which the willing Talleyrand was turned back from the barriers and left 
free to plan a new career for himself, much puzzled as he was,to know which 
side to take; see Savary, tome vii. p. 21. A large portion of the dignitaries 
ordered to Blois did not go (see Miot, tome iii.'p. 389), the feeling at Paris 
being the exact opposite to that entertained by Beugnot, who was then in the 
provinces at Lille. “I had long considered the Emperor as lost, but I had 
no notion that his misfortunes absolved me from my oaths ’’ {Beugnot, vol. 
ii. p. 89). * 

Bourrienne's pleasure at seeing Savary engaged in destroying the police 
records was most natural; his belief that Savary would at once leave his 
fallen master is characteristic and resembles that of his friend Talleyrand, 
who tried to dissuade Mencval from accompanying the Empress into Austria; 
see Mflneval, tome iii. p. 380. All this time Bourrierme was most busy. We 
shall find him a low pages farther on trying to lure over Marmont. 
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It was not until a considerable time after the receipt of this 
formal authority that Marmont and Mortier ceased to make a 
vigorous resistance against the Allied army, for the suspen¬ 
sion of arms was not. agreed upon until four in the afternoon. 
It was not waited for by Joseph ; at a quarter past twelve — 
that is to say, immediately after he had addressed to Marmont 

the authority just alluded to — Joseph repaired to the Bois 
de Boulogne to regain the Versailles road, and from thence to 
proceed to Rambouillet. The precipitate flight of Joseph 

astonished only those who did not know him. I know for a 

fact that several officers attached to his staff were much dis¬ 
satisfied at his alacrity on this occasion. 

In these circumstances what was to be done but to save 
Paris, which there was no possibility of defending two hours 
longer.1 Methinks I still see Marmont when, on the evening 

of the 30th of March, he returned from the field of battle to 

his hotel in the Bue de Paradis, where I w^as waiting for him, 
together with about twenty other persons, among whom were 
MM. Perregaux and Lafitte. When he entered he was scarcely 
recognizable : he had a beard of eight days’ growth; the great¬ 
coat which covered his uniform was in tatters, and he was 
blackened with powder from* head to foot. We considered 
what was best to be done, and all insisted on the necessity of 
signing a capitulation. The Marshal must recollect that the 

exclamation of every one about him was, “ Prance must be 
saved.” MM. Perregaux and Lafitte delivered their opinions 
in a very decided way, and it will readily be conceived how 
great was the influence of two men who were at the head of 
the financial world. They alleged that the general wish of 
the Parisians, which nobody had a better opportunity of know¬ 
ing than themselves, was decidedly averse to a protracted 

conflict, and that Prance was tired of the yoke of Bonaparte. 
This last declaration gave a wider range to the business under 
consideration. The question was no longer confined to the 

1 Her© Bourrienne follows tlie account given in the Memoirs of .Marmont 
taken from the National of 8th August, 1844. See Ragusa, tome vi. pp. 351- 
35(5, and Marmont’s own account (tome vi. pp. 240-251). Marmont, who had 
one arm still in a sling from the wound received at Salamanca, and two nn- gers of the other hand injured, describes himself as having to charge at the 

ead of a few men sword in hand. 
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nation is sunk to such a state of misery its hopes can only be 

directed towards the future; it is natural they should be so 

directed, even withe reflection.” Most of the individuals 
present concurred in my opinion, and the decision of the 

meeting was unanimous. Marshal Marmont has since said to 
me, “ I have been blamed, my dear Bourrienne : but you were 
with me on the 30th of March. You were a witness to the 
wishes expressed by a portion of the principal inhabitants of 
Paris. I acted as I was urged to do only because I con¬ 
sidered the meeting to be composed of men entirely disin¬ 
terested, and who had nothing to expect from the return of 

the Bourbons.” 

Such is a correct statement of the facts which some persons 
have perverted with the view of enhancing Napoleon's glory. 
With respect to those versions which differ from mine I have 

only one comment to offer, which is, that I saw and heard what 

I describe. 
The day after the capitulation of Paris Marmont went in the 

evening to see the Emperor at Fontainebleau. He supped with 
him. Napoleon praised his defence of Paris. After supper 

the Marshal rejoined his corps atEssonne, and six hours after 

the Emperor arrived there to visit the lines. On leaving Paris 
Marmont had left Colonels Fabvier and Denys to direct the 
execution of the capitulation. These officers joined the Em¬ 

peror and the Marshal as they were proceeding up the banks 

of the river at Essonne. They did not disguise the effect which 
the entrance of the Allies had produced in Paris. At this in¬ 

telligence the Emperor was deeply mortified, and he returned 
immediately to Fontainebleau, leaving the Marshal at Essonne. 

At daybreak on the 31st of March Paris presented a novel 

and curious spectacle. No sooner had the French troops evac¬ 
uated the capital than the principal streets resounded with 

cries of “ Down with Bonaparte ! ” — a No conscription! ” — 

“ No consolidated duties (droits reunis) ! ” With these cries 
were mingled that of “ The Bourbons forever ! ”1 but this latter 

i One of these scenes was formed by a practical joke played successfully 
by Talleyrand on the Abbe de Pradt, then Archbishop of Malines. . Ho got 
the clever but tricky and flighty Archbishop to go in full dress into the 
streets, waving a white handkerchief and shouting “ Vive le Koi,” assuring 
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than is generally supposed, to favor the plans of the leaders 

of the Royalist party, to whom M. Nesselrode had declared 

that before he would pledge himself to further their views he 
must have proofs that they were seconded by the population of 

Paris. 

I was afterwards informed by an eyewitness of what took 
place on the evening of the 31st of March in one of the 
principal meetings of the Royalists, which was held in the 
hotel of the Comte de Morfontaine, who acted as president 

on the occasion. Amidst a chaos of abortive propositions and 
contradictory motions M. Sosthenes de la Rochefoucauld pro¬ 

posed that a deputation should be immediately sent to the 

Emperor Alexander to express to him the wish of the meet¬ 
ing. This motion was immediately approved, and the mover 
was chosen to head the deputation. On leaving the hotel the 
deputation met M. de Chateaubriand, who had that very day 
been, as it were, the precursor of the restoration, by publish¬ 
ing his admirable manifesto, entitled, “ Bonaparte and the 
Bourbons.’5 He was invited to join the deputation ; but noth¬ 

ing could overcome his diffidence and induce him to speak. 
On arriving at the hdtel in the Rue St. Florentin the deputa¬ 
tion was introduced to Count Nesselrode, to whom M. Sosth&nes 

de la Rochefoucauld briefly explained its object; he spoke of 
the wishes of the meeting and of the manifest desire of Paris 

and of France. He represented the restoration of the Bour¬ 

bons as the only means of securing the peace of Europe; and 
observed, in conclusion, that as the exertions of the day must 
have been very fatiguing to the Emperor, the deputation 
would not solicit the favor of being introduced to him, but 
would confidently rely on the good faith of his Imperial 

Majesty. “I have just left the Emperor*” replied M. Nessel¬ 
rode, “and can pledge myself for his intentions. Return to 

the meeting and announce to the French people that in com¬ 

pliance with their wishes his Imperial Majesty will use all his 
influence to restore the crown to the legitimate monarch : his 
Majesty Louis XVIII. shall re-ascend the throne of France.” 
With this gratifying intelligence the deputation returned to 

the meeting in the Rue d5Anjou. 
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There is no question that great enthusiasm was displayed 

on the entrance of the Allies into Paris. It may be praised 
or blamed, but the fact cannot be denied. I closely watched 
all that was passing, and I observed the expression of a sentb 

rnent which I had long anticipated when, after his alliance 

with the daughter of the Caesars, the ambition of Bonaparte 
increased in proportion as it was gratified: I clearly foresaw 

Napoleon's fall. Whoever watched the course of events dur¬ 
ing the last four years of the Empire must have observed, as 

I did, that from the date of Napoleon's marriage with Maria 
Louisa the forms of the French Government became daily 

more and more tyrannical and oppressive. The intolerable 

height which this evil had attained is evident from the cir¬ 

cumstance that at the end of 1813 the Legislative Body, 

throwing aside the mute character which it had hitherto main¬ 

tained, presumed to give a lecture to him who had never 

before received a lecture from any one. On the 31st of 
March it was recollected what had been the conduct of Bona¬ 
parte on the occasion alluded to, and those of the deputies 
who remained in Paris related how the gendarmes had opposed 
their entrance into the hall of the Assembly. All this con¬ 

tributed wonderfully to irritate the public mind against Napo¬ 
leon. He had become master of France by the sword, and 

the sword being sheathed, his power was at an end, for no 
popular institution identified with the nation the new dynasty 
which he hoped to found. The nation admired but did not 

love Napoleon, for it is impossible to love what is feared, and 
he had done nothing to claim the affections of France. 

I was present at all the meetings and conferences which 
were held at M. de Talleyrand's h6tel, where the Emperor 
Alexander had taken up his residence.1 Of all the persons 

1 For the extraordinary scene at the hotel of Talleyrand all this time see 
Bengnot, vol. ii. pp. 96, 97. “ It was a remarkable scene when M. de Talley¬ 
rand endeavored to pass, with his awkward walk, from his bedroom to his 
library, to give an audience promised to some one who had been waiting for 
hours. He had to cross the salon; he was stopped by one, seized on by 
another, blockaded by a third, until, wearied out, he returned to the place 
whence he had started, leaving the unfortunate man, whom he despaired of 
reaching, to remain in unavailing attendance.” “ It is difficult/’ says V itrolles 
(tome i. p. 325), “ to have an idea of what the Provisional Government was. It 
was held entirely in the bedchamber oi M. de Talleyrand in the entresol of 
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present at these meetings M. <le Talleyrand was most disposed 

to retain Napoleon at the head of the Government, with 

restrictions on the exercise of his power. In the existing 

state of things it was only possible to choose one of three 

courses; first, to make peace with Napoleon, with the adop¬ 

tion of proper securities against him; second, to establish a 
Regency; and third, to recall the Bourbons. 

On the 13th of March I witnessed the entrance of the Allied 

sovereigns into Baris, and after the procession had passed the 

new street of the Luxembourg I repaired straight to M. de 

Talleyrand^ hotel, which I re itched before the Emperor Alex¬ 
ander, who arrived at a quarter past one. When his Imperial 

Majesty entered M. de Talleyrand’s drawing-room most of the 

persons assembled, and particularly the Abbe de Bradt, the 

Abbe de Montesquieu, and General Dessolles, urgently de¬ 

manded the restoration of the Bourbons. The Emperor did 

not eome to any immediate decision. Drawing me into the 

embrasure of a window, which looked upon the street, he 

math* some observations which enabled me to guess what 

would be his determination. “ M". de Bourrienne,” said he, 

“you have been the friend of Napoleon, and. so have I. 1 was 

hi» hotel. Home clerks collected under the direction of Dupont do Nemours, 
hint and host, of economists, formed the staff, and Roux-Luborie was the 
Becretary-General attached. M. de Talleyrand’s room was open to every 
one he knew, men and women, and the conversation of every one who came 
or went took the place of real deliberations on State affairs. Home more or 
less clever passages to he published in the newspapers became the great work 
of the day, ami this was called forming public opinion. Then, if an idea, 
among all* those which passed in the heads of the comers and goers, struck 
the Prince de Talleyrand, he made a decree of it, and the members of the 
Government signed it on trust when they eame in their turn to pay a visit to 
their president.” The course of affairs gave Talleyrand’s conduct a much 
greater air of decision than that waiter on events had any right to. For his 
great indecision and timidity see De Vtt miles, tome i., especially where Dal- 
berg, who knew him well, says of him, ** You do not know the ape; he would 
not risk burning the end of Ids paw, not even if all the chestnuts were for 
him alone ” (p, tW). Hoc also p. d47, whore Talleyrand, when on the point of 
handing to De Vltrolles his letter for the Comte <P Artois, hoars the Marshals 
Nev and Macdonald, and the Duke of Vicenza (Caulainoourt), announced 
to the Czar. “The Prince de Talleyrand immediately put back into his 
deepest pocket the letter intended for the Comte d’ Artois, and taking me by 
the arm led me to the embrasure of ft window. * This Is an incident,’ said 
he to me, laying stress on the word to show that it was important; 4 we must 
see what it will lead to; yon cannot start at this moment. The Emperor 
Alexander dot* unexpected things; one cannot be the son of Paul l. with 
impunity/” 
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his sincere friend; but there is no possibility of remaining 

at peace with a man of such bad faith.” These last words 

opened my eyes; and when the different propositions which 
were made came under discussion I saw plainly that Bona¬ 

parte, in making himself Emperor, had made up the bed for 

the Bourbons. 
A discussion ensued on the three possible measures which 

I have above mentioned, and which were proposed by the 

Emperor Alexander himself. I thought, if I may so express 

myself, that his Majesty was playing a part, when, pretend¬ 
ing to doubt the possibility of recalling the Bourbons, which 

he wished above all things, he asked M. de Talleyrand what 

means he proposed to employ for the attainment of that 

object? Besides the Trench, there were present at this 

meeting the Emperor Alexander, the King of Prussia, Prince 

Schwartzenberg, M. Nesselrode, M. Pozzo-di-Borgo, and Prince 

Liechtenstein. During the discussion Alexander walked about 

with some appearance of agitation. “Gentlemen,” said he, 
addressing us in an elevated tone of voice, “ you know that it 

was not I who commenced the war ; you know that Napoleon 
came to attack me in my dominions. But we are not drawn 

here by the thirst of conquest or the desire of revenge. You 
have seen the precautions I have taken to preserve your capi¬ 

tal, the wonder of the arts, from the horrors of pillage, to 

which the chances of war would have consigned it.1 Neither 
my Allies nor myself are engaged in a war of reprisals; and I 

should be inconsolable if any violence were committed on your 
magnificent city. We are not waging war against France, but 

against Napoleon, and the enemies of French liberty. Wil¬ 
liam, and you, Prince ” (here the Emperor turned towards the 
King of Prussia and Prince Schwartzenberg, who represented 

the Emperor of Austria), “you can both bear testimony that 
the sentiments I express are yours.” Both bowed assent to 

this observation of Alexander, which his Majesty several times 
repeated in different words. He insisted that France should 
be perfectly free; and declared that as soon as the wishes of 

1 One day the Emperor Alexander said, “History will record that Napo¬ 
leon visited my capital, and that I have visited his” 
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the country were understood, lie and liis Allies would support 
them, without seeking to favor any particular government. 

The Abbe de Pradt then declared, in a tone of conviction, 
that we were all Royalists, and that the sentiments of Prance 
concurred with ours. The Emperor Alexander, adverting to 

the different governments which might be suitable to France, 
spoke of the maintenance of Bonaparte on the throne, the 

establishment of a Regency, the choice of Bernadotte, and 
the recall of the Bourbons. M. de Talleyrand next spoke, 
and I well remember his- saying to the Emperor of Russia, 
“Sire, only one of two things is possible. We must either 

have Bonaparte or Louis XVIII. Bonaparte, if you can sup¬ 
port him ; but you cannot, for you are not alone. ... We will 

not have another soldier in his stead. If we want a soldier, 

we will keep the one we have ; he is the first in the world. 

After him any other who may be proposed would not have ten 

men to support him. I say again, Sire, either Bonaparte or 

Louis XVIII. Anything else is an intrigue.” 1 These remark¬ 

able words of the Prince de Benevento produced on the mind 
of Alexander all the effect we could hope for. .Thus the ques¬ 
tion was simplified, being reduced now to only two alterna¬ 
tives ; and as it was evident that Alexander would have noth¬ 
ing to do with either Napoleon or his family, it was reduced 
to the single proposition of the restoration of the Bourbons. 

On being pressed by us all, with the exception of M. de 
Talleyrand, who still wished to leave the question undecided 
between Bonaparte and Louis XVIII., Alexander at length 
declared that he would no longer treat with Napoleon. When 

1 •* The Bourbons are a principle, all the rest is only an intrigue,” is the 
phrase generally attributed to Talleyrand. The skilful use he made of his 
new principle of legitimacy should be read at length in his correspondence 
with Louis XVIII. during the Congress of Vienna (London, Bentley, 1881, 2 
vols.). In his mouth it became a weapon for obtaining the restoration to the 
Bourbons of their former crowns, etc. But the application of the principle 
was sometimes troublesome. It was not easy to demand at one and the same 
time that Naples should be restored to the Bourbons because it was held by 
them before the Revolution, and that Avignon should be retained by the 
Bourbons in virtue of its having been torn by the Revolution from the Pope. 

Avignon had belonged to the Pope from 1348, when Pope Clement VI. 
bought it from the Comtesse de Provence. The French Republic annexed 
it in 1791, and the Pope ceded it in 1797. When all the other States were 
reclaiming their dominions there was no reason to urge against the Pope 
asking for’his. A note, Talleyrand’s Correspondence, vol. ii. p. 33 (Bentley, 
1881), says that the Pope did claim it. 
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it was represented to him that that declaration referred only 

to Napoleon personally, and did not extend to his family, he 

added, “Nor with any member of his family.51 Thus, as 
early as the 31st of March the restoration of the Bourbons 
might be considered as decided. 

I cannot omit mentioning the hurry with which Laborie, 

whom M. de Talleyrand appointed Secretary to the Provis¬ 

ional Government, rushed out of the apartment as soon as he 
got possession of the Emperor Alexander’s declaration. He 

got it printed with such expedition that in the space of an 
hour it was posted on all the walls in Paris : and it certainly 

produced an extraordinary effect. As yet nothing warranted 

a doubt that Alexander would not abide by his word. The 
treaty of Paris could not be anticipated: and there was reason 

to believe that Prance, with a new Government, would obtain 

more advantageous conditions than if the Allies had treated 
with Napoleon. But this illusion speedily vanished. 

On the evening of the 31st of March I returned to M. de 
Talleyrand’s. I again saw the Emperor Alexander, who, 

stepping up to me, said, “ M. de Bourrienne, you must take 

the superintendence of the Post-office department.” I could 
not decline this precise invitation on the part of the Czar; 
and besides, Lavalette having departed on the preceding day, 
the business would have been for a time suspended ; a circum¬ 

stance which would have been extremely prejudicial to the 
restoration which we wished to favor. 

I went at once to the hotel in the Rue J. J. Rousseau, 

where, indeed, I found that not only was there no order to 
send out the post next day, but that it had been even coun¬ 
termanded. I went that night to the administrators, who 

yielded to my requests, and, seconded by them, next morning 
I got all the clerks to be at their post. I re-organized the 

service, and the post went out on the 1st of April as usual. 
Such are my remembrances of the 31st of March.1 

1 This conduct of Bourrienne’s is the exact parallel of that of Lavalette 
in 1815, for which the Bourbons tried to shoot him. It should be noted that 
it was not for any love of order that Bourrienne obeyed the command of a 
foreign sovereign, but, as he owns, in favor of the Restoration he was work¬ 
ing for, and whose want of gratitude lie did not foresee. 
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A Provisional Government was established, of which M. de 
Talleyrand was appointed President. The other members 

wer£ General Beurnonville, Comte Francois de Jancourt, the 

Due Dalberg, who had married one of Maria Louisa’s ladies 
of honor, and the Abbe de Montesquiou. The place of Chan- 

cellor of the Legion of Honor was given to the Abbe de Pradt. 

Thus there were two abbes among the members of the Pro¬ 
visional Government, and by a singular chance they happened 

to be the same who had officiated at the mass which was 

performed in the Champ de Mars on the day of the first 
federation. 

Those who were dissatisfied with the events of the 31st of 
March now saw no hope but in the possibility that the Em¬ 

peror of Austria would separate from his Allies, or at least 

not make common cause with them in favor of the re-estab- 

lisliment of the Bourbons. But that monarch had been 
brought up in the old policy of his family, and was imbued 

with the traditional principles of his Cabinet. I know for a 
fact that the sentiments and intentions of the Emperor of 

Austria perfectly coincided with those of his Allies. Anxious 
to ascertain the truth on this subject, I ventured, when in 
conversation with the Emperor Alexander, to hint at the 

reports I had heard relative to the cause of the Emperor of 
Austria’s absence. I do not recollect the precise words of his 
Majesty’s answer, but it enabled me to infer with certainty 

that Francis IT. was in no way averse to the overthrow of his 
son-in-law, and that his absence from the scene of the discus¬ 

sions was only occasioned by a feeling of delicacy natural 
enough in his situation.1 

i “Let France declare itself,” said Mettemich to De Vitrolles about the 
32tli of March, 1814, at Troyes, “ and we are ready to support it: no consider¬ 
ation shall stop us. Do you believe that we consider ourselves as tied by the 
interests of our Archduchess or by those of her son ? Nothing of the sort: 
the safety of States is not sacrificed to family sentiments, and even the per¬ 
spective of a Regency which should give power to the Empress and her son 
will not turn us from following the conditions necessary for the existence of 
the States of Europe ” (Vitrolles, p. 100). This agrees with Metternich’s 
answer to Napoleon on the 28th of June, 1813. “ The Emperor Francis will 
then dethrone his daughter?” ashed Napoleon. “The Emperor,” I re¬ 
plied, “ knows nothing but his duty, and he will fulfil it. Whatever the fate 
of his daughter may be, the Emperor Francis is in the first place a monarch, 
and the interests of his people will always take the first place in his calcula¬ 
tions” (Mettemich, vol. i. p. 101). But in January, 1813, the temporary For- 
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Caulaincourt, who was sent by Napoleon to the headquar 

ters of the Emperor Alexander, arrived there on the night of 

the 30th of March. He, however, did not obtain an interview 

with the Czar until after his Majesty had received the Muni¬ 

cipal Council of Paris, at the head of which was M. de 
Chabrol. At first Alexander appeared somewhat surprised to 
see the Municipal Council, which he did not receive exactly in 

the way that was expected; but this coldness was merely 
momentary, and he afterwards addressed the Council in a 

very gracious way, though he dropped no hint of his ulterior 

intentions. 
Alexander, who entertained a personal regard for Caulain- 

court, received him kindly in his own character, but not as 
the envoy of Napoleon. “ You have come too late,” said the 

Czar. “ It is all over. I can say nothing to you at present. 

Go to Paris, and I will see you there.” These words perfectly 

enlightened Caulaincourt as to the result of his mission. His 
next interview with the Emperor Alexander at M. de Talley¬ 

rand’s did not take place until after the declaration noticed in 
my last chapter. The conversation they had together re¬ 
mained a secret, for neither Alexander nor the Duke of 

Vicenza mentioned it; but there was reason to infer, from 

some words which fell from the Emperor Alexander, that he 
had received Caulaincourt rather as a private individual than 
as the ambassador of Napoleon, whose power, indeed, he 
could not recognize after his declaration. The Provisional 
Government was not entirely pleased with Caulaincourt’s 

presence in Paris, and a representation was made to the 
Russian Emperor on the subject. Alexander concurred in 
the opinion of the Provisional Government, which was ex¬ 

pressed through the medium of the Abb6 de Pradt. M. de 
Caulaincourt, therefore, at the wish of the Czar, returned to 
the Emperor, then at Pontainebleau. 

eign Secretary wrote from Paris to Caulaincourt at Imneville that “ the let¬ 
ter of the Emperor Francis to his august daughter is pretty nearly in the 
same sense as that of M. de Metternich: the Emperor again protests that 
whatever may he the event, he will never separate the cause of his daughter 
and that of his grandson from that of France” (Vitrolles, tome i. p. 48). 
But this is exactly what he olid do, and even to an extraordinary extent, in 
sending Napoleon to Elba and retaining the Empress and the King of 
Borne. 



CHAPTER XXXIIL 

1814, 
Hlfimtloii of Bonaparte during the events of the 30th and 31st of March — 

Him arrival at Fontameblrau - Plan of attacking Paris — Arrival of 
troupe at Foutuiimhlenu.-The Emperor’s address to the Guard — For¬ 
feiture proiiotmred b\ tin* Senate - ■ EetterHto Marmont — (’/orrespomlenee 
Iwtweon Marmont and Soliwart/.enberg — Macdonald informed of tho oc¬ 
cupation of Parts (’on vernal ion between the Emperor and Macdonald 
at 1*ontaiunbleuu - Heurnonville’s letter ~~ Abdication on condition of 
a Hegoney - Napoleon’h w ish to retract his act of abdication —Macdonald, 
Ney, ami (‘.utlainemtrt sent to Paris ' Marmont released from his promises 
by Friiiee Helm art ivnberg. 

< the morning of fin* :i(lfh of March, while the battle 

Indore tin* walls of Paris wan at its height, Bonaparte was 
still at Troyes. Ho quitted that town at ten o’clock, accom¬ 

panied only by Bert rand, Gaulaineourt, two aMwt <hi wm/>, and 

two orderly uflieers. He was not more than two hours in 

I ravelling flic first ten leagues, and he and his slender escort 

performed the journey without (‘hanging horses, and without 
even alighting. They arrived at Hens at one o’clock in tho 

afternoon. Everything was in such confusion that it was 

iifijtofitditie to prepare a suitable mode of conveyance for the 

Ettifieror, lit* was therefore obliged to eon tent himself with 

a wretched eariole, and in this equipage, about four in the 

morning, he reached Eroidmanteau, about four leagues from 

1 *ar*M, It wan there that# the Emperor received from General 

Be 11 bird, who arrived at the head of a column of artillery, the 
first, intelligence of the battle of Paris. He heard the news 

with an air of eomjMmure, which was probably piTected to 

avoid discouraging those ids mi 1dm. He walked for about a 

quarter of mi hour on tin* high road, and if was after that 

promenade timt In* sent (’auluineourt to Paris. Napoleon 

iiitenvurd# went to the house of the postmaster, where he 

ordered bsa maps to Ik? brought to him, and, according to cut** 
mm 
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tom, marked the different push inn •; <d ! m* em-su) fr«e»jis 

with pins, the heads of which were touched with w a \ * 4 * 11! 

ft*rent colors. After this de^eription of n ork, w hn*h Vipu 

Icon did every day, or sound lines se\ end t linen a da\, h»* 

repaired to Fontainebleau, w here he arrives! af *u \ in t h** 

morning. He did not order the great apartment * of the ea-d l»> 

to be opened, hut went up to his favorite little apart neod, 

where he shut himself up, and remained alone dunna tie* 

whole of the ;»st of March.1 

In the evening the Emperor sent for the I hike of lbtgU'ut, 

who had just arrived at Essoime with his troops. The I hike 

reached Fontainebleau between three and four oVlorfi on the 

morning of the 1st of April. Napoleon then rereived a de 

tailed account of tin* events of the oOf h from Maruiouf, mu 

whose gallant conduct Indore Paris In* bestowed mneli praiae. 

All was gloom and melancholy at Fontainebleau, yet the 

Emperor still retained his authority, ami I hau* been in 

formed that he deliberated for some time as to w bet her be 

should retire* behind the Loire, »r immediafeh hazard a Imhl 

stroke upon Paris, which wouhi have been nnrli more to hm 

taste than to resign himself to the chances which an nneer- 

tain temporizing might bring iihmih Tins latter thought 

pleased him; and he was* seriously cotoddenug hi a plan *4 

attack when the news of flit* dial, ami flit* tlUSiierrsfdu! ihmi** 

of PaulaincourPs mission, gave him In understand that his 

situation was more desperate than lit* hud hitherto imagined. 

Meanwhile the heads of his columns, which tie* Ksufieroi 

had left at Troyes, arrived on the 1st «»f April at FoiiUhu^ 

bleau, the troops having marched titty league# in Ichm than 

three days, one of the most rapid marches ever |**rfnnM«*d 

On the 2d of April Niipoleiiii communicated tin* event# of 

Paris to the (Jotterak who were iibmif him, reenmm«oi<li}ifi 

them to conceal the Hewn lent it should dmpirit tin* troops 

upon whom he yet relied. That day, during mi in»|teri4t»n of 
the tioops, which took place in the court of the l**ilac**t fionu* 

m* the 6nit »!*»ry* pfifftlM wflti wh*t H 
mu«I the Claiii*ry of Kruncj* 1., wli^re mtifftlttml l»y metef 

Queen OhrlHtuift of Hwwlen.— Humvimim 
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parte assembled the officers of bis Guard, and harangued them 
as follows: — 

Soldiers! tlie enemy has stolen three marches upon us, and has made 
himself master of Paris. We must drive him thence. Frenchmen, un¬ 
worthy of the name, emigrants whom we have pardoned, have mounted 
the white cockade, and joined the enemy. The wretches shall receive 
the reward due to this new crime. Let us swear to conquer or die, and to 
enforce respect to the tri-colored cockade, which has for twenty years 
accompanied us on the path of glory and honor. 

He also endeavored to induce the Generals to second his 
mad designs upon Paris,1 by making them believe that he had 
made sincere ‘efforts to conclude peace. He assured them 
that he had expressed to the Emperor Alexander his willing¬ 
ness to purchase it by sacrifices; that he had consented to 
resign even the conquests made during the Revolution, and to 

confine himself within the old limits of France. “ Alexander,” 
added Napoleon, “ refused; and, not content with that refusal, 

he has leagued himself with a party of emigrants, whom, per¬ 
haps, I was wrong in pardoning for having borne arms against 
France. Through their perfidious insinuations Alexander has 

. permitted the white cockade to be mounted on the capital. 
We will maintain ours, and in a few days we will march upon 

Paris. I rely on you.”2 
When the boundless attachment of the Guards to the Em¬ 

peror is considered it cannot appear surprising that these last 
words, uttered in an impressive tone, should have produced 

a feeling of enthusiasm, almost electrical, in all to whom they 

1 The plan of Napoleon to make a sudden and fresh attack on the Allies 
does not seem a mad one if the army had been ready to undertake it with 
ardor. Jomini (see tome iv. pp. 59i, 592) seems to consider that at least 
better terms might have been got. Hamley (Operations o/ War, p. 290, edi¬ 
tion of 1872, in which the campaign of 1814 should be studied) treats the at¬ 
tempt as impossible with officers weary of war and a country impatient of his 
rule. Thiers (tome xvii. p. 692) says that posterity will judge that success 
was at least likely. Marmont (tome vi. p. 253) says that Napoleon forgot 
that the Marne, with its bridges all destroyed, lay between him and .the 
enemy, and he thenceforward seems to have considered that Napoleon was 
mad, and that his own duty was to betray him and France, and then (p. 260) 
to tenderly offer to look after his (the Emperor’s) bodily comfort for the rest 
of his life. 

2 An interesting account of the events attendant upon the entrance of the 
Allies into Paris, and of the situation of Napoleon at Fontainebleau, from the 
pen of an eye-witness, will be found in the third volume of the Memoirs of 
Madame Junot (Ducliesse d’Abrantbs), English edition of 1883. 
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were addressed. The old companions of the glory of their 

chief exclaimed with one voice, “ Paris ! Paris ! ” But, for¬ 
tunately, during the night, the Generals having deliberated 

with each other saw the frightful abyss into which they were 
about to precipitate France. They therefore resolved to inti¬ 
mate in discreet terms to the Emperor that they would not 

expose Paris to destruction, so that on the 3d of April, pru¬ 
dent ideas succeeded the inconsiderate enthusiasm of the 
preceding day.1 

The wreck of the army assembled at Fontainebleau, which 

1 Efforts were making in the capital to effect a rising en masse of the popu¬ 
lace in favor of Bonaparte. Had these efforts succeeded Paris would have 
been bombarded, and possibly left as miserable a heap of ruins as Moscow had 
been two years before. But the burghers, artisans, and even the mere mob 
were not disposed for such extremities. 

Paris was now quite tranquil; and notwithstanding several of Bonaparte’s 
emissaries were in the city endeavoring to work on the people, with money 
and promises, to rise on the Allies, no instance of disorder occurred. 

So much did M. de Caulaincourt at length despair of the possibility of 
Bonaparte’s return that he sounded M. de Talleyrand and the Due Dalberg 
as to the intention of the Allies with regard to his Emperor’s future lot, as he 
considered him a lost man. The Senate met to deliberate and to pronounce 
their decision; but since the declaration of the Emperor Alexander, in the 
name of the Allies, they had but one course to adopt, which was to declare 
Bonaparte hors de la loi. 

The National Guards, who had been commanded by Marshal Moncey, 
were without a leader, he having fled. Count Montmorency remained, and 
what part he would take was yet uncertain. The brother-in-law to the 
late General Moreau was mentioned as likely to be placed at the head of 
the National Guards; but hitherto every arrangement was necessarily in¬ 
complete. 

A report now arrived by a letter from Toulouse, of a great battle having 
been fought on the 23d ult. between Lord Wellington ana Marshal Soult, in 
which the latter had been completely defeated, and driven into Toulouse, 
with only one piece of artillery left. 

The decision of the Senate, who met on the 1st of April, declared that as 
Napoleon Bonaparte had deserted the Government of France, they felt them¬ 
selves called upon to choose another chief, and that they were unanimous in 
calling to the throne their legitimate sovereign, Louis XVIII. 

The management of every new measure undoubtedly lay with the Em¬ 
peror of Russia, and the confidential Cabinet which he had formed. ... In 
an incidental conversation I had with M. de Talleyrand at this period he 
told me that steps were taking to communicate with all the French troops 
and fortresses. He believed strongly in a movement among the troops 
favorable to the new order of things. Marmont and Lefebvre were the Mar¬ 
shals who it was thought would declare first. On the other hand, it was said 
Bonaparte had an immense number of emissaries in Paris. M. Girardin, 
Marshal Berthier’s aide de camp, was in the city with large sums of money 
at his disposal: some hundreds of the Old Guard had been introduced into 
Paris to head an insurrection, and Bonaparte was determined, at any risk, 
de sefairejour dans Paris. 

These various histories amused the alarmists of the day, but an excessive 
tranquillity and even indifference reigned around (Lord Londonderry’s Nar¬ 
rative), 
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was the remnant of 1,000,000 of troops levied during fifteen 

months, consisted only of the corps of the Duke of fieggio 

(Oudinot), Key, Macdonald, and General Gerard, which 
altogether did not amount to 25,000 men, and which, joined 
to the remaining 7000 of the Guard, did not leave the Em¬ 
peror a disposable force of more than 32,000 men. Nothing 
but madness or despair could have suggested the thought of 
subduing, with such scanty resources, the foreign masses 
which occupied and surrounded Paris. 

On the 2d of April the Senate published a Senatus-consulte, 
declaring that Napoleon had forfeited the throne, and abolish¬ 
ing the right of succession, which had been established in 

favor of his family. Eurnished with this act, and without 
awaiting the concurrence of the Legislative Body, which was 
given next day, the Provisional Government published an 
address to the French armies. In this address the troops were 
informed that they were no longer the soldiers of Napoleon, 
and that the Senate released them from their oaths. These 
documents were widely circulated at the time, and inserted in 

all the public journals. 
The address of the Senate was sent round to the Marshals, 

and was of course first delivered to those who were nearest 
the capital; of this latter number was Marmont, whose alle¬ 
giance to the Emperor, as we have already seen, yielded only 
to the sacred interests of his country. Montessuis was di¬ 

rected by the Provisional Government to convey the address 
to Marmont, and to use such arguments as were calculated to 
strengthen those sentiments which had triumphed over his 
dearest personal affections. I gave Montessuis a letter to 

Marmont, in which I said: — 

“My dear Friend — An old acquaintance of mine will convey to you 
the remembrances of our friendship. He will, I trust, influence your 
resolution: a single word will suffice to induce you to sacrifice all for the 
happiness of your country. To secure that object you, who are so good 
a Frenchman and so loyal a knight, will not fear either dangers or obsta¬ 
cles. Your friends expect you, long for you, and I trust will soon embrace 

you.” 

Montessuis also took one from General Dessolles, whom the 

Provisional Government had appointed Governor of the Na- 
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tional Hoard in tin* roum of Marshal Mouee\ , u ho hat! |t*f| 

Paris on the oeeupat ion of tin* Allies. <iouer.il lhs-ui«Ue,H ami 

I did not communicate to each otlit*r our cnrrespmideuiv. but 

when 1 afterwards saw the letter ot Hossnlles I ruuld not lit -11 ♦ 
remarking the coincidence ot mir appeal !«* Marne ail's jutn 

otism. Prince Sohwartzejihcrg aKn n rott* in Munmoil t>< 

induce him to espouse a eaime which had now beenme flu- 

cause of Prance. To the PrinceV letter Matinont jvphrii 

Unit he was disposed to coneiir in !In* union t»f the armv and 

the people, which would avert all chance td civil w;ut and >top 

the* effusion of Preneh hloml; and that, he was read) with Ins 

troops to fpiit the army of the Emperor Napoleon t?n th«* 

condition that his troops might retire with the home* id wai, 

and that the safety and lilierty of the Emperor were guaran 

teed hy tin* Allies. 

After Prince Sch wart zei dierg acceded fo theM* comfitsmm 

Marmont was placed in eireiumdaner ; which obliged him fo 

request that he might lie released from Ids premier, 

I happened to learn tin* manner in which Murdi/d Mae 

donald wjis informed of tin* taking of Pang lie had been 

two days without any intelligence from tie Empcrot, » h> n 

lie received an order in the handwriting of fWiiiier, rom-hed 

;n the following terms: «Tln» Emperor demit*', flat lull 
wherever yon may receive this order,” Ut*w p.erfhieP -do. 

nature the following words were added an a po f *» i i|*f ; “ Von, 

of course, know that the enemy is In po», .ie* b*m uf fiuuT 

When the Emperor thus announced, with apparent neeStg«mr*\ 
an event which totally changed flu* face ol attain , I im urn 

vinced his object was to make the Marshal Iwdm\.. flu? i„. 

looked upon that event as less important than if u.dh «,»■ 
However, this objeet was not attained* bo 1 fernltuf \hi\ in * 
heard Macdonald say that Itert flier’s si tt on Hat po f “ 111 , and 

the tone of indifTerenee in which it wa* ex pro- urd* filled fiijfs 

with mingled surprise mid alarm. Marshal Macdonald thru 

commanded the rearguan! of the amty winch «*mip»»d the 
environs of Montereau. Six hours after the receipt <»f f|M. 

order^ here referred to Miietioiinlil received a second nrdo* 

directing him to put his troops in motion, nsnl he (earned 
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the Emperor’s intention of marching on Paris with all his 
remaining force. 

On receiving the Emperor’s second order Macdonald left 
his corps at Montereau and repaired in haste to Fontainebleau. 
When he arrived there the Emperor had already intimated 

to the Generals commanding divisions in the corps assembled 
at Fontainebleau his design of marching on Paris. Alarmed 

at this determination the Generals, most of whom had left in 
the capital their wives, children, and friends, requested that 

Macdonald would go with them to wait upon Napoleon and 
endeavor to dissuade him from his intention. “ Gentlemen,” 

said the Marshal, “ in the Emperor’s present situation such a 

proceeding may displease him. It must be managed cau¬ 
tiously. Leave it to me, gentlemen, I will go to the chateau.” 

Marshal Macdonald accordingly went to the Palace of Fon¬ 
tainebleau, where the following conversation ensued between 

him and the Emperor, and I beg the reader to bear in mind 
that it was related to me by the Marshal himself. As soon 
as he entered the apartment in which Napoleon was the latter 

stepped up to him and said, “Well, how are things going 
on ? ” — “ Very badly, Sire.” — “ How ? . . . badly ! . . . 

What then are the feelings of your army ? ” — “ My army, 
Sire, is entirely discouraged . . . appalled by the fate of 

Paris.” — “ Will not your troops join me in an advance on 
Paris ? ” — “ Sire, do not think of such a thing. If I were to 
give such an order to my troops I should run the risk of 

being disobeyed.” — “But what is to be done ? I cannot re¬ 
main as I am; I have yet resources and partisans. It is 
said that the Allies will no longer treat with me. Well! no 
matter. I will march on Paris. I will be revenged on the 
inconstancy of the Parisians and the baseness of the Senate. 

Woe to the members of the Government they have patched 
up for the return of their Bourbons; that is what they are 
looking forward to. But to-morrow I shall place myself at 

the head of my Guards, and to-morrow we shall be in the 

Tuileries.” 
The Marshal listened in silence, and when at length Napo¬ 

leon became somewhat calm he observed, “ Sire, it appears, 
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then, that you are not aware of what has taken place in Paris 

— of the establishment of a Provisional I hivernnicnt, ami 

— “ I know it ail: anti what then ” ** Sire,’* added the 

Marshal, presenting a paper to Nap«»leom 44 here is soundlung 

which will tell you more than I rati,'* Mued*maid then pre- 

sented to him a letter from General I (curium* tile, 
the forfeiture of the Emperor pronounced Ii\ the Senate, and 

the determination of the Ailied powers not to treat with 

Napoleon, or any member of his family. M Marshal, 1 said fin* 

Emperor, before he opened the letter, “ may t hm be load 

aloud ? ” —44 (Vrtitinly, Sire.” Tin* letter was then handed to 

Barn's who read it. An individual who was present mi the 

occasion described to me the impression whirh tin- reading of 

the letter produced on Napoleon, fits countenance *• \lntntoil 

that violent contraction of Um features wliirli I have id I on 

remarked when his mind was disturb’d, However, he ihd 

not lone his self-command, whieh indeed never foiseek him 

when policy or vanity reipbred that lie should retain it ; ami 

when the reading of BeumonvilleT letter was ended he 

affected to persist in his intention of marching on Paris. 

“ Sire,” exclaimed Macdonald, 44 that plan fitted be roitmuiecd. 

Not a sword would be unsheathed to second you in such an 

enterprise.” 

After this conversation between tin* Emperor ami Mae* 

donald the question of the ablieatitei l»ogaii to I** srnoiudy 

thought of. Cnubunemirt liml already hinted to Niifmleon 

that in wise of his abdicating fjcmmally then* was u j 
bility of inducing the Allir?ii to agree to a Coutiril of Hcgciicy. 

Napoleon than determined to sign tin* art id alulieiitinin which 

he himself drew up in the following terms : 

Th© AIM powers having ilivltiml tint the Kmf*'rt«r N#»fwlroit U llir 
only obstacle to tin* rc-«*»nibll%liiiif*iit of |*m«* in Eftpif»% flit* Kii»j*‘ri«r 
Najioleon, faithful to hUoutli, tleekri'i tlmt lie {* ready to «|r*«v»i«| front 
the throne, to leave France, mi«i mm to lay flown Iiw IIfr f*it th*< mrllmv. 
of th© country, which h iiwpambl** from the right* of hk ««li» How of 
th© Regency of the Paitfuvwt* and the iiiiiintciiaiire nf ilic I*** uf itw 
Empire, (liven at our P*hu*e of Foiitmliwdilriun *M April, IHI4, 

I Slpi«J | N a . 
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After having written this act tlie Emperor presented 
it to the Marshals, saying, “ Here, gentlemen! are yon 

satisfied ? ” 
This abdication of Napoleon was certainly very useless, but 

in case of anything occurring to render it a matter of impor¬ 

tance the act might have proved entirely illusory. Its mean¬ 
ing might appear unequivocal to the generality of people, but 

not to me, who was so well initiated in the cunning to which 

Napoleon could resort when it suited his purpose. It h. 

necessary to observe that Napoleon does not say that “he 

descends from the throne,” but that “ he is ready to descend 
from the throne.” This was a subterfuge, by the aid of which 
he intended to open new negotiations respecting the form and 

conditions of the Regency of his son, in case of the Allied 
sovereigns acceding to that proposition. This would have 

afforded the means of gaining time. 

He had not yet resigned all hope, and therefore he joyfully 
received a piece of intelligence communicated to him by 
General Allix. The General informed the Emperor that he 
had met an Austrian officer who was sent by Francis II. to 
Prince Schwartzenberg, and who positively assured him that 

all which had taken place in Paris was contrary to the wish 
of the Emperor of Austria. That this may have been the 

opinion of the officer is possible, and even probable. But it 
is certain from the issue of a mission of the Due de Cadore 
(Champagny), of which I shall presently speak, that the 

officer expressed merely his own personal opinion. However, 
as soon as General Allix had communicated this good news, 
as he termed it, to Napoleon, the latter exclaimed to the 
persons who were about him, “I told you so, gentlemen. 

Francis II. cannot carry his enmity so far as to dethrone his 
daughter. Vicenza, go and desire the Marshals to return my 

act of abdication. I will send a courier to the Emperor of 

Austria.” 
Thus Bonaparte in his shipwreck looked round for a saving 

plank, and tried to nurse himself in illusions. The Duke of 
Vicenza went to Marshals Ney and Macdonald, whom he 
found just stepping into a carriage to proceed to Paris. Both 
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positively refused to return the act to Caulaincourt, saying, 
“We are sure of the concurrence of the Emperor of Austria, 
and we take everything upon ourselves.” The result proved 
that they were better informed than General Allix. 

During the conversation with Marshal Macdonald which has 
just been described the Emperor was seated. When he came 
to the resolution of signing the abdication he rose and walked 
once or twice up and down his cabinet. After he had written 
and signed the act he said, “ Gentlemen, the interests of my 
son, the interests of the army, and above all, the interests of 
Erance, must be defended. I therefore appoint as my com¬ 
missioners to the Allied powers the Duke of Vicenza, the 
Prince of the Moskowa, and the Duke of Eagusa. . . . Are 
you satisfied ? ” added he, after a pause. “ I think these in¬ 
terests are consigned to good hands.” All present answered, 
as with one voice, “Yes, Sire.” But no sooner was this 
answer pronounced than the Emperor threw himself upon a 
small yellow sofa, which stood near the window, and striking 
his thigh with his hand with a sort of convulsive motion, he 
exclaimed, “No, gentlemen : I will have no Eegency ! With 
my Guards and Marmont’s corps I shall be in Paris to-mor¬ 
row.” Ney and Macdonald vainly endeavored to undeceive 
him respecting this impracticable design. He rose with 
marked ill humor, and rubbing his head, as he was in the 
habit of doing when agitated, he said in a loud and authorita¬ 
tive tone, “ Betire.” 

The Marshals withdrew, and Napoleon was left alone with 
Caulaincourt. He told the latter that what had most dis¬ 
pleased him in the proceedings which had just taken place 
was the reading of Beurnonville’s letter. “ Sire,” observed 
the Duke of Vicenza, “ it was by your order that the letter 
was read.” — “ That is true. . . . But why was it not ad¬ 
dressed directly to me by Macdonald ?” — “ Sire, the letter 
was at first addressed to Marshal Macdonald, but the aide de 
camp who was the bearer of it had orders to communicate its 
contents to Marmont on passing through Essonne, because 
Beurnonville did not precisely know where Macdonald would 
be found.” After this brief explanation the Emperor ap- 
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peared satisfied, and he said to Canlaincourt, “ Vicenza, call 
back Macdonald.” 

The Duke of Vicenza hastened after the Marshal, whom he 
found at the end of the gallery of the Palace, and he brought 
him back to the Emperor. When Macdonald returned to the 
cabinet the Emperor’s warmth had entirely subsided, and he 
said to him with great composure, “Well, Duke of Tarantum, 

do yon think that the Regency is the only possible thing? ”— 
“Yes, Sire.” — “Then I wish you to go with Ney to the 

Emperor Alexander, instead of Marmont; it is better that he 
should remain with his corps, to which his presence is indis¬ 
pensable. You will therefore go with Ney. I rely on you. 
I hope you have entirely forgotten all that has separated us 
for so long a time.” — “Yes, Sire, I have not thought of it 

since 1809.” — “ T am glad of it, Marshal, and I must acknowl¬ 
edge to you that I was in the wrong.” While speaking to 
the Marshal the Emperor manifested unusual emotion. He 

approached him and pressed his hand in a most affectionate 

way. 
The Emperor’s three Commissioners—that is to say, Mar¬ 

shals Macdonald and Ney and the Duke of Vicenza — had 
informed Marmont that they would dine with him as they 
passed through Essonne, and would acquaint him with all 
that had happened at Fontainebleau. On their arrival at 

Essonne the three Imperial Commissioners explained to the 
Duke of Ragusa the object of their mission, and persuaded 
him to accompany them to the Emperor Alexander. This 
obliged the Marshal to inform them how he was situated. 
The negotiations which Marmont had opened and almost con¬ 
cluded with Prince Schwartzenberg were rendered void by the 

mission which he had joined, and which it was necessary he 
should himself explain to the Commander of the Austrian 
army. The three Marshals and the Duke of Vicenza repaired 

to Petit Bourg, the headquarters of Prince Schwartzenberg, 
and there the Prince released Marmont from the promise he 

had given. 
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their absence, prevailed among some of the members of the 

Provisional Government and other persons assembled in the 
salon where I was. 

"While the Marshals were with Alexander I learned that 
they had previously conversed with M. de Talleyrand, who 
observed to them, “ If you succeed in your designs you will 

compromise all who have met in this hotel since the 1st of 
April, and the number is not small. For my part, take no 
account of me, I am willing to be compromised.” I had 

passed the evening of this day with M. de Talleyrand, who 
then observed to the Emperor Alexander in my presence, 

“ Will you support Bonaparte ? No, you neither can nor will. 

I have already had the honor to tell your Majesty that we 
can have no choice but between Bonaparte and Louis XVIII.; 
anything else would be an intrigue, and no intrigue can have 
power to support him who may be its object. Bernadotte, 

Eugene, the Regency, all those propositions result from in¬ 

trigues. In present circumstances nothing but a new princi¬ 
ple is sufficiently strong to establish the new order of things 

which must be adopted. Louis XVIII. is a principle.” 
None of the members of the Provisional Government were 

present at this conference, for no one was willing to appear 

to influence in any way the determination of the chief of the 
coalition upon the subject of this important mission.1 Gen¬ 
eral Dessolles alone, in quality of commander of the National 

Guard of Paris, was requested to be present. At length the 
Marshals entered the salon where we were, and their appear¬ 
ance created a sensation which it is impossible to describe; 
but the expression of dissatisfaction which we thought we 

remarked in their countenances restored the hopes of those 
who for some hours had been a prey to apprehensions. Mac¬ 

donald, with his head elevated, and evidently under the influ¬ 
ence of strong irritation, approached Beurnonville, and thus 
addressed him, in answer to a question which the latter had 
put to him. “ Speak not to me, sir ; I have nothing to say to 
you. You have made me forget a friendship of thirty years ! ” 

i In the account of the next few days Bourrienne follows pretty closely 
the Memoirs of Marmont (Paris, Perrotin, 1857, nine tomes). 
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Then turning to Dupont, “ As for you, sir,” he continued in 

the same tone, “your conduct towards the Emperor is not 
generous. I confess that he has treated you with severity, 
perhaps he may even have been unjust to you with respect to 

the affair of Baylen, but how long has it been the practice to 

avenge a personal wrong at the expense of one’s country ? ” 1 
These remarks were made with such warmth, and in so 

elevated a tone of voice, that Caulaincourt thought it neces¬ 

sary to interfere, and said, “ Do not forget, gentlemen, that 

this is the residence of the Emperor of Russia.” At this 
moment M. de Talleyrand returned from the interview with 

the Emperor which he had had after the departure of the 

Marshals, and approaching the group formed round Mac¬ 

donald, “ Gentlemen,” said he, “ if you wish to dispute and 
discuss, step down to my apartments.” — “That would be 

useless,” replied Macdonald; “my comrades and I do not 
acknowledge the Provisional Government.” The three Mar¬ 
shals, Key, Macdonald, and Marmont, then immediately re¬ 
tired with Caulaincourt, and went to Key’s h6tel, there to 

await the answer which the Emperor Alexander had promised 

to give them after consulting the King of Prussia. 
Such was this night-scene, which possessed more dramatic 

effect than many which are performed on the stage. In it all 

was real: on its denouement depended the political state of 

Prance, and the existence of all those who had already de¬ 
clared themselves in favor of the Bourbons. It is a remarka¬ 

ble fact, and one which affords a striking lesson to men who 

are tempted to sacrifice themselves for any political cause, 
that most of those who then demanded the restoration of the 

Bourbons at the peril of their lives have successively fallen 
into disgrace. 

When the Marshals and Caulaincourt had retired we were 
all anxious to know what had passed between them and the 

Emperor of Russia. I learned from Dessolles, who, as I have 
stated, was present at the conference in his rank of com¬ 
mander of the Kational Guard of Paris, that the Marshals 

' * General Dupont, beaten by the Spaniards, surrendered, with 20,000 men, 
at Baylen (in Andalusia), on the 22d of July, 1808. 
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were unanimous in urging Alexander to accede to a Begency. 
Macdonald especially supported that proposition with much 
warmth ; and among the observations he made I recollect 
Dessolles mentioned the following : — “I am not authorized 
to treat in any way for the fate reserved for the Emperor. 

We have full powers to treat for the Begency, the army, and 
France; hut the Emperor has positively forbidden us to 
specify anything personally regarding himself.” Alexander 

merely replied, “ That does not astonish me.” The Marshals 
then, resuming the conversation, dwelt much on the respect 

which was due to the military glory of France. They strongly 

manifested their disinclination to abandon the family of a 
man who had so often led them to victory; and lastly, they 
reminded the Emperor Alexander of his own declaration, in 
which he proclaimed, in his own name as well as on the part 

of his Allies, that it was not their intention to impose on 
France any government whatever. 

Dessolles, who had all along declared himself in favor of 
the Bourbons, in his turn entered into the discussion with as 

much warmth as the partisans of the Begency. He repre¬ 
sented to Alexander how many persons would be compromised 

for merely having acted or declared their opinions behind the 

shield of his promises. He repeated what Alexander had 
already been told, that the Begency would, in fact, be nothing 

but Bonaparte in disguise. However, Dessolles acknowledged 
that such was the effect of Marshal Macdonald’s powerful and 
persuasive eloquence that Alexander seemed to waver; and, 
unwilling to give the Marshals a positive refusal, he had re¬ 

course to a subterfuge, by which he would be enabled to 
execute the design he had irrevocably formed without seem¬ 
ing to take on himself alone the responsibility of a change of 

government. Dessolles accordingly informed us that Alexan¬ 
der at last gave the following answer to the Marshals: “ Gen¬ 

tlemen, I am not alone; in an affair of such importance I must 
consult the King of Prussia, for I have promised to do nothing 
without consulting him. In a few hours you shall know my 

decision.” It was this decision which the Marshals went to 

wait for at Key’s. 
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of envoys from the Emperor alarmed the general who com¬ 

manded the different divisions of Marmontfs corps at Essonne. 
They feared that the Emperor was aware of the Convention 

concluded that morning with Prince Schwartzenberg, and that 

he had sent for Marmont with the view of reprimanding him. 
The fact was, Napoleon knew nothing of the matter, for Mar¬ 
mont, on departing for Paris with Macdonald and Ney, had 
left orders that it should be said he had gone to inspect his 

lines. Souham, Lebrun des Essarts. and Bordesoulle, who 
had given their assent to the Convention with Prince 

Schwartzenberg, deliberated in the absence of Marmont, and, 
perhaps being ignorant that he was released from his promise, 
and fearing the vengeance of Napoleon, they determined to 
march upon Versailles. On arriving there the troops not find¬ 

ing the Marshal at their head thought themselves betrayed, 
and a spirit of insurrection broke out among them. One of 

Marmont5s aides de camp, whom he had left at Essonne, exerted 
every endeavor to prevent the departure of his general’s corps, 
but, finding all his efforts unavailing, he hastened to Paris to 
inform the Marshal of what had happened. When Marmont 
received this news he was breakfasting at Ney’s with Mac¬ 
donald and Caulaincourt: they were waiting for tlie answer 
which the Emperor Alexander had promised to send them. 

The march of his corps on Versailles threw Marmont into 
despair. He said to the Marshals, “ I must be off to join my 
corps and quell this mutiny;55 and without losing a moment 
he ordered his carriage and directed the coachman to drive 
with the utmost speed. He sent forward one of his aides de 

camp to inform the troops of his approach. 
Having arrived within a hundred paces of the place where 

his troops were assembled he found the generals who were 
under his orders advancing to meet him. They urged him 
not to go farther, as the men were in open insurrection. “I 

will go into the midst of them,55 said Marmont. “In a 
moment they shall either kill me or acknowledge me as 
their chief.55 He sent off another aide de camp to range the 

troops in the order of battle. Then, alighting from the car¬ 
riage and mounting a horse, he advanced alone, and thus 
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manner in 'which, he was received by us at Talleyrand’s when 

he related the particulars of what had occurred at Versailles.3 
On the evening of the day on which Marmont had acted 

so nobly it was proposed that the army should adopt the 
white cockade. In reply to this proposition the Marshal 
said, “ Gentlemen, I have made my troops understand the 

necessity of serving Trance before all things. They have, 
consequently, returned to order, and I can now answer for 
them. But what I cannot answer for is to induce them to 
abandon the colors which have led them to victory for the 
last twenty years. Therefore do not count upon me for a 

thing which I consider to be totally hostile to the interests 
of France. I will speak to the Emperor Alexander on the 
subject.” Such were Marmont’s words. Every one appeared 
to concur in his opinion, and the discussion terminated. 
For my own part, I find by my notes that I declared my¬ 

self strongly in favor of Marmont’s proposition. 
The Marshal’s opinion having been adopted, at least pro¬ 

visionally, an article was prepared for the Moniteur in nearly 

the following terms: — 

The white cockade has been, during the last four days, a badge for the 
manifestation of public opinion in favor of the overthrow of an oppressive 
Government: it has been the only means of distinguishing the partisans 
of the restoration of the old dynasty, to which at length we are to be in¬ 
debted for repose. But as the late Government is at an end, all colors 
differing from our national colors are useless: let us, therefore, resume 
those which have so often led us to victory. 

Such was the spirit of the article, though possibly the 
above copy may differ in a few words. It met with the un¬ 
qualified approbation of every one present. I was therefore 
extremely surprised, on looking at the Moniteur next day, 

to find that the article was not inserted. I knew not what 
courtly interference prevented the appearance of the article, 
but I remember that Marmont was very ill pleased at its 

omission. He complained on the subject to the Emperor 
Alexander, who promised to write, and in fact did write, to 

l When I returned that night to M. de Talleyrand’s I was made much of 
and complimented, every one asking me for details of what had occurred. 
(Rayuse, tome vi. p. 269). 
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the Provisional Government to get. flit* article inserted 

However, it did not appear, and in a lew days we obtained 

a solution of the enigma, as we might perhaps have done 

before it* we had tried. The Emperor Alexander also prom- 

ised to write to the Comte d’Artois, and to intorm him that 

the opinion of France was in favor of tin* preservation of 
the three colors, but I do not know whether the letter was 

written, or, if it was, what answer it received. 

Marshal Jounlan, who was then at Knuen, received a 

letter, written without’the knowledge of Marinont, informing 

him that tin* latter had mounted the white cockade in ids 

corps, Jourdan thought he could not do otherwise than fob 

low Marmont’s example, ami he announced to the Provisional 

Government that in consequence of the resolution of the Puke 

of Ragusa he had just ordered his corps to wear the white 

cockade. Marmont could now In* boldly faced, and when 
In* complained to the Provisional Government of the nun- 

insertion of the article in the M*m it pur the reply was, 14 It 

cannot now appear. You set* Marshal dourdan has mounted 

the white cockade: you would not give the army two sets of 

colors! ” 
Marmont tumid make, no answer to so positive a fact. It 

was not till some time after that I learned dourdun Itad 
determined to unfurl the white* flag only on tin* f wed five 

assurance that Marmont had already done so. Tims we 

lost the. colors which had been worn by Louis X VL, widt h 
Louis XVIIL, when a Prince, had adopted, and in which the 

Comte d’Artois showed himself on his return to the Parisians, 

for he entered the capital in the uniform of Hit* National 

Guard. Tin* fraud played off by some nieinl«*m of tin* Pro¬ 

visional Government was attended by fatal consequences; 

many evils might have been spared to France had Mar month* 

advice been adopted. 
At the period of the dissolution of the Empire there 

might be said to be three Governments in France, viz, the 

Provisional Government in Paris, Napoleon’s at Fontainebleau, 

and the doubtful and ambulatory Regency of Maria Lotibn. 
Doubtful and ambulatory the Regency might well Is* culled, 
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for there was so little decision as to the course to be adopted 
by the Empress that it was at first proposed to conduct her 
to Orleans, then to Tours, and she went finally to Blois. 
The uncertainty which prevailed respecting the destiny of 
Maria Louisa is proved by a document which I have in iny 
possession, and of which there cannot be many copies in 
existence- It is a circular addressed to the prefects by 
M. de Montalivet, the Minister of the Interior, who accom¬ 
panied the Empress. In it a blank is left for the seat of 

the Government, to which the prefects are desired to send 
their communications., In the copy I possess the blank is 
filled up with the word “ Blois ” in manuscript. 

As soon as Maria Louisa was made acquainted with the events 
that had taken place around Paris she sent for the Luc de 
Cadore,1 and gave him a letter addressed to the Emperor of 
Austria, saying, “ Take this to my father, who must be at 

Dijon. I rely on you for defending the interests of France, 
those of the Emperor, and above all those of my son.” Cer¬ 

tainly Maria Louisa’s confidence could not be better placed, 
and those great interests would have been defended by the 
Due de Cadore si defendi possent. 

After the departure of the Due de Cadore Maria Louisa 
published the following proclamation, addressed to the French 

people: — 

BY THE EMPRESS REGENT. 

% Prffriamaticrn. 
The events of the war have placed the capital in the power of foreign¬ 

ers. The Emperor has marched to defend it at the head of his armies, so 
often victorious. They are face to face with the enemy before the walls 
of Paris. From the residence which I have chosen, and from the Minis¬ 
ters of the Emperor, will emanate the only orders which you can acknowl¬ 
edge. Every town in the power of foreigners ceases to be free, and every 
order which may proceed from them is the language of the enemy, or that 
which it suits his hostile views to propagate. You will be faithful to 

1 Jean Nompere de Champagny, Due de Cadore. One of the most worthy 
of Napoleon’s Ministers. Minister of the Interior from. 1804 to Angust, 1807, 
then Minister of Foreign Affairs to April, 1811, then honorably shelved as 
In tend ant General de la Couronne, and in 1814 appointed Secretary of the 
Regency. 
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your oaths. You will listen to the voice of a Princess who was1 consigned 
to your good faith, and whose highest pride consists in being a French¬ 
woman, and in being united to the destiny of the sovereign whom you have 
freely chosen. My son was less sure of your affections in the time of our 
prosperity; his rights and his person are under your safeguard. 

(By order) Montali vet. (Signed) Maria Louisa. 

Blois, 3d April, 1814. 

It is to be inferred that the Regency had within three days 
adopted the resolution of not quitting Blois, for the above doc¬ 

ument presents no blanks, nor words filled up in writing. The 

Empress’s proclamation, though a powerful appeal to the feel¬ 

ings of the French people, produced no* effect. Maria Louisa’s 
proclamation was dated the 4th of April, on the evening of 

which day Napoleon signed the conditional abdication, with 

the fate of which the reader has already been made acquainted. 
M. de Montali vet transmitted the Empress’s proclamation, 
accompanied by another circular, to the prefects, of whom 

very few received it. 
M. de Champagny, having left Blois with the letter he had 

received from the Empress, proceeded to the headquarters of 
the Emperor of Austria, carefully avoiding those roads which 

were occupied by Cossack troops. He arrived, not without 

considerable difficulty, at Ohanseaux, where Francis II. was 

expected. When the Emperor arrived the Due de Oadore was 

announced, and immediately introduced to his Majesty. The 

Duke remained some hours with Francis II., without being 
able to obtain from him anything but fair protestations. The 

Emperor always took refuge, behind the promise he had given 

to his Allies to approve whatever measures they might adopt. 

The Duke was not to leave the Emperor’s headquarters that 

evening, and, in the hope that his Majesty might yet reflect 

on the critical situation of his daughter, he asked permission 

1 I was informed that when the document was printed and presented to 
the Empress she drew her peri through the word ims, and made tbo sentence 
read as follows: “ You will listen to the voice of a Princess who has con¬ 
signed herself to your good faith,” etc. The unfortunate Princess did all she 
could to rally to her cause, and above all to the cause of her son, those whose 
resolutions were still wavering, and the truth is that, personally, Maria 
Louisa inspired real interest even in those who, from |K>fiey or regard for 
France, were most actively laboring to overthrow the Imperial despotism. — 
Bourrienne. 
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to take leave next morning. He accordingly presented him¬ 

self to the Emperor’s levee, when he renewed his efforts in 
support of the claims of Maria Louisa. “ I have a great 
affection for my daughter, and also for my son-in-law/’ said 

the Emperor. “ I bear them both in my heart, and would shed 
my blood for them.” — “ Ah, Sire ! ” exclaimed M. de Cham- 

pagny, “ such a sacrifice is not necessary.”—“ Yes, Duke,'I 
say again I would shed my blood, I would resign my life for 
them, but I have given my Allies a promise not to treat with¬ 

out them, and to approve all that they may do. Besides,” 
added the Emperor, “ my Minister, M. de Metternich, has gone 

to their headquarters, and I will ratify whatever he may sign.” 

When the Due de Cadore related to me the particulars of 
his mission, in which zeal could not work an impossibility, I 
remarked that he regarded as a circumstance fatal to Napo¬ 
leon the absence of M. de Metternich and the presence of 

M. Stadion at the headquarters of the Emperor of Austria. 
Though in all probability nothing could have arrested the 
course of events, yet it is certain that the personal senti¬ 

ments of the two Austrian Ministers towards Napoleon were 
widely different. I am not going too far when I affirm that, 

policy apart, M. de Metternich was much attached to Napo¬ 

leon.1 In support of this assertion I may quote a fact of 
which I can guarantee the authenticity. When M. de Metter¬ 

nich was complimented on the occasion of Maria Louisa’s mar¬ 
riage he replied, “ To have contributed to a measure which has 
received the approbation of 80,000,000 men is indeed a just 
subject of congratulation.” Such a remark openly made by 
the intelligent Minister of the Cabinet of Vienna was well 
calculated to gratify the ears of Napoleon, from whom, how¬ 
ever, M. de Metternich in his personal relations'did not con¬ 

ceal the truth. I recollect a reply which was made by M. de 
Metternich at Dresden after.a little hesitation. “As to you,” 
said the Emperor, “you will not go to war with me. It is 

impossible that you can declare yourselves against me. That 

can never be.” — “ Sire, we are not now quite allies, and some- 

i This attachment of Metternich to Napoleon was much believed in at 
the time; see De Vitrolles, tome i. pp. 69 and 78. 
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time lienee we may become enemies. I Ins hint was tin* last 

which Napoleon n reived from Mettcrnich, and Napoleon must 

have been blind indeed not. to have profited by it. As to M, 

Stadion, he entertained a profound dislike of the Emperor. 

That Minister knew and could not forget that his preceding 

exclusion from the Cabinet of \ iemia had been due to tin* alb 

powerful influence's of Napdeoti. 
Whether or not the absence of Met tendril influenced the 

resolution of Francis 11., it is certain t hat that monarch 
yielded nothing to the urgent solicitations of a Minister 

who conscientiously fulfilled the delicate mission consigned 
to him. M. de Ehampaguy rejoined the Empress at < h leans, 

whither she had repaired on lea\ ing Idols, He found Maria 

Louisa almost deserted, ail flie <fraud Idgnitarms of the 

Empire having successively returned to Laris utter sending 

in their submissions to the Provisional <iu\crnmenf. 

I had seamdy entered upm tie* exercise of mv fmictions as 

Post mas tr r-(»e n e rai when, on tie* morning ot the if* I of April, 

I was surprised to see a Prussian general officer enter my 

cabinet. I immediately recognized liim a 4 i tenoral Pdttvlier. 

He had eoinmandetl tin* Prussian army in tin* battle which 

took place at the gates of Paris. " Sir/* said tie, *» I consider 

it one of my first duties on entering Paris In thank \<m for 
the attention 1 received from you in Ifanilnirg. 1 am sorry 

that I was not sooimr aware of your bciiig in Paris, I assure 

you that had 1 been sooner informed of this cireumstanee 

the capitulation should have lieon mad** without a blow being 

struck. How much blond might then have been spared !” —* 

“(JeneraV* said If #*on what do you ground this 

— “ If I had known that you were in Paris I would have 

given you a letter to the King of Prunnia. That monarch, 

who knows the resources and intention# of the Allies, would, 

I am sure, have authorized you to decide a mspeitMtoii of arms 
before the neighlmrhood of Paris !*erftt*te the I heat 1 c of tin* 

war.” — u But,” reHUiiied I, in spite of the gmwl intent hum of 

the Allies, it would have Itoeti verv dilheult to prevent resist¬ 

ance. French pride, irritated as if was by reverse*, would 

have insurmountable olmBude* to such n iiieasiirc.” 
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“ But, good heavens ! you would have seen that resistance 

could be of no avail against such immense masses.” — “ You 

are right, General; but French honor would have been de¬ 

fended to the last.” ■— u I am fully aware of that; but surely 

you have earned glory enough ! ” — “ Yet our French suscepti¬ 

bility would have made us look upon that glory as tarnished 
if Baris had been occupied without defence. . . . But under 

present circumstances I am well pleased that you were satis¬ 

fied with my conduct in Hamburg, for it induces me to hope 

that you will observe the same moderation in Paris that I 
exercised there. The days art*, past when it could be said, 

Woe to tin* conquered.” — “ You are right; yet,” added he, 
smiling, u you know we are called the northern barbarians.” — 

“Then, General,” returned I, “you have a fair opportunity of 
showing that that designation is a libel.” 

Some days after Blucher’s visit I had the honor olf being 
admitted to a private audienee of the King of Prussia. Clarke 
and Berthier were also received in this audience, which took 

place at the hotel of Prince Fugdne, where the King of Prus¬ 

sia resided in Paris. We waited for some minutes in the 

salon, and when Frederick William entered from his cabinet I 

remarked on his countenance an air of embarrassment and 
austerity which convinced me that he had been studying his 

part, as great personages an*, in the habit of doing on similar 

occasions. The King on entering the salon first noticed 

Berthier, whom he addressed with much kindness, bestowing 

praises on the French troops, and complimenting the Marshal 

on his conduct during the war in Germany. Berthier returned 

thanks for these well-merited praises, for though he was not 
remarkable, for strength of understanding or energy of mind, 

yet, he was not a bad man, and I have known many proofs of 

his good conduct in conquered countries. 

After saluting Berthier the King of Prussia turned towards 
Clarke, and his countenance immediately assumed an expres¬ 

sion of dissatisfae! ion. He had evidently not forgotten Clarke’s 

conduct in Berlin, He reminded him that he. had rendered 

the Continental system more odious than it was in itself, and 

that he hud shown no moderation in the execution of his orders. 
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“ In short,” said Ms Majesty, “ if I have any advice to give 
you, it is that you never again return to Prussia.” The King 

pronounced these words in so loud and decided a tone that 
Clarke was perfectly confounded. He uttered some unintelli¬ 

gible observations, which, however, Frederick William did not 

notice, for suddenly turning towards me he said, with an air 
of affability, “ Ah! M. de Bourrienne, I am glad to see you, 

and I take this opportunity of repeating what I wrote to you 
from Konigsberg. You always extended protection to the 

Germans, and did all you could to alleviate their condition. 
I learned with great satisfaction what you did for the Prus¬ 

sians whom the fate of war drove into Hamburg; and I feel 

pleasure in telling you, in the presence of these two gentle¬ 
men, that if all the French agents had acted as you did we 

should not, probably, be here.” I expressed, by a profound 
bow, how much I was gratified by this complimentary address,1 
and the King, after saluting us, retired. 

About the middle of April Bernadotte arrived in Paris. 
His situation had become equivocal, since circumstances had 

banished the hopes he might have conceived in his interview 
with the Emperor Alexander at Abo. Besides, he had been 
represented in some official pamphlets as a traitor to France, 
and among certain worshippers of our injured glory there pre¬ 

vailed a feeling of irritation, and which was unjustly directed 
towards Bernadotte. 

I even remember that Napoleon, before he had fallen from 

his power, had a sort of national protest made by the police 
against the Prince Royal of Sweden. This Prince had re¬ 

served an hdtel in the Rue d’Anjou, and the words, “Down 
with the traitor ! down with the perjurer,” were shouted there; 
but this had no result, as it was only considered an outrage 
caused by a spirit of petty vengeance. 

While Bernadotte was in Paris I saw him every day. He 

but faintly disguised from me the hope he had entertained of 
ruling France; and in the numerous conversations to which 

our respective occupations led I ascertained, though Berna¬ 
dotte did not formally tell me so, that he once had strong 
expectations of succeeding Napoleon. 

1 At the expense of his countryman. 
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Pressed at last into his final intrenchments he broke 
through, all reserve and confirmed all I knew of the interview 
of Abo. 

I asfced Bernadotte what he thought of the projects which 
were attributed to Moreau; whether it was true that he had 
in him a competitor, and whether Moreau had aspired to the 

dangerous honor of governing France. “ Those reports/’ 
replied the Prince Royal of Sweden, “ are devoid of founda¬ 

tion : at least I can assure you that in the conversations I 
have had with the Emperor Alexander, that sovereign never 
said anything which could warrant such a supposition. I 

know that the Emperor of Russia wished to avail himself of 
the military talents of Moreau in the great struggle that had 
commenced, and to enable the exiled general to return to his 

country, in the hope that, should the war prove fortunate, he 

would enjoy the honors and privileges due to his past ser¬ 
vices.” 

Bernadotte expressed to me astonishment at the recall of 
the Bourbons, and assured me that he had not expected the 

French people would so readily have consented to the Res¬ 
toration. I confess I was surprised that Bernadotte, with 
the intelligence I knew him to possess, should imagine that 
the will of subjects has any influence in changes of govern¬ 
ment ! 

During his stay in Paris Bernadotte evinced for me the 
same sentiments of friendship which he had shown me at 
Hamburg. One day 1 received from him a letter, dated Paris, 
with which he transmitted to me one of the crosses of the 
Polar Star, which the King of Sweden had left at his disposal. 

Bernadotte was not very well satisfied with his residence in 
Paris, in spite of the friendship which the Emperor Alexander 
constantly manifested towards him. After a few days he set 
out for Sweden, having first taken leave of Comte d’Artois. 

I did not see him after his farewell visit to the Count, so that 
I know not what was the nature of the conversation which 

passed between the two Princes.1 

1 Mettemich (vol i. p, 208) says, ** It does not admit of a doubt that the 
Crown Prince (Bernadotte) had personal designs on the throne of France. 
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Even if his operations in the campaigns of 1813 and 1814 did not furnish the 
actual proof of the existence of this pretension, the words spoken by him 
would be equivalent to a confession.” Receiving news of the victory of Gros- 
beeren, “ Bernadotte cried out enthusiastically, ‘ La France au plus digne.’ 
— ‘Grands Dieux! ’ answered Pozzo, ‘la France est a moi.5 The Crown 
Prince was silent.” Metternich (vol. i. p. 225) says that at Langres, in 1814, 
Bernadotte was at once suggested if any person except a Bourbon or the son 
of Napoleon were to hold the crown. De Vitrolles (tome i. p. 462) dates 
Bernadotte’s hopes of the crown from his interview with the Czar at Abo in 
1812, when only Lord Cathcart, the English Ambassador, was present. It 
was this pretension on the part of Bernadotte that made him so anxious to 
avoid striking any great blow in 1813 with his Swedes against the French. 
Muffling (p. 82), after describing how Blucher, being informed of the daily pro¬ 
gressive measures which the Crown Prince adopted to prove to the French 
army that he acted not only as their countryman but as their friend, and how 
far be was from wishing to destroy them by his Swedes, or to shed their 
blood, says that Blucher marched to his right to obviate all political high 
treason. “Thus one of the three Frenchmen summoned by the sovereigns 
to assist them in conquering Napoleon had to be watched by an army of 
100,000 men! ” “ It was to Lord Stewart’s threat to withdraw the English 
subsidy if Bernadotte would not advance to Leipsic that,” says Muffling (p. 
87), “the plains of Breitenfeld are indebted for the honor of being trodden 
by a successor of the great King of Sweden.” Blucher’s suspicions may have 
had some foundation See Marmont, tome vii. pp. 26-28, where he says that 
Bernadotte, in 1814, was in communication with General Maison, command¬ 
ing a French corps in Flanders (a former aide de vamp of his), and offered to 
disarm the Prussian corps under his orders, and then to pass over to the 
French. He only required from Napoleon a promise in writing to procure 
for him another sovereignty if he thus lost his claims to the throne of Swe¬ 
den. Napoleon refused to sign the engagement himself, offering that it 
should be signed by his brother Joseph; and the affair thus fell to the ground 
from want of mutual confidence. Napoleon let Alexander receive Benia- 
dotte’s communication, and the Czar informed Bernadotte that lie forgave 
him on account of his previous conduct, hut made him engage to leave 
France at once. So says Marmont, without professing to have seen any 
proofs, but remarking that the sudden departure of Bernadotte from Paris 
was thus explained. For the feelings of the Restoration as to Bernadotte’s 
retention of his position in 1815, see Talleyrand’s Correspondence, vol. ii.pp. 
6, 7, where a distinction is drawn between him and Murat. “It is,” says 
Talleyrand, “ an evil, a very great evil, that that man should have been 
called upon to succeed to the throne of Sweden. But it is an evil which, if 
ever it can be remedied at all, can only be remedied by time, and the events 
that time will bring.” 
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REMARKS ON THE FOREGOING MAP. 

It is-an interesting question to consider what in Napoleon’s mind was to 
be the real extent of his dominions. By comparing the map of the 
French Empire given in this volume with what we know of Napoleon’s 
ideas it appears clear that he had formed a well-considered plan of 
dominion, not only practicable, but which he had actually carried out 
almost to completion; though, like many of his plans, well grounded in 
itself, it suffered from the extravagant and rash attempts which often 
ruined the results of his usually prudent course. France, spreading to 
the Rhine, holding the passages of that river, extending to the Pyrenees 
and the Alps, and threatening England by her possession of Belgium and 
Holland, was to form a compact centralized State able to throw her armies 
with overwhelming force on any country daring to rebel. The greater 
part of Germany was to be composed of small States, each far too weak 
in itself to oppose the dominant power, but still large enough to look 
with jealousy on any attempt of its neighbors to absorb it. French laws 
and customs introduced into this Confederation, misnamed “ of the 
Rhine,” would have gradually assimilated it to France; and in a hundred 
years it might have been as difficult to separate it from France as it was 
with Alsace in 1870. Here the power of France was to stop at all events 
for a long period. As he himself said to Metternieh in 1808, “ I only wish 
for direct influence in Europe to the banks of the Rhine, and indirectly as 
far as the Elbe, the Inn, and the Isonzo. The thing is quite simple; I 
think I am the stronger for not going as far as the Vistula, but keeping 
myself more concentrated. Prussia will become the strongest power of 
the second order. ... I do not desire to extend my influence beyond the 
natural line I have pointed out to you” (Metternieh, vol. ii. p. 256). 
Here we have Napoleon in one of his best moods. Prussia and Austria, 
outlying States, too weak to resist, were to be left till in course of time 
the rising tide of French influence would overflow their frontiers and 
they too would assume the same position as Bavaria already held. The 
Austrian marriage probably saved Austria from further dismemberment. 
She was to remain a State nominally of the first order: indeed, by giving 
up her Polish provinces, she was to regain her lands on the east of the 
Adriatic as well as the former Venetian dominions there; that is, she was 
to receive the lands shown on the map as in the possession of Napoleon 
as the Illyrian provinces. Further, she had hopes held out to her of 
receiving part of Turkey; see Metternieh, vol. i. p. 137. Thus Austria 
would have then held the position into which she was forced in 1886, — 
that of a State watching Russia, abandoning all hope of increasing her 
dominions in Germany, and looking for any further increase towards 
Turkey. The Duchy of Warsaw, increased by the Polish provinces of 
Russia and Austria, would have been in fact, and probably in name, a 
revived Poland, watching Russia and looking to France for protection. 
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The North of Italy, gradually formed into one State, would have, in 
course of time as the old petty jealousies died out (a long process, as 
Napoleon knew), become a State strong enough to aid France, but too 
weak to be able to stand alone. Scattered as it were round the Conti¬ 
nent, the dependent Kings of Sweden, Denmark, Naples, and Spain were 
to look to France for their protection. 

It is important to remember that almost the whole of this was actually 
accomplished by Napoleon at the time when he threw away all the results 
of liis labors by his mad attack on Spain. Metternich himself acknowl¬ 
edges that the middle of Germany was contented. “ The people of those 
German States whose territory had been enlarged by the peace of Pres- 
burg (1805) and the peace of Vienna (1809) were contented with these 
and the protection of the conqueror of the world. ... In Austria . . . 
the expression ‘German feeling’ had no more meaning than a myth” 
(Metternich, vol. i. p. 166). See also Metternich’s confession of Austria’s 
weakness even in 1813 (Metternich, vol. i. p. 177). There remained one 
thing—the inevitable attack on Russia. If we can imagine this carried 
out in the way we know Napoleon originally planned, a slow, gradual 
advance, supported by the new Polish State which was to grow up behind 
the army, the whole movement unhurried by the pressure in Spain, and 
his full prestige undimmed by the Spanish troubles, we must feel sure 
that Russia never could have withstood the shock. The ultimate defeat 
of Napoleon is no argument against the success of his really great plan: 
he fell not so much by the efforts of the Allies as from his own errors. 
He had placed France in a situation where she only required ordinary 
statesmanship and ordinary military talents to enable her to retain 
dominion over the Continent. The common error of believing that he 
aimed at making the whole of Europe in his time an integral part of his 
Empire hardly needs refutation. 

It will be seen that the map presents some inconsistencies with this 
view of the Empire. But most of these can be explained. Napoleon 
held the Illyrian provinces, partly for a temporary purpose, to cut off 
Austria from the sea and so to carryout his Continental system, —chiefly 
to eventually use them as a bribe to Austria to yield her own Polish 
provinces and to consent to the revival of Poland. The annexation of 
the North of Germany was due to the wish to carry out the Continental 
system, and it is hardly possible that it was intended to be permanent.. 
These lands would have probably been used for exchanges. 

The retention by Napoleon of part of the North of Italy is not quite 
so easy to explain. It was probably partly due to his tendency to display 
a cqrious jealousy and distrust of his own creations. By the retention oi 
these lands he retained a hold over the new Kingdom of Italy. But, 
what is more likely to have been his chief motive, he made the task oi 
that Kingdom easier by lessening the number of the States she had to 
absorb, He himself, we know, was much impressed with the time required 
for t&e growth of a really national feeling in Italy; and the presence of 
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the French in Italy was alike a protection against Austria and a pressure 
exerted for the unification of the rest of the North of Italy. These lands 
would probably soon have been given to the Kingdom of Italy. 

It is not so safe to prophesy what were his intentions in announcing 
and commencing the annexation of the provinces of Spain on the left of 
the Ebro. This measure was certainly partly intended as a threat to the 
Spaniards if they continued their resistance, to show them they might 
have to bear with a greater disaster than a foreign King, and it was-partly 
induced by the greater facility for governing the provinces under direct 
French rule than through the weak Joseph. 

This, however, is the only real difficulty the map presents. We there 
see a thoroughly practicable scheme for the permanent maintenance of 
French ascendency over the Continent. 

In some maps Catalonia is shown as actually part of the French Empire. 
This is an error. Though the decree for the annexation was given, and 
though that province was made one of the Military Governments practi¬ 
cally removed from the power of Joseph, the last formal step, that of 
annexing it by Senatus-consulte, was never taken. The matter can be 
followed in detail in Du Casse’s Memoirs of Joseph, tomes vii. viii. In 
what is probably the best authority — Spruner-Menke, Hand Atlas, dritte 
auflage, Gotha, Perthes, 1880, map 56 — Catalonia is left to Spain. 

The following list of the more important annexations made under the 
actual government of Napoleon may be interesting. 1800, Country on 
left of Sesia taken from Piedmont and given to the Cisalpine Republic. 
Louisiana to west of Mississippi, with New Orleans, ceded by Louis XV. 
to Spain, is now given back by Spain, but is sold by France to the United 
States in 1803. 1801, Austria confirms the possession by France of the 
left bank of the Rhine, and again cedes Austrian Lombardy to the Cisal¬ 
pine Republic; Tuscany formed into Kingdom of Etruria. 1802, Elba and 
Piedmont on right of the Sesia. 1805, Genoa; Austria cedes to Kingdom 
of Italy her share of the Venetian mainland possessions, Venice, Istria, 
Dalmatia, Bouches du Cattaro, and the mainland to the Adige. 1806, 
Neufcli&tel, Berg, and Cleves (Anspach ceded by Prussia to France but 
exchanged with Bavaria for Berg). 1808, Flushing, Kehl, Cassel, and 
Wesel, Parma, Piacenza, and Tuscany (or Kingdom of Etruria) annexed 
to France, and Urbino, Ancona, Macerata, and Camerino to the Kingdom 
of Italy. 1809, part of Carintliia, Trieste, Istria, Carniola, etc., ceded by 
Austria. 1810, Holland, the Hanse Towns (Hamburg, Liibeck, and 
Bremen) with northern coast line of Germany, Ratisbon, the Valais, the 
Papal States, and Rome; Ragusa. 1812, Dantzic. The dates of annexa¬ 
tion here given are those of the formal Senatus-consulte ; the annexation 
was often carried out by a decree of earlier date. If this list be compared 
with that of the various Republics (vol. iii. p. 145), and with the descrip¬ 
tion of the Kingdom of Westphalia (vol. iii. p. 88) and of the Grand 
Duchy of Warsaw (vol. iii. p. 74), the map will be the better understood. 
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THE PREPARATIONS FOR THE RUSSIAN 

CAMPAIGN. 

4* As far bark as the winter of IS 10 Napoleon formed the project of 
attacking Russia, and of reducing her to the state of dependence which 
had become the lot of the great (Herman monarchies. He originally 
intended to declare war in the spring or summer of 1811, and to limit his 
efforts to a campaign on tin* Niemen; hut, as his preparations were not 
then complete, and the hesitating policy of the Russian ('abinet, alarmed 
at tlit* prospect before if, seemed to assure him time to mature his plans, 
he delayed the enterprise, till the following year, and finally decided that 
it should assume the most formidable pro|s>rtions. Napoleon’s general 
design, apart from the extravagance of the original conception, was 
marked by the profound skill in stratagem, the clear insight, and the 
admirable combinations which almost always distinguished hfs strategy. 
Though he continued the exhausting contest in Spain, lie resolved to 
collect and draw together an army of such overwhelming strength that 
it could safely attempt to subdue Russia, and, compelling Austria and 
Prussia to join him, to move It gradually to the hanks of the Nsemen, 
and launch It thence Info the heart of the Russian Empire, The positions 
he held ujh>ii the Vistula, and almost ujam the Russian frontier, would 
enable him, he confidently hoped, to screen this o|w»mtion for a consider¬ 
able time; his domination over Northern Germany would give him the 
means of directing Ids masses in security from the Rhine and tIn* Ella*; 
and between the vacillations of the < */iir and the truce and submission of 
Kurogx*, he calculated that lie would succeed in reaching the Niemen in 
commanding force without encountering real opposition, The difficulties 
of the immense distances, the barren soil, and the climate of Russia re¬ 
mained yet to be met. and completed; but lie had coped with them In 
1807, and he would make sufficient provision against them. The great 
trading-ports on the North German seaboard should be made the basis of 
his o|»eratfo»«; vast magazines should la* formed In them, and their sup¬ 
plies Ik*, sent into Russia by water-carriage along the Frisehe Half; and, 
without foregoing a bold offensive* the army should hear along mill* It 
the means of subsistence In ample <{ mint I ties together with all its other 
material, ‘The obstacles In my way are great/ wrote Napoleon, in a 
confidential letter, when ruminating tm his vast project, * but with the 
appliances I can command we shall Ik* able lit devour all olmtacles/ 

4i The inter months of 1811 and the first of tin* succeed lug year were 
employed by Napoleon In prepaiafioim for carrying out this gigantic 
design* France answered bravely hk amnutiotxft to arms, and masses of 
conscripts were added to the legions which, though terribly thinned by 
the havoc and privations of war, %till contained Mildlem of Marengo and 
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Austerlitz. At th<* same time the call to the field was obeyed throughout 
all parts of the Empire; the Princes of the Confederation of the Khine 
were ordered to muster their contingents; armed men were raised and 
collected in thousands in Poland, in Holland, in the wilds of Illyria, and 
even in the conquered provinces of Spain; a great, army was marshalled 
in Italy and held in readiness to cross the Alps; and treaties were, made 
with Amdiiu and Prussia, by which these Powers pledged themselves to 
furnish considerable additions to the huge force which was being directed 
against their old ally. Meanwhile, Germany being nearly as much under 
the control of Napoleon as France itself, arrangements were made on a 
great scale for the transport ami subsistence of troops along the space 
from the Elbe to the Niemen; the granaries of Poland were moved to the 
seaboard, and accumulated in numerous depot# from tin* Oder and Vistula 
to the Pregel; the important fortresses of Bantzie and Kdnigsberg were 
strengthened, ami made vast places of arms capable of satisfying the needs 
of whole corps d'anuec, and abundantly provided with magazines and war¬ 
like material of all kinds; the navigation of tin*. Frische Ilaff and Curisehe 
Haff was carefully surveyed and connected with that of the Pregel and 
Niemen; and carriages, wagons, and carts were constructed in thousands 
to bear the supplies of the host which was destined to move into the 
plains of Russia. 

** Though It was of course impossible to conceal them altogether, 
Najwdeon masked these immense preparations with extraordinary dexter¬ 
ity ami art; ami whatever may lie thought of his good faith, his conduct 
was marked with the highest ability. While he strained every nerve to 
accomplish hK objects he deceived the Gzar, only too anxious to conjure 
away what upjmarcd destruction, with the pretence of negotiation and 
peace; he assured 1dm that the condition of Germany was the real cause 
of Ills great armaments; anti such was the success of his guile that his 
dispositions were far advanced and his troops in motion at all points before 
Alexander was convinced of the truth. By the early spring of 1812 the 

Emperor had moo* than men in readiness for the intended enter¬ 
prise; and under his guidance tills enormous force, still widely scattered 
throughout tin* Empire, mm gradually directed towards the theatre of 
operations* While Kiigtuni Be&uharnats with the Italian army crossed 
the Brenner and rallied the Bavarian contingent, Davoust, with the van¬ 
guard of fit© main host* advanced to the Vistula across Germany, con¬ 
necting himself with a Polish corps under Ponlatowskl, in the Grand 
Gnehy of Warsaw, am! wifi* the armies of the North German cities: the 
remaining division* of the Immense array drawing together from tin*. 
Rhine, the Maine, and the Elite, and marching forward In dense proces¬ 
sion, 4$M*xt men were destined to begin the invasion and to cross the 
Niemen In the first instance^ being kept in second line to main¬ 
tain the roftiifittnleiit Urns* to observe Germany, and to supply the inevita¬ 
ble waste of war; and, with the Austrian and Prussian contingents, not 
!#§«, than tU O.OOO soldier* were marshalled under the Imperial eagles in 
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March and April, 1812. The advance of these enormous masses across 
Germany towards the Russian frontier was purposely made methodical and 
slow, for Napoleon wished to preserve the appearance of negotiating till 
the last moment; he was anxious not to fatigue his troops; and he had 
resolved not to open the campaign until the summer growth of the herb¬ 
age should enable his myriads of horses to subsist in the plains of Poland 
and Lithuania. When, however, his host had been collected within a 
short distance of the Russian frontier, his intention was to strike rapidly 
at once; and, notwithstanding the difficulties in his way, he hoped that 
his operations would be as brilliant as those of Jena and Eriedland ” 
(Temple Bar, “ The Campaign of Moscow,” vol. lxiii. pp. 97-99). 

Napoleon’s own means of transport was not neglected, and a special 
carriage was built for him at Brussels, and elaborately fitted up with 
every convenience for a long campaign. A very complete account of this 
vehicle will be found in Captain Malet’s Annals of the Road (London, 
Longmans, 1876). 

“ Napoleon’s carriage taken at Waterloo was presented to the Prince 
Regent, by whom it was afterwards sold to a Mr. Bullock for £2500. 
It eventually found its way to Madame Tussaud’s Waxwork Exhibition, 
where it may still be seen. 

“This very curious and convenient chariot was built by Symons of 
Brussels for the Russian campaign, and is adapted for the various purposes 
of a pantry and a kitchen, for it has places for holding and preparing 
refreshments which, by the aid of a lamp, could be heated in the carriage. 
It served also for a bedroom, a dressing-room, an office, etc. 

“The seat is divided into two by a partition about six inches high. 
The exterior of this ingenious vehicle is of the form and dimensions of 
our large English travelling-chariot, except that it has a projection in 
front of about two feet, the right-hand half of which is open to the inside 
to receive the feet, thus forming a bed, while the left-hand half contained 
a store of various useful things. 

“ Beyond the projection in front, and nearer to the horses, was the seat 
for the coachman, contrived so as to prevent the driver from viewing the 
interior of the carriage, and yet so placed as to afford those within a clear 
sight of the horses and of the surrounding country. Beneath this seat 
was a receptacle for a box, about two and a half feet in length and four 
inches deep, containing a bedstead of polished steel which could be fitted 
up in a couple of minutes. Over the front windows was a roller blind of 
canvas, which when pulled down excluded rain while it admitted air. * 

“ On the ceiling of the carriage is a network for carrying small travel¬ 
ling requisites. In a recess there was a secretaire, ten inches by eighteen, 
which contained nearly a hundred articles presented to Napoleon by Maria 
Louisa, under whose care it was fitted up with every luxury and conven¬ 
ience that could be imagined. It contained, besides the usual requisites 
for a dressing-box (most of which were of solid gold), a magnificent break¬ 
fast service with plates, candlesticks, knives, forks, spoons, a spirit-lamp 
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for making breakfast in tlie carriage, a gold case for Napoleon’s gold 
wash-hand basin, a number of essence bottles, and a variety of minute 
articles, such as needles and thread. 

“ At the bottom of this toilet-box, in a recess, were found, in 1815,2000 
gold Napoleons — on the top of it were writing-materials, a liquor-case, 
a wardrobe, writing-desk, maps, telescopes, pistols, etc., a large silver 
chronometer, by which the watches of the army were regulated, two 
merino mattresses, a travelling-cap, a sword, a uniform, and an imperial 
mantle and headdress ” (p. 18). 
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CHAPTEB I. 

1814. 

Unalterable determination of the Allies with respect to Napoleon — Fon¬ 
tainebleau included in the limits to be occupied by the Allies — Alexan¬ 
der’s departure from Paris—Napoleon informed of the necessity of liis 
unconditional abdication — Macdonald and Noy again sent to Paris — Al¬ 
leged attempt of Napoleon to poison himself — Farewell interview be¬ 
tween Macdonald and Napoleon—The sabre of Murad Bey — Signature 
of the act of unconditional abdication—Tranquillity of Paris during the 
change of Government — Ukase of the Emperor of Russia relative to the 
Post-oillee — Religious ceremony on the Place Louis XV. Arrival of the 
Comte <PArtois — Ilis entrance into Paris — Arrival of the Emperor of 
Austria — Singular assemblage of sovereigns in France—Visit of the 
Emperor of Austria to Maria Louisa — Her interview with the Emperor 
Alexander — Her departure for Vienna. 

When Marmont loft Paris on tlie receipt of the intelligence 
from Essonne, Marshals Macdonald and Key and the Duke of 
Vicenza waited upon the Emperor Alexander to learn his 
resolution before he could have been informed of the move¬ 
ment of Marmont’s troops. I myself went during the morn¬ 
ing to the hotel of M. de Talleyrand, and it was there I 
learnt how what we had hoped for had become fact: the 
matter was completely denuded. The Emperor Alexander had 
walked out at six in the morning to the residence of the King 
of Prussia in the Rue de Bourbon. The two sovereigns after¬ 
wards proceeded together to M. de Talleyrand’s, where they 
were when Napoleon’s Commissioners arrived. The Com¬ 
missioners being introduced to the two sovereigns, the Empe- 

1 
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ror Alexander, in answer to their proposition, replied that the 

Regency was impossible, as submissions to flit* Provisional 

Government were pouring in from all parts, and that if the 

army had formed eontrary wishes those should have been 

sooner made known. “ Sire,1' observed Maedonald, “that was 

impossible, as none of t he Marshals were in Paris, and besides, 

who could foresee the turn whieh ail airs have taken 7 Gould 

we imagine that an unfounded alarm would have removed 

from Kssonne the corps of the 1 hike oi Ragusa, who has this 

moment left us to bring his troops hack to order ? " These 

words produced no change in the determination ot the sove¬ 

reigns, who would hear of nothing but the unconditional 

abdication of Napoleon. Before the Marshals took leave of 

the Emperor Alexander they solicited an armistice of forty- 

eight hours, whieh time they said was indispensable to nego¬ 

tiate the act of abdication with Napoleon. This request was 

granted without hesitation, and the Emperor Alexander, show¬ 

ing Maedonald a map of the environs of Paris, courteously 

presented him with a pencil, saying, 44 Hore, Marshal, mark 

yourself the limits to he observed by the two armies/1 •«- “ No, 

Sire," replied Maedonald, u we are tin* conquered party, and 

it is for you to mark the line of demarcation.11 Alexander 

determined that tin* right hank of tin* Seine should be occu¬ 
pied by the Allied troops, and the left bank by the French ; 

hut it was observed that this arrangement would be attended 

with inconvenience, m it would cut Paris in two, and it was 
agreed that the line should turn Paris. I have been informed 

that on a map sent to the Austrian staff to acquaint Prince 

ttchwartmiberg with the limits definitively agreed on, Fontaine- 

bleau, the Emperor's headquarters, was by mmm artful means 

included within the line. The Austrians acted so implicitly 

on this direction that Marshal Macdonald was obliged to com¬ 
plain on the subject to Alexander, who removed all obstacles. 

When, in discussing the question of the alslication conform¬ 

ably with the instructions lie had received, Maedonald 

observed to the Emperor Alexander that Napoleon wished 
fas nothing for himself, “ Assure him/1 replied Alexander, 

“that a provision shall be made for him worthy of the rank 
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he has occupied. Tell him that if he wishes to reside in my 
States he shall be well received, though he brought desolation 
there. I shall always remember the friendship which united 
us. He shall have the island, of Elba, or something else. 
After taking leave of the Emperor Alexander, on the 5th of 
April, Napoleon's Commissioners returned to Fontainebleau 
to render an account of their mission. I saw Alexander that 

same day, and it appeared to me that his mind was relieved 
of a great weight by the question of the Regency being 

brought to an end. I was informed that he intended to quit 
Paris in a few days, and that he had given full powers to M. 

Pozzo-di-Borgo, whom he appointed his Commissioner to the 

Provisional Government. 
On the same day, the 5th of April, Napoleon inspected his 

troops in the Palace yard of Fontainebleau. He observed 
some coolness among his officers, and even among the private 
soldiers, who had evinced such enthusiasm when he inspected 

them on the 2d of April. He was so much affected by this 
change of conduct that he remained but a short time on the 

parade, and afterwards retired to his apartments. 
About one o'clock on the morning of the 6th of April Ney, 

Macdonald, and Caulaincourt arrived at Fontainebleau to 
acquaint the Emperor with the issue of their mission, and the 

sentiments expressed by Alexander when they took leave of 
him. Marshal Ney was the first to announce to Napoleon 

that the Allies required his complete and unconditional abdi¬ 
cation, unaccompanied by any stipulation, except that of his 

personal safety, which should be guaranteed. Marshal Mac¬ 
donald and the Duke of Vicenza then spoke to the same 
effect, but in more gentle terms than those employed by Ney, 
who was but little versed in the courtesies of speech. When 
Marshal Macdonald had finished speaking Napoleon said with 

some emotion, “ Marshal, I am sensible of all that you have 
done for me, and of the warmth with which you have pleaded 
the cause of my son. They wish for my complete and uncon¬ 

ditional abdication. . . . Very well. ... I again empower 

you to act on my behalf. You shall go and defend my inter¬ 
ests and those of my family." Then, after a moment’s pause, 
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he added, still addressing Maedonald, " Marshal, where shall 

I go ? ” Macdonald then informed the Emperor what Alex¬ 

ander had mentioned in the hypothesis of his wishing to 

reside in Russia. “ Hire,” added he, “ the Emperor of Russia 

told me that he destined for you the island of Elba, or some¬ 

thing else.” — “ Or something else ! ” repeated .Napoleon has¬ 
tily . . . “ and what is that something else ? ” — “ Sire, I 

know not.” — “Ah! it is doubtless the island of Oorsiea, and 

he refrained from mentioning it to avoid embarrassment! 

Marshal, I leave all to you.” 
The* Marshals returned to Paris as soon as Napoleon fur¬ 

nished them with new powers; Oaulaineonrt remained at 
Fontaim*hh*au. On arriving in Paris Marshal Ney sent in 

his adhesion to the. Provisional Government, ho that when 

Macdonald returned to Fontainebleau to convey to Napoleon 

the definitive treaty of the Allies, Ney did not aeeompany 

him, and the Emperor expressed surprise and dissatisfaetion 

at his absence. Ney, as all his friends eoneur in admitting, 

expended his whole energy in battle, and often wanted reso¬ 

lution when out of the held, consequently 1 was not surprised 
to find that he joined us before some other of his eomrades. 

As to Macdonald, he was one of those generous spirits who 
may he most confidently relied on by those who have wronged 

them. Napoleon experienced the, truth of this. Maedonald 

returned alone to Fontainebleau, and when he entered the 

Emperor's ehamber he found him seated in a small ann-ehair 

before the fireplace. He was dressed in a morning-gown of 

white dimity, and he wore his slippers without stockings. 

His allows rested on his knees and his head was supported 
by his hands. He was motionless, and seemed absorbed in 

profound reflection. Only two persons were in the apart¬ 
ment, the Duke of Bassano, who was at a little distanee from 

the Emperor, and Oanlaineourt, who was near the fireplace. 

So profound was Napoleon’s reverie that he did not hear 

Maedonald enter, and tin* Duke of Vieenm was obliged to 
inform him of the. Marshal’s presence, “ Hire,” said Haulain- 

oourt, u the Duke of Tarantula has brought for your signature 

the treaty which is to be ratified to-morrow.” The Emperor 
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then, as if roused from a lethargic, slumber, turned to Mac¬ 

donald, and merely said, “ Ah, Marshal! so you are here ! ” 

Napoleon’s countenance was so altered that the Marshal, 
struck with the change, said, as if it were involuntarily, “ Is 

your Majesty indisposed?” — “Yes,” answered Napoleon, 

“ I have passed a very had night.” 1 
The Emperor continued seated for a moment, then rising, 

he took the treaty, read it without making any observations, 

signed it, and returned it to the Marshal, saying, “ I am not 

now rich enough to reward these last services.* — “Sire, 

interest, never guided my conduct.” — “I know that, and I 
now see how I have been deceived respecting you. I also see 
the designs of those who prejudiced me against you.” — “ Sire, 
I have already told you, since 1809 I am devoted to you in 

life and death.” — “I know it. But since I cannot reward 

you as I would wish, let a token of remembrance, inconsider¬ 

able though it be, assure you that I shall ever bear in mind 

the services you have rendered me.” Then turning to Caulain- 
court Napoleon said, “Vicenza, ask for the sabre which was 
given me by Murad Bey in Egypt, and which I wore at the 

battle of Mount Thabor.” Constant having brought the 
sabre, the Emperor took it from the hands of Caulaincourt 
and presented it to the Marshal. “ Here, my faithful friend,” 
said he, “ is a reward which I believe will gratify you.” Mac¬ 

donald on receiving the sabre said, “If ever I have a son, 
Sire, this will be his most precious inheritance. I will never 
part with it as long as I live.” — “ Give me your hand,” said 

1 It has been alleged that on the night preceding Macdonald’s return to 
Fontainebleau Napoleon made an attempt to poison himself. But as I have 
no certain knowledge respecting this affair I shall not, as some persons have 
done, hazard conjectures on the subject. The circumstance was decidedly 
contradicted by Napoleon in his conversation at St. Helena. The only per¬ 
son who can remove the doubts which exist on the subject is Constant, who, 
X have been informed, never left Napoleon the whole night. — Bow'riennp. 

[Constant, in his Memoirs, confirms the report of Napoleon having taken 
poison at Fontainebleau. He states that on the night of the 11th of April he 
was suddenly called up on account of the Emperor’s indisposition. On en¬ 
tering Napoleon’s chamber he perceived in the fireplace a small leathern 
bag tied by a black ribbon, which he knew had contained opium, and which 
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the Emperor, “and embrace me.” At these words Napoleon 

and Macdonald affectionately rushed into each other’s anus, 

and parted with tears in their eyes. Such was the last inter¬ 

view between Macdonald and Napoleon. I had the above 

particulars from the Marshal himself in 1814, a few days 

after he returned to Paris with the treaty ratified by Napo¬ 

leon. 

After the clauses of the treaty had been guaranteed Napo¬ 

leon signed, on the 11th of April, at Fontainebleau, his act of 

abdication*, which was in the following terms: — “ The Allied 
'powers haobig proclaimed that the Emperor Napoteoji is the 

only obstacle to the re-estaldishm cut of peace in Europe, the 

Mmperor Napoleon, faithful to his oath, declares that he re¬ 

nounces for himself and his heirs the thrones of France and 
Italy, and that there is no personal saerijice% even that of life, 
which he is not ready to make for the interests of Fra neeP 

[See the autograph at side.] 
It was not until after Bonaparte had written and signed the 

above act that Marshal Macdonald sent, to the Provisional 
Government his recognition, expressed in the following digni¬ 

fied and simple manner: — u Being released from my allegiance 
by the abdication of the Emperor Napoleon, I declare that I 

conform to the acts of the Senate and the Provisional Govern¬ 

ment.” It is worthy of remark that Napoleon’s act of abdi¬ 
cation was published in the Moniteur on the 12th of April, 

the very day on which the Ornate <P Artois maths his entry 

into Paris with the, title of Ifieutenant-General of the King¬ 

dom conferred cm him by Louis XVIII. The 12th of April 

was also the day on which the Imperial army fought its last 

battle before Toulouse,1 when the French troops, commanded 

by Sou It, made Wellington purchase so dearly his entrance 

into the, south of France. 

Political revolutions are generally stormy, yet, during the 

great change of 1814 Paris was perfectly tranquil, thanks to 

the excellent discipline maintained by the commanders of the 

Allied armies, and thanks also to the services of the National 

* The battle of Toulouse wiik fought on the 10th not 12th April. It was 
on the 12th that Wellington entered Toulouse unopposed. 
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Guard of Paris, who every night patrolled the streets. My 

duties as Director-General of the. Post-office had of eourse 

obliged nut to resign my captain's epaulet. 

When I first obtained my appointment I had been somewhat 

alarmed to hear that all tint roads were covered with foreign 

troops, especially Cossacks, who even in time of peace are 

very ready to capture any horses that may fall in their way. 

On my application to the Emperor Alexander his Majesty 

immediately issued a ukase, severely prohibiting tint seizure 

of horses or anything belonging to tin* Post-ofiiee department. 

The ukase was printed by order of the Czar, and fixed up at 

all the post-offices, and it will be stum that after the 20th of 

March, when I was placed in an embarrassing situation, one 

of tin* postmasters on tin* Lille road expressed to me his 

gratitude for my conduct while 1 was in the service. 

On the 10th of April a ceremony took place in Paris 

which has been much spoken of, and which must have had 

a very imposing effect on those who allow themselves to be 

dazzled by mere spectacle. Early in the morning some 

regiments of tin* Allied troops occupied flu* north side of the 

Boule vard, from the site of the old Bastile to the Place lam is 

XV., in tin* middle of which an altar of square form was 
erected. Thither the Allied sovereigns came to witness the 

celebration of mass according to the rites of the Greek 
Church. I went to a window of the hotel of the Minister of 

the Marine, to see the. ceremony. After I had waited from 
eight in the morning till near twelve the pageant commenced 

by the arrival of half a dozen Greek priests, with long beards, 
and as richly dressed im the high priests who figure in the 

processions of the opera. Alnmt three-quarters of an hour 

after this first scene the infantry, followed by the cavalry, 

entered the place, which, in a few moments was entirely 

covered with military. The Allied sovereigns at, length 

appeared, attended by brilliant staffs. They alighted from 

their horses and advanced to the. altar. What appeared to 

me most remarkable was the profound silence of the vast 
multitude during the performanee of the nutss. The whole 

spectacle had the effect of a finely painted panorama. For 
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my own part, I must confess I was heartily tired of the 

ceremony, and was very glad when it was over. 1 could 
not admire the foreign uniforms, which were very inferior to 

ours. Many of them appeared fanciful, and even grotesque, 

and nothing can be more unsoldier-like than to see a 

laced in stays till his figure resembles a wasp. 

man 

The 

ceremony which took place two days after, though less pom¬ 
pous, was much more French. In the retinue which, on the 

12th of April, momentarily increased round the Comte 

dArtois, there were at least recollections for the old, and 
hopes for every one. 

When, on the departure of the Commissioners whom 

Napoleon had sent to Alexander to treat for the Regency, 

it was finally determined that the Allied sovereigns would 
listen to no proposition from Napoleon and his family, the 

Provisional Government thought it time to request that 

Monsieur would, by his presence, give a new impulse to the 

partisans of the Bourbons. The Abbe de Montesquieu 

wrote to the Prince a letter,1 which was carried to him by 

Viscount Sosth&nes de la Rochefoucauld, one of the indi¬ 
viduals who, in these difficult circumstances, most zealously 
served the cause of the Bourbons. On the afternoon of the 

11th Monsieur arrived at a country-house belonging to 

Madame Charles de Damas, where he passed the night. 

The news of his arrival spread through Paris with the 
rapidity of lightning, and every one wished to solemnize his 
entrance into the capital. The National Guard formed a 

double line from the harrier of Bondy to Notre Dame., 
whither the Prince was first to proceed, in observance of an 

old custom, which, however, had become very rare in .France! 
during the last twenty years. 

M. de Talleyrand, accompanied by the members of tin* 

Provisional Government, several Marshals and general officers, 

and the municipal body, headed by the prefect of the Seine*, 

1 Much of the negotiations, or rather communications, with the Com to 
<TArtois at this period was conducted by the Baron de Vitrollea, whoso M<v 
moirs, used by M. Thiers when still in manuscript (Thiers, tome xvil. livr<* 
liii. p. 496), have now been published in part (Paris, Okarpentier, 1884) „ 
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went in procession beyond the barrier to receive, Monsieur 

M. de Talleyrand, in the, name of the Provisional Govern 

ment, addressed the Prince, who in reply made that obser¬ 

vation which has been so often repeated, u Nothing* is 

changed in France: there is only one Frenchman more.”1 

This remark promised much. The Comte <TArtois next 
proceeded on horseback to the barrier St. Martin. I 

mingled in the crowd to see the procession and to observe 

the sentiments of the spectators. Near me stood an old 

knight of St. Louis, who had resumed the insignia of the 

order, and who wept for joy at again seeing one of the 

Bourbons. The procession soon arrived, preceded by a band 

playing the air, “ Vive Henri Quatre ! ” I had never before 

seen Monsieur, and his appearance had a most pleasing 

effect upon me. His open countenance bore the expression 

of that confidence which his presence inspired in all who saw 

him. His staff was very brilliant, considering it was got 
together without preparation. The Prince wore, the uniform 

of the .National Guard, with the insignia of the Order of the 

Holy Ghost. 

I must candidly state that where l saw Monsieur pass 
enthusiasm was chiefly confined to his own retinue, and to 

persons who appeared to l>elong to a superior class of society. 

The lower order of people seemed to be animated by curiosity 

ami astonishment rather than any other feeding. I must add 

that it was not without painful surprise I saw a squadron of 

1 These words were never really uttered hy the Comte d'Artois, and we 
can In this case follow the manufacture of the phrase. The reply actually 
made to Talleyrand was, “ Sir, and gentlemen, l thank you; I am too happy. 
Lot ns get on ; 1 am too happy.*' When the day’s worn was done, “ Let us 
see,” aaid Talleyrand; 41 what did Monsieur say? I did not hear much ; he 
seemed much moved, and desirous of hastening on, hut if what he did say 
will not suit you (Beugnot), make* an answer for him, . . . and 1 enn answer 
that Monsieur will accept it, and that so thoroughly that hy the end of a 
couple of days he will ladieve he made it, ami he will have made it: you will 
count for nothing.” After repeated attempts, rejected hy Talleyrand, Bang- 
not at last produced,44 No more divisions. Peace and France! At last 1 
see her once more, and nothing in her is changed, except that here is one 
more Frenchman.” At last the great critic (Talleyrand; said, 44 This time I 
yield; that is really Monsieur's speech, and f will answer for you that he Is 
the man who made it.” Monsieur did not disdain to refer to it in his replies, 
and the prophecy of M. de Talleyrand was completely realised (Meuynot, 
vol. ii. p, llg). 
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Cossacks close the procession; and my surprise was the 

greater when I learned from G-eneral Sacken that the Emperor 

Alexander had wished that on that day the one Frenchman 

more should be surrounded only by Frenchmen, and that to 

prove that the presence of the Bourbons was the signal of 

reconciliation his Majesty had ordered 20,000 of the Allied 

troops to quit Paris. I know not to what the presence of the 
Cossacks is to be attributed, but it was an awkward circum¬ 

stance at the time, and one which malevolence did not fail to 
seize upon. 

Two days only intervened between Monsieur’s entrance into 
Paris and the arrival of the Emperor of Austria. That mon¬ 

arch was not popular among the Parisians. The line of 

conduct he had adopted was almost generally condemned, for, 
even among those who had most ardently wished for the 

dethronement of his daughter, through their aversion to the 

Bonaparte family, there were many who blamed the Emperor 

of Austria’s behavior to Maria Louisa: they would have 

wished that, for the honor of Francis IT, he had unsuccess¬ 

fully opposed the downfall of the dynasty, whose alliance he 
considered as a safeguard in 1809. This was the opinion 

which the mass of the people instinctively formed, for they 
judged of the Emperor of Austria in his character of a father 

and not in his character of a monarch; and as the rights of 
misfortune are always sacred in France,1 more interest was 

felt for Maria Louisa when she was known to be forsaken 
than when she was in the height of her splendor. Francis II. 

had not seen his daughter since the day when she left Vienna 

to unite her destiny with that of the master of half of Europe, 

and I have already stated how he received the mission with 

which Maria Louisa intrusted the Due de Cadore. 
J was then too intent on what was passing in Paris and at 

Fontainebleau to observe with equal interest all the circum¬ 
stances connected with the fate of Maria Louisa, but I will 

present to the reader all the information I was able to collect 

respecting that Princess during the period immediately pre¬ 

ceding her departure from France. She constantly assured 

J This is good in the mouth of Napoleon’s old friend. 
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the persons about her that she eould rely on her father. The, 
following words, which were faithfully reported to no*, were 

addressed by her to an officer who was at, Blois during the 

mission of M. de Ghampagny. “ Even though it should be 
the intention of the Allied sovereigns to dethrone the Em- 

peror Napoleon, my father will not suffer it. When he, 

placed me on tin* throne of France he repeated to me twenty 

times his determination to uphold me on it; and my father is 

an honest man.'7 1 also know that the Empress, both at Blois 

and at Orleans, expressed her regret at not having followed 

the adviee of the members of the Regency, who wished hen* to 

stay in Baris. 

On leaving Orleans Maria Louisa proeeeded to Rambouillet; 
and it was not one* of the least extraordinary cireumsfanees of 

that eventful period to see tin* sovereigns of Europe, the de¬ 
throned sovereigns of Franee, and those who had eome to resume1, 

the sceptre, all crowded together within a circle of fifteen league's 

round the capital. There was a Bourbon at the Titileries, Bona- 

parte * at Fontainebleau, his wife ami son at Raiubottiilei, the. 

repudiated Empress at Malmaison three1 leagues distant, and 

the Emperors of Russia and Austria and the. King of Prussia 

in Baris. 

When all hew hopes had vanished Maria Louisa left Ram¬ 

bouillet to red urn to Austria with hew seen. Site «tid met obtain 

permission to see Napoleon ladore* law departure, though she* 

had frequently expressed a wish to that effect. Napoleon him¬ 

self was aware* of the* embarrassment which might have attended 

such a far<»well, or otherwise* he would no doubt have made a 

parting interview with Maria Louisa one of the clauses of the 

treaty of Baris ami Fontainebleau, and of his definitive act of 
abdication. I was informed at the time that the reason which 

prevented Maria Louisa’s wish from being acceded to was the 

fear that, by one of those sudden impulses common to women, 

she might have determined to unite herself to Napoleon’s fallen 

fortune, and accompany him to Elba; and the Emperor of 

Austria wished to have his daughter back again. 

Things had arrived at this point, and there was no possibil¬ 

ity of retracting from any of the decisions which hud been 
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formed when the Emperor of Austria went to see his daughter 

at liambouillet. 1 recollect it was thought extraordinary at 

the time that the Emperor Alexander should accompany him 

on this visit; and, indeed, the sight of the sovereign, who was 

regarded as the head and arbiter of the coalition, could not be 

agreeable to the dethroned Empress.1 The two Emperors set off 

from Paris shortly after each other. The Emperor of Austria 

arrived first at Pambouillet, where he was received with respect 

and affection by his daughter. Maria Louisa was happy to see 
him, but the many tears she shed were not all tears of joy. 

After the first effusion of filial affection she complained of the 

situation to which she was reduced. Her father sympathized 
with her, but could offer her no consolation, since her misfor¬ 

tunes were irreparable. Alexander was expected to arrive im¬ 

mediately, and the Emperor of Austria therefore informed his 
daughter that the Russian monarch wished to see her. At first 

Maria Louisa decidedly refused to receive him, and she per¬ 
sisted for some time in this resolution. She said to her father, 

a Would he too make me a prisoner before your eyes ? If he 

(niters here by force I will retire to my chamber. There, I pre¬ 

sume, he will not dare to follow me while you are here.” But 

there was no time to be lost; Francis II. heard the equipage of 
the Emperor of Russia rolling through the courtyard of Ram- 

bouillet, and his entreaties to his daughter became more and 

more urgent. At length she yielded, and the Emperor of 

Austria went himself to meet his ally and conduct him to the 

1 Meneval (tome ii. p. 112), then with Maria Louisa as Secretary, who gives 
Home details of her interview with the Kmnoror Francis on the Kith of April, 
says nothing about the Czar having been there; a fact he would have been 
HuVe to have remarked upon. It was only on the lhth of April that Alex¬ 
ander visited her, the King of Prussia coming in his turn on the 22d; but 
IJourrieime is right in saying that Marla Louisa complained bitterly of having 
to receive Alexander, and considered that she was forced by her father to do 
so. The poor little King of Koine, then only three years old, had also to bo 
seen by the monnrehs. He was not taken with his grandfather, remn rUing 
that he was not handsome. Maria Louisa seems, according to Metiovnl, to 
have been at this time really anxious to join Napoleon (Mtweml, tome H. p. 
94). Khe left Kamhouillet on the 2Sd of April, stopped one day at Grosbois, 
receiving there her father and Kerthier, and taking hire well of several per¬ 
sons who (‘amis from Paris for that purpose. On the 25th of April she started 
for Vienna, and later for Parma, which State she received under the treaty 
of 1814 and 1815. Khe yielded to the Influence brought to bear on her, became 
estranged from Napoleon, and eventually degraded herself enough to marry 
her chamberlain, the Comte de Neipperg, an Austrian general. 
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salon where Maria Louisa remained, in deference to her father. 
She did not, however, carry her deference so far as to give a 
favorable reception to him whom she regarded as the author 
of all her misfortunes. She listened with considerable cold¬ 
ness to the offers and protestations of Alexander, and merely 
replied that all she wished for was the liberty of returning to 
her family.1 A few days after this painful interview Maria 
Louisa and her son set off for Vienna. 

i A few days after this visit Alexander paid his respects to Bonaparte’s 
other wife, Josephine. In this great breaking up of empires and kingdoms 
the unfortunate Josephine, who had been suffering agonies on account of the 
husband who had abandoned her, was not forgotten. One of the first things 
the Emperor of Russia did on arriving at Paris was to despatch a guard for 
the protection of her beautiful little palace at Malmaison. The Allied sov¬ 
ereigns treated her with delicacy and consideration. 

“ As soon as the Emperor Alexander knew that the Empress Josephine 
had arrived at Malmaison he hastened to pay her a visit. It is not possible 
to he more amiable than he was to her. When in the rourse of conversation 
he spoke of the occupation of Paris by the Allies, and of the position of the 
Emperor Napoleon, it was always in perfectly measured language; he never 
forgot for a single instant that he was speaking Iwffore one who hud been the 
wife of his vanquished enemy. On her side the ex-Empress did not conceal 
the tender sentiments, the lively affection she still entertained for Napoleon. 
. . . Alexander bail certainly something elevated and magnanimous in his 
character, which would not permit him to say a single won! capable of insult¬ 
ing misfortune: the Empress had only one prayer to make to him, and that 
was for her children.” 

This visit was soon followed by those of the other Allied Princes. 
** The King of Prussia and t he Princes, his sons, came rat Iter frequently 

to pay their court to .Josephine; they even dined with her several times at 
Malmaison ; but the Emperor Alexander eame much more frequently. The 
Queen Hortense was always with her mother when sh** reeeived the sov¬ 
ereigns, and assisted her in doing the honors of the house. The Illustrious 
strangers exceedingly admired Malmaison, which seemed to them a charm¬ 
ing residence. They were particularly struck with its fine gardens and con¬ 
servatories.” * 

From this moment, however, Josephine's health rapidly declined, and she 
did not live to see Napoleon’s return from Elba, Bhe often said to her attend¬ 
ant, 4* I do not know’ what is the matter with me, hut at times I have fits of 
melancholy enough to kill me.” But on the very brink of the grave she re¬ 
tained all her amiability, all her love of dress, and the graces and resources 
of a drawing-room society. The immediate cause of her death was a had 
cold she caught in taking a drive in the park of Malmaison on a damp cold day. 
Bhe expired on the noon of Sunday, tho’Jith of May, in the fifty-third year 
of her age. Her twidy was embalmed, and on the sixth day after her death 
deposited in a vault in the church of Ruel, close to Mwtmaimm. The funeral 
ceremonies were magnificent, hut a better tribute to the memory of Joseph¬ 
ine was to he found in the tears with which her children, her servants, the 
neighboring poor, and all that knew’ her followed her to the grave. In IHUft 
a beautiful monument was erected over her remains by Eugene Beauharnals 
and his sister, with this simple inscription: — 

TO JOHKPIUNR. 
KUakNJC. HoRTKNHK, 

* Memoir* oj Madrmviullr tfAvriUUm. 
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Italy and Eugene — Siege of Dantzic — Capitulation concluded but not rati¬ 

fied— Rapp made prisoner and sent to Kief — Davoust’s refusal to be¬ 

lieve the intelligence from Paris — Projected assassination of one of the 

French Princes — Departure of Davoust and General Hogendorff from 

Hamburg — The affair of Maubreuil—Arrival of the Commissioners 

of the Allied powers at Fontainebleau—Preference shown by Napo¬ 

leon to Colonel Campbell — Bonaparte’s address to General Kohler — 

His farewell to his troops — First day of Napoleon's journey — The Im¬ 

perial Guard succeeded by the Cossacks — Interview with Augereau — 

The first white cockades — Napoleon hanged in effigy at Orgon — His 

escape in the disguise of a courier — Scone in the inn of La Calade — 

Arrival at Aix — Tho Princess Pauline —Napoleon embarks for Elba — 

His life at Elba. 

I must now direct the attention of the reader to Italy, which 

was the cradle of Napoleon’s glory, and towards which he 

transported himself in imagination from the Palace of Fon¬ 
tainebleau. Eugene had succeeded in keeping up his means 

of defence until April, hut on the 7th of that month, being 
positively informed of the overwhelming reverses of France, 

he found himself constrained to accede to the propositions of 

the Marshal do Bellegarde to treat for the evacuation of Italy; 

and on the 10th a convention was concluded, in which it was 
stipulated that the French troops, under the command of 

Eugene, should return within the limits of old France. The 

clauses of this convention were executed on the 19th of April.1 

Eugene, thinking that the Senate of Milan was favorably 

disposed towards him, solicited that body to use its influence 

in obtaining the consent of the Allied powers to his contin¬ 

uance at the head of the Government of Italy;3 but this 

* Lord William Itontlnck and Sir Edward Pellew bad taken Genoa on 
the 18th of April. Murat was in the field with the Austrian** against the 
French. 

2 The following is a curious circumstance relative to the Senate of Milan. 
In the height of our disasters that body sent a deputation to congratulate 

15 
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proposition was rejected by tin4 Senate. A feeling <»{ irrii 

lion pervaded the public mind in 11aly, and the army had m 

proceeded three inarches beyond Mantua when an in.surrecth 

broke out in Milan. The Finance* Minister, Prime was assa 

sinated, and his residence demolished, and nothing would luu 
saved the* Viceroy from a similar fate* had lie been in Ins caj 

tab Amidst this popular excitement, and tin* eagerness t 

the Italians to be released from the dominion of tin* Frencl 

the friends of Eugeni* thought him fortunate in being able 1 

join his father-in-law at Munich almost, incognito.1 Thus, ; 

the expiration of nine years, fell tin* iron crown which Nap* 

Icon had placed on his head saying, " I>iru mv Pa donne; ytu 

a qui la toiu'he.” 
I will now take a glance at the affairs of Germany. Hap 

was not in France at the period of the. fall of the Empir 

He had, with extraordinary eon rag** and skill, defended bin 

self against a year’s siege at Hanizie. At length, being r* 

dueed to the last extremity, and eomstrained to surrender, Is 

opened the gates of the eity, which presented nothing In 

heaps of ruins. Rapp had stipulated that tin* garrison « 

Dantzic should return to France, and the I Hike of W hr ten 

1m*rg, who commanded the siege, hail consented to that corn! 

turn; hut the Emperor of Russia having refused to ratify i 

Rapp, having no means of defence, was made prisoner wit 

Ins troops, and conducted to Kief, whence In* afterward 

returned to ’Paris, where I saw him. 

Hamburg still held out, hut at the loginning of April ii 

teliigence was received there of the extraordinary event 
which had delivered Europe from her oppressor. Pavotn 

refused to believe this news, which at once annihilated all hi 

Napolmn the (treat on the primps*! of Ills triumphing over nil his enemies 
The deputation on its way received itifelligciico of the niegi* of Burin, mn 
hud just time to get hack to Mihiti to to congratulate tin" AMU 
on the downfall of the in taut, ..Itmirrtrnm*. 

l Home time after Kugciio visited Franco wni hint m long audience * 
Louis XVIII. lie announced hinnodf to (hat monarch hy hi* father’s tit! 
of Marquis do Beauharnaw. Tim King immediately saluted him hy (he till 
of Monsieur le Marechul, and pro|H»Moi that he nhoiihl reside in Fram e wit 
that rank. But this invitation Eugene declined, because m a French Brine 
under the fallen Government ho had commanded tlw Marshals, and It 
therefor© oould not submit to lai the Ian! in rank among them It twit riots 
military chiefs. —* Itourrimne. 
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hopes of power and greatness. This blindness was persisted 

in for some time at Hamburg. Several hawkers, who were 
marked out by the police as having been the circulators of 
Paris news, were shot. An agent of the Government publicly 
announced his design of assassinating one of the French 

Princes, in whose service he was said to have been as a p'age. 

He said he would go to his Eoyal Highness and solicit to be 

appointed one of his aides dc camp, and that, if the applica¬ 
tion were refused, as it probably would be, the refusal would 
only confirm him in his purpose. 

At length, when the state of things was beyond the possi¬ 

bility of doubt,1 Davoust assembled the troops, acquainted 
them with the dethronement of the Emperor, hoisted a flag 
of truce, and sent his adhesion to the Provisional Govern¬ 
ment. All then thought of their personal safety, without 
losing sight of their honestly acquired wealth. Diamonds 

and other objects of value and small bulk were hastily col¬ 
lected and packed up. The Governor of Hamburg, Count 
Hogendorff, who, in spite of some signal instances of oppo¬ 
sition, had too often co-operated in severe and vexatious 

measures, was the first to quit the city. He was, indeed, 

hurried off by Davoust, because he had mounted the Orange 

cockade and wished to take his Dutch troops away with him. 
After consigning the command to General Gerard, Davoust 

quitted Hamburg, and arrived at Paris on the 18th of June. 
I have left Napoleon at Fontainebleau. The period of his 

departure for Elba was near at hand: it was fixed for the 

17th of April. 

1 Davoust’s long ignorance of the Restoration was not affected. When 
first he learnt the disasters of the Empire from Puymaigre, who had been 
sent ont from Hamburg on a mission, and that the Allies had orossod the 
Rhine, he told Puymaigre that, not wishing to be shaken by any tiling uncon¬ 
nected with the defence of the fortress, he knew nothing of what had hap¬ 
pened outside. When he was, later, informed by Puymaigre that the Due 
d’Angoulemo was at Bordeaux, he angrily reproached his messonger with 
having been duped by lies and with bringing him false news (Puymaigre, Ep. 165, 166). The good faitli of Davoust at Hamburg, Rapp at Dantzie, and 

t. Cyr at Dresden contrasts with the hurry of many of the officers near 
Napoleon to get good terms for themselves by joining the Allies. In both 
the cases of Dantzie and Dresden the Allies, having got possession of them 
by a capitulation, broke the terms when the garrisons were fairly in their 
power, making derisory offers of replacing the garrisons in their former 
positions. 
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On that day Maubreuil, a man who has become unfortu¬ 
nately celebrated, presented himself at the Post-office, ;uul 

asked to speak with me. He showed me some written 

orders, signed by General Saeken, the (Commander of tin* 

Kussian troops in Paris, and by Baron Broekenhausen, chief 

of the staff. These orders set forth that Maubreuil was 

intrusted with an important mission, for the execution of 
which he was authorized to demand the assistance of the 

Kussian troops; and the commanders of those men were 

enjoined to place at his disposal as many troops as he might 

apply for. Maubreuil was also the bearer of similar orders 

from General Dupont, the War Minister, and from M. Angles, 
the Provisional Commissary “General of the Police, who directed 

all the other commissaries to obey the orders they might 

receive from Maubreuil. On seeing those documents, of the 

authenticity of which there was no doubt, I immediately 

ordered the different postmasters to provide Maubreuil 

promptly with any number of horses he might require. 

Some days after I was informed that the object of Mau- 

breuil’s mission was to assassinate Napoleon. It may readily 

be imagined what was my astonishment on hearing this, after 

1 had seen the signature of the Commander of the Kussian 

forces, and knowing as I did the intentions of the Emperor 

Alexander. The fact is, I did not, and never can, believe that 
* uch was the intention of Maubreuil. This man lias been 

accused of having carried off the jewels of the Queen of 

Westphalia, i 

Napoleon having consented to proceed to tin* island of Elba, 
conformably with the treaty he had ratified on the 15th, 

1 Maubreuil always protested that ha had bean employed by Talleyrand 
and tho Provisional Government to assassinate Napoleon. It is certain that 
he seized on the cash and jewellery of the ex-Queen of Westphalia, the wife 
of Jerome Bonaparte, hut he did not require for that purpose rorlr blunt ht> 
for demands of troops and for post-horn* * a simple order to the proper au¬ 
thorities would have sufficed, without a highway rohloTy, The matter Is 
gone into by Suenryt tome vli, pp. 214.where (pp, 215,'21(1) are given the 
orders signed by Bourrlenne, Tnaito orders are so wide, and denote such an 
important mission for Maubreuil, that it Is significant that timirrlenne, well 
informed as he tells ns in all that was done, should neither have known nor 
inquired what was the object for which he was using his new powers. Hee 
also Bmynot, vob it p. 125. All points towards there having been a foul 
plot. Most persons will adopt Samte-Ueuve,s belief. 14 M. do Talleyrand 
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requested to be accompanied to the place of embarkation 
by a Commissioner from each of the Allied powers. Count 
Schouwaloff was appointed by Bussia, Colonel ISTeil Campbell 
by England, General Kohler by Austria, and Count Wald- 
bourg-Truchess by Prussia. On the 16th the four Commis¬ 

sioners came for the first time to Fontainebleau, where the 
Emperor, who was still attended by Generals Drouot and 

Bertrand, gave to each a private audience on the following 
day. 

Though Napoleon received with coldness the Commis¬ 
sioners whom he had himself solicited, yet that coldness 
was far from being manifested in an equal degree to all. He 
who experienced the best reception was Colonel Campbell, 
apparently because his person exhibited traces of wounds. 
Napoleon asked him in what battles he had received them, 
and on what occasions he had been invested with the orders 
he wore. He next questioned him as to the place of his 
birth, and Colonel Campbell having answered that he was a 
Scotchman, Napoleon congratulated him on being the country¬ 
man of Ossian, his favorite author, with whose poetry, how¬ 
ever, he was only acquainted through the medium of wretched 
translations.1 On this first audience Napoleon said to the 
Colonel, “ I have cordially hated the English. I have made 
war against you by every possible means, but I esteem your 
nation. I am convinced that there is more generosity in your 
Government than in any other. I should like to be conveyed 
from Toulon to Elba by an English frigate.” 2 

The Austrian and Bussian Commissioners were received 

coolly, but without any marked indications of displeasure. 
It was not so with the Prussian Commissioner, to whom he 

has always denied having seen Maubreuil, but other people saw him, and it is 
difficult to doubt that there really was a council where was discussed the pro¬ 
posal of M. Maubreuil to get rid of Napoleon. Even the speeches are quoted. 
... As for M. de Talleyrand, he was certainly not a man to command such 

an act, but no more was he a man to discourage it. If necessary he could 
ignore it” (Sainte-Beuve, Talleyrand., p. 123). 

1 The French translations of Ossian may be wretched enough, but as an 
Italian Bonaparte was probably well acquainted with the magnificent version 
of the Abate Cesarotti. — Editor of 1836 edition. 

2 Colonel Campbell wrote to Lord Castlereagh to acquaint him with Napo¬ 
leon’s wish, to which his lordship acceded {Campbell p. 160). 
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said dryly, “Are there any Prussians in my escort ? 11 — “ Ncx 

Sired’ — “Then why do you take the trouble to accompany 
me ? ” — “ Sire, it is not a trouble, but an honor.1' — 41 These 

are mere words; you have nothing to do here." — “ Sire, I 

could not possibly decline the honorable mission with which 

the Kin# my master has intrusted me/’ At these words 

Napoleon turned his back on Count Truchess. 
The Commissioners expected that Napoleon would be ready 

to set out without delay; but they were deceived. He asked 

for a sight of the itinerary of his route, and wished to make 
some alterations in it. The Commissioners were reluetani to 

oppose his wish, for they had been instructed to treat him 

with all tin* respect anil etiquette due to a sovereign. They 

therefore suspended the departure, and, as they could not take 

upon themselves to acquiesce in the changes wished for by the 

Emperor, they applied for fresh orders. On the night of the 

18th of April they received these orders, authorizing them to 

travel by any road the Emperor might prefer. The departure 

was then definitively fixed for the 20th. 

Accordingly, at ten on the morning of the 20th, the carriages 

were in readiness, and the Imperial Guard was drawn up in 

the grand court of the Palace of Fontainebleau, railed the 

Cour du Cheval Blanc. All the population of the town and 

the neighboring villages thronged round the Palace. Napo¬ 

leon sent for General Kohler, the Austrian Commissioner, and 

said to him, u I have reflected on what I ought to do, and l 
am determined not to depart. The Allies are not faithful to 

their engagements with me. 1 can, therefore, revoke my 

abdication, which was only conditional. More than a thou¬ 
sand addresses were delivered to me last night: I am conjured 

to resume the reins of government. I renounced my rights to 

the crown only to avert the horrors of a civil war, having 

ne.ver had any other object in view than the glory and happi¬ 

ness of Prance. But, seeing as I now do, the dissatisfaction 
inspired by the measures of the new Government, I can ex¬ 

plain to my Guard the reasons which induced me to revoke 

my abdication. It is true that the number of troops on which 

I can count will scarcely exceed 30,000 men, but it will be easy 
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for me* in increase their numbers to 1 ,*$0,000. Know, then, 

that 1 (tan also, without injuring my honor, say to my 

Guard, tha,t having nothing but the repose a,ml happiness of 
the country at heart, I renounce all my rights, and exhort 

my troops to follow my example, and yield to the wish of 

the nation.11 

I heard these words reported by General Kohler himself, 
after his return from his mission. He did not disguise the 

embarrassment which this unexpected address had occasioned ; 

and I recollect having remarked at the time that had Bona¬ 

parte, at tin* commencement of the campaign of Baris, re¬ 

nounced his rights, and returned to the rank of citizen, the 

immense masses of the Allies must have yielded to the efforts 

of France. General Kohler also stated that Napoleon com¬ 

plained of Maria. Louisa not being allowed to accompany him 5 

but at length, yielding to the reasons urged by those about 

him, In* added, “ Well, I prefer remaining faithful to my 
promise ; but, if 1 have any new ground of complaint, I will 
free* myself from all my engagements,11 

At eleven o'clock Gomte de Bussy, one of the Emperor's 

aldm tlv nnn/t, was sent by tin* Grand Marshal (General Ber¬ 
trand) to announce that all was ready for departure. u Am I,11 

said Napoleon, u to regulate my actions by tin* Grand Marshal's 

watch ? I will go when I please. Perhaps I may not go at 

all. Leave me!’’ 
All tin* forms of courtly etiquette which Napoleon loved so 

much were observed ; and when at length In* was pleased to 
leave his cabinet to enter the salon, where the Commissioners 

were waiting, the doors were thrown open as usual, and ** The 
Emperor'1 was announced ; hut no sooner was the, word ut¬ 

tered than he turned hack again. However, he soon re¬ 
appeared, rapidly crossed the gallery, and descended the 

staireuse, and at twelve oVlock precisely he* stood at tin* 

head of his Guard, as if at, a review in the court of the 

Tmleries in the brilliant days of the Consulate and the 
Empire, 

Then took place a really moving scene — Napoleon’s fare¬ 

well to his soldiers. Of this I may abstain front entering 
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into any details,1 since they are known everywhere, and by 

everybody, but. I may subjoin the Kmperorls last address to 

liis old companions-in-arms, because it belong to history. 

This address was pronounced in a voire as firm and sonorous 

as that in which Bonaparte used to harangue his troops in the 

days of his triumphs. It was as follows : — 

u Soldiers of my Old Guard, I bid you farewell For twenty years I 
have constantly accompanied you on the road to honor and glory. In 
these latter times, as in the days of our prosperity, you luue invariably 
been models of courage and fidelity. With men such as you our cause 
could not he lost, but the war would have been interminable; it would 
have been civil war, and that would have entailed deeper misfortunes on 
France. I have sacrificed all my interests to those of the country, t go; 
but you, my friends, will continue, to serve France. Her happiness was 
my only thought. It will still be the object of my wishes. Do not regret 
my fate: if I have consented to survive, it is to serve your glory. I 
intend to write the history of the great achievements we have performed 
together. Adieu, my friends. Would I could press you all to my heart!” 

Napoleon then ordered the eagles to be brought, and having 

embraced them he added : — 

“ I embrace you all in the person of your General Adieu, soldiers! 
Be always gallant and good! ” 

Napoleon’s parting words to his soldiers were, “ Adieu, my 

friends. My wishes will always accompany you. Do not foe 
got me.” He then stepped into his carriage accompanied by 

Bertrand. 

1 The mutual attachment that existed between Napoleon and the famed 
Imperial Guard made this parting very painful Having assembled as many 
of them as he could, they were drawn out in review order. The Emjmror on 
his arrival walked along in front of their line and took his last farewell In 
doing this he betrayed great emotion, but tears like rain poured from the 
eyes of many of the soldiery who had grown gray underarms. He is reported 
to have said, u All Europe has armed against me. France herself has de¬ 
serted me, and chosen other rulers. I might have maintained with you, my 
brave soldiers, a civil war for years, but that would have made Franco 
wretched. Be faithful to the new sovereign whom France has chosen. Do 
not lament my fate; I shall always be happy while I know you are so. I 
could have died—nothing was easier — but I will always follow the paths of 
honor. I will record with my pen the deeds we have done together. 1 can¬ 
not embrace you all, but I embrace your (leneral” (He pressed the (tenoral 
to his heart.) “ Bring hither the eagle.” He kissed the standard, and con¬ 
cluded by saving, ” Dear eagle, may the kisses I give yon long resound In 
the hearts of the brave. Adieu, my children! Adieu, my brave companions! 
Surround me once more. Adieu! § — Editor of l&ttl edition. 
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During the first day cries of “Vive 1’Empereur!” resounded 

along the road, and Napoleon, resorting to his usual dissimula¬ 

tion, censured the disloyalty of the people to their legitimate 

sovereign, which he did with ill-disguised irony. The Guard 

accompanied him as far as Briare. At that place Napoleon 

invited Colonel Campbell to breakfast with him. lie con¬ 
versed on the last war in Spain, and spoke in complimentary 

terms of the English nation and the military talents of Well¬ 

ington. Yet by that time he must have heard of the battle of 

Toulouse. 

On the night of the 21st Napoleon slept at Nevers, where 

he was received by the acclamations of the people, who here, 

as in several other towns, mingled their cries in favor of their 

late sovereign with imprecations against the Commissioners of 
the Allies. He left Nevers at six on the morning of the 22d. 
Napoleon was now no longer escorted by the Guards, who were 
succeeded by a corps of Cossacks : the cries of “ Vive 1’Empe- 

reur !71 accordingly ceased, and he had the mortification to 

hear in its stead, “Vivent les Allies! ” However, I have 

been informed that, at Lyons, through which the Emperor 

passed on the 2.'Id at eleven at, night, the cry of “ Vive FEmpe- 

reur ! ” was still echoed among tin*, groups who assembled 
before the post-ofliee during tin1 change of horses. 

Augcreau, who was still a Republican, though he accepted the 
title of Duke of Castiglione from Napoleon, had always been 

among the discontented. On the downfall of the Emperor ho 

was one of that considerable number of persons who turned 

Royalists not out of love for the Bourbons but out of hatred to 

Bonaparte. He held a command in the south when he heard 
of the forfeiture of Napoleon pronounced by the Senate, and he 

was one of the first to send his recognition to the Provisional 

Government. Augereau, who, like all uneducated men, went 
to extremes in everything, had published under his name a 

proclamation extravagantly violent and even insulting to the 
Emperor. Whether Napoleon was aware of this proclamation 

I cannot pretend to say, but he affected ignorance of the mat¬ 

ter if he was informed of it, for on the 24th, having met Auge¬ 

reau at a little distance from Valence, he stopped his carriage 
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and immediately alighted. Augereau did tin* same, and ! 

cordially embraced in the presence of tin* (Nun miss miters, 

was remarked that in saluting Napoleon took ofT his hat , 

Augereau kept on his. “When* are you going?" said 

Emperor; “to (V>urt ? ” — “ No, I am going to L\ ous." 

“ You have behaved very badly to me." Augereau, lind 
that the Emperor addressed him in the second person sin 

lar, adopted the saint? familiarity, so they conversed as tl 

wen? accustomed to do when they were both generals in It; 

iC Of what do you complain ?" said la*. “Has not y 

insatiable ambition brought us to this ? Have you not sa 

ficed everything to that, ambition, even the happiness 

France ? I eare no more for t he Eourbons t ban for you. 

I can* for is tin* country.” Hpon this Napoleon turned shar 

away from the Marshal, lifted his hat to him, and then step] 

into his carriage. The Commissioners, and all the persons 

[Napoleon's suite, were indignant at seeing Augerean stain, 

the road still covered, with his hands behind his bark, ; 

instead of bowing, merely making a contemptuous salutat 

to Napoleon with his hand, it was at the Tuilrriex that th 

haughty Republicans should have shown their airs. To h; 

done so on the road to Elba wa» a mean insult which reeoi 

upon themselves.1 
1 The following letter, taken from <’a plain BinghamS recently nnhll* 

selections from the rorrespondeiiee of the first Napoleon, iimhMteH 
emphatic language! the Fuiperor’s reta in dissatisfaction with Mao 
Augereau when in command at L>on?« (hiring the “ thitl» struggle' 
1814: — 

“To Makhiiai* AtmmtKAv, 
" NtH«r»NT, Pftmmrt$% 1H1 

“ . . . WImt! six hours after having received tin* first troop*! coming fi 
Spain you were not In the Held! Six hours* rt*|miie was sufficient I won 
action of Nangin with a brigade of drag*« ms coming from Spam which. Hi 
it had left Bayonne, had not unbridled its horses. The nix battalions of 
division of Nunes want clothe*, etpiipmeni, and ilrllliiiK, nay you1/ \V 
poor reasons you give me there, Augerean! I have destroyed entui 
with conscripts having nothing hut knapsacks? Thu National OmtnK 
you, are pitiable; I have 4<MXt here in round bats, without knapsacks 
wooden shoes, but with good muskets, and 1 get u great deal out of th 
There is no money, you continue; and where do you hope to draw mo 
from? Von want wagons; take them wherever you can You have 
magazines; this h too ridiculous. 1 order you twelve hours after the m 
tion of this letter to take tint fluid. If you are still Augereau of raxtiglh 
keep the command, but if your sixty yearn weigh upon you, hand over 
command to your senior general. The country In In danger, and can 
saved by boldness and alacrity ahum. . . , 

“(Hlgned) Nacou-.on, 
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At Valence Napoleon, for the first time, saw French soldiers 

with the white cockade in their caps. They belonged to 

Augereau’s corps. At Orange the air resounded with cries of 
“ Vive le Roi! ” Here the gayety, real or feigned, which 
Napoleon had hitherto evinced, began to forsake him. 

Had the Emperor arrived at Avignon three hours later than 
he did there is no doubt that he would have been massacred.1 
He did not change horses at Avignon, through which he 

passed at five in the morning, but at St. Andiol, where he 

arrived at six. The Emperor, who was fatigued with sitting 
in the carriage, alighted with Colonel Campbell and General 

Bertrand, and walked with them up the first hill. His valet 

de chambre, who was also walking a little distance in advance, 
met one of the mail couriers, who said to him, “ Those are the 
Emperor’s carriages coming this way ? ” — “ No, they are the 

equipages of the Allies. ”— “I say they are the Emperor’s 
carriages. I am an old soldier. I served in the campaign of 
Egypt, and I will save the life of my General.” — “I tell you 

again they are not the Emperor’s carriages.” — “Do not 

attempt to deceive me; I have just passed through Orgon, 
where the Emperor has been hanged in effigy. The wretches 

erected a scaffold and hanged a figure dressed in a French 

uniform covered with blood. Perhaps I may get myself into 

a scrape by this confidence, but no matter. Do you profit by 
it.” The courier then set off at full gallop. The valet de 

chambre took General Drouot apart and told him what he had 
heard. Drouot communicated this circumstance to General 
Bertrand, who himself related it to the Emperor in the pres¬ 
ence of the Commissioners. The latter, justly indignant, 

held a sort of council on the highway, and it was determined 
that the Emperor should go forward without his retinue. The 

valet de chambre was asked whether he had any clothes in the 
carriage. He produced a long blue cloak and a round hat. 
It was proposed to put a white cockade in the hat, but to this 
Napoleon would not consent. He went forward in the style 

of a courier, with Amaudru, one of the two outriders who 

1 The "Royalist mob of Avignon massacred Marshal Brune in 1815 after 
Waterloo. 
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had escorted his carriage, and dashed through Orgon. When 

the Allied Commissioners arrived there the assembled popula¬ 

tion were uttering exclamations oi “ Down with the Corsican! 

Down with the brigand!’1 The mayor of Orgon (the same 

man whom I had seen almost on his knees to General Bona¬ 

parte on his return from Egypt) addressed himself to IV*lard, 

the Emperor’s valet dr ehambrv, and said, “ Do you follow that 

rascal?” — “No,” replied Pelard, “ I am attached to the Com¬ 

missioners of the Allied powers.” — “ Ah ! that is well I f 

should like to hang the villain with my own hands. Ah! if 

you knew, sir, how the scoundrel has deceived us ! It was I 

who received him on his return from Egypt. We wished to 

take, his horses out and draw his carriage. I should like, to 

avenge myself now for the honors l rendered him at that 

time.” 
The crowd augmented, and continued to vociferate with a 

degree of fury which may In* imagined by those who have 

heard the inhabitants of the south manifest, by cries, their joy 

or their hatred. Some more violent than the rest wished to 

force Napoleon’s coachman to cry “ Vive le Hoi I” He cour¬ 

ageously refused, though threatened with the stroke of a sabre, 

when, fortunately, the carriage being ready to start, he whipped 

the horses and set off at full gallop. The Commissioners 

would not breakfast at Orgon ; they paid for what had been 
prepared, and took some refreshments away with them. The 

carriages did not overtake the Emperor until they came to La 

Calade, where he had arrived a quarter of mi hour before with 
Amaudru. 

They found him standing by the fin* in the kitchen of the 

inn talking with the landlady. She had asked him whether 

the tyrant was soon to pass that way ? “ Ah ! sir,” said she, 

u it is all nonsense to say we have got rid of him. 1 always 

have said, and always will say, that we shall never 1m* sure of 

being done with him until 'he be laid at the Imttom of a well 

covered over with stones. I wish we had him safe in the well in 

our yard. You see, sir, the Directory sent him to Egypt to 
get rid of him ; hut he came hack again ! And he will come 

back again, you may be sure of that, sir, unless — ” Here 
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the good woman, having finished skimming her pot, looked up 
and perceived that all the party were standing uncovered ex¬ 
cept the individual to whom she had been speaking. She was 
confounded, and the embarrassment she experienced at having 
spoken so ill of the Emperor to the Emperor himself banished 
all her anger, and she lavished every mark of attention and 
respect on Napoleon and his retinue. A messenger was im¬ 

mediately sent to Aix to purchase ribbons for making white 
cockades. All the carriages were brought into the courtyard 

of the inn, and the gate was closed; the landlady informed 
Napoleon that it would not be prudent for him to venture on 
passing through Aix, where a population of more than 20,000 
were waiting to stone him. 

Meanwhile dinner was served, and Napoleon sat down to 

table. He admirably disguised the agitation which he could 
not fail to experience, and I have been assured, by some of 

the individuals who were present on that remarkable occasion, 

that he never made himself more agreeable. His conversation, 
which was enriched by the resources of his memory and his 
imagination, charmed every one, and he remarked, with an air 
of indifference which was perhaps affected, “I believe the 
new French Government has a design on my life.” 

The Commissioners, informed of what was going on at Aix, 
proposed sending to the Mayor an order for closing the gates 

and adopting measures for securing the public tranquillity. 
About fifty individuals had assembled round the inn, and one 
among them offered to carry a letter to the Mayor of Aix. 
The Commissioners accepted his services, and in their letter 
informed the Mayor that if the gates of the town were not 

closed within an hour they would advance with two regiments of 
uhlans and six pieces of artillery, and would fire upon all who 

might oppose them. This threat had the desired effect; and 
the Mayor returned for answer that the gates should be closed, 
and that he would take upon himself the responsibility of 
everything which might happen. 

The danger which threatened the Emperor at Aix was thus 
averted; but there was another to be braved. During the 

seven or eight hours he passed at La Calade a considerable 
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number of people had gathered round flu* inn, and manifest! 

every disposition to proceed to some excess. Must uf tin*: 

had in their hands live-franc pieces, in order tu ren>gni/e tl 

Emperor by his likeness on the coin. Napoleon, who h;i 

passed two nights without sleep, was m u litth* roeui adjuinin 

the kitchen, where he had fallen into a slumber, reclining o 

the shoulder of his tulti tfr rhttmhrr. In a moment of dejectio 

he* had said, a l now renounce the politieal worid forever, 

shall henceforth feel no interest about any thing that may ha} 

pen. At Porto-Per ra jo 1 may he happy * more happy than 

have ever laten ! No! —- if the ennui of Europe w»*re inn 

offered to me I would not aeeept it I u ill devote myself t 

science. I was right never to esteem mankind ! lint Prane 

and the French people — what ingratitude ! I am disgustei 

with ambition, and I wish to rule no longer ! ’* 
When the moment for departure arrived it was propose* 

that he should put on the great-coat and fur rap of < Jenera 

Kohler, and that he should go into the carriage of the Ann 

trian tlommissioner. Tin* Emperor, thus disguised, left tin 

inn of La <’ahule, passing between two lines ol sjwrtators 

On turning the walls of Aix Napoleon had again the mortifi 

cation to hear the cries of “ Omvn with the tyrant! Powr 

with Nicolas In and these voeiferal ions resounded at tin* din 
tane.e of a quarter of a league from flu* town, 

Bonaparte, dispirited by these manifestations of hatred 
said, in a tone of mingled grief anil contempt, “Them, 

Provencals are the same furious brawlers that they used t< 

be. They committed frightful itumsaeres at tin* eommeuee 

menfe of the Revolution. Eighteen years ago 1 came to t Im¬ 

part of the country with some thouHuml men to deliver I we 

Royalists who were to be hanged Their crime was having 
worn the white cockade, 1 saved them ; but it was not mitle 

out diflieulty that 1 rescued tliem from the bauds of their 

assailants; and now, you see, they resume the same excesses 

against those who re fuse, to wear the white cockade.1* At 

alwmt a league from Aix the Emperor and bin retinue found 

horses ami an escort of gendarmerie to coiiduet them to the 

eh&teau of Luc. 
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The Princess Pauline was at the country residence of M. 
Charles, member of the Legislative Body, near the castle of 
Luc. On hearing of the misfortunes of her brother she de¬ 

termined to accompany him to the isle of Elba, and she 

proceeded to Ere jus to embark with him. At Erejus the 

Emperor rejoined Colonel Campbell, who had quitted the 

convoy on the road, and had brought into the port the 
English frigate the Undaunted which was appointed to convey 

the Emperor to the place of his destination. In spite of the 

wish he had expressed to Colonel Campbell he manifested 
considerable reluctance to go on board. However, on the 28th 
of April he sailed for the island of Elba in the English frig¬ 

ate, in which it could not then be said that Caesar and his for¬ 
tune were embarked. 

[It was on the 3d of May, 1814, that Bonaparte arrived 
within sight of Porto-Ferrajo, the capital of his miniature 

empire; but he did not land till the next morning. At first 
he paid a short visit incognito, being accompanied by a ser¬ 
geant’s party of marines from' the Undaunted. He then 
returned on board to breakfast, and at about two o’clock 
made his public entrance, the Undaunted firing a royal 
salute. 

In every particular of his conduct he paid great attention 
to the maintenance of his Imperial dignity. On landing he 
received the keys of his city of Porto-Eerrajo, and the devoirs 

of the Governor, prefect, and other dignitaries, and he pro¬ 

ceeded immediately under a canopy of State to the parish 
church, which served as a cathedral. There he heard Te 

Eeum, and it is stated that his countenance was dark and 
melancholy, and that he even shed tears.1 

One of Bonaparte’s first cares was to select a flag for the 
Elbese Empire, and after some hesitation he fixed on “ Argent, 

on a bend gules, three bees or,” as the armorial ensign of his 
new dominion. It is strange that neither he nor any of those 
whom he consulted should have been aware that Elba had an 
ancient and peculiar ensign, and it is still more remarkable 
that this ensign should be one singularly adapted to Bona- 

1 Itin€raire de Bonaparte, etc. Paris, 1814. 
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parte’s situation; being no more than “ a wheel, the em¬ 

blem,” says >1. Bernaud, u of the vicissitudes of human life, 

which the Elbese had borrowed from the Egyptian mys¬ 

teries.”1 This is as curious a coincidence as any we ever 

recollect to have met; as tin* medals of Elba with the emblem 

of the wheel are well known, we cannot but suppose that 

Bonaparte was aware of tin* circumstance; yet he. is repre¬ 

sented as having in vain made several anxious inquiries after 
the ancient arms of the island. 

During the. tirst months of his residence there his life was, 

in general, one of eharaeteristie activity arid almost garrulous 

frankness. He gave dinners, went to halls, rode all day 

about his island, planned fortifications, aqueducts, lazarettos, 

harbors, and palaces; and tin* very second day after In* landed 

fitted out an expedition of a dozen soldiers to take possession 

of a little uninhabited island called Pianosa, which lies a, few 

leagues from Elba; on this occasion In* said good-humoredly, 
u Tovte VKuroqte dim qtte fal dt'ju fait unr vanquvtt* ” (All 
Europe will say I have already made a. conquest). The cause 

of the island of Pianosa being left uninhabited was the ma¬ 

rauding of the Corsairs from the coast of Barbary, against; 

whom Bonaparte considered himself fully protected by the 
4th Article of the Treaty of Fontainebleau, 

The greatest wealth of Elba consists in its iron mines, for 
which the island was celebrated in the days of Virgil. Soon 

after his arrival Napoleon visited the mines in company with 

Colonel Campbell, and being informed that they produced 

annually about 500,000 francs he exclaimed joy fully r u These, 

then, are my own ! ” One of his followers, however, reminded 

him that he had long since disposed of that revenue, having 

given it to his order of the Legion of Honor, to furnish 
pensions, etc. 44 Where was my head when I made that 

grant?” said he, uhut I have made many foolish decrees of 
that sort 1 ” 

Bir Walter Beott, in telling a curious fact, makes a very 

curious mistake. 44 To dignify his capital,” lie says, 44 having 

discovered that the ancient name of Porto-Ferrajo was 

1 Voyage k Vile df Elbe, par A. K. <Ie Bem&tnl. Parti, mm. 
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Comopoli (the city of Como), lie commanded it to be called 
Cosmopoli, or the city of all nations.” Now the old name 

of Porto-Ferrajo was in reality not Comopoli, but Cosmopoli, 

and it obtained that name from the Florentine Cosmo de’ 
Medici, to whose ducal house Elba belonged, as an integral 

part of Tuscany. The name equally signified the city of 

Cosmo, or the city of all nations, and the vanity of the 

Medici had probably been flattered by the double meaning 

of the appellation. But Bonaparte certainly revived the old 
name, and did not add a letter to it to dignify his little 

capital. 
The household of Napoleon, though reduced to thirty-five 

persons, still represented an Imperial Court. The forms and 

etiquette of the Tuileries and St. Cloud were retained on a 

diminished scale, but the furniture and internal accommoda¬ 

tions of the palace are represented as having been meaner by 

far than those of an English gentleman of ordinary rank. 
The Body-guard of his Imperial Majesty the Emperor of Elba 

consisted of about 700 infantry and 80 cavalry, and to this 
handful of troops Napoleon seemed to pay almost as much 

attention as he had formerly given to his Grande Armde. 
The men were constantly exercised, particularly in throwing 

shot and shells, and he soon began to look out for good 

recruits. 
He early announced that he would hold a Court and receive 

ladies twice a week; the first was on the 7th of May, and a 
great concourse assembled. Bonaparte at first paid great 

attention to the women, particularly those who possessed 

personal attractions, and asked them, in his rapid way, 
whether they were married ? how many children they had, 
and who their husbands were ? To the last question ho 

received one universal answer; it happened that every lady 
was married to a tnereJiant, but when it came to be further 
explained that they were merchant butchers and merchant 

bakers, his Imperial Majesty permitted some expression of his 

dissatisfaction to escape him and hastily retired. On the 4th 

of June there was a ball on board the British frigate, in 
honor of the King’s birthday; the whole beauty and fashion 
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of Elba were assembled, and dancing with great glee, when, 

about midnight, Bonaparte name in his barge, unexpectedly, 

and masked, to join the festivity. He was very affable, and 

visited every part of the ship, and all the amusements wiiieh 
had been prepared for the different classes of persons. On 

his birthday, the loth of August, lie ordered the Mayor to 

give a ball, and for this purpose a temporary building, capable 
of holding 300 persons, was to be erected, and the whole 

entertainment, building and all, were to be* at the expense of 

the inhabitants themselves. These were bad auspices, and 

accordingly the ball completely failed. Madame Mere, 

Madame Bertrand, and the two ladies of honor, attended, but 
not above thirty of the fair islanders, and as tin* author of 

the Itinemire, remarks, 4< Le ha l fut triste q unique l tuna parte 

n?y parut pasX 
Having in an excursion reached the summit of one of the 

highest hills on the island, win*re the sea was visible* all round 

him, he shook his head with affected solemnity, and exclaimed 

in a bantering tone, “ Eh! U fnut unmet quv man tie est hum 

petite.” 

On this mountain one of the party saw a little church in an 

almost inaccessible situation, and observed that it was a most 

inconvenient site for a church, for surely no congregation 

could attend it. u It is on that account the more eonvenient 

to the parson,” replied Bonaparte, 14 who may preach what 

stuff he pleases without fear of contradiction.” 
As they descended the hill and met some peasants with 

their goats who asked for charity, Bonaparte told a story 

which the present circumstances brought to his reeolleetion, 
that when he was crossing the Ctreat Kfc. Bernard, previously 

to the battle of Marengo, he had met a goat-herd, and entered 

into conversation with him. The goat-herd, not knowing to 

whom he was speaking, lamented his own hard lot, and envied 
the riches of some persons who actually had cows and corn¬ 

fields. Bonaparte inquired if some fairy were to offer to 

gratify all his wishes what he would ask ? The poor peasant 

expressed, in his own opinion, some very extravagant desires, 

such as a dozen of cows and a good farmhouse. Bonaparte 
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afterwards recollected tlie incident, and astonished the goat¬ 
herd by the fulfilment of all his wishes. - 

But all his thoughts and conversations were not as light 
and pleasant as these. Sometimes he would involve himself 

in an account of the last campaign, of his own views and 

hopes, of the defection of his marshals, of the capture of 

Paris, and finally of his abdication; on these he would talk 

by the hour with great earnestness and almost fury, exhibit¬ 
ing in very rapid succession traits of eloquence, of military 

genius, of indignation, of vanity, and of selfishness. With 
regard to the audience to whom he addressed these tirades he 

was not very particular. 
The chief violence of his rage seemed to be directed against 

Marshal Marmont, whom, as well as Augereau, he sometimes 

called by names too gross for repetition, and charged roundly 

with treachery.1 Marmont, when he could no longer defend 

Paris by arms, saved it by an honorable capitulation; he pre¬ 

served his army for the service of his country, and when 

everything else was lost stipulated for the safety of Bona¬ 
parte. This last stipulation, however, Bonaparte affected to 
treat with contempt and indignation. —Editor of 1836 edition. 

'1 Marmont’s conduct has boon dealt with in note, p. 380, vol. iii. Marmont 
himself acknowledges the general feeling against him; see his Memoirs, tome 
vii. p. 57. He however tries to represent Napoleon as soon pardoning him, 
or as overlooking his conduct. Thus ho says that Napoleon spoke to Drouot 
and to Clausol as if his abuse of Marmont had only been assumed for a pur¬ 
pose, and that Marmont would rejoin his party, when he would have much 
pleasure in embracing him. With touching modesty Marmont repeats the 
following descriptions of him by Napoleon. “ ‘ Marmont is a very clever 
man, with much talent, yes, with much talent.’ . . . The Duke of Vicenza 
has several times told me that Napoleon had said to him that I was the only 
one of his Marshals who understood him, and with whom he liked to talk of 
war.” 

Marmont, indeed, says that even after the desertion of Bourmont Napo¬ 
leon, speaking of him and Victor, said,** Between the blues and whites there 
is war to the death. If things go well, all our side will return to us” (Mar¬ 
mont, tome vii. pp. 151-154). But this last speech does not seem so compli¬ 
mentary as Marmont believed. It is more like Napoleon’s answer when 
asked by O’Meara if Savary would have been faithful to him, when he said 
that Savary might have been, and certainly would have been, if he (Napo¬ 
leon) had been successful. 
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Changes produced by time •—(•orrespomltMiee between the Provisional Gov¬ 

ernment ami Hartwell - I am is X V111. m reception in Loudon 11 is 

arrival at Palais — Uerthicr’s address In tin* King at Compiegno -My 

presentation to Ids Majesty at St. Ouen Louis XVI H/s entry into 
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of seeing M. do Blaeas — Tho Abbe Fleuritd PnanHwered letters My 
letter to M. de Talleyrand at Vienna. 

No power is so great as that resulting1 from tin* rlumgcs pro¬ 

duced by time*. Wise policy consists in directing that, power, 

but to do so it is requisite to know the wants of the age. 

For this reason Louis XVIII. appeared, in the eyes of all sen¬ 

sible persons, a inonareh expressly formed for fin* eireum- 

stances in whiedi we sic sal after the fall of Napoleon.1 
In tin* winter of 1818 LI stum* Royalist proelamat ions laid 

been circulated in Paris, and as they contained tin* genus of 

those hopes which the ('barter, had it been executed, was 

calculated to realize, the police opposed their circulation, and 

I recollect that, in cosier to multiply the number of copies, 

my family and I daily devoted some hours let transcribing 

them. After the definitive declaration of Alexander a very 

active correspondence ensued between the Provisional <*ov» 

eminent and Hartwell, and Louis XVIII, was even preparing 

to embark for Bordeaux when he learned the events of the 
81st of March. That news induced the King to alter his 

determination, and he soon quitted his retirement to proceed 

1 Louis XVIII. wan tfafhdmit itiimutc qii&iitk** which If might have been 
well for him to have possessed. The fUmnile Vitrollrii, who was venturing 
hi# life for his dream of what the isatof !«% give* us ait idea of l§m 
own disenchantment. u The Comte d’Artois told n»r that the King often 
suffered from the gout, Hornet hues so much as not to be aide to wall. My 
astonishment wiuumeh that f could not conceal It. I jumped up and reroiled 
some paces, * What,’ said I, with too much vivaetty, * the King e moot 
walk, but at least he can ride! ’ — * Not at all/ answered the Prince. * My 
God/ cried 1,1 what will become of us? ’ " (VitMUn, p. 

M 
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fco London.3 Louis X V11L and the Prince Regent of England 
exchanged the orders of the Holy Ghost and the Garter, and 

I believe I may ailirm that this was the first occasion on 

which any but a Catholic Prince was invested with the order 
of the Holy Ghost. 

Louis XVIII. embarked at Dover on board the Royal Sorer* 

eiyn, and landed at Calais on the 24th of April. I need not 
enter into any description of the enthusiasm which his pres¬ 

ence excited ; that is generally known through the reports of 

the journals of the time. It is very certain that all rational 

persons saw with satisfaction the Princes of the House of 

Bourbon re-ascend the throne of their ancestors, enlightened 

by experience and misfortune, which, as some ancient philoso¬ 
pher observes, are the best counsellors of kings.2 

I had received a letter addressed to me from London by 

the Due. de Duras, pointing out the route which Louis XVIII. 

was to pursue from Calais to Paris. In this he said, “After 

the zeal, monsieur, you have shown for the service of tin? 

King, I do not doubt your activity to prevent his suffering in 

any way at. a moment so happy and interesting for (‘.very 

Frenchman/’ The King’s wishes on this subject were scru¬ 

pulously fulfilled, and I recollect with pleasure the zeal with 

which my directions were executed by all the persons in the 

service of the Post-office. His Majesty stopped for a short 

time at Amiens, and then proceeded to Oompidgne, where the 

Ministers and Marshals had previously arrived to present to 
him their homage and the assurance of their fidelity. Ber- 

thier addressed the King in the name of the Marshals, and 

said, among other things, “ that France, groaning for five and 

1 The entrance of Louis XVIIL into London was a triumphal one. The 
waving of white handkerchiefs, the display of white cockades, wore prodi¬ 
gious. We never saw sued an exhibition of linen, muslin, and silks ~ all 
Uourboninally white. — Editor of l8Sd edition, 

a The enlightenment of the koyalists is deliniouHly painted by Puymnigre 
(p. ITS). “ I remember that one of my comrades who since the disband- 
ment of the army of < ‘onde lmd not left his ehftteau of Vivarnls, said gravely 
to me one day (1HH). ‘ Parhtvt^ the King is very kind to trouble himself 
about bis (Umrter. To end all our debates, I should only have a law eom- 
jawed of two articles. First, everything in Frnnre is re-established as it was 
on the Kith of July, 17811/ •.-4 And the second ? ’ 4 The second is even sim¬ 
pler. My Ministers of War, Interior, and of the Finances, etc., are (‘barged 
with the execution of the present ordornnmor.* And yet this man was no 
fool, hut his ideas had petrified, and to him nothing had changed.M 
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twenty years under the weight of tie* mistWtlines that 

oppressed her, had anxiously looked forward to the happy 

day which she now saw dawning." Bert bier might justly 

have said for aten years;" hut at. all events even had lie 
spoken tin* truth, it was ill placed in the mouth of a man 
whom the Emperor had constantly loaded with favors. The 

Emperor Alexander also went to ('ompiegne to meet, Louis 

XVIII., and the two monarchs dined together. 
I did not go to (Jompicgne because the business which I had 

constantly to execute did not permit me to leave Paris for so 

long an interval as that journey would have required, but 1 

was at St. Otten when Louis XVIII. arrived on tin* ltd of May. 

There I had to congratulate myself on being remembered by 
a man to whom I was fortunate enough to render some ser¬ 

vice at Hamburg. As the King entered the through 

which he had to pass to go to the dining-room M. Hue recog¬ 

nizing me said to his Majesty, “ There is M. tie Bourrienne." 

The King then stepping up to me said, 44 All 1 M. de Hour- 

rierrne, I am very glad to see you. I am aware of the 

services you have rendered me in Hamburg and Paris, and 1 

shall feel much pleasure in testifying my gratitude." 1 

At St. Otten Louis XVIII. promulgated the declaration 

which preceded the <Tarter, and which repeated the senti 

ments expressed by the King twenty years before, in the 

Declaration of Colmar. It was also at St. Ottett that project 
of a Constitution was presented to him by the Senate in which 

that body, to justify in extremis its title of conservative, 

stipulated for the preservation of its revenues anti endow¬ 

ments. 

On the 3d of May Louis XVIII. matte his solemn entrance 
into Paris, the Duchesne d’Angonl&me being in the carriage 

with the King. His Majesty proceeded first to Notre Datum 
On arriving at the Pont Nettf lie saw the model of the statue 

of Henri IV. replaced, on the pedestal of which appeared the 

following words: Ludorim milter. Hen Hens m/iriiuu, which 

were suggested by M. de Lally-Tollendal, ami were greatly 

1 Bonrrienne'H enemies naturally m\m in* tills niicwlt t« teutind tm that 
tlie services rendered at Hamburg to Lotiiit XVIII, warn linti# at m time 
when he was in the service of Nncoieon. 
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preferable to the long and prolix inscription composed for the 
bronze statue.1 

The King’s entrance into Paris did not excite so much en¬ 
thusiasm as the entrance of Monsieur. In the places through 

which I passed on the 3d of May astonishment seemed to be 

the prevailing feeling among the people. The abatement of 

public enthusiasm was more perceptible a short time after, 
when Louis XVIII. restored “the red corps” which Louis 
XVI. had suppressed long before the Revolution. 

It was not a little extraordinary to see the direction of the 

Government consigned to a man who neither had nor could 

have any knowledge of Prance. From the commencement M. 

de Blaeas affected ministerial omnipotence.2 When I went on 
the lltli of May to the Tuileries to present, as usual, my port¬ 

folio to the King, in virtue of my privilege of transacting 

business with the sovereign, M. de Blaeas wished to take the 

*■ Tho inscription in question, a happy one, was really composed by 
Beugnot, who was much disgusted by Lally’s claiming it, and his com¬ 
plaints reached the King. “ Louis XVin., who attached importance to 
small literary matters, for he thought them some of the riches that existed 
before 1789, spoke of it to M. Lully, and he eloquently proved to his Majesty 
that in a kingdom like his, in which there were so many men of genius, it 
was not surprising that they should sometimes clash " {liem/nut, vol. ii. pp. 
187-189). 

* Oasimir, (Ionite, later, 1821, Due, do Blaeas d’Aulps (1770-1889), had 
succeeded tho Domte, later Due, d’Avaray, as favorite of Louis XVIII., and 
in 1814 became his factotum. lie has been so thoroughly well abused for 
pride, ignorance, and carelessness that it is impossible not to believe with 
Marmonfc that he has suffered for some of the faults of others. Thus it is 
said that tho Abbe de Montesquieu, Minister of the Interior, kept on his 
table, without opening them, the despatches of M. de Bouthillier, then 
Prdfet of the Var, which told him a fortnight beforehand of the plans of 
“ the man of Elba," and similar neglect was shown to the reports of General 
Bruslart, commandant of Corsica, on the same subject (Puj/muif/re, p. 182). 
For some account of Blaeas see VUroUcs, p. 200; Murmont, tome vii. pp. 21 
and 112; T/iiors, tome xviii. p. 92. He was dismissed in 1815, became Am¬ 
bassador in Rome and Naples with largo gifts from his master, followed tho 
exiled family in 1880, and died at Goritz in 1889. Part of Marmont’s scheme 
for defending Louis XVIII. in the Tuileries in 1815 see farther on, on the 
return of Napoleon from Elba, hinged on the forcible removal of Blaeas 
(Thiers, tome xix. p. 211). 

How little it was known in France what the Bourbons were is shown by 
the following speech of Talleyrand when first told of tho influence of Blaeas 
while the King was still in England. “ Who is this Blaeas? I do not know 
where he comes from, and care little enough to know. Wo are going to 
enter on a constitutional government, where influence will be proportioned 
to capacity. Men will for the future have to take their places by public 
speaking and business ” (Rev(/not, vol. ii. p. 127). Talleyrand soon know 
differently; indeed Louis seems to have wished in 1815 to have got rid of Tal¬ 
leyrand and to have kept Blaeas. 
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portfolio from mi*, which appeared b> me the inure surprising 

as, during the seven days I had the lemur of coming in con¬ 

tact with Louis XVIII., his Majesty had been pleased to 

bestow many compliments upon me. 1 at first iid used to give 

up the portfolio, hut M. de Plaeas told me tin* King had 

ordered him to receive it; I then, of course, yielded the point.. 

However, it was not long he fore, I had experience of a 

courtier's revenge, for two days after this circumstance, that 

is to say, on the 13th of May, on entering my cabinet at the 

usual hour, I mechanically took up the Moults nr, which I 

found lying on my desk. On glancing hastily over if what 

was my astonishment to find that tin* < Msnte Perrand had been 

appointed Director of the Post-office in my stead. Such was 
the strange mode in which M. de Pd.teas made me fee! tin* 

promised gratitude of the sovereign. tVrfainly, after in\ 

proofs of loyalty, which a year after wards prueiinal for me 
the honor of being outlawed in quite a special w;t\, I had 

reason to complain, and I might have said Sir c»*.v m*n n#/ds as 

justly as Virgil when he alluded to the unmerited fa vers 

lavished by Augustus on the Ma*vii and P»avii of hm time. 

The measures of (xuvornmeut soon excited complaints in 

every quarter. The usages of tie* old system were gradually 

restored, and ridicule being mingled with more serious coin 

siderations, Paris was speedily inundated with caricatures and 

pamphlets.1 However, tranquillity prevailed until the month 
of September, when M. de Talleyrand departed U»r i he Con¬ 

gress of Vienna. Then all was disorder at the Tuileries, 

Every one. feeling himself free from restraint* wished to play 

the statesman, and Heaven knows how many follies were com¬ 

mitted in the absence of the schoolmaster. 

Under a feeble (lovernment there is but one step from dis¬ 

content to insurrection, under an imbecile (tovernment like 

that of Prance in 1814, after the departure of M. de Talley¬ 
rand, conspiracy has free scope.2 During the summer of 1811 

were initiated the events which reached their climax on the 

1 A little political journal, called tho Nutn *fannet or lVfl«ir» tttmrf, exor¬ 
cised much influence at this period. — Editor of WMi diUmt, Hen #<*/*» 
vol. iii. p, Ill. 

2 There is no doubt that Talleyrand’* absemai at Vicuna wm tliwtrmm for 
the Bourbons; see for example the dlflieulthu with the Minister* for want of 
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20th of March, 1815. I almost fancy I am dreaming when I 
look baek on the miraculous incapacity of the persons who 
were then at the head of our (fovornment. The emigrants, 
who, as it has been truly said, had neither learned nor for¬ 
gotten anything, came baek with all the absurd pretensions of 
(U)blentz. Their silly vanity reminded one of a character in 
one of Voltaire’s novels who is continually saying, “ Un 
horn me com me moi ! ” These people were so engrossed with 
their pretended merit that they were blind to everything else. 
They not only disregarded the wishes and the wants of 
France, which in overthrowing the Empire hoped to regain 
liberty, but they disregarded every warning they had received.1 

I recollect one circumstance which was well calculated to 
excite suspicion. Prince Eugene proposed going to the 
waters of Plombi&res to join his sister Itortense. The 
horses, the carriages, and one of the Prince’s aides de camp 
had already arrived at Plombieres, and his residence was pre¬ 
pared ; but he did not go. Eugene, had, no doubt, received 
intimation of his sister’s intrigues with some of the indi¬ 
viduals of the late (lourtof Napoleon who wore then at the 
waters, and as he had determined to reside quietly at the 
Court of his father-in-law, without meddling with public 

any head, Talleyrand's Correspondence, vol. i, pp ISO, UK), etc. Ab tho Duke 
of * Wellington Haiti, the thin# wauled above all others was a Ministry. 
** There are Ministers, hut no Ministry ” (Talleyrand's Correnpondenee, vol. 
ii. n. 2). Hee also /Je/o/md, vol. it pp. 2d4f 2(55, for tho position tak<m tip by 
Talleyrand when he did return “lie started as if from a settled point, 
from the assumption that after his departure for the Congress of Vienna tho 
Cuvernmeut hud gone from one folly to another.” He even told the Com to 
d’Artois, in full eonneil, “ Hinoe his Itoyal Highness lias placed the discus¬ 
sion on that footing, Monsieur lms done a great deal of harm.” 

1 One of the ways in which the Bourbons disgusted the army was the 
manner in whleh military rank wits given to former dmit/rdu who had never 
served, or who had only served In the lower ranks. Both Mnrmont and 
V it relies put this down to the error of Louis XVIII. in adopting uniform for 
his own dress instead of tho former dress-coat. Every courtier wanted uni¬ 
form, and as short hair was also adopted, they required epaulets, and 
handHoitie epaulets. For the offence thus given to the old ofheors see Mur- 
vhmit tome vii, p. 44*; Vitr<dit>*f tome i. p, 202; and Puymaiyre, p. 172. 
Another very sore point was changing the number of the regiments, simply 
for the love of uniformity, because some of the numbers had disappeared by 
reductions. 44 After long wars,” says Marmont, (tome vii. p. 7*1), ** the num¬ 
bers of regiments have become their names to which remembrances of ac¬ 
quired glory become attached, and to take them away was to gratuitously 
wound noble and legitimate sentiments. The first net of Napoleon, after 
his return during the dent Jmirnf was to restore to every corps its lost former 
number.” 
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affairs, he remained at Munich. This fact, however, passed 
cff unnoticed. 

At the end of 181*1 unequivocal indications of a great 

catastrophe were observable. About that time a man, whom 

I much esteem, and with whom I have alvvav s been on terms 

of friendship, said to me, “ You see how things are going on : 

they are committing fault upon fault. Yon must be n»m ineed 

that such a state of things cannot last long, ltHwr»*ii our¬ 

selves, I am of opinion that all will he over in the month of 
March; that month will repair the disgrace of last March, 

We shall then, once for all, be delivered from fanaticism and 

the emigrants. You see tin* intolerable spirit of hypocrisy 

that prevails, and you know that tin* itdiueiiee of the priests 

is, of all things, the most hateful to tin4 nation. We have 

gone back a long way within tin* last eight moot Its, i fear 

you will repent of having taken too active a part in affairs at 

the commencement of the present \ear. You see we have 

gone a very different way from what yon e\perted. However, 
as I have often told you before, you bad good re a on to eo?in 

plain; and after all, you aeted to the best oi 30111* judgment." 

I did not attach much importance to this prediet ion of a 

change in the month of March, I deplored, as every one did, 

the inconceivable errors of “ Ferrund and <'mu pans,"1 ami I 
hoped that the Government would gradually return ?** theme 
principles which were ealeulated to eoneiliate the feelings of 

the people. A few days after another of my friends called 
on me. lie had exercised important functions, and his name 

had appeared on a proscription list. He h;ui claims upon 

the Government, which wm hy no means favorably dis* 

posed towards him. I asked him how things were going 
on, and he replied, “ Very well; no opposition m made to my 

demands. I have no reason to complain." This reminded 

me of the man in the Lrttrrn /Vmr/ie#, who admired the 

excellent order of the finances under (h*llx*rt ls*i*!iitse fits peii* 

sion was promptly paid. I congratulated my friend on the 

justice which the Government rendered him, m well an on the 
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justice which he rendered to the Government, and I remarked 
that if the same course were adopted towards every one all 
parties would speedily be conciliated. “I do not think so,” 
said my friend. “If the Government persist in its present 

course it cannot possibly stand, and we shall have the Empe¬ 
ror back again.” — “ That,” said I,. “ would be a very great 

misfortune; and even if such were the wish of France, it 
would be opposed by Europe. You who are so devotedly 

attached to France cannot be indifferent to the danger that 
would threaten her if the presence of Bonaparte should bring 
the foreigners back again. Can you endure to think of the 
dismemberment of our country ? ” — “ That they would never 

dare to attempt. But you and I can never agree on the ques¬ 
tion of the Emperor and your Bourbons. We take a totally 

different view of the matter. You had cause to complain of 
Bonaparte, but I had only reason to be satisfied with him. 

But tell me, what would you do if he were to return ? ” — 

“Bonaparte return!” — “Yes.” — “Upon my word, the best 
thing I could do would be to set off as speedily as I could, and 
that is certainly what I should do. I am thoroughly con¬ 
vinced that he would never pardon me for the part I have 

taken in the Kestoration, and I candidly confess that I should 
not hesitate a moment to save my life by leaving France.” — 
“Well, you are wrong, for I am convinced that if you would 
range yourself among the number of his friends you might 

have whatever you wished — titles, honors, riches. Of this I 
could give you assurance.” — “All this, I must tell you, does 
not tempt me. I love France as dearly as you do, and I am 
convinced that she can never be happy under Bonaparte. If 
he should return I will go and live abroad.” 

This is only part of a conversation which lasted a consid¬ 
erable time, and, as is often the case after a long discussion, 

iny friend retained his opinion, and I mine. However, this 
second warning, this hypothesis of the return of Bonaparte, 

made me reflect, and I soon received another hint which gave 
additional weight to the preceding ones. An individual with 

whom I was well acquainted, and whom I knew from his 
principles and connections to be entirely devoted to the royal 
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cause, communicated to me some extriioidmai v e 11 eu m st um*< * 

whidi he said alarmed him. Among other things he said, 
aThe day Indore yesterday I met <’hades d<* I,aU*do\vre, who. 

you know, is my intimate friend. 1 remarked t hat he hud an 

air of agitation and abstraction. I invited him to mmo an*l 

dine with me, but he declined, alleging as an excuse that \\e 
should not he alone. lie then asked me to go and dim* with 

him yesterday, as he wanted to talk with me. 1 aeeepled hi.s 

invitation, and we conversed a long time on political affuiis 

and the situation of France, You know my pent umiits are 

quite the reverse of his, so we disputed and wrangled, though 

we are still very good friends. But what alarum use b,, t hat 

at parting Charles pressed my hand, su\ iug, ‘ Admit ; tumor* 

row 1 set off for Grenoble. In a mouth \uu will hi at some, 

thing of Charles de Labdduyere.* " 
These three? successive communications appeared Jo me very 

extraordinary. The two first wen* made to me |»v persons 

interested in the event, and tin* thin! by one w bo dreaded it, 

They all 'presented a striking coincidence wills the mlmines 
at Plomhi^res a few months before. lit t U*> mouth of .human 

I determined to mention the business t»» M. tie Blaeas, win* 

tlien engrossed all credit and all power, and through » bow 

medium alone anything could reach the sovereign. I need 

scarcely add that my intention was merely to mention to him 

the facts without naming the individuals from w liom 1 nb 

tamed them. After all, however, M. de Ifhte.m did not re* 

eeive me, and I only had the honor of speaking to his 

secretary, who, if the fact deserve to In* monied, waa an 

abb6 named Fleuriel. This peracmitgo* who mms mi extraordh 

nary specimen of impertinence and sdbeoneeit, would have 

l)een an admirable study for a comic jutei. He had all tin* 

dignity belonging to the great secretary of a great Minister, 
and, with an air of indifTerencc, he told me that the Ciamt 

was not there; hut M. de Blaeas mm there, and 1 knew it. 

Devoted as I was to the cause of the itourisms, f thought it 

my duty to write that very day to M, do Hhmm to request an 

interview; I received no answer* Two days lifter I written 

second letter, in which I informed M, de Itkeas t hat 1 had 
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something of the greatest importance to communicate to him; 

this letter remained unnoticed like the first. Unable to ac¬ 

count for this strange treatment I again repaired to the Pavil¬ 
ion de Plore, and requested the Abbe Fleuriel to explain to me 

if he could the cause of his master’s silence. “ Sir/’ said he, 
“ I received your two letters, and laid them before the Count ; 
I cannot tell why he has not sent you an answer; but Mon¬ 
sieur le Comte is so much engaged. . . . Monsieur le Comte is 
so overwhelmed with business that — ” —ci Monsieur le Comte 
may, perhaps, repent of it. Good-morning, sir! ” 

I thus had personal experience of the truth of what I had 
often heard respecting M. de Blacas. That favorite, who suc¬ 

ceeded Comte d’Avaray, enjoyed the full confidence of the 
King, and concentrated the sovereign power in his own cabi¬ 
net. The only means of transmitting any communication to 

Louis XVIII. was to get it addressed to M. de Blacas by one 

of his most intimate friends. 
Convinced as I was of the danger that threatened France, 

and unable to break through the blockade which M. de Blacas 
had formed round the person of the King, I determined to 

write to M. de Talleyrand at Vienna,1 and acquaint him with 
the communications that had been made to me. M. de Talley¬ 
rand corresponded directly with the King, and I doubt not 
that my information at length reached the ears of his Majesty. 

But when Louis XVIII. was informed of what was to happen 

it was too late to avert the danger. 

i Talleyrand had on this occasion but little of that foresight generally 
attributed to him, and he seems to have not dreamt of the approaching catas¬ 
trophe. When informed by Metternich of the departure of Napoleon from 
Elba the following conversation took place. Talleyrand—“Do you know 
where Napoleon is going ? ” Metternich — “ The despatch does not say any¬ 
thing about it.” Talleyrand — “He will embark (disembark?) somewhere 
on the coast of Italy, aiid throw himself into Switzerland” Metternich — 
“He will go straight to Paris” (Metternich, vol. i. p. 255). This is not 
quite in agreement withTalleyrand’s own account (Talleyrand’s Correspond¬ 
ence, vol. ii. p. 71), where he says ho learnt the news first from a note of 
Prince Metternich, “To whom I replied that I saw from the date that 
Bonaparte’s escape was connected with Murat’s asking Austria to permit 
his troops to pass through her provinces.” But, in the spirit of the answer 
attributed to him by Metternich, he informs the King that he “cannot 
believe that he (Napoleon) would dare to make any attempt upon our south¬ 
ern provinces” (vol. ii. p. 72). At p. 108 of the same volume he tells Jau- 
court that “We have no reason to fear; our cause is safe,” and, “I think 
this last dreadful attempt of Bonaparte’s will not last long.” 
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ISM !Kir>. 

Napolwni at Elba- His .■oiivrrMtbm* amt tnuna. »mrn tintk - His «>*■*(*> 
from Elba - Hi» laming neat failin'* Mart i. mi 

Lord Ehuincti.n visited Sapid.-on at KHu in th« «tutor of 

1814, and the ineiiionuida <>f hi* <*.-nv.-r^:ttt.^ns with th,» 

ex-Emporor give :i,‘ 
ings at thin tini<“ am! ridliTtimis on j.a-st I'votit s. 

** IN>llJ’0*KKHilA40, #lf#»n»|8|f, Mh tin *<rmhi rt |*I4. 

U1 went by appointment at eight oVU«*k in the evening 

to tin* paluee, ami after waiting a few minute* wim shown 

into the re«mi of Nujiolonn. 
u After scum* questions almut myself ami my family, In* 

asked eagerly ulxmt Kratiee, saying, * Tell in** frankly, an* limy 

eon ton tod ?y I said, * (i/od lit* replied, * Tli**y minted, 

bo; they have lx*ei4 too niindi humbled by flm peare tli«*v 
have had a king imposed iijkiii them, ami ititjt*«rd upon tloaii 

by England. Lord Wellington*# ;*|*|«*ilittii^itl ium4 ttr i**ry 

galling to the army, and mo must t!i«* great attentions shown 

him by the King, as if opposing his own fe«*Iing* t * * those id 
the country.12 The Bourbons were not mdriiUfed to b* p«*pu 

lar with a people like* the? Pfenehd Madame tIMfig«ulesii*n 

ho had heard, wits plain and awkward, * For the angel of 

peace a witty or a privity woman was required at heed 1 The 

King and Monsieur were too much inthicueod by priest#. 

The Due d’AngouIemc, 1m* had iteett told, was monk, 1 mid tin* 

Due de Berry, according to rej«»rh Imp I teen committing a 
great many follies of Besides, they had b-rtt tin* 
instruments of making a peace on terms tu mdnrli lie (Xa|K>* 

1 This chapter first appears In the eitltien «f Iffll, «$4 i« nr»i by If, if« 
Beurriennc. 

8 As British Ambassador cm tlm mmlmkm *4 the «w§»§ifil*fi of I®1C 

44 
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leon) never would have consented; giving up Belgium, which 
the nation had been taught to consider as an integral part 

of the dominions of France, and of which it would never 
quietly submit to be stripped. He said he spoke not from 
what he had heard, ‘for I have no news except from the 
newspapers, or from the reports of travellers; but I know 
the French character well: it is not proud, like the English, 

but it is much more vainglorious; vanity is its principal 
feature, and the vanity of a Frenchman makes him capable 
of undertaking anything.’ The army was naturally attached 

to him (Napoleon), ‘for I had been their comrade. I had 

had some success with them, and they knew that I recom¬ 
pensed them handsomely: but at present they feel that they 

are nothing. There are at this moment in France 700,000 
men who have borne arms, and the last campaigns have 

only served fco show them how superior they are to their 

enemies. They render justice to the valor of your British 

troops; but they despise all the rest.’ ” 1 
This last assertion was, doubtless, insincere. More than 

one bloody campaign had taught the French soldiery that 

the Russians and their iron columns were not to be despised, 

and in the course of the war in 1813 and 1814 the Austrians 
and Prussians (particularly the latter) had commanded respect. 

Bonaparte then talked about the conscription, and spoke of 

corps of a higher description for gentlemen to serve in, “ For,” 

said he, “ I know it is hard for a gentleman to be taken for a 
common soldier.” He said he had always been desirous of 

bringing forward the nobility, and that he had had in his 
army many young men of old families who behaved very well. 

1 The Allies most imprudently restored, without any stipulation what¬ 
ever, all the French prisoners they had taken during the war. In this man¬ 
ner more than 150,000 men, for the most part tried soldiers, were thrown like 
a lava-stream into France, where they soon openly expressed their old enthu¬ 
siasm for Napoleon, and their contempt and hatred of the new Government. 
They toasted the ex-Fmperor as “the Little Corporal,” or “ Corporal Vio¬ 
let/' and they confidently repeated wherever they went, “ He will come back 
with the spring.” It was impossible to prove to these men that had they 
been present in France, instead of being, as they were, prisoners to the Rus¬ 
sians, the Prussians, and the Austrians, Paris could ever have been taken by 
the Allies: there was no convincing them that Napoleon had not been be¬ 
trayed, for when did the French ever acknowledge to have been defeated, 
except through treachery ? — Editor of 1836 edition. 
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“He felt that France wantimi an arh»tn*ra<*\ : ‘ 1‘iil for that 

it required tine*. I hu\e mud** I“rinces and I Mike*, and g b < i i 

them large estates, lmt I could not make real noblemen of 

them.'' He meant, how ever, gradually to ha\ e intermarried 
them with the old nobility, as he hud done in some instances, 

* and if/ said he, * the twenty \ ears I demanded for the gran¬ 
deur of France had been granted me, 1 would hu\ e done a cm*d 

deal: but fate has determined othcrwi.se.* Tie* Kim*, bo 

thought, ought to follow the same plum instead *d ad \ among 

those so mueh who, for the last twenty } ears, had been ‘buried 

in the garrets of London.1 
“He considered the House of Peers as tin* great bulwark 

of the English Constitution, * but in France,' be observed, ‘ I 
could make you forty Senates just as good as t b«* one t bey 

have got..1 
“ He had read most of the pamphlets publt de*d m France 

since his abdieation. ‘ Some of tlieind said le% * rail me a 

traitor —a coward; but it is only truth that wound * the 

French well know that I am no coward. Tim wisent plan of 

the Bourlsms would be to follow, with rcguid to in**, the same 

rule I observed with respect to them, whieh a as not to ,mitier 

people to speak either ill or well of them.’ 
“ Speaking of the. finances ol Franee, Napoleon Mini. * All 

that 1 directed to 1m* printed upon this su bj« el m n!rmih tin*-/ 

The civil list was francs, but the expenttuuie m4 

dom exceeded 1<S,000,(HH), and with that he had completed tun 

or three of the palaces. His table cam! l.tMHtJMMi train**. His 

stable and eh a nut*, including 7tMt horses, thtftttljltif Besides 

this he had the* dhqxiHul of the * Ihimainm e,efntw*tiiw*#ret** a 
fund of 200,000,000, out of which he made presents, and re 

warded those who distinguished themselves, To my question, 
1 Whence was this fund derived ? * hi* answered, Mint nf Up* 

contributions of my enemies. Austria, for two t rrntics of pence, 
paid me by secret articles ;ffMJfftOt»,dOO francs, find Prussia 

just as enormously.1 I inquired if lie had received un>thing 

from Russia ? He* said, * No f1 I asked hint what In* thought 
of the Emperor Alexander. Mill, he in a true Ureek! one 

cannot rely on him. He is, however, intelligent, and hint 
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certain liberal ideas with which he was imbued by one of our 
French philosophes — Laharpe, who brought him up. But he 
is so fickle that one can never know whether the sentiments 

he utters proceed from his real conviction or from a species 
of vanity to put himself in contrast with his real position.’ 

“ In elucidation of this he mentioned an argument they 
had had upon forms of Government, in which Alexander 
maintained a preference for elective monarchy. His (Napo¬ 
leon’s) opinion was quite contrary, for ‘who is fit to be so 
elected ? A Caesar or an Alexander, who is not to be found 

once in a century: so that the election must after all be a 

matter of chance, and the law of succession is surely better 
than the dice.’ During the fortnight that they were at Tilsit 
the two Emperors dined together nearly every day, ‘but we 

rose early from table to get rid of the King of Prussia, 

who bored us. About nine o’clock the Emperor Alexander 
returned in plain clothes to drink tea with me, and remained 

conversing very agreeably on different subjects, for the most 
part philosophical or political, sometimes till two or three 
o’clock in the morning.’ The Emperor Francis, he said, had 
more honesty but less capacity. ‘I would rely upon him 

sooner than on the other, and if he gave me his word to do 
such or such a thing, I would be persuaded that at the moment 

of giving it he meant to keep it; but his mind is very limited 
— no energy — no character.’ The King of Prussia he called 
c un caporalj without an idea beyond the dress of a soldier, 

and ‘ infinitely the greatest fool of the three.’ The Archduke 
Charles was ‘ un esprit trls-mediocre,who had, however, on 
some occasion, shown himself not to be without military 

talent. 
“ He spoke lightly of the talents of his Marshals, but 

having once elevated them it had been his system to maintain 
them. He had always been indulgent respecting military 

errors, as he evinced in not removing Marmont from his 
command after the loss of his artillery at Laon, which he now 
believed to have been treachery. He said that Augereau was 

a ‘ mauvais sujet,’ who, he thought, had made his terms a month 

before he declared himself. He spoke well of Mass&na. ‘I 
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believe he behaved well, as did also Mar-dial,1* Suiilf atn| 

Davoust/ I asked if he \uts not surprised at IWthier lunin^ 
been among the first to weleome thr kings arrival, lit* 

answered with a smih\ 4 1 have been told he lias eonumttei| 

some follies of the kind, but his head b nut a strong one. { 

had promoted him more than hi* deserted heeuuse I found bin 
pen useful. Besides, 1 assure von, lit* is a good fellow, and if 

lie saw me he would be flit* first to express regret for what In® 

has done, with tears in his e\esd 
u I asked him what he thought of the King of Spain 

(Ferdinand) 7 He said he was not wit hunt natural parts, but 

ignorant and bigoted from the faults oi Ins edueat ion, w hieh 

had been left entirely to prie>ts. * Moreover, tIse muni din* 

simulating eharaeter 1 ever knew,’ He considered < 'hurltw IV. 

to be honest, and well iuteutiotied, lmt u it h u*n lilt I** eapaojtv. 

His Queen, I think, he railed 1 ant* / but I do 

not reeollrrt his saying itiudi ai«uit her. 

“Napoleon inquired if I had seen * the beautiful museum 

that; I have given them at Paris/1 He expressed some regret 

at having taken away so ninny fine things from Italy. 41 

was rather unjust in that, but at that tint** I thought only of 

France/ He had meant, however, to acquit his d**bf one d.tv 

to Italy by separating it from the French Empire, and by bom 

ing it altogether into ail independent kingdom for lu.s mm, 1 
asked him if the King of Naples {Murat j would not lane umde 

an obstacle to this arrangement 7 He said, * Yes* fur the pros 

ent, but I should have set tied that somehow or other bv the tune 

1 With a few exceptions on the part of Prnv-r*, tie* !*o « left n*Ue I the 
wonderful Napoleon Muse tun, enrh Iteii litli furfftret md a »oe % fun iI4i 
torn from Italy, Spain, and thnitatn; win* h Midcn o. * ,j h * <d art, md ft*** 
lawks and rare immuHeriptM* xarnd in trout* it tb* iov to i'n 
were all ctawhliim! hy a huge port on «d the Pamiairt* and wnn.u * ,e ?o* 
phie« of victory, The influence exercised mi "junmii hv thei ■ in,go 
circumstance wan really r* anode i able, and it icqumil the ?t*< u non n h /«/*», 
this restitution of these tmtHitie* (which wan moh in to hyi*»/ tbr 
French to reason. If at the time of that r« *»»ii?tim»f |i had n «)« eim •! 
right (which it nwM and feasible {winch In nntm c »*» 4 if m e> t , o* neno 
on tint rest oration of tiie v.<irks *»f s»f wfimh liml i«-m -* §?* d !«% \4§*«>t*n4i 
generals, and kept on their own account, lorn ttmu\ wore jw i*h*^ <to»ibi 
have been sent hack to Italy and Hp,»in than actually were » m ’ Tit* her i *, 
of Marshal Boult’s collection, so tkh in the picture* *d Murjth», Vela^pe t 
Alonzo (’aim, (’ana del (’iMtqwt, (’oello, and ot her** of th* la-st HpauMi iit«- 
tern, is perfectly well known. Marshal Boult afterward?* mM the* t uUm inh 
to King Louis Philippe. . Eihbtr t*f iKHUtUtvm. 
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my son came of age.’ He had found the Italians lazy and 
effeminate, ‘But I finished by making them as good soldiers 

as the French.’ On my naming the Viceroy he said, ‘ He is a 

young man whom I have always treated as my son, and who 

has always deserved my praise.’ I asked if he was not a very 
good officer? He said, ‘Yes, he has always behaved very 
well; but he is by no means a man of superior talents.’ He 

questioned me a good deal about Milan, the disposition of the 
people towards him, whether the things he had begun there 
were going on, etc., and seemed pleased at my admiration of 
the Simplon, which led him to speak of the roads and other 

public works he had made, or intended to have made, in 
different parts of the French dominions. Among them he 
particularly mentioned the dockyards at Antwerp and Venice. 

“ He asked me, ‘ What would they do with me if I were 
to go to England ? Should I be stoned ? ’ I replied that he 

would be perfectly safe there, as the violent feelings which 
had been excited against him were daily subsiding now that 
we were no longer at war. He said smiling, ‘ I believe, how¬ 

ever, that there would always be some risk on the part of your 
London mob.’ I then mentioned to him the odium that some 

of his acts had produced in England, and instanced the execu¬ 
tion of the Due d’Enghien. He justified it on the score of 

his being engaged in a treasonable conspiracy, and having 
made two journeys to Strasburg in disguise, in consequence of 
which he had been seized and tried by a military commission, 
which sentenced him to be shot. ‘ I have been told he desired 

to speak with me, which affected me, for I knew he was a 
young man of spirit and talent. I even believed that I would 

have seen him, but M. de Talleyrand hindered me, saying, 
“ Don’t commit yourself with a Bourbon : you know not what 

may be the consequences of it: the wine is drawn — it must 
be drunk.” ’1 I asked him if it was true that the Duke was 

1 It is due to this extraordinary personage to state our conviction that 
what Napoleon says here is untrue. Napoleon knew the wonderful talent 
and address of M. de Talleyrand, as also how largely they had contributed 
to the first restoration of the Bourbons in 1814. From that moment he en¬ 
tertained a rancorous spite against his ex-Minister, on whose shoulders he 
tried to throw the weight of many of his politics, mistakes, and crimes. He 
roundly asserted, on several occasions, that Talleyrand projected and coun- 
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shot by torchlight. Ile replied, * Ah no; that t\ould have 

boon contrary to law. i he exeeution took place at the usual 

hour, about eight in the morning ami 1 immediately ordered 

the official report of it, with the sentence, to be published in 

every town in France.’ 
ul mentioned the idea that prevailed in England as to the 

murder of Captain Wright. He did not recollect the name, 

but on my saying that In* was a eompaniou of Sir Sidney 

Smith, he said, 4 Hid he then die in prison ? for I have entirely 

forgotten the circumstance.’ He scouted the notion of bud 

play, adding that he had never put any man to death elandes* 

tinely, or without a trial. 4 My conscience is wit limit reproaeh 

on that point; and had I been less sparing of blood, perhaps 

1 might not have been here now. Hut your newspapers 

charged me also with the death of Eiehegru, who strangled 

himself with his neckcloth.’ 
“ lie them went into an interesting aeeouut of <ieorges’s con¬ 

spiracy, its discovery by the confession of —, an apothecary* 

a dhoimn, ami a curious conversation which was overheard 

between Moreau, Pichegru, and Ueorges at a house on the 

boulevards. 

u lie spoke, with apparent pleasure of Egypt, and described 

humorously enough his admission and that of his army into 

Mahometanism, on receiving from the men of the law, after 

many meetings and grave dismissions at Hairo, a dispensation 

from lining circumcised, and a permission to drink wine, 

under tin*, condition of their doing a good aeiion after each 

draught, * You can hardly imagine,’ said he, • the advantages 

which I gained in the country from this adoption of their 

religion.’ I mentioned Hir Robot Wilson’s statement of his 

having poisoned his sick. He answered, 4 // tj a dm$» e<*!u 

qtmlque jmultmetit de rm/ — There in Home foundation of 

soiled the usurpation of the BpauhtU throne, whowiwt Hint Mtitter strongly 
dissuaded him from it. It was when madly rushing into this ih*strunti\t» 
war that M. chi Talleyrand (us wo hidiovc) firm made two of that pt«|ti»itt ex¬ 
pression, 44 Tills is the* beginning of the end,1* When Ihiimpartn ttniiifiwitriHt 
his Spanish maimmvroH M. do Talley rand was not Mliifiiter for Foreign 
Affairs — in his anger the Kmjswor hail tak«m the nlffte from him find gfvnti 
it to Ohampagny, tho l>uc do Uadore, - Kdiinr of ItCtfl mUUmt, 
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truth in that. Three or four1 men of the army had the 
plague: they could not have lived twenty-four hours; I was 

about to march 5 I consulted Desgenettes as to the means of 
removing them. He said that it must be attended with some 
risk of infection, and would be useless to them as they were 

past recovery. I then recommended him to give them a dose 
of opium rather than leave them to the mercy of the Turks. 

He answered me, like a very honest man, that it was his 
business to cure and not to kill: so the men were left to their 

fate. Perhaps he was right, though I asked for them what I 
should under similar circumstances have wished my best 
friends to have done for me. I have often thought since on 
the morality of this, and have conversed on it with others, 

and I believe that, after all, it is always better to suffer a man 
to finish his destiny, be it what it may. I judged so after¬ 

wards in the case of Duroc, who, when his bowels were falling 

out before my eyes, repeatedly cried to me to have him put 

out of his misery. I said to him, “ I pity you, my friend, 
but there is no help for it — you must suffer on to the end.” ’ 

I then asked him about the massacre of the Turks at Jaffa. 
He answered, ‘ It is true: I had about 2000 of them shot — 

you think that rather strong — but I granted them a capitu¬ 
lation at El-Arish, upon condition that they should return to 
their homes. They broke the condition and threw themselves 

into Jaffa, where I took them by assault. I could not carry 
them off as prisoners, for I was in want of bread, and they 

were by far too dangerous devils to be let go a second time, so 
that I had no other means but to kill them.’ 

“ This,” says Lord Ebrington, “ is all that I accurately 
recollect of this interesting conversation, which lasted from 

eight till half-past eleven o’clock, as we walked up and down 
the room. His manner put me quite at my ease almost from 

the first, and seemed to invite my questions, which he 
answered upon all subjects without the slightest hesitation, 
and with a quickness of comprehension and clearness of 
expression beyond what I ever saw in any other man; nor 

1 Bourrienne, who was with Bonaparte in Egypt, says there were nearly 
sixty cases ol plague in the military hospital. See ante, vol. i. p. 196. 
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did he, in the whole course of the conversation, ho tray, either 

by his countenance or manner, a single emotion of resentment 

or regret.” 
About the middle of May, 1814, Baron Kohler, the Austrian 

Commissioner, took farewell of Napoleon to return to Vienna. 

The scene of Napoleon’s parting with this gentleman is said 

to have been quite pathetic on the Emperor's side. He wept 

as he embraced General Kohler, and entreated him to procure, 

if possible, his re-union with his wife and child, railed him 

the preserver of his life, regretted his poverty, which pre* 

vented his bestowing on him some valuable token of remem¬ 

brance, finally, folding the Austrian General in his arms, he 

held him there for some time, repeating expressions of warm 

attachment. This sensibility existed all upon one side, foi 

an English gentleman who witnessed tin* scene is said to have 

asked Kohler afterwards what he was thinking of while 

locked in the Emperor’s embraces. “ ()f Iscariot," answered 

the Austrian. 
After the departure of Baron Kohler Colonel Sir Neil 

Campbell was the only one of the four Commissioners who 

remained at Elba by orders of the British Cabinet. It was 

difficult to say what his office really was, or what wen* his 

instructions. He had neither power, right, nor means to 

interfere with Napoleon’s motions. The Emperor had been 

recognized by a treaty ms an independent sovereign. It 

was therefore only as a nondescript kind of envoy that Sir 
Neil Campbell was permitted to reside at his Court. In 
fact, Sir Neil Campbell had no direct or ostensible situation, 

and of this the French at Elba took advantage. Drouot, 

the Governor of Porto-Fcrrajo, made such particular inquiries 

into the character assumed by the British envoy, and the 

length of his stay, as to oblige Campbell to declare that his 

orders were to remain in Elba till the breaking up of the 

Congress, which was now settling the affairs of Europe, but 

if his orders should direct him to continue tin*re after that 
period he would apply to have his situation placed on a 
recognized footing. 

Napoleon did not oppose the equivocal residence of BIr Neil 
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Campbell at Elba; be affected, on the contrary, to be pleased 
with it. For a considerable time be even seemed to seek the 
society of the British envoy, held frequent intercourse with 

him, and conversed with apparent confidence on public affairs. 

It appeared from these conversations that Napoleon’s expres¬ 
sions were arranged, generally speaking, on a premeditated 

plan, yet it is equally evident that his ardent temperament, 
when once engaged in discourse, led him to discover more of 

his own private thoughts than be would on cool reflection have 
suffered to escape him. 

In September, for example, Sir Neil Campbell had an audi¬ 

ence of three hours, during which Napoleon, with bis habitual 

impatience of a sedentary posture, walked from one end of 

the room to the other, and talked incessantly. He was happy, 

he said, that Sir Neil remained in Elba, pour rompre la chi- 
mere (to destroy the idea that he, Bonaparte, had any further 

intention of disturbing the peace of Europe). “ I think,” he 

continued, “of nothing beyond the verge of my little isles. I 

could have supported the war for twenty years if I had chosen. 
I am now a retired person, occupied with nothing but my fam¬ 

ily, my retreat, my house, my cows, and my poultry.” And 
yet, not unfrequently, the very moment after assertions like 
these Napoleon’s eye would flash, his lips quiver, and on some 

sudden reference to the Bourbons, or to his army, he would 

let words escape him that proved ambition was still alive 
and working within him. 

On another occasion he described the ferment in France, 
which he said he had learned from the correspondence of his 
Guards with their native country, and went on to say plainly 

that the present disaffection would break out with all the fury 
of the former revolution, and require his own resurrection. 

“ For then,” he added, “ the sovereigns of Europe will soon find 
it necessary for their own repose to call on me to tranquillize 

matters.” 

Sir Neil Campbell conceived some suspicions, but, upon the 

whole, thought it unlikely that the Emperor meditated an es¬ 
cape, unless a very tempting opening should present itself in 

France or Italy. 
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Napoleon frequently talked about his wife and son, whose 

society at Elba he, claimed as a right, ami as a tiling indis¬ 

pensable to his happiness. On these topics his language was 

furious. General Kohler, on the other hand, insisted that her 
remaining apart from her husband was entirely voluntary on 

the part of Maria Louisa. Ib* also expressed an opinion that 
Napoleon was actuated by other feelings tban t hose of domes¬ 

tic affection, and this, though we believe he tender!) loved his 

child and his wife also, we can readily believe. 
A curious incident made the simple-minded people of Elba 

believe for a short time that the Empress and the young Napo¬ 

leon had really been among them to visit the fallen monarch. 

In August, 1814, a lady with a line little boy arrived from Leg¬ 

horn at Porto-Kerrajo in a very mysterious manner. She wan 

received with distinction, around which, however, Bonaparte 

threw a certain veil of secrecy. She was lodged in a retinal 

casino, or country-house, in the least frequented part of the 

island, where she, only stopped two days, and then made sail 

for Naples. Even some of tin* French soldiery, win* had only 

seen the lady at a distance,or laid not seen her at all, wrote to 

their friends that Maria Louisa had been to \ bit her hm.bund, 

and that it was quite certain the Emperor of the Fremdi 

and the Emperor of Austria were on fin* point of making up 

matters, and then making eummois head against tin* Allies. 

The fine little hoy was indeed the son of Bonaparte, lmt an 

illegitimate son, and the mysterious lady in question was not 
Maria Louisa, hut a Polish Countess with whom Xiijniieon had 

intrigued at Warsaw during the winter of 1807,1 

As the winter approached a change was discernible in 
Napoleon. The alterations which he had planned in the 

island ceased to interest him, lie rode less frequently on horse 

back, and sunk occasionally into fits of deep contemplation, 

mingled with gloomy anxiety. “ lie lieeume, also,” says Sir 
Walter Scott, “ subjected to uneasiness, to which he had 

hitherto been a stranger, being that arising from jmetititary in¬ 

conveniences. lie had plunged into expenses with imprudent 

eagerness, and without weighing the amount of his resources 

1 Be© ante, vol. ill. j>. 75, th© Common Walwwikaf 
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} tlie cost of the proposed alterations. The ready money 

dxe brought from Trance seems to have been soon ex* 
5L, and to raise supplies he commanded the inhabitants 

sland to pay up, in the month of June, the contributions 

vvTiole year. This produced petitions, personal solicita- 

discontent. It was represented to him that, so poor 
Lae inhabitants of the island, in consequence of want of 
c their wine for months past, that they would be driven 

most extreme difficulties if the requisition should be 
ed in. In some of the villages the tax-gatherers of the 
ox were resisted and insulted. Napoleon, on his side, 
LX't of liis troops to quarter upon the insurgent peasantry, 

Toe supported by them without payment, till the contri- 
j should be paid up.” 

exhibition of poverty and destitution could hardly fail 
iperating and preparing for any enterprise, however des- 

Ixis faithful followers and attached troops, who had 

ocustomed always to be well cared for. We suspect, 

5xr, that Bonaparte, who was then actually sending large 
f money to his brother Joseph for political objects, was 

poor as he seemed. 
'STalter Scott, who believes his poverty to have b^en real, 
tio can hardly be suspected of favoring Bonaparte in 

bion to the Bourbons, remarks : — 
e IFrench administration were, of all others, most inti- 
la ound in conscience, honor, and policy to see the Treaty 

ibainebleau, as forming the footstool by which Louis 
. mounted his restored throne, strictly observed towards 

on. The third article of that Treaty provides an annu- 
evenue of 2,000,000 francs, to be registered in the Great 

if IFrance, and paid without abatement or deduction to 

;oxi Bonaparte. This annual provision was stipulated 

Mlarshals Macdonald and Ney as the price of Napoleon’s 

don, and the French Ministers could not refuse a decla- 
of payment without gross injustice to Bonaparte, and at 
ae time a severe insult to the Allied powers. So far 

ais pension being paid with regularity, we have seen no 
3e that Napoleon ever received a single remittance on 
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account of it. The British resident, observing how much the 
ex-Emperor was harassed by pecuniary >trails, gave it, nut. 

once but repeatedly, as his opinion, ‘that, it these difficulties 

pressed upon him mueh longer, so as to present him from eon. 

tinning the external show of a <'ourt, he was porter! ly capable 

of crossing over to Piombino with his troops, or committing 

any other extravagance/ ” 
This was Sir Neil ('ampbelTs opinion on the JIM. o| < October, 

1814, and Lord (Jastlereagh made strong remonstrances on the 

subject, although Great Britain was the only power among the* 

Allies who, being no principal party to the Trimly of Fontaine¬ 
bleau, might safely have left it to those States who were. 

Not only were the claims of Napoleon left unsat isfied, hut 

the pensions —*2,500,000 -—stipulated tor by the sixth article 

of the Treaty of Fontainebleau for the different members of 

his family were never paid by the restored Bourbons/ 

Napoleoi/s conduct towards those who joined him at Fdha 

was wredl calculated to make devoted partisans. On tin* I If h 

of July Oolomboni, commandant of a battalion of the 4th regi¬ 

ment of the. line in Italy, was presented to the Emperor as 

newly arrived. u Well, Odomhoiii, your business in Elba?” 

— “ First, to pay my duty to your Majesty ; secondly, to offer 

myself to carry a musket among your guards.” 41 That is too 

low a situation, you must have something Iteffer/* said Nupo 

leon; and instantly named him to an appointment of 1200 

francs yearly. 

About the middle of summer Napoleon was visited by his 

mother and his sister the Princess Pauline, Both these ladles 

had very considerable talents for political intrigue, ami their 
natural faculties in this way had not; lain dormant or been in* 

jured by want of practice. In Pauline* this finesse was par¬ 

tially concealed by a languor and indecision of manner and an 

1 Some of this disgrace mmt undeniably fell tifton such of the Allies 
as guaranteed the execution of the Treaty of FottliiliiiihlfMit, Harm* Fain 
says:— 

** It must bo recorded, to the disgrace of Kiirojsmri diplomacy, that those 
generous professions wore mner curried into ejceoution. Thu Icgurlci which 
Napoleon distributed to persons about him, on tin* faith of tint Treaty, have 
not been paid, and the legatees have not found In the signatures of Princes 
that security which is furnished by the suumture of two attorney* in the mmt 
trilling matters of this nature between private individuals.** 
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occasional assumption of niaiserie, or almost infantine simpli¬ 

city j but this only threw people the more oft their guard, and 
made her finesse the more sure in its operation. Pauline was 
handsome too, uncommonly graceful, and had all that power 

of fascination which has been attributed to the Bonaparte 

family. She could gain hearts with ease, and those whom her 
charms enslaved were generally ready to devote themselves 
absolutely to her brother. She went and came between Naples 

and Elba, and kept her brother-in-law, Murat, in mind of the 

fact that the lion was not yet dead nor so much as sleeping, 
but merely retiring the better to spring forward on his quarry. 

Having taken this resolution and chosen his time, Napoleon 
kept the secret of his expedition until the last moment; and 
means were found to privately make the requisite prepara¬ 

tions. A portion of the soldiers was embarked in a brig called 
the Inconstant and the remainder in six small craft. It was 

not till they were all on board that the troops first conceived 
a suspicion of the Emperor’s purpose : 1000 or 1200 men had 
sailed to regain possession of an Empire containing a popula¬ 

tion of 30,000,000 ! He commenced his voyage on Sunday 
the 26th of February, 1815, and the next morning at ten 

o’clock was not out of sight of the island, to the great annoy¬ 

ance of the few friends he had left behind. At this time 
Colonel Sir Neil Campbell was absent on a tour to Leghorn, 
but being informed by the French Consul and by Spanocchi, 

the Tuscan Governor of the town, that Napoleon was about 

to sail for the Continent, he hastened back, and gave chase to 
the little squadron in the Partridge sloop of war, which was 
cruising in the neighborhood, but, being delayed by commu¬ 

nicating with a French frigate, reached Antibes too late.1 
There were between 400 and 500 men on board the brig 

1 The conduct of Sir Neil Campbell was severely censured at the time in 
various quarters. The following defence of it was put forward by his friends, 
and published in a London newspaper. Campbell was a gallant officer, and 
it is but justice to him to reprint that statement here. 

“ From this period until the assembling of the Congress at Vienna Bona¬ 
parte evinced the greatest predilection for the constant personal presence and 
society of Sir Neil Campbell; but the discussion of the Allied powers touch¬ 
ing his future situation, and the arrangements of the Italian States seemed 
to awaken his slumbering passions and create rancor in his mind; lie evi¬ 
dently alienated himself from the habits ho had before cultivated with the 
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(the Inconstant) in which Bonaparte embarked. On the* pas¬ 

sage they met with a French ship of war, with which they 

spoke. The Guards were ordered to pull oil their caps and 

lie down on the* deck or go below while the captain exchanged 

some words with the commander of the frigate, whom he 

afterwards proposed to pursue ami capture. Bonaparte re¬ 

jected the idea as absurd, and asked why he should introduce 

this new episode into his plan. 

As they stood over to the coast of France the Emperor was 

in the highest spirits. The die was cast, and lit* seemed to 

be quite himself again. He sat upon the deck and amused 

the officers collected around him with a narrative of his cam¬ 

paigns, particularly those of Italy and Egypt. When In* Imd 

finished he observed tin* deck to Is* encumbered with several 

large chests belonging to him. He asked tin* mnitre if hotel 

what they contained. Upon being told they were Idled with 

wine he ordered them to be immediately broken open, saying, 

British resident Bonaparte’s restlessness and dissatisfaction with his situa¬ 
tion at Elba daily increased. 

“ About this time several of his relations and old friends arrived at Elba 
from the Continent; a frequent intercourse took place with Italy, and he 
evidently showed Sir Neil Campbell that his company was not m acceptable 
as formerly. Under these and other circumstances Colonel Campbell found 
it expedient occasionally to visit the Continent for the purpose of being the 
better enabled to watch, ascertain, and communicate to his < iovernment and 
its functionaries on the Continent such intrigues of Bonaparte m might be 
carried forward, and which it was impossmble to do by a constant residence 
at Elba; and there is reason to believe that he did not fail to report, from 
time to time, what appeared to him deserving of notice, as well on the Con¬ 
tinent as in Elba. It is therefore to \m presumed that men tlit* ex|aw4ilon 
of the footing on which he was at Elba will evince the injustice of the lan¬ 
guage in which the public prints have indulged, in attributing to him a situa¬ 
tion which he would have scorned to hold, — a power which he did not 
possess, and a negligence which the whole tenor of his military life most 
decidedly contradicts: nor will the public ascribe to an isolated individual, 
so situated, the means of preventing Napoleon's departure from Elba, the 
signal for which, had Colonel Campbell been on the spot, would have been 
his imprisonment and consequent deprivation of all means of refiorting to 
his Government.” Fuller details will he found in a work since published 
by Sir Neil Campbell on the subject of his residence in the Mediterranean, 
when in attendance upon Napoleon Bonaparte, 

The allusion in this letter to discussions carried on at Vienna ** Umehing 
Im (Napoleon'*) future situation " merits particular attention. It is confi¬ 
dently assorted by many that the island of St. Helena mm talked of in f,V»n« 
yrem, and that Napoleon was told U tmm the intention of the Allien to send him 
to that inland before he made tip hin mind to quit Elba and again, frf/ tlw for¬ 
tune of his sword. Such an announcement wits certainly enough to force 1dm 
again to appeal to the chances of war In hit own defence. - Editor of 
miUon. J 
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•Wo will divide the booty.” The Emperor superintended 

he distribution himself, and presented bottle by bottle to his 

omrades, till tins! of this occupation he called out to Ber- 

rand, u Grand Marshal, assist me, if you please. Let us help 

hese gentlemen. They will help us some day.” It was with 

his species of bonhomie that he captivated when he chose all 

.round him. The following day he was employed in various 

Trail gem cuts, and among others in dictating to Colonel Raoul 

he proclamations to be issued on his landing. In one of 

hese, after observing, u we must forget that we have* given 

aw to the neighboring nations,” Napoleon stopped. u What 

lave I said?1' Colonel Raoul read the. passage. u Stop ! ” 

aid Napoleon. “Omit the word 4 neighboring; ’ say simply 

to nations.’” It was Urns his pride revealed itself, and his 

jnbition seemed to rekindle at the. very reeolleetions of his 
ormer greatness. 

Napoleon landed without any aeeident on the 1st of Mareh 

t Cannes, a small seaport In tin* Gulf of St. Juan, not far 

nun Frejns, when* he had disembarked on his return from 
Cgypt sixteen years lie fore, and where he had embarked the 

ireeeding year for HI ha. A small party of the Guards who 

> resent *»d themselves before, the. neighboring garrison of 

Intibes wen* made, prisoners by General Corsin, the Gov- 

rnor of the plane. Some one hinted that it was not right 

o proceed till they had released their comrades, hut tin4 

Cmperor observed that this was j sourly to estimate the magni- 
tide of the undertaking; Indore them were JO,000,000 men 

mitintj to he set free! He, however, sent tin* Commissariat 

Mlicer to try what he could do, calling out after him, “Take 

are you do not get yourself made prisoner tooI” 

At nightfall the troops bivouacked on the beach. Just 

k*fori4 a postilion, in a splendid livery, had been brought to 

Napoleon. It turned out that this man had formerly been a 

lomestie of the Km press Josephine, and was now in the ser¬ 
vice of the Prince of Monaco, who himself had been equerry 

o the Empress. The postilion, after expressing Ids great 

.stonishment at finding the Emperor there, stated, in answer 

o the questions that were put to him, that he had just (some 
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from Paris; that all along tin* road, as far as Avignon, he haa 

heard nothing but regret for the Emperor's absence ; that hi« 

name was constantly echoed from mouth to mouth; and that, 

when once fairly through Provence, he would tind the whole 

population ready to rally round him. The man added that 

his laeed livery had frequently rendered him the object of 

odium and insult on the road. This was the testimony of one 

of the common class of society: it was very gratifying to the 

Emperor, as it entirely corresponded with his expectations. 

The Prince of Monaco himself, on being presented to the 

Emperor, was less explicit. Napoleon refrained from ques¬ 

tioning him on political matters. The conversation therefore 

assumed a more lively character, and turned altogether on the 

ladies of the former imperial Court, concerning whom the 

Emperor was very particular in his inquiries. 

As soon as the moon had risen, which was about one or two 

in the morning of the 2d, the bivouacs were broken up, and 

Napoleon gave orders for proceeding to Grasse, There he 

expected to lind a road which he had planned during the 

Empire, but in this he was disappointed, the Bourbons having 
given up all such expensive works through want of money. 

Bonaparte was therefore obliged to pass through narrow 

defiles filled with snow, ami left behind him in the hands of 

the municipality his carriage and two pieces of cannon, which 

had been brought ashore. This was termed a rapture in the 

bulletins of the day. The municipality of Grasse was strongly 

in favor of the Royalist cause, but the sudden appearance of 

the Emperor afforded but little time for hesitation, and they 

came to tender their submission to him. Having passed 

through the town he halted on a little height some way 

beyond it, where he breakfasted. He was soon surrounded by 

the whole population of the place; and he heard the Kami* sen¬ 

timents and the same prayers as twfora lie quitted Franee, A 

multitude of petitions had already been drawn up, and were 

presented to him, just as though he had come from Baris and 

was making a tour through the departments. One complained 

that his pension had not l>een paid, another that his cross of 

the Legion of Honor had been taken from him. Home of the 
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more discontented secretly informed Napoleon that the au¬ 
thorities of the town were very hostile to him, but that 

the mass of the people were devoted to him, and only waited 

till his back was turned to rid themselves of the miscreants. 

He replied, “ Be not too hasty. Let them have the mortifi¬ 
cation of seeing our triumph without having anything to 

reproach us with.” The Emperor advanced with all the 
rapidity in his power. “Victory,” he said, “depended on 

my speed. To me France was in Grenoble. That place was 
a hundred miles distant, but I and my companions reached it 

in five days; and with what weather and what roads ! I 
entered the city just as the Comte d? Artois, warned by the 
telegraph, was quitting the Tuileries.” 

Napoleon himself was so perfectly convinced of the state of 
affairs that he knew his success in no way depended on the 
force he might bring with him. A piquet of gens d'armeS) he 
said, was all that was necessary. Everything turned out as 

he foresaw. At first he owned he was not without some 
degree of uncertainty and apprehension. As he advanced, 
however, the whole population declared themselves enthusias¬ 
tically in his favor: but he saw no soldiers. It was not till 

he arrived between Mure and Vizille, within five or six leagues 
from Grenoble, and on the fifth day after his landing, that he 
met a battalion. The commanding officer refused to hold even 
a parley. The Emperor, without hesitation, advanced alone, 

and 100 grenadiers marched at some distance behind him, 
with their arms reversed. The sight of Napoleon, his well- 
known costume, and his gray military great-coat, had a magical 
effect on the soldiers, and they stood motionless. Napoleon 
went straight up to them and baring his breast said, “ Let him 

that has the heart kill his Emperor! ” The soldiers threw 

down their arms, their eyes moistened with tears, and cries of 
“Vive PEmpereur!” resounded on every side. Napoleon 
ordered the battalion to wheel round to the right, and all 

marched on together. 
At a short distance from Grenoble Colonel Labddoyere,1 

1 LaMdoy&re was young, nobly born, gallant, handsome, and possessed of 
many high qualities, out his enthusiasm for Napoleon led him sadly astray. 
He was connected by his marriage with the loyal family of the Due de 
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who had been sent at the head of the 7tli regiment to opp«me 

his passage, came to join the Emperor, 1 he impulse thus 

given in a maimer decided the question, Lalndoyere's supe¬ 

rior officer in vain interfered to restrain his enthusiasm and 

that of his men. The tri-colored cockades, which hat I been 

concealed in the hollow of a drum, were eagerly distributed 

by Labedoyere among them, and they threw away the white 

cockade as a badge of their nation's dishonor. The peasantry 

of Dauphiny, the cradle of the Involution, lined the roadside: 

they were transported and mad with joy. The first battalion, 
which has just been alluded to, had shown some signs of hesi¬ 

tation, but thousands of the country people erowded round it, 

and by their shouts of <fc Vive rKmpcreur!" endeavored to 

urge the troops to decision, while others who followed in 
Napoleoids rear encouraged his little troop to advanee by 

assuring them that they would meet with success. Napoleon 
said he could have taken il<MH),000 of these jieuaaiits with him 

to Paris, but that then he would have* l*een called “ the King 

of the Jacquerie.” 

Napoleon issued two proclamations on the road. He at first 

regretted that he had not hud them printed Indore lie left 

Elba; but this could not have been done without some risk of 

betraying his secret designs. He dictated them on board the 

vessel, where every man who could write wan employed in 

copying them. These copies soon Ixmame very scarce• many 

of them were illegible ; and it was not till lie arrived at (tap, 

on the 5th of March, that he found means to have them 

printed. They were from that time circulated and read every¬ 
where with the utmost avidity. 

The proclamation to the French people was as follows: — 

“ Frenchmen!— the defectum of the I hike of ('mtiylione 
delivered up Lyons without defence to mtr enemies The armtp 

the command of which / had intrusted to hitn% iivijt, hy the mim* 

her of its battalions, the eouraye and patriotism, of the troops 
that composed it} in a condition to bmt the Austrian troops 

Bamas, and it was through that connection he obtained active employment 
from LouiB XVIIT. Ho paid clearly for hf» dMtwatty, for lifter the wound 
Restoration he was shot, like Ney. — Editor of IfiHI edition. 
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opposed to it, and to arrive in time on the rear of the left flank 

of the army which threatened Paris. The victories of Champ 

Aubert, of Montmirail, of Chateau-Thierry, of Vauchamps, of 

Mormans, of Montereau, of Craonne, of Rheims, of Arcis-sur- 

Aube, and of St. Dizier, the rising of the brave peasants of 

Lorraine and Champagne, of Alsace, Franche-Compte and Bur¬ 

gundy, and the position which I had taken in the rear of the 

hostile army, by cutting it off from its magazines, its parks of 

reserve, its convoys, and all its equipages, had placed it in a des¬ 

perate situation. The French were never on the point of being 

more powerful, and the elite of the enemy1 s army was lost with¬ 

out resource ; it would have found a tomb in those vast plains 

which it had so mercilessly laid waste, when the treason of the 

Duke of Ragusa delivered up the Capital and disorganized the 

army. The unexpected misconduct of these two generals, who 

betrayed at once their country, their Prince, and their benefactor, 

changed the fate of the war; the situation of the enemy was 

such that at the close of the action ivhich took place before 

Paris, he was without ammunition, in consequence of his sepa¬ 

ration from his parks of reserve. In these new and distressing 

circumstances my heart was torn, but my mind remained im¬ 

movable ; I consulted only the interest of the country ; I banished 

myself to a rock in the middle of the sea ; my life was yours, 

and might still be useful to you. Frenchmen 1 in my exile I 

heard your complaints and your wishes; you blamed my long 

slumber ; you reproached me with sacrificing the welfare of the 

country to my repose. I have traversed seas through perils of 

every kind ; I return among you to reclaim my rights, which 

are yours P 

The address to the army was considered as being still more 
masterly and eloquent, and it was certainly well suited to‘ the 

taste of French soldiers, who, as Bourrienne remarks, are 
wonderfully pleased with grandiloquence, metaphor, and 

hyperbole, though they do not always understand what they 
mean. Even a French author of some distinction praises this 

address as something sublime. “The proclamation to the 
army,” says he, “ is full of energy : it could not fail to make 
all military imaginations vibrate. That prophetic phrase, 
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t The eagle, with the nut ional eehn -<», will fly f rum elnireh 

steeple to ehureh steeple, till it settle* un the l»*wet* uf Notre 

Dame/ was happy in the extreme.** 

The proclamation to tin* army ran fium: 
« Soldiers/ — IIV hare not h**u cum pat red, two ,a*ot sprung 

from our ranks, hare betrayed our iaarthsy thru' naming, their 

benefactor, and their Prime, Tlom whom in hoc* i>*held far 

twenty-fire yearn traversing all Europe to mas* up no m Its 

against us, who hare spent their tins ui Jtyhtmy a gamut us in 

the ranks of foreign armies, ami in cues any our h* a at if at 

France, shall they pretend to com man*l or » or ham our Hughs 

— they who hare never hern able to look them in ihe goer ? Shall 

we suffer them to inherit the fruit of uitr glorious toils, to fake 

possession of our honors, of our fort it ms , /« ml a mmntc a ml 

revile our glory ? If their reign inn to cunt i out all w»*uld be 

lost, even the recollect urn of those me mo mbit days, If it h what 

fury they misrepresent them / Tht y si t h to famish what the 

world admires ; and if there still remain def* ml res of our 

glory they am to be, found among those n ig t n emits whom we 

have eonfronted in fields of battle. Soldier# l in my *\* Hr / 

hare heard your voire ; I ham mm** back in spite of till oh&tn* 

cles and all dangers. Four (ienemh ml led it* th* throne by the 

choice of the people, and raised on your *hi* Ids, in rest or* d in 

you: come and join him. Mount the trivolund emditale: 

you wore it in the days of our greatness, IfV mmf forget that 

we have been the masters of nations ; but we must not suffer 

any to intermeddle in our affairs, IF ho would pretend in be 

master over us? Who would ham the /mwer? fimume those 

Eagles which you had at (Jim, at Austrrlitx, at Jena, of EyUiu, 

at Wagram, at Frimllumlf at TmMm, mi ErkmUht^ at Emiimj% 
at Smolensko, at the Mosktm, at Luism, at MUtrtxm, at Muni- 

miraiL The veterans of the armies of tlm Sombre ami Marne, 

of the Rhine, of Italy, of Egypt, of the Hast, of the Em mi 

Army, are humiliated: their how* ruble mwm are despised; 

their successes would be crimes, the hm re mmld im rebels, ij\ m 
the enemies of the people pretend, the legitimate smwrigns mem 

in the midst of the foreign armies* If tutors, r&totnjwnsf#, 
favors, are alone reserved for those who ham serrrti with tlmm 
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against the country and against us. Soldiers! come and range 
yourselves under the banners of your Chief: his existence is 

only made up of yours ; his rights are only those of the people 
and yours ; his interest, his honor, his glory, are no other than 

your interest, your honor, and your glory. Victory shall march 
at a charging step ; the Eagle, with the national colors, shall 

jly from steeple to steeple, till it reaches the towers of Notre 
Da,me! Then you will be able to show your scars with honor ; 
then you will be able to boast of what you have done ; you will 
be the liberators of the country ! In your old age, surrounded 
and looked up to by your fellow-citizens, they unit listen to you 
with respect as you recount your high deeds ; you will each of 

you be able to sap with pride, c And I also made part of that 
Grand Army which entered twice within the walls of Vienna, 

within those of Rome, of Berlin, of Madrid, of Moscow, and 
which delivered Paris from the stain which treason and the 
presence of the enemy had imprinted on it.’ Honor to those 

brave Soldiers, the glory of their country /” 
These words certainly produced an immense effect on the 

Trench soldiery, who everywhere shouted, “Vive l’Empereur! 

Vive le petit Caporal! ” “We will die for our old comrade ! ” 
with the most genuine enthusiasm. 

It was some distance in advance of Grenoble that Lab6- 

doyere joined, but he could not make quite sure of the garri¬ 

son of that city, which was commanded by General Marchand, 
a man resolved to be faithful to his latest master. The shades 

of night had fallen when Bonaparte arrived in front of the 

fortress of Grenoble, where he stood for some minutes in 
a painful state of suspense and indecision. 

It was on the 7th of March, at nightfall, that Bonaparte 

thus stood before the walls of Grenoble. He found the gates 
closed, and the commanding officer refused to open them. 
The garrison assembled on the ramparts shouted “Vive PEm- 
pereur! ” and shook hands with Napoleon's followers through 

the wickets, but they could not be prevailed on to do more. 
It was necessary to force the gates, and this was done under 
the mouths of ten pieces of artillery, loaded with grapeshot. 

In none of his battles did Napoleon ever imagine himself to 
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“be in so much danger as at the entrance into Grenoble. The 

soldiers seemed to turn upon him with furious gestures: for 
a moment it might he supposed that they were going to tear 

him to pieces. But these were the suppressed transports of 
love and joy. The Emperor and his horse were both borne 

along by the multitude, and he had scarcely time to breathe in 

the inn where he alighted when an increased tumult was 

heard without; the. inhabitants of Grenoble came to offer him 

the broken gates of the city, since they could not present 

him with the keys. 
From Grenoble, to Paris Napoleon found no further opposi¬ 

tion. During the four days of his stay at Lyons, where he 

had arrived on the 10th, there were continually upwards of 

20,000 people assembled before his windows, whose acclama¬ 
tions were unceasing. It would never have been supposed 

that the Emperor had even for a moment been absent from 

the country. He issued orders, signed decrees, reviewed the 

troops, as if nothing had happened. Tin*, military corps, the 
public, bodies, and all elmsses of citizens, eagerly came forward 

to tender their homage and their services. The Comte 
<P Artois, who had hastened to Lyons, as the Due and Duehesse 
d’Angouleme had done to Bordeaux, like them in vain 

attempted to make a stand. The Mounted National Guard 

(who were known Royalists) deserted him at this crisis, and 

in his flight only one of them chose to follow him. Bonaparte 

refused their services when effort id to him, and with a chival¬ 
rous feeling worthy of being recorded sent the decoration of 

the Legion of Honor to the single volunteer who had thus 

shewn his fidelity by following the Duke. 
As soon as the Emperor quitted Lyons he wrote to Ney, 

who with his army was at Lons-lc-Baulnier, to come and 

join him. Ney had set off from the Court with a promise to 

bring Napoleon, “ like a wild beast in a cage, to Paris.” 
Beott excuses Ney’s heart at the expense of his head, and 
fancies that the Marshal was rather carried away by circum¬ 

stances, by vanity, and by fickleness, than actuated by pre¬ 

meditated treachery, and it is quite possible that these pro¬ 

testations were sincerely uttered when Ney left Paris, but, 
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infected by the ardor of his troops, he was unable to resist 

a contagion so much in harmony with all his antecedents, 
and to attack not only his leader in many a time of peril, but 

also the sovereign who had forwarded his career through every 
grade of the army. 

The facts of the case were these : — 

On the 11th of March Key, being at BesanQon, learned 
that Napoleon was at Lyons. To those who doubted 
whether his troops would fight against their old comrades 
he said, “ They shall fight! I will take a musket from a 
grenadier and begin the action myself! I will run my 

sword to the hilt in the body of the first man who hesitates 

to fire! ” At the same time he wrote to the Minister of 

War at Paris that he hoped “to see a fortunate close to 
this mad enterprise.” 

He then advanced to Lons-le-Saulnier, where, on the 
night between the 13th and 14th of March, not quite three 

days after his vehement protestations of fidelity, he received, 
without hesitation, a letter from Bonaparte, inviting him, by 
his old appellation of the “ Bravest of the Brave,” to join his 
standard. With this invitation Ney complied, and published 

an order of the day that declared the cause of the Bourbons, 
which he had sworn to defend, lost forever. 

It is pleaded in extenuation of Ney’s defection that 
both his officers and men were beyond his control, and 
determined to join their old Master; but in that case he 
might have given up his command, and retired in the same 
honorable way that Marshals Macdonald and Marmont 

and several other generals did.1 But even among his own 
officers Ney had an example set him, for many of them, 

after remonstrating in vain, threw up their commands. 

One of them broke his sword in two and threw the pieces 
at Ney’s feet, saying, “It is easier for a man of honor to break 

iron than to break his word.” 
Napoleon, when at St. Helena, gave a very different 

reading to these incidents. On this subject he was heard 

1 Marshal Augereau kept himself aloof. He could not be much flattered 
by the mention made of him in Bonaparte’s proclamation to the troops! 
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fco say, “If I except Labedoycre, who flew to me with 
enthusiasm and affection, and another individual, who, of his 

own accord, rendered me important services, nearly all the 

other generals whom I met on my route evinced hesitation 

and uncertainty; they yielded only to the impulse about 
them, if indeed they did not manifest a hostile feeling 

towards me. This was the case with Ney, with Masscna, 

St. Cyr, Soult, as well as with Macdonald and the Duke of 
Belluno, so that if the Bourbons had reason to complain of 
the complete desertion of the soldiers and the people, they 

had no right to reproach the chiefs of the army with con¬ 

spiring against them, who had shown themselves mere 

children in politics, and would be looked upon as neither 

emigrants nor patriots.” 
Between Lyons and Fontainebleau Napoleon often 

travelled several miles ahead of. his army with no other 
escort than a few Polish lancers. His advanced guard now 
generally consisted of the troops (miscalled Royal) who 

happened to be before him on the road whither they had 

been sent to oppose him, and to whom couriers were sent 
forward to give notice of the Emperor’s approach, in order 
that they might be quite ready to join him with the due 

military ceremonies. White flags and cockades everywhere 
disappeared; the tri-color resumed its pride of place. It 

was spring, and true to its season the violet had re-appeared ! 
The joy of the soldiers and the lower orders was almost 

frantic, but even among the industrious poor there wore 
not wanting many who regretted this precipitate return to 

the old order of things — to conscription, war, and bloodshed, 

while in the superior classes of society there was a pretty 
general consternation. The vain, volatile soldiery, however, 

thought of nothing but their Emperor, saw nothing before 

them but the restoration of all their laurels, the humiliation 
of England, and the utter defeat of the Bussians, Prussians, 
and Austrians. 

On the night between the 19th and 20th of March Napoleon 

reached Fontainebleau, and again paced, as had formerly been 
his custom, with short, quick steps through the antiquated 
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but splendid galleries of that old palace. What must have 
been his feelings on revisiting the chamber in which, the year 
before, it is said he had attempted suicide !1 

Louis XVIII. left the Palace of the Tuileries at nearly the 
same hour that Bonaparte entered that of Pontainebleau. 

The most forlorn hope of the Bourbons was now in a con¬ 
siderable army posted between Pontainebleau and Paris. 

Meantime the two armies approached each other at Melun; 
that of the King was commanded by Marshal Macdonald. On 

the 20th his troops were drawn up in three lines to receive 
the invaders, who were said to be advancing from Fontaine¬ 
bleau. There was a long pause of suspense, of a nature 

which seldom fails to render men more accessible to strong 

1 Baron Fain thus relates this report: — 
“ On the night of the 12th the silence which reigned in the long corridors 

of the palace was suddenly interrupted by the sound of hurried footsteps. 
The servants of the palace were heard running to and fro, candles were 
lighted in the inner apartment, and the valets de chambre were called up. 
Doctor Yvan and the Grand Marshal Betrand were also summoned. The 
Duke of Vicenza was sent for, and a message was despatched to the Duke of 
Bassano, who resided at the Chancellerie. All these individuals arrived, 
and were successively introduced into the Emperor’s bedchamber. Curiosity 
in vain lent an anxious ear; nothing was heard but groans and sobs escaping 
from the antechamber and resounding through the gallery. At length Yvan 
came out of the chamber; he hastily descended into the courtyard, where, 
finding a horse fastened to the railing, he mounted him and galloped off. 
The secret of this night has always been involved in profound obscurity. 
The following story has, however, been related: — . 

“ During the retreat from Moscow Napoleon had, in case of accident, 
taken means to prevent his falling alive into the hands of the enemy. He 
procured from his surgeon Yvan a bag of opium,* which he wore hung about 
his neclc as long as danger was to be apprehended. He afterwards carefully 
deposited this bag in a secret drawer of his cabinet. On the night of the 
12th he thought the moment had arrived for availing himself of this last 
expedient. The valet de chambre, who slept in the adjoining room, the door 
of which was half open, heard Napoleon empty something into a glass of 
water, which he drank, and then returned to bed. Pain soon extorted from 
him an acknowledgment of his approaching end. He then sent for the 
most confidential persons in his service. Yvan was sent for also; but learn¬ 
ing what had occurred, and hearing Napoleon complain that the poison was 
not sufficiently quick in its effect, he lost all self-possession, and hastily fled 
from Fontainebleau. It is added that Napoleon fell into a long sleep, and 
that after copious perspiration every alarming symptom disappeared. The 
dose was either insufficient in quantity, or time had mitigated the power of 
the poison. It is said that Napoleon, astonished at the failure of his attempt, 
after some moments of reflection said, * God has ordained that I shall live! ’ 
and yielding to the will of Providence, which had preserved his existence, 
he resigned himself to a new destiny. The whole affair was hushed in 
secrecy.” 

* It was not opium alone, but a preparation described by Cabanis, and the same 
Which Condorcet made use of to destroy himself. 
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and sudden emotion. The glades of the forest, and the ac¬ 
clivity which leads to it, were full in view of the Boyal army, 
but presented the appearance of a deep solitude. All was 

silence, except when the regimental bands of music, at the 

command of the officers, who remained generally faithful, 

played the airs of “ Vive Henri Quatre ” “ 0 Bichard” u La 

Belle Gabrielle ” and other tunes connected with the cause and 
family of the Bourbons. The sounds excited no corresponding 

sentiments among the soldiers. 
At length, about noon, a galloping of horse was heard. An 

open carriage appeared, surrounded by a few hussars, and 

drawn by four horses. It came on at full speed, and Napo¬ 
leon, jumping from the vehicle, was in the midst of the ranks 
which had been formed to oppose him. His escort threw 
themselves from their horses, mingled with their ancient com¬ 

rades, and the effect of their exhortations was instantaneous 
on men whose minds were already half made up to the pur¬ 
pose which they now accomplished. There was a general 

shout of “ Vive Napoleon ! ” The last army of the Bourbons 
passed from their side, and no further obstruction existed 
betwixt Napoleon and the capital, which he was once more — 
but for a brief space —to inhabit as a sovereign.1 

Louis, accompanied only by a few household troops, had 
scarcely turned his back on the capital of his ancestors when 
Lavalette hastened from a place of concealment and seized on 
the Post-office in the name of Napoleon. By this measure all 

the King’s proclamations2 were intercepted, and the restora¬ 
tion of the Emperor was announced to all the departments. 
General Excelmans, who had just renewed his oath to Louis, 
pulled down with his own hands the white flag that was float¬ 
ing over the Tuileries, and hoisted the three-colored banner. 

It was late in the evening of the 20th that Bonaparte en¬ 
tered Paris in an open carriage, which was driven straight to 
the gilded gates of the Tuileries. He received the acclama¬ 
tions of the military and of the lower classes of the suburbs, 

1 Sir Walter Scott’s TAfe of Napoleon, vol. viii. p. 385. 
2 On the 12th of April Louis XYIII. issued a Declaration to the French 

people at Ghent, but even that paper could not be circulated in France until 
after the battle of Waterloo. 
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ut most of the respectable citizens looked on in silent won- 
ennent. It was quite evident then that he was recalled by a 

arty — a party, in truth, numerous and powerful, but not by 
be unanimous voice of the nation. The enthusiasm of his 
nmediate adherents, however, made up for the silence and 

ikewarmness of others. They filled and crammed the square 
f the Carrousel, and the courts and avenues of the Tuileries; 
bey pressed so closely upon him that he was obliged to cry 
ut, “ My friends, you stifle me !” and his aides de camp were 
ompelled to carry him in their arms up the grand staircase, 
nd thence into the royal apartments. It was observed, liow- 

ver, that amongst these ardent friends were many men who 
ad been the first to desert him in 1814, and that these indi- 

iduals were the most enthusiastic in their demonstrations, 

be loudest in their shouts! 
And thus was Napoleon again at the Tuileries, where, even 

lore than at Fontainebleau, his mind was flooded by the deep 
id painful recollections of the past! A few nights after his 

stum thither he sent for M. Horan, one of the physicians who 
ad attended Josephine during her last illness. “ So, Mon- 
ieur Horan,” said he, “ you did not leave the Empress during 
er malady ? ” — “No, Sire.” — “ What was the cause of that 
lalady?” — “Uneasiness of mind . . . grief.” — “You be- 
eve that ? ” (and Napoleon laid a strong emphasis on the 
rord believe, looking steadfastly in the doctor’s face). He 
aen asked, “ Was she long ill ? Did she suffer much ? ” — 
She was ill a week, Sire ; her Majesty suffered little bodily 

ain.” — “ Did she see that she was dying ? Did she show 
ourage ? ”— “A sign her Majesty made when she could no 

>nger express herself leaves me no doubt that she felt her end 
pproaching; she seemed to contemplate it without fear.” — 
Well ! . . . well! ” and then Napoleon much affected drew 

Lose to M. Horan, and added, “You say that she was in grief; 
:om what did that arise ? ” — “ From passing events, Sire ; 
:om your Majesty’s position last year.” — “ Ah ! she used to 
peak of me then ?” — “Very often.” Here Napoleon drew 

is hand across his eyes, which seemed filled with tears. He 
aen went on. “ Good woman ! — Excellent Josephine! She 
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loved me truly — she — did she not? . . . Ah! She was a 
Frenchwoman ! ” — Yes, Sire, she loved you, and she would 
have proved it had it not been for dread of displeasing yOU. 

she had conceived an idea. . . How ? . . . What would 

she have done ?” — “She one day said that as Empress of the 

French she would drive through Paris with eight horses to her 

coach, and all her household in gala livery, to go ami rejoin 

you at Fontainebleau, and never quit you more?’ — “ She 

would have done it—she wim capable of doing it! 

Napoleon again betrayed deep emotion, on recovering from 

which he asked the physician the most minute questions about 

the nature of Josephine’s disease, the friends and attendants 

who were around her at the hour of her death, and the conduct 

of her two children, Eugene and Hor tense. 



CHAPTEE V. 

1815. 

Message from the Tuileries — My interview with the King-—My appoint¬ 
ment to the office of Prefect of the Police —Council at the Tuileries — 
Order for arrests — Fouchd’s escape — Davoust unmolested — Conversa¬ 
tion with M. de Blacas — The intercepted letter, and time lost — Evident 
understanding between Murat and Napoleon — Plans laid at Elba — My 
departure from Paris — The post-master of Fins — My arrival at Lille — 
Louis XVIII. detained an hour at the gates —His Majesty obliged to 
leave France —My departure for Hamburg — The Due de Berri at Brus¬ 
sels. 

Those who opposed the execution of the treaty concluded 

with Napoleon at the time of his abdication were guilty of a 
great error, for they afforded him a fair pretext for leaving 
the island of Elba.1 The details of that extraordinary 
enterprise are known to every one, and I shall not repeat 

what has been told over and over again.2 For my own part, 

1 The island of Elba appears to have been (at least publicly) suggested by 
Marshal Ney. It is said that Bonaparte originally demanded Corfu, which 
was refused as too valuable a possession, under the ludicrous pretext that his 
residence there might disturb the tranquillity of Turkey! The island to 
which he was sent united every property which Bonaparte could have desired 
for new plans of ambition. Its small size and population disarmed jealousy, 
and gave it the appearance of a mere retreat. It contained an impregnable 
fortress, capable of being defended by a handful of faithful soldiers. It was 
within a few hours’ sail of the coast of Italy, even then dreading the yoke of 
her old masters. Through Italy and Switzerland communications with the 
French army might be opened through unexpected channels, and in the long 
line of the Alps and the Jura, it was scarcely possible to intercept them. 
The distance from the coast of France somewhat diminished the facility of 
watching the port, and he was near enough to Provence for such a sudden en¬ 
terprise as his situation allowed. If the globe had been searched for that 
residence in which Napoleon was most dangerous to France all sagacious 
searchers must have pointed to Elba. —Editor of 1836 edition. 

2 In 1815 it was customary and convenient to treat Napoleon’s return from 
Elba as a breach of faith justifying his eventual removal to St. Helena and 
making him an outlaw. All the petty but rankling annoyances inflicted on 
him, such as denying to the man who had made kings any higher title than 
that of General, were supposed to be justified by this act of his. It is now 
certain that when Napoleon left Elba he knew that his removal to St. Hele¬ 
na or some similar and detestable residence was practically determined on. 
Further, the Bourbons, by withholding the pensions due to him and his fam¬ 
ily, not only had broken the treaty with him, but had made it difficult for 
him to maintain himself in his little State. The determination not to pay 
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as soon as T saw with what rapidity Bonaparte was marching 

upon Lyons, and the enthusiasm with which he was received 

by the troops and the people, I prepared to retire to Belgium, 

there to await the denouement oi this new drama. 

Every preparation for my departure was completed on 

the evening of the 1 Bth of Marc.h, and 1 was ready to depart, 

the pensions and to remove him from Elba can be seen in the ('orreapumlpu'c 
of Talleyrand during the Congress of v'ienna (London, Ben tie \ X < specially 
vol. ii. p. 27, where the Czar says to Talleyrand at Vienna, ** Why duynu not 
execute the treaty of 11th of April (giving the pensions)? . . . The treaty 
has not been executed, we ought to insist on its execution; our honor in at 
stake, wo cannot possibly draw hack; the Emperor of Austria insists on it 
as much as I do.” Talleyrand goes on to tell the King (vol. it. p. *2H),11 Lord 
Castlereagh also spoke to me warmly about the trwity of the llth of April, 
and X have no doubt ho will mention it to your Majesty. This subject has 
been revived lately, and is now in every one’s mouth. I ought to tell umr 
Majesty that it is constantly recurring, and in a disagreeable waj.” Talley- 
rand’s only hope of getting the treaty performed by his master seems to have 
been to make a disgraceful bargain l*y which France should abandon the 
slave trade, in return for which piere of humanity his neighbor^, the eccen¬ 
tric islanders, wore to undertake the performance of the contract by which 
Louis held his throne. As for the removal, sec the same (Mrr* /tec, vol. i. 
p. 4K, where Talleyrand writes to the King on hdh October, 1HL\ ” A very de¬ 
cided intention of removing Bonaparte from the island of Elba is manifesting 
itself, f have proposed one of the Azores, it is [Mi leagues from unj coast. 
This the King considers an excellent idea. It vvse not unnatural for Napo¬ 
leon to suspect some worse motive for this step than the wish to place him at 
a distance, and the knowledge of this plot may have had some weight with 
him when he surrendered himself to a Uovernmont which at lentil would not 
go farther than imprisoning him. Hoe a curious hut probably unintention¬ 
ally sinister allusion by Alexander to the King of Kaxouy, another monarch 
held in disgrace by the Allies. “ If the King of Baxony does not abdicate 
he shall be taken to Russia: he will die there ” (Talleyrand's < ‘•trr* siuunimtu f 
vol. i. p, 87). The treaty is plan enough. ** The island of Elba adopted by 
his Majesty Napoleon Las his place of residence shall form during bin life a 
separate principality which shall be possessed by him in full sovereignty and 
property” (Talleyrand's Correspondence, vol. ii. p. 117j T/iirrn, tome xvli. p» 
790; Martens, tome vi. p. 090. 

It must be rememliered that this treaty wan not a mere favor granted to 
Napoleon when helpless. It was a contract for which the Allies and cer¬ 
tainly the Bourbons had received full value. Ho well wiih tills imderstood at 
the time that it was only when the Allies had actually signed the treaty that 
Oaulaincourt handed to Talleyrand the formal alslicathm of Na|»oimm; mm 
Thiers, tome xvii. p. 792. The cession of Elba was a bargain, not a gift, 
Napoleon was far from helpless. It was the extraordinary step taken later 
by Talleyrand in surrendering the fortresses held by French troops which 
placed France at the feet of the Allies. Napoleon could have protracted the 
war: the bond which held the Allies was not one to stand much strain, and 
a petty island left to Napoleon was a small price to pay for the consul ion of a 
struggle in which they bad little more to gain and everything to lose. The 
Bmperor of Austria had given Napoleon his daughter, the Czar bad treated 
him as a brother, Bavaria and Wurtemlxirg were Kings by Ids grace; not a 
sovereign on the Continent had scrupled to accept any gift from him in hi« 
days of power; witness the acceptance of Hanover by rrtuwiii. Even Eng* 
land had recognized him as Consul. Why no faith was to be kept w III* him 
In his fall is ditfteult to explain. As for there luring ground for surprise at 
his return, see the same Talleyrand Uorrmptmdaimu ITHautmivo writes to 
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to avoid the persecutions of which I expected I should be 
the object, when I received a message from the Tuileries 
stating that the King desired to see me. I of course lost 

no time in proceeding to the Palace, and went straight to 
M. Hue to inquire of him why I had been sent for. He 

occupied the apartments in which I passed the three most 
laborious and anxious years of my life. M. Hue, perceiving 

that I felt a certain degree of uneasiness at being summoned 
to the Tuileries at that hour of the night, hastened to inform 

me that the King wished to appoint me Prefect of the Police. 
He conducted me to the King’s chamber, where his Majesty 
thus addressed me kindly, but in an impressive manner, “M. 
de Bourrienne, can we rely upon you ? I expect much from 
your zeal and fidelity.” —“ Your Majesty,” replied I, “ shall 

have no reason to complain of my betraying your confidence.” 

—66 Well, I re-establish the Prefecture of the Police, and I 

appoint you Prefect. Do your best, M. de Bourrienne, in the 
discharge of your duties; I count upon you.” 

By a singular coincidence, on the very day (the 13th of 
March) when I received this appointment Napoleon, who was 
at Lyons, signed the decree which excluded from the amnesty 
he had granted thirteen individuals, among whose names mine 

was inscribed.1 This decree confirmed me in the presenti- 

Talleyrand then at Vienna, on the 14th of February, 1815, “ Savary said to 
me with an air of extraordinary conviction, ‘We shall see Bonaparte again, 
and it will bo entirely their (the Bourbons’) fault.’ I feel that Daru and 
Maret agree with him ” (vol. ii. pp. 9,10). Daru, it should be remarked, was 
very far from an enthusiastic partisan of Napoleon, and indeed had a per¬ 
sonal distrust of him. Jaucourt himself, then in temporary charge of the 
French Foreign Office, if he did not believe in the return could not have been 
surprised at the catastrophe of the Bourbons, for he writes on 25th Jan¬ 
uary, 1815 (vol. ii. p. 12), “We are really going on very badly, and we 
(the Government) must do better if we do not wish to perish utterly; ” and 
after the return he writes on 10th April, 1815 (vol. ii. p. 143), “ To ex¬ 
press it in one word,— the road led straight to the island of Elba.” There can 
be no doubt that the whole conduct of the Allied sovereigns at this period 
towards Napoleon, France, and the nations of Europe dealt a blow to the so- 
called principle of legitimacy at the very time it seemed triumphant in Tal¬ 
leyrand’s mouth, which it never recovered from. The number of independent 
monarchs has rapidly lessened since 1815, and a strange sacrosanctity has be¬ 
come attached to the act of conquest. Napoleon was not far wrong when he 
said that if he fell the whole system would fall with him. 

1 This was Napoleon’s list of proscription: — “ The Prince of Benevento 
(Talleyrand), the Due de Raguse (Marmont), the Due d’Alberg, the Abbe de 
Montesquiou, the Comte de Jaucourt, the Comte de Beurnonville, Lynch, 
Vitrolles, Alexis de Noailles, Bourrienne, Bellard, Laroche jacquelin, and 



76 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEOX liuSAPAUTK 

meats I had conceived as soon as I heard oi tin* landing^ 

Bonaparte. On returning home from the Tuilcrics after 

ceiving my appointment a multitude of ideas crowded on irt 

mind. At tht* first moment I hail been prompted only by tly 

wish to nerve the cause of the. King, hut l was alarmed when 

1 came to examine the extent of the responsibility I had take^ 

upon myself. However, I determined to meet with courag. 

the difficulties that presented themselves, and I must say th^ 

I had every reason to he satisfied with the manner in whicj 

1 was seconded by M. Foudras, the IfispeebuOienend of th< 

Police. 
Even now I am filled with astonishment when I think O; 

the Council that was held at tin* Tnileries on tin* evening 

of the 1,‘ith of March in M, de Blavas\s apart mcnis.1 Th^ 

ignorance of the members of that Conned respecting 0U* 

situation, and their confidence in the useless measures they? 

had adopted against Napoleon, exceed all conception. Will it 

be believed that those great statesmen, who had tin* control 
of the telegraph, the post-oftlee, the* jmlire and its agents^ 

money — in short, everything which constitutes power—- 
asked me to give them information respecting the advance 

of Bonaparte? What could I say to them ? I could only- 

repeat the reports which were circulated on the Exchange, 
and those which I had collected here and tin*re during the 

hist twenty-four hours. I did not conceal that the danger 
was imminent, and that all their precautions iron hi Is* of no 

avail. The question then arose m to what course should be 

adopted by the King, It was im|xwsiblu that the tin march 

could remain in the Capital, ami yet, where was lie to go ? 

Sosth&nos d© la Rochefoucauld.** — ftnnrrienn**. A m»rd I tig to Poncin' the 
uam© of Augorcau originally stood in this black lint, but it wilder#ml at the 
entreaties of his wife, and In mnmqmnm of til# proclaiiintloii *4 *J.kl March. 
— KMtnr of 1830 edition. 

i ** when 1 went out I left my vote in writing for M, #t#i ftmirricnnc, whom 
it is proposed to make Prelect of Police '* (T*!tayr*ttt!*!i t 'orr***fmwlmer% vol. 
ii. p. (15, Jaucourt to Talleyrand, 14th Marcli, 181,11, Itiuirfloiific'i surprise 
was shared by others more accustomed to the ffnnrtmiiH, iiimI wlin now tit last 
saw with astonishment the true character of tin* sovereign for wlioiti they had 
forced Franc© to make such enormous sacrifices. ** The tears cam© into my 
eyes at the Council yesterday when I mw fit© King, hi* brother, ltl» ittmhew, 
and all his ministers deliberate for three hours on tlm arrests t» t* made " 
ifaU<0^Ft t0 Talleyrand*Uik mm* Talkyand1* Vorrmp&ndm^ vol. 
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One proposed that he should go to Bordeaux, another to La 

Vendee, and a third to Normandy, and a fourth member of the 
Council was of opinion that the King should be conducted to 

Melun. I conceived that if a battle should take place any¬ 

where it would probably be in the neighborhood of that town, 

but the councillor who made this last suggestion assured us 
that the presence of the King in an open carriage and eight 
horses would produce a wonderful effect on the minds of the 
troops. This project was merely ridiculous; the others ap¬ 
peared to be dangerous and impracticable. I declared to the 

Council that, considering the situation of things, it was neces¬ 

sary to renounce all idea of resistance by force of arms ; that 
no soldier would fire a musket, and that it was madness to 

attempt to take any other view of things. “ Defection,” said 
I, “ is inevitable. The soldiers are drinking in their barracks 

the money which you have been giving them for some days 

past to purchase their fidelity. They say Louis XVIII. is a 

very decent sort of man, but Vive le petit Caporal! ” 
Immediately on the landing of Napoleon the King sent 

an extraordinary courier to Marmont, who was at Chatillon, 
whither he had gone to take a last leave of his dying mother. 
I saw him one day after he had had an interview with the 

King; I think it was on the 6th or 7th of March. After 
some conversation on the landing of Napoleon, and the means 
of preventing him from reaching Paris, Marmont said to me, 
“This is what I dwelt most strongly upon in the interview I 

have just had with the King. ‘Sire/ said I, ‘I doubt not 

Bonaparte’s intention of coming to Paris, and the best way 

to prevent him doing so would be for your Majesty to re¬ 

main here. It is necessary to secure the Palace of the Tuile- 
ries against a surprise, and to prepare it for resisting a siege, 

in which it would be indispensable to use cannon. You must 
shut yourself up in your palace, with the individuals of your 

household and the principal public functionaries, while the 

Due d’Angouleme should go to Bordeaux, the Due de Berri to 
La Vendee, and Monsieur1 to the Pranche-Comt4; but they 

must set off in open day, and announce that they are going to 

1 Monsieur, the brother of the King, the Comte d’Artois, later Charles X, 
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collect defenders for your Majesty.5 . . . This is what I said 
to the King, this morning, and I added that I would answer 
for everything if my advice were followed. I am now going 

to direct my aide de camp, Colonel Fabvier, to draw up the 

plan of defence.” I did not concur in Marmont’s opinion. It 

is certainly probable that had Louis XVIII. remained in his 

palace the numerous defections which took place before the 

20th of March would have been checked and some persons 
would not have found so ready an excuse for breaking their 

oaths of allegiance. There can be little doubt, too, but Bona¬ 
parte would have reflected well before he attempted the siege 

of the Tuileries.1 

Marmont supported his opinion by observing that the 

admiration and astonishment excited by the extraordinary 

enterprise of Napoleon and his rapid march to Paris would 

be counterbalanced by the interest inspired by a venerable 
monarch defying his bold rival and courageously defending 

his throne. While I rendered full justice to the good inten¬ 
tions of the Duke of Bagusa, yet I did not think that his 
advice could be adopted. I opposed it as I opposed all the 

propositions that were made in the Council relative to the dif¬ 
ferent places to which the King should retire. I myself sug¬ 
gested Lille as being the nearest, and as presenting the greatest 

degree of safety, especially in the first instance. 

It was after midnight when I left the Council of the Tuile¬ 
ries. The discussion had terminated, and without coming to 
any precise resolution it was agreed that the different opin¬ 
ions which had been expressed should be submitted to Louis 
XVIII. in order that his Majesty might adopt that which 
should appear to him the best. The King adopted my opinion, 
but it was not acted upon until five days after. 

. 1. Larmont (tome vii. p. 87) gives the full details of his scheme for provis- 
lomng and garrisoning the Tuileries which the King was to hold while his 
rawly spread themselves throughout the provinces. The idea had nothing 

for*iie “g?® advice was given by General Mathieu Bum an 
^5i^’ a 15an,n<?t likely to suggest any rash schemes. 

t0 obviously believed in the wisdom of the 
19^100 %as 1ld the C?*r; see Talleyrand’s Correspondence, vol. ii. 

■w9* i faP°leo? would -certainly have been placed in a strange 

wS&SSd to cofsideHt ad°Pt“g 8UCh * resolution would “ever 
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My appointment to tlm Prefecture of the "Police was, as will 
he seen, a late thought of measure, almost as late indeed as 

Napoleon’s proposition to send me as his Minister Plenipo¬ 

tentiary to Switzerland. In now accepting office I was well 

convinced of the inutility of any effort that might he made to 

arrest the progress of the fast approaching and menacing 

events. Being introduced into the King’s cabinet his Ma¬ 

jesty asked me what I thought of the situation of affairs. 
u I think, Sire, that Bonaparte will be here in five or six 

days.” — “ What, sir ? ” — “ Yes, Sire.” — a But proper meas¬ 

ures are taken, the necessary orders given, and the*. Marshals 

are faithful to me.” — “ Sire, I suspect no man’s fidelity ; but 

I can assure your Majesty that, as Bonaparte has landed, In*, 
will be here within a week. I know him, and your Majesty 

cannot know him as well as I do; hut I can venture to assure 

your Majesty with tin* same confidence Unit he will not be 

hen* six months hence. He will be hurried into acts of folly 
which will ruin him.” — “ M. de Bourrienne, 1 hope the best 

from events, hut if misfortune again compel me to leave 

France, and your second prediction be fulfilled, you may roly 

on me.” During this short conversation the King appeared 
perfectly tranquil and resigned. 

The next day I again visited the Tuileries, whither I had at 

those perilous times frequent occasion to repair. On that day 

I received a list of twenty-five persons whom I was ordered to 

arrest. I took the liberty to observe that such a proceeding 

was not only useless hut likely to produce a very injurious 

effect at that critical moment. The reasons 1 urged had not 

all the effect F expected. However, some relaxation as to 
twenty-three of the twenty-five was conceded, but it was in¬ 

sisted that Fouehfs and Davoust should be arrested without 

delay. The King repeatedly said, “I wish you to arrest 
Fouche.” —u Hire, I beseech your Majesty to consider the in¬ 

utility of Hindi a measure.” — “ I am resolved upon Fouche’s 

arrest. But I am sure you will miss him, for AndrtS could 

not catch him.” 

After this formal order from the King T left the Tuileries, 

carrying with me the, following list. I have preserved the 
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autograph in the handwriting of M. do Rhteiw, and I Iit*rt* 

insert a faithful copy without even correcting the erroneous 

orthography of some ol the names : ■*— 

Fouche; Davonst; Le Comte* Rue tlu Bar, writer of the Kite <!»• PUnl- 
versito — he holds funds tedonging to Foudi**; M, Call lard, < otmrilter, 
of the Koyal Court; Hlngucrloi; la* Main*; Gdranl; hr Grand; 
Etienne; Kovigo; Heal; Mounier; AruauM; Norwins; Bouvterdhnme 
lard; Mart*!; Duviquct; P&tm; Utvatelte; Syeyes; Pierre Pierre; Kko; 

Excellmontu*; Jos. Tlnirot. 

My nocturnal installation ;w Prefect of the Polity* took place 

some time after midnight I had great repugnance to the 

arrest of Fouche, hut the order having b*eii giving then* was 

no alternative hut to obey it I communicated the order to 

M. Foudras, who very coolly observed, ‘‘Since we are in arrest 

him you need not be afraid, we shall have bun fast to morrow.'” 

The next day my agents repaired to the 1 hike of IB rant os 

hotel, in the Rue %VArtois. On showing their warrant Fouehe 

said, “ What does this mean ? Vour warrant m of no force; 

it is mere waste }>apor. Ifc purports to come from flu* Prefeet 

of the Police, hut there is no such Prefect/* In my opinion 

Fouehfi was right, for my appointment, which took place 

during the night, had not lieen legally announced, I*e that 

as it may, on his refusal to surrender, mm of my agents 

applied to the staff of the National Guard, r«’ipn*sting the 

support, in ease of need, of an armed lorn*. General lien- 

solles repaired to the Tuilerie# to take tin* King's orders on 

the subject Meanwhile Potiidi4» who never l«mt \m Hidf'pos- 
session, after talking to tin* police officer* who remained with 

him, pretended to step aside for some indtHpeniable purpose, 

hut the door which he opened led into a dark passage through 

which he slipped, leaving my unfortunate agents groping ulmut 
in the obscurity.1 As for himself he speedily gained the Rue 

Taitbout, where he stepped into a coach and drove off. This 

is the whole history of the notable arrest of Koiudnh 

1 Th© following i« th« aratmttt in the »|*iirlmin Mmmrir* of Pmielte, which 
are probably pretty accurate on tSiin piirttoular • 

“ 1 was sitting without any mistrust In my hdtel, wlien mmi* itfcwtiit of ili« 
Parisian polio©, at the head of which Iteiirrtemi© had just i*n**ti placed, 
suddenly matte their appearance a» **otti|*atii*Hi l»y i/cmfimo* *, to arrest mo. 
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As for Davoust, I felt my hands tied with respect to him. 

I do not mean to affect generosity, for I acknowledge the 

enmity I bore him; but I did not wish it to be supposed that 

1 was acting towards him from a spirit of personal vengeance. 

I therefore merely ordered him to be watched. The other 

twenty-three were to me in this matter as if they had never 

existed ; and some of them, perhaps, will only learn in read¬ 
ing my Memoirs what dangerous characters they were thought 
to be. 

On the 15th of March, after the conversation which, as I 

have already related, I had with Louis XVIII., I went to M. 
<le Blaeas and repeated to him what I had stated to the King 

on the certainty of Bonaparte’s speedy arrival in Paris. I 
told him that I found it necessary to devote the short time 

still in our power to prevent a re-action against the Royalists 

Having timely intelligence! T hastily took measures for my escape. The 
agents of police had already proceeded to active search in my apartments, 
when the (jvndurmvs eommissioned to execute the order of the new prefect 
presented ’themselves before me. These men, who had so long obeyed my 
orders, not daring to lay their hands on my person, contented themselves 
with giving me. their written authority. I took the paper, opened it ami 
confidently sahl, * This order is not regular: stay whore you are while I go 
and protest it.’ I entered my closet, seated myself at my desk and began to 
write. T then rose with a paper in my hand, and making a sudden turn, t 
precipitately descended into my garden by a secret door: there X found a 
ladder attached to a wall contiguous to the hotel of Queen Hortens©. X 
nimbly climbed It; one of my people raised the ladder, which T took and let 
it fall* on its feet on the other side of the wall; this I quickly adjusted, and 
descended with still more promptitude. I arrived, in the character of a 
fugitive, at the house of Hortenso, who extended her hospitality to me; and, 
as if by some sudden transition of an Eastern tale, I suddenly found myself 
in the midst of the Altr of the Bonapurtists, in the headquarters of the party, 
whom I found In excellent spirits, and where my presence added to the re¬ 
joicing " (Fetiche’s Memoir*, tome ii.). 

Fouchd after making his escape went straight to the hAtol of Hortenso, 
Duchesne de St. Urn, ex-Queen of Holland, where he was welcomed by the 
Bonapartlsts, who had made that their headquarters. He himself made 
little secret that It was not Napoleon that he and his friends had hoped to 
set at the head of the Government Instead of the elder Bourbons. He ac¬ 
knowledged this openly, saying, for example, to Meneval, long secretary of 
Napoleon, and who remained faithful to the Emperor, “ So he is hero. He 
is not the man wished for, hut he cannot, he taken away like a chess pawn. 
Wo will ftee what we can do to keen ldm." — “ I," says Meneval (tome ii. p. 
li'Kl), “told the Emperor of this, lie doubtless knew what to expect from 
Kmiohd, for he only shrugged Ids shoulders as a sign of contempt/’ See also 
Thiers (tome xix. n. 213) for a curious conversation of Fouchd’s with a mes¬ 
senger from the King, Indore Napoleon arrived, when he intimated that he 
would probably soon he a Minister of Napoleon, but only to betray him. 
Lncien Bonaparte, however, avowing his dislike for Fouond, declares that 
•• it is not true that Fouchd Imtrayed the Emperor during the (Jv.nt Jours " 
(lung’s LmHm$ tome fit. p. 2D4). 
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and to preserve public trai»t|uillilv until fin* departure of tin* 

Koval family, and that I would protect th<* depart tire of all 

persons who had masons for withdrattiftg flnunsrlves fr«iui tin* 

scene of' tin* great and perhaps disaMmus events that might 

ensue. u You may readily believe, Fount,” atlded I, “that 

considering the great interests with whieh I am intrusted, I 
am not inclined to lose valuable time in arresting the persons 

of whose names 1 have received a list. Tin* «*\eeution of Mich 

a measure would be useless; it would lead to limiting, or 

rather it would serve to irritate public feeling, My rouvic- 

tion of this fact has banished from im* all idea of keeping 

under restraint for four or five days persons w hose influence, 

whether real or supposed, is nil, sinee Bonaparte at \n\* 

erre. Mere supervision appears to me sntlieienf, and to that 

l propose confining myself.” - u’Bite King,” replied M. de 

Blaeas, “relies on yon. fit* knows that fhough onh fort \ 

(dglifc hours have elapsed sine** you entered upon \«mr f une« 

turns, you have already rendered greater sen tees t halt \«m are 

perhaps aware of.” I then asked M. de llhtcas whether In* 

had not received any intimation of Bonaparte's intended de¬ 

parture from tin* island of Elba by letters nr by were! agents. 
li The only positive, information we received,” answered the 

Minister, u was an intercepted letter, dated Elba, fit h February. 

It was addressed to M, «—f near ftnmoble. I will show it 

you.” M. de Bhums opened a drawer of Ids w riling table and 

took out the letter, which he gave to me. The m rtier thanked 
his correspondent for the information he had transmitted to 

“the inhabitant of Elba.” He was informed that everything 
was ready for departure, anil that the first favorable «§ji|*or- 

tunity would bo seized, lmt that it would hr desirable first to 

receive answers to some questions crnttuiuml in the letter,1 

1 In the villages iimninl Karin an well »««»« tin* Imitkn **f ll*«« f*ale«C 
Geneva the violet was the secret »ytfif*ol by which flit* ileie*lpif 
their Chief ami receipted tineli other, They wore ritigi of n ii»4ei **«»!*»r* 
with the device, “ Ell? rrptmiitm *<w ** It will f*m§*§JMf*iif In the 
spring.” When they iwketl, *' Jiniri rmn tn i*iWrff«nM M fh* y»tt ||*e 
violet V” if the answer was ** Ow/* ** Yes,” tliey iiiferretl flini the answerer 
was not a confederate, But if the answer wm •* Eh him,” ** Well then/* 
they rcoogntatsl a brother iiilt4itt«*il In the wwrttt* «f tin* mnnmimnf, ami they 
completed his sentence,11 EUt* an pemlnmu,** Tltejie sertet #»y*te 
bols, less important for their pmtmmml ittirpu*** of titan m m rnmasiMg 
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These questions related to the regiments which had been sent 
into the south, and the places of their cantonment. It was in- 

quired whether the choice of the commanders was conformable 

to what had been agreed on in Paris, and whether Labedoyere 

was at his post. The letter was rather long and it impressed 

me by the way in which the plan of a landing on the coast of 

Provence was discussed. Precise answers were requested on 
all these points. On returning the letter to M. de Blacas I 

remarked that the contents of the letter called for the adop¬ 
tion of some decided measures, and I asked him what had 

been done. He answered, “ I immediately sent a copy of the 
letter to M. d?Andr6, that he might give orders for arresting 

the individual to whom it was addressed.” 

Having had the opportunity of closely observing the 

machinery of a vigilant and active Government, I was, I 

must confess, not a little amazed at the insufficiency of the 

measures adopted to defeat this well-planned conspiracy. 
When M. de Blacas informed me of all that had been done, 

I could not repress an exclamation of surprise. “Well,” 
said he, “and what would you have done ?”—“In the first 
place I would not have lost twenty-four hours, which were an 
age in such a crisis.” I then explained the plan I would 
have adopted. A quarter of an hour after the receipt of the 
letter I would have sent trustworthy men to Grenoble, and 
above all things I would have taken care not to let the 
matter fall into the hands of the police. Having obtained 

all information from the correspondent at Grenoble, I would 

have made him write a letter to his correspondent at Elba 
to quiet the eagerness of Napoleon, telling him that the 

‘movement of troops he spoke of had not been made, that 
it would take a week to carry it out, and that it was 
necessary to the success of the enterprise to delay the 
embarkation for some days. While Bonaparte was thus 

delayed I would have sent to the coast of Provence a 

garniture of conspiracy, calculated to excite the imagination, and peculiarly 
adapted in that respect to the character of Frenchmen, had been employed 
a twelvemonth before by the partisans of the House of Bourbon. A Royalist 
then sounded any man of whom lie entertained hopes by saying “Deli.” If 
the answer was “ vranee ” the recognition of principle was reciprocal and 
satisfactory. — Editor of 1830 edition. 
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sufEcient body of men devoted to tbe Royal emt.se, .striding 

off in another direction the regiments whose ehieis wen* 

gained over by Napoleon, as the correspondence should 

reveal their names.1 t£ You are perhaps right, sir/1 said M. 

de Blacas, “but what could i do? I am new hen*. I had 

not the control of the police, and 1 trusted to M. d'Andre.” 

—“ Well,” said I, u Bonaparte will 1m* here on the 20th of 

March.” With these words I parted from M. tie Blacas. I re¬ 

marked a great change in him. He had already lost a vast deal 

of that hauteur of favoritism which made him so much disliked. 
When I entered upon my duties in tin*. Prefecture of 

Police the evil was already past remedy. The incorrigible 

emigres required another lesson, and the temporary resur¬ 

rection of the Empire was inevitable. But, if Bonaparte 

was recalled, it was not owing to any attachment to him 

personally; it was not from any fidelity to the reeollections 

of the Empire. It was resolved at any price to get rid of 

those imbecile councillors, who thought they might treat 

Prance like a country conquered by the emigrants. The 

people determined to free themselves from a (lovernmenf 

which seemed resolved to trample on all that was dear to 

Prance. In this state of things some looked upon Bonaparte 
as a liberator, but the greater mnulier regarded him as an 

instrument. In this last character he was viewed by the old 

Republicans, and by a new generation, who thought they 

caught a glimpse of liberty in promises, ami who were blind 

enough to believe that the idol of France would be restored 
by Napoleon.3 

1 The plan of Bourrienne would have been wreaked by Hie IwpmKfbllffy 
of getting men who were, at one and the mono time, devoted 0* the Hour* 
boon and of capacity to nave them. If the statesmen In power under Ironist 
XVIII. had been capable of forming any good plan of meeting the expedi¬ 
tion of Napoleon the enterprise would not have been dreamt of. 

3 Napoleon's return In 1815 has much resemblance to that in 17W from 
Egypt. In both cases, whether he had mine or not, it win certain that the 
Government would have been overthrown: In neither rase was he himself 
the person first intended by the conspirators to be made their instrument. 
In 1799 Hoche, and then Jonbert, had been first chown as the titan to strike 
the blow. In 1815 it was the Duke of Orleans, later Bouis I1iiilpp#% thnt 
the discontented party had chosen to repine I#ettl« XVIIL arid to give 
Fmnce a Government at once liberal and strong. In Iwith mmm the Rtufdett 

?! Napoleon forced the hand of the conspirators. As he himself mid 
in 1815, It is not Louis XVIII. but the Duke of Orleans that I liave do- 
throned.” 
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In February, 1815, while everything was preparing at Elba 

i()i* the approaching departure of Napoleon, Murat applied to 

the (Mart of Vieima for leave to march through the Austrian 

Provinces of Upper Italy an army directed on Franc,e. It was 

on the 20th of the same month that Bonaparte escaped from 

Elba. These two facts were necessarily connected together, 

lor, in spite of Murat’s extravagant ideas, he never could have 

entertained tin*, expectation of obliging the King of Franc,e, by 

the more force of arms, to acknowledge his continued posses¬ 

sion of the throne of Naples. Since the return of Louis XVIII. 

the Uahinefc of the Tuileries had never regarded Murat in any 

other light than as a usurper, and I know from good authority 

that the French Plenipotentiaries at tin* Congress of Vienna 

were, especially instructed to insist that the restoration of the 

throne of Naples in favor of the Bourbons of the Two Sicilies 

should he a consequence of the*, restoration of the throne of 

France. I also know that the proposition was firmly opposed 

on the part of Austria, who had always viewed with jealousy 

the occupation of three thrones of Europe by the single, House 
of Bourbon. 

According to information, for the authenticity of which I 

can vouch, the following wen* the plans which Napoleon con¬ 

ceived at Elba. Almost immediately after Ids arrival in France 

he was to order the Marshals on whom he could best rely to 

defend to tin* utmost tin* entrances to the French territory and 

tin* approaches to Paris, by pivoting on tin* triple line of fort¬ 

resses which gird the. north and east of France. Davoust was 

in petto singled out for the defence of Paris. He was to arm 

the inhabitants of the suburbs, and to have, besides, 20,000 

men of the National Guard at his disposal. Napoleon, not 

being aware of the situation of the Allies, never supposed that 

they could concentrate their forces and march against him so 

speedily m tiny did. He hoped to take them by surprise, and 

defeat their projects, by making Murat march upon Milan, and 

by stirring up insurrections in Italy. The Po being once 

crossed, and Murat approaching the capital of Lombardy, Na¬ 

poleon with the corps of Huehet, Prune, Grouchy, and Masseua, 

augmented by troops sent, by forced marches, to Lyons, was 
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to cross the Alps and revolutionize Piedmont. There, hitting 

recruited his armv and joined the Neapolitans in Milan, he was 

to proclaim the independence of Italy, unite the whole country 

under a single chief, and then inarch at the head <d 1<HI,(HM) 

men on Vienna, hy the Julian Alps, across which vietory had 

conducted him in 1797. This was not all: numerous emissaries 

scattered through Poland and Hnngan were to foment discord 
and raise* the cry of liberty amt imlej*endene»», to ahtnit iCassia 

and Austria. It must Ik* confessed it would have been an ex¬ 

traordinary spectacle to see Napoleon git ing liberty to Europe 

in revenge for not having succeeded in enslaving her. 

By means of these hold inanirm res and vast combinations 

Napoleon calculated that he would have the advantage of the 

initiative in military operations. Perhaps his genius was never 

more fully developed than in this vast conception. According 
to this plan he was to extend his operations over a line of f>00 

leagues, from Ostend to Vienna, by the Alps and Italy, to pro¬ 

vide himself with immense resources of every kind, to prevent 

the Emperor of Austria from inarelitiig his troops against 

France, and probably torn* him to terminate a war from which 

the hereditary provinces would have exclusively suffered. Such 

was the bright prospect which presented itself to Napoleon 

when la* stepped on board the vessel which was to convey him 

from Elba to France. But the mad precipitation of Murat put 

Europe cm the alert, and the brilliant illusion vanished like a 
dream.1 

1 “ The festivals and enterfttfmiienfii at the t'mirt of Naples at the liegln* 
a ing of IK 15 were mere splendid limn ever, Imt much h'm gay, for the up. 
parent security and eonlhhmee of Murat did net *iiith’i«*titly conceal hi* real 
tmcMMincHH, nor did tie* show of mper?! mi the part of the ’foreign amhuttwa- 
dors prevent people from seeing that they frit an m* r*d«m U* tiln couthming on 
tlie throne. To tun surprints of everybody not In theiteorot ilnnrliliii run tin tied 
his warlike preparations, The activity in the interior of the* palace Ititimtwd 
everyday; couriers were eontlmially despidelmd, and the arrival and d* pnr- 
ture of foreigner wan more and more fremient. After mtttie day# of extraor¬ 
dinary agitation at Court the newt* arrived, that tint Eu»|*erbr Naj>*»leon, 
having embarked on the‘Jttth of Fetmmry at Porto-Kmajo with IttXlitoidicrft, 
wan sailing for France. The metwenger who brought this news u* Murat, to 
whom the whole plot was well known previously, arrived In Naples on the 
evening of the 4th of March, while the king wun* iiiintiiiig hintMrif lit the pri¬ 
vate apartments of his wife, where only a few com tier**, inititefers, and foreign 
ambassadors, were present, The King ami ijitwi ln*f«itly retired atom* to 
another room, whence In a few minute* they r«fitnit«l and joyfully axmmtuoed 
the news so welcome hi them, 

44 On the following day Monti despatched extraordinary couriers to the 
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After being assured that all was tranquil, and that the 
Royal family was secure against every danger, I myself set 
out at four o’clock on the morning of the 20th of March, 
taking the road to Lille. Nothing extraordinary occurred 
until I arrived at the post-office of Lins, in front of which 
were drawn up a great number of carriages, which had arrived 
before mine, and the owners of which, like myself, were 
impatiently waiting for horses. I soon observed that some 
one called the postmaster aside in a way which did not appear 
entirely devoid of mystery, and I acknowledge I felt some 
degree of alarm. I was in the room in which the travellers 
were waiting, and my attention was attracted by a large bill 
fixed against the wall. It was printed in French and Russian, 
and it proved to be the order of the day which I had been 
fortunate enough to obtain from the Emperor Alexander to 
exempt post-horses, etc., from the requisitions of the Allied 
troops. 

I was standing looking at the bill when the postmaster came 
into the room and advanced towards me. “ Sir,” said he, “ that 

Courts of Austria and England, with letters declaring that, whether Napo¬ 
leon succeeded or failed in his enterprise, he (Joachim), tirm in his policy, 
would not fail in faithfully maintaining the anti-Bonaparte alliances he had 
formed. Those declarations wore frauds and deceptions, for tho King nour¬ 
ished in his heart designs perfectly contrary to them. lie doubted the good 
faith of Austria and the Congress assembled at Vienna: he remembered all 
the faults ami acts of injustice committed there, as also the threats he had 
received. He again relied upon the good fortune of Napoleon, whom ho 
already fancied reseated on his throne, the most powerful — the first monarch 
in Europe! His heart grieved at the recollection of the evil ho had recently 
done tho French in Upper Italy, and he now hoped to make amends for it by 
deeds which should aid and assist the bold enterprise of his brother-in-law. 
Ami mixed up with all these thoughts was the ambitious desire of making 
himself master of all Italy; to hold it, and then after the event to treat 
diplomatically with Austria or with France, according as victory should 
declare herself for Napoleon or for the Allies. Ho knew he should surprise 
the Austrians;' he did not fear the English, because he had concluded an 
armistice with them; nor did the Allies cause him uneasiness, as they would 
he fully occupied with the war on the French frontiers." 

Murat’s ministers, his friends, nay, even his wife, the very sister of Bona¬ 
parte, endeavored to dissuade him from this rash undertaking, or to induce 
him at least to delay its execution and quietly wait events. But he would 
not listen to reason. He would not be bound by the engagements he had 
entered into with Napoleon, who was to give him the mot~dfordre, when he 
was to throw oft the mask, and on the 15th of March, just eleven days after 
his receiving the news of his brother-in-law’s escape from Elba, ho openly 
declared war. On the 22d of March the Neapolitan army advanced upon 
Upper Italy, and Murat rushed blindly and precipitately to his ruin (Starin 
dot limine di Napoli, del Uenerale Pietro Colletta, vol. ii. p. 205, English 
edition). 
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;s an order of tin* day which sau*d un f nun min." "Th**n 

surelv vou would not harm tie* man h\ wlmm it is signed */ ** 

_ “ I know you, sir, i recognized ymi immediately. I s:i\\ \ * * * i 

in Paris when you worn Hmctm* of tin* Po *t- -< and \tm 

granted a just rlaim which 1 hud upon you. 1 hn\r non rinm* 

to toll you that they are harnessing t ho Iiuiuim to y «.ur ral.mit, 

and you may sot oil at full speed." Hu* wmt hy m m ha« l 
assigned to my use tin* only two horse* at hi.s dtnpmal ; bin 

son performed tin* ofliee of postilion, and 1 *«•! oil, in the mi 

small dissatisfaction of some of tin- f nn*dh*m who had arrivi+tl 

before mo, and who, perhaps, had a> good iv.moim ao I to avoitl 

the presence of Napoleon. 
Wo arrived at Lille at eleven oYlurk on tin* night of th#* 

21st. Horn I encountered another vexation, fhough not of ;ti* 

alarming kind. Tito gains of tin* tow it were rlosed, and I wuim 

obliged to content myself with a miserable flight’s lodging it* 

the suburb. 
I entered Lille on the 22d, and land i XVIII. at rived on 

the 2«ld. His Majesty also found fit** gal*** ehc*e<|, ami nu»r«* 

than an hour elapsed Indore an order could b»* obtained fur 

opening them, for the Hake of Orlmtu* \%lm eoumtuttded fit#* 

town, was inspecting tin* troops when bin Majesty armcif. 

The* King was jierfeetly wad! received at lull**, There mdecrl 
appeared some symptoms of defect ion, but it ttitmt 1m* acknow 1 - 

edged that the officers of the ohl army had bei-n ho singularly 
sacrificed to the promotion of the return***! emigrant*4 that if 

was very natural the former show 1*1 had the return oi tin* 

man who had so often led them to victory. I put tip at th«* 

fldtel dc (land, certainly without forming any prognostic* 
respecting the future, residence of tin* King, When 1 imwr¬ 

ing Majesty’s retinue I went down and sin*** I at the «!oor of 

the hdtcl, where as soon an lands X V11L perceived me In* dis¬ 

tinguished me from among all the jjersnti* %%lm were awaiting; 

his arrival, and holding out his hand forme to kite* lie said, 

(t Follow me, M. cle Hourricnne.” 
On entering the itpariineiita prepared for him the King1 

expressed to me his approval of my conduct twice flic itestn* 

ration, and especially during the short interval m which I 
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iiad discharged the functions of Prefect of the Police. He 
did me the honor to invite me to breakfast with him. The 

conversation naturally turned on the events of the day, of 
which every one present spoke according to his hopes or fears. 

Observing that Louis XVIII. concurred in Berthier’s discour¬ 

aging view of affairs, I ventured to repeat what I had already 
said afc the Tuileries, that, judging from the disposition of the 

sovereigns of Europe and the information which I had received, 

it appeared very probable that his Majesty would be again 
seated on his throne in three months. Berthier bit his nails 

as he did when he wanted to leave the army of Egypt and 
return to Paris to the object of his adoration. Berthier was 

not hopeful; he was always one of those men who have the 

least confidence and the most depression. I could perceive 
that the King regarded my observation as one of those com¬ 

pliments which he was accustomed to receive, and that he had 
no great confidence in the fulfilment of my prediction. How¬ 
ever, wishing to seem to believe it, he said, what he had more 
than hinted before, “ M. de Bourrienne, as long as I am King 
you shall be my Prefect of the Police.” 

It was the decided intention of Louis XVIII. to remain in 
France as long as he could, but the Napoleonic fever, which 

spread like an epidemic among the troops, had infected the 

garrison of Lille. Marshal Mortier, who commanded at Lille, 
and the Duke of Orleans, expressed to me their well-founded 

fears, and repeatedly recommended me to urge the King to 
quit Lille speedily, in order to avoid any fatal occurrence. 
During the two days I passed with his Majesty I entreated 
him to yield to the imperious circumstances in which he was 
placed. At length the King, with deep regret, consented to 

go, and I left Lille the day before that fixed for his Majesty’s 

departure. 
In September, 1814, the King had appointed me charge 

d’affaires from France to Hamburg, but not having received 
orclers to repair to my post I have not hitherto mentioned this 

nomination. However, when Louis XVIII. was on the point 
of leaving France he thought that my presence in Hamburg 
might be useful for the purpose of making him acquainted 
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with all that might interest him in the north of firnitauy 

But it was not there that danger was to be apprehended. 

There were two points to bo watrhed — the headquarters of 

Napoleon and the King's (Vuiiiril at Uhent. I, however, lo,st 

no time in repairing to a eity when* I was sure of finding a 

great many friends, On passing through Brussels I alighted 

at the Hotel de Believing where the Bur de Berri arrived 

shortly after me. His Koval Highness thru invited me to 

breakfast with 1dm, and conversed with me very confidentially. 
I afterwards continued my journey. 



CHAPTEB VI. 

1815. 

Message to Madame de Bourrienne on the 20th of March — Napoleon’s noc¬ 
turnal entrance into Paris — General Berton sent to my family by Caulain- 
court — Recollection of old persecutions — General Driesen — Solution 
of an enigma — Seals placed on my effects — Useless searches— Persecu¬ 
tion of women — Madame de Stael and Madame de Re'camier — Paris dur¬ 
ing the Hundred Days — The federates and patriotic songs — Declaration 
of the Plenipotentiaries at Vienna — Annex. 

At Lille, and again at Hamburg, I received letters from my 
family, which I had looked for with great impatience. They 

contained particulars of what had occurred relative to me 
since Bonaparte’s return to Paris. Two hours after my de¬ 

parture Madame de Bourrienne also left Paris, accompanied 
by her children, and proceeded to an asylum which had been 

offered her seven leagues from the capital. She left at my 

house in Paris her sister, two of her brothers, and her friend 
the Comtesse de Neuilly, who had resided with us since her 

return from the emigration. 
On the very morning of my wife’s departure (namely, the 

20th of March) a person, with whom I had always been on 

terms of friendship, and who was entirely devoted to Bonaparte, 
sent to request that Madame de Bourrienne would call on him, 

as he wished to speak to her on most important and urgent 

business. My sister-in-law informed the messenger that my 
wife had left Paris, but, begging a friend to accompany her, 
she went herself to the individual, whose name will be probably 

guessed, though I do not mention it. The person who came 
with the message to my house put many questions to Madame 
de Bourrienne’s sister respecting my absence, and advised her, 

above all things, to conjure me not to follow the King, observ¬ 

ing that the cause of Louis XV1IL was utterly lost, and that 
I should do well to retire quietly to Burgundy, as there was 

no doubt of my obtaining the Emperor’s pardon. 
91 
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Nothing runlil be more gloomy than Bonaparte's entrance 

.nto Paris. Hi* arrivim! at night in tlit* midst of a thick fog. 

Tin* streets were almost deserted, nnd a vague feeling of terror 

prevail^] almost generally in the capital. 

At nine o'clock on tin* same evening, the v**r\ hour of Bona¬ 

parte's arrival at the Tuileries, a lady, a friend id* my family, 

and whose son served in the Young Huard, railed ami requested 
to see Madame de Bourrienne. She refused to enter the house 

lest she should be seen, and my sister-in-law went down to the 

garden to speak to her without a light. This lady's brother 

had been on the preceding night to Fontainebleau to see Bona¬ 

parte, and he had directed his sister to desire me to remain 

in Baris, and to retain my post in the Prefecture of the 
Police, as I was sure of a full and complete pardon. 

On the morning of the 21st (Jeneral Berfon, who has since 

been the victim of his mad enterprises, called at my house and 

requested to speak with me and Madame de Bourrienne. He 

was received by my wife’s sister and brothers, and stated that 

he eame from M, de Caulaineouri to renew the assn ranees of 

safety which had already been given to urn. I was, I eon fens, 

very sensible of these proofs of friendship when they came to 

my knowledge*, but I did not for a single moment repent the 

course I adopted. I could not forget the intrigues of wldeh I 

had been the object sines* 1811, nor the continual threats of 

arrest which, during that year, hud not left tue a moment's 

quiet; and since I now revert to that time, I may take 
the opportunity of explaining how in 1814 I was made ac¬ 

quainted with the real causes of the pmrKorntion to which 1 

had beam a prey. A person, whose name prudence forbids me 

mentioning, eommnnkated to me the following letter, the origi¬ 

nal copy of which is in my possession ; «— 

Monsieur lk Due ok Bamhano I mnut you some very Important 
documents respecting the Hieur Bourrienne, and Iteg yin* will make me * 
confidential report on this affair. K«*ep these <Ux»!im<*iiM for yourself 
alone. Tins business demands the utmost secrecy. Everything indtiers 
me to believe that Bourrienne has carried on a series of intrigues with 
London. Bring me the repair! on Thursday. I pray <lod, etc, 

(Blgned) Mai*o?»koi«, 
Paris, 25th December, 1811. 
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I could now clearly perceive what to me had hitherto been 
enveloped in obscurity; but I was not, as yet, made acquainted 

with the documents mentioned in Napoleon’s epistle. Still, 
however, the cause of his animosity was an enigma which I 

was unable to guess, but I obtained its solution some time 
afterwards. 

General Driesen, who was the Governor of Mittau while 

Louis XVIII. resided in that town, came to Paris in 1814. I 
had been well acquainted with him in 1810 at Hamburg, where 

he lived for a considerable time. While at Mittau he con¬ 

ceived a chivalrous and enthusiastic friendship for the King 
of Prance. We were at first distrustful of each other, but 

afterwards the most intimate confidence arose between us. 
General Driesen looked forward with certainty to the return 
of the Bourbons to Prance, and in the course of our frequent 

conversations on his favorite theme he gradually threw off all 
reserve, and at length disclosed to me that he was maintaining 

a correspondence with the King. 
He told me that he had sent to Hartwell several drafts of 

proclamations, with none of which, he said, the King was 
satisfied. On showing me the copy of the last of these drafts 
I frankly told him that I was quite of the King’s opinion as 

to its unfitness. I observed that if the King should one day 
return to France and act as the general advised he would not 
keep possession of his throne six months. Driesen then 

requested me to dictate a draft of a proclamation conformably 
with my ideas. This I consented to do on one condition, viz. 
that he would never mention my name in connection with the 
business, either in writing or conversation. General Driesen 

promised this, and I then dictated to him a draft which 1 
would now candidly lay before the reader if I had a copy of 
it. I may add that in the different proclamations of Louis 

XVIII. I remarked several passages precisely corresponding 

with the draft I had dictated at Hamburg. 
During the four years which intervened between my return 

to Paris and the downfall of the Empire it several times 

occurred to me that General Driesen had betrayed my secret, 
and on his very first visit to me after the Restoration, our 
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conversation happening to turn on Hamburg I asked him 
whether lie !iad not disclosed what I wished him to conceal v> 

o "Well/'' said he, uthere is no harm in telling the truth now. 

After you had left Hamburg the King wrote to me inquiring 

the name of the author of tin* last draft I had sent him, whieh 

was very different from all that had preceded it. I did not 

answer this question, but the King having repeated it in a 

second letter, and having demanded an answer, 1 was compelled 

to break my promise to you, and I put into the post-office of 

Gothenberg in Sweden a letter for the King, in which I men¬ 

tioned your name.” 
The mystery was now revealed to me. I clearly saw what 

had excited in Napoleon's mind the suspicion that 1 was carry¬ 

ing on intrigues with England. 1 have no doubt as to the 

way in whieh the affair came to his knowledge. The King 

must have disclosed my name to one of those persons whose 

situations placed them ulmve the suspicion of any betrayal of 

confidence, and thus the circumstance must have reached the 

ear of Bonaparte*. This is not a mere hypothesis, for I well 

know how promptly and faithfully Napoleon was informed of 

all that was said and done at Hartwell. 

Having shown General Driesen Napoleon's accusatory letter, 

he lagged that I would intrust him with it for a day or two, 

saying he would show it to the King ut a private audience. 

Hie object was to serve me, and to excite Louis XVIIIds 

interest in my behalf, by briefly relating to him the whole 

affair. The general came to me on leaving the Tuileries, and 

assured me that the King, after perusing tin* letter, had the 

great kindness to observe that I might think myself very 

happy in not having shot I know? not whether Napo¬ 

leon was afterwards informed of the details of this affair, 

which certainly had no connection with any intrigues with 

England, and which, after all, would have Imen a mere pecca¬ 

dillo in comparison with the conduct I thought it my duty to 
adopt at the time of the Restoration. 

Meanwhile Madame de Bourricime informed me by an ex¬ 

press that seals were to be placed on the effects of nil the 

persons included in the decree of Lyons, and consequently 
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upon mine. As soon as my wife received information of this 

she quitted her retreat and repaired to Paris to face the storm. 
On the 29th of March, at nine in the evening, the police 

agents presented themselves at my house. Madame de Bour- 
rienne remonstrated against the measure and the inconvenient 
hour that was chosen for its execution ; but all was in vain, 

and there was no alternative but to submit. 

But the matter did not end with the first formalities per¬ 
formed by Touches alguazils. During the month of May 
seven persons were appointed to examine my papers, and 

among the inquisitorial septemvirate were two men well 

known and filling high situations. One of these executed his 

commission, but the other, sensible of the odium attached to 
it, wrote to say he was unwell, and never came. The number 

of my inquisitors, in domo, was thus reduced to six. They 

behaved with great rudeness, and executed their mission with 

a rigor and severity exceedingly painful to my family. They 

carried their search so far as to rummage the pockets of my 

old clothes, and even to unrip the linings. All this was done 
in the hope of finding something that would commit me in the 

eyes of the new master of Prance. But I was not to be caught 
in that way, and before leaving home I had taken such pre¬ 
cautions as to set my mind perfectly at ease. 

However, those who had declared themselves strongly 

against Napoleon were not the only persons who had reason 

to be alarmed at his return. Women even, by a system of 

inquisition unworthy of the Emperor, but unfortunately quite 

in unison with his hatred of all liberty, were condemned to 

exile, and had cause to apprehend further severity. It is for 

the exclusive admirers of the Chief of the Empire to approve 
of everything which proceeded from him, even his rigor 

against a defenceless sex; it is for them to laugh at the 
misery of a woman, and a writer of genius, condemned with¬ 

out any form of trial to the most severe punishment short of 

death. For my part, I saw neither justice nor pleasantry in 

the exile of Madame de Ohevreuse for having had the courage 

(and courage was not common then even among men) to say 

that she was not made to be the jailer of the Queen of 
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Bpain.1 On Napoleon's return from the ml**oi Klim Madame do. 

Stael was in a state* of weakness, which render*-d her sinahle to 

bear any sudden and violent emotion. I his debilitated state of 

health had been produced by her flight from ('oppet to Russia 
immediately after the birth of the son w ho w as the fruit of 

her marriage with M. Korea, hi spite of the danger of a 

journey in sueh circumstances she saw greater danger in 

staying where she was, and she set out on her new exile. 

That exile was not of long duration, but Madame de Stael 

never recovered from the effect of tin* alarm and fatigue it 

occasioned her. 

The name of the authoress of (arumr, naturally calls to 

mind that of the friend who was most faithful to her in mis- 

fortune, and who was not herself screened from the severity 

of Napoleon by the just and universal admiration of which 

she was the object. In 1915 Madame Kdrujitier did not leave 

Paris, to which she had returned in IKI4, though her exile 

was not revoked, 1 know positively that. I forte use assured 

her of the pleasure she would feel in receiving her, ami that 

Madame Rdcamier, as an excuse for declining the perilous 

honor, observed that she hud determined item- again to 

a]>pear in the. world as long as her frimidn .should tw* perse* 

euted. The Memorial de Stihife Melhie, referring t*» the origin 

of the ill will of the Chief of the Empire towards tin* society 

of Madame de HtaM and Madame Reeantier, etc., seems to 

reproach Madame li&tamicr, “accustomed," says the Memo* 

rial, “ to ask for everything and to obtain everything," for 

having claimed nothing less than the complete reinstate¬ 

ment of her father. Whatever may have !w*»*n the pretensions 

of Madame Xtccaniier, Bonaparte, not a little addiefed to the 

custom he complains of in her, {amid not have, with a good 

grace, made a crime of her ingratitude if In* on his side had 

not claimed a very different sentiment from grid it tub*. I was 
with the First Consul at the. time M. Bernard, the father of 

Madame Xitmamier, was accused, and I have not forgotten 

1 Napoleon, on being informed of thin remark, *nl*l, ** Bln* would like to 
act the part of the Duchesse do dhovreune of the Kmttde; hut I will lot her 
see that she has not to deal with a minor king/’ Minimum «I« tlhovnnuMk died 
of a broken heart, caused by her exile.~ fhmrrimtm. 
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on what conditions the re-establishment would have been 
granted.1 

The frequent interviews between Madame Becamier and 

Madame de Stael were not calculated to bring Napoleon to 

sentiments and measures of moderation. He became more 

and more irritated at this friendship between two women 

formed for each other’s society; and, on the occasion of one, 

of Madame Becamier’s journeys to Coppet he informed her, 

through the medium of Fouche, that she was perfectly at 

liberty to go to Switzerland, but not to return to Paris. 
“ Ah, Monseigneur! a great man may be pardoned for the 

weakness of loving women, but not for fearing them.” This 

was the only reply of Madame Becamier to Fouche when she 

set out for Coppet.2 I may here observe that the personal 

1 Madamo <le Ohevrouse had accepted the place of Dame du Palais to the 
Empress. When nominated to the same place with the Queen of Spain on 
the arrival in France of the Spanish Koyal family, a family to which her 
Royalist leanings could not have indisposed her, she refused to go, saying she 
was not made of the stuff for a jailer. The rruol treatment of Napoleon con¬ 
sisted in exiling her forty leagues from Paris. Madame Rceamior had not 
much to complain of. llor father, M. Poniard, one of the administrators of 
the posts, used his privilege of franking letters to regularly circulate a Royal¬ 
ist journal attacking Napoleon and his family. Instead of being tried he was 
simply dismissed, and it is his proposed re-instalment that is hero alluded to. 
Forced to leave Paris by the failure of her husband’s hank, Madame 
Rceamior gave out that her absence was due to the Emperor, thus drawing 
down on her the order not to return. Absence from Paris would of course 
seem harsh to a Parisian, but English readers arc often deluded by the use in 
such a case of the won! “ exile.” See on the subject of these two ladies 
Hdtuiry, tome v. pp. :M(), and Mmeval, tome iii. pp. 140-152. The claims of 
Madame Re'camier to distinction seem to have been her great beauty, and 
her skill in keeping her host of admirers, Benjamin Constant, etc., round her 
without granting them any substantial reward. Her Souvenirs, etc., are 
published; Paris, Levy, 1859. 

2 The beautiful Madame Rdcamier whose reputation stood unassailed 
during these stormy times in which few escaped censure, was residing with 
Madame do Stael, to whom she had heroically devoted herself, when one of 
the Prussian Princes, Prince Augustus, who had been made prisoner at 
Eylau, and who was proceeding to Italy by Napoleon’s permission, alighted 
at the castle of Coppet, with the intention of resting only for a few hours. 
Here, however, he was detained during the whole of the summer by the 
charms of Madame Reoamior, who was voluntarily sharing the exile of her 
friend. This lady and the young Prince both considered themselves as the 
victims of Napoleon, and their common hatred of him whom they looked 
upon as their oppressor probably engendered the interest which they mutu¬ 
ally conceived for each other. Inspired with an ardent passion the Prince, 
in spite of the difficulties which his exalted rank naturally suggested, con¬ 
ceived the idea of marrying Madamo Recamior. He communicated his 
designs to Madame do Stael, whose poetic imagination prompted her to 
favor a scheme that was calculated to diffuse a sort of romantic interest over 
Coppet. The Prince was recalled to Berlin, hut absence produced no change 
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prejudices of the Emperor would not have been uf a persever¬ 

ing and violent character if some of t he people who sur¬ 

rounded him had not sought to foment them. I myself fell 

a victim to this. Napoleon's aileetion lor me would perhaps 

have got the upper hand if his relenting towards me had not 

been incessantly emulated by m\ enemies around him. 

I had no opportunity of observing the aspect of Paris 

during that memorable period rernrded in history by the 

name of the Hundred Hays, but the letters whirh 1 received 

at the time, together with all that 1 afterwards heard, con¬ 
cur red in assuring me that the capital never presented so 

melancholy a picture as during those three months. No one 

felt any confidence in Napoleon’s second reign, and it was 

said, without any sort of reserve, that Pourin', while serving 

the cause of usurpation, would secretly bet ray it. The future 

was viewed with alarm, and tin* present with ilissatisfaetion. 
The sight of the federates who paraded the faulwuirgs and 

the boulevards, vociferating, The Republic forever! ” and 

u Death to the Royalists! ” their sanguinary ^mgs, the revo¬ 
lutionary airs played in our theatres, all tended to produce a 

fearful torpor in the public mind, and the issue of the impend¬ 

ing events was anxiously awaited. 
One of the cinmimitances which, at the commencement of 

the Hundred Days, most contributed to open the eyes of 

those who were yet dazzled by the past glory of Napoleon, 

was the assurance with which he declared that the Empress 
and his son would he restored f« him, though nothing war¬ 

ranted that announcement.1 It was evident that lie could not 

in his sentiments. He still ardently prosecuted his null, lint Madame Ud- 
cam for constantly declined this unexpected elevation, either fmin natural 
generosity of feeling or from her Catholic prejudices against divorce. 

H To this circumstance we an* Indebted for the picture of <*orititw» which 
is accounted one of the most original creations of Oemrt!' % jsmell, Tim 
Prince ordered the tdeture its a compliment to Madame Kcciimter#> 
de Nalnto HiUne. tome vii. p. 2,11). 

1 Although Napoleon constantly tried In make ll l#ct lodieved during the 
Cent Jours that Maria I*nuisa would return, she h<«r*tidf seisms not to have 
wished it. Meneval, who had iimiin|miil»*d her in Vnutria In 1HII as her 
secretary, says that when, in 1813, he gave tier a letter front Nafwdeoft which 
had reached him, she would not take it except aim allow it to her 
father, according to the oath she had taken, ** Homo words were exchanged 
between us on the painful subject of Iter rofitml to rejoin tint Emperor, 
Bhe answered with some animation, hut still with her tisaal that 
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count on any ally, and in spite of the prodigious activity with 
which a new army was raised those persons must have been 

blind indeed who could imagine the possibility of his triumph¬ 
ing over Europe, again armed to oppose him. I deplored the 

inevitable disasters which Bonaparte’s bold enterprise would 
entail, but I had such certain information respecting the 

intentions of the Allied powers, and the spirit which ani¬ 

mated the Plenipotentiaries at Vienna, that I could not for 

a moment doubt the issue of the conflict. Thus I was not at 
all surprised when I received at Hamburg the minutes of the 
conferences at Vienna in May, 1815. 

When the first intelligence of Bonaparte’s landing was 
received at Vienna it must be confessed that very little had 

been done at the Congress,1 for measures calculated to recon¬ 

struct a solid and durable order of things could only be framed 

and adopted deliberately, and upon mature reflection. Louis 

XVIII. had instructed his Plenipotentiaries to defend and . 

support the principles of justice and the law of nations, so as 
to secure the rights of all parties and avert the chances of a 
new war. The Congress was occupied with these important 

on that matter her resolution was irrevocable. When I objected that there 
was no irrevocable engagement, and that events might occur to render her 
return to France obligatory, she hastened to reply that her father himself 
had not the right to force her to that. . . . Her decision appeared to me to 
he taken so obstinatody that I judged it useless to recur to the subject” 
(Monaval, tome ii. pp.'314, 315). She even seems to have dreaded any at¬ 
tempt on tho part of her husband to seize her in 1814. “ At the very first 
word the Archduchess Maria Louisa showed her indisposition to content her¬ 
self with Lucca, or even to care at all about that principality, where, she 
said, it would not he agreeable lor her to reside as long as Napoleon was at 
Elba” (Talleyrand’s Correspondence, vo\. ii. p. 19). The affectionate wife 
showed no dislike to retain the title of Empress given to her by her parvenu 
husband, it was only his misfortunes she was unwilling to share. 

1 The Congress of Vienna, if Napoleon had not landed, might have ended 
in a regular struggle of the Allies over the booty. Russia had demanded all 
the former Duchy of Westphalia, and thus practically all Poland, while 
Prussia had seized and claimed all Saxony. Napoleon was dethroned in 
April, 1814, and it is strange and instructive for us, who in our day have 
been led to expect peace from the downfall of France, to find Austria, Eng¬ 
land, and France making an offensive treaty on the 3d of January, 1815, each 
to find 150,000 men, against Russia and Prussia. Bavaria, Hanover, and 
Holland acceded to this treaty in February. If Napoleon could have post¬ 
poned his return from Elba a few months later he might have found Europe 
divided and helpless! For the feeling among the Allies see Talleyrand as 
late as 3d March, 1815. “ I exhorted the two negotiators (Austria and Bava¬ 
ria) severally to try to come to an understanding in order to give Russia and 
Prussia no loophole for intervention, which would be inevitable if they could 
not como to an agreement” (Talleyrand’s Correspondence, vol. ii. p. 60). 
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objeets when intelligenee uas reeeh ed of Nnj»<»!*M»u\s (l<*par- 

tun1 from Elba and his landing at thi* l*ull at Jnan. The 

Plenipotentiaries then signed the protocol of the con IV renews 

to which I have above aiiuded. 

[ASSEX TO THE 10:FrFit 1X0 ('UAI'TEU.\ 

The following despateh of Napoleon’s fn Marshal Ihivousi 
(given in Captain Bingham's Translution, vol. ni, p. EMg 

though not strictly bearing upon the .subject <d the Ihike of 

Bassano’s inquiry (p. may perhaps tind a place here, as 

indicative of the private feeling of the Emperor towards 

Bourrienne. As the reader will remember, it has already been 

alluded to earlier in the work : — 

T(> M A USUAL IlAVOllHT. 

<*0MI*lk*»?ir., 'XI St pt* mh* r, IH11. 

I have received your letter concerning the cheating of itotitricuiH* at 
Hamburg, It will be liii|K#rlitiit to throw Ii^hf ujwm what be 1ms ilone. 
Have the Jew, Hmnprccht Marc*, arrested, s#*i/.e hi* papct", and plaee 
him in solitary confinement. Have muih* of the other principal agent* of 

liourrieime arrested, m an to discover Id* doings at Uitnihtng, and the 
embezzlements he lias committed there. 

Hlgiinl Natolkon. 



CHAPTER VII.1 

1815. 

Napoleon at Paris — Political manoeuvres — The meeting of the Champ-de- 
Mai — Napoleon, the Liberals, and the moderate Constitutionalists — His 
love of arbitrary power as strong as ever — Paris during the Cent Jours — 
Preparations for his last campaign — The Emperor leaves Paris to join the 
army —State of Brussels —Proclamation of Napoleon to the Belgians — 
Effective strength of the French and Allied armies — The Emperor’s 
proclamation to the French army — Annex. 

Napoleon was scarcely reseated on his throne when he found 

he could not resume that absolute power he had possessed 
before his abdication at Fontainebleau. He was obliged to 

submit to the curb of a representative government, but we 
may well believe that he only yielded, with a mental reserva¬ 
tion that as soon as victory should return to his standards and 

his army be re-organized he would send the representatives of 
the people back to their departments, and make himself as 
absolute as he had ever been. His temporary submission was 

indeed obligatory. 

The Eepublicans and Constitutionalists who had assisted, or 
not opposed his return, with Carnot, Fouchd, Benjamin Con¬ 
stant, and his own brother Lucien (a lover of constitutional 

liberty) at their head, would support him only on condition of 
his reigning as a constitutional sovereign; he therefore pro¬ 
claimed a constitution under the title of “Acte additionnel mtx 

Constitutions de V Empire” which greatly resembled the char¬ 

ter granted by Louis XVIII. the year before. An hereditary 
Chamber of Peers was to be appointed by the Emperor, a 
Chamber of Representatives chosen by the Electoral Colleges, 
to be renewed every five years, by which all taxes were to be 
voted, ministers were to be responsible, judges irremovable, 

1 By the Editor of the 1836 edition, but newly collated with any works of 
authority which have since appeared, and with some alterations made in 
dates or "figures in consequence. 

101 
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the right of petition was ackn«n\ledged, ami property wan 

declared inviolable. Lastly, tin* French nation was made to 

declare that they would never rerail the Bourbons. 

Even before reaching Paris* ami while resting on his jour¬ 

ney from Elba at Lyons, the seeomi city in Franee, and the 

ancient capital of the Franks, Napoleon arranged Ids ministry, 

and issued sundry decrees, which .showed how little his mind 

was prepared feu* proceeding affording to tin* majority of 

votes in representative assemblies. 
Cam bare res was minted Minis! ei o!'Justice, Four be .Minister 

of Police (a boon to tin* Ke\ olutionistsu Ikivoust appointed 

Minister of War. l>eerees upon decrees were issued with a 

rapidity which showed how lahorioimh F»ouaparte had em¬ 

ployed those studious Iwmrs at Elba which In* was supposed 

to have dedieated to tin* composition of Ids Memoirs. They 

were couched in tin* name id* 44 Napoleon, h\ the grace of (Jod, 

Emperor of France,” and were dated on the Lffb of March, 

although not promulgated until the 21st of that month. The 
first of these decrees abrogated all changes In the courts of 

justice and tribunals which had taken place during the ab¬ 

sence of Napoleon. The second banished anew all emigrants 

who had returned to Franca* in*fore tH11 without proper 

authority, and displaced all officers Iwdonging to flu* class 

of emigrants introduced into the army by the King. The 

third suppressed the Order of St. Louis, the white flag, cock¬ 
ade, and other Boyal emblems, and restored tie* tri colored 

banner and the Imperial syminds of Bonaparte’s authority. 

The same decree abolished tin* Swiss (Liard and the House¬ 

hold troops of the King.1 The fourth sequestered Hie efforts 
of the Bourbons. A similar Ordinance sequestered tie* re¬ 

stored property of emigrant families. 

The fifth decree of Lyons suppressed the ancient nobility 

and feudal titles, and formally confirmed proprietors of na¬ 
tional domains in their possessions. (This decree was very 

acceptable to the majority of Frenchmen.) Tin* sixth declared 

sentence of exile against all emigrants not craned by Naj«deou 

1 S’er information concerning the Hotntidtohi trootm of the Bourtxnni eon* 
ault a recently published work, mm XV, 
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from the list previously to the accession of the Bourbons, to 
which was added confiscation of their property. The seventh 
restored the Legion of Honor in every respect as it had existed 
under the Emperor, uniting to its funds the confiscated reve- 

nues of the Bourbon order of St. Louis. The eighth and last 

decree was the most important of all. Under pretence that 

emigrants who had borne arms against France had been intro¬ 
duced into the Chamber of Peers, and that the Chamber of 

Deputies had already sat for the legal time, it dissolved both 
Chambers, and convoked the Electoral Colleges of the Empire, 
in order that they might hold, in the ensuing month of May, 
an extraordinary assembly—the Champ-de-Mai. 

This National Convocation, for which Napoleon claimed 

a precedent in the history of the ancient Franks, was to 
have two objects: first, to make such alterations and reforms 

in the Constitution of the Empire as circumstances should 

render advisable; secondly, to assist at the coronation of the 

JEJmpress Maria Louisa. Her presence, and that of her son, 
was spoken of as something that admitted of no doubt, 
though Bonaparte knew there was little hope of their return 

from Vienna. These various enactments were well calculated 
to serve Napoleon’s cause. They flattered the army, and 

at the same time stimulated their resentment against the 
emigrants, by insinuating that they had been sacrificed by 

Louis to the interest of his followers. They held out to 
the Eepublicans a prospect of confiscation, proscription, 

and revolution of government, while the Imperialists were 

gratified with a view of ample funds for pensions, offices, 
and honorary decorations. To proprietors of the national 

domains security was promised, to the Parisians the grand 
spectacle of the Champ-de-Mai, and to. France peace and 
tranquillity, since the arrival of the Empress and her son, 

confidently asserted to be at hand, was taken as a pledge of 

the friendship of Austria. 

Napoleon at the same time endeavored to make himself 
popular with the common people—the mob of the Faubourg 

St. Antoine and other obscure quarters of Paris. On the 
first evening of his return, as he walked round the glittering 
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circle met to welcome him In the State apartments of tIn* 

Tuileries, he kept repeating u <hailicnifii, it m to thr pour 

and disinterested mass of the people that 1 owe event hiug; 
it is they who have brought me back to tm* eapital. It, 

is the poor subaltern oil'icers and common soldier* that 

have done all this. 1 owe even thing to the eonumm people 

and the ranks of tin* army. Remember that ! I *n\e vwry 
thing to the arm*/ and the jnoph ! ” Sonic time alter he 

took occasional rides through the haulnuirg St. Antoine, but 

the demonstrations of tin* mob gave him little pb-aMuv, and 

it was easy to deteefc a sneer in his add re>mm to t hem. He 
had some slight intercourse with the men of the Revolution 

— the fierce, bloodthirsty Jacobins * • but men now he could 

not conceal his abhorrence of them, and, be it said to his 

honor, la* had as little to do with them as possible. 

When .Napoleon departed lor tin* summer campaign he 

took care beforehand to leave large sums of mnue\ for the 

fedem», in the hands of the devoted Real* under u hose 

management the mob was placed. These Minis were to be 

distributed at appropriate seasons, to make the people cry 

in the streets of Paris, u Napoleon or death.’*1 He also left, 

in the hands of Duvoust a written autlenity for the pub 

lication of his bulletins, many clauses of which were written 
long before the battles were fought that tiny were to describe, 

He gave, to the same Marshal a plan of his campaign, which 

he had arranged for the defensive. This was nut confided 

to him without an injunction of the strictest secrecy, hut 

1 The market-women (dam?# d? la h*dh)t flic fish women (pmmtrdt $\k ifn»e 
valuable allies of the mm wifattm revolutionist*, j«ct formerly of Napoleon, 
bad partaken of the national tick tatnwH and cimugt *1 sides. Tlew \%* re all 
for lam is XVIIL; and went about Paris Hinging u mmg that had not only 
the merit of loyalty, but that of it pint, or ndnubour^^ which in always m* 
acceptable to the Parisians. The burden of the was, ** i***nnr * toom 
iwtm ptiire de pants,** which Is In prommeiathm just the msisi** m U*mnr\ 
nom n/4m ptrede pand,** Asking one of ihe fish women, In wliy die and 
her sisterhwKl were, so fond of Iarnls XVIII.? her a use rr wmt *’ lb n* m-.*i 
enfant, it nimuit hint Ls h uitres** {The j**ke *m tint uiomiri h’sname fa w*dl 
known: they converted Lon in lHx~h tut into d* n huitr* The Pari- 
sians are profuse of this kind of mmilt wit. When lawii* win called to hw 
fathers, and his brother, Charles X., win* about to awi*n»| th«* throne, they 
said, “ Louis 1)ix~huit a dim tarn et ('hade* Jnr parti Men." but without flic 
slightest change In pronunciation these words sound mt ** iHxduut a 
distant, et ('httries digpuraitm,'** The effect that jokes off fid* sort have iipoft 
so volatile a people is well known. Editor of IKH mitlkm. 
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it is said that Davoust communicated the plan to Eouche. 
Considering Davoust’s character this is very unlikely, hut if 

so, it is far from improbable that Fouche communicated the 
plan to the Allies, with whom, and more particularly with 
Prince Metternich, he is well known to have been corre¬ 
sponding at the time. 

Shortly after the Emperor’s arrival in Paris Benjamin 
Constant, a moderate and candid man, was deputed by the 
constitutional party to ascertain Napoleon's sentiments and 
intentions.1 Constant was a lover of constitutional liberty, 
and an old opponent of Napoleon, whose headlong career of 

despotism, cut out by the sword, he had vainly endeavored to 

check by the eloquence of his pen. 
The interview took place at the Tuileries. The Emperor, 

as was his wont, began the conversation, and kept it nearly 
all to himself during the rest of the audience. He did 

not affect to disguise either his past actions or present dis¬ 

positions. 
“The nation,” he said, “has had a respite of twelve years 

from every kind of political agitation, and for one year has 

enjoyed a respite from war. This double repose has created 

1 The feelings which drew such men as Carnot and Benjamin Constant to 
the side of Napoleon on his return from Elba were very mixed. If liberty- 
seemed safer from the flight of the Bourbons, it was alike menaced by the 
return of the man who had crushed the Revolution and by the arming of the 
Allies. As Madame de Stacl exclaimed, “ Liberty is lost if Bonaparte tri¬ 
umphs, and the national independence if he he defeated.” Carnot, the for¬ 
mer “Organizer of Victory” under the Republic, forgiving Napoleon’s 
former dismissal of him from the War Ministry, now came forward to serve 
the man who had ruined the Republican dreams of freedom but whose cause 
he now regarded as bound up with that of France, and he stood by Napoleon 
to the end. Benjamin Constant perhaps hoped that if a free constitution 
could be established it might save France from the attacks of the sovereigns 
who professed to war only against the tyranny of Napoleon, or that, if the 
Emperor fell, the constitution might for very shame’s sake be preserved by 
the Allies or by the Bourbons: he therefore undertook the task of trying to 
get Napoleon to consent to doctrines which had always been abhorrent to 
him. As for Napoleon himself, one cannot help sympathizing in the excla¬ 
mation wrung from him, “ Peace obtained on the single base of our inde¬ 
pendence, when there is no longer any question except that of administering 
our beautiful Empire of Fiance, I shall not really be humiliated by hearing 
her representatives oppose me with objections and even with refusals. 
After having dominated and conquered the world there is nothing so very 
disagreeable in being contradicted that I cannot submit to it. In any case 
my son shall do so, and I will seek to prepare him for it by my lessons and 
by my example. All that I ask from God and the nation is to let me con¬ 
quer, hut once more conquer, these monarchs formerly so humble and now 
so arrogant” (Thiers, tome xix. livre lviii. p. 412). 
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a craving after activity. It requires, nr fancies it requires, a 

Tribune and popular assemblies. It did not always require 

them. TTk* people threw themselves at my feet when I took 

the reins of government. You ought in recollect this, who 

made a trial of opposition. Where was your support — 

your strength '* Nowhere. I assumed less authority than 

1 was invited to assume. Now all is changed. A feeble 

government, opposed to the national interests, has given to 

these interests the habit of standing on the defensive and 

evading authority. The taste for eonvf ituf ions, for de¬ 

bates, for harangues, appears to have revived. Neverthe¬ 

less it is but the minority that wishes all this, be assured. 

The people, or if you like the phrase better, the multitude, 

wish only for me. You would say so if you had only seen 

this multitude pressing eagerly on my steps, rushing down from 

the tops of the mountains, calling on nn% seeking me out, 

saluting me. On my way from Canties hit her I have not 

conquered — I have administered. I am not only fas has 
been pretended) the Emperor of the soldiers ; I am that of 

the peasants — of the plebeians of France, Aeeordingly, in 
spite of all that has happened, you see the people come hark 

to me. Then* is sympathy Iwdween us. It, is not as with 

the privileged classes. The nMnmr have b*en in my service *t 

they thronged in crowds into my nutochnudtcrs. There is 

no place that they have not accepted or solicited. I have 

had the Montmorency#, the Nouilles, the fCohans, the 

Beauveaus, the Montemaris, in my train. But then* never was 
any cordiality Indween us. The steed made his curvet..# «— 

he was well broken in, but I felt him quiver under me. With 

the people it is another thing. The fiopitkr fibre responds 

to mine. I have risen from the ranks of the people: my 

voice acts mechanically upon them, Look at those eonsrripts, 

the sons of peasants: I never fluttered them ; I trented them 

roughly. They did not crowd round me the less; they did 

not on that account cease to cry, < Vive rKmpcrour!? it is 

that between them and me there is one ami the same nature. 

They look to me ms their support, their safeguard against the 

nobles. 1 have but to make a sign, or even to look another 
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way, and the nobles would be massacred in every province. 
So well have they managed matters in the last ten months ! 
but I do not desire to be the King of a mob. If there are the 

means to govern by a constitution, well and good. I wished 
for the empire of the world, and to insure it complete liberty 
of action was necessary to me. To govern France merely it is 
possible that a constitution may be better. I wished for the 

empire of the world, as who would not have done in my place ? 

The world invited me to rule over it. Sovereigns and subjects 
alike emulously bowed the neck under my sceptre. I have sel¬ 
dom met with opposition in France, but still I have encountered 

more of it from some obscure and unarmed Frenchman than 

from all these kings so resolute, just now, no longer to have a 
man of the people for their equal! See then what appears to 

you possible; let me know your ideas. Public discussion, free 
elections, responsible ministers, the liberty of the press, I have 
no objection to all that, the liberty of the press especially; to 

stifle it is absurd. I am convinced on this point. I am the 

man of the people: if the people really wish for liberty let 
them have it. I have acknowledged their sovereignty. It is 
just that I should lend an ear to their will, nay, even to their 

caprices. I have never been disposed to oppress them for my 
pleasure. I conceived great designs ; but fate has been against 
me; I am no longer a conqueror, nor can I be one. I know 

what is possible and what is not. I have no further object 
than to raise up France and bestow on her a government suit¬ 

able to her. I have no hatred to liberty, I have set it aside 
when it obstructed my path, but I understand what it means ; 

I was brought up in its school: besides, the work of fifteen 

years is overturned, and it is not possible to recommence it. 
It would take twenty years, and the lives of 2,000,000 of men 

to be sacrificed to it. As for the rest, I desire peace, but I 
can only obtain it by means of victory. I would not inspire 

you with false expectations. I permit it to be said that nego¬ 

tiations are going on ; there are none. I foresee a hard struggle, 
a long war. To support it I must be seconded by the nation, 

but in return I believe they will expect liberty. They shall 
have it: the circumstances are new. All I desire is to be in- 
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formed of the truth. I am getting old. A man is no hmgct 

at forty-five what he was at thirty. The repose enjoyed by a 
constitutional king may suit me: it will still more certainly 

be the best thing for my son.” 
From this remarkable address Benjamin Constant concluded 

that no change had taken place in Bonaparte's views or feel¬ 

ings in matters of government, but, being convinced that cir¬ 

cumstances had changed, he had made up his mind to conform 
to them. He says, and we cannot doubt it, that he listened to 

Napoleon with the deepest interest, —that there was a breadth 

and grandeur of manner as he spoke, and a calm serenity Heated 

on a brow “covered with immortal laurels." 
Whilst believing the utter incompatibility of Napoleon and 

constitutional government we cannot in fairness omit mention¬ 

ing that the causes which repelled him from the altar and 

sanctuary of freedom were strong: the real lovers of a rational 

and feasible liberty — the constitutional monarchy men were 

few — the mad ultra-Liberals, the Jacobins, the refuse of one 
revolution and the provokers of another, were, numerous, ar- 

tive, loud, and in pursuing different ends these two parties, the 

respectable and the disreputable, the good and the bad, got 

mixed and confused with one another. 

On the 14th of May, when the federes wore marshalled in 

processional order and treated with what was called a solemn 
festival, as they moved along the boulevards to the Court of 

the Tuileries, they coupled the name of Napoleon with Jaro- 
bin curses and revolutionary songs. The airs and the words 

that had made Paris tremble to her very centre during; the 
Beign of Terror — the “ Marseillaise," the “ Carmagnole/1 the 

“ Jour du depart," the execrable ditty, the burden of which is, 

“And with the entrails of the last of the priests let us strangle 
the last of the kings," were all roared out in fearful chorus by 
a drunken, filthy, and furious mob. Many a day had elapsed 

sinee they had dared to sing these blasphemous and anti-noeial 
songs in public. Napoleon himself as soon as he had power 

enough suppressed them, and he was as proud of this feat and 
his triumph over the dregs of the Jacobins as he was of any 
of his victories; and in this he was right, in this he proved 
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himself the friend of humanity. As the tumultuous mass ap 
proached the triumphal arch and the grand entrance to the 
Palace he could not conceal his abhorrence. His Guards were 
drawn up under arms; and numerous pieces of artillery, already 

loaded, were turned out on the Place du Carrousel. He hastily 

dismissed these dangerous partisans with some praise, some 
money, and some drink. On coming into close contact with 
such a mob he did not feel his fibre respond to that of the pop¬ 

ulace ! Like Frankenstein, he loathed and was afraid of the 
mighty monster he had put together. 

But it was not merely the mob that checked the liberalism 
or constitution of Napoleon, a delicate and doubtful plant in 

itself, that required the most cautious treatment to make it 
really take root and grow up in such a soil. Some of his coun¬ 

cillors, who called themselves “ philosophical statesmen,” 
advised him to lay aside the style of Emperor, and assume 
that of High President or Lord General of the Republic! 
Annoyed with such puerilities while the enemy was every 
day drawing nearer the frontiers he withdrew from the Tui- 

leries to the comparatively small and retired palace of the 
Elysee, where he escaped these talking-dreamers, and Mt 
himself again a sovereign. Shut up with Benjamin Constant 
and a few other reasonable politicians, he drew up the sketch 

of a new constitution, which was neither much better nor 
much worse than the royal charter of Louis XVIII. We give 
an epitome of its main features. 

The Emperor was to have executive power, and to exercise 

legislative power in concurrence with the two Chambers. The 
Chamber of Peers was to be hereditary, and nominated by 
the Emperor, and its number was unlimited. The Second 
Chamber was to be elected by the people, and to consist of 
629 members ; none to be under the age of twenty-five. The 
President was to be appointed by the members, but approved 
of by the Emperor. Members were to be paid at the rate 
settled by the Constituent Assembly, which was to be re¬ 
newed every five years. The Emperor might prorogue, 
adjourn, or dissolve the House of Representatives, whose 

sittings were to be public. The Electoral Colleges were main- 
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tained. Land tax and direct t;tx*»s w«»rt* «•» U* \uUu\ only fm 

a year, indirect taxes might be imposed fur M*\eisil \«*ars. Nn 

levy of men for the army nor any «*M'haug«’ «d tomboy was 

to be made but by a law. Taxes were to U* p**4!*1^ by tin* 
Chamber of Reprcsimtutivcs. Ministers to he ivsp«»n>dhl*’. 

Judges to be irremovable. Juries to W established. Right 

of petition, freedom of worship, inviolability of pmperfy. 

were recognized. Liberty of the press was given under legal 

responsibility, and press offences were to be judged with a 

jury. No place or part of the territory could he placed jn 

a state of siege exeept in ease ot toreign imusptii or ei\ il 

troubles. Finally, the French j ample declared that in the 

delegation it thus made of its powers it was tsni to be taken 

as giving the right to propose the re-establishment of the 

Bourbons, or of any Prince of that family on the throne, even 

in case of tin* extinction of tin* imperial dysi.mfy. Any sneh 

proposal was formally interdicted to the t'handlers or to the 

citizens, as well as any of the following me.emtoi, vi/. tin* re- 

establishment of the former feudal nobility. of t he feudal and 

seignorial rights, of tit!h*h, of any privileged and d«niiifsant 
religion, ms well as of the power of making any attack on f ho 

irrevocability of the sale of tin* national good?!,1 

1 Napoleon's own ideas of a eonMintthm w« r* ronfjiM «** M»ufcnilH« tvol 
i. p. 151) in 1810. 44 Franco lends itstdf !«’** to ropre ml am*' bane* fti.iii 
many other countries. In Franco talent h e«*m»tn«n I* a o & «o«!v 
talent; there is nothing beneath it ivWrli r« o tt§M* t rh itu ter* net *itH 
less principle. Every one mn« after applause wh* ihm it to m 
above or below, no matter: they want to l*e untie* 4 and appl etded. . . 
I do not, however, denim absolute j»mv©r, f mmh h*r muuo that* no r*» 
forms. I wish for one; thing entirely for ||*r public ««4©r u»4 nfthiv t 
would give a new organization to the Senate not in th* :I 4Tmu 
lb© first will replace the upper (Uiutuhcr, the second that *4 the t n p«*, 
ties. I shall continue to appoint Howitnn to ,ill tin td* ■ s I 4i 41 lour 

one-third of the Consoil d’fit&t elected by triple list**, the t* *u I shall leani 
nate. In this way I shall have* a real representation, hu u will he ••ntStrli 
composed of men well fteoititomed to httKltt©)ts. S** it##*r** t*§Mbt*, no i*frv* 
toc/ucs, no false tinsel. Then France will tw 21 well gmcMi©*! *'*oiturv» r^rti 
under a faineant prince.'* This plan KaiHthom nab! h* w ,** w aiimg wild 
peace to carry out. Wo, who Imvu seen our <m n lloti*© of Commooi©* rapidly 
sink from an honored and influential chamber of ihuirrsenhifive't i« a fulk.i 
tive assemblage of delegatus, unable to transact hitft<m**n, ntui only able to 
legislate under the pressure of outable agitation, may look on N.t]Hd«*MW*tt 
ideas with more favorable eyes than our f »thrt> *h<L huebo IfMii.ttcirfe 
who, Imving inat©rially awigted bis brother1** .o r* * Mon to power, now tried 
to avert the fall of tlio dynasty, proposed that Napoleon should ahdhvfe in 
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Shortly after the return of Napoleon from Elba, believing 
it to be impossible to make the Emperor of Austria consent 
to his wife’s rejoining him (and Maria Louisa had no inclina¬ 
tion to a renewal of conjugal intercourse), Napoleon had not 
been many days in Paris when he concocted a plan for carry¬ 

ing off from Vienna both his wife and his son.1 In this pro¬ 
ject force was no less necessary than stratagem. A number of 
French of both sexes much devoted to the Emperor, who had 

given them rank and fortune, had accompanied Maria Louisa 
in 1814 from Paris to Blois and thence to Vienna. A cor¬ 

respondence was opened with these persons, who embarked 
heart and soul in the plot; they forged passports, procured 
relays of horses, and altogether arranged matters so well that 

but for a single individual — one who revealed the whole pro¬ 
ject a few days previously to that fixed upon for carrying it 

the name of his son. This would have placed the Allies in an awkward sit¬ 
uation, but it would have been disregarded. Napoleon seems to have some¬ 
times thought of taking the step, but finally dismissed the idea (lung s 
Lucien, tome iii. p. 264). 

1 Meneval, who as the secretary of Maria Louisa ought to have been well 
acquainted with the facts, says (tome ii. p. 264) that before the return from 
Elba there had been an attempt to carry off the Prince Imperial. He at¬ 
tributes this plot to Fouche, the arch-fiend of the Imperialists, but says that 
want of money, unforeseen difficulties (probably the feelings of the Empress), 
and the return from Elba, made the plan fail. This had put the Austrians 
on the alert, and “on the 19tli of March the Empress, arriving from Vienna, 
went to the apartment of her son and communicated to Madame de Mon- 
tesquiou (the gouvernante) the wish expressed by the Emperor of Austria. 
She desired her to be ready to start at eight o’clock in the evening, without 
letting her know the reasons which made this hurried departure necessary. 
At the hour named she got into a carriage with Madame de Montesquiou and 
her son and took them to the Imperial Palace, where she left them.” There 
is something revolting in the Empress making herself the instrument to pre¬ 
vent her son obtaining the brilliant inheritance which might have been his. 
However little she might have considered herself bound to her parvenu hus¬ 
band in his days of misfortune, still her son might have had enough claims 
on her to make her at least remain passive. The presence of his mother per¬ 
haps prevented the poor little Prince from trying to resist as, with a strange 
presentiment, lie did when forced to take the fatal step of leaving Paris for 
Blois in 1814. On the 20th March, the same day on which Napoleon entered 
the Tuileries, Madame de Montesquiou was compelled to resign her charge, 
and the separation of the Prince from his French attendants was completed. 
This last measure was taken from the belief that the Comte Anatolede Mon¬ 
tesquiou, who had left Paris on the 20th of March, nominally to communicate 
with the Empress, was really intrusted with a plan for carrying off the 
Prince. The Allies professed to be aghast at the wickedness of Napoleon. 
It had never occurred to Napoleon to make political capital out of the cap¬ 
ture of the wife and child of a foe. The lesson here taught by the Austrians 
was not forgotten by Louis Philippe when he seized the Duchesse de Bern 
in 1832. 
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into effect — there is little room to doubt th it tin j»j at n?»iii<l 

have sueoecded, and that f In* «»l Amt ru mid the I it u» 

lar King of Ruuio would have giv» n mdi /*r» as I heir 
presence could give at; t he I’mlen** ■ and t h»* < ’hump d.* Mai, 

No sooner had tin* Emperor of Ami nn dmc**s» led tin^ pint, 

which, had it been successful, \umbl have phct-d him m ;i 

very awkward predicament, than he drum -so* I all tin- Fnmdt 

people about his daughter, cnmpidlcd hrr In lay wade tlm 

armorial bearings and liveries of Napoleim, aid e\« u t«* ralin- 

quisli the title of Em press of the French, No tnrc.% m» art, 

no police could conceal these thimra U**\u flu peitpi** af PurtH, 

who, moreover, and at nearly tin* -same iitioa »«ir mail*’ very 

uneasy by the failure of Murat’s attempt in It ih, which 

greatly inerejised the power and pel it nail untie n >•«• n! \n a ria. 

Murat being disponed «»f, the Em pc tor Fiauri * u,is> » nabled to 

concentrate all his form's in Itah, ansi to hold th* in iu readi¬ 

ness for the re-invasion of France. 

“ Napoleon,” says Luvullette, “ had undoubtedly r\prrted 

that the Km press and his son would he to lorn; lie 

had published his wishes as a certainty, an*! to praam? if \%;m, 

in fact, the worst injury the Emperor <d An ana could have 

done him. His hope was, however. m»m dent tmn|, 

u One evening I was summoned h* t lie palace. I Imind the 

Emperor in a dimly lighted closet, warnum; In orach m a 

corner of the lireplace, and upfieanm? to raffm ait«mh lintii 

the complaint which never afterwunb hdf hum 4 lb tv is n 
letter/ he said, f which the courier from Vienna *a\*■* is mean! 

for you — read ltd On first custintf »§> «yein»j t|*e letter 1 

thought i knew the kind writ tun, hut ;m if urn long I read 

it slowly, and came at bm% to the principal object. The 

writer said that we might, not, to reckon iijmii tin* Empicas, 
as she did not even attempt in conceal h»*r dbdikc of the 

Emperor, and was disjwiHed to approve nil t 1m- that 

could be taken against him ; that, her ictuiu iiaw not !,*» b«* 

thought of, as she herself would raise the gmalio*! oktucle-H 

in the way of it, in earn* it should b* prufurard ; filially, that, 

it was not possible for hi tit to diHsctnhlc I* in ifulsi4f«it4«»n llint 

the Empress, wholly enamoured of ~f did not even take 
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pains to hide her ridiculous partiality for him.1 The hand¬ 
writing of the letter was disguised, yet not so much but that 
I was able to discover whose it was. I found, however, in the 
manner in which the secret was expressed a warmth of zeal 

and a picturesque style that did not belong to the author of 
the letter. While reading it, I all of a sudden suspected it 

was a counterfeit, and intended to mislead the Emperor. I 
communicated my idea to him, and the danger I perceived in 

this fraud. As I grew more and more animated I found 
plausible reasons enough to throw the Emperor himself into 
some uncertainty. £ How is it possible/ 1 said, £ that- 

should have been imprudent enough to write such things to 

me, who am not his friend, and who have had so little connec¬ 
tion with him ? How can one suppose that the Empress 
should forget herself, in such circumstances, so far as to mani¬ 

fest aversion to you, and, still more, to cast herself away upon 

a man whQ undoubtedly still possesses some power to please, 

but who is no longer young, whose face is disfigured, and 

whose person, altogether, has nothing agreeable in it?’ — 
‘ But/ answered the Emperor, £-is attached to me; and 

though he is not your friend, the postscript sufficiently ex¬ 
plains the motive of the confidence he places in you.5 The 
following words were, in fact, written at the bottom of the 

1 The part taken by Maria Louisa at this period should be studied in the 
Memoirs of Meneval, for long secretary to Napoleon from the disgrace of 
Bourrienne until after the retreat from Moscow, when, having fallen into 
bad health, he was placed by Napoleon with Maria Louisa as chief secretary. 
He himself was naturally looked on with great suspicion by the Austrians, 
who called him “ the man of the Emperor,” and he was prevented from hav¬ 
ing much to do with the Empress; but lie attempted to work on the feelings 
of Maria Louisa to get her to try to proceed to France, where, as he truly 
said, she would have been looked on as an angel of peace. Meneval does 
not go so far as the letter here quoted on the infatuation of his mistress for 
the one-eyed Count Neipperg, but he refers to the influence her chamber- 
lain was obtaining over her. It is curious that the Austrians allowed 
Meneval to proceed to France to join Napoleon, and his account leaves an 
impression as if the Austrians, though anxious to retain Maria Louisa and 
her son, were not quite so determined on their line of action as Metternich 
would make us believe. Thus Meneval (tome ii. p. 249) says that on the 
receipt of the news of the landing of Napoleon, “ the Emperor Francis, re¬ 
assured about Italy, then said to his daughter that if the Emperor Napoleon, 
contrary to all probability, succeeded, he would not allow her to go to France 
till experience had shown that the pacific disposition of Napoleon could be 
trusted. The first thoughts of this Prince were good, but his good sense and 
his natural honesty always yielded to the requirements of his policy.” 
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letter: ‘ I do not think yon ought to mention the truth to the 

Emperor, but make whatever use of it you think proper.’ I 

persisted, however, in maintaining that the letter was a 

counterfeit; and the Emperor then said to me, e Go to 
Caulaincourt. He possesses a great many others in the same 
handwriting. Let the comparison decide between your opin¬ 

ion and mine/ 
e< I went to Caulaincourt, who said eagerly to me, e I am 

sure the letter is from-, and I have not the least doubt of 

the truth of the particulars it contains. The best thing the 

Emperor can do is to be comforted; there is no help to be 

expected from that side.’ 
“ So sad a discovery was very painful to the Emperor, for 

he was sincerely attached to the Empress, and still hoped 

again to see his son, whom he loved most tenderly.1 
“Fouche had been far from wishing the return of the 

Emperor. He was long tired of obeying, and had, besides, 
undertaken another plan, which Napoleon’s arrival had broken 

off. The Emperor, however, put him again at the head of the 
police, because Savary was worn out in that employment, and, 

a skilful man was wanted there. Fouche accepted the office, 
but without giving up his plan of deposing the Emperor, to 

put in his place either his son or a Republic under a President. 
He had never ceased to correspond with Prince Metternich, 
and, if he is to be believed, he tried to persuade the Emperor 
to abdicate in favor of his son. That was also my opinion ; 
but, coming from such a quarter, the advice was not without 

danger for the person to whom it was given. Besides, that 
advice having been rejected, it was the duty of the Minister 

either to think no more of his plan or to resign his office. 
Fouche, however, remained in the Cabinet, and continued his 

correspondence. The Emperor, who placed but little confi¬ 

dence in him, kept a careful eye upon him. One evening the 

Emperor had a great deal of company at the Elys6e; he told 
me not to go home, because he wished to speak to me. When 
everybody was gone the Emperor stopped with Fouch6 in the 
apartment next to the one I was in. The door remained half 

1 See, however, the mention of the Empress in Napoleon’s Will. 
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open. They walked up and down together talking very 

ealnily. I was therefore greatly astonished when, after a 
quarter of an hour, I heard the Emperor say to him gravely, 

‘ Vou are a traitor! Why do you remain Minister of the 

Police if you wish to betray me ? It rests with me to have 

you hanged, and everybody would rejoice at your death ! ’ I 

did not hear Fouehe’s reply, but the conversation lasted above 
h tlf an hour longer, the parties all the time walking up and 

down. When Fouche went away he bade me cheerfully good¬ 

night;, and said that the Emperor had gone back to his apart¬ 
ments. 

“The next day the Emperor spoke to me of the previous 

night’s conversation. f I suspected,’ he said, < that the wretch 

was in correspondence with Vienna. 1 have had a banker’s 

clerk arrested on his return from that city. He has acknowl¬ 

edged that he brought a letter for Fouche from Metternieh, 

and that the. answer was to be sent at a fixed time to Bfde, 

when* a man was to wait for the bearer on the bridge. I sent 

for Fouche a lew days ago, and kept him three hours long in 

my garden, hoping that in the course of a friendly conversa¬ 
tion he would mention that letter to me, but he said nothing. 

At last, yesterday evening, I myself opened the subject.’ 
(Here the Emperor repeated to me the words I had beard the 

night before, 4 You are a traitor,’ etc.) ‘ He acknowledged, in 
fact,1 continued tin* Emperor, ‘ that he had received such a let¬ 

ter, but that it was not signed, and that he had looked upon 
it as a mystification. He showed it me. Now that letter was 

evidently an answer, in which the writer again declared that 
he would listen to nothing more* concerning the Emperor, but 

that, his person excepted, it would bo easy to agree to all the 
rest.’ I expected that the Emperor would conclude his narra¬ 

tive by expressing his anger against Foucb6, but our conver¬ 

sation turned on homo other subject, and he talked no more of 

him. 
“ Two days afterwards I went to Eouehfi to solicit the 

return to Paris of an officer of musketeers who had been 

banished far from his family. I found him at break fast, and 

sat down next to him. Facing him sat a stranger. * I)o you 
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see this man?1 he Haiti to mt\ point lug with his spoon to the 

stranger; 4 he is an aristocrat, a P.ourhnuist, a (fhuuau ; it is 

the Abbe —, one of the editors of the Jnumut ties lk‘intfs 

— a sworn enemy to Napoleon, a fanatie partisan of the 

Bourbons; he is our of our men.1 I looked at him. At every 

fresh epithet of the Minister tIn* Abbe bowed his head down 

to his plate with a .smile of cheerfulness and self-complacency, 

and with a sort of leer. 1 never saw a more ignoble couute- 

nanee. Fouehc explained to me, on leaving the breakfast- 
table, in what manner all these valets of literature were men 

of his, and while I acknowledged to myself that the system 

might be necessary, 1 scarcely knew w ho were really more 

despicable — the wretches who thus sold themselves to the 

highest bidder, or the minister who boasted of having bought 

them, as if their Requisition were a glorious conquest. Judg¬ 

ing that the Emperor had spoken to me of the scene 1 have 

described above, Fouehc said to me, * The Km periods temper is 

soured by the resistance he finds, and he thinks it is my fault. 

He. docs not know’ that I have no power but by public opinion. 

To-morrow I might hang Indore my door twenty persons 

obnoxious to public opinion, though I should not be able to 

imprison for four and twenty hours any ittdi v idnal favored by 

it.’ As I am never in a hurry to speak I remained silent, but 
reflecting on what the Emperor had said concerning Fouehc 1 

found the comparison of their two speeches remarkable. The 

master could have his minister hanged with public applause, 

and the minister could hang —whom ? Perhaps the master 
himself, and with the same approbation. What a singular 

situation I -— and I believe they were lwith in the right ; ho far 

public opinion, equitable in regard to Fouehc. had swerved 
concerning the Emperor.1’ 

Let us now turn to Napoleon in his novel character of com 

stitutional monarch. One of his first professions in that 

capacity was his granting full liberty to tie* press. “The 
press,” said he, u that mighty engine of enlightenment, shall 

be infinitely more free in France than in England l ” To carry 

this into execution he established itixpertarH of the tmokmi/ern / 

“The Minister of Police (Fouchfi), a friend’ of liberty, hut,” 
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as Leeompte, the editor of Le (Wusrt//*, observed, u only of 

liberty after the fashion of Monsieur Pouch 6, used every art 

in his power to prevent the contagion of freedom from spread¬ 

ing too widely/’ Thi.s Leeompte had thought he was aiding 

idle cause of liberty in contributing, as he had done, to tin*, 

return of Napoleon; but soon “seeing the. prevailing influ¬ 

ence of the military, he published some severe remarks on 

t he undue weight tin* army assumed in public affairs, which, 

In* hesitated not to say, was bringing Prance to the condition 

of Rome, yhen the Empire was disposed of by the pretorian 

guards/1 This gave great offence : the journal was seized by 

tin* police, and the Minister (Pouche) endeavored to palliate 

the fact in the Monitrur (the (for era meat paper and the paper 

of all tjorern/nr/its) by saying that although seized if had been 

instantly restored. Rut Leeompte was not a man to be so 

silenced; he published a contradiction of the, oflicial state¬ 

ments, and declared that his journal had not been restored, 

lie was summoned the next day before the Prefect, alternately 

threatened and wheedled, upbraided at one moment with 
ungrateful resistance to the cause of flu* Emperor, and 

requested at the next to think of something in which govern¬ 
ment might serve him. “ Steeled against every proffer and 

entreaty, Leeompte only required to be permitted to profit in/ 

the restored tihvrtij of the /a*ess ; nor could the worthy magis¬ 

trate make him rightly understand that when tin* Emperor 

gave all men liberty to publish what pleased themselves it 

was under the tacit condition that it should also please the 

Prefect and Minister of Police/11 

We now conn* to the famous (Jhamp-de-Mai, and tin*, results 

that arose from it. 

A concise account of this imposing ceremony was given by 

an eminent English writer,2 who says;-— 

The new constitution, with the Arte Addition net, was offered to the 
suffrages of the French people at. large, and accepted by them by a 
majority of above a million and a half of votes to about, four thousand 
against it, Louis did not put himself to this kind of probation: it would 
have been inconsistent with Ids dignity and pretensions to do ho, since ids 

1 Btr VV allot Beott. a Ibr/JUt. 
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rights were deemed superior to and independent of the ^choice of the. 
people, which was merely a vulgar appendage to them. That of itself, 
with me, is decisive of the whole question. This event was celebrated m 
the Champ-de-Mai, held on the 1st of June in the open space facing; the 
Military School, where the electors of the departments, the representatives 
of the people, and the deputations from the army, met in an immense 
concourse. The Imperial and National Guard and the troops of the line, 
were drawn up in squares in the Champ-de-Mars. Napoleon appeared in 
the midst of them like a new Charlemagne, surrounded hy his brothers, 
his Court, and the members of his Government, on a magnificent throne. 
An altar was raised in the centre, and the ceremony began by invoking 
the God of battles. After the religious solemnity a deputation of fMX) 
electors advanced to the foot of the throne, and pronounced an eloquent 
and patriotic address.1 The result and number of the votes were, then 
proclaimed, and Napoleon, turning towards the side where the electors 
were, said aloud, ‘‘Emperor, Consul, Soldier, I hold all from the people: 
in prosperity, in adversity, in the field of battle, in council, on the throne, 
in exile, France has been the sole object of all my thoughts and actions.0 
Having ended his discourse the Emperor proceeded to the, altar with his 
escort, swearing to observe and maintain the constitutions of the State; 
the oath was repeated by the ministers and the electoral deputations. The 
eagles were then distributed among the troops; cries of “ViverKnipe- 
reur!” resounded on all sides, and the crowd (whether of men or women), 
as they looked on, were filled with admiration and delight, and seemed to 
think that the enemy could never again pierce through those numerous 
and dense phalanxes winding slowly along as if incapable of flight! 

The great meeting of the Champ-de-Mai was less favorably 
described by many writers who were eye-wit nesses to it. 

Napoleon and his brothers, who had again collected around 

him, were dressed in antique and somewhat fantastic robes; 
he, as Emperor, was so arrayed as to resemble Charlemagne*, 

1 After the celebration of mass, to which, by the by, every om turned has 
back, the Emperor went down and took his place on an amphitheatre In the 
middle of the Champ-de-Mars, from whence he was to distribute the eagles 
to all the cohorts of the departments. This was a beautiful scene, for it was 
a national one. The Emperor took care to address a word to each of the corps 
that received these colors, and that word was flattering arul calculated to 
inspire enthusiasm. To the department of the Vosges he said, ** You are my 
old companions.” To those of the Rhine, “ You have been the first, the most 
courageous, and the most unfortunate in our disasters.” To the departments 
of the Rhone, “ I have been bred among you.” To others, “ Your bands were 
at Rivoh, at Arcole, at Marengo, at Tilsit, at Austerlitz, at the Pyramids.” 
These magic names filled the hearts of those old warriors, the melancholy 
wreck of so many victories, with a very profound emotion. But, M 1 have 
already said, all France was not present at that ceremony, and the enthusi** 
8,8111 8Tectators was not communicated to the people in the depart¬ 
ments (Lavallette, vol. ii. p. 190). F 4 
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and his relatives were royally attired.1 The liepublieans were 

much annoyed by this display. The report of the votes was 

read, the electors, with their usual promptitude, swore to the 

Additional Act, the hollow trumpets brayed after them, and 

the cannon thundered. The popular acclamations, however, 

were few and cold. Napoleon felt he was acting as in a melo¬ 

drama on the stage, and he showed little interest — no enthu¬ 

siasm, until he came to that part of the ceremonies in which 

he had to distribute the eagles to the newly raised troops. 

Then his brow expanded, his eye beamed gloriously, and his 

voice became firm and sonorous. On the whole, the Parisians 

considered the field of May une pilce tom-bee (an unsuccessful 

play). Some few thought it an imposing spectacle, but many 

more considered it a ridiculous exhibition. Opera-dancers and 
fencing-masters figured in the procession. 

On the following day (the 2d of June) Napoleon gave a 

second fete to the deputies of the army and the electors of 

the departments, who met in the spacious galleries of the 

Louvre. More eagles were, distributed, and those who re¬ 

ceived them from the hands of the Emperor swore, as a, matter 
of course, to defend them and him to the death. The quan¬ 

tity of oath-taking, and of tricking and turning of all kinds, 

that took place at Paris between Bonaparte’s return in March 

and the return of the Bourbons in July, was prodigious almost 

beyond example. The journalists (as became their calling) 

particularly distinguished themselves. The following fact, 

though well known, merits repeating. One of the gentlemen 

of the press, in announcing the escape from Elba, said, “ A 

report is circulated that the brigand of Corsica has landed at 

Cannes.” A few days after the same man wrote, “ Do you 

1 The question of the dress of the Emperor’s brothers had given Homo 
trouble. Lucien (tome Hi. p. 2S5) says, “ The drosses for the ceremony of 
the Chamiwie-Mai wore settled. I <iid not wish to appear in white, hut in 
the dross of the National Guard. The Emperor answered me with a sneer, 
* Yes, so that you, as a National Guard, may make more efToet than I as 
Emperor.’ I decided to be dressed in white. This decision was unlucky. 
“ The white dresses worn by the three brothers of the Emperor, denoted a 
prerogative not sanctioned by the nation, because, except Prince Joseph, 
whose right of succession was recognised, the other Princes (Lucien and 
Jerome) had not been chosen for the hereditary line. These Imperial can¬ 
didates produced a particularly had effect, and offended the eye ” (Mwt, tome 
Hi. p. 432). 
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know what news is circulated \* They say tin* rash usurper 

lias been received at (*renol>lc. I hen it \s as, ** 1 have it 

from a good source that. (*en»*ru! Ihutuparf e has ent ercd 

Lyons.'’ Hut a few da\s a ft or, attain changing his tour, ho 

reported, u It appears certain that Napo|e<»n is at Fontaine¬ 

bleau.'’ And, finally, on tho 2<»th of Maroli, hr respecttally 

announced that “His Majost.y tin* Emperor and King alighted 
tliis evening at his Palace of tin* Tuil»*ries.M 1 

Tin* Ilegislative Body nn*t on tho dd of Juiu% and tho depu¬ 

ties or Commons, among whom won* many Const slut ionalixts 

and not a few darobins, showed from tho fir>t a spirit of oppo¬ 

sition and a firm determination to obtain guaranties for thoir 

newly acquired liberties. Thoir first quarrel with tho Em¬ 

peror was on tho very first day of thoir silting, and arose out 

of mere points of etiquette. The good humor of the <leputies 

was not inereased when Napoleon, on being waited upon for 

his confirmation of their election of thoir President, contempt - 
uously referred the deputation to one of his chamberlains, 

who, he said, would deliver his (the EmperurC) answer the 

next day through tin* Court page in waiting. This certainly 

showed very little eons! it tit ional feeling, and a majority in 
tin* house began to murmur and whisper that Napoleon was 

unchanged, and he and freedom as ineojupatifde as tire and 
water. 

A deputy named Sibnet, in a very violent speech, made a 

motion against the use of such titles as I hike, Count* Baron, 

etc., in the* Chamber of Uepresentatives, and was very nigh 

carrying his point. On the same day another very stormy 
debate arose out of the demand made by a member of the 

Lower House for a list of the personages raised In the new 

House of Peers. Carnot, in his capacity of Minister, declined 

giving the list until the session should actually begin r«*al 

business. On his refusal the uproar was tremendous, and 
the Presidents bell was for a long time rung in vain. They 

then proceeded to scrutinize* the form and substance of the 

1 The following extract from tin* M*miU nr rsmtulii# proitahly tin* Mlrmng«t 
piece of news over inserted In a journal: «* Tho Kiny mid the Print'*i Ufi 
in the nif/ht* Hi# Majesty the Emyetor atfterti this mniny at n*iki oVIWjl 
at his Palace of the Tu denes A* 
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oath to be taken by the deputies, and it was with great diffi¬ 

culty the Bonapartists carried their point, that the oaths 

should go in the name of “Napoleon and the Constitution,” 
without mentioning the nation or the people. On the 7th of 

June the whole house was in fire and fury. Felix Lepelle- 

tiere, a zealous partisan of the Emperor, proposed that the 
Chamber should vote to Napoleon the title of “Saviour of 
his country.” “This is absurd: we will not have it so,” 
shouted a hundred deputies at once; “ the country is not yet 
saved! ” and they passed to the order of the day by acclama¬ 

tion. In most of these petty proceedings the French showed 
little political wisdom, and did not take the course proper to 

conciliate and constitutionalize the fierce Napoleon, who was 
heard frequently to say in private, “The empty fools, the 
babblers, they are talking when we ought to be fighting! 
They want to fetter my strong arm; will their weak one save 

the nation ? One thing is clear, France does not possess the 
elements of a representative government; she wants a dictator 
like me.” In his answer to the address of the two Chambers 
he did not conceal his dissatisfaction. He said — 

“ The struggle in which we are engaged is serious. The 
seductions of prosperity are not the danger which menaces us at 
present. It is under the Caudine Forks that foreigners wish 
to make us pass. The justice of our cause, the public spirit 
of the nation, and the courage of the army are strong grounds 
to hope for success ; but should we encounter reverses, it is 
then that I should trust to see displayed all the energy of a 

great people. It is then that I should find in the Chambers 
proofs of their attachment to the country and to me. It is in 

times of difficulty that great nations, like great men, unfold all 
the energy of their character, and become objects of admira¬ 
tion to posterity. I will set out to-night and proceed to join 
the army. The movements of the different corps of our ene¬ 
mies render my presence indispensable. The Constitution is 
our rallying-point: it should be our pole-star in these stormy 
times. Every public discussion tending directly or indirectly 
to diminish the confidence which should be placed in its 
arrangements would-be a misfortune to the State : we should 
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then find ourselves in the midst of rocks without compass or 
pilot. The crisis in which we are involved is arduous. Let us 

not imitate the example of the Lower Empire, which, pressed on 
all sides by the barbarians, rendered itself a scoff to posterity 

by entering into abstract discussions at the very moment when 
the battering-ram was at the gates of the city. In all circunr 

stances my conduct will be direct and firm. Aid me to save 

the country. First Representative of the People, I have con¬ 
tracted the obligation which I now renew to employ in more 

tranquil times all the prerogatives of the Crown and the little 
experience which I have acquired to ameliorate our institu¬ 

tions.^ 
The wrath of Napoleon was confined to the Lower House, 

the Peers, from the nature of their composition, being compla¬ 

cent and passive enough. The vast majority of them were in 
fact mere shadows gathered round the solid persons of Joseph, 
Lucien, Louis, and Jerbme Bonaparte, and Sieyes, Carnot, and 

the military men of the Revolution.1 As a political body 
Napoleon despised them himself, and yet he wanted the nation 

to respect them. But respect was impossible, and the volatile 
Parisians made the Peers a constant object of their witticisms. 
The punsters of Paris made the following somewhat ingenious 

play upon words. Lallemand, Labedoybre, Drouot, and Ney 
they called Les Quatre Fairs fides (perfides), which in pronun¬ 
ciation may equally mean the four faithful peers or the four 

perfidious men. The infamous Vandamme and another were 
called Pair-siffles, the hissed peers, or the hissed pair, or (per- 
siffles) men made objects of derision. It was thus the lower 

orders behaved while the existence of France was at stake. 

By this time the thunder-cloud of war had gathered and was 
ready to burst. Short as the time at his disposal was Napo¬ 
leon prepared to meet it with his accustomed energy. Fire¬ 

arms formed one of the most important objects of attention. 
There were sufficient sabres, but muskets were wanting. The 

* briers of the Emperor gave much trouble about their places in the 
onamoer or Peers. Joseph was deeply hurt by being nominated by his brother, 
8aytn» that his place was due to him by birth, not nomination. All three, 
Joseph, Lucien, and Jerome, next claimed to have special seats in the Cham- 

the. of the President, a ridiculous pretension which they had to 
renounce (Thiers, toinc xix. livre lix. p. 006). 
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Imperial factories could, in ordinary times, furnish monthly 

20,000 stands of new arms ; by the extraordinary activity and 
inducements offered this number was doubled. Workmen 

were also employed in repairing the old muskets. There was 
displayed at this momentous period the same activity in the 

capital as in 1793, and better directed, though without the 

same ultimate success. The clothing of the army was another 
difficulty, and this was got over by advancing large sums of 

money to the cloth manufacturers beforehand. The contractors 
delivered 20,000 cavalry horses before the 1st of June, 10,000 

trained horses had been furnished by the dismounted gem 
darmerie. Twelve thousand artillery horses were also deliv¬ 
ered by the 1st of June, in addition to 6000 which the army 

already had. 
The facility with which the Ministers of Finance and of 

the Treasury provided for all these expenses astonished 
everybody, as it was necessary to pay for everything in 
ready money. The system of public works was at the same 

time resumed throughout France. “ It is easy to see,” said 
the workmen, “ that 4 the great contractor? is returned: all 

was dead, now everything revives.” To account for all this 

lavish expenditure an opinion prevailed that the Emperor on 
his return had found 100,000,000 livres in gold at the 
Tuileries. The King had, indeed, quitted Paris with such 
precipitation that he had not been able to carry away the 
crown-plate, valued at 6,000,000, nor the treasury-chests of the 
departments, containing 50,000,000 more. But the chief re¬ 
source which Napoleon found on his return was in the good 

will of the people, and in the confidence of the great French 
and Dutch capitalists arising out of it. Voluntary donations 
were also numerous, and in some departments exceeded 
1,000,000. At the military parades he was often presented 
with bundles of bank-bills, and on his return to the palace 
had to give the Minister of the Treasury 80,000 or 100,000 

francs which he had received in this manner. 
It was soon evident that the scene of the grand conflict 

would be on the Flemish border — the old battle-field of 

Europe. The whole of the fortified line of the Low Coun- 
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trios towards Franco was omtptetl by strong garrisons, chiefly 

in English pay. From tho time of tin* alarm excited by 
Bonaparte's success re-enioirenients had armed from Eng¬ 

land without intermission, and tho I hike of \\ ollington was 

on tho spot to take tho supreme command ot tho troups, 

native and foreign, in Belgium. In tin* latter end of May the 

headquarters of the Freneh Army of tin* North won* estab¬ 

lished at Avesnes, in Eastern Flanders, and in tlit* apprehen¬ 

sion of an invasion by the Allied armies on that part L;um 
and the. castle of <Juise were put in a defensible state, Field- 

Marshal Prince Blueher about this time arrived with the 

Prussian army in the neighborhood of Nam nr, and held fre¬ 

quent conferenees with the f hike of Wellington. 

Napoleon left Paris on the Pith of dune, areompanied by 

Marshal Bertrand and General Iand proeeeded to 
Laon. Lavalletto, who was with Napoleon till midnight on 

tin* 11 tli of dune, informs us that the Emperor was unwell 

when he set off to open the eampaign. that he suffered a 

great deal from a pain in tin* breast,1 hut that not withstand- 

i Certain departures from Napoleon^ umiuI style of warfare, and espe¬ 
cially from his ordinary rapid manner of follow Mg «|* a refloating ninny, 
winch are lobe noticed in the Waterloo eumpaigfe have < ailed attention to 
tin* ([nest ion whether in* wa** then in po^esdou of t»t«* full powers id mind and 
body. The whole subject will be found <h alt with in Ihusm fiurdner's 
Quutrv lints, Liuny, <tnd Wat* /7»»o iKegan Paul, IhhC), f»|*. SI .17, where eg- 
tracts are given from the conflicting authoritl***, To these pannages may tm 
added references to the following works. /anat* ft*, \ol, ti. |*j». lib itud ltd, 
ami lung's Lw'irn lion*ipnrt*\ toon* til, pp. and C-H5, noting in this last 
especially p. 2(111, whew Is mentioned Napoleon's then great propensity to 
sleep, and his own uHtoninhinent that In* should have had the energy to leave 
Klha in such a state. There cun he no doubt Hint Najadeoit was then suffer* 
ing to an extent which enfeebled la I tit, and to this ruins* we may put down 
the failure to attack earlier at Waterloo, etc 111% refusal f«» Hiipport Key and 
Murat at Borodino, and his strange neglect to fitwli other divi*0om* to the iih* 
sistanee of Vnndamme on his perilous march to Citlni to rut off the retreat¬ 
ing Allies after Dresden, are previous instances of the effect of df*ejis»* on fiat 
actions and on his fortunes, Hornet hi fig may be put down ft* he* own r«m- 
sciousnesH of log* of preHtige,jw*rhajH also of Itofte, Years before lie hud told 
Mc*tternieh of the crushing effect of failure iM* ttrrnnh, vol. Ill, P Mtlb ** Ah, 
vous in* save/, paw cpielle puissance cut 1« hoiilttmr! lad sent bonne dtt cour¬ 
age. No pas oner, e’ost tie rlen fairs ipd vaille, et on n*u«e juttiaii ifti’ii la 
suite du honheurl I a* malheur nffuiHMc it fletrii fume, of dcm lorn on tie fmt 
rieu do hon ” —* u You do not know w hat strength h given b$ go*«l luck! It 
alone gives one courage. ItIs only hy daring that otto doc* anything worth 
doing, and it Is only from the feeling of good luck that otic ever flares any¬ 
thing, Misfortune crushes and Musts one's mind; thenceforward one does 
nothing well.” He rode to his Inst battle eoiifieloiw of loss of prestige and 
failing powers. The General who flew from field to field fit Italy, who th# 
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ing this he stepped into his carriage with a cheerfulness that 

seemed to show lie was confident of victory. 

It is important to arrive at the respective forces of the 

Allied sovereigns, and of the Emperor Napoleon. It was 

calculated that by the end of May nearly 500,000 troops of 

the Allies would he assembled to oppose the operations of 

Napoleon, comprising 160,000 .'Russians, 80,000 Austrians, 

120,000 Prussians, 75,000 of the Anglo-Belgian army, and 
65,000 of the Bavarian and other German troops. In the 

beginning of June the Allied armies occupied the following 

positions: The 1st corps of infantry of the Duke of Welling¬ 

ton’s army, under the command of the Prince of Orange, 

occupied Enghien, Braine le Comte, Nivelles, and Soignies. 
The 2d corps, commanded by Lieutenant-General Lord Hill, 

was stationed at Ath, Lons, Oudenarde, Gramm out, and the 

places adjacent, and the reserve occupied Ghent, Brussels, and 
the neighborhood. The cavalry attached to this army, under 

the command of Lieutenant-General the Earl of Uxbridge, 
were chieiiy posted about Grammont and Ninove. The Eng¬ 

lish forces with their Allies (excluding the Prussians) 

amounted to 106,000 men with nearly 200 guns. 

The Prussian army consisted of four corps, and were thus 

stationed: The 1st, commanded by General Zie’ten, occupied 

Fontaine PKvesque, Eleunis, and Charleroi, The 2d, under 

General Pireh, was distributed in the neighborhood of Namur. 

The dd corps, under the command of General Thielmami, was 

posted in tin* vicinity of Oiney. The 4th corps, commanded 

by General Bulow, was collected about Liege. These, with 

corps of cavalry and artillery in proportion, constituted a 

force of 117,000 men, with upwards of dOO guns. 
Having deseribed the number and positions of the English 

and Prussian armies in Flanders, it now remains to detail the 

force and composition of Napoleon’s invading army, which 
was styled the Army of Flanders. General Gomte d’Erl on 

commanded the 1st corps, consisting of four divisions of 

night before Jena would not rout till he had himself seen the artillery in 
position, and who multiplied himself in 1H14, is not to bo recognized in the 
Waterloo campaign. Wellington triumphed over a great general, but it was 
not the Napoleon of Kivoli and Austorlltz whom he faced. 
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infantry, one division of light cavalry, and six batteries of 

artillery, the total strength of which amounted to about 

20,000 men. This corps was posted at Lille. The 2d corps, 
under General Count Eeille, was assembled about Valen¬ 
ciennes, and was similarly constituted to the first corps, 
but exceeded it in numbers by about 3000 men. The 3d 

corps, commanded by Count Vandamme, had one division of 

infantry less than the other two corps, and mustered only 

19,000 men. The 4th corps, under Count Gerard, formed the 

basis of the Army of the Moselle, and was so placed that it 

might easily form ar junction with the Army of Flanders or 

with the Army of the Ehine; it consisted of about 16,000 
men. Count Eapp commanded the 5th corps collected at 

Strasburg, denominated the Army of the Ehine; it was com¬ 

posed like the 3d and 4th corps, and amounted to 17,000 men. 

The 6th corps, under Count Lobau, which was stationed at 

Laon, formed the reserve of the Army of Flanders; its force 

may be. reckoned at 11,000 men. The 7th corps, commanded 
by Marshal Suchet, was collected about Chambery, and 

amountedt to- 21,000 men. The cavalry of the Army of 
Flanders consisted of- four corps,- under the command of 

Marshal'Grouchy:: the 1st, under Pajol, amounting to about 
2500 men,?was:assembled between the Aisne and the northern 

frontierthe 2d,.commanded by Excelmans, was of about the 

same strength;’ the.third corps of cavalry, under the orders of 

Kellermann, was’ 3500 .strong; the 4th corps, commanded by 

Milhaud, consisted^of 3500 cuirassiers. Besides these seven 

corps of infantry, and the four corps of cavalry, various other 

corps of National Guards, mixed with troops of the line, were 

stationed as Armies of Observation on the most important 
parts of the frontier, exhibiting a total of about 100,000 men.1 
The Imperial Guard, the flower of the French army, was 

assembled in the neighborhood of Paris, and consisted of 

1 Thiers (tome xx. livre lx. pp. 5-10) goes in detail into the question of the 
number of soldiers available. He states that Napoleon only found an effec¬ 
tive force of 180,000 men, of which only 148,000 were available. He says that 
on the 12th of June Napoleon had on the northern frontier 124,000 men, and 
each month wouldhave brought an addition of at least 100,000. Chesney puts 
Napoleon’s strength at the beginning of the campaign at 198,000; the armies 
of Eapp, Suchet, and Lecourbe have of course to be deducted from this. 
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close upon 20,000 men. Paris and Lyons were strongly 

fortified, and it was supposed by many that Napoleon, con¬ 
trary to his usual tactics, would remain on the defensive, but 

he adopted the bolder alternative of attacking the Allies 
before they should become too formidable by combination. 
On the 7th of June the French army began to move at Valen¬ 

ciennes. At four o’clock in the morning of the 12th Napo¬ 
leon left Paris to join the army. On arriving at Laon the 

same evening he inspected the city and ramparts. The next 
day he proceeded to Avesnes, and on the 14th rode to Beau¬ 
mont, whence, on the same day, being the anniversary of the 

battles of Marengo and Friedland, he addressed the following 
energetic proclamation to his army: — 

Soldiers! — This day is the anniversary of Marengo and Friedland, 
which twice decided the destiny of Europe. Then, as after the battles of 
Austerlitz and Wagram, we were too generous. We believed in the pro¬ 
testations and oaths of Princes, to whom we left their thrones. Now, 
however, leagued together, they strike at the independence and sacred 
rights of France. They have committed unjust aggressions. Let us 
march forward and meet them. Are we not still the same men? Soldiers! 
at Jdna these Prussians, now so arrogant, were three to one; at Mont- 
mirail six to one. Let those who have been captives to the English 
describe the nature of their prison ships, and the sufferings they endured. 
The Saxons, the Belgians, the Hanoverians, the soldiers of the Confedera¬ 
tion of the Bhine, lament that they are obliged to use their arms in the 
cause of Princes who are the enemies of justice and destroyers of the 
rights of nations. They well know the coalition to be insatiable. After 
having swallowed up 12,000,000 Poles, 12,000,000 Italians, 1,000,000 
Saxons, and 6,000,000 Belgians, they now wish to devour the States of 
the second order among the Germans. Madmen! one moment of pros¬ 
perity has bewildered them. To oppress and humble the people of 
France is out of their power: once entering our territory, there they wilP 
find their doom. Soldiers! we have forced marches before us, battles to 
fight, and dangers to encounter; but, firm in resolution, victory must be 
ours. The honor and happiness of our country are at stake! and, in 
short, Frenchmen, the moment is arrived when we must conquer or die! 

The positions of the French army at this time were as 

follows : — The headquarters were at Beaumont, the first corps 
at Loire-sur-Sambre, second at Ham-sur-Heure, third in front 

of Beaumont, fourth in front of Philippe ville, sixth in front 
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of Beaumont, the Imperial Guard arunml Beaumontt the four 

corps of cavalry, under Marshal Groach\, between Beaumont 

and Walcourt. 
An English writer who was at Brussels during tlie 

gathering and the bursting of the war-cloud gives some 

graphic details. 
u The town,” he says, H was erowdetl to excess. The 

bright and varied uniforms of so m:m\ different nations, 

mingled with the gay dresses of females in tIn* park, and the 

Allt'e Vvrte thronged with superb horses and brilliant equi- 

pages, gave to tin* city unusual animation. Tin* ttthfrs d'hotr 

resounded with a confusion of tongues w hieh might have 

rivalled the tower of Babel Balls ami pit) s, routs and 

dinners, were the only topics of conversat ion, and though 

some occasional rumors were spread that the French h;wl 

made an incursion within our lines and carried off a few 

head of cattle, tin* tales wen* too vague to excite tin* le;tst 

alarm. On tin* 2d of dune I went to see IitJtfMI troops re¬ 

viewed by tin* Dukes of Wellington and Brunsw irk. The 

splendid uniforms of the English, Seoirh, and Hanoverians 

formed a strong contrast with the gloomy black of the 

Brunswick hussars, whose veneration for tin* memory of their 

old Duke could lie only equalled by their devotion to Ids 

son. 1 was particularly struck with the liambomt* features 

of the Duke of Brunswick, whose tine manly figure, as he 

galloped across the Ikdd, realized my tmtu itirai of a warrior.” 

As scam as it was whispered In Brussels flint Napoleon 

was positively approaching that city,1 tin* most absurd and 

1 It war* on the 12th Instant that the news of Napoleon having wet out 
from I arts to join the army of Flanders ans known nt !ltMiu«d*. The f**!I**w> 
ing morning, whet* the Iluke of lth'htttoiid and n**utv officer** were at #t 
cricket-mutch the Duke of Wellington armed, mui shortly after fin- Ptime 
of Orange, which put a stop to the gntim. Though the tmro of Use Ivtilii- 
aula was not apt to let his movements he known, on this occasion li#» uoel*1 no 
Bccrct, ** that If ha was alt sick oil from the south Hullo would he his position, 
and if on the Namur side, \\ uterloo.’* The army hdng ordered to he ready 
to march on tins shortest notice, his Urnce returned to llrusscht. A few days 
after my arrival it was publicly known that a tfimctuofti would soon take 
mace on the frontier; but as it extended from OMond t«» itharlcroi, no con* 

nn what point the French n mild make their attack, 
yet the Duke lias went abused for not having had the *fcnntl night of a High* 
lander to know this, and It wai Insisted that lie ww taken hv «nritrl«i*l 
A here was also a great clamor among the t/utdnnm t that he with hi* staff 
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contradictory reports were circulated, and strong proofs were 

given that small reliance could be placed on the Belgians,1 

who seemed resolved to side, with whichever party might 
prove victorious. As early as the, night of the 15th of June, 

when Bonaparte’s advance was first, heard of, they reported 

that the French wen* actually at the gates of Brussels, lying 

in ambush to surprise tin* city, while* others said that the 

apparent confidence and security of the Duke of Wellington 

arose from his having bought over the French, whom In*, 

dared not fight unites a la main, with British gold. The 

gossips and quidnuncs of the town were dreadfully embar¬ 

rassed by these contradictory stories, and according as one 

or other prevailed they were all for Bonaparte or all for 

and a great many officers were dancing at a halt instead of being at their 
posts; but the fact is that Wellington had previously issued tho necessary 
orders for the march of the troops quartered in tho city as well as in the 
cantonments, which was very properly Kept a profound Hoerot. About, mid¬ 
night the drums, bugles, and bagpipes sounded the signal of mar<*li. I 
was stepping into bed when the well-known p/Vu’oe//, so familiar to my ear 
(the (‘ameroim' (lathering) sounded under my windows, On opening my 
easement I beheld my countrymen assembling like bees from all quarters; 
and never was there a more prompt turn-out ; within half an hour every offi¬ 
cer and soldier was at his post. Trie Tid, U2«l» and Tilth paraded in our street. 
The division of Brussels and its neighborhood amounted to iMXM); about noon 
it reached Qua!re Bran, a mareh of eighteen miles, hi a very hot day, ami 
through a country that afforded hut little water, so that between fatigue and 
thirst they were much exhausted before they were attacked, and they hardly 
had time to settle their knapsacks when the French, eoneenled in the hold 
of long rye, and suddenly debouching from a neighboring wood, commenced 
a vigorous lire, which was repelled with the utmost bravery, and though the 
British were hut ill-supported by artillery or cavalry, they succeeded in driv¬ 
ing the French from their positions, and heeame masters of the field, hut 
with an immense loss, particularly in the ranks of the Highlanders (Bryce 
(Jordon's J/emoffjtg 

1 The following proclamation was issued by Napoleon on entering Bel¬ 
gium, and was dateil prematurely from the palace or Baoken : — 

** To TtIK BKUiUNH AMI* TICK f HHAtltTANTH OF Tilt? I S'*. FT BANK OF 

Tit K lift IN K. 

“The ephemeral success of my enemies detached you for a moment from 
my Empire. In my exile, upon a rock in the sea, 1 heard your complaint; 
the Hod of battles has decided the fate of your beautiful provinces; Napo¬ 
leon is among you; you are worthy to l*e Frenchmen I Pise in a lardy, Join 
xiiv invincible phalanxes to exterminate the remainder of these barbarians* 
wfm are your enemies and mine; they fly with rage and despair in their 
hearts, ’ “(Signed) Nafomcon. 

“ The Imjwwial Palace of Baeken, June 17, 1815. 
“ By the Emperor, 

" The Major-Oeuerai of the Army, Count Bku.tkani>.” * 
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Wellington. This confusion of ideas is said to have pro¬ 

duced the most laughable mistakes, people frequently begin- 

ning invectives which ended in becoming panegyrics of the 

persons they did not mean to praise. 

“We have just learnt/1 says a writer who was at Brussels 
at this time, “ that Napoleon had left the capital of France on 

the 12th ; on the 15th the frequent arrival of couriers excited 

extreme anxiety, and towards evening General Muilling pre¬ 

sented himself at the hotel of the 1 Hike of Wellington with 

despatches from Blucher. We were all aware that the enemy 

was in movement, and the ignorant could not solve the enigma 

of the Duke going tranquilly to the ball at the Duke* of Rich¬ 

mond’s— his coolness was above their comprehension. Had 

he remained at his own hotel a panic would have, probably 

ensued amongst the inhabitants, which would have embar¬ 

rassed the intended movement of the British division of the 

army. 
“ I returned home late, and we were still talking over our 

uneasiness when we heard the trumpets sound. Before the 

sun had risen in full splendor I heard martial music approach¬ 
ing, and soon beheld from my windows tin* nth reserve of the 

British army passing; the Highland brigade were the first 

in advance, led by their noble thanes, the bagpipes playing 

their several pibrochs; they wert* succeeded by tin* 28th, 

their bugles’ note falling more blithely upon the ear. Each 

regiment passed in succession with its band playing.” 

The gallant Duke of Brunswick was at a ball at the assem¬ 

bly-rooms in the Hue Ducale on the night of the 15th of dune 

when the French guns, which lie was one of the first to hear, 

were clearly distinguished at Brussels, “ Upon receiving the 

information that a powerful French force was advancing in 

the direction of Charleroi, * Then it is high time for me to Im 

off/ he exclaimed, and immediately quitted the ballroom,” 

The assembly broke* up abruptly, and in half an hour drums 

were beating and bugles sounding. The good burghers of the 

city, who were almost all enjoying their first sleep, started 

from their beds at the alarm, and hastened to the streets. 

The most ridiculous and absurd rumors were rapidly circu- 
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ited and believed. Tin* general impression seemed to be 

hat the town was on fire, the next that, the I hike of Welling- 

:m had been assassinated; but when it was discovered that 

he French were advancing the consternation became, general, 

nd every one hurried to the* Place Romaic, where, the llano* 

erians and Brunswickers were already mustering. 

About one o’clock in the morning of the lbth the whole* 

opulat ion of Brussels was in motion. The. streets we*re 

rowded ms in full day; lights flashed to and fro; artillery 

nd baggage-wagons were creaking in every direction; the 

rums beat to arms, and the* hugl<*s soundt‘d. Tim noise 

nd bustle surpassed all description. Here were horse‘8 

lunging and kicking amongst a crowd of terrified burghers, 

iiere lovers parting from their weeping mistresses. Now 

in* at te»nf ion was attracted by a park of artillery thundering 

urough the* stre*e*ts, anel now again by a group of officers 

inputiug loudly Mm demands of their imperturbable1 Flemish 

uidiords, for not. even thee panie*. which pre*vaile*d could 
righten the* Fh‘mingH out of a single stive*r; sere*ams and 

ells occasionally a re we* above the* busy hum that murmured 

hrough the* crowd, but the* ge*ne»ral sound resembled tin* roar 

f a distant. ocean, Be*twe*e*n two and three o'clock the* 
Iruuswiekers marc*heel from the* town. 

At four t lie whole disposable* force* under the Duke of 

Wellington was eolh*e*te*<! together, hut in such haste* that 
tany of the* officers had nee time* to change* tlmir silk stock- 

igs and daneing-shoes; and some*, ejuite overcome*, by 

rowsiness, were seen lying asleep about the ramparts, still 

(deling, however, with a firm hand, the reins of tlmir horses, 
’hieh were* grazing by their sides. 

“ About five o’clock the worel * march ’ was heard in all 

ireetions, and instantly the whole mass appe*are*d to move 

inmltaimously. I conversed with several of the oflb*e*rH 

revions to their departure, and met out* appeareel to have* the 

lightest idea of an approaching engagement. 
** The I hike* of Wellington and his staff did not (put 

Brussels till past eleven o’clock, and it was not, till some 
.me after they were gome that if was generally known the 
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whole French army, including a strong corps of cavalry, was 

within a few miles of Quatrc Bras.” 

[ANNEX TO THE PRECEDING CHAPTER.] 

The state of the popular mind and the curious aspect 

presented by Paris to the stranger during these days of 

sudden change have often been described, but seldom better 

than in the words of an accomplished English lady, a partisan 

of the Bourbons, who had the courage to await the arrival of 

Bonaparte. 

We were enjoying the breezes of a fine March morning when suddenly 
an officer issued from the Palace and whispered to us that Bonaparte had 
landed ! Had a thunderbolt fallen at our feet its effects could not have, 
produced a more terrible sensation than did this unexpected intelligence 
on our hearts. We instantly returned home, and that night It was no 
longer a secret in Paris. Some could not conceal the terror the name of 
Napoleon always inspires; others, judging from their own loyal senti¬ 
ments, exclaimed, “ La main de Diva & eat risible! ” Another party, 
appreciating present circumstances, rejoiced in the idea that he would 
be taken and secured forever; as if NajKdeon, in risking the chance of 
success, had not secured the means of Insuring it! The King issued an 
ordonnance declaring him a traitor. The (‘hamher of Deputies was 
convened; an express sent for Marshal Key. The King, preserving 

admirable calmness and confidence hi his subjects, received the Am¬ 
bassadors, saying, “Write, gentlemen, to your reflective ('ourls that I am 
in good health, and that the mad enterprise of this man will no longer 
trouble the repose of Europe nor my own.” 1 The Prince de Comic, 
notwithstanding his advanced age, offered his services, 

Ilis Majesty passed in review the troop, addressed the most flattering 
compliments to their generals, who surrounded him, and said to General 
Rapp, “ Malgri que cene soil pas le. siliyc de, Dantzlc, je cample irngours 
mr votre bravoure et voire fididiti ! n Rapp, affected, turned away and 
exclaimed, “ One must be a villain to betray such a King.” He rendered 

1 Louis XVIII. and his Ministers at first were, or affected to lie, confident 
of success. In telling Talleyrand of Natwdeoids landing the King says, 
“ You will no doubt have heard of his audacious enterprise. I took at once 
the measures which I judged most calculated to make mm repent of It, and 
I am confident of their success.” He informed the Ambassador* that he 
was “ firmly persuaded that the tranquillity of Europe would no more be dis¬ 
turbed by it than I was myself” (Talley rand's Corresponds nee, vol. II. p. fig*). 
On his side Talleyrand wrote to Jauoourt, his substitute in the French For¬ 
eign Office, “We have no reason to fear; our cause h safe” (Talley rand's 
(Correspondence, vol. ii. p. 108). Later, however, Talleyrand bail don tits as to 
which cause was safe, and to let time reveal this he withdrew to Carlsbad to 
“lookafter his liver.” 
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himself justice, and unconsciously pronounced his own panegyric in 
advance.1 When the Due de Kerri appeared he was received with 
enthusiasm. La Maison du Roi solicited to march with him against 
their common enemy, but elsewhere all remained in a state of apathy- 
An extensive confederacy on one side, want of means on the other, and 
inefficient organization in every department — our great confidence was in 
Ncy; Ney departed with promises to bring back Napoleon dead or alive. 
He kissed the King’s hand, and, shedding tears, renewed his oaths of 
fidelity for himself and his army. 

The Due de Feltre (Clarke) was named Minister of War. Our fluctu¬ 
ating hopes rose and fell like the mercury in a weather-glass, but this 
nomination revived them. Clarke had been called “ the calculating Irish¬ 
man," but the loyal party now extol him, and say that he forgot himself 
at the epoch that others forgot only what they owed to their King. 
“ What will Talley rand do f Will he, amidst the congregated ministers 
of the Allies, remain steady to his last oaths to Louis?” was constantly 
echoing through our salons during the first days of consternation. 

The streets were quieter than usual; every person seemed to have a 
more, serious mien, and to be pre-occupied. Of the heau-monde some had 
lied, others kept within their hotels. No carriages of the opulent con¬ 
tested the passage with the cabriolets or with the vehicles of commerce, no 
belles skipped lightly along. In tin1 shops few purchasers, and those few 
looking gloomy and silent: suspicion and fear seemed to predominate. 
Kntering two or three shops where I had been in the habit of purchasing 
they exclaimed, “Softly 1 softly! mademoiselle; speak low, we are sur¬ 
rounded with spies.” At. the open stalls, and in the shops on the bridges 
and on the quays, the proprietors were busily occupied in removing the 
engravings, and other emblems of the Bourbons, and replacing those of 
the usurper and of his military partisans. Ladders were placed at the 
corners of the streets and against the shops, while workmen were effacing 
the. names and brevets of the Bourbon dynasty, to be replaced by those of 
the (torsiran family, or in haste substituting a design analogous to the 
merchandise within. We entered for a moment the Chamber of Depu¬ 
ties. The drapaawc, taken in the different campaigns were brought from 
their concealed depots. The President’s chair, embroidered with fleur- 
de-lis, was being removed. “ Where will you find another ? ” I hastily 
demanded. “ Vaneien fante,nil e.st an y rent or” was the quick reply. 
In a few moments it was brought down; the portraits of the King and of 

1 Bomi was certainly no scoundrel. He only rejoined his own chief when 
the flight of Louis XvIII. left France helpless. It cannot be said to have 
been the duty of any one to support a Government which fled to obtain the 
help of the Powers which were longing to dismember France. Itapp asserted 
to the face of Napoleon that, lie would have resisted him, and on Napoleon 
disbelieving this and saying he would have shown Itapp u the Medusa’s 
bead,” Itapp still said he would have fired on his old Chief (Memoirs, p. 342). 
Lapp was sent to defend Alsace, and there, as everywhere, showed himself 
a gallant and loyal soldier. The few rewards he received from Napoleon 
prove how tittle of a time-server he was. 
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the Princes were already removed from their frames, and those of Xapo* 

leon and Maria Ix>ui»& bad replaced thorn. 
[On the 10th of March erics were heard of *' Vive le Hoi!" In the 

SqUare of Louis XV. On the morning of the *itHh they were supplanted 

by shouts of “ Vive l’Empereur! *‘I 
The next morning 1 determined to see Napoleon, but when our ear- 

riage arrived at the Pont itoyal thotwtmh were collected there. Our .ser¬ 

vant advised us to descend and proem! on foot. The crowd civilly made 
way: they were waiting to see the review. An iitiUHii.il silence prevailed, 
interrupted only by the cries of the children, whom flic parents were 
thumping with energy for crying “ \ ive le Hoi! Instead of *% \ ive hKm- 
pereur!” which some months before they had Wen thumped for daring 
to vociferated A friend reeommended m to proceed to the review, to nee 
which he had the good nature to pioeure me admittance to a small apart¬ 

ment in the Tuileries, and from the window i saw ami heard for the first 
time the scourge of the Continent — his martial, active figure, mounted 
on his famed white horse. He harangued, with energetic lone (and in 
those bombastic expressions we have always remarked in all Inn manifes¬ 

toes, and which are so well adapted to the French f, the Hoops of the divne 
ions of Lefol and Dufour. There was much embracing of Lea mirons 
AtylcH of the Old Guard, much mention of “great day** and souvenirs 
dear to his heart/1 of the "sears of his brave soldiers/* which, to serve 
his views, he will re-ojam without remorse. The p«j»uhicc were tranquil, 
as 1 had remarked them on the bridge. Inspirited by m\ still urmtiMfled 
curiosity 1 rejoined my escort and proceeded to the gardens, where not 
more than thirty persons were collected under the window*, There was 
no enthusiastic cry, at least none deemed Httlflcletif to Induce him to show 
himself. In despair at not being able to contemplate bis physiognomy at 
greater advantage i made t«y cavalier request some jw-rsons In tin* throng 
to cry "Vive rEmpereur! ” Some laughed and replied, “ AMendez un 
pen/1 while others advised tm to desire some of the children to do so, A 
few francs thrown to the latter soon stimulated their voices into cries of 
the loyalty of the day, and Napoleon presented himself ut the window, 
but he retired often and re-apjiearod, A few p**r»«t« arrived from the 
country and held tip petitions, which lie sent an tihfc 4r eitmp to receive. 
His square face and figure struck me with involuntary emotion. I was 
dazzled, as If beholding a supernatural king. There was n sternness 
spread over his expansive brow, n gloom tm tin* lids of bis darkened eye, 
which rendeml futile his attempts to smile, Something Satanic HjKtticd 
round his mouth, indicating the ambitious spirit of the soul within l 

Much agitation seemed to reign In the natm* The ministers and 
generals paced up and down with their master in twljftmml agitation and 
debate. The Palace has now the appearance of a fortress, the retreat of 
a despot, not the abode of a sovereign confiding In the loyalty of his 
people, and recalled by their ttmutlmom* voice, Imt feeling that he N only 
welcomed back by military tower, whose palli wu smoothed by the 
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peasantry of Dauphiny. A range of artillery is now placed before itt 
soldiers stretched on straw, repose under the finely arched corridors, 
and military casqued heads even appear from the uppermost windows. 
Napoleon had the gallant consideration the day after his return to renew 
the guard of honor at the hotel of the Dowager-Duchess of Orleans, to 
whom he has always recorded the respect due to royalty.1 

Nai>olkon during the Hundred Days. 

I have seen him twice: the first time on Sunday, 16th April, at the 
review of the National Guards; the second time at the Fran^ais on the 
following Friday, 21st April, at his first visit to that theatre since his 
return. Having witnessed the first appearance of the Bourbon Princes 
last year in front of the National Guard and at the same theatre I am 
able to make some comparison between the two receptions, and what is 
called the popularity of each dynasty. The first occasion was a trial 
which some of the female partisans of Napoleon appeared to dread. A 
rumor had gone about that violence would be attempted against the 
Emperor's person by the Republicans on the day of the review. Several 
people whispered the suspicion to me, and added that the deed was to be 
done by a female. The time naturally selected for the purpose was the 
moment when the National Guards were to be all under arms, as that 
body, whatever may he their polities, would, it is thought., defend their 
properties and the peace of the city rather than fly to the revenge of any 
individual act. T was In the apartments in the Tuileries allotted to the 
Queen Hortense, who was present at one of the windows, together with 
some ladies of the Gourt. The beautiful-was of the party; she man¬ 
ifested the utmost inquietude; told me that she had no alarm from the 
Guards, hut was uneasy at the appearance of several persons in plain 
clothes crowding round the, steps of the great f>oreh of the Palace, where 
the Emperor was to mount his horse: however, she recovered herself, and 
seemed to forget her fears when the discharges of cannon at the Invalides 
announced the surrender of Marseilles and the pacification of the whole 
Empire. By half-past one twenty-four battalions of the Guard bad 
marched into the, Court of the Tuileries. There were no troops of the 
line or of the Imperial Guard under arms on that day, but there were 
several military men amongst the spectators about the porch, who con¬ 
sisted ehiefly of women, and of the above-mentioned persons, apparently 
of the lower classes. Your friend--, and myself were, X think, the only 
gentlemen in plain clothes. We waited silently, and for some time, at 
the window-— the anxiety of the ladies was renewed, but instantly dissi¬ 
pated by the shouts of “ Vive PKmpereur! ” which announced that Napo- 

1 This act on the part of a man whom the sovereigns were declaring an 
outlaw is worth remarking, ft contrasts with the persistent refusal to rec¬ 
ognize him as of any higher rank than General, why the title General was 
allowed him, a question asked by himself, does not appear. 
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leon was on horseback. He rode off to the left of the line, but the 
approaching shouts told that he was returning. An officer rode quickly 
past the windows waving his sword to the lines to fall back a little, and 
shortly afterwards Napoleon himself followed with his suite, distinguished 
from amidst their waving plumes and glittering uniforms by the well- 
known unornamented hat and simple coat, and single star and cross. He 
cantered down the lines; as he passed near the spot at which I had placed 
myself for a better view he suddenly drew up and spoke to a man in the 
ranks: an old soldier near me said aloud, without addressing himself to 
any one (with a tear of emotion glistening in liis eye), “ See liow he stops 
to read the petition of the meanest of liis army!” I caught frequent 
glimpses of him as he glided through the ranks, at the end of each of 
which he stopped a short time, as well as before several soldiers in the 
line, who held out petitions for his acceptance. His progress was an¬ 
nounced from right to left, and left to right, by continued acclamations. 
The battalions then moved nearer towards the Palace in close order; the 
gates in front of the Triumphal Arch were thrown open, and the remain¬ 
ing twenty-four battalions, marching from the Place du Carrousel into 
the Court, were inspected in the same manner by the Emperor. After¬ 
wards a space was cleared in the midst of the Court, half-way between 
the Palace and the Triumphal Arch. Napoleon advanced tliitlier with 
his staff drawn round behind him. A large body of the officers of the 
National Guard then quitted their ranks, and rushed towards the Empe¬ 
ror, who addressed them in the speech which you have seen in the Moni- 
teur of the 17th, and which was frequently interrupted by shouts, and 
received at the close, when he added, “ Vousjurez enfin de tout sacrifier 
a Vhonneur et a V independence de la France” by a thousand voices ex¬ 
claiming, “We swear.” After some thronging the Emperor wheeled 
round into an open space before the porch of the Tuileries, and put him¬ 
self in front of his staff to review the whole body of the troops who pre¬ 
pared to pass by in columns of companies; two officers of the Guard were 
kind enough to push me forwards within ten paces of him; many of the 
spectators were about the same distance from him on his right and his 
left, whilst a whole line of them stood opposite, just far enough to allow 
the columns to march between them and the Emperor. The staff were 
behind; Count Lobau was close upon his left, with his sword drawn; 
scarcely had a regiment passed when Napoleon suddenly threw his foot 
out of the stirrup, and coming heavily to the ground advanced in front of 
his horse, which was led off bj' an aide de camp, who rushed forwards, 
but was too late to take hold of his stirrup. The Marshals and the staff 
dismounted, except Count Lobau. A grenadier of the Guard without 
arms stood at the Emperor’s left hand, a little behind; some spectators 
were close to his right. The gendarmerie on horseback took hut little 
pains to keep them at a respectful distance. The troops were two hours 
passing before him, during the whole of which time any assassin, unless 
disarmed by his face of fascination, might have shot or even stabbed him 
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His face was of a deadly pale; liis jaws overhung, but not so much as 
1 had heard; his lips thin, but partially curled, so as to give to his mouth 
an inexpressible sweetness. He had the habit of retracting the lips, and 
apparently chewing, in the manner observed and objected to in our great 
actor, Mr. Kean. Ilis hair was of a dark dusky brown, scattered thinly 
over his temples: the crown of his head was bald. One of the names of 
affection given him of late by his soldiers is u Notre petit iondu,.” He 
was not fat in the upper part of his body, but projected considerably in 
the abdomen, so much so that his shirt occasionally appeared beneath 
his waistcoat. He generally stood with his hands knit behind or folded 
before him, but sometimes unfolded them; played with his nose, took snuff 
three or four times, and looked at his watch. He very seldom spoke, but 
when he did, smiled somewhat agreeably. He looked about him, not knit¬ 
ting but joining his eyebrows as if to see more minutely, and went through 
the whole tedious ceremony with an air of sedate impatience. As the 
front columns of each regiment passed him he lifted the first finger of his 
left hand quickly to his hat to return the salute, but did not move either 
his hat or his head. As the regiments advanced they shouted, some 
loudly, some feebly, “ Yive FEmpereur ! ” and many soldiers ran out of 
their ranks with petitions, which were taken by the grenadier on the 
Emperor’s left hand: once or twice the petitioner, afraid to quit his 
rank, was near losing his opportunity, when Napoleon beckoned to the 
grenadier to step forward and take his paper. A little child, in true 
French taste, tricked out in regimentals, marched before one of the 
bands, and a general laugh ensued. Napoleon contrived to talk to some 
one behind him at that moment that the ridicule might not reach nor be 
partaken by him. A second child, however, of six years old perhaps, 
dressed out with a beard like a pioneer, marching in front of a regiment, 
strode directly up to him with a petition on the end of a battle-axe, which 
the Emperor took and read very complacently. Shortly afterwards an 
ill-looking fellow, in a half suit of regimentals, with a sword by his side, 
ran from the crowd of spectators opposite or from amidst the National 
Guards, 1 could not see which, and rushed directly towards the Emperor. 
He was within arm’s-length when the grenadier on the left and an officer 
jumped forwards, and seizing him by the collar pushed! him farther back. 
Napoleon did not move a muscle of his body; not a line, not a shade of 
his face shifted for an instant. Perfectly unstartled, he beckoned the 
soldiers to let loose their prisoner; and the poor fellow, approaching so 
close as almost to touch his person in front, talked to him for some time 
with eager gestures and his hand on liis heart. The Emperor heard him 
without interruption, and then gave him an answer, which sent him 
away apparently much satisfied with liis audience. I see Napoleon at 
this moment. The unruffled calmness of his countenance at the first 
movement of the soldier, relaxing softly into a look of attention and of 
kindness, will never he erased from my memory. 

During the review, hearing a movement amongst his staff, he turned 
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round, and seeing that it arose from a very pretty country woman of ours, 
whom one of his aides de camp was placing near him, replied to her 

courtesies with a very low bow. 
The last regiment of the National Guards was followed by ninety boys 

of the Imperial Lyceum, who came rushing by, shouting and running, 
many of them out of their ranks, with {Md it ions. Then for the first time 
Napoleon seemed delighted; he opened his mouth almost to a laugh, and 
turned round to his attendants on the right ami left with every sign of 
satisfaction. These youths wished to fight the last year at the defence of 
Paris, and they are now again enrolled. 

As to Napoleon’s reception at the Francais, it is impossible to give 
any idea of the joy by which he was hailed. The house was choked with 
spectators, who crowded into tin* orchestra. The play was Her tor. 
Previously to the rising of the curtain the airs of “ La Victoire ” and the 
“Marseillaise” were called for, and performed amidst thunders of ap¬ 
plause, the spectators joining in tin* burden of the song. An actor of the 
Feydeau rose in the balcony ami sung some occasional words to the 
“ Marseillaise,” which were received in rapture*, and accompanied by 
the whole house at the end of each verse. The enthusiasm was at its 
utmost pitch. Napoleon entered at the third seem*. The whole mass 
rose with a shout which still thunders in my ears. Tin* ** Vives ” con¬ 
tinued till the FmjK*ror, after bowing to the right and left, had seated 
himself, and the play was recommenced. The audience received every 
speech which had the least reference to their returned hero with unnum¬ 
bered plaudits. The, words “ n{fin it reparoifN and ” e'etoit hri,” — 
Achille, raised the whole parterre, and interrupted the actor for some 
moments. Napoleon was very attentive; whilst I saw him he sjmke to 
none of those who stood behind him, nor returned the compliments of the 
audience: he withdrew suddenly at the end of the play, without any 
notice or obeisance, so that, the multitude had hardly time to salute him 
with a short shout. As I mentioned before, I saw the Bourbon Princes 
received, for the first time, In the game place, last year. Their greeting 
will bear no comparison with that of Napoleon, nor will any of those 
accorded to the heroes of the very many ceremonies I have witnessed in 

the course of my life. Talma played Hector in his usual powerful style; 
and having mentioned the name of this great actor, I cannot forbear add¬ 
ing a story I heard from him, which shows that Najwdeon has some abil¬ 
ity in turning a kind compliment. At the first meeting between the 
Emperor and actor since the return from Elba, the former, addressing 
him with his usual familiarity, said, “ Ho, Talma, Chateaubriand says 
that you gave me lessons how to act the Kmgwror: I take his hint as a 
compliment, for it shows I must at least have played my part well.” 

The intimacy between the master and the scholar had Imm of long 
standing: the reputation of the former was established when the latter 
was scarcely known, and the young officer accepted admissions for the 
theatre from Ms acquaintance. At that time one of the. principal amuse- 
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ments of the two friends, together with that of M. Lenoir (afterwards a 
general), was the relation of stories of ghosts and old castles, into which 
(the candles being extinguished) the future conqueror of Europe entered 
with all his heart, and was seriously offended when his companions in¬ 
terrupted him by tripping up his chair, shaking the table, or any other 
practical pleasantry. 

Union of the Workmen of St. Antoine. 

On Sunday last, 14th May, a body of the workmen of St. Antoine and 
St. Marceau, representing a federation, which had two days before formed 
itself in those suburbs, to the number of 30,000, marched before the Em¬ 
peror at the Tuileries. The express purpose of this union is to form a 
body of sharpshooters to fight in advance of the National Guard, in case 
the enemy shall present itself before the capital. They demand arms, 
with which they promise to guarantee Paris against the re-appearance of 
the Allies. The number of those who were ranged in order of battle at 
the Court of the Tuileries, and passed Napoleon previously to his review of 
some regiments of the line and of the Young Guard, amounted to 12,000; 
they had demanded this presentation, but had made no preparation for 
appearing before their Emperor, the greater part being in their laboring 
dresses and in their dustmen’s hats: nevertheless, when drawn up and 
when marching, they fell so easily into their ranks, and proceeded in such 
order, that they might, in any other country, have been taken for old sol¬ 
diers; indeed, many of them have served. 

On the 30th of March the works of Paris were recommenced at the 
fountain of the Elephant, the Louvre, the new market-place of St. Ger¬ 
mains, and the Office of Foreign Affairs: the next week the workmen 
were doubled, the streets recovered their former names, the public build¬ 
ings their imperial inscriptions, the theatres were declared on their ancient 
footing, and the Imperial Conservatory, for the education and mainten¬ 
ance of actors and singers of both sexes, restored. This is the only 
establishment of the kind in Europe; it was commenced under the Re¬ 
public, but received its present endowment chiefly from Napoleon. The 
representations take place every other Sunday at two o’clock, when the 
pupils, in their usual dresses, sing and recite portions of operas and plays 
to an audience which pays for admission, and thus contributes to support 
the institution. M. Talma is the principal professor of declamation. 
The suppression of the Conservatory by the Bourbons was a measure the 
economy of which was not sufficiently considerable to be set off against 
the odium occasioned by this declaration against the amusements of the 
Parisians, who had rather be limited to their ounces of bread, as in the 
Days of Terror, than be deprived of their shows. 

F&tk given by the Imperial Guard. 

On Sunday, the 2d of April, the Imperial Guard gave a f&te to the 
National Guard and garrison of Paris, in the Champ-de-Mars. The com- 
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mon soldiers, to the number of 15,000, were placed at tallies In tin* ojwm 
air; whilst the officers dined in the galleries of the palace of the Military 
School. After the repast, which was served up in presence of an iinmen.se 
multitude on the sloping sides of the plain, and which was interrupted by 
many military songs and oilier toasts to tin* health of the Emperor, the 
Empress, and the Imperial Prince (for >o the King of Koine is now de¬ 
nominated), repeated to the sound of music, and diseharges of artillery, 
the whole mass of guests and spectators rose to tin* shout of some voices 
which cried out, “To the column!” 'Hu* procession, carrying a bust of 
the Emperor, moved towards the Tuilerien, and presented itself under the 
Imperial apartments with unceasing acclamations, to which NajHdeon 
replied by appearing at the window and saluting the enthusiastic multi¬ 
tude, who then repaired to the column of the (Irand Army hi tin* Square 
Vendome, under which the bust of Na|«>leon received a solemn inaugura¬ 
tion. 'The {Midestal of the pillar and tin* houses of the square wen* then 
spontaneously illuminated, and rings of soldiers, national guards, and citi¬ 
zens, danced round the monument of their former glories. The evening 
ended with a procession round the lamlevards, the Palais Koyal, and the 
principal streets of the neighboring quarter. No excesses, no insulting of 
royalists, no turbulent shouts or menacing gestures; in short, no sign of 
the triumph of one citizen over another was displayed during this/f U\ — 
Letters written from Paris during thv last r* ign of A*ttptdmm. 



CHAPTER YIIL1 

1815. 

THE BATTLES OF LIGNY AND QITATRE BRAS. 

The moment for striking a decisive blow had now come, and 
accordingly, early on the morning of the 15th, the whole of the 
French army was in motion.2 The 2d corps proceeded to Mar- 
chiennes to attack the Prussian outposts at Thuin and Lobes, 
in order to secure the communication across the Sambre be¬ 
tween those places. The 3d corps, covered by General Pajohs 
cavalry, advanced upon Charleroi, followed by the Imperial 
Guard and the 6th corps, with the necessary detachments of 
pontoniers. The remainder of the cavalry, under Grouchy, 

1 Like the preceding, this chapter first appeared in the 1836 edition, and 
is not from the pen of M. de Bourrienne. 

2 At daybreak on the 15th of June (the date should be remarked), Gene- 
ral Bourmontand two officers of his staff, the Adjutant-Commandant Cloueys 
and the chef d’escctdron Villoutreys, went over to the enemy. Though the 
Allies were well informed of the exact strength of Napoleon, and though the 
real date of this desertion, often placed on the 14th of June, shows that it 
could not have had the importance sometimes attached to it, still it must 
have had a most disheartening effect on the troops. Bourmont’s conduct 
was especially base. He had been a leader of the Venddeans, and had ac¬ 
cepted the amnesty granted by Napoleon in 1800. Alleged to be concerned 
in the plot of the infernal machine, he had fled to Portugal. In 1808, when 
Junot entered Portugal, Bourmont joined him, and Junot obtained his ap¬ 
pointment to the staff of the army in Naples (Junot, vol. iii. p. 193). He 
served well, and attained the rank of General of Division. His seeking re-ap- 
pointnient (see Lavallette, vol. ii. p. 177, and Rapp, p. 349), and so soon de¬ 
serting his post in the very face of the enemy, can only be accounted for by 
his placing his attachment to the Bourbons over all military honor. His 
reception in 1815 by Blucher is said to have been of the roughest, as the old 
Marshal, when his attention was called to the white cockade borne by Bour¬ 
mont, answered, “ All the same, whatever badge one stitches on him, a scoun¬ 
drel always remains a scoundrel ” (see Qvatre Bras, Lif/ny, and Waterloo, p. 
41). The Bourbons, who had made Dupont, who had surrendered at Baylen, 
Minister of War in 1814, gave the same appointment to Bourmont in 1829. He 
commanded the army which took Algiers in 1830, and received the baton of 
Marshal just before the revolution of July. It is pleasant to know by Mar- 
mont’s Memoirs (tome viii. pp. 214-231) that this appointment of Bourmont 
to the command at Algiers was a bitter disappointment to the Marshal, who 
considered his desertion in 1814 gave him greater claims than that of Bour¬ 
mont in 1815. The high-minded Marmont would have resigned his post as 
Chief of the Staff to show his disgust, only he could not afford to give up the 
pay. 

141 
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also advanced upon Charleroi, on the flanks of the 3d and f>th 

corps. The 4th corps was ordered to march upon the bridge 

of Chatelet. 
On the approach of the French advanced guards an incessant 

skirmish was maintained during the whole morning with the 

Prussians, who, after losing many men, were compelled to yield 

to superior numbers. General Zieten, finding it impossible, 

from the extent of frontier he had to cover, to check the ad¬ 

vance of the French, fell back towards Fleams by the road to 

Charleroi, resolutely contesting the advance of the enemy 

wherever it was possible. In the repeated attacks sustained 

by him he suffered considerable, loss. It was nearly mid-day 

before a passage through Charleroi was secured by the French 

army, and General Zieten continued his retreat upon Fleurus, 

where he took up his position for the night. Ppon Zieten's 

abandoning, in the course of his retreat, tin* efun/ssN which 

leads to Brussels through Quatre Bras, Marshal Wy, who had 

only just been put in command on the left of the French army, 

was ordered to advance by this road upon Gossclies, and found 
at Frasnes part of the Duke of Wellington's army, composed 

of Nassau troops under the command of Prince Bernard of 

Saxe-Weimar, who, after some skirmishing, maintained Ins 
position. “Notwithstanding all the exertions of the French 

at a moment when time was of such importance, they had only 

been able to advance about fifteen English miles during the 

day, with nearly fifteen hours of daylight,” 1 

It was the intention of Napoleon during his operations on 

this day to effect a separation l>etween the English and Prus¬ 

sian armies, in which he had nearly succeeded. Napoleon's 

plan for this purjxise, and the execution of it by his army, 

were alike admirable, but it is hardly probable that the Allied 

generals were taken by surprise, m It was the only likely 

course which Napoleon could have taken,3 Ills line of opera- 

1 Captain Pringle, 
2 There was no doubt that the Allien were wall nerved by spina In Prance, 

and Clarke, so long War Minister of Napoleon, and now nominally In the 
same capacity with Louis XVIII. at Client, must have biton useful, both 
from his own knowledge and from bis mamtiomiice of bis connection with 
the War Office; see the note on information obtained by him In /tor##*y (fard* 
ner, p. 28. #©e also Muffling, p. 220, where he nays that Wellington 



NEF AT QUATRE BRAS. 143 

tion was on the direct road to Brussels, and there were no 
fortified works to impede his progress, while from the nature 

of the country his numerous and excellent cavalry could be 
employed with great effect.1 

In the French accounts Marshal Key was much blamed for 

not occupying Quatre Bras with the whole of his force on the 
evening of the 15th. “ Key might probably have driven back 
the Nassau troops at Quatre Bras, and occupied that important 
position, but hearing a heavy cannonade on his right flank, 
where General Zieten had taken up his position, he thought it 
necessary to halt and detach a division in the direction of 

Fleurus. He was severely censured by Napoleon for not 
having literally followed his orders and pushed on to Quatre 

Bras.77 2 This accusation forms a curious contrast with that 
made against Grouchy, upon whom Napoleon threw the blame 
of the defeat at Waterloo, because he strictly fulfilled his 

orders, by pressing the Prussians at Wavre, unheeding the 
cannonade on his left, which might have led him to conjecture 

that the more important contest between the Emperor and 
Wellington was at that moment raging. 

himself to be secure on the point of espionage, and expected to hear imme¬ 
diately from Paris everything indicating a raid against the Netherlands. 
Napoleon seems also to have let his plan be known or divined. Mattieu 
Dumas (tome iii. p. 571) says that Carnot, then Minister of the Interior, told 
him when Napoleon started for the army that the Emperor intended to throw 
himself between the Prussian and English armies, and that the Prussians 
were most likely to be first attacked. Such knowledge soon spreads. 

1 A convenient statement of the strength of the different armies in 1815 
will be found at pp. 8, 9, and 20 of Dorsey Gardner. Roughly speaking we 
may say that Napoleon, with a strength of about 206,000 men in June, which 
might have been in time increased to 327,000, had to be prepared for an attack 
by an allied force of 731,000 men. If we take the armies which actually fought 
in the Waterloo Campaign, Napoleon was still outnumbered. Fortunately 
there is not much question about the strength of the three forces. Welling¬ 
ton had almost 106,000 men, including Germans, Dutch, and les braves Beiges; 
Blucher had nearly 117,000, making a grand total of 223,000. Against this 
force Napoleon only had 122,000 or 123,000 men. The courteous civilian reader 
will pardon being reminded that it is by these numbers the performances of 
Wellington and Blucher must be judged. There is no special merit in the 
general who, having superior numbers, brings superior numbers to bear. It 
is the commander who, having equal or inferior numbers, manages to bring 
superior numbers on the decisive point who is to be praised. Wellington was 
so much inferior in strength to Napoleon at Waterloo because he had placed 
18,000 men at Halle, where, as a matter of fact, they were useless. The ab¬ 
sence of this force reflects credit on the men, not on the General who won 
Waterloo. If we blame Napoleon for the absence of D’Erlon from Ligny 
and of Grouchy from Waterloo, we must remember the force at Halle. 

2 Captain Pringle. 
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It was at six o’clock in the evening of the 1,1th that the 

Duke of Wellington received the first informal ion of the 

advance of the French army; but it was not, however, until 

ten o’clock that positive news reached him that the French 

army had moved upon the lint1 of the Sambre. This informa¬ 

tion induced him to push forward re-enforcements on Quatre 

Bras, at which place he himself arrived at an early hour on 

the, 16th, and immediately proceeded to I try, to devise meas¬ 

ures with Marshal Blucher in order to combine their efforts. 

From the movement of considerable masses of the French in 

front of the Prussians it was evident that their first grand 

attack would be directed against them. That this wan Napo¬ 

leon’s object on the 16th may be scam by his orders to Ney 

and Grouchy to turn the right of the Prussians, and drive the 

British from their position at Quatre Hr;is, and then to march 

down the ehauxsee upon Bry in order effectually to separate 

the two armies. Key was accordingly detached for this pur¬ 

pose with 43,000 men. In the event of tin* success of .Marshal 

Key he would have Iwrnn enabled to detach a pod ion of his 

forces for the purpose of making a flank attack upon the Prus¬ 

sians in the rear of St. Amand, whilst Napoleon in person wan 

directing his main efforts against that village —* the strongest 

in the Prussian position. Key’s reserve was at F ramies, dm 

posable either for the purpose of supporting the .attack cm 

Quatre Bras or that at Bt. Amand; and in cast* of Key’s cone 

plete success to turn the Prussian right flank by marching on 
Bry. 

On the morning of the 16th Marshal Blucher eoneentnited 

the 1st, 2d, and 3d corps of his army, took up a position with 

his right wing at Bry and his left at Homhref, on a chain of 

gentle heights, and occupied in force the villages of St. Amand 

and Ligny, the substantial buildings of which having been 

loopholed by the Prussians presented formidable defences. 

The right of this position communicated with the British at. 

Quatre Bras, upon which point the Duke of Wellington was 
making every possible effort to concentrate Ids army. Gen 

oral Bulow, with the fourth Prussian corps, not being able 

from the distance of his position, near Li&ge, to arrive in 
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time, Marshal Blucher nevertheless undertook to receive the 
assault of the French at Ligny, relying upon receiving assist¬ 

ance from the British army, who, by a flank movement to the 

left, were to form a junction with the Prussians. As two dis¬ 
tinct battles took place upon this day (the 16th) it is necessary 
to give a separate account of each.1 

Early on the morning of the 16th the French army,2 about 

78,000 strong, appeared on the plain of Fleurus, driving before 

them the Prussian light troops into the valley of Ligny. 
Having reconnoitred the Prussian position Napoleon instantly 

formed the plan of cutting off the retreat of a great portion 

of Bluclier’s army, hoping by so decided an advantage over 
half the Allied troops in Belgium to be able to overwhelm 
with his whole force the army of Wellington. In taking this 

determination he was doubtless influenced by the considera¬ 

tion that Ney’s reserve in position at Frasnes, which was 

somewhat in rear of the Prussians, would be available for his 

purpose, as he supposed that the Marshal had sufficient force 

to drive the British from Quatre Bras. Had this manoeuvre 
completely succeeded the ruin of Blucher’s army would have 
ensued. Napoleon, confident of success, then directed the 
attack. Marshal Grouchy was ordered to attack Sombref on 
the right, G6rard8 the village of Ligny in the centre, and 

1 There is the usual difficulty about the strength of the armies at Ligny. 
Thiers (tome xx. pp. 79 and 83) gives Napoleon 04,000 and Blucher 88,000; 
Dorsey Gardner (p. 94) gives Napoleon 71,000, including the corps of Lobau, 
some 11,000 men, which was not employed, and Blucher 84,000; while Prince 
Edouard d’Auvergne, who appears to wish to be fair, gives (Waterloo, p. 
110) Napoleon 78,000, including Lobau, and Blucher 87,000. Jomini (tome 
iv. pp. 625, 626) calls Napoleon's force 72,000, and Blucher’s from 80,000 to 
90,000. Napoleon had 210 guns, besides Lobau’s 38 pieces, and Blucher had 
224 guns. Practically we may say that Napoleon, using from 60,000 to 08,000 
men, drove Blucher and some 84,000 men out of a chosen position. “ Sixty 
thousand men,” says the Prince d’Auvergne (Waterloo, p. 140), “ had beaten 
87,000 who had rested on six large villages,’ four of which, difficult of access, 
formed the bastions of their line of battle. The enemy, notwithstanding the 
advantages of their position, had suffered considerable loss: from 18,000 to 
20,000 men, dead or wounded, were struck down, and we had in our hands 40 
guns, 8 standards or colors, several thousands of prisoners. Twelve thousand 
men besides disbanded themselves.” The desertions from the Prussians — 
8000, says Sibome (p. 188),— were of troops from the provinces lately annexed 
to the kingdom, who apparently did not realize the joy of being restored to 
German rule. This is one side of the “ German uprising.” 

2 Called by Jomini (tome ivvpp. 626, 627) a detestable one. 
8 General Comte Maurice Etienne Gerard, who commanded a corps m 

this campaign, and who was severely wounded under Grouchy on the 18th of 
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Vandamme was to attack St. Amand on the left. General 

Girard was posted on the left of Vandamme, and the Imperial 

Gnards were stationed as a reserve before Fleurus. At two 
o’clock Napoleon sent an order to Marshal Key informing him 
of his intended attack upon the Prussians, and ordering him 
to drive off whatever was in front of him and then to turn 

and envelop the Prussians. 
At three o’clock a similar despatch was sent off urgently 

pressing the execution of Napoleon’s instructions. It was 

not until this hour that the Emperor was able to concentrate 
his forces so as to attack the Prussians simultaneously. 
The battle then began with uncommon fury along the whole 

Prussian line. The village of St. Amand was vigorously 
defended. It formed the strength of the Prussian right, 

and 'from the intersection of several gardens and hedges, 
was very capable of defence, although so much in advance 

of the rest of the Prussian position. After a continued 
attack for two hours the French had only obtained posses¬ 

sion of half the village of St. Amand; that of Ligny had 
been taken and retaken several times. The French pursued 

their success at St. Amand by pushing light troops across 
the rivulet of Ligny, who then formed on the left bank. 
The position of Blucher’s army was in many respects defec* 
tive. The main body being drawn up on the heights, and 
the remainder posted in the villages below, the French artil¬ 
lery was enabled to range with destructive effect upon the 
re-enforcements despatched during the murderous conflict 
raging in the contested villages. The Prussians having 
been re-enforced by the 2d brigade of General Zieten’s corps, 
were now vigorously attacked by the division of General 
Girard, who, supported by a portion of General Vandamme’s 
corps and his reserve cavalry, attempted to carry the heights 
towards Bry. Marshal Blucher, in order to avert the threat- 

June at Wavre, after angrily remonstrating with Grouchy for not marching 
to the assistance of Napoleon, but who lived to be Marshal and Minister of 
War under Louis Philippe, must not be confused with General Girard who 
commanded a division at Ligny, where he found a glorious death. Bee 
Dorsey Gardner (p. 45) on the errors caused by the confusion of these names. 
It is perhaps unnecessary to explain that a corps consists of two or more 
divisions. 
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ened danger, led on in person a furious attack against the 
French, and drove them back beyond the ravine. General 
Girard, one of the most gallant and intelligent of Napoleon’s 
officers, was killed in this attack at the head of his division, 
the majority of which shared his fate, so destructive was the 
Prussian charge. D’Erlon’s corps from Frasnes at this junc¬ 
ture appeared on the field, but only to withdraw under orders 
from Ney.1 Blucher now brought together masses of troops 

behind St. Amand, and Bonaparte determined to change his 
point of attack. His reserves, consisting principally of the 
Imperial Guard, which had been at first directed to advance 

upon St. Amand, were now ordered to co-operate in a general 
attack upon Ligny, which, after a most determined resistance, 
was taken by the French. While this contest was going on 
the French Guards, supported by the heavy cavalry, rushed 
up the heights in the rear of Ligny. Blucher’s reserves of 

infantry having been moved to St. Amand, there remained no 

other means of resisting this attack than by the employment; 
of cavalry. The Prussian Marshal accordingly placed himself 
at their head, and attempted with dogged but unavailing gal¬ 

lantry to repel the French. After an unsuccessful charge his 
cavalry was overpowered and dispersed in confusion. In re¬ 

treating before the vigorous pursuit of the French cavalry 
Blucher’s horse was struck by a cannon-shot, and he himself 
was thrown on the ground, the hostile cavalry passing over 
his prostrate body. In the confusion of the fray he was un¬ 
noticed, and was luckily recovered by his own cavalry. The 

1 The whole story of how D’Erlon’s corps of some 20,000 men did not 
strike a blow at either Quatre Bras or Ligny, but were kept on the march 
first to join Ney, then to join Napoleon, and then, recalled by Ney, returning 
to rejoin Ney, should be read at length in Dorsey Gardner, p. 84, checked by 
the Prince d? Auvergne’s Waterloo, p. 169. D’Erlon had been left, as it were, 
in reserve, but available for Ney. Ney had called him up in support, when 
an over-zealous aide de camp, misunderstanding Napoleon’s order to Ney to 
make a diversion on the rear of the Prussians after seizing Quatre Bras (and 
so separating the Allies), took on himself to order D’Erlon to Ligny. The 
corps had just appeared at Ligny, to the surprise of Napoleon, who delayed 
his final attack on the Prussians to ascertain to which side the force belonged, 
when D’Erlon received orders from Ney to join him at Quatre Bras, where 
the corps arrived too late to be of use. When it is considered what this 
corps did at Waterloo, where it formed the mass of the right wing, it is evi¬ 
dent that its intervention at either of the two battles of the 16th June would 
have been effectual in crushing either foe, and so separating the Prussians 
and English. 
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French infantry continued to gain ground; tin* Imperial 

Guard advanced with irresistible impetuosity, and Prianfn 

grenadiers threatened the mill of Hussy, near Hry. In vain 

did the Prussian cavalry attempt to shake these superb masses 

of infantry. Napoleon laid now penetrated through the Prus¬ 

sian line, and had thereby so disorganized their formation 

that there remained for Gncisenuu, who temporarily tilled 
Blucher’s post, no other resource than to make an orderly 

retreat. This was successfully accomplished. Hry was not 

evacuated by them until the morning of the 17th. This bat¬ 

tle, though unattended with any material consequences in 

itself, was contested with a detenuination based upon the 

most implacable hatred on both sides. The Prussians eould 

not have forgotten the humiliating reeolleetions of Jena, the 

destruction of their army, the subjugation of their country by 

Napoleon, and the. part they were compelled to take in the in¬ 

vasion of Russia ; they knew also tin* character of their enemy, 

and how little mercy they were to ex|>eet at his bands in case 

of defeat. The French, on the other hand, were smarting at 

the recent discomfiture they had exjwrieneed, in which the 

Prussians had conspicuously assisted. The illusion of their 

glory had been dispelled by enemies whom they affected ut¬ 
terly to despise. But aliove all, the French soldier looked up 

to Napoleon with a devotion, with an enthusiasm of affection 

that elevated his feelings to the highest pitch of human 

energy. In the course of the night the Prussian army fell 

back on Tilly and Gembloux towards Wav re. Their loss at 

Ligny, according to their own account, amounted to 14,0(H) 

men and 15 pieces of cannon. The French official account in 

the Monitmr makes it reach to 15,000. On their own side the 

French acknowledge a loss of 7000,* 
At the moment of the interview between the I hike of 

Wellington and Blueher the enemy’s force before Quatre Bras 

was so insignificant that there appeared to be no probability 

of a decided attack being made in that quarter. On Welling¬ 

ton’s return, however, to the British jiosifion about three 

o’clock in the afternoon, he found that a considerable Is sly 

1 Thiers (tome xx. pp. 100,101) puts the Fruwluii haul km ml «K)»000 mca. 



THE PRINCE OF ORANGE AND HIS TROOPS. 149 

of French troops had been collected at Frasnes, preparatory 
to an attack which was made about half an hour afterwards 
by infantry and cavalry, supported by a heavy cannonade. 
The French had commenced their attack at five o’clock in the 
morning by skirmishing with the troops of the Netherlands, 
under the Prince of Orange, and at' first obtained some suc¬ 
cess. This desultory fight lasted until noon, without any 
more decided demonstrations on the part of the French. The 
Belgians were, however, losing ground, when at two o’clock 
Sir Thomas Picton opportunely reached the scene of action 
with the 5th English division, composed of Sir James Kempt’s 

and Sir Dennis Pack’s British brigades and the 4th Hanoverian 
brigade, under Colonel Best. 

“ Sir James Kempt’s brigade (28th, 32d, 79th, and 95th 
regiments) moved to the left of the position with the 3d 

battalion of the Royals, part of the brigade of Sir Dennis 

Pack, who, with the remainder of his brigade (42d, 44th, and 

92d regiments), formed on the great Namur road, and in the 
cornfields extending to the wood on the right. The 92d was 
formed in line in the ditch bordering the great road, and was 

of the greatest service in repelling an attack of the French 
cavalry, who daringly pursued the Brunswick hussars into the 
British line, after they had made an unsuccessful attack on 
the French cavalry.”1 

Sir Thomas Picton, as he approached the field with his 

division, had heard the continued and increasing fire kept up by 
the skirmishers, which made him push forward to the support 
of the Belgians, and by this means he succeeded in reaching 
Quatre Bras before any other British force. Nearly at the 

same time, however, the first division of Brunswickers, led by 
their gallant Duke, arrived to share with Picton and his sol¬ 

diers the honor of arresting the progress of the French. 

The Prince of Orange was anxiously looking for the arrival 

of some of his Allies, when he was gladdened by the spectacle 
of his re-enforcement pouring forward with steady but quick 

steps to relieve his almost exhausted troops. Before half-past 
three in the afternoon 14,000 men were in the field. As the 

1 Captain Batty. 
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different regiments arrived on the ground they instantly took 

up the posts to which they were directed by their respective 

commanders.1 
Immediately the enemy perceived that this additional force 

had taken the held Nev moved down with two eolumms of 

infantry and a cloud of cavalry to the attark. The English 

and Bmnswickers had hut just taken up their ground when 

they were exposed to a furious and galling lire from tin* im¬ 

mense park of artillery attached to this wing of the French 

army. The receding smoke showed the advancing columns 

rushing on to break the line of the Allies : the brunt of this 

movement fell upon Pinion’s soldiers, and Sir Thomas Pietotfs 

usuperb division” was singly engaged with the enemy for 

nearly two hours. Every man fought with a desperation 

which no language can describe. Pieton was himself among 

his soldiers, calling upon them to stand linn and receive 

the enemy with a steady front, A murderous conflict now 

commenced; a rolling discharge of musketry from the Brit¬ 

ish line was answered with deadly rapidity and closeness 

by that of the French: the havoc was terrible ; but Pieton 

was in the midst, watching the progress of the fight; wherever 

death was thickest there could he lie seen encouraging and 
exhorting tin1, soldiers to lie firm. 

After the French infantry had been repulsed, and Iteforo 
the heavy smoke had chaired off, the cavalry came thundering 
on. The English were instantly formed into squares to re- 

1 The strength of both sides at Quatre linn varied very much from hmr 
to hour from the way in which re-enforcements arrived. The folia wing 
figures are condensed from the table at p, f® id Horsey (hmUmt'h Qimtre 
liras: — 

At 2 F.M. 
Frrtteh. Alllef. 
17,1115 thterj 

At 11.30 F.M. I7,mn mtm 
At 4.30 F.M. UWh 
At 5 F.M. ‘20,913 
At 6,30 f.m. 20,915 31,043 

These figures are those taken by Hamley i. p. Util. Tftiert {tome 
xx. p. 109) gives Key rather mere mmt in the field. It is right to remember 
that some 7500 men of the I hitch-Belgian infantry made a strategic move- 
merit to the rear at an early stage of the tight, ito that the mi miter* of the 
Allies were not really m large m they are given above. XFKrloir* mr|t* of 
20,000 men, who were moving backwards and forwards between Key and 
Napoleon, are not included above In the French strength* 
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ceive them. Upon the steadiness and celerity with which 

this manoeuvre was executed the safety of the men depended : 
then it was that Picton’s calmness and penetration were con¬ 
spicuous in watching and directing each movement; before 

the French cavalry was upon them the squares were closed 
up. 

Another furious onset was then made by the lancers, which 

obliged General Kempt to take refuge in the nearest square, 

but the English again repulsed their assailants, and at that 
moment Sir Thomas Picton riding up, ordered them to ad¬ 
vance, for the enemy were giving way. Picton led them to 

the charge himself, and they drove the French from their 
position with great loss. 

In reference to this movement, and the enemy’s cavalry 
having surrounded the British squares, Captain Kincaid 

makes the following remarks: “ This was a crisis in which, 
according to Bonaparte’s theory, the victory was theirs by 
all the rules of war, for they had superior numbers both 

before and behind us; but the gallant Picton, who had been 
trained in a different school, did not choose to confine himself 
to rules in these matters. Despising the force in his rear, he 

advanced, charged, and routed those in his front, which 

created such a panic amongst the others that they galloped 

back through the intervals in his division with no other object 

in view than their own safety.” 1 
“The third English division, under General Alten, com¬ 

prised of Sir C. Halket’s British brigade, the 2d brigade of 
King’s German Legion under Colonel Ompteda, and the first 

Hanoverian brigade under General Kielmansegge, arrived 
next on the field in time to sustain a fresh attack made by 
the French about four o’clock.” 2 From the superior power 
of the French artillery this division maintained its ground 
with great difficulty, and one regiment (the 69th) lost a color. 
After suffering great loss, it succeeded in repelling the French 
from the positions they occupied at the farm of Gemioncourt, 
and the village of Pierremont. The French troops were still 

partly in possession of the wood of Bossu, which extends 

1 Life of Sir Thomas Picton. 2 Captain Batty. 
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about a mile on the road from Quatre liras towards Frasnes. 

This favored an attack on the right, of the British position 

which Marshal Ney directed to he made after having been 
repulsed on the left. At this critical moment, when fh* 

French had nearly succeeded in establishing their light, troops 

on the great road of Nivelle, the dhisinn of Guards under 

General Cooke, amounting to 4000 men, accompanied by two 

field-batteries, arrived, after a fatiguing march, from Knghien, 

and essentially contributed to repel this attack, hx hairs ted 

as the men were from their long march, they were, neverthe¬ 

less, instantly led into action. The second and third battal¬ 

ions of the First Guards formed line, and with loud eheers 

entered the wood, which they cleared ot the french in a lew 
minutes. Their order, however, was necessarily broken by 

the irregularity of the ground, and on emerging from the 

wood they found themselves directly opposed to a tmdy of 

French infantry prepared to receive them. Bushing forward 

without waiting to form in line, they .succeeded in driving the 

French up the rising ground before them, During this con¬ 

test the artillery of both armies kept up an incessant and 

destructive cannonade. By a rapid charge of cavalry the 

French endeavored to cover their retreating infantry, whilst 

the Guards still remained unsupported and in some disorder. 
General Maitland therefore directed them to retr«»ut into the 

wood, as all attempts to form squares appeared to be hope¬ 

less. Here, they formed, and under its cover opened a most 

galling fire on the French cavalry, which was compelled to 

fall back with great loss. This contest was renewed several 

times. Day was now drawing to a (dose, and Marshal Ney, 

having been foiled in all his efforts, retired to the heights 

before Frasnes, leaving Quatre Bras in jamscHsion of the 

Allies. 
To the Duke of Wellington it has \nmi imputed as a 

fault on this occasion that there was not sufficient cavalry 

and artillery at Quatre Bras. It in remarkable that no por¬ 

tion of either was with the reserve at Brussels. The loss to 

the Allied army was very severe, amounting to 15000 men, 
among whom were numbered many brave of liners. The gal- 
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(ant Duke of Brunswick was killed 1 at the head of his ’troops. 

Colonel Macara of the 42d was severely wounded, and whilst 
some of his men were conveying him to the rear a party of 

French cavalry rode up and atrociously murdered him and his 
faithful attendants. Colonel Cameron of the 9*2d fell whilst 
bravely leading on his regiment, and at the close of th6 d&y 

Colonels Askew, Stuart, and Townsend were all severely 

wounded at the head of the last attack of the Guards, which 

decided the fate of the day. The loss of the French was 

about 4000. 

“ The British had maintained possession of. the field of 
Quatre Bras because the Duke of Wellington conceived that 

Blucher would be able to make his ground .good at Ligny, 
and was consequently desirous that * the Allied armies should 
retain the line of communication wHch tjiey'l^ci occupied 

in the morning. But the Prussians, evacuafcig all the 

villages which they held in the neighborhood of Ligny, 

had concentrated their forces to retreat Wavre. By 
this retrograde movement were ||5fced about six 

leagues to the rear of their |omter position, ai\d,.had united 

themselves to Billow’s divisionVrwhmh had:‘.riot,^een engaged 
in the battle of Ligny. Blucher had affected this retreat, not 

only without pursuit by the French, but without their 

1 The gallant Duke (Frederick William) was born in 1771, and was the 
fourth and youngest son of Duke Charles William Ferdinand of Brunswick 
(who was slain in the battle of Jena, and whose remains Napoleon would 
not suffer to be deposited with those of his ancestors). He embraced with 
ardor the military profession, and served in the Prussian army in 1702 and 
1703, when ho was twice wounded. He joined Blucher’a corps in 1800, and 
was made prisoner with him at Llibeck. On the breaking out of the wav 
between Austria and France in 1800 ho raised a body of volunteers in 
Bohemia. The famous Major Schill bad already perished at Stralsund 
when the Duke made an incursion into Saxony; he was, however, compelled 
by the King of Westphalia to evacuate Leipsic and Dresden with bis black 
hussars. Subsequently he was forced to retreat to his native city, where he 
was closely pressed. In an action fought at Oelpor, near Brunswick, the 
Duke’s horse was killed under him, being the eleventh he had lost in a 
similar manner since his retreat from Saxony. After many narrow escapes 
he reached Heligoland with part of his corps, arid thence embarked for Eng¬ 
land. There he was received with great distinction, and his troops wore 
immediately taken into English pay, the British Parliament generously 
granting him a pension of .*£(1000 a year until he should he able to return 
to his hereditary dominions. Though idolized by bis soldiers he does not 
appear to have been so popular a sovereign as his father. lie was mortally 
wounded in the side while leading on his troops, who were falling thickly 
around him. •— Editor of 183(5 edition. 
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knowing for some time in what direction he had gone. 

This doubt respecting Bluchers movements occasioned an 

uncertainty and delay in those of the French which were 

afterwards attended with the very worst consequences,” 1 it 

cannot be doubted that there was some error in Napoleon’s 

calculation as to the movements of the Prussians, and the 

consequent directions given to Grouchy by him.a Napoleon 

1 Napoleon no longer had by his Hide Berliner, who had accompanied him 
as his Chief of the Staff (Major-General) throughout his career, Berliner had 
deserted his old friend in his distress in 1814, hut Napoleon was now' prepared 
to welcome him back, only laughingly threatening to make him appear in 
his dress of Captain of the Guard to Louis X VIII. Berthier was on his way 
to join Napoleon when he met his death in a mysterious maimer, either 
throwing himself or being thrown from a balcony. * His place was taken by 
Soult, who bad been appointed Minister of War by Louis XVII I. in Decem¬ 
ber, 1814. He was a better choice than his predecessor I hijwmt (of Baylen), 
and he had appeared to throw himself into the cause of the Bourbons, hut 
his good faith was suspected, and on 10th March, 1H11, he was succeeded by 
Clarke, the Duke of Feltre, who had long held the same post under Napoleon, 
but who now, calculating Irishman as he was, definitely took the {tourism 
side. Soult joined his old commander after some hesitation, and was ap¬ 
pointed Chief of the Staff, a post which Davoust might have expected. 
Soult/s performance of the duties of his new post has been much criticised by 
those who believed in the perfection of the staff under Berthier, and mime of 
the misfortunes of the euuifiaign have been attributed to the ulmenre of the 
former Major-General. The truth is, that the service of the staff bail never 
been thoroughly well done, the Memoirs of Ih Ft t /mar prove this. It was 
taken for granted that an aide de camp always hud a g<Kid horse and knew 
his way: an officer sent with a message did not dure to even ask where he 
was to find the intended recipient. If tin* failure (supp» sing there to have 
been failure) to give Grouchy full orders to keep itt touch with the main 
army is to fall at all on Boult, Berthier must hear the heavier blame of the 
failure to support Vandamme at Kulin a much greater neglect, and the 
absence of IrKrlon's division from the actual tight at Qnatre Bras ami Ligny 
can be matched by the absence of Bernadotte from Kyhiu. The truth in that 
the army was an ’improvised army, in which the staff was pretty certain to 
lie the greatest sufferer from its rank! formation, and that* when an army is 
beaten, the faults and failures of every one are pointed out or invented, 
while when an army is successful every one is interested in leaving the blots 
in shade, a point on which the Duke of Wellington was very urgent after 
Waterloo. 

<2 For Grouchy’s part In this campaign see his Memoirs and the Observations 
snr la Relation de la Campaum de 1815 puhhde par le IkHidml Umtryaud, by 
Grouchy’s son, the Comte de Grouchy; Baris, Chanmerot, Ifilft. Also lie 
Marichal Grouchy, IWWJidn \Hlb,parie Maryam tie Urmtvhy, and DemUres 
Observations svr leg OpfratUm* de ruile draitt tie Varmfe Fra apt me, hv Gen¬ 
eral Gerard; Paris, 1880; Gerard, serving under Grouchy on the (nth of 
June, in command of a corps, having fiercely remonstrated against Grouchy’s 
refusal to march to the cannon when they were In full hearing. The Prince 
Edouard d’Auvergne also goes into Grouchy's conduct in bin Waterloo, p, 
2X0, remarking fairly enough that, though (Jrotiehy always denied having 
received orders from Napoleon to keep between the Prussians and N&|ml<H>n, 
“ still General Joinini, while not forgetting to record this declaration, ob¬ 
serves, with the great authority he {hnwcmiq*, that the order mentioned In 
the St. Helena account is so conformable to that system of Interior lines to 
which the Emperor owed most of his victories, that it cannot be doubted he 
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accuses Grouchy, according to the relation by Gourgaud, of 

being the cause of the delay in pursuing the Prussians. 

“Had Grouchy been at Wavre,” says Napoleon, “on the 

17th, and in communication with my right, Blucher would 

not have dared to detach any portion against me on the 18th, 

or if he had, I would have destroyed it.” From this charge 

the Marshal triumphantly defended himself. He states that 

he endeavored to confer with the Emperor on the night of the 

16th, when the Prussians commenced their retreat, but that 

he could not find him until he returned from Fleurus, and 

that in reply to his request for re-enforcements of infantry, in 

order that he might be able to follow Blucher, he could obtain 

no other answer than that he would receive orders on the fol¬ 

lowing day. The Marshal went again to headquarters on the 

morning of the 17th, being impressed with the great impor¬ 
tance of pursuing the Prussians closely, but was obliged to 

follow Bonaparte to the field of battle of the preceding day 

before he could receive his commands. No orders were given 
to Grouchy till near noon, when Napoleon suddenly resolved 

to send him with an army of 32,000 men, not upon Wavre, for 

it was not known by him what direction the Prussians had 

taken, but with instructions to pursue Blucher wherever he 
might have retreated. Grouchy also asserts that the troops 

of Gerard and Vandamme, which formed a portion of his 
army, were not ready to march until three o’clock. The first 

orders given to the Marshal for the pursuit, according to his 

gave the order.” It would be impertinent to say much where so many groat 
authorities have spoken, but the reader must remember that Grouchy had 
distinctly foreseen the possibility of part of the Prussian army joining Wel¬ 
lington.' At 10 p.m. on the 17th June, the day after Ligny, he wrote to 
Napoleon from Gembloux, after saying that the Prussians seemed to have 
divided, “On pout peut-dtro on inferer qu’une portion va joindre Welling¬ 
ton ” (Auvergne's Waterloo, p. 231) — “ It may perhaps he inferred that one 
part is going to join Wellington ” (I)orsey Gardner, p. 148). It is quite true 
that Grouchy pleaded his orders from Napoleon, hut it has often enough 
been remarked that Desaix might have easily pleaded his orders as good 
reasons for not having any part in the day of Marengo. Desaix halted when 
he believed that haliad received wrong orders, and was on the march to 
join Napoleon when he met the aide de camp sent to recall him. The pre¬ 
cious moments thus won enabled him to come up in time to decide the 
battle, and be died knowing that he had brought victory to the army, instead 
of living to give ingenious reasons for being absent. Grant all that Grouchy 
and his advocates urge, it is hard to believe that Desaix would not have 
made his force tell on the 18th of Jone. 
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statement, were not received by him then until about noon 

the 17th, and the army was not ready to move until th 

hours afterwards. The Marshal blames Kxerlmans ; 

Gerard, who commanded under him. When he eeimnem 

his inarch, he w;is uncertain whirls route to take. Tin* f; 

information he received as to the movements of the l*mss 

army led him to suppose that they were not ret renting Uj 

Wavre, but towards Namur, which induced him to press 

pursuit in the latter direction, and occasioned the loss of so 

hours. From all these concurring reasons the Marshal sht 

distinctly that he could not have reached Wavre on the ev 

ing of the 17th of June, in*eatwe In* received no orders to 

there until noon, nor were the troops ready to inarch ui 

three o'clock.’11 

It was late on the 17th when Marshal Grouchy halted 

Gembkmx, in consequence of learning the direction which i 

main body of the Prussian army had taken. From this pi: 

he sent an a Ulv tie ramp to inform Napoleon of his ope ratio 

and to acquaint him that the Prussians had retired in t 

columns by Sauvenicre and Kartdez-Walhain, and sugges! 

that a jyortion of the Prussians might join Wellington, 

the next morning, having ascertained lieyoud a doubt the 1 

of Blucher’s retreat, Grouchy advanced on the road to Wav 

After Grouchy’s departure in pursuit of the Prussians Nia 

Icon moved towards Frasnes, and united himself with Mars I 

Key with the view of making a combined attack on the I Hi 

of Wellington, whom he still supposed to remain at Qua 
Bras. 

The evening of the 15th was cold and wet, but the fatty 

which the troops had undergone in their long march and liu 

fought action rendered the approach of night, wretched as 

was, a desirable relief. At daybreak the next morning tli 

were called to arms by some skirmishing at the otibpos 

It was at first supposed that the enemy was about to rep* 

the attempt in which he had failed the preceding day, hut tl 

alarm was soon dissipated, Aland nine o'clock a eonsideral 

change was made in the disjamition of the British trisips, w 

iHeofcl 
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retired in three columns about ten o’clock, by way of Genappe 

and Nivelles, towards Waterloo, leaving the cavalry, which 
arrived in the evening of the 16th, as a rear-guard to occupy 
the ground, so as to prevent the French from perceiving the 
retreat of the main body of the British army. About noon 

the French advanced in columns of attack, expecting to find 
the British in position. As the British infantry retired the 
cavalry gradually followed, watching the movements of the 
advancing French. The retrograde movement was conducted 

in excellent order. At Genappe an affair of cavalry took 

place, where the 7th British hussars attacked a French regi¬ 
ment of lancers unsuccessfully as it debouched from the town, 
and a second attack by the same regiment was attended with 

no better success. The French lancers, formed in a depression 
caused by the nature of the road, presented an immovable 
barrier of pikes, and, from the steepness of the banks, there 

was no approaching them in flank. The Earl of Uxbridge, 
seeing a more favorable opportunity, brought up the heavy 
cavalry, and, by a decisive charge, overthrew the advanced 
guard of the French, thus giving time to the infantry to take 
up its ground. A violent thunderstorm passed directly over 
both armies in the latter part of the afternoon, and the rain 

fell in such torrents that the fatigue of marching was greatly 

increased. 
“ As the British troops arrived in position in front of Mont 

St. Jean, they took up the ground they were to maintain early 
in the evening. The whole French army Minder Napoleon, 
about 71,000 men, not including the two corps under Marshal 
Grouchy, 32,000 men and 108 guns, despatched in pursuit of 
the Prussians on the road to Wavre, took up a position imme¬ 
diately in front, and after some cannonading both armies 
remained opposite to each other during the night, the rain 
falling in torrents. The Duke of Wellington had already 
communicated with Marshal Blucher,1 who promised to come 

1 It has been stated that Blucher narrowly escaped being made prisoner 
at the battle of Ligny when his horse was struck by a cannon-shot while gal¬ 
lantly leading in person the Prussian lancers against the French cuirassiers. 
The horse he rode upon this occasion was a gray charger, given to him by the 
Prince Begent of England; he fell just at the moment when his cavalry 
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to his support with the whole of his army on the morning of 

the 18th. It was consequently decided ujK»n to cover Brus¬ 

sels , the preservation of which was of much importance, by 

maintaining the position of Mont St. Jean. The intention of 

the Allied chiefs, if they should not l>e attacked on the 18th, 

was to attack the French on the 19th.” 1 

turned to fly from the French. “ Now/’ said he to his aide de camp, ** l am 
indeed lost!” He was for a moment protected by Fount NoHtUz, who stood 
by his side to prevent ids lxdng noticed, while the mans of tin* French cavalry 
passed on. Before, however, the Marshal had been extricated from his dying 
charger the Prussians rallied and turned upon their pursuers, when the whuk* 
of the retreating troops again passed close by the spot where Blueher wan 
lying. Upon the Prussians coming up, (burnt Nostitz, with the aid of a sol¬ 
dier, placed the almost insensible Marshal on a trooper's horse and hurried 
him from the held. 

During the confusion consequent upon the night retreat of the Prussians 
after the Tattle of Ligny all aptwaranee of order was h*st. Luckily Blueher 
soon rallied from the elfect of his fall. The toil-worn frame of the veteran 
had been severely shaken, but his mind retained its usual vigor ami elasticity. 
General Gneisenau found him in a cottage by the roadside during the night 
already devising plans for another contest. *' Hard blow s them*, (ineiftotutn," 
observed Blueher; “but we must pay them hack.** It was his tinjieldiug 
resolution that, by animating those who were immediately about his person, 
communicated itself to the soldiers, and thus restored their confidence In the 
course of a single day. On the morning of the 17th he issued a general order, 
detailing the loss of the battle of Ligny; in it he severely censured tin* cav¬ 
alry for want of coolness and intrepidity, and required them to \m in readi¬ 
ness to wipe away the stain the defeat had brought upon them. The artillery 
he also reprimanded, and ordered them to advance in future In a more reso¬ 
lute manner, and not so hastily to withdraw their guns when attacked; 
“for," said he, “it is better to lose a battery than endanger a position by 
limbering up too soon.” To the infantry he addrowed great praise, and ctin¬ 
cluded with these energetic words: “ 1 shall immediately lead you against 
the enemy; we shall beat him, because it is our duty to do md " 

Marshal Blueher expressed his dislike to co-operate with the Itussiau com¬ 
manders, by whom bis plans had l>aen often disconcerted, and he had no con¬ 
fidence in the Austrian Cabinet, but wm particularly anxious to fight in 
conjunction with the English army, folding that his own troop aiding with 
those of Wellington could hardly fail to be invincible. Editor of iHdfl 
edition. 

i Captain Pringle* 







CHAPTER lX,1 

1K15. 

TIIK BATTLE OF WATERLOO.3 

nk of the* most important struggles of modern times was now 
mHit to comment*** —: a struggle which for many years was to 
‘eide the fate of Europe. Napoleon and Wellington at length 
ood opposite one another. They had never met; the* mili- 
ry reputation of each was of the highest kind, the* caret*r of 
>th had been marked by signal victory; Napoleon had ear¬ 
ed his triumphant legions across the stupendous Alps, over 
te north of Italy, throughout Prussia,, Austria, Russia, and 
n*n to the foot of the Pyramids, while Wellington, who had 
•en early distinguished in India., had won immortal renown 

the Peninsula, where he had defeated, one after another, 

1 Thin chapter, like two whirl* preceded it, ilrst ap|wmred In the lSSU odi- 
m, and ii4 not from the |»rn *4 M. ile Bourrienne, 
a |*Vir full Urtiilln of tie* Waterloo campaign him* H-lborne’s HtHforp of tin* 
ur m Frnnt *' *m4 Hi jifiiiiii m IHJIi, giving the KngHsh contemporary 
count; € "I* mnry'^ Wnt* rim* the best Engl Inb modern account, 
liiiii hm been accepted hy the Prti'MhittN jih pretty nearly representing tbofr 
w; ami 1$ (if* rlmn by laruirimnta’olonri Prince Kdouard dc la Ttmr 
Auvergne ( Part#, Phm* lH7n). which may he taken a« tin* French modern 

There sire {it*oI tun account h in Thkrnt tome xx. llvrn lx., valuable 
it mi!iM*whai floiht m arc all M. Thi<;r#‘H writing#, and that in fotnink tome 
. Jotuint »lw* pithlifihefl it Mtttutimry of I tin campaign of lSlti, and hi the 
ittoricattedition of tiiu Xtipuhtm thtt tntiinintry is rmbxtituted for the chapter 

tillin’ tv. Ifamlrv, *tprrnfiwm **/ IPuc, IHT’J edition, pp. KUt, ITS, and 
n. km it very valuable «mjttttary. fenders will nrobably tm contented 
ills liomry Qmitsv llrtig, /Aosij#, ami liWf?Woo‘(Kttgau Paul, 
K*k where will Im* found ji mmitiuirv of all toe writers on the subject, very 
immtriifh drtsi^iirit, hill nitifaiiiln^ cxifiirtii from Victor Hugo and MNP 
rrktitnoinPhnfriait, and wwcral pwfn, hitorcMthig an specimen!) of the stylo 
ii! of tin* t»*wcr of lititmlftftfioti *4 ftiowt writers, but distracting and not 
erbwdy of any tiHf**rIr»t| value, 
In judging thl*» * umpalKti lb** reader imint guard hlmwdf from looking on 
m f might by two different arndti* — tint KfijpMt and the Prussian - wiman 
liirvi’ttienf* are to I##i weighed ag.iiiwt, one another, Widllngton and 
itirln r «u»r*» anting l« a «mt»»jdt*h» nnimm rare even when two different corps 
flic name nation mm mnticriWfi, Imt practically u tic x am plod In the caw* of 

nt urmim of different nation**. Tltwt the two forces heimiic one army* 
vbtad info two wing#* inns th* left for Prtiaalatt wing) having been do** 
aUni by the main body of flic Pfeiieh at hlgny on the Idth of June, the 

m 
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the favorite generals of Napoleon. He was now to make trial 

of his prowess against their Master. 
Among the most eritieal events of modern times the battle, 

of Waterloo stands eonspiemms. Tins sanguinary encounter 

at last stopped the torrent of the ruthless and predatory ambi¬ 

tion of the French, by which so many countries had been disso¬ 

lute d. With the peace which immediately succeeded it confi¬ 

dence was restored to Europe. 

right (or English wing) retreated to holt! the isndtinn at Water!***, where 
the left (or Prussian wing) was to join it, and tie* nuitcd ft*rce wan to crush 
the enemy. Thus there is no question tut to whether the Prussian army 
saved the English by their arrival, or whether the English saved the Prus¬ 
sians by their resistance at Waterloo. Each arm} executed well and gallantly 
its part in a concerted operation. The English would never have fought at 
Waterloo if they had not relied on the arrival of the Prussians. Had the 
Prussians not come up on the afternoon of the IHth of June the English 
would have been exposed to the same great peril of having alone to deal with 
the. mass of the French army, as the Prussians would have had to fare if they 
had found the English in full retreat. To investigate the relative j«<rf<►nu¬ 
ances of the two armies is much the same m to decide the renpeethe merits 
of the two Prussian armies at Hadowa, where one held the Austrians until 
the other arrived. Also in reading the many interesting per«i*mil accounts 
of the campaign it must In* remembered that opinions about the ehance of 
success in a defensive struggle are apt to vary with the observer's pfttlthin, 
as indeed General Grant has remarked in answer to criticisms on his army's 
state at the end of the lirst day of the hntti*< of Hhihdt or Pimdmrg Landing. 
The man placed in the front rank or fighting hue sees attack after attack 
beaten off. He sees only part of his **w n lwtscH, m immt of the bounded dir 
appear, ami he also knows something of the enemy’** \*m by seeing the dead 
in front of him. Warmed by the eoutwt, he tints believes in success. The 
man phu*ed jn rear or advancing with re-enforrementw, having nothing of the 
excitement of the struggle, sees only the hmg and increasing column of 
wounded stragglers, and perhaps of fliers* Ih»»ivn his companion fall»ithout 
being able to answer the fire. He »*« notliing of the oorres|M»ndlng hm of tlm 
enemy, and he is apt to take it must dft*|K»ttdiitg view of the situation. Thus 
Englishmen reading the accounts of men who fought nt Waterloo are too ready 
to disbelieve representations of what was taking place In the rear of tin* army, 
and to think Thackeray's life-like picture lit Fuwffy Fmr of the state of llms* 
sols must bo overdrawn. Indeed, in this very buttle of Waterbm, Victim 1m- 
gan to retreat when bli help was most required, l»eesM«*e one of his mtim </« 
camp told him that the right wing of the English was in full retreat, 4* This 
inexperienced young man," says Muffling, p, *J48, ** had mistaken the great 
number of wounded going, or Mug taken, to the rear to In* dressed, for fugi¬ 
tives, and Accordingly made a false report.” Further, removes do not say 
much of their part or, sometime, no pun, of the tight, and few temple know 
that at least two English regiments actually present on iliti field of Water- 
loo, hardly fired a shot till the last advance, 

The Duke described the army as the worst he ever commanded, and said 
that if he had had his Peninsula men, the tight would have been over much 
sooner. But the Duke, sticking to idea* now itbaoiftle, had mi picked «?orfi». 
Each man, trusting in and trusted by his comrades, fought under his own 
officers and under his own regimental colors. Whatever they did not know, 
the men knew how to die, and at the end of the day a heap of dead told whom 
each regiment and battery had stood. 
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Tht* following account of tin*, battle of Waterloo appeared 

in the first edition of this translation, and is retained with 

some correct ions. Possibly ton much was spoken or written 

at the time about Waterloo, for even the, Duke of Wellington 

said he felt ashamed, ** as if it were the only battle the English 

army had ever fought.” But Waterloo was won (dose to home, 

and the nation received tint news without the long delays they 

were accustomed to when tidings came from Spain. After 

the weary struggle of past years there was intense joy to find 

that peace had been gained in a day. Tin*, struggle, too, was 

one of a nature to 1m* understood by, and to be most gratifying 

to, the English mind. Few would have comprehended long 

scientific inammtvring : every one. could understand the steady, 

patient resistance of the gallant men who lined the ridge of 

Waterloo and died on it. The almost dramatic close*, of the 

battle, too, went straight to the heart of the three*, nations, and 

all were proud when they read how, at the end of the day, tin*, 
glad last cheer went up, as the Duke, stirred for once to some 

emotion and say ing his life, was no longer valuable, led on 

his scanty red line from the ridge win*re. a thicker red line 

of dead and wounded told how fierce had been attack and 
resistance. 

Tin* forces of the Allies were led by the two generals who 

were probably the very men of all others to Ik*, opponents of 

Napoleon. Wellington had for years met and overcome the 
French, and though he had acknowledged that he looked cm 

the very presence of Napoleon as equivalent to ho many thou¬ 

sand more enemies, still his cmlin and cold nature was not 

liable to be dismayed by the prestige of the Great Oapfcain he 

was now to meet# for the first time. 11 I at least,” said he, 

will not he frightened beforeliaml” Blucher had no preten¬ 

sions to strategic or tactical skill, hut he was animated by an 

intense hatred to the cause of Napoleon, and a determination to 

hatter at the French army wherever and whenever he could 
meet it. This determination of the old veteran had done 

more for the Allies in IK14 than all the science of their ad¬ 

visers. When Ismten off by Napoleon he had rallied like 

Grant in front of Lee, and went at his foe again with bull-dog 
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tenacity. Disgusted with the wavering am! caution of his 

Allies in 1814, lie fortunately had great confidence in Welling, 

ton and the English. It may safely Jw* said that ii no other 

general would have exposed his army to defeat in the position 

of Ligny, no other general would have struggled up in time at 

Waterloo. 
No less than 800,000 men were marching to the plains of 

Fleurus on the morning of the 1 fit li of dune. 1815. The sum¬ 

mer sun shone brightly on forest ami on pasture and corn- 

land, rich in the promise of abundant hunost, and reposing 
in peace and loveliness. How changed was t lie scene ere a 

week had passed away ! Scorched forests and trampled plain, 

smoking ruins of cottages ami desolated villages, alone re¬ 

mained !1 
The night of the 17th was a most wretched one in regard to 

the state of the weather. The ground was t rumpled into mud, 

and, though in the middle of dune, the temperature before 

dawn was intensely cold. From the very heavy fall of rain it 

was found diiheult to maintain any tires. Grout part of the 

French army had passed the night in the village of Gcnappc, 

and Napoleon had established Ids quarters at the farmhouse, 

called (laillou, near La Belle Alliance. As the morning ud- 

i There Im the usual tlifterepswry between the various hDlorira m to the 
strength of the armies which fought at Waterloo, I torse \ Gardner, who in 
always convenient to refer to, niak#w (u, liH) Kaj«4eon*» forces " winch jmr- 
tiripaied in the battle M nearly 72,<X10t but thin total does not agree with the 
figures in the right-hand column of liii own fable, which only amount to 
(J4/.H7. The total of the figures given In Si in table opjwmim p, Jf!t cniun* to 
74,725. He does not state whether hit inelttili** artillery In this fait table; but 
in any ease the number* will not nawte, Tlilrw {hmw *x. p, UWi) snvs that 
NaiKueon had 70,000 men, as dwti Jotnitii (tome it, j*. Frinre Edouard 
d5 Auvergne (p. 215) gives th« total aa72,<Kx>,whilt’ Hamley < 0|ier«#fb#»jf, p, :i*| g 
adding 7000 for artillery, <*i*ly give* nomwllK.OdO. f*«rha|M mmn* of the con¬ 
fusion comes from Girard’s ilivision being left ill Flettrttft, Probably we may 
take Napoleon’# strength as alioiit 71,tW0, with 2Kf guns. Kits true (p. *2mi) 
gives Wellington (i7,dbl, with 15b guns. The ProMlam gradually came up, 
having, by Dorsey Gardner (p VM). the following strength at the hours 
stated: —4.50 s>.m„ 10,000; 5 r.«„ ffM«0 7 im*., n%mi> with im gnus. 
Thus at the end of the day Napoleon had to face s*»me t turn and ‘Mi 
guns with 71,000 men and 240 guns. The Knglkti writer* are, iif course, an** 
ions to explain that a great many of their allien mu away, but It k itnt*««M*)« 
to count only the brave men In an army. To make tire Um rim k almost m 
good as killing him, and if the whole or Widliiigton's force lia4 Wen forced 
hack it would have been absurd not to nntti! them. Indeed, ii» itm%t <>f tin* 

best French troops did eventually run, this sort of calculation would not 
end in favor of the English. 
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vanned the weather became more favorable, and the French 
made preparations for the attack. 

Napoleon drew up his army in such a manner that he 
could assail either of the wings or the centre of Wellington. 
Tin* road to Charleroi was taken as the centre. On the right, 
with its outer flank opposite*, to La Haye Sainte, was Drouot 
dTlrlon’s corps composed of the four divisions (counting 
always from the right) of Durutte, Marcognet, Alix, and 
Donzdot, each about 4000 strong. The 1st, or Jucquinot’s, 
cavalry division, some 1400 sabres, formed the extreme right. 
The left wing, facing Hougomont and stretching from the 
Oharlrroi road to that to Nivelles, was formed of the 2d corps, 
Keille's, composed of the. three divisions of Baehelu, Foy, and 
Prince ddrfmie Bonaparte (tin* ex-King of Westphalia, with 
General Guillcminot, as his adviser), each 5000 strong. Birds 
(2d) cavalry division, 17(H> sabres, formed the extreme left. 
This made the first line* 34,100. One hundred yards behind 
the centre, on flic* left of tin* Charleroi road, was the 6th 
corps, LobanX1 formed of the two divisions of Simmer and 
*!eamiin, with a total strength of about 5000 men. Alongside 
this corps, but on the right of the* Charleroi road, were the 
two cavalry divisions of Domont and Subervie, together about 
2300 sabres. Two hundred yards in rear of each wing was 
placed a cavalry corps, MilhaucPs (cuirassier), the 4th cavalry 
curps, containing tin* divisions of Delort and Wautier (or 
Wuthier Saint-Alphonse), on the right; the third cavalry 
corps, KellermamfH (the General who charged at Marengo, 
not his father the old Marshal who fought at Valmy), on the 
left, with Lheriiier (dragoons and cuirassiers) and Roussel 
dfHerbal as Divisional Generals, each corps being about 2600 
strong. Two hundred yards in rear of each of these cavalry 
corps was a cavalry division of the Guard, the. chasseurs and 
lancers of L<»fcbvre-l>csnoucUeH, about 2000 sabres, on the 
right ; Guyot with his grenadiers d cherntl^ and dragoons, 
about f 400 sabres, on the left. Half a mile in rear of the 
first line was a formidable reserve, Drouot, with three divis¬ 
ions of the infantry of the Guard: FrianPs division of 

i Count Ccnetml Menton of Ahjhwu or Rtwifng celebrity. 
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grenadiers of the Old Guard, Monoid's of the chasseurs of the 

Old Guard, and Duhesmes of roltfount and tintiilt'unt of the 

Young Guard, the whole of this corps being about 11,000 

strong. The strength just given is only an approximation, 
and does not inelude some 7000 men oi the artillery.1 

The Allied Army was disposed in the following order: — 

the corps of the Prince of Orange, forming the eent re of the 

line, was posted on some high ground — its right in the rear 

of the farm of Ilougomont, its left behind La Have Sainie. 

These two posts were occupied by light troops, liougomont. 

by 12(H) men, and La Haye Sainte by 4(H) mem Lord Hill's 

corps formed the right wing between Merhe 1 indue and 

Hougomont. General Pieton commanded the hd‘t wing, which 

took up a position kitween the road from Genappe and Ter- 

la-Haye, through which village a communication was kept up 

with the Prussian army by means of patrols. The cavalry, 

under the command of the Earl of Lxbridge, was principally 
stationed in rear of the centre and left wing, Vivian's hussar 

brigade being on the, extreme left of the whole line. The ar¬ 

tillery was judiciously planted in various parts of the line. 
With this order of battle the Duke of Wellington determined 

to receive the enemy’s assault, it having been arranged that 

Blueher should aid him with part of his army, under General 

Bulow, whose arrival wins expected about the middle of the 

day. 

The position of Mont Hfc. Jean, thus taken up by tin* 

British army, was situated about a mile awl a quarter from 
a similar height on which the French army placed itself. 

It was divided from the opposite ascent by a valley into 

which there was a very gentle and regular slojm, so that tin4 
whole of the ground within cannon-idiot could lie readily 

seen. Two great roads nearly perjwmdieular to the line of 

the army, and two smaller roads in a line with the army, 

and behind it, gave every facility for a free communication 

for troops and guns. On another ridge about five hundred 

yards behind our first lines, the second lines were stationed, 

* This description in founded on Hum ley's fktemtitm* af Wttr% j». Mil. A 
p20l°* positions of cmeh army #111 lx? fount! in tk>rwy Ot.tr4nrr opposite 
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unseen from the French position, and between the two ridges 

a valley gave cover to any movement that it might be requi¬ 

site to make. The flanks were sufficiently protected by the 

possession of the village of Braine-la-Leude on the right, and 
La llaye and Ohain on the left, as well as by the forest of 

Soignies in the rear, upon which both flanks were thrown 
back. 

A careful study of this position will refute the objections of 
those who have blamed the Duke of Wellington for his choice 

in occupying it, and who held that, in case of defeat, the posi¬ 

tion left no means of retreat, and that the English army would, 

in such circumstances, have been utterly destroyed. It is very 

difficult to predicate what would happen in certain contingen¬ 

cies, but in the present ease there does not appear to be any 

doubt that under such unfortunate circumstances the British 

army would have been able to effect a retreat without any 

extraordinary difficulty. If their first position had been car¬ 

ried, the village of St. Jean in the rear, at the junction of the 

two great roads before mentioned, would have been an excel¬ 

lent centre of support for a second position, from which it 

would have been equally difficult to dislodge the British. But 
even if the British troops had been driven into the forest in a 

state of rout, they would there have found themselves in com¬ 

parative safety. The forest consisted of tall trees without 

underwood, almost everywhere passable for men and horses. 

In such a position the practicability of maintaining themselves 

against the French army must be evident to any one who con¬ 
siders the extreme difficulty of forcing infantry from a wood 

which cannot be turned; and it is confirmed by a remark of 
the Duke of Wellington, made in conversation with a friend, 

“ They could never have so beaten us but that wo could have 

made good the wood against them.”1 
The chief strength of the position of Mont St. Jean was 

due to two farms in front, — Hougoinont and La Haye Sainte. 

1 This leads us to examine a question raised by the battle of Waterloo. 
Would an army with its back, to a forest, and having a good road behind its 
centre and behind each of its wings, be compromised if it lost the battle, as 
Napoleon has declared ? For my part, I believe, on the contrary, such a 
position would he more favorable lor a retreat than ground entirely open ” 
(Jomiiii, PrieM de VArt de la Guerre, tome ii. p. 15). 
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These farms lay on the slope of' tie* valley, aU*ut IfdKi yards 

apart. Both were capable of containing troops, and Hougo- 

mont comprised an extent of gardens and enclosures capable 

of containing a force sufficient to make it an important post. 

No columns of* the French could puss between them without 
being exposed to a flank fire, and this r iron instance gave the 

principal advantage to tin* English position.1 

The army under the command of tin* Duke of Wellington 
amounted to about 67,601 men, of whom 2-UMIO were British. 

Besides this, an Allied force of !«S,000 men, under Prince 

Frederick of Orange, was stationed in front of Halle, about 

eight miles from the field of battle, and was not engaged. 

The French force present at Waterloo, an welt as that of tin* 

Prussians, lias already been stated. 

The morning and part of the forenoon of the IKth were 

passed by the French in a stab* of supiiieuesN, for which it 

was difficult to account. The rain had certainly retarded their 

movements, more particularly that of bringing fin* artillery 

into position; yet it was observed that this had been accom¬ 

plished at an early hour. In Grouchy \s publication we find a 

reason which may have caused this delay, namely, that Napm 

Icon’s ammunition hat! been so much exhausted in the preced¬ 

ing contests that there was only a supply with the army for 

an action of eight hours. Bonaparte states that it was neces¬ 

sary to wait until the ground was sufficiently dried to enable 

the cavalry and artillery to manmuvre; * however, in such a 

soil, a few hours could make very little difference, particularly 

as a drizzling rain continued all the morning and indeed after 

the action had commenced. The heavy full of rain on the 

night of the 17th was no doubt more dmadvania genus to the 

French than to the troops under Lord Wellington ; the hitter 
were in position, and Imd few movements to make, whilst the 

French columns, and particularly the cavalry, were fatigued 

and impeded by the state of the ground, which with the tram- 

1 The Duke of Wellington, when passing through Ilniglitti* in tl«* prwed 
ing summer, particularly noticed the strength of the junttfioti of Waterloo, 
and stated that If it ever should Inn his fat# to tight a haul# for the jimteetion 
of Brussels, he would endeavor to do so in that ooffltlot* (Cutfasy'ikmrnm 
Battles, p. 349, edit. 1383). J 

2 Montholon. 
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pled corn caused them to advance more slowly and kept them 
longer under fire. On the other hand, the same causes de¬ 
layed the Prussians in their junction,1 which they had prom¬ 

ised to effect about noon.2 

Soon after eleven3 the battle commenced by the advance of 
the French under Jerome Bonaparte, upon Hougomont, which 
was occupied by some Nassau and Hanover troops, and by the 

light companies of the English Guards, and the first gun fired 
was from an English battery. This made a gap for a moment 
in the head of the advancing column. A tremendous cannon¬ 

ade along the whole French line, from upwards of 200 guns, 
opened to support this attack. Napoleon’s eagle glance at 
once discovered the great importance of the post of Hougo¬ 
mont, which was, in fact, the key to the English position. He 

accordingly directed his first efforts against it, and persevered 

in them unceasingly throughout the day. 
“ A cloud of tirailleurs pushed through the wood and corn¬ 

fields ; they were aimed at with fatal certainty from the 

loopholes, windows, and summit of the building. But the 
French eventually compelled the few men that remained out¬ 

side to withdraw into the chateau by the rear gate. In the 
mean time the French redoubled their efforts against it, and 

the fire of the immediate defenders of that point for a moment 
ceased. The gate was then forced. At this critical moment 
Colonel Macdonell rushed to the spot with the officers and 
men nearest at hand, and not only expelled the assailants but 
reclosed the gate. The French, from their overwhelming 
numbers, again entered the yard, when the Guards retired to 

the house and kept up from the windows such a destructive 

1 The delay of Napoleon on the 17th of June has been much criticised, but 
the Prince Edouard d’Auvergne, in his Waterloo, p, 236, points out that this 
delay had not the effect believed to result from it. 'Wellington would have 
retired, if hard pressed on the 17th of June, instead of halting at Waterloo. 
At the worst Blucher, however hardly pressed in his movement, would have 
only had to leave two corps to detain Grouchy, indeed less than one corps 
was found sufficient, and the remaining two corps would have been enough 
to crush the main army while engaged with Wellington. 

2 Captain Pringle. 48 
8 Accounts differ as to the precise period at which the battle commenced. 

The British official account states the time to have been ten o’clock; but 
Colonel Mackinnon, who was with the Guards at Hougomont, has a precise 
recollection that the first gun was fired shortly after eleven.'— Editor of 1836 
edition. 
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lire that the French were driven out and tin* gate once more 

was closed. 
“ General Foy having chased tin* Nassau troops he fort* 

him, passed through the wood and surrounded the chateau. 
All attempts to rally these men proving fruitless, (’(done! 

Maekimion with the Grenadiers and first company moved 

to the support of the place, and the French were forced 

back. 
“On the retreat of the Nassau troops Lord Saltoun, with 

the light companies of the 1st brigade, was again ordered to 

llougomont, and recovered tin* orchard and also part of the 
wood in its front; the latter, however, there was no possi¬ 

bility of bedding in opposition to the vast superiority of the 

French troops. Lord Saltoun there fort4 made occasional sal¬ 
lies from the orchard; his orders were, in the event of its 

being forced, to retire into the elmteau; but lie defended it 

against every attempt. 
“The entrance of the wots! was attacked in the most 

gallant manner by the Coldstream Guards. The companies 
under Colonel Woodford cheered, and after charging opened 

a fire, but the powerful resistance they met with could not 

be overcome. This officer therefore retired, and entered 

llougomont. 

“Afterwards the French exerted themselves to carry the 
orchard. They twice got possession of the hedge, hut gained 

no further ground, as the defenders were firm, and the troops 

on the garden-wall which overlooked the orchard j uni red in a 
cross-fire and occasioned them severe loss. 

“The French soldiers were undaunted in their attacks, 

but llougomont was defended with a calm and stubborn 
gallantry that alone could have enabled so small a force to 

resist the repeated and fierce assaults of the great forts*, 

consisting of nearly tlm whole 2d French corps. Tin* cross* 

discharge from the artillery "was incessant; tin* bursting of 

shells set part of the building in flames, and m the fire 

extended to the chapel and stables many of tin* wounded 
soldiers of the Ooldstreams perished. The Guards, never¬ 

theless, at no" time exceeding 2000 men, maintained the j«»t 
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amidst the terrible conflagration within, and the murderous 
fire of the attacking troops from without. When the conten¬ 

tion terminated the Trench dead lay piled round the chateau, 
in the wood, and every avenue leading to it.”1 

During the early part of the day the action was almost 
entirely confined to this part of the line, except a galling 
Are of artillery along the centre, vigorously returned by the 

English guns. This fire gradually extended towards the left, 
and some cavalry demonstrations were made by the French. 

From the exposed position of part of the English troops on 
the sloping ground they suffered very severely from the 
French artillery, and the Duke of Wellington thought it 

advisable to move them back about 150 to 200 yards to the 
reverse slope of the hill. The artillery in consequence re¬ 
mained in advance, that they might see into the valley. This 
alteration was made between one and two o’clock by the Duke 

in person; it was general along the front or centre of the 

position, on the height to the right of La Haye Sainte. 
This movement withdrew a considerable portion of the 

Allied troops from the sight of the French, and appears to 

have been considered by them as the beginning of a retreat: 
Napoleon determined in consequence to attack our left centre, 
in order to get possession of the farm of Mont St. Jean, or of 
the village itself, which commanded the point where the two 
roads met. Accordingly Comte d’Erlon moved forward with 
his whole corps ’ in four dense columns, supported by large 
bodies of cavalry, and covered by a tremendous cannonade. 
The English infantry were formed into squares to receive the 
cuirassiers. The French cavalry being in advance of their 

infantry on the left of the attack, the Duke of Wellington 

ordered the English Life Guards to charge them. The 
cuirassiers were driven back on their own position, where the 
chaussee, being cut into the rising ground, left steep banks on 

either side. In this confined space they fought at sword’s- 
length for several minutes, until some light artillery was 
brought down from the heights, upon which the British 

cavalry returned to its position. 

l Origin and Services of the Coldstream Guards, by Colonel Mackinnon, 
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Comte d’Erlon’s infantry, meanwhile, advanced beyond La 

Haye Sainte, which at this time they did not attack. As 

the French drew near a Belgian brigade of infantry stationed 
in front fell back in confusion, and the French columns in¬ 

stantly occupied the height. Sir Thomas Picton, perceiving 

this, immediately moved up General Pack’s brigade, and 

opened a fire upon the French columns as they took possession 
of the vantage-ground they had just gained. Without wait¬ 

ing for the English charge of bayonets the French infantry 

began to hesitate, when the latter approached within thirty 

yards. At this moment Ponsonby’s brigade of heavy dragoons 
wheeling round the infantry, took the French in flank. An 

immediate panic spread amongst them, and throwing down 

their arms they ran away in all directions to avoid the sabres 
of the cavalry. Many were killed, and an eagle with 2000 

prisoners taken. But the cavalry pursued their success too 
far; they were fired upon by another column, and being at 

the same time attacked by a fresh body of French cavalry, 
they were in turn driven back with much loss. 

General Ponsonby, who commanded the heavy dragoons, 
and Sir Thomas Picton, who led on his division to repel this 
attack, were both killed.1 

1 The following particulars conne.cted with the death of Sir Thomas Picton 
will be read with especial interest: — 

“The French columns were marching close up to the hedge, the English 
advanced to meet them, and the muzzles of their muskets almost touched. 
Picton ordered Sir James Kempt’s brigade forward; they bounded over the 
hedge, and were received with a murderous volley. A frightful struggle 
then ensued ; the English rushed with fury upon their opponents, not stop¬ 
ping to load, but trusting solely to the bayonet to do its deadly work. The 
French fire had, however, fearfully thinned this first line, and they were 
fighting at least six to one. Picton therefore ordered General Pack’s brigade 
to advance. With the exhilarating cry of ‘Charge! Hurra!’ he placed 
himself at their head, and. led them forward. They returned his cheer as 
they followed him with a cool determination, which, in the words of the 
Spanish chief Alava, ‘ appalled the enemy.’ 

The General kept at the head of the line, stimulating it by his own ex¬ 
ample. According to the Duke of Wellington’s despatch, ‘this was one of 
the most serious attacks made by the enemy on our position.” To defeat it 
was therefore of vital importance to the success of the day. Picton knew 
this, and doubtless felt that his own presence would tend greatly to inspire 
his men with confidence. He was looking along his gallant line, waving his 
sword, when a ball struck him on the temple, and he fell back upon his horse 
. ~®acI* .Captain Tyler, seeing him fall, immediately dismounted and ran 
to his assistance: with the aid of a soldier he lifted him off his horse : but all 
assistance was vain — his noble spirit had fled. 

.“The rush of war passed on, the contending hosts had met, and none 
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Key was now sent with. 10,000 cavalry to break the right 
wing of Wellington. The French cavalry, in their attack 
on the right centre of the British line, were not supported by 
infantry, and made several desperate attacks upon our 

infantry, who immediately formed into square, and main¬ 

tained themselves with the most determined courage and 

coolness. During these various charges upon the squares 

the French cuirassiers displayed great intrepidity, riding up 
to the ranks, and actually cutting at the bayonets with their 
swords, and firing at the officers.1 The artillery, which was 
somewhat in front, kept up a well-directed fire upon them as 
they advanced, but, on their nearer approach, the gunners 
were obliged to retire into the squares, so that the guns 
were actually in momentary possession of the French cavalry, 
who could not, however, keep possession of them, or even 

spike them, if they had the means, in consequence of the 

heavy fire of musketry to which they were exposed. The 
French accounts state that several squares were broken, and 
standards taken, which is incorrect; on the contrary, the small 
squares constantly repulsed the cavalry, whom they generally 
allowed to advance close to their bayonets before they fired. 
The cuirassiers were then driven back with loss on all points, 

could be idle at such a moment. His body was therefore placed beneath a 
tree by which it could readily be found when the fight was done. 

“When the sanguinary struggle had ceased, and the victorious English 
were called back to the field of battle, leaving the Prussians to pursue the 
enemy, Captain Tyler went in search of the body of his old General. He 
found it easily. 

“ Upon looking at the dress of Sir Thomas Picton on the evening of the 
18th, a few hours after his death, it was observed that his coat was torn on 
one side. This led to a further examination, and then the truth became 
apparent: — on the 16th he had been wounded at Quatre Bras; a musket- 
ball had struck him and broken two of his ribs, besides producing, it was 
supposed, some internal injuries; but, expecting that a severe battle would 
be fought within a short time, he kept this wound secret, lest he should be 
solicited to absent himself. From the moment he had left this country until 
he joined the army he had never entered any bed —he had scarcely given 
himself time to take any refreshment, so eager was he in the performance of 
his duty. After the severe wound which he had received he would have 
been justified in not engaging in the action of the 18th. His body was not 
only blackened by his first wound, but even swelled to a considerable degree: 
and those who had seen it wondered that he should have been able to take 
part in the duties of the field ” (Memoirs of Sir T. Picton). 

i The Duke of Wellington himself assured me at the Congress of Verona 
(1822) that he had never seen in war anything so admirable as the ten or 
twelve repeated charges of the French cuirassiers on the troops of all 
■branches fjomini, Prfcis de la Oampagne de 1815). 
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and the artillerymen, immediately resuming their guns in the 

most prompt manner, opened a destructive fire of grapeshot 

on them as they retired. 
“ After the failure of the first attack the * French had little 

or no chance of success in renewing it; but the officers, 

perhaps ashamed of the failure of troops of whose prowess 
they were justly proud, endeavored repeatedly to bring them 

back to charge the squares; they could, however, only be 

brought to pass between them and round them; they even 

penetrated to our second line, where they cut down some 
stragglers and artillery drivers, who were with the limbers 

and ammunition wagons. They charged the Brunswick 

squares in the second line with no better success, and were 
driven back by the Allied cavalry, some of whom suffered 
from pursuing too far. 

“ If the Allies had been in retreat such an attack of cavalry 

might have led to the most important results; but the 
French cavalry, in passing and repassing the British squares, 
suffered severely by their fire; so much so that before the 

end of the action, when they might have been of great use, 
either in the last great attack, or in covering the retreat, 

they were nearly destroyed. The only advantage which 
appeared to result from their remaining in the British position 
was, that it prevented the guns from playing on the columns 

which afterwards formed near La Belle Alliance, in order to 
debouch for a new attack. The galling fire of the infantry, 
however, forcing the French horsemen at length to retire into 
the hollow ground to cover themselves, the artillery were 
again at their guns, and being in advance of the squares saw 
completely into the valley, and by their well-directed fire 

made gaps in them as they re-formed to repeat this useless 
expenditure of lives. Had Bonaparte been on the spot he 
would no doubt have prevented this wanton sacrifice of some 
of his best troops. The protracted presence of his cavalry 
in the British lines evidently prevented him from concen¬ 
trating the fire of his powerful artillery on that part of the 
line he intended to break, as had always been his custom; 

and this was treating his enemy with a contempt which. 
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from what he had experienced at Quatre Bras, could not he 

justified.1 

“No situation could he more trying to the steady courage 
of the British army than the disposition of the troops in 

square at Waterloo. There is an excited feeling in an 
attacking body that stimulates the coldest and blunts the 
thought of danger. The tumultuous enthusiasm of the 
assault spreads from man to man, and duller spirits catch a 

gallant frenzy from the brave around them. But the endur¬ 

ing and devoted courage which pervaded the British squares, 
when, hour after hour, mowed down by a murderous artillery, 
and wearied by furious and frequent onsets of lancers and 
cuirassiers, when the constant order, (Close up! close up!’ 
marked the quick succession of slaughter that thinned their 

ranks, and when later in the day the remnants of two and 
even three regiments were necessary to complete the square 

which one of them had formed in the morning — to support 
this with firmness, and ‘feed death/ inactive and unmoved, 
exhibited that calm and desperate bravery which elicited the 

admiration of Napoleon himself. 
“ Knowing that to repel these desperate and sustained 

attacks a tremendous sacrifice of human life must occur- 
Napoleon, in defiance of their acknowledged bravery, calcu 
lated on wearing the British into defeat. But when he sav 
his columns driven back in confusion, when charged on the 

left of the English line by the gallant Ponsonby, when his 
cavalry receded from the squares they could not penetrate, 

when battalions were reduced to companies by the fire of his 
cannon, and still that ‘feeble few* showed a perfect front, and 

1 After one of these charges of cavalry a hand-to-hand encounter, many 
of which occurred during the day, took place in sight of the British forces. 
An hussar and a French cuirassier met in the plain; the former had lost his 
cap, and was bleeding from a wound on the head; he did not, however, hesi¬ 
tate to attack his steel-clad adversary, and it was soon evident that the effi¬ 
ciency of cavalry depends upon good horsemanship and skill in the use of 
the sword, and not on heavy defensive armor. The moment that the swords 
crossed the military skill and superiority of the hussar were evident; after a 
few skirmishes the Frenchman received a violent cut in the face that made 
him reel in his saddle: it was now impossible for him to escape his active 
opponent, and a well-directed thrust of the British hussar levelled the 
cuirassier to the ground, amidst the cheers of his anxious comrades.— 
Editor of 1836 edition. 
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held the ground they had originally taken, —his admiration 
was expressed to Soult, ‘ How beautifully these English fight! 

— but they must give way ! ’ ” 1 
While the battle continued along the whole of the British 

position the Belgians were driven from Papellote and La 
Haye by the French. One of the columns in making this 

attack was completely routed by the 12th British dragoons: 
this, nevertheless, did not prevent them from carrying the 

two villages. 
The farm of La Haye Sainte was bravely defended by 400 

men of the King’s German Legion, eventually re-enforced by 

two more companies of the same body. Profiting by the 
temporary recoil produced by one of their combined attacks 
upon this part of the British line, La Haye Sainte was sur¬ 

rounded by French troops, and incessant efforts were made 
by them to carry it. The gallant Germans repulsed every 

attempt as long as their ammunition lasted. This at length 
failed them, and there was no possibility of introducing a 

further supply, the provision of a gate at the rear having been 
overlooked. The overwhelming force of the French near the 

spot, and the difficulty of ingress offered by the construction 
of the building, rendered all aid hopeless. For some time 

these devoted men resisted their adversaries with their swords 
and bayonets, but the French, firing upon them from the roof, 
and bursting open the strong doors and defences, soon suc¬ 
ceeded in overpowering the remnant, who, to a man, were put 
to the sword. This success, unattended with any ultimate 

benefit to the French, was all they could boast of. The con¬ 
test was now continued in the same unconnected mode of 
skirmishing in front of La Haye Sainte and around Hougo- 

mont. 

The cavalry charges on the right wing were repeated time 
after time without infantry support till nearly half-past four, 
all, however, without any great result. Soon after four 
o’clock a brief cessation of Napoleon’s repeated attacks took 
place: this may be considered as the crisis of the sanguinary 
contest of Waterloo. The squares of the .Allied army had 

l Maxwell, vol. iii. p. 487. 
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remained unshaken, they had received repeated charges with 

a characteristic coolness and intrepidity that have no equal. 
The Emperor might at this moment have broken off the en¬ 

gagement, but if it was to be continued, it could only be done 
by destroying the English army before the Prussians, who 

were expected, should arrive, for at this time General 
Domont, who had been detached to watch the progress of the 

Prussians, announced that a corps of 10,000 men was in full 
march towards Planchenoit, and by half-past four Bulow’s 

guns opened on Domont. 

“ The Erench about this period concentrated their artillery 

particularly on the left of the Genappe chaussee in front of 
La Belle Alliance, and commenced a heavy fire (a large pro¬ 
portion of the guns were twelve-pounders) on that part of the 

British line extending from behind La Haye Sainte towards 

Hougomont: the infantry sheltered themselves by lying 

down behind the ridge of the rising ground, and bore the 
fire with heroic patience. Several of the English guns had 
been disabled, and many artillerymen killed and wounded, so 

that this fire was scarcely returned, but when the new point 
of attack was no longer doubtful two brigades were brought 
from Lord Hill’s corps on the right, and were of most essen¬ 

tial service.”1 
“The British army had sustained several severe attacks, 

which had been all repulsed, and no advantage of any conse¬ 
quence had been gained by the enemy. They had possessed 
part of the wood and garden of Hougomont and La Haye 
Sainte, which latter they were unable to occupy. Not a 
square had been broken, shaken, or obliged to retire. The 

infantry continued to display the same obstinacy, the same 
cool, calculating confidence in themselves, in their commander, 
and in their officers, which had covered them with glory in 
the long and arduous war in the Peninsula. From the limited 
extent of the field of battle, and the tremendous fire their 
columns were exposed to, the loss of the enemy could not 
have been less than 15,000 killed and wounded. Two eagles 
and 2000 prisoners had been taken, and the Erench cavalry 

1 Captain Pringle. 
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nearly destroyed. The English still occupied nearly the 
same position as in the morning, but their loss had been 

severe, perhaps not less than 10,000 killed and wounded. 
Tjieir ranks were further thinned by the numbers of men 

who carried off the wounded, part of whom never returned 
bo the field; the number of Belgian and Hanoverian troops, 

many of whom were young levies, that crowded to the rear, 
was very considerable, besides the number of dismounted 
dragoons, together with a proportion of infantry, some of 
whom, as will always be found in the best armies, were glad 
to escape from the field. These thronged the road leading to 

Brussels in a manner that none but an eye-witness could have 

believed, so that perhaps the actual force under the Duke of 

Wellington at this time, half-past six, did not amount to more 
than 34,000 men.” 

It may here be proper to consider the situation of the 

Prussian army, and the assistance they had been able to ren¬ 
der up to this time. 

“We had at an. early hour been in communication with 
some patrols of Prussian cavalry on our extreme left. A 
Prussian corps, under Bulow, had marched from Wavre at an 
early hour, 7 a.m., to manoeuvre on the right and rear of the 
French army, but Marshal Blucher with a large proportion of 
the Prussian army were still on the heights above Wavre 

hen the action had commenced at Waterloo.” 1 The state 

of the roads had become deplorable, for the ground was com¬ 
pletely saturated with the heavy rains that had fallen during 

sixteen hours. Bivulets had become torrents: ' water had 
filled up every hollow, so as constantly to compel the troops 
o separate, for in many cases the infantry were obliged to 

wade for hundreds of yards together along the forest roads, 

which might rather be termed water-courses. The columns of 
he Prussian troops advancing from Wavre extended over 

many miles. Great as were the obstacles that retarded the 
rogress of the cavalry and infantry, the immense train of 

artillery occasioned still greater delay, although they had not 
more than twelve or fourteen miles to march. The guns fre- 

i Captain Pringle. 
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quently sunk axle-deep into the mud. “ We shall never get 
on,” was heard on all sides. “We must get on,” replied 

Blucher. “I have given my word to Wellington, and you 

surely will not suffer me to break it! only exert yourselves a 
few hours longer, my children, and certain victory is ours.” 

Thus encouraging their gallant efforts, the Marshal was to be 

seen in every part of the tedious line of march. 
The cannonading at Waterloo had been distinctly heard by 

Blucher and his anxious army for several hours. Aides de 

camp were continually arriving with reports of the state of 
the battle, and the Prussians were arduously engaged in toil¬ 

ing through narrow lanes, being well aware that if attacked 

in such a perilous position, should the English army experi¬ 
ence a reverse, their own destruction would be inevitable. 

Information had been conveyed to Blucher about three o’clock 

that Grouchy had attacked General Thielmann at Wavre in 

great force. Unmoved by this news the veteran Marshal re¬ 

plied, “ Tell him to do his best, for the campaign of Belgium 
must be decided at Mont St. Jean, and not at Wavre.” 

Marshal Blucher, who had joined in person Bulow’s corps 
at half-past four, ordered immediately two brigades of in¬ 
fantry and some cavalry to operate on the right of the 

French.1 He was so far from them, however, that his fire 
was too distant to produce any effect, and was chiefly intended 
to give the Duke of Wellington notice of his arrival. It was 
certainly past five o’clock before the fire of the Prussian artil¬ 
lery was observed from the British position, and it soon 

seemed to cease altogether. It appears they had advanced 
and obtained some success, but were afterwards held in check 
by the French, who sent a corps under Count Lobau to pre¬ 
vent them from advancing. About half-past six the first 
Prussian corps came into communication with our extreme 
left near the small hamlet of Ohain. 

The attacks of the French on the Allied right were still 
continued. The British remained unmoved under these con¬ 
tinued assaults; Milhaud’s cuirassiers and the cavalry of the 

1 Muffling, the Prussian commissioner with Wellington, says (p. 247) 
Blucher opened fire at four o’clock. 
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Guard had again charged about five o’clock; to support these 

cuirassiers Kellermann’s were despatched, as well as a part 

of the reserve cavalry.1 To oppose these movements the 
British squares were again formed, and successfully repulsed 
them ; thousands of Trench cavalry were in this manner put 
hoi's de combat during the day. Unable to force the squares 
of the British infantry, the Trench cavalry showed greater 

courage when opposed to the Horse of the Allies, and many 
severe contests took place between them in front of and even 

among the squares. 
During the temporary cessation which now took place the 

Duke began to concentrate his forces towards the centre, and 
the troops sent to Braine-la-Leude were now brought back. 

The assistance of the Prussians, as we have already stated, 
was expected at mid-day, and this induced Wellington to ac¬ 
cept a battle, so that the British army had to bear the whole 

brunt of the action for a much longer period than was calcu¬ 

lated. It was now past six o’clock, and they had been under 
fire for nearly seven hours. The Duke of Wellington how¬ 

ever, never for a moment showed any anxiety as to the result 

of the battle. He knew his troops, and all that they would 

do under him and for him, and felt confident he should be 
able to maintain his position. The British army was not 

aware of the concerted approach of the Prussians, nor did 
their commander think it necessary to animate their exertions 

by telling them they were coming. Napoleon, on the con¬ 
trary, in order to revive the already drooping spirits of his 

men, even of his favorite Guards, who had not as yet been 
engaged, sent Lab6doy&re to inform them, as they were about 
to advance on our squares, that the corps of Grouchy had 
joined the right flank of the Trench Army. This intelligence 

deceived even Marshal Ney, and had a bad effect in the 
Trench ranks when the men learned that it was false. 

1 Bonaparte allows that this charge was made too soon, but that it was 
necessary to support it, and that the cuirassiers of Kellermann, 3000 in num¬ 
ber, were consequently ordered forward to maintain the position. And he 
allows that the (/renadier$-a-cheval and dragoons of the Guard, which were 
in reserve, advanced without orders, that he sent to recall them but, as they 
were already engaged, any retrograde movement would then have been dan¬ 
gerous. — Editor of 1830 edition. 
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On the part of Wellington, a considerable portion of Lord 

Hill’s corps was still available as a reserve. On the side of 

Bonaparte, the Imperial Guard hat! Iren kept in reserve, and 

had been for some time formed on the heights whieh extend 

from La Belle Alliance towards Hougomont, ami eovereti their 

left flank. With these devoted and brave men Bonaparte 

resolved to make a last desperate effort to break the often- 

tried centre of the British line, and earry their position before 

the attack of the Prussians could take effect. 

“ About seven o’clock they advanced in two columns, leav¬ 

ing four battalions in reserve*. Tiny* were commanded by 

Key, who led them on. The advance of these* columns of the 

Imperial Guard was supported by a heavy tin* of artillery. 

The British infantry, which had been posted on the reverse of 

the hill, to 1x3 sheltered from the guns, was instantly moved 

forward by Lord Wellington, General MaitlamBs brigade of 

guards and General Adam’s brigade (52d and 71st regiments, 

and 95th rifles) met this formidable attack. They were 

flanked by two batteries of artillery, who kept up a destruc¬ 
tive discharge on the advancing columns. The troops waited 

for the approach of the French with their characteristic cold¬ 

ness, until they were within a short distance of tlndr line, 

when they ojxmed a well-directed tire upon them. This line 

was formed four deep. Each man fired independently, retir¬ 

ing a few paces to haul, and then advanced again, so that they 

never ceased for a moment. The French, headed by their 

gallant leader, still came, on, notwithstanding the severe loss 

they sustained by this destructive musketry. They were 

now within about fifty yards of the British line, when they 

attempted to deploy, in order to return the fire. The line 

appeared to be closing round them. They tumid not deploy 

under such a storm, and from the moment they ceased in 

advance their chance of success was over. They now formed 

a confused mass, and at hint giving way, retired in the utmost 

confusion. They were immediately pursued by the light 

troops of General Adam’s brigade. This decided the battle. 

Napoleon had now exhausted his means of attack. He had 
still, however, the four Ixittalions of tin* Old Guard in reserve. 
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Lord Wellington immediately ordered his whole line to ad¬ 
vance and attack their position. The French were already 
attempting a retreat. The Old Guard formed a square to 

cover the dismayed and flying columns, flanked by a few guns, 
and supported by some light cavalry (red lancers).” 

It was expected that Napoleon would charge at the head of 
his gallant Guards, but though he certainly exposed his per¬ 
son to great danger towards the end of the battle, he did not 
put himself at their head as he would have done in the days 
of Lodi and Areola.1 A distinguished writer says : — 

"It was about seven o’clock at night when Napoleon deter¬ 

mined to devote this proved and faithful reserve as his last 
stake to the chance of one of those desperate games in which 
he had been so frequently successful. For this purpose he 

placed himself in the midst of the highway, fronting Mont 
St. Jean, and within about a quarter of a mile of the English 

line.2 Here he caused his Guard to delile before him, and 
acquainting them that the English cavalry and infantry were 
entirely destroyed, and that to carry their position they had 
only to sustain with bravery a heavy Are of their artillery, he 
concluded by pointing to the causeway and exclaiming, * There, 

there is the road to Brussels! ’ The prodigious shouts of 
‘ Vive l’Empereur!} with which the Guard answered this 
appeal, led the British troops, and the Duke of Wellington 

himself, to expect an instant renewal of the attack with 

Napoleon as leader. 
“ In this, the last charge it was ever to make, the Guard of 

Napoleon advanced into the plain with demonstrations of 
enthusiasm. They swept away every obstacle until they 
attained the ridge where the British soldiers lay on the 
ground to avoid the destructive fire of artillery by which the 
assault was covered: but this was their final effort. ‘Up, 

1 “ Ouvrard, who attended Napoleon as chief commissary of the French 
army on that occasion, told me that Napoleon was suffering from a complaint 
which made it very painful for him tq. ride ” (Lord Ellesmere, p. 47). 

2 Napoleon had stationed himself on a little hillock near La Belle Alli¬ 
ance, in the centre of the French position. Here he was seated, with a table 
before him, on which maps and plans were spread; and hence with his 
telescope he surveyed the field. Soul t watched his orders close at his left 
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Guards, and at them! ’ cried the I hike id' Wellington, who 
was then with a brigade of tin1 household infantrv. In an 

instant they sprang up, and assuming the offensive rushed 

upon the attacking columns with the bayonet. This body of 

the Guards had been previously disposed in line instead of tin* 

squares which they had hitherto formed. But flit* line was 

of unusual depth, consisting of four ranks instead of two. 

* You have stood cavalry in this order,1 said the General, * and 

can therefore find no difficulty in charging infantry.1 The 

effect of the rapid advance which followed was derisive. 

The Guard of Napoleon was within twenty yards of* the 

British, but did not stop to cross bayonets. Tin* conscious- 

ness that no support or reserve remained to them added con¬ 

fusion to their retreat. The, ti mi! it am of the Imperial 

Guard gallantly attempted to cover the retreat. They were 

charged by the British cavalry, ami literally eut to pieces.*’ i 

“ The first Prussian corps, commanded by Billow, had now 

joined the English extreme left They had obtained posses¬ 

sion of the village of La Haye, driving out, the French light 

troops who occupied it Billow had some time previously 

made an unsuccessful attack upon the village of Planeheiioit, 

in the rear of the French right wing, and being joined by the 

second corps (Pirch’s) was again advancing to attack it.3 In 

the mean time the square of the Old Guard maintained itself, 

the guns on its flank firing upon the British light cavalry, 
which now advanced and threatened to turn the flunk. The 

light troops were close on their front, and the whole line ad¬ 

vancing under Wellington, when this kaly, the c/iVe of the 

army, and now the only hope of the French to cover their 

retreat, gave way, and mixed in the general confusion and 

route, abandoning their cannon and all their nmiiriHN 8 

(i The irremediable disorder consequent on this decisive 

repulse, and the confusion in the French rear, where Billow 

had fiercely attacked them, did not escape Wellington, * The 

hour has come ! * he is said to have exclaimed; and cloning lik 

1 Sir Walter Soott. 
3 General Gneisanau says il was pant tevtn n'olork Imfont Piieh’s ernrpt 

came up, and this fact is admitted in Biudnitr,» official tlisimteftwi* 
8 Captain Pringle. 
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selescopc, commanded the whole line to advance. The ordei 
was exultingly obeyed: forming four deep, on came the Brit¬ 
ish ; wounds and fatigue and hunger were all forgotten! 
With their customary steadiness they crossed the ridge : when 
they saw the French, and began to move down the hill, a 
cheer that seemed to rend the heavens pealed from their 
proud array, and with levelled bayonets they pressed on to 
meet the enemy.1 

“ Panic-stricken and disorganized, the French resistance was 
short and feeble. The Prussian cannon thundered in their 
rear, the British bayonet was flashing in their front, and un¬ 
able to stand the terror of the charge they broke and fled. A 
dreadful and indiscriminate carnage ensued. The great road 
was choked with their materiel, and cumbered with the dead 
and dying, while the Helds, as far as the eye could reach, were 
covered with fugitives. Courage and discipline were for¬ 
gotten, and Napoleon’s army of yesterday was now a splendid 
wreck — a terror-stricken multitude. His own words best 
describe it — ‘It was a total rout!*” 

It was now nearly dark: Bulow upon being joined by 
Pirch’s corps again attacked Planchenoit, which he turned, 
and then the French abandoned it. He immediately advanced 
towards the Genappe chamsee, and closed round the right of 
the French, driving the enemy before him, and augmenting 
their confusion. His troops came into the high road near 
Maison du Roi, and Blueher and Wellington having met about 
the same time near La Belle Alliance, it was resolved to pur¬ 
sue the French, and give them no time to rally. The loss of 

l As to the final advance of the British, General Muffling, an expe¬ 
rienced if prejudiced witness, says that the advance was hazardous, “small 
masses of only some hundred men at great intervals wore seen everywhere 
advancing.0 Though Lord Uxbridge drew the Duke’s attention to this, the 
Duke thought the support of the cavalry was sufficient. “ There was prob¬ 
ably also a political motive for this advance. The Duke with his practised 
eye removed that the French army was no longer dangerous: he was 
equally aware, indeed, that with his infantry so diminished lie could achieve 
nothing more of importance; hut if he stood still and resigned the pursuit to 
the Prussian army alone it might appear in the eyes of Europe as if the 
British army had defended themselves bravely indeed, hut that the Prussians 
alone decided and won the battle." Surely also the Duke could not have 
refused his gallant men that last glorious advance; they well deserved it. 
“ The position in which the infantry had fought was marked, as far as the 
eye could reach, by a red line caused by the red uniform of the numerous 
killed and wounded who lay there ” (Muffling, p. 260). 
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tlio Prussians on the 18th did not exceed HiMl men. Up* Bruitt 

of the action was ch icily sustained By it at British troops and 

the King's German Legion. 
The British army rested on the night of the 18th on the 

field of Battle, But this was not Before a hot pursuit of tin* 

French had Been accomplished; and then the Ihik** of Wel¬ 

lington halted, not only on account of the fatigue of his troops, 

which had Been engaged eight hours. But Because he found 

himself on the same, road with Marshal Blueher, who prom¬ 

ised to continue, the pursuit during the night, and well per¬ 

formed his engagement.1 

The Prussians, who had tmtde a difficult march during the 

day, pursued the enemy with such vigor that they were unable 

to rally a single battalion. They once attempted to make a 

show of resistance at Gcnappc, where, jsuhaps, if they had had 

a chief to direct them, they might have maintained themselves 

until daylight, the situation of the village Being strong; tins 

might have given them the means of at least preserving the 

semblance of an army. The second Prussian corps was after 

wards detached to intercept Grouchy, who was not aware of 

the result of the battle until eleven o’clock next morning. He 

had succeeded in obtaining some ml vantage ever General 
Thiel mann, and got possession of Wav re, Grouchy at once 

retreated towards Namur, where* his rear-guard maintained 

themselves against all the efforts of the 1 Vitamins* who suf¬ 

fered severely in their attempt to take the place. This served 

to cover his retreat, which lie executed with great ability, 

keeping in a parallel line to Bluclier, mid having rallied many 

of the fugitives he brought his army in the end without loss 
to Paris. 

What must have fmen the feelings of Napoleon on tin* mem¬ 

orable night of Waterloo! One of his midm </#* vamp* has 

described his attitude the last time he was seen in the field, 

1 Xn all our battle* against Napoleon*# troop#, am! lately against the Utta* 
slana. wo havo shown cmmelven ineajsihle of reaping tlio iwiietH «f victory 
Wellington won many battles, hut never delivered any very cnwliliif hhm 
to his opi>ommtt hemtm he nemr puratmL Wtitorlno I* n« eanepthm, for tint 
pursuit wueffeeted by the Pnwslans(ls«ra WuimUy'atiMtrr** / 
edition of 1882, p. OT). 

2 Raoul. 
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and the fascination he still exercised over all who were about 
his person. 

“He has ruined us—he has destroyed France and him¬ 
self yet I love him still; it is impossible to be near him 
and not love him. He has so much greatness of soul, such 

majesty of manner. He bewitches all minds; approach 
him with a thousand prejudices, and you quit him filled with 
admiration: but then, his mad ambition! his ruinous in¬ 
fatuation ! his obstinacy without bounds! Besides, he was 
wont to set everything upon a cast — his game was all or 

nothing! Even the battle of Waterloo might have been 
retrieved had he not charged with the Guard. This was 
the reserve of the army, and should have been employed in 
covering his retreat instead of attacking; but with him, 

whenever matters looked desperate, he resembled a mad dog. 

He harangued the Guard — he put himself at its head — it 
debouched rapidly, and rushed upon the enemy. We were 
mowed down by grape — we wavered — turned our backs, 
and the rout was complete. A general disorganization of 
the army ensued, and Napoleon, rousing himself from the 
stupor into which he had sunk, was cold as a stone. The 

last time I saw him was in-returning from the charge, when 
all was lost. My thigh had been broken by a musket-shot 

in advancing, and I remained in the rear, having fallen on 
the ground. Napoleon passed close by me; his nose was 
buried in his snuff-box, and his bridle fell loosely on the 

neck of his horse, which was pacing leisurely along. A 
Scotch regiment was advancing at the charge in the distance. 

The Emperor was almost alone. Lallemand only was with 
him.. The latter still exclaimed, ‘ All is not lost, Sire; all 
is not lost! Bally, soldiers ! rally ! ' The Emperor replied 
not a word. Lallemand recognized me in passing. ‘What 
has happened to you, Baoul ?’ —f My thigh is shattered with 

a musket-ball.' — ‘ Poor devil, how I pity you! how I pity 

you! Adieu ! adieu!' The Emperor uttered not a word.” 
In the midst of the horrid rout that followed it was not 

known what had become of Napoleon. Some of the soldiers 

declared that he had perished. When this was announced 
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to a well-known general officer in his service he exclaimed 
(like Megret on the death of Charles XII. at Friederickstadt), 
“ Voila la piece finieP Others pretended that having charged 

several times at the head of the Guard he had been dis¬ 

mounted and made prisoner. The same uncertainty prevailed 
respecting the fate of Marshal ISley, the Major-General (Soult), 
and most of the French generals and chiefs. 

Others again affirmed that they had seen Napoleon pass, 
escaping alone through the disordered crowd, and that they 
had recognized him by his gray great-coat and dapple- 

colored horse. This last account was the true one. In his 

flight, he threw himself into an orchard adjoining the farm 
of La Belle Alliance. It was there he was met by two 

French horse-soldier's, who, like himself, had lost their way, 

but who now undertook to guide and protect him through 

the parties of Prussians, who, fortunately for him, were so 
busy in plundering the camp equipages that they let him 

pass. In spite of the darkness of night he was perceived 
and recognized in several places, and his presence was made 
manifest by the remarks of the soldiers, who said to one 
another in a low tone of voice, “ There is the Emperor!” 
“ There goes the Emperor ! ” These words appeared to him 

a cry of alarm, and each time he was thus discovered, he 
galloped forward as quickly as the crowded state of the roads 
would permit. What had now become of those rapturous 
acclamations that used to accompany him whenever he 
showed himself in the midst of his army ? 

At a short distance from Charleroi two roads meet: one 

leads to Avesnes, the other to Philippeville: the Emperor 
chose the latter, and increasing his speed as the roads 
became clearer, and he could obtain a carriage and post- 

horses, he abandoned his army without making any effort to 

rally it. He has been censured for this; but we would 
remark that French soldiers with all their excellent qualities, 

are not good at * rallying after a signal defeat, and that his 
army was so completely cut up and dispersed, so thoroughly 

disheartened, that every effort to re-form them on the spot 
must have failed. In their blind panic, groups of these heroes 



THE EMPEROR'S RETURN TO PARIS. 187 

of many battles — cavalry and infantry still well armed — 

suffered themselves to be cut up by a few Prussian lancers, 

whom they might have turned upon and annihilated. 

On arriving at Philippeville Napoleon was compelled to 

wait some time outside the walls. He had need of the pro¬ 

tection of its ramparts, for the Prussians, into whose hands 

he dreaded to fall, were close upon him, having tracked him 
with great pertinacity, and detached some cavalry in that 

direction. When he readied the gates of the town the men 

on guard would not admit him until the commander of the 

fortress (‘aim* up and recognized him. He then entered with 

a very humble retinue, the drawbridge being raised and the 

harrier closed immediately afterwards. As soon as it was 

known that the Emperor was at Philippeville many of his 

scattered troops (dosed round the town in order to protect him 

end to receive in turn protection from the ramparts. This 
caused some uneasiness: such a gathering of men would 

prove to the Prussians that the Emperor was there. To obvi¬ 

ate this recourse, was had to the following stratagem. 
A number of emissaries were sent from the town to the 

camp, instructing them to counterfeit great terror, and to cry 

out, u Save yourselves! the .Prussians are coming! The 
Uhlans arc close upon us!” The emissaries played their 

parts so well, and the French soldiery were now so spiritless, 

that they broke up and fled like a flock of sheep. The 

feigned heralds of the. enemy then went on to spread over 

the country the deplorable news that the Emperor was 

blockaded \n Philippeville. This was regarded as certain, 
and nobody on the roads of Mezieres and .Laon, where the 

rumor was propagated, took it into his head to suspect that 

alt this was nothing more nor less than an admirable com¬ 

bination, a stratagem of war of an entirely new conception, 

imagined by the great man to conceal bis line of march, on 

which his personal safety depended. But the public could 
not long be imposed upon, and after a few hours’ rest, Bona¬ 

parte left Philippeville and took the road to Paris by JLtocroi 

and Mezieres. 
It wan at Philippeville that the Duke of Bassano and his 
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secretary, M. Floury tie Ohaboulon, who were travelling 

together in hast*', found Napoleon in a state which indicated 
the feelings of his mind. It was hence that lie sent orders to 

Generals Rapp. Leeourbe, and Lamanpie, to collect what 

troops were loft in France, and proceed by forced inarches 

towards Paris; and at the same time the commanders of 
every fortified town on the roads hauling to the capital were 

directed to defend themselves to the last extremity, in order 

that time might be gained to concentrate troops to prevent 

the? Allies from entering Paris. It was at Philippeville that 

Napoleon dictated two letters to his secretary, to be forwarded 
immediately to his brother Joseph, the substance of which is 

thus stated : the first was to be? communicated by that Prince 

to the Council of Ministers, which, however, by no means 
contained the whole of the fatal result of the battle; the 

second was a private letter to Joseph, giving him all the 

details of the day, and of the complete discomfiture of the 

army. He concluded this letter by saying, “ All is, however, 

not lost; when I shall have collected my forces I expect I 

shall have 150,000 men; thorn? of the National Guards, who 

are still attached to me, will furnish at least 100,000; the 
battalions in depot can supply 50,000, eonsecpiently I shall 

have 500,000 troops to oppose to tin? enemy: the best 

horses of Paris must lx? employed for the artillery. There 

must lx; immediately a levy of 100,000 recruits to be armed 

with the fire-locks of the Royalists. I will cause a levy 

mmsB of the provinces of Dauphine, Burgundy, Lorraine, 

and Champagne, for I am determined to crush our enemies. 

But to accomplish all this you must aid me? immediately. I 

am going to Laon. 1 have not yet heard of Grouchy; if lie 

in not taken prisoner, or his corps destroyed, which I much 

fear is the ease, 1 may have in three days 50,000 men more, 
which will enable me to engage the attention of the Allies, 

and thus give time to Paris and to France to do their duty. 

The English troops march very slowly, and the Prussians, 

fearing our peasants, do not dare to advance. All may yet go 

well: write me word m to tin? effect which this skirmish has 

produced in the Chamber. I believe that the deputies will 
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feel it to be their duty to join me in every effort in order to 

save France : urge them to second me in my endeavors.” 

It was nightfall, on the 20th of June, when Napoleon 

approached the walls of Eocroi, where everybody expected he 
would stop and repose himself. A considerable part of the 

population of that town gathered on the ramparts and saluted 
him with the old cry of “Vive PEmpereur,” but he only 
staid to change horses, and then posted onward. In his 

critical circumstances a single night, nay, a single hour, gained 
was of the very highest importance. 

[ANNEX TO THE PRECEDING CHAPTER.] 

NARRATIVE OF THE BATTLE OF WATERLOO. 

BY M. FLECJRY DE CHABOULON, EX-SECRETARY TO THE EMPEROR 

NAPOLEON. 

The plan of the campaign adopted by the Emperor was worthy of the 
courage of the French and of the high reputation of their Chief. Infor¬ 
mation given by agents employed by the Duke of Otranto (Fouehe) had 
made known the position of the Allies in all its particulars. Napoleon 
knew that the army of Wellington was'dispersed over the country, from 
the borders of the sea to Nivelles, that the right of the Prussians rested 
on Charleroi, and that the rest of their army was stationed in echelon 
indefinitely as far as the Rhine. He judged that the lines of the enemy 
were too much extended, and that it would be practicable for him; by not 
giving them time to close up, to separate the two armies, and fall in suc¬ 
cession on their troops thus taken by surprise. For this purpose he’ had 
united all his cavalry into a single body of 20,000 horse, with which he 
intended to dart like lightning into the midst of the enemy’s cantonments, 
If victory favored this bold stroke the centre of- our army would occupy 
Brussels on the second day, while the corps of the' right and of the left 
drove the Prussians to the Meuse, and the English to the Scheldt. Bel¬ 
gium being conquered, he would have armed the malcontents, and marched 
from success to success as far as the Rhine. 

On the 14th, during the night, our army, the presence of which the 
Emperor had taken care to conceal, was to coihmence its march; nothing 
indicated that the enemy had foreseen our irruption, and everything 
promised us important results.It was at this time that Napoleon was 
informed that General Bourmont, Colonels Clouet and Villoutreys, and 
two other officers, had just deserted to the enemy. He knew from Mar¬ 
shal Ney that M. de Bourmont, at the time of the occurrences at Besan^on, 
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had shown some hesitation, and was backward to employ him. But M. 
de Bourmont having given General Gerard his word of honor to serve the 
Emperor faithfully, and this general, whom Napoleon highly valued, 
having answered for Bourmont, the Emperor consented to admit him 
into the service. How could he have supposed that this officer, who had 
covered himself with glory in 1814, would, in 1815, go over to the enemy 
on the eve of a battle ? Napoleon immediately made such alterations in 
his plan of attack as this unexpected treason rendered necessary, and 
then marched forward. On the 15th, at one in the morning, he was in 
person at Jamignon, on the Eure. At three his army moved in three 
columns, and debouched suddenly at Beaumont, Maubeuge, and Philippe- 
ville. A corps of infantry, under General Zieten, attempted to dispute 
the passage of the Sambre. The 4th regiment of chasseurs, supported 
by the 9th, broke it, sword in hand, and took 300 prisoners. The marines 
and sappers of the Guard, sent after the enemy to repair the bridges, did 
not allow them time to destroy them. They followed them in skirmish¬ 
ing order, and penetrated with them into the great square. The brave 
Pajol soon arrived with his cavalry, and Charleroi was ours.1 The inhab¬ 
itants, happy at seeing the French once more, saluted them unanimously 
with continued shouts of ‘‘Long live the Emperor! ” “ France forever! ” 
General Pajol immediately sent the hussars of General Clary in pursuit 
of the Prussians, and this brave regiment finished its day by the capture 
of a standard and the destruction of a battalion that ventured to resist it. 

During this time the 2d corps passed the Sambre at Marchiennes, and 
overthrew everything before it. The Prussians having at length rallied, 
attempted to oppose some resistance to it, but General Reille beat them 
with his light cavalry, took 200 prisoners, and killed or dispersed the rest. 
Beaten in every part, they retired to the heights of Fleurus, which had 
been so fatal to the enemies of France twenty years before. Napoleon 
reconnoitred the ground at a glance. Our troops rushed on the Prussians 
at full gallop. Three squares of infantry, supported by several squadrons 
and some artillery, sustained the shock with intrepidity. Wearied by 
their immovableness, the Emperor ordered General Letort to charge them 
at the head of the dragoons of the Guard. At the same moment General 
Excelmans fell upon the left flank of the enemy, and the 20th dragoons, 
commanded by the brave and young Briqueville, rushed on the Prussians 
on one side, while Letort attacked them on the other. They were broken 
and annihilated; but dearly was the victory purchased: Letort was killed. 
This affair, though of little importance in its results, cost the enemy five 
pieces of artillery and 3000 men killed or taken prisoners, and produced 
the happiest effects on the army. The illness of Marshal Mortier and the 

1 The people of Charleroi marked their respect for fallen greatness by 
placing the following inscription over the gate by which Napoleon entered 
the town: — 

ABIIT : EXCESSIT : EVASIT : ERYPIT. 
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treason of General Bourmont had given birth to sentiments of doubt and 
fear, which were entirely dissipated by the successful issue of this first 
battle. Hitherto each chief of a corps had retained its immediate com¬ 
mand, and it is easy to suppose what their ardor and emulation must 
have been; but the Emperor fell into the error of overturning the hopes 
of their courage and their ambition. He placed General d’Erlon and 
Count .Keille under the orders of Marshal Ney, whom he brought forward 
too late; and Count Gerard and Count Yandamme under the orders of 
Marshal Grouchy, whom it would have been better to have left at the 
head of the cavalry. 

Marshal Grouchy, with the 3d and 4th corps, and the cavalry of Gene¬ 
rals Pajol, Excelmans, and Milhaud, was placed on the heights of Fleurus, 
and in advance of them. The 6th corps and the Guard were in echelon 
between Fleurus and Charleroi. On the 16th the army of Marshal Blu- 
cher, 90,000 strong, collected together with great skill, was posted on the 
heights of Brie and Sombref, and occupied the villages of Ligny and St. 
Amand, which protected his front. His cavalry extended far in advance 
on the road to Namur. The army of the Duke of Wellington, which this 
General had not yet had time to collect, was composed of about 100,000 
men, scattered between Ath, Nivelle, Genappe, and Brussels. 

The Emperor went in person to reconnoitre Blucher’s position, and 
penetrating his intentions resolved to give him battle before his reserves 
and the English army, for which he was endeavoring to wait, should have 
time to arrive. He immediately sent orders to Marshal Ney, whom he 
supposed to have been on the march for Quatre Bras, where he would 
have found very few forces, to drive the English briskly before him, and 
then fall with his main force on the rear of the Prussian army. At the 
same time he made a change in the front of the Imperial Army: Marshal 
Grouchy advanced towards Sombref, General Gdrard towards Ligny, and 

General Yandamme towards St. Amand. 
General Girard, with his division, 5000 strong, was detached from the 

2d corps, and placed in the rear of General Vandamme’s left, so as to sup¬ 
port him, and at the same time form a communication between Marshal 
Ney’s army and that of Napoleon. The Guard and Milhaud’s cuirassiers 
were disposed as a reserve in advance of Fleurus. At three o’clock the 
3d corps reached St. Amand and carried it. The Prussians, rallied by 
Bluelier, retook the village. The French, intrenched in the churchyard, 
defeuded themselves there with obstinacy, but, overpowered by numbers, 
they were about to give way when General Drouot, who has more than 
once decided the fate of a battle, galloped up with four batteries of the 
Guard, took the enemy in the rear, and stopped his career. At t e same 
moment Marshal Grouchy was fighting successfully at Sombref, and Gen¬ 
eral Gdrard made an impetuous attack on the village of Ligny. its 
crenellated walls and a long ravine rendered the approaches to it not less 
difficult than dangerous. But these obstacles did not intimidate <^nera 
Lefol, or the brave fellows under his command; they advanced with t le 
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bayonet, and in a few minutes the Prussians, repulsed and annihilated, 
quitted the ground. Marshal Bluclier, conscious that the possession of 
Ligny would decide the fate of the battle, returned to the charge with 
picked troops; and here, to use his own words, “ commenced a battle that 
may be considered as one of the most obstinate mentioned in history.” 
For five hours no less than 200 pieces of cannon vomited forth incessantly 
an iron hail upon this scene of carnage. French and Prussians, alter¬ 
nately vanquished and victors, disputed this ensanguined post hand to 
hand and foot to foot, and seven times in succession was it taken and lost. 
The Emperor expected every instant that Marshal Key was coming to 
take part in the action. From the commencement of the affair he had 
reiterated this order to him, to manoeuvre so as to surround the right of 
the Prussians; and he considered this diversion of such high importance 
as to write to the Marshal, and cause him to be repeatedly told that the 
fate of France was in his hands. Ney answered that “ he had the whole 
of the English army to encounter, yet he would promise him to hold out 
the whole day, but nothing more.” The Emperor, better informed, as¬ 
sured him “that it was Wellington’s advanced guard alone that made 
head against him,” and ordered him anew u to beat back the English, and 
make himself master of Quatre Bras, cost what it might.” The Marshal 
persisted in his fatal error. Napoleon, deeply impressed with the impor¬ 
tance of the movement that Marshal Ney refused to comprehend and exe¬ 
cute, sent directly to the 1st corps an order to move with all speed on the 
right of the Prussians; but, after having lost much valuable time in wait¬ 
ing for it, he judged that the battle could not be prolonged without dan¬ 
ger, and directed General Gerard, who had with him but 5000 men, to 
undertake the movement which should have been accomplished by the 
20,000 men under Comte D’ Erl on; namely, to turn St. Amand, and fall 
on the rear of the enemy. 

This manoeuvre, ably executed, and seconded by the Guard attacking 
in front, and by a brilliant charge of the cuirassiers of General Delort’s 
brigade, and of the horse grenadier guards, decided the victory. The 
Prussians, weakened in every part, retired in disorder, and left us masters 
of the field of battle, forty cannons and many standards. 

On the left Marshal Ney, instead of rushing rapidly on Quatre Bras, and 
effecting the diversion that had been recommended to him, had spent 
twelve hours in useless attempts, and given time to the Prince of Orange 
to re-enforce his advance guard. The pressing orders of Napoleon not 
allowing him to remain meditating any longer, and desirous, no doubt, of 
recovering the time he had lost, Ney did not thoroughly reconnoitre either 
the position or the forces of the enemy, but rushed upon them headlong. 
The division of General Foy commenced the attack, and drove in the 
sharpshooters and the advanced posts. Bachelu’s cavalry, aided, covered, 
and supported by this division, pierced and cut to pieces three Scotch 
battalions; but the arrival of fresh re-enforcements, led by the Duke of 
Wellington, and the heroic bravery of the Scotch, the Belgians, and the 
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Prince of Orange, suspended our success. This resistance, far from dis¬ 
couraging Marshal Ney, revived in him an energy which he had not be¬ 
fore shown. He attacked the^Anglo-Hollanders with fury, and drove 
them back to the skirts of the wood of Bossu. The 1st regiment of chas¬ 
seurs and 6th of lancers overthrew the Brunswickers; the 8th of cuirassiers 
positively rode over two Scotch battalions, and took from them a color. 
The 11th, equally intrepid, pursued them to the entrance of the wood; but 
the wood, which had not been examined, was lined with English infantry. 
Our cuirassiers were assailed by a fire at arm’s-length, which at once car¬ 
ried dismay and confusion into their ranks. Some of the officers, lately 
incorporated with them, instead of appeasing the disorder, increased it 
by shouts of “ Every one for himself ” (Same qui peut!). This disorder, 
which in a moment spread from one to another as far as Beaumont, might 
have occasioned greater disasters if the infantry of General Foy, which 
remained unshaken, had not continued to sustain the conflict with equal 
perseverance and intrepidity. 

Marshal Ney, who had with him not more than 20,000 men, was de¬ 
sirous of causing the 1st corps, which he had left in the rear, to advance; 
but the Emperor, as I have said above, had sent immediate orders to 
Comte d’Erlon, who commanded it, to rejoin him, and this general had 
commenced his march. Ney when he heard this was exposed to a cross¬ 
fire from the enemy’s batteries. “Do you see those bullets ?” exclaimed 
he, his brow clouded with despair: “I wish they would all pass through 
my body.” Instantly he sent with all speed after Comte d’Erlon, and 
directed him, whatever orders he might have received from the Emperor 
himself, to return. Comte d’Erlon was so unfortunate and weak as to 
obey. He brought his troops back to the Marshal, but it was nine o’clock 
in the evening, and the Marshal, dispirited by the checks he had received, 
and dissatisfied with himself and others, had discontinued the engage¬ 
ment. 

The Duke of Wellington, whose forces had been increased successively 
to upwards of 50,000 men, retired in good order during the night to 
Genappe. 

Marshal Ney was indebted to the great bravery of his troops and the 
firmness of his generals for the honor of not being obliged to abandon his 
positions. 

The desperation with which this battle was fought made those shud¬ 
der who were most habituated to contemplate with coolness the horrors of 
war. The smoking ruins of Ligny and St. Amand were heaped with the 
dead and the dying; the ravine before Ligny resembled a river of blood, on 
which carcasses were floating: at Quatre Bras there was a similar spec¬ 
tacle! The hollow way that skirted the wood had disappeared under the 
bloody corpses of the brave Scotch and of our cuirassiers. The Imperial 
Guard was everywhere distinguished by its murderous rage: it fought 
with shouts of “The Emperor forever! No quarter!” The corps of 
General Gerard displayed the same animosity. It was this corps that. 
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having expended all its ammunition, called out for m*»rv curtiidgc* :i*j«l 

more Prussians. 
The loss of the Prussians, render**)} considerable h> !h»* ireiiu'iidiiU' 

fire of our artillery, was 25,1)00 men, iUucher, uulmrM-d l»\ our emu* 
siers, escaped them only by a miracle. 

The English and Dutch lost 45* H) m**n. Three Seureh regiments ami 
the Black Legion of Bruns v*i<*k were almost entirely e\terimiuf««!. 'Hi.* 
Prince of Brunswick himself and a number of other idlicor* of 4s-.hu*' ,,,u 

were killed. 
We lost in the left wing nearly 5000 men and mu end gem-r ik lYhnv 

Jerome, who had already b**en wounded at the passage of tin* Noubi«, 
had his hand slightly grazed by a musket-dm?. II*' remained emeu usih 
at the. head of his division, and displayed a great d«*al of roofm-v, ,usd 
valor. Our loss at Ligny, estimate*} at tl5on men* \\m rendered Mdi m«»re 
to be regretted hy General Girard's receiving a mortal wound, l*Vw Milo 
cers were endued with a diameter mi noble, and an iutrepidil) •>«< hatbiii ii. 
More greedy of glory than of wealth, he possessed nothing but hk 

and his last moments, instead of resting with delight on I he remoiuhiance 
of his heroic actions alone, wen* disturbed by the pain of leaving Ifamily 
exposed to want. 

The victory of Ligny did not entirely fulfil tin* expectations *»f the Km 
peror. “If Marshal Ney," said he, “ had attacked the Engird* iiifb all 
his forces, he would have crushed them, and hare arrived tn iuti«» in gnr 
the Prussians the, finishing blow*: and If, after having eottiitusted thin first 
fault, ho had not laum guilty of a second folly, in prevention the more 
meat of (Ionite IPKrlon, the intervention of the 1st corps would have do*rs 
cned the resistance of Blueher, and rendered hi* defeat Irrepiirabie; ht* 
whole army would have been taken or destroyed." 

This victory, though imperfect, was not the lew considered hy flir gen¬ 
erals of the highest importance. It separated the English arms hum Hie 
Prussians, and left us hopes of being abb* to vanquish it In its turn. 

The Emperor, without losing time, was for attacking the Kngtedi on 
one side at daybreak, and pursuing Blueher’s army without tc^pite on the 
other. In opposition to this plan It was remarked that the Englbdi at my 
was fresh, and ready to accept battle, while otsr harassed by fhr 
conflicts and fatigue? of Ligny, would not perlt»p*t In* in a condition i» %tu 
with the necessary vigor. Finally, such numerous objections were imeir 
that lie consented to suffer the army hi take rest. III ittrr«« in*piie* 
timidity. If Napoleon, as of old, hail listened only t«» the «f 
his own daring resolution, It is probable, nay, it |» certain I mat i\m 
confirmed by General Drouot) that he might, according t« hk plan, have 
led his troops to Brussels on the I7ili;ati«t who can calculate wlim would 
have been the consequences of that capital fulling into hh hand* ? 

On the 17th, therefore, the Emperor conleiitcd hlniMdf with forming 
his army into two columns: one, of tfftJKXt men tumlml bf the Einii*ui»r 
himself, after uniting with it the left wing, followed the KtiglLh army. 
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The light artillery, the lancers of General Alphonse Colbert, and of the 
intrepid Colonel Sourd, hung close upon their rear even to the entrance 
of the forest of Soignies, where the Duke of Wellington took up his 
position. 

The other, 36,000 strong, was detached under the orders of Marshal 
Grouchy to observe and pursue the Prussians. It did not proceed beyond 
Gembloux. 

The night of the 17th was dreadful, and seemed to presage the calam¬ 
ities of the day. A violent and incessant rain did not allow the army to 
take a single moment’s rest. To increase our misfortunes, the bad state 
of the roads retarded the arrival of our provisions, and most of the sol¬ 
diers were without food: however, they endured this double ill luck with 
much cheerfulness, and at daybreak announced to Napoleon by repeated 
acclamations that they were ready to fly to a fresh victory. 

The Emperor had thought that Lord Wellington, separated from the 
Prussians, and foreseeing the march of General Grouchy, who on passing 
the Dyle might fall on his flank or on his rear, would not venture to 
maintain his position, but would retire to Brussels. He was surprised 
when daylight discovered to him that the English army had not quitted 
its positions, and appeared disposed to accept battle and await the attack. 
Several general officers were directed to reconnoitre their positions; and 
to use the words of one of them, he learned that they were defended by 
“an army of cannons, and mountains of infantry.” 

Napoleon immediately sent advice to Marshal Grouchy that he was 
probably about to engage in a grand battle with the English, and ordered 
him to push the Prussians briskly, to rejoin the Grand Army as speedily 
as possible, and to direct his movements so as to be able to connect his 
operations with it. 

He then sent for his principal officers, to give them his instructions. 
Some of them, confident and daring, asserted that the enemy’s posi¬ 

tion should be attacked and carried by main force. Others, not less 
brave, but more prudent, urged that the ground being deluged by the 
rain, the troops, the cavalry in particular, could not manoeuvre without 
much difficulty and fatigue, that the English army would have the 
immense advantage of awaiting us on firm ground in its intrenchments, 
and that it would be better to endeavor to turn these. All did justice to 
the valor of our troops, and promised that they would perform prodigies; 
but they differed in opinion with regard to the resistance that the English 
would make. “ Their cavalry,” said the generals who had fought in 
Spain, “are not equal to ours; but their infantry are more formidable 
than is supposed. When intrenched they are dangerous from their skill 
in firing; in the open field they stand firm, and if broken, rally again 
within a hundred yards, and return to the charge.” Fresh disputes arose, 
and, what is remarkable, it never entered into any one’s head that the 
Prussians, pretty numerous parties of whom had been seen towards 
Moustier, might be in a situation to make a serious diversion on our right. 
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the cuirassiers without it being possible to stop them. A second conflict 
more bloody than the first, took place at all points. Our troops, exposed 
to the incessant lire of the enemy’s batteries and infantry, heroically 
sustained and executed numerous brilliant charges during two hours, in 
which we had the glory of taking six Hags, dismounting several batteries, 
and cutting to pieces four regiments; but in which we also lost the flower 
of our intrepid cuirassiers and of the cavalry of the Guard. 

The Emperor, whom this fatal engagement filled with despair, could 
not remedy it. Grouchy did not arrive; and he had already been obliged 

to weaken his reserves by 4000 of the Young Guard, in order to master 
the Prussians, whose numbers and whose progress were still increasing. 

Meantime our cavalry, weakened by a considerable loss and unequal 

contests incessantly renewed, began to be disheartened, and to yield 

ground. The issue of the battle, appeared to become doubtful. It was 
necessary to strike a grand blow by a desperate attack. 

The Emperor did not hesitate a moment. 
Orders wore immediately given to Oount Ueille to collect all his forces, 

and to fall with impetuosity on the right of the enemy, while Napoleon 
in person proceeded to attack the front with his reserves. The Emperor 
had already formed his Guard into a column of attack, when he heard 
that our cavalry had just been compelled to evacuate in part the heights 
of Mont St. Jean. Marshal Ney was immediately ordered to take with 
him four battalions of the Middle Guard, and hasten with all speed to the 
fatal height, to support the cuirassiers by whom it was still occupied. 

The determined aspect of the Guard, and the harangues of Napoleon, 
animated the courage of all: the cavalry ami a few battalions who had 
followed his movement to the rear faced about towards the enemy 
shouting, “ The Emperor forever!” 

At this moment the bring of musketry was heard. “ There’s Grouchy! ” 
exclaimed the Emjmror. ** The day is ours! ” LaMdoyhre flew to an¬ 
nounce this happy news to the army: in spite of the enemy he penetrated 
to the head of our columns. u Marshal Grouchy is arriving, the Guard is 
going to charge: courage! courage! ’tis all over with the English.” 

One last shout of hojM* burst from every rank: the wounded who were 
still capable of taking a few stejw returned to the combat, and thousands 
of voices eagerly related, ** Forward I forward!” 

The column commanded by “ the bravest of the brave,” on his arrival 
in the face of the enemy, was received by discharges of artillery that 
occasioned it a terrible loss. Marshal Ney, weary of bullets, ordered the 
batteries to be carried by the bayonet. The grenadiers rushed on them 
with such impetuosity that they neglected the admirable order to which 
they had Imen so often indebted for victory. Their leader, Intoxicated 
with intrepidity, did not perceive this disorder. He and his soldiers 
rushed on the enemy tumultuously. A shower of balls and grape hurst 
on their heads. Key’s horse was shot under him. Generals Michel and 
Friant fell wounded or dead, and a number of brave fellows were stretched 
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on the ground. Wellington did not allow our grenadiers time to recover 
themselves. He attacked them in flank with his cavalry, and compelled 
them to retire in the greatest disorder. At the same instant the 30,000 
Prussians under Zieten, who had been taken for Grouchy’s army, carried 
by assault the village of La Haye, and drove our men before them. Our 
cavalry, our infantry, already staggered by the defeat of the Middle Guard, 
were afraid of being cut off, and precipitately retreated. The English 
horse, skilfully availing themselves of the confusion which this unex¬ 
pected retreat had occasioned, pierced through our ranks, and succeeded 
in spreading disorder and dismay amongst them. The other troops on 
the right, who continued to resist with great difficulty the attack of the 
Prussians, and who had been in want of ammunition above an hour, see¬ 
ing some of our squadrons routed and some of the Guards running away, 
thought all was lost, and quitted their position. This panic extended in 
an instant to our left, and the whole army, after having so valiantly car¬ 
ried the enemy’s strongest posts, abandoned them with as much precipi¬ 
tation as they had displayed bravery in conquering them. 

The English army, which had advanced in proportion as we retreated, 
and the Prussians, who had not ceased to pursue us, fell at once on our 
scattered battalions; night increased the tumult and alarm, and soon the 
whole army was nothing but a confused crowd, which the English and 
Prussians routed without effort, and pitilessly massacred. 

The Emperor, witnessing this frightful defection, could scarcely believe 
his eyes. His aides de camp flew to rally the troops in all directions. 
He also threw himself into the midst of the crowd. But his words, his 
orders, his entreaties were not heard. How was it possible for the army 
to form anew under the guns and amid the continual charges of 80,000 
English and 60,000 Prussians, who covered the field of battle ? 

However, eight battalions, which the Emperor had previously collected, 
formed in squares, and blocked up the road to prevent the advance of the 
Prussian and English armies. These brave fellows, notwithstanding their 
resolution and courage, could not long resist the efforts of an enemy 
twenty times their number. Surrounded, assaulted, cannonaded on all 
sides, most of them at length fell. Some sold their lives dearly; others, 
exhausted with fatigue, hunger, and thirst, had no longer strength to fight, 
and suffered themselves to be killed without being able to make any 
defence. Two battalions only, whom the enemy were unable to break, 
retreated disputing the ground, till, thrown into disorder and hurried 
along by the general movement, they were obliged themselves to follow 
the stream. 

One last battalion of reserve, the illustrious and unfortunate remains 
of the granite column of the fields of Marengo, had remained unshaken 
amid the tumultuous waves of the army. The Emperor retired into the 
ranks of1 these brave fellows, still commanded by Cambronne ! He 
formed them into a square, and advanced at their head to meet the 
enemy. All his generals, Ney, Soult, Bertrand, Drouot, Corbineau, De 
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Elalxaut, Labedoyere, Gourgaud, etc;., drew their swords and became 
soldiers. The old grenadiers, incapable of fear for their own lives, were 
alarmed at the danger that threatened the life, of the Emperor. They 
conjured him to withdraw. 44 Retire,” said one of them. 14 You see clearly 
that death shuns yon.'5 The Emperor resi ted, and ordered them to 
fire. The officers around him seized his bridle and dragged him away. 
(lambronne and his brave fellows crowded round their expiring eagles, 
and bade Napoleon an eternal adieu. The English, moved by their 
heroic resistance, conjured them to surrender. 44 No,” said Cambronne, 
44 the Guard can die, but not yield!” At the same moment they all 
rushed on the enemy with shouts of 44 Long live the Emperor !” Their 
blows were, worthy of the conquerors of A listed itz, Jena, Wagram, and 
Montmirail. The English and Prussians, from whom they still kept back 
the victory, united against this handful of heroes, and cut them down. 
Some, covered with wounds, fell to the ground, weltering in their blood; 
others, more fortunate, were killed outright: finally, they whose hopes 
were not answered by death shot one another, that they might not survive 
their eompanions-in-arms or die by the hands of their enemies.1 

Wellington and Blueher, thus become quiet possessors of the. field of 
battle, traversed it. as masters. But at what expense of blood was this 
unjust triumph purchased ! Never, no never, were the blows of the 
French more formidable or more, deadly to their adversaries. Thirsting 
after blood and glory, despising danger and death, they rushed daringly on 
the blazing batteries of their enemy, and seemed to multiply in number, 
to seek, attack, and pursue; them in their inaccessible, intre.nehments. 
JO,(KM) English or Prussians were sacrificed by their hands on that, fatal 
day; and when it. is considered that this horrible carnage was the work 
of 50JKH) men, dying with fatigue and hunger, and striving in miry 
ground against an impregnable position, and 130,000 fighting men, we 
cannot hut he seized with sorrowful admiration, and decree to the 
vanquished the palm of victory.'2 

1 It is scarcely necessary to remind our readers of the graphic, if incorrect, 
picture of Waterloo given’hi Victor Hugo's Lv* Misttrablen. 

* Mpinnim of tht* Privuto llvturn, and lit* iff n of Napoleon in 1815, by 
M, Ehmry do (Jhabmilon, ex-Scerctary of the Emperor Napoleon and of his 
Cabinets,’ Master of Requests to the Council of State, etc. 



CHAPTER X. 

1815. 

Interview with Lavallette — Proceedings in the French Chambers—Second 
abdication of Napoleon — He retires to Rochefort, negotiates with Captain 
Maitland, and finally embarks in the Bellerophon. 

One of the first public men to see Napoleon after his return 
from Waterloo was Lavallette. “I iew/J says he, “to the 
Elysee to see the Emperor: he summoned me into his closet, 
and as soon as he saw me, he came to meet me with a fright¬ 
ful epileptic laugh. ‘Oh, my God!5 he said, raising his eyes 
to heaven, and walking two or three times up and down the 
room. This appearance of despair was however very short. 
He soon recovered his coolness, and asked me what was going 
forward in the Chamber of Representatives. I could not 
attempt to hide that party spirit was there carried to a high 
pitch, and that the majority seemed determined to require his 
abdication, and to pronounce it themselves if he did not con¬ 
cede willingly. 6 How is that ? 7 he said. ‘ If proper meas¬ 
ures are not taken the enemy will be before the gates of Paris 
in eight days. Alas l7 he added, ‘ have I accustomed them to 
such great victories that they know not how to bear one day’s 
misfortune ? What will become of poor Prance ? I have 
done all I could for her!7 He then heaved a deep sigh. 
Somebody asked to speak to him, and I left him, with a direc¬ 
tion to come back at a later hour. 

“ I passed the day in seeking information among all my 
friends and acquaintances. I found in all of them either the 
greatest dejection or an extravagant joy, which they disguised 
by feigned alarm and pity for myself, which I repulsed with 
great indignation. Nothing favorable was to be expected 
.from the Chamber of Representatives. They all said they 
wished for liberty, but, between two enemies who appeared 
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ready to destroy it, they preferred the foreigners, the friends 

of the Bourbons, to Napoleon, who might still have prolonged 

the struggle, but that he alone would not find means to save 
them and erect the edifice of liberty. The Chamber of Beers 

presented a much sadder spectacle. Except the intrepid 
Thibaudeau, who till the last moment expressed himself with 

admirable energy against the Bourbons, almost all the others 
thought of nothing else but getting out of the dilemma with 

the least loss they could. Some took no pains to hide their 
wish of bending again under the Bourbon yoke.” 

On the evening of Napoleon’s return to Baris he sent for 

Benjamin Constant to come to him at the Ely see about seven 

o’clock. The Chambers had dec*,reed their permanence, and 

proposals for abdication had reached the Emperor. He was 

serious but calm. In reply to some words on the disaster of 

Waterloo he said, “ The question no longer concerns me, but 

France. They wish me to abdicate. Have they calculated 
upon the inevitable consequences of this abdication ? it is 

round me, round my name, that the army rallies: to separate 

me from it is to disband it. If I abdicate, to-day, in two days’ 

time you will no longer have, an army. These poor fellows 

do not understand all your subtleties. Is it believed that 

axioms in metaphysics, declarations of right, harangues from 

the tribune, will put a stop to the disbanding of an army ? 

To reject me when I landed at Cannes I can conceive possi¬ 
ble; to abandon me now is what I do not understand. It is 

not when the enemy is at twenty-five leagues’ distance that 
any Government can be overturned with impunity. Does any 
one imagine that the Foreign Bowers will be won over by fine 

words ? If they had dethroned me fifteen days ago there 

would have been some spirit in it; but as it is, I make part 

of what strangers attack, I make part, then, of what France is 

bound to defend. In giving me up she*, gives up herself, she 

avows her weakness, she acknowledges herself conquered, she 

courts the insolence of the conqueror. It is not the love of 

liberty which deposes me, but Waterloo; it is fear, and a fear 

of which your enemies will take advantage. And then what 
title has the Chamber to demand my abdication ? it goes out 
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of its lawful sphere in doing so; it has no authority. It is 
my right, it is my duty to dissolve it.” 

“He then hastily ran over the possible consequences of 
such a step. Separated from the Chambers, he could only 

be considered as a military chief: but the army would be for 
him; that would always join him who can lead it against 

foreign banners, and to this might be added all that part of 
the population which is equally powerful and easily led in 

such a state of things. As if chance intended to strengthen 
Napoleon in this train of thought, while he was speaking the 

avenue of Marigny resounded with the cries of ‘ Yive l’Em- 
pereur !’ A crowd of men, chiefly of the poor and laboring 

class, pressed forward into the avenue, full of a wild enthusi¬ 
asm, and trying to scale the walls to make an offer to Napo¬ 
leon to rally round and defend him. Bonaparte for some 

time looked attentively at this group. < You see it is so/ said 
he ; ‘those are not the men whom I have loaded with honors 

and riches. What do these people owe me ? I found them 
— I left them — poor. The instinct of necessity enlightens 

them; the voice of the country speaks by their mouths; and 

if I choose, if I permit it, in an hour the refractory Chambers 
will have ceased to exist. But the life of a man is not worth 
purchasing at such a price : I did not return from the Isle of 
Elba that Baris should be inundated with blood.’ He did not 
like the idea of flight. ‘ Why should I not stay here ? ’ he 
repeated. ‘ What do you suppose they would do to a man 

disarmed like me ? I will go to Malmaison: I can live there 

in retirement with some friends, who most certainly will 
come to see me only for my own sake.’ 

“ He then described with complacency and even with a 

sort of gayety this new kind of life. Afterwards, discarding 

an idea which sounded like mere irony, he went on. i If they 
do not like me to remain in France, where am I to go ? To 
England ? My abode there would be ridiculous or disquiet¬ 
ing. I should be tranquil; no one would believe it. Every 

fog would be suspected of concealing my landing on the 

coast. At the first sight of a green coat getting out of a boat 
one party would fly from France, the other would put France 
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out of the pale of the law. I should compromise everybody; 

and by dint of the repeated ‘ Behold lie comes !? I should 

feel the temptation to set out. America would be more suit¬ 

able ; I could live there with dignity. But once more, what 

is there to fear ? What sovereign can, without injuring 

himself, persecute me? To one I have restored half his 
dominions ; how often has the other pressed my hand, calling 

me a great man! And as to the third, can he find pleasure 
or honor in the humiliation of his son-in-law ? Would they 
wish to proclaim in the face of the world that all they did 

was through fear ? As to the rest, I shall see : I do not wish 

to employ open force. I came in the hope of combining our 

last resources: they abandoned me; they do so with the same 
facility with which they received me back. Well, then, let 

them efface, if possible, this double stain of weakness and 

levity ! Let them cover it over with some sacrifice, with some 

glory! 3jet them do for the country what they will not do 

for me. I doubt it. To-day, those who deliver up Bonaparte 
say that it is to save France: to-morrow, by delivering up 

France, they will prove that it was to save their own heads.”1 

The humiliating scenes which rapidly succeeded one 
another, and which ended in Napoleon’s unconditional sur¬ 

render, may be briefly told. As soon as possible after his 
arrival at Paris he assembled his counsellors, when he 

declared himself in favor of still resisting. The question, 

however, was, whether the Chambers would support him; and 

Lafayette being treacherously informed, it is said by Foueh6, 
that it was intended to dissolve the Chambers, used his influ¬ 

ence to get the Chambers to adopt the propositions he laid 

before them. By these the independence of the nation was 

asserted to be in danger; the sittings of the Chamber were 

declared permanent, and all attempts to dissolve it were 

pronounced treasonable. The propositions were adopted, 
and being communicated to the Chamber of Peers, that 

body also declared itself permanent. Whatever might have 

been the intentions of Bonaparte, it was now manifest that 

there were no longer any hopes of his being able to make his 

I Hazmt 
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will the law of the nation; after some vacillation, therefore, 
on 22d June he published the following declaration: — 

TO THE FRENCH PEOPLE. 

Frenchmen!— In commencing war for maintaining tlie national in¬ 
dependence, I relied on the union of all efforts, of all wills, and the 
concurrence of all the national authorities. I had reason to hope for 
success, and I braved all the declarations of the powers against me. 
Circumstances appear to me changed. I offer myself a sacrifice to the 
hatred of the enemies of France. May they prove sincere in their 
declarations, and really have directed them only against my power. 
My political life is terminated, and I proclaim my son under the title of 

Napoleon Iff., 
EMPEROR OF THE FRENCH. 

The present Ministers will provisionally form the Council of the 
Government. The interest which I take in my son induces me to invite 
the Chambers to form without delay the Regency by a law. Unite all 
for the public safety, that you may continue an independent nation. 

(Signed) Napoleon. 

This declaration was conveyed to both the Chambers, which 

voted deputations to the late Emperor, accepting this abdica¬ 

tion, but in their debates the nomination of his son to the 

succession was artfully eluded. The Chamber of Bepresenta- 

tives voted the nomination of a Commission of five persons, 

three to be chosen from that Chamber, and two from the 
Chamber of Peers, for the purpose of provisionally exercising 

the functions of Government, and also that the Ministers 
should continue their respective functions under the authority 
of this Commission. The persons chosen by the Chamber for 

Bepresentatives were Carnot, Douche, and Grenier, those nomi¬ 

nated by the Peers were the Duke of Vicenza (Caulaincourt) 

and Baron Quinette. The Commission nominated five persons 

to the Allied army for the purpose of proposing peace. These 

proceedings were, however, rendered of little importance by 

the resolution of the victors to advance to Paris. 
N"apoleon*s behavior just before and immediately after the 

crisis is well described by Lavallette. “ The next day,” he 
observes, returned to the Emperor. He had received the 
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most positive accounts of the state of feeling in the Chamber 

of Representatives. The reports had, however, been given to 

him with some little reserve, for he did not seem to me con¬ 

vinced that the resolution was really formed to pronounce his 

abdication. I was better informed on the matter, and I came 

to him without having the least doubt in my mind that the 

only thing he could do was to descend once more from the 

throne. I communicated to him all the particulars I had just 

received, and I did not hesitate to advise him to follow the 

only course worthy of him. He listened to me with a sombre 

air, and though he was in some measure master of himself, 

the agitation of his mind and the sense of his position be¬ 

trayed themselves in his face and in all his motions. (I 

know/ said I, k' that your Majesty may still keep the sword 

drawn, but with whom, and against whom ? Defeat has 

chilled the courage of every one; the army is still in the 

greatest confusion. Nothing is to be expected from Paris, 

and the coup d’etat of the 18th Brumaire cannot be renewed.’ 

— * That thought,’ he replied, stopping, ‘ is far from my mind. 
I will hear nothing more about myself. But poor France ! ’ 

At that moment Savary and Oaulaineourt entered, and having 

drawn a faithful picture of the exasperation of the Deputies, 
they persuaded him to assent to abdication. Some words he 

uttered proved to us that lie would have considered death 

preferable to that step; but still he took it. 

“ The great act of abdication being performed, he remained 
calm during the whole day, giving his advice on the position 

Ihe army should take, and on the manner in which the negoti¬ 

ations with the enemy ought to be conducted. He insisted 
especially on the necessity of proclaiming his son Emperor, 

lot so much for the advantage of the child as with a view to 

joncentrate all the power of sentiments and affections. Un¬ 
fortunately, nobody would listen to him. Some men of sense 

and courage rallied round that proposition in the two Cham¬ 

bers, but fear swayed the majority; and among those who 

remained free from it many thought that a public declaration 
of liberty, and the resolution to defend it at any price, would 
make the enemy and the Bourbons turn back. Strange delu- 
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sion of weakness and want of experience ! It must, however, 

be respected, for it had its source in love of their country; 
biit., while we excuse it, can it be justified ? The population 
of tlie metropolis had resumed its usual appearance, which 
was that of complete indifference, with a resolution to cry 

* Long live the King!J provided the King arrived well 

escorted; for one must not judge of the whole capital by 
about one-thirtieth part of the inhabitants, who called for 
arms, and declared themselves warmly against the return of 

tire exiled family. 
On the 23d I returned to the Elysee. The Emperor had 

been for two hours in his bath. He himself turned the dis¬ 
course on the retreat he ought to choose, and spoke of the 

United States. I rejected the idea without reflection, and 
witlr a degree of vehemence that surprised him. ‘ Why not 
-A_merica?* he asked. I answered, ‘Because Moreau retired 

there.’ The observation was harsh, and I should never have 
foi’gfven myself for having expressed it, if I had not retracted 

my advice a few days afterwards. He heard it without any 
apparent ill humor, but I have no doubt that it must have 
made an unfavorable impression on his mind. I strongly 

urged on his choosing England for his asylum. 
The Emperor went to Malmaison. He was accompanied 

tbitlier by the Duchesse de St. Leu, Bertrand and his family, 
and. the Due de Bassano. The day that he arrived there he 
proposed to me to accompany him abroad. ‘ Drouot/ he said, 

c remains in France. I see the Minister of War wishes him 
not to be lost to his country. I dare not complain, but it is a 

great loss to me; I never met with a better head, or a more 
upright heart. That man was formed to be a prime minister 
anywhere/ I declined to accompany him at the time, saying, 
c 3My wife is enceinte ; I cannot make up my mind to leave her. 

AJLlow me some time, and I will join you wherever you may 

"be. I have remained faithful to your Majesty in better times, 
and you may reckon upon me now. Nevertheless, if my wife 

did not require all my attention, I should do better to go with 
yon, for I have sad forebodings respecting my fate/ 

“ The Emperor made no answer; but I saw by the expression 
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of his countenance that ho had no hotter augury of my fate 

than I had. However, the enemy was approaching %ni for 
the last three days he had solicited the Provisional Govern- 
ment to place a frigate at his disposal, with which he might 

proceed to America. It had been promised him ; he was even 

pressed to set off ; hut he wanted to be the bearer of the order 

to the captain to convey him to the Tinted States, and that 
order did not arrive. We* all felt that the delay of a single 

hour might put his freedom in jeopardy. 
“After we had talked the subject over among ourselves, I 

went to him and strongly pointed out. to him bow dangerous 

it might be to prolong his stay. II<* observed that he 
could not go without the order. * Depart, nevertheless/ I re¬ 
plied ; 4your presence on board the slop will still have agreat 
influence over Frenchmen; cut the cables, promise money to 
the crew, and if the captain resist have him put on shore, and 
hoist your sails. I have no doubt but. Fonehd has sold you to 
the Allies.’ —I believe it also; but go and make the last ef¬ 

fort with the Minister of Marine.’ I went off immediately to 
M. Deeres. He was in bed, and listened to me with an indiffer¬ 

ence that made my blood boil He said to me, 41 am only a 
Minister. Go to Foueltc ; speak to the Government. As for 

me, I can do nothing. Good-night.’ And ho saying he 
covered himself up again in his blankets. I left him; but I 
could not succeed in speaking either to Fonda* or to any of 

the others. It was two o'clock iii the morning when 1 re¬ 
turned to Malmaison; the Hmperor was in bed. I was ad¬ 

mitted to his chain) wr, when* l gave him an account of the 
result of my mission, and renewed my entreaties. He listened 

to me, but made no answer. He got up, however, and spent 

a part of the night in walking up and down the room. 
“The following day was the hint of that sad drama. The 

Emperor had gone to hod again, and slept a few hours. I 
entered his cabinet at al«mt twelve o’clock. * If I had known 

you were here,’ lie said, 41 would have had you called in.’ He 
then gave me, on a subject that interested him personally, some 
instructions which it is needless for me to repeat. Boon after 

I left him, full of anxiety respecting his fate, my heart 
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oppressed with grief, but still far from suspecting the extent 

to which both the rigor of fortune and the cruelty of his 
enemies would be carried.” 1 

All the morning of the 29th of June the great road from St. 
Germain rung with the cries of “ Vive TEmpereur ! ” proceed¬ 
ing from the troops who passed under the walls of Malmaison. 
About mid-day General Becker,2 sent by the Provisional Gov- 

1 Memoirs of Lavallette, vol. ii. p. 197. 
2 The following official letters between Fouche, Davoust, etc., relative to 

the situation of Napoleon at this period are too interesting to be omitted. 

The Commission of Government to Marshal the Prince of Eckmuhl, 
Minister of War. 

Paris, 27th June, 1815. 
Sir — Such is the present state of affairs, that it is necessary that Napoleon 

should resolve on taking his departure for the Isle of Aix. If he does not 
decide upon doing so when you announce the subjoined resolutions you will 
take care that he is watched at Malmaison, in order to prevent his escape. 
You will, with this view, place the proper number of gendarmerie and 
troops under the direction of General Becker to guard every avenue which 
leads to Malmaison. For this purpose you will give the necessary orders to 
the chief inspector of gendarmerie. These measures must be as secret as 
possible. 

This letter is intended for you, but General Becker (who will be charged 
to acquaint Napoleon with the resolutions) will receive particular instruc¬ 
tions from your Excellency, and will make him sensible that they have been 
drawn up for the interest of the State and the safety of his person; that then- 
prompt fulfilment is indispensable; and finally, that the interest of Napo¬ 
leon himself, as regards his future fate, imperiously demands their execution. 

(Signed) The Duke op Otranto. 

Copy of the Resolutions of the Commission of Government. 
Paris, 26th June, 1815. 

The Commission of Government resolves as follows: — 
Art. I. The Minister of Marine shall give orders for two frigates to be 

prepared at Rochefort to convey Napoleon Bonaparte to the United States. 
Art. II. He shall be furnished, if he requires it, until his departure, with 

a sufficient escort, under the command of Lieutenant-General Becker, who 
will be charged to provide for his safety. 

Art. III. The Director-General of Posts shall give the necessary orders 
for the relays of horses. 

Art. IV. The Minister of Marine shall give the necessary orders to secure 
the immediate return of the frigates after the embarkation of Napoleon. 

Art. V. The frigates shall not quit Rochefort until the safe arrival of the 
passports. 

Art. VI. The Ministers of Marine, of War, and of the Finances, are 
charged, in respect of their several departments, with the execution of the 
present resolutions. (Signed) The Duke op Otranto. 

By the Commission of Government, 
the Assistant-Secretary of State, 

(Signed) Count Bkrlier. 

The Duke of Otranto to the Minister of War. 
Paris, 27th June, 1815, Noon. 

Sir— I transmit you a copy of a letter I have just written to the Minister 
of Marine respecting Napoleon. You will perceive the necessity, upon read- 
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eminent, arrived. He had been appointed to attend Napo¬ 

leon. Fouehe knew that General Becker had grievances 

against the Emperor, and thought to find in him a willing 

agent. He was greatly deceived, for the General paid to the 

Emperor a degree of respect highly to his honor. Time now 

became pressing. The Emperor, at the moment of departure, 

sent a message by General Becker himself to the Provisional 
Government, offering to march as a private citizen at the head 

of the troops. He promised to repulse Blucher, and after- 

ing it, of giving orders to General Becker not to separate himself from the 
person of Napoleon whilst the latter shall remain in the Roads. 

(Signed) The Duke of Otranto. 

The Duke of Otranto to the Minister of Marine. 
Paris, 27th June, 1815, Noon. 

Sir — The Commission reminds you of the instructions which it caused to 
be transmitted to you an hour ago.' It is necessary that the resolution should 
be executed as directed by the Commission yesterday, and according to which 
Napoleon Bonaparte will remain in the Roads of Aix until the passports shall 
arrive. 

The interest of the Stabs which cannot be indifferent to him, requires that 
he shall remain there until his own fate ami that of his family shall be defi¬ 
nitively arranged. Every means shall be employed in order that the negotia¬ 
tion may be settled to his satisfaction. The honor of France is interested in 
it, hut meanwhile every possible precaution must he taken for the personal 
security of Napoleon, and that he does not quit the place which has been 
temporarily assigned to him. 

The President of the Commission of Government. 
(Signed) The Duke of Otranto. 

The. Minister of War to General Becker. 
Paris, 27th June, 1815. 

Sir —T have the honor to transmit to you the resolutions annexed, which 
the Commission of Government charges you to notify to the Emperor Napo¬ 
leon; observing to His Majesty that circumstances are so imperious that it 
has Imcotne indispensable that he should decide upon departing for the Isle 
of Aix. This resolution, observes the Commission, has been taken as much 
for the safety of his own person as for the welfare of the State, which must 
always lie dear to him. 

If* His Majesty does not come to an early decision upon the notification of 
these resolutions it is the intention of the Commission of Government that 
necessary nuwmres should he taken to prevent the escape of His Majesty. 

I repeat to you, Kir, that this resolution has been adopted for the welfare 
of the State, and for the personal security of the Emperor, and that the Com¬ 
mission of Government considers its prompt execution as indispensable for 
the interest, of His Majesty and of his family. 

1 have the honor to he, etc. [ • ———— — ™j 

This letter remained unsigned. The Prince of Eckmlihl (Davoust), with 
the same, nobleness of sentiment as distinguished Macdonald in 1814, at the 
moment of despatching it, observed to his secretary, “ X will never sign that 
letter; do you sign it — that will be sufficient.” The secretary, however, did 
uot sign it {Memorial, tome h pp. 25-30). 
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wards to continue his route. Upon the refusal of the Pro vis- 
ional Government he quitted Malmaison on the 29th. Napo¬ 
leon and part of his suite took the road to Boehefort. He 

slept at Bambouillet on the 29th of June, on the 30th at 
Tours, on the 1st of July he arrived at Mort, and on the 3d 

reached Boehefort, on the western coast of France, with the 
intention of escaping to America; but the whole western sea¬ 

board was so vigilantly watched by British men-of-war that, 
after various plans and devices, he was obliged to abandon 
the attempt in despair. He was lodged at the house of the 

prefect, at the balcony of which he occasionally showed him¬ 

self to acknowledge the acclamations of the people. 
During his stay here a French naval officer, commanding a 

Danish merchant vessel, generously offered to some of Napo¬ 

leon’s adherents to further his escape. He proposed to take 
Napoleon alone, and undertook to conceal his person so effect¬ 

ually as to defy the most rigid scrutiny, and offered to sail 

immediately to the United States of America. He required 
no other compensation than a small sum to indemnify the 

owners of his ship for the loss this enterprise might occasion 
them. This was agreed to by Bertrand upon certain stipula¬ 

tions. 
On the evening of the 8th of July Napoleon reached 

Fouras, receiving everywhere testimonies of attachment. He 
proceeded on board the Saale, one of the two frigates ap¬ 
pointed by the Provisional Government to convey him to the 

United States, and slept on board that night. Very early on 

the following morning he visited the fortifications of that 
place, and returned to the frigate for dinner. On the evening 

of the 9th of July he despatched Count Las Cases and the 
Duke of Bovigo to the commander of the English squadron, 

for the purpose of ascertaining whether the passports prom¬ 

ised by the Provisional Government to enable him to proceed 
to America had been received. A negative answer was 

returned; it was at the same time signified that the Emperor 

would be attacked by the English squadron if he attempted 

to sail under a flag of truce, and it was intimated that every 

neutral vessel would be examined, and probably sent into an 
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English port. Las Cases affirms that Napoleon was recom 

mended to proceed to England by Captain Maitland, who 

assured him that he would experience no ill-treatment there.1 

1 Napoleon’s presence at Rochefort excited such enthusiasm among the 
people, the sailors, and soldiers, that the shore uninterruptedly resounded 
with shouts of “Long live the Emperor! ” and these shouts, repeated from 
mouth to mouth, could not but teach those who had flattered themselves with 
having mastered the will of Napoleon, how easy it would be for him to shake 
off his chains and laugh at their vain precautions. Faithful to his deter¬ 
mination, however, he lirmly resisted the impulse of circumstances, and the 
continual solicitation made him to put himself at the head of the patriots 
and the army. “ It is too late,” he constantly repeated; “ the evil is now 
without remedy; it is no longer in my power to save the country. A civil 
war now would answer no end — would be of no utility. To myself alone it 
might prove advantageous, by affording me the means of procuring person¬ 
ally more favorable conditions; but these I must purchase by the inevitable 
destruction of the most generous and magnanimous spirit which Franco 
possesses; and such a result inspires me with horror.” Up to the 29th of 
June, the day when the Emperor quitted Malmaison, no English vessel had 
been seem off the coast of Rochefort, and there is every reason to believe that 
Napoleon, if circumstances had allowed him to embark immediately after 
liis abdication, would have reached the United States without obstruction. 
But when In* arrived at the sea-coast he found every outlet occupied by the 
English, and appeared to retain little hope of (-scaping. 

Tin* 8th of July he went, on board the French frigate La Smlo, which had 
been prepared to receive him. His suite was embarked on board the Medusa, 
and the next day, the bth, the two vessels anchored at the. Isle, of Aix. Napo¬ 
leon, always the. same, ordered the garrison under arms, examined the forti¬ 
fications most minutely, and distributed praise or blame, oh if he had still 
been sovereign master of tin* State. On the 10th the wind, hitherto con¬ 
trary, became fair; but an English fleet of eleven vessels was cruising within 
sight of the port and it was impossible to got to sea. On the 11th the Em¬ 
peror, weary of this state of anxiety, sent Comte do Las Oases, now become 
liis secretary, to sound the disposition of the English Admiral, to inquire 
whether he. was authorized to allow him liberty to repair to England or to the 
United States. The Admiral answered that he had no orders; nevertheless 
he was ready to receive Napoleon and convey him to England, but that it 
was not in his power to answer whether lie would obtain permission to remain 
there or to repair to America. Napoleon, not satisfied with this answer, 
caused two half-decked vessels to be purchased, with intention, under favor 
of night, to roach a Danish smack with which he had contrived to hold com¬ 
munication. 

This step having failed, some young midshipmen, full of courage and 
devotion, proposed to him to go on board the two barks, and swore they 
would forfeit their lives if they did not convey him to New York. Napoleon 
was not deterred by so long a voyage in such slight vessels, but he know that 
they could not avoid stopping on the coasts of Spain and Portugal to take in 
water and provision, and he would not expose himself and people to the 
danger of falling into the hands of the Portuguese or Spaniards. 

Being informed that an American vessel was at the mouth of the Gironde, 
he sent olt General Lallenmnd immediately to ascertain the existence of the 
vessel, and the sentiments of the captain. The General returned with all 
speed to inform him that the captain would be happy and proud to extricate 
him from the persecution of Ins enemies; hut Napoleon, yielding, as it is 
said, to the advice of some persons about him, gave up the idea of attempting 
tliis passage, and determined to throw himself on the generosity of the Eng¬ 
lish. On the 14th he caused the Admiral to be informed that the next day 
he would repair on board his vessel. On the 15th, in the morning, he went 
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The English ship Bellerojphon then anchored in the Basque 
roads, within sight of the French vessels of war. The coast 

being, as we have stated, entirely blockaded by the English 
squadron, the Emperor was undecided as to the course he 

should pursue. Neutral vessels and chasse-marees, manned by 
young naval officers, were proposed, and many other plans 
were devised. 

Napoleon disembarked on the 12th at the Isle of Aix with 
acclamations ringing on every side. He had quitted the 
frigates because they refused to sail, owing either to the weak¬ 

ness of character of the commandant, or in consequence of 

his receiving fresh orders from the Provisional Government. 

Many persons thought that the enterprise might be under¬ 
taken with some probability of success ; the wind, however, 
remained constantly in the wrong quarter. 

Las Cases returned to the Bellerophon at four o’clock in 
"the morning of the 14th, to inquire whether any reply had 

been received to the communication made by Napoleon. 
Captain Maitland stated that he expected to receive it every 

moment, and added that, if the Emperor would then embark 
for England, he was authorized to convey him thither. He 

added, moreover, that in his own opinion, and many other 
officers present concurred with him, he had no doubt Napo¬ 

leon would be treated in England with all possible attention 
and respect; that in England neither the King nor Ministers 

exercised the same arbitrary power as on the Continent; that 
the English indeed possessed a generosity of sentiment and a 

liberality of opinions superior even to those of the King. 
Las Cases replied that he would make Napoleon acquainted 
with Captain Maitland’s offer, and added, that he thought the 

Emperor would not hesitate to proceed to England, so as to 
be able to continue his voyage to the United States. He 

described France, south of the Loire, to be in commotion, the 
hopes of the people resting on Napoleon as long as he was 

off in the brig L’ Epervier, and was received on board the Bellerophon with the 
honors due to his rank and to his misfortune. General Becker, who had 
orders not to quit Mm, attended him. The moment thoy came alongside the 
Emperor said to him, Withdraw, General; I would not have it be believed 
that a Frenchman is come to deliver me into the hands of my enemies.” On 
the ltitli the Bellerophon, set sail for England (Fleury de Chaboulon). 
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present; the propositions everywhere made to him, and at 

every moment; his decided resolution not to become the pre¬ 

text of a civil war; the generosity he had exhibited in abdi¬ 
cating, in order to render the conclusion of a peace more 

practicable; and his settled determination to banish himself, 

in order to render that peace more prompt and more lasting. 

The messengers returned to their Master, who, after some 

doubt and hesitation, despatched General Gourgaud with the 
following well-known letter to the Prince Regent: — 

Rochefort, 13th July, 1815. 

Royal Highness—A victim to the factions which divide my coun¬ 
try, and to the hostility of the greatest Powers of Europe, I have termi¬ 
nated my political career, and come, like Tliemistocles, to share the 
hospitality of the British people. I place myself under the protection of 
their laws, and I claim that from your Royal Highness as the most power¬ 
ful, the most constant, and the most generous of ray enemies. 

(Signed) Napoleon. 

About four p. m. Las Cases and Savary returned to the 

ReJlsrophon, where they had a long conversation with Captain 
Maitland in the presence of Captains Bartorius and Gambier, 

who both declare that Maitland repeatedly warned Napoleon’s 
adherents not to entertain the remotest idea that he was 

enabled to offer any pledge whatever to their Master beyond 
the simple assurance that he would convey him in safety to 

the English coast, there to await the determination of the 

British Government.1 
Napoleon had begun to prepare for his embarkation before 

daylight on the 15th. It was time that he did so, for a mes¬ 
senger charged with orders to arrest him had already arrived 

at Rochefort from the new Government.2 The execution of 
this order was delayed by General Becker for a few hours 

i On their second interview Captain Maitland’s precise words to Las 
Coses wore: — 

“ You will recollect that I am not authorized to stinulato as to the recep¬ 
tion of Bonaparte in England, hut that he must consider himself as entirely 
at the disposal of His Royal Highness the Prince Regent.” 

See the Croker Correspondence, vol. ii. pp. 238-211, for the orders given to 
the navy, 

i Thiers (tome xx. p. 534) says these orders had been intentionally delayed 
by Fouchd. Bee also the Croker Correspondence, vol. ii. p. 236. 
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in order to allow ISTapoleon sufficient time to escape. At 
daybreak he quitted the Epervier, and was enthusiastically 
cheered by the ship’s company so long as the boat was within 

hearing. Soon after six he was received on board the Belle- 

rophon with respectful silence, but without those honors 

generally paid to persons of high rank. Bonaparte was 
dressed in the uniform of the chasseurs a cheval of the 

Imperial Guard, and wore the Grand Cross of the Legion of 

Honor. 
On entering the vessel he took off his hat, and address¬ 

ing Captain Maitland, said, “I am come to throw myself on 

the protection of the laws of England.” Hapoleon’s manner 

was well calculated to make a favorable impression on 

those with whom he conversed. He requested to be intro¬ 
duced to the officers of the ship, and put various questions 
to each. He then went round the ship, although he was 

informed that the men were cleaning and scouring, and 
remarked upon anything which struck him as differing from 

what he had seen on French vessels. The clean appearance 
of the men surprised him. “ He then observed,” says Cap¬ 

tain Maitland, to whose interesting narrative we refer, “ ‘ I 
can see no sufficient reason why your ships should beat the 
French ones with so much ease. The finest men-of-war in your 

service are French; a French ship is heavier in every respect 
than one of yours; she carries more guns, and those guns 
are of a larger caliber, and she has a great many more men.’ ” 
His inquiries, which were minute, proved that he had directed 

much attention to the French navy. 
On the first morning Hapoleon took breakfast in the 

English fashion, but observing that his distinguished prisoner 
did not eat much, Captain Maitland gave directions that for 

the future a hot breakfast should be served up after the 
French manner. The Superb, the Admiral’s ship, which had 
been seen in the morning, was now approaching. Im¬ 
mediately on her anchoring Captain Maitland went on 

board to give an account of all that had happened, and 
received the Admiral’s approbation of what he had done. 
In the afternoon Admiral Sir Henry Hotham was intro- 
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dueed to Napoleon, and invited by him to dinner. This 

was arranged, in order to make it more, agreeable to him, by 

Bonaparte's mtnfre, <P hotel. On dinner being announced 

Napoleon led the way, and seated himself in the centre at 

one side of the table, desiring Sir Henry Hotham to take 
the seat on his right, and Madame. Bertrand that on his left 

hand. On this day Captain Maitland took his seat at the 

end of the table, but on the following day, by Napoleon’s 

request, he placed himself on his right hand, whilst General 

Bertrand took the top. Two of the ship’s officers dined with 

the Emperor daily, by express invitation. The conversation 

of Napoleon was animated. He made4, many inquiries as to 
the family and eonneetions of Captain Maitland, and in al¬ 

luding to Lord Lauderdale, who was sent as ambassador to 

Paris during the administration of Mr. Fox, paid that 

nobleman some eompliments and said of the then Premier, 

“ Had Mr. Fox lived it never would have come to this; but 
his death put an end to all hopes of peace/’ 

On one occasion he ordered his camp-bed to bo displayed 

for the inspection of the English officers. In two small 

leather packages were comprised the. (‘.ouch of the once 

mighty ruler of tin4 Continent.' The steel bedstead which, 

when folded tip, was only two teed', long, and eighteen inches 
wide, occupied one ease, while the other contained the. mat¬ 

tress and curtains. The whole was so contrived as to he 

ready for use in throe minutes. 

Napoleon spoke in terms of high praise of the marines 

on duty in tint BNlemphmi, and on going through their 

ranks exclaimed to Bertrand, “ How much might be done 

with a hundred thousand such soldiers as those !” In putting 

them through their exercise he drew a contrast between the 
charge of the bayonet as made by tin? English and the 

French, and observed that the English method of fixing the 

bayonet was faulty, m it might easily be twisted off when in 

close action. In visiting Admiral Hotham’s flag-ship, the 

&lupeHt, he manifested the same active curiosity as in former 

instances, and made the same minute inquiries into every¬ 

thing by which he was surrounded. During breakfast one 
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of Napoleon’s suite, Colonel Planat, was much, affected, and 
even wept, on witnessing the humiliation of his Master. 

On the return of Bonaparte from the Superb to the Bellero- 

phon the latter ship was got under weigh and made sail for 

England. When passing within a cable’s length of the Superb 

Napoleon inquired of Captain Maitland if he thought that 
distance was sufficient for action. The reply of the English 

officer was characteristic; he told the Emperor that half the 

distance, or even less, would suit much better. Speaking of 

Sir Sidney Smith, Bonaparte repeated the anecdote connected 
with his quarrel at St. Jean d’Acre with that officer, which 

has already been related in one of the notes earlier in these 

volumes. Patting Captain Maitland on the shoulder, he ob¬ 

served, that had it not been for the English navy he would 

have been Emperor of the East, but that wherever he went 

he was sure to find English ships in the way. 
The Bellerophon, with Bonaparte on board, sighted the 

coast of England on Sunday, the 23d of July, 1815, and at 
daybreak on the 24th the vessel approached Dartmouth. No 
sooner had the ship anchored than an order from Lord Keith 
was delivered to Captain Maitland, from which the following 

is an extract: — 

Extract of an order from Admiral Viscount Keith, G. C. B., addressed 
to Captain Maitland, of II. M. S. “ Bellerophon,” dated Ville de 
Paris, Hamoaze, 23# July, 1815. 

Captain Sartorius, of His Majesty’s ship Slaney, delivered to me last 
night, at eleven o’clock, your despatch of the 14th instant, acquainting 
me that Bonaparte had proposed to embark on board the ship you com¬ 
mand, and that you had acceded thereto, with the intention of proceeding 
to Torbay, there to wait for further orders. I lost no time in forwarding 
your letter by Captain Sartorius to the Lords Commissioners of the 
Admiralty, in order that their Lordships might, through him, be ac¬ 
quainted with every circumstance that had occurred on an occasion of so 
much importance; and you may expect orders from their Lordships for 
youi* further guidance. You are to remain in Torbay until you receive 
such orders; and in the mean time, in addition to the directions already in 
your possession, you are most positively ordered to prevent every person 
whatever "from coming on board the ship you command, except the offi¬ 
cers and men who compose her crew; nor is any person whatever, whether 
in His Majesty’s service or not, who does not belong to the ship, to be 
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suffered to come on board, either for the purpose of visiting the officers, 
or on any pretence whatever, without express permission either from the 
Lords fommissioners of the Admiralty or from me. As I understand 
from Captain Sartorius that General Gourgaud refused to deliver the 
letter with which he was charged for the Prince liegent to any person 
except His Royal Highness, you are to take him out of the Slaney into 
the ship you command, until you receive directions from the Admiralty 
on the subject, and order that ship back to Plymouth Sound, when Cap¬ 
tain Sartorius returns from London. 

It was stated about this time, in some of the English news¬ 

papers, that St. Helena would be the place of exile of the ex- 

Emperor, the bare report of which evidently caused great 
pain to Napoleon and his suite. General Gourgaud was 

obliged to return to the Bellerophon., not having been suffered 

to go on shore to deliver the letter from Bonaparte to the 

Prince Regent with which he had been intrusted. The ship 
which bore the modern Alexander soon became a natural 

object of attraction to the whole neighborhood, and was con¬ 
stantly surrounded by crowds of boats. Napoleon frequently 

showed himself to the people from shore with a view of 

gratifying their curiosity. On the 25th of July the number 

of guard-boats which surrounded the vessel was greatly in¬ 

creased, and the alarm of the captives became, greater as the 

report was strengthened as to the intention of conveying 

Bonaparte to St. Helena. 
In conversation with Captain Maitland, Napoleon, who 

seemed to be aware that the English fishermen united the 
occupation of smugglers to their usual trade, stated that many 

of them had been bribed by him, and had assisted in the 

(‘.scape of French prisoners of war. They had even proposed 

to deliver Louis XVOI. into his power, but as they would 

not answer for the safety of his life, Napoleon refused the 

offer. Upon the arrival of despatches from London the Bel¬ 

lerophon got under weigh for Plymouth Sound on the 26th of 
July. This movement tended still further to disconcert the 

ex-Emperor and his followers. In passing the breakwater 
Bonaparte could not withhold his admiration of that work, 

which lie considered highly honorable to the publie spirit of 

the nation, and, alluding to his own improvements at Cher- 
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bourg, expressed his apprehensions that they would now be 
suffered to fall into decay. 

Captain Maitland was directed by Lord Keith to observe 

the utmost vigilance to prevent the escape of his prisoners, 

and with this view no boat was permitted to approach the 
Bellerophon ; the Liffey and JEurotas were ordered to take up 
an anchorage on each side of the ship, and further precau¬ 
tions were adopted at night. 

On the 27th of July Captain Maitland proceeded to Lord 
Keith, taking with him Bonaparte’s original letter to the 

Prince Regent, which, as General Gourgaud had not been 

permitted to deliver it personally, Napoleon now desired to be 
transmitted through the hands of the Admiral. As Lord 

Keith had now received instructions from his Government as 
to the manner in which Napoleon was to be treated, he lost 
no time in paying his respects to the fallen chief. 

On the 31st of July the anxiously expected order of the 
English Government arrived. In this document, wherein the 

ex-Emperor was styled 66 General Bonaparte,” it was notified 

that he was to be exiled to St. Helena, the place of all others 
most dreaded by him and his devoted adherents. It was, 

moreover, specified that he might be allowed to take with 
him three officers, and his surgeon, and twelve servants.1 

i The following persons went with. Napoleon to St. Helena: — General 
Count Bertrand (the Grand Marshal), with his wife and three children; Gen¬ 
eral Count Montholon, with his wife and one child; General Gourgaud; 
Count Las Cases and his son Emmanuel; Marchand, the Emperor’s head 
valet, and the following servants — Saint-Denis, chief chasseur; Novarre or 
Noverraz, chasseur; Santini (a Corsican), usher; Archambaud senior, a 
piqvevr (outrider); Archambaud junior (ditto); Corsor, clerk of the kitchen; 
Gentili (from Elba), a footman; Cipriani (a Corsican), maitre d’hdtel, who 
died at St. Helena in 1818; Peyron or Pierron, butler; Lepage, cook; Rous¬ 
seau, steward: Josephine; and Bernard and wife, servants to Count Ber¬ 
trand. Captain Piontowski, a Pole, a volunteer, arrived 30th December, 
1815: O’Meara, a surgeon in the English navy, agreed to accompany Napo¬ 
leon from the Bellorophon; he was sent away from St. Helena by order of 
the Government 25th July, 1818. Doctor Antommarchi, with the Abbes 
Buonavita (Bonavista) and Vignali, with a cook, Chandelier or Chandell, 
and a valet, sent by Cardinal Fesch, arrived 18th September, 1820. The 
Abb6 Buonavita returned to Europe, leaving St. Helena on the 17th of 
March, 1821. General Gourgaud, in 1818, returned to Europe ill, and not 
getting on with the other officers. Captain Piontowski, with Rousseau, 
Santini, and the younger Archambaud, were sent away by Sir Hudson 
Lowe in October, 1816; Las Cases and his son were sent away by Sir Hudson 

1 Lowe on the 29th of December, 1816, and Madame Montholon returned to 
i Europe in 1819. Of these persons, Generals Bertrand and Gourgaud, the 
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To liis own selection was conceded the choice of these fol¬ 

lowers, with the exclusion, however, of Savary and Lalle- 
mand, who were on no account to be permitted any further 

to share his fortunes. This prohibition gave considerable 
alarm to those individuals, who became excessively anxious 

as to their future disposal, and declared that to deliver them 

up to the vengeance of the Bourbons would be a violation of 

faith and honor. 
Napoleon himself complained bitterly on the subject of his 

destination, and said, “ The idea of it is horrible to me. To 

be placed for life on an island within the tropics, at an im¬ 

mense distance from any land, cut off from all communication 

with the world, and everything that I hold dear in it! — 

Best pis que la ra//e defer de Tamerlan. I. would prefer being 

delivered up to the Bourbons. Among other insults,” said he, 

— “ but that is a mere bagatelle, a very secondary considera¬ 

tion— they style me ‘General!’ They can have no right to 

call me General; they may as well call me ‘Archbishop,’ for 

I was head of the Church as well as of the Army. If they 

do not acknowledge me as Emperor they ought as First Con¬ 

sul ; they have stmt ambassadors to me as such; and your 

King, in his letters, styled me ‘ Brother.’ Had they confined 

me in the Tower of London, or one of the fortresses in Eng¬ 

land (though not what I had hoped from the generosity of 

the English people), I should not have so much cause of com¬ 

plaint; but to banish me to an island within the tropics! 
They might as wtdl have signed my death-warrant at once, for 

it is impossible a man of my habit of body can live long in 

such a climate.” 1 
Having so expressed himself, he wrote a second letter to 

the Prince Kegent, which was forwarded through Lord Keith. 

It wjts the opinion of Generals Montholon and Gourgaud that 

Bonaparte would sooner kill himself than go to St. Helena. 
This idea arose from his having been beard emphatically to 

exclaim, “ I will not goto St. Helena! ” The generals, indeed, 

younger Las Cases, Marehand, th© young Bertrand, Baint-Donis, Novarre, 
reyron, and Archambaud returned to Bt. Helena in 1S40 to escort th© body 
of Napoleon to France. 

* Captain Maitland's Narrative. 
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declared that were he to give his own consent to he so exiled 
they would themselves prevent him. In consequence of this 
threat Captain Maitland was instructed by Lord Keith to tell 
those gentlemen that as the English law awarded death to 
murderers, the crime they meditated would inevitably conduct 

them to the gallows. 

Early on the morning of the 4th of August, the Bellerophon 

was ordered to be ready at a moment’s notice for sea. The 
reason of this was traced to a circumstance which is conspicu¬ 
ous among the many remarkable incidents by which Bona¬ 

parte’s arrival near the English coast was characterized. A 
rumor reached Lord Keith that a habeas corpus had been 

procured with a view of delivering Kapoleon from the custody 

he was then in. This, however, turned out to be a subpoena 
for Bonaparte as a witness at a trial in the Court of King’s 
Bench ; and, indeed, a person attempted to get on board the 

Bellerophon to serve the document; but he was foiled in his 
intention; though, had he succeeded, the subpoena would, in 

the situation wherein the ex-Emperor then stood, have been 

without avail. 
On the 5th Captain Maitland, having been summoned to 

the flag-ship of Lord Keith, acquainted General Bertrand that 
he would convey to the Admiral anything which Bonaparte 
(who had expressed an urgent wish to see his lordship) might 
desire to say to him. Bertrand requested the captain to 
delay his departure until a document, then in preparation, 

should be completed; and at length brought from Kapoleon’s 
cabin a paper, of which the following is a translation: — 

PROTEST OF HIS MAJESTY THE LATE EMPEROR 

OF THE FRENCH, Etc. 

fjerdfrjr oolctrmlg protest, before God and man, against the injustice 
offered me, and the violation of my most sacred rights, in forcibly dispos¬ 
ing of my person and my liberty. I came freely on board the Bellero¬ 
phon; I am not a prisoner; lam the guest of England. I was indeed 
instigated to come on board by the captain, who told me that he had been 
directed by his Government to receive me and my suite, and conduct me 
to England, if agreeable to my wishes. I presented myself in good faith, 
with the view of claiming the protection of the English laws. As soon as 
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I had reached the deck of the Bellerophon, I considered myself in the 
home and on the hearth of the British people. 

If it was the intention of the Government, in giving orders to the 
captain of the Bellerophon to receive me and my suite, merely to entrap 
me, it has forfeited its honor and sallied its flag. 

If this act be consummated, it will be useless for the English to talk to 
Europe of their integrity, their laws, and their liberty. British good 
faith will have been lost in the hospitality of the Bellerophon. 

1 appeal to history; — it will say that an enemy, who made war for 
twenty years upon the English people, came voluntarily in his misfor¬ 
tunes to seek an asylum under their laws. What more striking proof 
could he give of his esteem and his confidence ? But what return did 
England make for so magnanimous an act ? They pretended to hold out 
a friendly hand to this enemy, and when he delivered himself up in good 
faith, they sacrificed him. (Signed) Napoleon. 

On board the Bellerophon, 
4th August, 1815. 

Captain Maitland denied that any snare was laid for 

Bonaparte, either by himself or by the English Government, 

and stated that the precautions for preventing the escape of 

Napoleon from Rochefort were so well ordered that it was 

impossible to evade them ; and that the fugitive was com¬ 

pelled to surrender himself to the English ship. 

On the 7th of August, Bonaparte, with the suite he had 

selected, was transferred from the Bellerophon to the North- 

umber land. Lord Keith’s barge was prepared for bis convey¬ 

ance to the latter vessel, and his lordship was present on the 

occasion. A captain’s guard was turned out, and as Napoleon 

left the Bellerophon the marines presented arms, and the 
drum was beaten as usual in saluting a general officer. When 
lie arrived on board the Northumberland the squadron got 

under weigh, and Napoleon sailed for the place of his final 

exile and grave.1 

1 For the continuation of Napoleon’s voyage see Chapter XIII. 



CHAPTER XL 

1815. 

My departure from Hamburg — The King at St. Denis — Fouch€ appointed 
Minister of the Police —Delay of the King’s entrance into Paris —Effect 
of that delay — Fouche’s nomination due to the Duke of Wellington — 
Impossibility of resuming my post—Pouches language with respect to 
the Bourbons—His famous postscript — Character of Fouche — Discussion 
respecting the two cockades — Manifestations of public joy repressed by 
Fouche — Composition of the new Ministry — Kind attention of Blucher 
— The English at St. Cloud — Blucher in Napoleon’s cabinet — My pris¬ 
oner become my protector — Blucher and the innkeeper’s dog — My 
daughter’s marriage contract—Rigid etiquette — My appointment to the 
Presidentship of the Electoral College of the Yonne — My interview with 
Fouchd— My audience of the King—His Majesty made acquainted with 
my conversation with Fouche — The Duke of Otranto’s disgrace — Car¬ 
not deceived by Bonaparte— My election as deputy— My colleague, M. 
Raudot — My return to Paris — Regret caused by the sacrifice of Key — 
Noble conduct of Macdonald — A drive with Rapp in the Bois de Bou¬ 
logne— Rapp’s interview with Bonaparte in 1815 —The Due de Berri 
and Rapp — My nomination to the office of Minister of State —My name 

• inscribed by the hand of Louis XVIII. — Conclusion. 

The fulfilment of my prediction was now at hand, for the 

result of the battle of Waterloo enabled Louis XVIII. to 
return to his dominions. As soon as I heard of the King’s 
departure from Ghent I quitted Hamburg, and travelled with 

all possible haste in the hope of reaching Paris in time to 
witness his Majesty’s entrance. I arrived at St. Denis on the 

7tli of July, and, notwithstanding the intrigues that were set 
on foot, I found an immense number of persons assembled to 
meet the King. Indeed, the place was so crowded that it 
was with the greatest difficulty I could procure even a little 

garret for my lodging. 
Having resumed my uniform of a captain.of the National 

Guard, I proceeded immediately to the King’s palace. The 
salon was filled with, ladies and gentlemen who had come to 

congratulate the King on his return. At St. Denis I found 
223 
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my family, who, not being aware that I had left Hamburg, 

were much surprised to see me. 
They informed me that the Parisians were all impatient 

for the return of the King—-a fact of which 1 could judge by 

the opposition manifested to the free expression of public 

feeling. Paris having been declared in a state of blockade, 

the gates were closed, and no one was permitted to leave the 

capital, particularly by the Barriere de la Ohapelle. Lt is 

true that special permission might be obtained, and witli tol¬ 

erable ease, by those who wished to leave the city; but the 

forms to be observed for obtaining the permission deterred 

the mass of the people from proceeding to St. Denis, which, 

indeed, was the sole object of the regulation. As it had been 

resolved to force Fouche and the tri-colored cockade upon the 

King, it was deemed necessary to keep away from his Majesty 

all who might persuade him to resist the proposed measures. 

Madame de Bourrienne told me that on her arrival at St. 

Denis she called upon M. Hue and M. Lefebvre, the King’s 

physician, who both acquainted her with these fatal resolu¬ 

tions. Those gentlemen, however, assured her that the 

King would resolutely hold out against the tri-colored 
cockade, but the, nomination of the ill-omened man appeared 

inevitable. 

Fouche Minister of the Police! If, like Don Juan, I had 

seen a statue move, I could not have been more confounded 

than when I heard this news. I eoxild not credit it xmtil it 

was repeated to me by different persons. How, indeed, 

coxdd I think that at the moment of a re-action the King 

should have intrusted the most important ministerial depart¬ 

ment to a man to whose arrest he had a hxmdred days before 

attached so much consequence ? to a man, moreover, whom 

Bonaparte had appointed, at Lyons, to fill the same office! 

This was inconceivable! Thus, in less than twenty-four 

hours, the same man had been intrusted to execxxte measures 

the most opposite*, and to serve interests the most contradic¬ 

tory. He was one day the minister of xxsnrpation and the 

next the minister of legitimacy! How can I express what I 

felt when Fouch6 took the oath of fidelity to Louis XVIII. — 
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when I saw the King clasp in his hands the hands of Fouche ! 
I was standing near M. de Chateaubriand, whose feelings 
must have been similar to mine, to judge from a passage in 
his admirable work, La Monarchie selon la Charte. “ About 
nine in the evening/5 he says, “I was in one of the royal 
antechambers. All at once the door opened, and I saw the 
President of the Council enter leaning on the arm of the new 
minister. Oh, Louis-le-Desir4! Oh, my unfortunate master! 

you have proved that there is no sacrifice which your people 
may not expect from your paternal heart!55 

Fouche was resolved to have his restoration as well as M. 
de Talleyrand, who had had his the year before ; he therefore 
contrived to retard the King’s entry into Paris for four days. 
The prudent members of the Chamber of Peers, who had 

taken no part in the King’s Government in 1814, were the 

first to declare that it was for the interest of France to 
hasten his Majesty’s entrance into Paris, in order to prevent 

foreigners from exercising a sort of right of conquest in a 
city which was a prey to civil dissension and party influence. 
Blucher informed me that the way in which Fouche con¬ 

trived to delay the King’s return greatly contributed to 
the pretensions of the foreigners who, he confessed, were 
very well pleased to see the population of Paris divided 
in opinion, and to hear the alarming cries raised by the 

confederates of the faubourgs when the King was already at 

St. Denis. 
I know for a fact that Louis XVIII. wished to have noth¬ 

ing to do with Fouche, and indignantly refused to appoint 

him when he was first proposed. But he had so nobly served 
Bonaparte during the Hundred Days that it was necessary he 
should be rewarded. Fouch6, besides, had gained the support 
of a powerful party among the emigrants of the Faubourg 

St. Germain, and he possessed the art of rendering himself 
indispensable. I have heard many honest men say very 
seriously that to him was due the tranquillity of Paris. 

Moreover, Wellington was the person by whose influence in 
particular Fouchd was made one of the counsellors of the 
King. After all the benefits which foreigners had conferred 
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upon us Fouche was indeed an acceptable present to France 

and to t he King!1 

I was not ignorant of the Duke of Wellington’s influence 
upon the affairs of the second Restoration, but for a long 

time I refused to believe that his influence should have out¬ 

weighed all the serious considerations opposed to such a 

perfect anomaly as appointing Fouche the Minister of a 

Bourbon. But I was deceived. Franc,e and the King owed 

to him Fouche’s introduction into the Council, and I had to 

thank him for the impossibility of resuming a situation which 

1 had relinquished for the purpose of following the King into 

Belgium. Could 1 be Prefect of Police under a Minister 

whom a short time before I had received orders to arrest, 

but who eluded my agents? That was impossible. The 

King could not offer me the1 place, of Prefect under Fouche, 

and if be had I could not; have accepted it. I was therefore 

right in not relying on the assurances which had been given 

me; but I confess that if I had been told to guess the cause 

why they could not be realized I never should have thought 
that eause would have been tin* appointment of Fouche as a 

Minister of the King of France. At first, therefore, I was of 

1 ISmignot (vol. ii, p. 27*1) says that while the Kin# was at St. Denis, before 
entering Paris, 'Talleyrand, the Duke of Wellington, and Fouche met at 
I hussy. “ I never understood why the Duke of Wellington was so zealous 
in his support of the Due d'Otran’to. It is true that he was remarkably dis¬ 
trustful of the real feelings of France, and perhaps he had allowed himself 
to he jiorsuaded that Fouche alone was master of the situation.” In March, 
IHH, either Metternieh, or some of the Ministers of the Allies in his pres¬ 
ence, had asked Vitro lies, ** Could yottr Prinee (Pomte <P Artois) attach him¬ 
self to Fouche ? ” — ** Fouche,” answered I (Vitrolles) in a murmur; “ that 
is rather strong, but still, If he were necessary.” This applied to the Comte 
cPArtois, hut shows that the Itoyalists did not look on Fonda* as an impossi¬ 
ble choice ( VitroHvHf tome L p. 148), I amis X VIII. seems to have really felt 
deeply having to appoint Fouche as minister. Deugnot (vol. ii. p 278) says 
he ” presented the ordinance for the appointment of the Duke of Otranto 
(Fonehej! The King glanced at the paper and let it fall on the desk ; the 
pan slipped from his hand, tie* blood rushed Into his face, his eyes lieeame 
sorrowful, and he fell bark as if struck by sene* fatal thought. A sorrowful 
silence had suddenly interrupted a conversation that was unite easy and 
pleasant. The silence lasted some minutes, after which the King said, with 
a deep sigh, * Pome, it must be done.* He nicked up his pen, stopped again 
before writing the letters, and uttered these words, my unhappy 
brother 1 If you see me you have forgiven me.’ He signed at last, but in a {lalnful and agitated manner, great tears falling from his eyes and moisteni¬ 
ng the paper.” This feeling could hardly have been feigned, though it has 

been behaved by some that Iamis XVIII. had greater wrongs to his brother 
to complain of than the appointment of one of the regicides as Minister. 
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course quite forgotten, as is the custom of courts when a 

faithful subject refrains from taking part in the intrigues of 
the moment. 

I have already frequently stated my opinion of the pre¬ 

tended talent of Fouche; but admitting his talent to have 
been as great as was supposed, that would have been an 

additional reason for not intrusting the general police of the 

kingdom to him. His principles and conduct were already 

sufficiently known. Ho one could be ignorant of the lan¬ 
guage he held respecting the Bourbons, and in which he 

indulged as freely after he became the minister of Louis 

XVIII. as when he was the minister of Bonaparte. It was 
universally known that in his conversation the Bourbons 
were the perpetual butt for his sarcasms, that he never men¬ 
tioned them but in terms of disparagement, and that he 
represented them as unworthy of governing France. Every¬ 

body must have been aware that Fouch6, in his heart, favored 
a Bepublic, where the part of President might have been 

assigned to him. Could any one have forgotten the famous 
postscript he subjoined to a letter he wrote from Lyons to 
his worthy friend llobespierre : a To celebrate the fete of the 

Republic suitably, I have ordered 250 persons to be shot”? 
And to this man, the most furious enemy of the restoration 

of the monarchy, was consigned the task of consolidating it 
for the second time ! But it would require another Olaudian 

to describe this new Bufinus! 
Fouche never regarded a benefit in any other light than 

as the means of injuring his benefactor. The King, deceived, 

like many other persons, by the reputation which Fouche’s 
partisans had conjured up for him, was certainly not aware 

that Fouch6 had always discharged the functions of Minister 
in his own interest, and never for the interest of the Govern¬ 
ment which had the weakness to intrust him with a power 

always dangerous in his hands. Fouche had opinions, but 

he belonged to no party, and his political success is explained 
by the readiness with which he always served the party he 
knew must triumph, and which he himself overthrew in its 
turn. He maintained himself in favor from the days of 
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blood and terror until the 1 nippy time of the second Resfcora 
tion only by abandoning and sacrificing those who were 

attached to him; and it might be. said that his ruling passion 

was the desire of continual change. No man was ever 

characterized by greater levity or inconstancy of mind. In 

all things he looked only to himself, and to this egotism he 

sacrificed both subjects and Governments. Such were the 

secret causes of the sway exercised by Fouehe during the 

Convention, the Directory, the Empire, the Usurpation, and 

after the second return of the Bourbons, lie helped to found 

and to destroy every one of those successive Governments. 
Fouehe’s character is perfectly unique. I know no other man 

who, loaded with honors, and almost escaping disgrace, has 

passed through so many eventful periods, and taken part in 

so many convulsions and revolutions. 

On the 7th of July tin? King was told that Fouehe alone 

could smooth the way for his entrance into Baris, that he 

alone could unlock the gates of the capital, and that he alone 

laid power to control public opinion. The reception given 

to the King cm the*, following day afforded an opportunity of 
judging of the truth of these assertions. The King's presence 

was the signal for a feeling of concord, which was manifested 
in a very decided way. I saw upon the boulevards, and 

often in company with each other, persons, some of whom 

had resumed the white cockade, while*, others still retained 

the national colors, and harmony was not in the least 

disturbed by these different badges. 

Having returned to private* life solely on account of 

Fouche’s presence in the Ministry, I yielded to that con¬ 

solation which is always left to the discontented. I watehed 

the extravagance and inconsistency that were passing around 

me, and the new follies which were every day committed; 

and it must be confessed that a rich and varied picture 

presented itself to my observation. The King did not bring 

back M. de Blaeas. His Majesty had yielded to prudent 

advice, and on arriving at Mons sent the unlucky Minister 

as his ambassador to Naples. Vengeance was talked of, and 

there were some persons inconsiderate enough to wish that 
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advantage should be taken of the presence of the foreigners 
in order to make what they termed “ an end of the Revolu¬ 
tion,” as if there were any other means of effecting that 

object than frankly adopting whatever good the Revolution 

had produced. The foreigners observed with satisfaction the 
disposition of these shallow persons, which they thought 
might be turned to their own advantage. The truth is, that 
on the second Restoration our pretended allies proved them¬ 
selves our enemies. 

But for them, but for their bad conduct, their insatiable 
exactions, but for the humiliation that was felt at seeing 
foreign cannon planted in the streets of Paris, and beneath 

the very windows of the Palace, the days which followed the 
8th of July might have been considered by the Royal Pamily 
as the season of a festival. Every day people thronged to 
the garden of the Tuileries, and expressed their joy by sing¬ 

ing and dancing under the King’s windows. This ebullition 

of feeling might perhaps be thought absurd, but it at least 
bore evidence of the pleasure caused by the return of the 

Bourbons. 
This manifestation of joy by numbers of persons of both 

sexes, most of them belonging to the better classes of society, 

displeased Eouchd, and he determined to put a stop to it. 
Wretches were hired to mingle with the crowd and sprinkle 
corrosive liquids on the dresses of the females ; some of them 
were even instructed to commit acts of indecency, so that all 
respectable persons were driven from the gardens through the 
fear of being injured or insulted. As it was wished to create 

disturbance under the very eyes of the King, and to make 
him doubt the reality of the sentiments so openly expressed 
in his favor, the agents of the Police mingled the cry of “ Yive 
l’Empereur! ” with that of “ Yive le Roi! ” and it happened 
oftener than once that the most respectable persons were 

arrested and charged by Fouch6’s infamous agents with hav¬ 
ing uttered seditious cries. A friend of mine, whose Royalist 
opinions were well known, and whose father had been massa¬ 
cred during the Revolution, told me that while walking with 
two ladies he heard some individuals near him crying out 



230 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BONAPARTE. 

“ Yive PEmpercur! ” This created a great disturbance. The 

sentinel advanced to the spot, and those very individuals 
themselves had the audacity to charge my friend with being 

guilty of uttering the offensive cry. In vain the bystanders 

asserted the falsehood of the accusation ; lie was seized and 

dragged to the guard-house, and after being detained for some 

hours he was liberated on the application of his friends. By 

dint of such wretched manoeuvres Fouche triumphed. He 

contrived to make it be believed that he was the only person 

capable of preventing the disorders of which he himself was 

the sole author. He got the Police of the Tuileries under his 

control. The singing and dancing ceased, and the Palace was 

the abode of dulness. 
While the King was at Rt. Denis he restored to General 

Dessoies the command of the National Guard. The General 

ordered the barriers to be immediately thrown open. On the 

day of his arrival in Paris the King determined, as a princi¬ 

ple, that the throne should be surrounded by a Privy Council, 
the members of which were to be the princes and persons 

whom his Majesty might appoint at a future period. The 

King then named his new Ministry, which was thus com¬ 

posed : — 
Prince Talleyrand, peer of France, President of the Council 

of Ministers, and Secretary of Hfcate for Foreign Affairs. 

Baron Louis, Minister of Finance. 
The Duke of Otranto, Minister of the Police. 

Baron Pasquier, Minister of Justice, and Keeper of the 

Seals. 

Marshal Gouvion St. Cyr, War Minister. 
Comte de Jaucourt, peer of France, Minister of the Marine. 

Tin*. Due de Richelieu,1 peer of France, Minister of the 

King’s Household. 

1 Some time after it was thought proper to suppress the office of Minister 
of the King’s Household, and to substitute in its stead the office of Intend- 
ant-Ueneral —* an arrangement which I thought iwtter calculated for a Con¬ 
stitutional Government. M. de Richelieu’s successor in this office was the 
(Jomte de Fradel, a man of great ability. The office of Minister of the King’s 
1 household was again restored in favor of my old friend Lauriston, whose 
(deration did not alter his sentiments towards ids old comrades. After his 
death the office underwent another metamorphosis, and received again the 
title of Intoudant-Oeneral, and was tilled by M. de la liouillerie, one of those 
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The portfolio of the Minister of the Interior, which was not 

immediately disposed of, was provisionally intrusted to the 
Minister of Justice. But what was most gratifying to the 
public in the composition of this new ministry was that M. de 

Blacas, who had made himself so odious to everybody, was 
superseded by M. de Bichelieu, whose name revived the 

memory of a great Minister, and who, by his excellent con¬ 
duct throughout the whole course of his career, deserves to 
be distinguished as a model of honor and wisdom. 

General satisfaction was expressed on the appointment of 

Marshal Macdonald to the post of Grand Chancellor of the 
Legion of Honor in lieu of M. de Pradt. M. de Chabrol re¬ 

sumed the Prefecture of the Seine, which, during the Hundred 
Days, had been occupied by M. de Bondi. M. de Mole was 

made Director-General of bridges and causeways, I was super¬ 

seded in the Prefecture of Police t by M. Decazes, and M. 

Beugnot followed M. Ferrand as Director-General of the Post- 

office. 
I think it was on the 10th of July that I went to St. Cloud 

to pay a visit of thanks to Blucher. I had been informed 

that as soon as he learned I had a house at St. Cloud he sent 
a guard to protect it. This spontaneous mark of attention 
was well deserving of grateful acknowledgment, especially at 
a time when there was so much reason to complain of the 

plunder practised by the Prussians.1 My visit to Blucher 

men whom Bonaparte, during the Consulate and afterwards, esteemed for 
his talents and probity. I recollect often having heard him say, speaking of 
M. de Bouillerie, “ He is the man to manage money matters. There is no 
need to revise his accounts.” Bonaparte sent for him from Paris to the 
camp at Boulogne to examine the accounts, and afterwards appointed him 
Treasurer of the crown after we lost Est&ve, our old companion in the 
Egyptian expedition.— Bonrrienne. 

i The English occupied St. Cloud after the Prussians. My large house, 
in which the children of the Comte d? Artois were inoculated, was respected 
by them, but they occupied a small house forming part of the estate. The 
English officer who commanded the troops stationed a guard at the large 
house. One morning we were informed that the door had been broken open 
and a valuable looking-glass stolen. We complained to the commanding 
officer, and on the affair being inquired into it was discovered that the sen¬ 
tinel himself had committed the theft. The man was tried by a court-mar¬ 
tial, and condemned to death, a circumstance which, as may naturally be 
supposed, was very distressing to us. Madame de Bourrienne applied to the 
commanding officer for the man’s pardon, but could only obtain his reprieve. 
The regiment departed some weeks after, and we could never learn what 
was the fate of the criminal. —Bourrienne. 
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presented to observation a striking instance of the instability 

of human greatness. I found Blueher residing like a sever* 
eign in the Palaee of St. Cloud, where I had lived so long in 

the intimacy of .Napoleon, at a period when he dictated laws 
to the kings of Europe before he was a monarch himself. In 

that cabinet in which Napoleon and I had passed so many 

busy 1 lours, and where so many great plans had their birth, I 
was received by tin* man who had been my prisoner at Ham¬ 

burg. The Prussian General immediately reminded me of the 

eircumstanee. u Who could have foreseen,” said he, “ that 

after being your prisoner I should heroine the protector of 

your property? You treated me well at Hamburg, and I 

have now an opportunity of repaying your kindness. Heaven 

knows what will be the result of all this ! One thing, how¬ 

ever, is eertain, and that is, that the Allies will now make 

such conditions as will banish all possibility of danger for a 

long time to come. The Emperor Alexander does not wish to 

make, the French people expiate too dearly the misfortunes 

they have* caused us. He attributes them to Napoleon, but 

Napoleon cannot pay the expenses of the war, and they must 

be paid by some one. It was all very well for onee, but wo 

cannot pay the expenses of coming back a second time. How¬ 

ever,” added he, “ you will lose none of your territory ; that is 
a point on which I (‘an give you positive assurance. The 

Emperor Alexander has several times repeated in my presence 

to the King my master, 4 I honor the French nation, and 1 am 

determined that it shall preserve its old limits,’ ” 
The above, are the very words which Blueher addressed to 

me. Profiting by the friendly sentiments he expressed to¬ 

wards me I took the opportunity of mentioning the complaints 

that were everywhere made of the bad discipline of the troops 

under his command. u What can I do? ” said he. 141 cannot 

be present everywhere; but I assure you that in future and 
at your recommendation 1 will severely punish any miscon¬ 

duct that may come to my knowledge.” 

Buell was the result of my visit to Blueher; but, in spite 

of his promises, his troops continued to commit the most 

revolting excesses. Thus the Prussian troops have left in the 



THE REWARDS OF FIDELITY. 233 

neighborhood of Paris recollections no less odious than those 
produced by the conduct of Davoust’s corps in Prussia. Of 
this an instance now occurs to nay memory, which I will 
relate here. In the spring of 1816, as I was going to Chev- 
reuse, I stopped at the Petit Bicetre to water my horse. I 
seated myself for a few minutes near the door of the inn, and 
a large dog belonging to the innkeeper began to bark and 
growl at me. His master, a respectable-looking old man, 
exclaimed, “Be quiet, Blucher ! ” — “ How came you to give 
your dog that name ? ” said I. — “ Ah, sir ! it is the name of 
a villain who did a great deal of mischief here last year. 
There is my house ; they have left scarcely anything but the 
four walls. They said they came for our good; but let them 
come back again ... we will watch them, and spear them 
like wild boars in the woods.” The poor man’s house cer¬ 
tainly exhibited traces of the most atrocious violence, and he 
shed tears as he related to me his disasters. 

Before the King departed for Ghent he had consented to 
sign the contract of marriage between one of my daughters 
and M. Massieu de Clerval, though the latter was at that time 
only a lieutenant in the navy. The day appointed for the 
signature of the contract happened to be Sunday, the 19th of 
March, and it may well be imagined that in the critical circum¬ 
stances in which we then stood, a matter of so little importance 
could scarcely be thought about. In July I renewed my re¬ 
quest to his Majesty, which gave rise to serious discussions in 
the Council of Ceremonies. Lest any deviation from the laws 
of rigid etiquette should commit the fate of the monarchy, it 
was determined that the marriage contract of a lieutenant in 
the navy could only be signed at a petty levee. However, his 
Majesty, recollecting the promise he had given me, decided 
that the signature should be given at the grand levee. Though 
all this may appear exceedingly ludicrous, yet I must confess 
that the triumph over etiquette was very gratifying to me. 

A short time after the King appointed me a Councillor of 
State, a title which I had held under Bonaparte ever since his 
installation at the Tuileries, though I had never fulfilled the 
functions of the office. In the month of August, the King 
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having resolved to eonvoke a new Chamber of Deputies, T was 
appointed President of the Electoral College of the Depart¬ 

ment of the Yonne. As soon as I was informed of my nomi¬ 

nation 1 waited on M. <le Talleyrand for my instructions, but he 
told me that, in conformity with the King’s intentions, I was 

to receive my orders from the Minister of Police. 1 observed 

to M. de Talleyrand that I must decline seeing Doueh6, on 

account of the situation in wdiioh we stood with reference to 

each other. “ (fo to him, go to him,” said M. de. Talleyrand, 

“and be assured Douche will say to you nothing on the subject.” 
I felt great repugnance, to set* Fouche, and consequently I 

went to him quite against my inclination. 1 naturally ex¬ 

pected a very cold reception. What had passed between us 

rendered our interview extremely delirate. I called on Fouche 

at nine in tin*, morning, and found him alone, and walking in 

his garden. He received me as a man might be expected to 

receive an intimate friend whom he had not seen for a long 

time. On reflection I was not very much surprised at this, 

for 1 was well aware that Douche could make his hatred yield 

to calculation. lit*, said not a word about his arrest, and it may 

well be supposed that 1 did not seek to turn the conversation 

on that subject. 1 asked him whether he had any information 

to give me respecting the elections of the Yonne. “ None at 
all,” said he; “ get yourself nominated if you can, only use 

your endeavors to exclude General Desfournaux. Anything 

else is a matter of indifference to me.” — “ What is your ob¬ 

jection to Desfournaux ? ” — “The Ministry will not have him.” 
T was about to depart when Douche called me kick saying, 

a \Y)\j are you in such haste ? Cannot you stay a few min¬ 

utes longer ? ” Ue then began to speak of the first return of 

the Bourbons, and asked me how I could so easily bring my¬ 

self to act in their favor. He then entered into details re¬ 

specting the Royal Family which I conceive it to be my duty 

to pass over in silence, ft may be added, however, that the 

conversation 1 listed a long time, and to say the least of it, was 

by no means in favor of “ divine right.” 

I conceived it my duty to make the1. King acquainted with 

this conversation, and as there was now no Gomte de Blacas to 
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keep truth and good advice from his Majesty's ear, I was, on 
my first solicitation, immediately admitted to the Eoyal cab¬ 

inet. I cautiously suppressed the most startling details, for, 
had I literally reported what; Fouche said, Louis XVIII. could 
not possibly have given credit to it. The King thanked 

me for my communication, and I could perceive he was con¬ 
vinced that by longer retaining Fouche in office he would become 

the victim of the minister who had been so scandalously forced 

upon him on the 7th of July. The disgrace of the Duke of 

Otranto speedily followed, and I had the satisfaction of hav¬ 
ing contributed to repair one of the evils with which the Duke 
of Wellington visited France. 

Fouche was so evidently a traitor to the cause he feigned to 

serve, and Bonaparte was so convinced of this, that during 
the Hundred Days, when the Ministers of the King at G-hent 
were enumerated in the presence of Napoleon, some one said, 
“ But where is the Minister of the Police ? ” — “Eh! Parbleu” 
said Bonaparte, “that is Fouchd? ..." It was not the 

same with Carnot, in spite of the indelible stain of his vote : 
if he had served the King, his Majesty could have depended 

on him, but nothing could shake the firmness of his principles 
in favor of liberty. I learned, from a person who had the 
opportunity of being well informed, that he would not accept 

tlie post of Minister of the Interior which was offered to him 
at the commencement of the Hundred Days until he had a 
conversation with Bonaparte, to ascertain whether he had 
changed his principles. Carnot placed faith in the fair 

promises of Napoleon, who deceived him, as he had deceived 

others. 
Soon after my audience with the King I set off to discharge 

my duties in the department of the Yonne, and I obtained the 
honor of being elected to represent my countrymen in the 
Chamber of Deputies. My colleague was M. Baudot, a man 
who, in very trying circumstances, had given proofs of courage 
by boldly manifesting his attachment to the King's Govern¬ 

ment. The following are the facts which I learned in con¬ 
nection with this episode, and which I circulated as speedily 
as possible among the electors of whom I had the honor to be 
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President. Bonaparte, on his way from Lyons to Paris, after 

his landing at the gulf of Juan, stopped at Avalon, and im¬ 

mediately sent; for the mayor, M. Raudot. He instantly 

obeyed the summons. On coming into Napoleon’s presence 

he said, “ What do you want, General ? ” This appellation 
displeased Napoleon, who nevertheless put several (questions 

to M. Raudot, who was willing to oblige him as a traveller, 

but not to serve him as an Emperor. Napoleon having given 

him some orders, this worthy servant of the King replied, 

“ General, I ran receive no orders from you, for l acknowledge 

no sovereign but the King, to whom I have sworn allegiance.” 

Napoleon then directed M. Raudot, in a tone of severity, to 

withdraw, and I need not add that it was not long before he 

was dismissed from the mayoralty of Avalon. 

Tin*, elections of the Yonne being over, I returned to Paris, 

where 1 took part in public affairs only as an amateur, while 

waiting for the opening of the session. I was deeply grieved 

to set! the Government resort to measure's of severity to punish 

faults which it would have been better policy to attribute only 
to the unfortunate, circumstances of the times. No considera¬ 

tion can ever make me* cease to regret the memory of Ney, 

who was the victim of the influence of foreigners. Their 

object, as Blueher intimated to me at St. Cloud, was to disable 
France from engaging in war for a long time to conn', and 

they hoped to effect that object by stirring up between the 

Royal Government and the army of the Loire that spirit of 

discord which the sacrifice of Ney could not fail to produce. 

I have no positive proofs of the fact, but in my opinion Ncy’s 

life was a pledge of gratitude which Pouch6 thought lie must 

offer to the foreign influence which had made, him Minister. 

About this time I learned a fact which will create no sur¬ 

prise, as it affords another proof of the chivalrous disinter¬ 

estedness of Macdonald’s character. When in 1815 several 

Marshals claimed from the Allied powers their endowments in 

foreign countries, Madame Moreau, to whom the King had 

given the honorary title of Madame hi Maret'kale, and who 

was the friend of the Duke of Tarentum, wrote, without Mac¬ 

donald’s knowledge, to M. de Bhicas, our ambassador at Naples, 
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begging him to endeavor to preserve for the Marshal the en¬ 
dowment which had been given him in the kingdom of Naples. 
As soon as Macdonald was informed of this circumstance he 

waited upon Madame Moreau, thanked her for her kind inten¬ 

tions, but at the same time informed her that he should disa¬ 
vow all knowledge of her letter, as the request it contained 

was entirely averse to his principles. The Marshal did, in 
fact, write the following letter to M. de Blacas : — “ I hasten 

to inform you, sir, that it was not with my consent that 
Madame Moreau wrote to you, and I beg you will take no 

step that might expose me to a refusal. The King of Naples 
owes me no recompense for having beaten his army, revolu¬ 

tionized his kingdom, and forced him to retire to Sicily.” 

Such conduct was well worthy of the man who was the last 
to forsake Napoleon in 1814, and the last to rejoin him, and 
that without the desire of accepting any appointment in 1815. 

M. de Blacas, who was himself much surprised at Macdonald’s 
letter, communicated it to the King of Naples, whose answer 

deserves to be recorded. It was as follows : — “If I had not 
imposed a law upon myself to acknowledge none of the French 
endowments, the conduct of Marshal Macdonald would have 
induced me to make an exception in his favor.” It is gratify¬ 

ing to see i T,inces such scrupulous observers of the laws they 

make for the nselves! 
About the end of August, 1815, as I was walking on the 

Boulevard des Capucines, I had the pleasure of meeting Bapp, 

whom I had not seen for a long time. He had just come out 
of the house of Lagren^e, the artist, who was painting his 
portrait. I was on foot, and Bapp’s carriage was waiting, so 

we both stepped into it, and set off to take a drive in the Bois 
de Boulogne. We had a great deal to say to each other, for 

we had not met since the great events of the two Bestora- 

tions. The reason of this was, that in 1814 I passed a part 
of the year at Sens, and since the occurrences of March, 1815, 
Bapp himself had been absent from Paris. I found him per¬ 
fectly resigned to his change of position, though indulging in 

a few oaths against the foreigners. Bapp was not one of 
those generals who betrayed the King on the 20th of March. 
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He told me that he remained at the head of the division 

which lie commanded at Ecouen, under the orders of the I)uc 

de Berry, and that lie. did not resign it to the. War Minister 

until after the King’s departure. “ How did .Napoleon receive 

you ? ” 1 inquired. “ I waited till he sent for me. You know 

what sort of fellow I am. I know nothing about politics; 

not 1. I had sworn fidelity to the King. 1 know my duty, 

and I would have fought against the Emperor.” — “ Indeed! ” 

—u Yes, certainly l would, and 1 told him so myself.” — 

“ How ! did you venture, so far ? ” — “ To be sure. I told him 

that my resolution was definite. ‘Pshaw!’ . . . replied he 

angrily. ‘ I knew well that you were opposed to me. If we 

had come to an action I should have sought you out on the 

field of battle. I would have shown you the Medusa’s head. 

Would you have dared to fire on me ?’ — ‘ Without doubt,’ I 

replied. ‘Ah! parhfnt! this is too much/ he said. ‘But 

your troops would not have obeyed you. They had preserved 

all their affection for me.’ — ‘ Wrhat could I do ? ’ resumed I. 

‘ You abdicated, you left France, you recommended us to serve 
the King—-and then you return ! Besides, I tell you frankly, 

1 do not augur well of what will happen. We shall have war 

again. France has had enough of that.’ Ppon this,” con¬ 

tinued Rapp, “ he assured me that he bad other thoughts; 

that lie had no further desire for war; that In*, wished to 
govern in peace, and devote himself solely to the happiness 

of his people. When I hinted opposition on the part of the 

Foreign Powers, he said that he had made alliances. He then 

spoke to me of tin* King, and I said I had lx»en much pleased 
with him ; indeed, the King gave me a very gratifying recep¬ 
tion on my return from Kief, and I see no reason why I 

should complain, when I was so well used. During the con¬ 

versation the Emperor much extolled the conduct of the 

Puke of Orleans. lie then gave me some description of his 

passage from the Isle of Elba and his journey to Paris, lie 

complained of being accused of ambition ; and observing that 

I looked astonished and doubtful — ‘ What! ’ he continued, 

fam I ambitious, then?’ And patting his belly with both 

his hands, * Can a man/ he asked, 4 so fat as I am be ambi- 
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tious ? ’ I could not for my soul help saying. ‘ Ah ! Sire, youi 
Majesty is surely joking.’ He pretended, however, to be seri¬ 
ous, and after a few moments, noticing my decorations, he 

Hegan to banter me about the Cross of St. Louis and the Cross 

of the Lily, which I still wore.’5 
I asked Eapp whether all was true that had been said about 

the enthusiasm which was manifested along the whole of 

-CSTapoleon’s route from the Gulf of Juan to Paris. “ Ma 
foi!” he replied, "I was not there any more than you, but all 
those who accompanied him have assured me of the truth of 
the details which have been published; but I recollect having 

heard Bertrand say that on one occasion he was fearful for 
the safety of the Emperor, in case any assassin should have 

presented himself. At Eossard, where the Emperor stopped 

to breakfast on his way to Paris, his escort was so fatigued as 

to be unable to follow, so that he was for some time almost 

alone on the road, until a squadron which was in garrison at 
Melun met him and escorted him to Fontainebleau. As to 
anything else, from all I have heard, the Emperor was exposed 

to no danger.” 

We then began to talk of our situation, and the singular 
chances of our fortune. Eapp told me how, within a few 

days only, he had ceased to be one of the discontented; for 

the condition of the generals who had commanded army corps 
in the campaign of Waterloo was very different in 1815 from 
what it had been in 1814. “I had determined,” he said, “to 
live a quiet life, to meddle with nothing, and not even to wear 
my uniform. I had, therefore, since the King’s return never 

presented myself at Court; when, a week ago, while riding 

on horseback two or three hundred paces from this spot,1 I 
saw a group of horsemen on the other side of the avenue, one 

of whom galloped towards me. I immediately recognized the 
• Hue de Berry. ‘ How, Monseigneur, is it you ? 9 I exclaimed. 

* It is, my dear General; and since you will not come to us, I 

must come to you. Will you breakfast with me to-morrow 
morning ? ’ Ma foi / 39 continued Eapp, “ what could I do ? 

The tone of kindness in which he gave this invitation quite 

1 We were then near the Barri&re de l’Etoile, and were turning back. -- 
JBourrienm. 
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charmed me. I wont, and I was treated so well that 1 shall 

go again. But I will ask for nothing: 1 only want these 

Prussians and English rascals out of the way 1 ” I compli¬ 

mented Rapp on his conduct, and told him that it was impos¬ 

sible that so loyal and honest a man as he should not, at some 

time, or other, attract the King's notice. I had the happiness 

to see this prediction accomplished. Since that time I regu¬ 

larly saw Rapp whenever we both happened to be in Paris, 

which was pretty often. 
I have already mentioned that in the month of August the 

King named me Councillor of State.1 On the 19th of the fol¬ 

lowing month 1 was appointed Minister of State and member 

of the Privy Council. I may (dose these volumes by relating 

a circumstance very flattering to me, and connected with the 

last-mentioned nomination. The King had directed M. de 

Talleyrand to present to him, in his oflieial character of Presi¬ 

dent of the Council of Ministers, a list of the persons who 

might be deemed suitable {is members of the Privy Council. 

The King having read the list, said to his Minister, u But, M. 

de Talleyrand, I do not set? hen* the names of two of our 

best friends, Bourrieime ami Alexis de Noailles.” — “ Sire, I 

thought their nomination would seem inure flattering in com¬ 

ing directly from your Majesty,'1 The King then added my 

name to the list, and afterwards that of the Comte Alexis de 

Noailles, so that Initli our names are written in Louis XVIIX/s 

own hand in the original Ordinance,2 

1 have now brought to a conclusion my narrative of the 

extraordinary events in which I have taken part, either as a 

spectator or an actor, during the course of a strangely diversi¬ 

fied life, of which nothing now remains but recollections. 

orx'yjdxxJl m.ajuuuAou^fc 

JJL.C&Z ArfUAAJUMASL %AjJU klUSL, 
i I dtarharged the function* of Councillor of Bute until ISIS, at which 

time? mi Ordinance appeared declaring tho*t» functions incompatible with the 
title of Min inter of State, —/fowmVnnc. 

For ft totally different vernion of this Incident sum? the pomiago about 
Bourcienne in the following chapter, p. 299, and IM VitroUe$> tome Hi. p. 219. 



CHAPTEE XII.1 

THE CENT JOURS. 

The extraordinary rapidity of events during the Cent Jours, 
or Hundred Days of Napoleon’s reign in 1815, and the 

startling changes in the parts previously filled by the chief 
personages, make it difficult to consider it as an historical 
period ; it more resembles a series of sudden theatrical trans¬ 
formations, only broken by the great pause while the nation 

waited for news from the army. 
The first Eestoration of the Bourbons had been so unex¬ 

pected, and was so rapidly carried out, that the Bonapartists, 
or indeed all France, had hardly realized the situation before 
Napoleon was again in the Tuileries; and during the Cent 
Jours both Bonapartists and Eoyalists were alike rubbing 
their eyes, asking whether they were awake, and wondering 
which was the reality and which the dream, the Empire or 

the Eestoration. 
It is both difficult and interesting to attempt to follow the 

history of the chief characters of the period; and the reader 
must pardon some abrupt transitions from person to person, 
and from group to group, while the details of some subsequent 
movements of the Bonaparte family2 must be thrown in to 
give a proper idea of the strange revolution in their fortunes. 
We may divide the characters with which we have to deal 

into five groups,—the Bonaparte family, the Marshals, the 
Statesmen of the Empire, the Bourbons, and the Allied 

Monarchs. One figure and one name will be missing, but if 
we omit all account of poor, bleeding, mutilated France, it is 

1 This chapter is inserted by the Editor of the 1885 edition. 
2 The account given of the Bonaparte family is founded on Wouters* 

Histoire Chronoloqique de la Repvblique et de V Empire, svime des Annales 
jWapoleoniennes (Bruxelles, Wouters Freres, 1847), which was written under 
the superintendence of Prince Pierre Napoleon Bonaparte. See also for 
many of the characters in this chapter the Covrt and Camp of Bonaparte 
(London, Murray, 1831), which is fairly correct considering its date. 
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charmed me. 1 went, and I was treated so well that I shall 

go again. But I will ask lor nothing: I only want these 
Prussians and English rascals out of the way ! ” I compli¬ 

mented Kapp on his conduct, and told him that it was impos¬ 

sible that so loyal and honest a man as he should not, at some 

time or other, attract the King’s notice. I had the happiness 
to see this prediction accomplished. Since that time. I regu¬ 

larly saw Kapp whenever we both happened to he in Paris, 

which was pretty often. 
i have already mentioned that in the month of August the 

King named me Councillor of Stated On the 19th of the fol¬ 

lowing month 1 was appointed Minister of State and member 

of the Privy Council. I may close* these volumes by relating 

a circumstance very flattering to me, and connected with the 

last-mentioned nomination. The King had directed M. de 

Talleyrand to present to him, in his oflieial character of Presi¬ 

dent of the Council of Ministers, a list of the persons who 

might be deemed suitable as members of the Privy Council. 

The King having read the list, said to his Minister, “ But, M. 

de Talleyrand, I do not see here the names of two of our 

best friends, Bourrienne and Alexis de Noailles,” — “ Sire, I 

thought their nomination would seem more flattering in com¬ 

ing directly from your Majesty,” The King then added my 

name to the list, and afterwards that of the Comte Alexis de 

Noailles, so that both our names are written in Louis XVIlids 

own hand in the original Ordinance.2 

I have now brought to a conclusion my narrative of the 
extraordinary events in which I have taken part, either as a 

spectator or an actor, during the course of a strangely diversi¬ 
fied life, of which nothing now remains but recollections. 

JA-C&Z &dM\X8AAM& %MjfU ksUSL^ 
* I discharged the function* of (hnmeillor of fttata until ISIS, at which 

time an Ordinance appeared declaring those functions incompatible with the 
title of Minister of mate. —Hmtrrienn*. 

* For a totally different version of this incident see the passage about 
Bourrienne in the following chapter, p. 29P, and J)e Vitroitmt tome lit. p. 219. 



CHAPTER XII.1 

THE CENT JOURS. 

The extraordinary rapidity of events during the Cent Jours, 
or Hundred Days of Napoleon’s reign in 1815, and the 

startling changes in the parts previously filled by the chief 
personages, make it difficult to consider it as an historical 
period; it more resembles a series of sudden theatrical trans¬ 
formations, only broken by the great pause while the nation 

waited for news from the army. 

The first Restoration of the Bourbons had been so unex¬ 

pected, and was so rapidly carried out, that the Bonapartists, 
or indeed all France, had hardly realized the situation before 
Napoleon was again in the Tuileries; and during the Cent 
Jours both Bonapartists and Boyalists were alike rubbing 
their eyes, asking whether they were awake, and wondering 

which was the reality and which the dream, the Empire or 
the Restoration. 

It is both difficult and interesting to attempt to follow the 

history of the chief characters of the period; and the reader 
must pardon some abrupt transitions from person to person, 
and from group to group, while the details of some subsequent 
movements of the Bonaparte family2 must be thrown in to 
give a proper idea of the strange revolution in their fortunes. 

We may divide the characters with which we have to deal 
into five groups, — the Bonaparte family, the Marshals, the 
Statesmen of the Empire, the Bourbons, and the Allied 

Monarchs. One figure and one name will be missing, but if 
we omit all account of poor, bleeding, mutilated France,- it is 

1 This chapter is inserted by the Editor of the 1885 edition. 
2 The account given of the Bonaparte family is founded on Wouters* 

HiUoire Chronolo pique de la Repvblique et de V Empire, svime des Annales 
Napoleoniennes (Bruxelles, Wouters Freres, 1847), which was written under 
the superintendence of Prince Pierre Napoleon Bonaparte. See also for 
many of the characters in this chapter the Covrt and Camp of Bonaparte 
(London, Murray, 1831), which is fairly correct considering its date. 
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but leaving her in the oblivion in which sin* was left at the 

time by every one except by Napoleon. 

The disaster of 1814 had rather dispersed than crushed the 

Bonaparte family, and they rallied immediately on the return 

from Elba. The linal fall of the Empire was total ruin to 

them. The provisions id* the. Treaty of Fontainebleau, which 
had been meant to insure a maintenance to them, had not 

been earned out while Napoleon was still a latent power, and 

after 1815 the Bourbons were only too happy to find a reason 

for not paying a debt they had determined never to liquidate. 

It was well for any of the Bourbons in their days of distress 

to receive the bounty of the usurper, but there was a peculiar 

pleasure in refusing to pay the price promised for his imme¬ 

diate abdication. 
The flight, of the Bonapartes in 1815 was rapid. Metter- 

nieh writes to Maria Louisa in duly, 1815: “ Madame Mere 

and Cardinal Fesch left yesterday for Tuscany. Wc do not 

know exactly where Joseph is. Lueien is in England under a 

false name, Jerome in Switzerland, Louis at Rome. Queen 

Hortense has set out for Switzerland, whither General de Fla- 

hault and his mother will follow her. Murat seems to be still 

at Toulon; this, however, is not certain.” Was ever such an 

account of a dynasty given! These had all been among the 

great ones of Europe: in a moment they were fugitives, 

several of them having for tine rest of their lives a bitter 

struggle with poverty. Fortunately for them the Pope, the 

King of Holland, and the Gran cl Duke of Tuseuny, with not 

under heavy obligations to Napoleon, and could thus afford 

to give to his family the protection denied them by those 

monarehs who believed themselves bound to redeem their 

former servility. 

When Napoleon landed Maria Louisa was in Austria, and 

she was eager to assist in taking every precaution to prevent 
her son, the young King of Rome, being spirited off to join 

his father, whose fortunes she had sworn to share. She her¬ 

self was fast falling under the influence of the one-eyed Aus¬ 

trian General, Neipperg, just then left a widower, who was 

goon to be admitted to share* her bed. By 182b she seemed to 
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have entirely forgotten the different members of the Bona* 
parte family, speaking of her life in Prance as “a bad 

dream.”1 She obtained the Grand Duchy of Parma, where 
she reigned till 1847, marrying a third time, it is said, the 
Count Bombelles, and dying just too soon to be hunted from 
her Duchy by the Devolution of 1848. 

There is something very touching in most that we know of 
the poor young King of Borne, from his childish but strangely 
prescient resistance to his removal from Paris to Blois on the 
approach of the Allies in 1814, to the message of remembrance 

sent in after years to the column of the Place Yendome, “his 
only friend in Paris.” 

At four years of age Meneval describes him as gentle, but 
quick in answering, strong, and with excellent health. “ Light 

curly hair in ringlets set off a fresh face, while fine blue eyes 
lit up his regular features. He was precociously intelligent, 
and knew more than most children older than himself.”2 

When Meneval — the former secretary of his father, giving- 
up his post in Austria with Maria Louisa, as he was about to 

rejoin Napoleon — took farewell of the Prince in May, 1815, 

the poor little motherless child “ drew me towards the win¬ 

dow, and, giving me a touching look, said in a low tone, c Mon¬ 
sieur M^va, tell him (Napoleon) that I always love him 

dearly.* ”3 We say “ motherless,” because Maria Louisa seems 

to have yielded up her child, at the dictates of policy to be 

closely guarded as easily as she gave up her husband. “ If,” 
wrote Madame de Montesquiou, his governess, “ the child had 

a mother, I would leave him in her hands, and be happy, but 
she is nothing like a mother, she is more indifferent to his 
fate than the most utter stranger in her service.”4 His 

grandfather, the Emperor Francis, to do him justice, seems to 

have been really kind to the lad, and while, in 1814, 1815, and 
in 1830, taking care to deprive him of all chance of his glo¬ 
rious inheritance, still seems to have cared for him personally, 

1 This is in opposition to the mention made of Maria Louisa in Napoleon’s 
Will, hut see Meneval, tome ii. pp. 360-369, and, Vitrolles, tome iii. pp. 500- 
508, and the Talleyrand Correspondence, vol. ii. p. 19. 

2 Men ‘ral, tome ii. p. 225. 8 Ibid., tome ii. p. 326. 
4 lung’s Laden, tome iii. p. 181. 
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and to have been always kind to him. There is no truth in 

the story that the Austrians neglected his education and con¬ 

nived at the ruin of his faculties. Both his tutor, the Count 

Maurice Dietriehstein, and Marshal Marmont, who conversed 
with him in 1881, agree in speaking highly of him as full of 

promise: Marmont’s evidence being especially valuable as 

showing that the Austrians did not object to the Duke of 

Ueiehstadt (as he had been created by his grandfather in 
1818),1 learning all he could of his father’s life from one of 

the Marshals. In 1881 Marmont describes him ; a I recog¬ 

nized his father’s look in him, and in that he most resembled 

Napoleon. His eyes, not so large as those of Napoleon, and 

sunk deeper in their sockets, had the same expression, the 

same tire, the same energy. His forehead was like, that of his 

father, and so was tile lower part of his face and his chin. 
Then his complexion was that of Napoleon in his youth, with 

the same pallor and the same color of the skim but all tin* rest 

of his face recalled his mother and tin* House of Austria. 

He was taller than Napoleon by about three inches/12 

As long as tin* Duke lived his name was naturally the 

rallying-point of tin* Bonapart.es, and was mentioned in some 

of the many conspiracies against tin* Bourbons. In 1880 

Joseph Bonaparte tried to get tin* sanction of the Austrians 

to his nephew being put forward as a claimant to the throne 

of France, vjtcant by tin* flight of Charles X., hut they held 

their captive firmly.1 A very interesting passage is given in 
the Memoir# of (hurl ex UreeiUe^ who says that Prince Fster- 

hazy told him ua great deal about the Duke of Reichsfcadt, 

who, if he had lived, would have probably played a great part 
in the world. He died of a premature decay, brought on, 

apparently, by over-exertion and over-excitement ;4 his talents 
were very conspicuous, he. was petri d'nmldtion, worshipped 

the memory of his father, and for that reason never liked his 

**Por the indemnity wt apart for the Duke Imdeail of Purinn tee Mcnmtl, 
tones fi» p. Cl4. * Marmont, tome viii. p. <475. 

• Metier nicht voh v. p. 107, and tung*s Lneien, tone* ill. pp. IHtH MM. 
4 Marmont ( tome vim pp. 400, 4(H)) attribute# thin to toe Duke having 

overheard a timer about hit want of energy, after which he over-atraineu 
himself. 
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mother; his thoughts were incessantly turned towards Prance, 
and when he heard of the Days of July (overthrow of Charles 
X.) he said, * Why was I not there to take my chance ? ’ He 
evinced great affection and gratitude to his grandfather, who, 

while he scrupulously observed all his obligation^ towards 

Louis Philippe, could not help feeling a secret pride in the 

aspiring genius of Napoleon’s son. He was well educated, and 
day and night pored over the history of his father’s glorious 
career. He delighted in military exercises, and not only 

shone at the head of his regiment, but had already acquired 
the hereditary art of ingratiating himself with the soldiers.” 1 

Esterhazy went on to describe how the Duke abandoned 

everything at a ball when he met there Marshals Marmont 
and Maison.2 “ He had no eyes or ears but for them; from 
nine in the evening to five the next morning he devoted him*' 

self to these Marshals.” There was the true Napoleonic ring 
in his answer to advice given by Marmont when the Duke said 

that he would not allow himself to be put forward by the 
Sovereigns of Europe. “The son of Napoleon should be too 

great to serve as an instrument; and in events of that nature 
I wish not to be an advanced guard, but a reserve, — that is, 
to come as a succor, recalling great memories.”8 

His death in 1832, on the 22d of July, the anniversary of 
the battle of Salamanca, solved many questions. Metternich 
visited the Duke on his deathbed. “It was a heartrending 
sight. I never remember to have seen a more mournful pic¬ 

ture of decay.” 4 When Francis was told of the death of his 
grandson he answered, “I look upon the Duke’s death as a 
blessing for him. Whether it be detrimental or otherwise to 

the public good I do not know. As for myself, I shall ever 

lament the loss of my grandson.” 6 
Josephine was in her grave at Eueil when Napoleon returned. 

She had died on the 29th of May, 1814, at Malmaison, while 
the Allies were exhibiting themselves in Paris. It seems hard 

1 The Greville Memoirs (Journal of Charles Greville, London, Longmans, 
1874), vol. iii. pp. 374, 375. See, however, the very different account given 
hy Wouters, Annales NapoMonienn.es, p. 1049. 

2 Maison, a General and Count of the Empire, was made Marshal of 
France in 1829. # Marmont, tome viii. p. 397. 

4 Metternich, vol. v. p. 196. 6 Ibid., vol. v. p. 196. 
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that she should not have lived to enjoy a triumph, howevei 

brief, over her Austrian rival. “She, at least/1 said .Napoleon 

truly, “would never have abandoned me.” 

Josephine's daughter, Hortense, separated from her husband 

Louis Bonaparte, and ereated Duchess of St. Leu by Louis 

XVIIL, was in Laris, much suspected by the Bourbons, but 

really engaged in a lawsuit with her husband about the custody 
of her sous. She had to go into hiding when the news of the 

landing arrived, but Inn* empty house, left unwatched, became 

very useful for receiving the Bonapartists, who wished for a 

place of concealment, — amongst them, as we shall see, being, 

of all people, Fouehe ! Hortense was met by Napoleon with 

some reproaches for accepting a title from the Bourbons, but 

she did the honors of tin* Elysee for him, and it is creditable 

to both of them that, braving the vile slanders about their in¬ 

tercourse, she was with him to the end; and that one of the 

last persons to embrace him at Malmaison before he started 

for the coast was his adopted daughter, the child of his dis¬ 
carded wife. Horfense’s presence in Paris was thought to be 

too dangerous by tin* Prussian Governor, and she was perempt¬ 

orily ordered to leave. An appeal to the Emperor Francis re¬ 
ceived a favorable answer, hut Francis always gave way where 

any net against Ids son-in-law was in question, and she. had to 

start at the shortest notice on a wandering life to Aix, Baden, 

and Constance, till the generosity of the small but brave canton 

of Tlmrgau enabled her to get a restingqilaee at the CluUeau 

of Arenenberg. 

In 1881 she lost her second son, the eldest then surviving, 

who died from fever in a revolutionary attempt in which he 
and his younger brother, the future, Napoleon III., were en¬ 

gaged. She was able to visit. France hmtfjnita, and even to 
see Louis Philippe and his Queen; but her presence in the 

country was soon thought dangerous, and she was urged to 

leave. In 1 88(> Hortense1** last child, Louis Napoleon, made 

his attempt at an imeutu at Strasburg, and was shipped off to 

America by the Government. She went to France to plead 

for him, and then, worn out by grief and anxiety, returned to 

Arenenberg, which her son, the future Emperor, only succeeded 
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m reaching in time to see her die in October, 1837. She was 
laid with Josephine at Rueil. 

Hortense’s brother, Prince Eugene, the Viceroy of Italy, 

was at Vienna when Napoleon returned, and fell under the 
suspicion of the Allies of having informed the Emperor of the 

intention of removing him from Elba. He was detained in 

Bavaria by his father-in-law the King, to whose Court he 
retired, and who in 1817 created him Duke of Leuchtenberg 

and Prince of Eiclistadt. With the protection of Bavaria he 
actually succeeded in wringing from the Bourbons some 
700,000 francs of the property of his mother. A first attack 

of apoplexy struck him in 1823, and he died from a second in 

Eebruary, 1824, at Munich. His descendants have intermar¬ 

ried into the Royal Eamilies of Portugal, Sweden, Brazil, 

Russia, and Wtirtemberg; his grandson now (1884) holds the 
title of Leuchtenberg. 

Except Louis, an invalid, all the brothers of the Emperor 
were around him in the Cent Jours, the supreme effort of their 
family. Joseph had left Spain after Vittoria, and had re¬ 

mained in an uncomfortable and unrecognized state near 
Paris until in 1814 he was again employed, and when, rightly 

or not, he urged the retreat of the Regency from Paris to 
Blois. He then took refuge at his chateau of Prangins in the 
canton Vaud in Switzerland, closely watched by the Bourbon- 
ists, who dreaded danger from every side except the real point, 

and who preferred trying to hunt the Bonapartists from place 

to place, instead of making their life bearable by carrying out 

the engagements with them. 
In 1815, escaping from the arrest with which he was threat¬ 

ened, after having written to urge Murat to action with fatal 
effect, Joseph joined Napoleon in Paris, and appeared at the 
Champ de Mai, sitting also in the Chamber of Peers, but, as 

before, putting forward ridiculous pretentions as to his inher¬ 
ent right to the peerage, and claiming a special seat. In fact, 

he never could realize how entirely he owed any position to 
the brother he wished to treat as an equal. 

He remained in Paris during the brief campaign, and after 

Waterloo was concealed in the house of the Swedish Ambas- 
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sador, where his sister-in-law the Crown Princess of Sweden^ 

the wife of Bernadette, was living. Muffling, the Prussian 

Governor of Paris, wished to arrest him, but as the Governor 

could not violate the domicile of an Ambassador, he had to 

apply to the Czar, who arranged for the escape of the ex-King 
before the Governor could seize him. Joseph went to the 

coast, pretty much following the route of Napoleon. lie was 

arrested once at Saintes, but was allowed to proceed, and he 

met his brother on the 4th of July at Rochefort. 
It is significant as to the possibility of the escape of Napo¬ 

leon that Joseph succeeded in getting on the brig Commerce 

as “ M. Bouchard,” and, though the ship was thrice searched 

by the English, he got to New York on the 28th of August, 

where he was mistaken for Carnot, lie was well received, 
and, taking the title of Comte de Survilliers, he first lived at 

Lansdowne, Fairmount Park, Philadelphia, where he after¬ 

wards always passed part of the year while he was in America. 

He also bought the property of Point Breeze, at Bordentown, 
on the Delaware, where he built a house with a line view of 

the river. This first house was burnt down, but he erected 

another, where he lived in some state and in great comfort, 
displaying his jewels and pictures to his admiring neighbors, 
and showing kindness to impecunious nephews.1 

The news of the Revolution of July in 18JO, which drove 

Charles X. from the throne, excited Joseph’s hopes for the 

family of which he considered himself the Regent, and he 

applied to Metternich to get the Austrian Government to 
allow or assist in the placing his nephew, the Duke of Reich- 

stadt, on the throne of France, Austria would not even 
answer. 

In July, 1832, Joseph crossed to England, where he met 
Lucien, just arrived from Italy, bringing the news of the 

death of his nephew. Disappointed, he staid in England for 

some time,2 but returned to America in 1880. In 1831) he 

1 See Scribner, vol. xxi. 1880-1881, November, 1880, p. 28, u Bordentown 
and the Bonapartes.” 

2 For reference to the unpretentious demeanor of Joseph and Linden in« 
England see Journal of Charles Greville (Longmans, 1874), vol. ill. pp. 11 
and 18. 
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finally left America, and again came to England, where he 

had a paralytic stroke, and in 1843 he went to Elorence, 
where he met his wife after a long separation. 

Joseph lived long enough to see the two attempts of another 
nephew, Louis ISTapoleon, at Strasburg in 1836, and at 
Boulogne in 1840, which seem to have been undertaken with¬ 
out his knowledge and to have much surprised him. He died 

in Elorence in 1844; his body was buried first in Santa Croce, 
Elorence, but was removed to the Invalides in 1864. His 

wife, the ex-Queen, had retired in 1815 to Erankfort and to 
Brussels, where she was well received by the King, William, 

and where she staid till 1823, when she went to Elorence, 
dying there in 1845. Her monument is in the Cappella Ric- 
cardi, Santa Croce, Elorence. 

Lucien had retired to Rome in 1804, on the creation of the 

Empire, and had continued embroiled with his brother, partly 
from his so-called Republican principles, but chiefly from his 

adhering to his marriage, his second one, with Madame 
Jouberthon, — a union which Napoleon steadily refused to 
acknowledge, offering Lucien anything, a kingdom or the 

hand of a queen (if we take Lucien’s account), if he would 

only consent to the annulment of the contract. 
In August, 1810, affecting uneasiness as Napoleon stretched 

his power over Rome, Lucien embarked for America, but he 

was captured by the English and taken, first to Malta and 
then to England, where he passed the years until 1814 in a 

sort of honorable captivity* first at Ludlow and then at 

Thorngrove, not far from that town. 
In 1814 Lucien was released, when he went to Rome, where 

he was welcomed by the kindly old Pope, who remembered 
the benefits conferred by Napoleon on the Church, while he 
forgot the injuries personal to himself; and the stiff-necked 

Republican, the one-time “ Brutus ” Bonaparte, accepted the 
title of Duke of Musignano and Prince of Canino. 

In 1815 Lucien joined his brother, whom he wished to 
abdicate at the Champ de Mai in favor of the King of Rome, 
placing his sword only at the disposal of Erance. This step 

was seriously debated, but, though it might have placed the 
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Allies in a more difficult position, it would certainly have 

been disregarded by them, at least unless some great victory 

had given the dynasty firmer footing. After Waterloo he 

was in favor of a dissolution of the Chambers, but .Napoleon 

had become* hopeless and almost apathetie, while Lucien him¬ 

self, from his former connection with the 18th and 19th Bru- 

maire, was looked on with great distrust by the Chambers, as 

indeed he was by his brother. Advantage? was taken of his 

Roman title? to taunt him with not being a Frenchman, and 

all his efforts failed. At the, end he fled, and failing to cross 

to England or to get to Rochefort, be reached Tiuin on the 

12th of July only to find himself arrested. He remained 

there* till the? loth of Heptember, when he* was allowed to go 

to Rome. The*re? he was interned and carefully watched; 

inde*e*el in 1817 the Rope had to intervene to prevent his 

removal to the? north of <lennany, so anxious wt*re? the? Allies 

as to the? safety of the pupped they had put on the? throne of 

France. 
The? de*ath of Napoleon in 1821 released Lucien and the 

Bonaparte family from the* constant surveillance e?xercised 

over them till then. In 18JO he? bought a property, the? Croce 

(led Biaeeo, near Bologna. The* flight of the? elde*r branch of 

the Bourbons from France* in 1880 raise*el his hopes, and, as 

already said, hi? went to England in 1882 to me*et Joseph and 
to plan some step for raising Napoleon II. to the? throne. 

The news of the* death of his nephew dashed all the? hopes of 

the family, and after staying in England for some? time?, he 
returned to Italy, dying at Viterbo in 1840, and being buried 

at Canino, where* also his second wife lies. Lucien had a taste 

for literature, and warn ilea author of «e*vt?ral works, which a 
kindly posterity will allow to die. 

Louis Bonaparte? hud fled from his Kingdom of Holland in 

1810, after a short reign of four years, disgusted with being 

expected to study the interests of his brother to whom he 

owed his throne, and with teeing requiree! to treat his wife 

Hortense with ordinary consideration. He? had taken refuge 

in Austria, putting that Court in great anxiety how to pay 

him the amount of attention to be exjmoted by the brother of 
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the Emperor, and at the same time the proper coldness Napo. 
leon might wish shown to a royal deserter. Thanks to the 
suggestions of Metternich, they seem to have been successful 

in this task. Taking the title of Comte de St. Leu from an 

estate in France, Louis went first to Toplitz, then to Gratz, 
and in 1813 he took refuge in Switzerland. In 1814 he went 
to Eome and then to Florence, where the Grand Duke Ferdinand 
received any of the family who came there with great kindness. 

Louis was the least interesting of the family, and it is 

difficult to excuse his absence from France in 1815. After 

all, the present of a kingdom is not such an unpardonable 
offence as to separate brothers forever, and Napoleon seems 
to have felt deeply the way in which he was treated by a 

brother to whom he had acted as a father ; still ill health and 

the natural selfishness of invalids may account for much. 
While his son Louis Napoleon was flying about making his 
attempts on France, Louis remained in the Eoman Palace of 
the French Academy, sunk in anxiety about his religious 

state. He disclaimed his son’s proceedings, but this may 
have been due to the Pope, who sheltered him. Anyhow, it 
is strange to mark the difference between the father and his 
two sons who came of age, and who took to revolution so 
kindly. 

In 1846 Louis was ill at Leghorn when his son escaped 
from Ham, where he had been imprisoned after his Boulogne 

attempt. Passports were refused to the son to go from Italy 

to his father, and Louis died alone on the 25th of July, 1846. 
He was buried at Santa Croce, Florence, but the body was 
afterwards removed to the village church of St. Leu Taverny, 
rebuilt by his son Napoleon III. 

Jer6me, the youngest of the whole family, the “ middy,” 
as Napoleon liked to call him, had been placed in the navy, 
in which profession he passed as having distinguished himself, 
after leaving his admiral in rather a peculiar manner, by 
attacking an English convoy, and eventually escaping the 

English by running into the port of Concarneau, believed to 
be inaccessible. At that time it was an event for a French 

man-of-war to reach home. 
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Jerome had incurred the anger of Napoleon by marrying 
a beautiful young lady of Baltimore, a Miss Paterson, but, 

more obedient than Lucien, he submitted to have this 
marriage annulled by his all-powerful brother, and in reward 
he received the brand-new Kingdom of Westphalia, and the 
hand of a daughter of the King of Wtirtemberg, “the 
cleverest King in Europe,” according to Napoleon. Jerome 
is said to have ruled rather more as a Heliogabalus than a 

Solomon, but the new Kingdom had the advantage of starting 

with good administrators, and with the example of “the 

Code.” 
In 1812 Jerome was given the command of the right wing 

of the Grand Army in its advance against Bussia, but he did 
not fulfil the expectations of his brother, and Davoust took 
the command instead. Every king feels himself a born 
general: whatever else they cannot do, war is an art which 
comes with the crown, and Jerome, unwilling to serve under 

a mere Marshal, withdrew in disgust. In 1813 he had the 

good feeling and the good sense to refuse the treacherous 
offer of the Allies to allow him to retain his kingdom if he 
joined them against his brother, a snare his sister Caroline 
fell into at Naples. 

On the downfall of Napoleon, J4r6me, as the Count of 

Gratz, went to Switzerland, and then to Gratz and Trieste. 
His wife, the ex-Queen Catherine, fell into the hands of 

Maubreuil, the officer sent on a mysterious mission, believed 
to be intended for the murder of Napoleon, but which only 

resulted in the robbery of the Queen’s jewels and of some 
80,000 francs. The jewels were for the most part recovered, 
oeing fished up from the bed of the Seine,1 but not the cash. 

In 1815 Jerome joined his brother, and appeared at the 
Champ de Mai. A true Bonaparte, his vanity was much 
hurt, however, by having — he, a real king—to sit on the 
back seat of the carriage, while his elder brother Lucien, a 

mere Roman Prince, occupied a seat of honor by the side of 
Napoleon. In the Waterloo campaign he was given the 6th 

division, forming part of Reille’s corps, General Guilleminot 

1 De Vitrolles, tom® ii. p. 86. 
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being sent with him to prevent any of the awkwardnesses of 

1812. His division was engaged with the Prussians on the 
loth of June, and at Quatre Bras he was severely wounded. 
At Waterloo his division formed the extreme left of the 
French infantry, opposite Hougomont, and was engaged in 

the struggle for that post. Whatever his failings may have 
been, he is acknowledged to have fought gallantly. After the 
battle he was given the command of the army by his brother, 
and was told to cover the retreat to Laon, which he reached 

on the 21st of June, with 18,000 infantry, 3000 cavalry and 
two batteries which he had rallied.1 This, be it observed, is a 
larger force than Ney told the Chambers even Grouchy (none 

of whose men are included) could have, and Jerome’s strength 
had swollen to 25,000 infantry and 6000 cavalry when he 
handed over the army to Soult at Laon. Napoleon had in¬ 

tended to leave Jerome with the command of the army, but 

he eventually took him to Paris. 
When Napoleon left the country Jchbme was assured by 

the ambassador of Wurtemberg that he would find a refuge in 

the dominions of his father-in-law; but when he arrived there, 
he was informed that if he did not wish to be, according to the 

original intentions of the Allies, handed over to the Prussians, 
and separated from his wife, he must sign an' engagement to 
remain in Wurtemberg under strict surveillance. He was 
then imprisoned at Goppingen, and afterwards at Ellwangen, 
where he was not even allowed to write or receive letters 
except through the captain of the chateau. 

Part of Jerome’s troubles came from the conduct of his 
wife Catherine, who had the idea that, as she had been 
given in marriage by her father to Jdr6me, as she had 

lived for seven years as his wife, and as she had borne 
a child to him, she was really his wife, and bound to 
remain with him in his misfortunes! The royal family of 

Wlirtemberg, however, following the illustrious example 
of that of Austria, looked on her past life as a mere state 
of concubinage, useful to the family, and to be respected 
while her husband could retain his kingdom, but which should 

' 1 Bingham’s Letters of Napoleon, vol. iii. p. 401. 
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end the moment there was nothing more to be gained from 
Napoleon or his brother. It was all proper and decorous to 

retain the title of King of Wtirtemberg, which the former 

Duke and then Elector had owed to the exile of St. Helena, 

but King Frederick, and still less his son William, who suc¬ 

ceeded him in 1816, could not comprehend Catherine’s 
clinging to her husband when he had lost his kingdom. “ I 

was a Queen; I am still a wife and mother,” wrote the 

Princess to her disgusted father. Another complaint against 
this extraordinary Pilneess was that she actually saw Las 

Cases on his return from St. Helena, and thus obtained news 

of the exile.1 
After constant ill treatment Jerome and his wife, as the 

Count and Countess of Montfort, a rank the King of Wiirtcm- 

berg afterwards raised to Prince, were allowed to proceed to 

Hamburg near Vienna, then to Florence, and, later, to 

Trieste, where Jerome was when his sister Elisa died. In 182.8 

they were permitted to go to Rome, and in 1825 they went 
to Lausanne, where his true-hearted wife died the same year. 

J6r6me went to Florence, and lived to see the revival of the 
Empire, and to once more enjoy the rank of a French Prince. 

He died in I860 at the chateau of Villegenis in France, and 
was buried in the Invalides. 

The mother of the Emjyeror, Letitia, in 1814, had retained 

her title of Imperatrice Mere, and had retired to Rome. 

Hhe then went to Elba in June, and staid there with her 
daughter Pauline until Napoleon had sailed from France. On 

2d March, 1814, she went from Elba to Han Vioenzo near 

Leghorn, and then to Rome. Her son sent a frigate for her, 

the Melpomene, which was captured by the English ft tool i;2 

another vessel, the Drt/ade, brought her to France., and she 

joined Napoleon in Paris. One must have a regard for this 
simple old lady, who was always careful and saving, only half 

believing in the stability of the Empire; and, like a true mother, 

always most attentive to the most unfortunate* of her children. 

Her life had been full of startling changes, and it must have 

been strange for the woman who had been hunted out of Cor- 

1 Bee Catherine’s own ammnt in Mcnnml, tome III. pp. 403-427. 
1 James’s Naval History, vol. vL p. 227. 
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sica, flying from her house just in time to save her life from the 

adherents of Paoli, to find herself in grandeur in Paris. She 
saw her son just before he left, as she thought, for America, 

and then retired to the Einuccini— now the Bonaparte — 
Palace at Eome, where she died in 1836. She had been 

anxious to join Napoleon at St. Helena, and had refused, as 
long as Napoleon was alive, to forgive her daughter Caroline, 
the wife of Murat, for her abandonment of her brother. She 
was buried at Albano. 

Letitia's youngest daughter, the beautiful but frail Pauline, 

Duchess of Guastalla, married first to General Leclerc, and 
then to Prince Camille Borghese, was at Nice when her 

brother abdicated in 1814. She retired with her mother to 
Eome, and in October, 1814, went to Elba, staying there till 

Napoleon left, except when she was sent to Naples with a 

message of forgiveness for Murat. There was a characteristic 

scene between her and Colonel Campbell when the English 

Commissioner arrived to find Napoleon gone. Pauline pro¬ 
fessed ignorance till the last of her brother's intentions, and 

pressed the Colonel's hand to her heart that he might feel how 
agitated she was. “ She did not appear to be so," says the 

battered old Colonel, who seems to have been proof against 
her charms. She then went to Eome, and later to Pisa. Her 
health was failing, and, unable to join her brother in Erance, 

she sent him her only means of assistance, her jewels, which 
were captured at Waterloo. Her offer to go to St. Helena, 
repeated several times, was never accepted by Napoleon. She 
died in 1825 at Florence, from consumption, reconciled to her 
husband, from whom she had been separated since 1807. She 

was buried at Sta Maria Maggiore, Eome. 
Elisa, the eldest sister of Napoleon, the former Grand 

Duchess of Tuscany, which Duchy she had ruled well, being 

a woman of considerable talent, was the first of all to die. In 

1814 she had been forced to fly from her Government, and, 
accompanied by her husband, she had attempted to reach 
France. Finding herself cut off by the Austrians, she took 

shelter with Augereau's army, and then returned to Italy. 
She took the title of Comtesse de Campignano, and retired to 
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Trieste, near which town, at the Chateau of Bant Andrea, 
under a wearisome surveillance, she expired in 1820, watched 
by her husband, Felix Baeeioeehi, and her sister Caroline. 
Her monument is in the Baeeioeehi Chapel in Ban Petronio, 
Bologna. 

Caroline, the wife of Murat, was the only one of the family 
untrue to Napoleon. Very ambitious, and forgetting how 
completely she owed her kingdom of Naples to her brother, 
she had urged Murat in 1814 to separate from Napoleon, and, 
still worse, to attack Eugene, who held the north of Italy 
against the Austrians. She relied on the formal treaty with 
Austria that Murat should retain his Kingdom of Naples, and 
she may also have trusted to the good offices of her former 
admirer Metternieh. When the Congress of Vienna met, the 
French Minister, Talleyrand, at once began to press for the 
removal of Murat. A trilling treaty was not considered an 
obstacle, to the Heaven-sent deliverers of Europe, and Murat, 
believing his fate sealed, hearing of Napoleon’s landing, and 
urged on by a misleading letter from Joseph Bonaparte, at 
once marched to attack the Austrians. He was easily routed 
by the Austrians under Neipperg, the future husband of Maria 
Louisa. Murat fled to France, and Caroline first took refuge 
in an English man-of-war, the Tremendous, being promised a 
free, passage to England. She was, however, handed over to 
the Austrians, who kept her in confinement at Hamburg near 
Vienna. In October, 1815, Murat landed in Calabria in a last 
wild attempt to recover his throne. He was arrested and 
immediately shot. After his murder Caroline, taking the 
title of Countess of Lipona (an anagram of Napoli), was per¬ 
mitted to retire to Trieste with Elisa, Jthome, and his wife. 
Caroline was almost without means of existence, the Neapoli¬ 
tan Bourbons refusing even to give up the property she had 
brought there. She married a General Macdonald. When 
Hortense was buried at liueil Caroline obtained permission to 
attend the sad ceremony. In 1868 she went to France to try 
to obtain a pension, and succeeded in getting one of 100,000 
francs. Sh© died from cancer in the stomach in 1839, and was 
buried in the Campo Santo, Bologna 
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Cardinal Fesch, the half-uncle of Napoleon, the Archbishop 
of Lyons, who had fallen into disgrace with Napoleon for 

taking the side of the Pope and refusing to accept the see 
of Paris, to which he was nominated by Napoleon, had retired 

to Rome in 1814, where he remained till the return of Napo¬ 
leon, when he went to Paris, and accepted a peerage. After 
Waterloo he again sought the protection of the Pope, and 

he remained at Rome till his death in 1839, a few days before 

Caroline Bonaparte’s. He was buried in S. Lorenzo in Lu- 
cina, Rome. He had for years been a great collector of pic¬ 
tures, of which he left a large number (1200) to the town of 

Ajaccio. The Cardinal, buying at the right time when few 
men had either enough leisure or money to think of pictures, 

got together a most valuable collection. This was sold in 

1843-44 at Rome. Its contents now form some of the greatest 

treasures in the galleries of Dudley House and of the Marquis 

of Hertford, now Sir Richard Wallace’s. In a large collection 
there are generally some daubs, but it is an amusing instance 

of party spirit to find the value of his pictures run down by 

men who are unwilling to allow any one connected with Na¬ 

poleon to have even taste in art. He always refused the 

demands of the Restoration that he should resign his see of 

Lyons, though under Louis Philippe he offered to do so, and 
leave his pictures to France, if the Bonaparte family were 

allowed to enter France : this was refused. 
It can hardly be denied that the fate of the Bonapartes was 

a hard one. Napoleon had been undisputed sovereign of 

France for fourteen years, Louis had been King of Holland 
for four years, J6r6me was King of Westphalia for six years, 
Caroline was Queen of Naples for seven years. If Napoleon 

had forfeited all his rights by leaving Elba after the conditions 
of his abdication had been broken by the Allies, still there was 
no reason why the terms stipulated for the other members of 

the family should not have been carried out, or at least an 

ordinary income insured to them. With all Napoleon’s faults 

he was always ready to shower wealth on the victims of his 
policy. The sovereigns of the Continent had courted and in¬ 

termarried with the Bonapartes in the time of that family’s 
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grandeur: there was neither generosity nor wisdom in treat* 

ing them as so many criminals the moment fortune had de¬ 

clared against them. The conduct of the Allies was not 

influenced simply by the principle of legitimacy, for the King 

of Saxony only kept his throne by the monarehs falling out 

over the spoil. If sovereigns were to be respected as of divine 

appointment, it was not well to make their existence only de¬ 

pend on the fate of war. 

Nothing in the history of the Cent Jours is more strange 

than the small part played in it by the Marshals, the very 

men who are so identified in our minds with the Emperor, that 

we might have expected to find that brilliant band playing a 

most prominent part in his last great struggle, no longer for 

mere victory, hut for very existence. In recording how the 

Guard came up the fatal hill at Waterloo for their last combat, 

it would seem but natural to have to give a long roll of the 

old historic names as leading or at least accompanying them; 

and the reader is apt to ask, where were the men whose very 

titles recalled such glorious battle-fields, such achievements, 

and such rewards showered down by the, man who, almost 

alone at the end of the day, rode forward to invite that death 

from which it was such cruel kindness to save, him ? 

Only three Marshals were in Belgium in 1815, and even of 

them one did hut count his promotion from that very year, so 

it is but natural for French writers to dream of what might 
have been the course of the battle if Murat’s plume had waved 

with the cavalry, if Mortier had been with the Guard, and if 

Davoust or one of his tried brethren had taken the place of 
Grouchy. There is, however, little real ground for surprise at 

this absence of the Marshals. Death, time, and hardships had 

all done their work amongst that grand array of commanders. 

Some were old men, veterans of the Revolutionary wars, when 

first created Marshals in 1804; others, such as Massdna, were 
now but the wreck of themselves; and even before 1812 Napo¬ 

leon had been struck with the failing energy of some of his ori¬ 

ginal companions; indeed, it might have been better for him if 

he had in 1818, as he half resolved, east away his dislike to new 
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faces, and fought his last desperate campaigns with younger 
men who still had fortunes to win, leaving £( Berthier to hunt 

at Grosbois,” and the other Marshals to enjoy their well- 
deserved rest in their splendid hotels at Paris. 

Besides, in 1814 the Marshals, perhaps partly necessarily, 
had taken—still more, had been believed by the army to have 
taken, a principal part in forcing the abdication of Napoleon ; 

and the officers of the junior ranks, with the old privates, the 
lion-hearted men whose fidelity never swerved, and who 

thought themselves well rewarded for a life passed in his 
service if they caught but a glance of the Emperor as he 
swept over the field where they lay with just enough life 
for one last cry of “ Vive PEmpereur! ” such men, forming 
a large part of the army, looked with great distrust on the 

Marshals who had taken rank, honor, and wealth from the 
Emperor, and who had then shrunk from the side of the 

beaten Napoleon, or forced the pen into his unwilling hands, 
in their panic at the idea of losing the rewards they had 
received from him. 

Thus, while Napoleon himself had good reason for meeting 

his Marshals with but little of his former trust, the mass of 
the army were full of suspicion even of those who were fight¬ 
ing under the tri-color, this feeling going so far that one 
private, on the very field of Ligny, ran out to warn the 

Emperor that Soult was betraying him. On the other side 

the Marshals themselves had but too great remembrance of 
the warmth, real or affected, with which they had received 
the Bourbons; and even Ney, cheerfully venturing his life a 
thousand times at ^a-toloo, did so without the confidence 
which had been in his breast when he alone formed the rear¬ 

guard of the army on the retreat from Moscow. Thus we 
have now but a sorry tale to tell, — a mean and dreary ending 

to a glorious history. 
Eor our present purpose we may divide the Marshals into 

three groups. Those absent or dead, those who remained 

true to the Bourbons, and those who, more or less reluctantly, 

joined Napoleon.1 
1 For an interesting sketch of some of the Marshals see Temple Bar, vol 

Ixviii., No. 273, 1883, p. 495. 
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The, wretehed Augereau we may leave out, of account. At 

first destined by Napoleon for punishment, he soon attempted 

to atone for his base conduct to the Emperor in 1814 by 

a violent proclamation against the Bourbons. From that 

moment he was held in just contempt by both parties, only 

appearing again as one of the members of the military court 

who, with fatal good will, accepted the ilkulvised objection of 
Ney against their competence. He died in 1816, bitterly 

regretting, it is said, his vote at the trial of Ney: he had 

much to regret. 
Death had removed some of the most brilliant of the list 

of Marshals. The rough, gallant, well-tried Lannes had died 

from wounds received at Essling in 1809. Bessieres had been 

killed in 1813, the day before Lutzen. Poniatowski, who had 

wielded his baton, a brief but eventful three days, had been 

drowned in the retreat from Leipsic. Berthier, the constant 

companion of Napoleon in Italy, in Egypt, indeed in every 

campaign from 1796, laid abandoned his friend in 1814, and 

had welcomed the Bourbons with indecent warmth. In 1815 

he accompanied the King over the frontier, privately express¬ 

ing his intention of returning to rejoin Napoleon, who, threat¬ 

ening to strike him off the roll of Marshals, would certainly 
have w(deemed him with only a passing gibe at his appearance 
alongside the earriage of Louis XVIII. Berthier met his 

death in a mysterious manner at Bamberg, where he had 

retired to the lands of his wifVs uncle, the King of Bavaria, 
by throwing himself (or being thrown) from a balcony, a 

matter to which we shall again refer when speaking of the 

death of Marshal Brum*, in whose ease a most determined 
murder was attempted to be represented as suicide. 

Murat, in obedience, it is said, to the counsels of Ms wife, 

Caroline Bonaparte, had abandoned Napoleon in 1814, fool¬ 

ishly trusting to the promises of Austria that he should retain 

his Kingdom of Naples, He attacked Eugdne, and thought 

lie had purchased his safety by his base and foolish ingrati¬ 

tude, When the Congress of Vienna met he soon found that 

his removal was one of the great aims of France, and neither 
the solemn treaty with Austria nor the old affection of 
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Metternich for Caroline were any obstacles to the great plan 
of getting rid of the last Napoleonic Sovereign. Furious at 
this, Murat, ever rash, the moment he heard of the landing of 
Napoleon, distrusting the Austrians, afraid of Napoleon not 

giving him the object of his dreams, the whole of Italy, and 
wishing to force the hand of Napoleon, at once, with incredi¬ 

ble folly, marched against the Austrians. He penetrated to 
the Po, but had to retire, and the Austrians, under Neipperg, 

afterwards to be the husband of Maria Louisa, forced him 
from his throne by the 20th of May. Murat fled to Prance 

and Corsica, leading a wretched life in hiding, but refusing 
the Austrian offer of an asylum if he would pledge his honor 

not to leave the Austrian dominions. At last he landed in 
Calabria, in a desperate attempt to recover his kingdom, was 
seized and shot on the 13th of October, 1815, — a deed which 

it is unnecessary to characterize. He died as he had lived, a 
brave but theatrical man, with his last breath giving the 

order to the firing party to spare his face. He deserved a 
better fate, but perhaps the Bourbon was mistaken in his 

cruelty, and, while attempting to revenge the death of the 

Due d’Enghien, of which Murat was guiltless, may have saved 
Murat the misery of the wandering life he would have had to 

share with the family which had raised and ruined him by its 

alliance. 
Bernadotte had been Crown Prince of Sweden from 1810. 

In 1813 and 1814 he had led an army against Napoleon, hav¬ 
ing great hopes of gaining the crown of Prance if the Empe¬ 

ror were dethroned. He had a difficult part to play — to 
please the Allies whose votes he hoped to gain, while any 

victory won by his forces might be fatal to his chances with 
the French. He certainly would have been put forward by 

the Allies if it had been once determined that neither Napo¬ 
leon nor the Bourbons were to be allowed to reign; but the 
claims of the Bourbons were too strong; and in any case it is 
impossible to believe that he would ever have been accepted 
by the army or by the nation. It is satisfactory to note his 
total failure to run with the hare and hunt with the hounds. 

The Allies became suspicious of him in 1814, and he had to 
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be contented with the addition of Norway to his future king¬ 

dom, Sweden, which lie governed with fair success from 1818 

as Charles (John) XIV. to his death in 1844. The present 

King of Sweden is his grandson. The wife of Bernadotte, 

Eugenie Bernardino Desiree Clary, the sister-in-law of Joseph 

Bonaparte, was in Paris during the Cent Jours, living in the 

hotel of the Swedish Ambassador, where she gave shelter to 
Joseph, as has already been said. She died in 1860. 

The Marshals who adhered to the cause of the Bourbons in 

1815 were Macdonald, Perignon, Victor, Kellermami, Mar- 

mont, Gouvion St. Cyr, and Oudinot. Marmont had been 

exempted from Napoleon’s amnesty by the Decrees of Lyons 

(in which Augereau was at first to have figured, till he won 

oblivion, if not pardon, by his violent proclamation against 

the Bourbons). On his arrival in Paris Napoleon intended to 

strike off the list of Marshals Oudinot, Victor, and St. Cyr; 

and on the 10th of April1 we find him writing to the War 

Minister to strike off Berthier, Marmont, Victor, Perignon, 

Augereau, and Kellermann. Soult seems also to have been 

nearly treated in the sane* way. Napoleon was, however, 

always tender to those who had served him, and it is charac* 

teristic of the man to find him preparing to give pensions to 

any of the erring Marshals who might have no fortune. 

Macdonald, Duke of Tarentum, who luul been long in a 

sort of disgrace under the Empire until made Marshal in 

1809 for his services at Wagram, where Napoleon had offered 

him his hand on the field the day after the battle in token of 

reconciliation, had behaved loyally towards Napoleon in 1814, 

and had to the hist struggled for his cause. In 1815 he 
remained faithful to the Bourbons. When Napoleon landed 

he was commanding at Bourges, and he was ordered to Nlmes 

to assist the Due d’Angouleme. At Lyons he met the Comte 
d’Artois and the Duke of Orleans, who detained him to take 

the command of the troops. Miiedonald did his best to keep 
the soldiers to their duty, but he was obliged to advise the 

Princes to withdraw; snd, as soon as Napoleon approached, 

Macdonald had to fly at full speed, pursued for a long distance 

1 Bingham’s Letters of Napoleon, vol. ill. p. 372. 
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by his own men, — a fact to be remembered in judging of tins 

conduct of Ney. He was then employed in the task of 
attempting to collect an army at Melun, till the temper of 

the soldiers showed that to be useless. Macdonald then 

accompanied the King to Lille, where he and Mortier gave 

their best advice to the distracted Court, urging the King 
not to quit the country. On the 23d of March, when the 
King crossed the frontier, Macdonald refused to leave France, 

and retired to his home, where he was left undisturbed, 
although he refused the offers of Napoleon. Indeed, re¬ 

spected, as he well deserved to be, by both sides, we find 
the Prussian Governor of Paris after Waterloo singling him 

out, with Oudinot, as the two honorable officers on whom he 

could call. He met the King on his return to Paris, and was 

charged with the disbandment of the army when the Bour¬ 

bons determined to break the sword which had fallen from 

the hand of the great captain, and which they were afraid 

even to preserve. Appropriately made Chancellor of the 

Legion of Honor, he had to announce the impossibility of 
doing any business in the Hotel of the Order, so encumbered 

was it with the Allied troops, — a melancholy change from 
the time of its institution.1 We fold him always taking 

a creditable part in the debates of the time, — defending 
Drouot, for example; and in 1840 he closed a long and 

honorable life, entitled to make the proud and rare boast of 
having been faithful to two Sovereigns in the hour of their 
misfortunes. 

When De Vitrolles was sent to the south to try to establish 
a government of resistance to Napoleon he found poor old 

Marshal Perignon living quietly in Languedoc, and called on 
him to take command of the forces at Toulouse. The Mar- 

1 Napoleon’s appointments of civilians to the Legion are attacked In 
Analysis and History of the Catholic Religion (Bentley, 182(5), p. 88. “ The 
same star which decorated the breast of the bravest of the bravo, Ney, also 
guttered on that of the eunuch Cresccntini.” This arises from a misunder¬ 
standing. The Legion was intended for all services to the State, civil or 
military, and replaced the Bourbon Crosses of St. Lonifcfor military, St. 
Michel for civil services, and the St. Esprit for grandees; See Mams’ La 
Legion, 1854. In an unlucky attempt to include all merits, the singer Ores- 
2881 mi receive<1» not tlie Legion, but the Iron Crown (Memorial, tome vi. p, 
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shal did liis best with a simple good faith which earned fox 

him the sneers of his Royalist employer: but he was sorely 

puzzled by the temper of the troops, and when we think of 

the reason for the non-appearance of Mortier at Waterloo, it 

is odd to find Perignon complaining that he had to remind his 

officers that when a call for sudden action was made it was 

not the time to have sciatica or other illnesses. The illness 

prevalent among his officers, however, was only a dislike 

to serve against the Emperor, and as soon as a commissioner 
from Napoleon arrived, Perignon was politely ousted from his 

command, and was allowed to retire to his home. The Bour¬ 

bons gave him the rewards withheld by Napoleon, creating 

him a marquis and peer. He died in 1818. 

Victor (really Claude Perrin), Duke of Belluno, never a 

very warm admirer of the Emperor, and who had been 

harshly treated in 1814, attempted to stem the tide in 1815, 

but had to follow the King out of the country. After the 

second Restoration he was president of the commission 

charged with the examination of the conduct of the officers 
of the army during the Cent rJours: a good choice for the 

Bourbons, as we find him voting for the death of Ney. lie 

became Minister of War from December, 1821, to December, 
1823, quitting the post on account of discussions connected 

with the irrepressible Ouvrard. lie died in 1841, seventy* 

seven years old. 
Kellermann, Duke of Valmy, who with Sdrurior, Perignon, 

and Lefehvre had been, even when created Marshal in 1804, 

intended to have only an honorary rank for past services, had 
been employed on the frontier in 1814. Made a peer by the 

King, he remained passively loyal during 1815, but voted 

always afterwards against the re-action. He died in 1820. 

We cannot help thinking of the good old Scotch custom of 

having one of the family on each aide when we find the Mar¬ 

shaks son, the Kellermann of Marengo, fighting at Quatre 

Bras and Waterloo, although he had small reason for attach¬ 

ment to NapoHon. 
Marmont, having done his best in 1814 to make the cause 

of Napoleon and of Prance hopeless by taking Ids corps over 
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to the enemy, had wisely not carried out his pious intention 
of devoting the remainder of his years to the tender care of 

the personal comforts of Napoleon. He had much more 

sensibly remained high in the royal favor, though the cautious 
King would not adopt his plan of remaining in the Tuileries 

to stand a siege by Napoleon, nor could he get any one to 

assist him in his odd idea of saving the King by practically 
making him a prisoner, and forcibly removing the royal 

favorite Blacas, Mann out himself being willing to become 
generalissimo by land and sea. On the approach of Napoleon 

he crossed the frontier, feeding his hopes on imaginary 

speeches of Napoleon full of trust in the man whom, for 

some mysterious reason, Napoleon denounced in public. Mar¬ 

in on t passed his after life without the great employments he 
considered his due, contenting himself with interviews with 

the sergeant of English artillery who laid the gun which 

wounded him at Salamanca, and who himself was similarly 
hit at Waterloo, with pleasant conversations with Metternich, 
and with lessons to the young King of Rome on the cam¬ 

paigns of the great Emperor. Of all the former holders of 
Napoleon’s splendid gifts in foreign lands he alone retained 

his, by special favor of the Emperor of Austria: verily he 
had his reward. It is, however, but fair to Marmont to ac¬ 
knowledge that, regardless of the royal anger, he overcame all 

obstacles, forcing the guard as a soldier would say, to enable 

the miserable Madame Lavallette to throw herself at the feet 
of the King to implore mercy for her husband. Marmont is 

reported to have urged her case beforehand with fervor, say¬ 

ing with too much truth to the King, “ Sire, I have given you 
more than life.” lie also wisely advised Madame Lavallette 

not to trust to the treacherous hints of the Royalists that 
Lavallette’s life would be spared on the scaffold, and to carry 

out her plan for the escape of her husband if her application 

to the King failed. In 1880 lie had the disagreeable task of 
attempting to defend Paris during the rising of July. In this 

defence Marmont, as often before, exhibited great personal 
bravery, so that the young Las Cases, who was in the ranks of 
the insurgents, longing to avenge Napoleon, could not find it 
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in his heart to fire at him. When he had failed he advised 
the King to abdicate in favor of his grandson (the late Comte 
de Chambord) rather than be forced from the throne. His 
advice was followed, but it was too late, and he had to escort 
Charles X. to Cherbourg, whence the King passed over to 

England. Marmont then withdrew from France, and died at 
Venice in 1852, having lived to see France again under a 

Hapoleon. He left a character probably below his real deserts, 
but it is impossible not to compare his conduct unfavorably 
with that of Macdonald. 

Gouvion St. Cyr, who had not been created a Marshal till 
1812, and who had not received the high rewards showered 

down on many of the Marshals, returned to France in 1814 
after his release from the imprisonment to which he and his 
garrison of Dresden had been subjected by the Allies, in 
breach of the capitulation and of all good faith. He threw 

himself into the cause of the Bourbons, and was sent to take 
the command of an army to be raised on the Loire, which, it 
was hoped, would be joined by risings in the west, —an addi¬ 
tion to his command deprecated by St. Cyr. The Marshal ar¬ 

rived at his headquarters, Orleans, to find the troops there 
under orders from Davoust, the new Minister of War, had 
mounted the tri-color. He succeeded for the moment in stop¬ 

ping this, and in putting the general, Pajol, under arrest, but 
he soon had to leave the place and return to Paris. He then 

was directed to go to the west to head a rising, — a task 
naturally distasteful to him, and which he was relieved from, 
keeping quiet during the last campaign. After Waterloo he 
was one of tjie leaders with whom the Royalists dreamt of 
attempting some emeute. On the 9th of July, 1815, he was 
made War Minister, and soon found what it was to serve the 
Bourbons. It is pleasant to read how the old Marshal, re¬ 
membering his services under the Republic, had to fill the lists 
of officers with the names of emigres and leaders of the Ven- 
ddan insurgents, and how he showed his anger at the inter¬ 
ference of the busybody De Vitrolles. St. Cyr had some 
strange ideas; for instance, he broke up the regiments of lan¬ 
cers, putting one squadron of that arm in each regiment of 
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mounted chasseurs. He was, perhaps from his former train¬ 
ing, one of the officers opposed to the formation of a guard or 
picked body, but on this point he had to give way to the 
wishes of the Court, and apparently of the Allies, till he had 
agreed to a guard of 12,000 men. He left the Ministry in Sep¬ 
tember, 1815, but held it again from 1817 to 1819, having also 
been Marine Minister from June to September, 1817. He died 
in 1830. 

Oudinot, Duke of Eeggio, one of the 1809 creations as Mar¬ 
shal, had become a warm partisan of the Bourbons ; and on 
the news of the landing of Napoleon he was sent to command 

the Guard then called Grenadiers and Chasseurs de France, 
which was at Metz. The Bourbons, with their usual extraor¬ 
dinary want of common sense, had neither treated the Guard 

well nor broken up the corps, thus keeping them in a discon¬ 
tented state, ready for the hand of Napoleon. The incredibly 

foolish order was given to Oudinot to march to oppose Napo¬ 
leon. Off set the Guard, but poor Oudinot soon found that 

while he was treated with all due respect, he was practically 
a prisoner, and that the corps he professed to command was 
determined to join Napoleon at once. “If,” said the unhappy 
Marshal to the messenger sent, too late, to stop the march, “if 
I cannot escape, they will take me to the Emperor.” He did, 
however, succeed in avoiding, for the moment, a meeting under 
such very unpleasant circumstances, though he saw Napoleon 
later. All this action of the troops has to be remembered in 
thinking of the conduct of Ney. Oudinot refused to take ser¬ 

vice under Napoleon, and after Waterloo he was prominent in 

trying to get hostilities stopped, and in assisting the recall of 
the Bourbons. He soon superseded Dessoles in command of 
the National Guard of Paris, and received honors from the 
Bourbons which he might accept without loss of self-respect, 

but still one cannot speak of him in the same way as of Mac¬ 
donald. There is an air of perhaps only apparent insincerity 
and double-dealing in his conduct. He was on the Champ de 
Mai, and when afterwards questioned about this replied that 
he was there, but only in undress, — an answer, it must be 

admitted, not absurd to a soldier, as an officer in undress 
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would only be a spectator, not a participator ; still it is easy 
to understand how the reply was sneered at, and one fails to 
see why he should have gone there at all. In the same man¬ 

ner, while he hung about Vitrolles (who was acting as the 

representative of the Bourbons), as if he were a mere aide de 

camp instead of a Marshal, he rushed away when he found 
Vitrolles committed to an angry interview with a deputation 

of the Chambers. Perhaps, however, De Vitrolles is unfair 

to the Marshal, for he seems to have been deeply stung, not 
only by the disappearance of Oudinot when he wanted back¬ 

ing, but also by finding that, in the hurry, Oudinot had taken 
his, De Vitrolles’s, hat: one of those little ludicrous events 
which crop up in the history of graver events. Oudinot took 
part in the expedition into Spain in 1823 to crush the Spanish 

Liberals, when he commanded at Madrid; and under Louis 
Philippe he became Chancellor of the Legion of Honor, and 

Governor of the Invalides. He died in 1847. The General 
Oudinot who was sent in 1849 by Louis Hapoleon, the Presi¬ 

dent of the French Republic, to restore the Pope and to take 
Rome, held as a Republic by Garibaldi, an enterprise found to 
be unexpectedly difficult, was a son of the Marshal. 

The Marshals who joined Hapoleon were Massena, Serurier, 
Jourdan, Lefebvre, Moncey, Mortier, Prune, Grouchy (then 
General), Soult, Suchet, Davoust, Hey, but of these the first 

five cannot be said to have done more than to give in their 

adhesion to his Government when established, and to accept 
peerages from him. 

Massena was in command of Toulon, etc., in 1815,' and sent 
the King the first news of the landing. He might have easily 
been induced at least to remain passive, and for some time he 
kept his command tranquil, but the Royalists showed their 
distrust too openly, while Massena may have shared in the 
suspicion, not too misplaced, that an attempt might be made 
to open the ports to the English fleet. Called on by Hapoleon 
to unfurl the flag of Essling and to join him, Massena sent in 
his adhesion on the 14th of April. He really did so unwill¬ 
ingly, and told Hapoleon he would have resisted the inarch on 
Paris if the Emperor had passed by him. He was brought 
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to Paris, but practically left unemployed till after Waterloo, 

when the Provisional Government put him in command of the 

National Guard of Paris. Massena, however, was now but 

the mere wreck of the General who in 1799 had saved France 

from invasion, and who had won such distinction in independ¬ 

ent commands ; he had not been employed by Napoleon since 

his return from Spain after his check before Torres Vedras; 

and it must now have been unutterably galling to him to be 

sent for by the Prussian Governor of Paris to arrange details 

of the occupation. We find him interrupting the fiery speech 

of Labedoyere in the Chamber of Peers, and urging the King 
to retain the tri-color, but he was soon relieved by Dessoles, 

and practically had no part in the Cent Jours. He died in 

1817. 
Serurier, Jour dan, Lefebvre, and Moncey, all Marshals of 

the first creation in 1804, took but a nominal part in affairs. 

Serurier, who was Governor of the Envalides, lost his place on 

the second Restoration, and remained in retirement afterwards 

till his death in 1819. 
Jourdan, who had never received his share of rewards, and 

who had most right to complain of Napoleon for the neglect 

of his services in Spain, accepted a peerage, and was sent to 

command at Besan<;on, but took little active part in anything. 

Louis Philippe made him Governor of the Invalides in 1830, 

but he died in 1833. 

The rough old Marshal Lefebvre, Duke of Pantzic, accepted 

a peerage in the new Chamber, and when younger mem despaired 
after Waterloo still counselled resistance, though J)e Vitrolles 
ill-naturedly represents him, when forming one of the deputa¬ 

tion of the Chambers, as knowing how to give a different 

aspect to his face, one side being favorable to the Royalist 

representative, and the other, meant to be seen by the deputa¬ 
tion, quite hostile. He lost his former peerage on the return 

of Louis, but was soon restored. He died in 1820. 

Moncey, Duke of Conegliano, gave up his command of the 

gendarmerie d’&lite to Savary, and was made one of the new 

peers. After the Restoration he gave dire offence to the King 

by refusing to sit on the court-martial for the trial of Ney. 
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For this he was deprived of his rank, and sentenced to three 
months5 imprisonment in Ham, — the place which received 

Louis Napoleon in 1840. It is characteristic of the time and 
of Bourbon management that Moncey, on his arrival at Ham, 
was unable to get admission to the castle, as it was occupied 
by the Prussians, and he had to remain part of the time in a 

little inn opposite. In 1823 he was employed in the expedi¬ 
tion into Spain, and in 1840 he, as Governor of the Invalides, 

received the body of Napoleon on its arrival from St. Helena. 
He died in 1842. 

Mortier, Duke of Treviso, who in 1814 had defended Paris 
with Marmont, showing the same courage but greater fidelity, 
had been sent to the north. On the landing of Napoleon Mor¬ 

tier managed to keep his troops quiet, and by his advice Drouot 

d'Erlon withdrew from the enterprise of the brothers Lalle- 

mand and Lefebvre-Desnouettes who tried to effect an emente 
before Napoleon arrived. So satisfactory was his conduct con¬ 

sidered by the Eoyalist Government that the Minister of War 

proposed to the Chamber to vote that Mortier, with Macdon¬ 
ald, had deserved well of the country. When the King began 

to move to the frontier Mortier and the Duke of Orleans held 
Lille till the King arrived there; but Louis could only get ad¬ 

mission to his own fortress on the promise that neither his 

military household nor any foreign troops were to be admitted, 

as there was a not unfounded fear of the fortress being de¬ 

livered up to the Allies. He accompanied Louis to the fron¬ 
tier with all proper demonstrations of respect, though he had 

in his pocket the orders of Napoleon to see the Boyal Family 
out of France. Mortier then returned to take service under 

Napoleon, and he was given the command of the Imperial 
Guard, with which he would have fought at Waterloo had he 

not been stopped by an attack of sciatica at Maubeuge, where, 
oddly enough, he had been wounded in 1793. Thiers remarks 
on the effect of his absence from Waterloo, saying that though 

the institution of Marshals commanding the Guard as a sepa¬ 
rate body had done harm before, still in this instance the pres¬ 
ence of Mortier would have prevented the too hasty use made 

by Ney of the cavalry of the Guard. As Mortier had only 
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joined a de facto Government he was not included in the list 
of proscriptions, but as he refused to judge Key, as didMoneey, 

he was struck off the peerage, only to be restored to it when 
1819 saw a return to common sense and moderation. Under 
the Monarchy of July he was Ambassador in Russia in 1830 
and 1832, and in 1834 he became War Minister and President 

of the Council. In 1835 he was killed by Fieschi’s infernal 
machine while riding by the side of the king, Louis Philippe. 
He is buried in the Invalides. 

Marshal Prune, who had never been in favor during the 

Empire, and who had not been given one of the duke¬ 
doms. threw in his lot with Napoleon, who sent him to 
command the 9th corps, which was to be formed in the 

south, and to restrain Marseilles, which showed symptoms 

of rising in favor of the Bourbons, and from which Massena 

had been removed. After Waterloo he hoisted the white 
flag rather late in the day, and then proceeded towards 

Paris. At Avignon he was attacked by a Boyalist mob, who 
first wounded him, and then eventually broke into the hotel 
and killed him while he was reading a letter from his wife. 
His body was thrown into the Rhone, and had to be buried 
by stealth at the spot where the river brought it ashore, and 
where it long remained. Allusion has been made to this 
case in considering the death of Berthier. The local authori¬ 
ties did all they could to represent this cowardly and disgraceful 
murder of Brune as a case of suicide; the Government would 

do nothing, and it was only by the efforts of his widow that 
the memory of the Marshal was cleared six years later, even 
then no one being punished, and the widow having to pay all 
costs. If this was the case where we can ascertain every par¬ 
ticular, we should be very slow to accept the suicide theory in 
the case of Berthier. To have the double joy of killing a 
Marshal who had braved death for his country on a hun¬ 

dred battle-fields, and then of dishonoring his memory, 
was too tempting to the re-actionary mind to make it 
unlikely that the same thing was done twice. Brune had 
gone to his command unwillingly, having a presentiment 

that he went to his death. In descending the steps to 
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start he fell and injured himself, remarking that it was a bad 

augury. 
One hardly reckons Grouchy as a Marshal, though he 

had served well and long before gaining the rank. In 1793, 
when he was Brigadier-General, he lost his rank by a decree 
against the nobles, but with extraordinary resolution he 
entered the ranks as a private and regained his grade. He 
occupied a rather anomalous position, being a Marquis of the 

ancien regime and a Count of the Empire. In 1815 he 
joined Napoleon, and was sent against the Due d’Angouleme, 
whom he forced to capitulate. Napoleon, partly as a reward 
for this, partly requiring a commander for his cavalry to 

replace Murat, gave Grouchy the baton. His conduct during 

the campaign is a matter of general history; here we need 
only remark that the presence under him of Vandamme, who 

had been crushed at Kulm in 1813 in trying to intercept 

the beaten Allies, may have had some influence in making 

Grouchy over-cautious. Whatever his faults, Grouchy cer¬ 
tainly retreated skilfully, and brought his corps safely to 
Laon. He received the command of the whole army from 

Soult at Soissons, giving over his corps to Vandamme, and 
brought the whole to Paris by the 29th of June. His influence 
was exerted to stop further resistance, but he was one of 
those the Bourbons intended to have tried and shot — a fate 
he avoided by leaving the Army of the Loire and going to 
Philadelphia, only returning in 1821, when he was put on 

the retired list as a lieutenant-general. He was not restored 
to his rank as Marshal till the 19th of November, 1831, 

when Louis Philippe reigned. Two of his sisters, both 
clever women, married, the one Condorcet the Girondist, 
and the other the more fortunate Cabanis. The Marquis de 
Grouchy died in 1847. 

S,oult, Duke of Dalmatia, had been made Minister of 
War by the Bourbons in September, 1814, replacing their 
first and characteristic choice of Dupont, the unfortunate 

general who surrendered at Baylen to the Spaniards. On 
the landing of Napoleon the Royalists threw doubts on 
Soult’s loyalty, doubts which had no foundation, for he 
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himself told Napoleon afterwards that he really liked the 
King. We have a charming scene when the stiff and stupid 
royal favorite, Count Blacas, announced to the other Ministers 
that he intended to question Soult at the Council 'table, and 
if the answers were unsatisfactory he had Soult’s “ dismissal ” 
in his pocket; the dismissal being a pistol with which the 
old emigre meant to shoot the Marshal. When Soult ap¬ 

peared the other Ministers found that they had important 
business to transact in their respective offices and withdrew, 
leaving Blacas alone with his prey. Soult, however, fore¬ 

stalled the Count by going straight to the King, and inform¬ 

ing Louis that the attacks made on him rendered it impossible 
for him to serve usefully, and he was relieved by Clarke, who 

had long held the post under Napoleon. This, however, was 
on the 11th of March, when it mattered little who was Minis¬ 
ter. Soult joined Napoleon unwillingly, and after some bar¬ 

gaining, but was given Berthier’s old post of Chief of the 

Staff of the army under Napoleon. His performance of this 

duty has been much criticised, but, as has been stated before,1 

most of these attacks depend on an erroneous belief in the 
excellence of the staff in Berthier’s time; it must suffice here 

to say that any failure in this department during the Water¬ 
loo campaign may easily be matched in previous wars. Cer¬ 
tainly no better choice could have been .made for an army 
about to meet the English. After Waterloo Soult was put in 
command of the army at Laon, relieving Jerbme, who was 
supposed to have brought it from the field. When he heard 
of Napoleon’s abdication he obtained permission to return to 

Paris, and gave the command over at Soissons to Grouchy. 
He has been attacked for this, but his duty was not quite 
clear. The main army really was then Grouchy’s corps, and 
Soult could not have been expected to serve under Grouchy 
or even Davoust. In the consultations at Paris he advised 

non-resistance, but all those who did so somehow fell under 
the special displeasure of the Bourbons, and Soult was exiled 

and retired to Berg. In 1819 he returned, and after 1830, 
under the Monarchy of July, he held many high offices. He 

1 See p. 154 of this volume. 
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was a special Ambassador to England for the coronation of 

the Queen, when he was well received as a gallant and skilled 
foe. In fact the ordinary histories, military or otherwise, 
hardly seem to do justice to the effect of Soult’s attacks on 
the English, when they were advancing into France from 

Spain in 1814, and when Soult’s army was rapidly being 
drained to re-enforce the main army under Napoleon. In 

Louis Philippe’s reign Soult was Minister of War three times, 
and President of the Council as often. In 1847 he was given 

the high rank of “ Marechal-General.” He died, eighty-two 
years old, in 1851, under a Republic with a Napoleon as Presi¬ 
dent, but one year too soon to see the Empire revived. 

Suchet, Duke of Albufera, who had won such honor in his 

independent command in Spain, was commanding at Strasburg 
in 1815, and soon raised the tri-color, and was first given the 
command of the 5th corps to be formed in Alsace. He was 

then recalled, and sent to command the 7tli corps to defend 
Savoy, with Lyons as his base, Napoleon saying to him, 
“ Wherever you are posted, I am tranquil as to that place.” 

He held his own against the Austrians as long as there was 
any hope of success. He lost his peerage until 1822. He 

was employed by the Bourbons in 1823 in their expedition 

into Spain. He died in 1826. 
Davoust, Duke of Auerstadt, Prince of Eckmuhl, whose 

name should be properly spelt Davout, was one of the princi¬ 
pal personages at the end of the Cent Jours. Strict and 

severe, having his corps always in good order, and displaying 
more character than most of the military men under Napo¬ 

leon, one is apt to believe that the conqueror at Auerstadt 
bade fair to be the most prominent of all the Marshals. In 
1814 he had returned from defending Hamburg to find himself 

under a cloud of accusations, and the Bourbons ungenerously 
and unwisely left him undefended for acts which they must 

have known were part of his duty as governor of a besieged 

place. At the time he was attacked as if his first duty was 
not to hold the place for France, but to organize a system of 
outdoor relief for the neighboring population, and to surren¬ 
der as soon as he had exhausted the money in the Government 
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ehest and the provisions in the Government stores. Sore and 
discontented, practically proscribed, still Davoust would not 

join in the too hasty enterprise of the brothers Lallemand, 
who wished him to lead the military rising on the approach of 
Napoleon; but he was with the Emperor on the day after his 

arrival in Paris. 
Davoust might have expected high command in the army, 

but, to his annoyance, Napoleon fixed on him as War Minis¬ 
ter. For several years the War Minister had been little more 
than a clerk, and neither had nor was expected to have much 
influence with the army. Napoleon now wanted a man of 
tried devotion, and of stern enough character to overawe the 

capital and the restless spirits in the army. Much against his 
will Davoust was therefore forced to content himself with the 
organization of the forces being hastily raised, but he chafed 

in his position; and it is characteristic of him that Napoleon 
was eventually forced to send him the most formal orders 

before the surly Minister would carry out the Emperor’s 
unlucky intention of giving a command to Bourmont, whom 
Davoust strongly and rightly suspected of treachery. When 
Napoleon left the capital Davoust became its governor, and 

held his post unmoved by the intrigues of the Republicans 
and the Royalists. When Napoleon returned from the great 
disaster Davoust gave his voice for the only wise policy, — 
resistance and the prorogation of the factious Chambers. On 

the abdication of Napoleon the Provisional Government ne¬ 
cessarily gave Davoust the command of the army which was 
concentrated round Paris. 

If Davoust had restricted himself less closely to his duty as 
a soldier, if he had taken more on himself, with the 100,000 

men he soon had under him, lie might have saved France from 

much of her subsequent humiliation, or at least he might have 
preserved the lives of Ney and of the brave men whom the 

Bourbons afterwards butchered. Outwitted by Fouche, and 
unwilling to face the hostility of the Chambers, Davoust at 
last consented to the capitulation of Paris, though he first gave 
the Prussian cavalry a sharp lesson. While many of his com¬ 
rades were engaged in the great struggle for favor or safety, 
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the stem Marshal gave up his Ministry, and, doing the last 
^service in his power to France, stopped all further useless 
bloodshed by withdrawing the army, no easy task in their then 

humor, behind the Loire, where he kept what the Loyalists 
called the “Brigands of the Loire” in subjection till relieved 

by Macdonald. He was the only one of the younger Marshals 

who had not been tried in Spain, and so far he was fortunate; 

but, though he was not popular with the army, his character 

and services seem to point him out as the most fit of all the 
Marshals for an independent command. Had Napoleon been 

successful in 1812, Davoust was to have received the Vice- 

royalty of Poland; and he would probably have left a higher 
name in history than the other men placed by Napoleon to 

rule over his outlying kingdoms. In any case it was fortu¬ 

nate for France and for the Allies that a man of his character 
ruled the army after Napoleon abdicated; there would other¬ 

wise have been wild work round Paris, as it was only with the 

greatest difficulty and by the force of his authority and exam¬ 
ple that Davoust succeeded in getting the army to withdraw 

from the capital, and to gradually adopt the white cockade. 
When superseded by Macdonald he had done a work no other 
man could have accomplished. He protested against the pro¬ 

scription, but it was too late ; his power had departed. In 

1819 he was forgiven for his services to France, and was made 
a peer, but he died in 1823, only fifty-three years old. 

Among the Marshals who gave an active support to Napo¬ 
leon Ney takes the leading part in most eyes, if it were only 

for his fate, which is too well known for much to be said here 
concerning it. In 1815 Ney was commanding in Franche- 
Comte, and was called up to Paris and ordered to go to Besan- 

(jon to march so as to take Napoleon in flank. He started off, 
not improbably using the rough brags afterwards attributed to 
him as most grievous sins, — such as that “lie would bring 
back Napoleon in an iron cage.” It had been intended to 
have sent the Due de Berry, the second son of the Comte 

d?Artois, with Ney ; and it was most unfortunate for the Mar¬ 

shal that this was not done. There can be no possible doubt 

that Ney spoke and acted in good faith when he left Paris. 



THE EAGLE'S SWOOP. 277 

One point alone seems decisive of this. Ney found under him 
in command, as General of Division, Bourmont, an officer of 
well-known Royalist opinions, who had at one time served 

with the Vendean insurgents, and who afterwards deserted 
Napoleon just before Waterloo, although he had entreated to 

be employed in the campaign. Not only did Ney leave Bour¬ 
mont in command, but, requiring another Divisional-General, 

instead of selecting a Bonapartist, he urged Lecourbe to leave 

his retirement and join him. Now, though Lecourbe was a 
distinguished General, specially famed for mountain warfare 

— witness his services in 1799 among the Alps above Lucerne 

— he had been long left unemployed by Napoleon on account 
of his strong Republican opinions and his sympathy with 

Moreau. These two Generals, Bourmont and Lecourbe, the 

two arms of Ney as commander, through whom alone he could 
communicate with the troops, he not only kept with him, but 

consulted to the last, before he declared for Napoleon. This 

would have been too dangerous a thing for a tricky politician 
to have attempted as a blind, but Ney was well known to be 
only too frank and impulsive. Had the Due de Berry gone 
with him, had Ney carried with him such a gage of the inten¬ 

tion of the Bourbons to defend their throne, it is probable 

that he would have behaved like Macdonald; and it is certain 

that he would have had no better success. The Bonapartists 
themselves dreaded what they called the wrong-lieadedness of 

Ney. It was, however, thought better to keep the Due de 
Berry in safety. 

Ney found himself put forward singly, as it were, to oppose 
the man whom all France was joining; he found, as did 
every officer sent on a similar mission, that the soldiers were 
simply waiting to meet Napoleon; and while the Princes 

sought security, while the soldiers plotted against their leaders, 
came the calls of the Emperor in the old trumpet tone. 
The eagle was to fly — nay, it was flying from tower to tower, 
and victory was advancing with a rush. Was Ney to be the 

one man to shoot down his old leader ? could he, as he 
asked, stop the sea with his hands ? On his trial his sub¬ 
ordinate, Bourmont, who had by that time shown his devo- 
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tion to the Bourbons by sacrificing his military honor, and 
deserting to the Allies, was asked whether Key could have 

got the soldiers to act against the Emperor. He could only 
suggest that if Key had taken a musket and himself charged, 
the men would have followed his example. “Still,” said 

Bourmont, “ I would not dare to affirm that he (the marshal) 
would have won.” And who was Key to charge ? We know 

how Kapoleon approached the forces sent to oppose him: 
he showed himself alone in the front of his own troops. 
Was Key to deliberately kill his old commander ? was any 
general ever expected to undergo such a test ? and can it 
be believed that the soldiers who carried off the reluctant 
Oudinot and chased the flying Macdonald, had such a rever¬ 

ence for the “ Rougeot,” as they called him, that they would 
have stood by while he committed this murder ? The whole 

idea is absurd: as Key himself said at his trial, they would 
have “ pulverized ” him. Undoubtedly the honorable course 
for Key would have been to have left his corps when he lost 

control over them; but to urge, as was done afterwards, that 
he had acted on a preconceived scheme, and that his example 
had such weight, was only malicious falsehood. The Emperor 
himself knew well how little he owed to the free will of his 
Marshal, and he soon had to send him from Paris, as Key, 
sore at heart, and discontented with himself and with both 
sides, uttered his mind with his usual freedom. Key was first 
ordered to inspect the frontier from Dunkirk to Bale, and 
was then allowed to go to his home. He kept so aloof from 
Kapoleon that when he appeared on the Champ de Mai the 

Emperor affected surprise, saying that he thought Key had 
emigrated. At the last moment Marshal Mortier fell ill. 
Key had already been sent for. He hurried up, buying 
Mortier’s horses (presumably the ill-fated animals who died 

under him at Waterloo), and reached the army just in time 
to be given the command of the left wing. 

It has been well remarked that the very qualities which 
made Key invaluable for defence or for the service of a rear¬ 

guard weighed against him in such a combat as Quatre Bras. 
Splendid as a corps leader, he had not the commander’s eye 
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to embrace the field and surmise the strength of the enemy 
at a glance. At Bautzen in 1813 his staff had been unable 
to prevent him from leaving the route which would have 
brought him on the very rear of the enemy, because seeing 
the foe, and unable to resist the desire of returning their fire, 
he turned off to engage immediately. At Quatre Bras, not 
seeing the force he was engaged with, believing he had the 
whole English army on his hands from the first, he let himself 
at the beginning of the day be imposed upon by a mere 
screen of troops. 

We cannot here go into Key’s behavior at Waterloo except 
to point out that too little importance is generally given to the 
fact of the English cavalry having, in a happy moment, fallen 
on and destroyed the artillery which was being brought up to 
sweep the English squares at close quarters. At Waterloo, as 
in so many other combats, the account of Key’s behavior more 
resembles that of a Homeric hero than of a modern general. 
To the ideal commander of to-day, watching the fight at a 
distance, calmly weighing its course, undisturbed except by 
distant random shots, it is strange to compare Key staggering 
through the gate of Konigsberg all covered with blood, smoke 
and snow, musket in hand, announcing himself as the rear¬ 
guard of France, or appearing, a second Achilles, on the ram¬ 
parts of Smolensko to encourage the yielding troops on the 
glacis, or amidst the flying troops at Waterloo, with uncovered 
head and broken sword, black with powder, on foot, his fifth 
horse killed under him, knowing that life, honor, and country 
were lost, still hoping against hope and attempting one more 
last desperate rally. If he had died — ah! if he had died 
there — what a glorious tomb might have risen, glorious for 
France as well as for him, with the simple inscription, “ The, 
Bravest of the Brave.” 

Early on the 19th June a small band of officers retreating 
from the field found Key asleep at Marchienncs, “the first 
repose he had had for four days,” and they did not disturb 
him for orders. “ And indeed what order could Marshal Key 
have given?” The disaster of the day, the overwhelming 
horror of the flight of the beaten army, simply crushed Hey 
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morally as well as physically. Rising in the (Chambers he 

denounced all attempt at further resistance. He did not 

know*, lie would not believe, that (*rouchy was safe, and that 

tIn* army was fast rallying. Fresh from the held, with all its 

traces on him, tin* authority of Ney was too great for the (lov- 

eminent. Frightened friends, plotting Royalists, echoed the 

wild words of Ney brave only against physical dangers. In¬ 

stead of dy ing on tin* battle-field, he had lived to insure the 
rot urn of t he Bourbons, t ho fall of Bonaparte, his own death, 

and the ruin of France. 

Before his exception from tin* amnesty was known Key left 

Baris on tin* bth of duly, and went into the country with but 

little attempt at concealment, and with formal passports from 

Fouohe. The. capitulation of Baris seemed to cover him, and 

he was so little aware of tin* thirst- of the Royalists for his 

blood that he let his presence be known by leaving about a 

splendid sabre presented to him ly the Kmperor on his mar¬ 
riage, and recognized hy mere report hy an old soldier as 

belonging to Ney or Murat-; and Ney himself let. info the 
house the party sent, to arrest him on the bth of August, and 

actually refused the offer of Fxeelmans, through whose troops 
he passed, to set him free. No one at- the time, except tin*, 

wretched refugees of <1 held, could have suspected, after the. 

capitulafion, that there was any special danger for Ney, and 

it is very ditlieult to see on what, principle the Bourbons chose 

their victims or intended victims. Drouot, for example, had 

never served Louis XV HI., In* had never worn the white 

cockade, he had left France with Napoleon for Fdha, and had 

served tin* Kmperor there. In 181b he had fought under his 

own sovereign. After Waterloo he had exerted all his great 
iniluenee, the greater from his posit ion, to induce, the (Liard 

to retire behind the Loire, and to submit to the1 Bourbons, It; 

was because Bavnust so needed him t hat Brouot remained with 

the army. Still Drouot was selected for death, but the evi¬ 
dence of his posit ion was too strong to enable the. Court to 

condemn him. Camhroune, another selection, laid also gone 

with Napoleon to Klha. Savary, a not her selection, had, as was 

eventually acknowledged, only joined Napoleon when he was 
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in full possession of the reins of Government. Bertrand, who 
was condemned while at St. Helena, was in the same position 
as Drouot. In fact, if any one were to draw up a list of proba¬ 
ble proscriptions and compare it with those of the 24th of 

July, 1815, there would probably be few names common to 
both except Labedoyere, Mouton Duvernet, etc. The truth is 

that the Bourbons, and, to do them justice, still more the ran¬ 
corous band of mediocrities who surrounded them, thirsted 

for blood. Even they could feel the full ignominy of the flight 

to Ghent. While they had been chanting the glories of the 
Restoration, the devotion of the people, the valor of the 
Princes, ISTapoleon had landed, the Restoration had vanished 

like a bad dream, and the Princes were the first to lead the 
way to the frontier. To protest that there had been a con¬ 

spiracy, and that the conspirators must suffer, was the only 
possible cloak for the shame of the Royalists, who could not 
see that the only conspiracy was the universal one of the 

nation against the miserable men who knew not how to govern 
a high-spirited people. 

Ney, arrested on the 5th of August, was first brought before 
a Military Court on the 9th of November composed of Marshal 
Jourdan (President), Marshals Massena, Augereau, andMortier, 
Lieutenants-General Gazan, Claparede, and Vilatte (members). 

Moncey had refused to sit, and Massena urged to the Court 

his own quarrels with Ney in Spain to get rid of the task, but 
was forced to remain. Defended by both the Berryers, Ney 
unfortunately denied the jurisdiction of the court-martial over 
him as a peer. In all probability the Military Court would 
have acquitted him. Too glad at the moment to be free from 
the trial of their old comrade, not understanding the danger 
of the proceeding, the Court, by a majority of five against two, 

declared themselves non-competent, and on the 21st of Novem¬ 

ber Ney was sent before the Chamber of Peers, which con¬ 

demned him on the 6th of December. 
To beg the life of his brave adversary would have been such 

an obvious act of generosity on the part of the Duke of Wel¬ 
lington that we may be pardoned for examining his reasons 
for not interfering. First, the Duke seems to have laid weight 
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on the fact that if Ney had believed the capitulation had 

covered him he would not have hidden. Now, even Indore, 

Ney knew of his exception from the amnesty, to appear in 

Paris would have been a foolish piece of bravado. Further, 

the Royalist re-action was in full vigor, and when the Royalist 

mobs, with the connivance of the authorities, were, murdering 

Marshal Bnme and attacking any prominent adherents of 

Napoleon, it was hardly the time for Ney to travel in full 

pomp. It cannot be said that, apart from the capitulation, 

the I hike had no responsibility. (Generally a government ex¬ 

ecuting a prisoner may, with some foree, if rather brutally, 

urge that the fact of their being able to try and execute him 

in itself shows their authority to do so. The Bourbons could 

not even use this argument. If the Allies had evacuated 

Fra nee Louis le Desire would have ordered his carriage anti 

have been at the front icr before t hey had reached it. I f Franch¬ 

men actually fired the shots which killed Ney, the Allies at 

least shared the responsibility with the French Government. 

Lastly, it would seem that the I hike would have asked for tin* 

life of Ney if the King, rlever at sueh small art.iliecs, had not 

purposely affected a temporary coldness to him. Few men 

won hi have been so deterred from asking for the life of a dog. 

The fart is, the Duke of Welling!on was a great general, he 

was a single-hearted and pat riotic statesman, he had a thousaml 

virtues, but he was never generous. It cannot be said that he 

simply shared the feelings of Ids army, for then* was prepa¬ 

ration among some of his officers to enable Ney to escape, and 

Ney had to be guarded In’ men of good position disguised in 

the uniform of privates. Ney had written to his wife when 

he joined Napoleon, t hinkiug of the little vrxat ions the Royal¬ 

ist s loved to inflirt on the men who had conquered the (\mtb 

nent, 44 you will no longer weep when you leave t he TmleriesT 

The unfortunate lady wept now as she vainly sought some 

merry for her husband. Arrested on tin* 5th of' August., sen¬ 

tenced on the (>t.h of I>erember, Nev w;ts shot on the 7th of 

I)i member, and tie* very manner of his execution shows that, 

in taking his life there was much more of revenge than of jus¬ 

tice. 
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If Nej were to be shot, it is obvious that it should have 
been as a high act of justice. If neither the rank nor the 

services of the criminal were to save him, his death could not 
be too formal, too solemn, too public. Even an ordinary 
military execution is always carried out with grave and 

striking forms : there is a grand parade of the troops, that all 
may see with their own eyes the last act of the law. After 
the execution the troops defile past the body, that all may see 
the criminal actually dead. There was nothing of all this in 
the execution of Ney. A few chance passers, in the early 

morning of the 7th of December, 1815, saw a small body of 
troops waiting by the wall of the garden of the Luxemburg. 
A fiacre drove up out of which got Marshal FTey in plain 
clothes, himself surprised at the every-day aspect of the place. 
Then, when the officer of the firing party (for such the specta¬ 
tors now knew it to be) saw whom it was he was to fire on, 

he became, it is said, perfectly petrified; and a peer, one of 

the judges of Ney, the Due de la Force, took his place. Ney 
fell at the first volley with six balls in his breast, three in the 
head and neck, and one in the arm, and in a quarter of an 
hour the body was removed ; “plain Michel ISTey ” as he had 
said to the secretary enunciating his title in reading his sen¬ 

tence, “ plain Michel FTey, soon to be a little dust.”1 
The Communists caught red-handed in the streets of Paris 

1 “The grave of ‘ the bravest of the brave’in Pere la Chaise is in the 
principal avenue, and close to that in which Beranger and Manuel, the ora¬ 
tor, lie together, surrounded by the sumptuous tombs of his brother Marshals, 
and within sight of those of the Generals Foy and Gobert, and that of Baron 
Larrey, the surgeon of Napoleon I. Ney has no cenotaph, or simple head¬ 
stone even, to tell the passer-by who it is that lies within the lichen-covered 
rusty iron railing, and few there are who recognize it, unless prompted by in¬ 
dividual interest in the intrepid and unfortunate soldier, or by curiosity at the 
wildness of the neglected and uncared-for place. Years ago some one laid 
out the enclosure as a small garden, hut no one since has even tended it, and 
weeds have choked all but a few small wild flowers. There is now no slab 
or inscription, such as described to exist in 1827, or if there is it is completely 
hidden beneath the ground and tangled brier, and the rank grass growing 
all over the grave ” (Notes and Queries, 1874, fifth series, vol. i. p. 374). 

“ In 1827,” says a contributor to the same journal, “ I was anxious to see 
tlie Marshal’s grave in Pere la Chaise. I well remember the_ alarm, the pre¬ 
cautions, and the mystery with which our conducteur, watching liis opportu¬ 
nity, sought the spot, and, moving aside the rank £rass, disclosed a small flat 
stone with this inscription — eloquent in its simplicity — ‘ Hie Amicus. 

The tomb is now easily discoverable from the plans in the guide-books of 
Paris, where its exact position is shown. 
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in 1870 died with hardly less formality than was observed at 

the death-scene of the Prince of the Moskowa and Duke of 

Elcliingen, and the truth then became plain. The Bourbons 

could not, dared not, attempt to carry out the sentence of the 

law with the forms of the law. The Government did not 

venture to let the troops or the people face the Marshal. The 

forms of the law could not be carried out, the demands of 

revenge could be. And if this be thought any exaggeration, 
the proof of the ill effects of this murder, for its form makes 

it difficult to call it anything else, is ready to our hands. It 

was impossible to get the public to believe that Ney had really 

been killed in this mauner, and nearly to this day we have 

had fresh stories recurring of the real Key being discovered in 

America. The deed, however, had really beam done. The 

Marshals now knew that when the Princes fled they them¬ 

selves must remain to die for the Royal cause, j and Louis had 
at last succeeded in preventing his return to his kingdom 

amongst the baggage wagons of the Allies from being consid¬ 

ered as a mere subjeet for jeers. One detail of the execution 
of Ney, however, we are told nothing of: we do not know if 

his widow, like Madame Labedoyere, had to pay three francs 
a head to the soldiers of the firing party which shot her hus¬ 

band. Whatever were the faults of the Bourbons, they at 

least carried out their executions economically.1 
The end of the Imperial Guard should be told. On Napo¬ 

leon becoming Consul in 1799, the u Garde du Directoire 
Executif” became the il Garde des Consuls,” and was increased 

to 7266 men. On the formation of the Empire, in 1804 it 

became the “ Garde Imperiale,” and was raised to 9798 men. 
The men composing it were invariably taken from the old and 

distinguished soldiers of other regiments. There have always 
been two opinions among French officers on the wisdom of 
this proceeding, some complaining of the weakening of the 
regimental esprit de corps caused among the ordinary regi¬ 

ments, which were thus trained to look on the Guard as a 

superior body, and the bad effect of withdrawing so many old 

1 For the trials and executions carried out under the second Restoration 
see Vaulabclle’s Ilistoire des Deux Restaur at ions (Paris, Perrotin, 3847), 
tomes iii. and iv. 
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and good soldiers who should have leavened the mass of re¬ 
cruits. On the other hand, the Imperial Guard became an 

enormous reserve for use on the decisive point, and its very 
approach raised the spirits of the other troops acting on that 
point, where they then knew the great effort was to be made. 

Also, there was less jealousy aroused by keeping the Guard in 
reserve than there would have been if an ordinary corps had 

been selected for each occasion. Gradually increased, in 1814 
the Guard was 112,482 strong. 

On the first Restoration the Guard was unwisely de¬ 
prived of its name and privileges, while it was preserved 

almost in its entirety. The Grenadiers of the old Guard 
became the “ Corps Royal de Grenadiers de France/5 and the 

Chasseurs, sometimes called the Middle Guard, became the 
“ Corps Royal de Chasseurs de France.55 Marshal Oudinot 

was given the command of these two bodies, which were sent 

to Metz. The cavalry became the u Corps Royal de Dragons 
de France,55 under the command of Ney. The artillery of 

the Guard and the infantry of the Young Guard were 

absorbed in the rest of the army. 

On the return of Napoleon Marshal Oudinot was ordered 
to march to meet and oppose him, but the Guard, as 
already said, full of discontent with the Bourbons, were 
eager to join the Emperor, and Oudinot had to leave his 
so-called command. The Guard was at once re-organized, 

much on its former base: its strength during the Cent 
Jours is given as 25,870, but only 20,884, including all 
its branches, seem to have been in the ranks in the cam¬ 

paign. After the capitulation of Paris Drouot, who was 
put in command of the corps, got it to follow Davoust to 
the Loire with great difficulty. Marshal Macdonald was 

charged with the task of breaking it up. 

“In despite of this capitulation [of Paris] the proscrip¬ 

tions began to decimate the chiefs of the Guard even before 
its arrival on the banks of the Loire. Not only were they 
brought before courts-martial, but they were dogged every¬ 

where, so as to force them to quit a country which showed 
itself so ungrateful to those it ought to have honored, and 
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who were stigmatized with the epithet of c brigands.71 Forced 

to seek a refuge in foreign lands, they went, some to Turkey, 
some to Greece, others to America, others to the province of 
Texas, in the Gulf of Mexico, where General Lallemand suc¬ 

ceeded in forming a colony which he called the Champ d’Asile 
[City of Eefuge], and where in April, 1818, 200 men of all 

ranks of the remains of the ex-imperial Guard were collected 

together. The annoyances of the Mexican Government, 
however [Texas was then held by Mexico], soon forced the 

refugees to quit this inhospitable soil, and on the following 
12th of August they disembarked on the island of Galveston, 
which they had already inhabited before their meeting at 

the Champ d’Asile. After tortures of every description, un¬ 
able to preserve any hope of a better future, they determined 
to leave for New Orleans, where they arrived on the 20th of 
November, 1818. During this time subscriptions had been 
opened in France for the Texan exiles, but it was only in 
April, 1820, that a sum of 80,000 francs reached them. Of 
200 exiles forty-seven still lived. The grave alone can now 
tell what has become of the last survivors of the remnant 

immortalized as much by misfortune as by glory77 (Norvins, 
pp. 759-760). 

It was but natural that these and other refugees in 
America should dream of establishing some French State 
there, and an expedition is said to have been prepared by 
Lefebvre-Desnouettes and the brothers Lallemand, the 
founders of the Champ d7Asile, General Humbert at New 
Orleans, and Grouchy and Clausel, who were also in America. 

The originators of the plan even hoped to place Napoleon, 
enabled to escape from St. Helena, at their head, or at least 

2 “ Brigand ” had then the fatal meaning “ Suspect ” formerly bore. After 
Waterloo the Protestants in the south of France were thus designated and 
attacked till the Due d’Angouleme stopped the bloodshed (Lacretelle, tome 
i. chap. iv.). We saw the mob pursuing with ferocious cries a man just ahead 
of them. “ This brigand,” said I to one of the crowd, “ is no doubt a high¬ 
way robber? ”— “ No, sir,” said lie, “ he is a rich gentleman in the village, 
who never took anything away from any one.”-—“How is he a brigand 
then?” — “ Because he is a Bonapartist.” “Did he ever do harm to any 
one? ” — “No; but he wished to do it.” — “ He wished? ” said I with aston¬ 
ishment ; “and how do you know that he is a Bonapartist?” — “ There can 
be no doubt of it — he is a Protestant” (The Memoirs of a French 
Sergeant). 
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to have Lucien and Jerome with them. An attempt was 

made to communicate with the Emperor, but the letters were 

intercepted by the English.1 The failure of the insurrection 
of Mina in Mexico in 1817 ruined their hopes. Some of 

the Generals, such as Clausel and Grouchy, returned eventually 
to France to enjoy rank and honor, while others remained 
in America, with no other result than as has been said of 

the members of another nationality there, to lie down in 
death to make a green spot in the prairies.2 

The statesmen of France, distinguished as they were, 

certainly did not rise to a level with the situation either in 
1814 or in 1815. In 1814, it is true, they were almost stunned 

by the crash of the Empire, and little as they foresaw the 
restoration of the Bourbons, still less could they have antici¬ 
pated the extraordinary follies which were to be perpetrated. 

In 1815 there was less excuse for their helplessness, and, 

overawed as they were by the mass of foes which was pouring 
on them to complete the disaster of Waterloo, still it is 
disappointing to find that there was no one to seize the helm 
of power, and, confronting the Allies, to stipulate proper 

terms for France, and for the brave men who had fought for 
her. The steady Davoust was there with his 100,000 men to 
add weight to their language, and the total helplessness of 
the older line of the Bourbons had been too evidently dis¬ 
played to make their return a certainty, so that there is no 

reason to doubt that a firm-hearted patriot might have saved 
France from much of the degradation and loss inflicted on 
her when once the Allies had again got her at their mercy. 

* Croker’s Correspondence, vol. i. p. 88. 
2 See Noroins, p. 753; Lucien Bonaparte, by lung, tome iii. pp. 380-382; 

and Ilistoire de Vex-Garde (Paris, Delaunay, i821). 
The celebrated reply of the Guard at Waterloo to the English demand for 

surrender, “La Garde ineurt et no so rend pas,” was attributed to Cam- 
bronne, a rough old veteran, about the last man to use such a phrase, and 
who indeed was himself taken prisoner. Cambronne denied using the words, 
substituting a worse sentence. In 1845 it was claimed for General Michel by 
his sons, but on doubtful ground. During the siege of Sebastopol the third 
Napoleon sent his Guard to the Crimea, but ordered that they were not to 
be employed in the exhausting work of the trenches. This naturally gave 
rise to complaints, and some wag of the army wrote on the huts of the Guard, 
“ La Garde (de) meurt ici, et nc se rend i>as (<mx tranchees).” 

See also Wouters’ Annales, p. 978, note; Thiers, tome xx. p. 248; Dorsey 
Gardner, p. 384. 
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At the least the Bourbons might have been deprived of the 
revenge they sought for in taking some of the best blood of 
France. Better for Ney and his comrades to have fallen in a 

last struggle before Paris than to be shot by Frenchmen em¬ 
boldened by the presence of foreign troops. 

Talleyrand^ the most prominent figure among the states¬ 

men, was away. His absence at Vienna during the first Res¬ 

toration was undoubtedly the cause of many of the errors 

then committed. His ability as displayed under Napoleon 

has been much exaggerated, for, as the Duke of Wellington 
said, it was easy enough to be Foreign Minister to a Govern¬ 
ment in military possession of Europe, but at least he was 

above the petty trivialities and absurdities of the Bourbon 
Court. On the receipt of the news of the landing of Napoleon 

he really seems to have believed that the enterprise would 
immediately end in disaster, and he pressed on the outlawing 

of the man who had overwhelmed him with riches, and who 

had, at the worst, left him when in disgrace in quiet posses¬ 
sion of all his ill-gotten wealth. But, as the power of Napo¬ 

leon became more and more displayed, as perhaps Talleyrand 
found that the Austrians were not quite so firm as they 
wished to be considered, and as he foresaw the possible 

chances of the Orleans family, he became rather lukewarm in 
his attention to the King, to whom he had recently been be¬ 
wailing the hardships of his separation from his loved monarch. 

He suddenly found that, after a Congress, the first duty of a 
diplomatist was to look after his liver, and Carlsbad offered 
an agreeable retreat where he could wait till he might congrat¬ 

ulate the winner in the struggle. 
Louis deeply resented this conduct of his Foreign Minister, 

and when Talleyrand at last joined him with all his doubts 
resolved, the King took the first opportunity of dismissing 

him, leaving the calm Talleyrand for once stuttering with 
rage. Louis soon, however, found that he was not the free 

agent he believed. The Allies did not want to have to again 

replace their puppet on the throne, and they looked on Tal¬ 
leyrand and Fouchd as the two necessary men. Talleyrand 

was re-instated immediately, and remained for some time at 
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the head of the Ministry. He was, however, not the man fox 

Parliamentary Government, being too careless in business, and 
trying to gain his ends more by clever tricks than straight 

forward measures. As for the state into which he let the 
Government fall, it was happily characterized by M. Beugnot. 
“Until now,” said he, “ we have only known three sorts of 

governments—the Monarchical, the Aristocratic, and the 
Eepublican. Now we have invented a new one, which has 

never been heard of before, — Paternal Anarchy.” 

In September, 1815, the elections to the Chamber were 
bringing m deputies more Eoyalist than the. King, and Tal¬ 
leyrand sought to gain popularity by throwing over Pouche. 
To his horror it appeared that, well contented with this step, 

the deputies next asked when the former Bishop was to be 

dismissed. Taking advantage of what Talleyrand conceived 
to be a happy way of eliciting a strong expression of royal 

support by threatening to resign, the King replaced him by 

the Due de Eichelieu. It was well to cut jokes at the Duke 
and say that he was the man in France who knew most of the 
Crimea (the Duke had been long in the Eussian service, with 
the approval of Napoleon), but Talleyrand was overwhelmed. 
He received the same office at Court which he had held under 
Napoleon, Grand Chamberlain, and afterwards remained a 

sardonic spectator of events, a not unimposing figure attend¬ 
ing at the Court ceremonials and at the heavy dinners of the 
King, and probably lending a helping hand in 1830 to oust 

Charles X. from the throne. The Monarchy of July sent him 
as Ambassador to England, where he mixed in local politics, 
for example, plotting against Lord Palmerston, whose brusque 
manners he disliked; and in 1838 he ended his strange life 

with some dignity, having, as one of his eulogists puts it, 
been faithful to every Government he had served as long as 

it was possible to save them. 
With the darker side of Talleyrand’s character we have 

nothing to do here ; it is sufficient for our purposes to say 

that the part the leading statesman of Prance took during the 
Cent Jours was simply nil. In 1814 he had let the reins slip 
through his hands; in 1815 he could only follow the King, 
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who even refused to adopt his advice as to the proper way in 

which to return to France, and though he once more became 

Chief Minister, Talleyrand, like Louis XVIII., owed his 

restoration in 1815 solely to the Allies. 
Next to Talleyrand, at least in the popular belief, came 

Fouche. Fouche, so long the Police Minister, enjoyed a repu¬ 

tation far above his deserts, as indeed his conduct at this very 
time shows. In 1814, having been in disgrace since 1810, 
much to his grief he had been sent to Italy, and found him¬ 
self unable to get to Paris in time to share in the spoils. 

During the first Restoration he lived quietly, suspected by 

both parties, but apparently really inclined to forward the 

Orleanist cause. The return of Napoleon forced his hand, 

and an attempt to arrest him, directed by the Bourbons and 
mismanaged by Bourrienne, threw him on the side of Napo¬ 
leon. He hedged, however, by foretelling the speedy over¬ 

throw of the Empire, and promising to work for the recall of 

Louis. 
Through all the year 1815 Fouche’s conduct seems to have 

been—what his enemies represented it to have always been 
— a combination of that of knave and fool, the fool in this 
instance predominating.1 Strongly suspected by the Bona- 
partists of giving information to the enemy, he kept his views 

concealed till he had gained the position of head of the Pro¬ 

visional G-overnment instituted on the Emperor’s abdication. 

At last he had succeeded in placing himself in the position 
occupied by Talleyrand in 1814, and, like the Irish patriot, no 
doubt he thanked Heaven that he had a country to sell. He 

sold it to the least possible advantage for himself or France. 

Every card he had in his hand he threw away. He forced 

Napoleon to leave France when his presence might still have 
prevented the rapid advance of the Allies. He discouraged 
and sent off the army of some hundred thousand men he had 

1 As before stated, Lucien Bonaparte acquits Fouche of betraying1 Napo¬ 
leon during the Cent Jours, and says that Napoleon knew of Fou'che’s secret 
proposals to Metternich, even those which appeared to be against the Empe¬ 
ror himself (Tung’s Lucien, tome iii. p. 294). See also Croker's Correspond¬ 
ence, vol. ii. p. 288 (Murray, 1884), to show that Fouche' wished Napoleon to 
succeed in e>scai>ing. 
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rider Davoust; and, in treating with the Allies, he failed in 
btaining any stipulation for France, or for the men who had 

)uglit at Waterloo who might have so easily been protected, 

r at least enabled to fly. Lastly, and the only good thing 
bout his bargaining, lie totally failed to get any terms for 

’mself, except the empty promise of retaining his post as 

olioe Minister. This was a mere snare, at least on the part 

f the King, as is shown by Louis telling Vitrolles that he 
referred making Fouche a Minister who could be dismissed, 

) giving him a peerage which must be retained. Even this 

romise Fouche owed entirely to the support of the Allies, 
ho, very erroneously, believed that the presence of a regicide 

i the Ministry would be the best safeguard for the men of 

le Revolution and the Empire. His part was a more difficult 

tie than he had expected, for he soon found that Excelmans 

Lid others among the Bonapartists were anxious to arrest and 
loot him for his treachery to Kapoleon. 

Fouclie soon again overreached himself and lost the support 

P the one party which must have been faithful to him, by 

Tying to get the favor of the Royalists by signing the edict 
hieli sent some of the best soldiers and men in France to 
eath or exile ; and it was not his fault that the list was not 
ioro extensive than it was. Thanks to Heaven, and to what- 
/er French Saint takes the place of St. Chad, he soon had his 

uerdon. The country sent up a number of the most extreme 
,oyalist deputies, who insisted on the dismissal of Fouche. 
he King, too glad to get rid of him, was also anxious to 

lease the Duchesse d’Angouleme, who refused even to receive 
ouch6. Offered an Ambassadorship, Fouch6 again over- 

cached himself by refusing that of the United States, which 
e might possibly have kept, and, preferring to be near 
ranee, taking that of Saxony, which he lost by the Ordon- 

tinre of 1816 dismissing all regicides. He died in 1820 at 
rieste, where he must have met several members of the 
onaparte family. His so-called Memoirs are altogether spu- 

ous. 
We owe Cambaeeres, the Arch-Chancellor, an apology for 

ot giving him the place of honor, but he had fallen into a 
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state of feebleness, being much alarmed about his religious 

safety, and on the return of the chief he dreaded and served 
he would only resume the post he had held in 1799 — the 

Ministry of Justice. He took no real part in the Cent Jours, 
after which he was exiled, retiring to the Netherlands till 

1819, when, like most of the Bonapartists, he was allowed to 
return and die in peace in 1824, leaving the memory of a 

distinguished and moderate Jurist, and, last not least, of a 

man who thoroughly realized the importance of the great art 
of dining. 

Le Brun, who had been Third Consul until the formation of 

the Empire, when he became Arch-Treasurer and Duke of 
Piacenza (Plaisance), and who had been employed on the 
financial system of the Empire and in governing Genoa, and 

later, Holland, when first annexed to the Empire, had 
accepted the post of one of the Commissaires-Extraordinaires 
despatched by the Comte d’Artois, while Lieutenant-General 

of the Kingdom before the arrival of the King, and had been 
sent to Caen. Trained under the aneien regime, old, and little 
fond of display, one would have thought that he would have 
adhered to the Bourbons, or rather, would have remained pas¬ 

sive. He, however, accepted a peerage from Napoleon, and 
also the post of Grand Master of the University. On the 
second Eestoration he forfeited his former peerage. He was 
restored to his rank in 1819, but lived in retirement till his 

death in 1824, aged 85. 
Caulaincourt, Duke of Yicenza, the Grand Ecuyer, the con¬ 

stant and faithful companion of Napoleon, came at once to his 

side in 1815, but only from fidelity, not with any hope of 

success. At first he positively declined to retake the Foreign 
Office, and when he consented, the determination of the Allies 
not to treat with the man who had made some of them Kings 
made Caulaincourt’s tenure of that post a mere sinecure. 

Indeed, the first duty he had to perform was to receive the 
announcements of all the Ambassadors that they intended to 
withdraw at once. After Waterloo Caulaincourt formed one 
of the Provisional Government, but he had lost all hope, and 
was outwitted by Fouche. He and his Duchess were true to 
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Napoleon to the end. This, of course, was hateful to the 

Eoyalists, who also professed to believe him specially respon¬ 

sible for the death of Due d’Enghien; but the protection of 

the Czar, who had treated him as a friend from the time he 

had been Ambassador in Bnssia, saved him from much of the 

annoyance he would have had to undergo. Indeed, Alexander 

got his name erased from the list presented by Fouche of per¬ 
sons selected for exile. He died in 1827, leaving an honora¬ 
ble name, and being a striking instance of a courtier who, 

never shrinking from telling his master the most unpalatable 

truths, and openly disapproving of many of his acts, still 

served Napoleon with as true fidelity in his worst misfortunes 

as he had done in his time of success. 

Man1!, Duke of Bassano, who had held the Secretariat dur¬ 

ing almost the whole period of the Empire, and who never 
wavered from his fidelity to his master, and who, if lie ever 

injured Napoleon, did so only by too blind an obedience to 

his orders, had remained in communication with him while he 
was at Elba, but had refrained from giving him advice. On the 
return of Napoleon he was at once by his side, and, retaking 

his former office, did the Emperor and the Bourbons a great 
service by insuring the release of the Due d’Angouleme who 

had fallen into the hands of Grouchy by virtue of a capitula¬ 
tion which Napoleon had at first ordered to be fulfilled, but 

about which he had changed his mind. Maret acted on the 
first order, and, as usual with Napoleon, received only thanks 
for his conduct in studying the true interests of his master. 

Maret was on the field of Waterloo; indeed he had often 

enough been by the side of his master in battle. He had only 

just time to fly, destroying or getting destroyed many papers, 

and he got to Baris before Napoleon. True to the end, he 
only left his master by bis orders at Rainbouillet, and retired 
to Switzerland. Arrested by the Austrians, he was impris¬ 

oned at Gratz, but in 1817 be was allowed to go to Trieste, a 

favorite if compulsory rendezvous of the Bonapartists at this 

time. In 1820 be returned to France, remaining watched by 
the police till 1880. In 18,‘U he took the office of Minister of 

the Interior and President of the Ministry under Louis 
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Philippe for a few days. He passed much of his time in fur* 
nishing information to writers defending Napoleon, such as 

Bignon, and he closed an honorable life in 1839, just too soon 
to welcome the arrival of the remains of his master. 

Savary, the Duke of Rovigo, who had been Police Minister 

from Fouche’s dismissal in 1810 to 1814, had behaved with 
some lukewarmness towards Napoleon on his first abdication. 

He had not staid with him to the end, and had remained in 
France, rather harassed by the same surveillance under which 

he had put many others, but protected by his former friend, 

Alexander, who seems to have been more constant in his per¬ 

sonal likings than in other matters. On the arrival of Napo¬ 

leon Savary went to him, and was graciously permitted to de¬ 

cline to resume the police, and instead to retake his original 

post in command of the gendarmerie d’elite, a corps too good 
for this sinful world, as he assures us, but much abused by less 
well-informed persons. This time Savary did not dare to re¬ 

main after Napoleon left. He accompanied the Emperor on 
board the BeUevophon, but for some inscrutable reason the 
English Government refused to let him go to St. Helena. His 

wanderings are so curious as to be worth recording. He was 
first taken to Fort Manoel, Malta, and on the tiny peninsula 

on which that fort is built he remained till April, 1816. He 
then went to Smyrna, where, in 1817, he heard that he had 

been condemned to death for treason by the Bourbon Courts, 
and he moved to Trieste, and then to G-ratz, where he met 
and was kindly received by Metternich. He returned to 
Smyrna in 1818, and went to London in 1819, crossing to 

France in December of that year to apply for a fresh trial, as 

the first bitter feelings had died away, and the Bonapartists 
were being allowed to return. He was treated with the same 
courtesy afterwards shown towards the journalists of the 

second Empire, being allowed to choose his own day for going 
to prison; and he was acquitted. In 1823 he bitterly attacked 
Talleyrand and the Duke Dalberg for their part in the murder 

of the Due d’Enghien, but was silenced by the King. In 1831 
Louis Philippe gave him the command of the Army of Algeria, 
in which post he died in 1833. 
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It can hardly be by accident that we find Savary concerned 

in the worst acts of Napoleon’s reign, such as the murder of 
the Due d’Enghien and the hoodwinking of the Spanish Royal 
Family. A dashing cavalry officer in his youth, he might 

have won a better name than he has left, though he has proba¬ 
bly had to bear the blame of many an act he had nothing to 

do with. It is significant that he publicly raised the question 
of the responsibility of the Due d’Enghien’s death at a time 
when the Bonapartist party was in the dust, and when Talley* 

rand could have easily crushed him if Talleyrand himself had 

been free of blame in that matter. In any case courage and 
ability must be conceded to Savary. 

During the last agony of the Empire in 1814 some of the 

Republicans had fully realized the danger the cause of liberty 
ran if Napoleon fell, and Carnot, the organizer of victory under 

the Republic, and who had been War Minister to Napoleon for 
a short time in 1800, had put his services at the disposal of the 
Emperor, who sent him to Antwerp, which Carnot defended 
well, only surrendering it to the orders of the Comte d’Artois 

after all hope for France was gone. In 1815 he thoroughly 
understood what the return of the Bourbons would imply, and 

he threw himself heartily into the cause of Napoleon, and ac¬ 
cepted the Ministry of the Interior. He behaved with perfect 
loyalty to Napoleon, although the importance he attached to 

the characteristic theories of his party made Napoleon say that 
Carnot thought of improvements in the house while it was on 

fire. He was nominated one of the Provisional Government, 

leaving his Ministry to his brother; but, opposed as he was to 

the Bourbons, he was outwitted by Fouchd, and, with his fel¬ 

low-members, was practically helpless. The Czar attempted 
to get his name struck oft‘ the list of those to be exiled, but it 
was replied that he had been the author of a work in which it 
was sought to prove that Louis, when Comte de Provence, 

had had some secret connection with Robespierre with a view 
of hastening the fall or death of his unfortunate brother, Louis 
XVI., a libel the more dangerous as the conduct of the brothers 

of the murdered King had been before attacked. He retired 

to Warsaw and then to Magdeburg, dying in 1823. 
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The other Ministers of Napoleon require little mention. 
Gaudin, Duke of Gaeta, had retaken the Finances, which he 

had held for the whole reign of Napoleon, thus incurring the 
wrath of the Abbe Louis when he returned with the King like 

a bear robbed of her cubs, and found himself deprived of the 

millions spent by the Emperor. Gaudin cleared himself from 

the charges brought against him, and from 1820 to 1834 was 

governor of one of the best of his and his master's institutions, 

the Bank of France. 

Mollien, whom the Bourbons had not employed, after some 
little hesitation went back to the Treasury, thus forfeiting his 
strong claim to it on the return from Ghent. 

Deeres took his old post at the Marine, in which he had had 

such a uniformly disastrous tale to tell. Though he had not 
much affection for the Emperor, and though his language after 

Waterloo was rough and unfeeling, he seems to have really 

done his best for Napoleon's safety, and to have tried to insure 
the success of his flight to America. 

Clarke, the Duke of Feltre, long Minister of War under Na¬ 
poleon, had replaced Soult in that post just before the flight 

to Ghent, and he thought it wisest to throw in his lot with the 
Royalists and take wliat was called the “ sentimental journey." 
St. Cyr took the War Office on the return from Ghent, but 

Clarke again held it from September, 1815, to September, 1817. 
He was made Marshal by Louis in 1816 (lie was never a Mar¬ 
shal of the Empire), and died in 1818. 

Those Ministers, past and present, who were in Paris on the 

arrival of the Allies seem to have been specially marked out 
for annoyance; thus poor Montalivet had some fifty men and 

fifty horses quartered on him. . Mole, with his name honored 
in the annals of the French magistracy, the former Grand 
Judge, had accepted the return of Napoleon with but half- 

concealed reluctance, refusing to sign the law against the 

Bourbons, and only consenting to take a post unconnected with 

politics, which he had first held, — the Roads and Bridges. 

He was continued in it by the Bourbons, and even made a 
peer, but his sympathies with Parliamentary Government could 
not have been strong. Years afterwards, when he had been 
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repeatedly Minister, and even Chief Minister to the changing 
dynasties, in reply to some sneers from De Tocqueville, he 
nobly defended the brilliant band of men who under Napoleon 

undertook the task of establishing order, repressing crime and 

folly, and repairing the evils alike of the ancien regime and of 

the Revolution, believing themselves engaged in a holy and 

generous crusade. His words should be read. He at least did 

not believe that he had spent so many years in the service of 

a clever and unscrupulous adventurer. A Frenchman, he did 

not forget in his old age what Napoleon had done for France. 

As once more the wild theories and dreams of the sanguinary 

Revolutionists were urged on an excited people he remembered 

the great soldier and statesman who had put the whole noisy 

band under his heel, and had given France what so few rulers 
have given her,—internal peace. 

Lavallette, who had for so many years directed the Posts, 

naturally retook his former office. On the second Restora¬ 

tion he was one of those exempted from the amnesty. 

Condemned to death, the Royalists were very anxious for 
his execution. According to them he had walked into the 

office, struck his stick on the floor — a great point was made 
of this stick—and taken possession in the name of the 

Emperor. It is difficult to see the peculiar wickedness of 
this; one is rather struck with the extraordinary weakness of 

an administration which could be thus at once upset. The 

King received Madame de Lavallette, for what reason it is 
hard to say, if he had determined on the death of her husband. 

The .Duchesse d’Angoulemc was inaccessible and inexorable. 
How Lavallette escaped should be read at length in his 
Memoirs. .It is impossible here to do justice to the nerve of 

his wife and himself, especially when, expecting death at any 

moment, he delayed the enterprise for a day to improve the 
arrangements. Putting on the dress of his wife, lie got past 

the gate into a sedan-chair, then from that to a fiacre, and, 
slip])ing out of that, was concealed by the family of a minor 

functionary in the hotel of the Due de Richelieu, the very 
head of the administration. Though his place of hiding was 

known to several people, it was preserved from the constant 
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search of the Government. So bloodthirsty were the Royalists 

tliat they aecused the Prefect of Pol ire of favoring the escape, 

the very King himstdf seeming to fear this charge, — a strange 

one, as Ney had already been shot. 

Though the Duke of Wellington looked on with unconcern 

at the executions which were being carried out, the English 

army were 2iot all satisfied at being employed to keep the 

French quiet while the men who had fled at the. sight of 

Napoleon butchered the soldiers who had faced every army 

in Europe. A scheme which had been prepared to rescue Ncy 

was now directed to save Lavallette. Sir Robert; Wilson, 

Bruce, and Hutchinson, whose names should be honored by 

every Englishman, succeeded in snatching one prey from the 

Bourbons; and Lavallette, in the dress of an English ollieer, 

drove out of Paris by the side of Sir Robert, and again 

appeared at his side when Sir Robert eanvassed Westminster. 

The Royalists were left to the poor satisfaction of badgering 

Madame de Lavallette ou , of her mind. Sir Robert returned 

to Paris, was arrested, tried, and sentenced to three months’ 

imprisonment, with his associates. He himsell had been loud 

in abuse of the Bonapartists in their days of success, but he 

was a gallant soldier, and having faced the Ereach in the 

field, and having done his best to inspire the Gourt of Russia 

with his own zeal against them, he was not prepared to have 

even a passive share in the task of butchering men whose sole 

crime, was having served an Emperor only kept, from the 

undisputed possession of the throne of Eranee by a million of 

foreign bayonets. 

Bourricime himself might fairly have expected to figure 

amongst the statesmen of tin*, day. He almost under-repre¬ 

sents his own part in affairs at this time, as he was really a 

conspicuous and busy figure, being much employed by Talley¬ 

rand in his numerous little plots. I low In* did not recover 

the. Prefecture of Police which In*, laid before tin* flight to 

Ghent we, learn by chance, not from his Memoirs, but from 

]>e Vitrolles, who, finding Talleyrand complaining after his 

return of the manners of tin* new Prefect, Decaz.es, whom 

Talleyrand considered to resemble a young hairdresser, asked 
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him why he had not given the post to Bourrienne, who suited 
him. Talleyrand explained the matter with his usual non¬ 
chalance, and the reason is so characteristic of the Govern¬ 

ment which replaced Napoleon that it is worth giving. 

“Certainly,” answered Talleyrand; “but how could it be 

done ? Bourrienne was not there. He was returning from 

Hamburg ” (where he had been sent by the King instead of 
staying at Ghent) “in a bad caleche. A wheel broke quite 
close to Paris, and he lost twenty-four hours in mending it. 
See what it is to be a jpauvre diable. Now, if Bourrienne had 
£200,000 of rentes, he would always be a pauvre diable. You 

see nothing is so important as not to be a pauvre diable”1 
This is Talleyrand all over. As he explained, perhaps at the 
same time, he had always been rich even in the United States, 
and not to have a carriage was an absurd idea to him. 

Talleyrand did not, however, forget Bourrienne altogether. 

In the Memoirs, as the reader will remember,2 Bourrienne 

represents his appointment as “ Ministre d’Etat ” (practically 
member of the Privy Council) as a special act of the King. 
It really was one of the little tricks at which Talleyrand was 
so clever. By not inserting Bourrienne’s name in the list 
prepared to be laid before the King, and then representing 

Bourrienne’s case as Louis was about to sign, Talleyrand got 
the appointment made without the objections which would 
otherwise have been pressed. The speedy fall of Talleyrand’s 
ministry probably prevented Bourrienne appearing in a more 
prominent position than that in which we have to leave him. 

It should, by the way, be remarked that while Bourrienne 
criticises so severely the proceedings of Napoleon’s police, 

his qualifications (disqualifications, according to some persons) 
for the Prefecture of Police under the Restoration were his 
knowledge of the modes of action of that very police and his 

tendency to adopt its violent methods. After his attack on 
Napoleon we cannot be sorry for the sharp lesson he, like so 

many others, received as to the inconstancy of the royal 
favor under the Restoration. 

The ruin of Bourrienne’s mental faculties is said to have 

1 Vitrolles, tome iii. p. 128. 2 See ante, p. 240. 
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been caused by the shock of tin1 Revolution of July and tin* 

loss of his fortune. He died in an asylum at (hen in IS,’>4. 

It will be seen that .Napoleon in his W ill alludes to Bour- 

rienne as one of the possessors of important papers relating 

to his history. Bourrienne was a strange and melancholy 

instance of a man with every quality which would insure his 

holding high employment, throwing away all his advantages 

in his eagerness to snatch at tin4 wealth which would have 

certainly come to him had he known how to wait.1 

As for tin1, Bourbons, when Napoleon landed the. Due 

d’Angouleine, tin1 eldest, son of the Comte <TArtois, and his 

wife were at Bordeaux in the midst of fetes in their honor. 

The Royalists were strong in tin* south, and t he I hike, placed 

in command of tin? five southern military divisions, threw 

himself in roar of Napoleon to fry to undo tin* effect, of his 

passage, but, though In* obtained some successes he had to 

capitulate to (lenerals Hilly and (i rouehy. A Her some hesita¬ 

tion in allowing such a valuable prize to leave his hands, 

Napoleon gave the order to carry out the capitulation: and 

the Duke embarked at, (Vtte for Spain, where he remained 

during the ('ent flours, and t hen only returned to Baris after 

some stay in the southern provinces. His wile, the daughter 

of Louis X VI., who had been imprisoned so long by t he (’on* 

venfiom and who had been eventually exchanged in 17‘Jd for 

the representatives arrested by Dumourie/, when he went, over 

to the Austrians, tried to excite a rising in Bordeaux, but 

<leneral Clause! forced her to embark for England in an 

English frigate on the 1st of April ; and sin* did not return 

to Franca*, till some weeks after the. King had re-entered 

Baris. 

The Duo de Bourbon, son of the Prince de Conde and 

father of the Due d'Enghien, was sent to the west to raise La 

Vendee, but lit* had to fly almost, immediately, and embarked 

at Nantes. 

1 For Napoleon's remarks on ami inquiries about the peculations of Iionr- 
rienne at Hamburg, s<*e lUmrrienut * t ses Er rears, tome ii. pp. 225 24<>, 
already quoted, and Bingham's Lettern and fhsjiatehes the first Napoleon 
(London, ('hapman and Hall, 1884), vol. xii. pp. 81 and 121. 
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The Comte d Artois, the brother of the King, and later 
King himself as Charles X.} was sent to Lyons, to which 
place the Due d’Orleans followed him, and where the two 
Princes met Marshal Macdonald. The Marshal did all that 
man could do to keep the soldiers true to the Bourbons, but 
he had to advise the Princes to return to Paris, and he him¬ 
self had to fly for his life when he attempted to stop Napo¬ 

leon in person. The Due d’Orleans was then sent to the north 

to hold Lille, where the King intended to take refuge, and the 
Comte d’Artois remained with the Court. 

Louis himself, with Marshals Berthier and Macdonald, trav¬ 
elled to Lille, while the Comte d’Artois and his second son, 
the Due de Berry, the father of the late Comte de Chambord, 
moved there with the so-called “Maison du Boi” or Loyal 
Guard. The Due de Berry had shown too much ardor and 
roughness in his dealings with the army and with the Bona- 
partists, and it will be remembered how he was silenced by 

one old private who, when the Duke turned on him with a 
snarl as to how little Napoleon had done for him, answered, 
“And if we chose to give him credit?” 

At Lille the King found the Due d’Orleans and Marshal 
Mortier, who had closed the gates and kept the garrison in 
some approach to fidelity to the Bourbons, scarcely, however, 
being able or perhaps willing to do more than get the King 

permission to enter on condition of not being accompanied 
by either the “Maison,” or any foreign troops, — not a useless 

stipulation if we remember that De Vitrolles was at this very 
time trying to get the Spaniards to enter France to support 

the Government he was hoping to found in the south. Indeed, 
the Loyalists had a shameful if natural longing for the entry 
of foreign troops. Marshals Macdonald and Mortier urged 
the King to remain in France and to go to Dunkirk, which 
could be held with a smaller garrison than Lille; but Louis 

was anxious to be safe, and he proceeded to Ghent, where he 
held a miniature Court with his Ministers Blacas, Clarke, 
Beugnot, Louis, Dambray, Chateaubriand, and other follow¬ 

ers, such as de Vaublanc, Capelle, Angles, Mounier, and 
Guizot. The Court was very badly off for money, the King, 
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and Clarke, Duke of Felt re, the War Minister, were the only 

happy possessors of carriages. They passed their time, as the 

Abbe Louis once bitterly remarked, in saying foolish things 

fill they had a ehanee of doing them. 

The Comte <F Artois, who, probably wisely, certainly ran 

tiously, had refused to go with I>e Yitrolles to stir up tlu* 

south until he had placed tin* King in safety, had ended by 

going to Client too, while the Due de Derry was at A lost, (dose 

by, with a tiny army composed of tin* remains of t he Mai son 

du Roi, of whi(di tin* most was made in reports. The Due. 

<F(frleans. always an object of suspitdon to the K ing, had h*l't 

France with tin* Loyal party, but had refused to stay in Bel¬ 

gium, as In* alleged that it was an enemy's eountry. IIe 

crossed to England where he r(*maiin*d, greatly adding to the 

anxiety of Louis by refusing to join him. 

Tin* end of these iTinees is well known. Louis died in 

181M, leaying his throne to his brother; but- (diaries only held 

it till 1X80, when, after tin* rising railed u t In* three glorious 

days of duly,” In* was civilly escorted from France, and took 
shelter in England. Tin* Din* <LAngoiileme died u itlmul 

issue, din* Due <h* Berry was assassinated in 1880, but his 

widow ga\’e birth to a, posthumous son, flu* Due de Bordeaux, 

or, to fetwid Royalists, Henri V., though better known to us 
as tin* Comte de Chambord, who died in 18X8 without, issue, 

thus ending tin* then eldest line of Bourbons, and transmitting 

his claims to the Orleans family. On the fall of Charles X. 

tin*. Due dd hdeans became King of flu* French, but In* was 
unseated by the Devolution of 1848, and died a refugee in 

England. As flu* three Princes of tin* House of (londe, the 

.Prinee (hi Comic, his son, the Dm*, de Bourbon, and his grand¬ 

son, the Dint (PEnghum, all died without further male issue, 
that noble, line is extinct. 

When the news of tin* escape of Napoleon from Elba, 

reached Vienna on tin* 7th of March, 181a, tin* three heads 

of the Allies, tin* Emperors of Austria and Russia, and tin* 

King of Prussia,, were still there. Though it was said that 

the Congress danced hut did not advanee; still a great deal of 
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work had really been, done, and the news of Napoleon’s land¬ 
ing created a fresh bond of union between the Allies which 
stopped all further chances of disunion, and enabled them 
to practically complete their work by the 9th of June, 1815, 

though the treaties required cobbling for some years after¬ 
wards. 

France, Austria, and England had snatched the greater part 
of Saxony from the jaws of Prussia, and Alexander had been 
forced to leave the King of Saxony to reign over half of his 
former subjects, without, as he wished, sparing him the pain 
of such a degradation by taking all from him. Kussia had to 
be contented with a large increase of her Polish dominions, 

getting most of the Grand Duchy of Westphalia. Austria 
had, probably unwisely, withdrawn from her former outlying 

provinces in Swabia and the Netherlands, which had before 
the Revolution made her necessarily the guardian of Europe 

against France, preferring to take her gains in Italy, gains 
which she has gradually lost in our days ; while Prussia, by 

accepting the Rhine provinces, completely stepped into the 

former post of Austria. Indeed, from the way in which 
Prussia was, after 1815, as it were, scattered across Germany, 

it was evident that her fate must be either to be crushed by 
France, or else, by annexing the States enclosed in her domin¬ 

ions, to become the predominating power in Germany. It was 

impossible for her to remain as she was left. 
The Allies tightly bound France. They had no desire to 

have again to march on Paris to restore Louis to the subjects 
who had such unfortunate objections to being subjected to 

that desirable monarch. By the second Treaty of Paris, on 
the 20th of November, 1815, France was to be occupied by an 
Allied force, in military positions on the frontier, not to exceed 

150,000 men, to be taken from all the Allied armies, under 
a commander who was eventually the Duke of Wellington. 

Originally the occupation was not to exceed five years, but 
in February, 1817, the army was reduced by 30,000 men, one- 
fifth of each contingent; and by the treaty of Aixda-Chapelle 

of 9th October, 1818, France was to be evacuated by the 30th 

of November, 1818. 



*>04 MEMOIRS OF NAPOLEON BON APS PTE. 

'Hit* three monarehs were probably not. sorry to got, the 

Congress uvit on any terms. Alexander had had his till of 

displaying himself in tin* sa/ntis in his favorite part of an 

Agamemin»n generous towards Troy, and hi* had worn out 

his first popularity, lie was stung by finding some of his 

fa\ orite plans boldly opposed by Talleyrand and by Metter- 

nieh, and, indeed, was anxious to meet the last in open 

eombat. Franeis hatl required all the firmness of what he 

railed his Bohemian head to resist the threats, entreaties, and 

cajoleries employed to get, him to acquiesce in the dethrom - 

meat of f he King of Saxony, and the wiping out of the 

Saxon nationality by the very alliance which professed to 

light only for the rights of nations and of their lawful 

sovereigns. 

All three monarehs had again the sat is fart ion of entering 

Baris, but without, enjoying the full glories of 1N14. kW < )ur 

friends the enemies" were not so popular then in France, 

and the spoliation of the. Louvre was not pleasant even to 

i he Idealists. The foreign monarehs soon returned to their 

own drained am! impo\rrished States. 

The Emperor Franeis had afterwards a quiet reign to his 

death in 1 NT\ having unh to assist his Minister in snuffing 

out, the oera.donal flashes of a love of freedom in (iermany. 

The King of Brussia ret timed in a triumph well won by 

Ids sturdy subjects, and, in the light, of Ids new honors, the 

i Mantes* Von V(hs tells us he was really handsome. He 

was now af leisure to resume the diseussions on uniform, 

and the work of fastening and unfastening the numerous 

buttons of bis pantaloons, in which lie had been so roughly 

interrupted b\ Jena. The first institution of the Zollverein, 

or commercial union with several States, gradually extended, 

was a measure w hielt did much for the unifieat ion of (Jcrmany. 

With his brother sovereigns he revisited Baris at. the end of the 

military oerupation in 1X1S, remaining then* longer than the 

others, “ because said t he Parisians, u he had discovered an 

actor at. a small t heat re who achieved tin* feat of making him 

laugh." He died in 1840. 1 Jin Queen — heartbroken, it was 

Haiti ~~ had died in 1XIo. 
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Alexander was still brimming over with the best and most 
benevolent intentions towards every one. The world was 
to be free, happy, and religious ; but he had rather vague 
ideas as to how his plans were to be carried out. Thus it is 
characteristic that when his successor desired to have a solemn 
coronation as King of Poland it was found that Alexander 
had not foreseen the difficulties which were met with in 
trying to arrange for the coronation of a sovereign of the 
Greek Church as King of a Homan Catholic State. The 
much-dreaded but very misty Holy Alliance was one of 
the few fruits of Alexander’s visions. His mind is described 
as passing through a regular series of stages with each influ¬ 

ence under which he acted. He ended his life tired out, 
disillusioned, “deceived in everything, weighed down with 
regret,” obliged to crush the very hopes of his people he had 
encouraged, dying in 1825 at Taganrog, leaving his new Polish 

Kingdom to be wiped out by his successors. 
The minor sovereigns require little mention. They re¬ 

tained any titles they had received from Napoleon, while they 
exulted, at being free from his heavy hand and sharp superin¬ 
tendence. Each got a share, small or great, of the spoil 
except the poor King of Denmark, who, being assured by 

Alexander on his departure that he carried away all hearts, 
answered, “ Yes, but not any souls.” 

The re-introduction of much that ‘was bad in the old system 
(one country even going so far as to re-establish torture), the 

steady attack on liberty and on all liberal ideas, Wdrtemberg 
being practically the only State which grumbled at the tight¬ 
ening of the reins so dear to Metternich, —all formed a fitting 
commentary on the proclamations by which the Sovereigns 
had hounded on their people against the man they represented 
as the one obstacle to the freedom and peace of Europe. In 

gloom and disenchantment the nations sat down to lick their 

wounds. The contempt shown by the monarchs for every¬ 
thing but the right of conquest, the manner in which they 
treated the lands won from Napoleon as a gigantic “pool” 
which was to be shared amongst them, so many souls to each, 
their total failure to fulfil their promises to their subjects of 
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granting liberty, — all these slowly bore their fruits in after 

years, and their effects are not even yet exhausted. The right 
of a sovereign to hold his lands was now, by the public law of 

Europe, to be decided by his strength. The rights of the 

people were treated as not existing. Truly, as our most gifted 
poetess has sung — 

“The Kings crept out—the peoples sat at home, 
And finding the long invoeated peace 
(A pall embroidered with worn images 
Of rights divine) too scant to cover doom 
Such as they suffered, cursed the corn that grew 
Kanldy to bitter bread, on Waterloo.” 



CHAPTER XIII.1 

1815 — 1821. 

Voyage to St. Helena — Personal traits of the Emperor — Arrival at James 
Town — Napoleon’s temporary residence at the Briars — Removal to 
Longwood — The daily routine there — The Campaign of Italy — The 
arrival of Sir Hudson Lowe — Unpleasant relations between the Emperor 
and the new Governor — Visitors at St. Helena — Captain Basil Hall’s 
interview with Napoleon — Anecdotes of the Emperor — Departure of 
Las Cases and O’Meara — Arrivals from Europe — Physical habits of the 
Emperor—Dr. Antommarclii — The Emperor’s toilet—Creation of a 
new bishopric —The Emperor’s energy with the spade — His increasing 
illness — Last days of Napoleon — His Death — Lying in state — Military 
funeral — Marchand’s account of the Emperor’s last moments — Napo¬ 
leon’s last bequests — The Watch of Rivoli. 

The closing scenes in the life of the great Emperor only now 

remain to be briefly touched upon. In a previous chapter we 
have narrated the surrender of Napoleon, his voyage to Eng¬ 
land, and his transference from the Belter ophon to the North¬ 
umberland. The latter vessel was in great confusion from 

the short notice at which she had sailed, and for the two first 
days the crew was employed in restoring order. The space 
abaft the mizzen-mast contained a dining-room about ten feet 

broad, and extending the whole width of the ship, a saloon, 
and two cabins. The Emperor occupied the cabin on the left, 
in which his camp-bedstead had been put up; that on the 

right was appropriated to the Admiral. It was peremptorily * 
enjoined that the saloon should be in common. The form of 
the dining-table resembled that of the dining-room. Napoleon 
sat with his back to the saloon, on his left sat Madame Ber¬ 

trand, and on his right the Admiral, who, with Madame de 
Montholon, filled up one side of the table. Next that lady, 

but at the end of the table, was Captain Boss, who commanded 
the ship, and at the opposite end M. de Montholon, Madame 

Bertrand, and the Admiral’s secretary. The side of the table 

1 This chapter, by the editor of the 18.%* edition, is based upon the Memo¬ 
rial > and O’Meara’s and Antommarchi's works. 
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facing the Emperor was occupied by the Grand Marshal, the 
Colonel of the 53d Regiment,1 Las Cases, and Gourgaud. 

The Admiral invited one or two of the officers to dinner every 
day, and the band of the 53d, newly formed, played during 
dinner time, i . 

On the 10th of August the Northumberland cleared the 
Channel, and lost sight of land. The course of the ship was 
shaped to cross the Bay of Biscay and double Cape Finisterre. 
The wind was fair, though light, and the heat excessive. 

Napoleon breakfasted in his own cabin at irregular hours. 

He sent for one of his attendants every morning to know the 
distance run, the state of the wind, and other particulars con¬ 
nected with their progress. He read a great deal, dressed 
towards four o’clock, and then came into the public saloon: 
here he played at chess with one of the party; at live o’clock 
the Admiral announced that dinner was on the table. It is 
well known that Napoleon was scarcely ever more than fifteen 

minutes at dinner: here the two courses alone took up nearly 

an hour and a half. This was a serious annoyance to him, 
though his features and manner always evinced perfect equan¬ 
imity. Neither the new system of cookery nor the quality of 

the dishes ever met with his censure. He was waited on by 
two valets, who stood behind his chair. At first the Admiral 
was in the habit of offering several dishes to the Emperor, 
but the acknowledgment of the latter was expressed so coldly 
that the practice was given up. The Admiral thenceforth 

only pointed out to the servants what was preferable. Napo- 
«leon was generally silent, as if unacquainted with the lan¬ 

guage, though it was French. If he spoke, it was to ask 

some technical or scientific question, or to address a few 
words to those whom the Admiral occasionally asked to din¬ 
ner. 

The Emperor rose immediately after coffee had been 
handed round, and went on deck, followed by the Grand 
Marshal and Las Cases. This disconcerted Admiral Cockburn, 

who expressed his surprise to his officers; but Madame Ber- 

1 The 53d Regiment, now the 1st Battalion of the King's (Shropshire 
Light Infantry). 
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trand, whose maternal language was English, replied with 
spirit, “ Do not forget, sir, that your guest is a man who has 
governed a large portion of the world, and that kings once 

contended for the honor of being admitted to his tabled’ — 
“ Very true,” rejoined the Admiral; and from that time he 
did his utmost to comply with Napoleon’s habits. He short¬ 
ened the time of sitting at table, ordering coffee for Napoleon 
and those who accompanied him even before the rest of the 
company had finished their dinner. The Emperor remained 

walking on deck till dark. On returning to the after-cabin he 
sat down to play vingt-et-un with some of his suite, and gen¬ 

erally retired in about half an hour. On the morning of the 

15th of August all his suite asked permission to be admitted 

to his presence. He was not aware of the cause of this visit; 

it was his birthday, which seemed to have altogether escaped 
his recollection. 

On the following day they doubled Cape Finisterre, and up to 

the 21st, passing off the Straits of Gibraltar, continued their 
course along the coast of Africa towards Madeira. Napoleon 

commonly remained in his cabin the whole morning, and from 
the extreme heat he wore a very slight dress. He could not 
sleep well, and frequently rose in the night. Reading was his 

chief occupation. He often sent for Count Las Cases to 

translate whatever related to St. Helena or the countries by 
which they were sailing. Napoleon used to start a subject of 
conversation, or revive that of some preceding day, and when 

he had taken eight or nine turns the whole length of the deck 
he would seat himself on the second gun from the gangway 
on the larboard side. The midshipmen soon observed this 
habitual predilection, so that the cannon was thenceforth 

called the Em.pei'or’s gun. It was here that Napoleon often 
conversed for hours together. 

On the 22d of August they came within sight of Madeira, 
and at night arrived off the port. They stopped for a day or 
two to take in provisions. Napoleon was indisposed. A 
sudden gale arose and the air was filled with small particles 
of sand and the suffocating exhalations from the deserts of 

Africa. On the evening of the 24th they got under weigh 
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again, and progressed smoothly and rapidly. The Emperor 
added to his amusements a game at piquet. He was but an 
indifferent chess-player, and there was no very good one on 
board. He asked jestingly, a How it was that he frequently 
beat those who beat better players than himself ? ” Vingt-et- 

un was given up, as they played too high at it; and Napoleon 
had a great aversion to gaming. One night a negro threw 

himself overboard to avoid a flogging, which occasioned a 
great noise and bustle. A young midshipman meeting Las 
Cases descending into the cabin, and thinking he was going 

to inform Napoleon, caught hold of his coat and in a tone of 
great concern exclaimed, “ Ah, sir, do not alarm the Emperor! 
Tell him the noise is owing to an accident!In general the 
midshipmen behaved with marked respect and attention to 
Bonaparte, and often by signs or words directed the sailors to 
avoid incommoding him. He sometimes noticed this conduct, 

and remarked that youthful hearts were always prone to gene¬ 

rous instincts. 
On the 1st of September they found themselves in the lati¬ 

tude of the Cape de Verd Islands. Everything now promised 
a prosperous passage, but the time hung heavily. Las Cases 
had undertaken to teach his son English, and the Emperor 
also expressed a wish to learn. He, however, soon grew tired 
and laid it aside, nor was it resumed until long afterwards. 
His manners and habits were always the same; he invariably 
appeared contented, patient, and good-humored. The Admiral 
gradually laid aside his reserve, and took an interest in his 
great captive. He pointed out the danger incurred by coming 
on deck after dinner, owing to the damp of the evening: the 

Emperor would then sometimes take his arm and prolong the 
conversation, talking sometimes on naval affairs, on th§ Erench. 
resources in the south, and on the improvements he had con¬ 
templated in the ports and harbors of the Mediterranean, —to 
all which the Admiral listened with deep attention. 

Meanwhile Napoleon observed that Las Cases was busily 
employed, and obtained a sight of his journal, with which 
he was not displeased. He, however, noticed that some of 
the military details and anecdotes gave but a meagre idea of 
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the subject of war. This first led to the proposal of his writ¬ 
ing his own Memoirs. At length the Emperor came to a de¬ 
termination, and on Saturday, the 9th of September, he called 

his secretary into his cabin and dictated to him some particu¬ 

lars of the siege of Toulon. On approaching the line they fell 

in with the trade-winds that blow here constantly from the 
east. On the 16th there was a considerable fall of rain, to the 

great joy of the sailors, who were in want of water. The rain 
began to fall heavily just as the Emperor had got upon deck 

to take his afternoon walk. But this did not disappoint him 

of his usual exercise ; he merely called for his famous gray 

great-coat, which the crew regarded with much interest. 

On the 23d of September they passed the line. This was a 

day of great merriment and disorder among the crew: it was 
the ceremony which the English sailors call the “ christening.” 
No one is spared; and the officers are generally more roughly 

handled than any one else. The Admiral, who had previously 
amused himself by giving an alarming description of this cere¬ 

mony, now very courteously exempted his guests from the in¬ 
convenience and ridicule attending it. Napoleon was scrupu¬ 
lously respected through the whole of this Saturnalian festivity. 
On being informed of the decorum which had been observed 

with regard to him he ordered a hundred Napoleons to be pre¬ 

sented to the grotesque Neptune and his crew, which the 
Admiral opposed, perhaps from motives of prudence as well 
as politeness. 

Owing to the haste with which they had left England the 
painting of the ship had been only lately finished, and this 

circumstance confined Napoleon, whose sense of smell was very 
acute, to his room for two days. They were now, in the be¬ 
ginning of October, driven into the Gulf of Guinea, where 

they met a French vessel bound for the Isle of Bourbon. 
They spoke with the captain, who expressed his surprise and 
regret when he learnt that Napoleon was on board. The 

wind was unfavorable, and the ship made little progress. 
The sailors grumbled at the Admiral, who had gone out of 
the usual course. At length they approached the termination 
of their voyage. On the 14th of October the Admiral had 
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informed them that he expected to come within sight of St. 
Helena that day. They had scarcely risen from table when 

their ears were saluted with the cry of “ Land ! ” This was 

within a quarter of an hour of the time that had been fixed 
on. The Emperor went oil the forecastle to see the island, 

but it was still hardly distinguishable. At daybreak next 

morning they had a tolerably clear view of it. 
At length, about seventy days after his departure from 

England, and a hundred and ten after quitting Paris, 

Napoleon reached St. Helena. In the harbor were 

several vessels of the squadron which had separated from 

them, and which they thought they had left behind. Na¬ 

poleon, contrary to custom, dressed early and went upon 
deck: he went forward to the gangway to view the island. 

He beheld a kind of village surrounded by numerous barren 
hills towering to the clouds. Every platform, every aperture, 

the brow of every hill was planted with cannon. The 

Emperor viewed the prospect through his glass. His 

countenance underwent no change. He soon left the deck; 
and sending for Las Cases, proceeded to his day’s work. 

The Admiral, who had gone ashore very early, returned 
about six much fatigued. He had been walking over various 

parts of the island, and at length thought he had found a 
habitation that would suit his captives. The place stood 
in need of repairs, which might occupy two months. His 

orders were not to let the French quit the vessel till a house 
should be prepared to receive them. He, however, under¬ 
took, on his own responsibility, to set them on shore the next 
day. 

On the 16th, after dinner, Napoleon, accompanied by the 

Admiral and the Grand Marshal, Bertrand, got into a boat to 

go ashore. As he passed, the officers assembled on the quarter¬ 
deck, and the greater part of the crew on the gangways. The 

Emperor, before he stepped into the boat, sent for the captain 
of the vessel, and took leave of him, desiring him at the same 

time to convey his thanks to the officers and crew. These 
words appeared to produce the liveliest sensation in all by 
whom they were understood, or to whom they were interpreted. 
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The remainder of his suite landed about eight. They found 
the Emperor in the apartments which had been assigned to 

him: a few minutes after he went upstairs to his chamber 
He was lodged in a sort of inn in James Town winch con¬ 
sists only of one short street, or row of houses, built in a 
narrow valley between two rocky hills.1 

The next day the Emperor, the Grand Marshal, and the 
Admiral, riding out to visit Longwood, which had been chosen 

for the Emperor’s residence, on their return saw a small villa, 
with a pavilion attached to it, about two miles from the town, 

the residence of Mr. Balcombe, a merchant of the island. 

This spot pleased Napoleon, and the Admiral was of opinion 
that it would be better for him to remain here than to return 

to the town, where the sentinels at his door, with the crowds 
collected round it, in a manner confined him to his chamber. 
The pavilion was a sort of summer-house on a pyramidal 

eminence, about thirty or forty paces from the house, where 

the family were accustomed to resort in fine weather : this 
was hired for the temporary abode of the Emperor, and he 
took possession of it immediately. There was a carriage-road 
from the town, and the valley was in this part less rugged in 

its aspect. Las Cases was soon sent for. As he ascended 
the winding path leading to the pavilion he saw Napoleon 

standing at the threshold of the door. His body was 
slightly bent, and his hands behind his back: he wore his 
usual plain and simple uniform and the well-known hat. 
The Emperor was alone. He took a fancy to walk a 
little, but there was no level ground on any side of the 
pavilion, which was surrounded by huge pieces of rock. 
Taking the arm of his companion, however, he began to 

converse in a cheerful strain. When Napoleon was about 

to retire to rest the servants found that one of the windows 
was open close to the bed : they barricaded it as well as 
they could, so as to exclude the air, to the effects of which 
the Emperor was very susceptible. Las Cases ascended to 
an upper room. The valets de chambre lay stretched in their 

cloaks across the threshold of the door. Such was the first 
night Napoleon passed at the Briars. 

1 Hazlitt. 
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An English officer was lodged with them in the house as 
their guard, and two non-commissioned officers were stationed 

near the house to watch their movements. Napoleon the 
next day proceeded with his dictation, which occupied him 

for several hours, and then took a walk in the garden, where 

he was met by the two Misses Balcombe, lively' girls about 

fourteen years of age, who presented him with flowers, and 
overwhelmed him with whimsical questions. Napoleon was 
amused by their familiarity, to which he had been little accus¬ 

tomed. “We have been to a masked ball,” said he, when the 

young ladies had taken their leave. 

The next day a chicken was brought for breakfast, which 

the Emperor undertook to carve himself, and was surprised at 

his succeeding so well, it being a long time since he had done 
so much. The coffee he considered so bad that on tasting it 

he thought himself poisoned, and sent it away. 
The mornings were passed in business; in the evening 

Napoleon sometimes strolled to the neighboring villa, where 

the young ladies made him play at whist. The Campaign of 

Italy was nearly finished, and Las Cases proposed that the 
other followers of Napoleon who were lodged in the town 

should come up every morning to assist in transcribing The 

Campaign of Egypt, the History of the Consulate., etc. This 
suggestion pleased the ex-Emperor, so that from that time one 
or two of his suite came regularly every day to write to his 

dictation, and staid to dinner. A tent, sent by the Colonel 
cf the 53d Begiment, was spread out so as to form a prolonga¬ 
tion of the pavilion. Their cook took up his abode at the 
Briars. The table-linen was taken from the trunks, the plate 
was set forth, and the first dinner after these new arrange¬ 
ments was a sort of fete. 

One day at dinner Napoleon, casting his eye on one of the 
dishes of his own campaign-service, on which the arms of the 

King had been engraved, “How they have spoiled that!” he 
exclaimed; and he could not refrain from observing that the 

King was in great haste to take possession of the Imperial 
plate, which certainly did not belong to him. Amongst the 
baggage was also a cabinet in which were a number of medal- 
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lions, given him by the Pope and other potentates, some 
letters of Louis XVIII. which he had left behind him on his 

writing-table in the suddenness of his flight from the Tuileries 
on the 20th of March, and a number of other letters found in 

the portfolio of M. Blacas intended to calumniate Napoleon. 
The Emperor never dressed until about four o’clock: he 

then walked in the garden, which was particularly agreeable 

to him on account of its solitude — the English soldiers hav¬ 

ing been removed at Mr. Balcombe’s request. A little arbor 

was covered with canvas, and a chair and table placed in it, 

and here Napoleon dictated a great part of his Memoirs. In 
the evening, when he did not go out, he generally contrived 
to prolong the conversation till eleven or twelve o’clock. 

Thus time passed with little variety or interruption. The 

weather in the winter became delightful. One day, his usual 
task being done, Napoleon strolled out towards the town, 

until he came within sight of the road and shipping. On his 

return he met Mrs. Balcombe 1 and a Mrs. Stuart, who was on 
her way back from Bombay to England. The Emperor con¬ 
versed with her on the manners and customs of India, and on 
the inconveniences of a long voyage at sea, particularly to 

ladies. He alluded to Scotland, Mrs. Stuart’s native country, 

expatiated on the genius of Ossian, and congratulated his fair 

interlocutor on the preservation of her clear northern com¬ 

plexion. While the parties were thus engaged some heav¬ 

ily burdened slaves passed near to them. Mrs. Balcombe 

motioned them to make a detour; but Napoleon interposed, 
exclaiming, “ Eespect the burden, madame ! ” As he said this 
the Scotch lady, who had been very eagerly scanning the 

features of Napoleon, whispered to her friend, “ Heavens ! 
what a character, and what an expression of countenance ! 

How different to the idea I had formed of him ! ” 
Napoleon shortly after repeated the same walk, and went 

into the house of Major Hudson. This visit occasioned con¬ 
siderable alarm to the constituted authorities. The Governor 

gave a ball, to which the Erench were invited; and Las Cases 

1 A daughter of Mrs. Balcombe, Mrs. Abell, lias since published her Remi¬ 
niscences of Napoleon at St. Helena (London, S. Low and Co., 1873). 
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about the same time rode over to Longwood to see what ad 

vance had been made in the preparations for their reception. 
His report on his return was not very favorable. They had 
now been six weeks at the Briars, during which Napoleon had 
been nearly as much con lined as if on board the vessel. His 
health began to be impaired by it. Las Cases gave it as his 
opinion that the Emperor did not possess that constitution of 

iron which was usually ascribed to him, and that it was the 
strength of his mind, not of his body, that carried him through 
the labors of the field and of the cabinet. In speaking on this 

subject Napoleon himself observed that nature had endowed 
him with two peculiarities : one was the power of sleeping at 

any hour or in any place;1 the other, his being incapable of 

1 Napoleon had the happy power, indispensable to a man bearing the enor¬ 
mous strain of his vast and centralized empire, of commanding sleep at will. 
He was believed to sleep but little: this was a mistake. At times of great 
excitement he became, as Bourrienne says, p. 280 of the first volume of this 
work, almost insensible to bodily wants; but ordinarily, if tired, he would 
snatch a few minutes’ sleep in the intervals of a conversation or between 
any occurrences. No fears for the future, however hazardous his position, 
interfered with this power. Thus on the night before his coup d'etat of the 
18th Brumaire he loaded two pistols and put them by his bedside, telling the 
surprised Josephine something might happen in the night. After this he 
lay down and slept soundly till daylight (Remvsat, tome i. p. 149). On the 
night before Austerlitz, after sending*off Savary to ascertain the cause of a 
night alarm, he fell asleep so heavily that Savary on liis return had to shake 
him to get him to receive the report. Napoleon then mounted and rode 
along his line, and again returned, to sleep till daybreak, though unquiet 
about the movements of the enemy {Savary, tome ii. pp. 202-203). At 
Waterloo he threw himself on his camp-bed, telling Jerome, “It is ten 
o’clock, I shall sleep till eleven. I shall certainly wake of myself, but in any 
case rouse me yourself, for they”—pointing to the officers round him — 
“will not dare to disturb my repose ” (Thiers, tome xx. pp. 190 and 194). 
For Napoleon’s own remarks on his sleeping, even during a battle, see the 
Memorial, tome ii. p. 364, for 21st to 22d March, 1816. Josephine made Na¬ 
poleon retain the habit of sleeping with her for long after he was Consul by 
assuring him that she slept so lightly that he could trust to her arousing him 
if any attempt were made on him (Remnsat, tome i. p. 207). His habit of 
sometimes falling asleep at a pause in a conversation was often trying to bis 
Ministers. During the 1807 campaign, when Talleyrand, much to his own 
disgust, was with the army, he was one night called to speak to Napoleon, 
who was in bed. Finding that Napoleon kept dozing off, but awaking and 
again beginning to talk each time Talleyrand touched the door-handle, the 
poor Minister, in despair of escaping, had to resort to the plan of passing the 
rest of the night in an arm-chair in the room. General Gourgaud, who was 
long with Napoleon, says, “ Such was the special organization of this man, 
who was extraordinary in everything, that he could sleep an hour, be awak¬ 
ened to give an order, again go to sleep, and be again awakened, without 
either his repose or his health suffering. Six hours of sleep sufficed for him, 
whether he took them at a stretch, or whether he slept at intervals during 
the twenty-four hours ” (Kxamen critique de Vauvraye de Comte de Sequr, p. 
125, and Meneval, tome i. p. 380). But this is to he taken as chiefly applying 
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committing any excess either in eating or drinking. “ If,” 

said he, “I go the least beyond my mark my stomach in¬ 

stantly revolts.” He was subject to nausea from very slight 

causes, and to colds from any change of air.1 
The prisoners removed to Longwood on the 10th of 

December, 1815. Napoleon invited Mr. Balcombe to break¬ 
fast with him that morning, and conversed with him in a very 

cheerful manner. About two Admiral Cockburn was an¬ 
nounced ; he entered with an air of embarrassment. In conse¬ 
quence of the restraints imposed upon him at the Briars, and 
the manner in which those of his suite residing in the town had 

been treated, Bonaparte had discontinued receiving the visits 

of the Admiral; yet on the present occasion he behaved 
towards him as though nothing had happened. At length 

they left the Briars and set out for Longwood. Napoleon 
rode the horse, a small, sprightly, and tolerably handsome 
animal, which had been brought for him from the Cape. He 

wore his uniform of the Chasseurs of the Guard, and his 
graceful manner and handsome countenance were particularly 
remarked. The Admiral was very attentive to him. At the 

entrance of Longwood they found a guard under arms, who 
rendered the prescribed honors to their illustrious captive. 

to times of exertion. In ordinary times he seems to have gone to bed 
between ten and eleven, rising generally about seven (R&nnsat, tome i. p. 
187 and tome ii. p. 385). See also the note at p. 280 of the first volume of this 
work. Most great military commanders have had some similar power, few 
being like Wallenstein, who could not bear even the clink of spurs near him 
when resting. As for the Duke of Wellington, Larpent says in liis Journal 
(Bentley, 1854), p. 199, in speaking of 1818, “ Lord Wellington is not so easily 
aroused from his bed as he used to be. ... I understand he was always natu¬ 
rally fond of his pillow. He had rather ride like an express for ten or fifteen 
leagues than be early and take time to his work. Upon the whole this may 
fatigue him less, as being a less time on horseback.'’ 

1 The mode of life adopted by Napoleon when at Longwood was very 
regular. He usually rose early, and employed an hour or two either in dic¬ 
tating to one of his generals or in a ride on horseback. He generally took his 
breakfast about ten o’clock, sometimes in his own room, and sometimes with 
his suite. He devoted the early part of the day to reading or dictation, until 
about two or three o’clock, when he was in the habit of receiving visitors. 
After this he again took an airing, either on horseback or in his carriage, 
attended by the whole of his suite. On his return he either resumed his 
book or continued his dictation until dinner-time, which was eight o’clock. 
He preferred plain fo< d, of which he ate plentifully and with appetite; his 
drink was claret, of which he took but little, very rarely more than a pint. 
After dinner chess, cards, a play or a romance read aloud, or general conver¬ 
sation,-served to pass away the time until ten or eleven o’clock, at which 
hour he usually went to bed. 
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His horse, unaccustomed to parades, and frightened hy the 

roll of the drum, refused to pass the gate till spurred on by 

Napoleon, while a significant look passed among the escort. 

The Admiral took great pains to point out the minutest details 

at Longwood. He had himself superintended all the arrange¬ 

ments, among which was a bathroom. Bonaparte was satis¬ 

fied with everything, and the Admiral seemed highly pleased. 

He had anticipated petulance and disdain, but Napoleon mani¬ 

fested perfect good humor.1 

The entrance to the house was through a room which had 

been just built to answer the double purpose of an ante¬ 

chamber and a dining-room. This apartment led to the 

drawing-room; beyond this was a third room running in a 

cross-direction and very dark. This was intended to be, the 

depository of the Emperor’s maps and books, but it was after¬ 

wards converted into the dining-room. The Emperor’s chamber 

opened into this apartment on the right-hand side, and was 

divided into two equal parts, forming a cabinet and sleeping- 

room ; a little external gallery served for a bathing-room. 

Opposite the Emperor's chamber, at the other extremity of 

the building, were tin* apartments of Madame Montholon, her 

husband, and her son, afterwards used as the Emperor’s library. 

Detached from this part of the house was a little square 

room on the, ground-floor, contiguous to the kitchen, which was 

1 “ Long wood,” says Las (’uses, ” originally a farm belonging to the Hast, 
India Company, and afterwards given as a country residence to the Dcputy- 
< Jovernor, is situated on one of the highest parts of the island. The differ¬ 
ence between the, temperature of this place and the valley below is very 
great. It stands on a plateau of some extent, and near the eastern coast. 
Continual and frequently violent winds blow regularly from the same quarter. 
The sun, though rarely seen, nevertheless exercises its intiuence on the 
atmosphere, which is apt to produce disorders in the liver. Heavy and sud¬ 
den fails of rain inundate the ground, and there is no settled course of tin* 
seasons. The sun pusses overhead twice a year. Notwithstanding the abun¬ 
dant rains the grass is either nip]>e.d by the wind or dried up hy the heat. 
The water, which is conveyed up to Longw<M«l by pipes, is so unwholesome 
as to he unlit for use till it has been ladled. The trees, which at a distance 
impart a smiling aspect to the country, arc merely gum-trees. a wretched 
kind of shrub affording no shade. On one hand the horizon is hounded hy 
the. oeean, but the rest of the scene presents only a nuns of huge barren 
rocks, deep gulfs, and desolate valleys; and in the distance appears the green 
and misty chain of mountains, above which towers Liana's Peak. In short, 
Longwood can he agreeable only to the traveller after the fatigues of a long 
voyage, to whom the sight of any country is a relief” {Memorittl, tome ii. 
pp. :umo). 



DISCONTENTED A TTENDA NTS. 819 

assigned to Las Cases.1 The windows and beds had no cur* 
tains. The furniture was mean and scanty. Bertrand and 

his family resided at a distance of two miles, at a place called 

Hut’s Gate. General Gourgaud slept under a tent, as well as 
Mr. O’Meara, and the officer commanding the guard. The 
house was surrounded by a garden. In front, and separated 

by a tolerably deep ravine, was encamped the 53d Regiment, 
different parties of which were stationed on the neighboring 
heights. 

The domestic establishment of the Emperor consisted of 
eleven persons.2 To the Grand Marshal was confided the 
general superintendence; to M. de Montholon the domestic 
details; Las Cases was to take care of the furniture and 

property, and General Gourgaud to have the management of 
the stables. These arrangements, however, produced discon¬ 

tent among Napoleon’s attendants. Las Cases admits that 
they were no longer the members of one family, each using 

his best efforts to promote the advantage of all. They were 
far from practising that which necessity dictated. He says 

also, 66 The Admiral has more than once, in the midst of our 
disputes with him, hastily exclaimed that the Emperor was 
decidedly the most good-natured, just, and reasonable of the 

whole set.” 3 
On his first arrival he went to visit the barracks occupied 

by some Chinese living on the island, and a place called Long- 
wood Farm. He complained to Las Cases that they had been 

idle of late; but by degrees their hours and the employment 
of them became fixed and regular. The Campaign of Italy 

being now finished, Napoleon corrected it, and dictated on 
other subjects. This was their morning’s work. They dined 
between eight and nine, Madame Montholon being seated on 

Napoleon’s right, Las Cases on his left, and Gourgaud, Mon¬ 

tholon, and Las Cases’ son sitting opposite. The smell of the 

paint not being yet gone off, they remained not more than ten 
minutes at table, and the dessert was prepared in the adjoining 

1 For plan of Longwood, see Memorial, tomes i. and viii., and Norvin’s 
Life of Napoleon. 

2 For a list of Napoleon’s establishment at St. Helena, see p. 219 of thir 
volume. 8 Memorial, tome ii. p. 99. 
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apartment, where coffee was served up and conversation com¬ 

menced. Scenes were read from Moliere, liacine, and Vol¬ 

taire ; and regret was always expressed at their not having a 

copy of Corneille. They then played at reversis, which had 

been Bonaparte’s favorite game in his youth. The recollec¬ 

tion was agreeable to him, and he thought he could amuse 

himself at it for any length of time, but was soon undeceived. 
His aim was always to make the reversis, that is, to win every 

trick. Character is displayed in the smallest incidents. 
Napoleon read a libel on himself, and contrasted the com¬ 

pliments which had passed between him and the Queen of 

Prussia with the brutal behavior ascribed to liim in the 

English newspapers. On the other hand, two common 

sailors had at different times, while he was at Longwood and 
at the Briars, in spite of orders and at all risks, made tlieir 

way through the sentinels to gain a sight of Napoleon. On 

seeing the interest they took in him he exclaimed, a This is 

fanaticism ! Yes, imagination rules the world ! ” 
The instructions of the English Ministers with regard to 

the treatment of Napoleon at St. Helena had been prepared 
with the view completely to secure his person. An English 

officer was to be constantly at his table. This order, how¬ 

ever, was not carried into effect. An officer was also to 

accompany Napoleon in all his rides; this order was dis¬ 
pensed with within certain prescribed limits, because Napo¬ 

leon had refused to ride at all on such conditions. Almost 
every day brought with it some new cause of uneasiness and 

complaint. Sentinels were posted beneath Napoleon’s win¬ 

dows and before his doors. This order was, however, doubt¬ 
less given to prevent his being annoyed by impertinent 

curiosity. The French were certainly precluded from all free 

communication with the inhabitants of the island; but this 
precaution was of unquestionable necessity for the security 
of the Emperor’s person. Las Cases complains that the 

passwords were perpetually changed, so that they lived in 

constant perplexity and apprehension of being subjected to 

some unforeseen insult. “Napoleon,” he continues, “ad¬ 
dressed a complaint to the Admiral, which obtained for him 
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no redress. In the midst of these complaints the Admiral 

wished to introduce some ladies (who had arrived in the 
Boris) to Napoleon; but he declined, not approving this 
alternation of affronts and civilities.” He, however, consented, 

at the request of their Colonel, to receive the officers of the 
53d Begiment. After this officer took his leave Napoleon 
prolonged his walk in the garden. He stopped a while to 
look at a flower in one of the beds, and asked his companion 

if it was not a lily. It was indeed a magnificent one. The 

thought that he had in his mind was obvious. He then 
spoke of the number of times he had been wounded; and 
said it had been thought he had never met with these 

accidents from his having kept them secret as much as 

possible.1 
It was near the end of December. One day, after a walk 

and a tumble in the mud, Bonaparte returned and found a 

packet of English newspapers, which the Grand Marshal 
translated to him. This occupied him till late, and he forgot 
his dinner in discussing their contents. After dinner had 

been served Las Cases wished to continue the translation, but 
Napoleon would not suffer him to proceed, from consideration 

for the weak state of his eyes. “ We must wait till to-mor¬ 

row,” said he. A few days afterwards the Admiral came in 
person to visit him, and the interview was an agreeable one. 

After some animated discussion it was arranged that Napo¬ 
leon should henceforth ride freely about the island ; that the 

officer should follow him only at a distance; and that visitors 
should be admitted to him, not with the permission of the 
Admiral as the Inspector of Longwood, but with that of the 

Grand Marshal, who was to do the honors of the establish¬ 
ment. These concessions were, however, soon recalled. On 
the 30tli of this month Piontkowsky, a Pole, who had been 
left behind, but whose entreaties prevailed upon the English 
Government, joined Bonaparte. On New-Year7s Day all 

their little party was collected together, and Napoleon, enter¬ 

ing into the feelings of the occasion, begged that they might 

1 See footnote in vol. iii. p. 166, also p.358 of this volume. 
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breakfast and pass it together. Every day furnished some 

new trait of this kind. 
On the 14th of April, 1816, Sir Hudson Lowe, the new 

Governor, arrived at St. Helena. This epoch is important, as 

marking the beginning of a continued series of accusations, 

and counter-accusations, by which the last five years of JSfnpo- 

leon’s life were constantly occupied, to the great annoyance of 

himself and all connected with him, and possibly to the short¬ 

ening of his own existence.1 It would be tedious to detail the 

progress of this petty war, but, as a subject which has formed 

so great a portion of the life of Napoleon, it must not be 
omitted. To avoid anything which may appear like a. bias 

against Napoleon, the details, unless when otherwise men¬ 

tioned, will be derived from Las Cases, his devoted admirer. 

On the first visit of the new Governor, which was the 16th 

of April, Napoleon refused to admit him, because In* himself 

was ill, and also because the Governor had not asked before¬ 

hand for an audience. On the second visit the Governor was 
admitted to an audience, and Napoleon seems to have taken a 

prejudice at first sight, as he remarked to his suite that the 
Governor was “ hideous, and had a most ugly countenance,” 

though he allowed he ought not to judge too hastily. The 

spirit of the party was shown by a remark made, that the first 
two days had been days of battle. 

The Governor saw Napoleon again on the 30th April, and 

the interview was stormy. Napoleon argued with the Gov¬ 
ernor on the conduct of the Allies towards him, said they had 

1 Although there is no doubt that many of the complaints made against 
Sir Hudson Lowe came from the peevishness of the stuff and servanth of 
Napoleon, still it was but natural that both the Emperor and tin* others, un¬ 
customed to luxury or at least comfort, and suddenly deprived of all employ¬ 
ment, should feel deeply the treatment they received. If there was any 
possible reason for the petty annoyances about the title of Emperor, there 
could have been none for not giving Napoleon the income at least, of an Eng¬ 
lish peer. The English Government might easily have learnt, if they <1 id not 
know, that Napoleon had the same disease from which his father died, and 
there was therefore the less reason for denying him anything he wished for. 
In all the conduct of Sir Hudson Lowe and of the Government, then* is a 
total forgetfulness that Napoleon had been for fifteen years the chosen ruler 
of France, and that he would have so remained except for the whole strength 
of Europe being brought to hear against him. He had done enormous ser¬ 
vice to France and Europe in ending the cruel follies of tin* Revolution, and 
in re-establishing religion in France. Our fathers had fought gallantly 
enough against him to have afforded to be generous. 
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no right to dispose of him, who was their equal and some¬ 
times their master. He then declaimed on the eternal dis¬ 
grace the English had inflicted on themselves by sending him 
to St. Helena; they wished to kill him by a lingering death: 

their conduct was worse than that of the Calabrians in shoot¬ 

ing Murat. He talked of the cowardliness of suicide, com¬ 

plained of the small extent and horrid climate of St. Helena, 
and said it would be an act of kindness to deprive him of life 
at once. Sir H. Lowe said that a house of wood, fitted up 

with every possible accommodation, was then on its way from 

England for his use. Napoleon refused it at once, and 
exclaimed that it was not a house but an executioner and a 
coffin that he wanted; the house was a mockery, death would 

be a favor. A few minutes after Napoleon took up some 

reports of the campaigns of 1814, which lay on the table, and 
asked Sir H. Lowe if he had written them. Las Cases, after 

saying that the Governor replied in the affirmative, finishes 
his account of the interview, but according to O’Meara, Napo¬ 
leon said they were full of folly and falsehood. The Gov¬ 

ernor, with a much milder reply than most men would have 
given, retired, and Napoleon harangued upon the sinister 
expression of his countenance, abused him in the coarsest 
manner, and made his servant throw a cup of coffee out of 
the window because it had stood a moment on a table near 

the Governor. 

It was required that all persons who visited at Longwood 
or at Hut’s Gate should make a report to the Governor, or to 
Sir Thomas Eeade, of the conversations they had held with 
the French. Several additional sentinels were posted around 

Longwood House and Grounds. 
During some extremely wet and foggy weather Napoleon 

did not go out for several days. Messengers and letters con¬ 
tinually succeeded one another from Plantation House. The 
Governor appeared anxious to see Napoleon, and was evi¬ 

dently distrustful, although the residents at Longwood were 

assured of his actual presence by the sound of his voice, 
lie had some communications with Count Bertrand on the 

necessity that one of his officers should see Napoleon daily. 
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He also went to Long wood frequently himself, and finally, 

after some ditlieulty, succeeded in obtaining an interview with 

Napoleon in his bedchamber, which lasted about a quarter of 

an hour. Some days before he sent for Mr. O’Meara, asked a 

variety of questions concerning the captive, walked round the 

house several times and before, the, windows, measuring and 

laying down the plan of a new ditch, which he said he would 

have dug in order to prevent the cattle from trespassing. 

On the morning of the f>th of May .Napoleon sent for his 

surgeon O’Meara to come to him. He was introduced into 

Napoleon’s bedchamber, a description of which is thus given: 

“ It was about fourteen feed by twelve, and ten or eleven feet 

in height. The walls were lined with brown nankeen, bor¬ 

dered and edged with common green bordering-paper, and 

destitute* of skirting. Two small windows, without pulleys, 

oik* of which was thrown up and fastened by a piece of notched 

wood, looked towards tin* camp of tin* f>3d Regiment. There 

were window-curtains of white long-cloth, a small fireplace, a 

shabby grate and fire-irons to matoh, with a paltry mantel- 

pieee of wood, painted white, upon which stood a small 

marble bust of his son. Above the mantelpiece* hung tin* 

portrait of Maria. Louisa, and four or five* of young Napoleon, 

one of which was embroidered by the hands of his mother. 

A little more to Hie right hung also the portrait of the Em¬ 

press Josephine; and to the left was suspended the alarm 

chamber-watrh of Frederick the Great, obtained by Napoleon 

at Potsdam ; while on the right the Consular wateh, engraved 

with tin* cipher B, hung, by a chain of tin* plaited hair of 

Maria Louisa, from a pin stuck in the1 nankeen lining. In 

tin* right-hand corner was placed the little plain, iron eamp- 

hedstead, with green silk curtains, on which its master had 

reposed on tin* fields of Marengo and Austerlit'/,. Between 

the windows there was a chest of drawers, and a bookcase 

with green blinds stood on the left of the door leading to the 
next apartment,. Four or five eane-bottomed chairs painted 

green were standing here and there, about the room. Before 
the back door there was a screen covered with nankeen, and 

between that and the fireplace an old-fashioned sofa covered 
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with white long-cloth, on which Napoleon reclined, dressed in 
his white morning-gown, white loose trousers and stockings 
all in one, a checkered red handkerchief upon his head, and 
his shirt-collar open without a cravat. His air was melan¬ 
choly and troubled. Before him stood a little round table, 
with some books, at the foot of which lay in confusion upon 
the carpet a heap of those which he had already perused, and 
at the opposite side of the sofa was suspended Isabey’s por¬ 
trait of the Empress Maria Louisa, holding her son in her 
arms. In front of the fireplace stood Las Cases with his arms 
folded over hie breast and some papers in one of his hands. 
Of all the former magnificence of the once mighty Emperor 
of France nothing remained but a superb wash-hand-stand 
containing a silver basin and water-jug of the same metal, in 
the left-hand corner.” The object of Napoleon in sending 
for O’Meara on this occasion was to question him whether in 
their future intercourse he was to consider him in the light of 
a spy and a tool of the Governor or as his physician ? The 
doctor gave a decided and satisfactory answer on this point. 

“ During the short interview that this Governor had with 
me in my bedchamber, one of the first things he proposed was 
to send you away,” said Napoleon to O’Meara, “ and that I 
should take his own surgeon in your place. This he repeated, 
and so earnest was he to gain his object that, though I gave 
him a flat refusal, when he was going out he turned about and 
again proposed it.” 

On the 11th a proclamation was issued by the Governor, 
“ forbidding any persons on the island from sending letters to 
or receiving them from General Bonaparte or his suite, on 
pain of being immediately arrested and dealt with accord¬ 
ingly.” Nothing escaped the vigilance of Sir Hudson Lowe. 
“ The Governor,” said Napoleon, “ has just sent an invitation 
to Bertrand for General Bonaparte to come to Plantation 
House to meet Lady Moira. I told Bertrand to return no 
answer to it.' If he really wanted me to see her he would 
have put Plantation House within the limits, but to send such 
an invitation, knowing I must go in charge of a guard if I 
wished to avail myself of it, was an insult.” 
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Soon after ramt' t.Iie Dechtmtton of the All lea and the Arts 

of Portia in nit authorizing the detent ion of Napoleon Bona¬ 

parte as a prisoner of war and disturber of tin4 peace of Eu¬ 

rope.1 Against tin* Bill, when brought into tin* House of 

Lords, there were two protests, those of Lord Holland and of 

the Duke of Sussex. These official documents did not tend to 

soothe the temper or raise the spirits of the French to endure 

their captivity. 

In addition to the misery of his own captivity, Napoleon 

had to contend with the unmanageable humors of his own 

followers. As often happens with men in such circumstances, 

they sometimes disagreed among themselves, and part of their 

petulance and ill temper fell upon their Chief.2 He took 

these little incidents deeply to heart. On one occasion he 

said in bitterness, u I know that I am fallen ; but to feel this 

among you ! I am aware that man is frequently unreasonable 

and susceptible of offence. Thus, when I am mistrustful of 

myself I ask, should 1 have been treated so at the Tuileries ? 

This is my test." 

A great deal of pains has been taken by Napoleon’s adhe 

rents and others to blacken tin4 character of Sir Hudson Lowe, 

and to make it. appear that, his sole object was to harass Na¬ 

poleon and to make his life misera.ble. Now, although it may 

be questioned whether Sir Hudson Lowe was the proper per¬ 

son to be. placed in the delicate situation of guard over the 

fallen Emperor, there is no doubt that quarrels and complaints 

began long before that officer reached the island ; and the 

character of those complaints will show that at best the pris¬ 

oners were persons very difficult to satisfy. Their detention 

at the Briars was one of the first causes of complaint. It was 

stated that the Emperor was very ill there, that he was con¬ 

fined u in a cage " with no attendance, that his suite was kept 

from him, and that, he was deprived of exercise. A few pages 

farther in the journal of Las (’uses we find the Emperor in 

1 Bee Forsyth's h<orr. vol. i. no. 
2 General Gourmand left St. Helena from jealousy of the favor shown to 

others. Bertrand writes, “ he General Gourmand vient de nous quitter, a 
ee qu’il parait d’nssez mauvaise humeur ” (I hi < 'mw, tome x. p. 250). See 
also Forsyth's Lowe, vol. ii. p, 210. 
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good health, and as soon as it was announced that Longwood 

was ready to receive him, then it was urged that the jailers 

wished to compel him to go against his will, that they desired 
to push their authority to the utmost, that the smell of the 

paint at Longwood was very disagreeable, etc. Napoleon him¬ 

self was quite ready to go, and seemed much vexed when 
Count Bertrand and General Gourgaud arrived from Longwood 

with the intelligence that the place was as yet uninhabitable. 

His displeasure, however, was much more seriously excited by 

the appearance of Count Montholon with the information that 

all was ready at Longwood within a few minutes after receiv¬ 

ing the contrary accounts from Bertrand and Gourgaud. He 

probably perceived that he was trifled with by his attendants, 

who endeavored to make him believe that which suited their 

own convenience. We may also remark that the systematic 

opposition which was carried to such a great length against 

Sir Hudson Lowe had begun during the stay of Admiral Cock- 

burn. His visits were refused; he was accused of caprice, 

arrogance, and impertinence, and lie was nicknamed “the 
Shark ” by Napoleon himself; his own calmness alone prob¬ 
ably prevented more violent ebullitions. 

The wooden house, arrived at hist, and the Governor waited 

on Napoleon to consult with him how and where it should be 
erected. Las Oases, who heard the dispute in an adjoining 

room, says that it was long and clamorous.1 He gives the 

details in Napoleon's own words, and we have here the ad¬ 

vantage of comparing his statement with the account trans¬ 
mitted by Sir Hudson Lowe to the British Government, dated 

17th May, 1810. The two accounts vary but little. Na¬ 

poleon admits that he was thrown quite out of temper, 
that he received the Governor with his stormy countenance, 

looked furiously at him, and made*, no reply to his information 

of the arrival of tin* house hut by a significant look. lie told 

him that lie wanted nothing, nor would receive anything 
at his hands ; that he supposed he was to he put to death 

by poison or the sword ; the poison would be difficult to 

1 Memorial, tome iii. pj>. 298~aoa. Forsyth’s Lowe, vol. i. p. 171. 
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administer, but he had the means of doing it with the sword. 
The sanctuary of his abode should not be violated, and the 
troops should not enter his house but by trampling on his 

corpse. He then alluded to an invitation sent to him by Sir 

Hudson Lowe to meet Lady Loudon at his house, and said 

there could not be an act of more refined cruelty than inviting 
him to his table by the title of “ General,” to make him an 
object of ridicule or amusement to his guests. What right 

had he to call him “ General ” Bonaparte ? He would not be * 
deprived of his dignity by him, nor by any one in the world. 

He certainly should have condescended to visit Lady Loudon 

had she been within his limits, as he did not stand upon strict 

etiquette with a woman, but he should have deemed that he 
was conferring an honor upon her. He would not consider 

himself a prisoner of war, but was placed in his present posi¬ 
tion by the most horrible breach of trust. After a few more 

words he dismissed the Governor without once more alluding 
to the house which was the object of the visit. The fate of 

this unfortunate house may be mentioned here. It was erected 
after a great many disputes, but was unfortunately surrounded 
by a sunk fence and ornamental railing. This was immedi¬ 

ately connected in Napoleon’s mind with the idea of a fortifi¬ 

cation; it was impossible to remove the impression that the 

ditch and palisade were intended to secure his person. As 

soon as the objection was made known, Sir Hudson Lowe 

ordered the ground to be levelled and the rails taken away. 

But before this was quite completed Napoleon’s health was 
too much destroyed to permit his removal, and the house was 
never occupied. 

Napoleon seems to have felt that he had been too violent in 
his conduct. He admitted, when at table with his suite a few 

days after, that he had behaved very ill, and that in any other 
situation he should blush for what he had done. “I could 

have wished, for his sake,” he said, il to see him evince a little 
anger, or pull the door violently after him when he went 

away.” These few words let us into a good deal of Napo¬ 
leon’s character: he liked to intimidate, but his vehement 

language was received with a calmness and resolute forbear- 
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ance to which he was quite unaccustomed, and he consequently 
grew more angry as his anger was less regarded. 

The specimens here given of the disputes with Sir Hudson 
Lowe may probably suffice : a great many more are furnished 

by Las Cases, 0?Meara, and other partisans of Napoleon, and 
even they always make him the aggressor. Napoleon himself 

in his cooler moments soemed to admit this; after the most 

violent quarrel with the Governor, that of the 18th of August, 

1816, which utterly put an end to anything like decent civility 

between the parties, he allowed that he had used the Governor 
very ill, that he repeatedly and purposely offended him, and 

that Sir Hudson Lowe had not in a single instance shown a 
want of respect, except perhaps that he retired too abruptly. 

Great complaints were made of the scanty way in which the 

table of the exiles was supplied; and it was again and again 
alleged by them that they had scarcely anything to eat. The 

wine, too, was said to be execrable, so bad that in fact it could 
not be drunk; and, of such stuff as it was, only one bottle a 
day was allowed to each person—an allowance which Las 
Cases calls ridiculously small. Thus pressed, but partly for 

effect, Napoleon resolved to dispose of his plate in monthly 
proportions; and as he knew that some East India captains 

had offered as much as a hundred guineas for a single plate, in 
order to preserve a memorial of him, he determined that what 

was sold should be broken up, the arms erased, and no trace 
left which could show that they had ever been his. The only 

portions left uninjured were the little eagles with which some 

of the dish-covers were mounted. These last fragments were 
objects of veneration for the attendants of Napoleon; they 

were looked upon as relics, with a feeling at once melancholy 
and religious. When the moment came for breaking up the 

plate Las Cases bears testimony to the painful emotions and 
real grief produced among the servants. They could not, 

without the utmost reluctance, bring themselves to apply the 
hammer to those objects of their veneration. 

The island of St. Helena was regularly visited by East India 
ships on the return voyage, which touched there to take in 

water, and to leave gunpowder for the use of the garrison. 
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On such occasions there were always persons anxious to pay a 

visit to the renowned captive. The regulation of those visits 

was calculated to protect Xapoleon from being annoyed by the 

idle curiosity of strangers, to which lie professed a great aver¬ 

sion. Such persons as wished to wait upon him were, in the 

first place4, obliged to apply to tin* Governor, by whom their 

names were for war (he 1 to Count Bertrand. This gentleman, 

as Grand Marshal of the household, communicated the wishes 

of those persons to Napoleon, and in ease of a favorable reply 

fixed the hour for an interview. 

Those visitors whom Napoleon admitted were chiefly per¬ 

sons of rank and distinction, travellers from distant countries, 

or men who had distinguished themselves in the scientific 

world, and who could eomnmnieate interesting information in 

exchange for tin* gratificat ion they received. Some of those 

persons who were admitted to interviews with him have 

published narratives of their conversation, and all agree in 

tux tolling the extreme grata4, propriety, and appearance of 

benevolence manifested by Bonaparte while holding those 

levees. 11 is questions wore always put. with great tart, and 

on some subject with which the person interrogated was well 

acquainted, so as to induce him to bring forth any new or 

curious information of which he might he possessed. 

Captain Basil Hall, in August., IS 17, when in command of 

the L//w, had an interview with the Kmperor, of whom In4, 

says: “ Bonaparte struck me as differing considerably from 

the pictures and busts1 T had seen of him. 11 is face and 

figure looked much broader and more square - larger, indeed, 

in every way than any representation I had met with. His 

corpulency, at this time universally reported to he excessive, 

was by no means remarkable. His tlesh looked, on tin* con¬ 

trary, firm and muscular. There was nut the least trace of 

color in his cheeks; in fart his skin was mom4 like4 marble t han 

ordinary flesh. Not tin4 smallest truer of a wrinkle was dis¬ 

cernible on his brow, nor an approach to a furrow on any part 

of his countenance. His health and spirits, judging from 

1 One of the ’bent known of which is jwjrhapH the fine bunt by Canova, now 

at Chatsworth. 
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appearances, were excellent, though at this period it was 
generally believed in England that he was fast sinking under 
a complication of diseases, and that his spirits were entirely 

gone. His manner of speaking was rather slow than other¬ 
wise, and perfectly distinct; he waited with great patience 

and kindness for my answers to his questions, and a reference 
to Count Bertrand was necessary only once during the whole 

conversation. The brilliant and sometimes dazzling expres¬ 
sion of his eye could not be overlooked. It was not, however, 
a permanent lustre, for it was only remarkable when he was 

excited by some point of particular interest. It is impossible 

to imagine an expression of more entire mildness, I may 
almost call it of benignity and kindness, than that which 
played over his features during the whole interview. If, 

therefore, he were at this time out of health and in low 

spirits, his power of self-command must have been even more 
extraordinary than is generally supposed, for his whole deport¬ 
ment, his conversation, and the expression of his countenance 
indicated a frame in perfect health and a mind at ease.” 

The manner assumed by Napoleon in the occasional inter¬ 

views he had with such visitors was so very opposite to that 
which he constantly maintained towards the authorities in 

whose custody he was placed, that we can scarcely doubt he 
was acting a part in one of those situations. It was suggested 

by Mr. Ellis that he either wished, by means of his continual 

complaints, to keep alive his interest in England, where he 
flattered himself there was a party favorable to him, or that 

his troubled mind found an occupation in the annoyance 
which he caused to the Governor. Every attempt at concilia¬ 
tion on the part of Sir Hudson Lowe furnished fresh causes 

for irritation. He sent fowling-pieces to Longwood, and the 

thanks returned were a reply from Napoleon that it was an 

insult to send fowling-pieces where there was no game. An 
invitation to a ball was resented vehemently, and descanted 
upon by the, French party as a great offence. Sir Hudson 
Lowe at one time sent a variety of clothes and other articles 
received from England which he imagined might be useful at 
Longwood. Great offence was taken at this; they were 
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treated, they said, like paupers; the articles ought to have 

been left at the. Governor's house, and a list sent respectfully 

to the, household, stating that such things were at their com¬ 

mand if they wanted them. 
An opinion has already been expressed that much of 

this annoyance was due to the offended pride of Napoleon’s 

attendants, who were at first certainly far more captious 

than himself. He admitted as much himself on one occasion 

in a conversation with O’Meara. He said, “ Las Oases 

certainly was greatly irritated against Sir Hudson, and 

contributed materially towards forming the impressions exist¬ 

ing in my mind.” He attributed this to the sensitive mind of 
Las (’uses, which he said was peculiarly alive to the ill 

treatment Napoleon and himself had been subjected to. Sir 

Hudson Lowe also felt this, and remarked, like Sir George 

Goekburn, on more than one occasion, that lie always found 

Napoleon himself more reasonable than the persons about 

him.1 

A fertile source, of annoyance was the resolution of Xapo 

Icon not upon any terms to acknowledge himself a prisoner, 

and his refusal to submit, to such regulations as would render 
his captivity less burdensome. More than once the attend¬ 

ance of an oflirer was offered to be discontinued if la* would 

1 The claim put forth by Napoleon to he still addressed by his title of 
Kmperor was another great source of annoyance both to hine-elf and all 
around him. This was adhered to with {'real tenacity, and insisted upon on 
occasions which would hardly have been imagined calculated to give rise to 
such a elaim. Napoleon owned to O'Meara that one-half of his vexations at. 
St. Helena arose from it. He seemed to imput** an almost tiered character 
to the title: majesty was not to he profaned, it was not to he used hut to him¬ 
self, even in jest. A curious instance of his feeling on this point is given by 
Las <’uh‘*h. 44 In his moments of good-humored familiarity the Kmperor was 
aecnstomed to salute me with all sorts of titles, such as, 4 < lood-morning. 
Monseigneur; how is your Excellency ? ’ etc. One evening when I was about 
to enter the drawing-room the usher opened the door for me, a nd at tin* same 
moment the door of the Kmperor’s apartment also opened and lie came out. 
Wo both met together, and in a tit of abstraction he stopped me, and seizing 
mo by the ear said playfully, ‘Weil, where is your Majesty going?’ Hut 
the words had no sooner been uttered than he immediate!), h*t go my ear anti, 
assuming a grave expression of countenance, began to talk to me on some 
serious topic. I had, it is true, learned to close my ears u hen it was iioee?* 
aary, hut the Kmperor was evidently sorry for having suffered the expression 
4 your Majesty " to escape him. He'seemed to think that, though other titles 
might ho used in jest, yet the ease was very different with the one he had just 
employed, both on account of its own peculiar nature and the circumstances 
in which we were placed ” (Memorial t tome vii. p. 
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allow himself to be seen once every day, and promise to take 
no means of escaping. “ If he were to give me the whole of 

the island,” said Napoleon, “ on condition that I would pledge 

my word not to attempt an escape, I would not accept it; 

because it would be equivalent to acknowledging myself a 
prisoner, although at the same time I would not make the 

attempt. I am here by force, and not by right. If I had been 

taken at Waterloo perhaps I might have had no hesitation in 

accepting it, although even in that case it would be contrary 

to the law of nations, as now there is no war. If they were 

to offer me permission to reside in England on similar condi¬ 

tions I would refuse it.” The very idea of exhibiting himself 

to an officer every day, though but for a moment, was repelled 

with indignation. He even kept loaded pistols to shoot any 

person who should attempt an intrusion on his privacy. It is 

stated in a note in O’Meara’s journal that “the Emperor was 

so lirmly impressed with the idea that an attempt would be 
made forcibly to intrude on his privacy, that from a short time 
alter the departure of Sir George Cockburn he always kept 

four or five pairs of loaded pistols and some swords in his 
apartment, with which he was determined to despatch the first 

who entered against his will.” It seems this practice was con¬ 

tinued to his death. 
Napoleon continued to pass the mornings in dictating his 

Memoirs and the evenings in reading or conversation. He 
grew fonder of Itaeine, but his favorite was Corneille. He 

repeated that, had he lived in his time, he would have made 

him a prince. He had a distaste to Voltaire, and found consid¬ 

erable fault with his dramas, perhaps justly, as conveying 

opinions rather than sentiments. He criticised his Mahomet, 
and said he had made him merely an impostor and a tyrant, 

without representing him as a great man. This was owing to 
Voltaire's religious and political antipathies; for those who 
are free from common prejudices acquire others of their own 

in their stead, to which they arc equally bigoted, and which 
they bring forward on all occasions. When the evening passed 

off in conversation without having recourse to books he con¬ 

sidered it a point gained. 
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Some one having asked the Emperor which was the 

greatest battle that he had fought, he replied it was difficult 

to answer that question without inquiring what was implied 

by the greatest battle. “ Mine,” continued he, u cannot be 

judged of separately : they formed a portion of extensive 

plans. They must therefore be estimated by their conse¬ 

quences. The battle of Marengo, which was so long unde¬ 

cided, procured for us the command of all Italy. Ulm 

annihilated a whole army; Jena laid the whole Prussian mon¬ 

archy at our feet; Friedland opened the Russian empire to 

us; and Eckmiihl decided the fate of a war. The battle 

of the Moskwa was that in which the greatest talent was 

displayed, and by which we obtained the fewest advan¬ 

tages. Waterloo, where everything failed, would, had victory 

crowned our efforts, have saved France and given peace to 

Europe.” 
Madame Montholon having inquired what troops lie consid¬ 

ered the best, “ Those which are victorious, madam,11 replied 

the emperor. a But,” added he, “ soldiers are capricious and 

inconstant, like you ladies. The best troops were* the Cartha¬ 

ginians under Hannibal, the "Romans under the Seipios, the 
Macedonians under Alexander, and tin* Prussians under Fred¬ 

erick.” He thought, however, that the French soldiers were 

of all others those which could most easily be rendered the 

best, and preserved so. u With my complete guard of 40,Odd 

or 50,000 men I would have undertaken to march through 

Europe. It is perhaps possible to produce troops as good as 

those that composed my army of Italy and Austerlitz, hut 

certainly none can ever surpass them.” 

The anniversary of the battle of Waterloo produced a visi¬ 

ble impression on the Emperor. 44 Incomprehensible day!” 

said he dejectedly; “ concurrence of unheard-of fatalities! 

Grouchy, Ney, D’Erlon — was there treachery or was it merely 
misfortune ? Alas! poor France! ” Here he covered his 

eyes with his hands. “ And yet,” said he, u all that human 

skill could do was accomplished! All was not lost until the 

moment when all had succeeded.” A short time afterwards, 

resuming the subject, he exclaimed, “ In that extraordinary 
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campaign, thrice, in less than a week, I saw the certain 

triumph of France slip through my fingers. Had it not been 

for a traitor I should have annihilated the enemy at the 
outset of the campaign. I should have destroyed him at 
Ligny if my left wing had only done its duty. I should have 

destroyed him again at Waterloo if my right had seconded 
me. Singular defeat, by which, notwithstanding the most fatal 
catastrophe, the glory of the conquered has not suffered!”1 

We shall here give Napoleon’s own opinion of the battle 
of Waterloo. 

“The plan of the battle,” said he, “will not in the eyes 
of the historian reflect any credit on Lord Wellington as a 

general. In the first place, he ought not to have given battle 
with the armies divided. They ought to have been united 

and encamped before the 15th. In the next, the choice of 
ground was bad; because if he had been beaten he could 
not have retreated, as there was only one road leading 

through the forest in his rear. He also committed a fault 
which might have proved the destruction of all his army, 
without its ever having commenced the campaign, or being 

drawn out in battle ; he allowed himself to be surprised. 
On the 15th I was at Charleroi, and had beaten the Prussians 
without his knowing anything about it. I had gained forty- 
eight hours of manoeuvres upon him, which was a great 

object; and if some of my generals had shown that vigor 
and genius which they had displayed on other occasions, I 
should have taken his army in cantonments without ever 

fighting a battle. But they were discouraged, and fancied 
that they saw an army of 100,000 men everywhere opposed 
to them. I had not time enough myself to attend to the 

minutiae of the army. I counted upon surprising and cutting 
Wellington up in detail. I knew of Bulow’s arrival at 

eleven o’clock, but I did not regard it. I had still eighty 
chances out of a hundred in my favor. Notwithstanding 

the great superiority of force against me I was convinced 
that I should obtain the victory. I had about 70,000 men, 
of whom 15,000 were cavalry. I had also 250 pieces of 

1 Memorial, tome iv. p. 272. 
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cannon; but my troops were so good that I esteemed them 

sufficient to beat 120,000. Of all those troops, however, I 

only reckoned the English as being able to cope with my 

own. The others I thought little of. I believe that of Eng¬ 

lish there were from 85,000 to 40,000. These 1 esteemed 

to be as brave and as good as my own troops; the English 

army was well known latterly on the Continent, and besides, 

your nation possesses courage and energy. As to the. Prus¬ 

sians, Belgians, and others, half the number of my troops were 

sufficient to beat them. I only left 34,000 men to take care of 

the Prussians. The chief causes of the loss of that battle 

were, first of all, Grouchy’s great tardiness and neglect in 

executing his orders ; next, the ymiadiers d chevttl and the 

cavalry under General Guyot, which I. had in reserve, and 

which were never to leave me, engaged without orders and 
without my knowledge ; so that after the last charge, when 

the. troops were beaten and the English cavalry advanced, I 

had not a single corps of cavalry in reserve to resist them, 

instead of one which I esteemed to be equal to double their 
own number. In consequence of this the English attacked, 

succeeded, and all was lost. There was no means of rallying. 

The youngest general would not have committed the. fault of 

leaving an army entirely without reserve, which, however, 

occurred here, whether in consequence of treason or not I can¬ 

not say. These were the two principal causes of the loss of 

the battle of Waterloo. 

“If Lord Wellington had intrenched himself,1’ continued 
Napoleon, “ I would not have attacked him. As a general, 

his plan did not show talent. He certainly displayed great 

courage and obstinacy ; but a little must be. taken away even 

from that when you consider that he had no means of retreat, 

and that had he made tin1, attempt not a man of his army 

would have escaped. First, to the firmness and bravery of his 

troops, for the English fought with tin1, greatest courage and 

obstinacy, he is principally indebted for the victory, and not 

to his own conduct as a general; and next, to the arrival of 
Blueher, to whom the victory is more, to be attributed than to 

Wellington, and more credit is due as a general j because he, 
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although, beaten the day before, assembled his troops, and 
brought them into action in the evening. I believe, however,” 

continued Napoleon, “that Wellington is a man of great firm¬ 
ness. The glory of such a victory is a great thing; but in the 

eye of the historian his military reputation will gain nothing 
by it.”1 

“ I always had a high opinion of your seamen,” said Napo¬ 
leon one day to O’Meara, in a conversation arising out of the 
expedition to Algiers. “ When I was returning from Holland 

along with the Empress Maria Louisa we stopped to rest at 
Givet. During the night a violent storm of wind and rain 
came on, which swelled the Meuse so much that the bridge of 

boats over it was carried away. I was very anxious to depart, 

and ordered all the boatmen in the place to be assembled that 
I might be enabled to cross the river. They said that the 

waters were so high that it would be impossible to pass before 

two or three days. I questioned some of them, and soon dis¬ 
covered that they were fresh-water seamen. I then recollected 
that there were English prisoners in the barracks, and ordered 
that some of the oldest and best seamen among them should 

be brought before me to the banks of the river. The waters 
were very high, and the current rapid and dangerous. I asked 
them if they could join a number of boats together so that I 

might pass over. They answered that it was possible, but 
hazardous. I desired them to set about it instantly. In the 
course of a few hours they succeeded in effecting what the 
others had pronounced to be impossible, and I crossed before 
the evening was over. I ordered those who had worked at it 
to receive a sum of money each, a suit of clothes, and their 

liberty. Marchand was with me at the time.” 
In December, 1816, Las Cases was compelled to leave St. 

Helena. He had written a letter to Lucien Bonaparte, and 

intrusted it to a mulatto servant to be forwarded to Europe. 
He was detected; and as he was thus endeavoring to carry 
on (contrary to the regulations of the island) a clandestine 
correspondence with Europe, Las Cases and his son were sent 

off, first to the Cape and then to England, where they were 

i O’Meara’s Journal for 2Gtli March, 1817. Compare Sir W. Gomm, p. 365. 
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only allowed to land to be sent to Dover and shipped of! fctt 

()stend. 

Not long after their arrival at St. Helena Madame Bertrand 

gave birth to a son, and when Napoleon went to visit her she 

said, “I have the honor of presenting to your .Majesty the 

first French subject who has entered Longwood without the 

permission of Lord Bathurst.1’ 

It has been generally supposed that Napoleon was a believer 

in the doctrine of predestination. The following conversation 

with Las Cases (dearly decides that point. “Pray,” said he, 

“am I not thought to be given to a belie! in predestination ? ” 

— “ Yes, Sini; at least by many people.” — “ Well, well ! 

let them say what they please, one may sometimes be 

tempted to act a part, and it may occasionally be useful. But 

what are men ? How much easier is it to occupy their atten¬ 

tion and to strike1 their imaginations by absurdities than by 

rational ideas l But can a man of sound sense listen for one 

moment to such a doctrine ? Hither predestination admits 

tin* existence of free-will, or it rejects it. If it. admits it, what 

kind of predetermined result can that be which a simple reso¬ 

lution, a step, a. word, may alter or modify ad hijinihna !' If 

predestination, on the contrary, rejects the existence of free¬ 

will it is quite another question ; in that ease a child need 

only be thrown into its cradle as soon as it is born, t hen* is no 

necessity for bestowing the least care upon it, for if it. be irre¬ 

vocably decreed that if is to live, it will grow though no food 

should be given to it,. You see that such a doctrine cannot, bo 

maintained ; predestination is but, a word without meaning. 

The Turks, themselves the professors of predest ination, are 

not convinced of the doctrine, for in that case medicine would 

not exist in Turkey, and a man residing in a third floor would 

not; take the trouble of going downstairs, but would imme¬ 

diately throw himself out of the window. You see to what a 

string of absurdities that will haul ? ” 

The following traits are characteristic of flu* man. In flu* 

common intercourse of life, and his familiar conversation, 

Napoleon mutilated the names most familiar to him, even 

French names; yet this would not have occurred on any 
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public occasion. He has been heard many times during his 

walks to repeat the celebrated speech of Augustus in Cor¬ 

neille’s tragedy, and he has never missed saying, “Take a 
seat, Sylla,” instead of Cinna. He would frequently create 
names according to his fancy, and when he had once adopted 

them they remained fixed in his mind, although they were 
pronounced properly a hundred times a day in his hearing; 
but he would have been struck if others had used them as he 

had altered them. It was the same thing with respect to 
orthography; in general he did not attend to it, yet if the 

copies which were made contained any faults of spelling he 

would have complained of it. One day Napoleon said to Las 
Cases, “Your orthography is not correct, is it?” This ques¬ 

tion gave occasion to a sarcastic smile from a person who 
stood near, who thought it was meant to convey a reproach. 

The Emperor, who saw this, continued, “At least I suppose it 
is not, for a man occupied with important public business, a 

minister, for instance, cannot and need not attend to orthog¬ 
raphy. His ideas must flow faster than his hand can trace 
them, he has only time to dwell upon essentials ; he must put 
words in letters, and phrases in words, and let the scribes 
make it out afterwards.” Napoleon indeed left a great deal 

for the copyists to do ; he was their torment; his handwrit¬ 
ing actually resembled hieroglyphics — he often could not 

decipher it himself. Las Cases’s son was one day reading 
to him a chapter of The Campaign of Italy; on a sudden he 
stopped short, unable to make out the writing. “ The little 
blockhead,” said Napoleon, “cannot read his own handwrit¬ 
ing.”— “It is not mine, Sire.” — “And whose, then?” — 

“Your Majesty’s.” — “How so, you little rogue; do you 
mean to insult me ? ” The Emperor took the manuscript, 

tried a long while to read it, and at last threw it down, saying, 

“ He is right; I cannot tell myself what is written.” He has 
often sent the copyists to Las Cases to read what he had him¬ 

self been unable to decipher. 
We are now approaching the last melancholy epoch of 

Napoleon’s life, when he first felt the ravages of that malady 
which finally put a period to his existence. Occasional mani- 
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festations of its presence had boon exhibited for somi1 years, 

but Iiis usual health always returned after every at tack, and 

its fatal nature was not suspected, although Napoleon himself 

had several times said that he should die of a seirrhus in the 

pylorus, the disease which killed his father, and which the. 

physicians of Montpelier declared would be hereditary in his 

family. About the middle1, of the year ISIS it was observed 

that his health grew gradually worst1, and it was thought 

proper by OhMeara to report to tin1 Governor tin1 state in 

which lie was. Even on these occasions Napoleon seized tin1 
opportunity fur renewing his claim to the title of Emperor. 

He insisted that tin* physician should not staid any bullet in 

whatever unless he named him in it. by his Imperial designa¬ 

tion. OhMeara explained that tin1 instructions of his Gov¬ 

ernment and the orders of Sir Hudson Lowe prohibited 

him from using tin1 term ; but it was in vain. After 

some difficulty it was agreed upon that. tin1 word k* patient 11 
should be used instead of the title of General, which 

caused so much offence, and t his substitution got rid of tin* 

difficulty. 

<TiMeara afterwards proposed to call in the assistance of Hr. 

Baxter, the principal medical oflieer of the island, but this offer 

Napoleon refused at. once, alleging t hat, alt hough it was true 

he looked like an honest, man. In* was too much attached to 

that, hangman 11 {Lowe), he also persisted in rejecting the aid 

of medicine, and determined to take no exercise out of doors as 

long as he should be subjected to the challenge of sentinels. 

To a representation that, his determination might, convert a 

curable to a fatal malady, he replied, u I shall at, least- have the 

consolation that my death will be an (denial dishonor to the 

English nation who sent me, to this climate to die tinder the 

hands of . . X 
An important incident in Napoleon1* monotonous life was 

the removal of O'Meara, who had attended him as his physi¬ 

cian from tin1 time of his arrival on the island. The removal 

of this gentleman was occasioned by the suspicion of similar 

conduct to that which brought about t he dismissal of Las Gases 

twenty months previously, namely, the carrying on secret eox\ 
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respondence with persons out of the island.1 Napoleon com¬ 

plained bitterly of the loss of his medical attendant, though he 
had most assuredly very seldom attended to his advice, and 

repelled as an insult the proffered assistance of Dr. Baxter, 
insinuating that the Governor wished to have his life in his 

power. Some time after Dr. Stokoe, a naval surgeon, was 
called in, but withdrawn and eventually tried by court-martial 

for furnishing information to the French at Longwood. After 

this Napoleon expressed his determination to admit no more 
visits from any English physician whatever, and Cardinal 

Fesch was requested by the British Ministry to select some 

physician of reputation in Italy who should be sent to St. 
Helena to attend on Napoleon. The choice fell on Dr. Antom- 
marchi, a young surgeon, who was accordingly sent to St. 
Helena in company with two Catholic priests, the Abbes Buon- 
avita and Vignale, and two domestics, in compliance with the 

wish of Napoleon to that effect. The party reached the island 
on 10th September, 1819.2 

On his first visit the Emperor overwhelmed Antommarchi 
with questions concerning his mother and family, the Princess 
Julie (wife of Joseph), and Las Cases, whom Antommarchi had 
seen in passing through Frankfort, expatiated with satisfaction 

on the retreat which he had at one time meditated in Corsica, 
entered into some discussions with the doctor on his profes¬ 
sion, and then directed his attention to the details of his dis¬ 

order. While he examined the symptoms the Emperor con¬ 
tinued his remarks. They were sometimes serious, sometimes 
lively; kindness, indignation, gayety, were expressed by turns 
in his words and in his countenance. “Well, doctor!” he 
exclaimed, “ what is your opinion ? Am I to trouble much 
longer the digestion of Kings ? ”—“You will survive them, 
Sire.” — “Ay, I believe you; they will not be able to subject 
to the ban of Europe the fame of our victories, it will traverse 

ages, it will proclaim the conquerors and the conquered, those 

who were generous and those who were not so; posterity will 

1 On 25th July, 1818, O’Meara was prohibited from attending Napoleon, 
and was soon afterwards removed from the island. 

2 See Last Days of Napoleon, by Antommarchi (London, Colburn, 1820), 
vol. i. p. 86. 
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judge, I do not dread its derision/1 — “ This after-life belongs 

to you of right. Your name will never be repeated with admi¬ 

ration without recalling those inglorious warriors so basely 

leagued against a single man. But you are not near your end, 

ou have yet a long career to run.11—• “ No, Doe,tor ! I cannot 

hold out long under this frightful climate.” — u Your excellent 

constitution is proof against its pernicious effects.” -— “ It once 

did not yield to the strength of mind with which nature has 

endowed me, but the transition from a life of action to a com¬ 

plete seclusion has ruined all. I have grown fat, my energy 

is gone, the bow is unstrung.” Antommarehi did not try to 

combat an opinion but too well founded, but diverted the con¬ 

versation to another subject. “ I. resign myself,” said Napo¬ 

leon, “to your direction. Lot medicine give the order, I 

submit to its decisions. I intrust my health to your care. I 

owe you the. detail of the habits i have acquired, of the affec¬ 

tions to which I am subject. 

u The hours at which I obey the injunctions of nature are 

in general extremely irregular. I sleep, 1 eat according to 

circumstances or tin* situation in which I am placed ; my 

sleep is ordinarily sound and tranquil. I f pain or any acci¬ 

dent interrupt if I jump out of bed, call for a light, walk, set 

to work, and fix my attention on some subject.; sometimes I 

remain in the dark, change my apartment, lie down in another 

bed, or stretch myself on tin* sofa. I rise at two, three, or 

four in the morning ; I eall for some one to keep me company, 

amuse myself with recollections or business, and wait for the 

return of day. I go out as soon as dawn appears, take a 

stroll, and when tin* sun shows itself I re-enter and go to bed 

again, where I remain a longer or shorter time, according as 

the day promises to turn out. If it is bad, ami I fee! irrita¬ 

tion and uneasiness, I have reeonrse to the method I have, 

just mentioned. I change my posture, pass from my bed to 

tin*, sofa, from tin* sofa to the bed, seek and find a degree of 

freshness. I do not describe to you my morning costume; it 

has nothing to do with the sufferings I endure, and besides, I. 

do not wish to deprive you of the pleasure of your surprise 

when you see it. These ingenious contrivances carry me on to 
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line or ten o’clock, sometimes later. I then order the break¬ 
fast to be brought, which I take from time to time in my bath, 

lut most frequently in the garden. Either Bertrand or Mon- 
ffiolon keep me company, often both of them. Physicians have 
die right of regulating the table ; it is proper that I should 

?ive you an account of mine. Well, then, a basin of soup, 
:wo plates of meat, one of vegetables, a salad when I can take 
it, compose the whole service; half a bottle of claret, which 
[ dilute with a good deal of water, serves me for drink; I 

drink a little of it pure towards the end of the repast. 

Sometimes, when I feel fatigued, I substitute champagne for 
3laret, it is a certain means of giving a fillip to the stomach.” 

The doctor having expressed his surprise at Napoleon’s 
temperance, he replied, “In my marches with the army of 
Italy I never failed to put into the bow of my saddle a bottle 
if wine, some bread, and a cold fowl. This provision sufficed 

for the wants of the day, — I may even say that I often 

shared it with others. I thus gained time. I eat fast, masti¬ 
cate little, my meals do not consume my hours. This is not 
what you will approve the most, but in my present situation 
what signifies it ? 1 am attacked with a liver complaint,1 a 
malady which is general in this horrible climate.” 

Antommarchi, having gained his confidence, now became 
companion as well as physician to the Emperor, and some¬ 

times read with him. He eagerly turned over the newspapers 
when they arrived, and commented freely on their contents. 

“ It is amusing,” he would say, “ to see the sage measures re¬ 
sorted to by the Allies to make people forget my tyranny ! ” 
On one occasion he felt more languid than ordinary, and light- 

‘ng on the Andromache of Bacine, he took up the book, began 
to read, but soon let it drop from his hands. He had come to 
the famous passage where the mother describes her being 

allowed to see her son once a day: 

“ Je passais jusqu’anx lieux ou Ton garde mons fils, 
Puisqu’une fois le jour vous souffrez que je voie: 
Le seul bien qui me reste et d’ Hector et de Troye: 
J’allais, Seigneur, pleurer un moment avec lui; 
Je ne l’ai point encore embrasse d’aujourd’hui.” 2 

1 This afterwards proved to be an error. 2 Andromaqve, Act I. Scene IV. 
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He was moved, covered his fact* with his hand-., and, sa\ iug 

that he was too much affected, desired to hr left mom*. 1le 

grew (‘aimer, fell asleep, and when In* awoke, desired Antoni- 

march! to be called again. He. was getting ready to shave, 

and the doctor was curious to witness tin* operation. He was 

in his shirt, his head uncovered, with two valets at his side, 

one holding the glass and a towel, the other the rest ot the 

apparatus. The Emperor spread tin* soap over one side ef his 

face, put down the brush, wiped his hands and mouth, took a 

razor dipped in hot water and shaved the right side with sin¬ 

gular dexterity. “Is it done, Noverraz ? ” — ** Yes, Sire.” — 

“Well, then, face about. Home, villain, quick, stand still.” 

The light fell on the left side, which, after applying the 

lather, lie shaved in the saint1 manner and with tin* same dex¬ 

terity. lie drew his hand over his chin. “Raise the glass. 

Am I quite right ? ” — “ Quite so.” — u Not a hair has escaped 

me: what say you ? v —No, Sire,” replied the tit 

cluvmbre. “No! I think I perceive one. Lift up fhe glass, 

place it in a better light. How, rascal ! Mat ten ! You 

deceive me at St Helena. ? On this rock 7 You, ton, are 

an accomplice.1’ With this la* gave them both a box on 

the ear, laughed, and joked in the most pleasant manner 

possible. 

An almost incredible instance of the deferndnation of the 

exiles to make as many enemies as they possibly could was 

exhibited to Antonnnarehi on his arrival at Long wood. He 

states that before he was permitted to enter on his functions 

as surgeon he was required to take an oath that he would 

not communicate with the English, and that he would more 

especially avoid giving them the least information respecting 

the progress of Napoleon’s disorder. He was nut allowed to 

see his illustrious patient until the oath was taken. After 

exacting such an oath from his physician tin* attendants of 

Bonaparte had little right to complain, as they did, that the 

real state of his disorder was purposely concealed from the 

world by the English Government It is more than probable 

that the constant attempts observed to throw im:4**ry and 

secrecy around them must have tended to create the .suspicion 
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of escape, and to increase the consequent rigor of the regula¬ 
tions maintained by the Governor.1 

Soon after the arrival of the priests Napoleon determined, 

we may suppose partly in jest, to elevate one of them to the 
dignity of bishop, and he chose for a diocese the Jumna. aThe 
last box brought from Europe had been broken open,” says 

Antommarchi; “ it contained the vases and church ornaments. 
6 Stop/ said Napoleon, ‘this is the property of St. Peter ; have 

a care who touches it; send for the abbes— but talking of the 

abbes, do you know that the Cardinal [Fesch] is a poor crea¬ 
ture ?. He sends me missionaries and propagandists, as if I 

were a penitent, and as if a whole string of their Eminences 
had not always attended at my chapel. I will do what he 
ought to have done ; I possess the right of investiture, and I 
shall use it. Abbe5 (Buonavita was just entering the room), 

‘I give you the episcopal mitre.’ — ‘ Sire ! ’ — ‘I restore it to 

you; you shall wear it in spite of the heretics; they will not 

again take it from you.’ — ‘But, Sire !’ — ‘I cannot add to it 
so rich a benefice as that of Valencia, which Suehet had given 
you, but at any rate your see shall be secure from the chances 

of battles. I appoint you Bishop of — let me see — of the 
Jumna. The vast countries through which that river flows 

were on the point of entering into alliance with me — all was 
in readiness, all were going to march. We were about to give 
the finishing blow to England.’ ” 2 The speech concluded with 
an order to Count Montholon to procure the necessary dress 
for the abb6, in order to strike with awe all the heretics. The 
upshot of the whole was, that the scarlet and violet colored 
clothes necessary to furnish the new bishop with the only 
valuable portion of his temporalities, his dress, could not be 

1 Thus the editor of tho 1830 edition; hut it is fair to remember that Na¬ 
poleon still had a party and a family to be considered, and also a possible 
future. As he himself explained to Las Cases (Memorial, tome iii.* pp. 
71-72), he might be recalled as a leader either in the case of fresh revolution¬ 
ary movements, or to oppose Russia; and with such hopes he might well 
wish to be considered either better or worse, according to circumstances, 
than he really was. In any case it was not unnatural to wish to withhold 
news of his illness from the English. Our fathers were not S^ous.See 
(broker’s Papers (vol i. p. 88) for a brutal regret at Napoleon not being likely 

to die. 
2 Antommarchi, vol. i. p. 101. 
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procured in the island, and the abbe remained an abbe. in spite 

of the investiture, and the whole farce was forgotten. 
We occasionally see the Exile in better moods, when lie 

listened to the voice of reason, and thought less of the 

annoyances inseparable from the state to which his ambition, 

or as he himself always averred, his destiny, had reduced 
him. He had for a long time debarred himself from all 

exercise, having, as he expressed it, determined not to expose 

himself to the insult of being accompanied on his ride by a 

British officer, or the possibility of being challenged by a 

sentinel. One day when he complained of his inactive life 

his medical attendant recommended the exercise of digging 

the ground; the idea was instantly seized upon by Napoleon 

with his characteristic ardor. Noverraz, his chasseur, who 

had been formerly accustomed to rural occupations, was 

honored with the title of head gardener, and under his 

directions Napoleon proceeded to work with great vigor. He 
sent for Antommarchi to witness his newly acquired dexterity 

in the use of the spade. “Well, Doctor,” said he to him, 
“ are you satisfied with your patient — is he obedient enough ? 

This is better than your pills, Dottoraecio; you shall not 
physic me any more.” At first he soon got fatigued, and 

complained much of the weakness of his body and delicacy of 

his hands; “but never mind,” said he, “1 have always accus¬ 
tomed my body to bend to my will, and 1 shall bring if to do 

so now, and inure it to the exercise.” 1 He soon grew fond of 

his new employment, and pressed all the inhabitants of Long- 
wood into the service. Even the ladies had great difficulty to 
avoid being set to work. He laughed at them, urged them, 

entreated them, and used all his arts of persuasion, particu¬ 

larly with Madame Bertrand. He assured her that tin* exer¬ 

cise of gardening was much better than all the doctor's 

prescriptions — that it was in fact one of his prescriptions. 

But in this instance his eloquence failed in its effect, and he 
was obliged, though with much reluctance, to desist from his 
attempts to make lady gardeners. 

But in recompense he had willing laborers on the part of 

1 Antommarchi, vol. i. p. 2(51. 
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the gentlemen. Antommarchi says, <e The Emperor urged 
us, excited us, and everything around us soon assumed a 
different aspect. Here was an excavation, there a basin or 

a road. We made alleys, grottos, cascades; the appearance 

of the ground had now some life and diversity. We planted 

willows, oaks, peach-trees, to give a little shade round the 

house. Having completed the ornamental part of our labors 

we turned to the useful. We divided the ground, we manured 
it, and sowed it with abundance of beans, peas, and every 

vegetable that grows in the island.” In. the course of their 

labors they found that a tank would be of great use to hold 
water, which might be brought by pipes from a spring at a 

distance of 3000 feet. For this laborious attempt it was abso¬ 

lutely necessary to procure additional forces, and a party of 

Chinese, of whom there are many on the island, was engaged 
to help them. These people were much amused with Napo¬ 

leon’s working-dress, which was a jacket and large trousers, 

with an enormous straw hat to shield him from the sun, and 
sandals. He pitied those poor fellows who suffered from the 
heat of the sun, and made each of them a present of a large 
hat like his own. After much exertion the basin was finished, 

the pipes laid, and the water began to flow into it. Napoleon 

stocked his pond with gold-fish, which he placed in it with his 
own hands. He would remain by the pond for hours together, 

at a time when he was so weak that he could hardly support 
himself. He would amuse himself by following the motion 

of the fishes, throwing bread to them, studying their ways, 

taking an interest in their loves and their quarrels, and 
endeavoring with anxiety to find out points of resemblance 

between their motives and those of mankind. He often sent 
for his attendants to communicate his remarks to them, and 
directed their observations to any peculiarities he had ob¬ 

served. His favorites at last sickened, they struggled, floated 

on the water, and died one after another. He was deeply 
affected by this, and remarked to Antommarchi, “You see 
very well that there is a fatality attached to me. Everything 
I love, everything that belongs to me, is immediately struck : 
heaven and mankind unite to persecute me.” From this time 
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he visited them daily in spite of sickness or bad weather, nor 

did his anxiety diminish until it. was discovered t hat a coppery 

cement, with which tin1 bottom ol the basin was plastered, 

had poisoned the water. The fish which were not \ et dead 

were then taken out and put into a tub. 

Napoleon appears to have taken peculiar interest in observ¬ 

ing the instincts of animals, ami comparing tlndr practices and 

propensities with those* of men. A rainy day, during w hieh 

the digging of the tank could not he proeceded with, gave 

occasion for some observations on the actions of a number of 

ants, which had made a way into his bedroom, climbed upon 

a table on winch some sugar usually stood, and taken posses¬ 

sion of the sugar-basin. He would not allow the industrious 

little insects to lx* disturbed in their plans; but he now ami 

then moved the sugar, followed their mameuvres, and admired 

the aetivity and industry they displayed until they had found 

it again ; this they had been sometimes two or three days in 

effecting, though they always succeeded at last. He then sur¬ 

rounded the basin with water, hut the ants still reached it; 

lie finally employed vinegar, and the insects were unable to 

get through the new obstacle. 

I>ut the slight aetivity of mind that now remained to him 

was soon to be exchanged for the languor and gloom of sick¬ 

ness, with but few intervals between positive suffering and 

the most distressing lowness of spirits. Towards the end of 

the year 1820 he walked with difficulty, and required assist¬ 

ance even to reach a chair in his garden. He became nearly 

incapable of the slightest action ; his legs swelled ; the pains 

in his side and back were increased ; he was troubled with 

nausea, profuse sweats, loss of appetite, and was subject to 

frequent faintings. “ I lore I am. Doctor," said he one day, 

u at my last cast. No more energy or strength left. I bend 

under the load. ... I am going. I feel that my hour is come/' 

Some days after, as he lay on his conch, he feelingly ex¬ 

pressed to Antommarehi tin* vast change which had taken 

place within him. lie recalled for a few' moments the vivid 

recollection of past times, and compared his former energy 

with the weakness which he wms then sinking under. 



INCREASING ILLNESS. 349 

The news of the death of his sister Elisa1 also affected him 

deeply. After a struggle with his feelings, which had nearly 
overpowered him, he rose, supported himself on An tom - 

marches arm, and regarding him steadfastly, said, “Well, 
Doctor! you see Elisa has just shown me the way. Death, 
which seemed to have forgotten my family, has begun to 
strike it; my turn cannot be far off. What think you ? ” — 

“Your Majesty is in no danger: you are still reserved for 
some glorious enterprise.” — “ Ah, Doctor, I have neither 

strength nor activity nor energy; I am no longer Napoleon. 
You strive in vain to give me hopes, to recall life ready to 

expire. Your care can do nothing in spite of fate : it is im¬ 
movable : there is no appeal from its decisions. The next 
person of our family who will follow Elisa to the tomb is that 

great Napoleon who hardly exists, who bends under the yoke, 

and who still, nevertheless, keeps Europe in alarm. Behold, 
my good friend, how I look on my situation ! As for me, all 
is over • I repeat it to you, my days will soon close on this 
miserable rock.” “We returned,” says Antommarchi, “into 
his chamber. Napoleon lay down in bed. ‘ Close my win¬ 
dows,’ he said; ‘ leave me to myself; I will send for you by 
and by. What a delightful thing rest is! I would not ex¬ 
change it for all the thrones in the world ! What an altera¬ 
tion ! How I am fallen! I, whose activity was boundless, 

whose mind never slumbered, am now plunged into a lethargic 
stupor, so that it requires an effort even to raise my eyelids. 

I sometimes dictated to four or five secretaries, who wrote 
as fast as words could be uttered : but then I was Napoleon* 

— now I am no longer anything. My strength — my facul¬ 

ties forsake me. I do not live — I merely exist.’ ” 2 
From this period the existence of Napoleon was evidently 

drawing to a close — his days were counted. Whole hours, 
and even days, were either passed in gloomy silence or spent 
in pain, accompanied by distressing coughs, and all the melan¬ 
choly signs of the approach of death. He made a last effort 

to ride a few miles round Longwood on the 22d of January, 

1 Elisa (Marianne Elisa) Bonaparte, formerly Grand Duchess of Tuscany, 
the wife of Bacciochi, died in August, 1820. 

2 Ayitommarchi, vol. i. p. 371. 
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1821, but it exhausted iiis strength, ami fnun that time bis 
only exercise was in the calash. Even that slight motion soon 
became too fatiguing. 

He now kept his room, and no longer stirred out. 11 is dis¬ 
order and his weakness increased upon him. lit* still was able 
to eat something, but very little, and with a worse appetite 
than ever. “Ah! doctor,” he exclaimed, u how I sutler! 
Why did the cannon-balls spare me only to die in this deplor¬ 
able manner? 1 that was so active, so alert, can now scarcely 
raise my eyelids !77 

His last airing was on the 17th of March. The disease in¬ 
creased, and Antommarchi, who was much alarmed, obtained 
with some difliculty permission to sec an English physician. 
He held a consultation, on the 2<>th of March, with Dr. A mot t 
of the 20tli Regiment; but Napoleon still refused to take 
medicine, and often repeated ii is favorite saying: “Every¬ 
thing that must happen is written down : our hour is marked, 
and it is not in our power to take from time a portion which 
nature refuses us.” lie continued to grow worst*, and at last 
consented to see I)r. Arnold, whose tirst visit was on the 1st 
of April. He was introduced into tin* chamber of tin* patient, 
which was darkened, and into which Napoleon did not suffer 
any light to be brought, examined his pulse and the other 
symptoms, and was requested to repeat his visit the. next 
day. Napoleon was now within a month of his death, and 
although he occasionally spoke with tint eloquence, and vehe¬ 
mence he had so often exhibited, his mind was evidently 
giving way. The reported appearance of a comet was taken 
as a token of his death. He was excited, and exclaimed 
with emotion, “ A comet! that was the precursor of the 
death of Cmsar.” 

On the dd of April the symptoms of tin* disorder had 
become so alarming that Antommarchi informed Bertrand 
and Montholon he thought Napoleon’s danger imminent, and 
that Napoleon ought to take steps to put his affairs in order. 
He was now attacked by fever and by violent thirst, which 
often interrupted his Bleep in tint night. On the 14th, Napo¬ 
leon found himself in better spirits, and talked with Dr. 
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Arnott on tlie merits of Marlborough, whose Campaigns he 

desired him to present to the 20th Begiment,1 learning that 
they did not possess a copy in their library. 

On the 15th of April, Napoleon’s doors were closed to all 
but Montholon and Marchand, and it appeared that he had 
been making his Will. On the 19th he was better, was free 
fiom pain, sat up, and ate a little. He was in good spirits, 
and wished them to read to him. As General Montholon 

with the others expressed his satisfaction at this improvement 
he smiled gently, and said, “You deceive yourselves, my 

friends: I am, it is true, somewhat better, but I feel no less 
that my end draws near. When I am dead you will have the 

agreeable consolation of returning to Europe. One will meet 
his relations, another his friends; and as for me, I shall 
behold my brave companions-in-arms, in the Elysian Eields. 
Yes,” he went on, raising his voice, “ Kleber, Desaix, Bes- 

si5res, Duroc, Ney, Murat, Massena, Berthier, all will come to 
greet me ; they will talk to me of what we have done together. 

I will recount to them the latest events of my life. On seeing 
me they will become once more intoxicated with enthusiasm 
and glory. We will discourse of our wars with the Scipios, 
Hannibal, Caesar, and Frederick — there will be a satisfaction 
in that; unless,” he added, laughing bitterly, “ they should 
be alarmed below to see so many warriors assembled to¬ 

gether ! ” 
He addressed Dr. Arnott, who came in while he was 

speaking, on the treatment he had received from England; 
said that she had violated every sacred right in making him 

prisoner, that he should have been much better treated in 
Itussia, Austria, or even Prussia; that he was sent to the 

horrible rock of St. Helena on purpose to die; that he had 
been purposely placed on the most uninhabitable spot of that 

inhospitable island, and kept six years a close prisoner, and 
that Sir Hudson Lowe was his executioner. He concluded 

with these words: “ You will end like the proud republic of 
Venice; and I dying upon this dreary rock, away from those 
I hold dear, and deprived of everything, bequeath the oppro- 

i Now the Lancashire Fusileers. 



S52 MKMOIUS OF X trOLFOX ]:n\ I/*!/;//.’. 

brium and horror of my deaf h to t he reigning family of 

England/' 
On the 21st Napoleon ^avc direr! num to I In* priest 

who was in attendance as to tin* manner in whndi he 

would be planed to lit* in state after his death; ami iinuing 

his religious attendant had never oflieiated m .meh a .»>h*ne 

nity lie gave the most minute instruct hum lor t he mode of 

conducting it. He afterwards deehuvd that lie w *«i/d die, 

as he was born, a Catholic, and desired that mass Humid be 

said by his body, and the eustomary ceremonies Hoa/d be 

performed every day until his burial.1 'I'ln* expression of 

his face was earnest and convulsive; he saw Antommarchi 

watching tin*. eontractions which In* underwent, ulien his 

eye caught some indi(*ation that displeased him. “ Voi are 
above* these weaknesses; but what would \nii have? I am 

neither philosopher nor physician. I believe in Cud; I am 

of the religion of npy fathers; every one cannot be an alhemt 

who pleases/’ Then turning to the priest, “ 1 was born in 

the Catholic religion. I wish to fulfil the duties whirl} it 

imposes, and to rereive the succor which it adnum term 
Yrou will say mass every day in the adjoining chapel, and 

you will expose the Holy Sacrament for fort \ hours. A It or 

1 am dead you will place your altar at my head in the funeral 

chamber; you will continue to celebrate mass, and perform 

all the customary ceremonies; you will not- rraae fill I am 

laid in the ground.” Tin* Abbe (Vignale) withdrew ; Napoleon 

reproved his fellow-countryman for his supposed iiiernlulit 
“ Can you carry if to this point ? Can you disbelief* in Cod ? 

Everything proclaims His existence; and, besides, tin* gieat 

est minds have thought so.” — “ lint. Sin*, I have never ealled 

it in (pu‘stion. 1 was attending to the progress of tIn* hwer ; 

your Majesty fancied you saw in my features an expression 
which they had not.”— “You are a physician, Doctor/* he 

replied laughingly; “these folks," he added, half to himself, 

1 Removed at an early age from home influences, Napoleon's voitth had 
coincided with the worst and most irreligious ago of France, A lime of 

revolt against religion, morality ami decency. Although hut «»\ui hfc wm 
not a pure one, few men of the time came through the furnace nioro 
unscathed. 
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“are conversant only with matter; they will believe in 
nothing beyond.”1 

In the afternoon of the 25th he was better; but being 

left alone, a sudden fancy possessed him to eat. He called 
for fruits, wine, tried a biscuit, then swallowed some cham¬ 

pagne, seized a bunch of grapes, and burst into a fit of 
laughter as soon as he saw Antommarchi return. The 

physician ordered away the dessert, and found fault with the 
maitre d?hotel; but the mischief was done, the fever returned 

and became violent. The Emperor was now on his death¬ 

bed, but he testified concern for every one. He asked 
Antommarchi if 500 guineas would satisfy the English 

physician, and if he himself would like to serve Maria 

Louisa in quality of a physician ? * “ She is my wife, the first 
Princess in Europe, and after me you should serve no one 
else.” Antommarchi expressed his acknowledgments. The 

fever continued unabated, with violent thirst and cold in the 
feet. On the 27th he determined to remove from the small 
chamber into the salon. They were preparing to carry him. 

“ No,” he said, u not until I am dead; for the present it will 

be sufficient if you support me.” 
Between the 27th and 28th the Emperor passed a very 

bad night; the fever increased, coldness spread over his 

limbs, his strength was quite gone. He spoke a few words 
of encouragement to Antommarchi; then in a tone of perfect 
calmness and composure he delivered to him the following 
instructions: “After my death, which cannot be far off, I 

wish you to open my body : I wish also, nay, I require, that 
you will not suffer any English physician to touch me. If, 
however, you find it indispensable to have some one to assist 

you, Dr. Arnott is the only one I am willing you should 
employ. I am desirous, further, that you should take out 

my heart, that you put it in spirits of wine, and that you 

carry it to Parma to iny dear Maria Louisa: you will tell 
her how tenderly I have loved her, that I have never ceased 

to love her; and you will report to her all that you have 

witnessed, all that relates to my situation and my death. I 

i Antommarchi, vol. ii. p. 121. 
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recommend you, above all, carefully to examine my stomach, 

to make an exact detailed report of it, whieh \<>u will convoy 

to my son. The vomitings which succeed each other without 

intermission haul me to suppose that the stomach is the one 

of my organs which is the most deranged, and I am inclined 

to believe that it is affected with the disease which conducted 

my father to the grave*, — I mean a cancer in tin* lower 
stomach. What think you?1’ His physician hesitating. In* 
continued — “ I have not doubted this since I found the 

sickness become frequent and obstinate. It is nevertheless 

well worthy of remark that I have always had a stomach of 

iron, that I have felt no inconvenience from this organ till 

latterly, and that whereas my father w.as fond of high- 

seasoned dishes and spirituous liquors, I have never been able 

to make use of them. Be it as it may, I entreat, I charge 

you to neglect nothing in such an examination, in order t hat 

when you see my son you may rommunirate the result of 

your observations to him, and point out the most suitable 

remedies. When I am no more you will repair to Ibmic; 

you will find out my mother and my family. You will give 

them an account of all you have observed relative to my 

situation, my disorder, and my death on this remote and 

miserable rook ; you will tell them that the great Napoleon 

expired in the most deplorable state, wanting exert thing, 

abandoned to himself and his glory.” It was ten in the 

forenoon; after this the fever abated, and he fell into a sort 

of doze. 

The Emperor passed a very bad night, and could not sleep. 
He grew light-headed and talked incoherently ; still Use fever 

had abated in its violence. Towards morning the hiccough 
began to torment him, the fever increased, and he became 

quite delirious. He spoke of his complaint, ami (‘ailed upon 

Baxter (the Governor’s physician) to appear, to come and see 

the truth of his reports. Then all at, once fancying O’Meara1 
present, he imagined a dialogue between them, throwing a 

weight of odium on the English policy, 'flu* fever having 

1 It will bo remembered that oven the pour satisfaction of retaining a sur¬ 
geon — O’Meara— of bin own choice, had been denied to Napoleon. 
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subsided, his hearing became distinct; he grew calm, and en- 

tered mt° some further conversation on what was to be done 
utter his death. He felt thirsty, and drank a large quantity 
of cold water. “If fate should determine that I shall recover, 

1 would raise a monument on the spot where this water gushes 

out: I would crown the fountain in memory of the comfort 
which it has afforded me. If I die, and they should not pro¬ 

scribe my remains as they have proscribed my person, I should 
desire to be buried with my ancestors in the cathedral of 
Ajaccio, in Corsica. But if I am not allowed to repose where 

I was born, why, then, let them bury me at the spot where 
this fine and refreshing water flows.” This request was after¬ 
wards complied with.1 

He remained nearly in the same state for some days. On 

the 1st of May he was delirious nearly all day, and suffered 
dreadful vomitings. He took two small biscuits and a few 
drops of red wine. On the 2d he was rather quieter, and the 
alarming symptoms diminished a little. At 2 p.m., however, 
he had a paroxysm of fever, and became again delirious. He 
talked to himself of France, of his dear son, of some of his 

old companions-in-arms. At times he was evidently in imagi¬ 
nation on the field of battle. “ Stengel! ” he cried; “ Desaix! 

Massena! Ah! victory is declaring itself! run — rush for¬ 
ward — press the charge ! — they are ours! ” 

“ I was listening,” says Dr. Antommarchi, “ and following 

the progress of that painful agony in the deepest distress 
when Napoleon, suddenly collecting his strength, jumped on 
the floor, and would absolutely go down into the garden to 
take a walk. I ran to receive him in my arms, but his legs 
bent under the weight of his body; he fell backwards, and I 
had the mortification of being unable to prevent his falling. 
We raised him up and entreated him to get into bed again; 

but he did not recognize anybody, and began to storm and fall 

1 The place determined on for his grave was a verdant spot about three 
miles from Longwood — a place pointed out by himself a short time before 
his death. Xt was a small secluded recess, where his Chinese servants used 
to draw the water which they carried to Longwood for his use. It was more 
green and shady than any other in the neighborhood, and it was here that 
Napoleon was accustomed to repose, under the beautiful willows which over¬ 
hung the spring. — Editor of 183G edition. 
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into a violent passion. He was unconscious, anti anxiously 

desired to walk in the garden. In the course *»i t he day, how¬ 

ever, he became more collected, and again spoke of his disease, 

and the precise anatomical examination In* wished to he made oi 

his body after death. He had a ianry that this might he use¬ 

ful to his son.” “The physicians of Montpelier," he said io 
Antommarcdii, “ announced that the seirrhosis in the pylorus 

would be hereditary in my family ; their repori is, I believe, 

in the hands of my brother Louis ; ask for if and compare if 

with your own observations on my case, in order f hat my son 

may be saved from this cruel disease. Von will see him, Doctor, 

and you will point out to him what is best to do, and will 

save him from the cruel sufferings I now experience, lids is 

the last service 1 ask of you.” Later in the day lu* said, 

“Doctor, I am very ill — I feel that T am going to die." 

The last time Hapoleon spoke, except to utter a few short 

unconnected words, was on the dd of May. If was in the. 

afternoon, and he had requested his attendants, in case of his 

losing consciousness, not to allow any English physician to 

approach him except Dr. Arnott. UI am going to die," said 
he, “and you to return to Europe ; I must give \ou some advice 

as to the line of conduct you are to pursue. You ha\e shared 

my exile, you will be faithful to my memory, and will not do 

anything that may injure it. I have sanctioned all proper 
principles, and infused them into my laws and acts; I have 

not omitted a single one. Unfortunately, however, the cir¬ 

cumstances in which ] was placed wen* arduous, and 1 was 

obliged to act with severity, and to postpone flu* execution of 

my plans. Our reverses occurred; l could not unbend the 
bow ! and France has been deprived of the liberal institutions 
I intended to give her. She judges me with indulgence • .she 

feels grateful for my intentions; she cherishes my name and 

my victories. Imitate Inn* example, he faithful to the opinions 

we have defended, and to tin; glory we have acquired : any 
other course can only lead to shame, and confusion/’ 

From this moment it docs not appear that. Napoleon showed 

any signs of understanding wluit was going fur war* l around 
him. His weakness increased every moment, and a harassing 
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hiccough continued until death took place. The day before 

that event a fearful tempest threatened to destroy everything 
about Longwood.1 The plantations were torn up by the roots, 
and it was particularly remarked that a willow, under which 
Napoleon usually sat to enjoy the fresh air, had fallen. “ It 

seemed,55 says Antommarchi, “ as if none of the things the 

Emperor valued were to survive him.55 On the day of his 
death Madame Bertrand, who had not left his bedside, sent 

for her children to take a last farewell of Napoleon. The 
scene which ensued was affecting : the children ran to the bed, 

kissed the hands of Napoleon, and covered them with tears. 

One of the children fainted and all had to be carried from the 

spot. “We all,55 says Antommarchi, “mixed our lamenta¬ 
tions with theirs: we all felt the same anguish, the same 

cruel foreboding of the approach of the fatal instant, which 

every minute accelerated.55 The favorite valet, Noverraz, who 

had been for some time very ill, when he heard of the state in 
which Napoleon was, caused himself to be carried downstairs, 
and entered the apartment in tears. He was with great diffi¬ 
culty prevailed upon to leave the room: he was in a delirious 
state, and he fancied his master was threatened with danger, 

and was calling upon him for assistance : he said he would 
not leave him but would fight and die for him. But Napoleon 

was now insensible to the tears of his servants; he had 
scarcely spoken for two days; early in the morning he articu¬ 
lated a few broken sentences, among which the only words 

distinguishable were, 6tete d’armeef the last that ever left his 
lips, and which indicated the tenor of his fancies. The day 

passed in convulsive movements and low moanings, with 
occasionally a loud shriek, and the dismal scene closed just 
before six in the evening. A slight froth covered his lips, 
and he was no more. 

After he had been dead about six hours Antommarchi had 

the body carefully washed and laid out on another bed. The 

executors then proceeded to examine two codicils which were 

1 “ . . . ITeaven his great soul does claim 
In storms, as loud us his immortal lame: 
His dying groans', his last breath shakes our isle.” 

Waller, Upon the death of the Lord Protector. 
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directed to be opened immediately idler the Kmperor's decease. 
The one related to the gratuities which he intended out ui his 

private purse for the different individuals of his household, 

and to the alms which he wished to he distributed among the 

poor of St. Helenaj the other contained his last wish that 

“ his ashes should repose on the banks of the Seine, in the 

midst of the French people whom he. had loved so well/’ The 

executors notified this request to the Governor, who stated 

that his orders were that the body was to remain on the island. 

On the next day, after taking a plaster cast of tin* fact* of 

Napoleon, Antonimarclii proceeded to open the body in the 

presence of Sir Thomas lieade, some staff ollicers, and eight 

medical men. 

The Emperor had intended his hair (which was of a chestnut 
color) for presents to the different members of his family, and 

it was cut off and kept for this purpose. He had grown con¬ 

siderably thinner in person during the last few mouths. After 

his death his face and body were pale, but without alt (‘ration 

or anything of a cadaverous appearance. His physiognomy 

was fine, the eyes fast closed, and you would have said t hat t he 

Emperor was not dead, but in a profound sleep. His mouth 

retained its expression of sweetness, though one side was con¬ 

tracted into a bitter smile. Several scars wore semi on his 

body. On opening it it was found that the liver was not af¬ 
fected, but that tliere was that cancer of tin* stomach which he. 

had himself suspected, and of which his father and two of Ins 

sisters died. This painful examination having been completed, 

Antom marclii took out the heart and placed it in a silver vase 

filled with spirits of wine ; he then directed tin* rttfrf dr rhamhre 

to dress the body as he had been accustomed in the Emperor's 

lifetime, with the grand cordon of the Legion of Honor across 
the breast, in the green uniform of a colonel of the (’hasscurs 

of the Guard, decorated with the orders of the Legion of Honor 

and of the Iron Crown, long boots with little spurs, finally, his 

three-cornered hat. Thus habited, Napoleon was removed in 

the afternoon of the (>th out of the ball, into w hich the crowd 

rushed immediately. The linen which had been employed in 

tlxe dissection of the body, though stained with blood, was 
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eagerly seized, torn in pieces, and distributed among the by¬ 

standers. 
Napoleon lay in state in his little bedroom which had been 

converted into a funeral chamber. It was hung with black 
cloth brought from the town. This circumstance first apprised 

the inhabitants of his death. The corpse, which had not been 

embalmed, and which was of an extraordinary whiteness, was 

placed on one of the camp-beds, surrounded with little white 

curtains, which served for a sarcophagus. The blue cloak 

which Napoleon had worn at the battle of Marengo covered it. 

The feet and the hands were free; the sword on the left side, 

and a crucifix on the breast. At some distance was the silver 

vase containing the heart and stomach, which were not al¬ 

lowed to be removed. At the back of the head was an altar, 

where the priest in his stole and surplice recited the custom¬ 
ary prayers. All the individuals of Napoleon’s suite, officers 

and domestics, dressed in mourning, remained standing on the 
left. Dr. Arnott had been charged to see that no attempt was 

made to convey away the body. 

For some hours the crowd had besieged the doors ; they were 
admitted, and beheld the inanimate remains of Napoleon in 
respectful silence. The officers of the 20th and 66th1 Eegi- 
ments were admitted first, then the others. The following 
day (the 7th) the throng was greater. Antommarehi was not 

allowed to take the heart of Napoleon to Europe with him; he 

deposited that and the stomach in two vases, filled with alco¬ 
hol and hermetically sealed, in the corners of the coffin in 

which the corpse was laid. This was a shell of zinc lined with 

white satin, in which was a mattress furnished with a pillow. 
There not being room for the hat to remain on his head, it 
was placed at his feet, with some eagles, pieces of French 

money coined during his reign, a plate engraved with his arms, 

etc. The coffin was closed, carefully soldered up, and then 
fixed in another case of mahogany, which was enclosed in a 

third made of lead, which last was fastened in a fourth of ma¬ 
hogany, which was sealed up and fastened with screws. The 

1 The C6th Regiment, now briefly called the Second Battalion of the 
Princess Charlotte of Wales (Berkshire Regiment). 
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coffin was exhibited in the same plan* as the body bad born, 

and was also covered with the cloak that Napoleon had worn 

at the battle of Marengo. The funeral was ordered for tlie 

morrow, 8th May, and the troops wen* to attend in the morn¬ 

ing by break of day. 
This took place accordingly; the Governor arrived first, 

the Bear-Admiral soon after, and shortly all the authorities, 

civil and military, were assembled at Longwond. The day 

was fine, the people crowded the. roads, music resounded from 

the heights; never had spectacle so sad and solemn been 

witnessed in these remote regions. At half-past twelve tin* 

grenadiers took hold of the coffin, lilted it with difficulty, 

and succeeded in removing it into the great walk in the 

garden, where the hearse awaited them. It was placed in 

the carriage, covered with a pall of violet-colored velvet, and 

with the cloak which the hero wore at Marengo. 'The Em¬ 

peror’s household were in mourning. The cavalcade uas 

arranged by order of the Governor in the following manner : 

The Abbe Vignale in his sacerdotal robes, with \ ouug Henry 

Bertrand at his side, bearing an aspersoritun ; Doctor., Arnoft 

and Antonimarchi, the persons intrusted with the sui erinteud- 

ence of the hearse, drawn by four horses, led by grooms, and 

escorted by twelve grenadiers without arms, on each side; 

these last were to carry tin* coffin on their shoulders as sunn 

as the rugged ness of the road prevented the hearse from 

advancing; young Napoleon Bertrand, and Mandiand, both on 
foot, and by the side of tin* hearse ; Counts Bertrand and 

Montholon on horseback close behind Urn hearse ; a part of 

the household of the Emperor; Countess Bertrand with her 
daughter ITortense, in a calash drawn by two horses led by 

hand by her domestics, who walked by the side of tin* preci¬ 

pice ; the Emperor’s horse led by his pb/urt/r Arrhambaud ; 
the officers of marine on horseback and on font; the officers 

of the staff on horseback ; the members of the council of the 

island in like manner; General Collin and the Marquis Mont- 

dienu 1 on horseback; the Rear-Admiral and the Governor on 
horseback ; the inhabitants of the island. 

1 The Marquis Montchonu, a former Sh/t//v\ was the roprrsonfafhv sent 
by the French Government to St. Gelena. See O'Meara’s I tiara, umief 
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The train set out in this order from Longwood, passed by 
the barracks, and was met by the garrison, about 2500 in 
number, drawn up on the left of the road as far as Hut’s Gate. 

Military bands placed at different distances added still more, 
by the mournful airs which they played, to the striking sol¬ 

emnity of the occasion. When the train had passed the 
troops followed and accompanied it to the burying-place. The 
dragoons marched first. Then came the 20th Regiment of 
infantry, the marines, the 66th, the volunteers of St. Helena, 

and lastly, the company of Royal Artillery, with fifteen pieces 
of cannon. Lady Lowe and her daughter were at the roadside 

at Hut’s Gate, in an open carriage drawn by two horses. They 

were attended by some domestics in mourning, and followed 
the procession at a distance. The fifteen pieces of artillery 

were ranged along the road, and the gunners were at their 

posts ready to fire. Having advanced about a quarter of a 

mile beyond Hut’s Gate the hearse stopped, the troops halted 
and drew up in line of battle by the roadside. The grenadiers 

then raised the coffin on their shoulders and bore it thus to the 
place of interment, by the new route which had been made on 
purpose on the declivity of the mountain. All the attendants 
alighted, the ladies descended from their carriages, and the 

procession followed the corps without observing any regular 

order. 
Counts Bertrand and Montholon, Marchand and young Na¬ 

poleon Bertrand, carried the four corners of the pall. The 
coffin was laid down at the side of the tomb, which was hung 
with black. Near were seen the cords and pulleys which 
were to lower it into the earth. The coffin was then uncov¬ 
ered, the Abbe Yignale repeated the usual prayers, and the 
body was let down into the grave with the feet to the east. 
The artillery then fired three salutes in succession of fifteen 

discharges each. The Admiral’s vessel had fired during the 
procession twenty-five minute guns from time to time. A 

dates 18th June, 27th August, 13th and 22d November, and 31st December, 
181(5, and 14th and 31st March, 1817, etc., for some mention of him: also 
Woutars, pp. 1020 and 1030. Baron Stunner, sent by Austria, and Count 
Balmain, sent by Russia, arrived at St. Helena with Montchenu, 17th June, 
1810, and left, Sturmcr in 1818, and Balmain in 1820. 
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huge stone, which was to have been employed in the building 

of the new house of the Emperor, was now used to close his 

grave, and was lowered till it rested on a strong stone wall so 

as not to touch the coffin. While the grave was closed the 

crowd seized upon the willows, which the former presence of 

Napoleon had already rendered objects of veneration. Every 

one was ambitious to possess a branch or some leaves of these 

trees which were henceforth to shadow the tomb of this great 

man, and to preserve them as a precious relic of so memorable 

a scene. The Governor and Admiral endeavored to prevent 

this outrage, but in vain. The Governor, however, surrounded 

the spot afterwards with a barricade, where he placed a guard 

to keep off all intruders. The tomb of the Emperor was about 

a league from Longwood. It was of a quadrangular shape, 
wider at top than at bottom; the depth about twelve feet. 

The coffin was placed on two strong pieces of wood, and was 
detached in its whole circumference.1 

The companions of Napoleon returned to France, and the 
island gradually resumed its former quiet state, while the 
willows weeping over the grave guarded the ashes of the man 
for whom Europe had been all too small. 

[ANNEX TO THE PRECEDING CHAPTER.] 

The following is the account of the last moments of 

Napoleon by Marchand, who succeeded Constant as valet de 

chambre to the Emperor, at the moment of his quitting 
Fontainebleau to retire to the island of Elba. He was 
recommended to Napoleon by Constant: — 

On the 27th of April, 1821, eight days before his death, the Emperor 
had passed several hours in forming an inventory of his snuff-boxes and 
other articles destined for his son, enclosing the whole in three mahogany 
cases, numbered I., II., III. He deposited them with me to place them 
m the hands of his son when he should become of age. 

This day was the most fatiguing which the Emperor had experienced 
during his illness, and one of the most painful to us his followers, as his 
approaching end was no longer doubtful. At various intervals sickness 

1 Antcmmarchi, vol. ii. pp. 185-186. 



DISPOSAL OP EFFECTS. 363 

compelled liim to suspend for a time the expression of his last wishes. 
All our efforts to induce him to desist from a labor which produced such 
serious consequences were unsuccessful. u I am very much exhausted,” 
said he, “ but am convinced that I have little time left, and that I must 
complete my task. Give me a little of that Constantia which Las Cases 
sent me; a little excitement will do me no harm.” I ventured to remark 
that that wine was very different from that which Dr. Antommarchi had 
prescribed for him. “ Bah!” said he, striking his forehead, “ neither he 
nor you understand anything about it: we want every support in this 
country. Why should you wish to see me remain here ? give me some of 
that wine; it will restore me. I do not desire to shorten my life, but 1 
would do nothing to prolong it. Ah! ” said he, placing his hand upon his 
right side, “ I feel here as if a razor were cutting me.” 

Everything that was said by the Emperor was full of dignity, of resig¬ 
nation, and of goodness; the bed upon which he sat was covered with 

articles carefully sealed up and destined for his son and family. Among 
the number was a gold snuff-box, with a very beautiful cameo, which he 
bequeathed to Lady Holland, as a token of regard and grateful acknowl¬ 
edgment of the solicitude which this lady had manifested for the illustrious 
captive, in sending those little trifles always so well appreciated, and of 
which we are doubly sensible in the hour of misfortune. There was also 
a plain gold snuff-box which he intended for Dr. Arnott, upon which he 

scratched with a pen-knife the letter N. A small sheet of pasteboard 
which he held in his left hand served him for a writing-desk. Count 
Montholon stood near his bed with an inkstand. Near him was a diamond 
necklace. Napoleon took it up, and giving it to me said, “ Keep this; I 

do not know what may he the state of my pecuniary affairs in Europe; 
that amiable creature Hortense gave it to me when I left Malmaison. 
thinking that it might be useful to me.1 Its value is, I believe, 200,OCX) 
francs; conceal it about your person. When you return to France it will 
enable you to wait for what I desire to give you by my Will and Codicils. 
Make an honorable marriage: choose your wife from among the families 
of officers or soldiers of my old Guard. There are many of those brave 
fellows who are not in good circumstances; better fortune awaited them 
but for the reverses which France has experienced. Posterity will give 
me credit for what I would have done to serve them if events had taken 
another course.” After a short pause he sealed up his various Wills and 
Codicils to the number of nine separate packets, all nearly of a similar 
form, but of different thickness, folded at one of the four corners, tied up 

i This collar had a curious history. Given by Hortense to 
he left Malmaison, Napoleon had privately handed it to YLCc1sm kept it 
the nissage to St. Helena, telling him to take care ot it. Las Oases Kept it 
always under his clothing (Napoleon several times telling him to retain ltl. 
and*lTe got so accustomed to wearing it that, when removed from Longwood 
ill 1810fhe fo?got to give it back to the Emperor, and it was only by means 
of a kindly En|lishm.an that Las Cases got it secretly conveyed to Napoleon 
(Memorial de St Hdene, tome i. pp. 80-82 note). 
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with red ribbon, to which he annexed his signature and seal. About nine 
o’clock in the evening wrapped up in his dressing-gown, and sitting in an 
easy-chair with a little table before him, the Emperor caused the signa¬ 
tures and seals of his three executors to be affixed to his Will and Codi¬ 
cils— Count Bertrand, Count Monlliolon, and myself, also the Abbe 
Vignale, who was called for the same purpose. 

The Emperor having thus, as he wished, put his affairs in order, em¬ 
ployed himself for a long time in considering what our condition and 
employments would be on our return to Europe. He conversed with his 
executors upon the course they would have to adopt upon their arrival in 
England and France in order that his ashes might not remain in exile at 
St. Helena. I extract in this place, from the verbal instructions that he 
gave, those which related to the King of Rome : “You will induce him 
to resume the name of Napoleon as soon as he shall have attained the 
age of discretion and can do it opportunely. If fortune should be propi¬ 
tious to him, and he should ascend the throne of France, it is the duty of 
my executors to call his attention to the debt of gratitude I owe to my 
old officers and soldiers, and to my faithful adherents. The recollection 
of me should form the glory of his life; you will do everything to encour¬ 
age this feeling in him; you will direct his ideas to facts and events; you 
ought to find in the possession of Albe, Fain, Meneval, and Bourrienne 1 
many papers and documents >f the highest interest to him. Unless for¬ 
tune should restore France to my family I desire that my nephews and 
nieces should form marriages amongst themselves, and settle either in 
the Roman States,2 in America, or in Switzerland, so that my blood should 
not mingle in the Courts of Kings. To the Empress Maria Louisa you 
will, either by letter or in a personal interview, express the esteem and 
high sentiments I entertain for her; recommend to her my son, whose, 
only resource and chance of success is on her side. Make a collection of 
paintings, of books, and of medals such as can give to my son true ideas, 
and destroy those false ones which foreign policy lias been able, no doubt, 

1 These four persons had been long employed in the private cabinet of the 
Emperor. Colonel Baron Bacler d’Albe, sometimes printed “ Dalbe,” had 
been the secretary in charge of all the maps, — an important post, bringing 
him into the most constant contact with Napoleon, especially during the 
campaigns. See Baron d'Odleben’s Relation de la Campar/ne de 1813 (Baris, 
Blancher, 1817), p. 155, copied by Alison, chap, lxxviii. para. 45-47. Colonel 
Baron Fain had been the Archivist of the cabinet from February, 180(1, to 
1814. In his Meant scripts he afterwards published important accounts of the 
events of several of those years. Meneval had succeeded Bourrienne as 
secretary in 1802, and held that post till after the retreat from Moscow, when 
he was placed with the Empress Maria Louisa. The reference to Bourrienne 
after so many years of estrangement is curious. The reader will recollect 
the box of documents carefully buried by Bourrienne (vol. ii. pp. 172-178), 
and his subsequent denial of its existence in vol. iii. p. 253. 

2 See in Du Cctsse, tome x. pp. 262-2(59, a detailed account given by Ber¬ 
trand to Joseph Bonaparte of how Napoleon wished his family to obtain a 
firm hold on Rome and Switzerland by a series of marriages, and his advice 
as to their proceedings. See also Bingham’s Marriages of the Bonapurtes 
(Longmans, 1881). 
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to inculcate, in order that he may learn the real state of things. When 
my campaigns of Italy and of Egypt, as well as those manuscripts which 
I leave, shall be printed, I desire they maybe dedicated to my son; I 
wish also that to these may be added the letters from sovereigns; they 
may be procured in the Archives: the national vanity will gain much by 
the publication of them, so that the permission to obtain them will not 
be refused.” 1 

The last desire of Napoleon was executed by the publication of a part 
only of those manuscripts which were dictated by him to the Generals 
Gourgaud and Montholon; the remainder are in the possession of General 
Bertrand, to whom I have been indebted for permission to print the Notes 
upon the Commentaries of Coesar which have been in my hands during 
the last eighteen months. The nature of my service obliged me to be 
near the person of the Emperor, for he constantly did me the honor to 
desire I would read to him, or write from his dictation. It was in this 
manner that the Notes on the Commentaries of Coesar were written by 
me, and dictated by Napoleon, during his long and sleepless nights, 
“during which,” he would say, “ study and occupation bring some alle^ 
viation to my sufferings, and strew a few flowers on the path that conducts 
me to the grave.” 

The hours which preceded the death of Napoleon were employed in 
serious conversation, or in reading aloud, more than in the care of his 
health. The two last readings which were made to the Emperor by his 
desire were The Campaigns of Hannibal, read to him by Count Bertrand, 
and The Campaigns of Dumouriez, which I had the honor to read. The 
last dictation that he undertook was to Count Montholon, in the night of 
the 2‘dtli of April: it was a project of a military organization for France, 
and entitled “ Premier e Reverie.” From four to five o’clock in the 
morning he continued to dictate to me the same subject, after the Count 
had retired, desiring me to call it “ Seconds Reverie,” and to annex it 

to the other part. 
When he had finished he told me that he felt capable of riding fifteen 

leagues. Alas! this state was not to last long. 
Between eight and nine o’clock in the evening of the 2d of May, being 

much occupied with testamentary matters, and expressing often a tender 
anxiety for his son, the Emperor dictated to me the following paper: 

“I leave to my son the house I occupied at Ajaccio with its accesso¬ 
ries, two other houses near the Salines, ivith their gardens, also all my 
■property in the territory of Ajaccio, which, united, loill furnish him with 
an annual income of 50,000francs. 

“ I leave-” He now found himself so much fatigued that he 
could dictate no more ; he postponed the remainder until the morrow , 

1 See Du Casse, tome x. pp. 229-306, for an account of the disappearance 
of this correspondence, in which we should have read the depth of servility 
to which the Sovereigns had descended towards Napoleon m his days of. 
power. 
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his memory also seemed to fail, i knew the property that belonged to 
the Emperor in Corsica, and was perfectly aware uhde he dictated this 

last legacy that lie possessed nothing oi the Lind he specified, and could 

not, therefore, leave it to his son. I perceived se\eial times dining this 

day great ineoherency in his manner, both in spe.iniug and dietafiiig. 
This aberration of mind continued at inf eta ah until flu' dth of Mas. 

During the night of the 4th he ssas much, agitated. Amidst a long 
and continued delirium the words, France, army/' 1 were frequently 
though indistinctly uttered by him; ami thc>e wen* th<* last '•ounds we 

heard from his lips. The Emperor spoke no more! 
At four o’clock in the morning a compaiatiu- calm -neeueded the 

troubles of the night; it was the serenity of murage, the peaee of resjg. 
nation. The eyes of the Emperor became fi.V'd, hi- mouth remained 
open; a few drops of saccharine water given to him i>\ Hr. \ntom- 
marchi seemed to animate his pulse, a Mgh escaped ban: w<* >fill hail 

liope. 
At six o’clock all the French who were attached to she ie»* of N'apo 

Icon were permitted to enter his room. 1 hey rmlea'.me 1 to st <lb* fhe 
grief that oppressed them: they approached the !>• d on which he lav; tin* 
silence of the chamber of death chilled our very sotiH. 

At half-past, six o’clock in the evening a gun from t In* foil anmmtieed 

“ the retreat,,” the sun sunk below the horizon; if al«o flu* moment 
that this great, man who had commanded the world wa enveloped m im¬ 
mortal glory. The anxiety of Hr. Anlomnurehi increase,|. 'I’iiat hand 
which had so often commanded victory was non aire-fed bv <1* ath. Hr. 
Arnott, holding his watch, looked on it with fixed attention, to rounf flu- 

intervals of pulsation, and the moments between the hn *etmg Midis. 
Fifteen seconds — then thirty; now a minute intervene-. We waited: we 
hoped. Alas! the Emperor was dead! 

IIis lips were colorless; Ids mot:!h was dightlv conhacted; hi * eyes 
were open, hilt, fixed; his countenance was calm and sm-ne. 

In a few minutes Haptain ('rokat was introduced b\ Hr. \nmff to 

verify the hour of the Emperor’s death: his countenance indicated the 
feelings of his heart. He immediately retired with much jcsjhuu, and 
expressed his sorrow at the obligation imposed on him. Hiieeth after 

wards two English doctors entered, and having placed their hand' on the 
heart of the Emperor withdrew to certify to Sir Hudson Howe the repot i 
of Dr. Arnott. 

Thus perished the Emperor Napoleon, surrounded bv mtiv a few hufh 
ful and devoted servants, exiled beyond the reach of those mutual objects 

1 Thiers (tome xx. p. 70b) makes Napoleon's last words ** Mon f»H . . . 
I’armee . . . Desaix.” \V<tutors fp. Kt.'tU, writing under tin* *\e <.f Prime 
Pierre, Napoleon Bonaparte, makes the last \v<mK ** Tetc , , arnne . . . 
France.” Antommarchi (London, (tolhurn, Ih2h, vol. if. p. LV.h only gives 
“ Head . . . army.” 
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ection which man seeks in the last and most trying moments of 
— a mother, a wife, and a child. 

lave read in the last work published relating to St. Helena that the 
sror, after having eulogized the Duke of Marlborough, and after 
ating to Dr. Amott, for the 20th Regiment, a copy of that General’s 
aigns, turned the Duke into ridicule after he had dismissed the 
sh doctor, and sang the first verse of the well-known ballad written 
arlborough.1 I declare that X have no knowledge of any such eir- 
,ance. I was present, as well as the author of the work alluded to 
Emperor having sent for me), when the present of the books in 
ion took place. Napoleon had passed in a sort of critical review the 
generals, and stopping at the name of Marlborough applauded his 
s and courage. With that solemn tone of voice which Napoleon 
so well how to assume when he wished to stamp his munificence 
an imposing character, he said, “Doctor, I love the brave of every 
n; I wish to make a present to the 20th Regiment; take these vol- 
and place them from me in their library.” 
len at St. Helena the Emperor honored General Bertrand with an 
inge of his own watch for that of the Count; he attached even to 
ict a glorious recollection; “Take this, Bertrand,” said he: “it 
k two in the morning when I ordered Joubert to attack Rivoli.” It 
hus the Emperor knew how to add a value to his gifts.2 

lee Antommarchi, vol. ii. p. 96. Napoleon only laughed when reminded 
3 air “ Marl brook,” saying, “ Such is the effect of ridicule; it casts a 
a upon everything, even victory.” 
?he remark made the gift priceless! It must have been strange for Na- 
n at St. Helena to recall that bright clear cold night in 1797 when, 
3t mountains blazing with the Austrian fires, he threw himself on Al- 
with the weary divisions of Joubert, Massdna, and Roy; and, outnuin- 
and surrounded, won a victory, the account of which reads like the 

■f some hero of romance. See Thiers’s Revolution, vol. iv. pp. (>04-010. 
3 were few among his soldiers who would not have risked their lives for 
a gift! See History of the Captivity of Napoleon, at St. Helen a from the 
-s and Journals of Sir Hudson Lowe, by William Forsyth, Q.O. (Mur- 
853, 3 vols.), in which a worse case is made for Lowe and the English 
rnment than might have been expected from the account of the French 
rs. Note especially the objection to allowing the Foreign Commission* 
■ communicate freely with Napoleon and his staff (vol. iii. pp. 239-240, 
93); Lowe’s alarm at Montchcnu receiving the dangerous present of 
French beans (vol. iii. p. 223); and the refusal to allow an inscription 
le coffin unless the name “ Bonaparte” figured there (vol. iii. p. 295). 
fir Hudson Lowe must have been adequately punished in living to read 
ccounts of the second funeral in 1840. 



CHAPTER XIV.1 

1840. 

the second funeral of napoleon 

SSsSfSK' many English cmni a -potrr t? i ^ visit of 

^pftheStak^tL ?°m ^ 
at the Island In 183ft +F n ,° bn<ba and calling 
bons fell and elder branch of the Bour 

si r„ax p^rrrr ,-^ts x 
national enough not to — b llberal and 

*>» Sre,t Empe““°Tt ""r8‘he mem"iM °f 
over France and w V* 1 onc8 ln°re waved 
the body of’the^mnero “Possible to let 

determined tot??? f tbe French Ministry, 

of the corpse. PT 7 V”* f°r tbe Nation 

opinion of the old Duke^of ^elV^t t0 aSk th® 
Duke, as ungenerous v f 1Wellln&toih and the 
to hi; when SyT ad !fiead foe as he bad been 
to preveTtTts cI!’ ^V*?* the retention °f the body 

Nobler counsels prevailed^ C°”S1^ered as due to fear, 

generous wSds gave l Iffl" J"* Palmerst- * 

Government of Her hSestvT ^u^'^61' “ Tie 
ness of this response will be^™^ thf.tbe PromPt- 
a proof of their desire to w nsld®red ln France as 

national animosities which,6 (Sn^t^Mfe^of^6 

Emperor, armed against each other the French and' 

1 ThJS chapter is added by the editor of the 1885 edition. 

—_ 368 
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English nations. The Government of Her Majesty 
is confident that if such sentiments still exist any¬ 
where, they will be buried in the tomb in which the 

remains of Napoleon are to be laid,JJi— a generous 
wish in which every Englishman must join; but the 
title of Emperor given at last to Napoleon casts 
odium on the men whose petty spite in refusing it 
gave, as was intended, such annoyance to the dying 

captive of St. Helena. 

“ * Take back thy dead! and when thou buriest it, 
Throw in all former strifes ’twixt thee and me!’ 
Amen, mine England! ’tis a courteous claim: 
But ask a little room too — for thy shame! 

But since it was done — in sepulchral dust 
We fain would pay back something of our debt 
To France, if not to honor, and forget 
How through much fear we falsified the trust 
Of a fallen foe and exile. We return 
Orestes to Electra — in his urn.” 2 

The intention of the French Government was com¬ 
municated to the Chambers by the Minister of the 
Interior, M. Charles de Eemusat, the son of the writer 
of the well-known Memoirs, and the plan was cor¬ 
dially approved. The Prince de Joinville, the third 
son of Louis Philippe, was put in charge of the expe¬ 

dition to receive the relics, and the frigate La Belle 
Poule and the corvette La Favorite sailed from Toulon 

on the 7th of July, 1840.3 
A special Commission accompanied the Prince. 

The Comte de Rohan-Chabot was nominated as 

Commissary of the King, and he and the Abb6 

1 History of France, by Guizot (Sampson Low, 1882), vol. viii. 
p. 888. 

2 Mrs. Browning, Crowned and Buried. 
8 Woutors' Annates Nayoleoniennes (Bruxelles, Wouters, 1847), 

pp. 107(>-1078, is mainly followed hero. 
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hT66'3 m - +i, r ^apoieon to St. Helena. The remainder 

we-Gen,rals BertXdtd 

vattT M ^th^eT^d^ V* f“ 

tm ill be li t? naT’ With those already given, 

J-™ Lm, °J '’XXhT/o °t°b“Cth"ed a‘ 
where the Emperor had™ if! °.Ctober the to^b 

the presence cl the Engli,LdtSX T"* " S: r?r “"rL “~ »^“6r 
uncovered, when uncter^ethe Coffin was 
the men ofthe9w % 7 rain> 14 was ea™ed by 

hand. At last ^6giment t0 & tent Plaeed at 
opened and the £ dfe*ent closing coffins were 

vfeT C b0^ h7d ^ Emper°r Was «P«»d to 

the ;<Some 0f 
little swollen the he*^ n 1116 cteeks were a 

had the °nails of t£ fi growa after deat^ as 

s: 
s\?e“c“bt “r*8^ «pXtsGs z 
tions pkXdT’ti l S°me °f the sma11 decora, 
the heart and rh + bl.®ast- Tile two vases holding 

-en the" S ^4!“ 
1 Wouters, p. 1077. 
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his kneeling and weeping followers the scene must 
have been such as we read of in olden days at the 
opening of the shrine of some loved Saint. The 

body was placed in three coffins, the outer one of 
lead, and then in a fourth, brought from Trance, a 
magnificent one of ebony. 

At three o’clock the coffin was placed on a car 

drawn by four horses and covered by an imperial 
pall with golden eagles and bees. The comers of 

the pall were held by Generals Bertrand and Gour- 

gaud and the young Las Cases and Marehand, who 
must have then been repaid for the devotion which 

had first taken them to St. Helena. The procession 
began to move at half-past three in heavy rain, the 
batteries of the Belle Poule and of the island firing 

minute guns, and the English garrison with reversed 
arms lining the street through which it passed. On 

the Quay the Governor, General Middleinore, handed 
the body formally over to the French. The Prince 
de Joinville received the body on the Belle Poule, 
where it was placed in a Chapelle ardente, while the 
imperial standard flew from the main. 

On the 18th of October the expedition sailed for 
France. The journey was uneventful, being only 
broken by rumors of a breach between England and 

France, when the Prince, with perhaps natural but 
to English minds somewhat theatrical emotion, made 

his sailors swear never to deliver the precious relics 
to the English. 

On the 29tli of November, 1840, the Belle Poule 
anchored at Cherbourg, and the next day it entered 
the basin amongst- the salutes of the forts and 
ships. On the 8th of December the coffin was trans¬ 

ferred to the steamer Normandie, a thousand guns 
being fired when the body left the Belle Poule 
and another thousand when the Normandie left the 
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basin. Oil the 9th oi I)eeember tin* Am'sunmitc 

entered the Seine. At \ ai de la 11. i i * * the cotlin had 

to be removed to a smaller vessel, the Ihu'ml*, whieh 

carried it to Oourbevoie, whieh was reaehed on t he 

14th of December. On the loth ot December. {Sin. 

the body was carried through Paris tot he Iu\aline.-.. 

It was placed on a splendid ear drawn In' M\teen 

horses.1 Marshals Oudinot and Moiitor,- Admiral 

Rous sin, and General Bertrand, mounted, held the 

corners of the pall. Gerard, reeoveivd from his 
wounds at Wav re, and now a Marshal, e« an ma tided 

the escort, which included the other Mar-hai w: 

Covered with all tin1 insignia of his rank, surrounded 

by every detail of ceremonial with which t he A rm \, 

the State, and the Church ever seek to lemur their 

greatest dead, encircled by his old eoturade , met 

by the priests of the religion to which he had ir 

stored France, amidst the solemn thunder <»{ \ he nin 

whieh laid sounded so often throughout in. tniisu 

life,—the body of the great Emperor mo\ed suidn t in¬ 

arch whi(di told of his triumphs, through a double 
of eagles to tin* Church of the Invalided, din- I bn ,d 

family, tin1. Ministers, the Peers, the Hepatic , t In- 
Great Dignitaries, wen1 there assembled to meet n. 

Marshal Moneey, the, (iove.rnor of the Invalid e i, too 
feeble, to stand, was brought in to rreehe tie* a*.hr,, 
of his old Chief. 

“Sire,” said the Prinre de Joinville, standing at 

the head of tin1, eoifim to the King, ** I present to on 
the body of the Emperor Napoleon/* - ** i reeru r it 

in the name ol France,*1 answered the Soi errmn. 

1 See the frontispiece of the eighth volume of (Jui/otN //, o,«, >, 
of Franco. 

2 Moiitor had been made Marshal under tie* second In sfojanmj 
8 The Marshals of Napoleon ihen alb e wen* to mu In , < mdim-L 

Moneey, Souli, ami \ iotor, besides Horuudotfe, and Marneml, who 
washout of France. Of Napoleon's brothers and sinters Joseph, 
Louis, and Jerome alone. were living. 



.4 RESTING-PLACE IN THE INVAL1DES. 373 

Generals Bertrand and Gourgaud placed on the 
coffin the sword and hat of the Emperor, and in 
1843 Joseph Bonaparte1 sent the great collar, ribbon, 

and badge of the Legion of Honor which his brother 
had worn. 

Napoleon had again and finally conquered. He had 
died an exile, an outlaw, denied title, wealth, comfort, 

and even the family rights common to the lowest. 

Now all that affection, gratitude, and honor could 

give were lavished on his corpse. “ Slowly wise,” 
France had claimed her great dead. While every 
throne in Europe was shaking, the Great Conqueror 
came to claim and receive from posterity the crown for 
which he had sacrificed so much. In the Invalides the 
Emperor had at last found a fitting resting-place, 

“by the banks of the Seine, amongst the French 
people whom he had loved so well.” 

France to-day — beaten in the great contest for the 

supremacy in Europe, weak from loss of blood, drained by 
the tribute to Germany, faint-hearted from the loss of her 
sons, distracted by factions, given up to men whose highest 
idea of statesmanship is worrying priests, or winning barren 
triumphs against weak nations abroad — lies exhausted, and 
apparently nearly as helpless as she was in 1793. But by her 
side still hangs the sword on which are engraven the names 
of Kivoli, Jena, Friedland, and Austerlitz. The sons of 

the men who fought at Jlosbach avenged that disaster at Jena 
and Auerstadt. The sons or the grandsons of the gallant men 
who died, outnumbered, round Metz may write fresh triumphs 
on that sword; and another and happier Bonaparte may 
restore to France her lost children, may obtain for a grateful 

and satisfied land her natural and rightful boundaries; and 
then, while “ freedom crowns the edifice,” may unite the 

1 Joseph and Jerome were in time laid by his side. 
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glories of tlie first Empire with tin1 eventual and permanent 

peace which the first Napoleon eouhi not give his rounhw. 

As for Germany—and so with Italy, -it is strange to 

reflect how much she owes her present almost achieved unity 

to the work, for her and against her, o! the first Napoleon. 

With the inherent impatience of a good workman w th a had 

machine, he had in 1803 forced her to discard much of her 

antique framework; and by his influence he facilitated t he 

work of crushing the petty States, or rather holdings, which 

stood in the way of the formation of all national spirit. As 

for the so-called “glorious uprising of 18Id," the flmt begin¬ 

nings of that spirit (which only manifested itself when the 

Grand Army had disappeared in tin* snows of Russia t ma\ he 

traced not only to the effect of his blows, hut also to the 

result of his busy and all-embracing administration, which, 

as in Italy, and as with the English rule in our day in India, 

by bringing all under one yoke for subjection, faught the 

rival tribes to regard themselves as one nation for freedom. 

Posterity will remember more, of the great Emperor than 

his military glory. We may leave in the grave »d Napoleon 

his many faults and sins. All that was bad and all that was 

vile in bis nature is in no need of fresh historians : we have 

had enough and to span* of tin* seamy side of his lib* from 

the pens of those who ate his bread ami flattered him in his 
time of power. But the present generation is too libdv 

to ignore his good qualities. With him “despotism was a 

means, not an end.” lb*, sought power for no ignoble pur¬ 
poses. The contempt for sloth, lucre, disorder, ami empty 

theories, the eye so quick to see tin* decisive point of any 

question, the power of mind and deferminafion of brain 

which gave the world the Codes, the far-reaching ambit ion, 

the constant looking forward to the judgment of pogeriu, 

the noble sacrifice of the present for the future, all fln^e 

are qualities too rare for the world to afford to overlook. 

Standing by the grave* where, the great Emperor sleeps, an 

Englishman may well ponder over a character alien to the 
English mind in its virtues as in its faults. England did not 

fear to face him when alive j the sneers of the e<mrt ier Males< 
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men who found themselves and their petty policies swept by 
his strong hand forever from the scene, the shrieks of the vile 
revolutionary rabble on whom he set his heel, need not make 
Englishmen shrink now from doing him •'ustice in his glorious 
grave. 



appendix 

Will of Napoleon. 

This 15th of April, 1821, at Longwood, Island of St. Helena. 
This is my Testament, or Act of my last Will. 

1. I die in the Apostolical and Roman religion, in the bosom of 

which I was born more than fifty years ago. 
2. It is my wish that my ashes may repose on the banks of the 

Seine, in the midst of the French people whom I have loved so well.1 

3. I have always had reason to be pleased with my dearest wife, 

Maria Louisa. I retain for her, to my last moment, the most tender 

sentiments. I beseech her to watch, in order to preserve my son 

from the snares which yet environ his infancy. 
4. I recommend to my son never to forget that he was born a 

French Prince, and never to allow himself to become can instrument 

in the hands of the triumvirs who oppress the nations of Europe: 

he ought never to fight against France, or to injure her in any 

manner; he ought to adopt my motto: — Everything for the French 
people. 

5. I die prematurely, assassinated by the English oligarchy and 

its tool. The English nation will not be slow in avenging me. 

6. The two unfortunate results of the invasions of France, when 
she had still so many resources, are to be attributed to the treason 

of Marmont, Augereau, Talleyrand, and Lafayette.2 I forgive them. 

— May the posterity of France forgive them as I do! 

7. I thank my good and most excellent mother, the Cardinal, my 

brothers Joseph, Lucien, Jerome, Pauline, Caroline, Julie, Ilortense, 

Catherine, Eugene, for the interest they have continued to feel for 

1 This wish remained unfulfilled till 1840, when the Government of Louis 
Philippe brought back Napoleon’s body and deposited it in the Invalides; 
see the last chapter of this volume. 

. 2 Marmont had destroyed all hopes of resistance in 1814 by taking over 
his corps to the enemy. Augereau had resisted the enemy in the south 
without any energy. Talleyrand had assumed the government in 1814, and 
had handed over all the foreign fortresses still held by France to the Allies. 
Lafayette in 1815 had stirred up the Chambers against the Emperor: see 
Du Casse, tome x. p. 234. 

376 
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iiie.1 I pardon Louis for the libel he published in 1820; it is 

replete with false assertions and falsified documents. 

8. I disavow the Manuscript of St. Helena, and other works, under 

the title of Maxims, Sayings, etc., which persons have been pleased 

to publish for the last six years. Such are not the rules which have 

guided my life. I caused the Due d’Enghien to be arrested and 
tried because that step was essential to the safety, interest, and honor 

of the French people, when the Comte d’Artois was maintaining, by 

his own confession, sixty assassins at Paris. Under similar circum¬ 

stances I should act in the same way.2 

n. 
1. I bequeath to my son the boxes, orders, and other articles, 

such as my plate, field-bed, arms, saddles, spurs, chapel-plate, books, 

linen which 1 have been accustomed to wear and use, according to 

the list annexed (A). It is my wish that this slight bequest may be 

dear to him, as recalling the memory of a father of whom the 

universe will discourse to him. 

2. I bequeath to Lady Holland3 the antique cameo which Pope 

Pius VI. gave me at Tolentino. 
8. I bequeath to Count Montholon4 two millions of francs, as a 

proof of my satisfaction for the filial attentions he has paid me 

during six years, and as an indemnity for the losses his residence at 

St. Helena has occasioned him. 

4. I bequeath to Count Bertrand5 five hundred thousand francs. 

1 “ The Cardinal ” was Fescli, half-brother of Napoleon’s mother.(by a 
second marriage of her mother). “ Julie ” was Julie Clary, the wife of 
Joseph Bonaparte. “ Catharine ” was the daughter of the King of Wlir- 
temberg and wife of Jerome Bonaparte The end of all these persons is 
given in the chapter of this work headed the “ Cent Jours.” 

2 This work, Manuscrit Venn de Sainte Helene d’mie maniere inconnue 
(London, Murray; Bruxelles, De Mat, 1817), was really written by the Mar¬ 
quis Lullin de Chateauvieux (Metternich, vol. i. p. 312). See Savary (tome 
ii. pp. 377-378) as to the view that this statement about the Due d’Enghien 
is not to be taken literally, but rather as a protest against the idea of any of 
Napoleon’s functionaries daring such an act without his orders. His judg¬ 
ment might be deceived, but his power could not be trifled with. 

8 Lord and Lady Holland bad been perseveringly kind in sending to St. 
Helena all that could alleviate the weariness of Napoleon's captivity. 

4 Count Montholon afterwards accompanied the nephew of Napoleon, 
Prince (afterwards the Emperor) Louis Napoleon, in his attempt on 
Boulogne in 1840. When tried the Count declared that he who had received 
the last sigh of the martyr of St. Helena, and who had closed his eyes, 
could not abandon his nephew; he was sentenced to twenty years’ deten¬ 
tion, but pardoned after the escape of the Prince. He only died in 1853, 
seeing Louis Napoleon Emperor of the French. ‘ 

5 General Comte Henri Gratien Bertrand, a distinguished engineer officer, 
had taken the post of Grand Mnrdclial du Palais when Duroc was killed in 
1813. He accompanied Napoleon to St. Helena, and in 1840 was one of the 
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5. I bequeath to Marehand, mv chief nil*f </»' c/mm/ov, t*air hun¬ 

dred thousand francs. 'Flu* services he* h:t" rendered iih* art* lh»‘M* 

of a friend; it is my wi>h 1 hat he s}u>uh! m;irn t h<* vv idt *\v, *d*d«*r, 

or daughter of an otlirer or soIdh*r of my < >ld < Liard. 

6. Item. To Saint-Denis one hundred thousand irane-. 

7. Item. To Novarre (Xoverraz) one* hundred tiem-and francs. 

8. Item. To IVyron one hundred thousand trams. 

9. Item. To Arehamhaud fifty thousand franc- 
10. Item. To Cursor twenty-live thousand frunes. 

11. Item. To (‘handed the same.5 

12. To the Abbe Vignale - one hundred thousand frailer. It is m\ 

wish that he should build his house near the Ponte \‘u\ o de K«odiu<» 

13. Item. To Count Las Cases ;l one hundred thousand franc-, 

11. Ikon. To < Aunt Lavallclte 1 one hundred thousand franc-. 

In. I km l. To LarreyA surgeon-in-ehief, one lumdred f h< >n^un«! 

francs. lie is the most virtuous man I have known. 

Commission sent out by the Freneh Government to bring hack fin* hod) «»f 
Napoleon. His body new lies dose to that of the ma lm* to \\ hom h* was 
alike, faithful in good and had fortune. 

1 Marehand, Saint-I>enis, Novarre, IVyron, Areh.tmkmd, and Cor*t»»r had 
all accompanied Napoleon to St. Helona, and were n« s,t m I Mu ;,$•*» p.ut of 
the expedition to bring ha<*k tin* body of the Kmpojor to Fran* c. (‘kimhdl 
came, out as cook with the Abbe's and Antummarehi ni ivgu, non note ut p 
219. 

2 The young Abbe' Vignale had been sent out in IK’O Uv < '.udiual !•><« h 
with the Abbe Huonavita, who had returned to Kurope in Mardi. 1 f 
Visuale had p(‘rformed the last rites for Napoleon, 

5| The Comte (Dieudonne) de Las Cases, originally a naval »4ti« «<r, kid 
retired to Kurland during tin* Revolution, where he composed Inn hi-lota* ,t ) 
Atlas, under the name of “ Le Sagid' {Memorial, tome m. p. 27iot hut r«** 
entered France during the Consulate and became <»n«* of the rh,tmtH'rhiin« 
of Napoleon. He accompanied Napoleon to St. Helena, hut wan ordered 
away by 8ir Hudson Lowe in 1819, when he himself uas uu\i«»iiH to r* fiiru 
to Kurope, partly for the health of Ids son and partly to plead the cause of 
Napoleon. Arrived in Kurope he, tried to induce the Sovereigns of the 
Alliance to intervene in the treatment of Napoleon, hut failed. He wrote 
the Memorial de Xuintc 11vicar, not to he confused with tie* }/.ntn .• nt mtm- 
tioned in the note on p. 877. His son, Kmutanuid, who wait with htm at Si. 
Helena, was the Las Cases who aceompuuied the expedition n* hum hack 
tUe body in 18-10. 

4 Lavalletto ha<l married a niece <»f Josephine, hut the mention of him 
here is due to his condemnation by the bourbons; see p, go;* ,,f t|n»t udnme. 

& Karon Jean Dominique Larrev served an surgeon with Napoleon for 
many years, earning a high reputation with the arm\ for he* *»kt It, con rage, 
and devotion. This gift is due to the fact mentioned'in the 1 fo/i-.i oil, tmm 
vi. pp. 371-374. Napoleon in 1813 became uue;m\ at the imuih*o «d 
scripts who were fouml after the baffles injured in their hand*, and who 
were believed to have maime<l themselves purposely to avoid nvt\u e. J^rrey 
opposed this belief, and eventually, braving NapoleonN anger at bi% interfere 
ence, proved that the injuries were caused by the inexpmkiir#* of the men 
who, when in the rear ranks, tired against the hands of those m front. * 
thing easy to do in the three and four deep formation of the French. 
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16. Item. To General Brayer1 one hundred thousand francs. 

17. Item. To General Lefebvre-Desnouettes2 one hundred thou¬ 
sand francs. 

18. Item. To General Drouot3 one hundred thousand francs. 
19. Item. To General Cambronne1 one hundred thousand francs. 

20. Item. To the children of General Mouton Duvernet5 one 
hundred thousand francs. 

21. Item. To the children of the brave Lab6doybre6 one hundred 

thousand francs. 

22. Item. To the children of General Girard,7 killed at Ligny, 
one hundred thousand francs. 

23. Item. To the children of General Chartran8 one hundred 
thousand francs. 

1 General Brayer, with General Travot, had been employed in 1815 in 
putting down the Royalist insurrection in La Vendee, and was exempted 
from the amnesty. He was condemned to death on the 18th of September, 
1816, but he had escaped abroad. See Vaulabelle’s Histoire des deux Restau- 
rations, tome hi. p. 3, and tome iv. p. 210. 

2 General Comte Charles Lefebvre-Desnouettes, with the Lallemands, 
had attempted an emeute before Napoleon reached Paris, and was exempted 
from the amnesty and condemned to death. After fighting at‘Waterloo he 
tied to America, helped to form the Champ d’Asile in Texas (see p. 286), 
and perished in 1822 in a shipwreck on his passage to England. 

8 Drouot had accompanied Napoleon to and from Elba, and after Waterloo 
was retained by Davoust with the army as his influence with the Guard was 
important to keep that body in subjection to the Bourbons. He was tried by 
the Bourbons on 6th April, 1816, but as he had never taken service under 
them three members out of seven of the Court acquitted him, and the charge 
thus, by French military law, dropped (Vaulabelle, tome iv. pp. 193-195). 
See Napoleon’s remarks on him in the Memorial, tome ii. p. 369 and tome iv. 
p. 309; also the note in Alison, chap. lxxv. para. 51, on Drouot’s religious 
character. He took no further part in affairs. Lacordaire himself pro¬ 
nounced his funeral sermon. 

4 General Baron de Cambronne, a rough old soldier, was in the same 
position as Drouot, and was tried on 20th April, 1816, but the Court acquitted 
him (Vaulabelle, tome iv. pp. 195-197). 

5 General Baron Mouton Duvernet, a distinguished General of Division, 
exempted from the amnesty, after remaining a year in concealment gave 
himself up, and was tried on 15th July and shot at Lyons on 29th July, 1816 
( Vaulabelle, tome iv. p. 207). 

6 Charles Huchet, Comte de Labe'doyere, Colonel of the 7th Regiment, 
at garrison in Grenoble in 1815, brought his regiment over on the approach 
of Napoleon. He was tried on 14th August and shot on 19th August,. 1815, 
his widow having to pay the men who shot him; see Vaidabelle, tome iii. pp. 
455-466. 

7 Napoleon said to Girard’s widow at Malmaison, <f If all my generals had 
acted like the brave Girard I should not be here ” (Du Casse, tome vii. p. 15). 

8 General Chartran had been sent by Napoleon, when he returned from 
Elba, to the south, where he stopped the efforts of De Vitrolles to form a 
Royalist Government and centre of resistance, and escorted Vitrolles to 
Vincennes; see Vitrolles, tome ii. pp. 407, 435. Although not exempted 
from the amnesty he was tried at Lille on 9th May and shot there on 22d 
May, 1816 ( Vaulabelle, tome iv. p. 199). It is strange that he should have 
been then in France, as when Napoleon was at Malmaison Chartran had 
gone to him to get funds for leaving France; see Vaulabelle, tome iii. p. 160. 
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24. Item. To the children of the virtuous General Travot1 on3 

hundred thousand francs. 
25. Item. To General LaRamand, the elder,2 one hundred thou¬ 

sand francs. 
26. Item. To Count Real3 one hundred thousand francs. 
27. Item. To Costa de Bastilica,4 in Corsica, one hundred thou¬ 

sand francs. 
28. Item. To General Clausel5 one hundred thousand francs. 

29. Item. To Baron de Meneval0 one hundred thousand francs. 

1 General Travot had been employed in 1815 in putting down the insur¬ 
rection in La Vendee, as he had been also in the earlier insurrections there. 
His name did not appear in any of the exemptions from the amnesties; in¬ 
deed he practically had the protection of three amnesties. But just beforo 
the publication of the last amnesty, covering the cases of those against whom 
no suit had been begun, Clarke, the Minister of War, telegraphed, using the 
old signal posts (or telepliores), to begin immediately a suit against Travot. 
The former Royalist Vendeean officers were now in the ascendant, and one 
of them, Canuel, who in the days of the Republic/had fought in the ranks of 
the “ Bleus ” against the Vendeeans, and in 1815 in the Vendeean ranks 
against Travot, was now appointed President of the Court which tried 
Travot on 18th March and on 20th March condemned him to death, after 
which Canuel commenced an attack on the lawyers who had defended his 
victim. Travot owed his life to the population of Rermes, who threatened 
to rescue him: only a weak military force was available, so, at sixty years of 
ago, his sentence was reduced to twenty years’ imprisonment. He became 
insane; see Vanhtbelle, tome iv. pp. 189-212. 

2 General Baron Charles Francois Antoine Lallemand (with his brother, 
General Baron Henri Dominique Lallemand, and Lefebvrc-Desnouottes) had 
attempted a military 4meate before Napoleon reached Paris. He accom¬ 
panied Napoleon to Plymouth, but not being allowed to go to St. Helena ho 
fled to America, and formed the Champ d’Asile in Texas; see p. 28(5. Ho 
eventually returned, and was made a peer by Louis Philippe. 

8 Comte Pierre Francois Re'al, employed under the Empire in the higher 
police functions. His non-receipt of Napoleon’s order to go to Vincennes 
was one of the causes of the death of the Due d’Engliien. He was Prefet of 
Police during the Cent Jovrs, but fled. He was exiled by the Bourbons, but 
eventually returned to France. 

4 Costa de Bastilica had protected the flight of Napoleon’s mother and 
family on 23d May, 1793, when tlieir house was burnt by the partisans of 
Paoli, — an event which brought all the Bonapartes permanently to France 
(lung’s Bonaparte, tome ii. p. 252). Truly, as his bitter critic has it, Napo¬ 
leon had a memory. 

5 General Comte Bertrand Clausel would have been made a Marshal by 
Napoleon had it not been for the disasters of 1814. Clausel in 1813 com¬ 
manded the Army of the North in Spain when his conduct, blamed by 
Joseph, was approved by Napoleon; see Jin Cause, tome ix. In 1815 he 
forced the Duchesse d’Angouleme to abandon Bordeaux. Ho was sentenced 
to death on 11th September, 1816 ( Vaitlabelle, tome iv. p. 210), but tho sen¬ 
tence was remitted by the interposition of the Duchess d’Angouleme (Lacrc- 
telle, Histoire de France depnis hi Restan ration t tome ii. p. 18). Clausel lmd, 
however, got to America. He commanded in Algeria under Louis Philippe 
in 1830, and from 1835 to 1837. He was made Marshal in 1831. 

6 Meneval, the successor of Bourrienne as Secretary to Napoleon from 
1802 to 1812, when he became Chief Secretary to Maria Louisa. He accom¬ 
panied the Empress to Austria, but was allowed to rejoin Napoleon in 1815. 
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30. Item. To Arnault,1 the author of Marius, one hundred 

thousand francs. 

31. Item. To Colonel Marbot one hundred thousand francs. I 

recommend him to continue to write in defence of the glory of the 

French armies, and to confound their calumniators and the apostates. 

32. Item. To Baron Bignon2 one hundred thousand francs. I 

recommend him to write the history of French diplomacy from 1792 

to 1815. 

33. Item. To Poggi de Talaro one hundred thousand francs, 

34. Item. To Surgeon Emmery one hundred thousand francs. 

35. These sums will be raised from the six millions which I de¬ 

posited on leaving Paris in 1815, and from the interest at the rate 

of 5 per cent since July, 1815. The account thereof will be settled 

with the banker by Counts Montholon, and Bertrand, and Marchand. 

36. Whatever that deposit may produce beyond the sum of five 

millions six hundred thousand francs which have been above disposed 

of, shall be distributed as a gratuity amongst the wounded at the 

battle of Waterloo, and amongst the officers and soldiers of the bat¬ 

talion of the Isle of Elba, according to a scale to be determined upon 

by Montholon, Bertrand, Drouot, Cambronne, and the surgeon Larrey. 

37. These legacies, in case of death, shall be paid to the widows 

and children; and in default of such, shall revert to the bulk of my 

property. 

m. 
1. My private domain being my property, of which I am not 

aware that any French law has deprived me, an account of it will be 

required from the Baron de la Bouillerie, the treasurer thereof: 

it ought to amount to more than two hundred millions of francs: 

namely, 1. The portfolio, containing the savings which I made 

during fourteen years out of my civil list, which savings amounted 

1 Antoine "Vincent Arnault, author of several tragedies, at one time an 
&mi<jri\ accompanied Napoleon to Egypt, and was made member of the In¬ 
stitute. He sat in the Chamber of Representatives during the Cent Jours. 
On the second Restoration he was exiled, and was deprived of his Chan on 
the purgation of the Institute by Vaublanc, the Mmistcr of the Interior 
under Richelieu’s Ministry. He happily apologized for Ins bitter epigrams 
by comparing himself to a flint. 41 If sparks fly from me, the fault is not 
mine hut that of the striker.” See Merlet’s Tableau de la Littenitxn e 
Francaise, 1800-1815 (Paris, Didier, 1883), tome i p 414 He is Ascribed as 
wishing to praise Napoleon only after his fall. He lived to regain his Chair. 

2 Baron Louis Pierre Edouard Bignon, long engaged m the Emperor s 
diplomatic service, and who was Under-Secretary of State during the Cent 
JomT Ho signed the capitulation of Paris in 1815 as in temporary charge 
of tlio Foreign Office. He commenced this contemplated histoiy, in which he 
would havo been assisted byMaret,Duc de Bassano (see Emouf’s Uft oj 
Maret, p. 194), but he died in 1841, leaving it incomplete. 
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to more than twelve million,'; jut annum: m\ mein* i> gond. *j 

The produce of this portfolio. :i. The furuilure «>1 m \ palter-, <m h 

as it was in I<S11, including tin* palace- *»t‘ Borne, Florence, and 1 unn 

All this funiitun* was purchased with hidihv aivrnin:/ I n mi tin-civil 

list. 4. The proceeds of my Inm-e- in the kingdom u| Italy . -m-h 

as money, plate, jewels, furnituiv, equipages; tho account- <n u hr u 

will be rendered by Prince Kugeue and the intendant of the mow n, 

Compagnoni. N U’eu.es, 

2. I bequeath my private domain, <>ne4udf to the ~un i\ hu: 

ollieers and soldiers of the French army who Uav e fomjdit oner FF.'J 

to hSld for tin* glory ami -the independence of the nation, tie- distri¬ 

bution to be made in proportion to their appointment- upms item e 

service, and one-half to the town- and di-triet of A1 -are, l.t.rr.tiiie, 

Franehe-< ’omte, Burgundy, the 1-lr of France, (‘humpagne, Fore/, 

I)auphimf\ which may have -uttered by either of the ins a T*n 

Then* shall he previously set apart from this sun mie million for 

the town of Brietimq and one million for that of Men . 

1 appoint founts MontKolon and Bertrand, and Marvhaud, tin* 

executors of my Will. 
TTiis ptvsent Will, wltwlly written with m\ own hand, i< Minted 

and sealed with my own arms. 

(L.S.) Napoli <»\. 

List (A). 

Annex* tl to mtf Will. 

I. 

1. The consecrated vessels which ha\ e been in n-e at uw chapel 
at Longwood. 

2. I direct AbM Vignale to preservr them, ami to deliver them 
to my son when he shall reach the age of sixteen \ cats, 

n. 

1. My arms; that is to say, my --word, that which J wore a? 

Austerlitz, the: sabre of Sohieski, m\ dagger, mv ord, tin hmitim* 
knife, my two pairs of Versailles pistols. 

2. My gold dressing-case, that which 1 made u-e of on the morn 

mg of Him and of Austerlitz, of Jena, of Kylau, of Fnedland, of the 

Island ol Lobau, of the Moskwa, of Montmirail. In this point uf 

view it is my wish that it, may he precious in the eves of tn\ mih 

(It has been deposited with Fount Bertrand since IhI F) 
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3. I charge Count Bertrand with the care of preserving these ob¬ 

jects, and of conveying them to my son when he shall attain the age 

of sixteen years. 

m. 
1. Three small mahogany boxes, containing, the first, thirty- 

three snuff-boxes or bonbonnieres; the second, twelve boxes with the 

imperial arms, two small eye-telescopes, and four boxes found on the 

table of Louis XVIII. in the Tuileries on the 20th of March, 1815; 

the third, three snuff-boxes, ornamented with silver medals habit¬ 

ually used by the Emperor, and sundry articles for the use of the 

toilet, according to the list numbered I. II. III. 

2. My field-bed, which I used in all my campaigns. 

3. My field-telescope. 

4. My dressing-case, one of each of my uniforms, a dozen of 

shirts, and a complete set of each of ’my dresses, and generally of 

everything used in my toilet. 

5. My wash-hand-stand. • 

6. A small clock which is in my bedchamber at Longwood. 

7. My two watches, and the chain of the Empress’s hair. 

8. I intrust the care of these articles to Marchand, my principal 

valet cle chambre, and direct him to convey them to my son when he 

shall attain the age of sixteen years. 

IV. 
1. My cabinet of medals. 

2. My plate and my Sevres china, which I used at St. Helena. 

(Lists B and C.) 

3. 1 request Count Montholon to take care of these articles, and 

to convey them to my son when he shall attain the age of sixteen 

years. 

V. 
1. My three saddles and bridles, my spurs which I used at St. 

Helena. 

2. My fowling-pieces, to the number of five. 
3. I charge my chasseur, Novarre, with the care of these articles, 

and direct him to convey them to my son when he shall attain the 

age of sixteen years. 

VI. 

1. Four hundred volumes, selected from those in my library 

which I have been accustomed to use the most. 
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2. I direct Saint-1 hubs to take care of them, ami to cnnv‘*jf 

them to my son when he shall attain tin* age of .sixteen years. 

NaPOLIvOW 

VII. 

1. None of the articles which have been used by me -hall be sold ; 

the residue shall be divided amongst the. executors of my Will ami 

my brothers. 
2. Marchand shall preserve my hair, ami cause a bracelet to be 

made of it, with a little gold clasp, to be sent to fin* Kmpres.s Maria 

Louisa, to my mother, and to each of my brothers, sifters, nephew 

nieces, the Cardinal, and one of larger size for my son. 

3. JMarchand will send one pair of my gold shoe-buekles to Prince 

Joseph. 

4. A small pair of gold knee-buckles to Prince Lucien. 

5. A gold eollar-elasp to Prince. Jerome. 

Inventory of my Effects which Marc hand in'll take care of and 

convey to my son. 

1. My silver dressing-case, that which is on my fable, furnished 
with all its utensils, razors, etc. 

2. My alarm-clock : it. is tin* alarm-clock of Frederick II., which 
I took at Potsdam. (In box No. III.) 

3. My two watches, with the chains of tin* Empress's hair, and a 

chain of my own hair for the other watch: Marehand will get it 
made at Paris. 

4. My two seals (one the seal of France, contained in b»»\ No. 
III.). 

5. The small gold clock which is now in my bedchamber, 

G. My wash-hand-stand, its water-jug, foot-bath, etc. 

7. My night-tables, those I used in France, and my sil\ er gilt 
bidet. 

8. My two iron bedsteads, my mattresses, and my coverlet*, if 
they can be preserved. 

9. My three silvan* flasks, which held my run de vie, and which 
my chasseurs carried in tint field. 

10. My French telescope. 
11. My spurs, two pairs. 

12. Ihree mahogany boxes. Nos. 1. II. III., containing my snuff¬ 
boxes and other articles. 

13. A silver-gilt perfuming-pan. 
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Body Linen. 

Six shirts. Six handkerchiefs. Six cravats. Six napkins. Six 

pairs of silk stockings. Four black stocks. Six pairs of under-stock¬ 

ings. Two pairs of cambric sheets. Two pillow-cases. Two dress¬ 

ing-gowns. Two pairs of night-drawers. One pair of braces. Four 

pairs of white kerseymere breeches and vests. Six Madras handker¬ 

chiefs. Six flannel waistcoats. Four pairs of drawers. Six pairs 

of gloves. One small box filled with my snuff. 

One gold neck-buckle, one pair gold knee-buckles, one pair gold shoe- 

buckles, contained in the little box No. IIL 

Clothes. 

One uniform of the Chasseurs. One uniform of the Grenadiers. 
One uniform of the National Guard. One green and gray great-coat. 

One blue cloak (that which I had at Marengo). One sable-green 

pelisse. Two pairs of shoes. Two pairs of boots. One pair of 

slippers. Six belts. 

Inventory of the Effects which I left in the possession of Monsieur 

le Comte de Turenne.1 

The sabre of Sobiesky. [It is, by mistake, inserted in list (A), 

that being the sabre which the Emperor wore at Aboukir, and which 

is in the hands of Count Bertrand.] 
The Grand Collar of the Legion of Honor. 

One sword of silver-gilt. 

One Consular sword. 

One sword of iron. 

One velvet belt. 
The Collar of the Golden Fleece. 

One small dressing-case of steel. 

One night-lamp of silver. 

One handle of an antique sabre. 
One hat d la Henri IV., and a toque.2 The lace of the Emperor. 

One small cabinet of medals. 

Two Turkey carpets. 
Two mantles of crimson velvet, embroidered, with vests, and 

small-clothes. 

1 Grand-Maitre de la Garde Robe. 
2 A velvet hat, with a flat crown, and brims turned up. 
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1. I give to my son tin* sabre of Snbie-k v. 
Do. v the Collar of fh»* Eegion *»t Honor. 

Do. the silver-gilt .-word. 

Do. the ( ’ott-nilar - w ord. 

Do. the iron -word. 

Do. the ('ollar of tin* < addon Fb-oer. 

Do. the hat ft In Henry l\ . and tie* , 

Do. the gohieit <hv—hilt cum* l*«r fie* b * th u n:- 

in the hand- < >f the dniti-t. 

2. To the Empress Maria Lott Pa my be e. 

To Madame the silver night-lamp. 
To the (’animal the small -feel div-imy-ea-e. 

To Prince Eugene the wax-eandle-fiek, "hwv tdIt. 

To the Princess Pauline the -mail ea'oinet of tio'daP. 

To the Queen of Naples a small I urkoy <*ui p* t. 

To the Queen HorteiiM' a small 'I urkoy carpi f. 
To Prince Jerome the handle of the antique -a! >i •• 

To Prince Joseph an embroidered mantle, u-a, md -To i1! * "He 

To Prince Lueien an embroidered man? h\ \ • Laud ant, > > •* tn 
N vfMi i .*% 

\r,(h h /ih l-/t. I.om.w**•«!,. 
This is a ('tidin'! In um II U! 

1. It is my wish that my ashe^ may i« p" * «»n Ho bud, * I tin 

Seine, in the midst of the French people w lean 1 !• a * d • * w* 1! 

2. I bequeath to (\nmfs Bertrand, M**uth**!<. and !•» M o- h nd, 

the money, jewels, plate, china, furniture, book , .n ns •, n.d m s ad * 

everything that belongs to me in the Eland M lb b ua 

This (’odieil, entirely written with my own hand, e- meiod and 

sealed with my own arms. (H.N.} N i *»n 1 

This 2P/i A^ril, j.vjq, *n 
This is mif (balin'l, nr X*th nf m y hi f fit ill 

Out of the settlement of my ei\il IFt of It ah, eels a. * iman %, 

jewels, plate, linen, equipages, of which fin* Yierp'y b tin d»q«-< if o ,4 

1 In the Refutation de ta Ihdutiim dn ('npifnni* M nfl-n i4» hv t\ 
(Bruxelles, I)<» Mat, 182*4, p. tc> > \ft murodt n , t)n tr r- .* t, -t»* f • v, - 
Codicil, saying that it is often »»niitt*ot in rupr*•• >4 11 * W ill, .*• e »? \* o-5 f - 
be only a repetition. “ The. Will was tin* r* al and h. no um*-m ijiUtS. .1 
to the rare of the testamentary run-atom, Tin** < *«in il u.o sir p. in >> » 
and apparent document wInch’, when pr*'H»utrd h* Sir ! 1 ud> • >?i i,o»» , ;« ft 
the executors in full liberty to carry out fh* ir naU; u« tmu \\ ati*-nt ?!,>•> 
necessary precaution the (lovernor would not Im\* f,ul« <iio pi i,« . »r7 . 4 ’ 
which belonged to Napoleon, and would haw iransmilt* d il to inn 
Govrrnmmt. 
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and which belonged to me, I dispose of two millions, which I be¬ 

queath to my most faithful servants. I hope that, without availing 

himself of any reason to the contrary, my son, Eugene Napoleon,1 

will pay them faithfully. He cannot forget the forty millions which 

I gave him in Italy, and in the distribution of the inheritance of his 
mother. 

1. Out of these two millions I bequeath to Count Bertrand five 

hundred thousand francs, of which he will deposit one hundred 

thousand in the treasurer’s chest, to be applied according to my 

dispositions in payment of legacies of conscience. 

2. To Count Montholon two hundred thousand francs, of which 

he will deposit one hundred thousand in the chest, for the same 

purpose as above mentioned. 

3. To Count Las Cases two hundred thousand francs, of which 

he will deposit one hundred thousand in the chest, for the same 

purpose as above mentioned. 

4. To Marchand one hundred thousand francs, of which he will 

deposit fifty thousand in the chest, for the same purpose as above 

mentioned. 

5. To Count Lavallette one hundred thousand francs. 

6. To General Ilogcndorf, of Holland, my aide de camp, who has 

retired to the Brazils, fifty thousand francs. 

7. To my aide de camp, Corbinau, fifty thousand francs. 

8. To my aide de camp, Caffarclli, fifty thousand francs. 

9. To my aide de camp, Dejean, fifty thousand francs. 

10. To Percy, surgeon-in-cliief at Waterloo, fifty thousand francos. 

11. Fifty thousand francs, that is to say: 

Ten thousand to Peyron, my maitre d?hotel. 

Ten thousand to Saint-Denis, my head chasseur. 

Ten thousand to Novarre. 

Ten thousand to Corsor, my clerk of the kitchen. 

Ten thousand to Archambaud, my piqueur. 

12. To Baron de Meneval fifty thousand francs. 

13. To the Duke of Istria, son of Bessi6res, fifty thousand francs. 

14. To the daughter of Duroc fifty thousand francs. 

15. To the children of Lab6doyere fifty thousand francs. 

16. To the children of Mouton Duvernet fifty thousand francs. 

17. To the children of the brave and virtuous General Travot 

fifty thousand francs. 1 * 

18. To the children of Chartran fifty thousand franco. 

19 To General Cambronne fifty thousand francs. * 

1 Napoleon had adopted Eugene Beauharnais, the son.ofA$Dsephine. . 
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20. To General Lcfebvre-Besnoueff os fifty thousand francs. 

21. To be distributed amongst, such proscribed persons wander 

in foreign (countries, whether they be French, Italians, Belgians, 

Dutch, Spanish, or inhabitants pf the departments of the Rhine, under 

the directions of my executors, .one hundred thousand francs. 

22. To be distributed amongst those who suffered amputation, or 

were severely wounded at Ligny or Waterloo, who may be still liv¬ 

ing, according to lists drawn up by my executors to whom shall be 

added Cambronne, Larrey, Percy, imd Emmery. The Guards shall 

be paid double, those of the Island of Elba quadruple, two hundred 

thousand francs. 
This Codicil is written entirely with my own hand, signed, and 

sealed with’my arms. -< Napoleon. 

[On the back was written: ] 

This is my Codicil, or Act of my last Will, the exact execution of 

which I recommend to my son, Eugene Napoleon. It Is all written 

by myself. • y” " Napoleon. 

This 24th of April, 1821, at Lonu\vooi>. 

This is a third Codicil to my Will of the l At h of April. 

1. Amongst the diamonds of the crown which were delivered up 

in 1814 there were some to tin*, value, of fifty million livres not be¬ 

longing to it, but which formed part of my private property; repos¬ 

session shall be obtained of them in order to discharge my legacies. 

2. I had in the hands of the hanker Torlonia, at Rome, bills of 

exchange to the amount, of two or three hundred thousand livres, in 

bills of exchange, the product of my revenues of the. Island of Elba 

since 1815. The Sieur de la Peyrusse,1 although no longer my treas¬ 

urer, and not invested with any such office, possessed himself of this 
sum. lie shall be compelled to refund it. 

3. I bequeath to the Duke of Istria- three hundred thousand 

francs, of which only one hundred thousand francs shall be reversi¬ 

ble to his widow, should the Duke be dead before payment of the 

legacy. It is my wish, should there be no inconvenience in if, that 
the Duke may many Duroe’s daughter. 

1 Baron Peyrusse had been treasurer to Napoleon at Elba. In 1829 Gen¬ 
eral Bertrand, with the other executors of this Will, certified that Peyrusse 
had properly accounted for the funds in question, and that this paragraph 
had been dictated in ignorance of the facts of the rase; see MmnutL tome ii. 
p. 95. 
. 2 This refers to the son of Marshal Bessftres; the Marshal imd been killed 
in 1813; his son married a daughter of Joseph, Comte de Lagrange. 
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4. I bequeath to the Duchess of Frioul, the daughter of Duroc,1 two 

hundred thousand francs: should she be dead before the payment of 
this legacy none of it shall be given to the mother. 

5. I bequeath to General Rigaud2 (to him who was proscribed) 
one hundred thousand francs. 

6. I bequeath to Boisnod, the Intendant-Commissary, one hun¬ 
dred thousand francs. 

7. I bequeath to the children of General Letort,3 who was killed 

in the campaign of 1815, one hundred thousand francs. 

8. These eight hundred thousand francs of legacies shall be con¬ 

sidered as inserted at the end of article thirty-six of my Testament, 

which will make the legacies I have disposed of by Will amount to 

the sum of six millions four hundred thousand francs, without includ¬ 

ing the donations I have made by my second Codicil. 

This is written with my own hand, signed, and sealed with my 

arms. (L.S.) Napoleon. 

[On the outside, nearly in the centre, is written: ] 

This is my third Codicil to my Will, entirely written with my own 

hand, signed, and sealed with my arms. 

[The words are intermixed with the signatures of Bertrand, Mon- 

tholon, Marchand, and Vignale, with their respective seals; and a 

piece of green silk runs through the centre. On the upper left cor¬ 

ner are the following directions : ] 

To be opened the same day, and immediately after the opening of 
my Will. Napoleon. 

This 24th of April, 1821, Longwood. 

This is a fourth Codicil to my Testament. 

By the dispositions we have heretofore made we have not fulfilled 

all our obligations, which has decided us to make this fourth Codicil. 

1. We bequeath to the son or grandson of Baron Dutheil, Lieu¬ 

tenant-General of Artillery, and formerly Lord of St. Andre, who 

1 Duroc,, the Grand Marechal du Palais, had been killed in 1813. His 
widow, a daughter of the Spanish banker and Minister, Hervas d’Almenara, 
after Duroc’s death married a M. Fabvier. The Duchy was given by Napo¬ 
leon to Duroc’s daughter. 

2 General .Rigaud had been tried at Paris and sentenced to be shot on 
ICth May, 1810, but had escaped abroad (Vaulaitbelle, tome iv. p. 210). 

3 General Letort, who was mortally wounded on 15tli June, 1815, when 
ordered by the Emperor to charge the Prussians with his escort, some squad¬ 
rons of cavalry of the Guard. “ No officer,” said Napoleon, “ possessed in a 
higher degree the art of leading a charge and communicating an electric 
spark to men and horses. At his voice and example the most timid became 
the most intrepid ” (Auvergne’s Waterloo} p. 09). 
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commanded the school of Auxonne before the Revolution, the sum 

of one hundred thousand francs, as a memento of gratitude for the 

care which that brave General took of us when we were lieutenant 

and captain under his orders.1 
2. Item. To the son or grandson of General Dugomier, whc 

commanded in chief the army of Toulon, the sum of one hundred 

thousand francs. We, under his orders, directed that siege, and 
commanded the artillery; it is a testimonial of remembrance foi 

the marks of esteem, affection, and friendship which that brave and 

intrepid General gav e us.2 

3. Item. We bequeath one hundred thousand francs to the son 

or grandson of the deputy of the Convention, Gasparin, represents 

tive of the people to the army of Toulon, for having protected and 

sanctioned with his authority the plan we had given, which procured 

the capture of that city, and which was contrary to that sent by the 
Committee of Public Safety. Gasparin, by his protection, sheltered 

us from the persecution and ignorance of the staff officers who eonr 

manded the army before the arrival of my friend Dugomier.3 

4. Item. We bequeath one hundred thousand francs to the 

widow, son, or grandson of our aide de camp, Muiron, killed at 

our side at Areola, covering us with his body. 

5. Item. Ten thousand francs to the subaltern officer, Cantillon 

who has undergone a trial upon a charge of having endeavored ti 

assassinate Lord Wellington, of which he was pronounced innocent 

Cantillon had as much right to assassinate that oligarchic as the lat¬ 

ter had to send me to perish upon the rock of St. Helena. Welling¬ 

ton, who proposed this outrage, attempted to justify it by pleading 

the interest of Great Britain. Cantillon, if he had really assassinated 

1 The Baron Dutheil or Duteil commanded the School of Artillery at 
Auxonne when Lieutenant Bonaparte rejoined his regiment there in May, 
1788. General Duteil was at Nice when Bonaparte, then Captain of Artil¬ 
lery, joined there in June, 1793, and he had the young Captain attached to 
one of the companies of artillery. 

2 General Jean Francis Coquille Dugomier, highly praised by Napoleon, 
was nominated by the influence of the two Ttobespierres and of Barras to 
supersede Carteaux (or rather nominally Doppet) in the attack of Toulon in 
1793. After his arrival the siege rapidly progressed. He was killed in 1794, 
while in command of the Army of the Eastern Pyrenees. 

3 Gasparin and Salicetti, the two representatives of the Assembly with 
Carteaux’ army when it attacked Toulon, nominated Bonaparte to succeed 
the head of the artillery, Donmartin, wounded on the 7th of September, 1793. 
Gasparin was much taken with Bonaparte, and patronized him and his 
family, then in distress in France. Gasparin, writing to Salicetti on 30th 
September, 1793, says, “ Bonna Parte [«c], the only captain fit to plan opera¬ 
tions, has already too much work in the management of all details of the 
artillery” (lung’s Bonaparte, tome ii. pp. 380-386). Napoleon at St. Helena 
said that Gasparin got his plan for taking Toulon adopted, and opened his 
career (Memorial, tome i. pp. 164-106). 
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chat lord, would have pleaded the same excuse, and been justified by 

the same motive — the interest of France — to get rid of this General, 

who, moreover, by violating the capitulation of Paris, had rendered 

himself responsible for the blood of the martyrs, Ney, Labedoyere, 

etc., and for the crime of having pillaged the museums, contrary to 
the text of the treaties.1 

6. These four hundred and ten thousand francs shall be added to 

the six million four hundred thousand of which we have disposed, 

and will make our legacies amount to six million eight hundred and 

ten thousand francs; these four hundred and ten thousand are to be 

considered as forming part of our Testament, article thirty-six, and 

to follow in every respect the same course as the other legacies. 

7. The nine thousand livres sterling which we gave to Count and 

Countess Montliolon should, if they have been paid, be deducted and 

carried to the account of the legacies which we have given him by 

our Testament. If they have not been paid, our notes of hand shall 

be annulled. 

8. In consideration of the legacy given by our Will to Count 

Montholon, the pension of twenty thousand francs granted to his 

wife is annulled. Count Montholon is charged with the payment of 

it to her. 
9. The administration of such an inheritance, until its final liqui¬ 

dation, requiring expenses of offices, journeys, missions, consulta¬ 

tions, and lawsuits, we allow that our testamentary executors retain 

three per cent upon all the legacies, as well upon the six million 

eight hundred thousand francs as upon the sums contained in the 

Codicils, and upon the two hundred million francs of the private 

domain. 
10. The amount of the sums thus retained shall be deposited in 

the hands of a treasurer, and disbursed by drafts from our testament¬ 

ary executors. 
11. Should the sums arising from the aforesaid deductions not be 

sufficient to defray the expense^, provision shall be made to that 

effect at the expense of the three testamentary executors and the 

treasurer, each in proportion to the legacy which we had bequeathed 

to them in our Will and Codicils. 

1 On the lltli of February, 1818, a pistol-shot was fired at the Duke of 
Wellington as he entered his hotel at Paris. A retired officer, Cantillon, or 
Catillon, and a M. Marinet, avocat au conseil d'Etat (already under the sen¬ 
tence of the law), were tried for this but acquitted (Lacretelle, tome ii. p. 
238). This item of the Will must be taken as dictated merely by irritation 
produced by ill health and confinement, as it is at complete variance with 
Napoleon’s ordinary sentiments and actions. We have it on the authority of 
Henry Greville (Second Series, p. 216) that the legacy to Cantillon was paid 
by Louis Napoleon in 1855. 
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12. Should the sums arising from the before-mentioned subtrac¬ 

tions be more than necessary, the surplus shall be divided amongst 

our three testamentary executors and the treasurer, in the proportion 

of their respective legacies. 
13. We nominate Count Las Cases, and in default of him his son. 

and in default of the latter General Drouot, to be treasurer. 

This present Codicil is entirely written with our hand, signed, and 

sealed with our arms. Napoleon. 

This 2Uh of April, 1821. Lonowooxx 

This is my Codicil, or Act of my last Will. 

Upon the funds remitted in gold to tins Empress Maria Louisa, my 

very dear and well-beloved spouse, at Orleans, in 1S14, sin* remains 

in my debt two millions, of which I dispose by the present codicil, 

for the purpose of recompensing my most faithful servants, whom 

moreover I recommend to the protection of my dear Maria Louisa 

1. I recommend to the Empress to cause the income of thirty 

thousand francs which Count Bertrand possessed in the Duchy of 

Parma, and upon the Mont-Napoleon at Milan, to be restored to 

him, as well as the arrears due. 

2. 1 make the, same recommendation to her with regard to the 

Duke of Istria, Duroc's daughter, and others of my servants who 

have continued faithful to me, and who have never ceased to be dear 

to me: she knows them. 

3. Out of the above mentioned two millions 1 bequeath three 

hundred thousand francs to Count Bertrand, of which he will lodge 

one hundred thousand in the treasurer’s chest, to be employed in 

legacies of conscience, according to my dispositions. 

4. I bequeath two hundred thousand francs to Count Montholon, 

of which he will lodge one hundred thousand in the treasurer's chest, 

for the same purpose as above mentioned. 

5. Item. Two hundred thousand francs to Count Las Cases, of 

which he will lodge one hundred thousand in the treasurer's chest, 
for the same purpose as above mentioned. 

6. Item. To Marehand one hundred thousand francs, of which 

he will place fifty thousand in the treasurer's chest, for the same 
purpose as above mentioned. 

7. To Jean J6r0me Lewie,1 the Mayen* of Ajaccio at the com¬ 

mencement of the Revolution, or to his widow, children, or grand¬ 
children, one hundred thousand francs. 

8. To Duroc's daughter one hundred thousand francs. 

1 Jean Jerome Lewie orLevio, a connection of the Bonapartes, installed by 
their party as Mayor of Ajaccio, in 1789; see lung s Jionuparte, tome i. p. 2,‘18. 
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9. To the son of Bessieres, Duke of Istria, one hundred thousand 
francs. 

10. To General Drouot one hundred thousand francs. 
11. To Count Lavallette one hundred thousand francs. 

12r Item. One hundred thousand francs; that is to say: 

Twenty-five thousand to Peyron, my maitre d'hdtel. 

Twenty-five thousand to Novarre, my chasseur. 

Twenty-five thousand to Saint-Denis, the keeper of my 
accounts. 

Twenty-five thousand to Santini,1 my former usher. 

13. Item. One hundred thousand francs; that is to say: 

Forty thousand to Planat,2 my orderly officer. 

Twenty thousand to Hebert, lately concierge of Rambouillet, 
and who belonged to my chamber in Egypt. 

Twenty thousand to Lavigne, who was lately concierge of one 
of my stables, and who was my piqueur in Egypt. 

Twenty thousand to Jeanet Dervieux, who was overseer of 

the stables, and served me in Egypt. 

14. Two hundred thousand francs shall be distributed in alms to 

the inhabitants of Brienne-le-Chdteau who have suffered most. 

15. The three hundred thousand francs remaining shall be dis¬ 

tributed to the officers and soldiers of the battalion of my guard at 

the Island of Elba who may be now alive, or to their widows and 

children, in proportion to their appointments, and according to an 

estimate which shall be fixed by my testamentary executors; those 

who have suffered amputation, or have been severely wounded, shall 

receive double; the estimate to be fixed by Larrey and Emmery. 

This Codicil is written entirely with my own hand, signed, and 

sealed with my arms. Napoleon. 

[On the back of the Codicil is written:] 

This is my Codicil, or Act of my last Will, the execution of which 

I recommend to my dearest wife, the Empress Maria Louisa. 

(L.S.) Napoleon. 

[Attested by the following witnesses, whose seals are respectively 

affixed:] 

Montholon ^ 
Bertrand 

Marchand 
Attached to a piece of green silk. 

Yignale 

i For the later adventures of Santini see the Memorial, tome viii. p. 104. 
5 Planat, who had accompanied Napoleon to the Bellerophon, but who 

had been left at Plymouth, had suffered much distress until relieved by 
Jerome. He had, too late, received permission to go out to St Helena; see 
the Memorial, tome viii. pp. 348, 392. 
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Letter to M. Lafitte. 

Monsieur Lafitte, I remitted to you in 1815, at tlie moment of my 

departure from Paris, a sum of near six millions, for which you have 

given me a receipt in duplicate. I have cancelled one of the receipts, 

and I charge Count Montholon to present you with the other receipt, 
in order that you may pay to him, after my death, the said sum, with 

interest at the rate of five per cent, from the first of July, 1815, de¬ 

ducting the payments which you have been instructed to make by 

virtue of my orders. 

It is my wish that the settlement of your account may be agreed 

upon between you, Count Montholon, Count Bertrand, and the Sieur 

Marchand; and this settlement being made, I give you, by these 

presents, a complete and absolute discharge from the said sum. 

I also, at that time, placed in your hands a box containing my 

cabinet of medals. I beg you will give it to Count Montholon. 

This letter having no other object, I pray God, Monsieur Lafitte, 

to have you in His holy and good keeping. Napoleon. 

Longwood, Island op St. Helena. 

-yh The 25th of Aprilf 1821. 

Letter to M, Laboiiillerie. 

Monsieur le Baron Labouilleri^, treasurer of my private domain, I 

beg you to deliver the account and the balance, after my death, to 
Count Montholon, whom Ihawe charged with’ the execution of my 

Will. * v .v- 

This letter having^ ^tfier object, I pray God, Monsieur le Baron 
Laborallerie, to have^o'u in-His holy and good keeping. 

Napoleon.1 

\ 1 For the ‘Will of Napoleon see Refutation by Barthe, pp. 80-108, and 
- Korvins, up. 721-732. The legacies in the Will were not fully paid until by 

Napoleon PL ;ba 1855*, ’ ,. v- v*. 
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EXPENSES INCURRED BY NAPOLEON I. ON ACCOUNT OF 
PUBLIC WORKS. 

The following official tables, believed at the time to be fairly correct, will convey 
some notion of the outlay during the power of Napoleon —from 1804 to 1813, after 
which time the whole energies of France were concentrated in repelling the invader 
— for great public works, most of which remain at the present day, an eloquent trib¬ 
ute to the judgment and industry of their originator. 

I.—UPON ROADS. 

Names of Hoads. 
Estimated 

expense of the 
whole. 

Sums spent upon 
them between 
1804 and 1813. 

Mont Cenis .. 

frs. 

16,000,000 

frs. 

13,500,000 
The Simplon. 
La Corniche. 

9,200,000 
15,500,000 

6,100,000 
6,500,000 

Mont Genevre. 5,400,000 2,800,000 

Fenestrelle. 1,800,000 800,000 

Lantaret. 3,500,000 1,800,000 

From Alessandria to Savona. 4,000,000 2,600,000 

From Ceva to Fort Maurice. 2,600,000 560,000 
150,000 From Genoa to Alessandria, by Garvi . 1,800,000 

From Piacenza to Genoa. 5,500,000 
3,700,000 

300,000 

From Parma to La Spezzia. 2,000,000 

From Paris to Madrid, by Bayonne 8,000,000 4,200,000 
4,300,000 From Paris to Amsterdam. 6,300,000 

9,800,000 From Paris to Hamburg. 6,000,000 

From Maestricht to Venloo. 2,100,000 1,900,000 

From Paris to Mayence. 5,000,000 
4,000,000 

5,000,000 

From Tournus to Chambery . . ' . 100,000 

Different Roads in the Departments 

104,200,000 58,670,000 
218,814,549 

Total outlay 277,484,549 

II.—UPON BRIDGES.1 
- 1 

Names of Bridges. 
Estimated 

expense of the 
■ whole. 

Sums spent upon 
them between 
1804 and 1813 

Bridge of Vercelli. 
Bridge of the Scrivia .... 
Bridge of Tours. 
Bridge of Tilsit at Lyons 
Bridge of the Isere and others on that rout 
Bridge over the Durance .... 
Bridge over the Po at Turin . 
Bridge over the Dora .... 
Bridge of Bordeaux. 
Bridge and Quays at Rouen . 
Bridge of Rouanne. 
Bridge of Serin and Arsenal at Lyons . 
Bridge of Aviguon. 
Bridge of Givet. 
Bridge of the Vey. 
Bridge of Arves. 
Bridges of Laune, Moisac, Agen, etc. . 

‘ Bridge of Sevres. 
Bridge of St. Cloud. 

■frs. 

560,000 
300,000 

$,000,000 
3,000,000 
4,000,000 
1,500,000 
3,500,000 
1,100,000 
6,000,000 
5,000,000 
2,400,000 
1,000,000 
1,200,000 

700,000 
1,500,000 

350,000 
7,000,000 
2,000,000 

800,000 

frs. 

530,000 
300,000 

3,000,000 
3,000,000 
4,000,000 
1,500,000 
1,850,000 

820,000 
1,000,000 

800,000 
1,500,000 

300,000 
600,000 
500,000 
500,000 
200,000 
700,000 
800,000 
775,000 

Spent on different Bridges since 1804 . 

44,910,000 22,675,000 
7,930,000 

J • Total outlay 30,605,000 

l See also Table IV. 
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III. — UPON CANALS AND RECLAMATIONS.1 

Names of Canals, Etc. 

Estimated 
expense of the 

whole. 

--- 
Sums spent 

between 
1S04 and 1813. 

Upon Canals— 
St. Quentin. 

frs. 
11,000,000 

frs. 
10,000.000 

La Somme. 5,000,000 1,200,000 
La Haine (Mons k Condfc) . 5,000,000 3,000,000 
Seine and Aube. 15,000,000 6,000,000 
Napoleon. 17,000,000 10,500,000 
Bourgogne. ‘24,000,000 6,800,000 
Ule and Bailee. 8,000,000 5,000,000 
The Blavet. 3,300,000 2,800,000 
Nantes to Brest. 28,000,000 1,200,000 
Niort. 9,000,000 1,500,000 
Arles and Port de Bouc .... 8,500,000 3,800,000 
The Cher. 6,000,000 1,100,000 
Dieuze . 3,500,000 900,000 
The Colancelle. 

* 
2,000,000 900,000 

Draining, and Works to recover Bogs and Swamped 

Lands at — 
Rochefort. 7,000,000 3,000,000 
Carenton. 4,500,000 2,600,000 
The Scheldt. 3,200,000 2,800,000 
Blau kem berg. . 3,000,000 3,000,000 
Dikes of the River Po . 1,000,000 800,000 
Works atPerache, on tlie Sa6ne, etc. . • 4,000,000 2,000,000 

Minor Works for Canals, Draining, etc. . 
168,000,000 68,000,000 

53,687,898 

Total outlay 122,587,898 

IV.— UPON PUBLIC WORKS AT PARIS. 

Public Works. 

Estimated Sums spent 
expense of the between 

whole. 1804 and 1813. 

frs. frs. 
38,000,000 19,500.000 
13,500,000 6,700,000 
12,000,000 4,000,000 

800,000 750,000 
12,000,000 2,600,000 
8,500,000 4,000,000 
8.000,000 2,300,000 
8,000,000 1,000,000 
3,000,000 3,000,000 

900,000 900.000 
6,200,000 4,800,000 

15,000,000 11,000,000 
5,000,000 500,000 
2,500,000 2,000,000 
2,500,000 2,200,000 
2,500,000 2,500,000 
6,000,000 1,000,000 
6,000,000 1,800,000 

20,000,000 1,000,000 
8,000,000 2,000,000 
3,000,000 3,000,000 
1,500,000 1,500,000 
5,300,000 1,200.000 
9,000,000 4,500,000 
1,500,000 600,000 
1,200,000 600,000 
4,000,000 4,000,000 
3,000,000 800,000 
6,000,000 2,500,000 

212,900,000 92,250,000 
10.171,000 

102,421,000 

Canal of L’Ouicq .... 
Abattoirs (Slaughter-houses) . 
Market and Cellars for Wine . 
Market and Cellars for Corn 
The Great Market (Grande Halle) 
Market-places .... 
Granaries “ of reserve ” . 
Mills and Magazines of St. Maur 
The Bridge of Austerlitz . 
The Bridge of Arts 
The Bridge of Jena . 
Quays on the Seine 
Schools (LyctZes) .... 
Church of St. Genevieve . 
Church of St. Denis . 
Outlay on Archbishop’s Palace, etc. 
Office of Foreign Affairs . 
Post-Office (afterwards Treasury) 
Record and Archive Office .... 
Temple of Glory (Church of the Magdalen) 
Palace for the Corps Legislatif . 
The Column in the Place Vendfime 
The Obelisk of Pont Neuf . 
Triumphal Arch de l’istoile 
Statues on the Bridges and Squares 
Square of the Bastile .... 
Opening of New Streets and Squares 
Botanical Garden (Jardin des Plants) 
Exchange (Bourse) .... 

Various works not designated . 

Total outlay 

i See also Table IY, 
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Y. — UPON SEAPORTS. 

Names of Ports. 

Estimated 
expense of the 

whole. 

Sums spent 
between 

1804 and 1813. 

Port of Cherbourg 
Port of Antwerp . 
Port of Flushing . 
Port of New-Diep 
Port of Havre 
Port of Dunkirk . 
Port of Ostend, with Canal 
Port of Marseilles 
Port of St. Valery 
Port of Calais 
Port of Dieppe . 
Port of Bayonne . 
Port of Cette.... 

. 

frs. 

- 142,700,000 « 

frs. 
26,000,000 
18,000,000 
5,600,000 
1,500,000 
6,300,000 
4,500,000 
3,600,000 
1,500,000 

200,000 
500.000 

1,100,000 
430,000 
900,000 

Different works in Ports not designated .... 
142,700,000 70,130,000 

47,198,710 

Total outlay 117,328,710 

VI.—UPON DIFFERENT PUBLIC WORKS. 

Public Works. 

Estimated 
expense of the 

■whole 

Sums spent 
between 

1804 and 1813. 

Workhouses for the Poor .... . . 
Repairs of Prisons. 
Works of Napoleon-Ville, a new town in the Vendee . 
For rebuilding Houses and Churches in the West. 
Bathing Establishments. 
Works at Rome ......... 
Works at Napoleon (Morbihan). 
Orphan Houses. 
Theatre at Strasburg. 

Various Works in the Departments. 

Total outlay 

frs. 
29,000,000 
30,000,000 
12,500,000 

1,800,000 
3,600,000 
6,000,000 
1,500,000 
1,500,000 
1,200,000 

frs. 
12,000,000 
6,000,000 
7,500,000 
1,500,000 
1,500,000 
2,000,000 
1,100,000 
1,200,000 

500,000 

87,100,000 33,300,000 
115,808,550 

149,108,550 

VII.—UPON THE IMPERIAL PALACES, AND EDIFICES 
APPERTAINING TO THE CROWN. 

Names of the Palaces, etc. 

Amount of the 
projected im¬ 

provement, etc. 

Actual expen¬ 
ditures from 
1804 to 1813. 

The Louvre and Musee Napoleon. 
The Napoleon Gallery and Church. 
The Tuileries. 
Triumphal Arch in the Carrousel. 
The Palace of the King of Rome. 
Versailles. 
Water Machinery at Mlarly. 
Fontainebleau. 
Compiegne. 

frs. 
14.000,000 
36,000,000 

6,700,000 
1,400,000 

30,000,000 
6,600,000 
3,000,000 
6,242,000 
4,366,000 

frs. 
11,100,000 
10,300,000 

6,700,000 
1,400,000 
2,500,000 
5,200,000 
2,450,000 
6,242,000 
4,366,000 

10S,308,000 50,258,000 
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Abercromby, Sir Ralph, death of, ii. 45. 
Aberdeen, Lord, his negotiations at the 

Congress of Chatillon, iii. 328. 
Aboukir, destruction of the French squad¬ 

ron in the roads of, i. 146; landing of the 
Turks at, 204. 

Abrant&s, Duke of, see Junot, G-en. 
-, Duchess of, see Junot, Madame. 
Acte additionnel aux Constitutions de 

rEmpire, proclamation of, iv. 101. 
Acre, St. Jean d\ siege of, i. 182; raised, 

188. 
Addington, Mr., Chancellor of the Ex¬ 

chequer, his reply to Napoleon, ii. 66. 
Ahremberg, Prince of, his marriage, iii. 122. 
-, Mad., her marriage, iii. 122; remarks 

on, ib., n. 
Ajaccio, inhabitants of, their reception of 

Bonaparte, i. 215. 
Alberg, Due d’, proscribed by Napoleon, 

iv. 75, n. 
Albitte, M., draws up an order for arrest 

against General Bonaparte, i. 21. 
Albufera, battle of, iii. 251. 
-, Duke of, see Sucbet. 
Alexander, Emperor of Russia, his acces¬ 

sion to the throne, ii. 44; his indignation 
at the execution of the Due d’Enghien, 
242; his offers to General Moreau, 358; 
sends a flag of truce to Napoleon, iii. 5; 
augments his army, 44; hiB interview with 
Napoleon, 85; his treaty with France, 87; 
intercedes for the Duke of Mechlenburg- 
Schwerin’s restoration to his duchy, 90; 
his reception of M. Caulaincourt, 94; 
acknowledges Joseph Bonaparte King of 
Spain, 123; his interview with Napoleon at 
Erfurt, 126,128; disgusted with the treaty 
of Presburg, 183; concludes a treaty of 
peace with Turkey, 260; his offers to Ber- 
nadotte, 261; his conversation with Gen¬ 
eral Regnier, 337; favors the restoration of 
the Bourbons, 355; resides at M. de Talley¬ 
rand’s, 356; his address to the meeting 
there, 358; his declaration, 359; appoints 

M. Bourrienne Postmaster-General, 360; 
his reception of M. Caulaincourt, 362; en¬ 
joins him to return to Paris, 362; his con¬ 
versation with Napoleon’s commissioners, 
377; his evasive reply, 378; Marshal Mar- 
mont’s complaints to, 381; grants Napo- 
leon an armistice, iv. 2; prepares to depart 
from Paris, 3; prohibits the seizure of 
anything belonging to the Post-oflS.ce, 8; 
his visit to the Empress Maria Louisa, 13; 
visits the Empress Josephine, 14, n. ; ca¬ 
reer and character, 304, 305. 

Alexandria captured by the French, i. 135; 
battle of, 205; alarm of the garrison of, 
212. 

Allied army, proceeding of, at Frankfort, 
iii. 303; violation of Swiss neutrality, 
311, n.; designs in entering France, 336; 
amount of, iv. 125; served by French 
spies, 142, n.; arrangement of at Water¬ 
loo, 164, 166 ; army of occupation, 303. 

Allies, their mistake in releasing 150,000 
French prisoners, iv. 45, n.; and Bour¬ 
bons, faithleBBneBB of, to Napoleon, 73, n. 

Allix, General, his communication to the 
Emperor Napoleon, iii. 371. 

Alopceus, M., Russian Minister at Berlin, ii. 
360; at Luneburg, iii. 22; supersedes M. 
Forshmann, 25. 

Alquier, M., Ambassador at Rome, iii. 39; 
at Stockholm, 211. 

Alten, General, division under, arrives at 
Quatre Bras, iv. 151. 

Alsufieff, General, made prisoner, iii. 340. 
Amiel, Major, prisoners taken by, iii. 37; 

character of, ib. 
Amiens, conditions of the treaty of, ii. 191; 

town of, homage to Bonaparte, 197. 
Andr6, M. d*, pamphlet signed by, ii. 154; 

soothes the anger of Louis XVIII., 159. 
Andr^ossy, General, assists Perree in his 

engagement, i. 142; confirms the Due de 
Rovigo’s statement, 200; his mission to 
England, ii. 84. 

Andrieux, Colonel, ii. 180. 
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Angouleme, Due d’, arrives at Saint Jean 
deLuz, iii. 341; Napoleon’s opinion of, 
iv. 44; hastens to Bordeaux, 66; advan¬ 
cing against Napoleon, is forced to capitu¬ 
late, 300. 

-, Duchess of, Napoleon’s opinion of, iv. 
44. 

Antommarchi, Dr., attends Napoleon at St. 
Helena, iv. 341. 

Arabs, their persecution of the French 
array, i. 138; destruction of a party of, 
161. 

Arbuthnot, Mr., English Ambassador in 
Constantinople, his illness, iii. 79, n. 

Arena, M., conspiracy of, ii. 19; acct. of, 20. 
Amies d'honneur, i. 308, n. 
Arnault, Antoine Vincent, career, iv. 381, n. 
Artois, Comte d’, arrives at Vesoul, iii. 341; 

enters Paris, iv. 6, 10; hastens to Lyons, 
66. 

Atala, by M. Chateaubriand, ii. 236. 
Auerstiidt, Duke of, see Davoust. 
Auffemburg, Count, taken prisoner, ii. 399. 
Augereau, Marshal (Duke of Castiglione), 

order published by, i. 80; made the confi¬ 
dant of Napoleon, 81; appointed com¬ 
mander of German army, 86; Napoleon’s 
letter to, 87; anecdote of, ii. 52; created 
a Marshal, 266; his rencontre with Napo¬ 
leon, iv. 23; Napoleon’s letter to, express¬ 
ing dissatisfaction with him, 24, n.; Na¬ 
poleon’s opinion of, 47; refuses to rejoin 
him, 67; last days of, 260, n. 

Aune, Leon, a grenadier sergeant, Napo¬ 
leon’s letter to, i. 308. 

Austerlitz, battle of, iii. 4. 
Austria, Emperor of, see Francis II. 
-, negotiations with, i. 61, 272; date of 

her joining Allies, and declaring war 
against France, iii. 291, n. 

Austrian army, amount of, iii. 344. 
A Voice from, St. Helena, anecdote in, i. 42, 

n.; extracts from, 180, iii. 91. 
Auteuil, intrigue of, ii. 8, n. 
Avrillion, Mademoiselle d*, anecdotes re¬ 

lated by, ii. 317; her account of the 
coronation, 332; her remarks respecting 
Mademoiselle de Tascher, iii. 122, n.; re¬ 
specting Josephine, 233, n.; on Savary’s 
arrest, 270, n. 

Babeuf, M., conspiracy of, allusion to, i. 332. 
Bailleul, M., his account of the Directory’s 

sitting, i. 79. 
Baird, Sir David, i. 165, n. 
Baker, Mr., arrested at Terracina, iii. 39. 
Balcombe, Mr., a merchant of St. Helena, 

Napoleon’s residence at his house, iv. 313; 

requests the removal of the soldiers from 
315. 

-, the Misses, their conversations with 
Napoleon, iv. 314. 

Barbd Marbois, M. de, his letter to M. Bour- 
rienne, ii. 165; high character of, ib.; bis 
integrity, iii. 17; his dismissal, 19. 

Barbou, General, announces the defeat of 
the Austrian army, ii. 366. 

Bard, siege of fort of, i. 385; surrender, 388. 
Barral, M. de, his noble conduct, iii. 120. 
Barras, General, Commander-in-chief of the 

Army in the Interior, i. 35; his eulogium 
on Bonaparte, 36; orders the artillery to 
be transported to the Tuileries, 37; one of 
the Directory, 79; President of the Direc¬ 
tory, speech of, 110; his accusation against 
Bonaparte, 238; disappointed at not see¬ 
ing him, 241; Bonaparte’s accusations 
against, 247; his letter to the Council of 
Ancients, 250. 

Barth4lemy, chief of brigade, arrest of, i. 
45. 

Bassano, Duke of, see Maret. 
Bastilica, Costa de, his services to the Bona- 

parte family, iv. 380, n. 
Batty, Capt., remarks of, iv. 149, 151. 
Bauer, M,, instructs Napoleon Bonaparte in 

German, i. 10. 
Bautzen, battle of, iii. 288. 
Bavaria, made a sovereign state, iii. 187, n. 
-; Princess Augusta of, her marriage 

with Prince Eugbne, iii. 8. 
Baylen, battle of, iii. 126, n. 
Beauharnais, Eugene, Viceroy of Italy, his 

interview with Bonaparte, i. 42, n.; made 
aide-de-camp to him, 69; suppresses an 
insurrection of the Arabs, 161; sent to 
prevent the massacre at Jaffa, 176; bis 
taste for theatricals, ii. 107; adopted by 
Napoleon, iii. 9; his marriage, ib.; de¬ 
feated by the Archduke John, 164, n.; 
maintains his discipline among the Ital¬ 
ians, 271; prepares to defend Italy, 320; 
informs Napoleon of Murat’s defection, 
322; his engagement with the Austrians, 
324; erects a monument to the memory of 
the Empress Josephine, iv. 14, n.; com¬ 
pelled to evacuate Italy, 15; his solicita¬ 
tions to the Senate of Milan, ib.; his in¬ 
terview with Louis XVIII., 16, n.; last 
decade of his life, 247; his descendants, ib. 

-, Mademoiselle, niece to Josephine, her 
marriage, i. 119. 

Beaumanoir, Durosel, an emigrant, his let¬ 
ter to Napoleon, ii. 17. 

Beauvoir, General, Commandant of Mantua, 
anecdote of, i. 214. 
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Beauvoisin, M., sent from Bonaparte to the 
Pasha of Acre, i. 155. 

Becker, General, sent to guard Napoleon at 
Malmaison, iv. 209; his respect for him, 
210; letter to, from the Minister of War, 
ib.t n. 

Becquet, M., member of the Royalist com¬ 
mittee, ii. 154. 

Belgium, inhabitants of, Napoleon’s address 
to, 129, n. 

Bellard, M., proscribed by Napoleon, iv. 
75, n. 

Bellegarde, Marshal de, propositions of, iv. 
15. 

Bellerophon, surrender of Napoleon on 
board the, iv. 215. 

Belloy, Cardinal, receives the Emperor 
Napoleon at the Hotel des luvalides, ii. 
307. 

Benevento, Prince of, see Talleyrand. 
-, city of, description of, iii. 28, n. 
Bentinck, Lord W., captures Genoa, iv. 

15. 
Berg, Grand Duke of, see Bonaparte, Prince 

Charles Louis Napoleon. 
Berber, M., his intimacy with Napoleon, i. 

267. 
Bernadotte, Marshal, Prince of Ponte-Corvo, 

and King of Sweden, despatched with 
flags to Paris, i. 82; his letter to Napo¬ 
leon, 84; representations conveyed to 
Paris by, 94; resigns his situation, 228; 
Napoleon’s opinion of, ib.; his visit to 
Napoleon^ 230; his conversations with 
him, 232,245; his shrewd penetration, 234; 
anecdote of, 235; accompanies Joseph Bo¬ 
naparte to Napoleon’s house, 241; remon¬ 
strated with for not being in uniform, ib.; 
his firmness, 242; Napoleon’s remarks re¬ 
specting him, 257; pacifies La Vendee, ii. 
96; Napoleon’s injustice to him, 97; Bour- 
rienne’s advice to, 98; created a Marshal, 
266; his correspondence with M. Bour- 
rienne, 361; his letters to M. Bourrienne, 
361, iii. 53, 131; ordered to join the Em¬ 
peror, ii. 365; marches through Anspach, 
368; joins the Emperor at Saltzburg, iii. 4; 
created Prince of Ponte-Corvo, 28; Napo¬ 
leon’s dissatisfaction at his conduct, 36; 
appointed Governor of Hamburg, 43; his 
mild government, ib.; ordered to pursue 
General Blucher, 45; evacuates Bergdorff, 
54; seeks the advice of M. Bourrienne, 
62; arrives at Eylau, 79; his account of 
the affair of Braunsburg, 82; ordered to 
Copenhagen, 112; his mistrust of Roma- 
nilloB, 113; proceeds to Denmark, 116; 
returns to Hamburg, 119; receives intelli¬ 

gence of the Marquis de la Romana’s 
escape, 130; prevents the opening of let¬ 
ters, 133; disbelieves the report respect¬ 
ing Marshal Soult, 160; summoned to the 
Grand Army in Germany, 164; nominated 
Prince Royal of Sweden, 190; arrives in 
Hamburg, 197; his bulletin, it.; his inter¬ 
view with Napoleon, 199; Bourrienne’s 
advice to, 202; sets out for Sweden, 207; 
his letters to M. Bourrienne, 208; to the 
Emperor Napoleon, 209, 210, 211; Napo¬ 
leon’s overtures to, 260; rejects them, 261; 
remarks on his conduct, 262; report re¬ 
specting, 290; arrives in Paris, 388; his 
astonishment at the return of the Bour¬ 
bons, 389; his friendship for M. Bour¬ 
rienne, ib.; his designs on the throne of 
France, Metternich on, 389, n.; last half 
of his career, iv. 261. 

-, Madame, her arrival in Hamburg, iii. 
213. 

Bernard, Captain, sent on a reconnoitring 
mission, ii. 395; ordered to Illyria, 396; 
sent for to Paris, 397; his sudden promo¬ 
tion, 398; retires to the United States, ib. 

Berne, respect paid by the inhabitants of, 
to Napoleon, i. 105. 

Berri, Due de, his design of landing in 
France, ii. 227; arrives at Brussels, iv. 90. 

Berthier, General, Prince of Neufchatel, 
character of, i. 68; accompanies Napoleon 
to the department of the Seine, 111; re¬ 
marks in his narrative of the Egyptian 
expedition, 142; his dissatisfaction, 147; 
his wish to return home, 167; abandons it, 
168; anecdote of, 188; draws up a report 
respecting Jaffa, 197; returns home with 
Napoleon, 206; appointed Minister of War, 
263; superseded by Carnot, 381; Bona¬ 
parte’s letter to, ib.; concludes a conven¬ 
tion with General Melas, ii. 1; created a 
Marshal, 266; Napoleon’s observation to, 
347; urged to interest himself for M. 
Ouvrard, iii. 13; intercedes for the Prince 
Hatzfeld, 48, n.; his letter to M. Bour¬ 
rienne, 93; his letter to Marshal Mac¬ 
donald, 36S; the King of Prussia’s praises 
of, 387; his address to Louis XVHI., iv. 
36; Napoleon’s remarks respecting, 48; 
last part of his career, his fate, 260. 

Berthollet, his conversations with Napoleon, 
i. 128; assists Perr4e in his engagement, 
142; his experiments, 158; anecdote of, 
ib.; returns to France with Bonaparte, 
207; intercedes for M. Parseval Grand- 
maison, 212; Napoleon’s preference of 
his society, 294; his useful labors, ii. 198. 

Berton, M., sub principal of the College of 
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Brienne, i. 2; opposed Napoleon’s re¬ 
moval to Paris, 10; Napoleon’s visit to, ii. 
ISO; death of, 181. 

-, General, his visit to M. Bourrienne’s 
family, iv. 92. 

Bertrand, M., pamphlet imputed to, i. 41. 
-, Marshal, succeeds Marshal Marmont 

in Illyria, iii. 236; Davoust’s orders to, 
316; accompanies Napoleon to Elba, iv. 
25; summoned to Fontainebleau, 69, n.; ac¬ 
companies Napoleon to Laon, 124; his 
fidelity to him, 199; accompanies him to 
Malmaison, 207; accompanies him to Eng¬ 
land, 216; delivers Napoleon’s protest to 
Captain Maitland, 221; accompanies him 
to St. Helena, 308; Grand Marshal of Na¬ 
poleon’s household, 330; career subse¬ 
quent to Napoleon’s exile, 377, n. 

-, Madame, accompanies Napoleon to 
England, iv. 216; observation of, 308. 

Bessteres, Marshal (Duke of Istria), dis¬ 
satisfaction of, i. 147; created a Marshal, 
ii. 266; wounded at the battle of Wagram, 
iii. 204; killed at Lutzen, iv. 260. 

Beurnonville, Count, member of the Pro¬ 
visional Government, iii. 361; reproached 
by Marshal Macdonald, 375; his proscrip¬ 
tion, iv. 75, n. 

Bignon, M., representations of, ii. 361; 
career, iv. 381, n. 

Billaud, M., Consul at Stettin, iii. 46. 
Blacas, Comte de, remarks on the conduct 

of, iv. 37; confidence placed in, by Louis 
XVIII., 43; his conversation with M. 
Bourrienne, 82; Bent Ambassador to 
Naples, 22S; letters to, 237. 

Blackwell, Mr., account of, i. 350. 
Blanc, M. le, betrays General Pichegru’s 

concealment, ii. 248, n. 
Blanchet, M. de, expresses his gratitude to 

M. Bourrienne, i. 347. 
Blucher, Marshal Prince, marches to Lii- 

beck, iii. 45; taken prisoner, 49; character 
of, ib.; his confidence in the deliverance of 
Germany, 50; solicits permission to reside 
in Berlin, 51, n.; allusion to, in La Sahla’s 
report, 223; victories of, over Napoleon 
near Leipsic, 292, n.; marches to meet 
Prince Schwartzenberg, 343; his bravery 
at the battle of La Rothifere, 345; his visit 
to M. Bourrienne, 386; his conferences 
with the Duke of Wellington, iv. 124; con¬ 
centrates part of his army, 144; attacked 
atLigny, 146; his narrow escape, 147; com¬ 
pelled to retreat, 148; effects his retreat 
to Wavre, 153; his remarks to General 
Gneisenau, 158, n.; order issued by, 
ib.; marches from Wavre, 177; pursues 

the French, 184; visited by M. Bourrienne, 
231; excesses of his troops, 232. 

Bon, General, division of, marches to Alex¬ 
andria, i. 135; alarming report of, 178. 

“ Bonaparte and the Bourbons,” a mani¬ 
festo, iii. 355. 

Bonaparte, Charles, father of Napoleon, 
memorial of, i. 2. 

-, Prince Charles Louis, Napoleon, Grand 
Duke of Berg, his death, iii. 155. 

-, Christine, her amiable disposition, i. 
226. 

-, Eliza (Madame Bacciocchi), her career, 
iv. 255. 

-, Joseph, see Joseph, King of Spain. 
-, Louis, see Louis, King of Holland. 
-, Lucien, letter in the handwriting of, i. 

90; appointed President of the Council of 
Five Hundred, 235; project of, 236; his 
activity in the two councils, 239; Barras's 
letter to the Council of Ancients, read by, 
to the Council of Five Hundred, 250; his 
speech, 251; resigns the Presidency, 252; 
annals of his life, ib.t n.; his address to 
the soldiers, 253; his activity in forming 
a new government, 255; succeeds La 
Place as Minister of the Interior, 263; 
notes in his handwriting, 268; his suc¬ 
cessful speech, ii. 7; his letter to Joseph, 
8; his pamphlet, 30; reproached by Napo¬ 
leon, 31; sent as Ambassador to Madrid, 
32; supports the hereditary question, 91; 
his conversation with Josephine, 104; his 
taste for theatricals, 105; renews his in¬ 
trigues, 143; complaints against, 149; his 
quarrel with Napoleon, 267; his marriage, 
268; his account of his Mantuan interview 
with Napoleon, iii. 135, n.; invited to 
Mantua, 136; his enmity for the Beau- 
harnais, 136; his career from 1804 onward, 
iv. 249 et seq. 

-, Madame, Mother of Napoleon, her 
journey to Plombi&res, ii. 102; the latter 
part of her life, iv. 254, 255. 

-dynasty, dispersal of, iv. 242. 
-, Napoleon, see Napoleon. 
Bonnard, Marquis de, a French emigrant in 

Altona, iii. 52. 
Borghkse, Prince, introduced to Bonaparte, 

ii. 197; marries his sister Pauline, iii. 28; 
made Governor-General of department 
beyond the Alps, 122. 

-, Pauline Bonaparte, Princess of, accom¬ 
panies Napoleon to Elba, iv.' 29; visits him 
at Elba, 56; last decade of her life, 255. 

Bottot, M., secretary to Barras, i. 18; confi¬ 
dential agent of Barras, 81; despatched 
to Passeriano, 94; Napoleon’s suspicion 
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of him, ib.; his request to M. Bourrienne, 
95; bis letter to Bonaparte, 96. 

Bouligny, M., arrives at Hamburg, ii. 358. 
Boulogne, Bp. of, a French emigrant, iii. 

52. 
Bouillerie, M. de la, Intendant-G-eneral of 

the King’s household, iv. 230, n. 
Bourbon, Infante Louis de (Count of Leg¬ 

horn), travels through France, ii. 48; 
Napoleon’s opinion of, 49; enters Flor¬ 
ence, 50; his reception, ib. 

-Bourbons, during the Cent Jours, iv. 300 et 
seq.; end of, 302. 

Bourmont, General, his defection, iv. 141, 
n.y 189. 

Bournonville, General, assists Bonaparte in 
reviewing the troops, i. 243. 

JRourrienne et ses Erreurs, account of Gen¬ 
eral Pichegru's arrest in, ii. 248. 

Bourrienne, M., his intimacy with Napo¬ 
leon, i. 5; Madame de Montesson’s re¬ 
mark respecting him, 9; urged by Napo¬ 
leon to enter the army, 13; proceeds to 
Vienna, 15; repairs to Leipsic, ib.; trans¬ 
lates Kotzebue’s Menschenhass und 
Reiie, ib.; renews his intimacy with Na¬ 
poleon at Paris, 16; appointed Secretary 
of Legation at Stuttgart, 18; his name on 
the list of emigrants, ib.; exertions to get 
it erased, ib.; returns from Germany, 26; 
his friendship for Bonaparte, 28; notice 
of his arrest, 33; his interview with Na¬ 
poleon, 42; receives a letter from him, 
45; from Marmont, 47, 48, 49; repairs to 
the Venetian territory, ib.; his account 
of the insurrection of Verona, 50; rejoins 
Napoleon at Leoben, 55; placed at the 
head of his Cabinet, ib.; changes his 
name, 56; Bonaparte’s remarks to, 58; 
his extracts from a manuscript, 70; Mar¬ 
quis de Gallo’s offer to him, 95; persuaded 
to return to Paris by Napoleon, 107; his 
intimacy with Josephine, 108; accom¬ 
panies him to the different ports, 115; 
prepares for his departure for Egypt, 120; 
hires an emigrant for his servant, 124; 
arrives at Malta, 126; anecdote of, 129; 
his friendship for General Kldber, 135; 
assists Perree in his engagement against 
the Turks, 142; reaches Gizeh, ib.; Napo¬ 
leon’s remarks to, ib.; writes a letter by 
his desire, 143; his remarks to Napoleon, 
149; Napoleon’s remarks to, 160, 216; 
saves a man from the bastinado, 160; 
orders written by, 160; accompanies Na¬ 
poleon to Suez, 164; visits the Wells of 
Moses, 16'); his anecdote of Berthier, 168; 
sends a shaw I to M idame Bourrienne. ib.: 

his attention to General Caffarelli, 185; 
Napoleon’s orders to, 193; gives up his 
horses to the wounded, ib.; writes Na¬ 
poleon’s proclamations, 200; writes the 
orders for the departure of the troops to 
Alexandria, 204; returns to France with 
Napoleon, 206; intercedes for M. Parseval 
Grandmaison, 212; his justification of 
Napoleon, 220; his letter to his wife, ib.; 
endeavors to reconcile Napoleon to Jose¬ 
phine, 224; informed of Napoleon’s 
breakfasting with Bernadotte, 233; his 
visit to Barras, 240; with La Valette, 245; 
persuades Napoleon to leave the Council 
of Ancients, 248; writes Napoleon’s ad¬ 
dress to the Parisians, 254; accompanies 
him to Paris, 257; saves M. Moreau de 
Worms from banishment, 264; Napoleon’s 
orders to, 269, 287; his translations, 306; 
Napoleon’s remarks to, 318; anecdote of, 
326; ridiculous story respecting, 329; 
Prefect of Police, 333; removes to the 
Tuileries, 337; his interest for M. Defeu’s 
release, 347; thanked by his friends, ib.; 
requests the pardon of M. de Frotte, 34S; 
Napoleon’s present to, 352, 353; his inter¬ 
view with Josephine, 354; discharges her 
debts, 356; his evening promenades wuth 
Napoleon, 357; anecdote of, 360; his ob¬ 
servations on the Pont des Arts, 361; 
Napoleon’s confidence in, 365; his duties, 
ib., n.; his compliment to him, 391; re¬ 
pairs to San Giuliano, 394; writes Napo¬ 
leon’s letter to his colleagues, ii. 1; writes 
for the erasure of Durosel Beaumanoir’s 
name from the list of emigrants, 18; anec¬ 
dote of, 19; his interest for M. Tissot, 26; 
dines with Fouche, 33; Joseph Bona¬ 
parte’s treachery to, 34; Napoleon’s dis¬ 
trust of, ib.; his reconciliation, 35; in¬ 
forms him of the battle of Alexandria, 
45; appointed Councillor of State ex¬ 
traordinary, 56; anecdote of, 78; pro¬ 
poses the return of the emigrants, 79; his 
advice to General Bernadotte, 98; Napo¬ 
leon’s remarks to, 102; his quarrel with 
Napoleon, 129; tenders his resignation, 
130; accepted, ib.; persuaded to remain, 
132; Napoleon’s question to, 142; his 
affected regard for him, 162; account of 
his disgrace, 163, 166, 174, n.; M. Mene- 
val’s letters to, 169; his formal dismissal, 
171; Duroc’s letters to, ib., 172, 173; con- 

.ceals his notes, 172; his letter to Bona¬ 
parte, 173; defends himself, 174, n. ; Gen¬ 
eral Rapp’s advice to, 182; sent for by 
Napoleon, 205; M. Corvisart’s visit to, 
289; sent for bv the Emperor, 291; hurt 
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by his treatment, 300; visits the Empress 
Josephine, 301, 309; appointment given 
to him, 334; his interview with the Em¬ 
peror, 335; his instructions for Ham¬ 
burg, 337; commission to Josephine, 342; 
delivers his credentials to Senate of 
Hamburg, 356; letters from Bernadotte, 
361; from Duroc, 364; reproaches M. 
Doormann, 369; censorship of the press, 
369, n. ; difficulties of his situation, 373; 
receives a packet from Josephine, 374; 
Duroc’s letter to, 404; his functions at 
Hamburg, iii. 1; arrests Louis Loizeau, 
33; difficulties of his situation, 38; his 
new office, 39; the Emperor’s satisfaction 
at his conduct, 40; Murat’s letters to, 46; 
his advice to Napoleon, 62; furnishes 
supplies for the army, 82; his dispute 
with the Director of Customs at Ham¬ 
burg, 83; receives a letter from Josephine, 
110; Napoleon’s orders to, 111; his re¬ 
quest to the Minister for Foreign Af¬ 
fairs, 113; false reports respecting, 114; 
accused of favoring the Bourbons, 115; 
letter to, from Marshal Bernadotte, 118; 
receives a present from Jerome Bona¬ 
parte, 175; his advice to Bernadotte, 202; 
receives a letter from him, 208; returns 
to Paris, 214; Napoleon’s demand upon 
him, 215; his interview with Josephine, 
21S, 232; returns to Hamburg, 247; sends 
a report to Napoleon, 253; unfounded 
reports respecting, 254; his proposed 
mission to Switzerland, 312; declines it, 
313; anecdote of, 315; Marshal Marmont's 
remark to, 353; appointed Postmaster 
General, 360; his advice to Marmont, 
367; forwards all intercepted letters, 374; 
summoned to M. Talleyrand’s, ib.; vis¬ 
ited by General Blucher, 386; praised by 
the King of Prussia, 388; hy Louis 
XVIII-, iv. 36; dismissed from his office, 
38; his devotion to the Bourbons, 42; 
summoned to the Tuileries, 75; ap¬ 
pointed Prefect of Police, ibproscribed 
by Napoleon, ib., n.; his interviews with 
Louis XVIII., 79; with M. Blacas, 81; 
sets out for Lille, 87; interview with 
Louis XVIII., 88; his appointment at 
Hamburg, 89; connection with General 
Driesen, 93; reason for Napoleon’s suspi¬ 
cion of, 94; examination of his papers, 95; 
arrives at St. Denis, 223; his opinion of 
Fouch6’s appointment, 224; visits Marshal 
Blucher, 231; his appointments, 233; con¬ 
versation with Fouche, 234; appointed 
Minister of State, 240; under the Bour¬ 
bons 298; his sad end, 300. 

Bourrienne, Madame, her observations on 
Bonaparte, i. 31, n. / her account of her 
husband’s arrest, 33; sets off to meet him, 
221; visited by the Duchess of Mecklen¬ 
burg, iii. 31; anecdote of, 134; quits Paris, 
iv,9; remonstrates with the police agents, 
95. 

Bonvier, M., an emigrant, letter of, iii. 225. 
Brandstaten, Baron von, waits upon the 

Emperor Napoleon, iii. 72. 
Brayer, iv. 379, n. 
Brienne, battle of, iii. 339, n. 
Brueys, Admiral, orders sent to, to take 

Malta, i. 117; letter to, 122; his conversa¬ 
tions with Bonaparte, 128; anecdote of, 
129; his foresight, 133; sends for the 
French Consul, 134; his representations 
to Bonaparte, 134; blame attached to, 150. 

Bruix, Admiral, insists on Barras retiring 
from the Directory, i. 243; disobedience 
to Napoleon, ii. 313. 

Brun, M. le, Gov.-Gen. of Genoa, ii. 347; 
latter part of bis career, iv. 292. 

Brune, Marshal, at the head of the army in 
Batavia, i. 275; created a Marshal, ii. 266; 
succeeds to the government of Hamburg, 
iii. 43; bis mission to Bremen, S2; assas¬ 
sinated by Royalist mob, iv. 25, n., 271. 

Brunswick, Duke of, proposition to bring 
him to the throne, i. 230; wounded at the 
battle of Auerstixdt, iii. 35; his death, 30. 

-CEls, Duke of, movements of, iii. 168; 
reviews his troops, iv. 128. 

-, Frederick William, Duke of, arrives 
at Quatre Bras, iv. 149; killed at the battle 
of, 153; account of, *&., n. 

-, Charles William Ferdinand, Duke of, 
slain at the battle of Jena, iv. 153, n. 

Brussels, town of, state of, iv. 128; con¬ 
sternation in, 130. 

Bulow, Gen., corps commanded by, iv. 125; 
marches from Wavre, 177; his attack 
upon the village of Planclienoit, 182, 183. 

Bunny, Madame de, Napoleon's kindness 
to, iii. 4. 

Burghersh, Lord, paragraph from his Me¬ 
moir s> iii. 335, n. 

Butler, John, a spy, intrigues of, iii. 72. 

Cadore, Duke of, see Champagny, M. 
Cadoudal, Georges, his interview with Na¬ 

poleon, i. 349; conspiracy of, ii. 209; 
arrested, 216; sentenced to death, 220; 
account of bis arrest, 256; confined in the 
Temple, 257; Louis Bonaparte’s visit to, 
258; Ms fortitude, 259; his trial, 273; Mb 
firmness, 280; sentenced to death, 285; 
his executio . 287. 
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Cadudol, Jean, sentenced to death, ii. 286. 
Caffurelli, General, observations of, i. 127; 

wounded at St. Jean d’Acre, 185; liis 
death, ib.; his mission to the Pope, ii. 
323. 

Cairo, revolt of, i. 159; Napoleon’s letter to 
the Divan of, 207. 

Calder, Admiral, his engagement with the 
French squadron, ii. 351. 

Oaldiero, battle of, ii. 404. 
Cambac^res, M. (Duke of Parma), over¬ 

tures made to, by General Bonaparte, i. 
239; epitome of life, 240, n.; Second 
Consul, 261, n.; appointed Minister of 
Justice, 263; report of, 264; his remark 
respecting Si6y&s, 266, n.; his visits to 
Napoleon, 267; Bonaparte’s remark to, 
289; his procession to the Tuileries, 338; 
anecdotes of, ii. 42, n. ; opposes the Due 
d’Enghieu’s arrest, 223; anxious for 
Bonaparte to be made Emperor, 261; 
speech of, 262, 264; congratulates the 
Empress Josephine, 264; created Duke 
of Parma, iii. 28; advises peace, 272; 
named Minister of Justice, iv. 102; under 
the Bourbons, 291. 

Carabis, Madame de, accident of, i. 123, n. 
Cambridge, Duke of, caricatures of, ii. 194. 
Cambronne, Gen., his fidelity to Napoleon, 

iv. 199. 
Cameron, Colonel, killed at the battle of 

Quatre Bras, iv. 153. 
Campaign of Italy, dictated by Napoleon, 

iv. 314. 
Campaign of Egypt, iv. 314. 
Campbell, Colonel Neil, accompanies Napo¬ 

leon to Elba, iv. 19; his letter to Lord 
Castlereagh, ib.,n.; bis conversation with 
Napoleon, 53; censured for suffering Na¬ 
poleon to escape, 57, n. 

Campo-Formio, treaty of, consequences of, 
i. 99. 

Canning, Mr., his question to Lord Whit¬ 
worth, ii. 178, n.; conducts a treaty of 
peace between Turkey and Russia, iii. 
260, n. 

Canova, M., his statue of Bonaparte, ii. 109. 
Caprara, Cardinal, sent from the Pope to 

Napoleon, ii. 51; introduces Prince Bor- 
ghbse to Bonaparte, 197; departs from 
Paris, iii. 125. 

Carbon, M., execution of, ii. 29. 
Carbonnet, M., the friend of General Mo¬ 

reau, ii. 101, 214; arrested, 217; his im¬ 
prisonment, 250. 

Carnot, Napoleon’s letter to him, i. 46; 
obliged to yield to Bonaparte’s firmness, 
68; ltls letter to Bonaparte, 78; one of the 

Directory, 81; disappearance of, 83; ap¬ 
pointed War Minister, 381; reasons for 
his appointment, ib.t n. ; last quarter- 
century of his career, iv. 295. 

Caroline (Bonaparte), Queen of Naples, her 
intimacy with General Murat, i. 322; 
married to him, 325; accompanies the 
Empress Maria Louisa to Paris, iii. 191; 
her career, iv. 256. 

Carra St. Cyr, M., joins Massena, iii. 5; 
Governor of Hamburg, 276; retreats from 
Hamburg, ib. 

Casabianea, Captain of the Orient, wound¬ 
ed, i. 147. 

Castiglione, Duke of, see Augereau. 
Castlereagh, Lord, complies with Napo¬ 

leon’s request, iii. 371. 
Castres, Sabatier de, transferred to the Mili¬ 

tary College at Paris, i. 10. 
Cathcart, Lord, commands the expedition 

against Copenhagen, iii. 91; English rep¬ 
resentative at the Congress of Chatillon, 
328. 

Cattaro, Bouches du, vicissitudes of, iii. 
44, n. 

Caulaincourt, General (Duke of Vicenza), 
his remarks respecting Madame Bona¬ 
parte, i. 225; intercedes for Prince Hatz- 
feld, iii. 48, n. ; sent Ambassador to Rus¬ 
sia, 94; sent to the headquarters of the 
Allies, 304; appointed Minister for For¬ 
eign Affairs, 307; his conversation with 
M. Bourrienne, 313; anecdote of, 315; 
Bent to treat for an armistice, 325, 328; 
protracts the negotiations, 331; bisdeclara- 
tion to the Allies, 332; presents a counter 
project, 333; his letter to M. Talleyrand, 
334; sent by Napoleon to the Emperor 
Alexander, 362; his reception, ib.; returns 
to Paris, ib.; despairs of Napoleon’s re¬ 
turn, 366, n.; his conversation with him, 
372; career after Napoleon’s fall, iv. 292. 

Clavier, M., reply of, ii. 289. 
C^racchi, M., conspiracy of, ii. 19, 20. 
Ceylon, vicissitudes of, ii. 63, n. 
Chaban, Comte de, member of the Govern¬ 

ment Committee in Hamburg, iii. 24S. 
Chaboulon, M. Fleury de, his narrative of 

the battle of Waterloo, iv. 189; his account 
of Napoleon’s surrender to Captain Mait¬ 
land, 212, n. 

Chabrol, M. de, resumes the Prefecture of 
the Seine, iv. 231. 

Chaise, M. de la, Prefect of Arras, his flat¬ 
tering address to Napoleon, ii. 318. 

Chamans, Marie, epitome of life, i. 246, n. 
Chambon, Dudont de, one of Napoleon’s 

comrades, i. 4. 
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Charnbonas, M. de, patronizes M. Bour- 

rienne, i. 378. 
Champagny, M., succeeds M. Chaptal as 

Minister of the Interior, ii. 318; negotiates 
for peace, iii. 183; his letter to Bourvienne, 
214; his interview with him, 215; his 
mission to the Emperor of Austria, 383, 
384; rejoins the Empress Maria Louisa at 
Orleans, 386. 

Chanipaubert, battle of, iii. 340. 
Champ de Mai, objects of the assembly of, 

iv. 103; English account of, 117; opinions 

respecting, 118. # 
Championet, General, commander-in-chief 

of the army in Italy, i. 260. 
Chapeau Rouge, M., money paid to Napo¬ 

leon by, i. 351. 
Chaptal, M., circulars sent to, ii. 143. 
Charles IV., King of Spain, his deed of 

partnership with M. Ouvrard, iii. 16; his 
letter to the Emperor Napoleon, 101, n.; 
surrenders his rights to his son, 103; so¬ 
licits the release of Godoy, 104; renounces 
the crown, 105. 

Charles, Archduke, pursuit of, i. 53; com¬ 
mands the Austrian army in Italy, ii. 400; 
commander-in-chief of the Austrian army, 
iii. 163; concentrates his army, 165; Na¬ 
poleon’s opinion of, iv. 47. 

Chateaubriand, M. de, his Atala and Ginie 
du Christianisme, ii. 236; appointed sec¬ 
retary to Cardinal Fesch, 237 ; created 
Minister Plenipotentiary to the Valais, 
238; resigns his appointment, 239; elected 
a Member of the Institute, iii. 242; Na¬ 
poleon’s complaints against, 243; ordered 
to quit Paris, 244; publishes his Bona¬ 
parte and the Bourbons, 355; his opinion 
of Fouch^’s appointment, iv. 225. 

Chatilion-sur-Seine, Congress of, iii. 328; 
conferences at, 335. 

Chebreisse, battle of, i. 141. 
Ch4nier, M., hymn composed by, i. 110; 

Bonaparte’s dislike of, ii. 199. 
Chevreuse, Madame de, Bonaparte's re¬ 

mark to, i. 293, n.; exiled to Tours, ib., 
iv. 96, n., 97, n. 

Chevardikre, M., introduces M. Billaud to 
M. Bourrienne, iii. 46. 

Chouans, origin of the term, i. 235, n. 
Christian Augustus, death of, iii. 196. 
Clarke, General, authorized to leave the 

blockade of Mantua in a state of defence, 
i. 68; recalled, 84; sent to treat for peace, 
88; Bonaparte’s remark concerning him, 
89; made Governor of Luneville, ii. 40; 
his exactions in Berlin, iii. 118; censured 

by the King of Prussia, 387; War Minis 
ter under the Bourbons, iv. 296. 

Clausel, General, career, iv. 380, n. 
Clermont Gallerande, Marquis de, member 

of the Royalist Committee, ii. .154; his 
mission to Coblentz, 155. 

Clermont-Tonnerre, Madame de, her opinion 
of Napoleon, i. 291, n. 

Clerval, Massieu de, his marriage, iv. 233. 
Cleves, Duke of, Bee Marshal Murat. 
Clouet, Colonel, his desertion, iv. 189. 
Club of Olichy, intrigues against Bonaparte 

in, i. 62; censures Bonaparte, 77; held in 
the Rue de Clichy, 78. 

Cobentzel, Count de, confidence placed in, 
by the Emperor of Austria, i. 91; nego¬ 
tiations set on foot by, ib., ii. 40; letter 
to, 222. 

Cockburu, Admiral, respects paid to, by 
Napoleon, iv. 308; his conversations with 
him, 310; lands at St. Helena, 312; visits 
Napoleon at Briars, 317; remark of, 332. 

Code Napoleon, iii. 96; effect of, on con¬ 
quered provinces, 96, n. 

Coleridge, hounded by Napoleon, ii. 65, n. 
Colli, General, his letter to Bonaparte, i.45, 
Collot, M., generosity of, i. 261; Bonaparte’s 

ingratitude to, ib. ; bill endorsed by, 352; 
Napoleon’s reception of, 393; obtains the 
contract for victualling the army, ii. 85; 
his interview with Napoleon, ib. 

Colomboni, Colonel, Napoleon’s generosity 
to, iv. 56. 

Comminges, M. de, removed to the Military 
College at Paris, i. 10; his indecorous be¬ 
havior to Bonaparte, 106; arrests General 
Fichegru, ii. 247. 

Cond^, Prince de, proposition of, i. 70; his 
letter to General I’ichegru, 72; rejects his 
plan, 74; offer made to, ii. 223; offers his 
services to Louis XVIIL, lv. 132. 

Confederation of the Rhine, iii. 40, n. 
Consalvi, Cardinal, sent from the Pope to 

Napoleon, ii. 51. 
Constant, M. Benjamin, his remarks on 

Bonaparte, i. 281, n., 283, n.; extract from 
his memoirs, 345, n.; his conversation 
with Napoleon, iv. 105; assists him to 
draw up a new constitution, 109; his in¬ 
terview with Napoleon, 202. 

Consular governments, table of the expenses 
of, i. 302. 

Continental system of tariffs, origin and 
effect of, iii. 63. 

Copenhagen, surrenders to the English, iii. 
91; evacuated by the English, 165. 

Corbineau, General, iv. 199. 
Oornegliano, Duke of, sec Moncey. 
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Correspondant, conducted by M. Stover, 
i. 315. 

Corsin, General, Governor of Antibes, pris¬ 
oners taken by, iv. 59. 

Corvinus, Mathias, distich of, i. 99. 
Corvisart, M., physician to Napoleon, ii. 83; 

his advice to M. Bourrienne, 128; his visit 
to him, 289; opinion of M. Staps, iii. 180. 

Cossacks take possession of Hamburg, iii. 
280. 

Coster St. Victor, M., defence of, ii. 282; 
sentenced to death, 286. 

Council, The, vote on the hereditary succes¬ 
sion, ii. 261. 

Council of Ancients, decree of, i. 242; their 
address to the French people, 243; sitting 
of, 246; letter from Barras to, 249, 

Council of Five Hundred, appoints Lucien 
Bonaparte president, i. 235; agitated state 
of, 249; letter transmitted to, 250; violent 
proceedings of, against Napoleon, 251; 
dissolved by him, 253; remodelled, 255; 
decree of the new council, 256; nominates 
three Consuls, ib. 

Courant, M., sent with overtures to General 
Pichegru, i. 71; reports the Prince of 
Conde’s remarks to General Pichegru, 74. 

Craonne, battle of, iii. 341. 
Crawford, Mr., English Minister at Ham¬ 

burg, i. 350. 
Croisier, his grief at Napoleon’s treatment 

of him, i. 140; suppresses an insurrection 
of the Arabs, 161; sent to prevent the 
massacre at Jaffa, 176. 

CrusBol, Due de, proclaims the Bourbons, 
iii. 354. 

Curde, M., proposes to make Bonaparte 
Emperor, ii. 261; his motion on the hered¬ 
itary succession, 264, n. 

Cuvier, his useful labors, ii. 198. 
Cuxhaven, landing of the English at, iii. 

165. 
Ozernischeff, M., his intrigues, iii. 230; dis¬ 

guises his intentions, 231. 

Dalberg, Due, member of the Provisional 
Government, iii. 361. 

D’Allemagne, General, his bravery at the 
battle of Austerlitz, iii. 6. 

Dalmatia, Duke, see Soult. 
Damas, Colonel, commander of the fortress 

of Hamburg, iii. 164. 
Dampierre, M. Montarby de, transferred to 

the Military College at Paris, i. 10. 
Dandolo, M., Proveditore-General in Dal¬ 

matia, i. 59. 
Dantzic, siege of, iv. 16. 
-, Duke of, see Lefebvre. 

Daru, M., Comm^sary-in-chief, levies col¬ 
lected by, iii. 93. 

Daubenton, M., Bonaparte’s visit to, i. 300. 
Dautancourt, Captain, reads the Due d’En- 

ghien’s sentence, ii. 233. 
Davoust, Marshal, Duke of Auerstadt and 

Prince of Eckmuhl, one of the directors 
of the secret police, i. 328; his interview 
with Napoleon, ii. 59; commands a divis¬ 
ion at Boulogne, 228; created a Marshal, 
266; anecdote of, iii. 63; created Prince of 
Eckmuhl, 166; appointed Governor-Gen¬ 
eral of Hamburg, 225; his intrigue against 
M. Bourrienne, 227; President of the Gov¬ 
ernment Committee in Hamburg, 248; 
only an instrument in the oppression 
of the Hanse Towns, 249, n.; invades 
Swedish Pomerania, 261; promised the 
Vice-royalty of Poland, 265; unites his 
army with that of General Vandamme, 
284; his conference with the Hamburg 
deputies, 285; fortifies Hamburg, 316; 
banishes the inhabitants, 317; defence of 
his action in taking funds in order to pro¬ 
vide for his army, 319, n.; refuses to 
believe the Emperor Napoleon’s abdica¬ 
tion, iv. 16; departs from Hamburg, 17; 
in ignorance of the Restoration, iv. 17, n. ; 
order for his arrest, 79; appointed Minis¬ 
ter of War, 102; letter to, from Fouch£, 
209; his letter to General Becker, 210; 
refuses to sign it, ib., n.; last decade of 
his career, 274 et seq. 

Decazes, M., Prefect of Police, iv. 231. 
Deeres, takes his old post (Ministry of Ma¬ 

rine) under Bourbons, iv. 296. 
Defermont, M., his intimacy with Napoleon, 

i. 266. 
Defeu, M., taken prisoner, i. 346; Napo¬ 

leon’s clemency to, 347; set at liberty, ib. 
Delaforet, M., his transactions with Napo¬ 

leon, i. 398; reforms in the Post-office 
department after his removal, 398, n. 

Demerville, M., his conspiracy, ii. 20. 
Denmark, King of, receives a challenge 

from Paul 1., i. 315; his letter to the 
Duke of Mecklenburg, iii. 184. 

Denon, M., erects a monument to commem¬ 
orate the battle of Marengo, ii. 350, n.; 
searches for the remains of General De- 
saix, ib., n.; the Pope’s friendship for, iii. 
255. 

Desaix, General, his intimacy with Bona¬ 
parte, i. 76; sent to organize Egyptian 
expedition, ib., n.; his letter to, 117; sent 
to Damanhour, 136; his complaints to 
Bonaparte, ib.; mistake of his division, 
139; marches in pursuit of Mourad Bey, 
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UG; despatches a colmjm against Mourad 
Bey, 203; letter from Napoleon to, 204; 
returns from Egypt, 392; repairs to bead- 
quarters, ib.; Napoleon’s friendship for 
him, ib.; sent to Novi, 395; his bravery 
at the battle of Marengo, ib.; description 
of his death, 399; monument to his mem¬ 
ory, ii. 5; his remains deposited'in the 
church of Mount St. Bernard, 350, n. 

Desgenettes, M., physician to the French 
army, i. 200, n. 

Desmaisons, M., becomes bail for M. Bour- 
rienne, i. 34. 

-, M., one of G-eneral Moreau’s judges, 
ii. 289. 

Desoddieres, Gerard, Club of Clichy held 
at his residence, i. 78. 

Dcssolles, General, his letter to Marshal 
Marmont, iii. 367; commander of the Na¬ 
tional Guard, 375; favors the restoration 
of the Bourbons, 377; command of the 
National Guard restored to, iv. 230. 

Despeaux, Madame, her attendance upon 
the Empress Josephine, ii. 309; anecdote 
respecting, 341. 

Despont, M., professor of the College of 
Brienne, i. 8. 

Desprez, M., bis imprudent speculations, 
iii. 18; his bankruptcy, 19. 

Didelot. M., his taste for theatricals, ii. 106; 
arrives at Hamburg, iii. 91. 

Dietrichstein, Count, prisoner in France, i. 
369. 

Directory, commits the campaign of Italy 
to Bonaparte’s judgment, i. 67; accounts 
of its sittings, 79, n.; averse to the Treaty 
of Campo Forraio, 100; Flag of the Army 
of Italy, sent to, 103; disapproves of the 
expedition against Malta, 117; its submis¬ 
sion to Napoleon, 119; summons General 
Bonaparte to a private sitting, 237. 

Djezzar, Pasha of Acre, refuses his friend¬ 
ship to Bonaparte, i. 155. 

Dolgorouki, Prince, sent with a flag of truce 
to the Emperor Napoleon, iii. 5. 

Dolomieu, M., ill-treated by the Sicilians, i. 
126. 

Domingo, Saint, expedition against, ii. 67. 
Domont, General, announcement of, iv. 176. 
Doormann, M., reproached by M. Bour- 

rienne, ii. 369; his representations to M. 
Forshmanu, 370. 

Douai, Merlin of, his constant attendance 
on Napoleon, i. 118. 

Doublet, M., his complaints to Napoleon, ii. 
88. 

Drake, Mr., his instructions, ii. 270; con¬ 
spiracy of, ib. 

Dresden, battle of, iii. 291. 
Driesen, General, his friendship for Louis 

XVIII., iv. 93; conversation with M. 
Bourrienne, 94. 

Drouot, General, his reply to Napoleon, iii. 
340; pun respecting, iv. 122; his fidelity 
to Napoleon, 199; career and character, 
379, n. 

Dubois-Craned, made War Minister, i. 228. 
Duboisson, M., shelters the proscribed per¬ 

sons, ii. 258. 
Ducis, M., reports respecting, ii. 150; bis 

great talent, 198; violent verses, 199. 
Dugua, General, Bonaparte’s letters to, i. 

191, 204; his reply, 207. 
Dugomier, General, iv. 390, n. 
Dumouriez, General, supposed author of 

letters in Le Spectateur du Nord, i. 62; 
lands at Stade, iii. 3; pamphlets dissemi¬ 
nated by, 21; his vagrant life, 30. 

Dumontel, Abbd, conversations in his pres¬ 
ence, i. 70. 

Dunand, M. (Napoleon’s chef), tact of, i. 
282, n. 

Dupas, General, appointed to the command 
of Hamburg, iii. 116; his tyrannical con¬ 
duct, 117; tribunal created by, 118; sent 
to Liibeck, 119; his treatment of M. Nolt- 
ing, 120; appointed to command a division 
against Austria, 120. 

Dupont, General, appointed President of the 
Senate of Piedmont, ii. 3; his disgrace, iii. 
130. 

Dupuis, Sieur, vice-principal of the college 
of Brienue before Father Berton, i. 6. 

Dupuy, General, killed at Cairo, i. 159. 
Durazzo, M., last Doge of Genoa, offers to 

unite Genoa to France, ii. 347. 
Durfort, M., professor of the college of 

Brienne, i. 8. 
Durham, Lord, appointed Ambassador to 

Russia, iii. 260, n. 
Duroc, Marshal (Due de Frioul), epitome 

of life, i. 25, n.; declines the marriage with 
Hortense Beauharnais, 108, n.; wounded 
at St. Jean d’Acre, 186; his mission to 
the King of Prussia, 303; his conversations 
with him, ib.; one of the directors of the 
secret police, 328; his visit to the Pritanee, 
366; sent to congratulate Alexander on his 
accession, ii. 44; his attachment to Hor¬ 
tense Beauharnais, 72; married to Made¬ 
moiselle Hervas d’Alm^nara, 73, n.; letters 
to M. Bourrienne, 130, 171, 172, 173, 364, 
368 , 404; persuades him to remain with 
Napoleon, 132; his friendship for him, 
182, relates an anecdote, 196; announces 
his recall from Berlin to him, iii. 2; intro 
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duces Madame Hatzfeld to Napoleon, 47; 
intercedes for Prince llatzfeld, 48, n.; 
sent to Prussia, 56; his accident, 69; con¬ 
versation related by, 140, 144; his conver¬ 
sation with Bourrienne, 216; wounded by 
a cannon-ball, 288; his death, 293; anec¬ 
dote of, 294. 

X>utbeil, Baron, iv. 390, n. 

Ebrington, Lord, his conversation witb Na¬ 
poleon at Elba, iv. 44, 51. 

Eekmuhl, battle of, iii. 166, n. 
*——, Prince of, see Davoust. 
Egypt, expedition against, preparations for 

the, i. 116; departure of, 122; Institute of, 
formed by Bonaparte, 151. 

Einingen, M. Von, his leniency, iii. 97- 
El-Arisb, surrender of, i. 173. 
Elba, Island of, mines of, iv. 30; strategic 

value of the island to Napoleon, 73 n. 
El Bekri, festival of the birth of Mahomet 

celebrated at his house, i. 152; anecdote 
of, 158. 

Elfey Bey, headquarters established at his 
house, i. 143. 

Ellis, Mr., suggestion of, iv. 331. 
Enghien, Due d’, notice of his assassina¬ 

tion, ii. 22; his arrest, 220; sentenced to 
be shot, ib.; description of his arrest, 
230; executed, 231, 232; account of the 
trial, ib. 

England, King of, see George III. 
-, Prince Regent of, Napoleon’s letter to, 

iv. 214. 
-, arrogant policy of, i. 271; Bonaparte’s 

negotiations with, ib. ; intrigues of, ii. 3S; 
signs a treaty at Amiens, 78; uneasiness 
of, at the prosperity of France, 177; at¬ 
tacks the Dutch settlements in the West 
Indies, 181; government of, error of, 189; 
evasions of, 190; fleet of, blockades Gran¬ 
ville, 205; projected invasion of, 206; pro¬ 
posed treaty between Russia and, 363. 

Entraigues, Comte de Launay d’, his in¬ 
gratitude to Bonaparte, i. 70; manuscript 
of, ib. 

Erfurt, meeting of the Emperors of France 
and Austria at, iii. 126. 

Erlon, Comte d’, French corps commanded 
by, iv. 125; his inactivity at Quatre Bras 
and Ligny, 147, n. 

Eem^nard, M., elected a member of the In¬ 
stitute, iii, 245. 

Efiteve, M., paymaster-general, attack upon 
his house, i. 159. 

Etruria, King of, see Bourbon, Louis de. 
--, ex-Queen of, plans an escape to Eng¬ 

land, iii. 237, n. 

Ettengein, Baroness, Bonaparte’s anger 
against, ii. 222. 

European states, changes effected in, iv. 
303. 

Excelmans, Gen., hoists the tri-colored ban¬ 
ner, iv. 70. 

Executive Directory, letter to, i. 51; dis¬ 
trustful policy of, 57; orders of, to Bona¬ 
parte, 61; his letter to, 63. 

Eylau, battle of, iii. 79. 

Fain, Baron, observations of, iv. 56, «. / bis 
account of Napoleon’s attempted suicide, 
69, n. 

Fauche Borel, denies the authenticity of 
some papers, i. 70; sent with overtures to 
General Pichegru, 71; endeavors to rec¬ 
oncile Generals Moreau and Pichegru, ii. 
208; his demands upon Count Gimel, iii. 
53; embarks for London, ib. 

Faucher, Caesar, execution of, ii. 213. 
-, Constantine, execution of, ib. 
Fayette, M. de la, prisoner of state, i. 61; 

erroneous reports respecting, ii. 150. 
Feltre, Due de, observation of, iii. 272; 

named Minister of War, iv. 133. 
Ferdinand IV., King of Naples, breaks the 

treaty with France, iii. 5. 
-, Prince of the Asturias, afterwards 

Ferdinand VII. of Spain, his hatred of 
Godoy, iii. 100; accused of wishing to 
dethrone Charles IV., ib., n. ; solicits the 
support of Napoleon, 101; invited to 
Bayonne, 104; accused of favoring the 
insurrection of Madrid, 105. 

F6re Champenoise, battle of, iii. 343. 
Ferino, General, Governor of Grenoble, i. 

346. 
Ferrnont, M. de, refuses to liquidate a bill, 

i. 352. 
Ferrand, Count, appointed Director of the 

Post-office, iv. 38; his prejudices, 41, n. 
Ferri&re, Gen., wounded at Craonne, iii. 

341. 
Fersen, Count, his murder, iii. 196. 
Fesch, M., money paid to Bonaparte by, i. 

215; epitome of life, ib.,n.; receives tho 
Cardinal’s hat, ii. 120; made Archbishop 
of Lyons, ib.; appointed ambassador to 
the Holy See, 237; appointment given to, 
iii. 31; takes the part of the Pope, 250; 
his career, iv. 257. 

Flahaut, General de, his fidelity to Napo¬ 
leon, iv. 200. 

Fleuriel, Abbe, character of, iv. 42. 
Fleury, M. Cuvillier, letter to, i. 79, «. 
Florence, Marianne Bonaparte, afterwards 

Madame Bacciocchi, Grand Duchess of, 
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anecdote of, i. 3, n.; her letter to her 

brother, 81); Joseph Bonaparte’s remarks 

concerning her, 90, n.; her anger at Bo¬ 

naparte’s reconciliation with his wife, 

226; her visit to Napoleon, ii. 236. 

Foncier, M., jewels in possession of, i. 

325. 
Fontaine, M., his opinion of the projected 

Font des Arts, i. 362. 

Fontainebleau, treaty of, Baron Fain on its 

broken articles, iv. 56, n. 
Fontanes, M. de, pronounces the funeral 

eulogium on General Washington, i. 320; 

hymn in honor of Marengo, ii. 6. 

Forfait, M., Minister of Marine, i. 263. 

Forshrnann, M., intrigues of, ii. 3)14; insists 

on the insertion of an article in the <\>r- 
respondant, 370; superseded by M. Alo- 

pteus, iii. 25. 

Foscolo, Ugo, author of the Vltime .Ix'ttvrv 
di Jacopo Or Us, ii. 77, n. 

Fouche, Marshal (Duke of Otranto), his in¬ 

structions to M. Real, i. 239; epitome of 

life, 231), n.; appointed Minister of Police, 

263; discovers the secret police, 328; hiH 

dexterity, 330; his enemies, ii. 25; and 

the First Consul, a fiction disproved, ib. ; 
discovers the inventors of the infernal ma¬ 

chine, 20; his inlluenc- with Napoleon, 

112; dismissed from his office, 113; his 

manamvres to reconcile Generals Moreau 

and Pichegru, 200; his visit to Napoleon, 

210; disclosure of, 304; his conversation 

with M. Bourrienne, 352; his instructions 

to him, 350; his activity and vigilance, ill. 

73; his inquiries respecting Comte de 

Rechteren, 110; his contempt for his title, 

240; order for his arrest, iv. 70; his es¬ 

cape, 80; his own account of, ib., n.; 
placed at the head of the police, 114; his 

conversation with Napoleon, 115; singular 

declaration of, 116; his efforts against the 

liberty of the press, 117; his letters to the 

prince of Kekmuhl, 200; to the Minister 

of Marine, 210; appointed Minister of the 

Police, 224; Bcugnot on, 226, n.; char¬ 

acter of, 227; his intrigues, 220; con¬ 

versation with M. Bourrienne, 234; his 

disgrace, 235; under the Restoration, 200. 

Foudras, M., Inspector-General of the po¬ 
lice, iv. 76. 

Fourcroy, M., his useful labors, ii. 108. 

Fourrt*s, M.,his mission to the Directory, i. 
157. 

-, Madame, her intimacy with Bona¬ 
parte, i. 157. 

Fox, Mr., his intimacy with Napoleon, ii. 

100; succeeds Mr. Pitt, iii. 25; his esteem 

for Napoleon, ib. ; informs him of the de 

signs to assassinate him, 26; his allusion 

to, iv. 216. 

France, distressed state of the finances 

of, i. 26U; different governments in, iii. 

382. 

Francis II., Kmperor of Austria, letter of, 

intercepted, i. 65; his letter to General 

Bonaparte, UU; his presents to him, loo; 

; his letter to Napoleon, iii. 127; declares 

i war against the < 'onfederation of the 

Rhine, 163; declares war against Napo- 

ieon,3tiu; favors tin* overthrow of Napo¬ 

leon, 361 ; his conversation with the Due 

de Cadore, 384; arrives in Paris, iv. 11; 

visits his daughter, 13; compels Maria 

Louisa to renounce her French titles, 

112; concentrates his forces in Italy, ih. 
Frederick William, King of Prussia, his 

conversation with I >uroe, i. 3u3; with 

draws his favor from him, ii. 368; pro 

poscrt a line of neutrality, 369; threatens 

the city of Hamburg, iii. 21; determines 

on war, 34; Napoleon's duplicity towards, 

45; his letter to Bonaparte, 56; his inter- 

view with tin* Kmpcrur Napoleon, H7, 

his deception, 272; present at a meeting 

at M. Talleyrand's, 35H; reasons for his 

dislike of Napoleon, 378; his reception 

of the French generals, ::s7, visits the 

Km press .Josephine, iv. 14, n. ; Nupo 

Icon’s opinion of, 47; last half of his ea 
reer, 301. 

-, Prince Christian, his marriage, iii. 31. 

Fny’us, inhabitants of, their reception of 
Bonaparte, i. 218. 

Frioul, Dun de, see Duroe. 

Froissard, Comte de, proclaims the Hour 
hons, iii. 354. 

Frotte, <burnt Louis de, intrigues of, i. 34H, 

his execution, ib. 
Fulton, his memorial on steam.boats, Ii. 

42. 

Gaillard, M., sentenced to death, ii. gH6; 

pardoned, 287. 

Gall, Dr., his interview with the King of 
Kvveden, iii. 23. 

Gallo, Marquis di, the Austrian plenipohn 

tiary, i. bit; his offer to M, Bourrienne, 
95. 

Gambler, Admiral, squadron commanded 
by, in the Hound, iii. <>o. 

Guntheaume, returns to England with Bo 

in*parte, i.2<)8; Intercedes for M. Parsevai 

Uramlnmison, 212; Bonaparte's orders 

to, ib. ; anxiety of, 218; sent to Egypt, ii. 

57; Mm indecision, ib. 
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3arat, M., his defence of General Moreau, 
ii. 279. 

Gardanne, Gen., presented with a sabre of 

honor, ii. 4; his embassy to Persia, iii. 
80. 

Gasparin, iv. 390, n. 
Gauden, M., appointed Minister of Finance, 

i. 263; under the Bourbons, iv. 296. 

Gauthier, M., the advocate of Coster St. 

Victor, ii. 282. 

Gay, Madame, interests herself for M. 

Chateaubriand, iii. 242. 

Ghiie du Christianisme, by M. Chateau¬ 

briand, ii. 237. 

Genlis, Madame de, romance of, ii. 156; her 

letters to Bonaparte, ib. 
Genoa, Doge of, see Durazzo, M. 

-, capitulation of, i. 391; capture of, iv. 
15. 

George III., King of England, renounces 

the title of King of France, ii. 192; re¬ 

fuses Louis XVIII. permission to enter 

London, iii. 109. 

Gerard, General Count, iv. 126, 145. 

Germania, a pamphlet, iii. 91. 

Germany, effect of the destruction of the 

French ascendancy on public opinion in, 

iii. 275, n.; effect of Napoleon’s life and 

work, on unification of, iv. 374. 

Germany, Emperor of, entirely ruled by his< 

ministers, i. 270. 

Ghent, Bishop of, sent to Vincennes, iii. 

250. 

Girael, Comte de, bis journey to Carlsbad, 

ii. 360; rejects the offer of Louis Loizeau, 

iii. 32; his altercation with Fauche-Borel,- 

53. 

Girard, General, killed at the batlb* of 

Ligny, iv. 147. 
Girardin, M., endeavors to raise an insur¬ 

rection in Paris, iii. 367, n. 
Giulay, General, informs the Emperor, 

Francis of the surrender of Ulm, ii. 405; 

sent to Napoleon to solicit an armistice, 

ib. 
Giulio, a tale repeated by Napoleon, ii. 375. 

Gneisenau, General, his conversation with 

Marshal Blucher, iv. 158, n. ; observation 

of, 182, n. 
Godoy, Manuel, Prince of the Peace, his 

ascendancy over the royal family of Spain, 

iii. 100; hated by the Spaniards, ib.; per¬ 

suades Charles IV. to retire to Seville, 

102; his life in danger, ib.; under the 

protection of General Murat, 104. 

Oohier, M., deceived by General Bonaparte,' 

i. 240; Madame Bonaparte’s interest for,, 

243; waits for Barras in the hall of the 

Directory, ib.; confined in the Luxem 

bourg, 249; released, 261. 

Gonse, M., postmaster of Hamburg, plun¬ 

dered by the Cossacks, iii. 281. 

Gordon, Pryce, extract from his memoirs, 

iv. 128, n. 
Gorgaud, General, his fidelity to Napoleon, 

iv. 200; despatched to the Prince Regent, 

214; refused permission to land, 218. 

Gouvion St. Cyr, Marshal, War Minister, 

iv. 230; his career from 1812 to 1830, 266. 

Graham, General, defeats the French at 

Barrosa, iii. 237, n. 
Grandmaison, M. Parseval, his entreaties to 

return to France, i. 212. 

Grandt, Madame, life of, ii. 55, n. 
Grassini, Madame, her introduction to Bona¬ 

parte, ii. 9, n.; remark of, 348. 

Gratien, Lieutenant-General, pursues Major 

Schill, iii. 167. 

Grenoble, inhabitants of, their reception of 

Napoleon, iv. 66. 

Grenville, Lord, his reply to M. Talleyrand’s 

negotiations, i. 271. 

Gr^sieux, Adjutant-General, his fear of the 

plague, i. 176. 
Grote, Baron de, his remarks respecting 

Count Gimel, ii. 360; object of his visits 

to Bremen and Liibeck, iii. 40. 

Grouchy, General, prisoner in Austria, i. 

317; wounded at Craonne, iii. 341; French 

cavalry commanded by, iv. 126; accusa¬ 

tions against, 143,154, notes, 155; attacks 

Marshal Thielmann at Wavre, 178; re¬ 

turns to Paris, 184; end of his career, 272. 

Guastallo, Duchess of, see Princess Bor- 

gh&se. 
Guidal, General, letter to, i. 348. 

Gustavus Adolphus IV., King of Sweden, 

character of, ii. 359; Napoleon’s opinion 

of, ib., n.; bulletins of, iii. 3; arrives be¬ 

fore Hamburg, 23; declaration of, ib.; 
sends for Dr. Gall, ib.; his orders to M. 

Netzel, 58; abdicates the throne, 196. 

Haleby, Soleiman, assassinates Genei 

K16ber, ii. 11; his reasons for it, ib., n. 
Halket, Sir C., brigade under, at Quatre 

Bras, iv. 151. 

Hall, Captain Basil, opinion of Napoleon, 

iv. 330. 
Hamburg, -city of, threatened invasions of, 

iii. 24, 37; occupied by the French, 42; 

peculiarities of the inhabitants of, 134; 

smuggling in, 171; riots in, 276; evacuated 

by the French, 278; taken possession of 

by Colonel Tettenborn, 280; Senate, theii 

gratitude to Colonel Tettenborn, 282; re- 
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occupied by the French, 285; exactions 

in, 286; hostages required, 287; banish¬ 

ment of the inhabitants of, 317; seizure 

of the funds of, 318. 

Hanft, M., raises volunteers, iii. 282. 

Hanover, invaded by the French, ii. 194. 

Hanse Towns, state of, iii. 28; pacific spirit 

of the inhabitants of, 41; united to the 

French Empire, 214; disastrous effect of 

union, 248. 

Hardenberg, M. Von, interview with La 

Sahla, iii. 223. 

Harrel, M., divulges a conspiracy, ii. 20; 

appointed commandant of Vincennes, 22; 

his account of the Due d’Enghien’s death, 

231. 

Hatzfeld, Prince, his letter to the King of 

Prussia, iii. 47; arrested, ib.; accused of 

espionage, 49, n.; Napoleon’s generosity 

to, ib.; his gratitude, ib. 
-, Madame, intercedes for her husband, 

iii. 48, 49, n. 
Haugwitz, M., his letter to Baron Grote, iii. 

41. 

Hautefeuille, Bailly d’, a French emigrant 

in Altona, iii. 52. 

Hawkesbury, Lord, negotiates the prelimi¬ 

naries of peace, i. 351; remark of, ii. 61; 

consents to evacuate Malta, 65. 

H6mart, President, a regicide, ii. 280, n. 
Hervas d* Alm6nara, Mademoiselle, her mar¬ 

riage, ii. 73, n. 
Hill, Lieutenant-General Lord, army com¬ 

manded by, iv. 125. 

Hilliers,General Baraguay d’, enters Venice, 

i. 64; his brave conduct, 126. 

History of Napoleon Bonaparte, from his 
birth to his last abdication, an anony¬ 

mous publication, i. 4. 

History of the Consulate, dictated by 
Napoleon, iv. 314. 

Hoche, General, death of, i. 104. 

Hogendorff, General, appointed Governor 

of Hamburg, iii. 285; departs from that 
city, iv. 17. 

Hohenlinden, battle of, ii. 38. 

Hohenlohe, Prince, forced to capitulate at 
Prentzlau, iii. 45. 

Holland, King of, see Louis Bonaparte. 

Holstein-Augustenburg, Duke of, arrives 
at Hamburg, iii. 207. 

-, Duchess of, takes refuge in Altona, 
iii. 53. 

Horan, M.,his conversation with Napoleon, 
iv. 71. 

“ Horatius Coclfes,” representation of, i. 111. 

Hortense Beauharnais, Queen of Holland, 

her affection for Duroc, i. 108, n.; inter¬ 

cedes with Bonaparte for her mother, 22f\ 

n.; hurt by the explosion of the infernal 

machine, ii. 24, n.; her marriage, 70; re¬ 

marks on her affection for Duroc, 71; her 

taste for theatricals, 107; persuades M. 

Bourrienne to remain with Napoleon, 131; 

her conduct during the Cent Jours, iv. 
246. 

Hotbam, Sir H., introduced to Napoleon, 

iv. 215. 

Hoz, General, protects the Venetian revolu¬ 

tion, i. 52. 

Hozier, Charles d’, arrested, ii. 258; trial 

of, 273; sentenced to death, 286; par¬ 

doned, 287. 

Hue, M., false reports respecting, iii. 114; in¬ 

troduces M. Bourrienne to Louis XVIII., 

iv. 36; informs him of his appointment, 

75. 

Hulot, Madame, remark of, ii. 39; her visit 

to Malmaison, ib. 
Humboldt, Count, Prussian representative 

at the Congress of Ch&tillon, iii. 328. 

Imperial Guard, fete given by, iv. 139-140; 

extinction of, 284. 

Institute, institution so called, i. 112. 

Isle of France, iii. 25. 

Istria, Duke of, see Bessiferes. 

Italy, Viceroy of, see Beauharnais. 

Jackson, Mr., sent to negotiate with Den¬ 

mark, iii. 91. 

Jaffa, siege of, i. 176; taken by the French, 

ib. 
James, M., loans raised in Genoa through 

the medium of, i. 166. 

Jaubert, his mission to Persia, ii. 339. 

Jaucourt, Comte Francois de, member of 

the Provisional Government, iii. 361; pro¬ 

scribed by Napoleon, iv. 75; Minister of 
Marine, 230. 

Jerome (Bonaparte), King of Westphalia, 

extravagance of, ii. 84; created King of 

Westphalia, iii. 29; his correspondeuce, 

174; raises a loan in Hamburg, ib. ; reve¬ 

nue of, 362; compels the Duke of Bruns- 

| wick to evacuate Leipsic, iv. 153, n.; his 

attack upon Hougomont, 167; his career, 
251 et seq. 

John, Archduke, defeats Eugbne Beauhar¬ 
nais, iii. 164, n. 

Joinville, Prince de, put in charge of the 

expedition which brought Napoleon’s 

relics to France, iv. 369. 

Jomini, General, on General Mack, i. 318, 

n.; defection of, iii. 291; harsh treatment 

of, by Berthier, 291, n. 
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seph (Bonaparte), King of Spain, his 

Notes on Bourrienne, i. 7, n., 86, n.; 
Damage of, 29; insinuation of, 36, n.; 
objected to, as deputy for Liamone, 86; 

•emark of, 90, n.; extract from his Notes 
m Bourrienne, 109; Napoleon’s letter to, 

.44 ; persuades Bernadotte to visit his 

>rother, 230; accompanies Bernadotte to 

Bonaparte’s house, 241; on liberty of the 

>ress, 334, n. ; Lucien’s letter to, ii. 8; his 

lesign against M. Bourrienne, 33; sent to 

reat with Count Louis Cobentzel, 40; his 

peculations in the funds, 41; his Notes 
*n Bourrienne, 199; appointed Grand 

elector, 265; appointed to command a 

egiment of dragoons, 318; made King of 

Spain, lii. 105; hears of the battle of Bay- 

en, 126; resigns the crown, 307; urges 

he Empress Maria Louisa’s departure 

rom Paris, 348; his answer to the Duke 

f Ragusa, 350; his flight, 351; sums re¬ 

mitted to, by Napoleon, iv. 55; letter to, 

rom Napoleon, 188; during the Cent 
rours, and subsequently, 247, 248, 249. 

cpbine, Empress of the French, attention 

aid to, by Bonaparte, i. 32; her marriage 

dthhim,42; character of, 43; Napoleon’s 

itterto her, 46; promotes her daughter’s 

larriage with Louis Bonaparte, 108, ii. 

1; her fascinating manners, i. 123, 268; 

er serious accident, 123; Napoleon’s 

;alousy of, 170; enmity between her and 

unot, 173, n.; proceeds to Lyons to meet 

er husband, 221; Napoleon’s reception 

f her in Paris, 224; Madame Junot’s ae- 

munt of, 225, n.; her interest for M. Go- 

ier, 243; her anxiety during Napoleon’s 

bsence, 244, 251; her apartments at the 

uxembourg, 266; friendship for Murat, 

J3; promotes his marriage with Caroline 

onaparte, 324; her opinion of the secret 

Dlice, 328; official personages presented 

> her, 345; her extravagance and ambi- 

on, 355,356, ii. 344; presentiments of her 

)wnfall, 376 n.; visit to the opera, ii. 23, 

her journey to Plombi&res, 102; af- 

cted at Fouchd’s dismissal, 114; her 

ar of divorce, 115; persuades Bourrienne 

remain with Napoleon, 131; hermelan- 

soly, 146; attempts of the Royalist Com- 

ittee to gain her over, 155; her remarks 

i Madame de Genlis, 156; her account 

' Napoleon’s visit to Father Berton, 180; 

companies him to Belgium, 197; com- 

imented by M. Roquelaure, 202; bel¬ 

ief on the death of the Due d’Enghien, 

4; admires the conduct of M. Chateau- 

land, 235; congratulated as Empress by 

Cambacdr&s, 264; Bourrienne’s visits to, 

301, 309; her intended journey to Bel¬ 

gium, 310; joins Napoleon at Lacken, 

317; borrows money from M. Ouvrard.iii. 

13; the Emperor’s letter to, 48; her letter 

to Bourrienne, 110; divorced, 186; her 

foresight, 232; grief, ib.; her love of 

dress, 233; refuses to see Madame de 

Stael, ib., n.; informed of the birth of the 

King of Rome, 246, n.; visited by the 

Allied sovereigns, iv. 14; her death, ib. 
Joubert, General, presents the “Flag of the 

Army of Italy ” to the Directory, i. 103. 

Jourdan, General, dines with Bonaparte, i. 

235; pamphlet by, ii. 144; created a Mar¬ 

shal, 266; assumes the white cockade, iii. 

382; end of his career, iv. 269. 

Junot (General), Duke of Abrant&s, assists 

Perr6e in his engagement, i. 142; his con¬ 

versations with Bonaparte, 170; reason 

for his not being created a marshal, 172; 

remarks concerning him in the Duchess 

d’Abrant&s’ Memoirs, ib., n.; one of the 

directors of the secret police, 32S; foolish 

reports credited by, 329; appointed to 

command the troops in Portugal, iii. 95; 

made Governor of Portugal, 102, n. 
-, Madame, extract from her Memoirs, 

i. 3, n.; extract from her Memoirs, 6, n.; 
particulars of Napoleon related by her, 

12, n. ; her account of Bonaparte’s perse¬ 

cution by Salicetti, 21, n.; her remarks on 

Bonaparte’s poverty, 28, n.; extract from 

her Memoirs, 172, n.; her account of 

Bonaparte’s reception of Josephine, 225. 

Keats, Vice-Admiral, his communications 

with General Romana, iii. 131, n. 
Keith, Lord, extract from his order respect¬ 

ing Napoleon, iv. 217; pays his respects 

to him, 219. 
Kellerman, Marshal (Duke of Valmy), com¬ 

mand proposed to be given to him, i. 46; 

his bravery at the battle of Marengo, 395; 

dissatisfied at Napoleon’s congratulation 

of him, 396; Savary’s account of his charge 

at battle of Marengo, 397, n.; his letter to 

Lasalle, 398; appointed a general of divis¬ 

ion, ii. 4; created a Marshal, 267; cav¬ 

alry commanded by, iv. 126; his career, 

264. 
-, Madame, Napoleon’s congratulations 

to, ii. 10. 
Kempt, General, takes refuge in the square 

at Quatre Bras, iv. 151. 
Kielmansegge, General, Hanoverian brigade 

under, at Quatre Bras, iv. 151. 

Kincaid, Captain, remarks of, iv. 151. 
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Kirschner, General, killed by a cannon-ball, 

iii. 288. 
Kleber, General, division of, marches on 

Alexandria, i. 135; wounded in the attack, 

ib.; plague in his division, 181, n.; dis¬ 

content of, 184; his complaints to the 

Directory, 210; assassination of, ii. 11; 

character of, 13. 
Kohler, General, accompanies Napoleon to 

Elba, iv. 19; departs from Elba, 52. 

Konning, M., bis attempted suicide, iii. 278. 

Kray, Baron, movements of, ii. 39, n. 

Labedoy&re, Charles, remark of, iv. 42; 

rejoins Napoleon at Grenoble, iv. 61; 

character of, ib., n.; pun respecting, 122; 

his fidelity to Napoleon, 200. 
Laborde, M. Alexandre de, work of, iii. 243. 

Laborie, General, appointed Secretary to 

the Provisional Government, iii. 360. 

Lac^p&de, M. de, discourse of, ii. 308. 
Lacu^e, incurs the displeasure of Napoleon, 

ii. 293; death, ib., n. 
Lafayette, M., assertion respecting, iv. 204. 

Lafitte, M., his opinion of the proposed 

surrender of Paris, iii. 351. 

Lafond, M., his duel, ii. 359. 

Lagau, M., complaints of, iii. 82. 
Lagarde, M., Secretary-General to the Di¬ 

rectory, i. 118. 
Lagren^e, M., his friendship for General 

Pichegru, ii. 248. 
La Haye Sainte, defence of farm of, iv. 174. 

Lain6, M., accusation against, iii. 308. 

Lajolais, M., prevails on General Pichegru 

to return to France, ii. 210; sentenced to 

death, 286; pardoned, 287; error respect¬ 

ing, iii. 290, n. 
Lalande, M., his Dictionary of Atheists, 

ii. 201. 

Lallemand, General, pun respecting, iv. 122; 

refused permission to accompany Napo¬ 

leon to St. Helena, 220; career, 380, n. 

La Monarchic selon la Charte, extract 

from, iv. 225. 

L&ndoire, M., anecdotes of, ii. 19. 

Lannes, Marshal (Duke of Montebello), de¬ 

spatched to Marseilles, i. 84; accompanies 

General Bonaparte to the different ports, 

115; dissatisfaction of, 147; his rash skir¬ 

mish, 181; returns to France with Bona¬ 

parte, 207; epitome of life, 320, n.; defeats 

General Ott at Montebello, 389; his de¬ 

scription of the battle of Montebello, 392; 

sabre of honor given to, by Napoleon, 

ii. 4; presents the flags taken at Marengo 

to the Government, 6; accompanies Napo¬ 
leon to the opera, 23; anecdote of, 52; his 

quarrel with Napoleon, 125; sent to Lis., 

bon, 127; created a Marshal, 266; bold 

artifice of, 406. 
-, Madame, appointed lady of honor to 

the Empress Maria Louisa, iii. 191. 

Lanusse, General, generous conduct of, i. 

209; his remonstrances to Napoleon, ii- 

88. 
La Place, appointed Minister of the Interior, 

and succeeded by Lucien Bonaparte, i. 

263. 
Laporte, M., signs the order for General 

Bonaparte’s arrest, i. 22. 

Larochejacquelin, M., proscribed by Napo¬ 

leon, iv. 75, n. 
La Rothi&re, battle of, iii. 345. 

Larrey, Baron, iv. 378, n. 
Lasalle, General, killed at the battle of 

Wagram, iii. 205. 

Las Cases, M., despatched to the commander 

of the English squadron, iv. 211; his in¬ 

terview with Captain Maitland, 213; ac¬ 

companies Napoleon to St. Helena, 308; 

his journal, 310; his opinion of Napoleon’s 

constitution, 316; his account of Long- 

wood, 318, n.; translates the English 

newspapers to Napoleon, 321; his com¬ 

plaints against the provisions, 329; irri¬ 

tated against Sir Hudson Lowe, 332; anec¬ 

dote of Napoleon, related by, ib., n.; 
sent away from St. Helena, 337; his ca¬ 

reer, 378, n. 
Latour Foissac, General, Napoleon’s con¬ 

duct to, i. 297; taken prisoner by the 

Austrians, 304; inquiry into his conduct, 

ib.; his justification, ib. 
Lauderdale, Earl of, recalled from Paris, 

iii. 34. 

Lauer, General, examines M. Staps, iii. 181; 

his account of his execution, 182. 

Laugier, assassinated by the Venetians, i. 

64. 

Lauriston, General, arrives in London with 

the preliminaries of peace, ii. 65; anec¬ 

dotes related by, 315; his visit to M. 

Bourrienne, 320; accompanies the Em¬ 

press Maria Louisa to Paris, iii. 191; sent 

Ambassador to St. Petersburg, 251; taken 

prisoner, 299, n. 

Latour-Maubourg, M., detained prisoner at 
Olmutz, i. 61. 

Lavallette, General Count, seizes upon the 

post-office, iv. 70; his disclosures respect¬ 

ing the Emperor and Empress, 112; his 

remarks on Napoleon’s health, 124; his 

interview with him, 201, 205; his visit to 

M. Deeres, 208; returns to Napoleon, 208; 

and his Bourbon.persecutors, 297. 
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La Vend6e, war in, ii. 96; pacification of, 

ib. 
Lebrun, General, distich composed by, i. 

110; overtures made to, by G-eneral Bona¬ 

parte, 239; epitome of life, 240, ft.,* Third 

Consul, 261, ft.; his opposition to Bona¬ 

parte’s plans, 267; his procession to the 

Tuileries, 338; visits the Pritanee, 366; 

delivers Louis XVIIL’s letter to Bona¬ 

parte, ii. 160; created Arch-Treasurer, 

265; Duke of Piacenza, iii. 28. 

Leclerc, General, conducts the expedition 

against St. Domingo, ii. 67; his death, 69. 

-, Madame, her anger at Bonaparte’s 

reconciliation with his wife, i. 226, ft. 

Lecourbe, General, his friendship for Gen¬ 

eral Moreau, ii. 279. 

Lefebvre-Desnouettes, iv. 379, ft. 

-, Marshal (Duke of Dantzic), his kind¬ 

ness to General Lannes, ii. 126; created a 

Marshal, 267; end of his career, iv. 269. 

Legion of Honor, order of the, creation of, 

ii. 90. 

Legislative Body, Napoleon's speech to, iii. 

308. 

Leguille, M., professor of history, i. 10, ft. 

Leipsic, town of, taken by assault, iii. 297; 

•battle of, 298, ft. 

Lemercier, M., President of the Council of 

Ancients, i. 246; his great talent, ii. 198; 

Napoleon's kindness to, 201; refuses the 

cross of the Legion of Honor, ib.; sen¬ 

tenced to death, 286; his election to the 

Institute, iii. 245. 

Lemoine, General, army under, within the 

precincts of Paris, i. 84. 

Lenoir, M., collects the remains of Marshal 

Turenne, ii. 7. 

Leopold II., death of, i. 15. 

Ldpaux, La Rdveill&re, one of the Directory, 

i. 79, ft. 

Lepdre, M., plan drawn by, i. 166. 

Lepelletiere, F&ix, proposition of, iv. 121. 

Letort, General, Napoleon on, iv. 389, ft. 

Letourneur, Mayor of Granville, scarf of 

honor bestowed on, ii. 205. 

Liancourt, M. de, introduces vaccination 

into France, i. 368. 

Liechtenstein, Prince John of, sent by Gen¬ 

eral Melas to treat with Bonaparte, i. 399; 

negotiations for peace, iii. 183; present at 

a meeting at M. de Talleyrand’s, 358. 

Liechtenstein, Maurice, Prince, treats with 

Napoleon before Ulm, ii. 399, ft. 

Liebert, Gen. Bonaparte’s praise of, ii. 97. 

Life of Sir Thomas Picton, extract from, 

iv. 151, ft. 

Ligny, battle of, iv. 147, ft. 

Linglet, M., a member of the Council of 

Ancients, i. 247. 

Lobau, Count, reserve corps commanded 

by, iv. 126; checks the Prussians’ advance 

at Waterloo, iv. 178. 

Lodi, Duke of, see M. Melzi. 

Loizeau, Louis, offers to assassinate Napo¬ 

leon, iii. 32; arrested, 33. 

Londonderry, Marquis of, extract from his 

Narrative of the Peninsular War, iii. 

131, ft.; English representative at the 

Congress of Chatillon-sur-Seine, 328; his 

remarks respecting Napoleon, 345. 

Longwood, description of, iv. 318, ft. 

Louis (Bonaparte) King of Holland, con¬ 

veys Napoleon’s representations to Paris, 

i. 94; notice of his marriage, 108, ft.; re¬ 

turns to France, 168; presents a shawl to 

Madame Bourrienne, ib.; departs to meet 

Napoleon, 221; sent to release M. Gohier, 

261; his marriage, ii. 73; visit to the 

Temple, 258; honors conferred on, 265; 

raised to throne of Holland, iii. 31; his 

moderation, 55; orders strict observance 

of blockade, 74; his soldiers desert, 132; 

Napoleon’s letters to, 147, 148; repairs to 

Paris, 150; his letter to Napoleon, 151; 

answers to, 152,153; abdicates the throne, 

154; publishes a protest, ib.; resigns in 

favor of his children, 155; ordered to re¬ 

turn to Paris, 156; M. Otto’s letter to, ib.; 
Napoleon’s opinion of, 157, ft.; career 

from 1810 to 1S46, iv. 250-251. 

-XVI., his death, iii. 106. 

-XVIII., sends letters to the members 

of the Directory, i. 83, ft.; his remarks on 

Napoleon, 284, ft.; his letters to him, 375, 

376, ii. 159; pamphlet containing his prin¬ 

ciples, ii. 154; his letter to the King of 

Spain, 243; addresses a protest to the 

European sovereigns, 304; his declaration 

to the French people, 332; account of, 

after his departure from France, iii. 106; 

Meneval’s account of his wanderings, 107, 

ft.; refused permission to enter London, 

109; his reception in London, on his re¬ 

turn to France, iv. 35; lands at Calais, 

ib.; General Berthier’s address to, ib.; 
restores the prefecture of police, 75; 

arrives at Lille, 88; sends Bourrienne to 

Hamburg, 89; puns respecting, 104, ft.; 

declares Napoleon a traitor, 132; reviews 

his troops, ib.; his dislike of M. FouehtS, 

225; joy on his return, 229; forms a new 

Ministry, 230; appoints M. Bourrienne a 

Councillor of State, 233; his condescen¬ 

sion, 240. 

-, Baron, Minister of Finance, iv. 230. 
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Louisiana, vicissitudes of, ii. 64, n. 
Lowe, Sir Hudson, appointed Governor of 

St. Helena, iv. 322; bis interviews with 

Napoleon, ib., 323; his proclamation re¬ 

specting, 325; his quarrel with him, 327; 

his ineffectual attempts at reconciliation, 

331; remark of, 332; Napoleon’s invec¬ 

tives against, 332; Napoleon’s keeper, 

367, 7i. 

Lozier, Bouvet de, his attempted suicide, ii. 

215; sentenced to death, 285; pardoned, 

287. 
Liibeck, town of, taken by assault, iii. 37; 

riots in, 277. 
Lucchesini, Marquis de, Prussian Ambas¬ 

sador in Paris, ii. 122. 

Luneville, opening of the Congress of, ii. 

39. 

Lutzen, battle of, effect of, iii. 284, n. 
Luxembourg, Due de, proclaims the Bour¬ 

bons, iii. 354. 

-, Duchess of, a French emigrant in 

Altona, iii. 52. 

Lynch, M., his proscription, iv. 75, n. 

Lyons, inhabitants of, their reception of 

Napoleon, ii. 10. 

-, Archbishop of, see Fesch, Cardinal. 

Macara, Colonel, wounded at Quatre Bras, 

iv. 153. 

Macdonald, Marshal (Duke of Tarentum), 

offer of, to Sir Walter Scott, i. 18, n.; 
assists Napoleon in reviewing the troops, 

243; his reconciliation with Napoleon, iii. 

206; ordered to retreat from Leipsic, 297; 

presents a bulletin to Napoleon, 343; in¬ 

formed of the taking of Paris, 368; re¬ 

pairs to Fontainebleau, 369; his mission 

to the Emperor Alexander, 375; inter¬ 

views with him, 377, iv. 2; solicits an ar¬ 

mistice, iv. 2; arrives at Fontainebleau, 3; 

his conversation with Napoleon, 5; his 

noble spirit, ib.; Napoleon’s gratitude to, 

ib.; troops under his command at Melun, 

69; appointed Grand Chancellor of the 

Legion of Honor, 231; his disinterested¬ 
ness, 236; last thirty years of his career, 
262. 

Macdonell, Colonel, his bravery at the at¬ 

tack upon Hougomont, iv. 167. 

Mack, General, account of, i. 317; Napo¬ 

leon’s prophecy on, 318; sends a flag of 

truce to Napoleon, ii. 399; surrenders to 
him, 400. 

Mackinnon, Colonel, his account of the 

attack upon Hougomont, iv. 167, n. 
Mackintosh, Mr., defends M. Peltier’s 

cause, ii. 67. 

Madame de la Vallihre, romance of, ii. 156. 

Madrid, insurrection in, iii. 105. 
Magallon, M., French Consul at Alexandria, 

i. 134. 
Mahdi, a fanatic, causes an insurrection, i. 

187. 
Mahomet, festival of the birth of, i. 152. 
Maitland, Captain, his offer to Napoleon, 

iv. 213; observation of, 214, n.; receives 
Napoleon on board the JBellei'ophon, 215; 

his conversation with him, ib.; orders 

to, 217; proceeds to Lord Keith, 219; 

summoned to attend upon Lord Keith, 

221; his remarks respecting Napoleon’s 

surrender, 222. 

Malabre-Burbre, arrested, ii. 258. 
Malines, Abp. of, see Roquelaure, M. 

Mallet, General, conspiracy of, iii. 267, 268, 

ib., n. 
Malta, expedition against, i. 117; impreg¬ 

nable fortress of, 127; taken by General 

Bonaparte, ib. 
Manage Club, Napoleon’s aversion to, i. 232. 

Mantua, capitulation of, i. 68. 
Manuscrit de Sainte HSUne, statement in, 

i. 39; remarks on, 40, n. 
Marbeuf,M.de, friend of Napoleon’s mother, 

i. 3, n.; Governor of Corsica, iii. 4. 

Marchand, General, his defence of Grenoble, 

iv. 65; his narrative of the last momenta 

of Napoleon, 362. 

Marengo, battle of, i. 395. 

-, Captain, massacre of the French in hia 

vessel, i. 162. 

Marescot, General, recommends Captain 

Bernard to Napoleon, ii. 395. 

Maret, M., Duke of Bassano, anecdote of, 

ii. 40; acts of Government signed by, 123; 

his obedience to Bonaparte, 152; letter 

signed by, 265; appointed Secretary of 

State, iii. 307; career and character, iv. 

293. 

Maria Louisa, Archduchess of Austria and 

Empress of the French, remains in Vienna 

on account of ill-health, iii. 171; her mar¬ 

riage with Napoleon, 187, 191; presenta¬ 

tions to, 193; uncertainty of her Regency, 

383; sends a letter to her father, ib.; her 

proclamation to the French people, ib.; 
interest felt for, in Paris, iv. 11; her reli¬ 

ance upon her father, 12; refused permis¬ 

sion to see Napoleon, ib.; visited by her 

father, 13; her reception of the Emperor 

Alexander, 14; sets off for Vienna, ib.; 
Napoleon’s attempt to carry her off, iv. 

Ill; letter respecting, 112; her career 

after her separation from Napoleon, 242, 
243. 
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Markoff, Count, Russian Ambassador in 

Paris, ii. 122. 

Marmont, Marshal (Duke of Ragusa), his 

letters to M. Bourrienne, i. 47, 48, 49; his 

marriage, 119; his despatch to Napoleon, 

203; receives a letter from him, 204; had a 

command at Alexandria, 205, ft.; regrets 

his absence from the battle of Austerlitz, 

iii. 8; assumes the command in Portugal, 

236; captures Badajoz, 237, ft.; demands 

reinforcements, 257; retires upon Sezanne, 

343; defends Paris, 350; his remark to 

Bourrienne, 353; consents to surrender 

Paris, ib.; his defence praised by Napo¬ 

leon, ib.; his conversation with him, 364; 

persuaded to quit Napoleon’s army, 367; 

his reply to Prince Schwartzenberg, 36S; 

quells the mutiny of his soldiers, 379; an 

examination into the motives of his ac¬ 

tions, 380, n.; disapproves of the white 

cockade, 383; his complaints to the Em¬ 

peror Alexander, ib.; passes over to the 

Allies, ib., n.; and Napoleon, iv. 33, ft.; 

his proscription, 75, ft.; his advice to 

Louis XVIII., 77; scheme for preparing 

to defend the Tuileries against Napoleon, 

78, n.; the latter part of his career, 264, 
et seq. 

Mass&aa, General, made Coramander-in- 

Chief of Italy, i. 274; his defence of 

Genoa, 391; appointed to command the 

army in Italy, ii. 2; created a Marshal, 

266; prisoners taken by, at the battle of 

Caldiero, 404; remarks on, iiif 235; re¬ 

called from Portugal, 236; notice of his 

defeat at Fuentes d’Onore, 237, ft.; Napo¬ 

leon’s opinion of, iv. 47; end of his career, 

268. 

Massias, M., his conversation with Napo¬ 

leon, ii. 225. 

Maubreuil, M., important mission of, iv. 

18; and the plot of Talleyrand and the 

Provisional Government against Napo¬ 

leon, 18, ft. 

Maximilian, Archduke, defends Vienna, 

iii. 171. 

Maxwell, Mr., his account of the battle of 

Waterloo, iv. 174. 

Mecklenburg, Duchess of, visits Madame 

Bourrienne, iii. 31. 

-, Princess of, remarks on her conduct, 

iii. 184. 

- Schwerin, Duke of, his application to 

the Russian Court, iii. 31; takes refuge 

in Altona, 71; restored to his duchy, 90; 

regiment furnished by, 158. 

- Strelitz, regiment furnished by, iii. 

158. 

M^hul, M., hymns set to music by, i. 110, 

ii. 6. 
Melas, General, comparison between him 

and Napoleon, i. 388; sends a spy to the 

French lines, 389; his despatch to the 

council of Vienna intercepted, 391; ne¬ 

gotiations with Napoleon, 399; convention 

between him and General Berthier, ii. 1. 

Melzi, created Duke of Lodi, i. 59; chron¬ 

ology of life, 59, ft. 
Memoires de Constant, anecdote in, i. 42, 

ft.; extracts from, 123, ft., 281, ft., 290, ft., 

318, ft., 345, ft., ii. 9, 49, 73. 
- de Mademoiselle Avrillion, extract 

from, ii. 341. 
Memoirs of General Count Eapp, extract 

from, ii. 23, ft. 

- of Lavallette, extract from, iv. 209. 

- of Napoleon, extracts from, i. 151, n, 

152. 
-of the Duchesse d’Abranths, anecdote 

in, i. 3, n.; extract from, 172. 
- of Rovigo, extracts from, i. 205, 212, 

218, 398, ii. 163, iii. 77, ft., 102; accounts 

in, of Napoleon’s interview with Lord 

Whitworth, ii. 178, ft.; of General Piche- 

gru’s death, 254; of the marriage of Napo¬ 

leon and Maria Louisa, iii. 191; of the 

battle of Wagram, 203. 
- of the Private Life, Return, and 

Reign of Napoleon in 1815, account of 

battle of Waterloo in, iv. 189. 
-of Sir Thomas Picton, extract from, 

iv. 171, ft. 
Memorial, a journal, i. 78. 

- de Sainte H£lkne, statement in, i. 81; 

extracts from, 206, w., 305, ft., ii. 341, iii. 

87, ft.; on Madame Rdcamier and others, 

iv. 96. 

Meneval, M., description of Napoleon’s 

work-cabinet (1802), i. 342, ft.; appointed 

assistant to Bourrienne, ii. 162; his letters 

to him, 169. 

Menou, General, division of, marches to 

Alexandria, i. 135; succeeds General Ric¬ 

her in the command of the army in Egypt, 

ii. 11; his flattery to Napoleon, 58; ludi¬ 

crous description of, 60, ft.; Governor of 

Piedmont, 346. 

Merlin, M., presents the code of Napoleon, 

ii. 147; a regicide, 280, ft. 

Messoudiah, sand wells of, i. 169. 

Metternicb, Prince, on liberty of the press, 

i. 334, ft.; on Spanish affairs, iii. 100, n.; 
ambassador from Austria to Paris, 158; 

his intrigues, 159; allusion to, 224; letter 

to Baron Gagern, ib.,«.; correspondence 
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with the Duke of Bassano, 303; at¬ 

tachment to Napoleon, 385. 
Miackzinski, General, death of, i. 367. 

Michaud, General, succeeds to the govern¬ 

ment of Hamburg, iii. 43. 
Michel, M., condemned to death, iii. 253. 

Milan, Archbishop of, crowBS Napoleon 

King of Italy, ii. 348. 
Milan Senate, anecdote of, iv. 15, n. 
Milhaud, General, cavalry commanded by, 

iv. 126. 
Miollis, General, commander of the troops 

in Rome, iii. 122; retires to the Castle of 

St. Angelo, 323. 
Mole, M. de, Director-General of bridges 

and causeways, iv. 231; career and char¬ 

acter, 296. 

Monaco, Prince of, his interview with Na¬ 

poleon, iv. 60. 

Monaldeschi, M., notice of his murder, iii. 

364, n. 
Moncey, Marshal (Duke of Cornegliano), 

one of the Directors of the secret police, 

i. 328; created a Marshal, ii. 266; aban¬ 

dons bis troops, iii. 366, n.; last thirty 

years of his life, iv. 269. 

Monge, M., Napoleon’s instructor in geo¬ 

metry, i. 10, 7]b.; assists Perree in his en¬ 

gagement, 142; returns with Bonaparte 

to France, 207; Napoleon’s preference of 

his society, 294; his useful labors, ii. 198. 

Mongelas, M., Bavarian Minister, allusion 

to, iii. 224. 

Moniteur, statement in, i. 115; accounts of 

the Egyptian expedition published in, 

275. 

Montalivet, M. de, appointed Minister of 

the Interior, iii. 187; his interest for M. 

Chateaubriand, 243. 

Montchoisy, ordered to march by the Bou 

levard, i. 38. 

Montebello, battle of, i. 389. 

-, Duke of, see Lannes. 

Montesson, Madame de, visits Brienne, i. 

9; solicits the pardon of MM. de Riviere 
and de Polignac, ii. 310. 

Montessuis, M., conveys an address to 

Marshal Marmont, iii. 367. 

Montesquiou, Abbd de, secret agent of the 

Bourbons in Paris, i. 374, nmember of 

the Royalist Committee, ii. 154; waits 
upon M. Lebrun, 160; member of the Pro¬ 

visional Government, iii. 361; proscribed 

by Napoleon, iv. 75, n. 
Montgaillard, Count de, conversations of, 

i. 70; libel drawn up by, ii. 251. 

Montholon, Count de, Memoirs of, ii. 239; 

accompanies Napoleon to St. Helena 

iv. 307; career subsequent to Napoleon’s 

death, 377, n. 
-, Madame, accompanies Napoleon to 

St. Helena, iv. 307. 
Montmorin, M. de, letter of recommenda¬ 

tion to, i. 15. 
Montmorency, Cardinal, an emigrant, iii. 52. 

Mont St. Jean, position of, occupied by the 

British, iv. 164; strength of, 165. 

Moore, Sir John, killed at Corunna, iii. 

162, 92. 
Morand, General, his death, iii. 283. 
Moreau, General, his letter to Napoleon, i. 

57; forces the passage of the Rhine, ib.; 
his letter to the Directory, 84; Napoleon’s 

opinion of, 228; assists General Bona¬ 

parte in reviewing the troops, 243; his 

accordance with him, 244; prisoners in 

the custody of, 249; appointed to com¬ 

mand the armies of the Rhine, 274; gains 

the battle of Hohenlinden, ii. 38; remark 

of, ib., n.; Napoleon’s praise of him, 40; 

coolness between him and Napoleon, 101; 

his enmity to him, 208; conspiracy, 209; 

arrested, 210; his remarks to General 

Pichegru, 215; easy character of, 251; 

observation of, ib.; leniency of his treat¬ 

ment, 259; trial of, 273, 274; public inter¬ 

est excited by, 273; his letter to Napoleon, 

275; his defence, 279; respect paid to, 

280; sentenced to imprisonment, 286; 

Napoleon’s opinion of, 293; departs for 

America, 295, n.; effect of his sentence on 

the public, 299, n.; Emperor Alexander’s 

offers to, 358; refuses to support the 

Bourbons, iii. 290; account of his death, 

291, n.; his ’etter to his wife, 292, n. 
-, Madame, her visit to the Tuileries, ii. 

39; her letter to M. de Blacas, iv. 236. 

Moreau de "Worms, M., his complaints re¬ 

specting the Manage Club, i. 232; deputy 

from the Yonne, 264; charges against, 

265; named a member of the council of 
prizes, 266. 

Morellet, Abb4, intrigues of, ii. 198. 

Morfontaine, Count de, president at the 
meeting of Royalists, iii. 355. 

Morland, General, killed at the battle of 
Austerlitz, iii. 7. 

Mortier, Marshal (Duke of Treviso), invades 

Hanover, ii. 194; created a Marshal, 266; 

commander in Hanover, 356; directed to 

march on Hamburg, iii. 42; his instruc¬ 

tions, ib.; leaves it for Mecklenburg, 43; 

timber seized by, 68; retires upon Se¬ 

zanne, 343; advises Louis XVIII. to de- 
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part from Lille, iv. 89; his career from 
1814 to 1835, 270. 

Moscow, city of, burning of, iii. 267. 

Moulins, M., arrest of, i. 45; waits for 

Barras in the hall of the Directory, 243; 

accusations against, 247; confined in the 

Luxembourg, 249. 

Mourad Bey, defeated at the battle of the 

Pyramids, i. 143; his descent to the Na¬ 

tron Lakes, 202; retires into Fayoum, 203. 

Moustache, courier to Napoleon, i. 115. 

Mufflin, Gen. Baron, his mission to the 

Duke of Wellington, iv. 130. 

Murat, Marshal (afterwards King of Naples), 

dissatisfaction of, i. 147; despatched to the 

Natron Lakes, 202; Napoleon’s letter to, 

203; returns to France with Napoleon, 

207; in disgrace with Napoleon, 321; his 

acquaintance with Caroline Bonaparte, 

ib.; created Brigadier-General, 322; his 

bravery in Egypt, ib.; restored to Bona¬ 

parte’s favor, ib.; receives the command 

of the Consular Guard, 323; epitome of 

life, 323, n.; his proposal to Napoleon, 

324; his marriage, 325, ib., n.; takes pos¬ 

session of Piacenza, 389; intercepts the 

Austrian courier, 391; presented with a 

sabre of honor, ii. 4; his connection with 

the death of the Due d’Enghien, ii. 229, n.; 
created a Marshal, 266; prisoners taken 

by, at Wertingen, 399; obtains the capitu¬ 

lation of Trochtelfingen, 404; bold artifice 

of, 406; created Duke of Cleves and Berg, 

iii. 28; pursues the Prussian army, 45; 

encourages the infringement of the Con¬ 

tinental system, 60, n.; arrives at War¬ 

saw, 68; enters Madrid, 103; his wish to 

possess the crown of Spain, ib.; appointed 

King of Naples and Sicily, 105; petty 

strife of, against Napoleon, 121, n.; ar¬ 

rives in Paris, 237; his friendship forM. 

Bourrienne, ib.; follows his advice, 240; 

dines with Napoleon, 259; his defection, 

321; his relations to Napoleon, 322, n.; 
his treaty with the Austrians, 323; his 

advice as King of Naples, 323, n.; takes 

possession of Leghorn and Ancona, 325; 

his application to the court of Vienna, iv. 

85; his warlike preparations, 86, n.; de¬ 

clares war against the Allies, ib., n.; sum¬ 

mary of his career and character, 260. 

Nain Jaune (Yellow Dwarf), a political 
journal, iv. 38. 

Naples, King of, see Ferdinand IV., Murat, 
Marshal. 

Napoleon, Francis, King of Borne, birth of, 

iii. 246; character and life, iv. 242 et seq. I 

Napoleon, Emperor of the French, King 

of Italy, etc., authentic date of his birth, 

i. 1; parentage of, ib.; anecdotes of, 3, n., 
4; his reserved disposition, 5; personal 

appearance, 6; his remark concerning 

General Paoli, 7; little noticed by the 

professors, ib.; his generous conduct to 

his comrades, 8; report concerning, 9; 

opinions entertained of him, 10, trans¬ 

ferred to the Military College at Paris, 

ib.; wishes to enter navy, 10, n.; fabrica¬ 

tion concerning him, 11; Madame Junot’s 

account of him, 12, n.; addresses a memo¬ 

rial to the vice-principal, 14; advice to 

ministers, 14, n.; obtains a sub-lieuten¬ 

ancy in the artillery, 15; his poverty, 16; 

lodging in, and knowledge of London, 

16, n.; his foresight, 17; his exertions to 

procure the erasure of Bourrienne’s name 

from the list of emigrants, 18; contributes 

to the retaking of Toulon, 19; buys up 

the copies of Le Souper de Beaucaire, 

ib.; fulfils his mission at Genoa, 21; or¬ 

ders for his arrest, ib.; Madame Junot’s 

remarks on his persecution by Salicetti, 

ib., n.; his note to the national represen¬ 

tatives, 23; orders for his liberation, 24; 

dispute as to the cause of his arrest, 24, n.; 
and Salicetti, ib., n.; his acquaintance 

with Duroc, 25; returns to Paris, 26; 

refuses an appointment, ib.; struck off 

the list of officers, 27; statement as to his 

dismissal from the service for insubor¬ 

dination combated in Erreurs, 27, n.; 

his extreme poverty, 28, n.; his intimacy 

with Salicetti, 28; draws up a plan for an 

expedition to Turkey, 29; Madame de 

Bourrienne’s character of, 31; court paid 

to him, 34; second in command of the 

Army of the Interior, 35; had his horse 

killed under him on the 13th Venddmiaire, 

38; appointed Lieutenant-General of the 

Army of the Interior, 39; his marriage, 

42; domestic relations, 43, n.; receives a 

letter from General Colli, 45; his answer 

to it, ib.; letter to his wife, 46; to Bour¬ 

rienne, 48; letters to the Executive Direc¬ 

tory, 51; takes possession of the Venetian 

territory, 53; joined by Bourrienne, 55; 

his remark on the Venetian republic, 56; 

reply of the Directory to, ib.; informed 

of the co-operation of the German armies, 

57; letter to the Directory, 58; remark 

on the Venetian insurrection, ib.; takes 

up his residence at Montebello, ib.; whim¬ 

sical idea of, 59; ordered to demand the 

liberty of the prisoners at Olmutz, 61; 

bis letter to the Executive Directory, 63; 
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raws up a note respecting the affairs of 

enice, ib.; preserves it from pillage, 64; 

sues a manifesto, 65; intercepts a letter 

om Francis II., ib.; his superiority in 

ar, 67; angry at the rumors respecting 

arnot and Berthier, 68; his opinion of 

ertbier, ib.; his affection for Eugene 

eauharnais, 69; draws up a letter to be 

rnt to the Emperor of Austria, 75; bis 

•iendship for Desaix, 76; advice to the 

urectory, 78; letter to him, ib.; his re- 

uest to retire from the service, ib.; deter- 

lines to march upon Paris, 79; desirous 

f becoming one of the Directory, 80; 

lakes General Augereau his confidant, 

L; sends his aide-de-camp to Paris, 82; 

is letters to the Directory, ib., 84, 93; 

masons for selecting Augereau, 82; for 

sleeting Bernadotte, 83; letters to, 83 

E seq.; from Augereau, 83; from Berna- 

otte, 84; his joy at the result of the 18th 

'ructidor, 86; his letter to Greneral 

LUgereau, 87; his letter to the Directory, 

; remark concerning Greneral Clarke, 

8; anger at his sister Eliza’s marriage, 

9; her letter to him, ib.; letter from the 

knperor of Austria to, 90; his ideas of 

tie treaty of peace, 92; his suspicion of 

Sottot, 94; offers his resignation, 96; 

Jottot’s letter to, ib.; determines to 

aake peace, 98; disregards his instruc- 

ions, 100; presents from the Emperor of 

Lustria to, ib.; comparisons of his con- 

uct, 101; reason for his quitting-Milan, 

03; sends the flag of the array of Italy to 

he Directory, ib.; his promises to the 

uthorities of Mantua, 104; remarks re- 

pecting, ib.; surveys the field of Morat, 

05; offended at the behavior of M. de 

lomminges, 106; his arrival in Paris, 106; 

irocures the erasure of Bourrienne’s 

tame from the list of emigrants, 107; his 

igid administration, 108; his affection for 

lis daughter-in-law, ib.; preparations at 
he Luxembourg for his reception, 109; 

peech of, 110; complimented by the 
directory, ib.; banquet given to him, 

b.; respect paid to, by the managers of 

he theatres, 111; named a Member of the 

institute of the class of Sciences and 

Lrts, 112; his letter to the president, 113; 

vishes to be made a Director, ib.; his 

imbition, ib.; leaves Paris, 115; his pro- 

>osed invasion of England, ib.; abandons 

t, 116; letter concerning his projected 

expedition to the Nile, ib.; sends Pous- 

lielgue to inspect the ports of the Levant, 

L17; his exertions in the expedition against 

Malta, ib.; projects an expedition to the 

East, 118; appointed General-in-Chief of 

the army in the East, 119; his direc¬ 

tions to Bourrienne, 120; forms a camp 

library, ib.; his orthographical blunders, 

121; affair with Bernadotte, 122; letter 

to Admiral Brueys, ib.; speech to his 

soldiers, 123; his affection for his wife, 

ib.; letter to the Military Commissioners 

of the 9th division, 124; instance of his 

kindness, ib.; arrives at Malta, 126; his 

praise of General Baraguay d’Hilliers, 

ib.; his humanity, 127; quits Malta, ib.; 
his conversations on board the Orient, 
128; anecdote of him, 129; propositions 

discussed, 130; instance of his great 

humanity, 131; dictates a proclama¬ 

tion, 132; arrives at Alexandria, 134; 

resolves to disembark, ib.; his answer 

to Admiral Brueys, 135; marches on 

Alexandria, ib.; captures that city, ib.; 
directs the march of the army across the 

Bohabire’h, 136; bis description of the 

misery endured by the French troops, ib., 
n.; leaves Alexandria for Damanhour, 138; 

establishes headquarters at the residence 

of a sheik, 139; his rage at an attack of 

the Arabs, 140; battle of Chebreisse, 141; 

forces the Mamelukes to retire, ib.; estab¬ 

lishes headquarters at the house of Elfy 

Bey, 143; battle of the Pyramids, ib.; 
enters Cairo, ib.; attends to the civil and 

military organization of the country, ib.; 
letter to his brother Joseph, 144; his plan 

of colonization, ib.; orders published by, 

145; his engagement with Ibrahim Bey, 

146; anecdote of, 147, n.; distressed at 

the catastrophe of Aboukir, 148; plans 

of, ib.; censures the Directory, 149; re¬ 

covers his fortitude, ib.; establishes an 

Institute at Cairo, 151; present at the 

opening of the dyke of the canal of Cairo, 

152; attends the festival of the birth of 

Mahomet, ib.; false assertions respecting 

him, 153; bis prudent respect for the Ma¬ 

hometan religion, ib.; expressions re¬ 

specting his alleged conversion, ib.; his 

Turkish dress, 155; seeks the friendship 

of the Pasha of Acre, ib.; his intimacy 

with Madame Four^s, 157; endeavors to 

surprise the Egyptians by M. Berthollet’s 

experiments, 158; revolt of Cairo, 159; 

his orders to Sulkowsky, 160; suppresses 

the revolution, 160; his projected expe¬ 

dition to Syria, 163; letter to Tippoo Saib, 

ib.; departs for Suez, 164; inspects the 

town of Suez, ib.; passage of the Red 

Sea, 165, 166, n.; visits the Wells of 
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Moses, ib.; signs an exemption of duties 

for the convent of Sinai, ib., n.; returns 

to Suez, ib.; returns to Cairo, 166; raises 

loans through the medium of Mr. James, 

ib.; expects an invasion from the Otto¬ 

man Porte, 167; plans the expedition 

against Syria, ib.; his reconciliation to 

Berthier, 168; commences the march to 

Syria, 169; his jealousy, 170; Bourrienne’s 

reasonings to, 171; reason for his dislike 

of Junot, 172; discontent of his troops, 

173; surrender of El-Arish, ib.; rests at 

Ramleh, 174; the siege of Jaffa, 176; gives 

it up to pillage, ib.; his reproach to Beau- 

harnais and Croisier, 177; council assem¬ 

bled to determine what to do with the 

prisoners, ib.; their sentence, 179; his own 

account of the massacre, 180, n.; destruc¬ 

tion of the troops by the plague, 181; re¬ 

proaches General Lannes, 182; arrives at 

St. Jean d’Acre, ib.; siege of, ib.; his 

reproaches against Sir Sydney Smith, 183; 

his friendship for General Cafl'arelli, 185; 

raises the siege, 188; confident of success, 

189; his plans, 190; leaves St. Jean d’Acre, 

191; his letter to General Dugua, ib.; 
dreadful situation of the army, 192; his 

orders respecting the wounded, 193; loss 

of the cannon, 194; his life attempted, ib.; 
returns to Jaffa, ib.; visits the hospital, 

195; potion given to those infected with 

the plague, ib.; remark of, 196; report 

drawn up under his superintendence, 197; 

his defence of the treatment of those in¬ 

fected with the plague, 198; arrives at 

Cairo, 200; false proclamations, ib. ; hears 

of the descent of Mourad Bey, 202; his 

opinion of him, 203; leaves Cairo for the 

Pyramids, 203; his letters to Marmont, 

General Dugua, and General Desaix, 204; 

arrives at Alexandria, 205; battle of, ib.; 
his communication with the English, 206; 

determined to leave Egypt, ib.; embarks 

for France, 207; his dissimulation, ib.; 
reasons for quitting Egypt, ib.; com¬ 

munications with France while in Egypt, 

208, n.; his letter to Kleber, 210; orders 

to Admiral Gantheaume, 212; fear of the 

English, 213; his amusements, ib.; his 

reception at Ajaccio, 215; want of money, 

216; hears of the battle of Novi, ib.; 
leaves Ajaccio, 217; alarmed at the sight 

of the English squadron, ib.; enters 

France, 219; effect produced by his re¬ 

turn, 220; accusations against him, ib.; 
his ambitious views, 223; influence of 

popular applause on him, ib. ; reception 

of Josephine, 224, 225; their reconcilia¬ 

tion, 226; his opinion of Bernadotte, 228; 

of Moreau, ib.; his interview with Berna¬ 

dotte, 230; speaks against the Manege 

Club, 232; invites himself to breakfast 

with Bernadotte, 233; anecdote of, 235; 

dinner given to, by the Council of Five 

Hundred, 236; his wish to become a Di¬ 

rector, ib.; animosity between him and 

Si4y&s, 237; becomes friendly with him, 

238; Barras’s accusation against, ib.; his 

overtures to Cambacer&s and Lebrun, 

239; deceives Gohier, 240; meeting of 

generals at his house, 241; command 

of the army given to, 242; message from 

the Council of Ancients to, ib.; reviews 

the troops in the Tuileries, 243; remark 

on Bernadotte, 245; enters the Council of 

Ancients, 246; his address to them, ib.; 
leaves the hall, 248; proceeds to the 

Council of Five Hundred, 250; tumult in 

consequence, 251; dissolves it, 253; ad¬ 

dress to the inhabitants of Paris, 254; re¬ 

models the Council of Five Hundred, 255; 

appointed First Consul, 256; returns to 

Paris, 257; money paid to, by M. Collot, 

261; his ingratitude, ib.; releases M. Go¬ 

hier, ib.; installs himself in the Luxem¬ 

bourg, ib.; forms a new constitution, ib.; 
his love of integrity, 262; forms a minis¬ 

try, 263; his Minister of War, ib., n.; 
conversation respecting M. Moreau de 

Worms, 265; his kindness to him, 266; 

character of Siey&s, ib.; his apartments 

at the Luxembourg, ib.; his distribution 

of the day, 267; dread of the Bourbons, 

268; scrupulous in granting places, 269; 

remark to Bourrienne, ib.; wishes to 

make peace, 270; his negotiations with 

England, 271; with Austria, 272; their 

failure, ib.; his views in the East, 273; 

obtains possession of Kl4ber's letter to 

the Directory, 274; charges against in, 

ib.; proclamation to the army in the 

East, 275; satisfaction on account of K16- 

ber’s death, 275, n. ; falsehoods stated 

against, 276; praise of Kldber, ib., n.; 
portrait of, 277; singular habits of, 278; 

habits in dictation, 279, n,; of repose, 

280, n.; while dressing, 281, n.; at table, 

282, n.; night labors, 283, n.; his personal 

neatness, 283; love of glory, ib.; improve¬ 

ments in the Tuileries, 284, n.; his senti- 

ments towards France, 285; his ill opinion 

of mankind, 286; remarks on his temper, 

287; his character of Duroc, ib.; his sud- 

den angers, 288, n.; opinions of the mur¬ 

derers of Louis XVI., 289, n.; anecdotes 

of, 280, 290; amusements at Malmaison, 
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292; opinion of doctors and medicine, 292, 

n.; his eulogiume on Corneille, 293; want 

of gallantry, ib.; prefers the conversation 

of men of science, 294; strong feeling 

against peculation in office, 295, n.; his 

ideas of religion, 296; traits of amiability, 

297; his laws, 299; visits the prisons, 300; 

disgusted with the Directory, ib.; his 

salary, 302; despatches Duroc to Prussia, 

303; reasons for selecting him, ib.; his 

inflexible conduct towards General La- 

tour-Foissac, 304; sends players to Egypt, 

306; his singular notions, ib.; his opinion 

of Si4y&s’s avarice, 307; decree respecting 

the press, ib.; his letter to a grenadier 

sergeant, 308; wishes to reside at the 

Tuileries, 309; orders it to be fitted up, 

ib.; selects the statues, ib.; proclamation 

to the armies, 310; completes the forma¬ 

tion of the Council of State, ib.; his exer¬ 

tions to efface the Republic, 311; favors 

the revival of old amusements, ib.; reason 

for so doing, ib.; recalls the exiles, 312; 

relation between him and Paul X., 313; 

restores the Russian prisoners, ib.; his 

influence over Paul, 314; his correspond¬ 

ence with him, 315; his account of their 

alliance, 316, n.; opinion of General Mack, 

318; schemes for carrying him off, ib.; 
attempts on his life, ib., n.; his ambitious 

projects, 320; opinion of Murat, 322; con¬ 

sents to his marriage with his sister, 324; 

his present to her, 325; anecdote of, 326; 

establishes a secret police, 328; his re¬ 

marks on Junot, 330; on the secret police, 

331; under the influence of, 332; his ab¬ 

horrence of the liberties of the press, 334; 

his management of the different parties, 

335; removes from the Luxembourg, 337; 

his procession, 338; reviews the troops, 

339; enters the Tuileries, ib.; opinion of 

Talleyrand, 341; aversion to the cap of 

liberty, ib.; Ambassadors presented to, 

345; clemency to M. Defeu, 347; releases 

him, ib.; interview with Georges Cadou- 

dal, 349; his respect for the dignity of 

France, 350; contributions from Hamburg 

to, 351; his account of the dispute with 

the Senate of, ib., n.; his presents to Bour- 

rienne, 352, 353; his anger at Josephine’s 

extravagance, 355; his evening prome¬ 

nades, 357; taste for monuments, 359; his 

first improvements in Paris, 360; peti¬ 

tioned to reside at the palace of St. Cloud, 

361; orders it to be repaired, ib./ builds 

the Pont des Arts, 362; his grand schemes, 

363; improvements, 364; confidence in 

M. Bourrienne, 365; visits the Pritande, 

366; his promise to M. Miackzinski, 367', 

creates a corps of volunteers, 368; libe¬ 

rates the Austrian prisoners, 369; permits 

the revival of opera balls, ib.; handwrit¬ 

ing, 370-373; letters from Louis XVIII. 

to, 375, 376; his reply, ib.; preparations 

against Italy, 379; his foresight, 381; su¬ 

persedes General Berthier by Carnot, ib.; 
his letter to Berthier, ib.; departs from 

Paris, 382; his opinion of Alexander and 

Caesar, ib.; his clever military plans, 383; 

improvements at home, losses abroad, 384; 

confidence in the army, 385; passage of 

St. Bernard, 386; tablet in honor of, in 

Convent of Great St. Bernard, 387, n.; 
halts at Yvree, 388; comparison between 

him and General Melas, ib.; arrives at 

Milan, 389; blockades the fort of, ib.; in¬ 

terview with the Austrian spy, ib.; with 

M. Necker, 390; his remark to Bourrienne, 

ib.; receives intelligence of the capitula¬ 

tion of Genoa, 391; orders Desaix to re¬ 

pair to headquarters, 392; his reception 

of M. Collot, 393; receives intelligence of 

the arrival of the Austrians, 394; opposes 

a retreat, 395; battle of Marengo, ib.; 
regret at the death of Desaix, 396; con¬ 

gratulates General Kellerman on his brav¬ 

ery, ib.; dictates the bulletin of the battle, 

398; esteem for Desaix, 399; his negotia¬ 

tions with General Melas, ib.; makes 

Savary and Rapp his aides-de-camp, 400; 

letter to his colleagues, ii. 1; returns to 

Milan, 2; appoints Massdna commander 

of the army in Italy, ib.; appoints Gen¬ 

eral Dupont President of the Council of 

Piedmont, 3; rewards his soldiers, 4; his 

present to General Zach, 5; address on 

the opening of a new quay, 6; respect 

paid by him to the remains of Marshal 

Turenne, 7; his return to Paris, 9; arrives 

at Lyons, 10; accidents on the road, ib.; 
his desire for fame, 11; grief at Klfsber’a 

death, 13, 15; endeavors to negotiate a 

peace with England and Austria, 16; let¬ 

ter from an emigrant to, 17; conspiracy 

against, 20; visit to the opera, 21; the in¬ 

fernal machine, 22; his singular escape, 23, 

n.; imputes the invention of it to the Jac¬ 

obins, 24; congratulatory addresses to, 25; 

banishes the supposed conspirators, 27; 

the real criminals discovered, 29; his con¬ 

versation with Fouch£, 31; sends Lucien 

as Ambassador to Madrid, 32; distrust of 

M. Bourrienne, 34; their reconciliation, 35; 

incensed at the breaking of the armistice, 

36; renews hostilities, 38; battle of Hohen- 

linden, ib.; his delight on hearing of it, 39; 
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his behavior to Madame Hulot, ib.; on 
intriguing women, 40, ft.; seeks the advice 
of M. Talleyrand, 41; sends a note on the 
death of Paul the First to the Moniteur, 
43; congratulates Alexander on his acces¬ 
sion, 44; receives intelligence of the battle 
of Alexandria, 45; reception of the Count 
of Leghorn, 48; his opinion of him, 49; 
negotiations with the Pope, 51; his opin¬ 
ions on religion, 53; hears Mass at St. 
Cloud, 54; his persuasions to M. Talley¬ 
rand, 55, ft.; sends Admiral Gantheaume 
to Egypt, 57; interview with Davoust, 59; 
indignation at General Menou’s conduct, 
ib.; answers M. Otto’s despatch, 61; con¬ 
sents to the evacuation of Egypt, 63; desire 
for peace, ib.; proposition respecting 
Malta, 64; suppresses the liberty of the 
press, 65; complaints to Mr. Addington, 
66; persecutes M. Peltier, 67; sends an 
expedition against St. Domingo, ib.; his 
promises to Toussaint, 68; first symptoms 
of his malady, 69; accident at St. Cloud, 
70, ft.; his remarks on the marriage of his 
brother Louis and Hortense Beauharnais, 
71, 74; obtains the title of President of 
the Cisalpine Republic, 77; journey to 
Lyons, 76; erasures from the emigrant 
list by, 79; pleased with General Sebas- 
tiani’s conduct, 81; engages M. Corvisart 
as physician, 83; sends General Andn§ossy 
to England, 84; harassed by the extrava¬ 
gance of his brothers, 85; interview with 
M. Collot, 85; falsehoods in his bulletins, ! 
87; M. Doublet’s complaints to, 88; creates 
the order of the Legion of Honor, 89; arti¬ 
fices of, to be declared Consul for life, 91; 
dislike of Bernadotte, 95; his injustice 
towards him, 97; friendship for Mr. Fox, 
100; coolness between him and General 
Moreau, 101; remarks to Bourrienne, 102; 
reproves his brother Lucien, 105; taste 
for theatricals, 105, n.; model taken of 
him, 109; Fouchd’s influence with him, 
112; opinion of the secret police, 112; dis¬ 
misses him, 113; gives Cardinal Fesch the 
Archbishopric of Lyons, 120; satisfaction 
at the improvement of Paris, 121; juris¬ 
diction of civil and military officers under, 
124, ft.; quarrel with Lannes, 125; sends 
him to Lisbon, 127; quarrel with Bourri¬ 
enne, 129; accepts his resignation, 130; 
persuades him to remain, 132; displeased 
with the Tribunate, 135; his duplicity, 
136; publishes a decree, 138; foundation 
of the consulate for life, 141; returns to 
Malmaison, 142; remarks concerning the 
Bourbons, 143; invectives against Camille 

Jordan, 144; named Consul for life, 145; 
frames a code of laws, 147; procession to 
the Luxembourg, 148 ; reason for his 
visit, ib.; consequences of, ib.; creates 
senatorships, 150; his opinion of Fouche, 
153; of the Royalist Committee, 154; their 
offers to him, 155; his fear of the Bour¬ 
bons, 157; proposition to Louis XVIII., 
ib.; reply to, 159; his affected regard for 
Bourrienne, 162; quarrel with him, 166; 
practice of opening private letters, 167; 
formally dismisses Bourrienne, 171; re¬ 
fuses his consent for him to go to Eng¬ 
land, 172; retracts his charges against 
him, 173; his wish for war, 177; address 
to Lord Whitworth, 178; Savary’s account 
of, ib., ft.; breakfasts with Father Berton, 
180; treatment of M. Bouquet, ib.; sends 
for Bourrienne, 181; counteracts the order, 
182; journeys to the coast, 183; jealous 
of the dignity of France, 185 ; sends 
engineers to make plans of the harbors 
of the United Kingdom, 1S6, n.; studious 
of the opinion of the English people, 
187; message to the Senate, 192; compels 
the King of England to renounce the title 
of King of France, ib.; invades Hanover, 
194; orders the arrest of the English in 
France, 195; letter to the French clergy, 
ib.; their complimentary circulars to him, 
196; introduced to Prince Borgh&se, 197; 
homage paid to, by the town of Amiens, 
ib.; his hatred of literary men, 199; kind¬ 
ness to M. Lemercier, 201; his opinion 
on education, 202; complimented by M. 
Roquelaure, ib.; irritated against the 
English, 204; conversation with Bour¬ 
rienne and M. Las Cases, 206, ft.; pro¬ 
jected invasion of England, ib.; returns 
to Paris, 207; his levee, 214; arguments 
respecting the death of the Due d’En- 
ghien, 220; irritated against the emigrants. 
222; conversation with M. Massias, 224; 
threats against the emigrants, 227; gives 
orders for the execution of the Due 
d’Enghien, 233 ; his opinion of M. Cha¬ 
teaubriand, 236 ; appoints him secretary 
to Cardinal Fesch, 237; anger at his resig¬ 
nation, 239; beginning of personal hos¬ 
tility to Chateaubriand, ib. ; admiration 
for Chateaubriand’s genius, 240, n.; con¬ 
sequences of the death of the Due d’En¬ 
ghien, 242; effect of the Due d’Enghien’s 
death on his fortunes, 244-246 ; public 
opinion of him, 254; congratulations to, 
260; proposal to make him Emperor, 261; 
opinion of the title of Emperor, 262; his 
communications with the Senate, 263, 
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his reply to Cambac£rr*B’B speech, 2f»i; 
his first acta as Emperor, '205; holds a 
levee at the Tuileries, ib.; appoints Mar¬ 
shals, 26G; his quarrel with Lueien, ‘29S; 
his influence over Germany, 299; (ieneral 
Moreau’s letters to, *275 ; his dislike of 
M. Garat, 270; his opinion of (ieneral 
Moreau and his sentence, ‘280; his orders j 
to M. Corvisart, 29U ; admiration of 
Georges, 297 ; his promises to Hour- 
rienne, 300; remark respecting Louis ; 
XVlII.’s protest, 305; re-establishes the , 
Ministry of General Police, ib.; his opin- 1 
ion of festivals, 300; ceremonials at the j 
Hotel des Invalides, 307; visits the camp | 
at Boulogne, 309; reviews the troops, 314; : 
bis generous conduct, 310; destroys the ■ 
Polytechnic School, ib.; negotiatiotiH with j 
the Holy See, 318; opinion of Madame de ! 
Htael, 321 ; reception of the Pope, 3*24; ] 
indignation against England, 320 ; pre¬ 
pares for his coronation, i7>.; anecdote of, ^ 
330; address to the troops, 331; aeeonnt , 
of the coronation, 332, «.; friendly inter- , 
view with M, Bourrienne, 335; his views 1 
on Italy, 333; demands of the Pope, 315; * 
coolness between them, 3Hi; proceeds to ] 
Alessandria, ib.; Genoa united to France, 
347; crowned King of Italy, 3IK; learns 
the dissatisfaction of Austria and Russia, 
349; returns to Milan, 350; orders the 
erection of a monument in commemoration 
of the battle of Marengo, ib,; object of Ids 
journey to Boulogne, 351; reason for pre- 
serving Hanover, 350; attacks upon him, 
358; his opinion of Gustavos IV., 359, re¬ 
orders Marshal Bernadotte to join him, 
305; resentment against the King of 
Sweden, ib.; capitulation of I Jim, 307; 
indignant at a libel against him, 372; fond 
of extempore narrations, 374; relates the 
story of Giulio, 375; abolishes the revolu¬ 
tionary calendar, 392; proceeds to Htras- 
burg, 393; proclamation to the troops, 395; 
his conduct to Captain Bernard, 393; pro¬ 
motes him, 398; rapidity of his victories, 
399; his proposals to General Mack, 399, 

address to the Austrian generals, 401; 
proclamation to the army, 402; refuses an 
armistice, 405; establishes headquarters at 
Hehoenbrunn, 408; his satisfaction at M. 
Bourrienne’s services, Hi. 2; recalls Huron 
from Berlin, ib.; his kindness to Madame 
de Bunny, 4; preparations for buttle of 
Austcrlltz, 6; adopts Engine lieaubar- 
naia, 9,130; orders M. O uvrard’s arreHt, 
12; refuses him a passport, 14; returns to 
Paris, 19; dismisses M. BnrbGMarboiH, 

ih.; his esteem for Mr. Kox, 25; Ids drain* 

to possess the llanse Tow n«, 20; draw® 

enormous sums from Austria, 29; raises 

his brother Louis to the throne of Holland, 

30; commen*-eH a war with Prussia, 3.*, 

dissatisfied at Marshal Bernadotte’s con 

tha t, 30; directs Marshal Murder to take 

possession of Hamburg, 4*2; offer to Km* 

laud, 45; generosity to Prinee HaUfehl, 

40; letter to.J.ibephme, -|H; pardons Prinee 

HaUfeld, 49, rungrutulafed by the 

Senate on Ids triumphs, 5*2; his condition' 

for peace, 50,; rends Inina* to the King <>! 

Prussia, ib.; his overtures to Sweden, >», , 

mhanees to meet the Russian mni\, n< 

his ad vantages compared with Wellm;- 

ton’s, 07, it.; his proelnmation to his 

troops, Tn; his dislike of eommunn atimin 

between England and France, 73; ereatis 

the Kingdom of Saxony, 74; his Mew* in 

Poland, 75, Government at headqum U i >>, 

70; leaves Warsaw, 7s; battle of K)Iau, 

ib.; sends an embassy to Persia, ho, bis 

inter\iew with the Emperor Alcxamhi, 

s5, it,,* humoroiiH risttme of the mihtai 

talents of Emperor Alexander and the 

King of Prussia, 80, «.,* restores the pirn 

inec of Silesia to the Queen of Prussia, 

87; tleuty with Alexander, t7>,; founds 

the Kingdom of Westphalia, ; r« mat h« 
on the expedition against I hmmark,'»} n , 

return to Paris, '92; suppresses tin- Ti dm 

mate, 93; invades Portugal, 95, < ’hai U <* 

tin* I V.’s letter to him, lul, n,; sends 

troops to Hpaltt, 10*2; urriv es at Bayonne, 

19i; appoints ids brother Joseph King of 

Spain, 19a; excursions to Fontainebleau, 

119; unjust exactions. 111; (’ode of Com 

merce, 121; founds n new nobility, 121; 

aggrandizes Italy at flic expense of Home, 

1*25; interview with the Empetor of Rum 

sia, 1*27; Savary’s ueeotml of the prepara¬ 

tions for this interview, 127, n.; letter from 

the Emperor of Austria to, 128; returns 

to Paris, ib.; celebration of Ids bhlhda), 

139; journey to Venire, 13,», letter Horn 

M. de Hi aid to, 137; his interview v* tih 

him, ib.; refuses Madame de hdael pe? 

mission to return to Paris, KIM, his imo 

lives against M. Meeker, Uu. belief In the 

divine origin of power, 1 Hi, n.; ietu rs t»» 
his brother Louis, 117, 1 is, i:,j, i.yj, JU, 

ncxes Holland to the Empire, 154, ordet* 

Louis to return to France, 15b. his ojnn 

ion of him, 157, n.; raises a eomoulplmu, 

15H; MUeecsses In Spain, {92, letuum 

to Purls, ib.; sets out for Germany, in.’,, 

distrust of Bcnmdutte, HU, ins pmiic 
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tions realized, 166; on his courage, ib., n.; 
enters Ratiebon, ib.; adulatory expres¬ 
sions respecting, 173; his distrustful dis¬ 
position, 175; creates General Macdonald 
a Marshal, 176; unites the Papal states 
with the Empire, 176; hears of the battle 
of Talavera, 177; attempt to assassinate 
him, 178; his questions to Staps, 179; 
treaty of peace, 183; returns to Paris, 186; 
divorced from Josephine, ib., n.; marriage 
with Maria Louisa, 187; effect on Austria, 
187, n.; decree for burning English mer¬ 
chandise, 188; his public work decried by 
Royalists, 188, n.; particulars of his mar¬ 
riage, 191; displeased at the conduct of 
Marshal Bernadotte, 198; interview with 
him, 199; his remarks respecting him, 201; 
his illness at the battle of Wagram, 203; 
reconciled to Gen. Macdonald, 206; irri¬ 
tated with the Pope’s obstinacy, 207, n.; 
Bernadette’s letters to, 209,210,211; unites 
the Hanse Towns to the French Empire, 
214; demand upon M. Bourrienne, 215; 
refuses to see him, 217; La Sahla’s con¬ 
spiracy against him, 221; his opinion of 
the intrigue against Bourrienne, 227; his 
treatment of M. Czerniscbeff, 230; his 
dissimulation, 231; extension of the Em¬ 
pire, 233; heterogeneous character of his 
armies, 233, n.; irksome rule of foreign 
nations, 238, n.; his enmity toM. Chateau¬ 
briand, 242; birth of his son, 246; irritated 
with the Pope, 250; prepares for a war 
with Russia, 252; treaty with Austria, 
253; removes the Pope to Foutuinebleau, 
255; sets out for Dresden, 256; respect 
paid to there, ib., n.; journey to Dantzic, 
257; anecdote of, 258; seeks the alliance 
of Bernadotte, 260; his views on Poland, 
263; articles for the Moniteur dictated 
by, 264; his promises to the Poles, 266; 
Mallet’s conspiracy against, 267; abandon¬ 
ed by his Allies, 273; appoints a Regency, 
274; censures General Saint Cyr, 278; 
prepares to retake Hamburg, 282; his 
opinion of General Vandamme, 283; ap¬ 
points General Hogendorff Governor of 
Hamburg, 285; his exactions, 286; pur¬ 
sues the Russian army, 288; his faith in 
the loyalty of Austria, and its founda¬ 
tion, 288, n.; battle of Dresden, 291; his 
grief for the death of Duroc, 293; remarks 
respecting M. Bourrienne, 295; battle of 
Leipsic, 297; retreats from Leipsic, ib.; 
dreadful situation of his army, 301; nego¬ 
tiations with the Allies, 303; endeavors to 
levy troops, 306; instigates Joseph to 
resign, 307; his speech to the Legislative 

Body, 309; his offer to M. Bourrienne, 
312; informed of Murat’s defection, 321; 
advised, but refuses, to join the Jacobins, 
326; enrols the National Guard, 327; ad¬ 
dress to the officers, ib.; negotiations with 
the Allies, 332; reason for his delay, 334; 
refuses to sign the conditions, ib.; re¬ 
pulses the Prussians, 338; battle of 
Brienne, 339, n, 340; defeats the Russians 
at Champaubert, ib.; defeats Blucher at 
Craonne, 341; releases the Pope, 342; his 
reverses, ib.; amount of his army, 344; 
his courage at the battle of La Rothi&re, 
345; his subjects’ opinion of him, 346; 
marches to protect Paris, 352; surrender 
of, 353; praises Marshal Marmont’s de¬ 
fence, ib.; remarks on his increased am¬ 
bition, 356; sends Caulaincourt to the 
Emperor Alexander, 362; journey to 
Fontainebleau, 364; address to the offi¬ 
cers of his guard, 365; his designs against 
the Allies, ib.; proposes an attack upon 
Paris, 365, 369; persuaded from it, 370; 
signs his abdication, ib. ; wishes to retract 
it, 371; reconciled to Marshal Macdonald, 
373; sends Commissioners to the Emperor 
Alexander, 374; his impatience, 378; pro¬ 
test against the Prince Royal of Sweden, 
388; armistice granted to, iv. 2; signs 
the treaty of the Allies, 5; his gratitude 
to Macdonald, ib.; his reported attempt 
to poison himself, ib., n.; signs his ab¬ 
dication, 6; consents to retire to Elba, 18; 
reception of Colonel Campbell, 19; of the 
Prussian commissioner, 20; address to 
General Kohler, ib.; farewell to his 
troops, 22; journey to Elba, 23; arrives 
at Avignon, 25; his danger at La Calade, 
27; sails for Elba, 29; arrives at Porto- 
Ferrajo, 29; selects a flag for the Elbese 
Empire, 29; visits the mines, 30; revives 
the old name of his capital, 31; holds a 
Court, ib.; anecdote related by, 32; his 
rage against Marshal Marmont, 33; his 
conversation with Lord Ebrington at 
Elba, 44,51; museum of stolen art pieces, 
48, n.; unjustly reproaches Talleyrand for 
his own mistakes and crimes, 49, n.; part¬ 
ing with General Kohler, 52; conversation 
with Sir Neil Campbell, 53; curious man¬ 
oeuvre of, 53; sends sums of money to 
Joseph, 55; sails from Elba, 57; lands at 
Frejus, 59; his reception at Grasse, 60; 
his proclamations, 62; address to the 
army, 63; enters Grenoble, 65; joined by 
Marshal Key, 66; reaches Fontainebleau, 
68; account of his attempted suicide, 69, 
7i.; enters the Tuileries, 70; bis conver- 
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sation with M. Horan, 71; his list of pro¬ 
scription, 75, n.; parallel between his re¬ 
turn in 1815 from Elba, and bis return in 
1799 from Egypt, 84, n.; plans for his 
escape from Elba, 85; letter to the Duke 
de Bassano, 92; his suspicion of Bourri- 
enne, 94; persecution of women, 95; of 
Madame de Stae’l, 96; his subjects' dis¬ 
trust of, 98; and Maria Louisa, during 
the Cent Jours, 98, n.; his despatch to 
Davoust relative to Bourrienue’s embez¬ 
zlements in Hamburg, 100; his obligatory 
submission to the curb of a represen¬ 
tative government, 101; acts and de¬ 
crees of, 102; political manoeuvres, 103; 
conversation with M. Benjamin Constant, 
105; disgusted with the populace, 109; 
draws up a new constitution, ib. ; his 
ideas of a constitution, as expressed by 
Metternich, 110, nattempts to carry off 
the Empress Maria Louisa, 111; receives 
a letter from Vienna, 112; reproaches 
Fouch^, 115; his character as a constitu¬ 
tional monarch, 116; present at the cere¬ 
mony of theChamp-de-Mai, 118, n.; report 
of the journals respecting, 119; dress of 
his brothers at the ceremony, 119, n.; 
quarrel with the Legislative Body, 120; 
speech of, 121; prepares for the ensuing 
campaign, 122; trouble given him by his 
brothers with reference to their places in 
the Chamber of Peers, 122, n.; joins his 
army at Laon, 124; his state of mind at 
Waterloo, its effect on the fortune of that 
battle, 124, n.; amount of his army, 125; 
proclamation to, 127; address to the Bel¬ 
gians, 129,n.; reviews his troops, 134; dur¬ 
ing the Hundred Days, 135 el seq.; at re¬ 
view, on April 16, 135; at the Frangais, 
138; a well-turned compliment to Talma, 
ib. ; Imperial public works recommenced 
during the Hundred Days, 139; puts his 
army in motion, 141; his plans, 142; at- 
tacks the Prussians atLigny, 145; strength 
of his army at Ligny, 145, n. ; battle of 
Quatre Bras, 149; his staff at Waterloo, 
154, n.; accusations against General 
Grouchy, 155; unites with Marshal Ney, 
156; remarks respecting, 159; arrange¬ 
ment of his troops at Waterloo, 163; battle 
of Waterloo, 167; bis delay, on June 17, 
before Waterloo, 167, n.; attacks Mont 
St. Jean, 169; his admiration of the 
British army, 173; orders the Imperial 
Guard to advance, 180; address to them, 
181; observation of, 182; total rout of his 
army, 183; remarks respecting him, 184; 

escapes to Philippeville, 187; letter to his 
brother Joseph, 188; persuaded to retire 
from the Held, 200; his interview with 
Lavallette, 201; returns to Paris, 202; 
proposal for his abdication, ib. ; declara¬ 
tion to the French people, 205; act of ab¬ 
dication, 206; retires to Malmaison, 207; 
letters respecting, 209, n., 210, n. ; arrives 
at Rochefort, 211; attempts to depart for 
America, ib. ; M. Chaboulon’e account of 
his surrender, 212; disembarks at the Isle 
of Aix, 213; his letter to the Prince Re¬ 
gent, 214; embarks on board the Hello- 
rophon, ib.; his conversation with the 
officers, 216; his praise of the marines, 
ib.; orders respecting him, 217, 219; con¬ 
versation with Capt. Maitland, 2!8; in¬ 
formed of his destined exile to Kt. Helena, 
219; his companions on the voyage, 219, 
n.; his grief, 220; sends a second letter 
to the Prince Regent, ib.; his protest, 221; 
transferred to the Northumberland, 222; 
sails for St. Helena, 307; remarks re 
specting him, 308; his occupations, 309; 
commences his own Memoirs, 311; lands 
at St. Helena, 312; his temporary resi¬ 
dence at Mr. Balcombe’s, 313; his amuse¬ 
ments, 314; his power to sleep at will, 
316, n.; removes to Longwood, 317; bis 
life at Longwood, 317, n.; his apartments 
there, 318; his domestic establishment, 
319; corrects The Campaign of Italy, 
ib.; instructions for bis treatment, 320; 
admits Sir Hudson Lowe to a private 
audience, 322; his conversation with him, 
323; with Mr. O’Meara, 325; his dispute 
with Sir Hudson Lowe, 327; resolves to 
dispose of his plate,329; Ids physiognomy, 
330; comparative behavior, 331; refuses 
to acknowledge himself a prisoner, 332; 
his opinion of the title of Emperor, 332, 

I n.; his opinion of the battle of Waterloo, 
335; his opinion of Wellington, 336; laHt 
days 339; his death, 357; funeral, 360; 
history of the diamond necklace pre¬ 
sented to him by Hortense, 363, n.; his 
last words, 366, n.; bis priceless gift to 
General Bertrand, 367, n. ; his tomb at Ht. 
Helena opened, 370; bis remains reach 
France, 371; their journey to Paris, 371 
et seq. ; taken to the Invalided 372; sum¬ 
mary of his character, 374; his will, 376; 
reasons for making out the (’odicil, 386, n. 

Napoleon's Memoirs, extracts from, I. 136, 
316, n.t 351, n.f ii. 100. 

Narbonne, Comte Louis de, Napoleon's 
prepossessions in favor of, li. 266; remark 
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of, 318; witticism of, iii. 207, n.; sent 
with propositions to Prussia, 273. 

Narrative of the War in Germany and 
France, extracts from, iii. 345, 366, n. 

Narrative of the Peninsular War, extract 
from, iii. 131, n. 

National Convention, new constitution of, 
i. 34. 

Naud£, Gabriel, work of, i. 56. 
Necker, M., his interview with Napoleon, 

i. 390; Napole.on’s invectives against, iii. 
140. 

Nelson, Admiral, sails for Alexandria, i. 
128. 

Nesselrode, M., declaration of, iii. 355; 
present at a meeting at M. Talleyrand’s, 
358. 

Netzel, M.,his intercession for the Swedish 
prisoners, iii. 57; disapproves of the war 
with France, ih.; his disgrace, 58. 

Neufch&teau, Francois de, draws up an 
address for the SeuuLe, ii. 262; his address 
to Napoleon, 328. 

Neufchatel, Prince of, see Berthier. 
Ney, Marshal (Duke of Elchingen, and 

Prince of Moskowa), created a Mar¬ 
shal, ii. 266; remarks respecting, iii. 
271; refuses to give up Napoleon’s 
act of abdication, 371; repairs to Prince 
Schwartzenberg, 373; his announcement 
to Napoleon, iv. 3; his adhesion to 
the Provisional Government, 4; account 
of his return to Napoleon, 67; pun re¬ 
specting, 122; his promises to Louis 
XVIII., 133; censured for not occupy¬ 
ing Quatre Bras, 143; his engagement at 
Quatre Bras, 150; retires to Frasnes, 152; 
forms a junction with Napoleon, 156; his 
fidelity to Napoleon, 199; career and char¬ 
acter, 276 et seq. 

SToailles, M. de, advice of, i. 15; proscribed 
by Napoleon, iv. 75, n. ; appointed mem¬ 
ber of the privy council, 240. 

bolting, M., his representations to General 
Du pas, iii. 120; order for his imprison¬ 
ment revoked, ih. 

Northumberland, the, transfer of Napoleon 
from the Bellerophon to, iv. 222; sails for 
St. Helena, 307. 

Notes on JBourrienne, by Joseph Bona¬ 
parte, extracts from, i. 7, n. ; 109, n. ; ii. 
199, n. 

^ostitz, Count, his assistance to Marshal 
Blucher, iv. 158, n. 

>Tovi, battle of, i. 216. 
7ovozilzow, Baron, inserts an article in the 
Hamburg Correspondant, ii. 360. 

Ocariz, M. d", his opinion of the King of 
Sweden, ii. 358. 

Ochkirchen, battle of, iii. 288. 
Oertzen, M., his visit to Napoleon, iii. 72. 
Olmiitz, prisoners of state at, i. 61. 
O’Meara, Mr., his conversation with Napo¬ 

leon, iv. 325; statement of, ii. 225; re¬ 
moved from St. Helena, iv. 340. 

Ompteda, Colonel, German Legion under, 
at Quatre Bras, iv. 151. 

Orange, Prince of, army commanded by, 
iv. 125. 

Ordener, General, arrests the Due d’En- 
ghien, ii. 230. 

Orgon, Mayor of, his hatred of Napoleon, 
iv. 26. 

Origin and Services of the Coldstream 
Guards, extracts from, iv. 169, n. 

Orleans, Duke of, visits Brienne, i. 8; notice 
of his arrest, 268, n. 

Oswald, Sieur, accusation against, iii. 282. 
Otto, M., obtains the enlargement of Nap- 

per Tandy, i. 351; negotiates for the ex¬ 
change of prisoners, ii. 37; his exertions 
and talent, 61; his letter to Louis Bona¬ 
parte, iii. 156. 

Ottolini, Podesta of Bergamo, draws up a 
report, i. 51; compelled to fly from Ber¬ 
gamo, 52. 

Otranto, Duke of, see Fouche. 
Oudinot, Marshal (Duke of Reggio), under 

the Bourbons, iv. 267. 
Ouvrard, M., financial operation of, iii. 10; 

character of, 11; order for his arrest, 12; 
released, 13; contractor for the Spanish 
fleet, 14; imports foreign grain, ib.; soli¬ 
cits a passport from M. Talleyrand, ib.; 
proceeds to Madrid, 15; his deed of part¬ 
nership with Charles IV., 16; ordered to 
return to Paris, 18; declared a debtor, 20. 

Oxenstiern, M., his remark to his son, i. 59. 

Pahlen, Count, his remark to M. Schramm, 
i. 315. 

Palm, M., murder of, iii. 34, n. 
Paoli, General, Napoleon’s remark concern¬ 

ing him, i. 7. 
Parallel between Cassar, Cromwell, and 

Bonaparte, account of, ii. 30; different 
opinions as to its authorship, 32, n. 

Paris, insurrection in, i. 36; Napoleon's ad¬ 
dress to the inhabitants of, 254; conster¬ 
nation in, on the death of the Due d’En- 
ghien, ii. 231; capitulation of, iii. 353; 
curious spectacle in, ib.; battle of, 363; 
religious ceremony in, iv. 8; aspect of, 
after Napoleon’s return, 133. 
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Parma, Duke of, see M. Cambac^r&s. 
Pasquier, Baron, Minister of Justice, iv. 230. 
Pater Nosier, a pamphlet dedicated to the 

Pope, ii. 325. 
Patrauld, Father, his attachment to Napo¬ 

leon, i. 7. 
Paul I., Emperor of Russia, eccentric char¬ 

acter of, i. 313; unites with Napoleon, and 
orders the English Ambassador to leave 
Petersburg, 314; his confidence in M. 
Sprengporten, 314; his admiration of Na¬ 
poleon, and hatred of the English, 315; 
alliance with Napoleon, 315; assassinated, 
ii. 43; character of, 44. 

Pellew, Sir Edward, captures G-enoa, iv. 
15, n. 

Peltier, M., journal published by, ii, 66; 
prosecuted by Napoleon, 67. 

Percier, M., his opinion on the projected 
bridge, the Pont des Arts, i. 362. 

Pdrignon, General, prisoner in Austria, i. 
317; created a Marshal, ii. 267; end of his 
career, iv. 263. 

Perrde, M., flotilla commanded by, i. 140; 
his engagement with the Turks, 141. 

Perregaux, M., his opinion on the proposed 
surrender of Paris, iii. 351. 

-, Mademoiselle, her marriage, i. 119. 
Persia, Shah of, consents to the establish¬ 

ment of military magazines in his terri¬ 
tory, i. 162. 

Peyron, M., energetic remarks of, ii. 361; 
against the war with France, iii. 57. 

Pianosa, island of, captured, iv. 30. 
Pichegru, General, communications of, with 

the Prince of CondtS, i. 71; letter from 
the Prince to, 73; answers, ib.; his enmi¬ 
ty to Napoleon, ii. 208; his conspiracy, 
209; transported to Guiana, escapes, ib., 
n.; refuses to sign his examination, 216; 
arrested, 248; honorable trait in his char¬ 
acter, ib.; account of him, 249; found 
dead in his chamber, 252; anecdote of, 
ib., n.; his suicide doubted, 254; exami¬ 
nation of his body, ib., n. 

Picton, Sir Thomas, arrives at Quatre Bras, 
iv. 149; his engagement with the French, 
ib.; his bravery, 151; account of his 
death, 170, n. 

Pierre, Bernardin de Saint, his great talent, 
ii. 198. 

Piontkowsky joins Napoleon at St. Helena, 
iv. 321. 

Pirch, General, Prussian corps commanded 
by, iv. 125. ! 

Pitt, Mr., his hatred of France, ii. 189; ob¬ 
servation of, 242; his treaty with Sweden, j 
329; death of, iii. 25. j 

Pius VII., his arrival in Paris, ii. 325; re. 
spect paid to, ib.; crowns Napoleon, 332, 
n.; refuses the propositions made to him, 

iii. 250; removed to Fontainebleau, 255; his 
friendship for M. Denon, ib.; his Con. 
cordat, 273; departs from France, 342. 

Plessen, Baron, Minister of State to the 
Duke of Mecklenburg, iii. 184. 

Poitrincourt, Mademoiselle, her exertions 
to procure M. Defeu’s release, i. 346. 

Pole, Hon. William Long Wellesley, his 
determined conduct, iii. 79. 

Polignac, Armand de, trial of, ii. 273; cir¬ 
cumstances of his life, 284, n. ; appeal of, 
285; sentenced to death, ib.; pardoned, 
287. 

-, Jules de, circumstances of his life, ii. 
284, n.; his address to the judges, 285; 
sentenced to imprisonment, 286. 

-, Madame, her interview with Napoleon, 
ii. 310. 

Poniatowski, Prince, account of, iii. 290; 
description of his death, 298; monument 
to his memory, 299. 

Ponsonby, General, killed at the battle of 
Waterloo, iv. 170. 

Pont des Arts, built by Napoleon, 1. 362. 
Ponte-Oorvo, Prince of, see Bernadette. 
Portalis, M., appointed to present the code 

Napoleon, ii. 147. 
Porto-Ferrajo, old name of, revived, iv. 31. 
Portugal, offers of to Napoleon, ii. 45; in¬ 

vasion of, iii. 95. 
-, Prince Regent of, embarks for Brazil, 

iii. 96. 
Poussielgue, M., sent to inspect the ports 

of the Levant, i. 117; ill success of, 126. 
Pozzo-di-Borgo, M., present at a meeting 

atM. de Talleyrand’s, iii. 358. 
Pradel, Comte de, appointed rntendunt of 

the King’s Household, iv. 231. 
Pradt, Abbd de, declaration of, ill. 359; 

appointed Chancellor of the Legion of 
Honor, 361. 

Pringle, Captain, observations of, iv. 158; 
statement of, 167; his remarks on the 
battle of Waterloo, 176, 177, 182. 

Pritamki, college of, Napoleon's visit to, i. 
366, 

“ Project of a definitive Treaty between 
France and the Allies,” iii. 333. 

Provence, Count de, see Louis XVIII. 
Prussia, ignoble behavior of, ii. 368, «.; 

patriotism in, iii. 77, n. 
-, King of, see Frederick William. 
-, Queen of, see Wilhelmina. 
Puzy, M., Bureau de, state prisoner at 

Olmutz, i. 61. 
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Pyonnicr, M., plundered by the Cossacks, 
iii. 281; his moderation, 286. 

3,uatre Bras, battle of, iv. 149; strength of 
the armies at, 150, n. 

Quotidienne, journal so called, i. 78. 

Raguideau, M., anecdote of, ii. 330. 
Etagusa, Duke of, see Marmont. 
Rahmahanie’h, battle of, i. 143. 
Rainville, M., his kindness to the inhabi¬ 

tants of Hamburg, iii. 318. 
Ramleh, description of, i. 174; deplorable 

state of the Christians in, ib. 
Raoul, Col., proclamations dictated to, iv. 

59; his remarks respecting Napoleon, 185. 
Rapatel, Adjutant-G-eneral, his visit to Mad¬ 

ame Joseph Bonaparte, i. 244. 
Rapp, G-eneral Count, introduces G-eorges 

Oadoudal to Napoleon, i. 349; extract from 
his Memoirs, ii. 23, n.; his trip to Plom- 
bi&res, 102; ordered to send for Bour- 
rienne, 181; his advice to him, 182; inter¬ 
cedes for M. de Rusillon, 311, n.; his de¬ 
scription of Napoleon’s reception of the 
Pope, 324; his account of the battle of 
Austerlitz, iii. 6; wounded, 7; made a 
General of Division, ib.; made a Count, 
8; his mission to Gratz, ib.; his account 
of Prince Hatzfeld’s arrest, 48, n.; ap¬ 
pointed Governor of Thorn, 51, n.; his 
remarks on General Blucher’s captivity, 
ib.; his account of the entrance into War¬ 
saw, 69, n.; of the assassin Staps, 178; Gov¬ 
ernor of Dantzic, 257; his reply to Napo¬ 
leon, 259; Napoleon’s remarks to, 270; his | 
defence of Dantzic, iv. 16; made prisoner, 
ib.; French corps commanded by, 126; his 
opinion of Louis XVIII., 132; defence of, 
133, n.; his conversation with M. Bour- 
rienne, 238. 

Raudot, M.,his attachment to the Bourbons, 
iv. 235. 

Raynal, Abbd, his conversations with Napo¬ 
leon Bonaparte, i. 5. 

Razumowsky, Count, Russian representa¬ 
tive at the Congress of Chatillon-sur- 
Beine, iii. 328. 

Rdal, M., receives instructions from Fouch£, 
i. 239; epitome of life, ib., n.; examined 
General Pichegru, ii. 253; his examination 
of M. Caron, 257, n. 

Rdcaraier, Madame, particulars respecting, 
iv. 96, 97, n. 

Rechteren, Count de, inquiries respecting, 
iii. 110. 

‘Recollections of my Journey to Naples and 
Home, a pamphlet, ii. 358. 

Regnault de Saint Jean d’Angely, M., hie 
visit to Joseph Bonaparte, i. 233; be¬ 
comes Comte, 234, n.; his remark to 
Napoleon, 239; his intimacy with him, 
266; notes in the handwriting of, 26S. 

Regnier, circumstances of his life, ii. 114, n.; 
sent for by Napoleon, 210; his errors, 305. 

Reichenbach, M., erects a monument to 
Prince Poniatowski, iii. 299. 

Reille, General Count, French corps com¬ 
manded by, iv. 126. 

Reinhard, M., a Lutheran preacher. Minis¬ 
ter of Foreign Affairs, i. 263; succeeded 
by M. Talleyrand, ib. 

Reith, Baroness de, Bonaparte’s enmity to, 
ii. 222. 

Remusat, Madame de, on the calumniation 
of Napoleon and Hortense, ii. 74, n.; 
favorite attendant of the Empress Jose¬ 
phine, 309. 

Repnin, Prince, taken prisoner at the battle 
of Austerlitz, iii. 7. 

Republics formed during Revolutionary 
Wars, iii. 145, n. 

Reynier, General, his conversation with 
the Emperor Alexander, iii. 337. 

Richelieu, Due de, Minister of the King’s 
Household, iv. 230. 

Rivarol, M., supposed author of letters in 
Le Spectateur du Nord, i. 62. 

Rivi&re, M. de, conspiracy of, ii. 214; dec¬ 
laration of, 215; trial of, 273; his attach¬ 
ment to the Bourbons, 284; sentenced to 
death, 286; pardoned, 2S7. 

Robertson, M., lands at Funen, in disguise, 
iii. 131, n. 

Rochambeau, Marshal de, surrenders to the 
English, ii. 69; erroneous reports respect¬ 
ing, 150. 

Rochefoucauld, Comte de la, his report to 
Napoleon, iii. 153; proclaims the Bour¬ 
bons, 354; proposition of, 355; proscribed 
by Napoleon, iv. 75, n. 

-, Madame de la, lady of honor to the 
Empress Josephine, ii. 342. 

Rcederer, M., assists in framing a new gov¬ 
ernment, i. 255; his invectives against M. 
Fouche, ii. 116; circulars written by, 144. 

Roger Ducos, joins Bonaparte, i. 249; 
appointed one of the Consuls, 256; suc¬ 
ceeded by Lebrun, 265. 

Roland, Madame, observations of, i. 59. 
Rolland, M., sentenced to imprisonment, ii. 

286. 
Romans, Marquis de la, his reception in the 

Hanse Towns, iii. 129; entertainment given 
by, 130; escapes with his troops, 131; lands 
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at Corunna, ib.; admiration of Ms conduct, 
ib., n. 

Romanillos, M., character of, iii. 113; secre¬ 
tary of the Spanish Legation at Ham¬ 
burg, ib., n. 

Roquelaure, M., Archbishop of Malines, his 
compliments to Bonaparte, ii. 202; epit¬ 
ome of life, 203, n. 

Rosey, Captain, sent to Munich, ii. 225, n. 
Ross, Mr., conveys George the Third’s de¬ 

termination to Louis XVIII., iii. 109. 
Rousseau, J. J., manuscripts of, i. 71; Bona¬ 

parte’s admiration of, ii. 199, n. 
Rovigo, Due de, see Savary. 
Royalist Committee, principles of, ii. 154; 

their allurements to Madame Bonaparte, 
155. 

Royalists, political ignorance of, iv. 35, n. 
Royer, M., apothecary to the army in Egypt, 

i. 196. 
Royer Collard, M., member of the Royalist 

Committee, ii. 154. 
Rue Chanteraine, street in which Bonaparte 

lived, altered to Rue de la Victoire. 
Russian Campaign, preparations for, iii. 

394 et seq. 
Rusillon, M., declaration of, ii. 215; sen¬ 

tenced to death, 285; pardoned, 287. 
Russia, Emperor of, see Paul, Alexander. 
-, proposed treaty between England and, 

ii. 363. 
-army, state of in Napoleon’s time, ii. 

404, n.; after the battle of Austerlitz, iii. 
7, n. 

Sacken, General, commander of the Russian 
troops in Paris, iv. 18. 

Sahla, M. la, arrested, iii. 221; sent to Vin¬ 
cennes, 222; his second arrest, 223. 

Sainte-Beuve, on Napoleon, i. 293, n.; ii. 
200, n. 

St. Antoine, union of workmen of, for de¬ 
fence against Allied armies, iv. 139. 

St. Bernard, convent of, hospitality of, i. 
386. 

St. Cloud, petition of inhabitants of, i. 361. 
St. Cyr, General, confined at Osnabruck, 

iii. 285; see Carra St. Cyr. 
St. Leu, Duchesse de, accompanies Napo¬ 

leon to Malmaison, iv. 207. 
-, Count, see Louis, King of Holland. 
St. Martin, M., manoeuvres of, iii. 3. 
St. Regent, M., beheaded, ii. 29. 
Salicetti, M., draws up an order of arrest 

against General Bonaparte, i. 21; his in¬ 
timacy with Bonaparte, 28; implicated I 
in an insurrection, 29, n. 

Saltoun, Lord, ordered to Hougomont, iv 
168. 

Sartorius, Captain, delivers a letter to Lord 
Keith, iv. 217. 

Saussaye, Ogier de la, his attack upon M. 
Bourrienne, iii. 253. 

Savary, General (Duke of Rovigo), his ac¬ 
count of Bonaparte’s visit to the hospital, 
199, n.; of the battle of Alexandria, 205, 
n.; extract from bis Memoirs, 218, n.; his 
account of the battle of Marengo, 397; 
describes the death of General Desaix, 
399, n.; his account of General Kldber’s 
assassin, ii. 11, n.; of M. Bourrienne’s 
disgrace, 163, 167; of Napoleon’s inter¬ 
view with Lord Whitworth, 178, n.; par¬ 
ticulars related by, 224, ii.; remarks on 
his conduct, 233; commander of the guard 
of the Temple, 252; his account of Gen¬ 
eral Pichegru’s death, 254, nhis defence 
of Napoleon, 295, n.; his mission to the 
Emperor Alexander, 408; of the interview 
between the Emperors Napoleon and 
Alexander, iii. 85, n.; of Napoleon’s 
divorce from Josephine, 186, nadvocates 
M. Bourrienne’s cause, 225; explains the 
intrigue against him to Napoleon, 226; 
Bourrienne’s estimate of, as a public offi¬ 
cer, 228; bis suspicions of M. Czernis- 
cheff, 231; bis interest for M. Chateau¬ 
briand, 243; notice of his arrest, 270, n.; 
his conversation with M. Bourrienne, 312; 
despatched to the commander of the Eng¬ 
lish squadron, iv. 211; refused permission 
to accompany Napoleon to St. Helena, 
220; career and character, 294. 

-, Duchess of, anecdote of, iii. 270, n. 
Saxony, Elector of, his treaty with Napo¬ 

leon, iii. 74. 
Schill, Major, his daring exploits, iii. 167; 

Ms death, 168, n. 
Schouwaloff, Count de, accompanies Napo¬ 

leon to Elba, iv. 19. 
Schramm, M., Count Pahlen’s remark to, i. 

315; bulletin addressed to, iii. 22. 
Schwartzenberg, Prince, advances upon 

Chalons, iii. 342; present at a meeting at 
M. Talleyrand’s, 358; his persuasions to 
Marshal Marmont, 368; releases him from 
his promise, 373. 

Scott, Sir Walter, Ms remark concerning 
Napoleon, i. 11; Ms answer to Marshal 
Macdonald, 17, n.; his mistake concern¬ 
ing Bonaparte’s connection with Robes¬ 
pierre, 20, n.; misrepresentations of, 119, 
n., 122,181, nhis false assertions re¬ 
specting Napoleon, 153, n.; remarks in 
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his Life of Napoleon, 174,217, to.; curious 
mistake of, iv. 30; his remarks on Napo¬ 
leon’s poverty at Elba, 55. 

Sebastiani, General, his mission to Con¬ 
stantinople, ii. 81; sent to Constantinople, 
iii. 29. 

Secret police, bad effect of, i. 328, to. 
S^guin, M., his connection with M. Ouvrard, 

iii. 15. 
S£gur, Marshal Comte de, ordinance issued 

by, i. 13; Napoleon’s prepossession in 
favor of, ii. 266; his instructions, 307. 

Serpini, Marcelini,a Roman advocate, i. 52. 
Serurier, General, created a Marshal, ii. 267; 

ending of his career, iv. 269. 
Sesmaisons, Yiscomte de, an emigrant, iii. 

52. 
Seymour, Due de, proclaims the Bourbons, 

iii. 354. 
Sibuet, M., violent speech of, iv. 120. 
Steyfcs, M., a member of the Directory, his 

intrigues, i. 230; animosity between him j 
and Bonaparte, 237; has the management 
of the Directory, 239; joins Bonaparte, 
249; assists in framing a new Govern¬ 
ment, 255; appointed one of the Consuls, 
256; succeeded by M. Cambacdr&s, 265; 
his charges against M. Moreau de Worms, 
ib.; character of him, 266. 

Simeon, Count de, peer of France, i. 41. 
Simon, an emigrant, Napoleon’s kindness 

to, i. 124. 
Smith, Sir Sydney, his bribes to the French 

army, i. 183; remarks on his conduct and 
character, ib. 

Soult, Marshal (Duke of Dalmatia), created 
a Marshal, ii. 266; review of his troops, 
312; surrender of the Austrian corps to, 
399; ordered to pursue General Blucher, 
iii. 45; marches to meet the English, 160; 
his reported wish to be King of Portugal, 
ib.; his conduct, its object, 160, to.; de¬ 
feated at Toulouse, 366, to.; his fidelity 
to Napoleon, iv. 199; latter half of his 
career, 272 et seq. 

Souper de Beaucaire, character of, i. 19, to. 
Spain, Kings of, see Charles IV., Ferdinand 

VII., Joseph Bonaparte. 
-, Maria Louisa, infanta of, her visit to 

France, ii. 47. 
-, disturbed state of, iii. 99. 
Spectateur du JSford, Xe, extracts of letters, 

ii. 62. 
Sprengporten, Baron, his mission to France, 

i. 314; confidence placed in him by Paul 
I., ib.; his desire for the alliance between 
France and Russia, 315. 

Stadion, Count, Austrian representative at 

the congress of Ch&tillon-sur-Seine, iii. 
328. 

Stael, Madame de, her account of Bona¬ 
parte’s interview with M. Necker, i. 390, 
to.; her enthusiasm for, ii. 321; remark 
on, 322; her son’s intercession for her 
return to Paris, iii. 137; her flight to 
Russia, iv. 96. 

-, M. Auguste de, his letter to Napo¬ 
leon, iii. 137; his interview with him, ib.; 
an orator and politician, 144, to. 

Staps, M., his design upon Napoleon, ii. 20; 
attempts to assassinate him, iii. 178; his 
examination, 179; his firmness, 181; exe¬ 
cuted, 182. 

Stein, Baron, accusation against, iii. 224; 
his vindication, ib., to. 

Steuve, M., instigates the inhabitants of 
Hamburg to revolt, iii. 276. 

S Stover, M., conductor of The Correspond¬ 
ent, i. 315. 

Storia del Reame di Napoli, extract from, 
iv. 86, to. 

Straisund, landing of the Swedish army at, 
I ii. 366. 
Stuart, General, his letter to M. Cobentzel, 

ii. 222. 
-, Colonel, wounded at the battle of 

Quatre Bras, iv. 153. 
-, Mrs., her admiration of Napoleon, iv. 

315. 
Suard, M., intrigues of, ii. 198. 
Sucbet, Duke of, French corps commanded 

by, iv. 126; last few years of his life, 274. 
Sudermania, Duke of, elected King of 

Sweden, iii. 196. 
Sulkowsky, accompanies General Bonaparte 

to the different ports, i. 115; wounded at 
Salehyeh, 146. 

Suwarrow, General, his losses at the battle 
of Zurich, i. 316, to. 

Sweden, Prince Royal of, see Bernadotte. 
-, Queen Christina of, orders the execu¬ 

tion of M. Monaldeschi, iii. 364, to. 

Talavera de la Reyna, battle of, iii. 177. 
Talleyrand, M., Prince of Benevento, one 

of the Directory, i. 79, to.; speech of, 110; 
Minister of Foreign Affairs, character of, 
116; writes to Bonaparte, 117; insists on 
Barras retiring, 243; assists in framing a 
new Government, 255; succeeds M. Rein- 
hard as Minister of Foreign Affairs, 263; 
his conferences with Napoleon, ib., to. ; 
his character of Sh$y£s, 266, to. ; Bona¬ 
parte’s friendship for, 268; his negotia¬ 
tions with England, 271; his activity in 
public affairs, 272; his private audience 
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with Napoleon, 340; suggestion of, 367, 
to.; his advice to Napoleon, ii. 41; his 
entertainment of the Count of Leghorn, 
48; his marriage, 54; witticism of, 84; 
sent for by Napoleon, 128; warns the Due 
d’Enghien of his danger, 222; solicits a 
passport, for M. Ouvrard, iii. 14; infor¬ 
mation transmitted to, 26; created Duke 
of Benevento, 28; summoned to head¬ 
quarters, 69; his despatch, 85; advises 
peace, 272; his advice to Napoleon, 306; 
receives a letter from M. Caulaincourt, 
334; ordered to quit Paris, 349; his prac¬ 
tical joke on the Archbishop of Malines, 
353, to.; conferences at his hotel, 356; his 
Provisional Government, 356, to.; ap¬ 
pointed President of the Provisional 
Government, 361; his observation to the 
Emperor Alexander, 375; departs for the 
Congress of Vienna, iv. 38; his absence 
in Vienna, its disastrous effect on the 
Bourbon Government, 38, to.; his corre¬ 
spondence with Louis XVIII., 43; con¬ 
duct on hearing of Napoleon’s departure 
from Elba, ib.t to.,* Napoleon’s enmity to, 
49, to. ; his proscription, 75, to. ; appointed 
President of the Council of Ministers, 230; 
under the Restoration, and subsequently, 
288. 

Tallien, Madame, her intimacy with Bona¬ 
parte, i. 32; with Murat, 322. 

Tandy, Napper, account of, i. 350. 
Tarentum, Duke of, see Macdonald, Mar¬ 

shal. 
Taylor, Mr., English Minister at Cassel, ii. 

361. 
Tettenborn, Colonel, takes possession of 

Hamburg, iii. 280; honors paid to, 281; 
receives a testimonial of gratitude from 
the Senate, 282; his reply to General 
Vandamme, 284; evacuates Hamburg, 285. 

Thabor, Bridge of, anecdote of, ii. 406. 
Tk6, the name of a journal, i. 78. 
Ze Spectateur du Nordt allusion to Napo¬ 

leon in, i. 62. 
Thielmann, Marshal, Prussian corps com¬ 

manded by, iv. 125; attacked at Wavre, 
178. 

Thiers, applies to the English Government 
for the cession of Napoleon’s remains, iv. 
368. 

Thionville, Merlin, a representative of the 
people, i. 74. 

Thornton, Mr., his conversation with M. 
Bourrienne, iii. 39. 

Thuriot, M., his examination of Georges 
Cadoudal, ii. 280. 

Tilsit, treaty of, iii. 87. 

Tippoo Saib, Bonaparte’s letter to, i. 163. 
Tissot, M. Bourrienne’s interest for, ii. 26; 

his gratitude, ib. 
Topino-Lebrun, conspiracy of, ii. 19; ac¬ 

count of, 20. 
Toulouse, battle of, iii. 366, to. 
-, Bishop of, arrested, iii. 250. 
Tournay, Bishop of, sent to Vincennes, iii. 

250. 
Toussaint, surrenders the island of St. 

Domingo to the French, ii. 69; his im¬ 
prisonment and death, ib. 

Townsend, Colonel, wounded at Quatre 
Bras, iv. 153. 

Trafalgar, ba'ttle of, ii. 367. 
Travot, General, career, iv. 380, to. 
Treaty of Paris, see Paris. 
Tribunate, i. 263, to. 
Trochtelfingen, capitulation of, ii. 404. 
Tronchet, M., appointed president of the 

court of Cassation, i. 369; appointed to 
present the code of Napoleon, ii. 147. 

Troyes, Bishop of, sent to Vincennes, iii. 
250. 

Truchess, Count, see ‘Waldbourg-Truchess. 
Turks, revolution of the, i. 159; their bar¬ 

barity, i. 192. 
Turenne, Marshal, eulogiura on, i. 11; re¬ 

spect paid to his remains by Napoleon, 
ii. 7. 

Tuscany, Grand Duke of, letter to, inter¬ 
cepted, i. 65. 

Tyszicwiez, Princess, ability of, i. 15. 

Ulm, capitulation of, ii. 366; account of, 
399, to. 

IJnzer, Dr., attends the Duke of Bruns¬ 
wick, ii. 35. 

Uxbridge, Lieutenant-General, Earl of, 
cavalry commanded by, iv. 125; decisior 
of, 157. 

Vallette, Comte de la, his account of the 
Directory’s sitting, i. 79, to.; aide-de-camp 
to Bonaparte, character of, 82; married 
to Mademoiselle Beauharnais, 119; his 
remark to M. Bourrienne, 246. 

Valmy, Duke, see Kellerman. 
Vandamme, General Count, his attacks 

upon Hamburg, iii. 283; his life and 
character, ib.t to.; takes possession of 
Fidden, 284; killed, 316; pun respecting, 
iv. 122; French corps commanded by, 126. 

Van Sienen, M., Syndic of Hamburg, iii. 41. 
Vaublanc, M. de, his complimentary ad- 

dress to Napoleon, ii. 139. 
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Venetian States, insurrection of, i. 52. 
Venice, desperate state of government of, 

i. ol ; Senate of, averse to the French revo¬ 
lution, 52; protected by Bonaparte, 64. 

Verdier, General, his coolness, i. 37. 
Verona, insurrection of, i. 49. 
Victor, Marshal (Duke of Belluno), pre¬ 

sented with a sabre of honor, ii. 4; 
wounded at Craonne, iii. 341; career, iv. 
264. 

Villeneuve, Admiral, arrested, ii. 258. 
-, Madame, a fortune-teller, i. 376, n. 
Villoutreys, Colonel, deserts from Napo¬ 

leon, iv. 189. 
Violet, the symbol of devotion to Napo¬ 

leon’s cause, iv. 82, n. 
Virgil, monument erected to the memory 

of, i. 104. 
Visconti, Madame, General Berthier’s affec¬ 

tion for, i. 168. 
Vital, General Count, demands the libera¬ 

tion of M. Moulin, i. 45. 
Vitrolles, M., proscribed by Napoleon, iv. 

75, n. 
Vittoria, battle of, iii. 289. 
Von Graffen, M., Burgomaster of Hamburg, 

ii. 370. 
Von Hess, Dr., his intimacy with Colonel 

Tettenborn, iii. 280; quits Hamburg, 285. 
Voidel, M., journal conducted by, i. 268, n. 
Voltaire, M., remark of, ii. 345. 

Wagram, battle of, iii. 176, 203. 
Waldbourg-Truchess, Count, accompanies 

Napoleon to Elba, iv. 19; Napoleon’s 
treatment of, 20. 

Walmoden, General, signs the capitulation 
of Sublingen, ii. 356. 

——, Countess, her intimacy with M. Bour- 
rienne, iii. 38. 

Warneck, General, surrenders to General 
Murat, ii. 404. 

Warsaw, entrance of the French troops in, 
iii. 69, n. 

-, Duchy of, its vicissitudes, iii. 74, n. 
Waterloo, battle of, iv. 160, 166; collation 

of authorities on, 159, n.; the three great 
leaders at, 161; strength of armies at, 
162, n.; Muffling on the final advance 
of the British at, 183, n.; enables Louis 
Xm to re-enter his dominions, 223; 
M.Fleury de Chaboulon’s account of, 189. 

Watrin, General, presented with a sabre of 
honor, ii. 4. 

Weimar, Prince of, takes refuge in Altona, 
iii. 53; waits upon Napoleon, 72. 

-, Duke of, his gratitude to M. Bour» 
rienne, iii. 71. 

Wellington, Arthur Wellesley, Duke of. 
commands the English army in Portugal, 
iii. 126; his bravery at the battle of Tala- 
vera, 177; defeats the French at Fuentes 
d’Onore, 237, n.; raises the siege of 
Badajoz, 251; defeats Marshal Soult at 
Toulouse, 366, n.; appointed British .Am¬ 
bassador to France, iv. 44, n. ; accused of 
favoring Fouch^’s appointment, 225; takes 
the command of the troops in Belgium, 
124; reviews his troops, 128; returns to 
Brussels, 128, n.; reports respecting, 
129; collects his forces, 131; hears of the 
advance of the French army, 144; endeav¬ 
ors to concentrate his army, ib.; accu¬ 
sation against, 152; maintains possession 
of the field of Quatre Bras, 153; arrange¬ 
ment of his troops at Waterloo, 164; re¬ 
mark of, 165; movement of, 369; his 
remarks on Waterloo as a strategic posi¬ 
tion, 166, n. ; remark in his despatch, 
170, n.; his praise of the French cuiras¬ 
siers, 171, n.; amount of the loss of his 
army, 200. 

Wells of Moses, water of, i. 165. 
Werther, Goethe’s, translation of, i. 306. 
Wertingen, battle of, ii. 399. 
Westphalia, King of, see Jerome Bonaparte. 
Wetterstedt, G., Baron de, his letter to the 

Swedish Minister, ii. 361; private secre¬ 
tary to the King of Sweden, iii. 57. 

Whitworth, Lord, English Ambassador in 
Petersburg, ordered to quit that city, i. 
314; in Paris, ii. 82; Napoleon’s address 
to, 178; leaves Paris, 191. 

Wilbelmina, Queen of Prussia, solicits the 
restoration of Silesia, iii. 87; anecdote of, 
ib., n. 

Willot, General, his overtures to G-enerul 
Moreau, iii. 290. 

Woght, Baron, his punctuality, iii. 134. 
Wrede, Count, his overtures to Marshal 

Bernadotte, iii. 196. 
Wright, Captain, his trial, ii. 283. 
Wurtchen, battle of, iii. 288. 
Wurtemberg, made a sovereign state, ill. 

187, n. 
Wurtemberg, Duke of, at the siege of 

Dantzic, iv. 16. 
-, Prince Paul of, serves in the Prussian 

Campaign, iii. 51; taken prisoner, 52. 
-, King of, visited by Napoleon, iii. 186. 

Yarmouth, Lord, Napoleon’s instructions 
to, iii. 26. 
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Yvan, Dr., summoned to Napoleon, iv. 69,7/. Zieten, General, Prussian corps com. 
manded by, iv. 125; retreats upon 
Fleurus, 142. 

Zach, General, Napoleon’s present to, Zimbenni, Rosine, informs the police of a 
ii. 5. * duel, ii. 359, 




